## **PISA 2022 Results** Learning During – and From – Disruption

#### Volume II





## **PISA 2022 Results (Volume II)**

LEARNING DURING – AND FROM – DISRUPTION



This work is published under the responsibility of the Secretary-General of the OECD. The opinions expressed and arguments employed herein do not necessarily reflect the official views of the Member countries of the OECD.

This document, as well as any data and map included herein, are without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory, to the delimitation of international frontiers and boundaries and to the name of any territory, city or area.

The statistical data for Israel are supplied by and under the responsibility of the relevant Israeli authorities. The use of such data by the OECD is without prejudice to the status of the Golan Heights, East Jerusalem and Israeli settlements in the West Bank under the terms of international law.

Note by the Republic of Türkiye

The information in this document with reference to "Cyprus" relates to the southern part of the Island. There is no single authority representing both Turkish and Greek Cypriot people on the Island. Türkiye recognises the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus (TRNC). Until a lasting and equitable solution is found within the context of the United Nations, Türkiye shall preserve its position concerning the "Cyprus issue".

Note by all the European Union Member States of the OECD and the European Union

The Republic of Cyprus is recognised by all members of the United Nations with the exception of Türkiye. The information in this document relates to the area under the effective control of the Government of the Republic of Cyprus.

Kosovo\*: This designation is without prejudice to positions on status, and is in line with United Nations Security Council Resolution 1244/99 and the Advisory Opinion of the International Court of Justice on Kosovo's declaration of independence.

#### Please cite this publication as:

OECD (2023), PISA 2022 Results (Volume II): Learning During – and From – Disruption, PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/a97db61c-en.

ISBN 978-92-64-49897-6 (print) ISBN 978-92-64-89821-9 (pdf) ISBN 978-92-64-62405-4 (HTML) ISBN 978-92-64-95221-8 (epub)

PISA ISSN 1990-8539 (print) ISSN 1996-3777 (online)

Photo credits: Cover © Monkey Business Images/Shutterstock.com.

Corrigenda to OECD publications may be found on line at: <a href="http://www.oecd.org/about/publishing/corrigenda.htm">www.oecd.org/about/publishing/corrigenda.htm</a>. © OECD 2023

Licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 IGO (<u>CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO</u>) licence.

## Preface

In 2022, as countries were still dealing with the lingering impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, nearly 700 000 students from 81 OECD Member and partner economies, representing 29 million across the world, took the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) test.

It makes 2022 PISA the first large-scale study to collect data on student performance, well-being, and equity before and after the COVID-19 disruptions. The report finds that in spite of the challenging circumstances, 31 countries and economies managed to at least maintain their performance in mathematics since PISA 2018. Among these, Australia\*, Japan, Korea, Singapore, and Switzerland maintained or further raised already high levels of student performance, with scores ranging from 487 to 575 points (OECD average 472). These systems showed common features including shorter school closures, fewer obstacles to remote learning, and continuing teachers' and parental support, which can further offer insights and indications of broader best practices to address future crises.

Many countries also made significant progress towards universal secondary education, key to enabling equality of opportunity and full participation in the economy. Among them, Cambodia, Colombia, Costa Rica, Indonesia, Morocco, Paraguay and Romania have rapidly expanded education to previously marginalised populations over the past decade.

Ten countries and economies saw a large share of all 15-year-olds with basic proficiency in maths, reading and science and achieve high levels of socio-economic fairness: Canada\*, Denmark\*, Finland, Hong Kong (China)\*, Ireland\*, Japan, Korea, Latvia\*, Macao (China) and the United Kingdom\*. While socioeconomic status remains a significant predictor of performance in these and other OECD countries and economies, education in these countries can be considered highly equitable.

At the same time, on average, the PISA 2022 assessment saw an unprecedented drop in performance across the OECD. Compared to 2018, mean performance fell by ten score points in reading and by almost 15 score points in mathematics, which is equivalent to three-quarters of a year's worth of learning. The decline in mathematics performance is three times greater than any previous consecutive change. In fact, one in four 15-year-old is now considered a low performer in mathematics, reading, and science on average across OECD countries. This means they can struggle to do tasks such as use basic algorithms or interpret simple texts. This trend is more pronounced in 18 countries and economies, where more than 60% of 15-year-olds are falling behind.

Yet the decline can only partially be attributed to the COVID-19 pandemic. Scores in reading and science had already been falling prior to the pandemic. For example, negative trends in maths performance were already apparent prior to 2018 in Belgium, Canada\*, Czechia, Finland, France, Hungary, Iceland, the Netherlands\*, New Zealand\*, and the Slovak Republic.

The relationship between pandemic-induced school closures, often cited as the main cause of performance decline is not so direct. Across the OECD, around half of the students experienced closures for more than three months. However, PISA results show no clear difference in performance trends between education systems with limited school closures such as Iceland, Sweden and Chinese Taipei and systems that experienced longer school closures, such as Brazil, Ireland\* and Jamaica\*.

School closures also drove a global conversion to digitally enabled remote learning, adding to long-term challenges that had already emerged, such as the use of technology in classrooms. How education systems grapple with technological change and whether policymakers find the right balance between risks and opportunities, will be a defining feature of effective education systems.

According to our results, on average across OECD countries, around three quarters of students reported being confident using various technologies, including learning-management systems, school learning platforms and video communication programs. Students who spent up to one hour per day on digital devices for learning activities in school scored 14 points higher in mathematics than students who spent no time, even after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, and this positive relationship is observed in over half (45 countries and economies) of all systems with available data. Yet technology used for leisure rather than instruction, such as mobile phones, often seems to be associated with poorer results. Students who reported that they become distracted by other students who are using digital devices in at least some mathematics lessons scored 15 points lower than students who reported that this never or almost never happens, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile.

PISA data shows that teachers' support is particularly important in times of disruption, including by providing extra pedagogical and motivational support to students. The availability of teachers to help students in need had the strongest relationship to mathematics performance across the OECD, compared to other experiences linked to COVID-19 school closure. Mathematics score were 15 points higher on average in places where students agreed they had good access to teacher help. These students were also more confident than their peers to learn autonomously and remotely. Despite this, one in five students overall reported that they only received extra help from teachers in some mathematics lessons in 2022. Around eight percent never or almost never received additional support.

Overall, education systems with positive trends in parental engagement in student learning between 2018 and 2022 showed greater stability or improvement in mathematics performance. This was particularly true for disadvantaged students. These figures show that the level of active support that parents offer their children might have a decisive effect. Yet parental involvement in students' learning at school decreased substantially between 2018 and 2022. On average across OECD countries, the share of students in schools where most parents initiated discussions about their child's progress with a teacher dropped by ten percentage points.

Finally, we see a positive relationship between investment in education and average performance up to a threshold of USD 75 000 (PPP) in cumulative spending per student from age 6 to 15. For many OECD countries that spend more per student, there is no relationship between extra investment and student performance. Countries like Korea and Singapore have demonstrated that it is possible to establish a top-tier education system even when starting from a relatively low-income level, by prioritising the quality of teaching over the size of classes and funding mechanisms that align resources with needs.

To strengthen the role of education in empowering young people to succeed and ensuring merit-based equality of opportunity, the resilience of our education systems will be critical not only to improve learning outcomes measured through PISA, but to their long-term effectiveness. I'm pleased to share the PISA 2022 report with you, to provide policymakers across OECD Members and partner economies with evidence-based policy advice to design resilient and effective education systems that will help give our children and adolescents the best possible future.

Mathias Cormann, OECD Secretary-General

### Foreword

Up to the end of the 1990s, the OECD's comparisons of education outcomes were mainly based on measures of years of schooling, which don't necessarily reflect what people actually know and can do. The Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) changed this. The idea behind PISA lay in testing the knowledge and skills of students directly, through a metric that was internationally agreed upon; linking that with data from students, teachers, schools and systems to understand performance differences; and then harnessing the power of collaboration to act on the data, both by creating shared points of reference and by leveraging peer pressure.

The aim with PISA was not to create another layer of top-down accountability, but to help schools and policy makers shift from looking upward within the education system towards looking outward to the next teacher, the next school, the next country. In essence, PISA counts what counts, and makes that information available to educators and policy makers so they can make more informed decisions.

The OECD countries that initiated PISA tried to make PISA different from traditional assessments in other ways too. In a world that rewards individuals increasingly not just for what they know, but for what they can do with what they know, PISA goes beyond assessing whether students can reproduce what they have learned in school. To do well in PISA, students have to be able to extrapolate from what they know, think across the boundaries of subject-matter disciplines, apply their knowledge creatively in novel situations and demonstrate effective learning strategies. For example, in the PISA mathematics assessment, students don't just have to demonstrate mathematical content knowledge, but also that they can think like a mathematician, translate real-world problems into the world of mathematics, reason mathematically, and interpret mathematical solutions in the original problem context. If all we do is teach our children what we know, they might remember enough to follow in our footsteps; but if they learn how to learn, and are able to think for themselves, and work with others, they can go anywhere they want.

Some people argue that the PISA tests are unfair, because they may confront students with problems they have not encountered in school. But then life is unfair, because the real test in life is not whether we can remember what we learned at school, but whether we will be able to solve problems that we can't possibly anticipate today.

But the greatest strength of PISA lies in its working methods. Most assessments are centrally planned and then contracted to engineers who build them. That's how tests are created that are owned by an institution – but not by the people who are needed to change education. PISA turned that on its head. The idea of PISA attracted the world's best thinkers and mobilised hundreds of experts, educators and scientists from the participating countries to build a global assessment through a global expert community. Today, we would call that crowdsourcing; but whatever we call it, it created the ownership that was critical for success.

In a nutshell, PISA owes its success to a collaborative effort between the participating countries, the national and international experts and institutions working within the framework of the PISA Consortium, and the OECD. Subjectmatter experts, practitioners and policy makers from the participating countries worked tirelessly to build agreement on which learning outcomes are important to measure and how to measure them best; to design and validate assessment tasks that can reflect those measures adequately and accurately across countries and cultures; and to find ways to compare the results meaningfully and reliably. The OECD co-ordinated this effort and worked with countries to make sense of the results and compile the reports.

## PISA 2022 was the eighth round of the international assessment since the programme was launched in 2000, with an unprecedented number of countries taking part. Every PISA test assesses students' knowledge and skills in mathematics, science and reading; each assessment focuses on one of these subjects and provides a summary assessment of the other two. PISA 2022 also captures a wider range of cognitive, social and emotional student outcomes, captured in the new PISA Happy Life Dashboard.

Over the past two decades, PISA has become the world's premier yardstick for comparing quality, equity and efficiency in learning outcomes across countries, and an influential force for education reform. It has helped policy makers lower the cost of political action by backing difficult decisions with evidence – but it has also raised the political cost of inaction by exposing areas where policy and practice have been unsatisfactory.

These latest PISA results show that education systems can provide both high-quality instruction and equitable learning opportunities for all, and that they can support academic excellence not at the expense of student's wellbeing, but through students' well-being. At the same time, the results also show that many education systems are not up to this task. This publication provides many pointers as to what we can do to change this. Countries and economies that take part in PISA are culturally diverse and have attained different levels of economic development. Nevertheless, they face a common challenge--to support children and young people so they can reach their full potential as learners and human beings. PISA provides the evidence and the policy insights that countries need to address these matters. There is an urgent need to take action. The task for governments is to help education systems rise to this challenge.

Anchear Schleicher

#### **Andreas Schleicher**

Director for Education and Skills

Special Advisor on Education Policy to the Secretary-General

## Acknowledgements

This report is the product of a collaborative effort between the countries and economies participating in PISA, the national and international experts and institutions working within the framework of the PISA Consortium, and the OECD Secretariat.

The development of this volume was guided by Andreas Schleicher and Yuri Belfali and managed by Miyako Ikeda. This volume was drafted by Hannah Ulferts (Chapters 1, 2 and 3), Alfonso Echazarra (Chapters 4 and 6) and Irène Hu (Chapters 5 and 6), and edited by Marilyn Achiron. Statistical and analytical support was provided by Giannina Rech and Guillaume Bousquet, with the help of Gwénaël Jacotin and Gracelyn Lee. Choyi Whang led the development of system-level indicators. Charlotte Baer co-ordinated production and Fung Kwan Tam designed the tables and figures. Valeria Pelosi provided communication support. Administrative support was provided by Thomas Marwood and Ricardo Sanchez Torres. Javier Suarez-Alvarez, Andreea Minea-Pic, Tiago Fragoso, Marc Fuster, Francesca Gottschalk, Jordan Hill and Emma Medina supported the drafting. Francesco Avvisati, Luka Boeskens, Theo Kaiser, François Keslair, Deborah Nusche, Judit Pal, Nate Reinertsen, Claire Shewbridge and Nathan Viltard provided valuable feedback at various stages of the report. This volume also benefitted from the input and expertise of many more OECD staff members who worked on PISA 2022 at various stages of the project. Their names are listed in Annex C of this volume. Many reviewers provided feedback on earlier chapter drafts; their help in improving this volume is gratefully acknowledged.

To support the technical implementation of PISA, the OECD contracted an international consortium of institutions and experts, led by Irwin Kirsch, Claudia Tamassia, Ann Kennedy and Eugenio Gonzalez at the Educational Testing Service (ETS). Overall co-ordination of the PISA 2022 assessment, the computer-delivery platform, the development of instruments, scaling and analysis and all data products were managed by at ETS. The development of the cognitive assessment frameworks for mathematics and creative thinking and of the framework for questionnaires was carried out by the Research Triangle Institute (RTI), led by Kimberly O'Malley. The test development for the innovative domain was performed by ACT in collaboration with the OECD Secretariat, and led at ACT by Ken Kobell, Yigal Rosen, Gunter Maris, Kristin Stoeffler, Matthew Lumb and Alina von Davier. Sampling and weighting services were provided by Westat, led by Keith Rust. Linguistic quality control and the development of the French source version were under the responsibility of cApStAn, led by Steve Dept. The support for country preparation and implementation was managed by the Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER), led by Jeaniene Spink and Maurice Walker.

Joan Ferrini-Mundy, Zbigniew Marciniak and William Schmidt chaired the expert group that guided the preparation of the mathematics assessment framework and instruments. This group included Takuya Baba, Joan Ferrini-Mundy, Jenni Ingram, Julián Mariño, William Schmidt. Nina Jude chaired the expert group that guided the preparation of the questionnaire framework and instruments. This group included Hunter Gehlbach, Kit-Tai Hau, Therese Hopfenbeck, David Kaplan, Jihyun Lee, Richard Primi and Wilima Wadhwa. Leslie Rutkowski chaired the Technical Advisory Group, whose members include Maria Bolsinova, Eugenio Gonzalez, Kit-Tai Hau, Oliver Lüdtke, Sabine Meinck, Christian Monseur, Keith Rust, Kathleen Scalise, Kentaro Yamamoto. The creative thinking expert group included Baptiste Barbot; James Kaufman, Ido roll, Marlene Scardamalia, Valerie Shute; Lene Tanggaard and Nathan Zoanetti. The ICT Expert Group included Jepe Bundsgaard, Cindy Ong, Michael Trucano, Patricia Wastiau and Pat Yongpradit.

The development of the report was steered by the PISA Governing Board, chaired by Michele Bruniges (Australia), with Peggy Carr (United States), Akiko Ono (Japan) and Carmen Tovar Sánchez (Spain) as vice chairs. Annex C of this volume lists the members of the various PISA bodies, including Governing Board members and National Project Managers in participating countries and economies, the PISA Consortium and the individual experts and consultants who have contributed to PISA 2022.

## **Table of contents**

Preface	3
Foreword	5
Acknowledgements	7
Reader's Guide	14
Executive Summary	23
What is PISA? OECD's Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) What is unique about PISA? Which countries and economies participate in PISA? Key features of PISA 2022 Where can you find the results?	40 40 40 40 42 44
1 Resilient education systems What PISA 2022 tells us about the resilience of education systems Components of resilience	<b>45</b> 47 55
2 How learning continued when schools were closed Components of resilience: Keeping schools open longer Components of resilience: Preparing students for autonomous and remote learning Components of resilience: Providing positive learning experiences Components of resilience: Removing obstacles to remote learning Components of resilience: Providing support to maintain students' learning and well-being Components of resilience: Designing and implementing emergency policies	62 64 69 75 79 83 88
<ul> <li>3 Life at school and support from home         Components of resilience: Providing support and discipline in mathematics lessons             Components of resilience: Creating a safe environment for learning on line and off line             Components of resilience: Ensuring students' regular school attendance and punctuality             Components of resilience: Teaming up with parents to support learning and well-being     </li> <li>4 Selecting and grouping students         How education systems address student diversity             Charting students' progress through schooling     </li> </ul>	94 96 102 109 115 <b>126</b> 129 131

Grouping and selecting students Components of resilience: Reducing grade repetition and delaying tracking	144 160
5 Investments in a solid foundation for learning and well-being How educational resources are allocated Components of resilience: Providing high-quality and sufficient teaching and non-teaching staff Components of resilience: Reducing student-teacher ratios and class size Components of resilience: Providing adequate and high-quality educational material Components of resilience: Providing access to high-quality digital devices and developing guidelines for their use Components of resilience: Ensuring sufficient, but not excessive, time for learning Components of resilience: Establishing schools as hubs for social interaction	167 169 170 176 177 181 188 197
6 Governing education systems Allocation of education responsibilities School admissions and transfers policies Quality-assurance mechanisms	206 209 229 232
7 From data to insights Examine why student performance declined so sharply Provide all students with opportunities to fulfil their potential regardless of their backgrounds, and tailor policies to education systems' particular contexts Study resilient systems where learning, equity and well-being were maintained and promoted despite pandemic-related disruptions	248 249 250 251
Annex A1. Construction of indices	261
Annex A2. The PISA target population, the PISA samples, and the definition of schools	278
Annex A3. Technical notes on analyses in this volume	305
Annex B1. Results for countries and economies	313
Annex B2. Results for regions within countries	413
Annex B3. PISA 2022 system-level indicators	440
Annex C. The development and implementation of PISA: A collaborative effort	441

#### **FIGURES**

Figure II.1.	Map of PISA countries and economies	41
Figure II.1.1.	Resilient education systems	47
Figure II.1.2.	Confirmed COVID-19 cases and deaths	50
Figure II.1.3.	Students' sense of belonging at school	52
Figure II.1.4.	Sense of belonging, and performance and equity in mathematics	53
Figure II.1.5.	Performance in mathematics and sense of belonging at school, by students' socio-economic	
	status	54
Figure II.1.6.	Aspects and areas of resilience in education examined in this volume	57

Figure II 1.7 Life satisfaction and satisfaction with different aspects of life	58
Figure II 2.1. How learning continued when schools were closed as covered in PISA 2022	64
Figure II.2.2. COVID-19 school closures and mathematics performance	66
Figure 11.2.3. COVID-10 school closures and matrixinates performance	67
Figure 1.2.0. Complete stored closures and change between 2010 and 2022 in sense of beinging	68
Figure 1.2.4. Charge between 2010 and 2022 in expectation of a career in health and 101	70
Figure 1.2.0. Students confidence in sen-one clear learning	70
Figure 1.2.6. Social and emotional skills, and mainematics performance	71
Figure 11.2.7. Persistence, curiosity and learning resources during COVID-19 school closures	72
Figure II.2.8. Reading performance and students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning	73
Figure II.2.9. Perceived preparedness for remote instruction, by actions taken	75
Figure II.2.10. Teacher support and students' Ioneliness	76
Figure II.2.11. Teacher support and students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning	78
Figure II.2.12. Remote learning, mathematics performance and confidence in self-directed learning	79
Figure II.2.13. Problems with remote learning	80
Figure II.2.14. Problems with remote learning and mathematics performance, by students' socio-economic	
status	82
Figure II.2.15. Problems with remote learning, and sense of belonging and mathematics performance	83
Figure II.2.16. School actions and activities to maintain learning and well-being	84
Figure II.2.17. Actions to maintain students' learning and well-being, and students' confidence in self-directed	
learning	86
Figure II.2.18. School actions to maintain learning and well-being, and selected student outcomes, by	
student characteristics	87
Figure II.3.1. School life as covered in PISA 2022	96
Figure II 3.2 Change between 2012 and 2022 in teachers giving extra belo and mathematics performance	97
Figure II.3.3 Teacher support and aviety towards and performance in mathematics	97
Figure 11.3.4 Distraction from digital devices in mathematics lessons	101
Figure 1.3.4. Distraction non digital devices in mathematics lessons	101
Figure 1.3.0. Students safety at school and series of beforging	102
Figure 11.3.0. School safety hisks and student wen-being	103
Figure 1.3.7. Association between sense of belonging and selected aspects of school climate	104
Figure 11.3.8. School safety risks	105
Figure II.3.9. Feeling safe, by school characteristics	106
Figure II.3.10. Change between 2018 and 2022 in students' exposure to bullying and mathematics	
performance	108
Figure II.3.11. Change between 2018 and 2022 in student truancy and mathematics performance among	
disadvantaged students	110
Figure II.3.12. Change between 2018 and 2022 in student truancy and lateness	112
Figure II.3.13. Long-term absenteeism and performance in mathematics	113
Figure II.3.14. Reasons for long-term absenteeism	114
Figure II.3.15. Change between 2018 and 2022 in parent-initiated talks about students' progress	116
Figure II.3.16. Change between 2018 and 2022 in parent-initiated talks about students' progress, and	
mathematics performance	117
Figure II.3.17. Family support and sense of belonging	118
Figure II.3.18. Percentage of students whose family regularly asks about school	120
Figure II.4.1. School system stratification as covered in PISA 2022	129
Figure II.4.2. Classifying education systems according to three key stratification policies	130
Figure II.4.3. The vertical structure of education systems	132
Figure II.4.4. Differences in 15-year-old students' attendance at pre-primary school	134
Figure II 4.5. Attendance at pre-primary school and grade repetition	135
Figure II 4.6 Grade repetition and student and school characteristics	138
Figure II 4.7. Key indicators on education in France, 2003 through 2022	139
Figure II 4.8 Regulations and prevalence of grade repetition	141
Figure 1.4.0. Supporting students in education systems with automatic grade promotion	1/12
Figure 11-4.10 Demographics school absenteeism and academic performance by grade repetition	1/3
Figure 1.4.10. Demographics, school absenteersm and academic performance, by grade repetition	140
Figure 1.4.11. Socio-economic status, sense of beloging and builling, by grade repetition	144
Figure II.4.12. Concentration of accience in schools and yenerational and disadventered students in schools	140
Figure II.4.15. Concentration of socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged students in schools	147
rigure II.4.14. Concentration of immigrant students in schools	148
Figure II.4.15. variation across schools in the share of students with special learning needs	150
Figure II.4.16. Policies associated with the concentration of advantaged students in schools	151
Figure II.4.17. Policies associated with the concentration of disadvantaged students in schools	152

Figure II.4.18. Instructional programmes and ability grouping	154
Figure II.4.19. Enrolment in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by students' socio-economic status	157
Figure II.5.1. Resources covered in PISA 2022	168
Figure II.5.2. Mathematics performance and spending on education	170
Figure II.5.3. Change between 2018 and 2022 in shortage of education staff and material resources	172
Figure II.5.4. Shortage of education staff and school characteristics	173
Figure II.5.5. Certified teachers and mathematics performance	175
Figure II.5.6. Shortage of education staff and material resources, and mathematics performance	178
Figure II.5.7. Shortage of material resources and school characteristics	180
Figure II.5.8. Relationship between preparedness for digital learning, availability of computers and school	
guidelines	184
Figure II.5.9. Digital devices, distraction and school policies	187
Figure II.5.10. Digital devices, distraction and cell phone bans	188
Figure II.5.11. Mathematics performance and time spent on learning activities	190
Figure II.5.12. Time spent in regular lessons and mathematics performance	191
Figure II.5.13. Time spent doing homework in all subjects, and mathematics performance	193
Figure II.5.14. Time spent on digital devices at school and mathematics performance	194
Figure II.5.15. Time spent at school in regular lessons and on digital devices	195
Figure II.5.16. Feeling nervous/anxious when digital devices are not near	196
Figure II.5.17. Feeling nervous/anxious when digital devices are not near and selected student outcomes	197
Figure II.5.18. Change between 2018 and 2022 in peer-to-peer tutoring at school	199
Figure II.6.1. Quality-assurance mechanisms, school autonomy and mathematics performance	208
Figure II.6.2. Governance of education systems as covered in PISA 2022	209
Figure II.6.3. Index of school responsibility for curriculum, by school type	213
Figure II.6.4. Index of school responsibility for resources, by school type	214
Figure II.6.5. Allocation of education responsibilities, by average performance in mathematics	216
Figure II.6.6. Attendance at public school, student characteristics and mathematics performance	223
Figure II.6.7. Mathematics performance and socio-economic status, by type of school	224
Figure II.6.8. Mathematics performance in public and private schools with a similar socio-economic profile	225
Figure II.6.9. School funding sources and school composition	226
Figure II.6.10. Handling school closures due to COVID-19, by school type	228
Figure II.6.11 Trends in the frequency of using standardised and teacher-developed tests	234
Figure II.6.12. Trends in monitoring teacher practice	237
Figure II.6.13. Quality assurance and improvement actions at school	238

#### **INFOGRAPHICS**

Infographic 1. PISA 2022 key results [1/2]	38
Infographic 2. PISA 2022 key results [2/2]	39

#### **TABLES**

Table II.1. Snapshot of the resilience of education systems	26
Table II.2. Snapshot of performance in mathematics, reading and science	28
Table II.3. Snapshot of life at school and support from home	30
Table II.4. Snapshot of selecting and grouping students	32
Table II.5. Snapshot of investments in a solid foundation for learning and well-being	34
Table II.6. Snapshot of governing education systems	36
Table II.1.1. Key characteristics of the school environment in resilient education systems	56
Table II.1.2. The resilience of education systems, schools and students figures and tables	60
Table II.2.1. How education systems supported students and schools during the pandemic	89
Table II.2.2. How learning continued when schools were closed figures and tables	90
Table II.3.1. Life at school and support from home chapter figures	121
Table II.4.1. Selecting and grouping students, performance and equity in mathematics	128
Table II.4.2. Summary of stratification policies, by mathematics performance and socio-economic fairness	160
Table II.4.3. Selecting and grouping students chapter figures and tables	161
Table II.5.1. Investments in a solid foundation for learning and well-being figures	200

#### **12** |

Table II.6.1. Summary of how responsibilities for school governance are allocated	210
Table II.6.2. Education leadership actions	219
Table II.6.3. Summary of school-choice policies, by mathematics performance and socio-economic fairness	232
Table II.6.4. Quality assurance and improvement actions at school, by country/economy	239
Table II.6.5. Governing education systems figures and tables	240

Table II.A2.1. PISA target populations and samples, 2022	285
Table II.A2.2. Change in the enrolment of 15-year-olds in grade 7 and above (PISA 2003 through PISA 2022)	289
Table II.A2.4. Exclusions, PISA 2022	295
Table II.A2.6. Response rates, PISA 2022	299
Table II.B1.1.1. Students' sense of belonging at school	313
Table II.B1.1.5. Change between 2018 and 2022 in the index of sense of belonging	319
Table II.B1.1.7. Change between 2018 and 2022 in sense of belonging, by students' socio-economic status	321
Table II.B1.2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning	323
Table II.B1.2.24. Experience with learning at nome	331
Table II.B1.2.30. Problems with remote learning	341
Table II.B1.3.1. Teacher support in mathematics	349
Table II.B1.3.9. Disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons	353
Table II.B1.3.23. School safety risks	361
Table II.B1.4.10. Grade repetition	365
Table II.B1.4.17. Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics	0.07
	367
Table II.B1.4.26. Ability grouping	373
Table II.B1.5.4. Shortage of education staff in 2015, 2018 and 2022	375
Table II.B1.5.46. Student behaviour when using digital devices	379
Table II.B1.5.64. Mean mathematics performance per time spent learning on digital devices at school	385
Table II.B1.6.31. Reasons for transferring students to another school	387
Table II.B1.6.38. Assessment practices at school	391
Table II.B1.6.58. Quality assurance and improvement actions at school	399
Table II.B2.1. Students' sense of belonging at school	413
Table II.B2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning	419
Table II.B2.13. School safety risks	427
Table II.B2.21. Grade repetition	429
Table II.B2.24. Shortage of educational staff	431
Table II.B2.39. Reasons for transferring students to another school	435
Table II.B3.1. PISA 2022 system-level data collection	440

#### BOXES

Box 1. Interpreting differences in PISA scores	21
Box II.1.1. How PISA examines resilience of education systems	48
Box II.1.2. Alternative explanations for stable or improving trends in mathematics performance	49
Box II.1.3. Students feel less lonely at school and make friends more easily in education systems when	re
students have a greater sense of belonging at school	52
Box II.1.4. The role of school life and relationships in students' satisfaction with life	58
Box II.1.5. Strategic planning builds on the analyses of trends and scenarios for the future of education	า 59
Box II.2.1. Interpreting the data from students on school closures	64
Box II.2.2. How the pandemic changed students' career expectations	67
Box II.2.3. The value of social and emotional skills	71
Box II.2.4. Easing the shift to remote learning	74
Box II.3.1. Policies and programmes to support student safety in the digital environment	109
Box II.3.2. Reasons for students' long-term absenteeism	114
Box II.4.1. France re-thinks grade repetition	139
Box II.4.2. Kokirihia: The plan for removing streaming from Aotearoa (New Zealand) schools	158
Box II.5.1. Digital devices and distraction	186
Box II.5.2. Student well-being, performance and use of digital devices	196
Box II.7.1. Blended Learning in secondary and pre-university schools in Singapore	253

# Follow OECD Publications on: https://twitter.com/QECD https://www.facebook.com/theOECD https://www.inkedin.com/company/organisation-eco-cooperation-developpement-eco/ https://www.oecd.org/newslation-developpement-eco/ https://www.oecd.org/newslatters/ This book has... StatLinks Simple Look for the 1 2 at the bottom of the tables or graphs in this book. To download the matching Excel® spreadsheet, just type the link into your Internet browser or click on the link from the digital version.

## **Reader's Guide**

#### **PISA** in the pandemic

This edition of PISA includes data from 81 countries and economies. The test was originally planned to take place in 2021 but was delayed by one year due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The exceptional circumstances throughout this period, including lockdowns and school closures in many places, led to occasional difficulties in collecting some data. While the vast majority of countries and economies met PISA's technical standards (available <u>on line</u>), a small number did not. In prior PISA rounds, countries and economies that failed to comply with the standards, and which the PISA Adjudication Group judged to be consequential, could face exclusion from the main part of reporting. However, given the unprecedented situation caused by the pandemic, PISA 2022 results includes data from all participating education systems, including those where there were issues such as low response rates (see Annexes A2 and A4). The next section explains the potential limitations of data from countries not meeting specific technical standards. Readers are alerted to these limitations throughout the volume wherever appropriate.

It is important to note that the limitations and implications were assessed by the PISA Adjudication Group in June 2023. There may be a need for subsequent adjustments as new evidence on the quality and comparability of the data emerges. PISA will return to the standard ways of reporting for the 2025 assessment.

#### Adjudicated entities not meeting the sampling standards

The results of 13 adjudicated entities (i.e. countries, economies and regions within countries), listed below, will be reported with annotations. Caution is required when interpreting estimates for these countries/economies because one or more PISA sampling standards listed below were not met.

- Overall exclusion rate. Standard 1.7: The PISA Defined Target Population covers 95% or more of the PISA Desired Target Population. That is, school-level exclusions and within-school exclusions combined do not exceed 5%.
- School response rate. Standard 1.11: The final weighted school response rate is at least 85% of sampled schools. If a response rate is below 85% then an acceptable response rate can still be achieved through agreed upon use of replacement schools.
- Student response rate. Standard 1.12: The student response rate is at least 80% of all sampled students across responding schools.

The 13 entities can be grouped into two:

- Entities that submitted technically strong analyses, which indicated that more than minimal bias was most likely introduced in the estimates due to low response rates (falling below PISA standards): Canada, Ireland, New Zealand, the United Kingdom and Scotland.
- (ii) Entities that did not meet one or more PISA sampling standards and it is not possible to exclude the possibility of more than minimal bias based on the information available at the time of data adjudication: Australia, Denmark, Hong Kong (China), Jamaica, Latvia, the Netherlands, Panama and the United States.

The Adjudication Group also noted that the bias associated with trend and cross-country comparisons might be smaller, if past data or data for other countries are biased in the same direction. Therefore, the deviations from the standards in PISA 2022 are compared with those in PISA 2018 where necessary.

## (i) Entities that submitted technically strong analyses, which indicated that more than minimal bias was most likely introduced in the estimates due to low response rates (falling below PISA standards)

#### Canada

- Overall exclusion rate: 5.8%. Exclusions exceeded the acceptable rate by less than one percentage point; at the same time, the exclusion rates observed in 2022 remained relatively close to exclusion rates observed in 2018 (6.9%).
- Student response rate: 77%. School response rates: 81% before replacement, 86% after replacement. Student response rates decreased from 84% with respect to PISA 2018, and fell short of the target in 7 out of 10 provinces (all but New Brunswick, Prince Edward Island and Saskatchewan). A thorough non-response bias analysis was submitted, with analyses conducted separately for each province, using students' academic achievement data as auxiliary information. School response rates also fell short of the target, driven by low participation rates in two provinces (Alberta and Quebec). For these provinces, non-response bias was also examined at the school level. The analyses clearly indicate that school nonresponse has not led to any appreciable bias, but student nonresponse has given rise to a small upwards bias.

#### Ireland

• Student response rate: 77%. Student response rates decreased from 86% with respect to PISA 2018. A thorough non-response bias analysis was submitted, using external achievement data at student level as auxiliary information. The analysis provided evidence to suggest a residual upwards bias of about 0.1 standard deviations, after non-response adjustments are taken into account. On the PISA scale, considering that the standard deviation in Ireland ranged (in 2018) from 78 score points in mathematics to 91 score points in reading, this could translate in an estimated upwards bias of approximately 8 or 9 points.

#### New Zealand

- **Overall exclusion rate: 5.8%.** Exclusions exceeded the acceptable rate by less than one percentage point; at the same time, the exclusion rates observed in 2022 remained relatively close to exclusion rates observed in 2018 (6.8%).
- Student response rate: 72%. School response rate: 61% before replacement, 72% after replacement. Student response rates decreased from 83% with respect to PISA 2018. School response rates also fell short of the target. A thorough and detailed non-response bias analysis was submitted, using external achievement data at student level, but also information on chronic absenteeism, as auxiliary information, along with demographic characteristics. The analysis provided evidence to suggest a residual upwards bias of about 0.1 standard deviations, after non-response adjustments are taken into account, driven entirely by student non-response (school non-participation did not result in significant bias, in contrast). The analysis also suggested that chronically absent students are over-represented among non-respondents in PISA. On the PISA scale, considering that the standard deviation in New Zealand ranged (in 2018) from 93 score points in mathematics to 106 score points in reading, this could translate in an estimated upwards bias of approximately 10 points. The Adjudication Group also noted that the bias associated with trend and cross-country comparisons might be smaller, if past data or data for other countries are biased in the same direction. For more information, see <u>educationcounts.govt.nz</u> website.

#### The United Kingdom

#### The United Kingdom (excluding Scotland)

Student response rate: 75%. School response rates: 66% before replacement, 80% after replacement. Student response rates decreased from 83% with respect to PISA 2018. School response rates also fell short of the target. An informative non-response bias analysis was submitted, using external achievement data at student level as auxiliary information, along with demographic characteristics; the analysis was limited to England as the largest subnational entity within the United Kingdom (excluding Scotland), and thus covered over 90% of the intended sample. The analysis provided evidence to suggest a small residual upwards bias of about 0.07 standard deviations for reading and 0.09 standard deviations for mathematics, after non-response adjustments are taken into account, driven entirely by student non-response (school non-participation did not result in significant bias, in contrast). On the PISA scale, considering that the standard deviation in England (in 2018) was about 101 score points in reading and 93 score points in mathematics, this could translate in an estimated upwards bias of approximately 7 or 8 points.

#### Scotland

- **Overall exclusion rate: 6.6%.** Exclusions exceeded the acceptable rate by a small margin; at the same time, the exclusion rates observed in 2022 remained relatively close to exclusion rates observed in 2018 (5.4%).
- Student response rate: 79%. Student response rates missed the standard by a small margin, but were otherwise similar to response rates in PISA 2018 (81%). A thorough non-response bias analysis was submitted, using several external achievement variables at student level as auxiliary information, along with demographic characteristics. The analysis provided evidence to suggest a residual upwards bias of about 0.1 standard deviations, after non-response adjustments are taken into account. On the PISA scale, considering that the standard deviation in Scotland (in 2018) was about 95 score points in reading and mathematics, this could translate in an estimated upwards bias of approximately 9 or 10 points. Given the similarity of response rates between 2018 and 2022, it cannot be excluded that a similar bias might be present in 2018 as well, and in many PISA 2022 participants whose response rates were similarly close to the target. For this reason, data were deemed to be comparable to previous cycles.

## (ii) Entities that did not meet one or more PISA sampling standards and it is not possible to exclude the possibility of more than minimal bias based on the information available at the time of data adjudication.

#### Australia

- **Overall exclusion rate: 6.9%.** Exclusions exceeded the acceptable rate by a small margin; at the same time, the exclusion rates observed in 2022 remained relatively close to exclusion rates observed in 2018 (5.7%).
- Student response rate: 76%. Student response rates decreased from 85% with respect to PISA 2018. A technically sound non-response bias analysis was submitted; however, the strength of the evidence was limited by the fact that no external student-level achievement variables could be used in the analysis. Based on the available evidence, and on the experience of other countries participating in PISA, the Adjudication Group considered that while non-response adjustments likely limited the severity of non-response biases, a small residual upward bias could not be excluded.

#### Denmark

Overall exclusion rate: 11.6%. Exclusions exceeded the acceptable rate by a large margin and showed a
marked increase, with respect to 2018 (5.7%). The Adjudication Group noted that high levels of student
exclusions may bias performance results upwards. In Denmark, a major cause behind the rise appears to be
the increased share of students with diagnosed dyslexia, and the fact that more of these students are using
electronic assistive devices to help them read on the screen, including during exams. The lack of such an
accommodation for students with diagnosed dyslexia in the PISA assessment led schools to exclude many

of these students. In order to reduce exclusion rates in the future, PISA may need to further accommodate dyslexic students, allowing the use of assistive devices.

#### Hong Kong (China)

Student response rate: 75%. School response rates: 60% before replacement, 80% after replacement. Student response rates decreased from 85% with respect to PISA 2018. School response rates also fell short of the target (as they did in 2018). At the school level, the fact that a raw, but direct measure of school performance is used to assign schools to sampling strata (and therefore, differential non-response across strata is unlikely to cause bias), limits the risk of bias due to non-response. A non-response bias analysis was submitted; however, the strength of the evidence was limited by the fact that no external student-level achievement variables could be used in the analysis (only student grade information, already used in non-response adjustments, was available). The proxies for school and student achievement (school size and student grade) that were used in the analyses showed no or very limited relationship with participation rates. Nevertheless, based on the available evidence, and on the experience of other countries participating in PISA, the Adjudication Group considered that while non-response adjustments likely limited the severity of non-response biases, a small residual upward bias could not be excluded.

#### Jamaica

Student response rate: 68%. Student response rates were substantially below the standard. A simple nonresponse bias analysis was submitted, analysing student response rates by school characteristics: this showed in particular lower response rates in rural schools and regions. A limited non-response bias analysis was also prepared by the Core C contractor, to compare respondent characteristics (both before and after nonresponse adjustment) to characteristics of the full eligible sample of students. This suggested that nonresponse was also related to students' grade level and gender (both variables are used in non-response adjustments). Based on the available information, it is not possible to exclude the possibility of bias; considering the analyses on student non-response conducted in other countries, the residual bias after nonresponse adjustments are taken into account is likely to correspond to an upward bias. The Adjudication Group also noted that a number of issues encountered during the main survey data collection could have been prevented, had Jamaica been able to do a full field trial. This was not possible because of COVIDrelated disruptions to schooling in 2021. In particular, enrolment information available to the national centre for school-level sampling often turned out to be imprecise; and low student participation rates could have been anticipated, had a regular field trial been conducted. As a result of inaccurate sampling frames and low student response rates, the achieved sample size for the main survey was well below target, and sampling errors for Jamaica are larger than desired. The Adjudication Group noted that apart from the challenges around sampling operations, the quality of the data met expectations for reporting.

#### Latvia

• **Overall exclusion rate: 7.9%**. Exclusions exceeded the acceptable rate by a large margin and showed a marked increase, with respect to 2018 (4.3%). Most of these students were excluded because they were attending school in remote or virtual mode. The Adjudication Group noted that high levels of student exclusions may bias performance results upwards.

#### The Netherlands

- **Overall exclusion rate: 8.4%.** Exclusions exceeded the acceptable rate by a large margin and showed a marked increase, with respect to 2018 (6.2%). Most of these students were excluded because they had a physical or intellectual disability and no adaptation was available for them. The Adjudication Group noted that high levels of student exclusions may bias performance results upwards.
- School response rates: 66% before replacement, 90% after replacement. A non-response bias analysis
  was submitted, analysing differences in performance and in other characteristics between responding
  schools and the total population of schools, as well as differences between replacement schools and originally
  sampled, but non-responding schools. This supported the case that no large bias would result from non-

response; furthermore, given the available evidence, there is no clear indication about the direction of any residual bias.

#### Panama

Student response rate: 77%. In the challenging circumstances surrounding schooling in Panama in 2022 (teacher strikes, road blockades, and student absenteeism), student response rates decreased from 90% with respect to PISA 2018. No non-response bias analysis was submitted; the PISA national centre explained that non-response was potentially related to the agitated school climate the students found themselves when returning to their schools after the strikes. A limited non-response bias analysis was prepared by the Core C contractor, to compare respondent characteristics (both before and after nonresponse adjustment) to characteristics of the full eligible sample of students. This analysis suggested that (before non-response adjustments were taken into account), non-response was related to students' grade level, and to special needs status. Based on the available information, it is not possible to exclude the possibility of bias; considering the analyses on student non-response conducted in other countries, the residual bias after non-response adjustments are taken into account is likely to correspond to an upward bias.

#### The United States

- Exclusion rates: 6.1%. Exclusions exceeded the acceptable rate by a small margin but showed a marked increase, with respect to 2018 (3.8%), in exclusion rates for students with functional or intellectual disabilities. The Adjudication Group invited the national centres to investigate the reasons for this increase in exclusion rates and take remedial action for future cycles. It is expected that exclusion rates will fall again in the future, as a result.
- School response rates: 51% before replacement, 63% after replacement. School participation rates missed the standard by a substantial margin, and participation rates were particularly low among private schools (representing about 7% of the student population). A non-response bias analysis was submitted, indicating that, after replacement schools and non-response adjustments are taken into account, a number of characteristics (not including direct measures of school performance) are balanced across respondents and non-respondents. The Adjudication Group also noted that the response rate for students was only slightly above the target (80%). Based on the available information, it is not possible to exclude the possibility of bias, nor to determine its most likely direction.

#### Adjudication entity not reaching a strong level of comparability

The ability to compare PISA results with those of other countries, and over time, depends on the use of common test items and of standardised test-administration procedures. In addition, the common items must consistently indicate high, medium, or low proficiency, regardless of the country/economy or of the language of the test. When this condition is met, a common set of (international) parameters is used to convert students' correct, partially correct or incorrect responses into an estimated score on the PISA scale.

The PISA Technical Advisory Group issued a memo in December 2021 stating that, in each country and economy, over two-thirds of items are expected to use the international item parameters to ensure strong comparability of PISA scores across countries and economies. Where the proportion is lower, greater uncertainty (beyond the uncertainty of estimates reflected in standard errors) is associated with cross-country comparisons.

During the review of PISA 2022 results, invariance of item parameters with respect to the international ones was examined for each major language of assessment within a participating country/economy. For Viet Nam, 40% of the items were assigned unique parameters in reading (35 of 87). Viet Nam's reading results are, therefore, reported in this volume with an annotation indicating that a strong linkage to the international PISA scale could not be established.

#### Data underlying the figures

The data referred to in this volume are presented in Annex B and, in greater detail, including additional tables, on the PISA website (<u>www.oecd.org/pisa</u>). Five symbols are used to denote missing data:

- a The category does not apply in the country concerned or economy; data are therefore missing.
- c There were too few observations to provide reliable estimates (i.e. there were fewer than 30 students or fewer than 5 schools with valid data).
- m Data are not available. There was no observation in the sample; these data were not collected by the country or economy; or these data were collected but subsequently removed from the publication for technical reasons.
- w Results were withdrawn at the request of the country or economy concerned.
- x Data included in another category or column of the table (e.g. x(2) means that data are included in Column 2 of the table).

#### Coverage

This publication features data from 81 countries and economies, including all OECD Member countries except Luxembourg and 44 non-OECD Member countries and economies (see map of PISA countries and economies in "What is PISA?"). Specific territorial disclaimers and footnotes applicable to this publication are included in the copyright page (p.2).

The designation "Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)" refers to the 18 PISA-participating jurisdictions of Ukraine: Cherkasy Oblast, Kirovohrad Oblast, Poltava Oblast, Vinnytsia Oblast, Chernihiv Oblast, Kyiv Oblast, Sumy Oblast, the City of Kyiv, Zhytomyr Oblast, Odesa Oblast, Chernivtsi Oblast, Ivano-Frankivsk Oblast, Khmelnytskyi Oblast, Lviv Oblast, Rivne Oblast, Ternopil Oblast, Volyn Oblast and Zakarpattia Oblast. Due to Russia's large-scale aggression against Ukraine, the following nine jurisdictions were not covered: Dnipropetrovsk Oblast, Donetsk Oblast, Kharkiv Oblast, Luhansk Oblast, Zaporizhzhia Oblast, Kherson Oblast, Mykolaiv Oblast, the Autonomous Republic of Crimea and the city of Sevastopol.

Following OECD data regulations, a visual separation between countries and territories has been used in all charts to reduce the risk of data misinterpretation.

#### International averages

The OECD average corresponds to the arithmetic mean of the respective country estimates. It was calculated for most indicators presented in this report.

In this publication, the OECD average is generally used when the focus is on comparing performance across education systems. In the case of some countries, data may not be available for specific indicators, or specific categories may not apply. Readers should, therefore, keep in mind that the term "OECD average" refers to the OECD Member countries included in the respective comparisons. In cases where data are not available or do not apply for all sub-categories of a given population or indicator, the "OECD average" is not necessarily computed on a consistent set of countries across all columns of a table.

In analyses involving data from multiple years, the OECD average is always reported on consistent sets of OECD Member countries, and several averages may be reported in the same table. For instance, the "OECD average-35" includes only 35 OECD Member countries that have non-missing values across all the assessments for which this average itself is non-missing. This restriction allows for valid comparisons of the OECD average over time.

The number in the label used in figures and tables indicates the number of countries included in the average:

- 20 |
  - OECD average: Arithmetic mean across all OECD Member countries except Luxembourg.
  - OECD average-35: Arithmetic mean across all OECD Member countries excluding Costa Rica, Luxembourg and Spain.
  - OECD average-26: Arithmetic mean across all OECD Member countries excluding Australia, Canada, Denmark, Ireland, Latvia, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Portugal, Spain, the United Kingdom and the United States.
  - OECD average-23: Arithmetic mean across all OECD Member countries excluding Austria, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Estonia, Israel, Lithuania, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, the Slovak Republic, Slovenia, Spain, Türkiye, the United Kingdom and the United States.

#### **Rounding figures**

Because of rounding, some figures in tables may not add up exactly to the totals. Totals, differences and averages are always calculated on the basis of exact numbers and are rounded only after calculation.

All standard errors in this publication have been rounded to one or two decimal places. Where the value 0.0 or 0.00 is shown, this does not imply that the standard error is zero, but that it is smaller than 0.05 or 0.005, respectively.

#### **Reporting student data**

The report uses "15-year-olds" as shorthand for the PISA target population. PISA covers students who are aged between 15 years 3 months and 16 years 2 months at the time of assessment and who are enrolled in school and have completed at least 6 years of formal schooling, regardless of the type of institution in which they are enrolled, and whether they are in full-time or part-time education, whether they attend academic or vocational programmes, and whether they attend public or private schools or foreign schools within the country.

#### **Reporting school data**

The principals of the schools in which students were assessed provided information on their schools' characteristics by completing a school questionnaire. Where responses from school principals are presented in this publication, they are weighted so that they are proportionate to the number of 15-year-olds enrolled in the school.

#### Focusing on statistically significant differences

This volume discusses only statistically significant differences or changes. These are denoted in darker colours in figures and in bold font in tables. Unless otherwise specified, the significance level is set to 5%. See Annex A3 for further information.

#### Abbreviations used in this report

ESCS	PISA index of economic, social, and cultural status
GDP	Gross domestic product
ІСТ	Information and communications technology
ISCED	International Standard Classification of Education
ISCO	International Standard Classification of Occupations
PPP	Purchasing power parity
Score dif.	Score-point difference
S.D.	Standard deviation
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
S.E.	Standard error
% dif.	Percentage-point difference

#### Box 1. Interpreting differences in PISA scores

PISA scores do not have a substantive meaning as they are not physical units such as metres or grams. Instead, they are set in relation to the variation in results observed across all test participants. There is, theoretically, no minimum or maximum score in PISA; rather, the results are scaled to fit approximately normal distributions (i.e. means around 500 score points, standard deviations around 100 score points). In statistical terms, a one-point difference on the PISA scale therefore corresponds to an effect size (Cohen's d) of 0.01; and a 10-point difference to an effect size of 0.10.

#### Interpreting large differences in scores: proficiency levels

PISA scales are divided into proficiency levels. For example, for PISA 2022, the range of difficulty of mathematics items is represented by eight levels of mathematics proficiency: the simplest items correspond to Level 1c; Levels 1b, 1a, 2, 3, 4, 5 and 6 correspond to increasingly difficult items. Individuals who are proficient within the range of Level 1c are likely to be able to complete Level 1c items but are unlikely to be able to complete items at higher levels. See Chapter 3, *Volume I – PISA 2022 Results*, for a detailed description of proficiency levels in mathematics, reading, and science.

In mathematics, each proficiency level corresponds to a range of about 62 score points; in reading the difference between the cut points for each proficiency level is about 73 score points, and in science is about 75 score points. Hence, score-point differences of that magnitude can be interpreted as the difference in described skills and knowledge between successive proficiency levels.

#### Interpreting small differences in scores: statistical significance

Smaller differences in PISA scores cannot be expressed in terms of the difference in skills and knowledge between proficiency levels. However, they can still be compared with each other by means of verifying their "statistical significance".

A difference is called "statistically significant" if it is unlikely that such a difference can be observed in the estimates based on samples when, in fact, no true difference exists in the populations from which the samples are drawn. The results of the PISA assessments are "estimates" because they are obtained from samples of students rather than from a census of all students (i.e. which introduces a "sampling error"), and because they are obtained using a limited set of assessment tasks rather than the universe of all possible assessment tasks (i.e. which introduces a "measurement error").

It is possible to determine the magnitude of the uncertainty associated with the estimate and to represent it as a "confidence interval", i.e. a range defined in such a way that if the true value lies above its upper bound or below its lower bound, an estimate different from the reported estimate would be observed only with a small probability (typically less than 5%). The confidence interval needs to be taken into account when making comparisons between estimates so that differences that may arise simply due to the sampling error and measurement error are not interpreted as real differences.

#### Interpreting differences in scores across PISA assessments

To ensure the comparability of PISA results across different assessment years, "link errors" must be used. The link error represents uncertainty around scale values ("is a score of 432 in PISA 2022 the same as 432 in PISA 2018?") and is therefore independent of the size of the student sample. For comparisons between mathematics results in PISA 2022 and mathematics results in 2018, the link error corresponds to 2.24 score points. For detailed information, see Box I.5.3 in Chapter 5 and Annex A7 of *Volume I – PISA 2022 Results*.

#### Interpreting differences in scores in terms of learning gains over a year of schooling

Knowing the typical learning gain that students make as they progress from one grade-level to the next can be useful for interpreting differences in PISA results. 20 points represents the average annual pace of learning of 15-year-olds in countries that participate in PISA. Box I.5.1 in Chapter 5 of *Volume I – PISA 2022 Results* explores this topic.

#### **Further documentation**

For further information on the PISA assessment instruments and the methods used in PISA, see the *PISA 2022* Assessment and Analytical Framework (OECD, 2023<sup>[1]</sup>) and *PISA 2022 Technical Report* (OECD, forthcoming<sup>[2]</sup>).

#### StatLink

This report has StatLinks for tables and graphs. To download the matching Excel® spreadsheet, just type the link into your Internet browser, starting with the https://doi.org prefix, or click on the link from the e-book version.

#### References

OECD (2023), PISA 2022 Assessment and Analytical Framework, PISA, OECD	[1]
Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/dfe0bf9c-en</u> .	
OECD (forthcoming), PISA 2022 Technical Report, OECD Publishing, Paris.	[2]

## **Executive Summary**

The COVID-19 pandemic was a stress test for education systems. It revealed whether schools and students around the globe were able to adapt to sudden and profound changes in how instruction is provided and how students learn. Now that the crisis phase has passed, policy makers and schools need to know where students stand in their learning and well-being to be able to provide remedial measures for those students who fell behind in their learning or suffered emotionally or physically from the pandemic. Updated information on the resources available and the general climate in schools after the pandemic can also help education systems prepare for the future.

Results from PISA 2022 show that some education systems coped better than others during and after pandemicrelated school closures – and even learned from the experience. These resilient education systems have a few policies in common: they kept schools open for longer for more students; students encountered fewer obstacles to remote learning; and they worked to strengthen parent-school partnerships, among others.

Insights drawn from PISA 2022 data can help education systems bolster their resilience to disruption, and rethink learning and teaching. Given that it is all but inevitable that education will continue to be affected by natural and manmade shocks and disturbances, both global, such as pandemics and climate change, and local, including earthquakes, floods and war, education systems need to build their capacity to withstand adversity.

#### **Resilient education systems**

- Four education systems, namely Japan, Korea, Lithuania and Chinese Taipei, could be considered "resilient" with regard to mathematics performance, equity and well-being. Twenty-one other education systems were resilient in one or two of the three aspects considered.
- Between 2018 and 2022 trends in students' sense of belonging at school were mixed, with equal proportions
  of countries/economies showing stable, improving or deteriorating trends. Of the 47 education systems with
  improving or stable trends, only 20 maintained or attained a level of students' sense of belonging at school
  that was at or above the OECD average.
- Disadvantaged students in 2022 were more likely than their advantaged peers to report feeling that they have fewer opportunities to form close bonds at and with school. However, PISA 2022 results suggest that systems offering greater fairness in learning opportunities also offer greater fairness in social opportunities.
- Education systems that were resilient in mathematics performance differed in certain policies, practices and characteristics compared to other countries/economies, including in their response to COVID-19, in parental support and school climate, and in their approaches to selecting and grouping students, and to governing and allocating resources to schools.

#### How learning continued when schools were closed

• Two out of three countries/economies closed their schools for longer than three months for a majority of their students during the COVID-19 pandemic. Students in systems that spared more students from longer closures scored higher in mathematics and reported a greater sense of belonging at school.

- Almost one in two students indicated that, when learning at home, they frequently had difficulty motivating themselves to do schoolwork, and one in three students frequently did not fully understand school assignments, on average across OECD countries.
- Students in education systems whose schools provided more activities to maintain learning and well-being during school closures reported feeling more confident in their ability to learn autonomously and remotely if their school has to close again in the future.

#### Life at school and support from home

- On average across OECD countries, almost 40% of students reported that, in most lessons, the teacher does
  not show an interest in every student's learning or does not continue teaching until students understand the
  material.
- Some 30% of students, on average across OECD countries, reported that, in most or every mathematics lesson, they get distracted using digital devices; 25% of students reported that they get distracted by other students using these devices in class.
- On average across OECD countries, students who reported feeling safe and were not exposed to bullying or risks at school have a stronger sense of belonging at school, feel more confident about their capacity for selfdirected learning and are overall more satisfied with life.
- In all countries/economies with available data, students who enjoy more support from their families reported a greater sense of belonging at school and life satisfaction, and more confidence in their capacity for selfdirected learning. In most countries/economies, these students also reported feeling less anxiety towards mathematics.

#### Selecting and grouping students

- On average across OECD countries and in a majority of education systems, students who had attended preprimary education for at least one year were considerably less likely to have repeated a grade than students who had never attended pre-primary education or who had attended for less than one year, even after accounting for socio-economic factors.
- In equitable and high-performing education systems, almost all students had attended pre-primary school; few students had repeated a grade; socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged students were not heavily concentrated in certain schools; students were tracked into different curricular programmes relatively late; and comparatively few students were grouped by ability between classes.

#### **Educational resources**

- In more than half of all education systems with available data, and on average across OECD countries, more students in 2022 than in 2018 attended a school whose principal reported that instruction is hindered by a shortage of education staff. In 58 countries/economies, the share of students in schools whose principal reported that instruction is hindered by a lack of teaching staff increased between 2018 and 2022.
- On average across OECD countries and in 41 education systems, socio-economically disadvantaged schools were more likely than advantaged schools to suffer from a lack of or poor-quality digital resources.
- Some 29% of students in schools where the use of cell phones is banned reported using a smartphone several times a day, on average across OECD countries, illustrating that cell phone bans are not always effectively enforced.
- In those education systems where more students in 2022 than in 2018 attended schools that offer peer-topeer tutoring, students' sense of belonging at school strengthened during the period.

#### School governance

- The top three quality-assurance mechanisms that appear to ensure that greater school autonomy is associated with better academic performance in mathematics are: teacher mentoring; monitoring teacher practice by having inspectors observe classes; and systematic recording of students' test results and graduation rates.
- Strong-performing school systems entrust principals and teachers with more responsibility.
- Principals of private schools were more likely than their counterparts in public schools to report that their school is prepared for remote learning – even after all the efforts public schools made to improve digital learning during the COVID-19 pandemic.

#### Table II.1. Snapshot of the resilience of education systems [1/2]

- Countries/economies with values above the OECD average
- Countries/economies with values not significantly different from the OECD average
- Countries/economies with values below the OECD average

	Resilience in mathematics			Resilience in equity	Resilience in well-being		
				Change in mathem	natics performance		
	Mathematics performance	Change in mathematics performance <sup>1</sup>	Socio-economic fairness in mathematics <sup>2</sup>	Disadvantaged students <sup>3</sup>	Advantaged students <sup>3</sup>	Index of sense of belonging	Change in sense of belonging¹
	Mean score	Score dif.	%	Score dif.	Score dif.	Mean index	Dif.
OECD average	472	-15	84.5	-17	-10	-0.02	-0.02
Singapore	575	6	83.0	-6	16	-0.22	-0.06
Japan	536	9	88.1	5	18	0.25	0.23
Korea	527	1	87.4	-4	5	0.26	-0.02
Estonia	510	-13	86.6	-23	-6	-0.14	0.00
Switzerland	508	-7	79.2	-15	2	0.36	0.06
Canada*	497	-15	89.8	-18	-11	-0.16	0.02
Netherlands*	493	-27	84.9	-34	-18	0.10	-0.10
reland*	492	-8	87.0	-10	-3	-0.13	0.02
Belgium	489	-19	78.2	-19	-18	0.02	-0.04
Denmark*	489	-20	87.8	-23	-19	0.11	-0.10
United Kingdom*	489	-13	89.0	-7	-5	-0.21	-0.02
Poland	489	-27	83.7	-29	-24	-0.31	-0.07
Austria	487	-12	80.6	-20	-5	0.44	0.05
Australia*	487	-4	85.4	-13	7	-0.23	-0.04
Czech Republic	487	-12	78.0	-18	-9	-0.28	0.00
Slovenia	485	-24	84.3	-30	-25	0.04	0.14
Finland	484	-23	87.6	-26	-16	0.10	0.09
Latvia*	483	-13	86.8	-16	-10	-0.25	0.01
Sweden	482	-21	85.0	-24	-9	0.09	0.06
New Zealand*	479	-15	84.2	-23	-9	-0.29	-0.08
Lithuania	475	-6	83.5	-4	-2	-0.02	0.11
Germany	475	-25	81.3	-26	-18	0.27	-0.01
France	474	-21	78.5	-22	-16	-0.03	0.05
Spain	473	m	85.8	m	m	0.27	-0.19
Hungary	473	-8	74.9	-12	-5	0.14	0.06
Portugal	472	-21	81.8	-17	-20	0.08	-0.04
Italy	471	-15	86.5	-15	-11	-0.06	-0.11
Viet Nam	469	m	86.2	m	m	-0.28	0.05
Norway	468	-33	90.4	-31	-19	0.23	-0.14
Malta	466	-6	90.0	-1	-10	-0.24	0.00
United States*	465	-13	85.1	-12	-7	-0.26	-0.03
Slovak Republic	464	-22	74.3	-32	-15	-0.20	0.08
Croatia	463	-1	87.0	-10	2	0.13	0.08
Iceland	459	-36	90.7	-36	-34	0.16	0.06
Israel	458	-5	80.4	-11	7	m	m
Türkiye	453	0	87.4	-8	0	-0.30	-0.16
Brunei Darussalam	442	12	84.0	13	14	-0.50	-0.07
Serbia	440	-8	86.6	-15	-10	0.18	0.15
UnitedArab Emirates	431	-4	94.2	7	-28	-0.20	-0.10

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). 1. Change from PISA 2018 to PISA 2022 2. Socio-economic fairness is measured by the percentage of variation in student performance that is not accounted for by differences in student socio-economic status. Higher percentages indicate higher levels of fairness by student socio-economic status. 3. A socio-economically advantaged (disadvantaged) student is a student in the top (bottom) quarter of ESCS in his or her own country/economy. Notes: Values that are statistically significant are marked in bold (see Annex A3). The OECD average does not include Costa Rica and Spain for change in performance. Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the students performance in Mathematics. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 1; and Volume I, Annex B1.

#### Table II.1. Snapshot of the resilience of education systems [2/2]

Countries/economies with values above the OECD average

Countries/economies with values not significantly different from the OECD average

Countries/economies with values below the OECD average

	Resilience in mathematics			Resilience in equity	Resilience in well-being		
		Change in	Socio-economic	Change in mathem	natics performance <sup>1</sup>		
	Mathematics performance	mathematics performance <sup>1</sup>	fairness in mathematics <sup>2</sup>	Disadvantaged studentਭੰ	Advantaged students <sup>3</sup>	Index of sense of belonging	Change in sense of belonging <sup>1</sup>
	Mean score	Score dif.	%	Score dif.	Score dif.	Mean index	Dif.
Greece	430	-21	88.2	-16	-21	-0.06	-0.08
Romania	428	-2	74.2	-11	13	-0.02	0.01
Kazakhstan	425	2	96.1	0	7	-0.14	0.07
Mongolia	425	m	81.9	m	m	-0.15	m
Bulgaria	417	-19	82.8	-21	-16	-0.19	0.11
Moldova	414	-6	84.4	3	-12	-0.06	0.01
Qatar	414	0	88.3	4	-5	-0.16	0.04
Chile	412	-6	87.5	7	-14	-0.22	-0.12
Uruguay	409	-9	82.1	-3	-4	-0.08	-0.05
Malaysia	409	-32	81.9	-26	-31	-0.27	-0.09
Montenegro	406	-24	90.5	-29	-19	0.14	0.24
Mexico	395	-14	89.6	-9	-17	-0.18	-0.16
Thailand	394	-25	89.9	-22	-32	-0.34	0.05
Peru	391	-9	82.7	-2	-13	-0.20	-0.09
Georgia	390	-8	92.2	-1	-13	-0.05	0.06
Saudi Arabia	389	16	93.6	27	7	0.00	-0.03
North Macedonia	389	-6	87.5	-5	-12	0.12	m
Costa Rica	385	-18	m	m	m	-0.09	-0.15
Colombia	383	-8	83.8	-7	-5	-0.16	0.02
Brazil	379	-5	85.2	0	-13	-0.21	-0.02
Argentina	378	-2	84.6	12	-9	-0.20	-0.09
Jamaica*	377	m	93.9	m	m	-0.34	m
Albania	368	-69	95.5	-68	-57	0.25	-0.14
Indonesia	366	-13	94.5	-6	-23	-0.13	0.00
Morocco	365	-3	91.5	1	-7	-0.29	0.02
Uzbekistan	364	m	98.0	m	m	0.08	m
Jordan	361	-39	94.8	-32	-47	-0.21	-0.04
Panama*	357	4	80.0	7	2	-0.19	0.02
Philippines	355	2	95.2	20	-18	-0.38	-0.12
Guatemala	34.4	10	87.9	m	m	-0.18	-0.31
El Salvador	343	m	85.6	m	m	-0.27	m
Dominican Republic	339	14	89.9	17	6	-0.23	0.03
Paraguay	338	11	88.8	m	m	-0.24	-0.39
Cambodia	336	12	98.1	m	m	-0.43	-0.29
Macao (China)	552	-6	95.0	-14	6	-0.31	0.09
Chinese Taipei	547	16	84.3	3	30	0.01	0.06
Hong Kong (China)*	540	-11	94.2	-13	-5	-0.39	0.00
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	441	m	86.2	m	m	-0.08	0.16
Cyprus	418	-32	89.1	-35	-18	-0.10	-0.04
Baku (Azerbaijan)	397	-23	94.8	-25	-25	-0.17	0.04
Palestinian Authority	366	m	92.6	m	m	-0.17	m
Kosovo	355	-11	94.3	-8	-12	m	m

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

1. Change from PISA 2018 to PISA 2022

2. Socio-economic fairness is measured by the percentage of variation in student performance that is not accounted for by differences in student socio-economic status. Higher percentages indicate higher levels of fairness by student socio-economic status.

3. A socio-economically advantaged (disadvantaged) student is a student in the top (bottom) quarter of ESCS in his or her own country/economy.

Notes: Values that are statistically significant are marked in bold (see Annex A3).

The OECD average does not include Costa Rica and Spain for change in performance.

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the students performance in Mathematics.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 1; and Volume I, Annex B1.

#### Table II.2. Snapshot of performance in mathematics, reading and science [1/2]

Countries/economies with values above the OECD average

Countries/economies with values not significantly different from the OECD average

Countries/economies with values below the OECD average

Γ

	Percentage of students who reported								
	Their school building was closed for three months or less	They feel confident or very confident that they can motivate themselves to do school work %	They agree or strongly agree that their teacher s were available when they needed help	They never or only a few times had problems finding someone who could help them with their school work	Someone from their school checked in with them to ask how they were feeling every day or almost every day				
OECD average	49.5	58.1	67.1	75.8	13.3				
Iceland	88.9	73.8	62.2	82.0	7.0				
Sweden	85.4	59.8	74.6	77.6	6.6				
Japan	84.5	33.9	39.2	80.4	27.9				
Korea	79.2	57.0	70.0	81.0	7.2				
Switzerland	76.5	64.8	73.0	83.1	13.1				
Croatia	70.3	72.4	70.0	75.2	16.0				
Finland	68.8	63.5	73.1	80.6	16.8				
Serbia	68.5	54.1	62.7	69.9	18.4				
Lithuania	66.8	62.8	71.6	77.0	15.6				
Uzbekistan	64.9	68.5	62.7	58.5	38.2				
France	64.2	65.1	63.2	78.5	9.5				
Moldova	62.9	65.1	69.2	73.2	31.4				
Viet Nam	60.1	65.7	85.7	71.3	23.6				
Thailand	59.1	55.1	71.9	72.2	21.3				
New Zealand*	58.1	51.3	72.6	72.1	12.0				
Portugal	58.0	65.6	75.1	83.3	11.9				
Bulgaria	54.2	65.8	64.5	65.1	21.4				
Spain	54.1	63.0	61.5	78.4	11.6				
Morocco	53.7	57.0	48.1	61.2	18.4				
Australia*	53.5	54.4	71.5	68.7	14.7				
Albania	53.3	69.4	76.3	61.4	41.1				
Montenegro	50.5	54.1	65.3	67.1	20.5				
Austria	50.4	63.9	68.4	75.1	16.2				
Dominican Republic	50.2	66.0	66.5	64.3	28.1				
Romania	49.6	65.1	63.5	74.0	19.7				
Israel	49.5	48.3	58.8	73.3	16.2				
Belgium	49.4	51.9	69.4	77.9	8.5				
Kazakhstan	48.5	75.6	72.1	77.6	31.0				
Uruguay	48.1	60.2	63.4	70.5	17.0				
Hungary	47.8	61.8	71.3	79.3	16.8				
Saudi Arabia	47.7	73.7	61.2	71.2	24.0				
Chile	47.3	63.3	67.4	63.5	12.2				
Georgia	47.0	59.5	66.2	70.3	29.0				
Philippines	45.1	68.1	81.5	65.6	18.3				
Peru	45.1	71.5	67.9	64.4	21.3				
Estonia	45.0	56.3	76.2	79.3	8.0				
Panama*	44.9	79.1	63.6	65.2	24.4				
Malta	43.7	52.2	69.6	71.6	11.4				
El Salvador	43.6	76.7	71.2	68.9	22.7				
Guatemala	43.3	75.7	73.0	76.6	28.4				

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students who reported their school was closed for three months or less. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2.

#### Table II.2. Snapshot of performance in mathematics, reading and science [2/2]

Countries/economies with values above the OECD average

Countries/economies with values not significantly different from the OECD average

Countries/economies with values **below** the OECD average

Γ

	Percentage of students who reported								
	Their school building was closed for three months or less	They feel confident or very confident that they can motivate themselves to do school work	They agree or strongly agree that their teacher s were available when they needed help	They never or only a few times had problems finding someone who could help them with their school work	Someone from their school checked in with them to ask how they were feeling every day or almost every day				
	%	%	%	%	%				
Canada*	43.1	51.4	/2./	/1.4	12.6				
Poland Olaush Danah Ka	43.0	44.1	51.7	76.4	12.8				
Slovak Republic	42.9	60.0	65.9	73.2	21.1				
Qatar	42.8	64.8	67.4	64.9	19.8				
North Macedonia	42.1	68.9	65.7	64.3	22.2				
Brunel Darussalam	41.3	45.5	81.7	60.2	13.8				
Cambodia	40.6	/5.1	/2.0	63.4	27.8				
Slovenia	40.5	52.7	65.5	80.0	15.6				
Paraguay	40.5	/1.6	70.0	/1.5	31.4				
Indonesia	40.1	70.2	/9.6	/2.5	17.1				
Mongolia	39.5	63.6	54.3	60.2	13.7				
	38.8	58.3	63.2	//.1	11.4				
Türkiye	38.7	61.5	62.3	67.8	13.6				
Greece	38.2	51.8	52.7	70.9	11.3				
Mexico	37.6	/2.2	65.5	/1./	20.2				
Malaysia	37.5	57.4	67.8	67.8	17.4				
United Kingdom	36.6	47.0	58.2	70.4	9.4				
United States*	36.3	54.6	/2.2	/1.8	12.7				
Netherlands*	36.3	50.1	74.0	81.9	6.3				
Colombia	36.2	82.4	12.2	73.3	24.1				
Argentina	35.7	61.3	60.3	69.0	19.5				
United Arab Emirates	35.2	69.0	/3.6	66.2	22.6				
Jordan	35.1	62.3	51.1	55.8	21.7				
Czech Republic	30.9	m	68.0	74.0	13.0				
	29.7	69.0	09.0	74.0	10.1				
Germany	28.7	59.3	73.0	70.8	9.1				
Latvia	20.9	52.0	(4.1 61.2	72.0	10.0				
DTdZII	20.2	52.0	64.4	70.0	10.0				
Jaillaica	24.2	00.0	67.7	74.0	21.0				
Nerway	19.0	40.0	07.7	74.9 m	0.0				
Singenere	m	m	m	m					
Singapore	m	m 	m 	m 	m ~				
Denmark		111	III	III	Ш				
Chinese Taipei	90.2	52.7	70.4	78.1	7.2				
Macao (China)	58.1	54.4	64.4	71.8	5.0				
Kosovo	58.1	63.2	59.9	66.6	28.0				
Hong Kong (China)*	47.5	53.1	70.3	69.8	5.6				
Palestinian Authority	46.4	64.6	55.1	63.7	23.2				
Cyprus	45.7	57.4	63.0	63.2	14.3				
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	41.6	64.5	69.7	71.6	27.8				
Baku (Azerbaijan)	39.0	69.4	71.6	55.7	27.8				

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students who reported their school was closed for three months or less. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2.

#### 30 |

#### Table II.3. Snapshot of life at school and support from home [1/2]

Countries/economies with values above the OECD average

Countries/economies with values not significantly different from the OECD average

Countries/economies with values **below** the OECD average

	Change in the	percentage of student	ś who reported	Percentage of students who reported				
	Their teachers gives extra help in most or every lesson	Other students made fun of them	They skipped some classes at least once	They were absent from school for more than three consecutive months at least once during their school years	They become distracted by using digital devices in most or every lesson	They felt safe in other places (outside the classroom) at school	They witnessed a fight on school property in which someone got hurt	
OECD average	~ ull. -2.6	-1 9	% ull.	76	30.5	% 89.9	17.0	
taly	16.4	-49	-14.0	m	37.8	90.1	9.9	
Peru	9.4	-10	-26.5	13.8	20.7	85.8	20.1	
Croatia	8.4	-1.5	-10.1	7.6	22.8	94.3	67	
Japan	8.3	-4.0	-1.0	m	5.2	m	m	
Colombia	6.8	-5.2	-26.3	12.6	30.4	91.7	21.4	
Korea	5.9	-1.0	-0.7	2.0	9.4	89.7	7.8	
Uruquav	3.9	-1.5	-14.3	11.0	52.0	90.0	27.4	
Germany	3.5	0.2	-5.8	m	28.1	m	m	
srael	2.6	m	-1.0	10.2	31.1	m	m	
Spain	2.3	-0.7	-7.6	m	32.8	m	m	
Chile	1.9	-5.6	-3.5	10.3	51.3	86.0	36.1	
Malaysia	1.1	-8.4	-10.9	13.3	20.3	81.3	12.7	
ireland*	0.7	-4.9	-1.6	5.2	19.8	93.4	16.4	
Viet Nam	0.7	-3.1	-5.1	6.1	14.3	84.3	13.3	
Sweden	0.3	-0.2	2.0	6.8	36.9	88.7	18.8	
Argentina	0.0	-4.5	-38.8	10.8	53.7	86.3	25.6	
Slovenia	0.0	-2.1	-5.0	7.7	23.3	92.4	9.0	
Costa Rica	0.0	-3.3	-17.6	7.7	34.1	89.0	25.9	
Hungary	0.0	-3.0	-9.5	6.8	28.2	92.5	7.3	
United States*	-0.4	-5.5	-1.4	6.6	29.6	87.3	33.3	
Netherlands*	-0.4	-0.4	-5.2	7.9	33.0	93.5	9.0	
Mexico	-1.2	-5.3	-11.5	11.5	25.3	89.4	10.7	
Brazil	-1.5	-4.6	-31.0	11.0	45.1	87.2	19.0	
Singapore	-1.6	-5.6	-4.0	4.8	27.3	92.9	13.3	
Romania	-1.7	-3.4	-0.1	7.8	34.6	87.5	16.5	
Montenegro	-2.6	-2.9	-8.4	7.8	34.8	91.1	27.8	
Denmark*	-2.7	-0.2	0.5	5.0	31.5	m	m	
France	-2.9	2.0	-3.1	10.2	30.3	91.5	18.0	
Kazakhstan	-2.9	-9.8	-29.2	9.4	23.2	85.9	7.6	
Austria	-3.0	-0.6	-8.4	m	23.4	92.7	7.2	
Qatar	-3.1	-4.8	-15.1	11.4	22.1	88.0	31.1	
Slovak Republic	-3.3	-3.7	-13.7	11.2	26.0	89.9	10.8	
Estonia	-3.5	1.6	0.3	5.7	28.1	89.5	11.4	
New Zealand*	-3.8	-3.8	-1.8	13.2	45.7	87.0	28.0	
Portugal	-4.0	-1.4	-28.6	3.7	34.1	95.3	15.8	
Bulgaria	-4.0	-7.3	-21.6	11.7	45.9	85.6	17.0	
Norway	-4.3	1.3	2.1	m	31.2	90.5	16.4	
Serbia	-4.3	-4.3	-11.6	8.3	34.1	93.5	7.2	
United Arab Emirates	-4.4	-4.7	-13.4	13.3	24.4	88.3	23.1	

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). 1. Change from PISA 2018 to PISA 2022 Notes: Values that are statistically significant are marked in bold (see Annex A3).

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the change between PISA 2018 and PISA 2022 in the percentage of students who reported that their teachers gave them extra help.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

#### Table II.3. Snapshot of life at school and support from home [2/2]

Countries/economies with values above the OECD average

Countries/economies with values not significantly different from the OECD average

Countries/economies with values below the OECD average

	Change in the percentage of students <sup>1</sup> who reported			Percentage of students who reported				
	Their teachers gives extra help in most or every lesson	Other students made fun of them	They skipped some classes at least once	They were absent from school for more than three consecutive months at least once during their school years	They become distracted by using digital devices in most or every lesson	They felt safe in other places (outside the classroom) at school	They witnessed a fight on school property in which someone got hurt	
Greece	% dir. _4 9	-0.5	% uir. 1.4	6.8	38.1	88.6	<sup>70</sup> 17.2	
Australia*	-4.9	-4.3	-2.8	9.3	40.3	88.4	m	
Albania	-51	0.1	54	12.1	25.2	91.1	21.4	
Indonesia	-54	-9.8	-91	82	25.1	82.7	12.3	
United Kingdom*	-5.7	-0.7	1.7	11.4	18.6	87.1	38.3	
Belgium	-6.0	0.4	-1 1	7.8	28.4	93.2	17.5	
Switzerland	-6.5	-0.1	7.4	5.4	22.9	94 7	12.0	
Finland	-7.0	12	-1.6	3.4	40.6	92.0	14.3	
Jordan	-7.1	-4 0	-21.6	14.5	27.9	79.3	23.1	
Thailand	7.2	.9.0	-17.1	10.3	26.4	84.0	18.2	
l atvia*	-84	-16	-7.9	6.8	41.9	89.0	23.0	
	-8.5	0.5	-2.6	5.9	32.4	85.8	11.9	
Lithuania	-9.8	-3.9	-10.7	4.5	25.4	90.4	87	
Türkiye	-11.2	23	-7.5	7.5	23.5	79.9	26.9	
Czech Republic	-14.1	-2.8	-4.8	7.6	30.8	90.1	15.3	
Poland	-25.5	-4.8	8.9	6.4	34.2	87.5	12.2	
Malta	m	-3.8	17.2	13.4	16.4	89.8	30.8	
Saudi Arabia	m	-4.5	-13.9	6.4	19.2	84.2	19.2	
Philippines	m	-21.4	-4.7	30.3	40.9	80.8	34.5	
Panama*	m	-8.5	-24.6	14 7	27.3	87.4	17.0	
Dominican Republic	m	-9.6	-11.2	15.4	30.9	86.3	23.8	
Moldova	m	1.7	-4.0	10.9	32.7	56.8	16.7	
Brunei Darussalam	m	-11.5	-9.4	15.2	11.5	78.3	17.0	
Cambodia	m	m	9.2	17.2	19.2	82.9	27.2	
Uzbekistan	m	m	m	18.5	19.7	80.2	16.1	
Paraguay	m	m	-9.0	20.8	32.1	88.9	16.8	
Guatemala	m	m	-7.3	20.4	14.2	89.0	6.4	
Jamaica*	m	m	m	13.6	29.7	74.9	38.9	
El Salvador	m	m	m	16.4	23.6	90.6	19.6	
Mongolia	m	m	m	10.5	32.9	75.7	18.6	
North Macedonia	m	m	m	10.1	28.9	90.3	14.9	
Georgia	m	-5.0	-26.6	14.4	29.0	86.2	11.6	
Canada*	m	-2.8	-4.2	8.3	43.2	88.5	m	
Могоссо	m	-7.5	-19.6	16.8	38.9	71.4	13.6	
				10.0	10.0	00.5		
Macao (Unina)	2.0	-4.1	-4.6	10.6	13.3	89.5	m	
Uninese Taipei	0.2	-3.4	-3.3	2.5	15.9	92.2	5.0	
Hong Kong (China)*	-1.1	-9.8	-4.5	/.8	16.4	92.4	8.5	
Cyprus	-8.5	-6.2	-14.1	9.6	34.9	83.4	24.8	
Baku (Azerbaijan)	m	-10.9	-9.1	17.1	32.6	77.0	19.5	
Kosovo	m	-1.7	5.1	10.5	30.1	86.3	22.9	
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	m	-4.8	m	9.9	24.1	92.5	12.0	
Palestinian Authority	m	m	m	13.6	25.9	79.3	19.8	

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). 1. Change from PISA 2018 to PISA 2022

Notes: Values that are statistically significant are marked in bold (see Annex A3). Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the change between PISA 2018 and PISA 2022 in the percentage of students who reported that their teachers gave them extra help.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

#### Table II.4. Snapshot of selecting and grouping students [1/2]

Countries/economies with values above the OECD average

Countries/economies with values not significantly different from the OECD average

Countries/economies with values below the OECD average

	Ρ	ercentage of students wh	o	Isolatio		
	Had attended pre-primary school for one year or more	Had repeated a grade at least once in primary, lower secondary or upper secondary school	Attended a school where students are grouped by ability into different classes for all subjects	Disadvantaged students from all other students	Advantaged students from all other students Mean index	First age at selection in the education system
OFCD average	94.2	9.4	67	0.18	0 19	14.3
Japan	99.7	0.0	6.2	0.19	0.16	15
Hungary	99.3	6.5	16	0.30	0.30	14
Singapore	98.9	37	7.3	0.14	0.20	12
Israel	98.6	8.1	13.9	0.23	0.18	15
France	98.4	10.8	2.5	0.20	0.20	15
Mexico	98.4	9.0	8.3	0.22	0.26	15
Iceland	98.4	1.4	0.6	0.12	0.10	16
Denmark*	98.3	3.5	1.4	0.16	0.14	16
Thailand	97.9	6.9	18.4	0.20	0.30	15
Belgium	97.7	26.5	10.1	0.18	0.19	12
Greece	97.6	3.3	0.5	0.14	0.21	15
Spain	97.6	21.7	6.2	0.14	0.18	15
Finland	97.4	2.7	0.9	0.09	0.10	16
Argentina	97.4	13.5	1.5	0.20	0.29	12
Jamaica*	97.4	20.4	19.3	0.09	0.14	12
Malta	97.3	4.6	22.3	0.11	0.14	16
Austria	97.3	15.6	3.5	0.24	0.22	10
Italy	97.2	8.6	1.1	0.16	0.17	14
Romania	97.1	5.0	13.5	0.25	0.30	15
Viet Nam	97.0	4.7	19.3	0.24	0.26	15
Peru	96.8	13.5	4.1	0.34	0.34	14
Czech Republic	96.7	4.2	2.9	0.23	0.26	11
Netherlands*	96.6	23.3	37.2	0.14	0.18	12
Estonia	96.5	3.6	6.3	0.17	0.18	16
Uruguay	96.4	24.0	12.0	0.16	0.29	15
Norway	96.1	0.0	0.0	0.10	0.11	16
Latvia*	96.0	2.9	6.6	0.19	0.16	16
Serbia	95.8	1.6	8.3	0.15	0.21	15
Germany	95.8	19.2	10.0	0.18	0.22	10
Korea	95.7	3.3	8.3	0.14	0.13	15
Switzerland	95.5	13.4	26.1	0.15	0.20	12
Sweden	95.4	4.0	0.0	0.13	0.15	16
New Zealand*	95.1	4.9	1.4	0.16	0.12	16
Chile	95.0	16.8	2.5	0.20	0.34	16
Moldova	94.9	2.9	4.4	0.19	0.25	16
Malaysia	94.8	w	29.6	0.15	0.23	15
United Kingdom*	94.7	2.1	5.0	0.16	0.19	16
Ireland*	94.7	3.8	0.6	0.13	0. 11	15
Portugal	94.6	17.2	3.9	0.15	0.18	15
El Salvador	94.3	19.8	18.6	0.24	0.31	16
Bulgaria	94.2	5.0	7.4	0.29	0.23	14
Slovak Republic	94.2	7.6	10.0	0.28	0.28	11

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Note: The questions on grade repetition were not administered in Japan and Norway. The share of grade repeaters has been set to zero in agreement with countries since there is a policy of automatic grade progression and more than 99.5% of students were enrolled in the same grade level. 1. The isolation index measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students or from a specific group of students (e.g. advantaged students), based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure (no segregation) and 1 to full isolation/segregation. *Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students who reported they had attended pre-primary school for one year or more.* Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4 and Table B3.1.4.

#### Table II.4. Snapshot of selecting and grouping students [2/2]

Countries/economies with values above the OECD average

Countries/economies with values not significantly different from the OECD average

Countries/economies with values below the OECD average

	F	Percentage of students wh	0	Isolatio		
	Had attended pre-primary school for one year or more	Had repeated a grade at least once in primary, lower secondary or upper secondary school	Attended a school where students are grouped by ability into different classes for all subjects	Disadvantaged students from all other students	Advantaged students from all other students	First age at selection in the education system
	%	%	%	Mean index	Mean index	Years
Slovenia	92.3	3.5	0.2	0.21	0.20	15
Costa Rica	91.5	19.1	20.7	m	m	12
Colombia	91.3	39.4	18.3	0.26	0.36	15
United Arab Emirates	89.8	11.4	14.3	0.19	0.19	14
Brazil	89.7	22.1	7.5	0.19	0.31	15
Jordan	88.1	12.7	39.6	0.16	0.15	16
Paraguay	87.6	18.1	8.5	0.18	0.29	12
Poland	87.3	3.1	3.0	0.21	0.24	15
Australia*	87.3	4.8	2.7	0.20	0.19	а
Lithuania	86.7	1.8	4.8	0.20	0.21	14
Canada*	85.9	5.0	8.2	0.12	0.12	а
Qatar	85.1	13.7	27.4	0.19	0.24	15
Indonesia	85.0	12.0	23.2	0.20	0.24	16
Philippines	84.6	25.5	20.5	0.12	0.17	16
Georgia	83.4	3.0	2.5	0.18	0.18	15
Croatia	82.9	1.2	16.1	0.13	0.20	15
Panama*	82.3	20.4	5.4	0.24	0.35	15
Mongolia	81.1	3.7	6.5	0.21	0.27	15
Albania	79.9	5.5	16.1	0.19	0.24	15
United States*	78.6	8.0	1.6	0.17	0.20	а
Guatemala	77.9	28.6	12.9	0.24	0.32	m
Türkiye	76.3	1.5	10.9	0.18	0.27	14
Brunei Darussalam	75.6	8.3	34.7	0.11	0.20	12
Montenegro	75.6	2.3	27.2	0.12	0.14	15
Dominican Republic	74.4	25.8	17.0	0.13	0.20	15
Morocco	71.1	45.5	22.9	0.13	0.26	12
Saudi Arabia	71.1	6.3	47.3	0.14	0.16	15
Uzbekistan	68.2	5.9	8.1	0.11	0.12	16
North Macedonia	63.3	3.0	21.1	0.09	0.15	15
Kazakhstan	62.0	2.4	15.2	0.13	0.16	15
Cambodia	60.4	28.8	36.8	0.14	0.21	15
	00.0	40.0	40.0	0.42	0.07	44
Hong Kong (China)"	98.9	12.3	13.2	0.13	0.27	14
Macao (China)	98.9	21.9	6.3	0.15	0.24	15
	98.4	0.9	0.3	0.17	0.17	15
cyprus	95.9	5.2	5.1	0.13	0.14	15
Palestinian Authority	95.1	11.1	34.9	0.12	0.12	15
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	82.5	2.6	16.3	0.22	0.17	15
Kosovo	70.0	4.7	16.5	0.12	0.15	m
Baku (Azerbaijan)	62.2	3.9	23.9	0.12	0.21	15

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Note: The questions on grade repetition were not administered in Japan and Norway. The share of grade repeaters has been set to zero in agreement with countries since there is a policy of automatic grade progression and more than 99.5% of students were enrolled in the same grade level.

1. The isolation index measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students or from a specific group of students (e.g. advantaged students), based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure (no segregation) and 1 to full isolation/segregation.

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students who reported they had attended pre-primary school for one year or more. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4 and Table B3.1.4.

#### Table II.5. Snapshot of investments in a solid foundation for learning and well-being [1/2]

Countries/economies with values above the OECD average

Countries/economies with values not significantly different from the OECD average

Countries/economies with values **below** the OECD average

	Percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that						
	The sc	hool's capacity to pro to some exte	ovide instruction is h nt or a lot by:	indered		Percentage	
	A lack of teaching staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff	A lack of digital resources	Inadequate or poor-quality digital resources	The use of cell phones is not allowed on school premises	of students in schools where peer-to-peer tutoring is provided	Daily time spent learning on digital devices at school
	%	%	%	%	%	%	Hours
OECD average	46.7	25.4	23.9	24.6	33.6	51.3	2.0
Belgium	80.1	50.7	17.0	19.7	36.4	27.8	1.5
Germany	73.2	25.3	38.3	37.0	59.4	47.2	1.4
Estonia	72.9	51.3	14.8	16.5	15.2	53.3	1.6
Netherlands*	71.8	45.5	7.6	7.5	7.8	43.2	2.1
Ireland*	67.8	31.0	15.2	12.6	55.5	19.1	1.4
Latvia*	67.7	29.6	27.3	29.8	21.0	76.7	2.2
France	67.0	30.4	23.2	22.6	23.4	45.2	1.3
Japan	63.7	42.9	48.6	46.8	38.1	47.1	1.7
Portugal	62.1	26.9	29.2	39.5	22.4	68.5	1.5
Australia*	61.2	26.7	9.9	9.9	53.4	38.3	2.9
Cambodia	59.4	27.2	77.3	72.0	33.4	77.6	1.7
Jordan	57.5	50.3	64.0	65.5	79.2	63.1	1.5
Morocco	56.0	44.3	77.6	74.7	80.7	48.1	1.7
Saudi Arabia	55.3	38.9	56.7	56.7	71.6	86.1	1.5
Dominican Republic	55.1	19.5	56.5	49.2	54.9	60.7	1.5
Greece	54.3	26.5	56.3	50.9	94.9	39.5	1.2
United Kingdom*	53.5	18.9	19.0	21.2	66.1	53.7	1.6
Costa Rica	51.3	45.0	68.2	68.0	12.7	38.9	1.5
Korea	50.9	15.7	27.9	28.7	23.3	78.8	2.2
Colombia	49.4	24.3	66.9	63.0	30.8	40.5	1.9
Italy	48.9	38.2	13.6	14.3	46.0	60.5	2.6
Poland	47.5	23.4	13.2	19.2	14.6	83.7	1.8
Croatia	45.7	20.2	33.3	33.1	23.2	56.0	1.8
srael	45.6	44.0	42.8	39.7	33.4	65.1	1.5
Argentina	45.5	24.0	67.7	67.5	29.7	71.5	1.8
Brunei Darussalam	45.0	20.0	50.6	49.6	80.9	69.6	1.5
New Zealand*	44.5	23.7	8.7	7.2	17.6	71.4	2.8
Czech Republic	44.2	29.9	24.0	26.4	20.3	29.7	1.4
Chile	43.7	22.7	33.0	32.4	33.8	51.3	1.5
Canada*	43.6	23.8	10.8	9.1	9.9	71.1	2.0
Thailand	43.2	15.9	53.8	50.6	12.4	97.3	2.5
Philippines	42.7	19.1	63.1	62.9	30.0	88.4	2.3
Viet Nam	42.4	29.2	48.5	43.4	11.6	93.6	2.3
Slovenia	42.2	22.9	9.8	12.2	45.0	63.0	1.3
United States*	41.8	18.4	6.6	9.4	13.6	74.4	m
Malta	41.4	19.1	10.7	10.7	69.0	9.2	1.5
Slovak Republic	41.0	16.3	30.4	43.3	41.7	48.9	1.9
Hungary	40.7	16.1	33.8	38.1	19.4	57.2	1.7
Spain	40.5	21.3	27.0	24.4	67.4	42.9	1.7
Uruguay	40.3	28.4	51.7	47.5	6.4	34.1	1.6

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered to some extent or a lot by a lack of teaching staff.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.
## Table II.5. Snapshot of investments in a solid foundation for learning and well-being [2/2]

Countries/economies with values above the OECD average

Countries/economies with values not significantly different from the OECD average

Countries/economies with values **below** the OECD average

	The sc	hool's capacity to pro	wide instruction is h		Percentage		
	A lack of teaching staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff	A lack of digital resources	Inadequate or poor-quality digital resources	The use of cell phones is not allowed on school premises	of students in schools where peer-to-peer tutoring is provided	Daily time spent learning on digital devices at school
	%	%	%	%	%	%	Hours
Mongolia	38.3	37.8	80.2	80.5	40.5	82.9	2.6
Moldova	37.8	14.0	30.9	40.5	35.8	86.0	1.7
Guatemala	36.9	11.7	60.5	52.3	65.6	37.4	2.0
Kazakhstan	36.2	25.7	30.1	32.0	28.8	/8.5	2.0
Sweden	35.5	36.8	3.5	6./	37.9	20.8	3.0
Jamaica*	34.8	9.6	82.1	79.3	49.5	55.9	1./
Norway	34.6	11.5	7.8	12.4	57.4	31.4	3.1
Switzerland	33.9	16.6	12.5	11.0	45.5	28.5	1.8
Austria	33.0	18.4	25.9	20.7	17.7	63.0	1.7
Mexico	30.8	18.3	52.7	48.5	21.9	67.8	1.8
El Salvador	29.3	21.8	36.0	35.8	45.0	60.0	1.7
United Arab Emirates	27.0	21.0	19.8	21.2	77.0	/5.6	2.4
Montenegro	26.9	9.7	66.3	65.4	52.6	59.6	1.3
Lithuania	26.8	3.7	7.2	12.1	8.0	79.3	2.4
Panama*	26.5	11.9	/1.2	67.5	43.3	35.1	1.6
Singapore	26.1	7.8	1.5	2.7	15.5	65.8	2.3
Uzbekistan	24.3	27.7	51.2	39.6	62.6 56.2		1.9
Malaysia	24.2	21.9	55.2	56.4	64.4	88.4	1.9
Finland	23.1	12.8	18.1	16.5	7.5	17.3	2.7
Paraguay	22.7	10.5	63.0	51.5	29.6	45.4	1.2
Brazil	22.3	11.7	34.5	34.5	37.5	53.0	1.6
Serbia	18.4	10.1	35.4	35.5	17.5	58.1	1.3
Bulgaria	17.9	9.3	9.4	8.1	25.0	61.8	2.1
Indonesia Dami	17.8	12.7	41.5	41.5	43.5	85.3	2.4
Tönking	17.7	22.8	63.0	59.5	63.9	00.0	1.5
Pater	16.4	10.0	13.4	12.0	02.0	14.4	1.0
Alberia	16.3	10.3	11.0	10.0	07.0	03.4	1.0
Albania North Massadonia	14.9	0.7	62.0	05.0	09.0	73.4	1.0
Romania	14.0	3.0	30.0	39.1	00.0	50.9	1.0
Romania	12.7	9.0	20.0	31.9	22.2	57.0	1.9
Denmark*	10.1	0.0	6.7	13.4	23.7	57.0	3.0
	10.1	0.0 10.4	40.2	0.5	40.3	20.7	3.0
Georgia	0.0	12.4	49.2	47.5	29.7	11.9	1.0
Palestinian Authority	66.9	61.9	74.8	74.9	84.6	63.0	1.6
Baku (Azerbaijan)	59.4	41.0	68.7	63.0	39.5	58.3	2.4
Hong Kong (China)*	44.7	35.1	16.2	13.3	67.0	67.6	1.9
Cyprus	32.0	20.3	36.1	37.8	44.3	24.7	1.3
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	30.1	22.0	77.1	75.1	13.4	71.3	3.0
Chinese Taipei	29.4	19.9	17.6	13.6	45.8	78.2	2.3
Kosovo	27.1	12.9	69.3	71.1	67.7	84.8	1.7
Macao (China)	21.0	27.3	35.6	41.5	46.3	91.1	2.3

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered to some extent or a lot by a lack of teaching staff.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

## Table II.6. Snapshot of governing education systems [1/2]

Countries/economies with values above the OECD average

Countries/economies with values not significantly different from the OECD average

Countries/economies with values **below** the OECD average

		Index of preparedness for digital learning	Percentage of students in schools where						
	Index of school responsibility for curriculum	Differences between private and public schools	The academic record of students is sometimes or always considered for admission to school	Students are likely or very likely to be transferred to another school for low academic achievement	Students are assessed through mandatory standardised tests at least once a year	Internal evaluations or self-evaluations are in place	Teacher mentoring is in place		
OECD average	Mean index	Dif. 0.36	% 51.6	% 24.9	% 72.5	% 95.3	<u>%</u> 81 9		
Estonia	4 78	-0.23	57.8	13.0	98.1	99.7	96.0		
Janan	4 45	0.20	99.5	78.5	m	98.6	87.5		
Netherlands*	4.39	0.08	91.2	40.6	m	96.9	94.1		
United Kingdom*	4 29	0.02	21.5	14	95.4	100.0	96.8		
Thailand	4 27	-0.30	92.9	54.3	83.5	100.0	84.4		
Czech Republic	4 20	m	60.1	41.5	75.1	97.4	98.9		
New Zealand*	4.15	0.35	52.8	12	m	100.0	98.2		
Italy	3.49	-0.35	63.7	64.8	95.7	97.1	59.3		
Australia*	3 38	0.00	65.6	4 1	m	97.6	99.1		
Colombia	3.20	1.04	66.9	28.2	77.6	99.4	83.8		
Georgia	3.20	0.32	53.4	34.6	85.0	99.4	81.8		
Slovak Republic	3.07	0.12	61.2	27.1	78.3	95.7	64.9		
Belgium	2.83	0.12	53.6	44.0	33.6	89.8	92.1		
Finland	2.36	0.24	10.8	24	55.9	95.1	70.8		
l atvia*	2.76	m	64.6	20.6	98.0	100.0	88.4		
Israel	2.70	m	66.1	20.9	74.6	98.1	94.0		
Ireland*	2.74	-0.09	15.4	3.1	m	100.0	95.7		
Indonesia	2.69	0.02	87.6	23.8	89.0	99.1	99.1		
Denmark*	2.55	0.02 m	27.2	7.6	80.2	88.6	88.3		
Chile	2.52	0.53	98 78		97.5	93.7	65.4		
Guatemala	2.52	0.89	45.9 23.7		87.5	92.5	46.0		
Brunei Darussalam	2.52	0.26	92.9	18.9	89.0	100.0	100.0		
Korea	2.39	m	50.0	27.6	75.6	99.6	98.0		
celand	2.38	m	16.3	11	30.0	100.0	52.3		
Jamaica*	2.36	m	97.4	18.6	53.3	100.0	96.1		
Hungary	2.30	0.25	95.0	43.7	88.8	93.4	85.8		
United Arab Emirates	2.30	-0.15	91.1	23.6	96.7	99.9	98.5		
Poland	2.21	0.08	92.4	52.0	55.6	89.6	94.8		
Singapore	2.18	m	99.0	4.1	97.6	99.1	100.0		
Lithuania	2.17	0.29	47.9	14.2	58.0	99.6	78.6		
United States*	2.13	m	41.3	5.6	92.3	91.8	99.1		
Bulgaria	2.06	m	96.1	21.0	m	95.9	81.1		
Qatar	2.03	-0.28	78.3	39.2	74.3	100.0	95.4		
Sweden	1.96	-0.20	6.4	0.7	100.0	97.7	87.6		
Peru	1.88	1.03	25.2	10.7	73.2	89.8	99.7		
Cambodia	1.87	m	98.2	23.1	70.4	97.0	93.5		
Canada*	1.81	0.78	48.0	8.5	83.0	83.3	90.9		
Norway	1.60	m	11.2	0.5	78.9	97.5	92.9		
Portugal	1.60	0.63	12.8	10.3	63.7	99.1	78.9		
Malta	1.59	m	48.1	0.0	100.0	100.0	94.2		

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered to some extent or a lot by a lack of teaching staff.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

36 |

## Table II.6. Snapshot of governing education systems [2/2]

Countries/economies with values above the OECD average

Countries/economies with values not significantly different from the OECD average

Countries/economies with values below the OECD average

		Index of preparedness for digital learning	Percentage of students in schools where						
	Index of school responsibility for curriculum	Differences between private and public schools	The academic record of students is sometimes or always considered for admission to school	Students are likely or very likely to be transferred to another school for low academic achievement	Students are assessed through mandatory standardised tests at least once a year	Internal evaluations or self-evaluations are in place	Teacher mentoring is in place		
Austria	1.55	0.04	83.4	28.5	49.0	93.2	71.7		
Philippines	1.47	0.37	78.9	13.0	57.8	100.0	99.4		
Slovenia	1.45	-0.06	72.4	73.7	48.2	99.9	84.2		
El Salvador	1.42	0.37	60.3	14.4	61.8	95.2	96.0		
Moldova	1.40	m	71.0	4.8	98.6	99.1	95.0		
Germany	1.37	0.81	77.5	32.5	60.3	84.8	43.5		
Brazil	1.36	0.89	34.4	12.0	89.0	97.0	91.2		
France	1.35	0.05	55.7	22.8	95.1	88.2	71.4		
Malavsia	1.33	0.22	69.6	15.5	99.4	98.7	100.0		
Mongolia	1.33	0.26	61.0	39.0	98.6	98.9	98.0		
Kazakhstan	1.28	0.15	72.0	28.6	86.1	99.0	99.4		
Spain	1.24	0.73	15.3	2.8	61.5	91.5	38.6		
Switzerland	1.23	0.51	70.1	27.6	65.6	84.8	83.3		
Mexico	1.19	1.23	65.5	27.7	81.1	91.4	53.8		
Argentina	1.16	0.36	28.9	15.7	80.7	88.6	57.0		
Albania	1.06	1.61	82.3	30.3	77.3	100.0	98.1		
Montenearo	1.02	m	77.8	8.1	62.5	100.0	100.0		
Panama*	1.01	m	86.6	36.7	m	99.0	100.0		
Serbia	1.01	1.07	94.8 28.5		m	98.8	97.7		
Viet Nam	1.00	-0.08	92.8 57.9		99.3	100.0	92.1		
Paraguay	0.96	0.48	59.7 25.9		81.7	95.2	49.7		
North Macedonia	0.95	0.39	73.4	55.9	m	100.0	100.0		
Dominican Republic	0.93	0.44	57.3	23.6	75.9	93.8	77.1		
Romania	0.92	m	87.7	36.8	89.0	100.0	90.2		
Uruquay	0.85	0.35	35.6	9.2	55.5	88.5	77.0		
Croatia	0.00	-0.10	97.3	36.0	47.5	96.7	97.6		
Costa Rica	0.68	1.33	71.8	59.2	31.4	95.3	76.3		
Türkive	0.62	-0.05	72.9	22.5	58.2	99.4	85.7		
Uzbekistan	0.59	m	53.7	20.5	100.0	98.6	97.4		
Saudi Arabia	0.59	0.17	83.3	36.9	68.2	99.0	99.3		
Morocco	0.51	0.57	50.5	13.5	83.0	98.1	94.1		
Jordan	0.48	0.69	67.3	30.7	90.8	99.0	98.2		
Greece	0.31	1.41	16.0	51.9	82.6	98.9	89.7		
Macao (China)	4.29	m	100.0	83.8	89.7	97.7	99.6		
Hong Kong (China)*	4.04	0.22	98.0	66.8	m	100.0	89.4		
Chinese Taipei	2.95	0.00	73.7	67.6	100.0	98.0	87.7		
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	2.16	m	47.5	15.1	77.7	98.8	95.2		
Cyprus	1.00	0.00	47.1	24.0	85.9	94.0	97.3		
Baku (Azerbaijan)	0.93	m	68.2	37.3	98.6	96.9	69.5		
Kosovo	0.83	m	95.7	48.7	87.7	98.0	94.7		
Palestinian Authority	0.34	0.77	62.6	22.7	73.5	97.4	98.2		

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered to some extent or a lot by a lack of teaching staff. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

StatLink ms https://stat.link/s8a9ry

## Infographic 1. PISA 2022 key results [1/2]



## **Students' proficiency in mathematics**



## The most disadvantaged students in some education systems outperform the most advantaged students in others



## Performance across the OECD saw a record drop



## Mathematics, reading and science performance declined significantly since PISA began



## On average across the OECD boys outperformed girls in mathematics by 9 points



There is no significant performance difference between immigrant and non-immigrant students



## Infographic 2. PISA 2022 key results [2/2]



## What is **PISA**?

## **OECD's Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA)**

What should citizens know and be able to do? In response to that question and to the need for internationally comparable evidence on student performance, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) launched the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) in 1997 and the first assessment was conducted in 2000.

PISA is a triennial survey of 15-year-old students around the world that assesses the extent to which they have acquired key knowledge and skills essential for full participation in social and economic life. PISA assessments do not just ascertain whether students near the end of their compulsory education can reproduce what they have learned; they also examine how well students can extrapolate from what they have learned and apply their knowledge in unfamiliar settings, both in and outside of school.

While the eighth assessment was originally planned for 2021, the PISA Governing Board postponed the assessment to 2022 because of the many difficulties education systems faced due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

## What is unique about PISA?

PISA is unique because of its:

- policy orientation, which links data on student learning outcomes with data on students' backgrounds and attitudes towards learning, and with key aspects that shape their learning, in and outside of school; by doing so, PISA can highlight differences in performance and identify the characteristics of students, schools and education systems that perform well
- innovative concept of student competency, which refers to students' capacity to apply their knowledge and skills in key areas, and to analyse, reason and communicate effectively as they identify, interpret and solve problems in a variety of situations
- **relevance to lifelong learning**, as PISA asks students to report on their motivation to learn, their beliefs about themselves, and their learning strategies
- regularity, which enables countries to monitor their progress in meeting key learning objectives
- **breadth of coverage**, which, in PISA 2022, encompassed 37 OECD countries and 44 partner countries and economies.

## Which countries and economies participate in PISA?

PISA is used as an assessment tool in many regions around the world. It was implemented in 43 countries and economies in the first assessment (32 in 2000 and 11 in 2002), 41 in the second assessment (2003), 57 in the third assessment (2006), 75 in the fourth assessment (65 in 2009 and 10 in 2010), 65 in the fifth assessment (2012), 72

in the sixth assessment (2015) and 79 in the seventh assessment (2018). In 2022, 81 countries and economies participated in PISA.

## Figure II.1. Map of PISA countries and economies



First-time participants include Cambodia, El Salvador, Guatemala, Jamaica, Mongolia, the Palestinian Authority, Paraguay and Uzbekistan, while Cambodia, Guatemala and Paraguay participated in the PISA for Development programme. Chinese provinces/municipalities (Beijing, Shanghai, Jiangsu and Zhejiang) and Lebanon are

## **42** |

participants in PISA 2022 but were unable to collect data because schools were closed during the intended data collection period.

## Key features of PISA 2022

## The content

The PISA 2022 survey focused on mathematics, with reading, science and creative thinking as minor areas of assessment. In each round of PISA, one subject is tested in detail, taking up nearly half of the total testing time. The main subject in 2022 was mathematics, as it was in 2012 and 2003. Reading was the main subject in 2000, 2009 and 2018, science was the main subject in 2006 and 2015.

With this alternating schedule, a thorough analysis of achievement in each of the three core subjects is presented every nine (or 10) years; and an analysis of trends is offered every three (or four) years. As this cycle was postponed from 2021 to 2022 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, this cycle offers results one year later than previous cycles.

Creative thinking was assessed as an innovative domain for the first time in PISA 2022.

The *PISA 2022 Assessment and Analytical Framework* (OECD, 2023[1]) presents definitions and more detailed descriptions of the subjects assessed in PISA 2022:

- Mathematics is defined as students' capacity to reason mathematically and to formulate, employ and interpret
  mathematics to solve problems in a variety of real-world contexts. It includes concepts, procedures, facts and
  tools to describe, explain and predict phenomena. It helps individuals make well-founded judgements
  and decisions, and become constructive, engaged and reflective 21st-century citizens.
- Reading is defined as students' capacity to understand, use, evaluate, reflect on and engage with texts in order to achieve one's goals, develop one's knowledge and potential, and participate in society.
- Science literacy is defined as students' ability to engage with science-related issues, and with the ideas of science, as a reflective citizen. A scientifically literate person is willing to engage in reasoned discourse about science and technology, which requires the competencies to explain phenomena scientifically, evaluate and design scientific enquiry, and interpret data and evidence scientifically.
- Creative thinking is defined as students' ability to engage productively in the generation, evaluation and improvement of ideas that can result in original and effective solutions, advances in knowledge and impactful expressions of imagination.

PISA 2022 also included an assessment of young people's financial literacy, which was optional for countries and economies.

## The students

Some 690 000 students took the assessment in 2022, representing about 29 million 15-year-olds in the schools of the 81 countries and economies.

PISA students are aged between 15 years 3 months and 16 years 2 months at the time of the assessment, and they have completed at least 6 years of formal schooling. Using this age across countries and over time allows PISA to consistently compare the knowledge and skills of individuals born in the same year who are still in school at age 15, despite the diversity of their education histories in and outside of school. They can be enrolled in any type of institution, participate in full-time or part-time education, in academic or vocational programmes, and attend public or private schools or foreign schools within the country.

The population of PISA-participating students is defined by the PISA Technical Standards as are the students who are excluded from participating (see Annex A2). The overall exclusion rate within a country is required to be below 5% to ensure that, under reasonable assumptions, any distortions in national mean scores would remain within plus

or minus five score points, i.e. typically within the order of magnitude of two standard errors of sampling. Exclusion could take place either through the schools that participated or the students who participated within schools. There are several reasons why a school or a student could be excluded from PISA. Schools might be excluded because they are situated in remote regions and are inaccessible, because they are very small, or because of organisational or operational factors that precluded participation. Students might be excluded because of intellectual disability or limited proficiency in the language of the assessment.

## The assessment

As was done in 2015 and 2018, computer-based tests were used in most countries and economies in PISA 2022, with assessments lasting a total of two hours for each student. In mathematics and reading, a multi-stage adaptive approach was applied in computer-based tests whereby students were assigned a block of test items based on their performance in preceding blocks.

Test items were a mixture of multiple-choice questions and questions requiring students to construct their own responses. The items were organised in groups based on a passage setting out a real-life situation. More than 15 hours of test items for reading, mathematics, science and creative thinking were covered, with different students taking different combinations of test items.

There were six different kinds of test forms representing various combinations of two of the four domains (i.e. the three core domains, plus the innovative domain). Typically, within each country/economy, 94% of students received test forms covering 60 minutes of mathematics as the major domain, and another 60 minutes of one of the three minor or innovative domains (reading, science or creative thinking). In addition, 6% of students received test forms composed of two minor domains. Each test form was completed by enough students to allow for estimations of proficiency and psychometric analyses of all items by students in each country/economy and in relevant subgroups within a country/economy, such as boys and girls, or students from different social and economic backgrounds.

In addition, PISA 2022 retained a paper-based version of the assessment that included only trend items that had been used in prior paper-based assessments. This paper-based assessment was implemented in four countries: Cambodia, Guatemala, Paraguay and Viet Nam.

The assessment of financial literacy was offered again in PISA 2022 as an optional computer-based test. It was based on a revised framework based on the PISA 2022 updated framework. The cognitive instruments included trend items and a set of new interactive items that were developed specifically for PISA 2022.

## The questionnaires

Students answered a background questionnaire, which took about 35 minutes to complete. The questionnaire sought information about the students' attitudes, dispositions and beliefs, their homes, and their school and learning experiences. School principals completed a questionnaire that covered school management and organisation, and the learning environment. Both students and schools responded to items in the Global Crises Module in their respective questionnaires. These items aimed to elicit their perspectives on how learning was organised when schools were closed because of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Some countries/economies also distributed additional questionnaires to elicit more information. These included: a questionnaire for teachers asking about themselves and their teaching practices; and a questionnaire for parents asking them to provide information about their perceptions of and involvement in their child's school and learning.

Countries/economies could also choose to distribute two other optional questionnaires for students: a questionnaire about students' familiarity with computers and a questionnaire about students' well-being. A financial literacy questionnaire was also distributed to the students in the countries/economies that conducted the optional financial literacy assessment.

## Where can you find the results?

The initial PISA 2022 results are released in five volumes:

- Volume I: The State of Learning and Equity in Education (OECD, 2023<sub>[2]</sub>) presents two of the main education outcomes: performance and equity. The volume examines countries' and economies' performance in mathematics, reading and science and how performance has changed over time. In addition, equity in education is analysed from the perspectives of inclusion and fairness, focusing on students' gender, socio-economic status and immigrant background.
- Volume II: Learning During and From Disruption (OECD, 2023<sub>[3]</sub>) examines various student-, school-, and system-level characteristics, and analyses how these are related to student outcomes, such as performance, equity and student well-being. The volume also presents data on how learning was organised when schools were closed because of COVID-19. These results can assist countries in building resilience in their education systems, schools and students so they are all better able to withstand disruptions in teaching and learning.
- Volume III (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[4]</sub>) is on creative thinking. This volume examines students' capacity to generate original and diverse ideas in the 66 countries and economies that participated in the innovative domain assessment for the PISA 2022 cycle. It explores how student performance and attitudes associated with creative thinking vary across and within countries, and with different student- and school-level characteristics. The chapter also offers an insight into students' participation in creative activities, how opportunities to engage in creative thinking vary across schools and socio-demographic factors, and how these are associated with different student outcomes including well-being.
- Volume IV (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[5]</sub>) is on financial literacy. This volume examines 15-year-old students' understanding about money matters in the 23 countries and economies that participated in this optional assessment. The volume explores how the financial literacy of 15-year-old students is associated with their competencies in other subjects and how it varies across socio-demographic factors. It also offers an overview of students' experiences with money, of their financial behavior and attitudes, and of exposure to financial literacy in school.
- Volume V (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[6]</sub>) on students' readiness for lifelong learning. This volume presents key aspects of students' preparedness to continue learning throughout their lives. These include students' attitudes towards mathematics, their social and emotional skills, and their aspirations for future education and a career.

## References

OECD (2023), PISA 2022 Assessment and Analytical Framework, PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/dfe0bf9c-en.	[1]
OECD (2023), PISA 2022 Results (Volume I): The State of Learning and Equity in Education.	[2]
OECD (2023), PISA 2022 Results (Volume II): Learning During – and From – Disruption.	[3]
OECD (forthcoming), PISA 2022 Results (Volume III).	[4]
OECD (forthcoming), PISA 2022 Results (Volume IV).	[5]
OECD (forthcoming), PISA 2022 Results (Volume V).	[6]

## **1** Resilient education systems

This chapter identifies resilient education systems – those that weathered the disruptions related to the COVID-19 pandemic and are better prepared to ensure that learning continues even in adverse circumstances. It also discusses practices and policies in five specific areas that are common to resilient systems: learning during and from school closures; life at school and support from home; students' pathways through school; investments in education; and school governance. Each of these will be examined more closely in the following chapters.

For Australia\*, Canada\*, Denmark\*, Hong Kong (China)\*, Ireland\*, Jamaica\*, Latvia\*, the Netherlands\*, New Zealand\*, Panama\*, the United Kingdom\* and the United States\*, caution is advised when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

By 2023, four years after the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, most countries had adapted to life with the virus. The health situation had stabilised, and most countries around the world had lifted public health and social-distancing measures (WHO, 2023<sub>[1]</sub>; WHO, 2023<sub>[2]</sub>). There was a concurrent push to move beyond the pandemic and resume life "as normal" in what many called "the post-COVID era".

Yet, the pandemic had taken a major toll on many sectors, including education. Now that the crisis phase has passed, policy makers and schools need to know where students stand in their learning and well-being to be able to provide remedial measures for those students who fell behind in their learning or suffered emotionally or physically from the pandemic. This is key to avoiding long-term damage to students' well-being and productivity, and to ensure equity in education. Similarly, updated information on the resources available and the general climate in schools after the pandemic can help education systems plan for the future.

## What the data tell us

- Four education systems, namely Japan, Korea, Lithuania and Chinese Taipei, could be considered "resilient" with regard to mathematics performance, equity and well-being. Twenty-one other education systems were resilient in one or two of the three aspects considered.
- Between 2018 and 2022 trends in students' sense of belonging at school were mixed, with equal
  proportions of countries/economies showing stable, improving or deteriorating trends. Of the 47 education
  systems with improving or stable trends, only 20 maintained or attained a level of students' sense of
  belonging at school that was at or above the OECD average.
- Disadvantaged students in 2022 were more likely than their advantaged peers to report feeling that they have fewer opportunities to form close bonds at and with school. However, PISA 2022 results suggest that systems offering greater fairness in learning opportunities also offer greater fairness in social opportunities.
- Education systems that were resilient in mathematics performance differed in certain policies, practices and characteristics compared to other countries/economies, including in their response to COVID-19, in parental support and school climate, and in their approaches to selecting and grouping students, and to governing and allocating resources to schools.

This volume focuses on resilience: the ability to recover quickly, or even grow, from adversity (OECD, 2021<sub>[3]</sub>). COVID-19 was a stress test for resilience in education, as it showed whether systems, schools and students around the globe were able to adapt to sudden and profound changes in how students are taught and how they learn. The 2022 round of the OECD Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) was conducted during or right after the crisis phase of the COVID-19 pandemic. PISA 2022 provides information on how education systems, schools, teachers and students across countries responded to this global challenge.

This chapter identifies resilient education systems, while Chapters 2 through 6 explore policies, practices and characteristics of learning environments that are common to some of the education systems that coped better than others during and after the pandemic, including in their responses to school closures (Bertling et al., 2020<sub>[4]</sub>). Insights drawn from the data can help education systems bolster their resilience and rethink learning and teaching. Given that it is all but inevitable that education can and will continue to be affected by disruptions both global, such as pandemics and climate change, and local, including earthquakes, floods and war, education systems need to build their capacity to withstand adversity.

## What PISA 2022 tells us about the resilience of education systems

### Education systems that were resilient in 2022

This volume identifies four overall resilient education systems among the 81 countries/economies that participated in PISA 2022 (see Figure II.1.1). Japan, Korea, Lithuania and Chinese Taipei performed well, were equitable and students reported a sense of belonging at school that was at or above the OECD average in 2022. In addition, these systems showed no deterioration in these aspects between 2018 and 2022 (i.e. they were resistant; see Box II.1.1). Twenty-one education systems were resilient in one or two of the three aspects considered.

Fifteen education systems (Austria, Croatia, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Hungary, Iceland, Montenegro, Portugal, Romania, Saudi Arabia, Serbia, Slovenia and Sweden) were resilient in well-being. Students' sense of belonging was at or above the OECD average with no negative short-term trend since 2018. Australia\* was resilient in mathematics, showing high performance in mathematics (i.e. above the OECD average) with no negative short-term trend, while Switzerland was resilient in both mathematics and students' well-being. Hong Kong (China)\*, the United Kingdom\*, the United States\* were considered resilient in equity because they were socio-economically fair (the variance unexplained by students' socio-economic status as well as students' average mathematics performance were at or above the OECD average) in 2022 and advantaged and disadvantaged students maintained their level of performance between 2018 and 2022. Singapore was resilient in mathematics and in equity, meaning it showed high performance and socio-economical fairness (the latter at the OECD average in 2022). Between 2018 and 2022, the performance of advantaged students in Singapore improved while the performance of disadvantaged students remained stable.<sup>1</sup>



## Figure II.1.1. Resilient education systems

Note: Fifteen countries/economies were missing data for one or more aspects of resilience: Cambodia, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Guatemala, Israel, Jamaica\*, Kosovo, Mongolia, North Macedonia, the Palestinian Authority, Paraguay, Spain, Ukrainian regions (18 of 27), Uzbekistan and Viet Nam (see Table II.1). Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database.

## Box II.1.1. How PISA examines resilience of education systems

### Two perspectives on resilience: Strength and preparedness, and resistance

PISA 2022 examined the resilience of education systems from two different angles: how resistant to disruptions systems were shown to be during the pandemic (*resistance*); and how strong and prepared they are for future challenges of a similar nature (*strength and preparedness*).

The analysis of *systems' resistance* aimed to identify systems that bounced back from the pandemic and recovered or gained strength by looking at short-term trends. Data, collected in 2022 when most of the participating countries/economies had lifted social-distancing and health measures, and schools returned to "normal", are compared to pre-COVID data collected in 2018.

The analysis also considers *systems' strength and preparedness* in 2022, since maintaining low levels of performance, equity and well-being from before to after the COVID-19 pandemic cannot be interpreted as a sign of a system's resilience. To succeed and be prepared for future challenges, an education system needs to perform at an adequate level.

### Three aspects of resilience: Performance in mathematics, equity and well-being

This analysis focused on three aspects of resilience: performance, equity and well-being. Since mathematics was the main subject assessed in PISA 2022, students' performance and performance trends in the subject were examined. For equity, socio-economic fairness in 2022 and short-term trends in socio-economic parity were examined. To determine *socio-economic fairness*, the proportion of the variation in student performance that was unrelated to students' socio-economic status was considered along with a country's/economy's average performance. Considering both is necessary in order to exclude countries where all students, advantaged and disadvantaged, performed poorly. In education systems with high levels of equity, all students fulfil their potential regardless of their background. *Socio-economic parity* was determined by examining indicators of whether the performance of advantaged and disadvantaged students improved or at least remained stable between 2018 and 2022 (see Annex A1).

The analysis also included well-being, specifically if students, in 2022, felt they belonged at school and whether education systems maintained or improved students' sense of belonging at school between 2018 and 2022 (OECD, 2019<sub>[5]</sub>).

In PISA 2022 an education system was resilient in:

- **mathematics** if students' average performance in mathematics was stable or improved between 2018 and 2022 and was at or above the OECD average in 2022.
- **equity** if the variation in performance unexplained by students' socio-economic status and average performance were at or above the OECD average in 2022 (socio-economic fairness); and if the performance of disadvantaged and advantaged students remained stable or improved between 2018 and 2022 (trends in socio-economic parity).
- **well-being** if students' average sense of belonging at school was stable or improved between 2018 and 2022 and was at or above the OECD average in 2022.

Note: Annex A1 provides details about each of the measures, including the definition of socio-economic advantage and disadvantage.

## Education systems that resisted overall negative trends

While only a few systems could be considered resilient, several other systems showed a remarkable capacity to bounce back from the COVID-19 disruptions.

### Less than half of the participating education systems improved or maintained their performance

Between 2018 and 2022, mathematics performance deteriorated by almost 15 score points, on average across OECD countries – an unprecedented decline following a stable trend between 2015 and 2018; and until 2018, changes in performance over consecutive PISA assessments had never exceeded 4 score points (see (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[6]</sub>) for more information on performance and trends). While this decline was observed in over half of the PISA-participating countries/economies, seven countries/economies, namely Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, the Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Paraguay, Saudi Arabia and Chinese Taipei, managed to improve their performance by over 10 score points. However, of these, only Chinese Taipei scored above the OECD average in mathematics in 2022 (547 points compared to the OECD average of 472 points. Twenty-four other countries/economies maintained their 2018 performance level, but only Australia\*, Japan, Korea, Singapore and Switzerland did so at a high level, with scores ranging from 487 to 575 points. Lithuania maintained its performance at the OECD average level over the period.

These systems may have been able to adapt quickly to pandemic-related upheavals, may have had protective policies and practices in place, or may have used remedial measures to recover rapidly from the disruptions related to COVID-19. In other words, these systems were resistant. Of course, there may be other reasons why these systems maintained or improved their performance over the period (see Box II.1.2).

## Box II.1.2. Alternative explanations for stable or improving trends in mathematics performance

The stable or improving trends in mathematics performance observed in some systems may be a sign of resistance to COVID-19 disruptions but there could be other explanations for these results. Differences in the severity and duration of the pandemic and pandemic-related measures imposed in the country/economy as well as unequal access to resources to combat the pandemic (e.g. access to vaccines or testing equipment, preparedness of the healthcare system), over which education systems had no control, may have had an impact on performance trends. These differences are likely to vary by countries'/economies' per capita GDP. Figure II.1.2 shows that, although all countries were affected by COVID-19 to some extent, the evolution of the pandemic varied widely.

The performance trends observed between 2018 and 2022 may be linked to other causes that are not directly related to the pandemic. In some cases, stable trends between 2018 and 2022 could be a reflection of an education system's lack of effectiveness or efficiency prior to the pandemic; thus the disruptions and school closures caused by COVID-19 may not have affected learning to a great extent. In other cases, disruptions such as earthquakes or war may have already led to cancelled classes or school closures, which, in turn, led to similar learning losses in the past. In all of these cases, performance would have been maintained, but at low levels. In fact, PISA 2022 data show that three out of four education systems whose performance did not deteriorate over the period had low scores in 2022.

By contrast, some systems showed signs of long-term performance decline even before the pandemic. In these systems, the deterioration in performance between 2018 and 2022 may not be solely due to the pandemic. Nevertheless, as shown in Volume I of the PISA 2022 Results, for many countries/economies, the change in PISA performance observed between 2018 and 2022 deviates significantly from the trends observed over earlier assessments (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[6]</sub>). While the context of the 2018-2022 trends is important, countries/economies should be focused on working towards or maintaining a high level of performance. Therefore, PISA 2022 focuses on the actual 2018-2022 trends (i.e. without considering the long-term trends) and also considers the level of performance, equity and well-being attained in 2022 when identifying resilient education systems.



Notes: Only countries and economies with available data are shown.

Deaths are not included in the count of cases. The number of deaths does not take into account the number of deaths recorded in countries/economies during a three-year period under "normal" conditions (unaffected by the COVID-19 pandemic).

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the total cumulative COVID-19 cases per million as of 14 June 2023.

Sources: a. WHO.

b. https://github.com/owid/covid-19-data/blob/master/scripts/input/un/population\_latest.csv, consulted on 14 June 2023.

### While some systems improved equity and students' sense of belonging, few reached high levels

In most of the education systems that showed declines in performance, disadvantaged students performed less well in 2022 than in 2018; in around half of these systems the performance among both disadvantaged and advantaged students deteriorated (see (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[6]</sub>) for more information on equity and trends). More important, in around one in three education systems with available data the performance of both disadvantaged and advantaged students remained stable or improved. In fact, only in Argentina, Brunei Darussalam, the Dominican Republic, the Philippines and Saudi Arabia, did the performance of disadvantaged students improve during the period, and by 12 to 27 points. Brunei Darussalam is the only country where both advantaged and disadvantaged students scored higher (by 13 points) in 2022 than in 2018. Despite these remarkable improvements, performance of advantaged and disadvantaged students and attained an average performance level at (Lithuania and the United States\*) or above (Hong Kong (China)\*, Japan, Korea, Singapore, Chinese Taipei and the United Kingdom\*) the OECD average level (i.e. the share of variation in students' performance unrelated to students' socio-economic status was around 85%), fairness was above the OECD average level in Hong Kong (China)\*, Japan, Korea and the United Kingdom\*.

On average across OECD countries, students' sense of belonging at school deteriorated between 2018 and 2022 after a stable trend between 2015 and 2018 (Table II.B1.1.5, (OECD, 2019<sub>[5]</sub>). However, the more recent trend across countries/economies is mixed, with equal proportions of countries/economies showing stable, improved or deteriorating trends in students' sense of belonging. Out of the 47 education systems with improving or stable trends, five systems maintained or reached a level of sense of belonging at school similar to the OECD average and 15 systems maintained or attained above-average levels. In systems where students reported an above-average sense of belonging at school, students were less likely to report feeling lonely at school and more likely to report that they make friends easily (Box II.1.3). The four countries/economies with the largest improvement in students' sense of belonging were Japan, Montenegro, Serbia and Slovenia. In all of these countries/economies the share of students who reported feeling connected to school was larger than the average share across OECD countries.

## Box II.1.3. Students feel less lonely at school and make friends more easily in education systems where students have a greater sense of belonging at school

Students' sense of belonging at school was at or above the OECD average in 28 education systems; in 23 of those systems students' sense of belonging at school was above the OECD average. In these systems, most students reported feeling socially connected at school. A larger share of students reported feeling that they make friends easily at school (81% as compared to the OECD average of 76%) and that they belong at school (79% as compared to the OECD average of 75%; Figure II.1.3 and Table II.B1.1.1). Moreover, smaller proportions of students reported feeling socially disconnected at school: while one in five students, on average across OECD countries, reported feeling lonely or like an outsider or left out of things at school, only one in ten students so reported in school systems where students' sense of belonging at school was above the OECD average.

## Figure II.1.3. Students' sense of belonging at school

Percentage of students who agreed/strongly agreed or disagreed/strongly disagreed with the statements below





## Education systems that combine high performance, equity and well-being

Few systems combine high performance, equity and well-being

It is essential to consider the trio of performance, equity and sense of belonging simultaneously when examining an education system's strength and preparedness for disruption because high performance is not necessarily related to a greater sense of belonging at school, nor is low performance a sign of a weaker sense of belonging at school. Across education systems, students' average performance in mathematics is only moderately related to students' sense of belonging at school, and mostly before accounting for countries'/economies' per capita GDP (Figure II.1.4 and Table II.B1.1.13). This means that the association between performance and sense of belonging at school may

reflect the tendency for wealthier countries/economies to perform better in mathematics and for the students in those countries to feel a greater sense of belonging at school.

## Figure II.1.4. Sense of belonging, and performance and equity in mathematics



Socio-economic fairness is above the OECD average
 Socio-economic fairness is equal to or below the OECD average

Notes: Socio-economic fairness is measured by the percentage of variation in student performance that is not accounted for by differences in students' socio-economic status. For further information on socio-economic fairness, please refer to PISA 2022 results, Volume I, Chapter 4. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 1; and Volume I, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

Equally important, better performance is no guarantee of greater equity (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[6]</sub>); and greater equity in performance does not necessarily lead to a stronger sense of belonging at school. In fact, systems' socio-economic fairness and students' average sense of belonging at school were found to be unrelated (Table II.B1.1.13). Nonetheless, Denmark\*, Finland, Japan and Korea achieved all three: above OECD average performance, fairness and sense of belonging at school (Figure II.1.4).

Systems offering greater fairness in learning opportunities also offer greater fairness in social opportunities

On average across OECD countries disadvantaged students' sense of belonging at school deteriorated between 2018 and 2022, while advantaged students' sense of belonging remained stable. However, in most education systems, the sense of belonging among these two groups of students developed in similar directions during the period (Table II.B1.1.7), such that disadvantaged students in 2022 were more likely than their advantaged peers to report feeling that they have fewer opportunities to form close bonds at and with school (Table II.B1.1.2).

PISA 2022 results show that disadvantaged students' sense of belonging at school was more similar to that of their advantaged peers in those education systems that were more socio-economically fair (Figure II.1.5 and Table II.B1.1.13). Equally important, socio-economic differences in sense of belonging at school shrank in those systems where the performance of disadvantaged students improved. The results suggest that working towards socio-economic fairness in learning opportunities may help establish fairness in social opportunities at school as well, or vice versa.

## Figure II.1.5. Performance in mathematics and sense of belonging at school, by students' socio-economic status



1. Socio-economic fairness in social opportunities is measured by the percentage-point difference in sense of belonging between socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged students. Smaller differences indicate greater fairness in social opportunities.

2. Socio-economic fairness in academic learning is measured by the percentage of variation in student performance that is not accounted for by differences in students' socioeconomic status. Higher percentages indicate greater fairness in academic learning.

Note: Each dot represents a PISA-participating country/economy.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 1.

Nevertheless, no system achieved absolute fairness in both mathematics performance and students' sense of belonging at school (Tables II.B.1 and II.B1.1.2). For example, Cambodia, Jamaica\*, the Philippines and Macao

(China) were the only systems where disadvantaged students reported feeling as socially connected at school as their advantaged peers. However, the average sense of belonging among all students in these systems was below the OECD average, and performance in mathematics was also below the OECD average except for Macao (China). In Denmark\*, Finland, Japan, Korea by contrast, students' average sense of belonging at school and performance in mathematics were above the OECD average. These systems are also fair in terms of performance, but disadvantaged students were less likely than their advantaged peers to report that they feel socially connected at school.

## **Components of resilience**

This volume identifies several "components of resilience". These policies, practices and school characteristics are shown to be related to the resistance and strength of education systems, as discussed in detail in the remaining chapters (see Box II.1.1 for details). Thus, they may be key to promoting learning, equity and well-being in schools, even in challenging circumstances.

## Resilient systems differ in certain school policies, practices and characteristics

Table II.1.1 shows that the seven education systems that were resilient in mathematics (the systems in the orange circle in Figure II.1.1 differ in school policies, practices and characteristics compared to other countries/economies. For instance, in their response to COVID-19, all resilient systems avoided longer school closures (longer than three months) for a majority of their students, while one in two students attended a school that was closed for a longer period, on average across all education systems. When schools had to be closed, students in these systems (except Australia\*) faced fewer obstacles to remote learning than students on average did (e.g. fewer problems with access to digital devices, or finding someone who could help with school work).

Students in most resilient systems also benefitted from more parental support and a school climate that is more favourable to students' learning and well-being, such as safer schools and greater discipline in classes. For example, less than 4% of students in Japan reported that, in most or every lesson, they become distracted by fellow students' use of digital devices in mathematics lessons, while in most other countries, 25% of students so reported (Table II.B1.3.9). Teachers in most resilient systems also continued to inform parents about their children's progress, to ensure that parents stayed involved in their child's learning.

Resilient systems also differed in their approach to selecting and grouping students. In most of the resilient systems, especially those that ensured that equity remained stable or improved, students are tracked into different educational programmes after the age of 14, the average age for tracking across countries/economies. Students are also less likely to have repeated a grade.

Resilient systems also seem to have invested into a solid foundation for student learning and well-being in schools, providing better qualified staff and high-quality digital resources for their students. Most resilient systems also increased peer-to-peer tutoring in school more than did all education systems on average. For instance, in Lithuania four out of five students were tutored by peers in 2022 while in 2018 only three out of five students were (an increase of 15 percentage points) (Table II.B1.5.82). Resilient systems also stood out in their approach to school governance, relying more strongly on internal evaluation and self-evaluation as a quality-assurance mechanism and more on schools to shape the curriculum (e.g. deciding on courses, course content and learning materials).

## Table II.1.1. Key characteristics of the school environment in resilient education systems

	OECD	Overall	lanan	Chinese Tainei	Korea	l ithuania	Singapore	Switzerland	Australia*
Chapter 2: How learning continued when schools were close	d	uvorugo	oupun	rapor	Norod	Litildania	oingaporo	ownzonana	Additund
Percentage of students whose school building was closed for less than three months because of COVID-19	49%	49%	84%	90%	79%	67%	m	76%	53%
Problems with remote learning (mean index) <sup>1</sup>	-0.01	0.14	-0.65	-0.56	-0.44	-0.12	m	-0.19	0.19
Chapter 3: Life at school and support from home									
Disciplinary climate in mathematics (mean index) <sup>1</sup>	0.02	0.04	1.09	0.34	0.84	0.21	0.22	0.11	-0.24
School safety risks (mean index) <sup>1</sup>	0.01	0.04	m	-0.35	-0.41	-0.14	-0.15	-0.05	m
Change in the percentage of students in schools where teachers initiated discussions on child's progress with most parents $^{\rm 2}$	-7.6% dif.	-5.3% dif.	-5.6% dif.	-0.9% dif.	-2.8% dif.	-7.3% dif.	0.3% dif.	-19.6% dif.	-5.2% dif.
Chapter 4: Selecting and grouping students									
Age at first selection into different education programme s	14.3	14.5	15	15	15	14	12	12	16 <sup>4</sup>
Percentage of students who had repeated a grade at least once in primary, lower and/or upper secondary school $^{\rm 3}$	9%	11%	0%	1%	3%	2%	4%	13%	5%
Chapter 5: Investments in a solid foundation for learning an	d well-being								
Percentage of students in schools with adequate and qualified teaching staf f	0.7	0.8	0.6	0.8	0.8	1.0	0.9	0.8	0.7
Percentage of students in schools with adequate and high-quality digital resources	0.8	0.6	0.5	0.9	0.7	0.9	1.0	0.9	0.9
Change in the percentage of students with peer-to-peer tutoring in $school^2$	3.1% dif.	2.3% dif.	25.5% dif.	-3.3% dif.	7.3% dif.	15.0% dif.	7.8% dif.	6.6% dif.	-2.4% dif.
Chapter 6: Governing education systems	Chapter 6: Governing education systems								
Percentage of students in schools that use internal evaluation/ self-evaluation as a quality-assurance mechanism	95%	97%	99%	98%	100%	100%	99%	85%	98%
School responsibility for curriculum (mean index) <sup>1</sup>	2.43	1.99	4.45	2.95	2.39	2.17	2.18	1.23	3.38

1. Higher values in these indices indicate a better disciplinary climate, more problems with remote learning, more school safety risks and greater responsibility of schools for the curriculum. More information on how the indices were built, including the statements that were included, can be found in Annex A1.

2. The questions on grade repetition were not distributed in Japan and Norway. The share of grade repeaters has been set to zero in agreement with countries since there is a policy of automatic grade progression and more than 99.5% of students were enrolled in the same grade level.

3. Information on age at first selection comes from PISA 2018.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database.

## Various school policies, practices and characteristics are related to systems' resilience and students' learning and well-being

The remaining chapters of this volume discuss in greater detail important differences in policies and practices across education systems and schools, and how they are related to systems' resilience, and students' learning and wellbeing (see Figure II.1.6). Drawing on past PISA reports (OECD, 2016[7]; OECD, 2013[8]; OECD, 2016[9]; OECD, 2017[10]; OECD, 2020[11]) the volume focuses on five areas:

- Continuing learning when schools are closed (Chapter 2) school closures due to COVID-19; how students learned and their impressions and feelings about learning remotely; how systems and schools supported students' learning and well-being; whether students acquired the skills to learn independently; and whether schools built their capacities to support learning remotely in the event of future school closures.
- Life at school and support from home (Chapter 3) student truancy and lateness after school reopening; whether schools team up with parents and provide a safe environment for learning that minimises bullying; teacher support and the disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons.
- Selecting and grouping students (Chapter 4) attendance at pre-primary education; the structure of grades and programmes that students must complete in order to graduate from school (i.e. vertical stratification); how students are grouped and selected into different curricular programmes, schools and ability groups (i.e. horizontal stratification).

- Investments in a solid foundation for learning and well-being (Chapter 5) resources invested in education systems (education expenditure per student, education staff and educational material, including digital devices) and how they are related to student outcomes; how students allocate their time, at and outside of school, for learning and leisure activities, using digital devices or not.
- Governing education systems (Chapter 6) how responsibilities for education are shared among stakeholders; how public and private organisations are involved in the administration and funding of schools; the degree of school choice and school competition in the system; the policies and practices through which education systems ensure that learning standards are met, such as through student assessments, teacher and principal appraisals, and school evaluations.



## Figure II.1.6. Aspects and areas of resilience in education examined in this volume

In addition to students' sense of belonging at school, which is closely related to their life at school and school policies (Box II.1.4), other indicators of subjective well-being were examined, including students' beliefs about their abilities (e.g. confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning), their feelings (e.g. mathematics anxiety) and their overall satisfaction with life.

## Box II.1.4. The role of school life and relationships in students' satisfaction with life

The importance of having close and diverse relationships with peers and adults for students' overall life satisfaction is also reflected when analysing different aspects of their lives. In 13 countries/economies<sup>2</sup> that distributed the well-being questionnaire, students were asked how satisfied they were with different aspects of their lives.

On average, the best predictors of students' satisfaction with life were how satisfied they were with their relationship with their parents or guardians, their life at school, their health, all the things they have, and the way they look, after accounting for student and school characteristics (see Figure II.1.7). Other aspects of their life, such as the friends they have, how they use their time, the neighbourhood they live in, their relationship with teachers, and what they learn at school are also positively associated with their satisfaction with life. In addition to personal life experiences, cultural differences may also shape how adolescents evaluate their lives. For example, studies that compare adolescents' life satisfaction across cultures find that adolescents in Western countries report higher levels of life satisfaction than those in East-Asian states (Park and Huebner, 2005<sub>[12]</sub>). Nonetheless, PISA results show that school is important to students' life satisfaction, and that students in learning environments where they have good relationships with parents, friends and teachers, and enjoy good physical and psychological health, may be more likely to be satisfied with their lives regardless of their socio-economic background.

## Figure II.1.7. Life satisfaction and satisfaction with different aspects of life



Average of countries/economies with available data

Notes: All values are statistically significant (see Annex A3).

All linear regression models account for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

The scale on life satisfaction ranges from 0 (not at all satisfied) to 10 (completely satisfied). Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 1. Strengthening resilience is a complex endeavor, requiring a panoply of policies as well as strategic planning (Box II.1.5). Rather than exhaustively detailing results for each question in the subsequent chapters, the volume highlights the results that are most relevant for the overarching question of which policies and practices are common to resilient systems and schools. The concluding Chapter 7 provides a synthesis of the main findings and implications for policy and practice on how to strengthen resilience in education systems. PISA assesses where systems are situated in the process of strengthening their capacity to overcome adversity and meet challenges. Resilience does not guarantee faster recovery and adaptation in the future, but it does make those outcomes more likely. Systems could still fail, even if they have invested in strong defences against adversity and disruption.

## Box II.1.5. Strategic planning builds on the analyses of trends and scenarios for the future of education

Developing resilience in education involves anticipating future changes and their potential cascading effects to inform present strategies (Burns and Köster, 2016<sub>[13]</sub>). For this, the analysis of social, economic and environmental trends is key. However, long-term planning is becoming more difficult because of rising complexity and uncertainty. While demographic trends develop slowly, other trends do not. In recent years, global economic shocks, like the Great Recession, the rapid spread of COVID-19 and the millions of children and young refugees requiring access to education following Russia's aggression against Ukraine, show that, as the interdependence of social and natural systems grows, so do the risks people face. Evolving global trends, such as climate change, Artificial Intelligence (AI) and changing social values, suggest that the future may be different, but no less challenging (OECD, 2022<sub>[14]</sub>). For instance, more frequent and extreme weather events will increasingly endanger human health and physical infrastructure (IPCC, 2023<sub>[15]</sub>), putting education operations at risk of severe disruption. Similarly, the fast-evolving capabilities of AI and robotics raise questions about the competences students need to develop, and whether current approaches to curriculum, pedagogy and assessment will continue to be fit for purpose (OECD, 2023<sub>[16]</sub>).

In an increasingly uncertain environment, policy makers need to consider the changes that could be highly impactful, not just those that seem most probable (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[17]</sub>). The discipline of strategic foresight offers several tools to do this, including scanning the horizon for emergent signals of change and building visions of desirable futures to "trace back" the steps that would be needed to realise them. Discussing multiple scenarios, that is, sets of alternative futures, is also useful. Scenario planning recognises that trends are dynamic and interconnected, and often influenced by changes in culture that are seemingly marginal or unlikely at present. Scenarios can reveal desirable futures as well as potential shocks and surprises, both of which can be used to act in the present, stress-testing current strategies and planning for contingencies.

Source: OECD (2022[14]), Trends Shaping Education 2022, https://doi.org/10.1787/6ae8771a-en.

Figure II.1.1	Resilient education systems
Figure II.1.2	Confirmed COVID-19 cases and deaths
Figure II.1.3	Students' sense of belonging at school
Figure II.1.4	Sense of belonging, and performance and equity in mathematics
Figure II.1.5	Performance in mathematics and sense of belonging at school, by students' socio-economic status
Table II.1.1	Key characteristics of the school environment in resilient education systems
Figure II.1.6	Aspects and areas of resilience in education examined in this volume
Figure II.1.7	Life satisfaction and satisfaction with different aspects of life

## Table II.1.2. The resilience of education systems, schools and students figures and tables

StatLink and https://stat.link/zdfqpn

## **Notes**

1 A socio-economically disadvantaged (advantaged) student is a student in the bottom (top) quarter of the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS) in his or her own country/economy (see Annex A1).

<sup>2</sup> The 13 countries/economies that distributed the well-being questionnaire were Brazil, Hong Kong (China)\*, Hungary, Ireland\*, Macao (China), Mexico, the Netherlands\*, New Zealand\*, Panama\*, Saudi Arabia, Slovenia, Spain and the United Arab Emirates. The average results across these countries may not be representative of the OECD average.

## References

Bertling, J. et al. (2020), "A tool to capture learning experiences during COVID-19: The PISA Global Crises Questionnaire Module", <i>OECD Education Working Papers</i> , No. 232, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9988df4e-en</u> .	[4]
Burns, T. and F. Köster (eds.) (2016), <i>Governing Education in a Complex World</i> , Educational Research and Innovation, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264255364-en</u> .	[13]
IPCC (2023), Climate Change 2023: Synthesis Report, Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, IPCC, Geneva, <u>https://doi.org/10.59327/IPCC/AR6-9789291691647</u> .	[15]
OECD (2023), <i>Is Education Losing the Race with Technology?: AI's Progress in Maths and Reading</i> , Educational Research and Innovation, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/73105f99-en</u> .	[16]
OECD (2022), <i>Trends Shaping Education 2022</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/6ae8771a-en</u> .	[14]
OECD (2021), <i>Education Policy Outlook 2021: Shaping Responsive and Resilient Education in a Changing World</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/75e40a16-en</u> .	[3]
OECD (2020), <i>PISA 2018 Results (Volume V): Effective Policies, Successful Schools</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/ca768d40-en</u> .	[11]
OECD (2019), <i>PISA 2018 Results (Volume III): What School Life Means for Students' Lives</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/acd78851-en</u> .	[5]

OECD (2017), PISA 2015 Results (Volume III): Students' Well-Being, PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264273856-en.	[10]
OECD (2016), <i>Low-Performing Students: Why They Fall Behind and How To Help Them Succeed</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264250246-en</u> .	[9]
OECD (2016), <i>PISA 2015 Results (Volume II): Policies and Practices for Successful Schools</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264267510-en</u> .	[7]
OECD (2013), <i>PISA 2012 Results: What Makes Schools Successful (Volume IV): Resources, Policies and Practices</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264201156-en</u> .	[8]
OECD (forthcoming), "A strategic foresight toolkit for resilient public policy: A comprehensive foresight methodology to support sustainable and future-ready public policy".	[17]
OECD (forthcoming), <i>PISA 2022 Results (Volume I): Academic achievement and equity</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris.	[6]
Park, N. and E. Huebner (2005), "A Cross-Cultural Study of the Levels and Correlates of Life Satisfaction among Adolescents", <i>Journal of Cross-Cultural Psychology</i> , Vol. 36/4, pp. 444-456, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0022022105275961</u> .	[12]
WHO (2023), https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/367352, https://doi.org/10.1787/d5f68679-en.	[1]
WHO (2023), https://covid19.who.int/measures.	[2]

| 61

# 2 How learning continued when schools were closed

This chapter explores how education systems, schools and students handled the school closures imposed as a response to the COVID-19 pandemic, and the relationships between those reponses and school systems' resilience to disruption. The chapter examines how the duration of school closures is related to student performance and well-being, and to equity in the school system. It also explores whether education systems prepared their students for autonomous and remote learning, and how the support provided, and students' experiences, during remote learning may have differed in more resilient school systems. The chapter concludes with a look at specific policies that education systems designed and implemented to support students in their learning and well-being during school closures.

For Australia\*, Canada\*, Denmark\*, Hong Kong (China)\*, Ireland\*, Jamaica\*, Latvia\*, the Netherlands\*, New Zealand\*, Panama\*, the United Kingdom\* and the United States\*, caution is advised when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

The COVID-19 pandemic revealed, in stark relief, just how important it is for education systems to be resilient to disruption. No country was spared the sudden social upheaval that followed in the wake of the virus; every country was obliged to rethink how to support its students, especially those most vulnerable, in such adverse circumstances. This chapter focuses on the most common response to the pandemic – school closures<sup>1</sup> - and what enabled some education systems to be more successful than others in their efforts to keep learning alive and students engaged in school, particularly when schools were closed (see Chapter 1).

## What the data tell us

- Two out of three countries/economies closed their schools for longer than three months for a majority of their students during the COVID-19 pandemic. Students in systems that spared more students from longer closures scored higher in mathematics and reported a greater sense of belonging at school in 2022 as compared to 2018.
- Students reported feeling less confident about taking responsibility for their own learning than they felt about using digital technology when learning remotely, on average across OECD countries and in most education systems.
- Students' experience with learning at home was more positive in systems that were better prepared for remote learning. However, when learning remotely, 40% of all students reported feeling lonely and 50% of all students reported feeling anxious about schoolwork and that they fell behind in their studies; and three in ten students reported that teachers were not available when needed, on average across OECD countries.
- Almost one in two students indicated that, when learning at home, they frequently had difficulty motivating themselves to do schoolwork, and one in three students frequently did not fully understand school assignments, on average across OECD countries.
- Students in education systems whose schools provided more activities to maintain learning and well-being during school closures reported feeling more confident in their ability to learn autonomously and remotely if their school has to close again in the future.

This chapter examines how education systems responded to the COVID-19 pandemic, focusing on aspects that are associated with resilience (Figure II.2.1). The chapter begins with an examination of the duration of school closures and how that is related to differences in student performance and well-being, and to the system's capacity to ensure that all students, regardless of their socio-economic background, can achieve at high levels (socio-economic fairness). PISA 2022 results show that resilient systems kept more students in school through the pandemic and closed schools for shorter periods of time (less than three months). The chapter also examines whether students are prepared for remote and more autonomous learning, and how this is related to an education system's resilience. PISA 2022 data show that schools in resilient education systems provided students with more support and positive experiences during remote learning, allowing all students, including disadvantaged students, to continue learning, remain engaged, and develop confidence in their ability to learn autonomously. Details on the indices covered here are provided in Annex A1.



## Figure II.2.1. How learning continued when schools were closed as covered in PISA 2022



The chapter also reviews some of the emergency policies adopted by education systems to support schools as they continued with their programmes remotely (see Annex B3 for more information) (OECD, 2021<sub>[1]</sub>; OECD, 2021<sub>[2]</sub>; UNESCO Institute for Statistics UNICEF The World Bank OECD, 2022<sub>[3]</sub>).

## Components of resilience: Keeping schools open longer

When schools shut their doors, students often missed out on opportunities to learn. This was particularly true at the beginning of the pandemic when remote teaching was often not provided or not well-functioning. As school closures are all but certain to occur in the future, understanding the consequences for student learning is vital.

## High-performing systems and those where students' sense of belonging at school strengthened over time were also those that kept schools open longer

Although most countries around the world closed schools for some period of time at least once during the pandemic, PISA 2022 data show that the duration of school closures varied widely across countries (UNESCO Institute for Statistics UNICEF The World Bank OECD, 2022<sub>[3]</sub>). According to students' reports, the duration of COVID-19 school closures also varied substantially within countries/economies (Table II.B1.2.1).

In PISA 2022, students were asked whether their school building was closed to students for more than a week (some schools closed and reopened multiple times during the period) in the previous three years due to COVID-19. In most countries/economies, schools were closed for several months because of the pandemic (Table II.B1.2.1). On average across OECD countries, fewer than one in two students reported that their school was closed for less than three months. In fact, only one in three countries/economies with available data avoided longer school closures for a majority of their students. In Iceland, Japan, Korea, Sweden, Switzerland and Chinese Taipei more than three out of four students indicated that their school was closed for less than three months, while in Brazil, Ireland\*, Jamaica\* and Latvia\* only one out of four students or fewer who responded to the question reported so. As much of the analysis about school closures is based on responses from students, caution is advised when interpreting the data (Box II.2.1).

## Box II.2.1. Interpreting the data from students on school closures

This chapter focuses on responses from students (via the student questionnaire) rather than from school principals since many students were enrolled in different schools during the COVID-19 school closures (Table II.B1.2.3). For those students, the information about the experiences and responses provided by principals may not characterise what happened at their schools during school closures. On average across OECD countries,

or 2022)

only 44% of students were enrolled at their school three or more years and the share is below 10% in a number of countries (Table II.B1.2.3).

As with any information gleaned from questionnaires, students' responses to the questions on school closures are subject to various biases, including social desirability and cultural bias. In addition, students answered the questions on school closures retrospectively, making it more difficult for some students to remember the details of their school's closure if it occurred early in the pandemic. Since the timing and duration of school closures varied across countries, systemic bias should also be considered. In some education systems, half of the student body alternated with the other half in attending classes in person. Hence, the duration of school closures, defined as the closure of the building itself, does not capture all the time that individual students were not permitted to enter the school building. The support provided by schools varies, depending on when and for how long schools were closed. Schools in education systems where closures were relatively rare and brief may have provided fewer supportive actions, since schools may have resumed in-person classes before support was considered necessary. In these cases, the values on the indicators for school support may be low.

The share of non-responses was particularly high for questions about COVID-19 school closures. This limits the representative nature of the data reported in this chapter and results in less precise estimates since standard errors are higher than for other parts of the questionnaire. This should be kept in mind when drawing conclusions from the results presented in this chapter. A comparison of the characteristics of students who responded to the question on the duration of COVID-19 school closures with those who did not respond showed that non-responding students reported greater life satisfaction, were of lower socio-economic status and scored lower in mathematics, science and particularly in reading (Table II.B1.2.2). Boys, students in lower secondary school, those with an immigrant background and those not enrolled in the modal grade for 15-year-olds were over-represented among the group of non-responding students.

At the system level, students' responses were strongly related to principals' responses (collected via the school questionnaire) to questions about the duration of school closures (r = 0.78 across all systems, Table II.B1.2.1). Even though the responses of students have to be interpreted with caution, the strong relationships suggest that students' and principals' responses provide a similar picture of the average duration that schools were closed in countries/economies. The slight differences between students' and principals' reports probably reflect disparities in school closure policies in the countries/economies. During the pandemic, many countries/economies closed schools partially to try to contain the virus while allowing face-to-face teaching and learning for as many students as possible (OECD,  $2021_{[2]}$ ). In many countries, schools opened for certain grades, levels or age groups, often giving preference to students at lower levels of education (OECD,  $2021_{[1]}$ ). School closures were often only imposed in affected regions, schools or classes, not nationwide (e.g. teaching shifted to remote mode for classes where COVID-19 cases were detected or for contact cases within these classes).

Not all of the changes in performance, equity and well-being between 2018 and 2022 are due to the pandemic. Therefore, short-term trends were additionally analysed in relation to longer-term trends (whenever those were available) using data from PISA assessments prior to 2018 to see if they diverge from the overall trends observed in countries/economies (i.e. "adjusted short-term trends"). The percentage of students who reported school closures of three months or less was more strongly and positively related to the adjusted short-term trends for performance as compared to the unadjusted trends (Tables II.B1.2.46 and II.B1.2.48). However, the relationship was not significant. Performance improved significantly more in education systems where students reported fewer problems with remote learning than in systems where more students encountered more problems, after accounting for the pre-2018 trends in the analysis.

Overall, PISA 2022 student-reported data show that systems that spared more students from longer closures (longer than three months) showed higher average performance in mathematics and a greater sense of belonging at school as compared to education systems where more schools were closed for longer periods (Figure II.2.2 and Table II.B1.2.46).



## Figure II.2.2. COVID-19 school closures and mathematics performance

Mean score in mathematics 600

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2; and Volume I, Annex B1.

Countries/economies that avoided long school closures for more of their students, according to student reports, had more stable or improving trends in their sense of belonging at school (Figure II.2.3). Japan, which closed its schools for only three months or less to 84% of its students, as reported by students, had one of the greatest improvements in students' sense of belonging at school, reaching a level above the OECD average in 2022. The PISA results concur with findings from several reviews that linked COVID-19 school closure policies to adverse health effects and behaviours among adolescents (Hume, Brown and Mahtani,  $2023_{[4]}$ ; Lehmann, Lechner and Scheithauer,  $2022_{[5]}$ ; Rajmil et al.,  $2021_{[6]}$ ; Saulle et al.,  $2022_{[7]}$ ; Viner et al.,  $2022_{[8]}$ ). These include psychological issues, such as anxiety, loneliness, depression, dissatisfaction with life and a higher risk of suicidal thoughts or attempts at suicide. Obesity, unhealthy food consumption and decreased physical activity have also been observed. However, the effects of the duration of school closures are less well researched. PISA 2022 data also show that there was a shift in many countries in students' interest in working in the health sector between 2018 and 2022 while interest in other sectors, such as ICT, followed a steady trend (Box II.2.2). PISA 2022 results point to the far-reaching consequences that the COVID-19 pandemic may have had on students' lives.

## Figure II.2.3. COVID-19 school closures and change between 2018 and 2022 in sense of belonging



Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapters 1 and 2.

## Box II.2.2. How the pandemic changed students' career expectations

PISA 2022 results suggest that 15-year-olds may be susceptible to the public image of professions when deciding on their career path. The digital sector rose to prominence as a critical determinant of economic growth and international competitiveness a while ago and provides good career prospects. In one out of two PISA-participating countries/economies, the share of 15-year-olds who expect to work in an ICT-related profession (e.g. software and web developers, data miner) when they are about 30 years old grew between 2018 and 2022 (Table II.B1.2.4). In fact, interest in working in the ICT sector decreased only in Baku (Azerbaijan) and the Netherlands\*.

In the wake of COVID-19, the health sector has attracted a lot of attention – and not all of it good. For example, while the work of health professionals during the pandemic was acknowledged to be indispensable, the public also learned of the long working hours and stress involved, and the low pay for nurses and medical support staff. PISA 2022 results concerning students' interest in working in this field were equally mixed (Figure II.2.4). In a quarter of countries/economies, the share of students interested in working as a health professional (e.g. doctors, nurses, veterinarians) grew since 2018, but in another quarter of countries/economies that share decreased. In

the rest of the participating countries/economies, the share of students interested in working in the health sector remained stable over the period.

Students' interest in the health sector decreased more in systems that had higher absolute numbers of COVID-19 cases and deaths between 2020 and 2022 as well as relative numbers of COVID-19 cases (i.e. cases per million inhabitants); but their change in career interest was unrelated to the relative number of COVID-19 deaths (Table II.B1.2.4 and Figure II.1.2). The fact that reporting on COVID-19 cases and deaths in the public realm often focused on absolute, rather than relative, numbers may explain these findings. One of the reasons for the decrease in students' interest in pursuing a health-related career in highly affected countries/economies may be that trust in the health profession and science declined when students felt that the sector was overwhelmed by the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic also no doubt highlighted some of the disadvantages of working in this sector.

## Figure II.2.4. Change between 2018 and 2022 in expectation of a career in health and ICT

Percentage-point change of students who expect to work as the following when they are about 30 years old



Notes: Only countries and economies with available data are shown.

Statistically significant differences between PISA 2018 and PISA 2022 (PISA 2022 – PISA 2018) are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3).

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the change between 2018 and 2022 in the percentage of students who expect to work as a health professional. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2.

## Components of resilience: Preparing students for autonomous and remote learning

In situations where schools have to be closed, systems and schools have to ensure that education can continue effectively in remote mode to avoid severe learning losses. Remote education forces students to learn more independently – and to draw on self-directed learning skills (Lab,  $2021_{[9]}$ ; Schleicher,  $2020_{[10]}$ ). These skills enable learners to assume primary responsibility for their learning, set objectives, create a learning plan, and develop techniques to get and stay motivated to learn (Boyer et al.,  $2013_{[11]}$ ; Cazan and Schiopca,  $2014_{[12]}$ ). Systems that support their students in developing these skills help their students be successful not only in school but also, later on, in the labour market (Cazan and Schiopca,  $2014_{[12]}$ ; Morris,  $2019_{[13]}$ ). Today's workers are expected to maintain and upgrade their knowledge and skills throughout their lives – and assume most, if not all, of the responsibility for doing so.

Self-directed learning skills can be improved through personalised and collaborative online or offline learning that helps students plan, organise and monitor their learning activities (Khodaei et al.,  $2022_{[14]}$ ; Kim et al.,  $2014_{[15]}$ ; Lee et al.,  $2014_{[16]}$ ). Promoting the acquisition of these skills in school is also an investment in the resilience of education systems. School closures are not just history; they are likely to be endured in the future too. Students' ability to learn autonomously thus ensures that learning continues even in adverse circumstances. In Viet Nam, for example, students with greater confidence in their own capacity for self-directed instruction spent more time learning during the COVID-19 school closures than their peers with less confidence did (Tran et al.,  $2020_{[17]}$ ).

## Students were more confident about using digital technology for remote learning than about taking responsibility for their own learning

PISA 2022 explored whether education systems prepared students for self-directed learning by asking students to report on their confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning in case their school building has to close again in the future. Overall, students felt more confident about using digital technology for learning remotely during future school closures than they felt about taking responsibility for their own learning (Figure II.2.5 and Table II.B1.2.5). For instance, on average across OECD countries, about three out of four students reported that they feel confident or very confident about using a learning-management system, a school learning platform or a video communication program, as well as about finding learning resources on line on their own. Seven out of ten students felt confident or very confident about completing schoolwork independently or planning when to do schoolwork on their own and assessing their progress with learning. Only six out of ten students felt so about motivating themselves to do schoolwork and focusing on it without reminders.

There were large differences between countries/economies in terms of students' confidence in their capacity for selfdirected learning. For instance, in Cambodia, Colombia, El Salvador, Guatemala, Kazakhstan and Panama\*, over 75% of students felt confident that they can motivate themselves to do school work, but in Brunei Darussalam, Ireland\*, Israel, Japan, Poland and the United Kingdom\* less than 50% of students felt this way (Figure II.2.5 and Table II.B1.2.5). In Jordan, Morocco, the Palestinian Authority, the Philippines, Thailand only around 50% of students felt confident or very confident about using a video communication program, while in Croatia, Estonia, Italy, Lithuania, Portugal and Sweden 84% of all students or more felt confident about doing so. Moreover, in Japan and Malaysia less than 50% of students felt confident about completing schoolwork independently, while in Colombia, Croatia, Italy, Panama\* and Portugal more than 80% of students felt confident in this regard.

On average across OECD countries, socio-economically advantaged students and those in upper secondary education (ISCED-3) were more confident than disadvantaged students and those in lower secondary school (ISCED-2) that they could learn well autonomously and remotely if schools have to close in the future. These differences, in favour of advantaged students, were observed in almost all education systems with available data and remained even after accounting for student performance in mathematics (Table II.B1.2.11). The differences related to socio-economic status in students' confidence in self-directed learning were largest in the Dominican Republic, Germany, Korea, Malaysia and Peru; they were not observed in Baku (Azerbaijan) or Jamaica\* (Table II.B1.2.6). Students with an immigrant background reported similar levels of confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning as non-immigrant students, on average across OECD countries. Interestingly, girls had greater confidence in their

capacity for self-directed learning than boys, on average across OECD countries and in around a third of all participating education systems. The largest gender differences in students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning, in favour of girls, were observed in Austria, Germany and Saudi Arabia.

## Figure II.2.5. Students' confidence in self-directed learning

Percentage of students who reported feeling confident/very confident in taking the following actions if their school building closes again in the future



Using a video communication program Motivating myself to do school work

Note: Only countries and economies with available data are shown in this figure.

Items are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students who reported feeling confident or very confident in motivating themselves to do school work. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2.

Promoting other skills, such as social and emotional skills, is important for ensuring that students can learn more independently and remotely. PISA 2022 results show that students with better social and emotional skills were more engaged in remote learning and scored higher in mathematics (see Box II.2.3).
### Box II.2.3. The value of social and emotional skills

PISA 2022 shows that social and emotional skills are related to students' mathematics performance in all countries/economies with available data (Table II.B1.2.19). As shown in Figure II.2.6, students that are intellectually curious, persistent and better able to control their emotions outperform their peers. These findings show that cognition and emotion are intwined ingredients of academic success (OECD, 2021<sub>[18]</sub>; OECD, 2020<sub>[19]</sub>); they also show how important it is to invest in cultivating intellectual curiosity, a strong determination in pursuing goals and tasks, and the ability to regulate emotions in the face of challenges and frustrations.

### Figure II.2.6. Social and emotional skills, and mathematics performance



Change in mathematics performance associated with a one-unit increase in the following indices; OECD average

Notes: All values are statistically significant (see Annex A3).

All linear regression models account for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

Items are ranked in descending order of the change in mathematics performance.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Chapter 2.

PISA 2022 also shows that schools play an essential role in fostering social and emotional skills even when school buildings are closed. For example, providing interesting learning material can fuel curiosity as more curious students are willing to invest more time in learning. Figure II.2.7 shows, for example that students who used textbooks, workbooks or worksheets, whether on paper or digital, every day or almost every day during COVID-19 school closures showed greater persistence and curiosity. The relationship between social and emotional skills, and academic performance might be small, but even small effects can have a major impact on outcomes over time. Behaviours are reinforced and maintained as positive outcomes accrue (Roberts, Caspi and Moffitt, 2003<sub>[20]</sub>). More curious and persistent students are willing to invest more time and effort in learning, beyond obligatory assignments, which helps them perform better academically, personally and professionally long after their school days are over.

### Figure II.2.7. Persistence, curiosity and learning resources during COVID-19 school closures

Change in the index of persistence and curiosity when students reported using the following learning resources during COVID-19 school closures every day or almost every day compared to those who reported using them about once or twice a week or less; OECD average



All linear regression models account for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

Learning resources are ranked in descending order of the change in the index of persistence. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Chapter 2.

#### Few systems prepared their students well for remote learning

Students in most of the education systems that have shown to be resilient in mathematics from pre- to post-COVID did not have above-average confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning. The pre- to post-COVID trends observed in PISA 2022 were unrelated to students' average confidence in these practices.

Students in Colombia, Croatia, Panama<sup>\*</sup> and the United Arab Emirates, on the other hand, reported feeling particularly confident, on average, about their capacity to learn remotely and autonomously if their school building has to close again in the future (Table II.B1.2.5 and Figure II.2.8). However, in all of these countries the average performance in reading was below the OECD average in 2022 (see Table I.2.2 Volume I (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[21]</sub>)); only in Croatia was reading performance close to the OECD average in 2022. Sufficient reading skills are required if students are to learn on their own, since digital and non-digital learning resources are heavily text-based.

In contrast, in Estonia, Finland, Italy, Sweden and Switzerland students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning and average performance in reading were both above the OECD average, indicating a solid foundation for remote and more autonomous learning. In all of these education systems mathematics performance was also close to or above the OECD average in 2022 (Table II.1).

### Figure II.2.8. Reading performance and students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning



\*\* Caution is required when comparing estimates based on PISA 2022 with other countries/economies as a strong linkage to the international PISA reading scale could not be established (see Reader's Guide and Annex A4).

Note: Countries and economies that scored statistically significantly above the OECD average in reading and in the index of confidence in capacity for self-directed learning are marked in a darker tone (see Annex A3).

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2; and Volume I, Annex B1.

To ensure effective learning in remote mode, schools also need to be prepared for remote instruction. PISA 2022 found that schools' preparedness for remote instruction differed across countries/economies and that schools that took actions to adjust remote instruction before or in response to COVID-19 are better prepared for remote instruction in the future (see Box II.2.4).

### Box II.2.4. Easing the shift to remote learning

Schools' preparedness for future remote learning varied significantly across countries/economies in 2022. Principals in the Dominican Republic, North Macedonia, the Philippines, Saudi Arabia and Thailand reported that their schools were very well-prepared for remote learning after the pandemic, while principals in France, Greece, Iceland and Morocco reported that their schools were not well-prepared (Table II.1.2.22). In some countries/economies, including Saudi Arabia and Thailand, principals reported that their schools were already well-prepared for remote instruction before COVID-19. This suggests that these school systems both managed school closures due to the pandemic better than others and appear prepared for remote learning in the future.

However, overall results suggest some schools struggled to shift to remote learning during school closures while others grew from this experience. Principals in several countries, including Iceland and Morocco, reported that their schools were less prepared for remote instruction after the pandemic, whereas principals in Albania, Brazil, Cambodia and Romania reported that their schools were more prepared after the pandemic. Figure II.2.9 shows that a possible explanation for these perceptions is that some schools took actions to adjust to remote instruction while others did not, leading their principals to feel more or less prepared for remote instruction in the future (Table II.1.2.23).

The largest difference in preparedness was observed for schools that prepared a plan for transitioning students and teachers from classroom-based instruction to remote instruction before or in response to COVID-19 compared to those that did not. More students were in schools whose principal reported feeling well- or very wellprepared for future remote instruction when the principal also reported that the school prepared a transitioning plan (a difference of 13 percentage points compared with the percentage of students in schools that had not prepared a transitioning plan). Other actions that are related to a school's preparedness for remote learning are the use of video communication programs for remote instruction and preparing digital material for remote education (e.g. reorganising existing resources and/or designing new resources). PISA 2022 data suggest that preparing paper-based material for remote instruction or adjusting existing curriculum plans is less relevant, on average across OECD countries. However, in the Netherlands\* and the United Kingdom\* more students were in schools whose principal reported feeling well- or very well-prepared for future remote instruction and who also reported that the school prepared paper-based material for remote instruction (a difference of 48 and 41 percentage points, respectively). In Japan and Morocco more students were in schools whose principal reported feeling well- or very well-prepared for future remote instruction and who also reported that the school adapted existing curriculum plans (a difference of 37 and 40 percentage points, respectively). The bottom line is that using available resources and undertaking concrete actions to use those resources to prepare for remote education helped principals feel better prepared for remote instruction if their school building has to close to students for an extended period in the future.

### Figure II.2.9. Perceived preparedness for remote instruction, by actions taken

### OECD average



prepared at all to provide remote instruction.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Chapter 2.

### Components of resilience: Providing positive learning experiences

Students' experiences with remote learning vary widely, with important implications for their engagement with online learning, their performance and their psychological well-being (Deng et al., 2021<sub>[22]</sub>; Ineval Ecuador, 2022<sub>[23]</sub>; McKellar and Wang, 2023<sub>[24]</sub>; Walters et al., 2021<sub>[25]</sub>). Education systems and schools need to ensure that those students affected by school closures have the support necessary to benefit from remote learning and remain healthy.

### Three in ten students reported that teachers were not available when needed during school closures

Overall, PISA 2022 results suggest that students' experience with remote learning was not positive (Table II.B1.2.24). On average across OECD countries, less than 70% of 15-year-old students agreed or strongly agreed that their teachers were available when they needed help and that they improved their skills in using digital devices for learning purposes. Only around half of all students enjoyed learning by themselves, felt well-prepared for learning remotely or that their teachers were well-prepared to provide instruction remotely. At the same time, 40% of all students felt

lonely, and 50% of all students felt anxious about school work and reported that they fell behind in their school work and that they missed sports and other physical activities organised by their school. Only around four in ten students were motivated to learn.

Students from different education systems differed in their experiences with remote learning. For example, teachers across education systems were not equally available when students needed help (Figure II.2.10). Over 80% of students in Brunei Darussalam, the Philippines and Viet Nam agreed or strongly agreed that their teachers were available when they needed help, whereas in Japan and Morocco less than 50% of students so reported.

### Figure II.2.10. Teacher support and students' loneliness

Percentage of students who agreed or strongly agreed with the following statements about the time when their school building was closed because of COVID-19; based on students' reports



My teachers were available when I needed help I felt lonely

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students who reported that their teachers were available when they needed help. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2. On average across OECD countries, socio-economically advantaged students and students attending upper secondary school (ISCED-3) agreed or strongly agreed more often than disadvantaged students and those in lower secondary school (ISCED-2) that, when their school building was closed because of COVID-19, their teachers were available when they needed help (Table II.B1.2.25). Similarly, girls indicated more often than boys, on average, that their teachers were available when needed. Large variations were also observed across countries/economies. For instance, around 70% of advantaged students but only 64% of disadvantaged students reported that their teachers were available when needed – a significant difference of 6 percentage points, on average across OECD countries/economies (Table II.B1.2.25). Yet this difference was observed in less than half of all participating countries/economies, and differed in magnitude. For example, in Korea, Malaysia, New Zealand\*, Türkiye and Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) the percentage-point difference was over or close to 15 points, whereas it was less than 8 points in Argentina, Brunei Darussalam, Finland, Ireland\*, Morocco, Qatar, the Palestinian Authority, the United Arab Emirates and the United Kingdom\*. Equally important, in North Macedonia and Paraguay the difference related to socio-economic status was reversed: disadvantaged students agreed more often than their advantaged peers that their teachers were available when needed.

### Students' experience with learning at home was more positive in systems that were fair and better prepared for remote learning

Students in education systems that ensured a more positive experience with remote learning during school closures were more confident that they could learn independently and remotely if their school has to close again in the future (Figure II.2.11). For instance, in Estonia, Finland, Sweden and Switzerland students scored above the OECD average in reading and reported above-average confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning in 2022 (Figure II.2.8). Students in these countries also reported that their experience with remote learning was particularly positive, with 73% or more of all students reporting that their teacher was available when they needed help.

Findings for students' experience with learning at home and education system's resilience were mixed. Students in low-performing systems reported more positive experiences with learning at home (Table II.B1.2.45) – as did students in systems that were more socio-economically fair. More important, students' experience with learning at home was unrelated to performance trends (Table II.B1.2.46).

When interpreting the relationship between the index of students' experience with learning at home and both performance and well-being, it is important to keep in mind that the index comprises a variety of experiences with learning at home, and their relationship with students' performance within countries/economies varies substantially. However, their association with students' confidence in self-directed learning point in a similar direction overall (see below and Tables II.B1.2.26 and II.B1.2.29).

### Figure II.2.11. Teacher support and students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning

Based on students' reports of their experience during COVID-19 school closures



Note: Positive values on the vertical axis mean students are more confident in their capacity for self-directed learning. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2.

### Students whose teachers were available for help when schools were closed scored higher in mathematics and were more confident in their capacity for self-directed learning

As in the system-level findings, students' experiences were related to their confidence in their capacity for selfdirected learning, before and after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, and performance in mathematics (Figure II.2.12, Tables II.B1.2.26, II.B1.2.27 and II.B1.2.28). On average across OECD countries, students with more positive experiences – for example, students who agreed or strongly agreed that they feel wellprepared to learn on their own or that their teachers were available when they needed help – felt more confident about learning independently if their school has to close again in the future. Experiences more closely related to learning remotely (e.g. students' and teachers' preparedness and teachers' availability) were strongly related to students' confidence, whereas more general experiences were weakly or even negatively related (e.g. feeling lonely or anxious about schoolwork, missing sports and physical activities organised by schools).

### Figure II.2.12. Remote learning, mathematics performance and confidence in self-directed learning

Change in the index of confidence in students' capacity for self-directed learning/in mathematics performance, when students agreed or disagreed with the following statements about the time when their school building was closed because of COVID-19; OECD average



Notes: Changes in the index of confidence in students' capacity for self-directed learning are all statistically significant (see Annex A3).

Score-point differences in mathematics that are statistically significant are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3).

The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

Items are ranked in descending order of the change in the index of students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, and mathematics performance.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2.

In line with the system-level results, findings for the relationship between students' experiences on the one hand, and performance in mathematics, on the other, were mixed (Table II.B1.2.26). Teachers' availability when students needed help had the strongest relationship to both average mathematics performance and students' confidence in self-directed learning, on average across OECD systems. Students who agreed or strongly agreed that their teacher was available scored 15 points higher in mathematics and were more confident than their peers that they can learn autonomously and remotely.

### Components of resilience: Removing obstacles to remote learning

Some students, often those who were already having difficulties in face-to-face learning settings, such as socioeconomically disadvantaged or low-achieving students, struggled even more during COVID-19-related school closures. Low-achieving students, for example, found it hard to motivate themselves to learn remotely (Berger et al., 2021<sub>[26]</sub>; Mælan et al., 2021<sub>[27]</sub>). Disadvantaged students tend to have limited access to digital devices and the Internet at home, and their families might not be able to provide the same kinds of support that more advantaged families can offer (Irwin, 2021<sub>[28]</sub>; Shi et al., 2022<sub>[29]</sub>). Removing obstacles to remote learning is essential for ensuring that students can continue to learn and remain connected to schools throughout the distance-learning period.

### Remote learning left many students struggling to understand assignments and motivate themselves

PISA 2022 results show that most students across OECD countries reported that they rarely had problems learning remotely and independently during the time when their school building was closed because of COVID-19; however many students struggled with motivating themselves to do schoolwork or with understanding school assignments (Figure II.2.13 and Table II.B1.2.30). At least three out of four students reported that they never or only a few times had problems with access to a digital device when they needed it, with Internet access, with finding a quiet place to study, with time to study because of household responsibilities or with finding someone who could help them with schoolwork. In contrast, almost one in two students indicated that they had problems at least once a week with understanding school assignments. Students across education systems were not troubled by these problems to the same extent. For instance, in Australia\* and the United Kingdom\* six out of ten students reported having frequent problems to motivate themselves to do schoolwork – more than double the share of students in Guatemala, Iceland, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Korea, Moldova and Chinese Taipei who so reported.

### Figure II.2.13. Problems with remote learning

Percentage of students who reported that when their school building was closed because of COVID-19 they had the following problems when completing their school work once a week or every day or almost every day; OECD average



Items are ranked in ascending order of the percentage of students at the OECD average. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2.

There were also large disparities between students of different socio-economic status within countries. Across OECD countries and in over half of all countries/economies, more disadvantaged students than advantaged students reported that they had frequent problems with remote learning; but in over a third of all countries/economies there was no significant difference between these two groups of students (Table II.B1.2.31). Interestingly, in Cambodia and Korea advantaged students were more likely than disadvantaged students to report frequent problems with remote learning.

### In resilient education systems, students encountered fewer problems during remote learning

Education systems in which students encountered fewer problems during remote learning also saw improvements in their students' sense of belonging at school pre- to post-COVID (Table II.B1.2.46). This could be a sign that removing obstacles to remote learning helps keep students engaged with school. These systems also tended to be high performers in 2022 (Table II.B1.2.45).

Systems where students faced fewer problems during remote learning showed more positive trends in mathematics performance from pre- to post-COVID for advantaged students (Figure II.2.14). At the same time, problems with remote learning were unrelated to disadvantaged students' performance. Students in Japan, Korea and Chinese Taipei, where average performance in mathematics between 2018 and 2022 improved or remained stable, including those of advantaged and disadvantaged students, reported fewer problems with remote learning than did students across OECD countries. In these systems over 88% of students – 6 percentage points or higher than the OECD average – reported that they rarely had problems finding time to study because they had household responsibilities. Education systems in which fewer students reported problems with remote learning also had more positive 2018-2022 performance trends (Table II.B1.2.48), when analysed in relation to longer-term trends (i.e. "adjusted short-term trends"), even though no significant relationship was observed to the 2018-2022 performance trends, when longer-term trends were not considered (i.e. "unadjusted short-term trends", see Box II.2.1 for an explanation).

### Figure II.2.14. Problems with remote learning and mathematics performance, by students' socio-economic status

#### Change between 2018 and 2022



Notes: Statistically significant changes in mathematics performance between 2018 and 2022 are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3).

Positive values in the index of problems with remote learning indicate that the student encountered more problems during remote learning. Negative values indicate that the student encountered fewer problems.

A socio-economically disadvantaged (advantaged) student is a student in the bottom (top) quarter of the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS) in his or her own country/economy.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1,

### Students who faced fewer problems with remote learning felt more connected to their school and performed better

Students in education systems with fewer problems with remote learning reported a stronger sense of belonging at school (Table II.B1.2.45). Similar results were observed within countries/economies. On average across OECD countries, PISA 2022 found that students who had fewer problems with remote learning had a stronger sense of

belonging at school, before and after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile and performance in mathematics (Table II.B1.2.35). More socio-emotional aspects, such as problems finding someone who could help with their schoolwork or motivating themselves to do schoolwork, were more strongly related to students' sense of belonging than to more logistical aspects, such as problems with Internet access or with access to a digital device when they needed it (Figure II.2.15).

### Figure II.2.15. Problems with remote learning, and sense of belonging and mathematics performance

Change in the index of students' sense of belonging at school/in mathematics performance, when students faced the following problems only a few times or never when their school building was closed because of COVID-19; OECD average



Notes: Changes in the index of students' sense of belonging at school and score-point differences in mathematics are all statistically significant (see Annex A3). The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

Items are ranked in descending order of the change in the index of students' sense of belonging at school, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, and mathematics performance.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2.

On average across OECD countries, high-performing students reported fewer problems with remote learning, such as problems with Internet access and problems with finding a quiet place to study (Figure II.2.15 and Tables II.B1.2.32, II.B1.2.33 and II.B1.2.34). Students with fewer problems scored eight points higher in mathematics than did students with more problems. The problems most closely related to performance were more logistical in nature: access to school supplies, finding time to study because of household responsibilities or access to a digital device when they needed it. The only aspect negatively related to mathematics performance was motivation: students who rarely had problems motivating themselves to do schoolwork scored lower in mathematics. A possible explanation is that those students are generally less motivated to engage in school so that the shift to distance learning was not seen as particularly problematic.

### Components of resilience: Providing support to maintain students' learning and wellbeing

Many countries were obliged to learn "on the job", as the pandemic was progressing, how best to educate their students while safeguarding their students' health and psychological well-being. Inevitably, approaches to assisting

# schools and students in managing the pandemic and distance learning varied widely across countries and, within countries, across individual schools (Lab, 2021[9]; OECD, 2021[1]; OECD, 2021[2]; Schleicher, 2020[10]; UNESCO Institute for Statistics UNICEF The World Bank OECD, 2022[3]).

### When their schools were closed, education staff focused more on curriculum goals than on students' well-being

PISA 2022 results for OECD countries show that the most common daily school actions and activities to support students ensured that curriculum goals are met, while actions to promote students' well-being and self-directed learning skills were less common. On average, schools supported most students daily through live virtual classes on a video communication program (51% of students attended such schools), uploads of material on a learning-management system or school learning platform (46%), by sending assignments (45%) or asking for a submission of completed school assignments (40%; Figure II.2.16 and Table II.B1.2.36).

### Figure II.2.16. School actions and activities to maintain learning and well-being

Percentage of students who reported that someone from their school did the following daily when their school building was closed because of COVID-19; OECD average



#### 

Items are ranked in ascending order of the percentage of students at the OECD average. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2.

Other forms of daily support were less common, such as sending learning materials to students to study independently (33% of students attended such schools), checking in with students to ensure that they were completing their assignments (24%) or giving helpful tips about how to study independently (17%). Only around one in ten students (13%) was asked daily, by someone from the school, how they were feeling. Schools across education systems varied substantially in their daily support. For instance, in Hong Kong (China)\*, Macao (China), the Netherlands\* and Sweden schools checked in with less than 7% of students to ask them how they were feeling, while schools in Albania and Uzbekistan did so for around 40% of students.

Not only did schools in different countries/economies vary in how they supported students in their learning and wellbeing during school closures, but schools within the same countries/economies varied as well (Table II.B1.2.37). On

### 84 |

average across OECD countries and in all countries/economies except for Paraguay and Ukrainian regions (18 of 27), disadvantaged students were less likely than their advantaged peers to report that their school undertook actions and activities to maintain learning and well-being during the COVID-19 school closures. The widest socio-economic gaps were observed in Baku (Azerbaijan), Brunei Darussalam, Korea, Malaysia, Mongolia, Morocco and Qatar.

Moreover, girls reported more school actions and activities during the COVID-19 school closures than boys did, on average across OECD countries and in all participating countries/economies (Table II.B1.2.37). The only exceptions were Albania, Baku (Azerbaijan), the Czech Republic, Korea, Malta, Panama\*, Peru, the United Kingdom\* and Viet Nam, where no significant gender disparities were observed. On average across OECD countries, students in upper secondary education (ISCED-3) and those without an immigrant background reported more school activities and actions than students in lower secondary education (ISCED-2) and students with an immigrant background. Overall, findings were more mixed, with many education systems not showing any differences, while in Kazakhstan and Chinese Taipei students in lower secondary education reported more school activities to maintain learning than did students in upper secondary school. In addition, in Australia\*, Brunei Darussalam, Canada\*, Estonia, Macao (China), New Zealand\*, Qatar and the United Arab Emirates students with an immigrant background were more likely than those without an immigrant background to report that schools took actions to maintain their learning during the COVID-19 school closures.

### Students were more confident in their capacity for self-directed learning in those systems that provided more support during school closures

Students in education systems whose schools provided more actions and activities to maintain learning and wellbeing during school closures were more confident in their ability to learn autonomously and remotely if their school has to close again in the future (Figure II.2.17). In Finland, for example, students' confidence in their capacity for selfdirected learning and reading performance was above the OECD average as well as the support actions and activities by schools that students reported for the time learning happened remotely. Over 30% of students in Finland reported that someone from their school daily or almost daily gave them helpful tips about how to study on their own during the COVID-19 school closures, which is almost double the share as on average across OECD countries.



### Figure II.2.17. Actions to maintain students' learning and well-being, and students' confidence in selfdirected learning

Notes: Positive values on the vertical axis mean students are more confident in their capacity for self-directed learning. Positive values on the horizontal axis mean schools provided more actions and activities to maintain learning. Only countries and economies that show positive values on both indices are shown in the figure. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2.

### Schools' actions to support students during closures were related to better performance and well-being

On average across OECD countries, students who reported that schools did more to maintain students' learning and well-being during school closures scored 6 to 9 points higher in mathematics, science and reading, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile (Tables II.B1.2.38, II.B1.2.39 and II.B1.2.40). In Brunei Darussalam and Thailand the difference in mathematics performance was as large as 15 score points.

Students who reported more support from schools during school closures also reported greater well-being than students who reported less support from their schools, on average across OECD countries and after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, and students' performance in mathematics. More specifically, students who received greater support were more satisfied with life, felt more strongly that they belong at school and felt more

confident about their capacity for self-directed learning (Table II.B1.2.41). They also reported less anxiety towards mathematics.

There were large differences in type of support received. On average across OECD countries, students who received daily live virtual classes scored higher in mathematics and reported a greater sense of belonging (Tables II.B1.2.38 and II.B1.2.42). However, students who were daily asked how they were feeling or provided with helpful tips about how to study on their own by someone from their school scored lower in mathematics. These findings may indicate that schools targeted extra support from school staff to low-performing students or that low-performing students requested more support from school staff. After accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, and mathematics performance, this kind of support was among the most strongly and positively related to students' well-being, including sense of belonging and life satisfaction.

On average across OECD countries in 2022, and among all groups of students, the relationship between school actions and activities to maintain learning and students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning was positive, while the association between school actions and students' anxiety towards mathematics was negative. However, there were significant, though small, differences between particular groups of students (Figure II.2.18). For instance, the relationships were somewhat stronger among boys than among girls. When considering self-directed learning, the gender gap, in favour of boys, was particularly large in Baku (Azerbaijan) and Malta; when considering mathematics anxiety, the difference, in favour of boys' attitudes towards mathematics (i.e. boys reported much less anxiety towards mathematics if their school undertook more of these actions), was largest in the Dominican Republic and Hong Kong (China) (Tables II.B1.2.43 and II.B1.2.44).

## Figure II.2.18. School actions to maintain learning and well-being, and selected student outcomes, by student characteristics

Change in the index of students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning/index of mathematics anxiety, associated with a one-unit increase in the index of school actions and activities to maintain learning and well-being; OECD average



Notes: All values are statistically significant (see Annex A3).

Only differences between boys and girls and advantaged and disadvantaged students that are statistically significant are shown in the figure.

A socio-economically disadvantaged (advantaged) student is a student in the bottom (top) quarter of the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS) in his or her own country/economy.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 2.

On average across OECD countries, the relationship between schools' actions to maintain learning and mathematics anxiety was considerably stronger among socio-economically advantaged students than among disadvantaged students (Figure II.2.18 and Table II.B1.2.44). The difference in the strength of the relationship with mathematics anxiety, in favour of advantaged students (i.e. advantaged students reported much less anxiety towards mathematics if their school undertook more of these actions), was particularly large in Hungary, Jamaica\* and the Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) even though the relationship was not observed in the majority of education systems. Across OECD countries, the relationships with students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning and with mathematics anxiety were similar in magnitude between immigrant and non-immigrant students and between those in upper and lower secondary schools.

### Components of resilience: Designing and implementing emergency policies

In times of crisis, countries and schools benefit from prior investments made in improving school policies and practices, and creating a nurturing, safe environment for students (see Chapters 3 to 6). Nonetheless, specific emergency measures are sometimes needed to weather sudden disruptions.

### Some countries used the disruption caused by the pandemic as an opportunity to change policies about digitalisation in education

Table II.2.1 shows the percentage of PISA 2022-participating countries/economies with available system-level data on education responses to the COVID-19 school closures2 (See Annex B3 for more information). About half of OECD countries (52%) reported that they continued standardised testing in the 2020/21 academic year; most OECD countries (84%) reported that they continued standardised testing in 2021/22. Among the countries that implemented standardised testing, the vast majority assessed mathematics (95%) and reading (95%) but only two-thirds assessed science (65%). This trend is consistent across all PISA 2022-participating countries/economies with available system-level data (89% assessed mathematics, 91% assessed reading, and 65% assessed science).

Most countries/economies also reported undertaking studies about the impact of COVID-19 on the mental health and well-being of students (85% of OECD countries; 63% of all countries/economies) (Table II.2.1). However, only 46% of OECD countries and 34% of all countries/economies reported studying the impact of COVID-19 on non-cognitive skills. Given the inter-related development of cognitive and non-cognitive skills (OECD, 2021<sub>[30]</sub>), countries/economies that examined both cognitive and non-cognitive skills may have a more comprehensive understanding of the impact of COVID-19 on students' learning outcomes. These countries include Colombia, France, Korea, Latvia\*, the Netherlands\*, Norway, Portugal and Slovenia. See Annex B3 (Table B3.3.3.) for more information.

The three learning-recovery policies that a large number of countries/economies implemented during the 2020/21 school year were (Table II.2.1): providing psychological and mental health support to students (73% of OECD countries; 68% of all countries/economies), offering structured pedagogy (63% of OECD countries; 71% of all countries/economies) and providing teacher training in how to support students' mental health and well-being (61% of OECD countries; 65% of all countries/economies). The results remained consistent during the 2021/22 school year with one exception: early warning systems to identify students at risk of dropping out replaced teacher training in how to support students' mental health as one of the top three policies implemented across all countries/economies. A relatively small percentage of countries: 22%/39% for the school year 2020/21 or 2021 and 10%/30% for the school year 2021/22 or 2022). The biggest difference in learning-recovery policies observed between OECD countries and all countries/economies is adjusting the curriculum (17% of OECD countries; 43% of all countries/economies).

Various countries/economies around the globe used the COVID-19 disruption as an opportunity to change policies concerning digitalisation in education (Table II.2.1). OECD countries that reported that they changed (or plan to

change) digitalisation policies are Austria, the French Community of Belgium3, Costa Rica, Denmark\*, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Lithuania, Poland, Portugal, the Slovak Republic, Wales (the United Kingdom\*) and the United States\*. Yet most countries/economies reported that they have not changed the regulatory framework governing digital education and that there are no plans to do so (57% of OECD countries; 30% of all countries/economies). Similar results were also reported for the institutional framework governing digital education (57% of OECD countries; 34% of all countries/economies). See Annex B3 (Table B3.3.2) for more information.

### Table II.2.1. How education systems supported students and schools during the pandemic

#### Based on system-level information

		OECD	countries	All countrie	s and economies
		Yes, at the national/ central level.	Schools/ districts/the most local level of governance could decide at their own discretion.	Yes, at the national/ central level.	Schools/ districts/the most local level of governance could decide at their own discretion.
		%	%	%	%
Tracking students' absence during the pandemic (2019/20, 2020/21, and 2021/22)	Has your education system collected statistics on <u>student absence</u> over the three school years covered by the pandemic?	50	23	57	25
Assessment of impact of	Did standardised testing programmes continue to take place in 2020-21 / 2021-22?	52 / 84	4 / 0	60 / 84	7 / 4
COVID-19 crisis on education (2020/21 and 2021/22)	Have there been studies about the impact of school closures on learning outcomes (standardised <u>national</u> assessment)?	52	0	46	5
	Have there been studies about the impact of school closures on learning outcomes (standardised <u>subnational</u> assessment)?	13	8	20	7
	Have there been studies about the impact of COVID on mental health and well-being of students (levels of stress, anxiety and depression)?	85	0	63	5
	Have there been studies about the impact of COVID on non-cognitive skills?	46	4	34	7
	Has mathematics been assessed in a standardised way?	95	0	89	4
	Has reading been assessed in a standardised way?	95	0	91	4
	Have sciences been assessed in a standardised way?	65	0	65	6
Changes in education policies/	Early Warning Systems to identify students at risk of dropping out	41 / 47	18 / 21	58 / 64	17 / 19
regulations to mitigate the impact of learning loss/ disruption and student well-being (school year 2020/21 or 2021/ school year 2021/22 or 2022)	Adjustments to the curriculum in any subject or grade	33 / 17	23 / 21	52 / 43	16 / 15
	Increased <u>instruction time</u> (e.g. through summer schools, extended school day, school week or academic year)	43 / 25	20 / 13	41 / 31	18 / 15
	Individualised self-learning programmes (computer-assisted or pencil-and-paper based)	22 / 10	33 / 33	39 / 30	26 / 26
	Accelerated education programmes (covering instructional content in a shorter timeframe) or catch-up programmes for students who dropped out of school	46 / 19	15 / 19	50 / 36	18 / 19
	Psychosocial and mental health support to students (e.g. counselling)	73 / 59	23 / 23	68 / 63	24 / 23
	Additional <u>school nutrition services</u> (e.g. school feeding programmes, free or discount on school meals) strengthened/provided	26 / 30	13 / 15	43 / 42	16 / 19
	<u>Structured pedagogy</u> (e.g. programmes to improve instruction with teachers' guides, lesson plans, student materials and teacher training)	63 / 61	19 / 17	71 / 69	11 / 11
	Teacher training in how to support students' mental health and well-being		61 / 50 25 / 27		21 / 21
	Recruitment of specific personnel to support students' mental health and well-being (e.g. psychologists, counsellors)	41 / 26	34 / 39	41 / 42	31 / 30

Note: Only countries and economies with available data from the Survey on National Education Responses to COVID-19 School Closures are shown. The data in this table correspond to lower secondary education.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B3, Tables B3.3.1, B3.3.3, and B3.3.4.

Figure II.2.1	How learning continued when schools were closed as covered in PISA 2022
Figure II.2.2	COVID-19 school closures and mathematics performance
Figure II.2.3	COVID-19 school closures and change between 2018 and 2022 in sense of belonging
Figure II.2.4	Change between 2018 and 2022 in expectation of a career in health and ICT
Figure II.2.5	Students' confidence in self-directed learning
Figure II.2.6	Social and emotional skills, and mathematics performance
Figure II.2.7	Persistence, curiosity and learning resources during COVID-19 school closures
Figure II.2.8	Reading performance and students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning
Figure II.2.9	Perceived preparedness for remote instruction, by actions taken
Figure II.2.10	Teacher support and students' loneliness
Figure II.2.11	Teacher support and students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning
Figure II.2.12	Remote learning, mathematics performance and confidence in self-directed learning
Figure II.2.13	Problems with remote learning
Figure II.2.14	Problems with remote learning and mathematics performance, by students' socio-economic status
Figure II.2.15	Problems with remote learning, and sense of belonging and mathematics performance
Figure II.2.16	School actions and activities to maintain learning and well-being
Figure II.2.17	Actions to maintain students' learning and well-being, and students' confidence in self-directed learning
Figure II.2.18	School actions to maintain learning and well-being, and selected student outcomes, by student characteristics
Table II.2.1	How education systems supported students and schools during the pandemic

### Table II.2.2. How learning continued when schools were closed figures and tables

StatLink https://stat.link/5nrsfl

### Notes

<sup>1</sup> In this chapter "school closure" refers to the period that school buildings were closed to students.

<sup>2</sup> This information is from the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), the World Bank, and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Survey on National Education Responses to COVID-19 School Closures. The mission of this survey was to collect information on national education responses to school closures related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

<sup>3</sup> Data for the Flemish Community of Belgium were not available in the Survey on National Education Responses to COVID-19 School Closures.

### References

- Berger, F. et al. (2021), "Predicting Coping With Self-Regulated Distance Learning in Times of COVID-19: [26] Evidence From a Longitudinal Study", *Frontiers in Psychology*, Vol. 12, https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2021.701255.
- Boyer, S. et al. (2013), "Self-Directed Learning", *Journal of Marketing Education*, Vol. 36/1, pp. 20-32, https://doi.org/10.1177/0273475313494010. [11]

Cazan, A. and B. Schiopca (2014), "Self-directed Learning, Personality Traits and Academic Achievement", *Procedia - Social and Behavioral Sciences*, Vol. 127, pp. 640-644, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2014.03.327.

Deng, W. et al. (2021), "Effects of regulatory focus on online learning engagement of high school students: The mediating role of self-efficacy and academic emotions", <i>Journal of Computer Assisted Learning</i> , Vol. 38/3, pp. 707-718, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12642</u> .	[22]
Hume, S., S. Brown and K. Mahtani (2023), "School closures during COVID-19: an overview of systematic reviews", <i>BMJ Evidence-Based Medicine</i> , Vol. 28/3, pp. 164-174, <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjebm-2022- 112085</u> .	[4]
Ineval Ecuador (2022), Socio-emotional effects of COVID-19 on the learning of students in the 4th year of Basic General Education (EGB).	[23]
Irwin, V. (2021), Students' Internet Access Before and During the Coronavirus Pandemic by Household Socioeconomic Status, <u>https://nces.ed.gov/blogs/nces/post/students-internet-access-before-and-during-the-coronavirus-pandemic-by-household-socioeconomic-status</u> .	[28]
Khodaei, S. et al. (2022), "The effect of the online flipped classroom on self-directed learning readiness and metacognitive awareness in nursing students during the COVID-19 pandemic", <i>BMC Nursing</i> , Vol. 21/1, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-022-00804-6">https://doi.org/10.1186/s12912-022-00804-6</a> .	[14]
Kim, R. et al. (2014), "Leveraging a personalized system to improve self-directed learning in online educational environments", <i>Computers &amp; Computers &amp; Comput</i>	[15]
Lab, S. (2021), <i>Global emergency remote education in secondary schools during the COVID-19 pandemic</i> , Center for Open Science, <u>https://doi.org/10.31219/osf.io/7k59g</u> .	[9]
Lee, K. et al. (2014), "Students' perceptions of self-directed learning and collaborative learning with and without technology", <i>Journal of Computer Assisted Learning</i> , Vol. 30/5, pp. 425-437, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12055</u> .	[16]
Lehmann, J., V. Lechner and H. Scheithauer (2022), "School Closures During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Psychosocial Outcomes in Children - a Systematic Review", <i>International Journal of Developmental Science</i> , Vol. 15/3-4, pp. 85-111, <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/dev-220322</u> .	[5]
Mælan, E. et al. (2021), "Norwegian students' experiences of homeschooling during the COVID-19 pandemic", <i>European Journal of Special Needs Education</i> , Publisher: Routledge _eprint: https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2021.1872843, pp. 5-19, https://doi.org/10.1080/08856257.2021.1872843.	[27]
McKellar, S. and M. Wang (2023), "Adolescents' daily sense of school connectedness and academic engagement: Intensive longitudinal mediation study of student differences by remote, hybrid, and in- person learning modality", <i>Learning and Instruction</i> , Vol. 83, p. 101659, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2022.101659</u> .	[24]
Morris, T. (2019), "Self-directed learning: A fundamental competence in a rapidly changing world", International Review of Education, Vol. 65/4, pp. 633-653, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11159-019-09793-2</u> .	[13]
OECD (2021), <i>Beyond Academic Learning: First Results from the Survey of Social and Emotional Skills</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/92a11084-en</u> .	[30]
OECD (2021), <i>Beyond Academic Learning: First Results from the Survey of Social and Emotional Skills</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/92a11084-en</u> .	[18]

| 91

- [1] OECD (2021), "The State of Global Education", in The State of Global Education: 18 Months into the Pandemic, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris, https://www.oecdilibrary.org/education/the-state-of-global-education 1a23bb23-en. [2] OECD (2021), "The State of School Education", in The State of School Education: One Year into the COVID Pandemic, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris, https://www.oecdilibrary.org/education/the-state-of-school-education 201dde84-en. [19] OECD (2020), Early Learning and Child Well-being: A Study of Five-year-Olds in England, Estonia, and the United States, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/3990407f-en. [21] OECD (forthcoming), PISA 2022 Results (Volume I): The state of learning and equity in education, PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris. [6] Raimil, L. et al. (2021), "Impact of lockdown and school closure on children's health and well-being during the first wave of COVID-19: a narrative review", BMJ Paediatrics Open, Vol. 5/1, p. e001043, https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjpo-2021-001043. [20] Roberts, B., A. Caspi and T. Moffitt (2003), "Work experiences and personality development in young adulthood.", Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, Vol. 84/3, pp. 582-593, https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.84.3.582. [7] Saulle, R. et al. (2022), "School closures and mental health, wellbeing and health behaviours among children and adolescents during the second COVID-19 wave: A systematic review of the literature", Epidemiologia E Prevenzione, Vol. 46/5-6, pp. 333-352. [10] Schleicher, A. (2020), "THE IMPACT OF COVID-19 ON EDUCATION INSIGHTS FROM EDUCATION AT A GLANCE 2020", https://www.oecd.org/education/the-impact-of-covid-19-on-education-insightseducation-at-a-glance-2020.pdf. [29] Shi, Y. et al. (2022), "Exploring equity in educational policies and interventions in primary and secondary education in the context of public health emergencies: A systematic literature review", International Journal of Educational Research, Vol. 111, p. 101911, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2021.101911. [17] Tran, T. et al. (2020), "Toward Sustainable Learning during School Suspension: Socioeconomic, Occupational Aspirations, and Learning Behavior of Vietnamese Students during COVID-19". Sustainability, Vol. 12/10, p. 4195, https://doi.org/10.3390/su12104195. [3] UNESCO Institute for Statistics UNICEF The World Bank OECD (2022), "From Learning Recovery to Education Transformation", in From Learning Recovery to Education Transformation: Insights and Reflections from the 4th Survey of National Education Responses to COVID-19 School Closures, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris, https://www.oecdilibrary.org/education/from-learning-recovery-to-education-transformation a79f55ac-en. [8] Viner, R. et al. (2022), "School Closures During Social Lockdown and Mental Health, Health Behaviors, and Well-being Among Children and Adolescents During the First COVID-19 Wave", JAMA Pediatrics, Vol. 176/4, p. 400, https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2021.5840. [25]
- Walters, T. et al. (2021), "Secondary school students' perception of the online teaching experience during COVID-19: The impact on mental wellbeing and specific learning difficulties", *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, Vol. 92/3, pp. 843-860, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12475</u>.

Woo, S. et al. (2013), "Openness to Experience: Its Lower Level Structure, Measurement, and Cross-Cultural Equivalence", *Journal of Personality Assessment*, Vol. 96/1, pp. 29-45, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00223891.2013.806328</u>. This chapter examines students' experiences and behaviour at school, and how these changed during and after the pandemic. It also explores whether schools provide a climate that nurtures learning and well-being, and whether they involve parents in their children's education. The chapter also provides data and analyses on violence and bullying at school, and on pre- to post-COVID shifts in the incidence of bullying.

For Australia\*, Canada\*, Denmark\*, Hong Kong (China)\*, Ireland\*, Jamaica\*, Latvia\*, the Netherlands\*, New Zealand\*, Panama\*, the United Kingdom\* and the United States\*, caution is advised when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Schools' contribution to the overall success and resilience of education systems largely depends on their capacity to create and maintain a learning environment that nurtures students' learning and well-being, even in challenging times. PISA 2022 data show that teacher support and parental involvement in student learning decreased in many countries and so did bullying at school. At the same time, results suggest that strengthening support from teachers and parents is vital for improving performance and equity – even during times of disruption – across education systems. Students in resilient education systems also reported feeling safer at school and were less likely to skip school or arrive late for school.<sup>1</sup>

### What the data tell us

- Teacher support, parental involvement in student learning as well as student truancy decreased in many countries and so did bullying at school. At the same time, results suggest that strengthening support from teachers and parents as well as regular attendance of students and school safety are vital for education systems' resilience.
- Some 30% of students, on average across OECD countries, reported that, in most or every mathematics lesson, they get distracted using digital devices; 25% of students reported that they get distracted by other students using these devices in class.
- Around 10% of students reported feeling unsafe on their way to or from school, or in places outside of the classroom, on average across OECD countries. Some 20% of students reported that they are bullied at least a few times a month and reported observing vandalism and threats from fellow students at school or fights on school property in which someone got hurt. Around 10% of students saw gangs in school or saw a student carrying a gun or knife at school.
- In one in five education systems, more than 50% of students had skipped a class or a day of school in the two weeks prior to the PISA test; in Baku (Azerbaijan), the Dominican Republic, Italy, Kosovo, Paraguay, Romania, Saudi Arabia and Türkiye more than 60% of students had done so.

As displayed in Figure II.3.1, this chapter discusses these and other components of resilience, i.e. characteristics of the climate in schools that were associated with education systems' resilience in PISA 2022 (see Chapter 1). The components pertain to four different areas (Cohen et al., 2009<sup>[1]</sup>; Wang and Degol, 2016<sup>[2]</sup>; Thapa et al., 2013<sup>[3]</sup>):

- **Support and discipline in lessons** whether students feel supported in their learning and whether the disciplinary climate in class allows for students to concentrate on learning. Since the core subject of PISA 2022 was mathematics, the chapter examines support and discipline in mathematics lessons.
- Creating a safe environment for learning on line and off line whether schools create a safe space where students are protected from physical and emotional harm, such as violence or bullying on line or off line.
- **Students' regular school attendance and punctuality** whether students attend school regularly and arrive punctually instead of skipping school or arriving late.
- **Teaming up with parents** whether schools work with parents and families to assist students in their education and development.

Annex A1 provides details about how the indicators examined in this chapter were constructed.

### Figure II.3.1. School life as covered in PISA 2022



### Components of resilience: Providing support and discipline in mathematics lessons

Across all education systems in 2022, students in high-performing systems reported a better disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons (Table II.B1.3.76). Moreover, students in all systems that were resilient in mathematics performance, except Australia<sup>\*</sup>, reported a disciplinary climate better than the OECD average (Figure II.1.1 and Tables II.1.1 and II.B1.3.9). Fewer disruptions in class give teachers more time to cover the curriculum and use diverse teaching strategies, and students' can concentrate better on their tasks (Mostafa, Echazarra and Guillou,  $2018_{[4]}$ ).<sup>2</sup>

Students in all systems that were resilient in mathematics performance, except for students in Lithuania and Switzerland, reported teacher support in mathematics lessons that was above the OECD average; however, students in systems where students scored higher and reported a greater sense of belonging at school reported less teacher support (Table II.B1.3.76).<sup>3</sup> More important, education systems that saw no deterioration between 2012 and 2022 in teacher support (no decrease in the percentage of teachers giving extra help when students need it) showed stable or improving mathematics performance (Figure II.3.2 and Table II.B1.3.77). Peru, for example, showed an increase in teacher support of nine percentage points and a 23 score-point improvement in mathematics performance. While many resilient systems did not show a positive trend in teacher support, these data reflect a decade-long evolution in which teacher support remained stable or declined in most countries over this period (see below). No data on teacher support in mathematics were available for the pre- to post-COVID period.<sup>4</sup>

### Figure II.3.2. Change between 2012 and 2022 in teachers giving extra help and mathematics performance

 $\blacklozenge$  Change is statistically significant for mathematics performance and the percentage of students

 $\diamondsuit$  Change is only statistically significant for mathematics performance

 $\diamond$  Change is only statistically significant for the percentage of students



Note: The vertical axis shows the change between 2012 and 2022 in the percentage of students who reported that in most lessons or every lessons their teachers gave them extra help when they needed it.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3; and Volume I, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

#### Students with supportive teachers performed better and suffered less from anxiety

In most education systems, students who reported more support from teachers and a better disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons scored higher in mathematics and reported greater well-being (Tables II.B1.3.5, II.B1.3.7, II.B1.3.13, II.B1.3.15). The latter includes students' sense of belonging at school, overall satisfaction with life, confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning and less mathematics anxiety. The association with mathematics performance was particularly strong in Australia\*, Cambodia, Denmark\*, Finland, Hong Kong (China)\*, Iceland, Korea, Malta, Norway, the Philippines and the United Arab Emirates (see Figure II.3.3) where a one-unit increase in the index of teacher support was associated with an improvement in mathematics performance of ten score points or more (on average across OECD countries, the improvement amounted to five score points). Differences in the strength of the association could reflect differences in the degree of support provided by teachers.

### Figure II.3.3. Teacher support, and anxiety towards and performance in mathematics

Less	More		Lower	Higher	_
		Australia*			
		Iceland			
		Malta			
		Cambodia			
		Norway			
		United Arab Emirates			
		Denmark*			
		Korea			
		Philippines			
		Finland			
		Sweden			
		Netherlands*			
p		New Zealand*			
		Qatar			
		United Kingdom*			
		Hungary			
		Malaysia			
		Albania			
		Uzbekistan			
		Estonia			
		Brunei Darussalam			
		Latvia*			
		United States*			
		Jamaica*			
		Singapore			
		OECD average			
		Lithuania			
		Jordan			
		Slovenia			
		Georgia			
		Ireland*			
		France			
		Chile			
		Kazakhstan			
		Thailand			
		Switzerland			
		Portugal			
		Germany			
		Saudi Arabia			
		Czech Republic			
		Japan			
		Bulgaria			
		Moldova			
		Spain			
		Brazil			
		Belgium			
		Croatia			



Notes: Statistically significant values are shown in darker tones (see Annex A3).

The results are based on linear regression analysis, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

Countries and economies are ranked in ascending order of the change in mathematics performance associated with a one-unit increase in the index of teacher support. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

Figure II.3.3 also shows that in most school systems, students who scored higher in mathematics reported less anxiety towards mathematics when they perceived their teachers to be more supportive, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile (Table II.B1.3.8). The countries with the strongest negative associations (i.e. the more teacher support, the less anxiety towards mathematics) were Croatia, the Czech Republic, Denmark\*, Estonia, Hungary and Norway, while the only country with a positive association (i.e. the more teacher support, the more anxiety) was the Dominican Republic.

### 100 |

### Many students did not receive the support needed to succeed in school

PISA 2022 results suggest that further efforts are needed to ensure that students receive necessary and relevant support from teachers. In half of all countries/economies and on average across OECD countries, teacher support deteriorated from 2012 to 2022 (Table II.B1.3.4)<sup>5</sup>. For instance, the share of students who reported that the teacher gives extra help when students need it in most or every lesson decreased by three percentage points. In 2022, around 30% of students, on average across OECD countries, said that the teacher only in some lessons, or never or almost never, gives extra help when students need it and helps students with their learning (Table II.B1.3.1). Almost 40% of students reported that, in most lessons, the teacher does not show an interest in every student's learning or does not continue teaching until students understand. In the Czech Republic, Greece and Poland, close to or over 50% of students reported such a lack of teacher support.

Nevertheless, in a few countries/economies, the share of teachers who support their students grew between 2018 and 2022. In Croatia, Italy, Japan and Peru, for example, the share of students who reported that the teacher gives extra help in most or every lesson when students need it grew by over eight percentage points (Table II.B1.3.4). In Guatemala, Paraguay and Singapore over 75% of students in 2022 reported that, in most or every lesson, the teacher gives help when needed and continues until students understand.

### One in three students become distracted when using digital devices in class

PISA 2022 data show that many students study mathematics in a disciplinary climate that is not favourable to learning even though, on average across OECD countries and in around a third of all education systems, the disciplinary climate improved between 2012 and 2022 (Table II.B1.3.12). However, over 20% of students across OECD countries reported that they cannot work well in most or all lessons; and more than 40% of students in Bulgaria, Morocco and Türkiye reported so (Table II.B1.3.9). Moreover, in over 40% of countries/economies the share of students who reported that students cannot work well in some or every lesson increased during the period – and in Australia\*, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Macao (China) and the United Kingdom\* by over ten percentage points. At the same time, in Japan, Korea, Peru, the Slovak Republic, Thailand and Viet Nam the share of students who so reported decreased by the same amount.

Apart from "traditional" disciplinary problems, such as students not listening to what the teacher says, or trying to learn in a noisy and disorderly classroom, one in three students, on average across OECD countries, also reported that, in most or every mathematics lesson, they get distracted using digital devices (Figure II.3.4 and Table II.B1.3.9). Equally important, around one of four students indicated that, in most or every lesson, they get distracted by other students who are using digital devices, the teacher has to wait a long time for students to quiet down, and students do not start working for a long time after the lesson begins.

PISA 2022 results highlight the importance of finding effective ways to limit the distraction caused by using digital devices in class (see Box 5.1. in Chapter 5). The frequency with which students become distracted by other students who are using digital devices in class is among the disciplinary aspects that shows the strongest association with mathematics performance (Table II.B1.3.13). On average across OECD countries, students who reported that this happens in at least in some mathematics lessons scored 15 points lower in mathematics than students who reported that this never or almost never happens, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. A similar pattern is observed in 80% of systems with available data. However, this issue does not seem to be as consequential in some systems as it is in others. For example, only 4% of students in Japan and 9% in Korea reported that they become distracted by other students who are using digital devices in every or most mathematics lessons. In these two countries, the difference in mathematics performance related to this type of distraction amounts to 10 score points or less. While on average across OECD countries 25% of students reported that they become distracted in every or most mathematics lessons, less than 15% of students in Brunei Darussalam, Guatemala, Macao (China), Chinese Taipei and Viet Nam so reported (see Figure II.3.4 and Table II.B1.3.9).

### Figure II.3.4. Distraction from digital devices in mathematics lessons

#### Percentage of students who reported that the following happens in every or in most of their mathematics lessons



☐ Students get distracted by using digital devices ▲ Students get distracted by other students who are using digital devices

Countries and economies are ranked in ascending order of the percentage of students who reported that they get distracted by using digital devices. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

Finding effective ways to limit distractions is also important for student well-being (Tables II.B1.3.15). For example, in all countries/economies students who perceived the climate in their mathematics lessons to be less disruptive were less anxious towards mathematics (Table II.B1.3.16).

### Components of resilience: Creating a safe environment for learning on line and off line

PISA 2022 data show that students in high-performing systems and systems with a greater average sense of belonging at school reported feeling safer and less exposed to risks and bullying at their school (Table II.B1.3.76). Figure II.3.5 shows that the relationship between feeling safe at school and sense of belonging at school is particularly strong. The association between all indicators of school safety are stronger in OECD countries than across all countries/economies.6 This could be a sign that the type of risks and safety concerns beyond OECD countries/economies are much more heterogeneous in nature and magnitude. In addition, different cultural and social norms may affect how students in different countries perceive various types of violence and bullying, and whether such behaviour is more accepted socially.

### Figure II.3.5. Students' safety at school and sense of belonging



System-level analysis (68 countries and economies)

Note: Positive values in the index of school safety risks indicate that students perceive greater risks at their school. Positive values in the index of bullying indicate that students were exposed to more bullying at their school.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapters 1 and 3.

In most systems resilient in well-being (i.e. stable or increasing sense of belonging at school between 2018 and 2022 and above average sense of belonging in 2022) the reported incidence of bullying<sup>7</sup> was below the OECD average, as were reported risks at school (Figure II.1.1 and Tables II.B1.3.23 and II.B1.3.30). Students in most of these systems also reported feeling safer than on average across OECD countries. For example, in Austria, Finland and Switzerland the proportions of students who reported feeling safe at school and who reported a strong sense of belonging at school were well above the OECD average.

### Students who reported feeling safer at school performed better and enjoyed a greater sense of well-being

Feeling safe at school was positively related to a range of aspects of well-being, but particularly strongly to sense of belonging and life satisfaction, while negatively related to mathematics anxiety (Tables II.B1.3.22). Conversely, being exposed to bullying and safety risks at school is negatively related to all of these aspects, except for mathematics anxiety (Figure II.3.6 and Tables II.B1.3.28 and II.B1.3.36). On average across OECD countries, students who reported feeling safe and were not exposed to bullying or risks at school have a stronger sense of belonging at school, feel more confident about their capacity for self-directed learning and are overall more satisfied with life. They are also less anxious.

### Figure II.3.6. School safety risks and student well-being



Change in the following indices per one-unit increase in the index of school safety risks; OECD average

Notes: All values are statistically significant (see Annex A3).

Positive values in the index of school safety risks indicate that the student perceives greater risks at their school than the average student in OECD countries.

All linear regression models account for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, and mathematics performance.

The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

Items are ranked in descending order of the change in indices per one-unit increase in the index of school safety risks.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

### In unsafe schools, teachers provided less support and students felt less safe and connected

Violence at school may make students feel unsafe and make it hard for teachers to work well. Through its adverse effects on teachers and the overall school climate, violence may hinder students from creating strong bonds at and with school. PISA cannot test the causal nature of these relationships, but it can provide an indication of how plausible the hypothesis is. PISA 2022 found a negative association between school safety risks and students' feeling of safety at school, and teacher support at school (Table II.B1.3.29). Albeit relationships being low, they remained significant even after accounting for the socio-economic profile of students and schools. The findings shown in Figure II.3.7 reveal that, on average across OECD countries, the relationship between school safety risks and sense of belonging at school weakens by 36% after accounting for the index of feeling safe at school, and by 53% after also accounting for teacher support. Similar results are observed in many other countries/economies. These findings are in line with the notion that safety risks and sense of belonging at school are, to a great extent, indirectly related through their impact on students' feeling of safety and teachers' capacity to provide students with support.

### Figure II.3.7. Association between sense of belonging and selected aspects of school climate



OECD average

Notes: All values are statistically significant (see Annex A3).

Results based on linear regression analysis, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile.

The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

The three linear regression models use the same sample.

The percentage of the association between the index of school safety risks and the index of sense of belonging, after accounting for socio-economic profile, that is mediated by the indices of feeling safe at school and teacher support in mathematics lessons is shown above the blue bars.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

#### Many education systems and schools need to bolster efforts to improve student safety

Overall, students feel safe at school, particularly in their classrooms. However, PISA 2022 results suggest that education systems could consider improving safety on students' way to or from school, or in places outside of the classroom, such as hallways, cafeterias or restrooms. About 10% of students disagreed or strongly disagreed that they feel safe in these places, on average across OECD countries. In Jamaica\*, Moldova and Morocco around 25% of students reported feeling unsafe outside the classroom; in Baku (Azerbaijan), Jamaica\* and Moldova more than 15% of students felt unsafe even in their classroom. However, in many systems, including Belgium, Croatia, Ireland\*, Korea, the Netherlands\*, Portugal, Serbia, Singapore, Switzerland and Chinese Taipei, less than 5% of students felt unsafe in their classroom.

Feeling safe at school might also depend on whether students are confronted with risks at school, and PISA shows there are considerable differences across countries in this regard. Figure II.3.8 shows that, on average across OECD countries, the most common risks that students encounter at school are vandalism (20% of students so reported) and threats from fellow students (20%), followed by fights on school property in which someone got hurt (17%). Though less common, one out of ten students saw gangs in school (12%) or saw a student carrying a gun or knife at school (11%).

However, less than 5% of students in Guatemala, Kazakhstan and Korea reported that they have seen gangs in school, while 30% of students or more in Brunei Darussalam, Kosovo and Thailand reported so (Table II.B1.3.23).

### Figure II.3.8. School safety risks

Percentage of students who reported that the following happened at school during the four weeks prior to the PISA assessment; OECD average



Items are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students at the OECD average. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

PISA results also suggest that certain types of schools require stronger efforts to improve safety. Across OECD countries and in most education systems, students in socio-economically disadvantaged schools were more likely than students in advantaged schools to report feeling unsafe (Figure II.3.9 and Table II.B1.3.19). However, in a third of education systems, students in both types of schools felt equally safe; and in Mongolia and Paraguay more students who attended disadvantaged schools reported feeling safe at school than did their peers in advantaged schools.

### 106 |

### Figure II.3.9. Feeling safe, by school characteristics

#### Based on students' reports

Positive difference INegative difference IDifference is not significant IN Missing values

A Advantaged - Disadvantaged schools<sup>1</sup> B City - Rural schools C Private - Public schools D High concentration - low concentration<sup>2</sup>

Difference     Difference <thdifference< th="">    Difference    Differenc</thdifference<>		Index of feeling safe											I	ndex of fe	eling safe		
A   B   C   D   Reive OECD   Above OECD     Soltzeina   I <t< th=""><th></th><th></th><th>Differ</th><th>ence</th><th></th><th>Mear</th><th>index</th><th></th><th colspan="2"></th><th colspan="2">Difference</th><th></th><th colspan="2">Mean</th><th colspan="2">index</th></t<>			Differ	ence		Mear	index				Difference			Mean		index	
Avitzeland   Image   Bulgans   Image		Α	В	С	D	Below OECD	Abov	e OECD		A	В	С	Е	Below	OECD	Above	OECD
Ausia   Ausia   Costa Nica   <	Switzerland								Bulgaria								
Fridad Image	Austria								Costa Rica								
Norway   Image: Second Secon	Finland								Kazakhstan								
Estoria   Image: Imag	Norway								United States*								
Albania   Image in the second secon	Estonia								Jordan								
Shipporo   Anganina   Anganin   Anganin   Anganin   An	Albania								New Zealand*								
Montenego	Singapore								Argentina								
Create   Brunel Danussdam	Montenegro								Poland								
Lahtari   Monania	Croatia								Brunei Darussalam								
Portugal   Image: Section of the sect	Latvia*								Romania								
Korea   Morea   Morea <th< td=""><td>Portugal</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Uruguay</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>	Portugal								Uruguay								
Lithuania	Korea								Peru								
Carada*   Image: Carad	Lithuania								Colombia								
Qatar   Qatar <td< td=""><td>Canada*</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>Indonesia</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>	Canada*								Indonesia								
Unled Arab Emirates   Image: Sevelem	Qatar								Viet Nam								
Sweden     Sweden<	United Arab Emirates								Morocco								
Iceland	Sweden								Georgia								
Uzbekistan   Image: Constraint of the second seco	Iceland								Malaysia								
Panama*   Chile   <	Uzbekistan								Mexico								
Iteland*   Image: Slovenia   Image:	Panama*								Chile								
Slovenia   Image:	Ireland*								Philippines								
Guatemala   Image: Constraint of the sector of the secto	Slovenia						1		Brazil								
Netherlands*   Image: Serbia   Image: Serbia </td <td>Guatemala</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>)</td> <td></td> <td>Türkiye</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	Guatemala						)		Türkiye								
Serbia   Mongolia   M	Netherlands*						1		Thailand								
OECD average   Image: Saudi Arabia	Serbia						1		Mongolia								
Saudi Arabia   Image: SaudiArabia	OECD average						1		Cambodia								
Belgium³   Image: Sector of the sector of	Saudi Arabia						1		Jamaica*								
Italy   Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)   Ukrainin regio	Belgium <sup>3</sup>						(										
Hungary   Image: Constraint of the sector	Italy								Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)								
North Macedonia   Image: Second sec	Hungary					1			Kosovo								
Paraguay   Macao (China)	North Macedonia					1			Chinese Taipei								
El Salvador   Image: Salvador <thimage: salvador<="" th="">   Image: Salvador   Image</thimage:>	Paraguay								Macao (China)								
Mata Baku (Azerbaijan)   France Baku (Azerbaijan)   Dominican Republic Baku (Azerbaijan)   Australia* Baku (Azerbaijan)   Greece Baku (Azerbaijan)   United Kingdom* Baku (Azerbaijan)   Czech Republic Domonican Republic	El Salvador								Hong Kong (China)*								
France   Palestinian Authority   Palestinian Authority     Dominican Republic   Image: Constraint of the second	Malta								Baku (Azerbaijan)								
Dominican Republic   Image: Constraint of the second sec	France								Palestinian Authority								
Australia*   Australia*   Australia*   Australia*   Australia*   Australia*   Mean ind     Slovak Republic   Slovak Republic   Slovak Republic   Australia*   Austral	Dominican Republic								1				-1	.0 -0	.5 0.	0 0.	5 1
Slovak Republic   A   B   C   D     Greece   Image: Constraint of the state of the stat	Australia*								1								Mean ind
Greece <td>Slovak Republic</td> <td></td> <td>Δ</td> <td>B</td> <td><u> </u></td> <td>_D_</td>	Slovak Republic													Δ	B	<u> </u>	_D_
United Kingdom* Countries/economies with no difference 24 38 31 37   Czech Republic -0.5 0.0 0.5 1.0	Greece								Countries/economies with	a pos	itive o	liffere	ence	47	5	34	6
Czech Republic Countries/economies with a negative difference 2 18 1 17	United Kingdom*								Countries/econor	mies w	ith no	differ	ence	24	38	31	37
	Czech Republic								Countries/economies wit	h a neg	gative	differ	ence	2	18	1	17
						10 -05 0	1 0 r	) 5 1	1								

1. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS). A socio-economically disadvantaged (advantaged) school is a school in the bottom (top) quarter of the index of ESCS in the relevant country/economy.

2. A school with a low (high) concentration of immigrant students is a school where less than (at least) 10% of students have an immigrant background.

3. Questions about the type of school were not asked in the Flemish-speaking Community of Belgium. Data for Belgium represent only the French-speaking and German-speaking Communities.

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the index of feeling safe.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.
Across OECD countries, students attending urban and public schools, and schools with a high concentration of students with an immigrant background felt less safe than their peers who attended rural and private schools, and those with a low concentration of immigrant students. However, in over 60% of education systems students felt equally safe no matter if they attended private schools or schools with a low or high concentration of immigrant students.

Differences observed between types of schools may partly result from differences in the extent to which students from different groups feel safe at school (Table II.B1.3.18). For example, socio-economically disadvantaged students and those with an immigrant background reported feeling less safe than advantaged students and those without an immigrant background. Girls were more likely than boys to report feeling unsafe at school, on average across OECD countries and in all but one partner education system (United Arab Emirates). The gender gap was particularly wide in Belgium, the Czech Republic and France.

#### Bullying decreased, especially in resilient systems

Bullying occurs in all PISA-participating countries/economies; but results from PISA 2022 show a break in the previously observed trends of increasing bullying.<sup>8</sup> In 2022, the incidence of all types of bullying examined between 2018 and 2022 decreased by around two to three percentage points, on average across OECD countries (Table II.B1.3.33). However, there were large differences between countries/economies in bullying trends. For instance, the incidence of making fun of others decreased by ten percentage points between 2018 and 2022 in Baku (Azerbaijan), Brunei Darussalam and the Philippines, while it increased by two percentage points in France, Moldova and Türkiye.

Results across all countries/economies also show that the performance in mathematics of students, particularly disadvantaged students, in education systems where bullying decreased between 2018 and 2022 improved more than in other systems (Figure II.3.10 and Table II.B1.3.77). For example, in Brunei Darussalam, the Dominican Republic and Saudi Arabia the percentage of students who reported that other students made fun of them shrank by 5 to 12 percentage points while average mathematics scores in these systems improved by 12 to 16 points (Tables II.1 and II.B1.3.33). Disadvantaged students' performance improved even more – by 13 to 27 score points. However, none of these systems was classified as resilient in equity because none of them was either fair ("fair" meaning that all students, regardless of their background, can achieve at high levels) or high-performing in 2022 (Figure II.1.1 and Table II.1). In all countries/economies that were resilient in mathematics, except Korea, fewer students in 2022 than in 2018 reported that other students made fun of them (Figure II.1.1 and Table II.B1.3.33).

# Figure II.3.10. Change between 2018 and 2022 in students' exposure to bullying and mathematics performance



Change is statistically significant for mathematics performance and the percentage of students

Change is only statistically significant for mathematics performance



Fewer students were exposed to bullying in 2022 than in 2018

Note: The horizontal axis shows the change between 2018 and 2022 in the percentage of students who reported that at least a few times a month other students made fun of them

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3; and Volume I, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

# Bullying was still pervasive in 2022

Nonetheless, bullying at school remains pervasive. On average across OECD countries, 20% of students reported being bullied at least a few times a month (Table II.B1.3.30). In some systems more students were exposed to frequent bullying: in Brunei Darussalam, Jamaica\*, Jordan, Morocco, the Palestinian Authority, the Philippines, Qatar and the United Arab Emirates over 15% of students were frequently bullied, while in Italy, Japan, Kazakhstan, Korea, the Netherlands\*, Portugal and Chinese Taipei around 5% of students or less were frequently bullied (i.e. those in the top 10% of students across all countries/economies who reported that they are exposed to bullying; Table II.B1.3.30).

In all countries and economies verbal and relational bullying (e.g. making fun of other students, spreading nasty rumours) occurred more frequently than physical bullying (e.g. hitting or pushing other students around, taking away or destroying things that belong to other students; Table II.B1.3.30). However, there were large differences across countries/economies. For example, in Jamaica\* and the Philippines over 10% of students reported that they were threatened by other students at least a few times a month, which is in stark contrast to results in Japan, Korea and Chinese Taipei where only 1% of students reported so. Students are exposed to bullying and threats also on line, despite recent efforts in many countries to keep students safe in digital environments (see Box II.3.1).

#### Box II.3.1. Policies and programmes to support student safety in the digital environment

Countries implement different policies or programmes to support student safety in the digital environment, including: providing information or implementing awareness-raising activities on digital safety, implementing safe log-in and single sign-in programmes in schools (as is the case in many countries, including Greece, Norway and Switzerland), and using secure content policies and filters (Burns and Gottschalk, 2020<sub>[5]</sub>). Media and digital literacy education can also be a powerful tool to empower students to tackle pressing challenges they increasingly face, such as separating fact from opinion in the digital environment (Hill, 2022<sub>[6]</sub>). Countries have different approaches to co-ordinating the media literacy landscape. Many, including Belgium, France and the Netherlands<sup>\*</sup>, have statutory actors who create resources, deliver training and conduct research, in collaboration with schools and other stakeholders. Finland and the United Kingdom<sup>\*</sup>, for example, have dedicated media literacy strategies focused on empowering citizens by mitigating digital risks, such as disinformation, hate speech and digital abuse.

Many OECD education systems have reported that cyberbullying is high on the list of policy priorities and that they have implemented programmes or policies to combat cyberbullying (Gottschalk, 2022<sup>[7]</sup>). These approaches often fall under one of three broad categories:

- **Policy or legal frameworks to combat cyberbullying.** Frameworks are sometimes obligatory for schools or districts to adopt, and legal responses can be specific to cyberbullying or address it through existing laws, such as those focusing on harassment, defamation or even copyright.
- **Reporting mechanisms and safety support outside of schools.** This can consist of hotlines, helplines or digital systems to report serious cases of cyberbullying and be referred to specialist support. In some countries safer Internet centres provide support to parents, students and teachers about digital risks in general.
- School-based interventions and teacher training. Some interventions focus on skill-building (e.g. social and emotional skills, such as empathy) or aim to promote positive peer relationships through tutoring schemes, for example. Many programmes incorporate a teacher training element to assist teachers in identifying cyberbullying and understanding its implications, and in programme implementation. However, research suggests that school-based interventions tend to be more effective when implemented by digitally savvy experts.

## Components of resilience: Ensuring students' regular school attendance and punctuality

Across all education systems, students in high-performing education systems were less likely to have skipped classes or school days and were more punctual<sup>9</sup> in the two weeks prior to the PISA test (Table II.B1.3.76). Students in highperforming systems and in systems with a higher average sense of belonging at school were also less likely to have been truant from primary, lower secondary or upper secondary school for three months or longer, though these students tended to be in systems that are more socio-economically fair. Equally important, the average mathematics performance of disadvantaged students in systems where the incidence of student truancy decreased (i.e. fewer students in 2022 than in 2018 had skipped classes) improved during the same period, after accounting for per capita GDP (Figure II.3.11 and Table II.B1.3.77).

# Figure II.3.11. Change between 2018 and 2022 in student truancy and mathematics performance among disadvantaged students

- Change is statistically significant for mathematics performance and the percentage of students
- ♦ Change is only statistically significant for mathematics performance
- Change is only statistically significant for the percentage of students



Note: The horizontal axis shows the change between 2018 and 2022 in the percentage of students who reported that they had skipped classes at least once in the two weeks prior to the PISA test.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapters 2 and 3; and Volume I, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

#### Students who attended classes regularly and punctually performed better in mathematics

In most education systems in 2022, students who attended classes regularly and punctually performed better in mathematics as compared to their peers who skipped school or classes and arrived late for school (Tables II.B1.3.44 and II.B1.3.46). In Hong Kong (China)\*, Korea, Norway, Portugal and Chinese Taipei truant students scored over 40 points lower than their peers who had attended school regularly. On average across OECD countries, the difference in mathematics performance between truant and non-truant students was 27 points. Students also scored lower in mathematics when their schoolmates had skipped school or had arrived late for school, not only when they themselves played truant (Table II.B1.3.45).

#### Regular attendance and punctuality improved in many, but not all, education systems

On average across OECD countries, students' regular attendance at school and punctuality improved between 2018 and 2022 (by two to five percentage points, Table II.B1.3.43). While this was the case in most education systems, in one out of ten countries/economies, the incidence of truancy and lateness increased during the period (Figure II.3.12). For instance, in Albania, Australia\*, Canada\*, Ireland\*, New Zealand\*, Poland, Saudi Arabia, the United Kingdom\* and the United States\* the share of students who had skipped a whole day of school – and in Albania, Cambodia, Kosovo and Poland the share of students who had skipped some classes – in the two weeks prior to the assessment grew by over five percentage points.

Nonetheless, even in 2022 many students in OECD countries and beyond arrived late for class or skipped classes or whole days of school (Table II.B1.3.37). In two out of ten education systems, over 50% of students had skipped a class or a day of school in the two weeks prior to the PISA test; in Baku (Azerbaijan), the Dominican Republic, Italy, Kosovo, Paraguay, Romania, Saudi Arabia and Türkiye more than 60% of students had done so. On average across OECD countries, around 30% of students reported that they had skipped a class or a day of school in the two weeks prior to the PISA test.

# Figure II.3.12. Change between 2018 and 2022 in student truancy and lateness

Percentage of students who reported that the following happened at least once in the two weeks prior to the PISA test

39 55



 Increase in PISA 2022 compared to PISA 2018

 ↓
 Decrease in PISA 2022 compared to PISA 2018

 =
 Difference is not significant

 A
 B

 9
 7
 12

 Countries/economies with an increase

 25
 11
 14

 Countries/economies with no difference

47 Countries/economies with a decrease

5	10	15	20	25	30	35	40	45	50
Change between PISA 2018 and PISA 2022 in student truancy and lateness									

OECD	A Arrived late for school	B Skipped some classes	C Skipped a whole day of school
OECD average	→	Ļ	↓
Australia*	=	Ļ	↑ (
Austria	→	Ļ	Ļ
Belgium	→	=	=
Canada*	↓	Ļ	<u>↑</u>
Chile	↓	Ļ	Ļ
Colombia	↑	Ļ	Ļ
Costa Rica	=	Ļ	Ļ
Czech Republic	↓	Ļ	Ļ
Denmark*	=	=	=
Estonia	=	=	=
Finland	↓	=	=
France	↓	Ļ	Ļ
Germany	→	Ļ	=
Greece	=	=	=
Hungary	→	Ļ	$\downarrow$
Iceland	=	Ļ	=
Ireland*	=	=	1
Israel	=	=	Ļ
Italy	↓	↓	1
Japan	=	Ļ	=
Korea	=	=	$\downarrow$
Latvia*	=	Ļ	$\downarrow$
Lithuania	↓	Ļ	$\downarrow$
Mexico	↓	↓	↓
Netherlands*	Ļ	Ļ	$\downarrow$
New Zealand*	=	=	↑
Norway	=	1	=
Poland	1	1	↑
Portugal	↓	↓	Ļ
Slovak Republic	→	↓	$\downarrow$
Slovenia	↓	↓	↓
Spain	$\downarrow$	↓	=
Sweden	1	1	=
Switzerland	↓	↓	↓
Türkiye	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	=
United Kingdom*	1	1	1
United States*	=	=	<u>↑</u>

in stud			
А	В	С	
Arrived late	Skipped	Skipped a whole	
for school	some classes	day of school	Partners
=	↑	<b>↑</b>	Albania
<u>↑</u>	Ļ	Ļ	Argentina
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Baku (Azerbaijan)
1	Ļ	Ļ	Brazil
↓	Ļ	Ļ	Brunei Darussalam
=	Ļ	Ļ	Bulgaria
1	<u>↑</u>	<u>↑</u>	Cambodia
$\downarrow$	Ļ	Ļ	Croatia
↓	Ļ	=	Dominican Republic
=	Ļ	Ļ	Georgia
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Guatemala
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Hong Kong (China)*
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Indonesia
1	Ļ	Ļ	Jordan
=	Ļ	Ļ	Kazakhstan
	↑	↑	Kosovo
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Macao (China)
=	Ļ	Ļ	Malaysia
=	Ļ	Ļ	Malta
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Moldova
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Montenegro
=	Ļ	Ļ	Morocco
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Panama*
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Paraguay
=	Ļ	Ļ	Peru
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Philippines
Ļ	Ļ	=	Qatar
=	=	Ļ	Romania
Ļ	Ļ	↑	Saudi Arabia
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Serbia
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Singapore
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Chinese Taipei
=	Ļ	Ļ	Thailand
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	United Arab Emirates
↓	↓ ↓	Ļ	Uruguay
Ļ	Ļ	Ļ	Viet Nam
•		-	l

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

#### Long-term absenteeism is rare, but seems particularly harmful to students' academic success

Long-term absenteeism (i.e. missing school for more than three consecutive months) is uncommon (Table II.B1.3.49).<sup>10</sup> While in Baku (Azerbaijan), Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, the Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Guatemala, Morocco, Paraguay, the Philippines and Uzbekistan 15% or more of students had missed class for more than three consecutive months at least once, on average across OECD countries only 8% of students reported that they had missed more than three consecutive months of primary, lower or upper secondary school (ISCED-1, ISCED-2 and ISCED-3).

Nevertheless, PISA 2022 data suggest that long-term absenteeism is particularly harmful to students' academic success, especially at higher levels of education (Figure II.3.13). While students who missed school for longer in primary education scored 35 points lower in mathematics, students who did so in lower or upper secondary education scored 41 and 59 points lower, respectively, than their peers who did not miss school for such long periods, on average across OECD countries (Table II.B1.3.52). Therefore, it is important to understand and address the causes of long-term absenteeism (see Box II.3.2).

#### Figure II.3.13. Long-term absenteeism and performance in mathematics

Change in average mathematics performance when students reported that they had missed school for more than three consecutive months at least once, by education level; OECD average



1. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

Notes: All score-point differences in mathematics are statistically significant (see Annex A3).

Long-term absenteeism refers to the percentage of students who reported that they had missed school for more than three consecutive months, at least once, at any education level.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

### Box II.3.2. Reasons for students' long-term absenteeism

PISA 2022 data show that students stay out of school for longer periods for different reasons. By far the most common reason reported by students who missed school for more than three consecutive months at any education level was illness (71% on average across OECD countries, Figure II.3.14 and Table II.B1.3.55). Nonetheless, boredom or a lack of safety at school were also common reasons: two out of ten students across OECD countries missed school for longer due to those reasons. While schools can do little to prevent illness, they can address a lack of motivation among students, and much can be done to make schools safer. PISA results show that boys and students in lower secondary school are more likely to suffer from a lack of motivation: the two groups cited boredom as a reason for long-term absenteeism more often than girls and students in upper secondary school, on average across OECD countries and in most countries/economies (Table II.B1.3.56).

Unsurprisingly, there are notable differences across countries/economies in students' reasons for long-term absenteeism (Table II.B1.3.55). In Jordan, the Palestinian Authority and the United Arab Emirates one out of four students missed school for a long period because they were suspended. In Albania, Bulgaria, North Macedonia, the Philippines, Saudi Arabia more than 15% of students stayed away from school for longer because they were pregnant. According to more than 40% of 15-year-old students in Ireland\*, Jamaica\*, Macao (China), the Philippines and the United Kingdom\*, natural disaster prevented them from attending school. Some 30% of students or more in Cambodia, Indonesia, Jordan, the Palestinian Authority, Paraguay, the Philippines, Romania, Thailand and the United Arab Emirates reported that they had to work either outside the home, at home, in the family business or on the family land. In Jordan, the Palestinian Authority, the Philippines and the United Arab Emirates reported that they had to work either outside the home, at home, in the family business or on the family land. In Jordan, the Palestinian Authority, the Philippines, Romania, Saudi Arab Emirates being unable to pay school fees was commonly cited as a reason for missing school for three consecutive months or longer; in Jordan, the Palestinian Authority, Panama\*, the Philippines, Romania, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates more than 30% of students who had missed school for long periods cited problems with transportation as the reason.

## Figure II.3.14. Reasons for long-term absenteeism

Percentage of students who reported the following reasons for having missed school for more than three consecutive months



Items are ranked in ascending order of the percentage of students at the OECD average. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

## Components of resilience: Teaming up with parents to support learning and well-being

When schools were closed due to COVID-19, students' learning and well-being depended more than ever on a supportive home environment. However, the PISA 2022 results show that schools in many countries were not successful in using the COVID-19 experience as a catalyst for strengthening school-home partnerships<sup>11</sup> (Ulferts, 2022<sub>[8]</sub>).

#### In many education systems parental involvement in students' learning decreased

PISA trend data collected from school principals show that the percentage of parents who were involved in school decreased substantially between 2018 and 2022 in many countries/economies, especially the share of parents involved in learning-related activities (Figure II.3.15 and Table II.B1.3.67). On average across OECD countries, the share of students in schools where most parents discussed their child's progress with a teacher on their own initiative or on the initiative of one of their child's teachers shrank by ten and eight percentage points, respectively. However, these negative trends were observed in less than half of all PISA-participating countries/economies. In a few countries/economies parental involvement increased: in Macao (China), Mexico and Romania there was greater parental involvement in parent-initiated discussions; in Brunei Darussalam, the Dominican Republic, Georgia, Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates more parents were involved in teacher-initiated discussions. Parental involvement in other activities remained relatively stable in most countries/economies during the period, on average across OECD countries and in most countries/economies.

# Figure II.3.15. Change between 2018 and 2022 in parent-initiated talks about students' progress

Percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that at least 50% of students' parents are involved in discussing their child's progress with a teacher on their own initiative



Note: Changes between PISA 2018 and PISA 2022 that are statistically significant are shown in a darker tone and in brackets, next to the country/economy name (see Annex A3). Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students in these schools in PISA 2022. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

# Education systems with more positive trends in parental involvement showed stable or improved performance

In fact, the systems that had more positive trends in parental involvement between 2018 and 2022 (i.e. systems in which the share of parents who discussed their child's progress with a teacher on their own initiative decreased less) showed more stable performance in mathematics (Figure II.3.16 and Table II.B1.3.77). This was particularly true for disadvantaged students. However, these systems saw a weakening of students' sense of belonging at school. The results may indicate that students felt pressured to improve their performance, which might have strained their emotional connection to school. Advantaged students in education systems where parents became more involved in physical or extracurricular activities between 2018 and 2022 showed more stable or improved performance in mathematics.

# Figure II.3.16. Change between 2018 and 2022 in parent-initiated talks about students' progress, and mathematics performance



Note: Only countries and economies that show statistically significant changes between 2018 and 2022 in mathematics and in the percentage of students who reported that their parents initiated discussions about their progress are shown.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapters 2 and 3.

118 |

#### Students who were supported at home had more positive attitudes towards school and learning

Support at home is important for student learning but also for their well-being. Students in education systems with more supportive families reported a stronger sense of belonging at school (see Figure II.3.17 and Table II.B1.3.76).

# Figure II.3.17. Family support and sense of belonging



Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

In all countries/economies, students who enjoy more support from their families reported a greater sense of belonging at school and life satisfaction, and more confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning (Table II.B1.3.75). In most countries/economies, these students also reported feeling less anxiety towards mathematics.

The association between family support and student performance in mathematics varied substantially according to the different types of family support considered (Table II.B1.3.72). Higher-performing students reported that their family regularly ("about once or twice a week" or "every day or almost every day") eats the main meal together, spends time just talking with them, or asks them what they did in school that day. These students scored 16 to 28 points higher in mathematics than students who reported that their family does not do those things regularly, on average across OECD countries and after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. By contrast, lower-performing students reported that their family regularly talks to them about the importance of completing upper secondary education or about their future education. These students scored 11 to 15 points lower in mathematics than students' and schools' socio-economic profile. By contrast, and after accounting for students' socio-economic profile. Families of low performers may stress the importance of upper secondary or future education more frequently to motivate students to put greater effort into their studies.

## Families supported their children in different ways

Most students can count on support from their families, as they reported in 2022 (Table II.B1.3.69). However, not all types of family support were common across countries/economies. For instance, on average across OECD countries, eight out of ten students reported that parents or someone in their family eats the main meal with them and spends time just talking with them at least once or twice a week, while only six out of ten students reported that parents or someone in their family talks to them about any problems they might have at school, asks them about how well they are getting along with other students at school and talks to them about their future education.

Some of the greatest differences across countries/economies were observed when considering whether parents or someone from the family asks what students did in school that day. In Australia\*, Colombia, Croatia, Denmark\*, Germany, Hungary, Ireland\*, Italy, the Netherlands\*, New Zealand\*, Portugal, Sweden, the United Kingdom\* and the United States\* eight in ten students reported that their parents or someone in their family asks what they did in school that day about once or twice a week (Figure II.3.18). In Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Hong Kong (China)\*, Macao (China) and Thailand, Viet Nam only around one in two students reported that this occurs regularly.

On average across OECD countries and in most education systems, socio-economically advantaged students, girls and students without an immigrant background reported more support from their family than disadvantaged students, boys and students with an immigrant background (Table II.B1.3.70). Students in upper secondary (ISCED-3) as compared to lower secondary (ISCED-2) school were more likely to report family support, on average across OECD countries and in around half of all education systems with available data.

According to school principals, schools discussed students' progress more frequently with parents than students' behaviour, and more often on the teacher's, rather than on the parent's or guardian's, initiative (Table II.B1.3.58). On average across OECD countries, about 52% of students attended schools where most parents or guardians (over 50%) discussed their child's progress with a teacher on the initiative of teachers and 40% attended schools where teachers initiate discussions on students' behaviour. Only one in four students attended a school where most parents initiate discussions about students' progress and behaviour. Other forms of involvement are even less common. Only 11% of students attended schools where parents participate in local school government, and only 8% attended schools where parents are involved in physical or extracurricular activities, such as building maintenance, sports or field trips.

# 120 |

# Figure II.3.18. Percentage of students whose family regularly asks about school

Percentage of students who reported that at least once a week or twice a week their parents or someone in their family asks them what they did in school that day



Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 3.

### Table II.3.1. Life at school and support from home chapter figures

Figure II.3.1	School life as covered in PISA 2022
Figure II.3.2	Change between 2012 and 2022 in teachers giving extra help and mathematics performance
Figure II.3.3	Teacher support, and anxiety towards and performance in mathematics
Figure II.3.4	Distraction from digital devices in mathematics lessons
Figure II.3.5	Students' safety at school and sense of belonging
Figure II.3.6	School safety and student well-being
Figure II.3.7	Association between sense of belonging and selected aspects of school climate
Figure II.3.8	School safety risks
Figure II.3.9	Feeling safe, by school characteristics
Figure II.3.10	Change between 2018 and 2022 in students' exposure to bullying and mathematics performance
Figure II.3.11	Change between 2018 and 2022 in student truancy and mathematics performance
Figure II.3.12	Change between 2018 and 2022 in student truancy
Figure II.3.13	Long-term truancy and performance in mathematics
Figure II.3.14	Reasons for long-term truancy
Figure II.3.15	Change between 2018 and 2022 in parental involvement in talks about students' progress and mathematics performance
Figure II.3.16	Change between 2018 and 2022 in parent-initiated talks about students' progress and mathematics performance
Figure II.3.17	Family support and sense of belonging
Figure II.3.18	Percentage of students whose family regularly asks about school

StatLink ms https://stat.link/zqer74

## Notes

1 The literature is clear about what students need to thrive in school: they need to feel physically and emotionally safe at school, supported and intellectually challenged at the same time (MacNeil, Prater and Busch, 2009<sub>[35]</sub>; Hoge, Smit and Hanson, 1990<sub>[34]</sub>; Way, Reddy and Rhodes, 2007<sub>[36]</sub>). Parents need to feel that they are invited to participate in their child's education and in school activities (Thapa et al., 2013<sub>[3]</sub>). If students' daily life at school is built around healthy, respectful and co-operative relationships, students are less likely to be truant or to engage in deviant and risky behaviours, such as smoking, drinking or using drugs (LaRusso, Romer and Selman, 2007<sub>[39]</sub>; Gase et al., 2017<sub>[38]</sub>; Catalano et al., 2004<sub>[37]</sub>). A positive school climate is also beneficial for students' brain development (Hackman et al., 2022<sub>[20]</sub>) and helps weaken the link between socio-economic status and academic achievement (Berkowitz et al., 2016<sub>[14]</sub>; Daily et al., 2020<sub>[16]</sub>).

2 Research finds that, unsurprisingly, students in more disciplined classes perform better in mathematics (Berkowitz et al., 2016<sub>[14]</sub>; Blank and Shavit, 2016<sub>[15]</sub>; Fauth et al., 2014<sub>[18]</sub>). Students are also more interested in mathematics lessons if teachers keep noise and disruptions to a minimum (Kunter, Baumert and Köller, 2007<sub>[22]</sub>; Lazarides and Buchholz, 2019<sub>[23]</sub>).

3 Students who feel supported by their teachers show greater self-efficacy, and enjoyment of and interest in mathematics, which helps them perform at higher levels (Berkowitz et al., 2016<sub>[14]</sub>; Fauth et al., 2014<sub>[18]</sub>; Lazarides and Buchholz, 2019<sub>[23]</sub>; Yu and Singh, 2016<sub>[33]</sub>). Mathematics anxiety can be alleviated if mathematics teachers are sensitive to students' attitudes towards the subject and realise when students need extra help (Aldrup, Klusmann and Lüdtke, 2020<sub>[13]</sub>; Lazarides and Buchholz, 2019<sub>[23]</sub>).

4 In every PISA assessment, students are asked to report on teacher support and disciplinary climate in the core subject. In 2022, the core subject was mathematics; in 2018 the core subject was reading. The most recent PISA

assessment in which mathematics was a core subject was 2012. Therefore, this chapter reports only on the change between 2012 and 2022 in teacher support and disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons.

<sup>5</sup> Some caution is warranted for the interpretation of trends due to the slight modification of the questionnaire design from 2012 to 2022. The response option "Never or hardly ever" from the PISA 2012 questionnaire was changed to "Never or almost never".

<sup>6</sup> Safety is a basic human need (Maslow, 1943<sub>[12]</sub>) and is particularly important in school so that students can build trusting relationships, concentrate on learning and stay healthy. Violence in schools, which disrupts learning and socialisation (Steffgen, Recchia and Viechtbauer, 2013<sub>[27]</sub>), can occur on school property, on the way to or from school, and during school trips and events. While violence may be committed by students, teachers or other members of the school staff, the most common perpetrators are fellow students (UNESCO, 2019<sub>[29]</sub>). School violence can take many forms (Thapa et al., 2013<sub>[3]</sub>; UNESCO, 2019<sub>[29]</sub>), including: physical aggression (e.g. the use of weapons, as well as criminal acts, like theft or arson); psychological violence (e.g. emotional and verbal abuse, such as insulting, threatening, ignoring, isolating, rejecting, name-calling, humiliating, ridiculing, rumourmongering, lying or punishing another person); sexual violence (e.g. sexual harassment, intimidation, unwanted touching, sexual coercion and rape); and bullying.

<sup>7</sup> Being exposed to physical or emotional harm, such as bullying and violence, can have severe, long-term physical and emotional consequences for students (Sobba, 2018<sub>[26]</sub>; Turanovic and Siennick, 2022<sub>[28]</sub>; Vanderbilt and Augustyn, 2010<sub>[30]</sub>; Wolke and Lereya, 2015<sub>[31]</sub>; Woods and Wolke, 2004<sub>[32]</sub>). These include poor physical and mental health (including a higher risk of suicide) and poor academic performance. Students who are frequently bullied are more likely to be dissatisfied with their life, and a prevalence of bullying in school is related to a weaker sense of belonging at school. Bullied students, especially those who were victims for years, have more trouble adjusting to adult roles, such as forming lasting relationships, integrating into work and being economically independent, and tend to avoid school, even though some researchers (Gubbels, van der Put and Assink, 2019<sub>[19]</sub>) do not find evidence of a higher risk of dropout.

<sup>8</sup>Bullying is defined as the repeated and intentional aggression towards another person, and someone's intentional and repeated harming and discomforting of another person (Şirin, 2022<sub>[25]</sub>). Bullying can be physical (hitting, punching or kicking) and can involve extortion (forcing the victim to give away his or her possessions); it can also be purely verbal (name-calling and mocking) and relational (spreading gossip and engaging in other forms of public humiliation, shaming and inducing social exclusion) (UNESCO, 2019<sub>[29]</sub>; Woods and Wolke, 2004<sub>[32]</sub>).

<sup>9</sup> Students who skip classes or arrive late for school miss out on learning and school life. Absenteeism is associated with lower grades, greater difficulty in acquiring credentials and lower educational aspirations (Hessen and Kuncel, 2022<sub>[21]</sub>). Compared with students who do not skip classes and arrive at school on time, truant students tend to have more negative opinions about school and suffer from anxiety or depression (Gubbels, van der Put and Assink, 2019<sub>[19]</sub>). They also tend to abuse drugs or alcohol more regularly and engage in antisocial, self-harming and risky behaviour more frequently (Epstein et al., 2019<sub>[17]</sub>). Repeated and widespread student truancy is detrimental to the overall school climate and a warning sign of dropout (Gubbels, van der Put and Assink, 2019<sub>[19]</sub>).

<sup>10</sup> The data on long-term absenteeism do not account for students who did not participate in the assessment and therefore may underestimate the level of long-term absenteeism in a country. The lower participation rates observed in PISA 2022 as compared to previous cycles may be due to an increase in the proportions of long-term absenteeism among students. However, this assumption cannot be tested because no trend data is available for long-term absenteeism.

<sup>11</sup>The pandemic reminded everyone that parents' and guardians' involvement in their child's education is vital (Castro et al., 2015<sub>[9]</sub>; Wilder, 2014<sub>[10]</sub>; Boonk et al., 2018<sub>[11]</sub>). Strong, effective and sustainable partnerships between families

and schools bolster students' psychological and social development and their academic achievement (Burns and Gottschalk, 2020<sup>[5]</sup>; Sheridan et al., 2019<sup>[24]</sup>).

# References

Aldrup, K., U. Klusmann and O. Lüdtke (2020), "Reciprocal associations between students' mathematics anxiety and achievement: Can teacher sensitivity make a difference?", <i>Journal of Educational</i> <i>Psychology</i> , Vol. 112/4, pp. 735-750, <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000398</u> .	[13]
Berkowitz, R. et al. (2016), "A Research Synthesis of the Associations Between Socioeconomic Background, Inequality, School Climate, and Academic Achievement", <i>Review of Educational Research</i> , Vol. 87/2, pp. 425-469, <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654316669821</u> .	[14]
Blank, C. and Y. Shavit (2016), "The Association Between Student Reports of Classmates' Disruptive Behavior and Student Achievement", <i>AERA Open</i> , Vol. 2/3, p. 233285841665392, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2332858416653921</u> .	[15]
Boonk, L. et al. (2018), A review of the relationship between parental involvement indicators and academic achievement.	[11]
Burns, T. and F. Gottschalk (eds.) (2020), <i>Education in the Digital Age: Healthy and Happy Children</i> , Educational Research and Innovation, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/1209166a-en</u> .	[5]
Castro, M. et al. (2015), "Parental involvement on student academic achievement: A meta-analysis", <i>Educational Research Review</i> , Vol. 14, pp. 33-46, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EDUREV.2015.01.002</u> .	[9]
Catalano, R. et al. (2004), "The Importance of Bonding to School for Healthy Development: Findings from the Social Development Research Group", <i>Journal of School Health</i> , Vol. 74/7, pp. 252-261, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2004.tb08281.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1746-1561.2004.tb08281.x</a> .	[37]
Cohen, J. et al. (2009), "School climate: Research, policy, practice, and teacher education", <i>Teachers College Record</i> , Vol. 111/1, pp. 180-213, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11205-006-9024-z</u> .	[1]
Daily, S. et al. (2020), "School Climate as an Intervention to Reduce Academic Failure and Educate the Whole Child: A Longitudinal Study", <i>Journal of School Health</i> , Vol. 90/3, pp. 182-193, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12863</u> .	[16]
Epstein, S. et al. (2019), "School absenteeism as a risk factor for self-harm and suicidal ideation in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis", <i>European Child &amp; Child &amp; European Child &amp; Psychiatry</i> , Vol. 29/9, pp. 1175-1194, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-019-01327-3">https://doi.org/10.1007/s00787-019-01327-3</a> .	[17]
Fauth, B. et al. (2014), "Student ratings of teaching quality in primary school: Dimensions and prediction of student outcomes", <i>Learning and Instruction</i> , Vol. 29, pp. 1-9, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2013.07.001</u> .	[18]
Gase, L. et al. (2017), "Relationships Among Student, Staff, and Administrative Measures of School Climate and Student Health and Academic Outcomes", <i>Journal of School Health</i> , Vol. 87/5, pp. 319- 328, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/josh.12501</u> .	[38]
Gottschalk, F. (2022), "Cyberbullying: An overview of research and policy in OECD countries", OECD	[7]

Education Working Papers, No. 270, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/f60b492b-en.

Gubbels, J., C. van der Put and M. Assink (2019), "Risk Factors for School Absenteeism and Dropout: A Meta-Analytic Review", <i>Journal of Youth and Adolescence</i> , Vol. 48/9, pp. 1637-1667, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-019-01072-5</u> .	[19]
Hackman, D. et al. (2022), "School Climate, Cortical Structure, and Socioemotional Functioning: Associations across Family Income Levels", <i>Journal of Cognitive Neuroscience</i> , Vol. 34/10, pp. 1842- 1865, <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/jocn_a_01833</u> .	[20]
Hessen, P. and N. Kuncel (2022), "Beyond grades: A meta-analysis of personality predictors of academic behavior in middle school and high school", <i>Personality and Individual Differences</i> , Vol. 199, p. 111809, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paid.2022.111809</u> .	[21]
Hill, J. (2022), "Policy responses to false and misleading digital content: A snapshot of children's media literacy", OECD Education Working Papers, No. 275, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/1104143e-en</u> .	[6]
Hoge, D., E. Smit and S. Hanson (1990), "School experiences predicting changes in self-esteem of sixth- and seventh-grade students.", <i>Journal of Educational Psychology</i> , Vol. 82/1, pp. 117-127, <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-0663.82.1.117</u> .	[34]
Kunter, M., J. Baumert and O. Köller (2007), "Effective classroom management and the development of subject-related interest", <i>Learning and Instruction</i> , Vol. 17/5, pp. 494-509, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2007.09.002</u> .	[22]
LaRusso, M., D. Romer and R. Selman (2007), "Teachers as Builders of Respectful School Climates: Implications for Adolescent Drug Use Norms and Depressive Symptoms in High School", <i>Journal of Youth and Adolescence</i> , Vol. 37/4, pp. 386-398, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-007-9212-4</u> .	[39]
Lazarides, R. and J. Buchholz (2019), "Student-perceived teaching quality: How is it related to different achievement emotions in mathematics classrooms?", <i>Learning and Instruction</i> , Vol. 61, pp. 45-59, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2019.01.001">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.learninstruc.2019.01.001</a> .	[23]
MacNeil, A., D. Prater and S. Busch (2009), "The effects of school culture and climate on student achievement", <i>International Journal of Leadership in Education</i> , Vol. 12/1, pp. 73-84, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603120701576241</u> .	[35]
Maslow, A. (1943), "A Theory of Human Motivation", <i>Psychological Review</i> , Vol. 50/4, pp. 70–396.	[12]
Mostafa, T., A. Echazarra and H. Guillou (2018), "The science of teaching science: An exploration of science teaching practices in PISA 2015", <i>OECD Education Working Papers</i> , No. 188, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/f5bd9e57-en</u> .	[4]
Sheridan, S. et al. (2019), "A Meta-Analysis of Family-School Interventions and Children's Social-Emotional Functioning: Moderators and Components of Efficacy", <i>Review of Educational Research</i> , Vol. 89/2, pp. 296-332, <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654318825437</u> .	[24]
Şirin, H. (2022), "Bullying in Schools", in Advances in Social Networking and Online Communities, Handbook of Research on Bullying in Media and Beyond, IGI Global, <u>https://doi.org/10.4018/978-1-6684-5426-8.ch020</u> .	[25]
Sobba, K. (2018), "Correlates and buffers of school avoidance: a review of school avoidance literature and applying social capital as a potential safeguard", <i>International Journal of Adolescence and Youth</i> , Vol. 24/3, pp. 380-394, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02673843.2018.1524772</u> .	[26]

Steffgen, G., S. Recchia and W. Viechtbauer (2013), "The link between school climate and violence in school: A meta-analytic review", <i>Aggression and Violent Behavior</i> , Vol. 18/2, pp. 300-309, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.avb.2012.12.001</u> .	[27]
Thapa, A. et al. (2013), "A Review of School Climate Research", https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.3102/0034654313483907.	[3]
Turanovic, J. and S. Siennick (2022), "The Causes and Consequences of School Violence: A Review".	[28]
Ulferts, H. (2022), <i>It takes a village: How coronavirus can strengthen partnerships between parents and schools</i> , <u>https://oecdedutoday.com/how-coronavirus-strengthen-partnerships-parents-schools/</u> .	[8]
UNESCO (2019), "Behind the numbers", in <i>Behind the numbers: ending school violence and bullying</i> , UNESCO, <u>https://doi.org/10.54675/TRVR4270</u> .	[29]
Vanderbilt, D. and M. Augustyn (2010), "The effects of bullying", <i>Paediatrics and Child Health</i> , Vol. 20/7, pp. 315-320, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paed.2010.03.008">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.paed.2010.03.008</a> .	[30]
Wang, M. and J. Degol (2016), "School climate: A review of the construct, measurement, and impact on student outcomes", <i>Educational Psychology Review</i> , Vol. 28/2, pp. 315-352, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-015-9319-1</u> .	[2]
Way, N., R. Reddy and J. Rhodes (2007), "Students' Perceptions of School Climate During the Middle School Years: Associations with Trajectories of Psychological and Behavioral Adjustment", <i>American</i> <i>Journal of Community Psychology</i> , Vol. 40/3-4, pp. 194-213, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-007-9143-</u> <u>Y</u> .	[36]
Wilder, S. (2014), "Effects of parental involvement on academic achievement: a meta-synthesis", https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2013.780009, Vol. 66/3, pp. 377-397, https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2013.780009.	[10]
Wolke, D. and S. Lereya (2015), "Long-term effects of bullying", Archives of Disease in Childhood, Publisher: BMJ Publishing Group Ltd Section: Review, pp. 879-885, <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/archdischild-2014-306667</u> .	[31]
Woods, S. and D. Wolke (2004), "Direct and relational bullying among primary school children and academic achievement", <i>Journal of School Psychology</i> , Vol. 42/2, pp. 135-155, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsp.2003.12.002</u> .	[32]
Yu, R. and K. Singh (2016), "Teacher support, instructional practices, student motivation, and mathematics achievement in high school", <i>The Journal of Educational Research</i> , Vol. 111/1, pp. 81-94, https://doi.org/10.1080/00220671.2016.1204260.	[33]

| 125

# **4** Selecting and grouping students

This chapter describes how students are selected and sorted into different grade levels, schools, programmes and classes. It discusses the length and duration of schooling, attendance at pre-primary school and grade repetition. The chapter then examines the concentration of students in schools, the age at which students are first tracked into general or vocational programmes, and how they are grouped by ability, both between and within classes. These policies are then related to student performance, and to the equity of education systems.

For Australia\*, Canada\*, Denmark\*, Hong Kong (China)\*, Ireland\*, Jamaica\*, Latvia\*, the Netherlands\*, New Zealand\*, Panama\*, the United Kingdom\* and the United States\*, caution is advised when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Students with different abilities and interests are found in every grade and school. School systems address this diversity in different ways. In comprehensive systems, students are taught in mixed-ability classes and follow a similar path through education, regardless of their abilities, behaviour and interests. By minimising or delaying the use of grade repetition, tracking and ability grouping, these systems give students greater opportunities to share learning experiences with higher-achieving peers and, at the same time, give "late bloomers" more time to catch up academically. In vertically stratified systems, students of a similar age are enrolled in different grade levels, mainly as a result of grade repetition. In horizontally stratified systems, students of different abilities, behaviour or interests are separated into different schools, programmes and classes so that what is learned (content and difficulty) and how it is taught (pedagogy) can be tailored to better meet students' needs. This sorting and grouping of students is generally termed educational stratification, which refers to the various ways that schools and education systems organise instruction for students with different abilities, behaviour, interests and pace of learning (Dupriez, Dumay and Vause, 2008<sub>[1]</sub>; Oakes, 1985<sub>[2]</sub>).

The more stratified an education system is, the more varied the pathways along which students progress through school, and the more likely it is that disadvantaged students are placed in the least academically oriented and demanding learning environments, potentially limiting their educational opportunities (Horn, Keller and Róbert, 2016<sub>[3]</sub>; Strello et al., 2021<sub>[4]</sub>; Triventi et al., 2020<sub>[5]</sub>; Van de Werfhorst and Mijs, 2010<sub>[6]</sub>). PISA 2022 data show that in OECD countries with more stratification policies in place, students' socio-economic status was more strongly associated with mathematics performance (i.e. greater socio-economic unfairness), as illustrated in Table II.4.1. Of these stratification policies, some were also negatively associated with education systems' average mathematics performance, even after accounting for per capita GDP. This was observed when considering grade repetition, the concentration of socio-economically advantaged students in schools and grouping students by ability within classes.

# What the data tell us

- In countries with more stratification policies in place, students' socio-economic status was more strongly associated with mathematics performance.
- On average across OECD countries and in a majority of education systems, students who had attended
  pre-primary education for at least one year were considerably less likely to have repeated a grade than
  students who had never attended pre-primary education or who had attended for less than one year, even
  after accounting for socio-economic factors.
- Iceland, Israel, Japan, Korea, Mexico, Norway and the United Kingdom promote students automatically to the next grade level in both primary and lower secondary school.
- Early tracking and selective admissions procedures are related to the concentration of socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged students in schools.
- In equitable and high-performing education systems, almost all students had attended pre-primary school; few students had repeated a grade; socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged students were not heavily concentrated in certain schools; students were tracked into different curricular programmes relatively late; and comparatively few students were grouped by ability between classes.

However, grouping students of similar abilities and interests together may enable teachers to tailor their instruction level and teaching strategies to students' skills and interests, potentially benefitting low- and high-achieving students (Duflo, Dupas and Kremer, 2011<sub>[7]</sub>). In addition, well-resourced and attractive vocational programmes may improve the career prospects of low-achieving and disadvantaged teenagers, especially those at risk of leaving the school system early (Bartlett, 2009<sub>[8]</sub>).

The effect of stratification on student outcomes is the subject of ongoing debate; yet global trends show that, since the 1960s, education systems have shifted away from tracking practices towards more comprehensive approaches, especially at the lower secondary level (Furuta, 2020[9]). The COVID-19 pandemic may have further accelerated some of these "destratification" policies. Some education systems, for instance, eased the criteria for promoting

# **128** |

students to the next grade level in the wake of school closures. But is there anything left of these emergency measures? And are education systems less stratified today than they were before COVID-19? Unfortunately, PISA data can only provide tentative answers to these questions because some of the questions on stratification, particularly those related to attendance at pre-primary school and grade repetition, refer to 15-year-old students' academic pathways before the pandemic started. Despite these limitations, evidence in this chapter shows that the OECD education systems examined were somewhat less stratified in 2022 than they were in 2018, at least with regard to attendance at pre-primary school, grade repetition and ability grouping (Tables II.B1.4.4, II.B1.4.13, and II.B1.4.29).

# Table II.4.1. Selecting and grouping students, performance and equity in mathematics

System-level correlation coefficients, OECD countries

		OECD countries					All countries and economies						
		Mean score in mathematics		Socio-economic fairness <sup>1</sup>		Index of sense of belonging		Mean score in mathematics		Socio-economic fairness <sup>1</sup>		Index of sense of belonging	
		r	Partial r	r	Partial r	r	Partial r	r	Partial r	r	Partial r	r	Partial r
Vertical stratification of students	Percentage of students who had attended pre-primary school for at least 1 year	0.12	0.10	-0.12	-0.13	0.50	0.51	0.52	0.41	-0.47	0.43	0.18	0.12
	Percentage of students who had repeated a grade at least once in primary (ISCED 1), lower secondary (ISCED 2) or upper secondary (ISCED 3) school	-0.43	-0.39	-0.34	-0.33	0.16	0.25	-0.41	-0.36	0.03	-0.02	-0.22	-0.18
	Isolation index of socio-economically disadvantaged students	-0.30	-0.06	-0.66	-0.72	-0.24	-0.08	-0.04	0.12	-0.56	-0.63	-0.09	-0.05
	Isolation index of socio-economically advantaged students	-0.58	-0.41	-0.45	-0.51	-0.29	-0.12	-0.30	-0.12	-0.36	-0.46	-0.31	-0.27
	Isolation index of Iow-achieving students in mathematics	0.08	0.24	-0.71	-0.72	0.10	0.19	0.22	0.29	-0.60	-0.61	0.11	0.11
Sorting and	Isolation index of high-achieving students in mathematics	-0.02	0.20	-0.50	-0.51	-0.08	0.04	-0.10	0.01	-0.38	0.43	-0.12	-0.09
selecting students horizontally	Number of distinct education programmes available to 15-year-old students	0.20	0.35	-0.49	-0.49	0.29	0.37	0.08	0.04	-0.39	-0.39	0.24	0.23
	Age at first selection in the education system	-0.01	0.02	0.64	0.66	-0.24	-0.24	-0.12	0.02	0.37	0.34	-0.05	-0.01
	Percentage of students enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes	-0.09	0.06	-0.28	-0.27	0.00	0.10	0.02	0.20	-0.16	-0.21	0.31	0.34
	Percentage of students in schools where students are grouped into different classes for all subjects	-0.12	-0.09	-0.20	-0.20	0.13	0.17	-0.42	-0.37	0.35	0.31	-0.20	-0.16
	Percentage of students in schools where students are grouped within classes for all subjects	-0.56	-0.49	0.12	0.14	-0.10	0.00	-0.54	-0.56	0.43	0.40	-0.22	-0.19

1. Socio-economic fairness is measured by the percentage of variation in student performance that is not accounted for by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status. Higher percentages indicate higher levels of fairness by student socio-economic status.

Notes: Values shown in this table are correlation coefficients. Values that are statistically significant at the 5% level (p<0.05) are in bold, those at the 10% level (p<0.10) are in italics.

Values under the label "Partial r" are partial correlation coefficients, adjusting for per capita GDP of countries and economies.

Number of countries and economies may differ between the analyses included in the table.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

This chapter starts by describing the length and duration of schooling, the patterns of attendance at pre-primary education, which has become a normal – and often compulsory – part of students' trajectory through education, and grade repetition (Figure II.4.1). The second part of the chapter considers three types of horizontal stratification: that which occurs between schools, typically referred to as concentration of students in schools; that which occurs between instructional programmes, usually known as tracking; and that which occurs within schools, typically labelled ability grouping. The chapter also analyses how these stratification policies and practices are related to education outcomes, and how these relationships may have been altered during and since the COVID-19 pandemic.

## Figure II.4.1. School system stratification as covered in PISA 2022



# How education systems address student diversity

Figure II.4.2 classifies education systems according to three key stratification policies: how early students are selected into different curricular programmes (early tracking); the prevalence of grade repetition; and how common it is for schools to group students by ability between classes (for all subjects). Education systems are considered to resort to a particular stratification policy if the values are below (for age at selection) or above (for grade repetition and ability grouping) the OECD average.

According to this analysis, the largest group is composed of comprehensive education systems, that is, those that resorted to the three stratification policies less frequently than on average across OECD countries. The OECD countries in this group are: Denmark\*, Estonia, Finland, Greece, Iceland, Ireland\*, Japan, Korea, Latvia\*, Mexico, New Zealand\*, Norway, Poland, Slovenia, Sweden and the United Kingdom\*. At the other end of the spectrum, seven education systems, including Costa Rica, the Netherlands\* and Switzerland, resorted to all three stratification policies more frequently than on average across OECD countries. Some countries/economies relied mostly on one stratification policy. For instance, Chile, France, Portugal and Spain had a relatively high proportion of grade repeaters; Israel tended to sort students by ability between classes; and the Czech Republic, Hungary, Italy, Lithuania and Türkiye, all began tracking students relatively early in their education. The remaining education systems combined two of the stratification policies. For instance, the Slovak Republic stood out for tracking relatively early and grouping students by ability; Colombia for grouping students by ability and having a relatively high proportion of grade repeaters; and Austria, Belgium and Germany for tracking students early and having a high prevalence of grade repetition.

# Figure II.4.2. Classifying education systems according to three key stratification policies

#### **Comprehensive education systems**

Denmark\*, Estonia, Finland, Georgia, Greece, Iceland, Ireland\*, Japan, Korea, Latvia\*, Mexico, Moldova, Mongolia, New Zealand\*, Norway, Poland, Serbia, Slovenia, Sweden, *Chinese Taipei*, United Kingdom\*, Uzbekistan



1. Education systems placed in the early tracking circle are those where students were selected into different curricular programmes at age 14 or earlier (OECD average is 14.3 years).

2. Education systems placed in the grade repetition circle are those where the percentage of students who had repeated a grade at least once in primary or secondary education was above the OECD average (9.0%).

3. Education systems placed in the ability grouping circle are those where the percentage of students enrolled in schools where students were grouped by ability between classes for all subjects was above the OECD average (6.7%).

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

# Charting students' progress through schooling

The vertical structure of an education system refers to the sequence of grades and levels of instruction that students must progress through in order to complete their schooling. This structure outlines the grades in which students are expected to be enrolled according to their age. But daily educational practice often results in students of a similar age being enrolled in different grade levels. This is typically known as vertical stratification. For example, many students enter pre-primary or primary school at an age that is different from the "theoretical" age at entry established in national legislation. Similarly, some students stay in primary or secondary school longer than others do, often because of grade repetition, while some drop out of school without completing their programme. System-level policies, school characteristics and practices, students' family background and other outside-of-school experiences are associated with the odds of successfully progressing from one instructional grade or level to the next, and of entering higher education (Bai et al., 2021[10]; Horn, Keller and Róbert, 2016[3]; Shavit and Blossfeld, 1993[11]). Vertical stratification indicators are related mostly to the performance and fairness components of resilience (Table II.B1.4.31).

#### Pre-primary and upper secondary education are compulsory in some education systems

National laws and regulations formally define the sequence of grades and levels of instruction that students must progress through their schooling by establishing the age at which students are expected to enter different education levels, the duration of these levels of education, and the requirements for students' entry and graduation. Through its system-level questionnaire, PISA 2022 asked countries to report the age, established by law and regulation, at which students enter pre-primary, primary, lower secondary and upper secondary education (the theoretical starting age), and the number of years of schooling a student is expected to complete before graduating from each of these levels (the theoretical duration or length). The system-level questionnaire also asked the ages between which students are legally required to attend school (compulsory education) at the time the data were collected. Figure II.4.3 summarises this information. The theoretical structure of education systems includes both compulsory schooling and the education levels or years of schooling in which students might enrol on a voluntary basis.

Students in the typical school system are expected to start pre-primary education at the age of 3, primary school at the age of 6, secondary education at the age of 12, upper secondary education at the age of 15, and at 18 they are expected to obtain their upper secondary degree (Figure II.4.3). However, students' expected trajectories through schooling vary considerably across countries. Instead of starting at the age of 3, pre-primary education begins at the age of 2 in Iceland, Mongolia and Chinese Taipei; at the age of 4 in 14 school systems, and at the age of 5 in Guatemala, Indonesia and the Philippines. Upper secondary education for students in general programmes typically ends when students are 18 years old, but in 9 education systems students can complete this level of education at least one year earlier. In 26 education systems the earliest students in general programmes can complete their upper secondary education is after they turn 19.

In OECD countries, students are typically obliged to attend school between the ages of 6 and 16, whereas in partner countries and economies they are typically required to be schooled until they turn 15 (Figure II.4.3). In some education systems, including those in the Dominican Republic, Israel and Mexico, students are required to attend school for 15 years, from the age of 3 to 18. In Malaysia, by contrast, education is compulsory for only six years. Education systems also need to determine whether compulsory education should start before children are 6 years old, and whether it should be extended until the age of legal adulthood, which is typically set at 18 years. Of the 82 education systems with available data (includes subnational entities in Belgium and the United Kingdom), students in 27 of them are obliged to attend school before they turn 6; in the Dominican Republic, Israel, Mexico, Moldova and Peru school is compulsory for 3-year-olds. Around 1 in 3 school systems extend compulsory education until the age of 18; in Jamaica and North Macedonia teenagers are obliged to remain in school until the age of 19.



#### Figure II.4.3. The vertical structure of education systems

Theoretical starting age and theoretical duration of pre-primary, primary and secondary education for students in general programmes



1. There is variation across jurisdictions in the country. Data refer to typical age across jurisdictions. 2. In the United States, official starting age for compulsory education ranges between 5 and 8 years; official end of compulsory education for full-time students in general programmes ranges from 16 to 19 years.

3. Typical is based on modal values across countries and economies. Note: Theoretical starting age is the age at which students are expected to enter an education level according to national law or regulation. The theoretical duration is the number of years of schooling a student is expected to complete before graduating from an education level according to law or regulation. Countries and economies are shown in descending order of the number of compulsory years of schooling. Among education systems with the same number of years of compulsory education, countries/economies are shown in ascending order of the starting age of compulsory education, followed by the age at entry into pre-primary education, primary education, lower secondary and upper secondary education, and duration of upper secondary education. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Tables B3.1.1 and B3.1.2.

#### There are still wide gaps in pre-primary school attendance

As evidence about the importance of high-quality pre-primary education grows (Heckman, 2006<sub>[12]</sub>; OECD, 2018<sub>[13]</sub>), enrolment in pre-primary education has become more prevalent around the world (OECD, 2022<sub>[14]</sub>; UNESCO Institute for Statistics, 2012<sub>[15]</sub>). Research suggests that a variety of outcomes can be boosted by high-quality pre-primary education, including children's cognitive development and well-being, later academic achievement and even adult earnings (Duncan et al., 2007<sub>[16]</sub>; Nordic Council of Ministers, 2012<sub>[17]</sub>). In this regard, a recent study by UNICEF estimates that the temporary closures of pre-primary schools during the COVID-19 pandemic may have significant adverse effects on the earnings, later in life, of the children whose schools were closed, especially if the learning loss cannot be fully compensated for during subsequent years of schooling (Nugroho et al., 2020<sub>[18]</sub>).

Attendance at pre-primary school has been shown to improve students' behaviour, attention, effort and class participation in primary school (Berlinski, Galiani and Gertler, 2009<sub>[19]</sub>; Taniguchi, 2022<sub>[20]</sub>). In addition, early education programmes are cost-effective interventions with substantial economic returns to investment, particularly in low- and lower-middle-income countries (Heckman et al., 2010<sub>[21]</sub>; Richter et al., 2021<sub>[22]</sub>). The benefits of attendance at pre-primary education tend to be greater for socio-economically disadvantaged children (Suziedelyte and Zhu, 2015<sub>[23]</sub>). However, the benefits also depend on the quality of the early childhood education and care, as defined by positive staff-child interactions and more exposure to developmental activities, among other factors (Melhuish et al., 2015<sub>[24]</sub>).

Data from PISA 2022 show that most 15-year-old students reported that they had attended pre-primary education for 3 years or more (57% of students), 2 years (24%), or 1 year (14%), on average across OECD countries (Table II.B1.4.1). In 50 countries/economies, at least 90% of students had attended pre-primary education for at least one year. In Denmark\*, Hong Kong (China)\*, Hungary, Iceland, Japan, and Macao (China), attending pre-primary education for at least 2 years was virtually universal (more than 95% of students had done so). By contrast, at least 25% of students in Baku (Azerbaijan), Cambodia, the Dominican Republic, Kazakhstan, Kosovo, Morocco, North Macedonia, Saudi Arabia and Uzbekistan reported that they had not attended or that they had attended pre-primary education for less than a year.

Cross-national variations in participation in pre-primary education may be related to several factors. For example, some countries may have lower rates of pre-primary attendance due to longer parental leave, or because there is a culture where infants are cared for in the home. Other countries, such as the United Kingdom, may offer earlier access to primary education and therefore there is less time between birth and primary school for attendance at pre-primary education. However, the main source of cross-country variations is most likely related to the extent to which pre-primary education is available and affordable to all families. To improve the affordability of early childhood education, governments typically build and manage pre-primary schools directly, subsidise private school operators through public grants and tax relief, or support households through vouchers and tax credits (Boeskens, 2016<sub>[25]</sub>; Doorley et al., 2021<sub>[26]</sub>; Purcal and Fisher, 2006<sub>[27]</sub>).

The percentages of 15-year-old students who had attended pre-primary education remained fairly stable between 2018 and 2022, on average across OECD countries (Table II.B1.4.4). While in 2018 93.7% of 15-year-olds had attended pre-primary education for one year or longer, in 2022 the percentage had increased to 94.1%, a small but significant difference. In some education systems, including Baku (Azerbaijan), Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Montenegro, Saudi Arabia and Türkiye, attendance at pre-primary school for at least a year increased by at least five percentage points during the period. Particularly noteworthy is the increase in pre-primary school attendance in Saudi Arabia where the share of 15-year-olds who had attended pre-primary education for at least a year increased from 48% to 71% in the space of four years. By contrast, in Albania, the Dominican Republic and the Philippines there was an increase of at least 3 percentage points in the share of 15-year-olds who had not attended pre-primary education at all, or who had done so for less than a year.

While the gender gap in access to pre-primary education was generally small or negligible in 2022, the socioeconomic gap was sizeable (Figure II.4.4 and Table II.B1.4.2). In 66 out of 80 countries/economies for which there are comparable data, socio-economically advantaged students were more likely to have attended pre-primary education than disadvantaged students. In 12 education systems, the socio-economic gap in attendance amounted to more than 20 percentage points. In Türkiye, for instance, 93% of socio-economically advantaged students but only 60% of disadvantaged students had attended pre-primary education for at least one year. Students with an immigrant background were also less likely to have attended pre-primary education than students without an immigrant background, on average across OECD countries. The gap in pre-primary participation related to immigrant background was particularly large in Germany, Jamaica, Jordan, Kazakhstan, Malta, the Netherlands\*, Norway, the Philippines, Slovenia, Sweden, Thailand and Türkiye. In Slovenia, for example, 95% of students without an immigrant background had attended pre-primary education for at least one year, compared to 69% of students with an immigrant background.

Access to early childhood education for rural children remains a challenge in many parts of the world, particularly in middle- and low-income countries (Choudhury, Joshi and Kumar, 2023<sub>[28]</sub>; Temple, 2009<sub>[29]</sub>; Zaw, Mizunoya and Yu, 2021<sub>[30]</sub>). PISA 2022 data confirm that fewer students in rural schools had attended pre-primary education than students in urban schools, especially in partner countries/economies (Table II.B1.4.3). In Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, the Dominican Republic, Guatemala, North Macedonia, Panama\*, Qatar and Saudi Arabia participation in pre-primary education was at least 10 percentage points higher among students enrolled in urban schools than among students enrolled in rural schools. In Georgia, Lithuania and Morocco the rural-urban gap surpassed 20 percentage points.

Students who had attended pre-primary education for longer scored better in mathematics than students who had not attended at all or who had attended for only a few months (Table II.B1.4.5). On average across OECD countries, the mathematics score attained by students who had attended pre-primary education for 1 year, 2 years or 3 years or more was higher (11, 17 and 16 score points higher, respectively) than the score attained by students who never attended or who had attended for less than one year, after accounting for socio-economic factors.

# Figure II.4.4. Differences in 15-year-old students' attendance at pre-primary school



Percentage of students who had attended pre-primary school; OECD average

1. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS). Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

#### Does attendance at pre-primary education make it less likely that students will repeat a grade?

One of the reasons parents enrol their children in early childhood education is to prepare them for regular school, and to help them avoid academic and social problems later. Grade repetition is regarded as one of those problems. While the cross-sectional nature of PISA data cannot establish causality, PISA 2022 results clearly show that, on average across OECD countries and in a majority of education systems, students who had attended pre-primary education for at least one year were considerably less likely to have repeated a grade in any education level than

students who had never attended pre-primary education or who had attended for less than one year, even after accounting for socio-economic factors (Figure II.4.5).

The education systems with the strongest negative association between attendance at early childhood education and grade repetition were Denmark\*, Greece, Iceland, Israel, Malaysia, Singapore, Sweden, Chinese Taipei and Thailand; the only education system with a positive association was North Macedonia. In the case of Thailand, for instance, 15-year-old students who had not attended pre-primary education, or had done so for less than one year, were about 5 times more likely to have repeated a grade than students who had attended for one year or longer.

# Figure II.4.5. Attendance at pre-primary school and grade repetition

#### Based on students' reports



1. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

1.5

1.0

2.0

Note: Significant odds ratios are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3).

0

0.5

Countries and economies are ranked in ascending order of the increased likelihood (odds ratio) of repeating a grade at least once at any education level when the student had attended pre-primary school for at least one year (ref: not having attended or having attended for less than a year), after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile.

2.5 0.0

0

1.5

2.0

1.0

0.5

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

Guatemala

0.0

Odds ratio

Kosovo

2.5

Odds ratio

# Grade repetition: A vanishing practice

Grade repetition is the practice of requiring students to remain in the same grade level for an additional year, instead of promoting them to the next grade along with their peers of the same age. School leaders and teachers, sometimes in consultation with parents, are responsible for decisions on who will be promoted or retained, sometimes within guidelines or regulations coming from national or other levels of government (European Commission, 2011<sub>[31]</sub>). Students are typically required to repeat a grade when they do not perform well academically, but other factors, such as behaviour, fluency in the language of instruction and students' background characteristics, may also play a role. In this regard, PISA 2015 data revealed that boys, socio-economically disadvantaged students, and students with an immigrant background were more likely to have repeated a grade, even after accounting for test performance and school-related attitudes and behaviours (OECD, 2016<sub>[32]</sub>).

The intended purpose of grade repetition is to give students a "second chance" to master the knowledge and skills appropriate for their grade level. If the curriculum is cumulative and further learning depends on a solid understanding of what had been previously learned, then promoting students regardless of their mastery of the content might put low-performing students in an increasingly difficult position at higher grades. For some of these students, repeating a grade may improve their academic achievement (Jacob and Lefgren, 2004<sub>[33]</sub>). Removing the "threat" of grade repetition may also have a negative impact on students' willingness to put effort into their schoolwork (Zhang and Huang, 2022<sub>[34]</sub>).

However, previous studies have shown that this "threat" effect is far from universal (Cabrera-Hernandez, 2022<sub>[35]</sub>), and that any short-term gains in test scores associated with grade repetition tend to disappear in the long run (Alet, Bonnal and Favard, 2013<sub>[36]</sub>). Previous research has, in fact, found mostly negative effects of grade repetition on student outcomes. For instance, students who had repeated a grade tend to perform less well in school and hold more negative attitudes towards school at age 15 than students who had not repeated a grade in primary or in secondary education; they are also more likely to drop out of high school (Ikeda and García, 2014<sub>[37]</sub>; Manacorda, 2012<sub>[38]</sub>). In addition, grade repetition can be a costly policy, as it generally requires greater expenditure on education and delays students' entry into the labour market (Education Endowment Foundation, 2023<sub>[39]</sub>; OECD, 2013<sub>[40]</sub>).

PISA uses a self-reported measure of grade repetition based on students' responses to questions in the student questionnaire that ask at which education level (primary or secondary) and how often (never, once or more than once) they had repeated a grade. In interpreting the results, it is important to bear in mind that, since most of 15-year-olds' school years took place before the pandemic, PISA 2022 results should only partially reflect the COVID-19 effect on grade repetition rates (if there is such an effect).

On average across OECD countries in 2022, 9% of students reported that they had repeated a grade at least once in either primary or secondary school (Figure II.4.6 and Table II.B1.4.10). In 36 countries/economies, 5% of students or less had repeated a grade. This group includes Japan and Norway, where the question was not asked to students, but where grade repetition is expected to be close to zero given that a policy of automatic promotion is in place at the primary and lower secondary levels and all, or virtually all, students were enrolled in the same grade level (Tables B3.4.2 and II.B1.4.7). In 14 countries, more than 20% of students had repeated a grade; in Colombia almost 40% of students had repeated a grade, and in Morocco around 46% of students had done so.

Consistent with the downward trend observed in earlier PISA assessments (OECD, 2020<sub>[41]</sub>), the share of 15-yearolds who had repeated a grade continued to decline between 2018 and 2022. While in 2018 about 11% of 15-yearolds had repeated a grade at least once, on average across OECD countries, in 2022, 9% of students had so done, a decline of almost 2 percentage points (Table II.B1.4.13). The largest drops, of at least six percentage points, were observed in Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Costa Rica, the Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Macao (China), Mexico, Panama\*, Peru, Portugal, Spain and Uruguay. The drop in the percentage of students who had repeated a grade over the past two decades was particularly steep in France (see Box II.4.1). In 2003, about 40% of students had repeated a grade in France; by 2015 the percentage had dipped to 22%; and in 2022 only 11% of students had repeated a grade (Figure II.4.7). By contrast, in a few education systems, particularly Albania, the Netherlands\*, the Philippines and the Slovak Republic, the proportion of students who had repeated a grade grew during the 2018-2022 period.

In almost all school systems, repeating a grade was more common among boys than among girls, and the gender gap was larger in those education systems with a higher incidence of grade repetition (Table II.B1.4.11). Furthermore, in 63 countries/economies disadvantaged students were more likely than advantaged students to have repeated a grade (Figure II.4.6). On average across OECD countries, a disadvantaged student was more than three times as likely as an advantaged student to have repeated a grade at least once. Students with an immigrant background were also more likely to have repeated a grade; this was observed in 47 education systems. In half of these education systems, students with an immigrant background were at least three times more likely to have repeated a grade. In Finland, for instance, only 2% of students without an immigrant background but 13% with an immigrant background had repeated a grade at least once.

## 138 |

# Figure II.4.6. Grade repetition, and student and school characteristics

Percentage of students who had repeated a grade at least once in primary and secondary education

Positive difference Negative difference Difference is not significant Missing values



Note: Questions about the type of school were not asked in the Flemish-speaking Community of Belgium. Data for Belgium represent only the French-speaking and Germanspeaking Communities.

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students who had repeated a grade at least once.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

# Box II.4.1. France re-thinks grade repetition

The French education system has traditionally been characterised by an exceptionally high number of grade repeaters. Not anymore. In 2003, almost four in ten 15-year-old students in France had repeated a grade at least once; nearly two decades later, the proportion had dropped to just one in ten (Figure II.4.7a). While in 2009, France had the third-highest percentage of grade repeaters among all OECD countries, only behind Costa Rica and Luxembourg (OECD, 2016), in 2022 the share of grade repeaters in France was just slightly above the OECD average. As this most recent PISA test shows, grade repetition rates in France were lower than those in Austria, Belgium, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Germany, the Netherlands, Portugal, Spain and Switzerland (Figure II.4.6). Interestingly, before the COVID-19 pandemic hit, this drop in grade repetition rates was not accompanied by a decline in mathematics performance (Figure II.4.7b), nor by an improvement in socio-economic fairness in France (Figure II.4.7c), at least when compared to other OECD countries.



## Figure II.4.7. Key indicators on education in France, 2003 through 2022

1. The OECD average includes 20 countries with results for all assessments since 2003.

2. The question on grade repetition was not asked in PISA 2006.

3. The socio-economic status of students is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database.

Why did the incidence of grade repetition in France decline so sharply? While there may be many reasons, the main factor is probably related to changes in the regulations on grade repetition. In 2013, grade repetition was rendered an exceptional measure (*LOI n° 2013-595 du 8 juillet 2013 d'orientation et de programmation pour la refondation de l'école de la République*); one year later it was prohibited in pre-primary school, and only permitted in cases where students in primary or lower secondary school suffered serious disruptions to their learning, for instance because of long-term illness (*Décret du 18 novembre sur le suivi et l'accompagnement pédagogique des élèves*). More recently, the French government backtracked, clarifying that holding back a student who is facing difficulties is not prohibited (except in pre-primary school where pupils are still automatically promoted), and that the decision should be made by the Council of Teachers (in primary school) or by the school principal (in lower secondary school) (*Décret n° 2018-119 du 20 février 2018 relatif au redoublement*). However, repeating a grade should remain an exception and, when prescribed, should be accompanied by a programme that encourages individual academic success (*Programme personnalisé de réussite educative*).

Where this regulatory back-and-forth will take the French education system is still an open question. One thing seems clear: if grade repetition becomes the default policy again, the education system will need to dedicate more resources to cover all the additional school years that students are held back. To avoid the ballooning of costs associated with grade repetition (Benhenda and Grenet, 2015[42]), French schools will need to make the most of existing support

programmes, such as <u>Remise à niveau</u> and <u>Activités pédagogiques complémentaires</u> in primary education and <u>Devoirs faits</u> in lower secondary education, to support struggling students before they are required to repeat a grade.

*Remise à niveau* are support programmes where low-achieving students in primary education learn French and mathematics in small groups during three separate holiday weeks. *Activités pédagogiques complémentaires* are differentiated instruction actions whereby struggling students in primary education are offered support activities to awaken and strengthen their desire for learning. *Devoirs faits* is a study-help programme offered in lower secondary schools to ensure that all students, especially those whose parents cannot support them academically, can complete homework assignments.

#### Some education systems promote all students to the next grade level

Through its system-level questionnaire, PISA 2022 asked countries to describe the regulations regarding grade repetition in primary and lower secondary education for students enrolled in both general and vocational programmes. Across countries and economies that participated in PISA 2022, the policy of automatic promotion (i.e. no grade repetition) was adopted by approximately 28% of education systems for primary education and by 24% of systems for lower secondary education. The school systems incorporating automatic promotion at both primary and lower secondary levels include Iceland, Israel, Japan, Korea, Mexico, Norway and the United Kingdom. Among the education systems that use grade repetition, approximately 55% impose some sort of restriction on its use, typically allowing it only in certain grades or limiting the times a student can repeat; 45% of these systems do not impose any limitation.

The prevalence of grade repetition, as reported by students, varies depending on how education systems regulate the practice (Figure II.4.8). In education systems with automatic promotion in primary education, 3.6% of students had repeated a grade at least once in primary education; 6.7% of students had repeated a grade at least once in the education systems that allow grade repetition with restrictions; and 7.6% of students had repeated a grade at least once in the education systems that allow grade repetition with restrictions. Similarly, in the education systems with automatic promotion at the lower secondary level, 3.1% of students had repeated a grade at least once in lower secondary education; 4.8% of students had repeated a grade at least once in those systems that allow grade repetition with restrictions; and 5.6% of students had repeated a grade at least once in the education systems that allow grade repetition with restrictions; and 5.6% of students had repeated a grade at least once in the education systems that allow grade repetition with restrictions; and 5.6% of students had repeated a grade at least once in the education systems that allow grade repetition with restrictions; and 5.6% of students had repeated a grade at least once in the education systems that allow grade repetition with restrictions. These results suggest that education systems that aim to reduce the share of grade repeaters may reasonably expect to achieve their goal by imposing certain restrictions on grade repetition or eliminating the practice altogether. However, the results also indicate that other factors may be at play, such as cultural traditions and societal beliefs about the benefits of grade repeaters who emigrated recently may have repeated a grade in their previous education system, which may slightly overestimate the prevalence of grade repetition in education systems with automatic grade promotion.

# Figure II.4.8. Regulations and prevalence of grade repetition

Percentage of students who had repeated a grade at least once at the specified education level; system-level analysis



Notes: The number of education systems in each group is shown inside the columns.

For this analysis, the French-speaking and Flemish-speaking communities of Belgium are included as separate entities because they reported different regulations on grade repetition. The German-speaking community (Belgium) did not provide information.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4, and Tables B3.4.1 and B3.4.2.

# Do teachers in education systems with automatic grade promotion provide greater support to students?

Policy makers, teachers and parents in education systems where grade repetition is allowed may wonder how education systems with automatic grade promotion handle students with inadequate knowledge and skills who would have been held back in their system. Education experts often argue that grade repetition should be replaced with additional and effective support to struggling students, following a more mastery-based approach to learning. According to this approach, students are expected to spend time on a task until they achieve full proficiency, receiving support from teachers when necessary. But do teachers in education systems with automatic grade promotion provide greater teacher support than teachers in education systems where grade retention is allowed?

Grade repetition does not only affect academically struggling students: PISA data have shown that the policy may also target students with negative behaviours and attitudes (OECD, 2016<sub>[32]</sub>). For this reason, all teachers, but especially those in education systems where grade repetition cannot be the "solution" for misbehaving students, should also consider the socio-emotional dimension of teaching by building positive and healthy relationships with their students. Do teachers in education systems with automatic promotion build healthy relationships with students?

In order to answer these questions, the indices of mathematics teacher support and quality of student-teacher relationships were examined. The index of mathematics teacher support is based on students' responses to such statements as "The teacher gives extra help when students need it" and "The teacher continues teaching until the students understand". The index of quality of student-teacher relationships is built on students' responses to such statements as "When my teachers ask how I am doing, they are really interested in my answer", and "The teachers at my school are friendly towards me" (for more details on these indices, see Chapter 3).

Students in education systems with automatic grade promotion were more likely than students in education systems without automatic grade promotion to report that their mathematics teachers are supportive, and that they have good relationships with their teachers (when considering the former, the difference is significant only when comparing OECD countries) (Figure II.4.9). For instance, in OECD countries with automatic grade promotion the index of mathematics teacher support had a value of 0.16, which is significantly higher than the value of -0.10 found in OECD countries that practice grade retention.

# Figure II.4.9. Supporting students in education systems with automatic grade promotion

#### System-level analysis



Automatic promotion to next grade level in primary or lower secondary education

Note: Statistically significant differences between education systems with and without automatic grade promotion are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3). Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

# Students who have repeated a grade multiple times share certain characteristics

The PISA sample does not include students who have dropped out of the school system. However, it does include students who are at a clear risk of leaving school early, some of whom may be close to doing so. Students who skip school regularly tend to be at risk of dropping out entirely. PISA 2018 showed that students who had skipped a whole day of school five times or more in the two weeks prior to the PISA test (but not those who skipped some classes or arrived late for class) scored very low in the reading test (OECD, 2019[43]). Similarly, repeating a grade multiple times during compulsory education indicates that a student is socially, emotionally and academically disengaged from school life. To describe who these students are, the PISA questions on grade repetition in primary, lower secondary and upper secondary school were combined to classify students into three groups: those who had never repeated a grade, those who had repeated only once, and those who had repeated two or more times throughout their academic career.

On average across OECD countries, 91.1% of students had never repeated a grade, 7.2% had repeated a grade once, and 1.7% had repeated a grade more than once (Table II.B1.4.16). The education systems where at least 5% of students had repeated a grade multiple times were: Brazil, Cambodia, Colombia, the Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Jordan, Morocco, the Palestinian Authority, the Philippines, Qatar, the United Arab Emirates and Uruguay. Among OECD countries, Colombia (13% of students), Israel (4.1%), Belgium (4.1%), Portugal (3.9%), Spain (3.6%) and Chile (3.4%), in descending order, had the largest percentages of students who had repeated a grade more than once.

The findings in Figure II.4.10 and Figure II.4.11 clearly show that students who had repeated a grade multiple times display characteristics, attitudes and behaviours that set them apart from students who had never repeated a grade, and even from those who had repeated just once. The multiple repeaters were, in comparison to students who had never repeated a grade, more likely to be boys, socio-economically disadvantaged, with an immigrant background, and low-achievers in mathematics, reading and science. They were more likely to have skipped a whole day of school and missed school for at least three months. They also reported a weaker sense of belonging at school and, contrary to some stereotypes depicting these students as those who bully other students frequently, they reported being the
victim of bullying much more frequently than students who had never repeated a grade, or who had repeated just once. While this finding does not mean that these students never bully other students, it does paint a more nuanced portrait of students who have repeated a grade multiple times during compulsory education.

The following results provide clear evidence of the characteristics of multiple repeaters:

- About 67% of them were boys, compared to the percentage of boys (49%) among students who had never repeated a grade, and the percentage of boys (57%) among students who had repeated only once
- Almost one in three had an immigrant background, compared to one in seven among those who had not repeated a grade
- They were twice as likely to have skipped school at least once in the two weeks prior to the PISA test, and seven times more likely to have missed school for a long period, than students who had never repeated a grade
- They were more than three times as likely to be low achievers in mathematics, reading and science as students who had always progressed to the next grade level
- Their value in the index of being bullied was almost one standard deviation above that observed among students who had never repeated a grade
- Keeping these students in school, and ensuring that they acquire the knowledge and skills necessary to lead
  a productive and satisfying life is an urgent challenge for policy makers, school leaders and teachers,
  particularly those in education systems with large shares of students who have repeated grades multiple
  times.

# Figure II.4.10. Demographics, school absenteeism and academic performance, by grade repetition



Percentage of students, by the following characteristics; based on students' reports

Note: All differences between students who never repeated and those who did more than once are statistically significant (see Annex A3). Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

# Figure II.4.11. Socio-economic status, sense of belonging and bullying, by grade repetition

m L Difference (in index point) between students who never repeated and those who did more than once Had never repeated Had repeated once Had repeated more than once Mean index 0.6 0.84 0.4 0.2 0.0 --0.2 -0.39 -0.51 -0.4 -0.6 -0.8 PISA index of economic, Index of sense of belonging at school Index of being bullied social and cultural status

Note: All differences between students who never repeated and those who did more than once are statistically significant (see Annex A3). Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

# **Grouping and selecting students**

Horizontal stratification refers to the policies and practices used to select and sort students who are enrolled in the same grade or education level into different schools, instructional programmes or ability groups. As with vertical stratification practices, horizontal stratification policies aim to manage students' heterogeneity in their interests and academic performance, allowing teachers and schools to work with students who have similar levels of knowledge, paces of learning or career prospects. However, research warns that horizontal stratification tends to exacerbate achievement gaps and socio-economic inequality with little effect on average academic performance (Gamoran, 2009<sub>[44]</sub>). Sorting and grouping processes tend to be not just academically but also socio-economically selective (Gerber and Cheung, 2008<sub>[45]</sub>; Glaesser and Cooper, 2011<sub>[46]</sub>; Van de Werfhorst, 2019<sub>[47]</sub>). Other studies show that early tracking may also hamper students' civic and political engagement later in their lives, particularly among students not selected for academically oriented programmes (Witschge and van de Werfhorst, 2020<sub>[48]</sub>).

Three types of horizontal stratification are examined here, all of them related mostly to the fairness component of resilience (Table II.B1.4.31). Horizontal stratification between schools, typically referred as concentration of students in schools, is the extent to which two or more social groups attend the same schools. Horizontal stratification between instructional programmes, usually known as tracking, is the practice of sorting students into academically oriented programmes or vocational programmes. Horizontal stratification within schools or programmes, typically labelled as ability grouping, might occur in two ways: grouping students into different classes or grouping them within the same class.

Based on students' reports

#### Composing a student body

Schools can be places where students with different social backgrounds mingle, but they can also be places where students only, or mostly, meet other students with a similar background. The concentration of students in schools is the extent to which two or more social groups attend the same schools. There are multiple indices to measure school segregation (Frankel and Volii, 2011[49]), including the isolation index used in this section. These indices aim to gauge the opportunities for social interaction between different groups of students within a school. This is important because classmates and schoolmates can have a strong influence on one another (i.e. peer effects) - for better and for worse. They can motivate each other and help each other overcome learning difficulties; but they can also disrupt instruction, require disproportionate attention from teachers, and be a source of anxiety. Recent empirical evidence emphasises that, depending on their own level of ability and gender, some students are more sensitive than others to the composition of their classes (Burke and Sass, 2013[50]; Lavy, Silva and Weinhardt, 2012[51]; Mendolia, Paloyo and Walker, 2018[52]). Moreover, greater social mixing in schools may nurture tolerance towards others (Karsten, 2010[53]). and may thus benefit society as a whole. PISA 2022 data show, for instance, that generalised social trust (the extent to which individuals have trust in other members of society) was higher in countries/economies where socioeconomically advantaged students were more likely to share school with less privileged students (Figure II.4.12). However, more social mixing also poses some challenges to teachers and school leaders and, in certain circumstances, may lead to social conflict (Loxbo, 2018[54]).

The concentration of students in schools can be affected by the level of residential segregation in a location, economic inequalities, school admissions and transfer policies (school selectivity), the degree of school competition, the criteria families use to choose a school, the size of the private education sector, and the share of students enrolled in vocational programmes (provided they do not share school premises with students in academically oriented programmes) (Bonal, Zancajo and Scandurra, 2019<sub>[55]</sub>; Kutscher, Nath and Urzúa, 2023<sub>[56]</sub>; Wilson and Bridge, 2019<sub>[57]</sub>). Some of these factors are directly linked to the school system (most of which are examined in Figure II.4.16 and Figure II.4.17), but others, such as the economic inequalities and the levels of residential segregation, are external to the education system.

The degree of concentration of students in schools in an education system can be measured in different ways. In this section, the analysis is based on the isolation index, which measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from all other types of students or from a specific group of students (e.g. advantaged students) based on the school they attend. The isolation index is based on the normalised exposure index (see Annex A3 for more details), and ranges from zero to one, where zero corresponds to full exposure and one to full isolation. For instance, if all students are boys in the school attended by the average boy, which would be the case in an education system where there are only single-sex schools, the isolation index for boys (and for girls) would be one. By contrast, if boys and girls were randomly allocated to schools, the isolation index would be zero, or very close to zero. The isolation index has the advantage of being (close to) scale-invariant and bounded (between 0 and 1) (Owens et al., 2022[58]). More importantly, the isolation index not only tells us how unequally distributed a particular group is across an education system, but it also tells us if a group of students is isolated from, or exposed to, other groups of students. When interpreting the findings, it is important to bear in mind that the isolation index is calculated for entire education systems, and not for smaller geographical areas, such as school districts and metropolitan areas, where students transfer from one school to another more frequently. This means that if a group of students is unequally distributed across the territory of a country/economy, their value in the isolation index will be higher. For instance, this might be the case for students with an immigrant background. If they are concentrated in urban areas, which is often the case, the isolation index of these students is likely to be higher when calculated for the entire country/economy.



# Figure II.4.12. Concentration of students in schools and generalised social trust

Note: The isolation index measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students, or from a specific group of students (e.g. advantaged students), based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure and 1 to full isolation. Sources: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4, and World Values Survey - Wave 7 (2017-22).

#### Concentration of socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged students in schools

In most PISA-participating countries/economies, in 2022 socio-economically advantaged students were more isolated, or more concentrated, in certain schools than their disadvantaged peers (Figure II.4.13 and Table II.B1.4.17). The education systems where advantaged students were most concentrated into certain schools, relative to the concentration experienced by disadvantaged students, were Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Hong Kong (China)\*, Morocco, Panama\*, Paraguay, Thailand and Uruguay.

The degree to which socio-economically advantaged students were exposed to non-advantaged students, a group that includes both socio-economically average students and disadvantaged students, varied considerably across education systems. In many Latin American countries, such as Brazil, Chile, Colombia, El Salvador, Guatemala, Panama\* and Peru, advantaged students were the least likely among their advantaged counterparts in the other PISA-participating countries/economies to encounter non-advantaged students in their school (Figure II.4.13 and Table II.B1.4.17). These countries are usually characterised by having high levels of income inequality and residential segregation, and a prevalence of private schools, which may explain why advantaged students are so often isolated in these education systems. At the other end of the spectrum, advantaged students were most likely to share the same school with non-advantaged students in Canada\*, Denmark\*, Finland, Iceland, Ireland\*, Korea, New Zealand\*, Norway, the Palestinian Authority and Uzbekistan.

The concentration of disadvantaged students in some schools followed somewhat different patterns. While the list of countries and economies with the highest levels of concentration of disadvantaged students included some Latin American countries, such as Colombia, El Salvador, Guatemala, Panama\* and Peru, it also included the European countries Austria, Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Romania and the Slovak Republic, and Viet Nam (Table II.B1.4.17). Disadvantaged students were more likely to attend schools with non-disadvantaged students in Brunei Darussalam, Finland, Jamaica\*, Kosovo, Malta, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Norway and Uzbekistan.

# Figure II.4.13. Concentration of socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged students in schools

#### Based on the isolation index<sup>1</sup>



Advantaged students

1. The isolation index measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students, or from a specific group of students (e.g. advantaged students), based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure and 1 to full isolation. Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the extent to which socio-economically advantaged students were isolated from all other students (i.e. non-advantaged students).

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

#### Concentration of immigrants in schools

The concentration in schools of students with an immigrant background, and the effects that this may have on student outcomes for both native and immigrant students, is a hotly debated issue. Some scholars have shown that having a high concentration of immigrant students may hinder the academic performance of both native and immigrant students (Jensen and Rasmussen, 2011<sub>[59]</sub>), but others have observed no effects (Hardoy, Mastekaasa and Schøne, 2018<sub>[60]</sub>, or only effects among immigrants students (Pedraja-Chaparro, Santín and Simancas, 2016<sub>[61]</sub>; Schneeweis,

2015<sub>[62]</sub>). Examining the degree to which immigrant students are concentrated in certain schools is nonetheless relevant for policy makers, particularly in those education systems with large shares of immigrant students.

Among the PISA-participating countries/economies where at least 5% of students have an immigrant background (Table I.B1.7.1), the highest levels of concentration of immigrants in schools (values in the isolation index above 0.25) were found in Australia\*, Austria, Canada\*, Qatar, the United Arab Emirates, the United Kingdom\* and the United States\* (Figure II.4.14 and Table II.B1.4.17). All of these are education systems where immigrant students represented more than 20% of the student population. However, other education systems with similar proportions of immigrant students, such as Germany, Hong Kong (China)\*, Macao (China), Singapore and Switzerland, displayed more moderate levels of concentration of immigrant students across schools. For instance, in Austria the isolation index of immigrant students was about 60% higher than that in Germany, despite having almost the same percentage of students with an immigrant background.

# Figure II.4.14. Concentration of immigrant students in schools



Based on the isolation index

1. The isolation index measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students, or from a specific group of students (e.g. advantaged students), based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure and 1 to full isolation. Notes: Only countries and economies where more than 5% of students have an immigrant background are examined.

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the extent to which students with an immigrant background were isolated from students without an immigrant background.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

#### Concentration of low- and high-achieving students in schools

Education systems differ greatly in the extent to which high-achieving and low-achieving students in mathematics share the same schools. Many European countries, such as Austria, Bulgaria, France, Germany, Hungary, the Netherlands\*, Romania, the Slovak Republic, and Slovenia and Türkiye, and also Jamaica\* and Japan, stood out for displaying high levels in the index of isolation of low- or high-achievers (Table II.B1.4.17). For example, with a value of 0.95 in the isolation index, in the Netherlands\* it was virtually impossible for a low-achieving student in mathematics to be enrolled in the same school as a high-achieving student. By contrast, in Baku (Azerbaijan), Denmark\*, Estonia, Finland, Iceland, Ireland\*, Malta, Norway, Saudi Arabia, Spain, Sweden and Uzbekistan, low-achieving 15-year-olds were most likely to attend the same schools as high-achieving students.

#### Concentration of boys and girls in schools

Schools are often imagined as having similar numbers of boys and girls. Across OECD countries, the concentration of boys and girls is certainly less prevalent than that based on socio-economic status, immigrant background or academic performance, but it is observed (Table II.B1.4.17). For instance, in Jordan, the Palestinian Authority and Saudi Arabia (values in the isolation index above 0.9), boys were completely, or almost completely, isolated from girls in their schools. In Qatar and the United Arab Emirates (values in the isolation index above 0.5), many boys were isolated from girls in their schools, largely because most (or all) public schools are single-gender schools. Other education systems, such as Austria, Croatia, Ireland\*, Israel, Korea, Malta, New Zealand\* and Slovenia, also showed significant levels of concentration of boys and girls in certain schools. Single-gender schools are the main reason why gender imbalances across schools were observed, but the prevalence of vocational programmes, which tend to present greater gender disparities than academic programmes, also contributed to this imbalance (see Box III.3.1 in (OECD, 2019<sub>[43]</sub>)). This may explain why, across OECD countries, 15-year-old boys in comprehensive systems like Estonia, Finland, Norway and Sweden were among the least isolated from girls. However, in some highly stratified systems, such as Costa Rica and the Netherlands\*, boys and girls were also evenly distributed across schools.

#### Concentration of other types of students in schools

PISA 2022 asked school principals to estimate the percentage of students in their school who have the following characteristics: "Students whose heritage language is different from test language"; "students with special learning needs"; "students from socio-economically disadvantaged homes"; "students who are immigrants (not including refugees)"; "students who have parents who have immigrated"; and "students who are refugees". Using principals' answers to this question in a given country/economy, measured by the standard deviation, allows for an estimation of how much these characteristics vary among schools. When interpreting the findings (Table II.B1.4.18), it is important to consider that the standard deviation can describe how much certain student characteristics vary across schools; but this variation will depend on how many students with such characteristics are (identified) in the system. For instance, if an education system rarely labels students as having special learning needs, the variation across schools is likely to be small, at least compared to countries where more students are classified as having special learning needs.

The scatterplot in Figure II.4.15 shows that, according to school principals, some education systems classified few students as having special learning needs. This occurred mostly in middle-income countries/economies where the means to identify and support these students were probably limited. The graph also shows that students with special learning needs were more concentrated in certain schools in some education systems than in others, even if there were similar proportions of these students. For instance, Finland and the Slovak Republic had a similar share of students with special learning needs (11%), but the variation across schools was considerably larger in the Slovak Republic (19 percentage points) than in Finland (7 percentage points). Students with special learning needs were also more unevenly distributed across schools than expected in Austria, Baku (Azerbaijan), Germany and Jamaica\*. Some education systems, such as Georgia, Mongolia, North Macedonia and Thailand, had relatively few students with special learning needs, but these students seemed to be concentrated in a limited number of schools. By contrast, some education systems distributed these students more evenly than expected across schools, probably because they favour a more inclusive approach towards students with special learning needs. Except for Finland, Iceland and Malta, this group largely consisted of English-speaking countries, such as Australia\*, Canada\*, Ireland\*, the United Kingdom\* and the United States\*.

As for the other student characteristics considered, the countries with the largest variations across schools were:

- **Students whose heritage language is different from the test language:** Georgia, Hong Kong (China)\*, Indonesia, Qatar and the United Arab Emirates
- **Students from socio-economically disadvantaged homes:** Chile, Colombia, the Dominican Republic, El Salvador and Guatemala

- Students who are immigrants (not including refugees): Austria, Germany, Qatar, Singapore and Switzerland
- Students who have parents who have immigrated: Australia\*, Austria, Canada\*, Germany and Qatar
- **Students who are refugees:** Baku (Azerbaijan), Georgia, Hong Kong (China)\*, Jordan and the Palestinian Authority.

#### Figure II.4.15. Variation across schools in the share of students with special learning needs

#### Results based on principals' reports



Note: Labels are only shown for countries and economies where principals reported percentages above 5%. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

## Early tracking and selective admissions procedures are related to the concentration of socioeconomically advantaged and disadvantaged students in schools

Figure II.4.16 and Figure II.4.17 reveal that the concentration of socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged students in schools is related to some of the stratification and school-choice policies presented in this report, even after accounting for per capita GDP and income inequality in the particular country/economy. Comparing 61 education systems with data for all 13 explanatory variables, the three variables that were associated with the concentration of both socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged students, measured by the isolation index described above, were the age at which students are first selected into different curricular programmes, the prevalence of ability grouping, and how selective schools are in the admissions process. The earlier students are selected into different academic programmes and the more selective schools are when admitting students, the greater the isolation of advantaged and disadvantaged students in the education system. Interestingly, there was less concentration of advantaged and disadvantaged students in schools in those education systems where students are frequently grouped by ability into different classes. This makes sense, because the need to place students with

varying levels of knowledge, skills and interests into different programmes/schools, which typically results in greater separation of these students across schools, may not be as pressing when these differences are already addressed within schools.

Other policies are associated with the concentration of socio-economically advantaged students in certain schools, but not with the concentration of their disadvantaged peers. This is observed in the percentage of students enrolled in private schools and school transfer policies. The larger the share of students attending private schools, the more isolated advantaged students are in certain schools. Also, education systems where it is relatively common to transfer students to another school because they excel academically exhibited higher concentrations of socio-economically advantaged students in certain schools.

Some stratification policies that one would expect to be related to school segregation are not significantly associated with the isolation of advantaged or disadvantaged students when various policies were examined jointly. That is the case when considering the percentage of students in vocational programmes, the degree to which schools compete for students, the proportion of school funding that comes from parents in the form of school fees, and how likely it is for schools to transfer students because of poor performance.

# Figure II.4.16. Policies associated with the concentration of advantaged students in schools



#### System-level analysis

Notes: The explained variable is based on the isolation index, which measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students, based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure and 1 to full isolation. The analysis is based on a multivariate linear regression analysis of the 61 education systems with available data. All explanatory variables are examined jointly.

Statistically significant coefficients are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3). Data for the Gini Index come from the World Development Indicators and the OECD database (only for Japan and New Zealand\*). The most recent year was used, unless data originate before 2013, in which case they appear as missing.

Variables are ranked in ascending order of the standardised regression coefficient.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4, and World Development Indicators.

# Figure II.4.17. Policies associated with the concentration of disadvantaged students in schools

System-level analysis



Notes: The explained variable is based on the isolation index, which measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students, based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure and 1 to full isolation.

The analysis is based on a multivariate linear regression analysis of the 61 education systems with data for all variables. All explanatory variables are examined jointly.

Statistically significant coefficients are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3).

Data for the Gini Index come from the World Development Indicators and the OECD database (only for Japan and New Zealand\*). The most recent year was used, unless data originate before 2013, in which case they appear as missing.

Variables are ranked in ascending order of the standardised regression coefficient.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4, and World Development Indicators.

In secondary education, the most common form of horizontal stratification between schools, typically known as instructional tracking, consists of sorting students into different education programmes. In education systems that use instructional tracking, some students choose or are selected into academically more demanding programmes, which focus on the general skills required for post-secondary education, while other students choose or are selected for vocational or technical programmes, which focus on the practical skills useful in the labour market (LeTendre, Hofer and Shimizu, 2003<sub>[63]</sub>; Oakes, 1985<sub>[2]</sub>; Perry and Southwell, 2014<sub>[64]</sub>). Often, among these vocational programmes there is a further distinction between those that allow students to access technical universities, which are typically longer in duration and combine academic and vocational subjects, and those channelling students directly into the labour market.

# *Differentiation among education programmes: Age at selection, and the number and types of study programmes*

The age at which students are first tracked and the number of different instructional programmes available to students are among the features of tracking policies that have been shown to be related to students' learning outcomes (Hanushek and Wößmann, 2006<sub>[65]</sub>; OECD, 2016<sub>[32]</sub>; Van de Werfhorst, 2019<sub>[47]</sub>).

Through its system-level questionnaire, PISA 2022 asked countries to provide a list of the school types or distinct education programmes available to 15-year-old students. Across countries and economies that participated in PISA 2022, the number of distinct education programmes available to 15-year-old students ranged from a single programme (in 24 education systems) to 7 different programmes (in Panama and Türkiye) (Figure II.4.18 and Table B3.1.4). Many education systems offered 2 (13 countries/economies), 3 (16 countries/economies), or 4 (17 countries/economies) instructional programmes to their 15-year-old students. Students in a few school systems could also choose from 5 (7 countries/economies) or 6 (3 countries/economies) distinct instructional programmes.

On average across OECD countries, school systems began selecting students for different programmes at the age of 14.3 years (Table B3.1.4), roughly the same age as in previous PISA cycles (OECD, 2020<sub>[41]</sub>; OECD, 2016<sub>[32]</sub>; OECD, 2013<sub>[40]</sub>). Some school systems, including Austria and Germany, continued selecting students as early as age 10; but the most common age at selection was 15 (37 countries/economies), followed by 16 (18 countries/economies). Most experts agree that selecting students before the age of 14 should be considered "early" tracking. According to this metric, students are tracked early in their education pathways in 15 school systems, namely Austria and Germany (selection at age 10); the Czech Republic and the Slovak Republic (selection at age 11); and Argentina, the Flemish Community of Belgium, the German-speaking Community of Belgium, Brunei Darussalam, Costa Rica, Jamaica, Morocco, the Netherlands, Paraguay, Singapore and Switzerland (selection at age 12).

# Figure II.4.18. Instructional programmes and ability grouping

		Horizon	tal differentiation between schools	Horizontal differentiation within schools										
First age at selection in the education system (early selection)			Percentage of students who are enrolled	Percentage of students in schools where students are grouped by ability into different classes Percentage of students in schools where students are grouped by ability within their classes										
Number of education programmes available to 15-year-old students	A	В	in a programme whose curriculum is:  General or modular  Pre-vocational or vocational	<ul> <li>One form of grouping for all subjects</li> <li>One form of grouping for some subjects</li> <li>No ability grouping for any subject</li> </ul>										
OECD average	2.7	14.3												
OECD														
Australia*	1	а												
Austria	4	10												
Belgium	4	12												
Canada*	1	а												
Chile	1	16												
Colombia	2	15												
Costa Rica	1	12												
Czech Republic	4	11												
Denmark*	1	16												
Estonia	1	16												
Finland	1	16												
France	3	15												
Germany	4	10												
Greece	2	15												
Hungary	5	14												
Iceland	1	16												
Ireland*	1	15												
Israel	2	15												
Italy	4	14												
Japan	5	15												
Korea	4	15												
Latvia*	1	16												
Lithuania	3	14												
Mexico	3	15												
Netherlands*	4	12												
New Zealand*	1	16												
Norway	1	16												
Poland	3	15												
Portugal	6	15												
Slovak Republic	4	11												
Slovenia	4	15												
Spain	2	15												
Sweden	1	16												
Switzerland	6	12												
Türkive	7	14												
United Kinadom*	1	16												
Listed Obstact	1	a												



Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, see Tables in Annex B1, Chapter 4 and Table B3.1.4.

#### Enrolment in vocational programmes

PISA 2022 asked students to report the kind of programme in which they were enrolled. Students' responses were then classified into two categories of programme orientation: general/modular or pre-vocational/vocational. On average across OECD countries, 87.4% of 15-year-old students were enrolled in a programme with a general/modular curriculum and 12.6% were enrolled in a programme with a pre-vocational or vocational curriculum (Table II.B1.4.19). In about a third of countries/economies, all 15-year-old students were enrolled in a general or modular programme; in about a third, some students were enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, but they represented less than 15% of the student population; and in the remaining third of school systems, at least 15% of students were enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational or vocational or vocational or vocational or vocational programmes. At least half of students in Austria, Bulgaria, Croatia, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Poland and Serbia were enrolled in these programmes.

Enrolment in vocational programmes remained roughly stable across OECD countries between 2018 and 2022. During the period, there was only a one percentage-point decrease in the share of students enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes (Table II.B1.4.24). In some countries/economies, enrolment in vocational programmes shrunk considerably, especially in Albania, Argentina, the Netherlands\*, Panama\* and Slovenia, whereas in others, including the Dominican Republic and Poland, the opposite was observed.

In countries and economies with large enrolments in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, these enrolments vary markedly according to students' profiles. In 27 of the 37 education systems where at least 5% of students were enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, boys were more likely than girls to participate in these programmes (Table II.B1.4.20). In Poland, for instance, roughly four in ten girls, but more than six in ten boys, were enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes. These gender gaps in vocational enrolment may later be reflected in gender segregation in the labour market (Imdorf, Hegna and Reisel, 2015<sub>[66]</sub>). Furthermore, in about 80% of these 37 education systems socio-economically disadvantaged students were more likely than advantaged students to be enrolled in these programmes (Figure II.4.19). This gap was at least 30 percentage points wide in Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Italy, Montenegro, North Macedonia Poland, Serbia and Chinese Taipei.

Students in rural schools are frequently offered fewer options when it comes to choosing courses and programmes, usually because there are insufficient numbers of interested students, or because there is a lack of qualified teachers and other necessary resources (Echazarra and Radinger, 2019<sub>[67]</sub>; Irvin et al., 2011<sub>[68]</sub>). These constraints generally limit the availability of vocational programmes, which often require teachers with specialised skills, and specific equipment and material (OECD, 2018<sub>[69]</sub>). PISA 2022 data show that, in about six out of ten education systems where at least 5% of students were enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, students in rural schools participated less frequently in vocational programmes than students in urban schools (Table II.B1.4.20). In the Czech Republic, for instance, about 3% of 15-year-old students in rural schools, but 36% of those in urban schools, were enrolled in vocational programmes. These findings do not necessary mean that rural students cannot access vocational programmes, but they may indicate that rural students need to commute long distances to participate in these programmes.

In a majority of countries and economies that offer both academic and vocational programmes to 15-year-old students, students in general programmes outperformed students in pre-vocational and vocational programmes in mathematics, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile (Table II.B1.4.25). The most extreme case is Spain, where almost 60 score points separate students in academic programmes from those in pre-vocational programmes. This is to be expected given that, in Spain, pre-vocational programmes were introduced as a way of keeping academically struggling students in school (this is not the case for the intermediate and advanced vocational programmes offered to older students). However, in some education systems, pre-vocational and vocational programmes have traditionally attracted students with good academic records. In 11 countries/economies, including Brazil, Colombia, the Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Japan, the Netherlands and Poland, students in vocational programmes scored higher in mathematics than those in general programmes, after accounting for socio-economic factors.



# Figure II.4.19. Enrolment in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by students' socio-economic status

Notes: Education systems with less than 1% of students enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes are not shown.

Statistically significant differences are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3)

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the difference in the percentage of students enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes between socioeconomically disadvantaged and advantaged students.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 4.

#### Ability grouping

Ability grouping in school involves placing students into different classrooms or in small instructional groups in a class based on the students' initial achievement or skill levels (Steenbergen-Hu, Makel and Olszewski-Kubilius, 2016<sub>[70]</sub>). Some research has shown that ability grouping can have a positive impact on the achievement of elementary school pupils, especially when there is mobility and flexibility in group allocations and when such grouping involves only specific subjects (Matthews, Ritchotte and McBee, 2013<sub>[71]</sub>; Slavin, 1987<sub>[72]</sub>). Other evidence suggests that ability grouping might not be as beneficial for struggling students if instruction is not differentiated across ability groups, or if those students are less likely to learn from their higher-performing peers (Hong et al., 2012<sub>[73]</sub>; Lucas, 2001<sub>[74]</sub>). In addition, some scholars point out that ability grouping within schools and giving students a greater choice of subjects often exacerbate educational stratification along socio-economic lines, often in ways that are not immediately obvious (Triventi et al., 2020<sub>[5]</sub>). For instance, socio-economically disadvantaged students are typically under-represented in advanced science, mathematics and foreign language courses, potentially limiting their educational opportunities (Farges et al., 2016<sub>[75]</sub>; Gortazar and Taberner, 2020<sub>[76]</sub>; Rudolphi and Erikson, 2016<sub>[77]</sub>). In response, New Zealand recently introduced a plan, called *Kōkirihia*, to eliminate streaming in their schools so that Māori and Pacific students are not incorrectly placed in the lowest-performing groups and classes (Box II.4.2).

While sorting students within schools can take multiple forms (Gamoran and Berends, 1987<sub>[78]</sub>), this section focuses on the extent to which education systems place students into different classes, or into different groups within the same class, based on their ability. The analysis also considers whether these forms of ability grouping are used for all subjects or only for some.

# Box II.4.2. Kōkirihia: The plan for removing streaming from Aotearoa (New Zealand) schools

In *Aotearoa* (the Māori name for New Zealand), the organisation *Tokonoa te Raki* uses social innovation to achieve equity in education, employment and income for all Māori. In 2019, the organisation published a research report, <u>He Awa Ara Rau – A Journey of Many Paths</u>, which tracked over 70 000 Māori youth on their way through education and into employment to better understand what propels them forward, the barriers to success they encounter, and the potential levers for change. One of the most significant barriers identified was the negative impacts of streaming.

Data from PISA and other international studies, such as TIMSS and PIRLS, have shown that the prevalence of grouping students by ability between classes, or 'streaming' (also known as tracking, banding or setting), has been consistently high over the years and much more common in *Aotearoa* than in most other countries (Davy, 2021<sub>[79]</sub>). In 2015, for instance, 90% of 15-year-olds students attended schools that used streaming for all or some subjects (OECD, 2016<sub>[32]</sub>).

In early 2021, representatives from *te Tāhuhu o te Mātauranga* (the Ministry of Education) and the *Mātauranga lwi* Leaders Group came to *Tokona te Raki*, an organisation that focuses on the future of Māori, with a call to action: to bring together leaders across the education sector to design an action plan to put an end to streaming in *Aotearoa*. What resulted was an innovative approach to create systematic change. <u>Kōkirihia</u> developed a triple-A framework: growing awareness, showcasing alternatives to streaming, and asking organisations across the education sector to take action.

Coalition members, including education agencies, sector unions and associations, Initial Teacher Education Institutions, and School Boards and Principals, made commitments to move towards ending streaming by 2030.

For instance, *Te Tāhuhu o te Mātauranga* (the Ministry of Education) committed to making inclusive practices clear in the development of a <u>Common Practice Model</u> and a <u>refreshed New Zealand Curriculum (Te Mātaiaho)</u>, and to monitor and report on progress. As part of the <u>Literacy and Communications and Maths Strategy</u>, the Common Practice Model outlines principles and evidence-based pedagogical approaches to teaching and learning for literacy, communication and mathematics. *Te Mātaiaho*, the refreshed NZ curriculum, is designed to give practical effect to *Te Tiriti o Waitangi*, be inclusive, and clearly outline what all Year 0 to 13 students will learn in eight learning areas across five phases. *Te Mātaiaho* is a progression-focused curriculum that describes what students should understand, know and do by the end of each phase.

PISA has played, and will continue to play, an important role in monitoring the shifts in practice that have already occurred. In 2022, 67% of 15-year-olds students attended schools where students were grouped by ability between classes for all or some subjects, a 23 percentage-point decline since 2015 (OECD,  $2016_{[32]}$ ), and a 17 percentage-point decline since 2018 (Table II.B1.4.29) – the second-largest declines in the use of streaming, after those observed in Costa Rica, across OECD countries. Much more work is needed to end streaming by 2030, but the roadmap in *Kōkirihia* has clear milestones to guide schools in developing their own strategic goals, plans and professional development.

This initiative showcases how systemic change can be produced not with the typical policy levers of legislation and regulation, but with collaboration in pursuit of a common goal.

#### Ability grouping into different classes

On average across OECD countries in 2022, almost 4 in 10 students attended schools where students are grouped by ability into different classes for all subjects (7%) or some subjects (31%) (Table II.B1.4.26). The greatest incidence of this kind of grouping was observed in Ireland\*, Israel, Malta and the United Kingdom\*. In these countries/economies, at least nine in ten students attended a school that groups students into different classes for all or some subjects. By contrast, fewer than one in ten students in Georgia, Greece, Italy, Moldova and Norway were

grouped by ability into different classes. The most consequential form of ability grouping, i.e. when used in all subjects, was more widespread in Saudi Arabia (47% of students attended such schools), Jordan (40%), Netherlands\* (37%), Cambodia (37%), the Palestinian Authority (35%) and Brunei Darussalam (35%).

Grouping students by ability between classes, for all or some subjects, was observed less frequently in 2022 than in 2018, on average across OECD countries (a 5 percentage-point decrease) and in about half of PISA-participating countries/economies (Table II.B1.4.29). Grouping students by ability became less prevalent over the period in education systems such as Argentina, Bulgaria, Costa Rica, Kosovo, New Zealand\*, North Macedonia, Romania and Serbia, while the practice became more widely used in Estonia, Hungary, Iceland and Malta.

Overall, the incidence of grouping students into different classes based on ability was not strongly associated with school characteristics (Table II.B1.4.27). On average across OECD countries, ability grouping was used to a similar degree in socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged schools, and in public and private schools. However, it was somewhat more frequently observed in urban than in rural schools. Still, there were interesting results for certain education systems. In Hungary and Macao (China), for instance, ability grouping between classes was observed largely in socio-economically advantaged (and average) schools; in Germany and Jamaica\* ability grouping was used mainly in socio-economically disadvantaged (and average) schools; and in Greece and Italy, it was practiced mostly in private schools.

Differences in mathematics performance between students who attended schools that practice and those that do not practice ability grouping into different classes (for some or all subjects) tended to be small, after accounting for the socio-economic profile of students and schools (Table II.B1.4.30). On average across OECD countries, this difference amounted to four score points in favour of schools with no ability grouping. In a further 14 countries/economies, students in schools that used ability grouping into different classes scored lower than students in schools that did not practice this type of ability grouping. These results are to be expected given that schools often consider using ability grouping when faced with large shares of struggling students and a wide range of skills in classes.

#### Ability grouping within classes

Grouping students by ability within classes was more common than ability grouping between classes. On average across OECD countries, about half of the students attended classes where there was ability grouping in at least one subject (Table II.B1.4.26). This comprises 42% of students who were grouped, within their classes, for some subjects, and 6% of students who were grouped for all subjects. Ability grouping within a class for some or all subjects was most prevalent in Brunei Darussalam, Hungary, the Netherlands\* and Qatar where at least 80% of students were affected by this practice. By contrast, ability grouping within the same class occurred the least frequently in Georgia, Greece, Moldova, Portugal and Uruguay. Grouping students by ability within classes, for all or some subjects, was observed less frequently in 2022 than in 2018, on average across OECD countries (a 7 percentage-point decrease) and in about half of PISA-participating countries/economies (Table II.B1.4.29).

Ability grouping in classes was somewhat more common in socio-economically disadvantaged than in advantaged schools. On average across OECD countries, 51% of students in disadvantaged schools were grouped by ability in their classes, compared to 43% of students in advantaged schools (Table II.B1.4.28). Ability grouping within classes was used to a similar extent in rural and urban schools, and in public and private schools.

Differences in mathematics performance between students who attended schools that practice and those that do not practice ability grouping within the same class (for some or all subjects) tended to be small, in line with the results observed for ability grouping between classes (Table II.B1.4.30). On average across OECD countries, this difference amounted to three score points in favour of schools with no ability grouping, after accounting for socio-economic factors. In a further 11 countries/economies, students in schools that used ability grouping within classes scored lower than students in schools that did not practice this type of ability grouping.

# Components of resilience: Reducing grade repetition and delaying tracking

Table II.4.2 provides an overview of the stratification policies in four groups of education systems, organised according to whether their mathematics performance and their ability to ensure that all students, regardless of their socio-economic background, can achieve at high levels (socio-economic fairness), were below or above the median value of all PISA-participating countries and economies. Based on this classification, the high-performing systems in which all students could flourish were, in many ways, different from the other three groups of education systems. These education systems had relatively few students who had attended pre-primary education for less than one year, and comparatively even fewer who had repeated a grade. Only 4.5% of students had repeated a grade in these education systems, considerably lower than the percentage observed in the other three groups.

As regards the sorting and grouping of students horizontally, both advantaged and disadvantaged students were less concentrated in certain schools in the group of equitable and high-performing education systems than they were in the other three groups of countries/economies. These systems also tracked students later into different curricular programmes. For instance, students in these systems were selected into different academic programmes at the age of 15.3, on average, whereas in the group of high-performing, but less equitable, education systems students were tracked at 13.8 years, on average. About 9% of students attended vocational programmes in the group of fair and high-performing education systems, a share lower but not significantly different from the other three groups. The fair and high-performing systems used ability grouping between classes for all subjects to a lesser extent than did low-performing systems, but to a similar extent as high-performing, but less fair, education systems.

The results presented in this section describe the stratification policies that were in place in the group of equitable and high-performing education systems. In themselves, they cannot explain why some countries/economies are more socio-economically fair or higher-performing than others. Making causal inferences is not advisable, given the cross-sectional nature of the PISA assessment, and the complexity of the relationships between stratification policies and student outcomes.

# Table II.4.2. Summary of stratification policies, by mathematics performance and socio-economic fairness

System-level analysis

		Groups of countries and economies according to their socio-economic fairness and performance in mathematics										
		Low performance – Low fairness	Low performance – High fairness	High performance – Low fairness	High performance – High fairness							
		N <sup>1</sup> = 14	N = 26	N = 27	N = 14							
Vertical	Percentage of students who had attended pre-primary school for less than a year	7.51	18.80	6.53	6.28							
Vertical stratification Sorting and selecting students students Hercentage of students with Isolation of disadvantaged Isolation of advantaged st Sorting and selecting students Age at which students are Percentage of students in Percentage of students in	Percentage of students who had repeated a grade at least once	14.19	12.75	8.87	4.52							
	Isolation of disadvantaged students	0.22	0.15	0.19	0.14							
Sorting and	Isolation of advantaged students	0.29	0.20	0.20	0.16							
selecting	Number of programmes or tracks available to 15-year-olds	2.86	2.63	3.19	2.36							
students	Age at which students are selected into different programmes or tracks	14.57	14.79	13.75	15.31							
stratification) Age (horizontal stratification) Perce for a	Percentage of students in pre-vocational or vocational programmes	15.82	12.93	13.91	8.83							
	Percentage of students grouped by ability into different classes for all subjects	11.27	18.84	8.88	7.16							

1. N = Number of countries and economies in each group. Due to missing data, the number of cases for individual variables may be lower.

Notes: Countries and economies are considered to have low(high) performance/equity if they are below(above) the median value of all PISA-participating countries and economies.

Values in grey indicate that the difference with the group "High performance - High fairness" was statistically significant. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database.

# Table II.4.3. Selecting and grouping students chapter figures and tables

Table II.4.1	Selecting and grouping students, performance and equity in mathematics
Figure II.4.1	School system stratification as covered in PISA 2022
Figure II.4.2	Classifying education systems according to three key stratification policies
Figure II.4.3	The vertical structure of education systems
Figure II.4.4	Differences in 15-year-old students' attendance at pre-primary school
Figure II.4.5	Attendance at pre-primary school and grade repetition
Figure II.4.6	Grade repetition, and student and school characteristics
Figure II.4.7	Key indicators on education in France, 2003 through 2022
Figure II.4.8	Regulations and prevalence of grade repetition
Figure II.4.9	Supporting students in education systems with automatic grade promotion
Figure II.4.10	Demographics, school absenteeism and academic performance, by grade repetition
Figure II.4.11	Socio-economic status, sense of belonging and bullying, by grade repetition
Figure II.4.12	Concentration of students in schools and generalised social trust
Figure II.4.13	Concentration of socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged students in schools
Figure II.4.14	Concentration of immigrant students in schools
Figure II.4.15	Variation across schools in the share of students with special learning needs
Figure II.4.16	Policies associated with the concentration of advantaged students in schools
Figure II.4.17	Policies associated with the concentration of disadvantaged students in schools
Figure II.4.18	Instructional programmes and ability grouping
Figure II.4.19	Enrolment in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by students' socio-economic status
Table II.4.2	Summary of stratification policies, by mathematics performance and socio-economic fairness

StatLink ms https://stat.link/lhuzwr

# References

Alet, É., L. Bonnal and P. Favard (2013), "Repetition: Medicine for a Short-run Remission", <i>Annals of Economics and Statistics</i> 111/112, p. 227, <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/23646332</u> .	[36]
Bai, Y. et al. (2021), "The long-term benefits of preschool education: Evidence from rural China", International Conference of Agricultural Economists.	[10]
Bartlett, W. (2009), "The effectiveness of vocational education in promoting equity and occupational mobility amongst young people", <i>Economic Annals</i> , Vol. 54/180, pp. 7-39, <u>https://doi.org/10.2298/EKA0980007B</u> .	[8]
Benhenda, A. and J. Grenet (2015), "How much does grade repetition in French Primary and Secondary Schools Cost?", <u>http://www.ipp.eu</u> .	[42]
Berlinski, S., S. Galiani and P. Gertler (2009), "The effect of pre-primary education on primary school performance", <i>Journal of Public Economics</i> , Vol. 93/1-2, pp. 219-234, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2008.09.002</u> .	[19]
Boeskens, L. (2016), "Regulating Publicly Funded Private Schools: A Literature Review on Equity and Effectiveness", OECD Education Working Papers, No. 147, OECD Publishing, Paris.	[25]

Bonal, X., A. Zancajo and R. Scandurra (2019), "Residential segregation and school segregation of foreign students in Barcelona", <i>Urban Studies</i> , Vol. 56/15, pp. 3251-3273, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098019863662</u> .	[55]
Burke, M. and T. Sass (2013), "Classroom Peer Effects and Student Achievement", <i>Journal of Labor Economics</i> , Vol. 31/1, pp. 51-82, <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/666653</u> .	[50]
Cabrera-Hernandez, F. (2022), "Leave them kids alone! The effects of abolishing grade repetition: evidence from a nationwide reform", <i>Education Economics</i> , Vol. 30/4, pp. 339-355, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09645292.2021.1978938</u> .	[35]
Choudhury, P., R. Joshi and A. Kumar (2023), "Regional and socioeconomic inequalities in access to pre- primary education in India: evidence from a recent household survey", <i>International Journal of Child</i> <i>Care and Education Policy</i> , Vol. 17/1, p. 13, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40723-023-00117-4</u> .	[28]
Davy, A. (2021), <i>Does streaming work? A review of the evidence</i> , New Zealand Ministry of Education, Wellington.	[79]
Doorley, K. et al. (2021), "Childcare in Ireland: usage, affordability and incentives to work", ESRI, No. 708.	[26]
Duflo, E., P. Dupas and M. Kremer (2011), "Peer Effects, Teacher Incentives, and the Impact of Tracking: Evidence from a Randomized Evaluation in Kenya", <i>American Economic Review</i> , Vol. 101/5, pp. 1739- 1774, <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.101.5.1739</u> .	[7]
Duncan, G. et al. (2007), "School readiness and later achievement", <i>Developmental Psychology</i> , Vol. 43/6, pp. 1428-1446, <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.43.6.1428</u> .	[16]
Dupriez, V., X. Dumay and A. Vause (2008), "How Do School Systems Manage Pupils' Heterogeneity?", https://doi.org/10.1086/528764, Vol. 52/2, pp. 245-273, https://doi.org/10.1086/528764.	[1]
Echazarra, A. and T. Radinger (2019), "Learning in Rural Schools: Insights from PISA, TALIS and the Literature", OECD Education Working Papers Series, No. 196, OECD, Paris, <a href="http://www.oecd.org/edu/workingpapers">http://www.oecd.org/edu/workingpapers</a> (accessed on 5 June 2019).	[67]
Education Endowment Foundation (2023), Teaching and Learning Toolkit.	[39]
European Commission (2011), <i>Grade retention during compulsory education in Europe – Regulations and statistics</i> , Publications Office.	[31]
Farges, G. et al. (2016), "The long-term outcomes of early educational differentiation in France", in <i>Models of Secondary Education and Social Inequality</i> , Edward Elgar Publishing, <u>https://doi.org/10.4337/9781785367267.00029</u> .	[75]
Frankel, D. and O. Volij (2011), "Measuring school segregation", <i>Journal of Economic Theory</i> , Vol. 146/1, pp. 1-38, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jet.2010.10.008</u> .	[49]
Furuta, J. (2020), "Liberal Individualism and the Globalization of Education as a Human Right: The Worldwide Decline of Early Tracking, 1960–2010", <i>Sociology of Education</i> , Vol. 93/1, pp. 1-19, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0038040719873848</u> .	[9]
Gamoran, A. (2009), "Tracking and inequality: New directions for research and practice", in <i>The Routledge</i> International Handbook of the Sociology of Education, Routledge.	[44]

	163
Gamoran, A. and M. Berends (1987), "The Effects of Stratification in Secondary Schools: Synthesis of Survey and Ethnographic Research", <i>Review of Educational Research</i> , Vol. 57/4, pp. 415-435, <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543057004415</u> .	[78]
Gerber, T. and S. Cheung (2008), "Horizontal Stratification in Postsecondary Education: Forms, Explanations, and Implications", <i>Annual Review of Sociology</i> , Vol. 34/1, pp. 299-318, <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.34.040507.134604</u> .	[45]
Glaesser, J. and B. Cooper (2011), "Selectivity and Flexibility in the German Secondary School System: A Configurational Analysis of Recent Data from the German Socio-Economic Panel", <i>European Sociological Review</i> , Vol. 27/5, pp. 570-585, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/esr/jcq026</u> .	[46]
Gortazar, L. and P. Taberner (2020), "La Incidencia del Programa Bilingüe en la Segregación Escolar por Origen Socioeconómico en la Comunidad Autónoma de Madrid: Evidencia a partir de PISA", <i>REICE.</i> <i>Revista Iberoamericana sobre Calidad, Eficacia y Cambio en Educación</i> , Vol. 18/4, pp. 219-239, <u>https://doi.org/10.15366/reice2020.18.4.009</u> .	[76]
Hanushek, E. and L. Wößmann (2006), "Does Educational Tracking Affect Performance and Inequality? Differences- in-Differences Evidence Across Countries", <i>The Economic Journal</i> , Vol. 116/510, pp. C63- C76, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0297.2006.01076.x</u> .	[65]
Hardoy, I., A. Mastekaasa and P. Schøne (2018), "Immigrant concentration and student outcomes in upper secondary schools: Norwegian evidence", <i>European Societies</i> , Vol. 20/2, pp. 301-321, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14616696.2017.1402120</u> .	[60]
Heckman, J. (2006), "Skill formation and the economics of investing in disadvantaged children", <i>Science</i> , Vol. 312/5782, pp. 1900-1902.	[12]
Heckman, J. et al. (2010), "The rate of return to the HighScope Perry Preschool Program", <i>Journal of Public Economics</i> , Vol. 94/1-2, pp. 114-128, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2009.11.001</u> .	[21]
Hong, G. et al. (2012), "Differential Effects of Literacy Instruction Time and Homogeneous Ability Grouping in Kindergarten Classrooms", <i>Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis</i> , Vol. 34/1, pp. 69-88, <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373711424206</u> .	[73]
Horn, D., T. Keller and P. Róbert (2016), "Early tracking and competition–A recipe for major inequalities in Hungary", in Blossfeld, H. et al. (eds.), <i>Models of Secondary Education and Social Inequality</i> , Edward Elgar Publishing, <u>https://doi.org/10.4337/9781785367267</u> .	[3]
Ikeda, M. and E. García (2014), "Grade repetition: A comparative study of academic and non-academic consequences", OECD Journal: Economic Studies.	[37]
Imdorf, C., K. Hegna and L. Reisel (eds.) (2015), <i>Gender Segregation in Vocational Education</i> , Emerald Group Publishing Limited, Bingley, <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/S0195-6310201531</u> .	[66]
Irvin, M. et al. (2011), "Relationship of School Context to Rural Youth's Educational Achievement and Aspirations", <i>Journal of Youth and Adolescence</i> , Vol. 40/9, pp. 1225-1242, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10964-011-9628-8</u> .	[68]
Jacob, B. and L. Lefgren (2004), "Remedial Education and Student Achievement: A Regression- Discontinuity Analysis", <i>Review of Economics and Statistics</i> , Vol. 86/1, pp. 226-244, https://doi.org/10.1162/003465304323023778.	[33]

164
-----

Jensen, P. and A. Rasmussen (2011), "The effect of immigrant concentration in schools on native and immigrant children's reading and math skills", <i>Economics of Education Review</i> , Vol. 30/6, pp. 1503- 1515, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2011.08.002</u> .	[59]
Karsten, S. (2010), "School Segregation", in <i>Equal Opportunities?: The Labour Market Integration of the Children of Immigrants</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris.	[53]
Kutscher, M., S. Nath and S. Urzúa (2023), "Centralized admission systems and school segregation: Evidence from a national reform", <i>Journal of Public Economics</i> , Vol. 221, p. 104863, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2023.104863</u> .	[56]
Lavy, V., O. Silva and F. Weinhardt (2012), "The Good, the Bad, and the Average: Evidence on Ability Peer Effects in Schools", <i>Journal of Labor Economics</i> , Vol. 30/2, pp. 367-414, <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/663592</u> .	[51]
LeTendre, G., B. Hofer and H. Shimizu (2003), "What Is Tracking? Cultural Expectations in the United States, Germany, and Japan", <i>American Educational Research Journal</i> , Vol. 40/1, pp. 43-89, <a href="https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312040001043">https://doi.org/10.3102/00028312040001043</a> .	[63]
Loxbo, K. (2018), "Ethnic diversity, out-group contacts and social trust in a high-trust society", <i>Acta Sociologica</i> , Vol. 61/2, pp. 182-201, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0001699317721615</u> .	[54]
Lucas, S. (2001), "Effectively Maintained Inequality: Education Transitions, Track Mobility, and Social Background Effects", <i>American Journal of Sociology</i> , Vol. 106/6, pp. 1642-1690, <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/321300</u> .	[74]
Manacorda, M. (2012), "The Cost of Grade Retention", <i>Review of Economics and Statistics</i> , Vol. 94/2, pp. 596-606, <u>https://doi.org/10.1162/REST_a_00165</u> .	[38]
Matthews, M., J. Ritchotte and M. McBee (2013), "Effects of schoolwide cluster grouping and within-class ability grouping on elementary school students' academic achievement growth", <i>High Ability Studies</i> , Vol. 24/2, pp. 81-97, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13598139.2013.846251</u> .	[71]
Melhuish, E. et al. (2015), A review of research on the effects of early childhood Education and Care (ECEC) upon child development. CARE project, Curriculum Quality Analysis and Impact Review of European Early Childhood Education and Care (ECEC).	[24]
Mendolia, S., A. Paloyo and I. Walker (2018), "Heterogeneous effects of high school peers on educational outcomes", <i>Oxford Economic Papers</i> , Vol. 70/3, pp. 613-634, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oep/gpy008</u> .	[52]
Nordic Council of Ministers (2012), <i>Long-term effects of early childhood care and education</i> , Nordic Council of Ministers, Copenhagen.	[17]
Nugroho, D. et al. (2020), "COVID-19: Trends, Promising Practices and Gaps in Remote Learning for Pre- Primary Education", <i>Innocenti Research Brief</i> , No. 36, UNICEF.	[18]
Oakes, J. (1985), Keeping track: How schools structure inequality, Yale University Press, New Haven.	[2]
OECD (2022), <i>Education at a Glance 2022: OECD Indicators</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/3197152b-en</u> .	[14]
OECD (2020), <i>PISA 2018 Results (Volume V): Effective Policies, Successful Schools</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/ca768d40-en</u> .	[41]

OECD (2019), <i>PISA 2018 Results (Volume III): What School Life Means for Students' Lives</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/acd78851-en</u> .	[43]
OECD (2018), <i>Engaging Young Children: Lessons from Research about Quality in Early Childhood Education and Care</i> , Starting Strong, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264085145-en</u> .	[13]
OECD (2018), <i>Responsive School Systems: Connecting Facilities, Sectors and Programmes for Student Success</i> , OECD Reviews of School Resources, OECD Publishing, Paris, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264306707-en">https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264306707-en</a> .	[69]
OECD (2016), <i>PISA 2015 Results (Volume II): Policies and Practices for Successful Schools</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264267510-en</u> .	[32]
OECD (2013), PISA 2012 Results: What Makes Schools Successful (Volume IV): Resources, Policies and Practices, PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264201156-en</u> .	[40]
Owens, A. et al. (2022), "Measuring Segregation with the Normalized Exposure Index", <i>The Segregation Index, Research Brief.</i>	[58]
Pedraja-Chaparro, F., D. Santín and R. Simancas (2016), "The impact of immigrant concentration in schools on grade retention in Spain: a difference-in-differences approach", <i>Applied Economics</i> , Vol. 48/21, pp. 1978-1990, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00036846.2015.1111989</u> .	[61]
Perry, L. and L. Southwell (2014), "Access to academic curriculum in Australian secondary schools: a case study of a highly marketised education system", <i>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/02680939.2013.846414</i> , Vol. 29/4, pp. 467-485, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02680939.2013.846414</u> .	[64]
Purcal, C. and K. Fisher (2006), "Affordability Funding Models for Early Childhood Services", <i>Australasian Journal of Early Childhood</i> , Vol. 31/4, pp. 49-58, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/183693910603100408</u> .	[27]
Richter, L. et al. (2021), "Measuring and forecasting progress in education: what about early childhood?", <i>Science of Learning</i> , Vol. 6/1, p. 27, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41539-021-00106-7</u> .	[22]
Rudolphi, F. and R. Erikson (2016), "Social selection in formal and informal tracking in Sweden", in <i>Models of Secondary Education and Social Inequality</i> , Edward Elgar Publishing, <a href="https://doi.org/10.4337/9781785367267.00020">https://doi.org/10.4337/9781785367267.00020</a> .	[77]
Schneeweis, N. (2015), "Immigrant concentration in schools: Consequences for native and migrant students", <i>Labour Economics</i> , Vol. 35, pp. 63-76, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.labeco.2015.03.004</u> .	[62]
Shavit, Y. and H. Blossfeld (1993), <i>Persistent Inequality: Changing Educational Attainment In Thirteen Countries</i> , Westview Press, Boulder.	[11]
Slavin, R. (1987), "Ability Grouping and Student Achievement in Elementary Schools: A Best-Evidence Synthesis", <i>Review of Educational Research</i> , Vol. 57/3, pp. 293-336, <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543057003293</u> .	[72]
Steenbergen-Hu, S., M. Makel and P. Olszewski-Kubilius (2016), "What One Hundred Years of Research Says About the Effects of Ability Grouping and Acceleration on K–12 Students' Academic Achievement", <i>Review of Educational Research</i> , Vol. 86/4, pp. 849-899,	[70]

https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654316675417.

Strello, A. et al. (2021), "Early tracking and different types of inequalities in achievement: difference-in- differences evidence from 20 years of large-scale assessments", <i>Educational Assessment, Evaluation</i> <i>and Accountability</i> , Vol. 33/1, pp. 139-167, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/S11092-020-09346-4/TABLES/6</u> .	[4]
Suziedelyte, A. and A. Zhu (2015), "Does early schooling narrow outcome gaps for advantaged and disadvantaged children?", <i>Economics of Education Review</i> , Vol. 45, pp. 76-88, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2015.02.001</u> .	[23]
Taniguchi, K. (2022), "The impact of pre-primary education on primary student achievement: evidence from SACMEQ III", International Journal of Early Years Education, pp. 1-19, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09669760.2022.2137783</u> .	[20]
Temple, J. (2009), "Rural Gaps in Participation in Early Childhood Education", <i>Journal of Agricultural and Applied Economics</i> , Vol. 41/2, pp. 403-410, <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S107407080000287X</u> .	[29]
Triventi, M. et al. (2020), "Advantage 'Finds Its Way': How Privileged Families Exploit Opportunities in Different Systems of Secondary Education", <i>Sociology</i> , Vol. 54/2, pp. 237-257, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0038038519874984</u> .	[5]
UNESCO Institute for Statistics (2012), International Standard Classification of Education ISCED 2011.	[15]
Van de Werfhorst, H. (2019), "Early Tracking and Social Inequality in Educational Attainment: Educational Reforms in 21 European Countries", <i>American Journal of Education</i> , Vol. 126/1, pp. 65-99, <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/705500</u> .	[47]
Van de Werfhorst, H. and J. Mijs (2010), "Achievement Inequality and the Institutional Structure of Educational Systems: A Comparative Perspective", <i>Annual Review of Sociology</i> , Vol. 36/1, pp. 407-428, <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.012809.102538</u> .	[6]
Wilson, D. and G. Bridge (2019), "School choice and the city: Geographies of allocation and segregation", <i>Urban Studies</i> , Vol. 56/15, pp. 3198-3215, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098019843481</u> .	[57]
Witschge, J. and H. van de Werfhorst (2020), "Curricular tracking and civic and political engagement: Comparing adolescents and young adults across education systems", <i>Acta Sociologica</i> , Vol. 63/3, pp. 284-302, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0001699318818650</u> .	[48]
Zaw, H., S. Mizunoya and X. Yu (2021), "An Equity Analysis of Pre-primary Education in the Developing World", International Journal of Educational Research, Vol. 109, p. 101806, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2021.101806</u> .	[30]
Zhang, S. and A. Huang (2022), "The long-term effects of automatic grade promotion on child development", <i>China Economic Review</i> , Vol. 74, p. 101824, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chieco.2022.101824</u> .	[34]

# **5** Investments in a solid foundation for learning and well-being

This chapter explores how investments in education – including in financial, human, material and time resources – are related to student performance, well-being and equity in education. It then highlights changes in schools' and students' readiness for digital and remote learning, including the availability and use of digital devices in school. The chapter also studies how schools serve as hubs for students' learning and well-being.

For Australia\*, Canada\*, Denmark\*, Hong Kong (China)\*, Ireland\*, Jamaica\*, Latvia\*, the Netherlands\*, New Zealand\*, Panama\*, the United Kingdom\* and the United States\*, caution is advised when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

This chapter analyses in detail how the resources invested in education are distributed across schools, and how they were allocated in resilient education systems where learning, equity and well-being were maintained and promoted despite the recent disruptions due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Those resources related to the resilience of education systems are considered as "components of resilience" throughout this chapter.

The chapter starts by describing expenditure on education across education systems, and the relationship between expenditure on education and student performance. It then examines how expenditure trickles down to individual schools by focusing on school staff ("human resources") and educational material ("material resources"), which includes digital devices (Figure II.5.1). The chapter concludes with an analysis of the amount of time students spend on digital devices for learning and leisure activities in school, and how schools can improve the efficiency of learning time and serve as hubs for social interaction by providing study help.

# What the data tell us

- In more than half of all education systems with available data, and on average across OECD countries, more students in 2022 than in 2018 attended a school whose principal reported that instruction is hindered by a shortage of education staff. In 58 countries/economies, the share of students in schools whose principal reported that instruction is hindered by a lack of teaching staff increased between 2018 and 2022.
- In about half of education systems with available data, principals in 2022 were less likely than their counterparts in 2018 to report shortages of educational material. On average across OECD countries and in 41 education systems, socio-economically disadvantaged schools were more likely than advantaged schools to suffer from a lack of or poor-quality digital resources.
- PISA 2022 results show that school phone bans appear to be effective in reducing distractions in class. However, on average across OECD countries, 29% of students in schools where the use of cell phones is banned reported using a smartphone several times a day, illustrating that cell phone bans are not always effectively enforced.
- Schools in high-performing education systems tend to provide a room where students can do their homework, and school staff offer help with students' homework.
- In those education systems where more students in 2022 than in 2018 attended schools that offer peerto-peer tutoring, students' sense of belonging at school strengthened during the period.



# Figure II.5.1. Resources covered in PISA 2022

## How educational resources are allocated

As shown in earlier PISA results, PISA 2022 reveals that expenditure on education is related to student performance only to a certain extent. Among the countries/economies whose cumulative expenditure per student was under USD 75 000 in 2019 (the level of spending in 35 countries/economies), higher expenditure on education was significantly associated with higher scores in the PISA mathematics test. Across these countries/economies, 27% of the variation in student performance was accounted for by the difference in expenditure on education. However, this was not the case among countries/economies whose cumulative expenditure was greater than USD 75 000 (see Figure II.5.2). For this latter group of countries/economies, the ways in which financial resources are used seems to matter more for student performance than the level of investment in education.

School systems with greater total expenditure on education tend to be those with higher levels of per capita GDP. Spending on education and per capita GDP are highly correlated (r = 0.71 across OECD countries and r = 0.87 across all participating countries/economies in PISA 2022, Tables B3.2.1 and B3.2.2). In 2019, average total expenditure by educational institution per student from the age of 6 to 15 in OECD countries was USD 102 612 (PPP-corrected dollars). High-income countries/economies, as defined by the World Bank classification,<sup>1</sup> cumulatively spent USD 114 001, upper middle-income countries spent USD 32 801 and lower middle-income countries spent USD 18 174, on average (Table B3.2.1).

Financial resources are allocated differently across education systems and are distributed among core educational services (such as salaries paid to teachers, administrators, management and support staff, and maintenance or construction costs of buildings and infrastructure) and ancillary services (student welfare services such as transportation, meals and health services for students). Total cumulative expenditures encompass both public and private spending, across public and private educational institutions (OECD, 2022<sub>[1]</sub>). Despite the competing demands for resources, expenditure on education has increased over the past few years. Between 2012 and 2019, expenditure per student from primary to tertiary education grew at an average annual rate of 1.7% in real terms across OECD countries (OECD, 2022<sub>[1]</sub>). After the first year of the COVID-19 pandemic, total expenditure on primary to tertiary educational institutions by 0.4% between 2019 and 2020, on average across OECD countries (OECD, 2023<sub>[2]</sub>).



# Figure II.5.2. Mathematics performance and spending on education

Note: Only countries and economies with available data are shown. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Tables I.B1.2.1 and I.B3.2.2 (Volume I).

# Components of resilience: Providing high-quality and sufficient teaching and non-teaching staff

Across education systems, PISA 2022 results show that high-performing education systems were populated with high-quality teaching and non-teaching staff in sufficient numbers. Systems where more teachers were fully certified by an appropriate authority tended to score higher in mathematics, even after accounting for per capita GDP, across OECD countries (Table II.B1.5.101). Systems where principals reported increased hindrance to instruction due to inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff between 2018 and 2022 showed a decline in mathematics performance, on average across OECD countries (Table II.B1.5.104). Across all countries/economies, students' senses of belonging at school weakened between 2018 and 2022 in schools whose principals reported an increase in the lack of, or in inadequate or poorly qualified, assisting staff during the period.

# *In most education systems, principals in 2022 were more likely than their counterparts in 2018 to perceive shortages of education staff*

PISA results show that, in more than one in two education systems school principals in 2022 were more likely than their counterparts in 2018 to report that instruction was hindered due to inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff (Table II.B1.5.4). This was particularly evident in education systems that saw the proportion of full-time teachers shrink over the period (r=-0.32).<sup>2</sup> Yet PISA results also show that between 2018 and 2022, student-teacher ratios and class size decreased slightly across OECD countries and remained stable in most countries/economies (Tables II.B1.5.13 and II.B1.5.16), which confirm the latest data published in Education at a Glance (OECD, 2023<sub>[2]</sub>). School principals perceived a shortage of education staff not only because of a lack of staff members but also because of a lack of high-quality teachers. Teacher absenteeism, which is not necessarily reflected in the number of teaching staff, was observed in many countries/economies when schools re-opened after the crisis phase of the COVID-19 pandemic ended (OECD, 2022<sub>[1]</sub>).

PISA 2022 measured the quantity and quality of education staff in schools by asking principals whether providing instruction at their school is hindered by a lack of teaching and assisting staff (such as pedagogical support, administrative staff, or management personnel) or by poor or inadequate qualifications of teaching and assisting staff. It is important to keep in mind that these measures are based on school principals' perceptions; they are not objective measures of staff shortage. Principals in different countries may have different perceptions of what constitutes a shortage of teaching or support staff in their school.

In more than half of all education systems with available data, and on average across OECD countries, more students in 2022 than in 2018 attended schools whose principals reported that instruction is hindered because of a shortage of education staff (Table II.B1.5.4). Between 2018 and 2022, the share of students in schools whose principal reported that instruction is hindered by a lack of teaching staff increased in 58 countries/economies (Figure II.5.3), and by more than 30 percentage points in Australia<sup>\*</sup>, Belgium, Cambodia, Chile, France, Guatemala, Latvia<sup>\*</sup>, the Netherlands<sup>\*</sup>, Poland and Portugal. Only in Indonesia did fewer school principals in 2022 than in 2018 report that instruction is hindered due to a lack of teaching staff. In 41 countries/economies more principals in 2022 than in 2018 report that poor or inadequate qualifications of teaching staff hinders learning; in Belgium, Cambodia, Hong Kong (China)<sup>\*</sup>, the Netherlands<sup>\*</sup> and Poland this share grew by more than 20 percentage points during the period. Only in Indonesia and the United Arab Emirates did fewer school principals in 2022 than in 2018 report that poor or inadequate gravity is share grew by more than 20 percentage points during the period. Only in Indonesia and the United Arab Emirates did fewer school principals in 2022 than in 2018 report that poor or inadequate gravity is share grew by more than 20 percentage points during the period. Only in Indonesia and the United Arab Emirates did fewer school principals in 2022 than in 2018 report that poor or inadequate gravity is share grew by more than 20 percentage points during the period. Only in Indonesia and the United Arab Emirates did fewer school principals in 2022 than in 2018 report that poor or inadequate qualifications of teaching staff hinders instruction.

Some education systems suffer more from a lack of teaching staff while others suffer more from a lack of assisting staff, according to school principals. In 21 countries/economies, at least 50% of students were in schools whose principals reported that a lack of teaching staff hinders learning (Table II.B1.5.4). In 13 countries/economies, at least 50% of students attended schools whose principal reported that instruction is hindered by a lack of assisting staff.

Within countries/economies, principals' reports on shortages of education staff vary according to school characteristics (Figure II.5.4). In 30 countries/economies, students attending socio-economically disadvantaged schools were exposed to more shortages of education staff than their peers in advantaged schools. The largest disparities in shortages of education staff related to the socio-economic profile of schools were found in Peru, Jordan, Australia\*, Colombia, Brunei Darussalam, Uruguay, Panama\* and the United Arab Emirates (in descending order) (Table II.B1.5.2). Only in Malta were shortages of education staff more prevalent in advantaged schools.

In 36 countries/economies, shortages of education staff were more prevalent in public schools than in private schools. The largest disparities in shortages of education staff were observed in Greece, Uruguay, Morocco, Türkiye, Colombia, New Zealand\*, the United Arab Emirates and Portugal (in descending order). In France public schools suffered less from shortages of education staff than private schools. On average across OECD countries and in 16 countries/economies, shortages of education staff were more prevalent in rural schools than in urban schools. In four countries/economies, shortages of education staff were more prevalent in urban schools than in rural schools.

## Figure II.5.3. Change between 2018 and 2022 in shortage of education staff and material resources

Percentage-point change in students whose principals reported that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered to some extent or a lot by the following



Notes: Only countries and economies with available data are shown.

Statistically significant differences between PISA 2018 and PISA 2022 (PISA 2022 - PISA 2018) are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3). *Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the change in lack of teaching staff between 2018 and 2022.* Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

# Figure II.5.4. Shortage of education staff and school characteristics

## Based on principals' reports

		Po	ositiv	e differ	ence [	N	Vegative	e differenc	e 🗌 [	erence is not significant Missin	ig va	alues	8								
	A D	Ac Be	lvant efore	aged - accoui	disadva nting for	intaged studen	schools ts' and s	s B schools' so	City - rural ocio-econo	nools <b>C</b> Private - public schools	tude	ents'	and	schoo <b>l</b> s'	' socio-e	conomi	c profi <b>l</b> e	9			
		SS		tics ated	ase							cs		tics ated	ease						
		acteristic		athema	init incre							acteristi		athema associ	init incre						
		ool chan		nge in m ormance	l a one-u le index							ool chan		nge in n ormance	l a one-u ne index						
	A	B B	С	Cha perf	E with						A	HDS B	С	Cha perf	E in the						
Morocco										Slovenia											-
Costa Rica										United Arab Emirates											
Jordan										United States*								[			
Portugal										Australia*								0			
Saudi Arabia										Spain											
Uruguay										Austria											
France										Iceland											
Italy										Brazil											
Israel										Thailand											
Netherlands*										Moldova											
Sweden										Guatemala											
Germany										Kazakhstan											
Greece										Lithuania											_
Colombia									]	Romania											
Hungary									1	Montenegro											
Latvia*										Paraguay											
United Kingdom*										Singapore											
Dominican Republic										Switzerland		_									
Peru										Georgia							(				
Cambodia										Qatar							1				
Brunei Darussalam										Denmark*		_									
Mongolia										Poland											
Chile										Albania											
Finland										Serbia	-										
New Zealand*										Bulgaria	-										
	-									Duigana										_	
Argentina	-		_							Palestinian Authority											_
Crootia					-	$\parallel$				Baku (Azerbaijan)						-					-
Viot Nor							+ +			Hong Kong (Ching)*	-										
											-										
Czech Republic											_							_			
Norway					-	$\parallel$				Ukraiman regions (18 of 27)								1	$\vdash$		
Malta							+			-					-	1.5 _1	.0 -0.	5 0	.0 0.5	5 1.	0
l urkiye							+			-						Me	an index	of sho	ortage of	educat	lion
Ireland*										-											
Philippines										-											
Panama*																					
Mexico											_					A	B			0	E
Indonesia										Countries/economies	s wi	th a	pos	itive dif	ference	1	4	ļ '	1 /	1	3
Jamaica*										Countries/e	ecor	nomi	es w	ith no di	fference	37	40	2	2 3	5	54
El Salvador										Countries/economi	es v	vith a	a neg	gative di	fference	31	16	3	7 3	3	12

1. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS). Note: Higher values in the index indicate greater shortages of education staff. *Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the index of shortage of education staff.* 

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

# At the system level, shortages of education staff are negatively related to student performance in mathematics

In 32 countries/economies, students attending schools whose principal reported shortages of education staff scored lower in mathematics than students in schools whose principal reported fewer or no shortages of staff (Figure II.5.4 and Table II.B1.5.5). In 35 countries/economies, no statistically significant differences in mathematics scores were found between students in schools with more shortages of education staff compared with students in schools with few or no shortages. In Montenegro, students attending schools with more shortages scored higher in mathematics than students in schools with fewer or no shortages of staff.

The association between shortage of education staff and mathematics performance was attenuated after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, and the negative relationship was significant in 10 countries/economies. In 56 countries/economies, no statistically significant differences in mathematics scores were found between students in schools with more shortages and those in schools with fewer or no shortages of education staff, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. In three countries/economies, namely Israel, Montenegro and Türkiye, students attending schools with more shortages scored higher in mathematics than students in schools with fewer or no shortages of staff.

When the components of the index of shortage of education staff were examined separately in relation to mathematics performance (Figure II.5.6 and Table II.B1.5.5), all four components were negatively associated with mathematics performance, on average across OECD countries, even after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. This negative relationship was the strongest when school principals reported inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff, on average across OECD countries and particularly in the United Arab Emirates, Japan, Macao (China), Iceland, Indonesia, the Czech Republic and Brazil (in descending order of the strength of the relationship). The lack of teaching staff had the second strongest and negative correlation with mathematics performance across OECD countries, and especially in the United Arab Emirates, Japan, Chinese Taipei, the United States\*, Viet Nam and Macao (China) (in descending order). In addition, Table II.B1.5.5 shows that a lack of assisting staff is also negatively correlated with mathematics performance across OECD countries, and particularly in the United Arab Emirates, and particularly in the United Arab Emirates, the Slovak Republic, Lithuania, Italy, Singapore, North Macedonia, Cambodia and Indonesia (in descending order). The negative association between poor or inadequate assisting staff and mathematics performance was strongest in the United Arab Emirates, Korea, Albania and the United Kingdom\* (in descending order). These results underscore the importance of having a sufficient number of qualified teaching and assisting staff available to support students.<sup>3</sup>

In most PISA-participating countries/economies, most teachers were fully certified, i.e. they are licensed to teach based on standards defined by national or local institutions.<sup>4</sup> On average across OECD countries in 2022, 87% of teachers working in schools with the modal ISCED level for 15-year-old students were fully certified by the appropriate national or local authority. In 13 countries/economies at least 95% of teachers were fully certified and in Macao (China), Australia<sup>\*</sup>, Bulgaria and Ireland<sup>\*</sup> (in descending order), more than 97% of teachers were fully certified (Table II.B1.5.9). On average across OECD countries, the percentage of certified teachers remained stable between 2018 and 2022, but this share decreased in 21 countries/economies, and by more than 10 percentage-points in Baku (Azerbaijan), Kazakhstan, Iceland, Argentina, Viet Nam, the Slovak Republic, Panama<sup>\*</sup>, Brunei Darussalam and Korea (in descending order). In 13 countries/economies, the percentage of certified teachers increased during the period, and by more than 10 percentage points in Colombia, Georgia, Israel, North Macedonia and Montenegro (in descending order).

Schools with more fully certified teachers tended to score higher. After accounting for students' and schools' socioeconomic profile, in 12 countries/economies, and on average across OECD countries, students in schools with a larger share of fully certified teachers scored higher in mathematics (Figure II.5.5); in 6 countries and economies they scored lower.

In 8 countries/economies, namely Brunei Darussalam, Uruguay, Slovenia, Chinese Taipei, Iceland, Sweden, the Czech Republic and France (in descending order), the share of fully certified teachers was larger in advantaged than

in disadvantaged schools; but in 10 countries/economies, namely Türkiye, Singapore, Philippines, Peru, Colombia, Morocco, Mongolia, Brazil, El Salvador and the United Arab Emirates, the opposite was observed (Table II.B1.5.8).

## Figure II.5.5. Certified teachers and mathematics performance

Change in mathematics performance per 10 percentage-point increase in the share of certified teachers at school; based on principals' reports



Before accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile<sup>1</sup>
 After accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile

1. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

Notes: The percentage of certified teachers in schools attended by 15-year-olds is shown next to the country/economy name.

Statistically significant differences are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3).

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the score-point difference related to a 10 percentage-point increase in the share of certified teachers at school, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

# Components of resilience: Reducing student-teacher ratios and class size

Education systems that reported lower student-teacher ratios showed higher mathematics scores even after accounting for per capita GDP (Table II.B1.5.101). The change in class size between 2018 and 2022 was negatively associated with the change in performance between 2018 and 2022. This means that education systems where average class size increased more between 2018 and 2022 tended to show a greater deterioration in mathematics performance over the same period (Table II.B1.5.104). Across all countries/economies, smaller classes and fewer students per teacher were associated with a stronger sense of belonging at school, even after accounting for per capita GDP (Table II.B1.5.101).

# *In most education systems, student-teacher ratios and class size did not change between 2018 and 2022*

PISA 2022 asked school principals to report the number of teachers and students in their schools from which the student-teacher ratio was computed (Table II.B1.5.11). Across OECD countries, there were about 12 students for every teacher. Student-teacher ratios ranged from 27 students per teacher in El Salvador and the Philippines, to fewer than 8 students per teacher in Argentina, Brunei Darussalam, Greece, Italy, Malta and Slovenia.

Between 2018 and 2022, the student-teacher ratio decreased on average across OECD countries (a decrease of 0.2 student per teacher) and in 22 countries/economies. In Cambodia, the Dominican Republic, Brazil, Chile and Kosovo (in descending order) the student-ratio decreased by more than two students per teacher. In 14 countries, the student-teacher ratio increased, and in Peru, the Philippines, Poland and Viet Nam by more than 2 students per teacher. In 36 countries/economies, the student-teacher ratio remained stable between 2018 and 2022. The PISA 2022 results based on school principals' report confirm the latest data published in Education at a Glance (OECD, 2023<sub>[2]</sub>), yet some caution is advised when interpreting student-teacher ratios, as the ratio may not reflect a possible increase in teacher absenteeism.

On average across OECD countries and in 28 countries/economies, the student-teacher ratio was higher in advantaged than disadvantaged schools (a difference of 1.1 students, on average across OECD countries). The opposite was observed only in Cambodia, the Dominican Republic, Morocco, the Palestinian Authority, Türkiye and the United Arab Emirates where disadvantaged schools had higher student-teacher ratios than advantaged schools. On average across OECD countries and in 28 countries/economies, the student-teacher ratio was higher in public schools than private schools (a difference of 1.3 students, on average across OECD countries). The opposite was observed in 11 countries/economies, namely Argentina, Brunei Darussalam, Chile, Kazakhstan, Korea, Portugal, Slovenia, Spain, Sweden, Chinese Taipei and the United Arab Emirates, where private schools had higher student-teacher ratios than public schools.

PISA 2022 also asked school principals to report the average size of language-of-instruction classes in the national modal grade for 15-year-olds (Table II.B1.5.15). According to school principals, on average across OECD countries there were 26 students per language-of-instruction class. In the Philippines, Cambodia and Viet Nam (in descending order), there were 40 or more students per language-of-instruction class and in Malta, Switzerland and Finland (in ascending order) there were 20 or fewer students per class.

The average size of language-of-instruction class shrank between 2018 and 2022 in 21 countries/economies (by 5 or more students in Argentina, Guatemala, Kazakhstan, Panama\*, Saudi Arabia and Türkiye) while it grew in 13 countries/economies (by 2 or 3 students in Albania, Baku [Azerbaijan], Costa Rica, Peru and Poland). On average across OECD countries, there was 0.3 fewer student per language-of-instruction class in 2022 than in 2018 (Table II.B1.5.16). In 40 of 74 countries/economies with available data, class size did not change between 2018 and 2022. Some caution is advised when interpreting class size, as it may not reflect a possible increase in teacher absenteeism.

On average across OECD countries, smaller classes were more frequently observed in socio-economically disadvantaged schools than in advantaged schools (3.3 fewer students per language-of-instruction class), and in public than in private schools (1.5 fewer students per language-of-instruction class) (Table II.B1.5.15).

# Components of resilience: Providing adequate and high-quality educational material

In systems where students scored lower in mathematics, on average, school principals reported that instruction was hindered to a greater extent by a lack of or inadequate/poor-quality educational material and digital resources (Table II.B1.5.100). Across all countries/economies, a negative association was found between a lack of or inadequate/poor-quality digital resources and student performance. PISA 2022 results also show that higher performing systems ensure that every student has access to a digital device (computer or tablet); but the availability of these devices does not, in itself, indicate their capacity to enhance teaching and learning. School policies and practices on the use of digital devices is also important, and having adequate guidelines for their use is key to ensuring a school's preparedness for digital learning.

# High-performing schools, which tend to have a more advantaged student body, suffer less from shortages of educational material

In each education system, it is important to ensure that all schools, regardless of their socio-economic profile, enjoy adequate and quality educational material. Students attending schools with fewer shortages of material resources<sup>5</sup> performed better in mathematics, on average across OECD countries and in about 60% of all participating countries/economies, before accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile; but this relationship was observed in only 20% of countries/economies after accounting for the socio-economic profiles of students and schools (Table II.B1.5.23). In almost 80% of countries/economic intakes. On average across OECD countries, shortages of educational material were more strongly associated with poorer mathematics performance than shortages of physical infrastructure (Figure II.5.6). However, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, these associations became statistically insignificant, showing that disadvantaged schools and students suffer the most from a lack of educational material and physical infrastructure.

# Figure II.5.6. Shortage of education staff and material resources, and mathematics performance

Change in mathematics performance associated with principals reporting that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered to some extent or a lot by the following; OECD average



1. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status.

Notes: Statistically significant score-point differences are shown in a darker tone. All score-point differences are statistically significant before accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile (see Annex A3).

Educational material includes textbooks, ICT equipment, library, laboratory material, etc. Physical infrastructure includes school building, grounds, heating/cooling systems, lighting and acoustic systems, etc.

Digital resources include desktop or laptop computers, Internet access, learning-management systems or school learning platforms, etc.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

# Half of all participating education systems suffered fewer shortages of educational material in 2022 than in 2018

In about half of education systems with available data, principals in 2022 reported fewer shortages of educational material than their counterparts did in 2018 (Table II.B1.5.21). Fewer students in 2022 than in 2018 attended schools whose principal reported that instruction is hindered by a lack of educational material (e.g. textbooks, IT equipment, library or laboratory material) or physical infrastructure (e.g. building, grounds, heating/cooling, lighting and acoustic systems), or due to inadequate or poor-quality educational material or physical infrastructure, on average across OECD countries (Table II.B1.5.22). Figure II.5.3 contrasts the change between 2018 and 2022 in school principals' perception of the shortage of teaching staff and educational material. It shows that most countries/economies were more affected by perceived increases in the shortage of education staff than in shortages of material resources. On average across OECD countries and in about half of all participating countries/economies, school principals in 2022 were more likely than their counterparts in 2018 to report a shortage of teaching staff and less likely to report a shortage of educational material. The greatest improvements in the concerns of principals about the quantity of educational material during the period were observed in Ireland\*, Indonesia, Croatia, Spain, Serbia, the Slovak Republic, Finland, Kosovo and Italy (in descending order); when considering the guality of educational material, the greatest improvements were observed in Indonesia, Croatia, Ireland\*, Finland, Germany, the Slovak Republic, Italy and Portugal (in descending order). The most marked improvements in the quantity of physical infrastructure between 2018 and 2022 were found in Indonesia, Korea, Ireland\*, Croatia, Hong Kong (China)\*, New Zealand\* and Colombia (in descending order); Indonesia, Korea, Ireland\*, Finland, the Czech Republic, Georgia and Hong Kong (China)\* (in descending order) saw the greatest improvements in the quality of the physical infrastructure during that period.
But in Costa Rica, Latvia\*, Montenegro and Norway principals were more likely – and by the largest increases -- to report more shortages of educational material. In 25 countries/economies, school principals in 2022 were less likely than their counterparts in 2018 to report that instruction is hindered due to inadequate or poor-quality educational material; but over the same period, principals in Albania, Costa Rica, Latvia\*, Macao (China), Montenegro, Morocco and Qatar were more likely to report so. In 23 countries/economies, school principals in 2022 were less likely than their counterparts in 2018 to report that instruction is hindered by a lack of physical infrastructure; by contrast, in Costa Rica, Malta, Qatar and Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) principals in 2022 were more likely than those in 2018 to report so. In 28 countries/economies, school principals in 2022 were less likely than those in 2018 to report so. In 28 countries/economies, school principals in 2022 were less likely than those in 2018 to report so. In 28 countries/economies, school principals in 2022 were less likely than those in 2018 to report so. In 28 countries/economies, school principals in 2022 were less likely than those in 2018 to report that instruction is hindered by inadequate or poor-quality physical infrastructure; but during the same period, principals in leeland, Latvia\*, Qatar and Singapore were more likely to report so.

In 2022, school principals in Singapore, Qatar, Switzerland, Denmark\* and Canada\* (in ascending order) reported fewer shortages of material resources than other participating countries/economies (Figure II.5.7 and Table II.B1.5.17). In Australia\*, Canada\*, Denmark\*, Ireland\*, Malta, the Netherlands\*, Qatar, Singapore, Sweden, Switzerland, Chinese Taipei and the United States\* fewer than one in ten students attended a school whose principal reported that instruction is hindered by either a lack of or inadequate or poor-quality educational material. In Canada\*, Denmark\*, Finland, Hong Kong (China)\*, Qatar, Singapore and Türkiye, fewer than one in six students attended a school whose principal reported that instruction is hindered by either a lack of or inadequate or poor-quality educational material.

In PISA 2022, more principals in Costa Rica, Morocco, the Palestinian Authority, Mongolia, Jamaica\*, Kosovo, Ukrainian regions (18 of 27), Cambodia and the Philippines (in descending order) reported concerns about shortages of material resources than in other participating countries/economies (Table II.B1.5.17). In Costa Rica, Jamaica\*, Kosovo, Mongolia, Montenegro, Morocco and Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) more than two in three students were in schools whose principal reported that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered, to some extent or a lot, by a lack of educational material. In Jamaica\*, Kosovo, Mongolia, Morocco and Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) more than two in three students were in schools whose principal reported that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered, to provide instruction is hindered by inadequate or poor-quality educational material. In Cambodia, Costa Rica, Jamaica\*, Morocco and the Palestinian Authority more than six in ten students were in schools whose principal reported that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered by a lack of physical infrastructure. In Cambodia, Costa Rica, Jamaica\*, Mongolia, and the Palestinian Authority more than 60% of students were in schools whose principal reported that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered by inadequate.

Education systems where students attended schools with fewer shortages of, or with adequate/high-quality, digital resources performed better in mathematics, on average across OECD countries and in half of all participating countries/economies, before accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile; but this relationship is observed in only 20% of countries/economies after accounting for the socio-economic profiles of students and schools (Table II.B1.5.23). In more than 75% of countries/economies digital resources and mathematics scores were unrelated when comparing schools with similar socio-economic intakes.

# Figure II.5.7. Shortage of material resources and school characteristics

#### Based on principals' reports

	A Advantaged - disadvantaged schools B City - rural schools C Private - public schools																	
		School characteristics	C	Change in mathematics performance associated with a one-lunit increase	I in the index					School characteristics	C	Change in mathematics performance associated	with a one-unit increase in the index					
Costa Rica					-			ltaly										
Morocco								Lithuania										
Mongolia								Chile										
Jamaica*								Brazil										
Cambodia								Spain										
Philippines								United Kingdom*										
Colombia								Poland							-		_	
Montenegro								Slovenia									+	
Greece								France								_		
Jordan								Austria								_		
UZDEKISIAN																_		
Japan								Netherlande*								_	_	
Panama*								Malta								-		
Paraduay								United Arab Emirates									_	
Indonesia								Türkiye										
ominican Republic								Finland									_	
Argentina								Bulgaria							Ċ.			
Mexico								Sweden							Ċ.			
Albania								United States*										
Hungary								Ireland*										
Latvia*								Australia*										
Thailand								Canada*										
Portugal								Denmark*										
Saudi Arabia								Switzerland										
Croatia								Qatar										
North Macedonia								Singapore										
Israel																	-	
Romania Prunci Deruscolom					_			Palestinian Authority										
								Kosovo										
Georgia								Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)									-	
Slovak Republic					-			Baku (Azerbaijan)										
Viet Nam					-			Macao (China)										
El Salvador								Chinese Taipei						+ +			_	
Norway							1	1					-	1.5 -1.	0 -0.5	0.0	0.5	1
Korea							1	1						Mean in	dex of sh	ortage c	of mater	rial r
Guatemala							]											
Kazakhstan																		
Germany																		
Estonia														A		<u> </u>		
Malaysia								Countries/countries	0.0.00			الله معالم	ff	A	<u>В</u>		<b>ت</b>	4
Czech Republic								Countries/economi	ies w	nın a	rpos	nive di	nerence		3	0		+
OECD average								Countries	s/eco	nom	es w	iui no d	merence	29	30	18	28	<u>`</u> +
Belgium								Countries/econor	mies	with	a neg	gative d	ifference	47	27	49	47	· _

1. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

Note: Higher values in the index indicate greater shortages of educational material.

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the index of shortage of educational material. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5. Socio-economically disadvantaged schools were more likely than advantaged schools to experience shortages of material resources, on average across OECD countries and in 46 education systems. Only in the Netherlands\* did disadvantaged schools report fewer shortages of educational material than advantaged schools.

Disparities in shortages of material resources were also observed between rural and urban schools (in 27 education systems, rural schools suffered more from shortages) and between public and private schools (in 49 education systems, public schools suffered more from shortages) (Figure II.5.7). Only in Denmark\*, North Macedonia and Switzerland did rural schools report fewer shortages of educational material than urban schools; and in no county/economy did public schools report fewer shortages of educational material than private schools.

# Components of resilience: Providing access to high-quality digital devices and developing guidelines for their use

A negative association was found between a lack of or inadequate/poor-quality digital resources (e.g. desktop or laptop computers, Internet access, learning management systems or school learning platforms) and student performance (Table II.B1.5.100). Across all countries/economies, 17% of the variation in student performance was accounted for by differences in the extent to which instruction is hindered by a lack of digital resources, according to school principals, after accounting for per capita GDP. Across all countries/economies, 13% of the variation in student performance is explained by differences in the extent to which instruction is hindered by inadequate or poor-quality digital resources, after accounting for per capita GDP. No clear pattern is observed between the availability of digital resources and either equity or well-being.

PISA 2022 results show that higher performing systems ensure that every student has access to a digital device (Table II.B1.5.24). Across all countries/economies, the average computer-to-student ratio was 0.6 (variability of 0.3)<sup>6</sup> and in higher performing systems, the computer-to-student ratio was higher, both before and after accounting for per capita GDP. Across OECD countries, the computer-to-student ratio was 0.8 (variability of 0.3) and this relationship was observed before, but not after, accounting for per capita GDP. Across OECD countries, the average tablet-to-student ratio was 0.4 (variability of 0.2) and higher tablet-to-student ratios were associated with higher performance, both before and after accounting for per capita GDP. Across all countries, the average tablet-to-student ratio was 0.3 (variability of 0.4) but no relationship with mathematics performance was observed.

# High-performing schools, which tend to have a more advantaged student body, suffer less from shortages of digital resources

Schools, like most other institutions in society, are adapting to the increasing digitalisation of daily life. In Australia<sup>\*</sup>, Bulgaria, Denmark<sup>\*</sup>, Lithuania, the Netherlands<sup>\*</sup>, New Zealand<sup>\*</sup>, Norway, Singapore, Slovenia, Sweden and the United States<sup>\*</sup> less than 10% of students were in schools whose principal reported that shortages of digital resources hinder instruction to some extent or a lot; in Australia<sup>\*</sup>, Bulgaria, Canada<sup>\*</sup>, Denmark<sup>\*</sup>, the Netherlands<sup>\*</sup>, New Zealand<sup>\*</sup>, Qatar, Singapore, Sweden and the United States<sup>\*</sup> less than 10% of students were in schools whose principal reported inadequate or poor-quality digital resources (Table II.B1.5.17). But in Argentina, Baku (Azerbaijan), Cambodia, Colombia, Costa Rica, Jamaica<sup>\*</sup>, Kosovo, Mongolia, Morocco, the Palestinian Authority, Panama<sup>\*</sup> and Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) more than two in three students were in schools whose principal reported that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered by a lack of digital resources.<sup>7</sup> In Argentina, Cambodia, Costa Rica, Jamaica<sup>\*</sup>, Kosovo, the Palestinian Authority, Panama<sup>\*</sup> and Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) more than two in three students were in schools whose principal reported that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered by a lack of digital resources.<sup>7</sup> In Argentina, Cambodia, Costa Rica, Jamaica<sup>\*</sup>, Kosovo, the Palestinian Authority, Panama<sup>\*</sup> and Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) more than two in three students were in school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered by a lack of digital resources.<sup>7</sup> In Argentina, Cambodia, Costa Rica, Jamaica<sup>\*</sup>, Kosovo, the Palestinian Authority, Panama<sup>\*</sup> and Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) more than two in three students were in school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered by a lack of digital resources.

On average across OECD countries and in 40 education systems, socio-economically disadvantaged schools were more likely than advantaged schools to suffer from a lack of or poor-quality digital resources. In no participating country/economy were principals in disadvantaged schools less likely than those in advantaged schools to report that instruction is hindered by a lack of digital resources. Disparities in the shortage of digital resources were also

observed between rural and urban schools (in 21 education systems, rural schools suffered more from shortages) and between public and private schools (in 48 education systems, principals in public schools reported more shortages; in no participating country/economy were principals in public schools less likely than those in private schools to report shortages of digital resources) (Table II.B1.5.19). In 40 countries/economies, principals in disadvantaged schools were more likely than those in advantaged schools to report inadequate or poor-quality digital resources (Table II.B1.5.20). In 22 countries/economies, rural schools reported more inadequate or poor-quality digital resources than urban schools; and in 49 countries/economies public schools suffered more than private schools from inadequate or poor-quality digital resources. Only in Canada\*, North Macedonia and Chinese Taipei were principals in rural schools less likely than their counterparts in urban schools to report inadequate or poor-quality digital resources; in Belgium, Korea and Slovenia principals in public schools were less likely than those in private schools to report inadequate or poor-quality digital resources; in Belgium, Korea and Slovenia principals in public schools were less likely than those in private schools to report inadequate or poor-quality digital resources.

#### In OECD countries, nearly every 15-year-old has access to a computer at school

On average across OECD countries in 2022 there was about 0.8 computer (laptop and desktop combined) and 0.4 tablet device and e-book reader available at school for educational purposes for every 15-year-old student (Tables II.B1.5.24 and II.B1.5.27). In Australia\*, Austria, El Salvador, New Zealand\*, Singapore, the United Kingdom\* and the United States\* the computer-to-student ratio was higher than one-to-one. In 31 countries/economies, there was fewer than one computer available for every two students; and in 10 countries/economies there was fewer than one computer for every 4 students. In the Dominican Republic, Hong Kong (China)\* and Romania the tablet-to-student ratio was higher than one-to-one. In 66 countries/economies, there was fewer than one tablet available for every 2 students, and in 21 countries/economies there was fewer than one tablet for every 2 students.

As in earlier assessments, the computer-to-student ratio increased between 2018 and 2022, though by much less than between 2012 and 2022 (Table II.B1.5.25). The computer-to-student ratio increased in 19 out of 72 countries/economies between 2018 and 2022. The largest increases in the average number of computers per 15-year-old student were observed in Bulgaria, Finland, France, Kazakhstan and Portugal.

In 20 countries/economies, socio-economically disadvantaged schools tended to have more computers per student than advantaged schools (Table II.B1.5.24); in 20 countries/economies, advantaged schools had more computers per student than disadvantaged schools. In 12 countries/economies the tablet-to-student ratio was higher in disadvantaged schools than in advantaged schools (Table II.B1.5.27). The disparity in favour of disadvantaged schools was the largest in Australia\*, El Salvador, Japan, Korea, Lithuania, New Zealand\* and Poland (in computers-per-student) and in Austria, Korea, Lithuania and Peru (in tablets-per-student). The disparity in favour of advantaged schools was the largest in Guatemala, Panama\* and Qatar (in computers-per-student) and in Macao (China) and the United Arab Emirates (in tablets-per-student).

On average across OECD countries and in 28 countries/economies, the ratio of computers to students was higher in private than in public schools; but in 9 countries/economies, namely Argentina, Australia\*, Austria, El Salvador, Japan, Singapore, the Slovak Republic, Slovenia and the United Arab Emirates, the computer-to-student ratio was higher in public schools than in private schools. On average across OECD countries, the computer-to-student ratio was higher in rural schools (ratio = 1.0) than in urban schools (ratio = 0.8). In 24 countries/economies, the computer-to-student ratio as higher in rural schools than in urban schools (especially in El Salvador, Hungary, Latvia\*, Lithuania, the United Arab Emirates and the United Kingdom\*), but the opposite was observed in Albania, Guatemala and Paraguay.

# Developing guidelines for using digital devices prepares schools and students for digital learning

The availability and quality of instructional materials, in themselves, do not guarantee better learning; schools and teachers must be able to use these resources effectively to enhance learning and teaching (Burns and Gottschalk, 2019<sub>[3]</sub>) This is particularly true regarding digital devices in education, as a growing number of countries have invested

heavily to equip their schools and students with these tools. This process of digitalisation intensified during the COVID-19 pandemic and the sudden shift towards remote learning when schools were closed (Box II.2.4).

PISA 2022 asked school principals about different aspects of their school's preparedness for digital learning (Table II.B1.5.29).<sup>8</sup> PISA 2022 results show that the availability of computers does not, in itself, indicate a school's preparedness for digital learning; having adequate guidelines for their use is also important (Figure II.5.8). The number of computers available per student at school was positively related to schools' preparedness for digital learning, on average across OECD countries and in 20 countries/economies, even after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile; it was negatively related in 5 countries/economies. On average across OECD countries, having formal guidelines for using digital devices for teaching and learning in specific subjects was positively related to the index of preparedness for digital learning, after accounting for the number of computers per student.

On average across OECD countries, the largest improvements in schools' preparedness for digital learning observed between 2018 and 2022 concern the availability of an effective online learning-support platform (in 2022, 78% of principals agreed or strongly agreed that this is available – a 26 percentage-point increase over 2018); teachers having the necessary technical and pedagogical skills to integrate digital devices into their instruction (88% of principals in 2022 so reported, a 24 percentage-point increase over 2018); and the availability of effective professional resources for teachers to learn how to use digital devices (76% of principals in 2022 so reported, a 13 percentage-point increase over 2018) (Table II.B1.5.32). The largest increases (of more than 50 percentage points) in providing an effective online learning-support platform were observed in Brunei Darussalam, Bulgaria, France, Germany, North Macedonia, Romania and Viet Nam. The largest increases (of more than 40 percentage points) in teachers having the necessary technical and pedagogical skills to integrate digital devices into their instruction were observed in Finland, Ireland\*, Japan and Morocco. The largest increases (of more than 30 percentage points) in the availability of effective professional resources for teachers to learn how to use digital devices were observed in Ireland\*, North Macedonia, Portugal and Viet Nam.

In 2022 about 59% of students, on average across OECD countries, attended schools where teachers have sufficient time to prepare lessons integrating digital devices; 59% of students were in schools with sufficient qualified technical assistance staff; and 55% of students attended schools where teachers are offered incentives to integrate digital devices into their teaching. There was no significant change, between 2018 and 2022, in teachers having sufficient time to prepare lessons integrating digital devices, according to principals' reports (Table II.B1.5.32). Principals also reported only a three percentage-point increase during the same period in the prevalence of offering incentives to teachers to integrate digital devices into their teaching.

In Cambodia, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Macao (China), the Philippines, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Sweden, Thailand, the United Arab Emirates, Uzbekistan and Viet Nam, more than 90% of students attended schools where teachers have sufficient time to prepare lessons integrating digital devices (Table II.B1.5.32). In Argentina, Belgium, Costa Rica, Germany, Greece, Hungary, Japan, Latvia\*, Paraguay, Portugal, Spain and Uruguay the opposite was observed: more than 50% of students attended schools where teachers did not have sufficient time to prepare lessons integrating digital devices, according to principals. In Bulgaria, Croatia, Iceland, Kazakhstan, Lithuania, Poland, Slovenia, Thailand, Türkiye, Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) and Uzbekistan, more than 90% of students attended schools where teachers are offered incentives to integrate digital devices in their teaching. The opposite was observed in Costa Rica, Jamaica\*, Romania, Spain and Uruguay, where more than 80% of students were in schools where teachers are not offered incentives to integrate digital devices in their teaching. More than 80% of students in Bulgaria, Cambodia, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, the Netherlands\*, North Macedonia, Qatar, Sweden, Thailand, the United Arab Emirates, Uzbekistan and Viet Nam attended schools with a sufficient number of qualified technical-assistance staff. By contrast, in Brazil, Greece, Ireland\*, Japan, Latvia\*, Morocco, Paraguay and Portugal more than 60% of students attended a school whose principal reported insufficient numbers of qualified technical-assistance staff.

# Figure II.5.8. Relationship between preparedness for digital learning, availability of computers and school guidelines

Formal guidelines for the use of digital devices for teaching and learning in specific subjects; based on students' and principals' reports



Change in the index of preparedness for digital learning associated with the number of computers available in school per student
 Change in the index of preparedness for digital learning when principals reported that their school has formal guidelines for the use of digital devices for teaching and learning in specific subjects

Notes: Only countries and economies with available data are shown.

Results based on linear regression analysis, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS).

Statistically significant differences are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3).

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the change in the index of preparedness for digital learning associated with the number of computers available in school per student.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

In 23 countries/economies, socio-economically advantaged schools were better prepared for digital learning than were disadvantaged schools (Table II.B1.5.30). The largest disparities were observed in Albania, Brunei Darussalam, Colombia, the Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Guatemala, Macao (China), Mexico, Peru and Spain. In 18 countries/economies, principals in urban schools were more likely than their counterparts in rural schools to report

that their school is prepared for digital learning, with the largest disparities found in Chile, Guatemala, Mexico, New Zealand\*, Qatar and Chinese Taipei. In 25 countries/economies, private schools showed greater preparedness for digital learning than public schools, with the largest disparities observed in Albania, Colombia, Costa Rica, Greece, Mexico, Peru and Serbia.

#### Most schools have established rules about using digital devices on their premises

Using digital devices successfully to enhance teaching and learning may also depend on school policies and practices. PISA 2022 asked school principals whether they had formal guidelines (e.g. written statements, programmes or policies) or specific practices (e.g. regularly scheduled meetings) that focus on how to use digital devices effectively in the classroom.

On average across OECD countries, the most common school practices were teachers establishing rules for when students may use digital devices during lessons (95% of students attended such schools), the school having a written statement about the general use of digital devices on school premises (83% of students) and teachers establishing rules in collaboration with students about using digital resources at school or in class (73% of students) (Table II.B1.5.35).

By contrast, on average across OECD countries, the least common practices were: not allowing the use of cell phones on school premises (34% of students attended such schools), having a specific policy about using social networks in teaching and learning (51% of students) and having a specific programme to promote collaboration on the use of digital devices among teachers (55% of students).

In 13 countries/economies, namely Albania, Brunei Darussalam, Greece, Hong Kong (China)\*, Jordan, Kosovo, Malta, Morocco, the Palestinian Authority, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Spain and the United Arab Emirates, more than two in three students attended schools where the use of cell phones is not allowed. In Canada\*, Finland, Lithuania, the Netherlands\* and Uruguay less than 10% of students attended schools where the use of cell phones is not allowed. As shown in Box II.5.1, when the use of cell phones on school premises is banned, students are less likely to report becoming distracted by using digital devices in mathematics lessons.

On average across OECD countries and in 13 countries/economies, namely Baku (Azerbaijan), Brazil, Cambodia, Colombia, El Salvador, Guatemala, Kosovo, Malta, Mongolia, Montenegro, Morocco, Panama\* and Paraguay, school guidelines and practices to enhance teaching and learning using digital devices were more likely to be found in socioeconomically advantaged schools than in disadvantaged schools (Table II.B1.5.36). But in Brunei Darussalam, North Macedonia and Slovenia disadvantaged schools were more likely than advantaged schools to have guidelines and practices for using digital devices.

On average across OECD countries and in 14 countries/economies, disadvantaged schools were more likely than advantaged schools to forbid the use of cell phones. By contrast, in eight countries/economies (Albania, Jamaica\*, Macao [China], Montenegro, New Zealand\*, North Macedonia, Peru and Qatar) advantaged schools were more likely than disadvantaged schools to forbid the use of cell phones on their premises.

On average across OECD countries and in 27 countries/economies, private schools were more likely than public schools to restrict the use of cell phones. The disparity was the largest in Georgia, Jamaica\*, Lithuania, the Philippines, Serbia and Sweden. In six countries/economies, public schools were more likely than private schools not to allow the use of cell phones; the largest disparities were observed in Brunei Darussalam and the United Arab Emirates.

# Box II.5.1. Digital devices and distraction

How students use digital resources, and the types of digital devices they rely on, shape the extent to which students might become distracted when using digital technologies. Evidence from PISA 2022 shows that 30% of students reported becoming distracted by using digital devices in mathematics lessons (Figure II.3.4); and students who use digital devices in mathematics class more frequently reported that they are likely to become distracted, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile and students' mathematics performance (Figure II.5.9). Indeed, students can easily be tempted to multitask, shift their attention to other information or tools available on the devices, or use the Internet browser for non-academic activities when using these devices (Amez and Baert, 2020<sub>[4]</sub>; Beland and Murphy, 2016<sub>[5]</sub>; UNESCO, 2023<sub>[6]</sub>). Students might not be able to navigate through digital environments smoothly and thus can easily lose concentration. Evidence from PISA 2018 showed that, on average across OECD countries, 68% of students displayed limited or no digital navigation skills (OECD, 2021<sub>[7]</sub>).

Further analyses examining the type of digital technologies students use at school show that students who used smartphones at school more frequently reported that they were likely to become distracted while using digital devices in mathematics lessons (Table II.B1.5.44). Relying on students' cell phones at school increases the risk that students use their phones in class for non-educational activities or get distracted by notifications. By contrast, the use of educational software at school has a more moderately negative association with students' concentration (Table II.B1.5.42), suggesting that the use of digital resources with pedagogical intent makes a difference, although it does not completely eliminate distractions.

Indeed, students appear to be less distracted when they switch off notifications from social networks and apps on their digital devices during class, when they do not have their digital devices open in class to take notes or search for information, and when they do not feel pressured to be on line and answer messages while in class (Table II.B1.5.44). Policies that target students' skills and behaviours when interacting with digital environments are critical in limiting distractions, particularly since students can also become distracted by using other types of digital devices besides cell phones. These findings are consistent with previous evidence from PISA 2018 showing that student-led uses of digital devices in class were negatively associated with student performance in reading, science and mathematics, whereas teacher-led or combined student-teacher uses of digital technologies tend to be more effective (OECD, 2022<sub>[8]</sub>).

Many schools introduced guidelines addressing the problem of distraction when students use digital devices in school (Table II.B1.5.35). Whether these are written statements about the general use of devices, rules established by teachers concerning students' use of these devices during lessons, rules established by teachers in collaboration with students, or programmes to prepare students for responsible Internet behaviour, these types of school policies show little association with the likelihood of students becoming distracted when using digital devices in class. Additional analyses suggest that this also holds for school policies that specifically target the use of digital resources in mathematics instruction (for example, the amount of time computers are used in mathematics lessons or using specific mathematics computer programs) (Table II.B1.5.43).

The content and design of such rules, as well as the capacity to enforce them, likely play a critical role in determining their effectiveness. When a school's written statements or rules are too generally designed, imprecise or lenient, they are unlikely to support effective teaching and learning with digital devices. Schools and teachers also need the time and capacity to enforce such rules. Teachers are probably unable to monitor what their students are doing with their digital devices in class, even when they are used as part of the lesson. Indeed, teachers' preparedness in integrating digital devices in instruction bears little relationship with the possibility of students becoming distracted while using digital devices during mathematics class (Figure II.5.9).

At the same time, students are less likely to report being distracted by using digital devices in mathematics lessons when the use of cell phones on school premises is banned. While mobile phones have expanded access to learning resources and provide flexibility in using them (particularly in classrooms where other devices may not be available),

they may also be the source of distractions for students. Banning cell phones in class can help reduce distractions – especially when those bans are enforced. Analyses based on PISA 2022 data show that school phone bans appear to be most effective in reducing distraction in education systems where students' use of smartphones is substantially lower in schools where smartphones are banned on school premises than in schools where they are not banned (as a proxy for enforcement) (Figure II.5.10). However, on average across OECD countries, 29% of students in schools where the use of cell phones is banned reported using a smartphone several times a day, and an additional 21% reported using one every day or almost every day at school (Table II.B1.5.39). This finding illustrates that cell phone bans are not always effectively enforced. Banning cell phones at school may also be related to students' use of digital devices outside of school. In Canada\*, Chile, Indonesia, Korea, New Zealand\*, Peru, the Philippines, the Slovak Republic and Chinese Taipei, when cell phones are banned at their school, students are less likely to turn off notifications from social networks and apps on their digital devices when going to sleep, even after taking into account students' and schools' socio-economic profile and students' performance (Table II.B1.5.45).

# Figure II.5.9. Digital devices, distraction and school policies

Change in the likelihood of students becoming distracted by using digital devices in mathematics lessons when students reported that they use their smartphone at school and school principals reported the school's policy on smartphone use; OECD average



Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.



Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

# Components of resilience: Ensuring sufficient, but not excessive, time for learning

PISA 2022 found that in higher-performing education systems, most students spend a moderate amount of time in regular lessons.<sup>9</sup> Systems where more students spend 20 hours or less per week in regular school lessons (in all subjects combined) tended to score lower in mathematics (Table II.B1.5.102). Education systems where more students spend 39 hours or more per week in regular lessons (in all subjects combined) also tended to score lower in mathematics. These relationships were observed across OECD countries and across all countries/economies, even after accounting for per capita GDP.

Education systems where more students spend up to two hours per day doing homework tended to score higher in mathematics, on average (Table II.B1.5.102). By contrast, those systems where more students spend three hours or more on homework tended to score lower in mathematics. These relationships were observed both across OECD countries and across all countries/economies, even after accounting for per capita GDP. Education systems where more students spent up to an hour per day on homework tended to show a greater sense of belonging at school; but systems where students spent more than two hours per day on homework showed a weaker sense of belonging, after accounting for per capita GDP.

With these correlational results, it cannot be concluded that studying for longer is detrimental to students' learning. In systems with more low-performing students, students may need more time to master content. In these cases, more hours of learning may be for remedial purposes. Some systems may lack high-quality teachers and educational material, as discussed above, which can result in both lower student performance and longer learning hours. While further studies are necessary to fully understand why there is a negative relationship between more learning hours and performance, Figure II.5.11, which shows the ratio of PISA score points to dedicated learning hours in and outside of school, helps identify those systems that show outstanding learning time and performance patterns.<sup>10</sup>

The average score in mathematics associated with the number of hours spent in regular school lessons and doing homework varied between 8 and 19 points across all countries/economies (Figure II.5.11). On average across OECD countries, in 2022 students spent 24 hours in regular lessons and 10.8 hours doing homework per week (Tables II.B1.5.52 and II.B1.5.56). The average score-point increase in mathematics performance per hour of total learning time across OECD countries was 14 points. In Switzerland, the United States\*, the Czech Republic, Finland, New Zealand\*, the Slovak Republic, Canada\*, the Netherlands, Korea, Denmark and Norway (in descending order), the score-point improvement in mathematics performance per hour of total learning time amounted to 15 points or more; in Morocco, Argentina, Colombia, Costa Rica, Uzbekistan, Mongolia, Peru, Albania and Cambodia (in ascending order), the improvement amounted to less than 10 score points.

#### Investing more hours in regular lessons and on homework is not always related to higher scores

PISA measures learning time as the number of hours per week that students are required to attend regular school lessons.<sup>11</sup> In 2022, learning time in regular school lessons varied across countries. In Morocco, Singapore, Israel, Mongolia, Argentina, Chinese Taipei, Germany, the United Arab Emirates, Malta, Ireland\* and Italy (in descending order) students attended regular lessons for more than 27 hours per week (Table II.B1.5.52), and in 24 countries/economies, students spent less than 20 hours per week in regular lessons.

Similar to the system-level relationship between learning time in regular lessons and student performance, on average across OECD countries, performance in mathematics is positively associated with each additional hour of regular lessons per week, up to 27 hours per week (Table II.B1.5.55). Students who spent 20 hour or less per week in regular lessons scored 432 points in mathematics. Students who spent between 20 and 24 hours per week in regular lessons scored 42 points higher, on average, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. The relationship remained positive but not as strong as the number of hours in regular lessons increased: students who spent between 24 and 27 hours per week in regular lessons scored 7 points higher, on average, than students who spent between 20 and 24 hours, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile.<sup>12</sup> Figure II.5.12 shows case studies of countries/economies where the association between time spent in regular lessons and mathematics performance are markedly different. For example, students in Brunei Darussalam, the Czech Republic, Slovenia and Spain who spent up to 27 hours in regular lessons scored higher in mathematics, while students in Greece, Israel, Japan and Morocco who spent up to 32 hours in regular lessons scored higher in mathematics.

# Figure II.5.11. Mathematics performance and time spent on learning activities

#### Based on students' reports

Lessons Homework time + Score points in mathematics per hour of time spent in regular lessons and homework



Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the score points in mathematics per hour of total learning time. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5 and Table I.B1.2.1.

# Figure II.5.12. Time spent in regular lessons and mathematics performance



#### Based on students' reports; selected cases

Notes: For each learning time displayed, the time range covered starts where the previous range ends; for example, for 24 hours, learning time could be 24 hours or less but more than 20 hours.

Differences between categories that are not statistically significant are marked with dotted lines (see Annex A3).

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

PISA 2022 collected information about how much time per day students spend doing homework<sup>13</sup> during a typical school week.<sup>14</sup> On average across OECD countries, students reported that they spend 1.5 hours per day on homework during a typical school week (Table II.B1.5.56): 27% of students spent up to half an hour a day on homework, 19% spent between half an hour and an hour a day, 23% spent between one and two hours per day and 31% spent more than two hours per day. In 54 countries/economies, students spent up two hours per day on homework. In Colombia, Guatemala, Morocco, Panama\* and Peru students spent on average more than two and a half hours per day on homework. By contrast, students in the Czech Republic, Finland and Switzerland spent less than an hour per day on homework.

Performance in mathematics was positively associated with time spent on homework, on average across OECD countries, when students spent up to two hours per day on homework (Table II.B1.5.61). Students who spent between half an hour and an hour per day on homework scored 16 points higher in mathematics than students who spent less than half an hour on homework per day, on average and after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. The relationship remained positive but weaker after one hour per day of homework. Students who spent between one and two hours per day on homework scored two points higher in mathematics, on average, than students who spent between half an hour and an hour per day, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. Above two hours, time spent on homework was negatively associated with mathematics performance. Figure II.5.13 shows case studies of countries/economies where the association between time spent on homework and mathematics performance are notably different. For example, students in Brunei Darussalam, Macao (China), the Netherlands\*, North Macedonia and Portugal who spent up to 2 hours on homework scored higher in mathematics, while students in Georgia, Korea, Romania and Viet Nam who spent up to 3 hours on homework scored higher in mathematics

This result, showing an association between longer learning time in regular lessons and homework, on the one hand, and lower performance, on the other, may imply that low-performing students need more time to master the same content or complete the same homework as high-performing students. Most parents would like to see their children acquire academic knowledge and skills, and also have enough time to participate in non-academic activities, such as sports, theatre or music, playing with friends, volunteering – all of which develop children's social and emotional skills, and contribute to their well-being. Those students who spend long hours in class and on homework and still fail to achieve may need individualised support rather than more learning time.

# Figure II.5.13. Time spent doing homework in all subjects, and mathematics performance



#### Based on students' reports; selected cases

Notes: For each homework time displayed, the time range covered starts where the previous range ends; for example, for 1 hour, homework time could be 1 hour or less but more than 30 minutes.

Differences between categories that are not statistically significant are marked with dotted lines (see Annex A3). Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

#### Moderate use of digital devices in school is related to higher performance

PISA 2022 asked students to report the number of hours they spend per day on digital devices for learning and leisure activities at school.<sup>15</sup> Figure II.5.14 shows the average mathematics performance of students according to the time they spent on digital devices for learning or leisure at school.

On average across OECD countries, students who did not spend time on digital devices for learning at school scored 456 points in mathematics (14% of students were in this category) (Tables II.B1.5.64 and II.B1.5.62). Students who spent up to one hour per day on digital devices for learning activities in school (31% of students) scored 25 points

higher in mathematics than students who spent no time, on average across OECD countries. Even after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, students scored 14 points higher, and this positive relationship is observed in over half of all systems with available data (Table II.B1.5.66). However, on average across OECD countries, students who spent between 5 and 7 hours per day on digital devices for learning activities in school (7.8% of students) scored 12 points lower than students who spent between 3 and 5 hours per day; after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, the former group of students scored 10 points lower. Students who spent over 7 hours per day on digital devices for learning activities in school scored even lower.

# Figure II.5.14. Time spent on digital devices at school and mathematics performance



#### Based on students' reports; OECD average

Note: Differences between categories are all statistically significant (see Annex A3). Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

When it comes to the use of digital devices for leisure activities, on average across OECD countries, students who did not spend time on digital devices for leisure at school (19% of students were in this category) (Table II.B1.5.62) scored 472 points in mathematics. Students who spent up to one hour per day on digital devices for leisure activities (31% of students) scored 20 points higher in mathematics than students who spent no time. The difference in performance is equal to 10 points even after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile; and a positive relationship is observed in around half of all systems with available data (Table II.B1.5.67). But students who spent more than an hour on digital devices for leisure scored lower in mathematics.

These findings are in line with the "Goldilocks hypothesis" (Przybylski and Weinstein, 2017<sub>[9]</sub>) that moderate use of digital devices is not intrinsically harmful and can even be positively associated with performance. It is the overuse and/or misuse of digital devices that is negatively associated with performance. These findings confirm the need for better guidelines on how to use digital devices at school.

The amount of time students spent on digital devices at school<sup>16</sup> in 2022 varied widely across education systems (Table II.B1.5.62). Figure II.5.15 shows the time spent on digital devices at school for learning and leisure activities and contrasts it to the time spent in regular lessons per day. It is important to keep in mind that students may use digital devices at school but outside of regular lessons. On average across OECD countries, students reported spending 2.0 hours per day on digital devices for learning activities and 1.1 hours per day on digital devices for leisure at school (Table II.B1.5.62). Students in Chile, the Czech Republic, France, Germany, Greece, Ireland\*, Israel,

Montenegro, Paraguay, Portugal, Serbia and Slovenia spent less than 1.5 hours per day learning on digital devices at school, while students in Denmark<sup>\*</sup>, Norway and Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) spent more than 3 hours per day.

#### Figure II.5.15. Time spent at school in regular lessons and on digital devices

#### Time spent per day by students (in hours)



Using digital devices for learning at school 🔲 Using digital devices for leisure at school 🔶 Regular lessons at school per school day

Notes: Only countries and economies with available data are shown.

Time spent in regular lessons at school per school day refers to the time spent in regular lessons per school week divided by five (with the assumption there are five days per school week).

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the time spent using digital devices at school for both learning and leisure.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

#### Box II.5.2. Student well-being, performance and use of digital devices

On average across OECD countries, 45% of students reported feeling nervous/anxious when they did not have their digital devices near them (Figure II.5.16). On average across OECD countries and in all countries/economies with available data, students who reported that they feel nervous/anxious when they don't have their digital devices near them also reported less satisfaction with life, and had lower values in the index of resistance to stress and in the index of emotional control, even after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile (Figure II.5.17). The relationship between students' feeling nervous/anxious when they don't have their digital device near them was negatively correlated with mathematics performance, on average across OECD countries and in 45 countries/economies, even after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile (Table II.B1.5.81). Only in Brunei Darussalam, Hong Kong (China)\*, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Malaysia, Chinese Taipei and Thailand was this association positive.

#### Figure II.5.16. Feeling nervous/anxious when digital devices are not near

#### Based on students' reports



Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students who never or almost never feel nervous/anxious when they don't have digital devices near them. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

# Figure II.5.17. Feeling nervous/anxious when digital devices are not near and selected student outcomes

#### Based on students' reports; OECD average

Before accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile
After accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile



1. The socio-economic profile is measured by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status.

Notes: All values are statistically significant before and after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile (see Annex A3).

The results show the difference between students who feel nervous/anxious less than half of the time, about half of the time, more than half of the time or all or almost all of the time when they don't have their digital devices near them compared to those who never or almost never feel nervous/anxious when they don't have their digital devices near them

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

#### Components of resilience: Establishing schools as hubs for social interaction

The PISA 2022 results show that schools can serve as hubs not only for students' learning but also for well-being. In high-performing education systems, schools tend to provide a room where students can do their homework, and school staff provides help with students' homework (Table II.B1.5.102). This relationship is observed both across OECD countries, and across all countries/economies, even after accounting for per capita GDP.

PISA results also show that, across OECD countries, an increase in peer-to-peer tutoring is associated with an increase in students' sense of belonging at school. In systems where more students in 2022 than in 2018 attended schools that offer peer-to-peer tutoring, students' sense of belonging at school strengthened during the period (Table II.B1.5.105).

#### School support for homework and study varies across systems

Of the three kinds of school support for homework and study after regular school hours – a room where students can do their homework, staff providing help, and peer-to-peer tutoring - the most frequently observed is having a room where students can do their homework. On average across OECD countries in 2022, 74% of students attended a

school that provides a room where students can do their homework (Table II.B1.5.82), 62% of students attended a school where staff provides help with homework, and 51% of students attended a school that provides peer-to-peer tutoring. In Canada\*, France, Japan, Macao (China), the Netherlands\*, Singapore, Sweden and the United Kingdom\* at least 90% of students had access to a study room after regular hours. In 18 countries/economies, 75% of students or more were in schools where staff can help them with homework. Of those countries/economies, in Canada\*, Kazakhstan, Singapore, Sweden, Ukrainian regions (18 of 27), the United Kingdom\*, the United States\* and Viet Nam 90% of students or more attended such schools. In 20 countries and economies, 75% of students or more were in schools with peer-to-peer tutoring after regular hours; in Macao (China), Thailand and Viet Nam 90% of students or more attended such schools.

#### In 19 education systems, peer-to-peer tutoring became more prevalent between 2018 and 2022

The share of students in schools that provided a room for homework or where staff provides help with homework remained stable between 2018 and 2022, but the share of students in schools that offer peer-to-peer tutoring increased by three percentage points between 2018 and 2022, on average across OECD countries (Figure II.5.18). This proportion grew in 18 countries/economies and shrank in 11 countries/economies out of the 73 countries/economies for which data are available. In Viet Nam, Portugal, Latvia\*, Japan, Romania, Austria, Türkiye and Iceland (in descending order), the share increased by more than 20 percentage points; but in Morocco, Baku (Azerbaijan), the Czech Republic, Ireland\*, Serbia, Colombia and Malta (in descending order) the share decreased by more than 10 percentage points.

Differences related to socio-economic status were greater regarding the availability of peer-to-peer tutoring at school (Table II.B1.5.85). On average across OECD countries, the share of students in advantaged schools whose school provides peer-to-peer tutoring was about 13.5 percentage points larger than the share of students in disadvantaged schools whose school provides this form of study help. In 21 education systems, this disparity in favour of students in advantaged schools was statistically significant; in 8 education systems the disparity favoured students in disadvantaged schools.

#### Figure II.5.18. Change between 2018 and 2022 in peer-to-peer tutoring at school

#### Percentage of students in schools that provide peer-to-peer tutoring; based on principals' reports



Notes: Only countries and economies with available data are shown.

Statistically significant differences are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3).

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the change in peer-to-peer tutoring between PISA 2018 and PISA 2022. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 5.

Figure II.5.1	Resources covered in PISA 2022
Figure II.5.2	Mathematics performance and spending on education
Figure II.5.3	Change between 2018 and 2022 in shortage of education staff and material resources
Figure II.5.4	Shortage of education staff and school characteristics
Figure II.5.5	Certified teachers and mathematics performance
Figure II.5.6	Shortage of education staff and material resources and mathematics performance
Figure II.5.7	Shortage of educational material and school characteristics
Figure II.5.8	Relationship between preparedness for digital learning, availability of computers and school guidelines
Figure II.5.9	Digital devices, distraction and school policies
Figure II.5.10	Digital devices, distraction and cell phone bans
Figure II.5.11	Mathematics performance and time spent on learning activities
Figure II.5.12	Time spent on regular lessons and mathematics performance
Figure II.5.13	Time spent doing homework in all subjects, and mathematics performance
Figure II.5.14	Time spent on digital devices at school, and mathematics performance
Figure II.5.15	Time spent at school in regular lessons and on digital devices
Figure II.5.16	Feeling nervous/anxious when digital devices are not near
Figure II.5.17	Feeling nervous/anxious when digital devices are not near and selected student outcomes
Figure II.5.18	Change between 2018 and 2022 in peer-to-peer tutoring

## Table II.5.1. Investments in a solid foundation for learning and well-being figures

StatLink ms https://stat.link/6jbfey

# Notes

<sup>1</sup> Averages using the Word Bank's classification of income groups, based on gross national income (GNI) per capita in 2021, calculated using the World Bank Atlas method.

2 Correlation between the change, between 2018 and 2022, in the proportion of students in schools whose principal reported that the school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered to some extent or a lot by inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff (Table II.B1.5.4) and the change, during the same period, in the proportion of full-time teachers in schools attended by 15-year-olds (Table II.B1.5.98).

3 The literature clearly shows that effective teachers are the foundation on which successful education systems are built (OECD, 2005[24]; OECD, 2010[25]; OECD, 2019[33]; OECD, 2020[32]) and that assisting staff play an essential role in supporting students, parents and teachers (Farrell et al., 2010[38]; Blatchford et al., 2011[41]; Masdeu Navarro, 2015[40]).

4 The goal of teacher certification is to guarantee that schools are staffed with quality teachers; but not all countries have a formal teacher certification process, and teacher shortages may lead some schools or countries to resort to hiring a larger proportion of uncertified teachers. In general, research finds a positive association between teacher certification and student achievement (Clotfelter, Ladd and Vigdor, 2006[12]; Goldhaber and Brewer, 2000[13]).

5 PISA measures the availability and quality of material resources in schools by asking school principals if their school's capacity to provide instruction is hindered by: a lack of educational material (i.e. textbooks, ICT equipment, library or laboratory materials); inadequate or poor-quality educational material; a lack of physical infrastructure (i.e.

building, grounds, heating/cooling systems, lighting and acoustic systems); or inadequate or poor-quality physical infrastructure.

6 Figures of variability were calculated using each ratio available in Tables II.B1.5.24 and II.B1.5.27.

7 Digital technologies hold great potential for enhancing learning and teaching, including by creating new ways of engaging with content, peers and teachers, personalising instruction and reducing teachers' administrative work (Singh and Thurman, 2019[27]; van der Vlies, 2020[23]; OECD, 2021[35]). But to be able to tap this potential and use these technologies effectively, teachers and students need to be supported with dedicated policies (OECD, 2023[36]; Martin, Sun and Westine, 2020[42]; UNESCO, 2022[28]; OECD, 2019[37]).

8 Some of these aspects referred to the availability of professional and learning resources for teachers (e.g. professional resources to learn how to use digital devices and online learning-support platforms), while others referred to teachers' and the school's capacity to integrate digital devices into instruction (e.g. pedagogical and technical skills and technical assistance staff). Teachers' skills and online and professional resources are key components of schools' preparedness for digital learning, as are the time available for teachers to integrate digital technologies into their instructional practices, and incentives and support to teachers as they do so (OECD, 2023[36]).

9 The relationship between learning time and academic achievement is complex: additional learning time does not translate automatically into better outcomes (Gromada and Shewbridge, 2016[10]; Radinger and Boeskens, 2021[34]) and can differ widely depending on where (at school or outside of school) students learn and the tools (physical or digital) they use for learning.

10 The ratios between dedicated learning time and PISA scores can be interpreted in various ways. They can be an indication of the quality of a school system; they can also be indicative of the differences in learning time across education levels. For example, 15-year-olds in some education systems may be compensating for (or reaping the benefits of) the time spent learning in earlier stages of their education. Another explanation is that, to succeed academically, students in some education systems need to spend more time in "planned" or "deliberate" learning because they have fewer opportunities to learn informally outside of school.

11 To create measures of learning time, PISA 2022 asked each student to report the number of class periods she/he is required to attend in all subjects per week. The average number of minutes per class period attended by students in the modal grade for 15-year-old students was reported by school principals. See Annex A3 for more details.

12 Given the cross-sectional nature of the PISA surveys and the potential reverse causality between learning time and student outcomes (lower-performing students might need more hours in class to catch up), PISA cannot determine causality. However, these results are in line with recent research that shows that additional learning time has positive but diminishing effects on student performance, and that the benefits of additional learning time can be heterogeneous, depending on the type of student (e.g. low-performing or socio-economically disadvantaged) (Cattaneo, Oggenfuss and Wolter, 2017[14]; Patall, Cooper and Allen, 2010[15]; Gromada and Shewbridge, 2016[10]; Bellei, 2009[16]).

13 A longstanding and widely used instructional practice (Murillo and Martinez-Garrido, 2014[17]), homework can have a positive influence on student achievement (Cooper, Robinson and Patall, 2006[18]) and also on the development of attitudes towards achievement, such as motivation and self-regulation (Ramdass and Zimmerman, 2011[19]). However, critics argue that too much homework is ineffective, that it takes time away from leisure activities, or that it is stressful or harmful to children's development or family life (Baker and Letendre, 2005[20]; Dudley-Marling, 2015[21]). A key concern about homework is whether it might have the unintended consequence of widening the performance gap between students from different socio-economic backgrounds. PISA results show that socio-

economically advantaged students and students who attend socio-economically advantaged schools tend to spend more time doing homework (OECD, 2014[26]). The reasons disadvantaged students tend to spend less time doing homework may include the lack of a quiet space to study at home, the disparity in home Internet service and computer access, or possibly less parental support for their studies (Bolkan, 2017[22]).

14 To create measures of time spent on homework, PISA 2022 asked each student to report the time they spend on homework in a typical school week: "up to 30 minutes a day", "more than 30 minutes and up to 1 hour a day", etc., and "more than 4 hours a day". The average time spent on homework was converted to a continuous variable by taking the median of each time interval, and assuming 4.5 hours if the answer was "more than 4 hours".

15 To create measures of time spent on digital devices, PISA 2022 asked each student to report the number of hours they usually spend on digital devices per day during the current school year: "none", "up to 1 hour", "more than 1 hour and up to 2 hours", etc., and "more than 7 hours". The average time spent on digital devices was converted to a continuous variable by taking the median of each time interval, and assuming 7.5 hours if the answer was "more than 7 hours".

16 The use of digital devices at school can, on the one hand, augment learning opportunities by providing a way to check information and offer personalised learning. On the other hand, digital devices can have an adverse impact on students' cognitive skills and performance if they distract students and interfere with students' capacity to focus in class or acquire language skills (Poulain et al., 2018[29]; Adelantado-Renau et al., 2019[30]; Madigan et al., 2020[31]; OECD, 2023[11]; OECD, 2021[7]).

#### References

Adelantado-Renau, M. et al. (2019), "Association Between Screen Media Use and Academic Performance Among Children and Adolescents", JAMA Pediatrics, Vol. 173/11, p. 1058, <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2019.3176</u> .	[30]
Amez, S. and S. Baert (2020), "Smartphone use and academic performance: A literature review", International Journal of Educational Research, Vol. 103, p. 101618, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJER.2020.101618</u> .	[4]
Baker, D. and G. Letendre (2005), <i>National differences, global similarities: World culture and the future of schooling</i> , Stanford University Press.	[20]
Beland, L. and R. Murphy (2016), "Ill Communication: Technology, distraction & student performance", Labour Economics, Vol. 41, pp. 61-76, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.LABECO.2016.04.004</u> .	[5]
Bellei, C. (2009), "Does lengthening the school day increase students' academic achievement? Results from a natural experiment in Chile", <i>Economics of Education Review</i> , Vol. 28/5, pp. 629-640, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2009.01.008</u> .	[16]
Blatchford, P. et al. (2011), "The impact of support staff on pupils' 'positive approaches to learning' and their academic progress", <i>British Educational Research Journal</i> , Vol. 37/3, pp. 443-464, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01411921003734645</u> .	[41]

Blatchford, P. and A. Russell (2019), "New ways of thinking about research on class size: an international perspective. Introduction to the special section", <i>International Journal of Educational Research</i> , Vol. 96, pp. 120-124, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijer.2018.09.011</u> .	[39]
Bolkan, J. (2017), "Home Connectivity and the Homework Gap: Is the Internet Destined to Become Just Another Wedge Pushing the Achievement Gap Wider?", <i>T H E Journal (Technological Horizons In Education)</i> , Vol. 44/5.	[22]
Burns, T. and F. Gottschalk (eds.) (2019), <i>Educating 21st Century Children: Emotional Well-being in the Digital Age</i> , Educational Research and Innovation, OECD Publishing, Paris, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1787/b7f33425-en">https://doi.org/10.1787/b7f33425-en</a> .	[3]
Cattaneo, M., C. Oggenfuss and S. Wolter (2017), "The more, the better? The impact of instructional time on student performance", <i>Education Economics</i> , doi: 10.1080/09645292.2017.1315055, pp. 433-445, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09645292.2017.1315055">https://doi.org/10.1080/09645292.2017.1315055</a> .	[14]
Clotfelter, C., H. Ladd and J. Vigdor (2006), "Teacher-student matching and the assessment of teacher effectiveness", <i>Journal of Human Resources</i> , Vol. 41/4, pp. 778-820, <u>https://doi.org/10.3368/jhr.xli.4.778</u> .	[12]
Cooper, H., J. Robinson and E. Patall (2006), "Does Homework Improve Academic Achievement? A Synthesis of Research, 1987–2003", <i>Review of Educational Research</i> , doi: 10.3102/00346543076001001, pp. 1-62, <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/00346543076001001</u> .	[18]
Dudley-Marling, C. (2015), "How School Troubles Come Home: The Impact of Homework on Families of Struggling Learners", <i>Current Issues in Education</i> , Vol. 6/0, <u>https://cie.asu.edu/ojs/index.php/cieatasu/article/view/1681</u> (accessed on 12 December 2019).	[21]
Farrell, P. et al. (2010), "The impact of teaching assistants on improving pupils' academic achievement in mainstream schools: a review of the literature", <i>Educational Review</i> , Vol. 62/4, pp. 435-448, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2010.486476</u> .	[38]
Goldhaber, D. and D. Brewer (2000), "Does Teacher Certification Matter? High School Teacher Certification Status and Student Achievement", <i>Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis</i> , doi: 10.3102/01623737022002129, pp. 129-145, <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/01623737022002129</u> .	[13]
Gromada, A. and C. Shewbridge (2016), "Student Learning Time: A Literature Review", OECD Education Working Papers, No. 127, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/5jm409kqqkjh-en</u> .	[10]
Madigan, S. et al. (2020), "Associations Between Screen Use and Child Language Skills: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis", <i>JAMA Pediatrics</i> , Vol. 174/7, pp. 665-675, <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.0327</u> .	[31]
Martin, F., T. Sun and C. Westine (2020), "A systematic review of research on online teaching and learning from 2009 to 2018", <i>Computers &amp; Education</i> , Vol. 159, p. 104009, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.104009</u> .	[42]
Masdeu Navarro, F. (2015), "Learning support staff: A literature review" <i>, OECD Education Working Papers</i> , No. 125, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/5jrnzm39w45I-en</u> .	[40]
Murillo, F. and C. Martinez-Garrido (2014), "Homework and primary-school students' academic achievement in Latin America", <i>International Review of Education</i> , Vol. 60/5, pp. 661-681, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11159-014-9440-2</u> .	[17]

OECD (2023), <i>Education at a Glance 2023: OECD Indicators</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/e13bef63-en</u> .	[2]
OECD (2023), <i>Empowering Young Children in the Digital Age</i> , Starting Strong, OECD Publishing, Paris, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1787/50967622-en">https://doi.org/10.1787/50967622-en</a> .	[11]
OECD (2023), Shaping Digital Education: Enabling Factors for Quality, Equity and Efficiency, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/bac4dc9f-en</u> .	[36]
OECD (2022), Value for Money in School Education: Smart Investments, Quality Outcomes, Equal Opportunities, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/f6de8710-</u> <u>en.pdf?expires=1671103843&amp;id=id&amp;accname=ocid84004878&amp;checksum=866643CB4318D824F19C6F</u> <u>81C8BEF9F7</u> (accessed on 15 December 2022).	[8]
OECD (2022), <i>Education at a Glance 2022: OECD Indicators</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/3197152b-en</u> .	[1]
OECD (2021), <i>21st-Century Readers: Developing Literacy Skills in a Digital World</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/a83d84cb-en</u> .	[7]
OECD (2021), OECD Digital Education Outlook 2021: Pushing the Frontiers with Artificial Intelligence, Blockchain and Robots, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/589b283f-en</u> .	[35]
OECD (2020), <i>PISA 2018 Results (Volume V): Effective Policies, Successful Schools</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/ca768d40-en</u> .	[32]
OECD (2019), <i>TALIS 2018 Results (Volume I): Teachers and School Leaders as Lifelong Learners</i> , TALIS, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/1d0bc92a-en</u> .	[37]
OECD (2019), <i>Working and Learning Together: Rethinking Human Resource Policies for Schools</i> , OECD Reviews of School Resources, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/b7aaf050-en</u> .	[33]
OECD (2014), "Does Homework Perpetuate Inequities in Education?" <i>, PISA in Focus</i> , No. 46, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/5jxrhqhtx2xt-en</u> .	[26]
OECD (2010), "Effective teachers and trainers", in <i>Learning for Jobs</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264087460-6-en">https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264087460-6-en</a> .	[25]
OECD (2005), <i>Teachers Matter: Attracting, Developing and Retaining Effective Teachers</i> , Education and Training Policy, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264018044-en</u> .	[24]
Patall, E., H. Cooper and A. Allen (2010), "Extending the School Day or School Year: A Systematic Review of Research (1985–2009)", <i>Review of Educational Research</i> , doi: 10.3102/0034654310377086, pp. 401-436, <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654310377086</u> .	[15]
Poulain, T. et al. (2018), "Cross-sectional and longitudinal associations of screen time and physical activity with school performance at different types of secondary school", <i>BMC Public Health</i> , Vol. 18/1, p. 563, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-018-5489-3</u> .	[29]
Przybylski, A. and N. Weinstein (2017), "A Large-Scale Test of the Goldilocks Hypothesis", <i>Psychological Science</i> , Vol. 28/2, pp. 204-215, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797616678438</u> .	[9]
Radinger, T. and L. Boeskens (2021), "More time at school: Lessons from case studies and research on extended school days", <i>OECD Education Working Papers</i> , No. 252, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/1f50c70d-en</u> .	[34]

Ramdass, D. and B. Zimmerman (2011), "Developing Self-Regulation Skills: The Important Role of Homework", <i>Journal of Advanced Academics</i> , doi: 10.1177/1932202X1102200202, pp. 194-218, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X1102200202">https://doi.org/10.1177/1932202X1102200202</a> .	[19]
Singh, V. and A. Thurman (2019), "How Many Ways Can We Define Online Learning? A Systematic Literature Review of Definitions of Online Learning (1988-2018)", <i>American Journal of Distance</i> <i>Education</i> , doi: 10.1080/08923647.2019.1663082, pp. 289-306, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2019.1663082</u> .	[27]
UNESCO (2023), <i>Technology in education</i>   <i>Global Education Monitoring Report</i> , <u>https://www.unesco.org/gem-report/en/technology</u> (accessed on 13 September 2023).	[6]
UNESCO (2022), Guidelines for ICT in education policies and masterplans, UNESCO, Paris.	[28]
van der Vlies, R. (2020), "Digital strategies in education across OECD countries: Exploring education policies on digital technologies", OECD Education Working Papers, No. 226, OECD Publishing, Paris, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1787/33dd4c26-en">https://doi.org/10.1787/33dd4c26-en</a> .	[23]

# **6** Governing education systems

This chapter explores how education systems balance the autonomy they give schools with the choices they give parents who are choosing a school and the mechanisms they put in place to ensure that certain quality standards are met. The chapter also examines how all of the above are related to student performance and equity of school systems.

For Australia\*, Canada\*, Denmark\*, Hong Kong (China)\*, Ireland\*, Jamaica\*, Latvia\*, the Netherlands\*, New Zealand\*, Panama\*, the United Kingdom\* and the United States\*, caution is advised when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Over the past few decades, education systems have grown in complexity (Burns and Köster, 2016<sub>[1]</sub>). Many decisions that were previously made by education authorities are today shared among multiple actors, including principals, teachers, labour unions, local communities, parents and students themselves.

Partly fuelled by a growing demand for school choice, the private sector is also playing an increasingly important role in education (OECD, 2020<sub>[2]</sub>), even if the state remains the guarantor of compulsory education. In this regard, large corporations and multinationals are ever more present in the world of education, and not only as providers of online and foreign-language learning (Engwall, 2008<sub>[3]</sub>; Facts and Factors, 2022<sub>[4]</sub>; Healey, 2023<sub>[5]</sub>).

The decentralisation of school governance and the greater choice of school given to parents have usually been accompanied by the implementation of quality-assurance mechanisms. These measures are related to how student progress is assessed, how teacher practices are monitored, how school leaders are appraised, and how schools are held accountable for the quality of the education they provide. These quality-assurance mechanisms are common to responsive education systems (OECD, 2013[6]).

# What the data tell us

- The top three quality-assurance mechanisms that appear to ensure that greater school autonomy is associated with better academic performance in mathematics are: teacher mentoring; monitoring teacher practice by having inspectors observe classes; and systematic recording of students' test results and graduation rates.
- Strong-performing school systems entrust principals and teachers with more responsibility.
- Students in disadvantaged public schools outperformed their peers in disadvantaged private schools; but this performance gap narrowed as schools moved up the socio-economic ladder.
- School fees appear to discourage some disadvantaged families from enrolling their children: a ten percentage-point increase in the share of school funding that comes from fees paid by parents was associated with a 3.5 percentage-point decrease in the share of students from disadvantaged homes.
- Principals of private schools were more likely than their counterparts in public schools to report that their school is prepared for remote learning even after all the efforts public schools made to improve digital learning during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Understanding the conditions under which schools' increasing autonomy works in the interests of students is critical for education policy making. In this regard, PISA data show that the greater the autonomy granted to schools in an education system, the higher the average mathematics performance; but this was more the case when education authorities and schools had certain quality-assurance mechanisms in place (Figure II.6.1). More specifically, the quality-assurance mechanisms that appeared to ensure that greater school autonomy was associated with better academic performance in mathematics across PISA-participating countries/economies were (in descending order of importance):<sup>1</sup> teacher mentoring arrangements; the monitoring of teacher practices through the observation of classes by inspectors; schools' systematic recording of students' test results and graduation rates; internal or self-evaluations; the tracking of achievement data by an administrative authority; and the use of mandatory standardised tests at least once a year. Other quality-assurance arrangements, such as posting achievement data publicly, implementing a standardised policy for mathematics subjects, and monitoring teacher practices through teacher peer review, seemed to matter less.

## Figure II.6.1. Quality-assurance mechanisms, school autonomy and mathematics performance

#### Results based on System-level analyses



1. Index of school responsibilities for resources. 2. Index of school responsibilities for curriculum. Q: Schools where the above arrangements aimed at quality assurance and improvements were in place. M: Teacher practices were monitored through the above methods. A: Mathematics achievement data were used in the above ways. T: Students were assessed using the above methods at least once a year. Notes: Results based on correlation analyses of all PISA-participating countries/economies. Statistically significant correlation coefficients are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3). The variables are ranked in descending order of the differences in the correlation coefficients between the education systems with values "above OECD average" and "below OECD average" in the quality-assurance indicators (indices of school responsibilities for resources and curriculum combined). Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

This chapter begins by describing the distribution of responsibilities within education systems, focusing on the autonomy granted to schools, the degree to which teachers participate in school governance, and the role played by school leaders (Figure II.6.2). The chapter then considers four aspects of school choice: school competition; public and private schools; parents' criteria for choosing a school; and schools' admissions and transfer policies. The third section of the chapter examines the quality-assurance mechanisms put in place by education systems, including the assessment of student performance, the monitoring of teacher practices, and school evaluations and improvement actions.



## Figure II.6.2. Governance of education systems as covered in PISA 2022

# Allocation of education responsibilities

One of the most important decisions education authorities have to make is how responsibilities for education are distributed among different levels of government, and among education authorities, school leaders and educators. Over the past few decades, many education systems have given local authorities and schools greater responsibility, most notably in the areas of resource allocation, curriculum planning and student assessment (Burns and Köster, 2016<sub>[1]</sub>). Policy makers and experts have highlighted the benefits associated with granting schools greater autonomy, which almost always entails giving principals greater authority to make decisions and, in some cases, getting teachers involved in school management. Indicators in this section are mostly related to the performance (school autonomy) and fairness (educational leadership) components of resilience (Table II.B1.6.71).

PISA 2022 asked school principals to report whether the principal, the teachers, the school's governing board, the local/municipal education authority, the regional/state education authority, the national/federal education authority have the main responsibility for allocating resources to schools (appointing and dismissing teachers; determining teachers' starting salaries and salary raises; and formulating school budgets and allocating them within the school), for the school curriculum (choosing learning materials; deciding which courses are offered; and determining the content of those courses), and for establishing student assessment, disciplinary and school admissions policies.

Table II.6.1 presents a summary of "who is responsible for what" in managing schools. On average across OECD countries in 2022, hiring and firing responsibilities lay mainly with school principals, while decisions on salaries were made mostly by national/regional authorities. The budgeting process was led mainly by the school principal, with assistance from the school governing board and education authorities. Responsibilities for curriculum and assessment were largely held by teachers or members of the school management team, but national/regional authorities also played a big role in determining how students were assessed, which courses were offered and what

content was covered in these courses. Principals played the central role in the school's admissions process, and disciplinary policies were established by teachers, with a secondary role played by principals and the school board.

The distribution of education responsibilities differed considerably from this general picture in many education systems (Table II.B1.6.1). Appointing and dismissing teachers is usually the task of school principals, but in some school systems, such as Argentina, Brazil, France, Japan, Morocco, Spain and Viet Nam, these tasks were mainly the responsibility of regional authorities, and in others, such as Costa Rica, Greece, Malaysia, Panama\*, Paraguay, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Türkiye and Uruguay, such responsibility lay largely with national authorities. Establishing teacher salaries tends to be managed by national authorities. Nonetheless, in several school systems, including Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, the Netherlands\* and Sweden, this responsibility lay mainly with principals. Formulating the school budget is typically the remit of principals, but in some education systems, such as Albania, Canada\*, Costa Rica, Georgia and Montenegro, this responsibility was held mostly by the school governing board, while in Baku (Azerbaijan), the Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Panama\* and Uruguay, this task was centralised at the national level.

The school governing board was the key actor in determining student disciplinary policies in several school systems, such as Colombia, France, Ireland\*, Italy, Morocco, Romania and Ukrainian regions (18 of 27), while this is a task usually performed by principals and teachers (Table II.B1.6.1). In the majority of school systems, principals played the central role in the school's admissions process. However, in Ireland\*, this responsibility lay mostly with the school governing board; in Malaysia, with local authorities; in France, Spain and Viet Nam, with regional authorities; and in Chile, Croatia, Montenegro and Romania, with the national authority. Choosing which learning materials to use is generally the remit of teachers, but in several countries and economies, such as Baku (Azerbaijan), Greece, Jordan, Morocco, the Palestinian Authority, Saudi Arabia and Uzbekistan, the national authority took responsibility in this area. Determining course content is a task typically shared between teachers and national authorities, but in Estonia, Iceland, Macao (China), the Netherlands\*, New Zealand\*, Thailand and the United Kingdom\*, the responsibility for the curriculum lay almost exclusively with teachers, probably a sign that these systems are placing greater trust in them.

# Table II.6.1. Summary of how responsibilities for school governance are allocated

	Responsibility	Held mainly by <sup>1</sup>	Shared with <sup>2</sup>			
Human resources	Appointing or hiring teachers	Principal	National/Regional authorities <sup>3</sup>			
	Dismissing or suspending teachers from employment	Principal	National/Regional authorities			
	Establishing teachers' starting salaries, including setting pay scales	National/Regional authorities	Principal			
	Determining teachers' salary increases	National/Regional authorities	Principal			
Financial resources	Formulating the school budget	Principal	National/Regional authorities, local authority and school board			
	Deciding on budget allocations	Principal	School board and local authority			
	Choosing which learning materials are used	Teachers				
Curriculum	Determining course content, including national/regional curricula	National/Regional authorities and teachers				
and assessment	Deciding which courses are offered	National/Regional authorities and teachers	Principal			
	Establishing student assessment policies, including national/regional assessments	National/Regional authorities and teachers	Principal			
Establishing stu	ident disciplinary policies and procedures	Teachers	Principal and school board			
Approving stud	ents for admission to the school	Principal				

#### Based on principals' reports; OECD average

1. More than 30% of students attended a school whose principal reported that a given actor had the main responsibility. 2. Between 15% and 30% of students attended a school whose principal reported that a given actor had the main responsibility. 3. For the purposes of this table, national and regional authorities are merged into the same category. Note: "Teachers" include members of the school management team.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

# Public schools in some education systems enjoy greater autonomy than the typical private school in OECD countries

School systems differ in the degree of autonomy granted to schools and in the domains over which this autonomy is awarded. Since the early 1980s, many school systems have given individual schools more discretion to make decisions about curricula and resource allocation (Cheng, Ko and Lee, 2016<sub>[7]</sub>; Mentini and Levatino, 2023<sub>[8]</sub>; Wang, 2014<sub>[9]</sub>). The underlying premise is that individual schools are best placed to promote innovation, allocate resources more effectively, and respond to local needs. They have highly qualified teachers and effective leaders who are good judges of their students' learning needs, and who can (re)design and implement rigorous curricula, internal evaluations and appraisal mechanisms without feeling overburdened (Caldwell and Spinks Jim M., 2013<sub>[10]</sub>; Department for Education of the United Kingdom, 2010<sub>[11]</sub>).

However, when given greater responsibilities, some school leaders may lack the time, motivation or skills to innovate (Almeida et al.,  $2020_{[12]}$ ; Hanushek, Link and Woessmann,  $2013_{[13]}$ ; Lubienski,  $2003_{[14]}$ ). Some may even use greater authority over school matters for their own selfish interests. For these reasons, education authorities, as the ultimate guarantor of the quality of the school system, have typically coupled such decentralisation efforts with accountability mechanisms (OECD,  $2013_{[15]}$ ; Verger, Parcerisa and Fontdevila,  $2019_{[16]}$ ). But these, in turn, have sometimes created new challenges, such as limiting, in practice, the autonomy granted to schools, constraining the professionalism of the school staff, and increasing teachers' feeling of being constantly scrutinised (Earley,  $2019_{[17]}$ ; Skerritt,  $2020_{[18]}$ ).

The indices of school responsibility for resources and for curriculum measure the extent to which members of the school staff (principal, teachers or the school governing board) assumed governance responsibilities in their schools. They were calculated as a ratio between the responsibilities granted to the school staff and the responsibilities retained by education authorities. The index of responsibility for resources combines the six tasks related to human and financial resources, and the index of responsibility for curriculum combines the four tasks related to the curriculum and assessment. Higher values in the indices imply that the school staff assumed more responsibilities than education authorities.

According to the index of school responsibility for resources, the education systems where schools enjoyed the highest degree of autonomy were Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Guatemala, Latvia\*, Macao (China), the Netherlands\*, Thailand, the United Arab Emirates, the United Kingdom\* and the United States\* (Table II.B1.6.1). At the other end of the spectrum, the autonomy over resources that management granted to school principals, teachers or the governing board was limited in Austria, Baku (Azerbaijan), France, Germany, Greece and Kosovo, at least in comparison with other education systems.

The analysis of the index of school responsibility for curriculum provides some interesting contrasts. For instance, Estonia and Japan stood out as granting the greatest levels of curricular autonomy to schools among all PISA-participating countries/economies but displayed moderate levels of school autonomy over resource management. Other education systems granting schools considerably more autonomy over curricular matters than over resource management included Colombia, Finland, Iceland, Ireland\*, Italy, Korea and New Zealand\*. By contrast, countries/economies where the education authorities granted more autonomy over resource management than over the curriculum included Bulgaria, Macao (China), the Netherlands\*, Sweden, the United Arab Emirates and the United States\*.

On average across OECD countries, socio-economically advantaged schools enjoyed greater autonomy than disadvantaged schools over resources and the curriculum; and likewise, urban schools were granted more autonomy than rural schools, but only over resource management (Tables II.B1.6.2 and II.B1.6.3). Not surprisingly, in a great majority of education systems, private schools exercised greater autonomy than public schools (Figure II.6.3 and Figure II.6.4). The largest differences between these two types of schools were observed in Japan, Malaysia and Türkiye, in the case of resource management, and in Malaysia, Qatar, Serbia and the United Arab Emirates, in the case of curriculum. Some of the smallest private-public gaps in school autonomy were observed in Belgium<sup>2</sup>, Estonia, Ireland\*, Korea and the Netherlands\*. In some of these cases, most notably in the Netherlands\*, the absence of differences in autonomy between private and public schools was due to the high levels of autonomy enjoyed by

public schools, while in others, especially Korea, moderate differences in autonomy between the two types of schools were related to the limited autonomy granted to private schools.

On average across OECD countries, students in schools whose principal reported that more responsibilities for the curriculum or resource management lie with the school scored slightly lower in mathematics, after accounting for socio-economic factors (Table II.B1.6.4). These results are consistent with a comprehensive review by Jensen, Weidmann and Farmer (2013<sub>[19]</sub>) who reported that increasing school autonomy may improve academic achievement only to some extent, and only in some countries. After all, several studies found that to reap the full benefits of school autonomy, education systems need to have effective accountability systems, as well as highly qualified teachers and strong school leaders to design and implement rigorous internal evaluations and curricula (Hanushek, Link and Woessmann, 2013<sub>[13]</sub>; OECD, 2011<sub>[20]</sub>). In any case, variations in school autonomy within education systems are expected to be modest in size and are largely explained by the public or private nature of schools. To fully understand the relationship between school autonomy and student outcomes, it is helpful to examine cross-country variations.

# Figure II.6.3. Index of school responsibility for curriculum, by school type

#### Based on principals' reports



Notes: Statistically significant differences between public and private schools are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3).

Questions about the type of school were not asked in the Flemish-speaking Community of Belgium. Data for Belgium represent only the French-speaking and German-speaking Communities.

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the index of school responsibility for curriculum for public schools. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

# Figure II.6.4. Index of school responsibility for resources, by school type

#### Based on principals' reports



Notes: Statistically significant differences between public and private schools are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3).

Questions about the type of school were not asked in the Flemish-speaking Community of Belgium. Data for Belgium represent only the French-speaking and German-speaking Communities.

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the index of school responsibility for resources for public schools. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

#### Strong-performing school systems entrust principals and teachers with more responsibility

This section examines how education responsibilities were allocated in four groups of 20 education systems that were organised according to their average performance in mathematics. The analysis shows that the way education responsibilities were distributed varied greatly across school systems, and that part of these differences were associated with the academic performance of 15-year-olds. As Figure II.6.5 shows, education responsibilities were
allocated very differently in low- and high-performing education systems. In the education systems in the bottom quarter of mathematics performance, the responsibilities for human resources (i.e. hiring, firing, salaries) were largely centralised at the national level, whereas in the 20 education systems in the top quarter of mathematics performance, principals had been granted the main responsibility over human resources (Figure II.6.5a). A somewhat similar picture emerges from the analysis of budgeting responsibilities. In high-performing school systems, the budget is managed almost exclusively by principals, whereas in low-performing school systems, they are managed to a similar extent by principals, the national authorities and the school governing board (Figure II.6.5b).

More striking are the results for curriculum and assessment (Figure II.6.5c). In education systems in the bottom quarter of mathematics performance, national authorities played the central role in these areas, with teachers playing a minor role. By contrast, in strong-performing school systems, the responsibilities over curriculum and assessment were mostly assumed by teachers or members of the school management team, and in a few cases by the principal or national authorities.

Low- and high-performing systems looked more alike when examining who had the main responsibility for disciplinary and school admissions policies (Figure II.6.5d and Figure II.6.5e). In both low- and high-performing school systems, the school principal usually led the process of admitting students to the school, with other school staff playing a minor role; teachers played the main role when tackling disciplinary problems.

Overall, these results indicate that strong-performing school systems granted more responsibility to school principals and teachers. Analyses at the system level show that students scored higher in mathematics in the education systems that granted more autonomy to schools over the curriculum, even after accounting for per capita GDP (Table II.B1.6.71). The cross-sectional nature of PISA data cannot determine whether granting greater responsibilities for resources to principals, and for curriculum and assessment to teachers, were the reasons students excelled academically in these strong-performing school systems; but the results suggest that, in these countries/economies, education authorities have learned to trust their principals and teachers. As for low-performing education systems, the literature suggests that granting greater autonomy to schools may not necessarily produce the desired results, either because the schools lack effective quality-assurance and accountability mechanisms, or because the school staff is not qualified enough to take full advantage of the greater responsibilities (Hanushek, Link and Woessmann, 2013<sub>[13]</sub>).

# Figure II.6.5. Allocation of education responsibilities, by average performance in mathematics



1. Average of the following items: "Appointing or hiring teachers"; "Dismissing or suspending teachers from employment"; "Establishing teachers' starting salaries, including setting pay scales"; and "Determining teachers' salary increases".

2. Average of the following items: "Formulating the school budget"; and "Deciding on budget allocations".

3. Average of the following items: "Establishing student assessment policies, including national/regional assessments"; "Choosing which learning materials are used"; "Determining course content, including national/regional curricula"; and "Deciding which courses are offered".

Note: Each quarter is composed of 20 education systems.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

#### Quality education leadership builds supportive school environments

School leaders not only manage administrative and organisational tasks, such as budgeting, staffing and planning the maintenance of school buildings, they also play a key role by actively shaping the school culture and the learning environment (Barber, Whelan and Clark, 2010<sub>[21]</sub>; Bloom et al., 2015<sub>[22]</sub>; Leithwood, 2021<sub>[23]</sub>; Pont, Nusche and Moorman, 2008<sub>[24]</sub>). The most effective schools are led by principals who define, communicate and build consensus around the school's education goals, ensure that the curriculum and instructional practices are aligned with these goals, and foster healthy social relationships within the school community (Branch, Rivkin and Hanushek, 2013<sub>[25]</sub>; Goddard et al., 2019<sub>[26]</sub>; Grissom, Loeb and Master, 2013<sub>[27]</sub>). Some of the educational practices in which principals usually engage include setting and communicating learning standards; collaborating with teachers on curriculum, instruction and assessment; planning the professional development of school staff; fostering a positive school climate; and identifying ways to involve parents and the larger community in school life. The extent to which principals emphasise different activities and leadership styles largely depend on the school context (Brauckmann, Pashiardis and Ärlestig, 2023<sub>[28]</sub>; Hardwick-Franco, 2019<sub>[29]</sub>). The adaptive nature of school leadership has never been more evident than during the COVID-19 pandemic when most principals were obliged to engage in crisis-management activities (Adams et al., 2021<sub>[30]</sub>; Chatzipanagiotou and Katsarou, 2023<sub>[31]</sub>; Harris and Jones, 2020<sub>[32]</sub>).

The PISA 2022 school questionnaire asked school principals to report how frequently ("never or almost never", "about once or twice a year", "about once or twice a month", "about once or twice a week", or "every day or almost every day") they, or someone else in the school management team, engaged in seven actions related to school management in the previous academic year. These actions were combined to create the index of education leadership. An index of instructional leadership was also created based only on the five items referring to instructional leadership. Higher values in both indices indicate that school principals engaged in these activities more frequently. Some of the answers given by school principals may be coloured by social desirability, particularly those referring to leadership styles that are positively viewed by others, so over-reporting should be considered when interpreting the findings.

Almost all school principals reported doing all of the leadership activities at least once during the previous year (Table II.6.2 and Table II.B1.6.5 from Annex B1). On average across OECD countries, more than nine out of ten students were enrolled in schools whose principal reported that they, or someone else in the school management team, engaged in each of the seven management activities at least once a year. The action in which more principals engaged, at least once a month, was collaborating with teachers to solve classroom discipline problems (85%), whereas the activity in which fewer principals engaged was working on a professional development plan for the school (35%). Between 58% and 67% of principals reported that, at least once a month, they: provided feedback to teachers based on classroom observations (58%); ensured that teachers take responsibility for improving their teaching skills (61%); provided parents with information on the school and student performance (65%); supported teacher co-operation to develop new teaching practices (67%); or ensured that teachers feel responsible for their students' learning outcomes (67%).

According to the index of education leadership, school principals in Brazil, the Philippines, Qatar, the United Arab Emirates and Uzbekistan were the most likely to report participating in education leadership actions, while those in Austria, France, the Slovak Republic, Slovenia and Switzerland were the least likely to report so (Table II.B1.6.5). Overall, OECD countries showed lower values in the index of education leadership than partner countries/economies.

In general, school differences in education leadership did not follow clear patterns (Table II.B1.6.6). On average across OECD countries, principals of private and public schools reported similar levels of education leadership, and the rural-urban or socio-economic gaps, while statistically significant, were small.

In most PISA-participating countries/economies, the measures of education leadership examined were only weakly associated with students' performance in mathematics, after accounting for the socio-economic profile of students and schools (Table II.B1.6.8). The only item that showed a relatively strong, and negative, association with mathematics performance was "collaborating with teachers to solve classroom discipline problems", which can probably be explained by the fact that school leaders may (need to) show more active leadership when the

disciplinary climate deteriorates (OECD, 2016<sub>[33]</sub>). In Israel, for instance, students who were enrolled in a school whose principal performed this action at least once a month scored 43 points lower than students who attended a school whose principal engaged in this type of action less frequently.

Education systems that scored higher in the indices of educational and instructional leadership scored lower in mathematics, on average (not when OECD countries were examined separately), but were more socio-economically fair, after accounting for per capita GDP (Table II.B1.6.71).

## **School choice**

Students are often assigned to their neighbourhood school. However, in recent decades, reforms in many countries have tended to give greater choice to parents and students, enabling them to choose the schools that meet the child's education needs or family preferences. As a result, competition for enrolment among schools has increased (Heyneman, 2009<sub>[34]</sub>; Musset, 2012<sub>[35]</sub>).

There are different types of school-choice policies with different financial implications for schools. In some systems, schools receive public funding based on the number of enrolled students; in others, families are given vouchers or scholarships to use on the "approved" school of their choice. School-choice systems also differ in the role played by the private sector. In some education systems, school choice is a way of offering families alternatives to public schooling; in others, school-choice policies give families a greater choice within the public education system, i.e. instead of being assigned to the school in their catchment area.

Advocates of school choice argue that competition among schools creates incentives for institutions to organise programmes and instruction in ways that better meet diverse student requirements and interests (Card, Dooley and Payne, 2010<sub>[36]</sub>; Wößmann, 2007<sub>[37]</sub>; Wößmann et al., 2007<sub>[38]</sub>). Some studies find moderate positive effects of school choice on student outcomes (Epple, Romano and Urquiola, 2017<sub>[39]</sub>; Jabbar et al., 2022<sub>[40]</sub>). Advocates also posit that school choice widens access to private schools for low-income families.

However, some studies have questioned the validity of the underlying assumptions about school choice, such as equal access to information about schools (Ainsworth et al., 2021<sub>[41]</sub>; Jensen, Weidmann and Farmer, 2013<sub>[19]</sub>). Findings in this report show that, among families searching for high-quality schools, socio-economically disadvantaged families ranked financial considerations higher in importance than advantaged families did (Table II.B1.6.25), often because of the time and money required to commute to a distant school, and the existence of "hidden" fees (Bierbaum, Karner and Barajas, 2021<sub>[42]</sub>; Boeskens, 2016<sub>[43]</sub>; Fast, 2020<sub>[44]</sub>; Palm and Farber, 2020<sub>[45]</sub>). Adopting school-choice practices may thus lead to greater socio-economic segregation among schools (Burgess and Briggs, 2010<sub>[46]</sub>; Rowe and Lubienski, 2017<sub>[47]</sub>; Valenzuela, Bellei and Ríos, 2014<sub>[48]</sub>), and to greater differences in teacher quality and student achievement across schools (Behrman et al., 2016<sub>[49]</sub>). Analyses in this report, however, show that education systems with more students in private schools and greater competition among schools enjoyed similar levels of socio-economic fairness than education systems with fewer private school students and less school competition (Table II.B1.6.71). Only the extent to which the school admissions process is selective was negatively associated with socio-economic fairness in mathematics.

# Table II.6.2. Education leadership actions

#### Based on principals' reports

- A Collaborating with teachers to solve classroom discipline problems B Providing feedback to teachers based on observations of instruction in the classroom
- C Taking actions to support co-operation among teachers to develop new teaching practices
- D Taking actions to ensure that teachers take responsibility for improving their teaching skills

Less than half of students From 50% to 75% of students

- E Taking actions to ensure that teachers feel responsible for their students ' learning outcomes
- F Providing parents or guardians with information on the school and student performance
- G Working on a professional development plan for this school

From 75% to 90% of students More than 90% of students

	Percentage of students in schools whose principals reported that they, or someone else in the management team,									
			en	gaged	l in the	e follo	wing actions:			
	A		C	ע	G					
Dhillinging	04	At le	ast on	ce a m		02	At least once a year			
Philippines	91	89	93	94	99	93	100			
Uzbekistan	97	98	91	89	97	87	100			
United Arab Emirates	05	94	96	93	95	87	100			
Brazii	95	91	94	91	92	88	94			
United States	93	92	91	90	90	04	100			
Qalar	00	90	93	90	94	79 05	100			
RdZdKIISIdII	09	99	90	02	90	00	07			
	90	01	07	04	90	00	97			
Jordan	07	94	90	90	09	19	97			
Albania	02	94	00	07	03	60	99			
	94	74	94	01	04	09	97			
Australia	90	14	90	91	90	14	100			
Buigaria	92	03 70	75 00	00 07	00	- 09 - 70	99			
	94	70	09	01	92	10	100			
Laivia	90	00	91	C1 00	C1 04	09	100			
Monterlegio	97	00	70	00	04	00	90			
Chile	92	13	89	83	83	78	98			
Cambodia	88	8/	11	80	88	85	89			
Guaternaia	10	79	04	00	00	00 72	93			
Viet Nam	05	00	07	00	90	13	99			
Canada	90	12	02	74	00 70	04	97			
Romania	09	00	02	70	70	00	99			
Spain Soudi Arshio	90	00	02	70	70	00	95			
Saudi Alabia	10	10	02	01	19	0/	99			
Peru	83	84 70	00	84 97	81 90	10	85			
	09	70	00	01	09	49	100			
Singapore	93	05	90	04	02	25	100			
I nanano Sortia	92 70	00	04 70	60	90 70	70	00			
Serbia	00_	04	76	56	- 79 - 04	05	99			
Georgia	00	00	75	00	- 04 - 75	- 00 - 51-	90			
IVIOIDOVA	09	- 94 - 50	71	70	- 75	00	99			
I UIKIYE Mongolia	- 69 - 75 -	39	71	70 90	00 54	64	97			
ivioligolia	05	- 09 E0	70-	76	04	67	90			
Israel	90 07	30	79	68	00 84	36	100			
North Macadania	70	74	64	66	- 04 - 78	00_	100			
	00_	14	04	85	80_	- 90	81			
Colombia	90	60	- 93 - 70 -	76	75	- 11				
El Solucion	00	61	79	70	00_	72	90			
	00	70	70-	70	00 75	62	93			
	94	70	79	74	75	02	70			
Argentina	65	60	76	/4	14	15	00			

	Percentage of students in schools whose principals reported that they, or someone else in the management team,								
			en	gaged	l in the	follo	wing actions:		
	Α	В	C	D	E	F	G		
		At le	ast on	ce a m	onth		At least once a year		
Mexico	82	59	77	71	75	78	92		
Paraguay	77	65	81	76	74	63	93		
Brunei Darussalam	83	64	76	80	87	36	99		
Netherlands*	71	79	72	61	71	70	98		
Korea	91	64	73	70	68	54	100		
Malaysia	85	59	83	83	87	20	99		
Czech Republic	77	76	55	60	68	81	98		
Lithuania	87	67	56	55	69	65	97		
OECD average	85	58	67	61	67	65	94		
Norway	87	47	78	63	72	45	100		
Malta	91	62	66	62	62	53	94		
Indonesia	76	69	69	70	70	36	98		
Portugal	87	13	81	75	74	70	89		
Italy	82	49	67	54	56	80	98		
Iceland	95	31	70	46	67	72	99		
Croatia	71	68	61	61	66	55	95		
Ireland*	82	23	73	69	74	58	97		
Estonia	83	58	47	56	67	67	97		
Greece	92	43	67	57	73	69	70		
Sweden	84	51	68	56	59	49	97		
Hungary	63	72	55	44	62	69	99		
Slovak Republic	83	63	42	37	40	82	99		
Belaium	91	47	49	47	54	60	94		
Poland	61	72	36	45	56	66	100		
Germany	88	59	47	41	46	50	93		
Morocco	81	20	39	47	57	63	95		
Slovenia	66	52	44	40	47	48	98		
Denmark*	75	56	56	42	45	24	96		
Austria	68	39	43	42	50	55	94		
Finland	86	31	67	45	38	52	69		
Switzorland	76	46	36	26	30	35	88		
Eranaa	01	40	26	20	21	50	00		
Fidilice	04	20	30	20	51	50	01		
Baku (Azerbaijan)	97	96	91	89	81	87	97		
Palestinian Authority	93	88	89	81	84	69	98		
Macao (China)	82	85	71	71	75	70	100		
Knenvn	91_	63	67	64	74	88	99		
Likrainian regions (18 of 27)	60	80	48	65	79_	87_	100		
Chinese Tainei	68	70	68	65	70	69	100		
Hong Kong (Ching)*	54	52	10	<u>/1</u>	10	37	08		
riony Kony (Criffia)	54	52	49	41	44	31	30		

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the average of the seven actions. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

## Competition for students is limited in rural areas

School choice usually entails greater competition across schools, if only because school funding usually depends on the number of students enrolled. However, even when parents are given the opportunity to choose a school freely, several factors may limit school competition in practice. In rural and isolated areas, for instance, parents often have only one school to choose from, at least without enduring long commutes. In socio-economically disadvantaged neighbourhoods, the choice of school may also be constrained as private schools tend to have fewer incentives to operate in these areas. In education systems where the funding of schools is guaranteed regardless of the number of students enrolled, which is often the case among public and government-dependent private schools, there may be little to no competition among schools.

According to principals, competition for students between schools is common across the countries/economies that participated in PISA 2022 (Table II.B1.6.9). On average across OECD countries, about four in five students were enrolled in a school whose principal reported that there was at least one other school competing for their students in the same area. Competition between schools was most common in densely populated countries/economies, such as Belgium, Hong Kong (China)\*, Japan, Macao (China), the Netherlands\*, Singapore and Chinese Taipei, but also in Australia\*, Latvia\* and Türkiye. By contrast, in four sparsely populated countries (Finland, Iceland, Montenegro and Norway), but also in densely populated Switzerland, at least one in two students attended a school with no other school competing for students in the same area.

The prevalence of school competition barely changed between 2018 and 2022, on average across OECD countries (Table II.B1.6.11). According to principals, school competition decreased in a handful of education systems, most notably in the Czech Republic, Estonia and Slovenia. However, school competition increased considerably in several education systems, including the Dominican Republic, Malaysia, Montenegro, Poland and Saudi Arabia. In these education systems, the percentage of students enrolled in schools competing for students with at least one other school in the area increased by 10 percentage points or more during the period. In Poland, for instance, the share of students who were enrolled in a school that competes with other schools increased from 73% in 2018 to 91% in 2022.

The share of students in schools whose principal reported that one or more schools in the same area compete for students was larger in socio-economically advantaged schools (84% of students) than in disadvantaged schools (73% of students), in urban schools than in rural schools, and in private schools than in public schools, on average across OECD countries (Table II.B1.6.10).

In most countries/economies, and on average across OECD countries, school competition was associated with higher mathematics scores before accounting for socio-economic disparities; but this difference disappeared in most of these education systems after accounting for socio-economic characteristics (Table II.B1.6.12). Only in 13 school systems were mathematics scores higher among students in schools that competed with one other school in the area, relative to students in schools that did not compete with other schools. By contrast, in six education systems, students in schools that did not compete with other schools performed better in mathematics, relative to students in school.

#### Public schools can help disadvantaged students thrive

Schooling mainly takes place in public institutions; but some countries, including Belgium, Ireland, the Netherlands, Spain and the United Arab Emirates, have a long-standing tradition of private schooling. Other countries, including Chile, Sweden, the United Kingdom and the United States, have implemented reforms to allow a greater variety of programmes and providers to enter the education system (Zancajo et al., 2021<sub>[50]</sub>). Advocates of private schooling argue that private schools are more responsive to parents, more cost-effective, and increase competition, accountability and pedagogical diversity throughout the school system (Bloom et al., 2015<sub>[22]</sub>; Chapman and Salokangas, 2012<sub>[51]</sub>; Jimenez and Paqueo, 1996<sub>[52]</sub>). Critics point to the detrimental effects of school choice, including social segregation of students and the threat to social cohesion (Cordini, Parma and Ranci, 2019<sub>[53]</sub>; Cordini,

Parma and Ranci, 2019<sub>[53]</sub>; Dumay and Dupriez, 2014<sub>[54]</sub>; Frohly, 2022<sub>[55]</sub>; Levin, Cornelisz and Hanisch-Cerda, 2013<sub>[56]</sub>).

Evidence of the benefits of private schooling is mixed. Some studies show that government-dependent private schools are particularly well-managed and produce the best student outcomes (Angrist, Pathak and Walters,  $2013_{[57]}$ ; Bloom et al.,  $2015_{[22]}$ ; West and Woessmann,  $2010_{[58]}$ ); others point to the benefits of private schooling more generally (DeAngelis,  $2019_{[59]}$ ; Henderson et al.,  $2020_{[60]}$ ; Moulin,  $2023_{[61]}$ ; Schwalbach and DeAngelis,  $2022_{[62]}$ ). Some findings paint a more nuanced picture (Geller, Sjoquist and Walker,  $2006_{[63]}$ ; Mancebón and Muñiz,  $2008_{[64]}$ ; Smith and Meier,  $1995_{[65]}$ ).

As defined in PISA, public schools are those managed by a public education authority, government agency, or governing board appointed by a government or elected by public franchise. Private schools refer to schools managed directly or indirectly by a non-government organisation (such as a church, trade union, business or other private institution). PISA distinguishes between two types of schools within the private school sector, based on their level of public funding. Private independent schools are those funded mainly through student fees or other private contributions (e.g. benefactors, donations); government-dependent private schools are privately managed schools that receive more than half of their funding from government sources.

According to these definitions, in 2022 about 82% of 15-year-old students attended public schools, 12% attended government-dependent private schools, and 6% attended private independent schools, on average across OECD countries (Table II.B1.6.13). About 1 in 20 students was enrolled in a school managed by a religious organisation; about 1 in 10 was enrolled in a school managed by other not-for-profit organisations; and a fraction of students (less than 3%) was enrolled in a school managed by for-profit organisations.

In some education systems, including Baku (Azerbaijan), Iceland, Latvia\*, Moldova, Montenegro, Romania, Serbia and Uzbekistan, almost all 15-year-old students attended a public school (Table II.B1.6.13 and Figure II.6.6). In others, such as Australia\*, Belgium, Chile, Guatemala, Hong Kong (China)\*, Macao (China), Malta, the Netherlands\*, Qatar, the United Arab Emirates and the United Kingdom\*, more than four in ten students were enrolled in a private school. Attendance at government-dependent private schools was particularly common in Belgium, Chile, Hong Kong (China)\*, Macao (China), the Netherlands\* and the United Kingdom\*, whereas attendance at private independent schools was most frequently observed in Guatemala, Japan, Qatar and the United Arab Emirates. Students attending religious schools was most common in Australia\*, Hong Kong (China)\*, Macao (China) and Malta; in these education systems at least one in three students were enrolled in this type of school. Students attending other not-for-profit schools was most frequently observed in Chile, Hong Kong (China)\*, Japan, Macao (China), the Netherlands\* and the United Arab Emirates showed the largest shares of students enrolled in for-profit schools; in the United Arab Emirates almost one in two students was enrolled in this type of school.

Across OECD countries, about 74% of socio-economically advantaged students, but 87% of their disadvantaged peers, were enrolled in public schools (Table II.B1.6.14). The largest gaps in enrolment in public schools related to students' socio-economic status were observed mostly in Latin American countries, such as Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, El Salvador, Guatemala, Panama\*, Peru and Uruguay, and also in Malta and Qatar. In Argentina, for instance, almost 90% of disadvantaged students but only 41% of advantaged students were enrolled in public schools. Interestingly, in several education systems, such as Hungary, Indonesia, Macao (China), the Netherlands\*, Chinese Taipei and Thailand, where many schools are managed by the private sector, there was no, or only a small, difference in enrolment at public schools related to socio-economic status. In 16 education systems, students with an immigrant background were more likely than those without an immigrant background to attend a public school, whereas the opposite was observed in 11 education systems (Figure II.6.6). The school systems where the native-immigrant gap in public school attendance was the largest, in favour of students with an immigrant background, were Chile, Denmark\*, France, Malta, the Netherlands\*, Peru and Spain.

On average across OECD countries and in more than 60% of education systems with available data, students in private schools (government-dependent and government-independent combined) scored higher in mathematics than students in public schools (the "raw" difference, i.e. before accounting for socio-economic profile) (Table II.B1.6.21 and Figure II.6.6). The raw score-point difference in favour of students in private schools was particularly large in

Brazil, the United Arab Emirates and Uruguay. By contrast, the raw score-point difference in mathematics performance favoured public schools in Kazakhstan, Serbia, Chinese Taipei and Thailand.

However, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, mathematics scores were higher in public schools than in private schools, on average across OECD countries (an 11 score-point difference in favour of public schools) and in 22 education systems (Table II.B1.6.21 and Figure II.6.6). In Jamaica\*, Singapore and Türkiye, the public-private school gap in mathematics performance, in favour of public schools, amounted to more than 50 points even after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. By contrast, in 17 education systems, students in private schools scored higher than students in public schools, after accounting for socio-economic characteristics.

When compared with public schools, private-dependent schools scored higher in mathematics than privateindependent schools, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile (Table II.B1.6.21). On average across OECD countries, students in private-dependent schools scored 8 points lower than students in public schools, whereas students in private-independent schools scored 17 points lower than students in public schools, after accounting for socio-economic characteristics.

The public-private gaps in mathematics performance are also presented in Figure II.6.7 in a more intuitive way. As expected, the graph shows that students in both private and public schools in OECD countries scored higher as the socio-economic profile of the school improved. More tellingly, at the bottom end of the socio-economic ladder, students in public schools outperformed their peers in private schools; but this public-private gap closed as schools moved up the socio-economic ladder.

Another way in which the public-private gap can be analysed is by grouping schools according to their socio-economic profile. However, few public schools attained the very top of the socio-economic ladder, and even fewer private schools were found at the bottom of the socio-economic distribution, which means that examining the public-private gap in schools with an average socio-economic profile is the most appropriate comparison. Figure II.6.8 shows that, when schools with similar socio-economic profiles are compared, the differences in mathematics performance between public and private schools were mostly significant, but not always in the same direction. For instance, for the schools with negative values in the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status, students in public schools outperformed their peers in private schools by about 12 score points. By contrast, when schools with a higher socio-economic profile. In this group, students in public schools scored 501 points in mathematics, whereas those in private schools scored 508 points, a difference of 7 points.

## Figure II.6.6. Attendance at public school, student characteristics and mathematics performance



Note: Questions about the type of school were not asked in the Flemish-speaking Community of Belgium. Data for Belgium represent only the French-speaking and Germanspeaking Communities.

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students who attended a public school. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

# Figure II.6.7. Mathematics performance and socio-economic status, by type of school

#### Data aggregated at the school level; OECD countries



Note: The regression lines need to be interpreted with caution because only within-school student-level weights have been applied. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database.



# Figure II.6.8. Mathematics performance in public and private schools with a similar socio-economic profile

Notes: Statistically significant differences between public and private schools are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3). Results are based on a pooled analysis of all students in OECD countries. Senate weights have been applied so that all countries contribute equally to the results. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

#### School fees discourage disadvantaged families from enrolling their children

While most school funding typically comes from government sources (88% according to Table II.B1.6.22), schools often charge different types of fees to parents, either because they receive little or no funding from the government, as in the case of private independent schools, or because they provide services that are not (fully) covered by the government. These (additional) fees, however, may discourage some families, particularly those that are socio-economically disadvantaged, from enrolling their children (as the next section on parents' criteria for choosing a school shows).

PISA 2022 asked principals about their school's sources of funding (government, families, voluntary contributions and other sources), and about the composition of their school (see Chapter 4 for more details). Based on principals' answers to these questions, it is possible to estimate how much the characteristics of the student body varies depending on the amount of fees these schools charge to parents (Figure II.6.9). On average across OECD countries, the share of funding that comes from government sources was positively associated with the presence of students from more challenging circumstances, such as having a heritage language that is different from the test language; coming from socio-economically disadvantaged homes; or having an immigrant background (including refugees). However, the only student characteristic that was strongly and consistently associated, across most PISA-participating systems, was students' socio-economic status. When considering the percentage of school funding that comes from fees paid by parents was associated with a 3.5 percentage-point increase in the share of school funding that comes from fees paid by parents was associated with a 3.5 percentage-point decrease in the share of students from disadvantaged homes. Interestingly, the sources of school funding and the presence of students with special learning needs were not associated, on average across OECD countries.

**OECD** countries

So: are the fees paid by parents related to the composition of the student body? The answer is yes: school fees appear to discourage some disadvantaged families from enrolling their children. These results suggest that policies to increase school choice should be combined with measures to reduce, or eliminate, student fees so that greater school choice does not lead to more school segregation (Lewis and Patrinos, 2011<sub>[66]</sub>).

# Figure II.6.9. School funding sources and school composition

Percentage-point change in the share of students with a given characteristic per percentage-point increase in the share of total school funding from a given source (based on principals' reports); OECD average



Note: Statistically significant percentage-point differences are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3). Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

#### Did private schools handle school closures due to COVID-19 better than public schools?

There is a widely held belief that private schools handled the COVID-19 pandemic better than public schools, at least in the initial days of the pandemic (Harris et al., 2020<sub>[67]</sub>), and that this unequal response aggravated pre-existing inequalities in some education systems (Anders, 2022<sub>[68]</sub>). PISA data show that, not only did private schools close their buildings for a shorter period of time than public schools did (13 fewer days, on average across OECD countries), but they also entered the early days of the pandemic better prepared for remote learning (Table II.B1.6.23 and Figure II.6.10). On average across OECD countries, private schools scored higher than public schools in the index of school preparation for remote instruction before COVID-19, which measures the extent to which, prior to the pandemic, schools took a series of actions to prepare students and staff for distance learning activities. Private schools also reached a larger number of their students through distance learning activities in a typical week, in favour of private schools, was 8 percentage of students who attended distance learning activities in a typical week, in favour of private schools, was 8 percentage-points wide; in Argentina, Cambodia, Costa Rica, Jordan, Morocco, New Zealand\*, the Palestinian Authority, Türkiye and Uruguay the gap was at least 20 percentage-points wide. In Costa Rica, for instance, about 1 in 4 students in public schools never participated in distance learning activities, compared to only 1 in 50 students in private schools. Although public schools entered the pandemic less prepared than private schools, many ended up catching up as the pandemic unfolded. PISA data show that, on average across OECD countries, public schools scored lower than private schools in the index of school preparedness for remote instruction in response to COVID-19, but the gap was less than half the size of that observed concerning preparation for remote teaching prior to the pandemic (Figure II.6.10). In addition, the share of classes that were taught remotely using digital devices was similar in public and private schools. For instance, for 94% of students in public schools, more than half of their classes were taught remotely using digital devices, similar to the percentage observed in private schools (95% of students). Furthermore, 4% of students in public schools saw at least half of their classes cancelled (and not replaced by remote instruction) - just two percentage points larger than the share observed in private schools. A similar finding had been observed in the United Kingdom (Anders, 2022[68]), where the gap in the provision of online learning between public and private schools, which was clearly evident in the first national lockdown, largely disappeared by the third national lockdown, especially when schools with similar socio-economic intakes were compared. However, despite the efforts public schools put into catching up with remote learning, by the time the PISA assessment took place, private schools were still more prepared for digital learning than public schools, according to school principals. On average across OECD countries and in 25 education systems, private schools showed higher values in the index of preparedness for digital learning; the opposite was observed in only 4 education systems (Table II.B1.6.23).

One explanation for the differences observed above is related to the greater problems that public schools faced, in comparison to private schools, in organising distance learning activities. On average across OECD countries and in most education systems, principals in public schools reported higher values than principals in private schools in the index of problems with their school's capacity to provide remote instruction, which measures the extent to which the capacity to provide remote instruction was hindered by nine different issues (Figure II.6.10). For instance, 44% of public-school students, but only 22% of private-school students, attended a school where the capacity to provide remote instruction was hindered to some extent or a lot by the lack of access to the Internet for students. More surprisingly, a similar public-private gap was observed when principals were asked whether the difficulty of getting in touch with students was a barrier to distance teaching.

Interestingly, the differences in the way public and private independent schools handled the pandemic seem to be unrelated to enrolment patterns. The share of students who attended public schools, government-dependent private schools and private independent schools remained stable between 2018 and 2022, on average across OECD countries (Table II.B1.6.20). There may be several reasons for this stability. For instance, parents may have anticipated that the exceptional circumstances during COVID-19 would soon disappear and preferred not to choose a new school based on the ways schools responded (or were perceived to respond) to the pandemic. In addition, the ways in which public and private schools responded to COVID-19 were not that different once the pandemic unfolded. Another reason could simply be that, during the COVID-19 pandemic, parents decided not to disrupt their children's lives even further.

# Figure II.6.10. Handling school closures due to COVID-19, by school type

## OECD average



Note: Statistically significant differences between private and public schools are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3). Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

# Disadvantaged families cannot afford to care only about quality when choosing a school

Parents usually want to have a say in which school their child attends and are prepared to invest time and resources in choosing a school. From talking to family, friends and neighbours, and surfing the Internet for reviews and rankings, to visiting schools and even moving home, many parents are ready to go the extra mile to see their children placed in the best school possible. Schools, too, especially those facing competition, want to know what parents are looking for so they can become more attractive options. Information on parents' preferences is also useful for education systems, in general, as it helps school systems accommodate family expectations, get parents involved in school matters, and ensure that teachers, students and parents are all working towards the same goals. However, not all parents have equal access to information about neighbouring schools, and not all parents can afford, financially, to care only about issues of quality (OECD, 2015<sub>[69]</sub>; Rich and Jennings, 2015<sub>[70]</sub>; Waslander, Pater and Van der Weide, 2010<sub>[71]</sub>).

In PISA 2022, students in 17 countries and economies took home a questionnaire for their parents to complete. One of the questions was related to the criteria parents consider important when choosing a school for their child. They were asked to report how much importance they give ("not important", "somewhat important", "important" or "very important") to 14 criteria, mainly related to school quality, financial constraints, the school's philosophy or mission, and geographic distance between their home and the school.

On average across the eight OECD countries where parents answered this question, parents were more likely to consider important or very important that there is a safe school environment, that the school has an active and pleasant climate, and that the school has a good reputation – even more so than the academic achievement of the students in the school (Table II.B1.6.24). In this regard, the education systems where parents cared the most about the academic achievement of students when choosing their children's school were Brazil, Ireland\* and Korea, whereas the school systems where they cared the least were Belgium, Germany and Italy. Furthermore, about six in ten parents considered important or very important the commuting distance to the school, and eight in ten gave the same level of importance to the course offerings in schools. The least important criterion for parents was whether the school adheres to a particular religious philosophy, followed by attendance at the school of other family members.

Among the above criteria, socio-economically disadvantaged families gave more importance than advantaged families to financial considerations, whereas advantaged families cared relatively more about quality-related criteria, such as the reputation, climate and academic achievement in the school (Table II.B1.6.25).

On average across the OECD countries that distributed the parent questionnaire, the children of parents who assigned more importance to school reputation, the school climate and the academic achievement of students scored considerably higher in the mathematics assessment than the students whose parents were less concerned by these criteria, even after accounting for the students' and schools' socio-economic profile (Table II.B1.6.26). By contrast, the children of parents giving greater importance to financial considerations scored about ten points lower than students whose parents considered low expenses or the availability of financial aid to be only somewhat important or not important, after accounting for socio-economic factors.

# School admissions and transfers policies

Admitting certain types of students into a school, or transferring them out, are ways of streaming students according to their career goals, education needs, academic achievement and behaviour. In countries with large differences in student performance among schools, admissions and transfer policies may have high stakes for schools and students. The most prestigious schools may attract motivated and highly skilled students, with potential benefits to the school's learning environment. Conversely, the learning environment of the least prestigious schools may be undermined because of their inability to attract or retain high-performing students.

#### Selective admissions procedures are associated with less socio-economic fairness

In 2022, PISA asked school principals how often ("never", "sometimes" or "always") they considered a range of factors when admitting students to their school. Ten potential and not mutually exclusive criteria for admissions were considered: students' academic performance; recommendations of feeder schools; parental endorsement of the instructional or religious philosophy of the school; students' requirement of or interest in a special programme offered by the school; preference to family members of current or former students; families' residence in a particular area; students' disciplinary record; students' parental status or pregnancy; students' working status; and students' cultural or ethnic background. An index of school selectivity was created depending on how frequently the first two items ("students' academic performance" and "recommendations of feeder schools") were considered for school admissions.

On average across OECD countries, the most common criteria used in school admissions were admitting students based on their area of residence, and admitting students based on students' need or interest in a special programme offered by the school (almost 60% of students attended schools that considered such factors "sometimes" or "always") (Table II.B1.6.27). By contrast, granting admission to school based on students' parental status or pregnancy, working status, or their cultural or ethnic background were the least common (about 90% of students attended schools that never considered these factors). Still, in some education systems, including Albania, Baku (Azerbaijan), Cambodia, Kosovo, Montenegro, the Philippines, Thailand, the United Arab Emirates and Viet Nam, at

least 20% of students were enrolled in schools where the ethnic or cultural background of students was always considered when admitting students.

Checking the academic and disciplinary record of students who apply for entry into a school is widespread in some education systems (Table II.B1.6.27). While on average across OECD countries, about 52% of students attended a school that gives at least some consideration to a student's academic record for school admissions, in Bulgaria, Cambodia, Croatia, Hong Kong (China)\*, Jamaica\*, Japan, Kosovo, Macao (China) and Singapore, more than 95% of students were enrolled in a school that took this criterion into account sometimes or always. By contrast, in Chile and many Northern and Southern European countries, including Finland, Greece, Iceland, Ireland\*, Norway, Portugal, Spain and Sweden, more than 80% of students attended a school that never based admission on student performance. Furthermore, on average across OECD countries, about 43% of students attended a school that considered students' disciplinary record in the school admissions process; but in some education systems, such as Cambodia, Hong Kong (China)\*, Jamaica\* and Macao (China), almost all schools considered this factor.

Between 2018 and 2022, school admissions criteria did not change greatly, on average across OECD countries, but they did in certain education systems (Table II.B1.6.29). The schools in some education systems, such as Baku (Azerbaijan), Chile, Peru and Türkiye, became less selective in the admissions process, which means that they gave less importance to candidates' academic record and to the recommendations of feeder schools. By contrast, schools in the Dominican Republic, Germany, Iceland, Montenegro and Poland became more selective. In addition, in Brazil, Denmark\*, France and especially in Poland, the candidate's area of residence was less often considered as an admissions criterion in 2022 than in 2018, while it was more frequently considered in Latvia\*, Macao (China), Norway, Panama\* and Türkiye.

Within education systems, not all schools are equally selective when admitting students. On average across OECD countries, socio-economically advantaged, urban and private schools were more academically selective (based on the index of school selectivity) than disadvantaged, rural and public schools, respectively (Table II.B1.6.28). The education systems with the largest socio-economic gaps in school selectivity were Austria, the Czech Republic, the Dominican Republic, Lithuania, Qatar, the Slovak Republic and Switzerland; those with the largest public-private school gaps were Canada\*, Estonia, France, Greece and Qatar. Interestingly, there were four countries (Iceland, Korea, Malta and Norway) where socio-economically disadvantaged schools were more academically selective than advantaged schools.

Most admissions criteria were not associated with higher student performance, especially after accounting for socioeconomic factors – with the single exception of students' academic record (Table II.B1.6.30). On average across OECD countries, students in schools that considered a student's academic record sometimes or always when admitting students to the school scored about four points higher in mathematics than students in schools that never based admission on this criterion, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. At the system level, OECD countries with less selective admissions processes showed greater socio-economic fairness, even after accounting for per capita GDP (Table II.B1.6.71).

# Transferring students because of low achievement was most common in East Asian school systems

For the first time, PISA 2022 asked principals how likely ("not likely", "likely" or "very likely") it was that a student in the modal grade for 15-year-olds would be transferred to another school for low academic achievement, high academic achievement, behavioural problems, special learning needs, or in response to parents' request. Transferring students to another school is likely to negatively shape how inclusive a school climate is, but it may be justified if certain students are better supported in other schools.

PISA 2022 results suggest that transferring students to a different school is not a common practice across OECD countries (Table II.B1.6.31). For instance, at least three in four students attended a school whose principal reported that it would be unlikely for a student to be transferred to another school for low or high academic achievement, or for special learning needs. Transferring a student for behavioural problems would be somewhat more likely: about

one in three students was enrolled in a school where it would be likely or very likely that a student would be transferred for bad behaviour. Unsurprisingly, schools would be more inclined to transfer a student if parents requested so; only one in three students attended a school where students would not be transferred following a parents' request.

Some education systems were much more inclined to transfer students than others. For instance, in East Asian school systems, such as Hong Kong (China)\*, Japan, Macao (China) and Chinese Taipei, and also in Slovenia, more than two in three students attended a school where it would be likely or very likely that a student is transferred to another school for low academic achievement; this would almost never happen in Finland, Iceland, Malta, New Zealand\*, Norway, Spain, Sweden or the United Kingdom\* (Table II.B1.6.31). Transferring a student for bad behaviour was more likely to happen, according to school principals, in Indonesia, Jordan, Kosovo, Macao (China), North Macedonia, the Palestinian Authority, Chinese Taipei and Thailand, and least likely to happen in Finland, Iceland, Ireland\*, Moldova, Norway, Singapore and Sweden.

In some education systems, mainstream schools are reasonably well prepared to serve children with special education needs and may have fewer incentives to transfer these students out to special schools. This appeared to be the case in Finland, Hungary, Iceland, Ireland\*, New Zealand\* and Singapore where more than 92% of students attended a school whose principal reported that it would not be likely that a student is transferred to another school for special learning needs (Table II.B1.6.31). By contrast, in Jordan, Macao (China), Morocco, the Palestinian Authority, Saudi Arabia and Chinese Taipei more than 70% of students were enrolled in a school where students with special learning needs would probably be transferred to a different school. This does not necessarily imply that these students were not taken care of in these education systems, but rather that students with special learning needs in these education systems may have continued to be educated in special schools.

On average across OECD countries, students with bad performance or behaviour were more likely to be transferred to another school if they attended a private school than if they attended a public school (Tables II.B1.6.32 and II.B1.6.34). Similarly, urban schools were more likely to transfer students with low academic achievement or behavioural problems than rural schools. Students in socio-economically advantaged schools were more likely to be transferred than students in disadvantaged schools, but only for low academic achievement. The socio-economic gap in school transfers was particularly large in Albania, the Dominican Republic, Georgia, Germany and Switzerland. In Switzerland, for instance, 6% of students in disadvantaged schools attended a school whose principal reported that they could be transferred to another school for poor academic performance, compared to 58% of students in advantaged schools.

# Government-dependent private schools play a leading role in fair and high-performing education systems

Table II.6.3 provides an overview of the school-choice policies in four groups of education systems, organised according to whether their mathematics performance and their ability to ensure that all students, regardless of their socio-economic background, can achieve at high levels (socio-economic fairness), were below or above the median value of all PISA-participating countries/economies. Based on this classification, the high-performing systems in which all students could flourish were, in many ways, different from the other three groups of education systems, particularly from the groups of low-performing education systems. The group of fair and high-performing education systems had fewer students who attended public schools, and more students who attended government-dependent private schools, than the other three groups. Almost 1 in 4 students attended a government-dependent private school in these education systems, compared to 1 in 10 in the group of high-performing, but not as equitable, education systems, and fewer than 1 in 20 in the group of low-performing education systems.

As regards the criteria that schools consider when admitting and transferring students, the groups of high-performing education systems were less selective overall than the groups of low-performing systems. For instance, whereas in the groups of high-performing countries/economies, about one in three students attended a school where students were likely or very likely to be transferred to another school for behavioural problems, in the groups of low-performing countries/economies about half of students attended such schools. However, in other aspects, particularly the degree

to which schools compete for students, the share of students enrolled at private independent schools, and the extent to which students could be transferred for low academic achievement, the four groups looked similar.

# Table II.6.3. Summary of school-choice policies, by mathematics performance and socio-economic fairness

#### System-level analysis

Groups of countries and economies according to their mathematics performa and socio-economic fairness <sup>1</sup>								
		Low performance - Low fairness	Low performance - High fairness	High performance - Low fairness	High performance - High fairness			
All countries an	d economies	N <sup>2</sup> = 14	N = 26	N = 27	N = 14			
Competition for students among schools	Percentage of students enrolled in schools whose principal reported that at least one other school competes for students in the area	77.67	75.32	79.62	77.07			
School type	Percentage of students enrolled in public schools	87.81	82.40	84.52	69.37			
	Percentage of students enrolled in government- dependent private schools	2.34	4.31	9.63	23.61			
	Percentage of students enrolled in private independent schools	9.85	13.28	5.85	7.02			
	Index of school selectivity (in student admissions)	2.24	2.33	2.17	2.02			
School selectivity	Percentage of students in schools where students are likely or very likely to be transferred to another school for low academic achievement	23.71	28.76	28.00	24.27			
	Percentage of students in schools where students are likely or very likely to be transferred to another school for high academic achievement	22.24	25.61	11.63	11.76			
	Percentage of students in schools where students are likely or very likely to be transferred to another school for behavioural problems	45.76	58.64	35.37	35.53			

1. Socio-economic fairness is measured by the percentage of variation in student performance that is accounted for by the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status. 2. N = Number of countries/economies in each group. Due to missing data, the number of cases for individual variables may be lower.

Notes: Countries and economies are considered to have low(high) performance/equity if they are below(above) the median value of all PISA-participating countries/economies. Values in grey indicate that the difference with the group "High performance - High fairness" was statistically significant.

Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database.

# **Quality-assurance mechanisms**

Quality assurance refers to the systematic review of school practices to ensure that certain quality, equity and efficiency standards are met. These reviews almost always include some form of internal or external school evaluation, including visits from the inspectorate, and may also encompass student assessments, the monitoring of teacher practices and the appraisal of the school-management team. The use of such mechanisms often leads to improvements in how schools function, particularly when the information they produce is informative, sets quality standards and is fed back to schools (Cuttance, 1998<sub>[72]</sub>; Geijsel, Krüger and Sleegers, 2010<sub>[73]</sub>; Gustafsson et al., 2015<sub>[74]</sub>; OECD, 2013<sub>[6]</sub>; Visscher and Coe, 2013<sub>[75]</sub>).

While the use of performance data to improve teaching and learning has expanded in recent years (OECD,  $2013_{[6]}$ ) (Schildkamp,  $2019_{[76]}$ ; Al-Samarrai et al.,  $2018_{[77]}$ ), the practice of school inspections often has a limited impact on school-quality indicators (Gaertner, Wurster and Pant,  $2014_{[78]}$ ; Hofer, Holzberger and Reiss,  $2020_{[79]}$ ) and may have unintended consequences, including a narrowing of the curriculum and the discouragement of innovation (Ehren et al.,  $2015_{[80]}$ ; Jones et al.,  $2017_{[81]}$ ). This section examines quality-assurance mechanisms at three levels: student assessment, teacher appraisal and school evaluation. Quality-assurance mechanisms are mostly related to the fairness component of resilience (Table II.B1.6.71).

#### Most 15-year-old students are assessed with mandatory standardised tests

Tests serve as powerful incentives for students to put greater effort into learning, particularly if the tests have direct consequences for students (Duflo, Dupas and Kremer, 2011<sub>[82]</sub>; Holm and Kousholt, 2019<sub>[83]</sub>). For teachers, standardised assessments provide a way of contrasting instructional objectives against the results achieved, and comparing the performance of their students to the performance of students elsewhere in the school system, so that teachers can tailor their pedagogy accordingly (Anghel et al., 2015<sub>[84]</sub>; Datnow and Hubbard, 2015<sub>[85]</sub>; Hamilton et al., 2009<sub>[86]</sub>).

However, student assessments and examinations have their critics. For example, some argue that standardised tests and examinations may reinforce the advantages of schools that serve students from privileged backgrounds (Downey, von Hippel and Hughes, 2008<sub>[87]</sub>; Datnow and Hubbard, 2015<sub>[85]</sub>). In addition, teachers may respond strategically to accountability measures by sorting out or retaining disadvantaged students (Lauen and Gaddis, 2016<sub>[88]</sub>; Ortagus et al., 2020<sub>[89]</sub>). Standardised tests and examinations might also have the adverse effect of narrowing education goals to passing or showing proficiency on particular tests, and focusing instruction on those students who are close to average in performance while giving less attention to those who are far below or above the average (Neal and Schanzenbach, 2010<sub>[90]</sub>). In order to avoid the negative impact of "teaching to the test", most OECD countries are using more diverse methods of evaluation (OECD, 2013<sub>[6]</sub>).

PISA 2022 asked school principals how often ("never", "1-2 times a year", "3-5 times a year", "monthly" or "more than once a month") students in the national modal grade for 15-year-olds are assessed using the following methods: mandatory standardised tests, non-mandatory standardised tests, teacher-developed tests, and teachers' judgemental ratings.

On average across OECD countries, about one in four students attended a school whose principal reported that mandatory standardised tests are never used to assess students in the modal grade for 15-year-olds, and six in ten students attended schools where these tests are used once or twice a year (Table II.B1.6.38). In Austria, Belgium, Costa Rica, Croatia, Iceland and Slovenia at least one in two students attended a school where mandatory standardised tests are never used, while in Malta, Sweden, Chinese Taipei and Uzbekistan all school principals reported that such tests are used at least once a year.

Non-mandatory standardised tests were used somewhat less frequently than mandatory standardised tests, whereas teacher-developed tests and judgemental ratings were used considerably more frequently. For example, on average across OECD countries, about six out of ten students attended a school whose principal reported that teacher-developed tests and teachers' judgemental ratings are used at least once a month.

Education systems where students in the modal grade were more frequently assessed using teacher-developed tests include, among others, Belgium, Canada\*, Panama\*, Spain, Chinese Taipei and the United States\* where at least 60% of students were assessed with these tests more than once a month. By contrast, in Denmark\* and Korea less than 2% of students were assessed using teacher-developed tests more than once a month. In Denmark\*, 20% of students attended schools where teacher-developed tests are never used to assess students in the modal grade for 15-year-olds, according to school principals.

On average across OECD countries, the use of teacher-developed tests and teachers' judgemental ratings to assess student progress decreased moderately between 2015 and 2022, but the use of standardised tests remained stable (Figure II.6.11 and Table II.B1.6.43). The percentage of students who were assessed through teacher-developed tests at least once a month decreased by more than 20 percentage points in Costa Rica, Estonia, Indonesia, New Zealand\* and Singapore. Similarly, the percentage of students assessed once a month through teachers' judgemental ratings decreased by more than 20 percentage points in Brazil, the Czech Republic, Estonia, Indonesia, Latvia\*, Moldova, Portugal, the Slovak Republic and the United Kingdom\*.

# Figure II.6.11 Trends in the frequency of using standardised and teacher-developed tests

#### Based on principals' reports



Note: Statistically significant changes between PISA 2015 and PISA 2022 are shown in a darker tone (see Annex A3). For each graph, countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the percentage of students in 2022. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6. Analyses of how the use of the four types of assessment varies across different kinds of schools show few large differences (Tables II.B1.6.39, II.B1.6.40, II.B1.6.41 and II.B1.6.42). On average across OECD countries and in 20 education systems, non-mandatory standardised tests were more frequently used in private than in public schools, according to school principals, while in only three countries (Malta, Sweden and the United Arab Emirates) were they more frequently used in public schools. On average across OECD countries, teacher-developed tests were used slightly more frequently in advantaged and private schools than in disadvantaged and public schools, respectively.

In only a few education systems did mathematics performance vary according to the method of assessment employed, at least once the socio-economic profile of students and schools is accounted for (Table II.B1.6.44). On average across OECD countries, students in schools whose principal reported that non-mandatory standardised tests were used at least once a year scored three points lower in the mathematics assessment than students in schools where these tests were never used, after accounting for socio-economic factors.

#### How systems use achievement data is unrelated to students' performance

PISA 2022 collected data on the nature of accountability systems, and the ways in which the resulting information is used for school improvement and made available to various stakeholders and the general public. School principals were asked to report on whether mathematics achievement data, such as the school's performance on tests or graduation rates, are posted publicly, tracked over time by an administrative authority or provided directly to parents.

On average across OECD countries, achievement data were more frequently shared with parents (80% of students attended schools whose principals so reported) than tracked by an administrative authority (48% of students attended such schools) or posted publicly (13% of students attended such schools) (Table II.B1.6.45). But there was considerable variation across countries and economies. For example, in Cambodia, Thailand, the United States\* and Viet Nam at least 50% of students were enrolled in schools that post data publicly, while in 30 countries/economies, less than 10% of students were enrolled in such schools.

Across PISA-participating countries/economies, socio-economically advantaged and urban schools posted data somewhat more frequently than disadvantaged and rural schools did (Table II.B1.6.46). In 17 out of 80 education systems, posting data publicly was more common in advantaged than in disadvantaged schools, and in 16 out of 67 education systems it was more common in urban than in rural schools. On average across OECD countries, there were no differences between advantaged and disadvantaged schools, or between public and private schools, in the degree to which school achievement data were tracked by administrative authorities (Table II.B1.6.47). Sharing achievement data with parents was more frequently observed in disadvantaged than in advantaged schools (Table II.B1.6.48).

On average across OECD countries and in a majority of PISA-participating education systems, students performed similarly in mathematics regardless of whether the achievement data from their schools was tracked by an administrative authority, shared directly with parents, or posted publicly (Table II.B1.6.50).

#### Teachers are monitored less frequently

Teacher appraisal refers to the formal evaluation of teachers "to make a judgement and/or provide feedback about their competencies and performance" (OECD, 2013<sub>[6]</sub>). Teacher appraisal can take many forms, ranging from centralised national appraisal systems with strictly regulated procedures to approaches developed autonomously within schools. The actors and methods involved differ widely across education systems, as do the consequences for teachers. Typical examples across education systems include appraisal for the completion of a probationary period, registration as a qualified teacher (e.g. through national exams or peer committees), regular performance appraisal (e.g. by the school principal) and reward schemes based on the identification of high-performing teachers (OECD, 2013<sub>[6]</sub>; Paletta, Basyte Ferrari and Alimehmeti, 2020<sub>[91]</sub>).

Teacher appraisal serves several important functions. It can be a tool for quality assurance, when aimed at ensuring that required standards are met or recommended practices followed. Teacher appraisal can also provide an opportunity for teachers to reflect on their teaching practice and on their strengths and weaknesses, and to identify

areas for improvement. Teacher appraisal can yield important information to support schools, teachers and external authorities in their decisions on career advancement and professional development (Garrett and Steinberg, 2015[92]).

PISA 2022 asked school principals to report whether the following methods were used to monitor the practice of mathematics teachers in their schools during the previous academic year: tests or assessments of student achievement; teacher peer review of lessons plans, assessment instruments and lessons; principal or senior staff observations of lessons; and observation of classes by inspectors or other persons external to the school.

On average across OECD countries, between 2015 and 2022 there was a decrease in the use of tests or assessments of student achievement and of teacher peer-review to monitor teachers' practice (a drop of nine percentage points in the share of students in schools where such practice was used), and a decrease in the use of observation of classes by inspectors or other persons external to the school (a drop of eight percentage points in the share of students in schools where such practice was used) (Figure II.6.12). Principal or senior staff observations of lessons decreased less than the other practices over this time period (by four percentage points). On average across OECD countries in 2022, and according to principals' reports, 77% of students attended a school where principal or senior staff observations of lessons are used to monitor the practice of teachers; 73% of students attended a school where tests or assessments of student achievement are used to that end; 59% of students attended a school that uses teacher peer reviews of lesson plans, assessment instruments or lessons; and 34% attended a school where classes are observed by inspectors or other persons external to the school with the aim of monitoring teacher practice (Table II.B1.6.51).

In general, there were wide differences in the extent to which, and how, schools monitor teacher practice. In 54 education systems, at least 90% of students attended a school whose principal or senior staff observe lessons, but in Finland, Greece and Portugal, less than 33% of students attended such a school. In Finland, in addition, only 20% of students attended a school whose principal reported that tests or assessments of student achievement were used to monitor teacher practice during the previous year. Based on principals' reports, in 11 countries/economies, more than 95% of students were in schools where teacher practice is monitored using teacher peer reviews, but in Bulgaria, Finland, France, Germany and Iceland, less than 33% of students attended such a school. In Finland, Italy and Slovenia, less than 10% of students attended a school where inspectors or other persons external to the school observe classes.

On average across OECD countries, there were small differences in how extensively the four methods of monitoring teacher practice are used when considering the socio-economic profile of the school (Tables II.B1.6.52, II.B1.6.53, II.B1.6.54 and II.B1.6.55). However, larger differences were observed when considering other school characteristics. For example, private schools were more likely than public schools to use principal or senior staff observation of classes to monitor teacher practice; and urban schools were more likely than rural schools to monitor teacher practice using tests or assessments of student achievement, teacher peer-reviewing and observation of classes by inspectors or external persons.

On average across OECD countries, students scored similarly in mathematics regardless of whether or not their schools use the four types of monitoring teacher practice (Table II.B1.6.57). Across the four monitoring methods and all education systems, there were only 5 cases where using a particular method was associated with an improvement of more than 20 score points in mathematics performance, after accounting for the socio-economic profile of students and schools.

## Figure II.6.12. Trends in monitoring teacher practice

Percentage of students in schools where, during the previous academic year, the following methods were used to monitor the practice of teachers (based on principals' reports); OECD average



Note: All changes between PISA 2015 and PISA 2022 are statistically significant (see Annex A3). Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

#### School evaluation and improvement actions are widely mandatory

Certain types of school evaluations and improvement actions are widely mandatory PISA 2022 asked school principals which arrangements aimed at quality assurance and improvement are used in their schools. They could choose from ten suggested arrangements, and for each of them, could specify whether it was a mandatory or school initiative-based arrangement.

On average across OECD countries in 2022, principals reported that the following quality assurance and improvement actions were in place at their school (in decreasing order of prevalence) (Figure II.6.13):

- 96% of students attended schools with systematic recording of data, such as teacher or student attendance, and professional development; 42% of students attended schools where such recording of data is initiated by the schools themselves.
- 96% of students attended schools with systematic recording of students' test results and graduation rates;
   42% of students attended schools where such recording is initiated by the schools themselves.
- 95% of students attended schools with internal evaluation/self-evaluation; 39% attended schools with schoolinitiated internal evaluation.
- 92% of students attended schools that have a written specification of the school's curricular profile and education goals; 33% of students attended schools where this written specification is formulated on the schools' initiative.
- 86% of students attended schools with a written specification of student performance standards; 35% attended schools where this written specification is initiated by the schools themselves.
- 82% of students attended schools where teacher mentoring is available; 63% of students attended schools where teacher mentoring is conducted on the schools' initiative.
- 78% of students attended schools where external evaluations are in place; 14% were in schools where external evaluation is conducted on the schools' initiative.

- 72% of students attended schools that seek students' written feedback; 57% of students attended schools • where students' written feedback is sought on the schools' initiative.
- 69% of students attended school where a standardised policy for mathematics subjects is implemented; 43% of students attended schools where this policy is formulated on the schools' initiative.
- . 54% of students attended schools with regular consultations with one or more experts, over a period of at least six months, aimed at school improvement; 42% of students attended schools where this consultation is organised on the schools' own initiative.



## Figure II.6.13. Quality assurance and improvement actions at school

Based on principals' reports; OECD average

Items are sorted in descending order of the percentage of students in schools where the arrangements were in place. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

Some guality-assurance and improvement arrangements, such as internal evaluations, systematic recording of data, and written specifications of the school's curricular profile and educational goals, were widely used in all, or almost all, education systems (Table II.6.4). However, there were large differences across education systems in the prevalence of other quality-assurance mechanisms. For instance, seeking written feedback from students, teacher mentoring, and regular consultations with experts were almost universal in some education systems, such as Indonesia, New Zealand\*, the Philippines and Uzbekistan; but in Argentina and Italy less than 60% of students were in schools where these arrangements were in place. Education systems where quality-assurance mechanisms were prevalent, according to principals, included Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Malaysia, New Zealand\*, the Philippines, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Thailand, the United Arab Emirates and Uzbekistan. By contrast, according to principals, these mechanisms were least likely to be found in many European and Latin American countries, including Argentina, Finland, France, Germany, Italy, Spain, Switzerland and Uruguay.

## Table II.6.4. Quality assurance and improvement actions at school, by country/economy

#### Based on principals' reports

- A Internal evaluation/Self-evaluation External evaluation
- Written specification of the school's curricular profile and educational goals D Written specification of student performance standards
- E Systematic recording of data such as teacher or student attendance and
- F Systematic recording of student test results and graduation rates G Seeking written feedback from students
- H Teacher mentoring
- Regular consultation aimed at school improvement with one or more experts over a period of at least six months
- Implementation of a standardised policy for mathematics subjects

professional development

📃 Less than half of students 📃 From 50% to 75% of students 📃 From 75% to 90% of students 🚺 More than 90% of students

		F	Percent	age of	stude	nts in s	school	s wher	е				P	ercent	age of	stude	nts in s	chool	s wher	re	
	th	e follo	wing a	rrange	ements	aimed	l at qu	ality as	suran	се		th	e follo	wing a	rrange	ments	aimed	at qua	ality as	suran	ce
		a	ind imp	provem	nent at	schoo	were	in plac	e				a	nd imp	provem	ent at	school	were	in plac	e	
Dhilinninn	A	B		D	E doo	F	G					A		C	D	E	F	G	H	25	
Philippines	100	94	99	100	100	100	90	99	90	90	Siovenia	100	02	99	90	90	90	00	04	30	00
Qatar	100	99	99	100	100	100	98	90	87	99	Morocco	98	80	89	80	96	98	70	94	49	82
United Arab Emirates	100	98	99	99	100	100	92	99	87	97	Peru	90	/8	99	98	98	94	73	100	49	61
Uzbekistan	99	91	98	98	100	99	95	97	96	94		95	/1	89	96	96	95	73	76	5/	88
Malaysia	99	89	99	100	100	98	86	100	94	98	Portugal	99	96	91	94	92	93	83	79	41	56
Kazakhstan	99	96	99	99	100	98	96	99	85	89	Canada*	83	65	94	84	93	97	62	91	/2	83
Thailand	100	100	100	99	100	100	97	84	88	89	Japan	99	82	97	96	97	98	88	88	20	58
New Zealand*	100	100	100	94	100	100	94	98	92	80	OECD average	95	78	92	86	96	96	72	82	54	69
Saudi Arabia	99	95	95	97	99	100	98	99	81	93	Norway	97	76	83	91	95	97	68	93	83	33
Singapore	99	99	100	97	100	100	92	100	67	99	Chile	94	82	96	84	96	95	82	65	55	56
Indonesia	99	94	97	91	98	99	93	99	93	87	Austria	93	48	84	80	97	90	92	72	64	83
Brunei Darussalam	100	92	99	96	100	100	77	100	88	96	Iceland	100	100	99	92	98	97	50	52	60	53
United Kingdom*	100	97	100	96	100	100	84	97	89	81	Lithuania	100	87	100	87	98	97	65	79	35	53
Australia*	98	92	98	97	100	99	86	99	87	88	Sweden	98	73	81	99	97	88	75	88	38	60
Albania	100	94	98	97	97	99	94	98	78	85	Paraguay	95	73	92	90	96	96	77	50	59	67
North Macedonia	100	94	99	93	98	99		100	83	81	Czech Republic	97	65	98	92	96	96	63	99	39	48
Jordan	99	89	95	94	99	100	89	98	81	92	Poland	90	56	66	77	99	97	72	95	58	82
Mongolia		97	94	85	99	99		98	74	93	Hungary	93	81	99	98			57	86	25	54
Jamaica*	100	95	99	98	99	100	69	96	79	89	Mexico	91	75	93	86	95	95	75	54	55	68
United States*	92	86	97	97	99	99	73	99	87	96	Belgium	90	84	92	65	95	90	56	92	60	59
Korea	100	72	100	100	100	100	95	98	65	90	Guatemala	93	69	89	91	94	94	76	46	57	71
Moldova	99	98	92	92	100	98	86	95	66	93	Slovak Republic	96	58	91	90	99	97	58	65	66	58
Viet Nam	100	91	99	93	99	100	90	92	60	93	Greece	99	61	82	69	85	82	47	90	90	74
Georgia	99	86	99	96	96	93	90	82	82	89	 Denmark*	89	76	74	86	96	96	61	88	42	55
Malta	100	99	89	98	100	100	59	94	85	83	Switzerland	85	75	84	66	87	84	72	83	39	66
Türkiye	99	80	96	95	99	99	93	86	64	92	Spain	92	70	94	84	97	95	76	39	34	44
Israel	98	92	99	90	100	98	68	94	65	94	Uruquay	89	69	82	79	98	96	60	77	31	40
Serbia	99	99	99	94	99	94	70	98	66	77	Germany	85	65	92	79	91	95	64	44	30	76
Netherlands*	97	91	99	88	92	100	92	94	78	62	Finland	95	66	80	75	91	95	74	71	12	56
Cambodia	97	72	98	94	90	91	91	94	76	88	Italy	97	60	99	76	87	94	33	59	20	69
El Salvador	95	77	90	91	99	98	69	96	77	96	Argentina	89	61	89	72	92	88	48	57	39	57
Dominican Republic	94	93	93	97	99	96	98	77	70	70	Erance	88	65	82	38	84	94	18	71	13	50
Ireland*	100	93	93	77	97	98	76	96	78	81											
Panama*	99	72	95	90	100	89	90	100	74	80	Macao (China)	98	95	98	98	100	100	75	100	66	93
Colombia	90	95	97	100	97	93	84	84	67	71	Palestinian Authority	97	87	95	95	100	100	84	98	70	89
Montenegro	100	90	100	86	100	100	66	100	55	75	Kosovo	98	90	96	95	97	96	84	95	72	69
Romania	100	97	93	88	98	00	94	90	58	62	Likrainian regions (18 of 97)	90	80	96	97	98	03	61	95	84	75
Provil	07_	03	100	03	05	 	80	01_	60	66	Hong Kong (Ching)*	100	03	- 30	87	00_	100	80	80	52	85
Did2li	06	05	02	00	00	00	69	91 91	72	60	Chinaga Tainai	00	84	100-	07	100_	100	81	80	50	66
	90	90	92	80	- 99	- 99-	75	00	62	74	Boldy (Azerbaijan)	90	70	-100	-95	-100	-100	70	70	65	74
	100-	00	90	09	94	90	70	90	52	74	Daku (Azerbaljan)	-97	10	09	-91-	- 90	99	10	10	05	14
Estonia	100	81	98	78	95	98	78	96	52	76											
Latvia*	100	96	98	94	99	99	79	88	40	55											

Countries and economies are ranked in descending order of the average of the 10 actions. Source: OECD, PISA 2022 Database, Annex B1, Chapter 6.

On average across OECD countries, four out of the ten quality-assurance mechanisms and improvement actions at school varied by whether the school is public or private (Tables II.B1.6.59 to II.B1.6.68). Private schools were more likely than public schools to: have written specifications of the school's curricular profile and education goals; have written specifications of student performance standards; request written feedback from students; and hold regular consultations, with one or more experts over a period of at least six months, aimed at school improvement.

Figure II.6.1	Quality-assurance mechanisms, school autonomy and mathematics performance
Figure II.6.2	Governance of education systems as covered in PISA 2022
Table II.6.1	Summary of how responsibilities for school governance are allocated
Figure II.6.3	Index of school responsibility for curriculum, by school type
Figure II.6.4	Index of school responsibility for resources, by school type
Figure II.6.5	Allocation of education responsibilities, by average performance in mathematics
Table II.6.2	Education leadership actions
Figure II.6.6	Attendance at public school, student characteristics and mathematics performance
Figure II.6.7	Mathematics performance and socio-economic status, by type of school
Figure II.6.8	Mathematics performance in public and private schools with a similar socio-economic profile
Figure II.6.9	School funding sources and school composition
Figure II.6.10	Handling school closures due to COVID-19, by school type
Table II.6.3	Summary of school-choice policies, by mathematics performance and socio-economic fairness
Figure II.6.11	Trends in the frequency of using standardised and teacher-developed tests
Figure II.6.12	Trends in monitoring teacher practice
Figure II.6.13	Quality assurance and improvement actions at school
Table II.6.4	Quality assurance and improvement actions at school, by country/economy

#### Table II.6.5. Governing education systems figures and tables

StatLink ms https://stat.link/6nwqli

# Notes

<sup>1</sup> Statistically speaking, identifying the quality assurance arrangements that qualify, or moderate in statistical terminology, the relationship between school autonomy and mathematics performance was done by estimating the differences in the correlation coefficient of both indices of school autonomy (resources and curriculum) with mathematics average scores between the groups of education systems where a given quality assurance mechanism was employed more frequently and less frequently than on average across OECD countries. Positive differences are interpreted as strengthening the association between school autonomy and academic performance (positive moderation), whereas negative differences are interpreted as weakening the association (negative moderation). To rank the different quality assurance mechanisms, the differences for the indices of school responsibility for resources and curriculum were added up.

<sup>2</sup> Questions about the type of school were not asked in the Flemish-speaking Community of Belgium. Data for Belgium represent only the French-speaking and German-speaking Communities.

# References

Adams, D. et al. (2021), "Leading schools through the COVID-19 crisis in a South-East Asian country", <i>Management in Education</i> , p. 089202062110377, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1177/08920206211037738">https://doi.org/10.1177/08920206211037738</a> .	[30]
Ainsworth, R. et al. (2021), "The Importance of Value Added in School Choice: Evidence from an Information Experiment in Romania", <i>KDI School of Pub Policy &amp; Management Paper</i> <i>Forthcoming; NYU Wagner Research Paper Forthcoming.</i>	[41]
Almeida, S. et al. (2020), "Curriculum flexibility policies expressed in school timetables in Portugal: from prescribed curriculum to practiced curriculum", <i>European Journal of Curriculum Studies</i> , Vol. 6, pp. 30-55.	[12]
Al-Samarrai, S. et al. (2018), "Introducing a performance-based component into Jakarta's school grants: What do we know about its impact after three years?", <i>Economics of Education Review</i> , Vol. 67, pp. 110-136, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2018.10.005</u> .	[77]
Anders, J. (2022), How has Covid-19 affected inequalities between state and private schools?.	[68]
Anghel, B. et al. (2015), "Publicizing the results of standardized external tests: does it have an effect on school outcomes?", <i>IZA Journal of European Labor Studies</i> , Vol. 4/1, p. 7, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40174-014-0029-3</u> .	[84]
Angrist, J., P. Pathak and C. Walters (2013), "Explaining Charter School Effectiveness", American Economic Journal: Applied Economics, Vol. 5/4, pp. 1-27, <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/app.5.4.1</u> .	[57]
Barber, M., F. Whelan and M. Clark (2010), <i>Capturing the leadership premium: How the world's top school systems are building leadership capacity for the future</i> , McKinsey.	[21]
Behrman, J. et al. (2016), "Teacher Quality in Public and Private Schools under a Voucher System: The Case of Chile", <i>Journal of Labor Economics</i> , Vol. 34/2, pp. 319-362, <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/683642</u> .	[49]
Bierbaum, A., A. Karner and J. Barajas (2021), "Toward Mobility Justice: Linking transportation and education equity in the context of school choice", <i>Journal of the American Planning</i> <i>Association</i> , Vol. 87/2, pp. 197-210, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01944363.2020.1803104</u> .	[42]
Bloom, N. et al. (2015), "Does Management Matter in schools?", <i>The Economic Journal</i> , Vol. 125/584, pp. 647-674, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ecoj.12267</u> .	[22]
Boeskens, L. (2016), "Regulating Publicly Funded Private Schools: A Literature Review on Equity and Effectiveness", OECD Education Working Papers, No. 147, OECD Publishing, Paris.	[43]
Branch, G., S. Rivkin and E. Hanushek (2013), "School Leaders Matter: Measuring the impact of effective principals", <i>Education Next</i> , Vol. 13/1, pp. 62-69.	[25]
Brauckmann, S., P. Pashiardis and H. Ärlestig (2023), "Bringing context and educational leadership together: fostering the professional development of school principals", <i>Professional Development in Education</i> , Vol. 49/1, pp. 4-15, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2020.1747105</u> .	[28]

Burgess, S. and A. Briggs (2010), "School assignment, school choice and social mobility", <i>Economics of Education Review</i> , Vol. 29/4, pp. 639-649, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.econedurev.2009.10.011</u> .	[46]
Burns, T. and F. Köster (2016), "Modern governance challenges in education", in <i>Governing Education in a Complex World</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264255364-3-en">https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264255364-3-en</a> .	[1]
Caldwell, B. and Spinks Jim M. (2013), The self-transforming school, Routledge.	[10]
Card, D., M. Dooley and A. Payne (2010), "School Competition and Efficiency with Publicly Funded Catholic Schools", <i>American Economic Journal: Applied Economics</i> , Vol. 2/4, pp. 150-76, <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/APP.2.4.150</u> .	[36]
Chapman, C. and M. Salokangas (2012), "Independent state-funded schools: some reflections on recent developments", <i>School Leadership &amp; Management</i> , Vol. 32/5, pp. 473-486, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2012.731329</u> .	[51]
Chatzipanagiotou, P. and E. Katsarou (2023), "Crisis Management, School Leadership in Disruptive Times and the Recovery of Schools in the Post COVID-19 Era: A Systematic Literature Review", <i>Education Sciences</i> , Vol. 13/2, p. 118, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci13020118</u> .	[31]
Cheng, Y., J. Ko and T. Lee (2016), "School autonomy, leadership and learning: a reconceptualisation", <i>International Journal of Educational Management</i> .	[7]
Cordini, M., A. Parma and C. Ranci (2019), "White flight' in Milan: School segregation as a result of home-to-school mobility", <i>Urban Studies</i> , Vol. 56/15, pp. 3216-3233, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0042098019836661</u> .	[53]
Cuttance, P. (1998), "Quality Assurance Reviews as a Catalyst for School Improvement in Australia", in Hargreaves, A. et al. (eds.), <i>International Handbook of Educational Change</i> , Springer, Dordrecht.	[72]
Datnow, A. and L. Hubbard (2015), "Teachers' Use of Assessment Data to Inform Instruction: Lessons from the past and Prospects for the Future", <i>Teachers College Record: The Voice of</i> <i>Scholarship in Education</i> , Vol. 117/4, pp. 1-26, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/016146811511700408</u> .	[85]
DeAngelis, C. (2019), "Does Private Schooling Affect Noncognitive Skills? International Evidence Based on Test and Survey Effort on PISA", <i>Social Science Quarterly</i> , Vol. 100/6, pp. 2256- 2276, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/ssqu.12702</u> .	[59]
Department for Education of the United Kingdom (2010), "The Importance of Teaching: The Schools White Paper 2010", The Stationery Office, Norwich.	[11]
Downey, D., P. von Hippel and M. Hughes (2008), ""Are "Failing" Schools Really Failing? Removing the Influence of Nonschool Factors from Measures of School Quality": Erratum.", Sociology of Education, Vol. 81/4, pp. No Pagination Specified-No Pagination Specified.	[87]

 Duflo, E., P. Dupas and M. Kremer (2011), "Peer Effects, Teacher Incentives, and the Impact of Tracking: Evidence from a Randomized Evaluation in Kenya", *American Economic Review*, Vol. 101/5, pp. 1739-1774, <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.101.5.1739</u>.

#### 242 |

Dumay, X. and V. Dupriez (2014), "Educational quasi-markets, school effectiveness and social inequalities", <i>Journal of Education Policy</i> , Vol. 29/4, pp. 510-531, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02680939.2013.850536</u> .	[54]
Earley, P. (2019), "School autonomy and accountability in England: The rhetoric and the reality?", in Raucher, E. et al. (eds.), <i>Schulautonomie–Perspektiven in Europa</i> , Waxmann, Munster.	[17]
Ehren, M. et al. (2015), "Comparing effects and side effects of different school inspection systems across Europe", <i>Comparative Education</i> , Vol. 51/3, pp. 375-400, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03050068.2015.1045769</u> .	[80]
Engwall, L. (2008), "The university: a multinational corporation", <i>The university in the market</i> , Vol. 84, pp. 9-21.	[3]
Epple, D., R. Romano and M. Urquiola (2017), "School Vouchers: A Survey of the Economics Literature", <i>Journal of Economic Literature</i> , Vol. 55/2, pp. 441-492, <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/jel.20150679</u> .	[39]
Facts and Factors (2022), Childhood Education Market By Product (Distance Education Institution and Early Childhood Education School), By Application (5-8 Age, 3-5 Age, and <3 Age), and By Region: Global Industry Perspective, Market Size, Statistical Research, Market Intelligence, Comprehensive Analysis, Historical Trends, and Forecast 2019–2026.	[4]
Fast, I. (2020), "Unequal traveling: How school district and family characteristics shape the duration of students' commute to school", <i>Travel Behaviour and Society</i> , Vol. 20, pp. 165-173, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tbs.2020.03.008</u> .	[44]
Frohly, C. (2022), "Does school choice increase social segregation? Evidence from private schools opening in France between 2005 and 2019", Sciences Po.	[55]
Gaertner, H., S. Wurster and H. Pant (2014), "The effect of school inspections on school improvement", <i>School Effectiveness and School Improvement</i> , Vol. 25/4, pp. 489-508, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2013.811089">https://doi.org/10.1080/09243453.2013.811089</a> .	[78]
Garrett, R. and M. Steinberg (2015), "Examining Teacher Effectiveness Using Classroom Observation Scores: Evidence From the Randomization of Teachers to Students", <i>Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis</i> , doi: 10.3102/0162373714537551, pp. 224-242, <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373714537551</u> .	[92]
Geijsel, F., M. Krüger and P. Sleegers (2010), "Data feedback for school improvement: The role of researchers and school leaders", <i>The Australian Educational Researcher</i> , Vol. 37/2, pp. 59-75, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03216922</u> .	[73]
Geller, C., D. Sjoquist and M. Walker (2006), "The Effect of Private School Competition on Public School Performance in Georgia", <i>Public Finance Review</i> , Vol. 34/1, pp. 4-32, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1091142105283631</u> .	[63]
Goddard, Y. et al. (2019), "From School Leadership to Differentiated Instruction", <i>The Elementary School Journal</i> , Vol. 120/2, pp. 197-219, <u>https://doi.org/10.1086/705827</u> .	[26]
Grissom, J., S. Loeb and B. Master (2013), "Effective Instructional Time Use for School Leaders", <i>Educational Researcher</i> , Vol. 42/8, pp. 433-444, <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X13510020</u> .	[27]

Gustafsson, J. et al. (2015), "From inspection to quality: Ways in which school inspection influences change in schools", <i>Studies in Educational Evaluation</i> , Vol. 47, pp. 47-57, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2015.07.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2015.07.002</a> .	[74]
Hamilton, L. et al. (2009), <i>Using Student Achievement Data to Support Instructional Decision Making</i> , National Center for Education Evaluation and Regional Assistance.	[86]
Hanushek, E., S. Link and L. Woessmann (2013), "Does school autonomy make sense everywhere? Panel estimates from PISA", <i>Journal of Development Economics</i> , Vol. 104, pp. 212-232, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jdeveco.2012.08.002</u> .	[13]
Hardwick-Franco, K. (2019), "Educational leadership is different in the country; What support does the rural school principal need?", <i>International Journal of Leadership in Education</i> , Vol. 22/3, pp. 301-315, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603124.2018.1450997</u> .	[29]
Harris, A. and M. Jones (2020), "COVID 19 – school leadership in disruptive times", <i>School Leadership &amp; Management</i> , Vol. 40/4, pp. 243-247, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2020.1811479">https://doi.org/10.1080/13632434.2020.1811479</a> .	[32]
Harris, D. et al. (2020), <i>How America's Schools Responded to the COVID Crisis</i> , National Center for Research on Education Access and Choice.	[67]
Healey, N. (2023), "Reinventing international higher education for a socially just, sustainable world", <i>Perspectives: Policy and Practice in Higher Education</i> , pp. 1-10, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603108.2023.2217780</u> .	[5]
Henderson, M. et al. (2020), "Private schooling, subject choice, upper secondary attainment and progression to university", Oxford Review of Education, Vol. 46/3, pp. 295-312, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/03054985.2019.1669551</u> .	[60]
Heyneman, S. (2009), "International Perspectives on School Choice", in <i>Handbook of Research</i> on School Choice, Routledge.	[34]
Hofer, S., D. Holzberger and K. Reiss (2020), "Evaluating school inspection effectiveness: A systematic research synthesis on 30 years of international research", <i>Studies in Educational</i> <i>Evaluation</i> , Vol. 65, p. 100864, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2020.100864</u> .	[79]
Holm, L. and K. Kousholt (2019), "Beyond washback effect: A multidisciplinary approach exploring how testing becomes part of everyday school life focused on the construction of pupils' cleverness", Annual Review of Critical Psychology, Vol. 16, pp. 917-952.	[83]
Jabbar, H. et al. (2022), "The Competitive Effects of School Choice on Student Achievement: A Systematic Review", <i>Educational Policy</i> , Vol. 36/2, pp. 247-281, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0895904819874756</u> .	[40]
Jensen, B., B. Weidmann and J. Farmer (2013), <i>The Myth of Markets in School Education</i> , Grattan Institute.	[19]
Jimenez, E. and V. Paqueo (1996), "Do local contributions affect the efficiency of public primary schools?", <i>Economics of Education Review</i> , Vol. 15/4, pp. 377-386, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-7757(96)00029-5</u> .	[52]

246			

OECD (2013), <i>Synergies for Better Learning: An International Perspective on Evaluation and Assessment</i> , OECD Reviews of Evaluation and Assessment in Education, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264190658-en</u> .	[6]
OECD (2011), ""School Autonomy and Accountability : Are They Related to Student Performance?", <i>PISA in Focus</i> , No. 9, OECD Publishing, Paris.	[20]
Ortagus, J. et al. (2020), "Performance-Based Funding in American Higher Education: A Systematic Synthesis of the Intended and Unintended Consequences", <i>Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis</i> , Vol. 42/4, pp. 520-550, <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373720953128</u> .	[89]
Paletta, A., E. Basyte Ferrari and G. Alimehmeti (2020), "How Principals Use a New Accountability System to Promote Change in Teacher Practices: Evidence From Italy", <i>Educational Administration Quarterly</i> , Vol. 56/1, pp. 123-173, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0013161X19840398</u> .	[91]
Palm, M. and S. Farber (2020), "The role of public transit in school choice and after-school activity participation among Toronto high school students", <i>Travel Behaviour and Society</i> , Vol. 19, pp. 219-230, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tbs.2020.01.007</u> .	[45]
Pont, B., D. Nusche and H. Moorman (2008), <i>Improving School Leadership, Volume 1: Policy and Practice</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264044715-en</u> .	[24]
Rich, P. and J. Jennings (2015), "Choice, Information, and Constrained Options", <i>American Sociological Review</i> , Vol. 80/5, pp. 1069-1098, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0003122415598764</u> .	[70]
Rowe, E. and C. Lubienski (2017), "Shopping for schools or shopping for peers: public schools and catchment area segregation", <i>Journal of Education Policy</i> , Vol. 32/3, pp. 340-356, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/02680939.2016.1263363">https://doi.org/10.1080/02680939.2016.1263363</a> .	[47]
Schildkamp, K. (2019), "Data-based decision-making for school improvement: Research insights and gaps", <i>Educational Research</i> , doi: 10.1080/00131881.2019.1625716, pp. 257-273, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2019.1625716">https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2019.1625716</a> , <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2019.1625716">https://doi.org/10.1080/00131881.2019.1625716</a> .	[76]
Schwalbach, J. and C. DeAngelis (2022), "School sector and school safety: a review of the evidence", <i>Educational Review</i> , Vol. 74/4, pp. 882-898, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2020.1822789">https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2020.1822789</a> .	[62]
Skerritt, C. (2020), "School autonomy and the surveillance of teachers", <i>International Journal of Leadership in Education</i> , pp. 1-28, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13603124.2020.1823486</u> .	[18]
Smith, K. and K. Meier (1995), "Public Choice in Education: Markets and the Demand for Quality Education", <i>Political Research Quarterly</i> , Vol. 48/3, pp. 461-478, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/106591299504800301</u> .	[65]
Valenzuela, J., C. Bellei and D. Ríos (2014), "Socioeconomic school segregation in a market- oriented educational system. The case of Chile", <i>Journal of Education Policy</i> , Vol. 29/2, pp. 217-241, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02680939.2013.806995</u> .	[48]
Verger, A., L. Parcerisa and C. Fontdevila (2019), "The growth and spread of large-scale assessments and test-based accountabilities: a political sociology of global education reforms", <i>Educational Review</i> , Vol. 71/1, pp. 5-30, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00131911.2019.1522045</u> .	[16]

Visscher, A. and R. Coe (eds.) (2013), <i>School improvement through performance feedback</i> , Routledge.	[75]
Wang, Y. (2014), <i>Education policy reform trends in G20 members</i> , Springer Science & Business Media.	[9]
Waslander, S., C. Pater and M. Van der Weide (2010), "Markets in education: An analytical review of empirical research on market mechanisms in education", <i>OECD Education Working Papers</i> , No. 52, OECD Publishing, Paris.	[71]
West, M. and L. Woessmann (2010), "Every Catholic Child in a Catholic School': Historical Resistance to State Schooling, Contemporary Private Competition and Student Achievement across Countries", <i>The Economic Journal</i> , Vol. 120/546, pp. F229-F255, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0297.2010.02375.x">https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-0297.2010.02375.x</a> .	[58]
Wößmann, L. (2007), "International Evidence on School Competition, Autonomy, and Accountability: A Review", <i>Peabody Journal of Education</i> , Vol. 82/2-3, pp. 473-497, <a href="https://doi.org/10.1080/01619560701313176">https://doi.org/10.1080/01619560701313176</a> .	[37]
Wößmann, L. et al. (2007), ""School accountability, autonomy, choice, and the level of student achievement: International evidence from PISA 2003", OECD Education Working Papers, No. 13, OECD Publishing, Paris.	[38]
Zancajo, A. et al. (2021), "Regulating public-private partnerships, governing non-state schools:	[50]

Zancajo, A. et al. (2021), "Regulating public-private partnerships, governing non-state schools: an equity perspective: Background paper for UNESCO Global Education Monitoring Report", UNESCO.

# **7** From data to insights

Results from PISA offer a wealth of data points that can highlight aspects of education policy that merit further investigation and development. This chapter suggests a plan for digging deeper into PISA 2022 data to better understand how policies can be improved to meet the needs of every student.

For Australia, Canada, Denmark, Hong Kong (China), Ireland, Jamaica, Latvia, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Panama, the United Kingdom and the United States, caution is required when interpreting estimates as one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

The eighth assessment of PISA was delayed by one year due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Results from that assessment, PISA 2022, show that Singapore scored significantly higher than all other participating countries/economies in mathematics (575 points), reading (543 points) and science (561 points). In mathematics, six East Asian education systems, namely Singapore, Macao (China), Chinese Taipei, Hong Kong (China)\*, Japan and Korea (in descending order of average scores) outperformed all other countries/economies. In reading, behind top-performing education system Singapore, Ireland\* performed as well as Japan, Korea, Chinese Taipei and Estonia (in descending order of average scores) and better than 75 other countries/economies. In science, the highest-performing countries were the same six East Asian countries/economies, and Estonia and Canada\* (Tables I.2.1, I.2.2 and I.2.3).

But PISA 2022 results also show significant deterioration in mathematics and reading performance between 2018 and 2022. During that period mean scores dropped by almost 15 points in mathematics and 10 points in reading, on average across OECD countries. Over half of the countries/economies that can compare PISA 2022 data with PISA 2018 data deteriorated in average mathematics and reading performance (Figure I.5.1).

Beyond score rankings, results from PISA offer policy makers a wealth of data points that can highlight aspects of education that merit further investigation – and that imply that changes to existing policies and practices, or the design and implementation of new ones, may be necessary.

Results from PISA 2022 suggest a plan for digging deeper into the data with the aim of better understanding how education policies can be improved to meet the needs of every student:

# Examine why student performance declined so sharply

The steep declines in performance observed between 2018 and 2022 are unprecedented, given that changes in the OECD average over consecutive PISA assessments up to 2018 had never exceeded four score points in mathematics and five score points in reading. These more recent declines are equivalent to around half a year to three-quarters of a year of learning, as 20 score points represents the average annual pace of learning among 15-year-olds in countries/economies that participated in PISA (see Volume I Box I.5.1 for details).

# The sharp declines may not be due solely to the pandemic because performance trends vary across subjects...

Between 2018 and 2022, average performance in mathematics and reading deteriorated precipitously while average performance in science did not change significantly, on average across OECD countries. Indeed, in 33 out of 71 countries/economies, science performance remained broadly stable between 2018 and 2022 (Figure I.5.1).

#### ... and across education systems...

During the period, mathematics performance improved in Chinese Taipei, Saudi Arabia, the Dominican Republic, Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Paraguay and Guatemala (in descending order) by around 10 to 16 score points. However, in Albania, Jordan, Iceland, Norway and Malaysia (in descending order), mathematics scores dropped by more than 30 points (Figure I.5.1).

Reading performance improved in Brunei Darussalam, Panama\*, Chinese Taipei, Qatar, Japan, the Dominican Republic, and Cambodia (in descending order) by around 8 to 21 score points between 2018 and 2022; but in Albania, Iceland and North Macedonia, reading scores declined by more than 30 points during that period.

Science performance improved in 18 countries/economies between 2018 and 2022, including in Kazakhstan, the Dominican Republic, Panama\*, Chinese Taipei, Japan, Cambodia and Brunei Darussalam (in descending order), where scores improved by around 15 to 26 points. However, in Albania, North Macedonia, Iceland and Malaysia (in descending order), science scores deteriorated by more than 20 points during the period.

#### ... and performance was already deteriorating before the pandemic...

The deterioration in mathematics performance between 2018 and 2022 followed a decade-and-a-half of stable performance. Trajectories in reading and science performance, however, had already turned negative before 2018, after reaching their highest levels between PISA 2009 and 2012, well before the COVID-19 disruptions (Figure I.6.1).

The following countries/economies were already showing a decline in mean performance prior to 2018. These negative trends were often confirmed and reinforced between 2018 and 2022 (Figure I.5.3):

- Belgium, Canada\*, the Czech Republic, Finland, France, Hungary, Iceland, the Netherlands\*, New Zealand\* and the Slovak Republic in mathematics performance
- Costa Rica, Finland, Iceland, the Netherlands\*, the Slovak Republic, Sweden and Thailand in reading performance
- Belgium, Finland, Germany, Greece, Iceland, Kosovo, the Netherlands\* and Slovenia in science performance.

#### ...which suggests that there are other structural reasons for the decline.

# Provide all students with opportunities to fulfil their potential regardless of their backgrounds, and tailor policies to education systems' particular contexts

# In 70% of PISA-participating education systems the gap in mathematics performance related to socio-economic status did not change between 2018 and 2022 – mainly because both advantaged and disadvantaged students' performance deteriorated during the period.

The gap in mathematics performance related to socio-economic status did not change between 2018 and 2022 in 48 out of the 68 countries/economies with available PISA data. This gap widened on average across OECD countries and in 13 countries/economies; it narrowed in 7 countries/economies (Argentina, Brazil, Chile, Moldova, the Philippines, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates). Of these latter countries, only in Argentina, the Philippines and Saudi Arabia did the gap narrow because of improvements in disadvantaged students' performance. In three other countries, advantaged students' performance deteriorated (Table I.5.3).

# *Many education systems became more inclusive of marginalised populations over the past decade.*

Many countries/economies, including Cambodia, Colombia, Costa Rica, Indonesia, Morocco, Paraguay and Romania, made significant progress towards the goal of universal secondary education over the past decade. While in four of these countries average PISA scores appeared to decline, in fact they improved or remained stable after accounting for the expansion of secondary education to previously marginalised populations (Figure I.6.7).

# PISA results show that education systems can both attain higher overall performance and minimise the impact of students' socio-economic status on their performance.

Education systems in Canada\*, Denmark\*, Finland, Hong Kong (China)\*, Ireland\*, Japan, Korea, Latvia\*, Macao (China) and the United Kingdom\* are highly equitable. They have achieved high levels of socio-economic fairness at the same time as a large share of their 15-year-old students have attained at least basic proficiency in mathematics, reading and science (Figure I.4.20).
# Results from PISA can indicate which type of policy, universal or targeted, is more likely to have a strong impact on a particular education system.

PISA results can indicate whether policies should be targeted to low-performing or socio-economically disadvantaged students or both. They can also help policy makers determine whether students or schools should be targeted (Box I.4.3).

In Japan, Lithuania, the Netherlands\*, Poland, Slovenia and Chinese Taipei, performance-targeted policies aimed at improving the scores of the lowest performers, regardless of their socio-economic status, could be implemented initially at the school level. Conversely, Australia\*, Canada\*, Korea, New Zealand\* and Sweden could implement such policies by focusing first on individual students.

If the aim is to reduce inequalities in education by providing additional resources, support or assistance to disadvantaged students and schools, targeting disadvantaged schools is likely to have a greater impact in Bulgaria, Colombia, Malaysia, Mongolia, Panama<sup>\*</sup>, Peru and Uruguay. The only exception is Portugal, where disadvantaged students, rather than schools, could be targeted first.

In Austria, Belgium, the Czech Republic, France, Hungary, Israel, Romania and the Slovak Republic a mix of targeted policies that provides adapted resources and support to address both low achievement and disadvantage may be more effective when targeting schools. Only in Singapore and Switzerland are students from disadvantaged backgrounds more evenly distributed across schools than the OECD average.

# Study resilient systems where learning, equity and well-being were maintained and promoted despite pandemic-related disruptions

# Four education systems, namely Japan, Korea, Lithuania and Chinese Taipei, are identified as resilient education systems...

Of the 81 countries/economies that participated in PISA 2022, only Japan, Korea, Lithuania and Chinese Taipei showed overall resilience: they performed well, were equitable, their students reported a sense of belonging at school that was as strong as or stronger than the OECD average in 2022, and they showed no deterioration in any of these aspects between 2018 and 2022 (Figure II.1.1).

# ...while 21 education systems were resilient in one or two of the three aspects considered: performance, equity and students' well-being.

Singapore was resilient in both mathematics performance and equity, but not in well-being (with a focus here on students' sense of belonging at school). Switzerland was resilient in both mathematics performance and students' well-being, but not in equity. Australia\* was resilient in mathematics performance, but not in equity or in well-being. Hong Kong (China), the United Kingdom\* and the United States\* were considered resilient in equity, but not in mathematics performance or in well-being. Austria, Croatia, Finland, France, Georgia, Germany, Hungary, Iceland, Montenegro, Portugal, Romania, Saudi Arabia, Serbia, Slovenia and Sweden were resilient in well-being but not in mathematics performance or in equity.

#### Ten actions related to resilience:

#### 1. Keeping schools open longer for more students

PISA 2022 data show that systems that spared more students from longer school closures scored higher while their students enjoyed a greater sense of belonging at school.

PISA 2022 student-reported data show that systems that spared more students from longer closures (longer than three months) tended to score higher in mathematics (Figure II.2.2). These systems also showed stable or improving trends between 2018 and 2022 in their students' sense of belonging at school (Figure II.2.3).

PISA 2022 asked students whether their school building was closed to students for more than a month in total (some schools closed and reopened multiple times during the period) in the previous three years due to COVID-19. In most countries/economies, schools were closed for several months because of the pandemic (Table II.B1.2.1). On average across OECD countries, fewer than one in two students reported that their school was closed for less than three months. In fact, only one in three countries/economies with available data avoided longer school closures for a majority of their students. In Iceland, Japan, Korea, Sweden, Switzerland and Chinese Taipei more than three out of four students indicated that their school was closed for less than three months, while in Brazil, Ireland\*, Jamaica\* and Latvia\* only one out of four students or fewer who responded to the question reported so.

Keeping schools open longer, for more students, seems to be important – but insufficient – for maintaining students' learning during disruptions; how learning is organised during school closures also matters. In situations where schools have to be closed, education systems and schools have to ensure that instruction can continue in remote mode in order to avoid severe learning losses. Remote education forces students to learn more autonomously which, in turn, requires them to draw on their self-directed learning skills. Promoting the acquisition of these skills in school is not only beneficial to individual students, it is also an investment in the resilience of education systems.

#### 2. Preparing students for autonomous learning

#### When remote learning runs smoothly, students and education systems benefit.

Education systems in which students encountered fewer problems during remote learning tended to score higher in mathematics than other systems, on average (Table II.B1.2.45). In addition, these systems saw improvements in their students' sense of belonging at school between 2018 and 2022, pre- to post-COVID (Table II.B1.2.46).

However, remote learning left many students struggling to motivate themselves. PISA 2022 results show that, on average across OECD countries, almost one in two students indicated that they had problems at least once a week motivating themselves to do schoolwork. In Australia\* and the United Kingdom\*, six out of ten students reported that they frequently had difficulty motivating themselves to do schoolwork while learning remotely – more than double the share of students in Guatemala, Iceland, Indonesia, Kazakhstan, Korea, Moldova and Chinese Taipei who so reported. Once motivated, however, students seemed to be well-equipped for learning: at least three out of four students reported that they never or only a few times had problems with access to a digital device when they needed one, with Internet access, with finding a quiet place to study, with time to study because of household responsibilities or with finding someone who could help them with schoolwork (Figure II.2.13 and Table II.B1.2.30).

# Students were more confident about using digital technology for remote learning than about taking responsibility for their own learning.

PISA 2022 also explored whether education systems prepared students for autonomous learning by asking students to report on their confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning. Overall, students reported feeling more confident about using digital technology for learning remotely during school closures than they felt about taking responsibility for their own learning (Table II.B1.2.5). For instance, on average across OECD countries, about three out of four students reported that they feel confident or very confident about using a learning-management system,

a school learning platform or a video communication program, and about finding learning resources on line on their own (Figure II.2.5). Only six out of ten students reported feeling equally confident about motivating themselves to do schoolwork and focusing on it without reminders.

These results suggest that providing students with the skills to use technological tools for learning is not enough; students also need to learn how to assume responsibility for their learning. Some education systems implemented a new programme to enhance students' skills in and attitudes towards self-directed learning. See Box II.7.1 for an example in Singapore.

# Teachers could play a key role in enhancing students' confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning.

In education systems where students reported that their teachers were available when they needed help, students tended to be more confident that they could learn independently and remotely if their school has to close again in the future. On average across OECD countries, students who had a more positive experience with remote learning – for example, students who agreed or strongly agreed that their teachers were available when they needed help – scored higher in mathematics and reported feeling more confident about learning independently if their school has to close again in the future (Figure II.2.11 and Table II.B1.2.47).

## Box II.7.1. Blended Learning in secondary and pre-university schools in Singapore

As part of Blended Learning, regular Home-Based Learning (HBL) Days have been implemented in all secondary schools and pre-university institutions since the end of 2022. This programme aims to help students become self-directed, independent and passionate learners. Regular HBL Days provide students with more opportunities to learn curricular content in a self-directed manner, using both digital and non-digital methods of learning. HBL Days also include time set aside for student-initiated learning, where students can pursue their own interests and learn outside the curriculum – such as learning a foreign language, or studying financial literacy or programming.

Schools schedule about two HBL days a month as part of the school schedule. This accounts for about 10% of curriculum time in an academic year. HBL Days are less structured than a typical day in a classroom, allowing students to learn curricular content in a self-paced manner. Around four to five hours are allocated to the curriculum and at least one hour is dedicated to student-initiated learning. Schools determine the subjects and topics covered on HBL Days and customise the support for student-initiated learning based on their students' interests and needs. For example, for students who need more guidance on their student-initiated learning, schools can suggest activities or provide resources at the start, before reducing this scaffold over time.

Educational technology platforms and resources, such as those in the Singapore Student Learning Space, the national online learning platform, and personal learning devices that have been rolled out for all secondary school students under the National Digital Literacy Programme, support the implementation of Blended Learning. Students who require additional learning support or who do not have a home environment that is conducive to learning can return to school on HBL Days where they will be supervised by school personnel but will still have the opportunity to learn and organise their schedule independently.

Source: (Ministry of Education, Singapore, 2020[1]; Ministry of Education, Singapore, 2022[2])

# 3. Building strong foundations for learning and well-being for all students

No system provided all of its students with the solid foundations needed for learning and well-being, such as food security...

On average across OECD countries, 8.2% of students reported that they had not eaten at least once a week in the previous 30 days because there was not enough money to buy food. Some OECD countries have some of the smallest proportions (less than 3%) of these students, notably Portugal (2.6%), Finland (2.7%) and the Netherlands\* (2.8%). However, in some OECD countries the proportion of students who suffer from food insecurity exceeds 10%, including Türkiye (19.3%), New Zealand\* (14.1%), Colombia (13.3%), Chile (13.1%), the United States\* (13%), Lithuania (11%) and the United Kingdom\* (10.5%) (Figure I.4.6).

## ...and feelings of safety.

Overall, students feel safe at school, particularly in their classrooms. However, PISA 2022 results suggest that education systems could consider improving safety on the routes students travel to or from school, or in places outside of the classroom, such as hallways, cafeterias or restrooms (Figure I.3.9 and Table II.B1.3.17). Around 10% of students disagreed or strongly disagreed that they feel safe in these places, on average across OECD countries. In Jamaica\*, Moldova and Morocco, 25% of students reported feeling unsafe outside the classroom, and in Baku (Azerbaijan), Jamaica\* and Moldova, more than 15% of students reported feeling unsafe even in their classroom. However, in many systems, including Belgium, Croatia, Ireland\*, Korea, the Netherlands\*, Portugal, Serbia, Singapore, Switzerland and Chinese Taipei, less than 5% of students reported feeling unsafe in their classroom or in other places in the school.

Education systems can address food security and safety through various policies. In Finland, school meals are an integral part of the national core curriculum. National legislation guarantees students, from pre-primary through upper secondary education, the right to free meals on school days (Finnish National Agency for Education, 2023<sub>[3]</sub>). In Ireland, the School Meals Programme provides funding for the provision of needs-based meals for students and children in schools and organisations (Ireland Department of Social Protection, 2022<sub>[4]</sub>). In Portugal, the School without Bullying, School without Violence plan (2019) emphasises a whole-community approach to combatting bullying and school violence, with actions aimed at teachers, parents, students and other stakeholders. Schools define an action plan involving strategies and activities that raise awareness about harmful behaviours and promote early identification (OECD, 2021<sub>[5]</sub>). In the Flemish Community of Belgium, the *Paraat voor de schoolstraat (Ready for the school street)* policy initiative, aimed at reducing air pollution in school neighbourhoods, prohibits vehicles from driving on streets near schools for set periods of time in the morning or afternoon (Burns and Gottschalk (eds.), 2020<sub>[6]</sub>).

# 4. Limiting the distractions caused by using digital devices in class

# One in three students becomes distracted while using digital devices at school.

PISA 2022 data show that, on average across OECD countries and in around a third of all education systems, the disciplinary climate improved between 2012 and 2022 (Table II.B1.3.12). However, apart from "traditional" disciplinary problems, around 30% of students, on average across OECD countries, reported that, in most or every mathematics lesson, they get distracted using digital devices (Figure II.3.4 and Table II.B1.3.9). Equally important, around 25% of students indicated that, in most or every lesson, they become distracted by other students who are using digital devices, that the teacher has to wait a long time for students to quiet down, that students cannot work well and that students do not start working for a long time after the lesson begins.

#### Limiting distractions is important for student performance and well-being.

On average across OECD countries, students who reported that they become distracted in every or most mathematics lessons scored 15 points lower in mathematics than students who reported that this never or almost never happens, after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile (Table II.B1.3.13). A similar pattern was observed in over 80% of education systems with available data. In all countries/economies students who perceive the climate in their mathematics lessons to be less disruptive reported feeling less anxious towards mathematics (Table II.B1.3.16).

# Students who frequently use smartphones at school reported that they are likely to become distracted while using digital devices in mathematics lessons.

Relying on students' cell phones at school increases the risk that students use their phones in class for noneducational activities or get distracted by notifications. Students appear to be less distracted when they switch off notifications from social networks and apps on their digital devices during class, when they do not have their digital devices open in class to take notes or search for information, and when they do not feel pressured to be on line and answer messages while in class (Table II.B1.5.44).

# Policies that target students' skills and behaviours when using digital devices are critical for limiting distractions.

Many schools have introduced guidelines addressing the problem of distraction when students use digital devices in school. The content and design of such rules, as well as the capacity to enforce them, determine their effectiveness. When a school's written statements or rules are too general, imprecise or lenient, they are unlikely to benefit teaching and learning with digital devices. Schools and teachers also need the time and capacity to enforce such rules. Teachers are probably unable to monitor what their students are doing with their digital devices in class, even when the devices are used as part of the lesson. Indeed, teachers' preparedness in integrating digital devices in instruction bears little relationship with the possibility of students becoming distracted while using digital devices during mathematics class (Figure II.5.9).

Students are less likely to report being distracted by using digital devices in mathematics lessons when the use of cell phones on school premises is banned. At first glance, cell phone bans would appear to be a useful policy. However, further research is needed to fully understand the effectiveness and impact of such bans. On average across OECD countries, 30% of students in schools where the use of cell phones is banned reported using a smartphone several times a day, and 21% reported using one every day or almost every day at school (Table II.B1.5.39). These data show that cell phone bans are not always effectively enforced. PISA 2022 results also show that, in some countries/economies, when cell phones are banned at their school, students are less likely to turn off their notifications from social networks and apps on their digital devices when going to sleep at night (Table II.B1.5.45). This finding suggests that students in schools with cell phone bans might not have adequate opportunities to develop self-directed strategies for using cell phones.

# Moderate use of digital devices in school is related to higher performance; but the relationship differs greatly according to the purpose of use.

Students who spend up to one hour per day on digital devices for learning activities in school scored 24 points higher in mathematics than students who spend no time on such devices, on average across OECD countries. Even after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile, the former group of students scored 14 points higher. This positive relationship is observed in over half of the education systems with available data. However, the relationship becomes negative when students spend more than one hour per day on digital devices for learning in school (Table II.B1.5.66).

Students who spend up to one hour per day on digital devices for leisure activities scored 20 points higher in mathematics than students who spend no time on such devices. The difference in performance amounts to 10 points

even after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile. This positive relationship is observed in around half of the education systems with available data (Table II.B1.5.67). However, students who spend more than an hour per day on digital devices for leisure activities scored lower in mathematics.

These findings suggest that moderate use of digital devices is not intrinsically harmful and can even be positively associated with performance. It is the overuse and/or misuse of digital devices that is negatively associated with performance. Results from PISA 2022 confirm the need for better guidelines on how to use digital devices at school.

#### 5. Strengthening school-family partnerships and keeping parents involved in students' learning

#### In many education systems parental involvement in students' learning decreased.

PISA trend data collected from school principals show that the percentage of parents who were involved in school activities decreased substantially between 2018 and 2022 in many countries/economies, especially the share of parents involved in learning-related activities (Figure II.3.15 and Table II.B1.3.67). On average across OECD countries, the share of students in schools where most parents discussed their child's progress with a teacher on their own initiative or on the initiative of one of their child's teachers shrank by ten and eight percentage points, respectively. Only in a few countries/economies did parents become more involved during the period: in Macao (China), Mexico and Romania, parents were more involved in parent-initiated discussions with teachers in 2022 than in 2018; in Brunei Darussalam, the Dominican Republic, Georgia, Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates, more parents in 2022 than in 2018 were involved in teacher-initiated discussions.

Education systems with more positive trends in parental involvement showed stable or improved performance, especially among disadvantaged students.

The education systems in which the share of parents who discussed their child's progress with a teacher on their own initiative shrank less between 2018 and 2022 showed more stable or improved mathematics performance (Figure II.3.16), especially among disadvantaged students (Table II.B1.3.77).

#### Students who were supported at home had more positive attitudes towards school and learning.

In all countries/economies, students who enjoy more support from their families reported a greater sense of belonging at school and life satisfaction, and more confidence in their capacity for self-directed learning (Table II.B1.3.75). In most countries/economies, these students also reported feeling less anxious towards mathematics.

#### Students thrive when their families take an active interest in them and their learning.

Higher-performing students reported that their family regularly ("about once or twice a week" or "every day or almost every day") eats the main meal together, spends time just talking with them, or asks them what they did in school that day. These students scored 16 to 28 points higher in mathematics than students who reported that their family does not do those things regularly, on average across OECD countries and after accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile (Table II.B1.3.72).

Students' responses to the question about whether their parents or someone from the family asks what they did in school that day show one of the greatest variations across education systems. In Australia\*, Colombia, Croatia, Denmark, Germany, Hungary, Italy, Ireland\*, the Netherlands\*, New Zealand\*, Portugal, Sweden and the United Kingdom\*, at least 80% of students reported that their parents or someone in their family asks what they did in school that day about once or twice a week. In Hong Kong (China)\*, Macao (China) and Thailand, only around 50% of students reported that this occurs regularly (Figure II.3.18).

While there is no doubt as to the importance of parental and family engagement in education, there is an on-going debate on the appropriate balance and nature of their involvement, especially beyond children's early years. PISA

results show that, for adolescents, even seemingly innocuous activities, like sharing a family meal or just talking together, are strongly associated with student performance and well-being.

#### 6. Delaying the age at selection into different education programmes

Early tracking is negatively associated with socio-economic fairness, and is related to the concentration of advantaged/disadvantaged students in schools

PISA 2022 results consistently show that in systems where students are selected into different curricular programmes at an earlier age, there is a stronger association between students' socio-economic profile and their performance (Table II.B1.4.31).

The earlier students are selected into different academic programmes, the greater the isolation of advantaged and disadvantaged students in the education system (Figures II.4.16 and II.4.17). The measures of concentration of advantaged and disadvantaged students in schools gauge the opportunities for social interaction between different groups of students in a school. This is important because classmates and schoolmates can have a strong influence on one another (i.e. peer effects) – for better and for worse. They can motivate each other and help each other overcome learning difficulties; but they can also disrupt instruction, require disproportionate attention from teachers, and be a source of anxiety.

PISA results show that early tracking, the concentration of advantaged and disadvantaged students in schools, and socio-economic fairness in mathematics are related. Although PISA data cannot determine how they are related, they provide insights into some aspects that countries may wish to consider as they aim to provide learning opportunities for all students. It may be worth exploring whether the undesirable consequences of early tracking can be mitigated by: keeping the concentration of advantaged and disadvantaged students in schools at reasonable levels and minimising its impact on student learning; removing the social stigma associated with certain tracks; implementing challenging and rich curricula in all programmes and ensuring they are adequately supported and resourced; introducing flexibility into the system so that students can transfer easily between programmes; and offering pathways to higher education to all students.

#### 7. Providing additional support to struggling students instead of requiring them to repeat a grade

Education systems with more grade repetition tend to show lower average performance in mathematics.

In the group of high-performing and equitable systems, comparatively few students had repeated a grade (Table II.4.2). Across OECD countries, the greater the proportion of grade repeaters in an education system, the lower the average mathematics performance and the stronger the relationship between students' socio-economic profile and their performance in mathematics (Table II.81.4.31).

#### Teachers in education systems with automatic grade promotion provide greater support to students.

Students in education systems with automatic grade promotion were more likely than students in education systems without automatic grade promotion to report that their mathematics teachers are supportive, and that they have good relationships with their teachers (when considering the latter, the difference is significant only when comparing OECD countries) (Figure II.4.9).

Greater efforts are needed to ensure that students receive necessary and relevant support from their teachers.

PISA 2022 results suggest that further efforts are needed to ensure that students receive necessary and relevant support from teachers. In half of all countries/economies and on average across OECD countries, teacher support

deteriorated between 2012 and 2022 (Table II.B1.3.4). For instance, the share of students who reported that their teacher gives extra help when students need it in most or every lesson decreased by three percentage points over the period. In 2022, around 70% of students reported that their teacher gives extra help when students need it and, in every or most lessons, continues teaching until students understand, on average across OECD countries; 30% of students reported that their teacher II.B1.3.1).

#### Attendance at pre-primary school seems to reduce the likelihood of repeating a grade later on.

While the cross-sectional nature of PISA data cannot establish causality, PISA 2022 results clearly show that, on average across OECD countries and in a majority of education systems, students who had attended pre-primary school for at least one year were considerably less likely to have repeated a grade at any education level than students who had never attended pre-primary school or who had attended for less than a year, even after accounting for socio-economic factors (Figure II.4.5).

The education systems with the strongest negative association between attendance at pre-primary school and grade repetition were Denmark, Greece, Iceland, Israel, Malaysia, Chinese Taipei, Thailand, Singapore and Sweden; the only education system with a positive association was North Macedonia. In Thailand, 15-year-old students who had not attended pre-primary school, or had done so for less than one year, were about 5 times more likely to have repeated a grade than students who had attended for one year or longer.

### 8. Ensuring adequate, high-quality education staff and material

#### Principals were more concerned about the shortage of education staff in 2022 than in 2018.

PISA results show that between 2018 and 2022, in more than half of all education systems school principals in 2022 were more likely than their counterparts in 2018 to report that instruction was hindered, to some extent or a lot, by inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff. This was particularly evident in education systems that saw the proportion of full-time teachers shrink over the period. Yet PISA results also show that between 2018 and 2022, student-teacher ratios and class size decreased slightly, on average across OECD countries, or remained stable in most countries/economies.

It is important for education systems to examine why principals in 2022 perceived a greater shortage of teachers when the number of teachers per student had not necessarily decreased. Other notions or phenomena might be feeding this perception, such as teacher absenteeism, the idea that teachers are not sufficiently qualified, or even changes in the role of teachers, which can, in turn, affect expectations and thus alter the standards against which teacher performance is measured.

By contrast, school principals in 2022 were less likely than their counterparts in 2018 to report a shortage of educational material. However, within education systems the availability of educational material varied across schools.

# Education systems need to provide adequate and high-quality educational material and digital devices, and develop guidelines for their use.

PISA 2022 results show that socio-economically disadvantaged schools were more likely than advantaged schools to suffer from shortages of material resources, on average across OECD countries and in 47 education systems (Figure II.5.7). On average across OECD countries and in 41 education systems, advantaged schools were more likely than disadvantaged schools to suffer from a lack of or poor-quality digital resources (Figure II.5.6).

Within each education system, it is important to ensure that all schools, regardless of their socio-economic profile, enjoy adequate and quality educational material and digital resources.

#### 9. Establishing schools as hubs for social interaction

PISA 2022 results show that schools can serve as hubs not only for students' learning but also for their well-being.

In high-performing education systems, schools tend to provide a room where students can do their homework, and school staff offer help with homework (Table II.B1.5.102). This relationship is observed both across OECD countries, and across all countries/economies, even after accounting for per capita GDP. A similar relationship is observed within education systems as well. Students in schools that provide a room to do homework scored 13 points higher in mathematics than students in schools that do not provide such a room, on average across OECD countries. After accounting for students' and schools' socio-economic profile the improvement is smaller (three points), but still significant (Table II.B1.5.87).

Across OECD countries, an increase in the availability of peer-to-peer tutoring is associated with an increase in students' sense of belonging at school. In education systems where more students in 2022 than in 2018 attended schools that offer peer-to-peer tutoring, students' sense of belonging at school strengthened during the period (Table II.B1.5.104).

These results highlight the importance of social interaction for student learning and well-being. Collaboration or cooperation, the key component of teamwork, can be incorporated into curricula to facilitate learning. For example, more than half of the curriculum in Estonia, Kazakhstan and Korea involves collaborative learning (OECD, 2021[7]).

#### 10. Combining school autonomy with quality-assurance mechanisms

Understanding the conditions under which greater school autonomy works in the interests of students is critical for education policy making.

PISA data show that the greater the autonomy granted to schools in an education system, the higher the average mathematics performance; and this is most evident when education authorities and schools had certain quality-assurance mechanisms in place (Figure II.6.1). More specifically, the quality-assurance mechanisms that appear to ensure that greater school autonomy is associated with better academic performance across PISA-participating countries/economies are (in descending order of importance): teacher mentoring arrangements; monitoring teacher practice by having inspectors observe classes; schools' systematic recording of students' test results and graduation rates; internal or self-evaluations; tracking achievement data by an administrative authority; and using mandatory standardised tests at least once a year.

#### References

Burns, T. and F. Gottschalk (eds.) (2020), <i>Education in the Digital Age: Healthy and Happy Children</i> , Educational Research and Innovation, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/1209166a-en</u> .	[6]
Finnish National Agency for Education (2023), <i>School meals in Finland</i> , <u>https://www.oph.fi/en/education-and-qualifications/school-meals-finland</u> (accessed on 20 October 2023).	[3]
Ireland Department of Social Protection (2022), <i>Evaluation of the School Meals Programme</i> , <u>https://www.gov.ie/pdf/?file=https://assets.gov.ie/251427/6b3e8499-4cca-4f32-aa7d- cbcad0b660e2.pdf#page=null</u> .	[4]

## 260 |

- Ministry of Education, Singapore (2022), *Student-Initiated Learning*, <u>https://www.moe.gov.sg/news/parliamentary-replies/20221004-student-initiated-learning</u> (accessed on 16 October 2023).
- Ministry of Education, Singapore (2020), *Blended Learning to Enhance Schooling Experience and Further Develop Students into Self-Directed Learners*, <u>https://www.moe.gov.sg/news/press-releases/20201229-blended-learning-to-enhance-schooling-experience-and-further-develop-students-into-self-directed-learners</u> (accessed on 16 October 2023).
- OECD (2021), *Embedding Values and Attitudes in Curriculum: Shaping a Better Future*, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/aee2adcd-en</u>. <sup>[7]</sup>
- OECD (2021), *Education Policy Outlook 2021: Shaping Responsive and Resilient Education in a Changing World*, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/75e40a16-en</u>. <sup>[5]</sup>

[2]

# **Annex A1. Construction of indices**

#### **Explanation of the indices**

This section explains the indices derived from the PISA 2022 student, school, well-being and Information and Communication Technology (ICT) familiarity questionnaires used in this volume. Several PISA measures reflect indices that summarise responses from students or school representatives (typically principals) to a series of related questions. The questions were selected from a larger pool on the basis of theoretical considerations and previous research. The PISA 2022 Assessment and Analytical Framework (OECD, 2023<sub>[1]</sub>) provides an in-depth description of this conceptual framework. Item response theory (IRT) modelling and classical test theory were used to test the theoretically expected behaviour of the indices and to validate their comparability across countries. For a detailed description of the methods, see the section "Statistical criteria for reporting on scaled indices" in this chapter, and the *PISA 2022 Technical Report* (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[2]</sub>).

This volume uses four types of indices: simple indices, complex composite indices, new scale indices and trend scale indices. In addition to these indices, several single items of the questionnaires are used in this volume. The volume also uses data collected on students' performance in mathematics, reading and science. These assessments are described in the *PISA 2022 Assessment and Analytical Framework* (OECD, 2023[1]), the *PISA 2022 Technical Report* (OECD, forthcoming[2]) and in Volume I of *PISA 2022 Results* (OECD, forthcoming[3]).

**Simple indices** are constructed through the arithmetic transformation or recoding of one or more items in the same way across assessments. Here, item responses are used to calculate meaningful indices, such as the recoding of the four-digit ISCO-08 codes into "Highest parents' socio-economic index (HISEI)" or teacher-student ratio based on information from the school questionnaire.

**Complex composite indices** are based on a combination of two or more indices. The PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS) is a composite score derived from three indicators related to family background.

**Scale indices** are constructed by scaling multiple items. Unless otherwise indicated, the two-parameter logistic model (2PLM) (Birnbaum, 1968<sub>[4]</sub>) was used to scale items with only two response categories (i.e. dichotomous items), while the generalised partial credit model (GPCM) (Muraki, 1992<sub>[5]</sub>) was used to scale items with more than two response categories (i.e. polytomous items).<sup>1</sup> Values of the index correspond to standardised Warm likelihood estimates (WLE) (Warm, 1989<sub>[6]</sub>).

For details on how each scale index was constructed, see the *PISA 2022 Technical Report* (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[2]</sub>). In general, the scaling was done in two stages:

- 1. The item parameters were estimated based on all students from approximately equally weighted countries and economies;<sup>2</sup> only cases with a minimum number of three valid responses to items that are part of the index were included. For the trend scales, the scaling process began by fixing the item parameters of the trend items to the parameters that had been estimated for each group in the previous assessment, a procedure called fixed parameter linking. To compute trends, a scale needed to have at least three trend items, but some trend scales consisted of both trend items and new items. In this case, the item parameters for the trend items were fixed at the beginning of the scaling process, but the item parameters for the new items were estimated using the PISA 2022 data.
- 2. For new scale indices, the Warm likelihood estimates were then standardised so that the mean of the index value for the OECD student population was zero and the standard deviation was one (countries were given

approximately equal weight in the standardisation process2). For the trend scales, to ensure the comparability of the scale scores from the current assessment to the scale scores from the previous assessment, the original WLEs of PISA 2022 were transformed using the same transformation constants of the original WLEs from the assessment to which the current assessment was linked.

Sequential codes were assigned to the different response categories of the questions in the sequence in which the latter appeared in the student, school, ICT or well-being questionnaire. For reversed items, these codes were inverted for the purpose of constructing indices or scales.

Negative values for an index do not necessarily imply that respondents answered negatively to the underlying questions (e.g. reporting no support from teachers or no school safety risks). A negative value merely indicates that a respondent answered more negatively than other respondents did on average across OECD countries. Likewise, a positive value on an index indicates that a respondent answered more favourably, or more positively, on average, than other respondents in OECD countries did (e.g. reporting more support from teachers or more school safety risks).

Some terms in the questionnaires were replaced in the national versions of the student, school, ICT or well-being questionnaire by the appropriate national equivalent (marked through brackets < > in the international versions of the questionnaires). For example, the term < qualification at ISCED level 5A > was adapted in the United States\* to "Bachelor's degree, post-graduate certificate program, Master's degree program or first professional degree program". All the context questionnaires, including information on nationally adapted terms, and the PISA international database, including all variables, are available through www.oecd.org/pisa.

## Statistical criteria for reporting on scaled indices

The internal consistency of scaled indices and the invariance of item parameters are the two approaches that were used to decide on the reporting of indices. All indices reported in this volume met the criteria of both approaches. Indices were omitted for countries and economies where one or more of the criteria were not met. For countries/economies with more than one language version (e.g. Finland offered versions of the student questionnaire in Finnish and Swedish), the criteria were judged independently for each language version.<sup>3</sup> Details about the scaling procedures and the construct validation of all context questionnaire data are provided in the *PISA 2022 Technical Report* (OECD, 2023<sup>[1]</sup>).

#### Internal consistency of scaled indices

The internal consistency was used in PISA 2022 to examine the reliability of scaled indices and as a criterion for reporting. Internal consistency refers to the extent to which the items that make up an index are inter-related. Cronbach's Alpha was used to check the internal consistency of each scale within countries/economies and to compare it across countries/economies. The coefficient of Cronbach's Alpha ranges from 0 to 1, with higher values indicating higher internal consistency. Similar and high values across countries/economies indicate reliable measures across countries/economies. Commonly accepted cut-off values are 0.9 for excellent, 0.8 for good, and 0.7 for acceptable internal consistency. Indices are not reported for countries and economies with values below 0.6.

#### Cross-country comparability of scaled indices

The invariance of item parameters was used in PISA 2022 to examine the cross-country comparability of scaled indices and as a criterion for reporting. It determined whether the item parameters of an index could be assumed to be the same or invariant across countries/economies and across language versions (international item parameter).

In a first step, item parameters were estimated using data from all individuals with available data from all countries/economies. In a second step, the fit of the international parameters for each item was evaluated for each country/economy and language version using the root mean square deviance (RMSD). Values close to zero signal

a good item fit, indicating that the international model accurately describes student responses within countries/economies and across language versions. In 2022 PISA used an even more conservative approach than in previous assessments: any country/economy and language version that received a value above 0.25 was flagged. In 2018 and 2015, a cut-off of 0.3 was used. For any flagged item specific parameters were calculated. Steps were repeated until all items exhibited RMSD values below 0.25.

For each index, a country/economy needed to have at least three items with international parameters to be considered comparable to the results of other countries/economies and language versions. Indices are not reported for countries/economies in which one or more language version had fewer than three items with international parameters. For the reporting on trends for indices, a country/economy needed to have at least three trend items with international parameters in order to be considered comparable to the results of the previous assessment to which the current assessment was linked. Results for the trends of indices were not reported for countries/economies in which one or more language groups had fewer than three trend items with international parameters for the index.

The different indices used in this volume are described in the following sections. Those countries/economies and language versions that received specific item parameters are highlighted. The *PISA 2022 Technical Report* (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[2]</sub>) provides more details on the cross-country comparability of indices, including the items concerned and the specific item parameters for each country/economy and language version listed.

### **Complex composite indices**

#### The PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS)

The PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS) is a composite score derived, as in previous assessments, from three indicators related to family background: parents' highest education, in years (PAREDINT), parents' highest occupational status (HISEI) and home possessions (HOMEPOS).

Parents' highest level of education, in years (PAREDINT): The index of the highest education of parents, in years, was based on the median cumulative years of education associated with completion of the highest level of education attained by parents (HISCED). Parents' highest level of education was derived from students' responses to questions about their parents' education (ST005 and ST006 for mother's level of education, and ST007 and ST008 for father's level of education). Responses were classified according to ISCED-11 (UNESCO, 2012[7]) using the following categories: (1) Less than ISCED Level 1, (2) ISCED level 1 (primary education), (3) ISCED level 2 (lower secondary), (4) ISCED level 3.3 (upper secondary education with no direct access to tertiary education), (5) ISCED level 3.4 (upper secondary education with direct access to tertiary education), (6) ISCED level 4 (post-secondary non-tertiary), (7) ISCED level 5 (short-cycle tertiary education [at least two years]), (8) ISCED level 6 (Bachelor's or equivalent first or long first-degree programme [three to more than four years]), (9) ISCED level 7 (Master's or equivalent long firstdegree programme [at least five years]) and (10) ISCED level 8 (Doctoral or equivalent level). In the event that students' responses to the two questions about their mothers' and fathers' level of education conflicted (e.g. if a student indicated in ST006 that their mother has a postsecondary gualification but indicated in ST005 that their mother had not completed lower secondary education), the higher education level provided by the student was used. This differs from the PISA 2018 procedure where the lower level was used. Indices with these categories were provided for a student's mother (MISCED) and father (FISCED). In addition, the index of parents' highest level of education (HISCED) corresponded to the higher ISCED level of either parent.

The index of parents' highest level of education was recoded into the estimated number of years of education (PAREDINT). This international conversion was determined by using the PISA 2018 measure of cumulative years of education associated with parents' completion of the highest level of education across countries/economies for each ISCED level. The correspondence is available in the *PISA 2022 Technical Report* (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[2]</sub>).

**Parents' highest occupational status (HISEI):** Occupational data for both the student's father and the student's mother were obtained from responses to open-ended questions (ST014 and ST015). The responses were coded to four-digit ISCO codes (ILO, 2007) and then mapped to the international socio-economic index of occupational status

## **264** |

(ISEI) using the 2008 version of both (Ganzeboom and Treiman, 2003[8]). Three indices were calculated based on this information: father's occupational status (BFMJ2); mother's occupational status (BMMJ1); and the highest occupational status of parents (HISEI), which corresponds to the higher ISEI score of either parent or to the only available parent's ISEI score. For all three indices, higher ISEI scores indicate higher levels of occupational status.

**Home possessions (HOMEPOS)**: Home possessions were used as a proxy measure for family wealth. In PISA 2022, students reported the availability of household items at home, including books at home and country-specific household items that were seen as appropriate measures of family wealth in the country's context. HOMEPOS is a summary index of all household and possession items (ST250, ST251, ST253, ST254, ST255, ST256). Some HOMEPOS items used in PISA 2018 were removed in PISA 2022 while new ones were added (e.g. new items developed specifically with low-income countries in mind). Furthermore, some HOMEPOS that were previously dichotomous (yes/no) items were revised to polytomous items (1, 2, 3, etc.) making it possible to capture a greater variation in responses. Note that all countries/economies and language versions received unique item parameters for the country/economy-specific items (i.e. no international parameters were estimated for these items) and that for some items, the response categories were collapsed to align with the response categories used in previous assessments (see Tables 19.15 and 19.16 of the *PISA 2022 Technical Report* (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[2]</sub>) for details).

For the purpose of computing the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS), values for students with missing data on one of the three components (PAREDIND, HISEI or HOMEPOS) were imputed (see (OECD,  $2020_{[9]}$ ; Avvisati,  $2020_{[10]}$ ; OECD, forthcoming<sub>[2]</sub>) for details). If students had missing data for more than one component, the ESCS was not computed; a missing value was assigned instead. In PISA 2022, ESCS was computed by attributing equal weight to the three components. The final ESCS variable is standardised, so that 0 is the score of an average OECD student and 1 is the standard deviation across approximately equally weighted OECD countries.<sup>2</sup>

ESCS scores for PISA 2012, PISA 2015 and PISA 2018 were recomputed to be comparable to the respective scores for PISA 2022. More details are provided in the *PISA 2022 Technical Report* (OECD, forthcoming<sub>[2]</sub>).

#### Time in regular lessons

Time in regular lessons per week was calculated by combining answers from the student (ST059) and school principal (SC175) questionnaires. Students reported the number of class periods they are required to attend in all subjects per week, and school principals reported the average number of minutes per class period attended by students in the national modal grade for 15-year-olds. Time in regular lessons per week was obtained by multiplying the number of class periods by the average number of minutes per class period. This combination may create some noise induced by the potential misreporting or misunderstanding of the definition of a class period, either by students or school principals.

## Simple indices

#### Availability of computers and tablets

School principals were asked to report the number of computers and tablet devices available at school (SC004). The index of availability of computers (RATCMP1) is the ratio of computers available to 15-year-olds for educational purposes to the total number of students in the modal grade for 15-year-olds (SC004Q01TA). The index of availability of tablet devices (RATTAB) is the ratio of tablet devices available to 15-year-olds for educational purposes to the total number of students in the modal grade for 15-year-olds. School principals answered similar questions about the number of computers available to 15-year-olds at school for educational purposes in 2012, 2015 and 2018.

#### Class size

Principals were asked about the average size of test language (SC003) and mathematics classes (SC176) in their school. The nine response categories were "15 students or fewer", "16-20 students", "21-25 students", "26-30 students", "31-35 students", "36-40 students", "41-45 students", "46-50 students", and "More than 50 students". The average class size (CLSIZE in test language and MCLSIZE in mathematics) was derived from the midpoint of each response category, resulting in a value of 13 for the lowest category, and a value of 53 for the highest.

#### Concentration of immigrant students in schools

Schools were divided into having a high or low concentration of immigrant students according to the percentage of students with an immigrant background (IMMIG). A school with a low (high) concentration of immigrant students is a school where less than (at least) 10% of 15-year-old students have an immigrant background.

#### Duration of time spent in early childhood education and care

Questions ST125 and ST126 measure the starting age in ISCED 1 and ISCED 0. The indicator DURECEC is built as the difference of ST126 and ST125 plus the value of "2" to indicate the number of years a student spent in early childhood education and care.

#### **Education level**

PISA collects data on study programmes available to 15-year-old students in each country/economy. This information is obtained through the student tracking form and the Student Questionnaire (ST002). All study programmes were classified using the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED 1997). From this information, a study programme level and orientation index (ISCEDP) was derived: a three-digit index that describes whether students were at the lower or upper secondary level (ISCED 2 or ISCED 3) and the type of programme in which they were enrolled. This index was used to classify students into those attending upper vs. lower secondary education programmes.

#### Expectation of a career in health and ICT

Students were asked to report on the kind of job that they expected to have at age 30 and to provide a job title or a description of this job (ST329). The responses were coded to four-digit ISCO-08 codes (OCOD3).

Based on these codes, students' expectations were classified into health- and ICT-related careers:

- **Health professionals:** All health professionals in sub-major group 22 (e.g. doctors, nurses, veterinarians), with the exception of traditional and complementary medicine professionals (minor group 223).
- **ICT professionals:** All information and communications technology professionals (sub-major group 25).

#### Grade compared to modal grade

The relative grade index (GRADE) was computed to capture between-country/economy variation. It indicates whether students are in the country/economy's modal grade (value of 0), or the number of grades below or above the modal grade in the country. The information about students' grade level was obtained from school records from the student sampling data and validated by comparing students' responses in the Student Questionnaire (ST001). For the analysis in this volume, all grades different from the modal grade in the country/economy were coded as 1.

#### Grade repetition

Students' answers to question ST127 of whether and, if yes, how often they have ever repeated a grade at ISCED levels 1, 2, and 3 were combined into the index REPEAT. Each item included three response options ("No, never",

## 266 |

"Yes, once", "Yes, twice or more"). REPEAT took the value of "0" if the student never repeated a grade (student did not select options 2 or 3 for any of the three items) and the value of "1" if the student repeated a grade at least once (student selected options 2 or 3 for at least one of the three items). The index was assigned a missing value if none of the three response options were selected in any levels.

#### Immigrant background

Information on the country of birth of the students and their parents was collected from students (ST019). Three binary country-specific indices indicate whether the student (COBN\_S), mother (COBN\_M) and father (COBN\_F) were born in the country of assessment or elsewhere. The index on immigrant background (IMMIG) is calculated from these indices, and has the following categories: (1) native students (those students who had at least one parent born in the country of assessment); (2) second-generation students (those born in the country of assessment); (2) second-generation students (those born in the country of assessment but whose parent[s] were born in another country); and (3) first-generation students (those students born outside the country of assessment and whose parents were also born in another country). Students with missing responses for either the student or for both parents were given missing values for this variable.

#### Long-term student absenteeism from primary to upper secondary school

Question ST260 asked students if they had ever missed primary, lower or upper secondary school (ISCED 1, 2 or 3) for more than three consecutive months ("no, never", "yes, once", "yes, twice or more"). Students' answers were combined into the index of long-term student absenteeism at any education level (MISSSC). The index takes the value of 1 if a student answered "yes, once" or "yes, twice or more" at least once for any of the three education levels, and the value of 0 otherwise.

#### Quantity of teaching staff at school

Principals were asked to report the number of teachers fully certified by the appropriate authority (SC018Q02) as well as the total number of teachers at their school (TOTAT). The proportion of fully certified teachers (PROATCE) was computed by dividing the number of fully certified teachers by the total number of teachers.

#### **School location**

Using principals' answers to the question about the community in which their school is located (SC001), the locations of the schools were classified as either in a rural area or village (fewer than 3 000 inhabitants), in a town (3 000 to 100 000 inhabitants) or city (over 100 000 inhabitants).

#### School size

The index of school size (SCHSIZE) contains the total enrolment at a school. It is based on the enrolment data provided by the school principal, summing up the number of girls and boys at a school (SC002). This index was calculated in 2022 and in all previous assessments.

#### School type

For most of the analysis on school type, schools were classified as either public or private, according to principals' answers to question SC013 (whether the school is public or private).

A more detailed analysis was conducted for Chapter 6, which focuses on school governance, based on a classification that also took into account principals' answers to question SC016, which focused on the source of resources. The index SCHLTYPE indicates whether a private entity or a public agency has the ultimate power to make decisions concerning its affairs. Public schools are managed directly or indirectly by a public education authority, government agency or governing board appointed by a government or elected by public franchise. Private

schools are managed directly or indirectly by a non-governmental organisation, such as a church, trade union, business or other private institution. Schools were classified into the following three categories:

- **Private independent:** If school principals answered that their school is "a private school" and that less than half of the total funding for a typical school year comes from the government or more than half of it comes from student fees or school charges paid by parents or guardians, benefactors, donations, bequests, sponsorships, parent or guardian fundraising or other sources
- **Private government-dependent:** If school principals answered that their school is "a private school" and that more than half of the total funding for a typical school year comes from the government
- **Public:** If school principals answered that their school is "a public school".

In some countries and economies, such as Ireland,\* the information from SC013 was combined with administrative data to determine whether the school is privately or publicly managed. In the United Kingdom\* (excluding Scotland), the school type was derived exclusively from the national adaptation of question SC013, which included three categories: "Your school is maintained via the Local Authority (in England and Wales) or grant-aided (in Northern Ireland\*) (for example, community school, voluntary controlled school, foundation school)"; "Your school is maintained by central government (for example, city technology college, academy, free school)"; and "Your school is an independent school".

Since PISA 2018, sampling information (PRIVATESCH) has been used to improve the public/private indicators. If question SC013 is missing, information from PRIVATESCH is used to create SCHLTYPE. As in 2018, Ireland\* had special treatment for this designation, based solely on the stratum.

#### School responsibility for curriculum

Question SC202 asked principals about who had the main responsibility for various decisions or activities at their school. The six response categories for this question were "Principal", "Teachers or members of school management team", "School governing board", "Local or municipal authority", "Regional or state authority", and "National or federal authority". An index of the relative level of responsibility of school staff in deciding issues related to curriculum and assessment (RESPCUR) was computed from the principals' reports regarding who had the main responsibility for four items in SC202. The index was calculated on the basis of the ratio of responses for "Principal", "Teachers or members of school management team", or "School governing board", on the one hand, to responses for "Local or municipal authority", or "National or federal authority", on the other hand.

In the first step, a measure for school responsibility was calculated by counting the number of "Principal", "Teachers or members of school management team", and "School governing board" responses. In the second step, a measure for non-school responsibility was calculated by counting the number of "Local or municipal authority", "Regional or state authority", and "National or federal authority". In the third step, the school responsibility measure was divided by the non-school responsibility measure. To avoid dividing by "0", "1" was added to both the numerator and denominator; when the ratio of school responsibility to non-school responsibility was 4:0, an index value of 4 was assigned. Higher values indicated relatively higher levels of school responsibility in deciding issues related to curriculum and assessment.

#### School responsibility for resources

Question SC202 asked principals about who had the main responsibility for various decisions or activities at their school. The six response categories for this question were "Principal", "Teachers or members of school management team", "School governing board", "Local or municipal authority", "Regional or state authority", and "National or federal authority". An index of the relative level of responsibility of school staff in deciding issues related to allocating resources (RESPRES) was computed from the principals' reports regarding who had the main responsibility for six items in SC202. The index was calculated on the basis of the ratio of responses for "Principal", "Teachers or members of school management team", or "School governing board", on the one hand, to responses for "Local or municipal authority", "Regional or state authority", or "National or federal authority", on the other hand.

## **268** |

In the first step, a measure for school responsibility was calculated by counting the number of "Principal", "Teachers or members of school management team", and "School governing board" responses. In the second step, a measure for non-school responsibility was calculated by counting the number of "Local or municipal authority", "Regional or state authority", and "National or federal authority". In the third step, the school responsibility measure was divided by the non-school responsibility measure. To avoid dividing by "0", "1" was added to both the numerator and denominator; when the ratio of school responsibility to non-school responsibility was 6:0, an index value of 6 was assigned. Higher values on the scale indicated relatively higher levels of school responsibility in this area.

#### School selectivity

Question SC012 asked principals about admissions policies at their school, including student academic performance and recommendation by feeder schools. The three response categories for this question were "Never", "Sometimes", and "Always". An index of academic school selectivity (SCHSEL) was computed by assigning schools to one of three categories based on how often two factors, namely "Student's record of academic performance" (SC012Q01TA) and "Recommendation of feeder schools" (SC012Q02TA), were considered when admitting students to the school as follows:

- 1. The two factors (student's record of academic performance and recommendation of feeder schools) were never considered (if SC012Q01TA=1 and SC012Q02TA=1)
- 2. At least one of the factors was considered sometimes but neither was always considered (if SC012Q01TA=2 or SC012Q02TA=2, and if SC012Q01TA3 and SC012Q02TA3)
- 3. At least one of the factors was always considered (if SC012Q01TA=3 or SC012Q02TA=3).

#### Socio-economic profile of the school

The average PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS) of a school was used as an indicator of the socio-economic profile of a school. To define advantaged and disadvantaged schools, all schools in each PISA-participating education system are ranked according to their average PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS) and then divided into four groups with approximately an equal number of students (quarters). Schools in the bottom quarter are referred to as "socio-economically disadvantaged schools"; and schools in the top quarter are referred to as "socio-economically advantaged schools".

#### Student-teacher ratio

The student-teacher ratio (STRATIO) was obtained by dividing the number of enrolled students (SC002) by the total number of teachers (TOTAT) provided by the school principals.

#### Student truancy and lateness

PISA measured student truancy and lateness by asking students to report the number of times ("never", "one or two times", "three or four times", "five or more times") they had skipped a whole day of school (ST062Q01TA), had skipped some classes (ST062Q02TA) and had arrived late (ST062Q03TA) for school during the two full weeks of school prior to the assessment.

Two additional indicators of student truancy (SKIPPING) and lateness (TARDYSD) were constructed that take a value of 0 if students reported that they had not skipped any class or whole day of school or had never arrived late for school in the two weeks prior to the PISA assessment. The index of student truancy (SKIPPING) takes a value of 1 if students reported that they had skipped classes or days of school at least once in the same period. The index of student lateness (TARDYSD) takes a value of 1 for occasional late arrivals if students reported that they had arrived late for school one or two times, and 2 for frequent late arrivals if students reported they had arrived late for school three or more times in the same period.

#### Study programme level and orientation

PISA collects data on study programmes available to 15-year-old students in each country/economy. This information is obtained through the student tracking form and the Student Questionnaire (ST002). In the final database, all national programmes (PROGN) are included where the first six digits represent the National Centre code, and the last two digits are the nationally specific programme code. All study programmes were classified using the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED 1997).

The study programme level and orientation index (ISCEDP) is a three-digit index that describes whether students were at the lower or upper secondary level and (ISCED 2 or ISCED 3) and whether their programmes were general or vocational and sufficient for level completion with direct access to tertiary or post-secondary non-tertiary education.

#### Time spent on homework

A measure of time spent on homework in all subjects was derived from students' reports on the time they spend on homework in a typical school week (ST296Q04): "up to 30 minutes a day", "more than 30 minutes and up to 1 hour a day", etc., and "more than 4 hours a day". The average time spent on homework was converted to a continuous variable by taking the midpoint of each time interval and using 4.5 hours if the answer was "more than 4 hours".

#### Time spent on digital devices for learning or leisure at school

The measure of time spent on digital devices was based on students' reports on the number of hours they usually spend on digital devices per day during the current school year for learning (ST326Q01) or leisure (ST326Q04): "none", "up to 1 hour", "more than 1 hour and up to 2 hours", etc., and "more than 7 hours". The average time spent on digital devices was converted to a continuous variable by taking the midpoint of each time interval and using 7.5 hours if the answer was "more than 7 hours".

#### **Trend scale indices**

#### Disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons

Students were asked how often ("never or hardly ever", "some lessons", "most lessons", "every lesson") certain things happen in their mathematics classes (e.g. "Students do not listen to what the teacher says" and "There is noise and disorder"). The seven statements of question ST273 were combined to create the index of disciplinary climate (DISCLIM) with an average of zero and a standard deviation of one across OECD countries. Positive values on the index mean that the student reported a better disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons than did students on average across OECD countries. In 2012 students responded to similar statements about the disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons. One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Brunei Darussalam (English), Cambodia (Khmer), Estonia (Russian), Guatemala (Spanish), Japan (Japanese), Jordan (Arabic), Latvia\* (Russian), Macao (China) (Chinese, Portuguese), Malta (English), the Palestinian Authority (Arabic, English), Qatar (Arabic), Slovenia (Slovenian-ISCED2), Türkiye (Turkish) and Viet Nam (Vietnamese).

#### Exposure to bullying

Students answered a question (ST038) on how often ("never or almost never", "a few times a year", "a few times a month", "once a week or more") during the 12 months prior to the PISA test they had the following experiences in school (the question clarified that "some experiences can also happen in social media"): "Other students left me out of things on purpose" (relational bullying); "Other students made fun of me" (verbal bullying); "I was threatened by other students" (verbal bullying); "Other students took away or destroyed things that belong to me" (extortion bullying); "I got hit or pushed around by other students" (physical bullying); "Other students spread nasty rumours about me" (relational bullying); "I was in a physical fight on school property" (physical bullying); "I stayed home from school

because I felt unsafe" (any type of bullying); "I gave money to someone at school because they threatened me" (extortion bullying). The nine statements were combined into a single index of exposure to bulling (BULLIED) with an average value of zero and a standard deviation of one across OECD countries. Positive values in the index indicate that the student is more exposed to bullying at school than are students on average across OECD countries.

The additional indicator, "frequently bullied students", was constructed. All students across all PISA-participating education systems were ranked according to their value in the index of exposure to bullying (BULLIED). Then, the sample of students was divided into ten subsamples with approximately equal numbers of students (deciles). Students in the top 10% student sample of the index of exposure to bullying across all countries/economies were considered as frequently bullied students.

Since students who participated in PISA 2015 and PISA 2018 provided answers to some of the questions concerning exposure to bullying, PISA 2022 can show changes in school bullying using comparable data across countries/economies. Three items were not distributed, their item parameters could not be estimated or the responses for the items were suppressed in Australia\* (English).

#### Mathematics anxiety

The index of mathematics anxiety (ANXMAT) was constructed using the six student responses to question ST345. This question asked students how much they agree ("strongly agreed", "agreed", "disagreed" or "strongly disagreed") with six statements about their feelings when studying mathematics (e.g. "I often worry that it will be difficult for me in mathematics classes"; "I get very tense when I have to do mathematics homework"). Positive values in this index mean that students reported greater anxiety towards mathematics than did students on average across OECD countries.

One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Baku (Azerbaijan) (Azeri, Russian), Brazil (Portuguese), Cambodia (Khmer), the Czech Republic (Czech), Georgia (Georgian, Azerbaijani, Russian), Kazakhstan (Kazakh, Russian), Malaysia (Malay), the Republic of Moldova (Russian), Mongolia (Mongolian, Kazakh), the Slovak Republic (Slovak, Hungarian), Ukraine (Ukrainian, Russian) and Uzbekistan (Uzbek, Karakalpak).

#### School resources

As in PISA 2015 and 2018, PISA 2022 included a guestion (SC017) about school resources, measuring school principals' perceptions of potential factors hindering instruction at school ("Is your school's capacity to provide instruction hindered by any of the following issues?"). The four response categories were: "not at all", "very little", "to some extent", "a lot". Two new items on digital resources were added in 2022 but were not included in indices. To be comparable to the data collected in PISA 2015 and 2018, the index of staff shortage (STAFFSHORT) was derived from the first four out of ten items: a lack of teaching staff; inadequate or poorly gualified teaching staff; a lack of assisting staff; inadequate or poorly qualified assisting staff. The index of educational material shortage (EDUSHORT) was derived from the second set of four items: a lack of educational material; inadequate or poorquality educational material; a lack of physical infrastructure; inadequate or poor-quality physical infrastructure. Positive values in this index mean that principals viewed the amount and/or quality of the human or educational resources in their schools as an obstacle to providing instruction to a greater extent than did principals on average across OECD countries. One or more items from the scale STAFFSHORT received specific item parameters for Australia\* (English), Austria (German), Cambodia (Khmer), the Dominican Republic (Spanish), Germany (German), Greece (Greek), Hungary (Hungarian), Indonesia (Indonesian), Ireland\* (English, Irish), Kazakhstan (Russian), Latvia\* (Latvia\*n), the Palestinian Authority (Arabic), Paraguay (Spanish), Poland (Polish), Spain (Spanish, Galician, Basque, Valencian), Switzerland (German, French, Italian) and the United States\* (English). One or more items from the scale EDUSHORT received specific item parameters for Baku (Azerbaijan) (Azeri), Canada\* (English), El Salvador (Spanish), Guatemala (Spanish), Latvia\* (Latvia\*n), Macao (China) (English), Montenegro (Montenegrin), Chinese Taipei (Chinese) and Viet Nam (Vietnamese).

#### Sense of belonging at school

The index of sense of belonging at school (BELONG) was constructed using students' responses to the trend question ST034. Students were asked whether they agree ("strongly disagree", "disagree", "agree", "strongly agree") with six school-related statements (e.g. "I make friends easily at school", "Other students seem to like me", "I feel lonely at school"). These statements were combined into an overall index of sense of belonging at school whose averages are zero and standard deviations are one across OECD countries. Positive values on this scale mean that a student reported a stronger sense of belonging at school than did students on average across OECD countries.

Students' sense of belonging at school has been assessed since 2012, but as the scale was revised for PISA 2015, only data collected in 2015 and 2018 are comparable to the data collected in 2022. One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Belgium (French), France (French), Georgia (Georgian, Azerbaijani, Russian), Guatemala (Spanish), Paraguay (Spanish), Romania (Romanian, Hungarian), Switzerland (French), Uruguay (Spanish) and Viet Nam (Vietnamese).

#### Teacher support in mathematics

Students were asked how often ("never or hardly ever", "some lessons", "most lessons", "every lesson") certain things happen in their mathematics classes (e.g. "The teacher shows an interest in every student's learning"; "The teacher gives extra help when students need it"). The four statements of question ST270 were combined to create an index of teacher support (TEACHSUP) with an average of zero and a standard deviation of one across OECD countries. Positive values on the indices mean that the student reported more frequent teacher support in mathematics lessons than did students on average across OECD countries.

In 2012 students answered similar statements about teacher support and disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons. One item from the scale received specific item parameters for Hong Kong\* (China) (Chinese).

## New scale indices

#### Confidence in the capacity for self-directed learning

Students were asked how confident ("not at all confident", "not very confident", "confident", "very confident") they are about different aspects related to self-directed learning (e.g. "Finding learning resources on line on my own"; "Planning when to do schoolwork on my own") if their school building closed again in the future. Students' responses to the eight statements (ST355) were combined into an index (SDLEFF) whose average is zero and standard deviation is one across OECD countries.<sup>4</sup> Positive values in the index indicate that the student felt more confident than did students on average across OECD countries.

One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Cambodia (Khmer), Indonesia (Indonesian), Kazakhstan (Kazakh), Mongolia (Mongolian, Kazakh), Montenegro (Montenegrin, Albanian), the Philippines (English) and Thailand (Thai).

#### Educational leadership

Question SC201 asked principals about how often they or other members of their school management team engaged in activities or behaviours related to educational leadership during the previous 12 months (e.g. "Collaborating with teachers to solve classroom discipline problems", "Providing parents or guardians with information on the school and student performance"). The five response categories for the seven items in the scale on educational leadership (EDULEAD) were "never or almost never", "about once or twice a year", "about once or twice a month", "about once or twice a week", and "every day or almost every day". Positive values indicate more frequent engagement by the principal and school management team in educational leadership activities than on average across OECD countries,

# 272 |

while negative scale values indicate less frequent than the OECD average engagement by the principal and school management team in educational leadership activities.

One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Australia\* (English), Belgium (Dutch, French, German), Brazil (Portuguese), Bulgaria (Bulgarian), Cambodia (Khmer), Colombia (Spanish), Croatia (Croatian), the Czech Republic (Czech), Denmark\* (Danish), the Dominican Republic (Spanish), Estonia (Estonian), France (French), Georgia (Georgian, Azerbaijani, Russian), Germany (German), Greece (Greek), Guatemala (Spanish), Hungary (Hungarian), Indonesia (Indonesian), Ireland\* (English, Irish), Israel (Hebrew), Italy (Italian, German), Jordan (Arabic), Kazakhstan (Kazakh, Russian), Latvia\* (Latvian), Malaysia (Malay, English), Mexico (Spanish), the Republic of Moldova (Romanian, Russian), Mongolia (Mongolian), Morocco (Arabic), New Zealand\* (English), Norway (Bokmål), the Palestinian Authority (Arabic), Panama\* (Spanish, English), the Philippines (English), Poland (Polish), Portugal (Portuguese), Qatar (Arabic, English), Romania (Romanian), Saudi Arabia (Arabic, English), Singapore (English), the Slovak Republic (Slovak), Spain (Spanish, Catalan, Galician, Basque, Valencian), Sweden (Swedish), Chinese Taipei (Chinese), Thailand (Thai), United Arab Emirates (Arabic, English), the United Kingdom\* (English, Welsh), the United States\* (English), Uruguay (Spanish), Uzbekistan (Uzbek, Russian) and Viet Nam (Vietnamese).

#### Experience with learning at home

In question ST354 students rated their agreement ("strongly disagree", "disagree", "agree", "strongly agree") with positive statements (e.g. "I enjoyed learning by myself") and negative statements (e.g. "I felt lonely") related to their experience with learning at home (FEELLAH) while the school building was closed due to COVID-19. The six statements were combined into an index of experience with learning at home (FEELLAH) whose average is zero and standard deviations is one across OECD countries. Positive values on these indices mean that the student reported a more positive experience than did students on average across OECD countries.

#### Family support

Family support (FAMSUP) was measured by asking students, in question ST300, how often ("never or almost never", "about once or twice a year", "about once or twice a month", "about once or twice a week", "every day or almost every day") their parents or someone in their family do different things with them indicative of family support (e.g. "Discuss how well you are doing at school"; "Eat the main meal with you"; or "Spend time just talking with you"). An index of family support with an average of zero and a standard deviation one across OECD countries is formed by combining students' responses to ten scenarios. Students with positive values on this index perceived their family as more supportive than did students on average across OECD countries.

One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Albania (Albanian), Denmark\* (Danish), Estonia (Russian), Guatemala (Spanish), Hong Kong\* (China) (Chinese), Japan (Japanese), Macao (China) (Chinese, Portuguese), the Netherlands\* (Dutch), North Macedonia (Albanian), Poland (Polish), Qatar (Arabic), the Slovak Republic (Slovak, Hungarian) and Thailand (Thai).

#### Feeling safe at school

Question ST265 asked students if they agree ("strongly disagree", "disagree", "agree", "strongly agree") that they feel safe on their way to school, on their way home from school, in classrooms and at other places at school (e.g. in hallways and in the cafeteria). Answers to the four statements were used to build the index of feeling safe at school (FEELSAFE) with an average value of zero and a standard deviation of one across OECD countries. Positive values in the index indicate that the student reported feeling safer at and around school than did students on average across OECD countries.

#### Instructional leadership

Question SC201 asked principals about how often they or other members of their school management team engaged in activities or behaviours related to teaching or instructional leadership during the previous 12 months (e.g. "Providing feedback to teachers based on observations of instruction in the classroom", "Taking actions to ensure that teachers feel responsible for their students' learning outcomes"). The five response categories for the five items in the scale on instructional leadership (INSTLEAD) were "never or almost never", "about once or twice a year", "about once or twice a month", "about once or twice a week", and "every day or almost every day". Positive values on the scale indicate more frequent engagement by the principal and school management team in instructional leadership activities than on average across OECD countries, while negative values indicate less frequent engagement than on average by the principal and school management team in instructional leadership activities.

One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Bulgaria (Bulgarian), Cambodia (Khmer), the Dominican Republic (Spanish), Estonia (Estonian), France (French), Georgia (Georgian, Azerbaijani, Russian), Germany (German), Greece (Greek), Indonesia (Indonesian), Ireland\* (English, Irish), Israel (Hebrew), Jordan (Arabic), Kazakhstan (Kazakh, Russian), Malaysia (Malay, English), Mexico (Spanish), the Republic of Moldova (Romanian, Russian), Mongolia (Mongolian), Morocco (Arabic), the Palestinian Authority (Arabic), Panama\* (Spanish, English), Poland (Polish), Portugal (Portuguese), Qatar (Arabic, English), Singapore (English), Spain (Spanish, Catalan, Galician, Basque, Valencian), Chinese Taipei (Chinese), Thailand (Thai), the United Arab Emirates (Arabic), the United Kingdom\* (English, Welsh), the United States\* (English), Uruguay (Spanish) and Uzbekistan (Uzbek, Russian).

#### Problems with self-directed learning

Students were asked to report on how often ("never", "a few times", "about once or twice a week", "every day or almost every day") they had different problems when completing their schoolwork (e.g. "Problems with Internet access"; "Problems with finding a quiet place to study"; "Problems with motivating myself to do schoolwork") while their school building was closed due to COVID-19 (ST35). The eight statements were combined into an index of problems with self-directed learning (PROBSELF) whose average is zero and standard deviations is one across OECD countries. Positive values on the index mean that the student reported more problems than did students on average across OECD countries.

One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Albania (Albanian), Baku (Azerbaijan) (Azeri), Belgium (French), the Dominican Republic (Spanish), El Salvador (Spanish), Indonesia (Indonesian), Japan (Japanese), Jordan (Arabic), Kosovo (Albanian, Serbian), Macao (China) (Chinese, Portuguese), the Republic of Moldova (Romanian), Mongolia (Mongolian, Kazakh), North Macedonia (Macedonian and Albanian), the Palestinian Authority (Arabic, English), Peru (Spanish), the Philippines (English), Qatar (Arabic), Saudi Arabia (Arabic, English), Thailand (Thai) and Uzbekistan (Uzbek, Karakalpak).

#### Quality of student-teacher relationships

Students' ratings of their agreement with the eight statements (e.g. "The teachers at my school are respectful towards me", "When my teachers ask how I am doing, they are really interested in my answer") in question ST267 were scaled into the index of quality of student-teacher relationships (RELATST). Note that this scale used a within-construct matrix sampling design. Each of the eight items included in this scale had four response options ("strongly disagree", "disagree", "agree", "strongly agree"). Students with positive values on this index perceived the student-teacher relationships at school as more positive than did students on average across OECD countries.

One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Albania (Albanian), Denmark<sup>\*</sup> (Danish), Finland (Finnish, Swedish), Georgia (Georgian, Azerbaijani, Russian), Japan (Japanese), Qatar (Arabic, English), Singapore (English), Sweden (Swedish, English), Thailand (Thai), the United Arab Emirates (English) and Viet Nam (Vietnamese). One item was not distributed, the item parameters could not be estimated or the responses for the item were suppressed for Hong Kong<sup>\*</sup> (China) (Chinese).

#### School actions to maintain learning and well-being

In 2022, PISA collected information on students' perception of school actions/activities to maintain learning and wellbeing (ST348) by asking them how often ("never", "a few times", "about once or twice a week", and "every day or almost every day") someone from their school did different actions or activities while their school building was closed due to COVID-19 (e.g. "Sent you learning materials to study on your own"; "Asked you to submit completed school assignments"; "Checked in with you to ask how you were feeling"). From these eight statements, an index of school actions/activities to maintain learning and well-being (SCHSUST) was created that has an average of zero and standard deviation of one across OECD countries. A student with positive values in the index reported more actions/activities than did students on average across OECD countries.

One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Albania (Albanian), Baku (Azerbaijan) (Azeri), Cambodia (Khmer), the Dominican Republic (Spanish), Indonesia (Indonesian), Israel (Hebrew), Japan (Japanese), Kosovo (Albanian, Serbian), the Netherlands\* (Dutch), North Macedonia (Albanian), the Philippines (English), Qatar (Arabic), Thailand (Thai) and Uzbekistan (Uzbek, Karakalpak).

#### School autonomy

Question SC202 asked principals about who had the main responsibility for various decisions or activities at their school (e.g. "Appointing or hiring teachers", "Determining teachers' salary increases"). The six response categories for the 12 items in the scale were "Principal", "Teachers or members of school management team", "School governing board", "Local or municipal authority", "Regional or state authority", and "National or federal authority". Positive values for the index of school autonomy (SCHAUTO) indicate that the principal perceived the level of autonomy in decision-making activities at their school by the principal, teachers or members of the school management team, and the school governing board as higher than was reported on average across OECD countries.

One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Albania (Albanian), Argentina (Spanish), Australia\* (English), Austria (German), Chile (Spanish), Colombia (Spanish), Costa Rica (Spanish), Denmark\* (Danish), El Salvador (Spanish), Georgia (Georgian, Azerbaijani, Russian), Greece (Greek), Hungary (Hungarian), Ireland\* (English, Irish), Italy (Italian, German), Japan (Japanese), Jordan (Arabic), Kazakhstan (Kazakh, Russian), Korea (Korean), Lithuania (Lithuanian), Malaysia (Malay, English), the Republic of Moldova (Romanian, Russian), Mongolia (Mongolian), Morocco (Arabic), Norway (Bokmål), the Palestinian Authority (Arabic), Poland (Polish), Portugal (Portuguese), Qatar (Arabic, English), Romania (Romanian), Saudi Arabia (Arabic, English), Singapore (English), the Slovak Republic (Slovak), Slovenia (Slovenian, Slovenian-ISCED2), Spain (Spanish, Catalan, Galician, Basque, Valencian), Sweden (Swedish), Switzerland (German, French, Italian), Chinese Taipei (Chinese), Thailand (Thai), Türkiye (Turkish), the United Arab Emirates (Arabic), the United Kingdom\* (English, Welsh) and Viet Nam (Vietnamese). Two items were not distributed, the item parameters could not be estimated or the responses for the items were suppressed for Ireland\* (English, Irish).

#### School safety risks

The measure of school safety risk asked students if ("yes", "no") the following events occurred during the previous four weeks: "Our school was vandalised"; "I witnessed a fight on school property in which someone got hurt"; "I saw gangs in school"; "I heard a student threaten to hurt another student"; "I saw a student carrying a gun or knife at school". Answers to the five statements of question ST266 were combined into a single index (SCHRISK) with an average value of zero and a standard deviation of one across OECD countries. Positive values in the index indicate that the student perceived greater risks at their school than did students on average across OECD countries.

One item from the scale received specific item parameters for New Zealand\* (English), Norway (Bokmål, Nynorsk) and Sweden (Swedish, English). Two items were not distributed, the item parameters could not be estimated or the responses for the item were suppressed in Italy (Italian, German).

#### **Teacher participation**

Question SC202 asked principals about who had the main responsibility for various decisions or activities at their school (e.g. "Formulating the school budget", "Choosing which learning materials are used"). The six response categories for the 12 items in the scale were "Principal", "Teachers or members of school management team", "School governing board", "Local or municipal authority", "Regional or state authority", and "National or federal authority". Positive values for the index of teacher participation (TCHPART) indicate that the teachers or members of the school management team participated to a greater extent in decision-making activities at their school than on average across OECD countries.

One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Argentina (Spanish), Brazil (Portuguese), Bulgaria (Bulgarian), Colombia (Spanish), the Dominican Republic (Spanish), El Salvador (Spanish), Estonia (Estonian), Guatemala (Spanish), Japan (Japanese), Korea (Korean), Malaysia (Malay, English), Mongolia (Mongolian), New Zealand\* (English), Paraguay (Spanish), Spain (Spanish, Catalan, Galician, Basque, Valencian) and the United Arab Emirates (Arabic).

#### Views of regulated ICT use in school

The measure on views of regulated ICT use in school is derived from the ICT questionnaire that was distributed in 54 out of the 81 countries/economies that participated in PISA 2022. Students were asked to respond to six statements (IC179): "Students should not be allowed to bring mobile phones to class", "Students should not be allowed to bring their own laptop (or tablet device) to class", "Students should collaborate with teachers to decide on the rules regarding the use of digital devices during lessons", "The school should set up filters to prevent students from going on social media", "The school should set up filters to prevent students from playing games online" and "Teachers should monitor what students do on their laptops". Each of the six items had four response options ("strongly disagree", "disagree", "agree", "strongly agree"). Answers to these six statements were scaled into a single index (ICTREG). Positive values in the index indicate that the student was more supportive of stricter regulations on the use of ICT at their school than were students on average across OECD countries. One or more items from the scale received specific item parameters for Albania (Albanian), Bulgaria (Bulgarian), Israel (Arabic), Jordan (Arabic), Kazakhstan (Kazakh), Saudi Arabia (Arabic, English) and Thailand (Thai).

#### Single items

In addition to the indices listed above, the following single items were used in this report:

- Ability grouping between and within classes (SC042)
- Assessment practices at school (SC034)
- Criteria for choosing a school (PA006)
- Duration of school closures because of COVID-19 (ST347Q01JA)
- Learning resources during COVID-19 school closures (ST351)
- Life satisfaction across domains (WB155)
- Monitoring teacher practice (SC032)
- Parental involvement (SC064Q)
- Quality assurance and improvement actions at school (SC037)
- Overall life satisfaction (ST016)
- Reasons for long-term absenteeism (ST261)
- Reasons for transferring students to another school (SC185)
- School competition for students (SC011)
- School preparedness for remote instruction (SC224)
- Schools providing study help (SC212)

#### 276 |

- Sources of school funding (SC016)
- Student gender (ST004)
- Students' enrolment at their school (ST226)
- Student composition of schools (SC211)
- Student behaviour when using digital devices (ST322)
- Using achievement data for accountability purposes (SC198)

#### Notes

<sup>1</sup> To keep the 2022 trend scales linked to PISA 2012 comparable, the Rasch model (Rasch, 1960<sub>[11]</sub>) was used to scale the dichotomous items, while the partial credit model (PCM) was used to scale the polytomous items, in line with the models used in PISA 2012.

<sup>2</sup> Due to missing data from the countries/economies, countries/economies were only approximately equally weighted.

3 Different language versions were only analysed independently, if the version was distributed to a sample of over 150 and the sum of the weights was over 300. The sum of weights for all cases within a country/economy add up to a constant of 5 000 but varied on a scale-by-scale basis because missing responses varied across scales.

4 Denmark\*, Norway and Singapore did not collect data for any of the questions related to students' responses and experiences during COVID-19 school closures.

#### References

Avvisati, F. (2020), "The measure of socio-economic status in PISA: A review and some suggested improvements", <i>Large-Scale Assessments in Education</i> , Vol. 8/1, pp. 1-37, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s40536-020-00086-x</u> .	[10]
Ganzeboom, H. and D. Treiman (2003), "Three Internationally Standardised Measures for Comparative Research on Occupational Status", in <i>Advances in Cross-National Comparison</i> , Springer US, Boston, MA, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-9186-7_9</u> .	[8]
Muraki, E. (1992), "A generalized partial credit model: Application of an EM algorithm", <i>Applied Psychological Measurement</i> , Vol. 16/2, pp. 159-177, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/j.2333-8504.1992.tb01436.x</u> .	[5]
Novick, F. (ed.) (1968), <i>Some latent trait models and their use in inferring an examinee's ability</i> , Addison-Wesley, Menlo Park.	[4]
OECD (2023), <i>PISA 2022 Assessment and Analytical Framework</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/dfe0bf9c-en</u> .	[1]
OECD (2020), <i>PISA 2018 Technical Report</i> , OECD publishing, Paris, <u>https://www.oecd.org/pisa/data/pisa2018technicalreport/</u> .	[9]
OECD (forthcoming), PISA 2022 Technical Report, PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris.	[2]

OECD (forthcoming), <i>The PISA 2022 Results: The State of Learning and Equity in Education</i> , PISA, OECD Publishing, Paris.	[3]
Rasch, G. (1960), Probabilistic models for some intelligence and attainment tests, Nielsen and Lydiche.	[11]
UNESCO (2012), International Standard Classification of Education ISCED 2011.	[7]
Warm, T. (1989), "Weighted likelihood estimation of ability in item response theory", <i>Psychometrika</i> , Vol. 54/3, pp. 427-450, https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02294627.	[6]

# Annex A2. The PISA target population, the PISA samples, and the definition of schools

This annex to the PISA 2022 results provides further technical details on how the assessment covered its target population of 15-year-olds, how its national samples represent this population across participating countries and economies, and how the sampling procedure was adapted to accurately represent diverse education systems worldwide.

## What is the PISA target population?

PISA 2022 assessed the cumulative outcomes of education and learning at a point at which most young people are still enrolled in formal education: when they are 15 years old.

International surveys of education outcomes must guarantee the comparability of their target population across participating countries and economies. One way to do this is to assess students at the same grade level. However, differences between countries in the nature and extent of early childhood education and care, age at entry into primary education, and the overall institutional structure of education systems do not allow for a definition of internationally comparable grade levels.

Other international assessments have defined their target population by the grade level that provides maximum coverage of a particular age cohort. However, this definition leads to a population particularly sensitive to the distribution of students across age and grade levels, where small changes – of assessment dates, or month of entry into primary education – can lead to the selection of different target grades. There also may be differences across or within countries in whether students who are older or younger than the desired age cohort are represented in the modal grade, further rendering such grade level-based samples difficult to compare.

To overcome these problems, PISA uses an age-based definition of its target population, one that is not tied to the institutional structures of national education systems.<sup>1</sup> PISA assesses students who are aged between 15 years and 3 (complete) months and 16 years and 2 (complete) months<sup>2</sup> at the beginning of the assessment period, plus or minus an allowed 1-month variation, and who are enrolled in an educational institution<sup>3</sup> at grade 7 or higher. All students who met these criteria were eligible to sit the PISA test in 2022, regardless of the type of educational institution in which they were enrolled and whether they were enrolled in full- or part-time education. This also allows PISA to evaluate students shortly before they are faced with major life choices, such as whether to continue with education or enter the workforce.

Hence, PISA makes statements about the knowledge and skills of a group of individuals who were born within a comparable reference period, but who may have been exposed to different educational experiences inside and outside of school. These students may be distributed over different ranges of grades (both in terms of the specific grade levels and the spread in grade levels) in different countries/economies, or over different tracks or streams within their respective education systems. It is important to consider these differences when comparing PISA results across countries/economies. In addition, differences in performance observed when students are 15 may diminish or disappear entirely later in life.

If a country's mean scores in mathematics, reading or science are significantly higher than those of another, it cannot automatically be inferred that schools or particular parts of the education system in the first country are more effective than those in the second. However, one can legitimately conclude that it is the cumulative impact of learning experiences in the first country, starting in early childhood and up to the age of 15, and including all experiences, whether they be at school, home or elsewhere, that have resulted in the better outcomes of the first country in the subjects that PISA assesses.<sup>4</sup>

#### How were students chosen?

The accuracy of the results from any survey depends on the quality of the information drawn from those surveyed as well as on the sampling procedures. Quality standards, procedures, instruments and verification mechanisms were developed for PISA that ensured that national samples yielded comparable data and that results could be compared across countries and economies with confidence. Experts from the PISA Consortium selected the samples for most participating countries/economies and monitored the sample-selection process closely in those countries that opted to select their own samples.

All samples in PISA 2022 were designed as two-stage stratified samples. The first stage sampled schools in which 15-year-old students may be enrolled. Schools were sampled systematically with selection probabilities proportional

to the estimated size of their (eligible) 15-year-old population. At least 150 schools<sup>5</sup> were selected in each country, although the requirements for national analyses often demanded a larger sample. Replacement schools for each sampled school were simultaneously identified, in case an originally sampled school chose not to participate in PISA.

The second stage of the selection process sampled students within sampled schools. Once schools were selected, a list of each sampled school's 15-year-old students was prepared. From this list, 42 students were then selected with equal probability (all 15-year-old students were selected when less than 42 eligible students were enrolled). The target number of students in a school who were to be sampled could deviate from 42 when agreed by PISA's sampling contractor but could not fall below 20 students.

Data-quality standards in PISA require minimum participation rates for schools and for students. These standards were established to minimise potential bias arising from non-response. Indeed, it was likely that any bias resulting from non-response would be negligible – typically smaller than the sampling error – in countries that met these standards.<sup>6</sup>

At least 85 % of the schools initially selected to take part in the PISA assessment were required to agree to conduct the test when accounting for the number of enrolled 15-year-olds. Where the initial response rate of schools was between 65% and 85%, however, an acceptable school-response rate could still be achieved using replacement schools.

Whenever a school is selected for PISA, two other schools – the most similar according to the statistical criteria used for sampling – are selected as replacement schools in case of non-response or other contingencies. However, statistical similarities notwithstanding, sampling bias is still possible if the replacement schools differ from sampled schools in ways that might not be considered for sampling. Therefore, countries/economies were encouraged to persuade as many of the schools in the original sample as possible to participate.

Schools that were included but where student participation rates of 25-50% were observed were not considered to be participating schools when determining participation rates; but data collected from these schools (from both the cognitive assessment and background questionnaires) were included in the database and contributed to the estimation of the various quantities derived from the assessment. Data from schools with a student participation rate of less than 25% were excluded from the database.

In PISA 2022, 14 countries/economies – the United States (51%), Hong Kong (China) (60%), New Zealand (61%), the Netherlands (66%), the United Kingdom (67%), the Flemish community (Belgium) (72%), Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) (80%), Belgium (80%), Brazil (81%), Canada (81%), Chinese Taipei (83%), Latvia (84%), Panama (84%) and Chile (84%) – did not meet the standard of 85% weighted school participation rate; three of them did not meet the 65% threshold for schools initially selected for PISA. Even after replacement schools were included, seven countries – the United States (63%), New Zealand (72%), Hong Kong (China) (80%), the United Kingdom (82%), Chinese Taipei (84%), Canada (86%) and the Netherlands (90%) still failed to reach target participation rates;<sup>7</sup> all other participating countries/economies reached the threshold for an acceptable participation rate after including replacement schools.

PISA 2022 also required that at least 80% of the students chosen in participating schools sat the PISA test. This threshold was calculated at the national level and did not have to be met in each participating school. Follow-up sessions were required in schools where too few students had participated in the planned assessment sessions. Student-participation rates were calculated over all originally selected schools and over all participating schools, including replacement schools. Students who participated in either the planned or follow-up sessions were counted in these rates; those who attended only the questionnaire session were included in the international database and contributed to the statistics presented in this publication if they provided at least a description of either parent's occupation.

The standard of 80% student participation rate was not met by nine countries/economies: Jamaica (68%), New Zealand (72%), the United Kingdom (75%), Hong Kong (China) (75%), Australia (76%), Ireland (77%), Panama (77%), Canada (77%) and Malta (79%).

Table I.A2.6 shows the response rate for students and schools, before and after including replacement schools.

- **Column 1** shows the weighted participation rate of schools before replacement; it is equivalent to Column 2 divided by Column 3 (multiplied by 100 to give a percentage).
- **Column 2** shows the number of responding schools before school replacement, weighted by student enrolment.
- **Column 3** shows the number of sampled schools before school replacement, weighted by student enrolment. This includes both responding and non-responding schools.
- Column 4 shows the unweighted number of responding schools before school replacement.
- **Column 5** shows the unweighted number of sampled schools before school replacement, including both responding and non-responding schools.
- **Columns 6 to 10** repeat Columns 1 to 5 for schools after school replacement, i.e. after non-responding schools were substituted by the replacement schools identified during the initial sampling procedure.
- **Columns 11 to 15** repeat Columns 6 to 10 but for students in schools after school replacement. Note that the weighted and unweighted numbers of students sampled (Columns 13 and 15) include students who were assessed and those who should have been assessed but who were absent on the day of assessment. As mentioned above, any students in schools where the student response rate was less than 50% were not considered to be attending participating schools and were thus excluded from Columns 14 and 15 (and, similarly, from Columns 4, 5, 9 and 10).

# What proportion of 15-year-olds does PISA represent?

All countries/economies attempted to maximise the coverage of 15-year-olds enrolled in education in their national samples, including students enrolled in special education institutions. As such, the technical standards used in PISA only allowed countries/economies to exclude up to 5% of the desired target population (i.e. 15-year-old students enrolled in educational institutions at grade 7 or higher) either by excluding schools or students within schools.

Sixteen countries and economies did not meet this standard in PISA 2022: Ukrainian regions (18 of 27) (14.9%), Denmark (11.6%), the Netherlands (8.4%), Latvia (7.9%), Sweden (7.4%), Norway (7.3%), Australia (6.9%), Scotland (United Kingdom) (6.6%), Lithuania (6.5%), the United States (6.1%), Estonia (5.9%), Canada (5.8%), Switzerland (5.8%), New Zealand (5.8%), Türkiye (5.6%) and Croatia (5.4%). In 31 countries/economies, the overall exclusion rate was less than 2% (Table I.A2.1). When language exclusions<sup>8</sup> were accounted for (i.e. removed from the overall exclusion rate), Switzerland, Türkiye and the United States no longer had exclusion rates greater than 5%. In Ukraine, almost all excluded students were so considered due to the war. More details can be found in the PISA 2022 Technical Report (OECD, 2023<sub>[1]</sub>).

Exclusions that should remain within the above limits include:

- At the school level:
  - schools that were geographically inaccessible or where the implementation of the PISA assessment was not considered feasible
  - schools that provided teaching only for students in the categories defined under "within-school exclusions", such as schools for students with special education needs.

The percentage of 15-year-olds enrolled in such schools had to be less than 2.5% of the nationally desired target population (0.5% maximum for the former group and 2% maximum for the latter group). The magnitude, nature and justification for school-level exclusions are documented in the PISA 2022 Technical Report (OECD, 2023[1]). In addition, due to differences in when schools re-opened and returned to full, in-person instruction after the COVID-19 pandemic, an additional code for student exclusions (Code 6) was used in PISA 2022 to account for those who were enrolled but received instruction virtually.

- At the student level:
  - students with an intellectual disability, i.e. a mental or emotional disability resulting in the student being so cognitively delayed that he/she could not perform in the PISA testing environment
  - students with a functional disability, i.e. a moderate to severe permanent physical disability resulting in the student being unable to perform in the PISA testing environment
  - students with limited assessment-language proficiency (these students were unable to read or speak any of the languages of assessment in the country at a sufficient level and were unable to overcome such a language barrier in the PISA testing environment; they were typically students who had received less than one year of instruction in the language of assessment)
  - students who were not attending in-person classes or going to school for tests/assessments during the PISA testing period but, rather, were receiving all of their instruction on line
  - other exclusions, a category defined by the PISA national centres in individual participating countries and approved by the PISA international consortium
  - o students taught in a language of instruction for the major domain for which no materials were available.

Students could not be excluded solely because of low proficiency or common disciplinary problems. The percentage of 15-year-olds excluded within schools had to be less than 2.5% of the national desired target population.

Table I.A2.1 describes the target population of the countries/economies that participated in PISA 2022. Further information on the target population and the implementation of PISA sampling standards can be found in the PISA 2022 Technical Report (OECD, 2023<sub>[1]</sub>).

- **Column 1** shows the total number of 15-year-olds according to the most recent available information, which in most countries and economies means from 2021, the year before the assessment.
- **Column 2** shows the number of 15-year-olds enrolled in school in grade 7 or above, which is referred to as the "eligible population".
- Column 3 shows the national desired target population. Countries/economies were allowed to exclude up to 0.5% of students *a priori* from the eligible population, essentially for practical reasons if agreed upon with the PISA consortium.
- **Column 4** shows the number of students enrolled in schools that were excluded from the national desired target population, either from the sampling frame or later in the field during data collection. In other words, these are school-level exclusions.
- **Column 5** shows the size of the national desired target population after subtracting the students enrolled in excluded schools. This column is obtained by subtracting Column 4 from Column 3.
- **Column 6** shows the percentage of students enrolled in excluded schools. This is obtained by dividing Column 4 by Column 3 and multiplying by 100.
- **Column 7** shows the number of students who participated in PISA 2022. Note that in some cases, this number does not account for 15-year-olds assessed as part of additional national options.
- **Column 8** shows the weighted number of participating students, i.e. the number of students in the nationally defined target population that the PISA sample represents.
- **Column 9** shows the total number of students excluded within schools. In each sampled school, all eligible students namely, those 15 years of age, regardless of grade were listed, and a reason for the exclusion was provided for each student who was to be excluded from the sample. These reasons are further described and classified into specific categories in Table I.A2.4.
- **Column 10** shows the weighted number of students excluded within schools, i.e. the overall number of students in the national defined target population represented by the number of students from the sample excluded within schools. This weighted number is also described and classified by exclusion categories in Table I.A2.4.

- **Column 11** shows the percentage of students excluded within schools. This is equivalent to the weighted number of excluded students (Column 10) divided by the weighted number of excluded and participating students (the sum of Columns 8 and 10), multiplied by 100.
- Column 12 shows the overall exclusion rate, which represents the weighted percentage of the national desired target population excluded from PISA either through school-level exclusions or through the exclusion of students within schools. It is equivalent to the school-level exclusion rate (Column 6) plus the product of the within-school exclusion rate and 1 minus the school-level exclusion rate expressed as a decimal (Column 6 divided by 100).<sup>9</sup>
- **Column 13** shows an index of the extent to which the national desired target population was covered by the PISA sample. As mentioned above, 15 countries/economies fell below the coverage of 95%. This is also known as Coverage Index 1.
- **Column 14** shows an index of the extent to which 15-year-olds *enrolled in school* were covered by the PISA sample. The index, also known as Coverage Index 2, measures the overall proportion of the national enrolled population that is covered by the non-excluded portion of the student sample, and takes into account both school- and student-level exclusions. Values close to 100 indicate that the PISA sample represents the entire (grade 7 and higher) education system as defined in PISA 2022. This is calculated in a similar manner to Column 13; however, the total enrolled population of 15-year-olds in grade 7 or above (Column 2) is used as a base instead of the national desired target population (Column 3).
- **Column 15** shows an index of the coverage of the 15-year-old population. The index is the weighted number of participating students (Column 8) divided by the total population of 15-year-old students (Column 1). This is also known as Coverage Index 3.

A high level of coverage contributes to the comparability of the assessment results. For example, even assuming that the excluded students would have systematically scored worse than those who participated, and that this relationship is moderately strong, an exclusion rate of 5% would likely lead to an overestimation of national mean scores of less than 5 score points on the PISA scale (where the standard deviation is 100 score points).<sup>10</sup>

Given the significant disruption caused by COVID-19 global pandemic to education systems in general, and to the administration of the PISA 2022 Main Survey in particular, coverage is of particular concern in the 2022 cycle, as it is feasibly affected both by changes in student behaviour (e.g., not returning to school when those were reopened) and by operational factors of administering PISA itself (e.g. less participating students due to interference between PISA dates and a country/economy's school reopening plan).

Table I.A2.2 provides an across-cycle perspective on:

- the estimated size of the 15-year-old cohort in a given country/economy (Column 1 for PISA 2022),
- the estimated population size of 15-year-olds enrolled at school in grade 7 or above (**Column 2** for PISA 2022),
- the number of students that sat PISA 2022 weighted by how much they represent the population (**Column 3** for PISA 2022), and
- the coverage of the 15-year-old population (Coverage Index 3, Column 4 for PISA 2022).

The same information is provided for previous PISA cycles until 2003. A decrease in the Coverage Index 3 between PISA 2018 and PISA 2022 was observed for 23 countries/economies. However, in only five of them this decrease was larger than 5%: the Dominican Republic, Germany, Hong Kong (China)\*, the Netherlands\* and Ukrainian regions (18 of 27). Nonetheless, these elevated drops in coverage are to be interpreted with due caution: sampling outcomes for Hong Kong (China) and the Netherlands struggled to meet PISA sampling standards. In Ukrainian, schools in several regions were not accessible in 2022; Coverage Index 3 decreased from 86.7% in PISA 2018 to 63.9% in PISA 2022.

Conversely, all other participating countries/economies either kept or increased their coverage of the population between PISA 2018 and PISA 2022. Small increases, up to 5%, were observed in 31 countries/economies, with others showing quite elevated increase in coverage in the 2022 cycle compared to PISA 2018.

The PISA Adjudication Group, comprising the Technical Advisory Group and the Sampling Referee, reviewed the PISA 2022 data. Overall, the review found that national implementations of PISA generally adhered to PISA's technical standards despite the challenging circumstances that affected not only PISA operations but schooling more generally during the COVID-19 pandemic. Nevertheless, a number of deviations from the standards were noted and their consequences for data quality were reviewed in depth. The following overall patterns of deviations from sampling standards were identified:

- About one in five adjudicated entities had exclusion rates exceeding the limits set by the technical standards (Standard 1.7).
- Seven entities failed to meet the required school-response rates, with three of them failing to meet the stricter level of 65% before replacement (Standard 1.11). This is not inconsistent with earlier cycles of PISA, however.
- A significantly larger number of entities failed to meet the required student-response rates (Standard 1.12): ten entities did not meet this standard in PISA 2022, while only one entity did not meet the standard in PISA 2018.

Countries/economies that failed to meet the response-rate standards were requested to submit a non-response bias analysis (NRBA) report. These reports, evaluated by the PISA Adjudication Group, contained additional analyses using the national context and data sources to assess potential bias arising from school and student non-participation.

Details on the PISA Adjudication Group's assessments of the deviations from PISA standards are described in the Reader's Guide and Annex A4.

## **Definition of schools**

In some countries, subunits within schools were sampled instead of schools, which may affect the estimate of the between-school variance. In Austria, the Czech Republic, El Salvador, Germany, Hungary, Japan and Romania, schools with more than one programme of study were split into the units delivering these programmes. In the Netherlands, locations were listed as sampling units. In the Flemish community (Belgium), each campus of a multi-campus school was sampled independently, whereas the larger administrative unit of a multi-campus school was sampled as a whole in the French community (Belgium).

In Australia and Colombia each campus of a multi-campus school was sampled independently. In Argentina each campus of a multi-campus school was sampled independently and campuses with more than one programme of study were split into the units delivering these programmes. Schools in the Basque Country (Spain) that were divided into sections by language of instruction were split into sections for sampling based on those languages.

Some schools in the United Arab Emirates were sampled as a whole unit, while others were divided by curriculum and sometimes by gender. Due to reorganisation, some schools in Sweden were split into two parts, each part with its own principal. Some schools in Portugal were organised into clusters where all units in a cluster shared the same teachers and principal; each of these clusters constituted a single sampling unit. Some schools in Singapore were sampled as a whole unit while others were split by campus or language of instruction. Some schools in Türkiye were sampled as a whole unit while others were split by programme of study. Schools in Uruguay were sampled as a whole unit, except for schools offering classes at night; night-shift sections were sampled independently from the school.

# The distribution of PISA students across grades

Students assessed in PISA 2022 were enrolled in various grade levels. The percentage of students at each grade level is presented, by country, in Tables I.A2.8 and I.A2.9, and by gender within each country/economy in Tables I.A2.12 and I.A2.13.

# Table II.A2.1. PISA target populations and samples, 2022 [1/4]

-		Population and sample information							
		Total population of 15-year-olds	Total enrolled population of 15-year-olds at grade 7 or above	Total in national desired target population	Total school-level exclusions	Total in national desired target population after all school exclusions and before within-school exclusions	School-level exclusion rate (%)	Number of participating students	Weighted number of participating students
		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
8	Australia	296 220	290 738	290 738	5 302	285 436	1.82	13 437	265 196
8	Austria	85 760	82 619	82 619	1 595	81 024	1.93	6 151	76 153
	Belgium	129 814	127 559	127 537	2 438	125 100	1.91	8 286	128 642
	Canada	388 205	385 342	380 510	5 757	374 753	1.51	23 073	357 9 11
	Chile	247 550	230 294	230 175	5 831	224 344	2.53	6 488	214 108
	Colombia	805 258	685 807	685 807	632	685 175	0.09	7 804	586 683
	Costa Rica	73 787	64 582	64 582	0	64 582	0.00	6 113	57 250
	Czech Republic	109 596	102 464	102 464	1 014	101 450	0.99	8 460	100 266
	Denmark	68 110	66 650	66 650	1 160	65 490	1.74	6 200	56 909
	Estonia	14 210	14 097	14 097	457	13 640	3.25	6 392	13 345
	Finland	61 957	62 104	62 104	1 191	60 913	1.92	10 239	58 955
	France	836 624	808 703	808 703	13 612	795 091	1.68	6 770	781 286
	Germany	741 506	741 494	741 494	12 164	729 330	1.64	6 116	681 399
	Greece	107 294	102 085	102 085	529	101 556	0.52	6 403	98 087
	Hungary	102 077	93 826	93 826	2 725	91 101	2.90	6 198	87 990
	celand	4 623	4 602	4 602	25	4 577	0.54	3 360	4 352
	reland	64 051	63 256	63 256	52	63 204	0.08	5 569	65 497
	Israel	147 380	140 599	140 599	2 876	137 723	2.05	6 251	132 475
	Italy	572 210	527 539	527 539	232	527 307	0.04	10 552	496 263
	Japan	1 109 590	1 070 375	1 070 375	26 926	1 043 449	2.52	5 760	1 021 370
	Korea	418 028	417 968	417 968	3 418	414 550	0.82	6 454	428 012
	Latvia	19 801	19 501	19 501	994	18 507	5.10	5 373	16 833
	Lithuania	26 228	26 027	26 027	802	25 225	3.08	7 257	24 251
	Mexico	2 193 794	1 592 537	1 592 537	9 720	1 582 817	0.61	6 288	1 393 727
	Netherlands	198 577	193 138	193 138	12 948	180 190	6.70	5 046	155 987
	New Zealand	62 470	59 286	59 286	1 410	57 876	2.38	4 682	56 382
	Norway	64 792	64 478	64 478	974	63 504	1.51	6611	58 970
	Poland	382 777	359 547	359 547	13 321	346 226	3.70	6 0 11	341 562
	Portugal	104 433	102 916	102 916	1 038	101 878	1.01	6 793	96 607
	Slovak Republic	49 662	48 584	48 584	476	48 108	0.98	5 824	47 453
	Slovenia	18 932	19 728	19 728	434	19 294	2.20	6 721	18 850
	Spain	507 740	487 620	487 620	2 432	485 188	0.50	30 800	459 029
	Sweden	121 723	121 197	121 197	1 450	119 747	1.20	6 072	108 499
	Switzerland	83 388	81 012	81 012	2 904	78 108	3.58	6 829	75 696
	Türkiye	1 266 433	1 153 239	1 153 239	43 932	1 109 307	3.81	7 250	933 402
	United Kingdom	754 547	744 428	744 428	17 491	726 937	2.35	12 972	731 225
	United States	4 235 296	4 141 007	4 141 007	20 265	4 120 742	0.49	4 552	3 661 328

# Table II.A2.1. PISA target populations and samples, 2022 [2/4]

		Population and sample information							
		Total population of 15-year-olds	Total enrolled population of 15-year-olds at grade 7 or above	Total in national desired target population	Total school-level exclusions	Total in national desired target population after all school exclusions and before within-school exclusions	School-level exclusion rate (%)	Number of participating students	Weighted number of participating students
	A 11	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)
ners	Albania	35 891	29 095	29 095	50	29 039	0.19	6 129	28 426
Part		/12/33	693 636	693 636	5 3/6	088 200	0.78	12 111	596 301
	Baku (Azerbaijan)	41 633	29 636	29 636	1 101	28 475	3.92	10 709	30 529
	Brunoi Darussalam	2 973 043 6 100	2 / 5/ 495	6 623	04 900	2 092 000	2.30	5 576	5 080
	Bruherie Bulgerie	6 100	6 000	6 000	720	0 033 FC 061	0.00	5 576	5 900
	Bulgaria	00 / 09	56 791	56 791	1 220	201.062	1.29	6 107 5 270	53 421
	Cambodia	340 403	203 291	203 291	1 529	201 902	0.05	5 279	120 409
		39 27 1	39 114	39 114	1 502	57 552	3.99	0 135	0 705
	Cyprus	9 324	9 324	9 323	210	9 113	2.25	6 515	8 /95
		109 035	130 535	130 535	1705	130 030	1.23	0 000	121 6/6
	El Salvador	111.637	/5 080	75 686	080	75 000	0.91	6 705	68 170
	Georgia	40 040	40 1/4	40 174	1437	43737	3.10	6 363 5 100	40 4 10
		50 044	100 134	100 134	4.070	54 400	0.00	5 190	100 404
	Hong Kong (China)	09 24 1			61 560	34 429	1.94	5 907	40 240
		4 402 510	4 009 900 51 024	4 009 900	264	50 760	0.52	3 973	25 405
	Jamaica	45 045	142 601	142 601	1 159	141 442	0.02	7 700	144.260
	Jordan Kazakhatan	201 678	142 001	142 001	5 246	141 443	0.01	10 760	144 209
	Kasaya	291 078	291 490	291 490	102	200 244	0.42	6 027	212 440
	Magaa (China)	4 500	4 460	4 460	102	4 452	0.42	4 204	4 402
	Malaveia	521.400	4 409	4 409	3 18/	4 455	0.30	7 069	390 //7
	Malta	4 273	4 177	4 177	52	4 125	1.24	3 127	3 955
	Moldova	29,660	20 638	20,638	5	20 633	0.02	6 235	28 870
	Mongolia	46 889	43 616	29 030 43 616	350	43 266	0.02	6 999	40.828
	Montenegro	6 825	6 808	6 808	73	6 735	1.07	5 793	6 340
	Morocco	597 425	482 740	482 740	1 917	480.823	0.40	6 867	454 986
	North Macedonia	18 249	18 249	18 249	330	17 919	1.81	6 610	16 548
	Palestinian Authority	113 056	95.013	95 013	284	0/ 720	0.30	7 905	88 383
	Panama	73 004	65 523	65 523	711	64 812	1.09	4 544	42 090
	Paraguay	112 659	92 326	92 326	1 183	91 143	1.28	5 084	81 004
	Peru	578 489	536 459	536 459	16 350	520 109	3.05	6.968	499 075
	Philippines	2 140 435	1 767 303	1 727 028	17 533	1 709 495	1.02	7 193	1 782 896
	Qatar	19 574	19 427	19 427	301	19 126	1.55	7 676	18 348
	Romania	212 530	173 572	173 572	4 400	169 172	2.53	7 364	162 019
	Saudi Arabia	389 709	367 963	347 934	11 217	336 717	3.22	6 928	317 452
	Serbia	68 172	65 603	65 603	655	64 948	1,00	6 413	59 250
	Singapore	44 037	43 215	43 215	589	42 626	1.36	6 606	41 958
	Chinese Taipei	205 632	201 379	201 379	1 760	199 619	0.87	5 857	190 787
	Thailand	810 264	708 606	708 606	9 065	699 541	1.28	8 495	604 573
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	258 974	234 139	232 639	5 119	227 520	2.20	3 876	165 592
	Ukraine	398 426	335 307	333 807	88 853	244 954	26.62	3 876	165 592
	United Arab Emirates	64 967	64 914	64 867	838	64 029	1.29	24 600	60 765
	Uruguay	48 233	43 849	43 849	75	43 774	0.17	6 618	40 778
	Uzbekistan	547 432	529 571	529 571	19 623	509 948	3.71	7 293	482 059
_	Viet Nam	1 374 000	1 164 190	1 164 190	7 455	1 156 735	0.64	6 068	939 459
		Population and sa	ample information			Coverage indices			
-----------------	-----------------------------------	--	-------------------------------------	-------------------------------	--	---	---		
	Number of excluded students	Weighted number of excluded students	Within-school exclusion rate (%)	Overall exclusion rate (%)	Coverage Index 1: Coverage of national desired population	Coverage Index 2: Coverage of national enrolled population	Coverage Index 3: Coverage of 15-year-old population		
	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)		
8 Australia	1 045	14 375	5.14	6.87	0.931	0.931	0.895		
Ö Austria	97	1 253	1.62	3.52	0.965	0.965	0.888		
Belgium	53	663	0.51	2.41	0.976	0.976	0.991		
Canada	1 120	16 390	4.38	5.83	0.942	0.930	0.922		
Chile	21	738	0.34	2.87	0.971	0.971	0.865		
Colombia	40	2 882	0.49	0.58	0.994	0.994	0.729		
Costa Rica	5	35	0.06	0.06	0.999	0.999	0.776		
Czech Republic	73	1 005	0.99	1.97	0.980	0.980	0.915		
Denmark	902	6 3 1 1	9.98	11.55	0.884	0.884	0.836		
Estonia	190	373	2.72	5.88	0.941	0.941	0.939		
Finland	200	832	1.39	3.28	0.967	0.967	0.952		
France	170	16 501	2.07	3.72	0.963	0.963	0.934		
Germany	59	5 935	0.86	2.49	0.975	0.975	0.919		
Greece	40	932	0.94	1.45	0.985	0.985	0.914		
Hungary	103	1 639	1.83	4.68	0.953	0.953	0.862		
Iceland	188	195	4.30	4.82	0.952	0.952	0.941		
Ireland	266	2 409	3.55	3.63	0.964	0.964	1.023		
Israel	129	2 354	1.75	3.76	0.962	0.962	0.899		
Italy	399	15 467	3.02	3.07	0.969	0.969	0.867		
Japan	0	0	0.00	2.52	0.975	0.975	0.920		
Korea	37	2 835	0.66	1.47	0.985	0.985	1.024		
Latvia	178	514	2.96	7.91	0.921	0.921	0.850		
Lithuania	288	887	3.53	6.50	0.935	0.935	0.925		
Mexico	50	11 244	0.80	1.41	0.986	0.986	0.635		
Netherlands	118	2 939	1.85	8.43	0.916	0.916	0.786		
New Zealand	239	2 031	3.48	5.77	0.942	0.942	0.903		
Norway	464	3 659	5.84	7.27	0.927	0.927	0.910		
Poland	80	3 872	1.12	4.78	0.952	0.952	0.892		
Portugal	248	3 028	3.04	4.02	0.960	0.960	0.925		
Slovak Republic	81	729	1.51	2.48	0.975	0.975	0.956		
Slovenia	59	125	0.66	2.84	0.972	0.972	0.996		
Spain	1 266	16 836	3.54	4.02	0.960	0.960	0.904		
Sweden	473	7 251	6.26	7.39	0.926	0.926	0.891		
Switzerland	167	1 760	2.27	5.77	0.942	0.942	0.908		
Türkiye	130	17 393	1.83	5.57	0.944	0.944	0.737		
United Kingdom	512	19 772	2.63	4.92	0.951	0.951	0.969		
United States	330	220 753	5.69	6.15	0.939	0.939	0.864		

## Table II.A2.1. PISA target populations and samples, 2022 [3/4]

## Table II.A2.1. PISA target populations and samples, 2022 [4/4]

		Population and sa	ample information		Coverage indices			
	Number of excluded students	Weighted number of excluded students	Within-school exclusion rate (%)	Overall exclusion rate (%)	Coverage Index 1: Coverage of national desired population	Coverage Index 2: Coverage of national enrolled population	Coverage Index 3: Coverage of 15-year-old population	
	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)	
မ္မ Albania	22	135	0.47	0.66	0.993	0.993	0.792	
듩 Argentina	204	5228	0.87	1.64	0.984	0.984	0.837	
Baku (Azerbaijan)	20	76	0.25	4.16	0.958	0.958	0.733	
Brazil	115	18927	0.83	3.17	0.968	0.968	0.761	
Brunei Darussalam	53	53	0.88	0.88	0.991	0.991	0.980	
Bulgaria	87	777	1.43	2.70	0.973	0.973	0.800	
Cambodia	2	35	0.03	0.68	0.993	0.993	0.363	
Croatia	104	533	1.50	5.43	0.946	0.946	0.892	
Cyprus	137	205	2.28	4.48	0.955	0.955	0.943	
Dominican Republic	12	204	0.17	1.40	0.986	0.986	0.643	
El Salvador	18	165	0.24	1.15	0.989	0.989	0.611	
Georgia	126	717	1.74	4.87	0.951	0.951	0.863	
Guatemala	8	232	0.14	0.14	0.999	0.999	0.477	
Hong Kong (China)	184	1204	2.43	4.33	0.957	0.957	0.814	
Indonesia	0	0	0.00	1.51	0.985	0.985	0.849	
Jamaica	33	86	0.34	0.85	0.991	0.991	0.584	
Jordan	28	597	0.41	1.22	0.988	0.988	0.940	
Kazakhstan	358	6879	2.46	4 22	0.958	0.958	0.934	
Kasava	13	38	0.18	0.60	0.994	0.994	0.863	
Macao (China)	0	0	0.00	0.36	0.996	0.996	0.983	
Malavsia	56	2807	0.71	1.46	0.985	0.985	0.749	
Malta	108	108	2.66	3.87	0.961	0.961	0.026	
Maldava	110	509	1.72	1.75	0.901	0.901	0.920	
Mongolia	1	8	0.02	0.82	0.903	0.903	0.871	
Mentenerre	GE I	101	0.02	2.00	0.052	0.952	0.071	
Montenegro	65	191	2.92	0.47	0.960	0.960	0.929	
Morocco	5	324	0.07	0.47	0.995	0.995	0.762	
North Macedonia	162	330	1.96	3.73	0.963	0.963	0.907	
Palestinian Authority	3	16	0.02	0.32	0.997	0.997	0.782	
Panama	2	20	0.05	1.13	0.989	0.989	0.577	
Paraguay	10	153	0.19	1.47	0.985	0.985	0.719	
Peru	19	1275	0.25	3.29	0.967	0.967	0.863	
Philippines	23	5144	0.29	1.30	0.987	0.965	0.833	
Qatar	132	217	1.17	2.70	0.973	0.973	0.937	
Romania	20	672	0.41	2.94	0.971	0.971	0.762	
Saudi Arabia	0	0	0.00	3.22	0.968	0.915	0.815	
Serbia	516	1753	2.87	3.84	0.962	0.962	0.869	
Singapore	43	239	0.57	1.92	0.981	0.981	0.953	
Chinese Taipei	44	1136	0.59	1.46	0.985	0.985	0.928	
Thailand	21	1121	0.18	1.46	0.985	0.985	0.746	
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	708	24674	12.97	14.92	0.851	0.846	0.639	
Ukraine	708	24674	12.97	36.13	0.639	0.636	0.416	
United Arab Emirates	351	798	1.30	2.57	0.974	0.974	0.935	
Uruguay	13	61	0.15	0.32	0.997	0.997	0.845	
Uzbekistan	36	2437	0.50	4.19	0.958	0.958	0.881	
Viet Nam	2	686	0.07	0.71	0.993	0.993	0.684	

# Table II.A2.2. Change in the enrolment of 15-year-olds in grade 7 and above (PISA 2003 through PISA 2022)[1/6]

		PISA	2022		PISA 2018				
	Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year-olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population	Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year-olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population	Revised data
유 Australia	296 220	290 738	265 196	0.90	288 195	284 687	257 779	0.89	
Ö Austria	85 760	82 619	76 153	0.89	84 473	80 108	75 077	0.89	
Belgium	129 814	127 559	128 642	0.99	126 031	122 808	118 025	0.94	
Canada	388 205	385 342	357 9 11	0.92	388 205	400 139	335 197	0.86	
Chile	247 550	230 294	214 108	0.86	246 398	215 580	213 832	0.87	Yes
Colombia	805 258	685 807	586 683	0.73	856 081	645 339	529 976	0.62	
Costa Rica	73 787	64 582	57 250	0.78	72 444	58 789	45 475	0.63	
Czech Republic	109 596	102 464	100 266	0.91	92 013	90 835	87 808	0.95	
Denmark	68 110	66 650	56 909	0.84	68 313	67 414	59 967	0.88	
Estonia	14 210	14 097	13 345	0.94	12 257	12 120	11 414	0.93	
Finland	61 957	62 104	58 955	0.95	58 325	57 552	56 172	0.96	
France	836 624	808 703	781 286	0.93	828 196	798 480	756 477	0.91	
Germany	741 506	741 494	681 399	0.92	739 792	739 792	734 915	0.99	
Greece	107 294	102 085	98 087	0.91	102 868	100 203	95 370	0.93	
Hungary	102 077	93 826	87 990	0.86	96 838	91 297	86 754	0.90	
Iceland	4 623	4 602	4 352	0.94	4 206	4 177	3 875	0.92	Yes
Ireland	64 051	63 256	65 497	1.02	65 640	61 188	59 639	0.91	Yes
Israel	147 380	140 599	132 475	0.90	136 848	128 419	110 645	0.81	
Italy	572 210	527 539	496 263	0.87	616 185	544 279	521 223	0.85	
Japan	1 109 590	1 070 375	1 021 370	0.92	1 186 849	1 159 226	1 078 921	0.91	
Korea	418 028	417 968	428 012	1.02	517 040	517 040	455 544	0.88	
Latvia	19 801	19 501	16 833	0.85	17 977	17 677	15 932	0.89	
Lithuania	26 228	26 027	24 251	0.92	27 075	25 998	24 453	0.90	
Mexico	2 193 794	1 592 537	1 393 727	0.64	2 228 222	1 697 100	1 480 904	0.66	Yes
Netherlands	198 577	193 138	155 987	0.79	208 704	204 753	190 281	0.91	
New Zealand	62 470	59 286	56 382	0.90	59 700	58 131	53 000	0.89	
Norway	64 792	64 478	58 970	0.91	60 968	60 794	55 566	0.91	
Poland	382 777	359 547	341 562	0.89	354 020	331 850	318 724	0.90	
Portugal	104 433	102 916	96 607	0.93	112 977	110 732	98 628	0.87	
Slovak Republic	49 662	48 584	47 453	0.96	51 526	50 100	44 418	0.86	
Slovenia	18 932	19 728	18 850	1.00	17 501	18 236	17 138	0.98	
Spain	507 740	487 620	459 029	0.90	454 168	436 560	416 703	0.92	
Sweden	121 723	121 197	108 499	0.89	108 622	107 824	93 129	0.86	
Switzerland	83 388	81 012	75 696	0.91	80 590	78 059	71 683	0.89	
Türkiye	1 266 433	1 153 239	933 402	0.74	1 218 693	1 038 993	884 971	0.73	
United Kingdom	754 547	744 428	731 225	0.97	703 991	697 603	597 240	0.85	
United States	4 235 296	4 141 007	3 661 328	0.86	4 133 719	4 058 637	3 559 045	0.86	

# Table II.A2.2. Change in the enrolment of 15-year-olds in grade 7 and above (PISA 2003 through PISA 2022)[2/6]

			PISA	2022						
		Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year-olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population	Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year-olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population	Revised data
sis	Albania	35 891	29 095	28 426	0.79	36 955	30 160	27 963	0.76	
Ť	Argentina	712 733	693 636	596 301	0.84	702 788	678 151	566 486	0.81	
Ъ	Baku (Azerbaijan)	41 633	29 636	30 529	0.73	43 798	22 672	20 271	0.46	
	Brazil	2 973 643	2 757 493	2 262 972	0.76	3 132 463	2 980 084	2 036 861	0.65	
	Brunei Darussalam	6 100	6 633	5 980	0.98	7 081	7 384	6 899	0.97	
	Bulgaria	66 769	56 791	53 421	0.80	66 499	51 674	47 851	0.72	
	Cambodia	348 485	203 291	126 409	0.36	m	m	m	m	
	Croatia	39 271	39 114	35 033	0.89	39 812	30 534	35 462	0.89	
	Cyprus	9 324	9 324	8 795	0.94	8 285	8 285	7 639	0.92	
	Dominican Republic	189 635	138 535	121 876	0.64	192 198	148 033	140 330	0.73	
	El Salvador	111 637	75 686	68 170	0.61	m	m	m	m	
	Georgia	46 845	45 174	40 416	0.86	46 605	41 750	38 489	0.83	
	Guatemala	353 214	168 154	168 484	0.48	m	m	m	m	
	Hong Kong (China)	59 241	55 505	48 245	0.81	51 935	51 328	51 101	0.98	
	Indonesia	4 462 518	4 069 960	3 790 846	0.85	4 439 086	3 684 980	3 768 508	0.85	
	Jamaica	43 643	51 024	25 495	0.58	m	m	m	m	
	Jordan	149 213	142 601	144 269	0.94	131 210	132 291	114 901	0.88	Yes
	Kazakhetan	291.678	291.490	272 446	0.93	230.646	230.018	212 229	0.92	100
	Kasava	231 070	24 238	212 440	0.86	30 494	27 288	212 223	0.32	
	Macao (China)	4 500	4 469	4 423	0.00	4 300	3 845	3 799	0.88	
	Malayeia	4 J00	4 405	200.447	0.30	F 300	455 259	200 620	0.00	
	Malta	1 273	424 730	3 955	0.75	1 030	405 000	3 025	0.72	
	Moldova	20,660	20.638	28 870	0.93	20 716	20.467	28 252	0.97	
	Mongolia	46 990	42.616	40.929	0.97	23710	23407	20 232	0.35	
	Montonogra	6 925	43 010	40 020	0.07	7 /9/	7 /22	7 097	0.05	
	Morração	507 /25	482 740	454 986	0.95	601 250	115 806	386.408	0.95	
	North Maadonia	19 240	19 240	16 5/9	0.01	19 912	10 010	17 920	0.04	
	Palestinian Authority	10 249	05.013	88 383	0.78	10012	10012	17 020	0.95	
	Panama	73 004	65 523	42.000	0.58	72 084	60.057	38.540	0.53	
	Paraguay	110.650	03 325	42 090	0.30	72 004	00 007	50 540	0.00	
	r alayuay Doru	578 / 89	536 / 59	/00 075	0.72	580.690	184 352	124 586	0.73	
	Dhilippings	2 140 425	1 767 202	433 073	0.00	2.062.564	1 724 007	424 500	0.75	
	Philippines	2 140 435	10/303	19 249	0.03	2 003 504	1734 997	1 400 504	0.00	
	Qalai Domonio	212 520	13 427	162.010	0.34	204.000	171 695	149.009	0.92	Voc
	Romania Coudi Arabia	212 550	267.062	217 452	0.70	204 009	1/1 005	254 012	0.75	ies
	Saudi Arabia	509709	307 903	517 452	0.01	410 700	400 700	504 015 61 905	0.00	
	Serbia	44 027	42 215	59 250 41 059	0.07	46 220	00 729	44.059	0.00	
		44 037	43 2 15	41 950	0.95	40 229	43 170	44 000	0.95	
	Chinese Taipei	205 632	201 3/9	190 / 8/	0.93	240 200	240 241	220 098	0.92	
	I nanana	010204	708 606	165 500	0.75	195 130	090 833	5/5/13	0.72	
	Uniaman regions (18 of 27)	200 9/4	204 139	100 092	0.04	m	m	204.055	m 0.07	
	Ukraine	398 426	335 307	105 592	0.42	351 424	321 833	304 855	0.02	
	United Arab Emirates	04 967	04 914	00 /05	0.94	59 2/5	59 203	20 740	0.92	
	Uruguay Urb shistor	48 233	43 849	40778	0.05	50 965	40 /68	39 /46	0.78	
	Uzbekistan	547 432	529 5/1	482 059	0.00	m	m	m	m	
	VIET Nam	1 374 000	1 164 190	939 459	0.68	1 332 000	1 251 842	926 260	0.70	

# Table II.A2.2. Change in the enrolment of 15-year-olds in grade 7 and above (PISA 2003 through PISA 2022)[3/6]

		PISA 2015					PIS A 2012					
	Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year- olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population	Revised data	Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year- olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population	Revised data		
O Australia	282 888	282 547	256 329	0.91		291 967	288 159	250 779	0.86			
Ö Austria	88 013	82 683	73 379	0.83		93 537	89 073	82 242	0.88			
Belgium	123 630	121 954	114 902	0.93		123 469	121 493	117 912	0.95			
Canada	396 966	381 660	331 546	0.84		417 873	409 453	348 070	0.83			
Chile	256 772	245 947	203 782	0.79	Yes	270 812	252 733	229 199	0.85	Yes		
Colombia	760 919	674 079	567 848	0.75		889 729	620 422	560 805	0.63			
Costa Rica	81 773	66 524	51 897	0.63		81 489	64 326	40 384	0.50			
Czech Republic	90 391	90 076	84 519	0.94		96 946	93 214	82 101	0.85			
Denmark	68 174	67 466	60 655	0.89		72 310	70 854	65 642	0.91			
Estonia	11 676	11 491	10 834	0.93		12 649	12 438	11 634	0.92			
Finland	58 526	58 955	56 934	0.97		62 523	62 195	60 047	0.96			
France	807 867	778 679	734 944	0.91		792 983	755 447	701 399	0.88			
Germany	774 149	774 149	743 969	0.96		798 136	798 136	756 907	0.95			
Greece	105 530	105 253	96 157	0.91		110 521	105 096	96 640	0.87			
Hungary	94 515	90 065	84 644	0.90		111 761	108 816	91 179	0.82			
lcelan d	4 254	4 195	3 966	0.93	Yes	4 500	4 491	4 169	0.93	Yes		
Ireland	62 066	59 811	59 082	0.95	Yes	58 668	57 979	54 010	0.92	Yes		
Israel	124 852	118 997	117 031	0.94		118 953	113 278	107 745	0.91			
Italy	616 761	567 268	495 093	0.80		605 490	566 973	521 288	0.86			
Japan	1 201 615	1 175 907	1 138 349	0.95		1 241 786	1 214 756	1 128 179	0.91			
Korea	620 687	619 950	569 106	0.92		687 104	672 101	603 632	0.88			
Latvia	17 255	16 955	15 320	0.89		18 789	18 389	16 054	0.85			
Lithuania	33 163	32 097	29 915	0.90		38 524	35 567	33 042	0.86			
Mexico	2 220 004	1 401 247	1 392 995	0.63	Yes	2 226 585	1 472 875	1 326 025	0.60	Yes		
Netherlands	203 234	200 976	191 817	0.94		194 000	193 190	196 262	1.01			
New Zealand	60 162	57 448	54 274	0.90		60 940	59 118	53 414	0.88			
Norway	63 642	63 491	58 083	0.91		64 917	64 777	59 432	0.92			
Poland	380 366	361 600	345 709	0.91		425 597	410 700	379 275	0.89			
Portugal	110 939	101 107	97 214	0.88		108 728	127 537	96 034	0.88			
Slovak Republic	55 674	55 203	49 654	0.89		59 723	59 367	54 486	0.91			
Slovenia	18 078	17 689	16 773	0.93		19 471	18 935	18 303	0.94			
Spain	440 337	414 276	399 935	0.91	Yes	422 658	404 374	374 266	0.89	Yes		
Sweden	97 749	97 210	91 491	0.94		102 087	102 027	94 988	0.93			
Switzerland	85 495	83 655	82 223	0.96		87 200	85 239	79 679	0.91			
Türkiye	1 324 089	1 100 074	925 366	0.70		1 266 638	965 736	866 681	0.68			
United Kingdom	747 593	746 328	627 703	0.84		738 066	745 581	688 236	0.93			
United States	4 220 325	3 992 053	3 524 497	0.84		3 985 714	4 074 457	3 536 153	0.89			

# Table II.A2.2. Change in the enrolment of 15-year-olds in grade 7 and above (PISA 2003 through PISA 2022)[4/6]

		PISA 2015					PISA 2012					
	Total populatio 15-year-o	Total population of 15-year- olds enrolled n of in grade 7 lds or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population	Revised data	Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year- olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population	Revised data		
🖉 Albania	45 667	45 163	40 896	0.90		55 099	50 157	42 466	0.77			
E Argentina	718 635	578 308	394 917	0.55		684 879	637 603	545 942	0.80			
Baku (Azerbaijan)	n	n m	m	m		m	m	m	m			
Brazil	3 379 467	2 853 388	2 425 961	0.72		3 520 371	2 786 064	2 470 804	0.70			
Brunei Darussalam	n	n m	m	m		m	m	m	m			
Bulgaria	66 601	59 397	53 685	0.81		70 188	59 684	54 255	0.77			
Cambodia	n	n m	m	m		m	m	m	m			
Croatia	45 031	35 920	40 899	0.91		48 155	46 550	45 502	0.94			
Cvprus	9 255	9 255	8 785	0.95		9 956	9 956	9 650	0.97			
Dominican Republic	193 153	139 555	132 300	0.68		m	m	m	m			
El Salvador	n	n m	m	m		m	m	m	m			
Georgia	48 695	43 197	38 334	0.79		m	m	m	m			
Guatemala	n	n m	m	m		m	m	m	m			
Hong Kong (China)	65 100	61 630	57 662	0.89		84 200	77 864	70.636	0.84			
Indonesia	4 534 216	3 182 816	3 092 773	0.68		4 174 217	3 599 844	2 645 155	0.63			
Jamaica	+ 30+ 210	n m	m	0.00 m		m	m	2 040 100 m	m			
lordan	1/7/87	121 720	108 669	0.74	Voc	153 203	125 333	111 008	0.72	Voc		
Kazakhatan	211 407	200 555	102 009	0.01	165	259 716	247.049	209 4 11	0.72	165		
Kazakiistali	211407	209 555	22 303	0.51		230710 m	247 040 m	200411 m	0.01			
Massa (China)	51040	20 22 3	4 507	0.00		6 600	E 416	E 266	0.01			
Malavoio	5100	/// 4417	4 507	0.00		544 202	0 4 10 457 000	122 090	0.70			
Malta	340 000	440 000	412 324	0.70		044 J02	407 999	432 000	0.75			
Maldava	4 337	4 400	4 2 90	0.90								
Mongolio	315/0	5 50 601	29 341	0.95								
Montonaria	7.524	7.506	6 777	0.00		0.600	8 600	7 714	0.00			
Montenegro	7 524	F 7 500	0777	0.90		0 000	0 000	//14	0.90			
Worocco	10 740		m	m		m	m	m	m			
North Macedonia	10715		15 647	0.95		m	m	m	m			
		1 11	m	m		III	П	m	III			
Panama	n	n m	m	m		m	m	m	m			
Paraguay	500.074	1 170.000	104 700	0.74		504.004	500.000	110.045	0.70			
Peru	580 371	478 229	431738	0.74		584 294	508 969	419 945	0.72			
Philippines	10.071	n m	10.054	m		m	m	m	m			
Qatar	13 8/1	13 850	12 951	0.93		11 667	11 532	11 003	0.94			
Romania	218 846	176 334	164 216	0.75		212 694	146 243	140 915	0.66			
Saudi Arabia	n	n m	m	m		m	m	m	m			
Serbia	n	n m	m	m		85 121	/5 870	67 934	0.80			
Singapore	48 218	47 050	46 224	0.96		53 637	52 163	51 088	0.95			
Chinese Taipei	n	n m	m	m		m	m	m	m			
Thailand	895 513	756 917	634 795	0.71		982 080	784 897	703 012	0.72			
Ukrainian regions (18 of 2	7) n	n m	m	m		m	m	m	m			
Ukraine	n	n m	m	m		m	m	m	m			
United Arab Emirates	51 687	51 518	46 950	0.91		48 824	48 446	40 612	0.83			
Uruguay	52 541	43 865	38 287	0.73	Yes	55 128	46 442	39 771	0.72	Yes		
Uzbekistan	n	n m	m	m		m	m	m	m			
Viet Nam	1 340 000	1 032 599	874 859	0.65		1 393 000	1 091 462	956 517	0.69			

## Table II.A2.2. Change in the enrolment of 15-year-olds in grade 7 and above (PISA 2003 through PISA 2022) [5/6]

		PISA	A 2009		PISA 2006				PISA 2003			
	Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year-olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population	Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year-olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population	Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year-olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population
유 Australia	286 334	269 669	240 851	0.84	270 115	256 754	234 940	0.87	268 164	250 635	235 591	0.88
Ö Austria	99 818	94 192	87 326	0.87	97 337	92 149	89 925	0.92	94 515	89 049	85 931	0.91
Belgium	126 377	126 335	119 140	0.94	124 943	124 557	123 161	0.99	120 802	118 185	111 831	0.93
Canada	430 791	426 590	360 286	0.84	426 967	428 876	370 879	0.87	398 865	399 265	330 436	0.83
Chile	290 056	265 542	247 270	0.85	297 085	255 459	233 526	0.79	m	m	m	m
Colombia	893 057	582 640	522 388	0.58	897 477	543 630	537 262	0.60	m	m	m	m
Costa Rica	80 523	63 603	42 954	0.53	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Czech Republic	122 027	116 153	113 951	0.93	127 748	124 764	128 827	1.01	130 679	126 348	121 183	0.93
Denmark	70 522	68 897	60 855	0.86	66 989	65 984	57 013	0.85	59 156	58 188	51 741	0.87
Estonia	14 248	14 106	12 978	0.91	19 871	19 623	18 662	0.94	m	m	m	m
Finland	66 198	66 198	61 463	0.93	66 232	66 232	61 387	0.93	61 107	61 107	57 883	0.95
France	749 808	732 825	677 620	0.90	809 375	809 375	739 428	0.91	809 053	808 276	734 579	0.91
Germany	852 044	852 044	766 993	0.90	951 535	1 062 920	903 512	0.95	951 800	916 869	884 358	0.93
Greece	102 229	105 664	93 088	0.91	107 505	110 663	96 412	0.90	111 286	108 314	105 131	0.94
Hungary	121 155	118 387	105 6 11	0.87	124 444	120 061	106 010	0.85	129 138	123 762	107 044	0.83
Iceland	4 738	4 738	4 410	0.93	4 820	4 777	4 624	0.96	4 168	4 112	3 928	0.94
Ireland	56 635	55 464	52 794	0.93	58 667	57 648	55 114	0.94	61 535	58 997	54 850	0.89
Israel	122 701	112 254	103 184	0.84	122 626	109 370	93 347	0.76	m	m	m	m
Italy	586 904	573 542	506 733	0.86	578 131	639 971	520 055	0.90	561 304	574 6 11	481 521	0.86
Japan	1 2 11 642	1 189 263	1 113 403	0.92	1 246 207	1 222 171	1 113 701	0.89	1 365 471	1 328 498	1 240 054	0.91
Korea	717 164	700 226	630 030	0.88	660 812	627 868	576 669	0.87	606 722	606 370	533 504	0.88
Latvia	28 749	28 149	23 362	0.81	34 277	33 659	29 232	0.85	37 544	37 138	33 643	0.90
Lithuania	51 822	43 967	40 530	0.78	53 931	51 808	50 329	0.93	m	m	m	m
Mexico	2 151 771	1 425 397	1 305 461	0.61	2 200 916	1 383 364	1 190 420	0.54	2 192 452	1 273 163	1 071 650	0.49
Netherlands	199 000	198 334	183 546	0.92	197 046	193 769	189 576	0.96	194 216	194 216	184 943	0.95
New Zealand	63 460	60 083	55 129	0.87	63 800	59 341	53 398	0.84	55 440	53 293	48 638	0.88
Norway	63 352	62 948	57 367	0.91	61 708	61 449	59 884	0.97	56 060	55 648	52 816	0.94
Poland	482 500	473 700	448 866	0.93	549 000	546 000	515 993	0.94	589 506	569 294	534 900	0.91
Portugal	115 669	107 583	96 820	0.84	115 426	100 816	90 079	0.78	109 149	99 216	96 857	0.89
Slovak Republic	72 826	72 454	69 274	0.95	79 989	78 427	76 201	0.95	84 242	81 945	77 067	0.91
Slovenia	20 314	19 571	18 773	0.92	23 431	23 018	20 595	0.88	m	m	m	m
Spain	433 224	425 336	387 054	0.89	439 415	436 885	381 686	0.87	454 064	418 005	344 372	0.76
Sweden	121 486	121 216	113 054	0.93	129 734	127 036	126 393	0.97	109 482	112 258	107 104	0.98
Switzerland	90 623	89 423	80 839	0.89	87 766	86 108	89 651	1.02	83 247	81 020	86 491	1.04
Türkiye	1 336 842	859 172	757 298	0.57	1 423 514	800 968	665 477	0.47	1 351 492	725 030	481 279	0.36
United Kingdom	786 626	786 825	683 380	0.87	779 076	767 248	732 004	0.94	768 180	736 785	698 579	0.91
United States	4 103 738	4 210 475	3 373 264	0.82	4 192 939	4 192 939	3 578 040	0.85	3 979 116	3 979 116	3 147 089	0.79

## Table II.A2.2. Change in the enrolment of 15-year-olds in grade 7 and above (PISA 2003 through PISA 2022) [6/6]

		PISA 2009				PISA	PISA 2006				PIS A 2003			
	Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year-olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population	Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year-olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population	Total population of 15-year-olds	Total population of 15-year-olds enrolled in grade 7 or above	Weighted number of participating students	Coverage index 3. Coverage of the national 15-year-old population		
စ္မွ Albania	55 587	42 767	34 134	0.61	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
듚 Argentina	688 434	636 713	472 106	0.69	662 686	579 222	523 048	0.79	m	m	m	m		
Baku (Azerbaijan)	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Brazil	3 434 101	2 654 489	2 080 159	0.61	3 439 795	2 374 044	1 875 461	0.55	3 560 650	2 359 854	1 952 253	0.55		
Brunei Darussalam	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Bulgaria	80 226	70 688	57 833	0.72	89 751	88 071	74 326	0.83	m	m	m	m		
Cambodia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Croatia	48 491	46 256	43 065	0.89	54 500	51 318	46 523	0.85	m	m	m	m		
Cyprus	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Dominican Republic	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
El Salvador	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Georgia	56 070	51 351	42 641	0.76	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Guatemala	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Hong Kong (China)	85 000	78 224	75 548	0.89	77 398	75 542	75 145	0.97	75 000	72 631	72 484	0.97		
Indonesia	4 267 801	3 158 173	2 259 118	0.53	4 238 600	3 119 393	2 248 313	0.53	4 281 895	3 113 548	1 971 476	0.46		
Jamaica	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Jordan	133 953	107 254	104 056	0.78	122 354	126 708	90 267	0.74	m	m	m	m		
Kazakhstan	281 659	263 206	250 657	0.89	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Kosovo	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Macao (China)	7 500	5 969	5 978	0.80	m	m	m	m	8 318	6 939	6 546	0.79		
Malaysia	539 295	492 758	421 448	0.78	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Malta	5 152	4 930	4 807	0.93	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Moldova	47 873	44 069	43 195	0.90	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Mongolia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Montenegro	8 500	8 493	7 728	0.91	9 190	8 973	7 734	0.84	m	m	m	m		
Могоссо	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
North Macedonia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Palestinian Authority	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Panama	57 919	43 623	30 510	0.53	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Paraguay	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Peru	585 567	491 514	427 607	0.73	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Philippines	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Qatar	10 974	10 665	9 806	0.89	8 053	7 865	7 271	0.90	m	m	m	m		
Romania	220 264	152 084	151 130	0.69	312 483	241 890	223 887	0.72	m	m	m	m		
Saudi Arabia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Serbia	85 121	75 128	70 796	0.83	88 584	80 692	73 907	0.83	m	m	m	m		
Singapore	54 982	54 212	51 874	0.94	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Chinese Taipei	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Thailand	949 891	763 679	691 916	0.73	895 924	727 860	644 125	0.72	927 070	778 267	637 076	0.69		
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Ukraine	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
United Arab Emirates	41 564	40 447	38 707	0.93	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Uruguay	53 801	43 281	33 971	0.63	52 119	40 815	36 0 1 1	0.69	53 948	40 023	33 775	0.63		
Uzbekistan	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
Viet Nam	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		

### Table II.A2.4. Exclusions, PISA 2022 [1/4]

		Student exclusions (unweighted)									
	Number of excluded students with functional disability (Code 1)	Number of excluded students with intellectual disability (Code 2)	Number of excluded students because of language (Code 3)	Number of excluded students because of no materials available in the language of instruction (Code 4)	Number of excluded students for other reasons (Code 5)	Number of excluded students because online/ virtual (Code 6)	Total number of excluded students				
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)				
	72	808	164	0	1	0	1 045				
8 Austria	6	54	32	0	0	5	97				
Belgium	7	29	17	0	0	0	53				
Canada	58	464	103	0	0	495	1 120				
Chile	0	19	2	0	0	0	21				
Colombia	1	36	1	0	0	2	40				
Costa Rica	0	1	0	0	3	1	5				
Czech Republic	4	41	23	0	0	5	73				
Denmark	14	330	102	0	456	0	902				
Estonia	3	131	13	0	0	43	190				
Finland	6	129	46	4	9	6	200				
France	29	107	33	1	0	0	170				
Germany	3	30	26	0	0	0	59				
Greece	9	18	10	0	0	3	40				
Hungary	4	33	14	0	52	0	103				
Iceland	11	87	58	13	19	0	188				
Ireland	22	152	53	0	39	0	266				
Israel	14	81	27	0	0	7	129				
Italy	0	0	0	0	399	0	399				
Japan	0	0	0	0	0	0	0				
Korea	3	23	11	0	0	0	37				
Latvia	3	4	12	0	0	159	178				
Lithuania	14	225	25	0	0	24	288				
Mexico	4	18	1	0	0	27	50				
Netherlands	17	88	12	0	0	1	118				
New Zealand	20	185	34	0	0	0	239				
Norway	17	355	88	0	0	4	464				
Poland	10	42	28	0	0	0	80				
Portugal	8	195	38	0	0	7	248				
Slovak Republic	6	69	1	0	0	5	81				
Slovenia	9	19	16	0	0	15	59				
Spain	55	860	293	18	0	40	1 266				
Sweden	0	0	0	0	473	0	473				
Switzerland	6	100	61	0	0	0	167				
Türkiye	4	54	72	0	0	0	130				
United Kingdom	47	359	57	0	0	49	512				
United States	49	167	77	0	2	35	330				

## Table II.A2.4. Exclusions, PISA 2022 [2/4]

			Stude	ent exclusions (unwei	ghted)		
	Number of excluded students with functional disability (Code 1)	Number of excluded students with intellectual disability (Code 2)	Number of excluded students because of language (Code 3)	Number of excluded students because of no materials available in the language of instruction (Code 4)	Number of excluded students for other reasons (Code 5)	Number of excluded students because online/virtual (Code 6)	Total number of excluded students
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)
Albania	3	12	2	5	0	0	22
듩 Argentina	12	168	3	2	0	19	204
🗅 Baku (Azerbaijan)	17	3	0	0	0	0	20
Brazil	3	25	0	6	0	81	115
Brunei Darussalam	7	44	2	0	0	0	53
Bulgaria	1	53	2	0	0	31	87
Cambodia	1	0	1	0	0	0	2
Croatia	12	87	5	0	0	0	104
Cyprus	9	73	49	0	0	6	137
Dominican Republic	2	9	1	0	0	0	12
El Salvador	1	4	0	0	0	13	18
Georgia	3	11	1	0	0	111	126
Guatemala	1	0	0	0	0	7	8
Hong Kong (China)	0	0	0	0	0	184	184
Indonesia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Jamaica	5	27	0	0	0	0	33
Jordan	8	8	3	0	0	9	28
Kazakhstan	82	126	24	123	0	2	358
Kosovo	0	0	2	11	0	0	13
Macao (China)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Malaysia	1	55	0	0	0	0	56
Malta	8	83	13	2	0	2	108
Moldova	32	73	3	0	0	2	110
Mongolia	0	1	0	0	0	0	1
Montenegro	25	13	26	0	0	1	65
Morocco	4	1	0	0	0	0	5
North Macedonia	6	9	19	120	0	8	162
Palestinian Authority	2	1	0	0	0	0	3
Panama	0	2	0	0	0	0	2
Paraguay	0	2	1	0	0	7	10
Peru	5	14	0	0	0	0	19
Philippines	2	2	0	0	0	19	23
Qatar	27	102	0	0	0	3	132
Romania	5	8	0	7	0	0	20
Saudi Arabia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Serbia	2	14	2	495	0	3	516
Singapore	2	35	6	0	0	0	43
Chinese Taipei	9	35	0	0	0	0	44
Thailand	3	16	0	0	0	2	21
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	3	1	0	0	0	704*	708
United Arab Emirates	16	107	8	0	0	220	351
Uruguav	2	8	0	0	3	0	13
Uzbekistan	10	9	17	0	0	0	36
Viet Nam	0	2	0	0	0	0	2

\* For this entity, the use of code 6 exclusions was expanded beyond the scope of exclusion just for Covid and used for students who met the definition but due to the war in addition to Covid.

## Table II.A2.4. Exclusions, PISA 2022 [3/4]

Weighted number of excluded students with functional disability (Code 1)Weighted number of excluded students with intellectual disability (Code 2)Weighted number of excluded students because of excluded students because of acquage of instruction (Code 4)Weighted number of excluded students of acquage of instruction (Code 4)Weighted number of excluded students for other reasons (Code 5)Weighted number of excluded students because of language of instruction (Code 4)Weighted number of excluded students for other reasons (Code 5)Weighted number of excluded students because of language of instruction (Code 4)Weighted number of excluded students for other reasons (Code 5)Total weighted number of excluded students because of language of instruction (Code 4)Weighted number of excluded students for other reasons (Code 5)Total weighted number of excluded students because of language of instruction (Code 4)Weighted number of excluded students because of excluded students and total weighted number of excluded students because of language of instruction (Code 4)Weighted number of excluded students because of excluded students and total weighted number of language of instruction (Code 4)Weighted number of excluded students because of excluded students and total weighted number of excluded students and total weighted number of language of instruction (Code 4)Weighted number number of excluded students and total weighted number of excluded total weighted number of excluded total
(8)         (9)         (10)         (11)         (12)         (13)         (14)           G Australia         1032         11246         2079         0         17         0         14375           G Australia         89         758         346         0         0         60         1253           Belgium         107         379         177         0         0         663           Canada         759         5982         1757         0         0         791         16200
G Australia         1 032         1 1 246         2 079         0         17         0         14 375           G Austral         89         758         346         0         0         60         1 253           Belgium         107         379         177         0         0         663           Canada         759         5 982         1 757         0         0         7 914         46 200
Ö Austria         89         758         346         0         0         60         1253           Belgium         107         379         177         0         0         0         663           Canada         759         5982         1757         0         0         7904         46 200
Belgium         107         379         177         0         0         0         663           Canada         759         5.082         1.757         0         0         7.901         46.200
Canada 750 5082 1757 0 0 700 700 16200
Canada 133 3.302 1.137 U U 1.7091 10.390
Chile         0         676         62         0         0         738
Colombia         93         2481         78         0         0         231         2882
Costa Rica         0         7         0         0         20         8         35
Czech Republic         46         599         307         0         0         54         1005
Denmark 91 2 399 449 0 3 371 0 6 311
<b>Estonia</b> 4 251 27 0 0 91 373
Finland         29         608         103         11         50         32         832
France         2 446         10 836         3 088         132         0         0         16 501
Germany 248 3 131 2 556 0 0 0 0 5 935
Greece 192 456 242 0 0 41 932
Hungary 75 632 193 0 738 0 1639
lceland 11 90 61 14 19 0 195
Ireland 193 1 371 488 0 357 0 2 409
Israel 233 1 466 452 0 0 203 2 354
Italy 0 0 0 0 15467 0 15467
Japan 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Korea 214 1 692 928 0 0 0 2 835
Latvia 8 10 33 0 0 463 514
Lithuania 44 699 64 0 0 80 887
Mexico 579 2 634 100 0 0 7 931 11 244
Netherlands 381 2.213 278 0 0 67 2.939
New Zealand 178 1 543 310 0 0 0 2 031
Norway 134 2 789 692 0 0 45 3 659
Poland 516 2 110 1 245 0 0 0 3 872
Portugal 87 2.405 440 0 0 95 3.028
Slovak Republic 67 616 10 0 0 36 729
Slovenia 25 52 20 0 0 27 125
Spain 476 11 697 4 047 203 0 413 16 836
Sweden 0 0 0 0 7251 0 7251
Switzerland 57 1038 665 0 0 0 1760
Türkiye 392 6679 10322 0 0 0 17393
United Kingdom 2163 12 290 2 799 0 0 2 520 19 772
United States 33 347 113 102 52 436 0 1 370 20 498 220 753

\* For this entity, the use of code 6 exclusions was expanded beyond the scope of exclusion just for Covid and used for students who met the definition but due to the war in addition to Covid.

## Table II.A2.4. Exclusions, PISA 2022 [4/4]

				Stud	ent exclusions (weig	hted)		
		Weighted number of excluded students with functional disability (Code 1)	Weighted number of excluded students with intellectual disability (Code 2)	Weighted number of excluded students because of language (Code 3)	Weighted number of excluded students because of no materials available in the language of instruction (Code 4)	Weighted number of excluded students for other reasons (Code 5)	Weighted number of excluded students because online/virtual (Code 6)	Total weighted number of excluded students
		(8)	(9)	(10)	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)
ers	Albania	15	74	9	37	0	0	135
artn	Argentina	381	4 524	47	27	0	249	5 228
ä	Baku (Azerbaijan)	64	12	0	0	0	0	76
	Brazil	766	3 991	0	1 225	0	12 945	18 927
	Brunei Darussalam	7	44	2	0	0	0	53
	Bulgaria	8	489	22	0	0	259	777
	Cambodia	16	0	19	0	0	0	35
	Croatia	55	452	26	0	0	0	533
	Cvprus	13	118	67	0	0	7	205
	Dominican Republic	51	136	17	0	0	0	204
	El Salvador	16	44	0	0	0	106	165
	Georgia	16	68	12	0	0	621	717
	Guatemala	46	0	0	0	0	186	232
	Hong Kong (China)	0	0	0	0	0	1 204	1 204
	Indonesia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Jamaica	8	76	0	0	0	0	86
	Jordan	145	225	68	0	0	158	597
	Kazakhstan	1 109	1 749	786	3 206	0	13	6 879
	Kosovo	0	0	8	30	0	0	38
	Macao (China)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Malaysia	59	2 748	0	0	0	0	2 807
	Malta	8	83	13	2	0	2	108
	Moldova	144	342	14	0	0	8	508
	Mongolia	0	8	0	0	0	0	8
	Montenegro	70	28	90	0	0	2	191
	Moracco	261	62	0	0	0	0	324
	North Macedonia	12	16	30	250	0	14	330
	Palestinian Authority	12	2	0	0	0	0	16
	Panama	0	20	0	0	0	0	20
	Paraquay	0	32	14	0	0	106	153
	Peru	393	882	0	0	0	0	1 275
	Philippines	426	428	0	0	0	/ 201	5 144
	Oatar	56	156	0	0	0	5	217
	Romania	180	281	0	211	0	0	672
	Saudi Arabia	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
	Sarbia	16	114	29	1 569	0	24	1 753
	Singanore	11	193	34	0	0	0	239
	Chinese Tainei	281	854	0	0	0	0	1 136
	Thailand	268	8/5	0	0	0	7	1 121
	Ilkrainian regione (49 of 27)	107	0+0	0	0	0	24 520	24.674
	United Arab Emirator	20	200	16	0	0	544	702
	United Arab Enniates	10	209	0	0	12	044	61
	Urbakiatan	617	50	1 109	0	10	0	2/27
	Viet Nam	017	686	0	0	0	0	686
	The second se	l v	000	· · · ·	U U	v	v	000

#### | 299

### Table II.A2.6. Response rates, PISA 2022 [1/4]

			Initial sample	- before schoo	l replacement			Final sample	- after school	replacement	
		Weighted school participation rate before replacement (%)	Weighted number of responding schools (weighted also by enrolment)	Weighted number of schools sampled (responding and non- responding) (weighted also by enrolment)	Number of responding schools (unweighted)	Number of responding and non- responding schools (unweighted)	Weighted school participation rate after replacement (%)	Weighted number of responding schools (weighted also by enrolment)	Weighted number of schools sampled (responding and non- responding) (weighted also by enrolment)	Number of responding schools (unweighted)	Number of responding and non- responding schools (unweighted)
		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
5	Australia	92	260 643	281 781	722	794	96	269 918	282 241	743	794
ō	Austria	96	77 289	80 733	300	318	96	77 799	80 750	302	318
	Belgium	80	101 303	126 138	243	318	91	115 591	126 446	285	318
	Canada	81	305 746	375 877	828	1 049	86	321 877	376 040	867	1 049
	Chile	84	187 116	222 091	205	250	94	208 702	221 439	230	250
	Colombia	97	658 016	681 141	249	264	99	683 439	688 995	262	264
	Costa Rica	99	64 480	65 122	198	200	99	64 480	65 122	198	200
	Czech Republic	100	98 609	98 609	430	430	100	98 609	98 609	430	430
	Denmark	90	53 540	59 431	325	371	96	57 254	59 517	347	371
	Estonia	99	13 659	13 745	196	199	99	13 659	13 745	196	199
	Finland	99	60 180	60 501	241	245	99	60 180	60 501	241	245
	France	100	790 568	794 003	282	283	100	790 568	794 003	282	283
	Germany	93	674 828	726 200	241	264	98	712 724	725 905	257	264
	Greece	90	90 812	100 785	217	242	96	96 821	100 772	230	242
	Hungary	89	82 009	92 393	249	279	99	90 673	91 964	270	279
	lceland	96	4 435	4 601	134	149	96	4 435	4 601	134	149
	Ireland	99	68 814	69 234	169	170	100	69 234	69 234	170	170
	Israel	91	124 237	137 007	188	210	93	127 287	137 007	193	210
	Italy	96	493 350	513 656	334	350	99	510 819	513 842	345	350
	Japan	92	949 447	1 033 001	182	199	92	949 447	1 033 001	182	199
	Korea	89	369 002	415 104	166	187	100	413 724	415 104	186	187
	Latvia	84	15 494	18 464	208	259	89	16 424	18 516	225	259
	Lithuania	100	25 3 1 1	25 418	288	293	100	25 408	25 414	292	293
	Mexico	96	1 473 466	1 535 688	272	289	99	1 519 261	1 535 688	280	289
	Netherlands	66	116 517	177 833	114	175	90	159 228	177 613	154	175
	New Zealand	61	35 524	57 847	140	227	72	41 871	57 865	169	227
	Norway	99	62 129	62 943	266	271	99	62 393	62 943	267	271
	Poland	89	309 061	348 856	223	252	96	335 389	348 856	240	252
	Portugal	95	95 312	100 641	213	227	99	99 768	100 578	224	227
	Slovak Republic	91	44 081	48 692	271	301	96	46 387	48 549	288	301
	Slovenia	97	18 729	19 264	344	375	97	18 747	19 264	345	375
	Spain	98 473 996		485 037	959	985	99	480 541	485 037	966	985
	Sweden	98 113 994 1		116 574	259	268	99	115 248	116 574	262	268
	Switzerland	95 73 464		77 247	249	267	98	76 060	77 488	259	267
	Türkiye	99 1 079 992 1 08		1 086 638	195	196	100	1 086 638	1 086 638	196	196
	United Kingdom	67	490 313	728 369	388	580	82	593 600	725 986	451	580
	United States	51	2 019 439	3 927 302	125	253	63	2 485 876	3 926 991	154	253

## Table II.A2.6. Response rates, PISA 2022 [2/4]

			Initial sample	- before schoo	l replacement			Final sample	- after school	replacement	
		Weighted school participation rate before replacement (%)	Weighted number of responding schools (weighted also by enrolment)	Weighted number of schools sampled (responding and non- responding) (weighted also by enrolment)	Number of responding schools (unweighted)	Number of responding and non- responding schools (unweighted)	Weighted school participation rate after replacement (%)	Weighted number of responding schools (weighted also by enrolment)	Weighted number of schools sampled (responding and non- responding) (weighted also by enrolment)	Number of responding schools (unweighted)	Number of responding and non- responding schools (unweighted)
		(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)	(6)	(7)	(8)	(9)	(10)
ners	Albania	95	27 530	29 067	274	294	95	27 530	29 067	274	294
Parti	Argentina	98	661 503	673 069	454	461	99	668 001	673 236	457	461
	Baku (Azerbaijan)	100	31 925	31 925	1/8	1/8	100	31 925	31 925	1/8	1/8
	Brazil	81	2 153 176	2 660 537	505	636	96	2 541 343	2 659 664	599	636
	Brunei Darussalam	100	6 675	6 675	54	54	100	6 675	6 675	54	54
	Bulgaria	85	47 378	56 052	177	207	98	54 795	56 079	202	207
	Cambodia	100	205 960	206 763	182	183	100	207 046	207 046	183	183
	Croatia	100	37 398	37 475	180	182	100	37 398	37 475	180	182
	Cyprus	98	8 875	9 100	101	105	98	8 875	9 100	101	105
	Dominican Republic	98	131 827	133 900	249	257	99	133 159	133 900	253	257
	El Salvador	100	73 847	74 135	288	291	100	74 136	74 212	290	291
	Georgia	94	40 653	43 421	250	268	100	43 539	43 6 11	267	268
	Guatemala	85	143 290	168 547	265	361	93	155 960	168 475	290	361
	Hong Kong (China)	60	32 428	54 402	122	204	80	43 491	54 402	163	204
	Indonesia	99	3 985 101	4 011 189	408	411	100	4 002 841	4 0 11 189	410	411
	Jamaica	90	41 020	45 680	145	163	91	41 545	45 680	147	163
	Jordan	100	146 365	146 365	260	260	100	146 365	146 365	260	260
	Kazakhstan	99	279 305	283 489	565	571	100	283 481	283 481	571	571
	Kosovo	96	23 183	24 127	229	251	96	23 183	24 127	229	251
	Macao (China)	100	4 453	4 453	46	46	100	4 453	4 453	46	46
	Malaysia	100	406 803	407 861	199	200	100	406 803	407 861	199	200
	Malta	100	4 114	4 114	46	46	100	4 114	4 114	46	46
	Moldova	100	29 607	29 687	265	268	100	29 607	29 687	265	268
	Mongolia	100	43 631	43 631	195	195	100	43 631	43 631	195	195
	Montenegro	99	6 581	6 659	63	64	99	6 581	6 659	63	64
	Morocco	100	479 666	480 608	177	178	100	479 939	479 939	178	178
	North Macedonia	100	17 919	17 919	111	111	100	17 919	17 919	111	111
	Palestinian Authority	99	94 105	95 053	271	274	100	94 988	95 027	273	274
	Panama	84	54 532	64 834	190	243	91	59 341	64 996	215	243
	Paraguay	99	87 772	88 922	278	284	100	88 602	88 922	281	284
	Peru	94	489 130	520 113	308	338	100	521 500	522 136	337	338
	Philippines	100	1 719 012	1 719 012	188	188	100	1 719 012	1 719 012	188	188
	Qatar	100	18 927	18 927	229	229	100	18 927	18 927	229	229
	Romania	100	167 589	167 589	262	262	100	167 589	167 589	262	262
	Saudi Arabia	92	300 026	326 333	178	195	100	325 174	326 372	193	195
	Serbia	99	63 599	64 435	183	189	99	63 599	64 435	183	189
	Singapore	98	41 915	42 567	164	167	98	41 915	42 567	164	167
	Chinese Taipei	83	161 354	195 232	180	216	84	163 590	195 232	182	216
	Thailand	99	685 471	693 755	276	280	100	690 286	693 755	279	280
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	80	178 606	223 859	141	189	91	204 043	224 119	164	189
	United Arab Emirates	100	63 395	63 507	840	843	100	63 395	63 507	840	843
	Uruguay	99	43 188	43 447	221	223	100	43 395	43 447	222	223
	Uzbekistan	100	510 406	510 406	202	202	100	510 406	510 406	202	202
	Viet Nam	100	1 020 528	1 020 528	178	178	100	1 020 528	1 020 528	178	178

## Table II.A2.6. Response rates, PISA 2022 [3/4]

		Final sample - st	udents within schools after sc	hool replacement	
	Weighted student participation rate after replacement (%)	Number of students assessed (weighted)	Number of students sampled (assessed and absent) (weighted)	Number of students assessed (unweighted)	Number of students sampled (assessed and absent) (unweighted)
	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)
	76	193 102	253 899	13 437	17 771
8 Austria	89	65 057	73 230	6 151	7 092
Belgium	87	101 344	117 082	8 286	9 533
Canada	77	233 773	303 622	23 073	29 234
Chile	84	168 773	201 037	6 488	7 627
Colombia	92	532 284	580 114	7 804	8 469
Costa Rica	92	52 220	56 750	6 113	6 656
Czech Republic	91	91 518	100 330	8 460	9 282
Denmark	84	46 126	54 775	6 200	7 455
Estonia	88	11 693	13 262	6 392	7 236
Finland	89	52 007	58 641	10 239	11 8 1 1
France	91	705 197	777 730	6 770	7 509
Germany	88	588 741	669 277	6 116	6 964
Greece	92	87 038	94 215	6 403	6 921
Hungary	92	80 160	86 877	6 198	6 705
Iceland	80	3 360	4 195	3 360	4 195
Ireland	77	50 274	65 497	5 569	7 258
Israel	84	103 556	123 165	6 251	7 437
Italy	92	452 653	492 440	10 552	11 429
Japan	92	858 514	934 656	5 760	6 290
Korea	94	383 999	406 986	6 454	6 840
Latvia	88	13 215	14 935	5 373	6 067
Lithuania	93	22 470	24 245	7 257	7 826
Mexico	95	1 313 477	1 383 827	6 288	6 675
Netherlands	81	113 351	140 125	5 046	6 221
New Zealand	72	29 219	40 758	4 682	6 567
Norway	87	50 577	58 362	6611	7 635
Poland	81	266 114	328 452	6011	7 422
Portugal	86	82 496	95 838	6 793	7 888
Slovak Republic	91	41 319	45 438	5 824	6 375
Slovenia	82	15 142	18 355	6 721	8 134
Spain	86	392 413	454 692	30 800	35 472
Sweden	85	91 230	107 261	6 072	7 133
Switzerland	91	67 555	74 335	6 829	7 471
Türkiye	98	914 714	933 402	7 250	7 387
United Kingdom	75	448 396	596 519	12 972	17 023
United States	80	1 866 014	2 336 430	4 552	5 719

## Table II.A2.6. Response rates, PISA 2022 [4/4]

		Final sample - st	udents within schools after sc	hool replacement	
	Weighted student participation rate after replacement (%)	Number of students assessed (weighted)	Number of students sampled (assessed and absent) (weighted)	Number of students assessed (unweighted)	Number of students sampled (assessed and absent) (unweighted)
	(11)	(12)	(13)	(14)	(15)
음 Albania	86	23 274	26 915	6 129	7 089
듚 Argentina	86	508 035	592 257	12 111	14 014
🗅 Baku (Azerbaijan)	88	26 799	30 529	7 720	8 793
Brazil	84	1 832 626	2 177 600	10 798	12 879
Brunei Darussalam	93	5 576	5 980	5 576	5 980
Bulgaria	89	46 335	52 192	6 107	6 878
Cambodia	99	125 643	126 409	5 279	5 308
Croatia	85	29 804	34 963	6 135	7 194
Cyprus	84	7 190	8 578	6 515	7 765
Dominican Republic	93	112 417	121 281	6 868	7 417
El Salvador	94	63 767	68 101	6 705	7 158
Georgia	98	39 587	40 348	6 583	6 712
Guatemala	91	143 084	156 600	5 190	5 709
Hong Kong (China)	75	29 278	38 858	5 907	7 819
Indonesia	95	3 602 554	3 782 864	13 439	14 040
Jamaica	68	15 622	23 123	3 873	5 791
Jordan	97	140 640	144 269	7 799	8 014
Kazakhstan	98	267 773	272 446	19 769	20 128
Kosovo	91	18 427	20 220	6 027	6 616
Macao (China)	99	4 384	4 423	4 384	4 423
Malaysia	94	362 809	387 928	7 069	7 554
Malta	79	3 127	3 955	3 127	3 955
Moldova	94	27 114	28 799	6 235	6 623
Mongolia	98	39 969	40 828	6 999	7 155
Montenegro	95	5 954	6 291	5 793	6 117
Могоссо	98	446 431	454 986	6 867	7 000
North Macedonia	90	14 832	16 548	6 610	7 380
Palestinian Authority	96	85 017	88 348	7 905	8 239
Panama	77	29 491	38 418	4 544	6 017
Paraguay	92	74 217	80 700	5 084	5 522
Peru	97	486 292	498 888	6 968	7 136
Philippines	95	1 698 135	1 782 896	7 193	7 550
Qatar	89	16 346	18 361	7 676	8 649
Romania	97	157 838	162 019	7 364	7 543
Saudi Arabia	97	307 363	316 501	6 928	7 144
Serbia	91	53 150	58 297	6 413	7 033
Singapore	91	37 797	41 358	6 606	7 235
Chinese Taipei	82	131 517	159 821	5 857	7 038
Thailand	96	580 014	601 524	8 495	8 816
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	87	131 271	151 104	3 876	4 508
United Arab Emirates	93	56 369	60 658	24 600	26 592
Uruguay	87	35 308	40 728	6 618	7 637
Uzbekistan	98	472 726	482 059	7 293	7 445
Viet Nam	99	933 854	939 459	6 068	6 105

	Table II.A2.1	PISA target populations and samples, 2022
	Table II.A2.2	Change in the enrolment of 15-year-olds in grade 7 and above (PISA 2003 through PISA 2022)
	Table II.A2.3	PISA target populations and samples in adjudicated regions, 2022
	Table II.A2.4	Exclusions, PISA 2022
WEB	Table II.A2.5	Exclusions in adjudicated regions, PISA 2022
	Table II.A2.6	Response rates, PISA 2022
WEB	Table II.A2.7	Response rates in adjudicated regions, PISA 2022

#### Table II.A2.8. The PISA target population, the PISA samples, and the definition of schools tables

StatLink msp https://stat.link/hpg9nd

#### Notes

<sup>1</sup> To accommodate countries that requested grade-based results for the purpose of national analyses, PISA 2022 provided a sampling option to supplement the age-based sampling from the target population with an additional grade-based sample.

<sup>2</sup> More precisely, PISA assessed students who were at least 15 years and 3 complete months old and who were at most 16 years and 3 complete months old (i.e., younger than 16 years, 2 months and roughly 30 days old), with a tolerance of one month on each side of this age window. If the PISA assessment was conducted in April 2022, as was the case in many countries and economies, all students born in 2006 would have been eligible.

<sup>3</sup> Educational institutions are generally referred to as schools in this publication, although some educational institutions (in particular, some types of vocational education establishments) may not be referred to as schools in certain countries.

<sup>4</sup> Such a comparison is complicated by first-generation immigrant students, who received part of their education in a country other than the one in which they were assessed. Mean scores in any country or economy should be interpreted in the context of local student demographics. In addition, the PISA target population does not include residents of a country who attend school in another country. It does, however, include foreign nationals who attend school in the country of assessment.

<sup>5</sup> In education systems inherently too small (due to demographics for instance), all schools and all eligible students were included in the sample. In PISA 2022, all eligible schools were selected in North Macedonia and Qatar. All students in all schools were selected in Brunei Darussalam, Iceland, Macao (China), and Malta.

<sup>6</sup> Non-response and other standards enforced to achieve consistent, precise, generalisable, and timely data collection in PISA 2022 are available on its Technical Standards (OECD, 2023).

<sup>7</sup> The threshold for an acceptable participation rate after replacement varies between 85 % and 100 %, depending on the participation rate before replacement.

<sup>8</sup> These exclusions refer only to those students with limited proficiency in the language of instruction/assessment. Exclusions related to the unavailability of test material in the language of instruction are not considered in this analysis.

<sup>9</sup> The overall exclusion rate includes those students who were excluded at the school level (Column 6) and those students who were excluded within schools (Column 11); however, only students enrolled in non-excluded schools were affected by within-school exclusions, hence the presence of the term equivalent to 1 minus Column 6 (expressed as a decimal).

#### 304 |

<sup>10</sup> If the correlation between the propensity of exclusions and student performance were 0.3, then resulting mean scores would likely have been overestimated by 1 score point if the exclusion rate were 1 %; by 3 score points if the exclusion rate were 5 %; and by 6 score points if the exclusion rate were 10 %. If the correlation between the propensity of exclusions and student performance were 0.5, then resulting mean scores would likely have been overestimated by 1 score points if the exclusion rate were 5 %; and by 6 score points if the exclusion rate were 10 %. If the correlation between the propensity of exclusions and student performance were 0.5, then resulting mean scores would likely have been overestimated by 1 score point if the exclusion rate were 1 %; by 5 score points if the exclusion rate were 5 %; and by 10 score points if the exclusion rate were 10 %. For this calculation, a model was used that assumed a bivariate normal distribution for performance and the propensity to participate.

#### References

OECD (2023), *PISA 2022 Technical Report*, OECD Publishing.

[1]

## Annex A3. Technical notes on analyses in this volume

#### Standard errors, confidence intervals, significance test and p-values

The statistics in this report represent estimates based on samples of students, rather than values that could be calculated if every student in every country had answered every question. Consequently, it is important to measure the degree of uncertainty in the estimates. In PISA, each estimate has an associated degree of uncertainty, which is expressed through a standard error. The use of confidence intervals provides a way of making inferences about the population parameters (e.g. means and proportions) in a manner that reflects the uncertainty associated with the sample estimates. If numerous different samples were drawn from the same population, according to the same procedures as the original sample, then in 95 out of 100 samples the calculated confidence interval would encompass the true population parameter. For many parameters, sample estimators follow a normal distribution, and the 95% confidence interval can be constructed as the estimated parameter, plus or minus 1.96 times the associated standard error.

In many cases, readers are primarily interested in whether a given value in a particular country is different from a second value in the same or another country, e.g. whether students in public schools perform better than students in private schools in the same country. In the tables and figures used in this report, differences are labelled as statistically significant when a difference of that size or larger, in either direction, would be observed less than 5% of the time in samples, if there were no difference in corresponding population values. In other words, the risk of reporting a difference as significant when such difference, in fact, does not exist, is contained at 5%.

## Statistical significance of differences related to type of school and differences between subgroup means

Differences in student performance by type of school or other indices were tested for statistical significance. Positive differences indicate higher scores for students in private schools while negative differences indicate higher scores for students in public schools. Generally, differences marked in bold in the tables in this volume are statistically significant at the 95% confidence level.

Similarly, differences between other groups of students (e.g. students in urban schools and students in rural schools, or socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged students) were tested for statistical significance. The definitions of the subgroups can, in general, be found in the tables and the text accompanying the analysis. All differences marked in bold in the tables presented in Annex B of this report are statistically significant at the 95% level, unless otherwise indicated.

## Statistical significance of differences between subgroup means, after accounting for other variables

For many tables, subgroup comparisons were performed both on the observed difference ("before accounting for other variables") and after accounting for other variables, such as the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status of students. The adjusted differences were estimated using linear regression and tested for significance at the 95% confidence level. Significant differences are marked in bold.

#### 306 |

## Statistical significance of performance differences between the top and bottom quartiles of PISA indices and scales

Differences in average performance between the top and bottom quarters of the PISA indices and scales were tested for statistical significance. Figures marked in bold indicate that performance between the top and bottom quarters of students on the respective index is statistically significantly different at the 95% confidence level.

Statistical significance of relationships between PISA items, indices and scales at the system level

Relationships between two variables at the system level (e.g. the relationship between disciplinary climate and mathematics performance across education systems) were also tested for statistical significance. Figures marked in bold indicate that a positive or negative relationship between two variables is statistically significant at the 95% confidence level. Figures marked in italics indicate relationships between two variables that are marginally significant (90% confidence level).

#### Change in the performance per unit of an index

The difference in student performance per unit of an index was calculated in many tables. Figures in bold indicate that the differences are statistically and significantly different from zero at the 95% confidence level.

#### **Odds ratios**

The odds ratio is a measure of the relative likelihood of a particular outcome across two groups. The odds ratio for observing the outcome when an antecedent is present is simply

$$OR = \frac{(p_{11}/p_{12})}{(p_{21}/p_{22})}$$

where  $p_{11}/p_{12}$  represents the "odds" of observing the outcome when the antecedent is present, and  $p_{21}/p_{22}$  represents the "odds" of observing the outcome when the antecedent is not present.

Logistic regression can be used to estimate the log ratio: the exponentiated logit coefficient for a binary variable is equivalent to the odds ratio. A "generalised" odds ratio, after accounting for other differences across groups, can be estimated by introducing control variables in the logistic regression.

#### Statistical significance of odds ratios

Figures in bold in the data tables presented in Annex B1 of this report indicate that the odds ratio is statistically significantly different from 1 at the 95% confidence level. To construct a 95% confidence interval for the odds ratio, the estimator is assumed to follow a log-normal distribution, rather than a normal distribution.

In some tables, odds ratios after accounting for other variables are also presented. These odds ratios were estimated using logistic regression and tested for significance against the null hypothesis of an odds ratio equal to one (i.e. equal likelihoods, after accounting for other variables).

#### Use of student weights

The target population in PISA is 15-year-old students, but a two-stage sampling procedure was used. After the population was defined, school samples were selected with a probability proportional to the expected number of eligible students in each school. Only in a second sampling stage were students drawn from among the eligible students in each selected school.

Although the student samples were drawn from within a sample of schools, the school sample was designed to optimise the resulting sample of students, rather than to give an optimal sample of schools. It is therefore preferable to analyse the school-level variables as attributes of students (e.g. in terms of the share of 15-year-old students affected), rather than as elements in their own right.

Most analyses of student and school characteristics are therefore weighted by student final weights (or their sum, in the case of school characteristics), and use student replicate weights for estimating standard errors.

#### Calculation of the coverage for items and indices about COVID-19 school closures

In the student questionnaire, the question about the duration of school closures because of COVID-19 (ST347Q01JA) filters access to all questions regarding students' experiences during this period. This concerns most of the questions covered in Chapter 2 of this volume as well as the indices derived from students' answers to those questions (items belonging to questions ST348, ST352, ST354 and ST355, and the indices SCHSUST, PROBSELF, FAMUPSL, FEELLAH and SDLEFF).

When students had answered "No" to question about COVID-19 school closures, their missing responses to any of the other questions about school closures were considered as "valid skips" or "not applicable" in the PISA 2022 database. In the case of students who had answered that their school was closed for some time because of the pandemic but did not respond to the other questions about school closures, their missing responses were treated as "invalid", "no response" or "system". All of these responses are considered as "missing" in the PISA 2022 database.

To calculate the correct coverage for the questions requires reducing the sample to students who had one of the three missing values "invalid", "no response" or "system". For indices, the sample is restricted to students who answered "yes" to the question about the duration of school closures because of COVID-19 (ST347Q01JA), as indices can be built even if not all items were answered. The restriction of the sample does not modify the value of a result, but only its coverage (i.e. the information regarding the proportion of the sample covered shown next to the standard errors in tables).

The PISA 2022 Technical Report explains the different types of missing data (OECD, forthcoming[1]).

#### Calculation of the isolation index

The isolation index used in the report corresponds to the normalised exposure indicator (Frankel and Volij, 2011[2]),

$$I = 1 - \frac{\sum_{j=1}^{J} \frac{n_j^a}{N^a} \frac{(1 - n_j^a)}{n_j}}{1 - p^a}$$

where  $n_j^a$  and  $N^a$  stand for the number of students of type *a* (for instance, those with an immigrant background) in school *j* and in the education system;  $n_j$  is the total number of students in school *j*; and  $p^a = \frac{n^a}{N}$  is the proportion of type *a* students in the education system. The index ranges from 0 (full exposure) to 1 (full isolation), meaning that the index increases with the concentration of type *a* students in a limited number of schools. In the report, the index is used for measuring the isolation in schools of the following groups of students:

- Socio-economically advantaged and disadvantaged students (defined as those in the first and the fourth quarters, respectively, of the national distribution of the ESCS index)
- Low and high achievers in mathematics (defined as those in the first and the fourth quarters, respectively, of the national distribution of mathematics performance)
- Students with an immigrant background
- Boys and girls

#### School-level results and modal grade schools

The interpretation of school-level results (e.g. comparisons between upper secondary education/ISCED level 3 and lower secondary education/ISCED level 2) depends on how schools are defined and organised within countries and by the units that were chosen for sampling purposes. For example, in some countries, some of the schools in the PISA sample were defined as managerial units (even if they spanned several geographically separate institutions, as in the Netherlands); in others, they were defined as those parts of larger educational institutions that serve 15-year-olds; in still others they were defined as physical school buildings; and in others they were defined from a management perspective (e.g. entities having a principal). The PISA 2022 Technical Report (OECD, forthcoming[1]) and Annex A2 provide an overview of how schools are defined. In Slovenia, for example, the primary sampling unit for students attending upper secondary/ISCED level 3 is defined as a group of students who follow the same study programme within a school (an education track within a school).

Some indicators in Chapter 5 (namely full-time, part-time teachers, certified teachers, student-teacher ratio), were calculated specifically for schools with the "modal ISCED level" for 15-year-old students. The "modal ISCED level" is defined here as the level attended by at least one-third of the PISA sample. As PISA students are sampled to represent all 15-year-old students, whatever type of schools they are enrolled in, they may not be representative of their schools. Restricting the sampling to schools with the modal ISCED level for 15-year-old students ensures that the characteristics of students sampled for PISA represent the profile of the typical student attending the school. Modal grade may be lower secondary, upper secondary or both (lower and upper secondary education can be provided in the same school). As the restriction is made at the school level, some students from a grade other than the modal grade in the country may also be used in the analysis. The PISA 2022 Technical Report (OECD, forthcoming[1]) and Annex A2 provide an overview of how schools are defined.

#### **Overall ratios and average ratios**

In this report, the comparisons of ratios related to teachers, such as student-teacher ratio or the proportion of fully certified teachers, are made using overall and modal-grade restricted ratios. This means that ratios are obtained by dividing the total number of students in the target population (either from all schools attended by 15-year-olds or restricted to schools with the modal ISCED level for 15-year-old students) by the total number of teachers in the target population. The ratios are computed by first computing the numerator and denominator as the (weighted) sum of school-level totals, then dividing the numerator by the denominator. Similar estimations are made for the proportion of teachers with at least a bachelor's, master's or doctoral qualification, the proportion of fully certified teachers, and the proportion of teachers working part time or full time. In most cases (i.e. unless all schools are exactly the same size) this overall ratio differs from the modal-grade restricted ratios.

#### Time in regular lessons

In PISA 2022, time in regular lessons was calculated by combining answers from the student and school principal questionnaire and is not comparable to PISA 2018. Each student reported the number of class periods she/he is required to attend in all subjects per week, and school principals reported the average number of minutes per class period attended by students in modal grade. This combination may create some noise induced by the potential misreporting or misunderstanding of the definition of a class period, either by students or school principals.

# Calculation of relationships between school and system characteristics and indicators of education systems' resilience

System-level correlations and partial correlations were used to examine whether characteristics of education systems are potential components of resilience. The relationships between various characteristics of education systems (e.g. the average disciplinary climate or the percentage of students who had attended pre-primary education for at least one year), on the one hand, and all indicators of resilience (e.g. average mathematics performance, socio-economic fairness and sense of belonging at school), on the other hand, were tested for their statistical significance and direction.

Correlational analyses were conducted separately for OECD countries and for all countries and economies that participated in PISA 2022. In addition, correlations were computed before and after accounting for per capita GDP, to account for the level of economic development of a country/economy. The system-level correlation tables show correlation coefficients and partial correlation coefficients as well as their significance. Figures display the percentage of the variation of the resilience indicators (e.g. average mathematics performance) that is explained by the system characteristic under study (e.g. average disciplinary climate). Relationships between trends (e.g. change in bullying and performance in mathematics) refer to the same period. While most trends refer to the 2018-2022 period, a few system characteristics were not measured in 2018 (e.g. disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons). In these cases, the trend relationship refers to the trend between 2012 and 2022 (e.g. change between 2012 and 2022 in disciplinary climate and mathematics performance). No trend relationships were reported for sense of belonging in these cases because the index of sense of belonging at school in 2012 and 2022 were not comparable.

#### Some considerations when interpreting the PISA results

#### Cross-national and cross-cultural comparability of the PISA data

PISA 2022 asked students and school principals to answer questions about the organisation of schools, and the social and economic contexts in which learning takes place. These are reports provided by principals and students themselves rather than external observations, and thus may be influenced by cultural differences in how individuals respond.

While PISA aims to maximise the cross-national and cross-cultural comparability of complex constructs, it must do so while keeping the questionnaires relatively short and minimising the perceived intrusiveness of the questions. Despite the extensive investments PISA makes in monitoring the process of translation, standardising the administration of the assessment, selecting questions and analysing the quality of the data, full comparability across countries and subpopulations cannot always be guaranteed.

The indicators of school climate and well-being analysed in this report are based on students' and principals' reports, which are susceptible to several possible measurement errors: memory decay; social desirability (the tendency to respond in a manner that is more acceptable in one's own social and cultural context, reference-group bias (what the comparison group is); and response-style bias (e.g. straight-lining, over-reporting, modesty, heaping, acquiescence) (Pekrun, 2020<sub>[3]</sub>; Harzing et al., 2012<sub>[4]</sub>; Spooren, Mortelmans and Thijssen, 2012<sub>[5]</sub>). These biases can operate differently in different cultural contexts, thus limiting the cross-country comparability of responses (Benítez, Van de Vijver and Padilla, 2019<sub>[6]</sub>; Van de Vijver et al., 2019<sub>[7]</sub>). Above all, readers should be particularly cautious when interpreting indicators with a strong subjective component, such as life satisfaction and student feelings, which are more likely to be influenced by cultural norms and the personality of the respondent.

In order to minimise the risk of misleading interpretations, a number of reliability and invariance analyses of the PISA indices used in this report have been carried out (see Annex A1 and the PISA 2022 Technical Report (OECD, forthcoming<sup>[1]</sup>) for more details), providing readers with an indication of how reliable cross-country comparisons are.

### 310 |

#### Interpreting information from principals and school-level results

In addition to the general constraints of self-reported data, there are other limitations, particularly those concerning the information collected from principals or the interpretation of school-level results, that should be taken into account when interpreting the data.

- The learning environment examined by PISA may only partially reflect that which shaped students' experiences in education earlier in their school careers, particularly in school systems where students progress through different types of educational institutions at the pre-primary, primary, lower secondary and upper secondary levels. To the extent that students' current learning environment differs from that of their earlier school years, the contextual data collected by PISA are an imperfect proxy for students' cumulative learning environments, and the effects of those environments on learning outcomes is likely to be underestimated. In most cases, 15-year-old students have been in their current school for less than three years (Table II.B1.2.3). This means that much of their academic development took place earlier, in other schools, which may have little or no connection with the school in which they were enrolled when they sat the PISA test. Parents may have fewer opportunities to interact with the school staff when their child has been attending the new school for just a few months. Students may have also spent too little time in the new school to develop a strong attachment to the school.
- In some countries, 15-year-old students have already transitioned into upper secondary education, while in
  others they are still in lower secondary education. Some of the questions may be influenced by the education
  level in which students are enrolled, especially in those countries where transitioning into upper secondary
  education means transferring into a new school.
- In some countries and economies, the definition of the school in which students are taught is not straightforward because schools vary in the level and purpose of education. For example, in some countries and economies, subunits within schools (e.g. study programmes, shifts and campuses) were sampled instead of schools as administrative units (see above).
- Although principals can provide information about their schools, generalising from a single source of information for each school and then matching that information with students' reports is not straightforward. Also, principals' perceptions may not be the most accurate source for some information related to teachers, such as teachers' morale and commitment.
- The age-based sampling followed in PISA means that, in some education systems, students are not always representative of their schools. Interpreting differences between schools appropriately therefore requires specific knowledge about how school systems are structured.
- When presenting results by the socio-economic profile of schools, the location of schools, the type of school
  or the education level, the number of students and schools in each subsample has to meet the PISA reporting
  requirements of at least 30 students and 5 schools. Even when these reporting requirements are met, the
  reader should interpret the results cautiously when the number of students or schools is just above the
  threshold.

Despite these caveats, information from the school questionnaire provides unique insights into the ways in which national and subnational authorities seek to realise their education objectives.

#### Schooling and school effects

In using results from non-experimental data on school performance, such as the PISA database, it is important to bear in mind the distinction between school effects and the effects of schooling, particularly when interpreting the modest association between factors such as school resources, policies and institutional characteristics, on the one hand, and student performance, on the other. School effects are education researchers' shorthand for the effect on academic performance of attending one school or another, usually schools that differ in resources or policies and institutional characteristics. Where schools and school systems do not vary in fundamental ways, the school effect

can be modest. Nevertheless, modest school effects should not be confused with a lack of an effect of schooling (the influence on performance of not being schooled compared with being schooled).

#### Interpreting correlations and changes over time

A correlation indicates the strength and direction of a linear relationship, either positive or negative, between two variables. A correlation is a simple statistic that measures the degree to which two variables are associated with each other; it does not prove causality between the two.

Comparisons of results between resources, policies and practices, and mathematics performance across time (trends analyses) should also be interpreted with caution. Changes in the strength of the relationship between characteristics of education systems and education outcomes (e.g. mathematics performance) cannot be considered causal because they can occur for two key reasons. First, a particular set of resources, policies and practices might have been chosen by higher-performing students (or higher-performing schools or high-performing systems) while that set of resources, policies and practices might not have existed in lower-performing students/schools/systems. Under this interpretation, the relationship between mathematics performance, and resources, policies and practices is stronger because they are available to higher-performing students/schools/systems. Second, a particular set of resources, policies may have been used more extensively in 2022 than earlier, and may have promoted student learning more in 2022 than before. PISA trend data indicate where changes have occurred. However, in order to understand the nature of the change, further analysis is needed.

#### Interpreting results before and after accounting for socio-economic status

When examining the relationship between education outcomes and resources, policies and practices within school systems, this volume takes into account socio-economic differences among students, schools and systems. The advantage of doing this lies in comparing similar entities, namely students, schools and systems with similar socio-economic profiles. At the same time, there is a risk that such adjusted comparisons underestimate the strength of the relationship between student performance and resources, policies and practices, since most of the differences in performance are often attributable to both policies and socio-economic status.

Conversely, analyses that do not take socio-economic status into account can overstate the relationship between student performance and resources, policies and practices, as the level of resources and the kinds of policies adopted may also be related to the socio-economic profile of students, schools and systems. At the same time, analyses without adjustments may paint a more realistic picture of the schools that parents choose for their children. They may also provide more information for other stakeholders who are interested in the overall performance of students, schools and systems, including any effects that may be related to the socio-economic profile of schools and systems. For example, parents may be primarily interested in a school's absolute performance standards, even if that school's higher achievement record stems partially from the fact that the school has a larger proportion of advantaged students.

For the system-level analyses, correlations are examined before and after accounting for per capita GDP in order to account for the extent to which the observed relationships are influenced by countries'/economies' level of economic development.

#### References

Benítez, I., F. Van de Vijver and J. Padilla (2019), "A Mixed Methods Approach to the Analysis of Bias in Cross-cultural Studies", *Sociological Methods & Constructional Construction C*  [6]

### 312 |

Frankel, D. and O. Volij (2011), "Measuring school segregation", <i>Journal of Economic Theory</i> , Vol. 146/1, pp. 1-38, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jet.2010.10.008</u> .	[2]
Harzing, A. et al. (2012), "Response Style Differences in Cross-National Research", <i>Management International Review</i> , Vol. 52/3, pp. 341-363, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11575-011-0111-2</u> .	[4]
OECD (forthcoming), PISA 2022 Technical Report, OECD Publishing, Paris.	[1]
Pekrun, R. (2020), "Self-Report is Indispensable to Assess Students' Learning", <i>Frontline Learning Research</i> , Vol. 8/3, pp. 185-193, <u>https://doi.org/10.14786/flr.v8i3.637</u> .	[3]
Spooren, P., D. Mortelmans and P. Thijssen (2012), "Content' versus 'style': acquiescence in student evaluation of teaching?", <i>British Educational Research Journal</i> , Vol. 38/1, pp. 3-21, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/01411926.2010.523453</u> .	[5]
Van de Vijver, F. et al. (2019), "Invariance analyses in large-scale studies" <i>, OECD Education Working Papers</i> , No. 201, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/254738dd-en</u> .	[7]

## **Annex B1. Results for countries and economies**

### Table II.B1.1.1. Students' sense of belonging at school [1/6]

Based on students' reports

							Pe	ercentage	e of stu	idents w	ho rep	orted the	e follov	ving:				
	Index of bel	of sense onging	l fe	el like ar	n outsid	ler (or le	eft out	of thing:	s) at sc	hool			Imake	friends e	asily at	school		
	Average	Variability	Stro	ngly	Ac	iree	Dis	aree	Stro	ongly	Stro	ongly	Ac	iree	Disa	aree	Stro	ongly
	Mean	SD. SF.	%	S.F.	%	S.F.	%	S.F.	%	S.F.	%	S.F.	%	S.F.	%	SE	%	S.F.
☐ Australia*	-0.23 (0.01)	0.85 (0.01)	5.0	(0.2)	16.1	(0.4)	54.4	(0.6)	24.5	(0.4)	17.8	(0.4)	59.8	(0.5)	17.7	(0.4)	4.6	(0.2)
O Austria	0.44 (0.02)	1.17 (0.01)	5.1	(0.3)	7.9	(0.4)	23.3	(0.6)	63.7	(0.7)	37.1	(0.7)	42.8	(0.7)	14.0	(0.5)	6.1	(0.4)
Belgium	0.02 (0.01)	0.84 (0.01)	3.2	(0.2)	8.5	(0.4)	44.8	(0.8)	43.6	(0.8)	24.6	(0.6)	55.2	(0.7)	15.9	(0.4)	4.3	(0.2)
Canada*	-0.16 (0.01)	0.94 (0.01)	5.1	(0.2) †	15.6	(0.4) †	47.3	(0.6) †	32.0	(0.5) †	21.3	(0.5) †	54.0	(0.6) †	18.5	(0.4) †	6.3	(0.3) †
Chile	-0.22 (0.02)	0.97 (0.01)	9.0	(0.5) †	16.6	(0.7) †	40.5	(0.8) †	33.9	(0.8) †	19.9	(0.7) †	43.6	(0.9) †	25.6	(0.7) †	10.9	(0.6) †
Colombia	-0.16 (0.02)	0.94 (0.02)	9.0	(0.5)	11.2	(0.4)	49.4	(0.8)	30.5	(0.8)	24.2	(0.6)	52.4	(0.8)	16.7	(0.6)	6.7	(0.3)
Costa Rica	-0.09 (0.02)	1.07 (0.02)	9.4	(0.5) †	13.3	(0.5) †	41.8	(1.0) †	35.5	(0.8) †	28.1	(0.9) †	45.8	(0.8) †	17.5	(0.5) †	8.6	(0.4) †
Czech Republic	-0.28 (0.01)	0.81 (0.01)	7.0	(0.4)	16.9	(0.6)	53.1	(0.7)	23.0	(0.6)	16.7	(0.5)	54.4	(0.5)	22.6	(0.5)	6.3	(0.4)
Denmark*	0.11 (0.02)	0.98 (0.02)	3.1	(0.3)	7.2	(0.6)	40.3	(0.9)	49.4	(0.8)	22.7	(0.7)	57.7	(1.0)	15.3	(0.7)	4.3	(0.3)
Estonia	-0.14 (0.01)	0.83 (0.01)	3.4	(0.3)	10.4	(0.5)	48.8	(0.7)	37.4	(0.7)	15.6	(0.6)	55.2	(0.8)	23.0	(0.6)	6.1	(0.4)
Finland	0.10 (0.01)	1.02 (0.01)	3.4	(0.2)	8.9	(0.3)	37.3	(0.7)	50.4	(0.6)	23.6	(0.6)	53.5	(0.7)	17.5	(0.6)	5.4	(0.3)
France	-0.03 (0.01)	0.91 (0.01)	6.8	(0.4) †	18.4	(0.6) †	42.0	(0.6) †	32.8	(0.7) †	30.9	(0.7)	49.0	(0.7)	14.5	(0.6)	5.7	(0.4)
Germany	0.27 (0.02)	1.00 (0.01)	3.6	(0.3) †	8.9	(0.4) †	29.8	(0.7) †	57.7	(0.8) †	22.8	(0.7) †	46.6	(0.7) †	22.2	(0.5) †	8.3	(0.4) †
Greece	-0.06 (0.01)	0.88 (0.01)	4.8	(0.3)	11.1	(0.5)	52.2	(0.7)	31.9	(0.7)	20.2	(0.6)	54.6	(0.6)	19.6	(0.6)	5.5	(0.4)
Hungary	0.14 (0.02)	0.95 (0.01)	3.9	(0.3)	9.3	(0.4)	42.0	(0.9)	44.8	(0.9)	27.1	(0.6)	53.6	(0.7)	15.4	(0.6)	3.9	(0.3)
Iceland	0.16 (0.02)	1.13 (0.02)	4.7	(0.4)	8.6	(0.6)	38.0	(1.0)	48.7	(0.9)	24.8	(0.9)	51.8	(1.1)	16.1	(0.7)	7.3	(0.5)
Ireland*	-0.13 (0.01)	0.82 (0.01)	2.9	(0.2)	11.4	(0.6)	55.5	(0.7)	30.3	(0.7)	16.8	(0.5)	64.2	(0.7)	15.1	(0.6)	3.9	(0.3)
Israel	m m	m m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Italy	-0.06 (0.01)	0.86 (0.01)	3.5	(0.3)	9.8	(0.4)	46.6	(0.7)	40.1	(0.6)	24.5	(0.6)	51.5	(0.7)	17.2	(0.5)	6.8	(0.4)
Japan	0.25 (0.02)	1.02 (0.01)	2.0	(0.2)	4.4	(0.3)	38.6	(0.9)	55.0	(0.9)	28.4	(0.7)	46.4	(0.8)	20.1	(0.7)	5.1	(0.3)
Korea	0.26 (0.02)	1.00 (0.01)	1.8	(0.2)	6.8	(0.3)	36.5	(0.7)	54.9	(0.8)	25.1	(0.7)	52.5	(0.8)	18.4	(0.7)	4.0	(0.3)
Latvia*	-0.25 (0.01)	0.83 (0.01)	5.1	(0.4)	10.1	(0.5)	52.0	(0.8)	32.9	(0.7)	17.7	(0.5)	54.5	(0.8)	21.7	(0.6)	6.1	(0.3)
Lithuania	-0.02 (0.02)	0.98 (0.01)	8.3	(0.4)	12.9	(0.5)	25.0	(0.6)	53.8	(0.8)	30.9	(0.7)	48.4	(0.8)	13.3	(0.5)	7.5	(0.3)
Mexico	-0.18 (0.02)	1.05 (0.01)	11.8	(0.5)	14.7	(0.6)	39.6	(0.8)	33.9	(0.8)	23.9	(0.6)	45.5	(0.8)	20.1	(0.6)	10.6	(0.6)
Netherlands*	0.10 (0.02)	0.86 (0.01)	3.5	(0.3)	6.1	(0.4)	39.5	(1.0)	50.8	(0.9)	22.1	(0.8)	60.8	(1.0)	13.4	(0.6)	3.6	(0.3)
New Zealand*	-0.29 (0.01)	0.82 (0.01)	4.7	(0.5) †	17.1	(0.8)†	55.2	(1.0) †	23.0	(0.8)†	18.0	(0.6) †	57.2	(1.0)†	18.8	(0.8) †	6.0	(0.4)†
Norway	0.23 (0.02)	1.13 (0.01)	4.4	(0.3)	5.9	(0.4)	34.2	(0.7)	55.4	(0.8)	30.7	(0.6)	50.3	(0.6)	13.7	(0.5)	5.2	(0.3)
Poland	-0.31 (0.01)	0.82 (0.01)	8.9	(0.5)	15.1	(0.5)	54.0	(0.7)	22.0	(0.7)	18.8	(0.6)	52.5	(0.7)	20.2	(0.6)	8.5	(0.4)
Portugal	0.08 (0.02)	0.93 (0.01)	3.0	(0.3)	7.9	(0.4)	44.0	(0.7)	45.1	(0.7)	22.5	(0.6)	53.9	(0.7)	18.6	(0.6)	5.0	(0.3)
Slovak Republic	-0.20 (0.02)	0.87 (0.01)	8.6	(0.6)	12.1	(0.5)	52.4	(0.8)	27.0	(0.7)	18.5	(0.7)	57.5	(0.9)	19.2	(0.7)	4.9	(0.4)
Slovenia	0.04 (0.01)	0.90 (0.01)	5.3	(0.4)	8.4	(0.5)	44.5	(0.9)	41.7	(0.9)	27.9	(0.6)	55.6	(0.6)	12.2	(0.6)	4.2	(0.3)
Spain	0.27 (0.01)	1.14 (0.01)	5.8	(0.2)	6.1	(0.2)	33.9	(0.5)	54.2	(0.5)	26.5	(0.4)	51.9	(0.4)	15.1	(0.4)	6.4	(0.2)
Sweden	0.09 (0.01)	1.09 (0.01)	7.5	(0.4)	8.3	(0.4)	34.4	(0.7)	49.7	(0.7)	25.9	(0.6)	53.5	(0.7)	14.4	(0.5)	6.3	(0.3)
Switzerland	0.36 (0.02)	1.05 (0.01)	3.2	(0.3)	8.3	(0.5)	30.1	(0.8)	58.4	(0.9)	30.1	(0.6)	49.4	(0.8)	14.8	(0.5)	5.7	(0.4)
Türkiye	-0.30 (0.01)	0.97 (0.01)	12.7	(0.5)	13.0	(0.5)	41.7	(0.8)	32.7	(0.7)	19.8	(0.5)	50.3	(0.7)	21.2	(0.6)	8.6	(0.4)
United Kingdom*	-0.21 (0.01)	0.85 (0.01)	4.6	(0.3) †	14.8	(0.6)†	52.3	(0.8) †	28.4	(0.7)†	16.3	(0.6) †	59.0	(0.8) †	19.1	(0.6) †	5.5	(0.4) †
United States*	-0.26 (0.02)	0.90 (0.02)	5.9	(0.4)	18.2	(0.7)	53.0	(1.0)	22.9	(0.9)	18.6	(1.0) †	55.9	(1.1)†	19.4	(0.8) †	6.1	(0.5)†
OECD average	-0.02 (0.00)	0.95 (0.00)	5.6	(0.1)	11.1	(0.1)	43.0	(0.1)	40.3	(0.1)	23.3	(0.1)	52.8	(0.1)	17.7	(0.1)	6.1	(0.1)

## Table II.B1.1.1. Students' sense of belonging at school [2/6]

Based on students' reports

			_					Pe	rcentage	e of stu	dents w	ho repo	orted the	follow	ing:				
		Index o of bel	of sense onging	l fe	el like ar	1 outsi	der (or le	ftout	of thing	s) at sc	hool			Imake	friends e	asily at	school		
		Averag e	Variability	Stro ag	ongly ree	Aç	gree	Disa	igree	Stro disa	ongly agree	Stro ag	ngly ree	Ag	ree	Disa	igree	Stro disa	ngly gree
		Mean index S.E.	S.D. S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ers	Albania	0.25 (0.02)	1.05 (0.01)	8.5	(0.5) †	6.7	(0.5) †	27.5	(0.8)†	57.3	(0.9) †	34.8	(0.9)†	50.8	(0.9) †	9.3	(0.5) †	5.1	(0.3) †
artu	Argentina	-0.20 (0.02)	0.94 (0.01)	11.5	(0.5) †	14.6	(0.6) †	44.3	(0.6)†	29.6	(0.6) †	25.1	(0.7)†	48.3	(0.8) †	19.2	(0.6) †	7.4	(0.4) †
۵.	Baku (Azerbaijan)	-0.17 (0.01)	1.03 (0.02)	12.4	(0.5) †	13.4	(0.5) †	42.2	(0.8)†	32.0	(0.7) †	31.4	(0.6)†	43.3	(0.6) †	16.8	(0.5) †	8.5	(0.4) †
	Brazil	-0.21 (0.01)	0.91 (0.01)	7.6	(0.3) †	11.7	(0.4) †	52.3	(0.7)†	28.4	(0.6) †	23.3	(0.5)†	46.3	(0.4) †	21.7	(0.5) †	8.7	(0.4) †
	Brunei Darussalam	-0.50 (0.01)	0.66 (0.01)	7.2	(0.4)	24.2	(0.7)	49.7	(0.8)	18.9	(0.6)	16.3	(0.6)	53.9	(0.7)	22.2	(0.6)	7.5	(0.4)
	Bulgaria	-0.19 (0.02)	1.01 (0.01)	17.3	(0.7) †	10.2	(0.5) †	33.3	(0.8)†	39.2	(0.9) †	25.6	(0.7)†	53.3	(0.9) †	14.4	(0.6) †	6.7	(0.5) †
	Cambodia	-0.43 (0.01)	0.61 (0.02)	10.3	(0.6)	15.7	(0.7)	58.1	(0.8)	15.9	(0.8)	11.2	(0.5)	66.1	(0.7)	19.0	(0.6)	3.8	(0.2)
	Croatia	0.13 (0.01)	0.96 (0.01)	4.5	(0.3)	6.1	(0.4)	44.0	(0.8)	45.3	(0.9)	25.9	(0.7)	58.5	(0.7)	12.1	(0.4)	3.5	(0.3)
	Cyprus	-0.10 (0.01)	0.94 (0.01)	8.0	(0.4)	13.0	(0.5)	48.6	(0.8)	30.5	(0.7)	24.4	(0.7)†	52.0	(0.7) †	17.3	(0.6) †	6.4	(0.3) †
	Dominican Republic	-0.23 (0.01)	1.05 (0.01)	16.3	(0.6) †	15.1	(0.5) †	41.4	(0.8)†	27.3	(0.8) †	34.1	(0.8)	42.2	(0.8)	14.2	(0.5)	9.5	(0.5)
	El Salvador	-0.27 (0.02)	0.99 (0.01)	14.5	(0.6) †	13.6	(0.6) †	44.5	(0.9)†	27.4	(0.9) †	26.4	(0.7)†	46.2	(0.8) †	18.3	(0.6) †	9.2	(0.5) †
	Georgia	-0.05 (0.02)	0.90 (0.01)	6.9	(0.5) †	5.8	(0.4) †	45.9	(0.8)†	41.4	(0.8) †	25.2	(0.7)†	54.3	(0.7) †	15.3	(0.6) †	5.2	(0.4) †
	Guatemala	-0.18 (0.02)	1.06 (0.01)	14.0	(0.5)	14.5	(0.5)	39.1	(0.8)	32.4	(0.7)	30.4	(0.7)	44.0	(0.8)	15.2	(0.6)	10.4	(0.5)
	Hong Kong (China)	-0.39 (0.01)	0.71 (0.01)	4.9	(0.3)	18.6	(0.6)	61.7	(0.8)	14.7	(0.5)	15.0	(0.5)	60.1	(0.8)	20.4	(0.6)	4.5	(0.4)
	Indonesia	-0.13 (0.01)	0.76 (0.01)	4.8	(0.4)	8.1	(0.4)	59.6	(0.8)	27.5	(0.8)	25.8	(0.7)	61.4	(0.7)	10.0	(0.4)	2.8	(0.2)
	Jamaica*	-0.34 (0.02)	0.86 (0.02)	11.6	(0.6) †	17.4	(0.8) †	48.7	(1.0)†	22.3	(1.0) †	21.5	(0.9)†	46.9	(1.1) †	21.3	(0.7) †	10.3	(0.6) †
	Jordan	-0.21 (0.01)	0.92 (0.01)	15.0	(0.6) †	17.3	(0.5) †	39.5	(0.6)†	28.2	(0.6) †	29.9	(0.6)†	46.6	(0.6) †	15.9	(0.5) †	7.6	(0.4) †
	Kazakhstan	-0.14 (0.01)	0.92 (0.01)	8.7	(0.3)	8.8	(0.3)	46.3	(0.4)	36.2	(0.5)	26.0	(0.4)	52.4	(0.4)	15.3	(0.3)	6.2	(0.3)
	Kosovo	m m	m m	6.9	(0.4) †	6.4	(0.4) †	41.2	(0.8)†	45.4	(0.9) †	26.4	(0.7)	55.5	(0.8)	14.1	(0.6)	4.1	(0.3)
	Macao (China)	-0.31 (0.01)	0.73 (0.01)	3.0	(0.3)	14.6	(0.7)	60.2	(0.9)	22.3	(0.7)	16.1	(0.7)	58.9	(0.9)	20.6	(0.7)	4.3	(0.3)
	Malaysia	-0.27 (0.01)	0.72 (0.01)	5.0	(0.3)	13.2	(0.5)	53.8	(0.6)	27.9	(0.7)	23.8	(0.6)	55.8	(0.8)	16.7	(0.5)	3.7	(0.2)
	Malta	-0.24 (0.02)	0.91 (0.02)	7.7	(0.5)	18.0	(0.8)	47.0	(1.0)	27.3	(1.0)	18.6	(0.8)	52.9	(0.9)	21.8	(0.8)	6.7	(0.5)
	Moldova	-0.06 (0.01)	0.90 (0.01)	5.2	(0.3)	8.4	(0.4)	44.9	(0.8)	41.5	(0.8)	27.3	(0.8)	52.4	(0.9)	15.6	(0.6)	4.7	(0.4)
	Mongolia	-0.15 (0.01)	0.81 (0.01)	5.7	(0.3)	13.4	(0.4)	45.1	(0.7)	35.8	(0.7)	20.9	(0.6)	52.3	(0.6)	20.8	(0.8)	5.9	(0.3)
	Montenegro	0.14 (0.01)	1.00 (0.01)	7.8	(0.4)	6.1	(0.4)	44.3	(0.7)	41.8	(0.8)	34.2	(0.7)	52.2	(0.7)	10.0	(0.5)	3.6	(0.3)
	Morocco	-0.29 (0.01)	0.79 (0.01)	11.2	(0.5)	14.0	(0.5)	51.5	(0.7)	23.3	(0.6)	27.5	(0.6)	49.0	(0.7)	15.8	(0.6)	7.7	(0.4)
	North Macedonia	0.12 (0.01)	0.97 (0.01)	8.3	(0.4) †	7.2	(0.3) †	45.3	(0.7)†	39.1	(0.7) †	30.9	(0.6)	54.2	(0.6)	10.9	(0.4)	4.0	(0.3)
	Palestinian Authority	-0.17 (0.01)	0.91 (0.01)	12.7	(0.5)	15.6	(0.5)	45.7	(0.8)	26.0	(0.7)	30.2	(0.6)	48.0	(0.7)	14.5	(0.5)	7.4	(0.3)
	Panama*	-0.19 (0.02)	1.02 (0.02)	12.4	(0.7) †	15.9	(0.7) †	37.3	(1.1)†	34.4	(1.1) †	28.2	(1.0) †	40.5	(1.0) †	19.7	(1.0) †	11.7	(0.8) †
	Paraguay	-0.24 (0.02)	0.98 (0.02)	14.2	(0.5)	15.0	(0.5)	43.7	(0.9)	27.0	(1.0)	29.2	(0.7)	46.4	(0.8)	15.1	(0.5)	9.2	(0.5)
	Peru	-0.20 (0.01)	0.83 (0.01)	8.5	(0.5)	10.6	(0.4)	47.1	(0.7)	33.9	(0.7)	19.8	(0.6)	53.1	(0.6)	20.7	(0.5)	6.4	(0.3)
	Philippines	-0.38 (0.01)	0.71 (0.02)	9.2	(0.5)	18.5	(0.6) +	50.3	(0.8)	22.0	(0.8)	24.2	(0.0)	59.1	(0.7)	12.1	(0.5)	4.5	(0.2)
	Qatar	-0.16 (0.01)	0.97 (0.01)	10.1	(0.4)	14.5	(0.0)	41.5	(0.0)	34.0	(0.0)	25.0	(0.7)	50.0	(0.0)	10.0	(0.0)	7.0	(0.4)
	Romania Saudi Arabia	-0.02 (0.01)	0.94 (0.01)	5.1	(0.3)	9.8	(0.4)	47.8	(0.7)	37.3	(0.8)	29.6	(0.7)	53.4	(0.6)	12.9	(0.6)	4.1	(0.3)
	Saudi Arabia	0.10 (0.02)	1.01 (0.01)	0.0	(0.4)	11.Z	(0.2)	30.1	(0.7)	42.2	(0.7)	24.4	(0.0)	40.1	(0.7)	19.0	(0.0)	10.5	(0.0)
	Serbia	0.10 (0.01)	1.02 (0.01)	0.5	(0.3)	10.0	(0.0)	44.4	(0.0)	42.0	(0.9)	31.9	(0.7)	55.9	(0.7)	10.3	(0.5)	4.0	(0.2)
	Chinasa Tainai	-0.22 (0.01)	0.00 (0.01)	4.4	(0.3)	10.U	(0.0)	10.00	(0.0)	24.1 40.7	(0.7)	20.1	(0.0)	50.0	(0.7)	10.7	(0.5)	4.0	(0.3)
	Chillese Taiper	-0.34 (0.01)	0.95 (0.02)	2.0	(0.3)	0.7	(0.4)	40.Z	(0.0)	42.7 28.0	(0.7)	23.3	(0.0)	09.0 62.0	(0.7)	14.3	(0.0)	2.9	(0.3)
	Ilkrainian regions (19 of 27)	-0.08 (0.03)		5.0	(0.4)	66	(0.0)	50.7	(0.5)	20.0	(0.0)	21.0	(0.7)	50.4	(0.0)	17.5	(0.0)	5.5	(0.5)
	United Arab Emirates	-0.00 (0.03)	0.92 (0.02)	10.0	(0.4)	17.0	(0.0)	42.5	(1.0)	30.4	(1.1)	21.0	(1.0)	50.4	(0.5) +	17.5	(1.3)	7.6	(0.3)
		0.08 (0.01)		6.0	(0.3)	11.0	(0.5) (0.5)	42.0	(0.4)	32.0	(0.4)	23.0	(0.4) [	16.9	(0.0)	20.0	(0.5)	7.0	(0.2)
	Urugudy			10.2	(0.3)	70	(0.5)	40.5	(0.0)	50.0	(0.9)	24.7	(0.7)	40.0	(0.0)	20.9	(0.0)	1.0	(0.4)
	Viet Nam	-0.28 (0.01)	0.73 (0.02)	67	(0.4)	14.8	(0.4)	55.8	(0.7)	22.8	(0.5)	24.1	(0.7)	61.3	(0.7)	3.0 10.0	(0.4)	J.Z	(0.3)
_		0.01/	5	J 3.1	(0.1)		(0.0)	00.0	(0.0)		(0.1)		(0.1)	01.0	(0.0)		(0.0)		(0.0)

### Table II.B1.1.1. Students' sense of belonging at school [3/6]

Based on students' reports

		Percentage of students who reported the following:															
				l fee	l like I belo	ong at sc	hool				lfee	el awkwai	rd and out	of place	in my scł	nool	
		Strong	ly agree	Ag	ree	Disa	agree	Strongly	/ disagree	Strong	gly agree	Ag	gree	Disa	agree	Strongly	disagree
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ទ	Australia*	12.1	(0.4)	58.1	(0.6)	22.7	(0.5)	7.1	(0.3)	5.6	(0.3)	19.4	(0.4)	54.9	(0.5)	20.1	(0.4)
В	Austria	34.0	(0.7)	42.8	(0.7)	15.7	(0.5)	7.6	(0.4)	6.8	(0.4)	9.9	(0.5)	27.0	(0.6)	56.4	(0.8)
	Belgium	14.3	(0.5)	55.0	(0.6)	22.3	(0.7)	8.4	(0.4)	5.0	(0.3)	12.5	(0.3)	49.1	(0.8)	33.4	(0.8)
	Canada*	16.1	(0.4) †	56.1	(0.6) †	20.2	(0.5) †	7.6	(0.3) †	7.0	(0.2) †	21.6	(0.4) †	47.3	(0.5) †	24.1	(0.5) †
	Chile	20.2	(0.7) †	52.1	(0.9) †	19.6	(0.6) †	8.1	(0.4) †	8.4	(0.5) †	16.4	(0.6) †	44.1	(0.8) †	31.2	(0.8) †
	Colombia	25.2	(0.8)	58.4	(0.8)	11.9	(0.5)	4.5	(0.4)	7.8	(0.5) †	13.3	(0.6) †	53.6	(0.8) †	25.3	(0.8) †
	Costa Rica	27.3	(0.8) †	52.8	(0.9) †	13.4	(0.6) †	6.5	(0.4) †	9.2	(0.5) †	14.2	(0.6) †	46.0	(1.0) †	30.5	(0.8) †
	Czech Republic	13.9	(0.5)	58.9	(0.8)	20.5	(0.6)	6.7	(0.3)	5.6	(0.3)	17.9	(0.5)	56.3	(0.6)	20.2	(0.5)
	Denmark*	15.5	(0.6)	54.4	(0.8)	22.5	(0.7)	7.6	(0.4)	3.9	(0.4)	10.1	(0.6)	46.1	(0.9)	39.9	(0.9)
	Estonia	16.9	(0.7)	60.8	(0.7)	17.4	(0.5)	4.9	(0.3)	4.4	(0.3)	17.1	(0.6)	51.0	(0.8)	27.5	(0.7)
	Finland	22.6	(0.5)	56.9	(0.7)	15.6	(0.5)	4.9	(0.3)	5.5	(0.3)	15.5	(0.4)	43.9	(0.7)	35.0	(0.6)
	France	20.7	(0.6)	52.2	(0.8)	18.2	(0.6)	8.9	(0.5)	6.6	(0.4)	15.9	(0.5)	40.1	(0.7)	37.4	(0.7)
	Germany	28.0	(0.7) †	48.2	(0.8) †	17.0	(0.6) †	6.9	(0.4) †	4.2	(0.3) †	10.2	(0.5) †	34.1	(0.9) †	51.5	(0.9) †
	Greece	19.8 (0.7) 58.4 (0.		(0.9)	16.9	(0.6)	4.9	(0.3)	5.0	(0.3)	13.7	(0.5)	51.9	(0.8)	29.3	(0.7)	
	Hungary	21.3	(0.6)	58.7	(0.7)	15.7	(0.5)	4.3	(0.3)	3.9	(0.3)	9.9	(0.5)	42.4	(0.9)	43.7	(1.0)
	Iceland	25.6	(0.8)	54.6	(1.0)	14.5	(0.7)	5.4	(0.4)	7.0	(0.5)	11.8	(0.7)	40.8	(1.0)	40.4	(1.0)
	Ireland*	11.5	(0.6)	59.5	(0.8)	22.2	(0.7)	6.8	(0.3)	3.8	(0.2)	15.8	(0.5)	56.7	(0.7)	23.7	(0.7)
	Israel	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Italy	11.5	(0.4)	52.4	(0.7)	26.0	(0.6)	10.1	(0.4)	3.8	(0.2)	12.2	(0.5)	52.3	(0.6)	31.6	(0.5)
	Japan	28.0	(0.8)	58.2	(0.8)	10.6	(0.5)	3.3	(0.3)	3.5	(0.3)	11.9	(0.5)	46.5	(0.8)	38.0	(0.9)
	Korea	22.7	(0.9)	56.5	(0.7)	13.9	(0.6)	6.9	(0.6)	2.7	(0.2)	8.6	(0.6)	40.4	(0.8)	48.3	(0.9)
	Latvia*	14.5	(0.6)	62.2	(0.8)	19.5	(0.7)	3.8	(0.3)	7.2	(0.4)	22.2	(0.7)	52.2	(0.8)	18.4	(0.6)
	Lithuania	21.0	(0.6)	43.8	(0.7)	19.7	(0.5)	15.5	(0.5)	9.8	(0.5)	17.2	(0.6)	32.1	(0.6)	40.9	(0.7)
	Mexico	23.7	(0.6)	54.2	(0.8)	15.8	(0.6)	6.4	(0.3)	10.3	(0.5)	16.4	(0.6)	43.8	(0.8)	29.5	(0.7)
	Netherlands*	11.3	(0.7)	58.8	(1.0)	22.6	(0.8)	7.3	(0.5)	3.4	(0.4)	10.3	(0.6)	47.5	(0.9)	38.7	(0.9)
	New Zealand*	11.5	(0.7) †	56.2	(0.9) †	23.1	(0.7) †	9.1	(0.6) †	6.1	(0.5) †	21.7	(0.8) †	52.2	(0.9) †	20.0	(0.7) †
	Norway	25.0	(0.7)	52.5	(0.7)	15.5	(0.6)	7.1	(0.4)	6.0	(0.4)	12.6	(0.5)	39.0	(0.7)	42.4	(0.8)
	Poland	9.8	(0.5)	54.3	(0.8)	29.0	(0.7)	6.8	(0.4)	7.5	(0.4)	15.6	(0.6)	55.4	(0.8)	21.4	(0.6)
	Portugal	20.3	(0.6)	61.6	(0.7)	14.5	(0.5)	3.6	(0.3)	4.1	(0.3)	16.6	(0.6)	45.8	(0.7)	33.5	(0.7)
	Slovak Republic	15.1	(0.6)	59.5	(0.9)	19.0	(0.7)	6.4	(0.4)	7.7	(0.5)	12.0	(0.6)	51.5	(0.7)	28.8	(0.8)
	Slovenia	16.4	(0.7)	62.7	(0.8)	16.1	(0.5)	4.8	(0.3)	5.1	(0.3)	11.1	(0.5)	49.5	(0.8)	34.3	(0.8)
	Spain	33.8	(0.5)	52.3	(0.5)	9.3	(0.3)	4.5	(0.2)	6.3	(0.2)	9.5	(0.3)	40.4	(0.5)	43.8	(0.4)
	Sweden	20.1	(0.6)	50.1	(0.7)	21.1	(0.6)	8.7	(0.5)	7.0	(0.4)	10.8	(0.5)	40.9	(0.8)	41.2	(0.8)
	Switzerland	31.3	(0.8)	47.3	(0.8)	15.1	(0.4)	6.3	(0.4)	4.9	(0.4)	11.0	(0.4)	30.3	(0.8)	53.8	(0.9)
	Türkiye	18.0	(0.5)	50.8	(0.8)	22.5	(0.5)	8.7	(0.4)	11.9	(0.4)	16.9	(0.5)	43.1	(0.9)	28.0	(0.7)
	United Kingdom	9.5	(0.5) †	54.0	(0.8) †	26.5	(0.7) †	10.0	(0.6) †	6.3	(0.4) †	19.5	(0.8) †	51.2	(0.9) †	23.0	(0.6) †
	United States*	11.8	(0.7) †	58.4	(1.0) †	22.4	(0.8) †	7.4	(0.5) †	6.3	(0.4) †	21.2	(0.9) †	53.2	(1.0) †	19.3	(0.9) †
	OECD average	19.5	(0.1)	55.1	(0.1)	18.6	(0.1)	6.9	(0.1)	6.1	(0.1)	14.5	(0.1)	45.9	(0.1)	33.5	(0.1)

## Table II.B1.1.1. Students' sense of belonging at school [4/6]

Based on students' reports

		Percentage of students who reported the following:															
				lfe	el like I belo	ong at so	hool				l fee	el awkwa	rd and out	of place	in my sch	ool	
		Strong	gly agree	Aç	gree	Dis	agree	Strongly	/ disagree	Stron	gly agree	Ag	gree	Dis	agree	Strongly	/ disagree
_		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
lers	Albania	40.0	(0.9) †	45.4	(0.9) †	8.3	(0.5) †	6.3	(0.4) †	9.2	(0.5) †	13.7	(0.6) †	31.5	(0.7) †	45.6	(0.9) †
artn	Argentina	24.1	(0.8) †	54.2	(0.8) †	15.8	(0.5) †	5.9	(0.4) †	9.3	(0.5) †	13.8	(0.5) †	51.0	(0.8) †	25.9	(0.7) †
۵.	Baku (Azerbaijan)	28.7	(0.8) †	46.2	(0.8) †	16.2	(0.6) †	8.9	(0.4) †	11.7	(0.5) †	13.6	(0.5) †	44.6	(0.8) †	30.1	(0.7) †
	Brazil	20.6	(0.5) †	55.1	(0.5) †	19.2	(0.5) †	5.1	(0.3) †	6.3	(0.3) †	13.2	(0.3) †	52.0	(0.7) †	28.5	(0.6) †
	Brunei Darussalam	7.8	(0.4)	51.6	(0.7)	30.8	(0.7)	9.8	(0.4)	9.2	(0.4)	33.1	(0.7)	45.5	(0.7)	12.2	(0.5)
	Bulgaria	20.5	(0.7) †	55.0	(0.8) †	17.3	(0.7) †	7.3	(0.5) †	14.2	(0.6) †	13.2	(0.6) †	42.5	(0.9) †	30.1	(0.7) †
	Cambodia	13.2	(0.7)	67.4	(0.9)	16.2	(0.7)	3.2	(0.3)	8.5	(0.5)	16.2	(0.7)	63.6	(1.0)	11.7	(0.8)
	Croatia	22.5	(0.6)	60.7	(0.6)	12.8	(0.5)	4.0	(0.3)	4.3	(0.3)	8.8	(0.4)	45.0	(0.8)	42.0	(0.8)
	Cyprus	19.5	(0.6) †	54.6	(0.8) †	18.3	(0.6) †	7.6	(0.4) †	7.6	(0.4) †	16.9	(0.6) †	48.8	(0.8) †	26.6	(0.7) †
	Dominican Republic	32.2	(0.7) †	48.6	(0.8) †	11.3	(0.4) †	7.9	(0.3) †	14.4	(0.6) †	16.3	(0.6) †	45.0	(0.7) †	24.3	(0.7) †
	El Salvador	29.8	(0.7) †	50.3	(0.8) †	12.2	(0.6) †	7.7	(0.4) †	12.5	(0.6) †	14.8	(0.6) †	49.0	(0.8) †	23.6	(0.9) †
	Georgia	13.9	(0.6) †	36.8	(0.7) †	36.6	(0.8) †	12.7	(0.7) †	6.2	(0.4) †	8.9	(0.4) †	55.1	(0.8) †	29.8	(0.8) †
	Guatemala	36.8	(0.9)	45.9	(0.9)	9.1	(0.5)	8.2	(0.4)	11.5	(0.6)	10.9	(0.4)	45.1	(0.8)	32.5	(0.9)
	Hong Kong (China)*	9.7	(0.5)	58.4	(0.8)	25.3	(0.8)	6.5	(0.4)	5.0	(0.3)	19.4	(0.7)	61.9	(0.8)	13.7	(0.5)
	Indonesia	21.2	(0.7)	65.2	(0.8)	10.8	(0.5)	2.8	(0.3)	4.6	(0.3)	7.7	(0.4)	61.5	(0.7)	26.2	(0.6)
	Jamaica*	23.9	(0.9) †	50.3	(1.0) †	16.2	(1.0) †	9.7	(0.6) †	10.9	(0.6) †	21.1	(0.9) †	47.1	(1.2) †	20.9	(1.0) †
	Jordan	26.3	(0.5) †	49.9	(0.6) †	15.9	(0.5) †	7.8	(0.4) †	12.5	(0.5) †	18.5	(0.6) †	40.6	(0.8) †	28.3	(0.9) †
	Kazakhstan	18.6	(0.4)	53.3	(0.4)	22.0	(0.4)	6.1	(0.2)	7.9	(0.3)	12.3	(0.4)	54.3	(0.5)	25.5	(0.5)
	Kosovo	31.5	(0.7) †	52.4	(0.8) †	11.1	(0.5) †	5.0	(0.4) †	7.2	(0.5) †	13.9	(0.6) †	48.4	(0.8) †	30.5	(0.8) †
	Macao (China)	13.1	(0.6)	66.4	(0.7)	16.2	(0.6)	4.3	(0.3)	4.7	(0.4)	21.1	(0.7)	59.0	(0.9)	15.1	(0.5)
	Malavsia	11.6	(0.5)	63.2	(0.8)	21.4	(0.6)	3.8	(0.3)	4.7	(0.3)	16.7	(0.6)	58.3	(0.6)	20.2	(0.6)
	Malta	13.4	(0.6)	50.1	(1.0)	25.3	(0.9)	11.2	(0.6)	7.5	(0.6)	21.2	(0.8)	48.2	(0.9)	23.2	(0.9)
	Moldova	23.9	(0.6)	57 1	(0.8)	14.6	(0.6)	4.3	(0.3)	5.5	(0.4)	12.8	(0.5)	51.1	(0.8)	30.7	(07)
	Mongolia	22.4	(0.7)	55.5	(0.7)	16.8	(0.4)	5.3	(0.3)	51	(0.3)	12.8	(0.5)	46.0	(0.8)	36.0	(0.7)
	Montenegro	29.7	(0.7)	55.8	(0.7)	10.7	(0.5)	3.9	(0.3)	7.6	(0.4)	9.8	(0.5)	44.0	(0.7)	38.5	(0.8)
	Morocco	25.2	(0.7)	55.6	(0.7)	14.0	(0.5)	5.2	(0.3)	9.2	(0.4)	15.1	(0.5)	51.6	(0.8)	24.1	(0.7)
	North Macedonia	28.9	(0.6) +	56.8	(0.6) t	10.1	(0.0)	4.2	(0.3) +	5.6	(0.3)	72	(0.4)	42.8	(0.8)	44.3	(0.8)
	Palestinian Authority	25.3	(0.7)	52.4	(0.7)	15.2	(0.5)	7.1	(0.4)	10.6	(0.5)	16.2	(0.6)	45.4	(0.7)	27.7	(0.7)
	Panama*	28.0	(1.0) +	/0.7	(1.2) +	13.3	(0.8) +	81	(0.7) +	11.0	(0.6) +	15.0	(0.8) +	16.6	(1.2) +	27.3	(0.0) +
	Paraquay	33.4	(0.9)	50.5	(0.9)	8.9	(0.0) [	7.2	(0.4)	11.0	(0.5)	11.5	(0.5)	50.0	(0.9)	27.0	(0.8)
	Paru	18.0	(0.5)	58.2	(0.6)	18.6	(0.4)	5.2	(0.3)	7.4	(0.4)	13.8	(0.5)	53.0	(0.3)	25.0	(0.8)
	Philippines	24.1	(0.6)	50.5	(0.7)	12.0	(0.5)	1.2	(0.3)	2.4 Q 1	(0.4)	25.5	(0.6)	52.2	(0.0)	14.2	(0.6)
	Ostar	17.9	(0.0) +	51.0	(0.7)	21.2	(0.3)	4.5	(0.5) +	80	(0.4)	16.0	(0.0) +	11.0	(0.7)	20.3	(0.0)
	Qala Domonio	10.5	(0.0)	27.0	(0.0)	21.5	(0.7)	3.3	(0.3)	0.9	(0.4)	10.9	(0.0) I	44.3 54.4	(0.0)	29.3	(0.7)
	Romania Saudi Arabia	12.5	(0.5)	57.0	(0.7)	35.0	(0.0)	15.5	(0.7)	4.9	(0.3)	10.7	(0.5)	51.4	(0.0)	30.1	(0.7)
	Saudi Arabia	22.0	(0.7)	50.5	(0.0)	11.7	(0.6)	9.2	(0.0)	1.4	(0.4)	10.7	(0.5)	42.0	(0.0)	39.9	(0.0)
	Serbia	20.0	(0.0)	0.00	(0.7)	00.0	(0.5)	4.3	(0.4)	4.7	(0.4)	0.0	(0.4)	40.4	(0.0)	30.3	(0.7)
	Singapore Chinasa Tainai	14.6	(0.5)	58.9	(0.7)	20.6	(0.7)	5.9	(0.3)	4.7	(0.3)	20.4	(0.5)	54.6	(0.6)	20.3	(0.0)
	Chinese Taipei	21.5	(0.7)	65.8	(0.7)	10.0	(0.5)	2.1	(0.3)	3.5	(0.3)	15.3	(0.5)	53.8	(0.9)	27.4	(0.9)
		12.2	(0.5)	04.3	(0.7)	20.1	(0.6)	3.4	(0.3)	1.2	(0.4)	30.7	(0.7)	49.9	(0.8)	12.2	(0.5)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	24.7	(1.3) †	59.6	(1.1) †	11.8	(0.8) †	3.9	(0.4) †	6.2	(0.5)	11.3	(0.7)	53.9	(1.1)	28.6	(1.4)
	United Arab Emirates	21.3	(0.4)	50.1	(0.5)	19.8	(0.4)	8.7	(0.2)	8.6	(0.2) †	19.1	(0.4) †	45.1	(0.5) †	27.2	(0.4) †
	oruguay	27.0	(0.8)	57.3	(0.8)	12.0	(0.5)	3.7	(0.3)	5./	(0.3) †	12.5	(0.5) †	50.8	(0.8) †	31.0	(0.6) †
	Uzbekistan	28.7	(0.7)	42.8	(0.7)	20.4	(0.6)	8.1	(0.4)	8.8	(0.4)	11.2	(0.4)	43.8	(0.7)	36.2	(0.9)
	Viet Nam	15.8	(0.5)	66.7	(0.7)	14.1	(0.6)	3.5	(0.2)	5.3	(0.3)	24.2	(0.8)	58.8	(0.8)	11.8	(0.5)

### Table II.B1.1.1. Students' sense of belonging at school [5/6]

Based on students' reports

						Percen	itage of s	tudents w	ho repor	ted the fo	llowing:					
			Other	students	seem to	like me					I	feel lonely	y at scho	ol		
	Strong	ly agree	A	gree	Disa	agree	Strongly	/ disagree	Strong	ly agree	Ag	jree	Disa	agree	Strongly	/ disagree
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
	12.6	(0.4)	73.6	(0.5)	11.3	(0.4)	2.5	(0.1)	4.4	(0.2)	13.7	(0.4)	52.6	(0.5)	29.3	(0.5)
Ö Austria	36.4	(0.8)	50.4	(0.9)	9.1	(0.5)	4.2	(0.3)	5.8	(0.3)	8.1	(0.4)	22.3	(0.6)	63.8	(0.8)
Belgium	14.3	(0.6)	72.9	(0.7)	10.3	(0.4)	2.5	(0.2)	3.2	(0.2)	7.7	(0.4)	41.4	(0.7)	47.7	(0.7)
Canada*	16.2	(0.4) †	69.1	(0.5) †	11.8	(0.3) †	3.0	(0.2) †	5.6	(0.2) †	15.8	(0.4) †	45.4	(0.6) †	33.3	(0.6) †
Chile	17.1	(0.5) †	58.0	(0.7) †	18.7	(0.6) †	6.2	(0.4) †	9.8	(0.5) †	17.2	(0.7) †	39.3	(0.9) †	33.7	(0.8) †
Colombia	20.0	(0.6)	61.6	(0.8)	14.2	(0.5)	4.3	(0.3)	8.9	(0.6)	12.2	(0.5)	50.2	(0.7)	28.8	(0.7)
Costa Rica	21.5	(0.7) †	57.4	(1.0) †	15.1	(0.6) †	6.1	(0.4) †	8.8	(0.5) †	13.0	(0.5) †	44.1	(0.9) †	34.1	(0.8) †
Czech Republic	15.2	(0.5)	67.4	(0.7)	13.5	(0.4)	3.8	(0.3)	6.5	(0.4)	14.6	(0.5)	50.3	(0.6)	28.6	(0.7)
Denmark*	20.3	(0.7)	63.7	(0.8)	10.8	(0.6)	5.3	(0.3)	3.2	(0.3)	8.2	(0.4)	43.5	(0.8)	45.1	(0.8)
Estonia	9.7	(0.5)	62.7	(0.9)	23.1	(0.7)	4.5	(0.3)	5.0	(0.3)	12.2	(0.6)	46.5	(0.7)	36.2	(0.7)
Finland	14.2	(0.5)	64.6	(0.6)	17.1	(0.5)	4.1	(0.3)	3.4	(0.2)	9.8	(0.4)	40.0	(0.6)	46.9	(0.7)
France	18.1	(0.5)	68.2	(0.6)	10.2	(0.4)	3.5	(0.3)	5.0	(0.3)	10.3	(0.4)	37.8	(0.6)	46.9	(0.6)
Germany	28.1 (0.8) † 57.4 (		(0.8) †	11.4	(0.5) †	3.1	(0.3) †	4.0	(0.3) †	8.5	(0.4) †	26.0	(0.7) †	61.6	(0.7) †	
Greece	16.3	6.3 (0.5) 66.7 (0.7)		13.4	(0.6)	3.6	(0.3)	4.2	(0.3)	9.4	(0.4)	44.6	(0.7)	41.9	(0.7)	
Hungary	16.5	(0.6)	67.9	(0.8)	13.3	(0.6)	2.3	(0.2)	3.6	(0.3)	8.7	(0.4)	38.7	(0.8)	49.1	(0.9)
Iceland	20.6	(0.8)	62.6	(1.0)	12.3	(0.7)	4.4	(0.4)	5.2	(0.4)	8.5	(0.6)	39.0	(1.0)	47.4	(1.0)
Ireland*	11.3	(0.5)	78.7	(0.7)	8.5	(0.5)	1.6	(0.2)	3.2	(0.3)	10.7	(0.5)	54.6	(0.8)	31.6	(0.7)
Israel	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Italy	11.2	(0.5)	66.5	(0.8)	17.1	(0.5)	5.2	(0.3)	4.0	(0.3)	9.7	(0.5)	43.6	(0.7)	42.7	(0.6)
Japan	18.6	(0.6)	65.9	(0.8)	12.9	(0.5)	2.6	(0.2)	2.2	(0.2)	7.8	(0.4)	41.1	(0.8)	48.9	(0.9)
Korea	17.8	(0.7)	64.3	(1.0)	14.4	(0.5)	3.5	(0.4)	2.2	(0.3)	6.9	(0.4)	38.7	(0.8)	52.1	(1.1)
Latvia*	10.3	(0.5)	58.6	(0.9)	24.4	(0.7)	6.6	(0.4)	5.7	(0.4)	13.1	(0.5)	52.4	(0.7)	28.9	(0.6)
Lithuania	14.9	(0.5)	59.9	(0.8)	18.4	(0.6)	6.8	(0.3)	8.3	(0.4)	12.9	(0.4)	28.2	(0.6)	50.6	(0.8)
Mexico	18.3	(0.5)	57.3	(0.7)	17.8	(0.5)	6.6	(0.4)	10.4	(0.5)	14.1	(0.6)	40.8	(0.7)	34.6	(0.7)
Netherlands*	15.2	(0.6)	74.8	(0.7)	8.0	(0.5)	2.1	(0.2)	3.1	(0.3)	6.3	(0.4)	39.7	(0.9)	50.9	(1.0)
New Zealand*	10.1	(0.5) †	74.4	(0.8) †	13.0	(0.6) †	2.5	(0.3) †	4.5	(0.4) †	16.2	(0.7) †	51.8	(0.9) †	27.4	(0.7) †
Norway	24.4	(0.7)	56.8	(0.8)	12.6	(0.5)	6.1	(0.3)	4.8	(0.3)	9.1	(0.3)	37.5	(0.7)	48.6	(0.8)
Poland	12.9	(0.5)	62.5	(0.7)	19.5	(0.6)	5.1	(0.3)	7.7	(0.4)	12.9	(0.5)	49.0	(0.6)	30.4	(0.7)
Portugal	15.5	(0.6)	71.9	(0.7)	10.4	(0.5)	2.2	(0.2)	2.8	(0.2)	7.4	(0.4)	42.1	(0.7)	47.8	(0.8)
Slovak Republic	13.3	(0.7)	67.0	(0.9)	15.1	(0.7)	4.5	(0.4)	6.3	(0.5)	12.1	(0.5)	51.4	(0.8)	30.1	(0.9)
Slovenia	13.4	(0.6)	66.5	(0.8)	15.9	(0.6)	4.2	(0.3)	4.3	(0.3)	6.7	(0.4)	41.7	(0.8)	47.2	(0.9)
Spain	24.6	(0.4)	62.2	(0.5)	9.4	(0.3)	3.8	(0.2)	5.6	(0.2)	6.5	(0.3)	34.3	(0.5)	53.6	(0.6)
Sweden	17.9	(0.5)	63.8	(0.8)	13.8	(0.5)	4.5	(0.3)	6.5	(0.4)	8.5	(0.4)	38.5	(0.7)	46.5	(0.7)
Switzerland	28.7	(0.7)	58.7	(0.8)	9.6	(0.4)	3.0	(0.2)	3.9	(0.3)	8.1	(0.4)	26.6	(0.8)	61.5	(0.8)
Türkiye	14.2	(0.5)	55.0	(0.6)	23.5	(0.6)	7.2	(0.4)	13.1	(0.5)	15.2	(0.5)	42.9	(0.7)	28.8	(0.6)
United Kingdom*	12.7	(0.5) †	71.6	(0.8) †	12.4	(0.6) †	3.2	(0.3) †	4.2	(0.4) †	11.8	(0.5) †	49.9	(0.8) †	34.1	(0.8) †
United States*	14.2	(0.7)	72.2	(1.0)	10.8	(0.6)	2.8	(0.3)	6.1	(0.5) †	16.1	(0.7) †	50.0	(1.0) †	27.7	(0.9) †
OECD average	17.1	(0.1)	64.8	(0.1)	14.0	(0.1)	4.1	(0.1)	5.4	(0.1)	10.8	(0.1)	42.1	(0.1)	41.6	(0.1)

## Table II.B1.1.1. Students' sense of belonging at school [6/6]

Based on students' reports

	Percentage of students who reported the following:															
			Othe	r students	seem to	like me						feel lonely	y at scho	ol		
	Strong	gly agree	A	gree	Dis	agree	Strongl	y disagree	Strong	gly agree	Aç	gree	Dis	agree	Strongly	y disagree
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
은 Albania	24.5	(0.8) †	54.4	(1.0) †	12.4	(0.5) †	8.7	(0.5) †	7.0	(0.4) †	7.8	(0.4) †	23.9	(0.7) †	61.3	(0.9) †
듚 Argentina	21.1	(0.6) †	58.6	(0.7) †	14.3	(0.5) †	5.9	(0.4) †	9.1	(0.4) †	12.9	(0.6) †	45.7	(0.6) †	32.3	(0.7) †
🗅 Baku (Azerbaijan)	26.4	(0.7) †	52.8	(0.8) †	14.0	(0.5) †	6.7	(0.4) †	12.4	(0.5) †	12.8	(0.5) †	42.9	(0.7) †	31.9	(0.7) †
Brazil	15.0	(0.5) †	63.1	(0.7) †	17.3	(0.4) †	4.6	(0.3) †	8.5	(0.3) †	18.1	(0.4) †	47.7	(0.7) †	25.8	(0.6) †
Brunei Darussalam	6.0	(0.4)	55.3	(0.8)	30.9	(0.7)	7.8	(0.4)	7.2	(0.4)	17.0	(0.6)	48.6	(0.7)	27.2	(0.6)
Bulgaria	18.7	(0.7) †	56.9	(1.0) †	16.4	(0.7) †	8.0	(0.5) †	13.7	(0.6) †	10.3	(0.6) †	38.5	(0.9) †	37.5	(0.9) †
Cambodia	10.5	(0.5)	68.5	(0.7)	17.9	(0.7)	3.2	(0.3)	9.9	(0.5)	13.7	(0.6)	58.0	(1.0)	18.3	(1.0)
Croatia	13.8	(0.4)	67.7	(0.7)	14.7	(0.5)	3.7	(0.3)	4.1	(0.3)	7.8	(0.4)	42.1	(0.7)	46.1	(0.8)
Cyprus	20.8	(0.6) †	62.0	(0.7) †	12.1	(0.5) †	5.1	(0.4) †	6.0	(0.4) †	10.0	(0.5) †	41.7	(0.8) †	42.3	(0.7) †
Dominican Republic	28.4	(0.7) †	50.7	(0.9) †	12.9	(0.5) †	8.1	(0.5) †	13.4	(0.6) †	12.8	(0.6) †	43.2	(0.7) †	30.6	(0.7) †
El Salvador	21.4	(0.6) †	52.8	(0.9) †	18.9	(0.6) †	6.9	(0.4) †	12.9	(0.6) †	14.6	(0.6) †	45.5	(0.9) †	27.0	(0.9) †
Georgia	17.9	(0.6) †	52.3	(0.8) †	23.2	(0.7) †	6.5	(0.4) †	6.0	(0.4) †	7.9	(0.4) †	48.4	(0.7) †	37.7	(0.8) †
Guatemala	25.0	(0.8)	53.5	(0.9)	13.7	(0.6)	7.8	(0.4)	12.1	(0.6)	12.5	(0.6)	43.5	(0.8)	32.0	(0.8)
Hong Kong (China)*	7.1	(0.4)	63.9	(0.8)	24.2	(0.9)	4.8	(0.3)	4.1	(0.3)	15.4	(0.6)	60.5	(0.9)	20.0	(0.7)
Indonesia	12.2	(0.4)	59.6	(0.7)	23.7	(0.6)	4.4	(0.3)	5.1	(0.4)	11.0	(0.4)	58.3	(0.6)	25.6	(0.6)
Jamaica*	19.1	(0.7) †	60.0	(1.0) †	14.1	(0.6) †	6.8	(0.5) †	11.1	(0.7) †	14.8	(0.8) †	44.9	(1.1) †	29.2	(1.1) †
Jordan	25.2	(0.5) †	55.3	(0.8) †	13.3	(0.6) †	6.2	(0.4) †	10.8	(0.4) †	11.6	(0.5) †	38.0	(0.8) †	39.6	(0.8) †
Kazakhstan	15.0	(0.3)	59.2	(0.5)	20.2	(0.4)	5.6	(0.2)	8.2	(0.3)	9.4	(0.3)	48.1	(0.6)	34.4	(0.5)
Kosovo	16.7	(0.7) †	59.7	(0.7) †	16.9	(0.6) †	6.7	(0.4) †	6.1	(0.4) †	6.5	(0.4) †	34.6	(0.9) †	52.9	(1.0) †
Macao (China)	6.8	(0.4)	60.4	(0.8)	27.9	(0.7)	4.9	(0.3)	4.0	(0.3)	15.4	(0.5)	57.9	(0.7)	22.7	(0.6)
Malaysia	9.5	(0.5)	57.7	(0.8)	26.9	(0.7)	5.9	(0.3)	5.9	(0.4)	15.9	(0.5)	52.4	(0.7)	25.7	(0.7)
Malta	14.4	(0.7)	67.7	(0.9)	13.6	(0.8)	4.3	(0.4)	6.2	(0.5)	13.3	(0.6)	42.9	(1.0)	37.7	(1.0)
Moldova	16.0	(0.5)	60.9	(0.8)	17.8	(0.6)	5.3	(0.4)	7.5	(0.4)	15.0	(0.5)	42.9	(0.7)	34.6	(0.7)
Mongolia	9.5	(0.4)	53.3	(0.7)	28.1	(0.6)	9.2	(0.4)	6.1	(0.4)	14.5	(0.5)	42.4	(0.7)	37.0	(0.6)
Montenegro	25.0	(0.7)	59.7	(0.8)	11.4	(0.5)	3.9	(0.3)	5.9	(0.4)	7.3	(0.4)	40.7	(0.6)	46.1	(0.7)
Morocco	19.1	(0.7)	56.4	(0.7)	17.0	(0.6)	7.5	(0.4)	9.5	(0.4)	15.2	(0.5)	48.7	(0.8)	26.6	(0.7)
North Macedonia	20.0	(0.6) t	60.1	(0.7) †	13.8	(0.5) †	6.1	(0.4) †	6.2	(0.4) †	7.5	(0.4) †	39.4	(0.7) †	46.9	(0.8) †
Palestinian Authority	26.8	(0.6)	56.3	(0.7)	10.9	(0.4)	6.0	(0.3)	9.3	(0.4)	10.3	(0.4)	41.2	(0.7)	39.2	(0.6)
Panama*	26.5	(1.1) †	52.9	(1.2) †	13.2	(0.7) †	7.4	(0.6) †	11.0	(0.6) †	14.5	(0.7) †	41.0	(1.0) t	33.4	(0.9) †
Paraguay	21.1	(0.8)	57.5	(07)	14.8	(0.5)	66	(0.4)	112	(0.5)	11 7	(0.5)	46.0	(0.9)	31.1	(0.9)
Peru	14.4	(0.5)	62.5	(0.8)	19.0	(0.6)	4 1	(0.3)	80	(0.3)	12.3	(0.5)	47 1	(0.7)	32.6	(0.7)
Philippines	10.2	(0.5)	62.6	(0.7)	22.5	(0.6)	4.6	(0.3)	8.3	(0.4)	20.1	(0.6)	50.6	(0.7)	21.0	(0.7)
Qatar	22.2	(0.6) t	61.0	(0.7) +	11.8	(0.5) +	5.0	(0.3) †	9.0	(0.4) +	13.4	(0.6) +	41.5	(0.8) t	36.2	(0.9) +
Romania	17.7	(0.6)	67.0	(0.7)	12.3	(0.5)	3.0	(0.3)	5.3	(0.4)	11 4	(0.5)	45.2	(0.7)	38.1	(0.8)
Saudi Arabia	25.4	(0.7)	59.7	(0.8)	10.2	(0.5)	47	(0.3)	7.8	(0.4)	10.4	(0.4)	38.3	(0.8)	43.5	(0.8)
Serbia	30.0	(0.7)	59.3	(0.7)	6.8	(0.3)	3.9	(0.3)	53	(0.3)	73	(0.4)	41.4	(0.8)	46.1	(0.8)
Singanore	11.6	(0.4)	70.6	(0.6)	14.8	(0.5)	3.1	(0.2)	43	(0.3)	15.2	(0.4)	52.9	(0.8)	27.6	(0.7)
Chinese Tainei	10.6	(0.5)	58.0	(0.0)	27.2	(0.7)	11	(0.2)	3.0	(0.3)	0.7	(0.6)	50.8	(1.0)	36.4	(0.0)
	7.6	(0.5)	55.3	(0.0)	21.5	(0.7)	5.6	(0.3)	5.0	(0.3)	13.0	(0.0)	53.0	(1.0)	27.4	(0.9)
Ilkrainian regions (18 of 27)	15.0	(0.0)	58.0	(0.0)	21.4	(0.5)	5.0	(0.3)	6.0	(0.4)	11.5	(0.0)	51.0	(0.9)	20.7	(0.0)
United Arch Emirates	20.2	(0.3)	57.0	(0.4) +	15.0	(0.2) +	5.5	(0.4)	0.5	(0.3)	12.4	(0.7)	100	(1.0)	23.1	(0.4)
	20.2	(0.4)	57.9	(0.4)	10.0	(0.3) T	0.9	(0.2)	0.0	(0.2)	10.4	(0.5) +	42.3	(0.0) +	34.0	(0.4)
Uzbekistan	28.0	(0.7)	54.0	(0.0)	10.0	(0.5)	6.2	(0.2)	0.6	(0.4) (	12.0	(0.0)	35.0	(0.0)	16.7	(0.7) (
	20.0	(0.0)	54.0	(0.9)	10.9	(0.5)	0.5	(0.3)	9.0	(0.4)	0.0	(0.4)	55.2	(0.7)	40.7	(0.9)
viet Nam	/.5	(0.4)	0.10	(0.7)	29.0	(0.0)	J 0.4	(0.3)	0./	(0.4)	1.1	(0.4)	0.00	(0.0)	29.0	(0.9)

#### Table II.B1.1.5. Change between 2018 and 2022 in the index of sense of belonging [1/2]

Based on students' reports

			Index of s	sense of be	longing, by P	ISA cycle		Change in the index of sense of belonging between:										
		PISA 2015		PISA 2018		PISA	2022	PISA and PIS (PISA 2018 -	2018 SA 2015 PIS A 2015)	PIS A and PI (PISA 2022	A 2022 SA 2015 - PISA 2015)	PISA 2022 and PISA 2018 (PISA 2022 - PIS A 2018						
		Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Index dif.	S.E.	Index dif.	S.E.	Index dif.	S.E.					
吕 Australia*		-0.12	(0.01)	-0.19	(0.01)	-0.23	(0.01)	-0.07	(0.02)	-0.10	(0.01)	-0.04	(0.01)					
Ö Austria		0.44	(0.02)	0.40	(0.02)	0.44	(0.02)	-0.04	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)	0.05	(0.02)					
Belgium		0.01	(0.01)	0.06	(0.01)	0.02	(0.01)	0.05	(0.02)	0.01	(0.02)	-0.04	(0.02)					
Canada*		-0.11	(0.01)	-0.18	(0.01)	-0.16	(0.01)	-0.06	(0.02)	-0.05	(0.02)	0.02	(0.02)					
Chile		-0.04	(0.02)	-0.10	(0.01)	-0.22	(0.02)	-0.06	(0.02)	-0.18	(0.02)	-0.12	(0.02)					
Colombia		-0.31	(0.01)	-0.18	(0.02)	-0.16	(0.02)	0.13	(0.02)	0.15	(0.02)	0.02	(0.02)					
Costa Rica	1	-0.16	(0.02)	0.05	(0.02)	-0.09	(0.02)	0.21	(0.02)	0.06	(0.03)	-0.15	(0.02)					
Czech Rep	ublic	-0.25	(0.01)	-0.28	(0.01)	-0.28	(0.01)	-0.03	(0.02)	-0.03	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)					
Denmark*		0.14	(0.01)	0.21	(0.02)	0.11	(0.02)	0.07	(0.02)	-0.03	(0.02)	-0.10	(0.02)					
Estonia		-0.06	(0.01)	-0.13	(0.01)	-0.14	(0.01)	-0.07	(0.02)	-0.07	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)					
Finland		0.09	(0.02)	0.01	(0.01)	0.10	(0.01)	-0.08	(0.02)	0.01	(0.02)	0.09	(0.02)					
France		-0.06	(0.01)	-0.07	(0.01)	-0.03	(0.01)	-0.01	(0.02)	0.03	(0.02)	0.05	(0.02)					
Germany		0.29	(0.02)	0.28	(0.02) †	0.27	(0.02)	-0.01	(0.03) †	-0.02	(0.03)	-0.01	(0.02) †					
Greece		0.10	(0.01)	0.02	(0.02)	-0.06	(0.01)	-0.08	(0.02)	-0.16	(0.02)	-0.08	(0.02)					
Hungary		0.06	(0.02)	0.07	(0.02)	0.14	(0.02)	0.01	(0.03)	0.08	(0.02)	0.06	(0.02)					
lceland		0.19	(0.02)	0.10	(0.02)	0.16	(0.02)	-0.09	(0.03)	-0.03	(0.03)	0.06	(0.03)					
Ireland*		-0.02	(0.01)	-0.15	(0.01)	-0.13	(0.01)	-0.14	(0.02)	-0.12	(0.02)	0.02	(0.02)					
Israel		m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m					
Italy		0.05	(0.01)	0.04	(0.02)	-0.06	(0.01)	-0.01	(0.02)	-0.12	(0.02)	-0.11	(0.02)					
Japan		-0.03	(0.01)	0.02	(0.02)	0.25	(0.02)	0.05	(0.02)	0.28	(0.02)	0.23	(0.02)					
Korea		0.16	(0.02)	0.28	(0.02)	0.26	(0.02)	0.12	(0.02)	0.10	(0.02)	-0.02	(0.02)					
Latvia*		-0.20	(0.01)	-0.26	(0.01)	-0.25	(0.01)	-0.06	(0.02)	-0.04	(0.02)	0.01	(0.02)					
Lithuania		-0.27	(0.02)	-0.13	(0.01)	-0.02	(0.02)	0.13	(0.02)	0.24	(0.03)	0.11	(0.02)					
Mexico		-0.14	(0.02)	-0.02	(0.02) †	-0.18	(0.02)	0.12	(0.02) †	-0.04	(0.02)	-0.16	(0.02) †					
Netherland	is*	0.17	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.10	(0.02)	0.03	(0.02)	-0.06	(0.02)	-0.10	(0.02)					
New Zealar	nd*	-0.17	(0.01)	-0.21	(0.01)	-0.29	(0.01)	-0.04	(0.02)	-0.12	(0.02)	-0.08	(0.02)					
Norway		0.21	(0.02)	0.36	(0.02)	0.23	(0.02)	0.15	(0.03)	0.02	(0.02)	-0.14	(0.03)					
Poland		-0.25	(0.01)	-0.24	(0.01)	-0.31	(0.01)	0.01	(0.02)	-0.06	(0.02)	-0.07	(0.02)					
Portugal		0.10	(0.01)	0.12	(0.02)	0.08	(0.02)	0.02	(0.02)	-0.02	(0.02)	-0.04	(0.02)					
Slovak Rep	oublic	-0.28	(0.01)	-0.28	(0.01)	-0.20	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)	0.08	(0.02)	0.08	(0.02)					
Slovenia		-0.10	(0.02)	-0.11	(0.01)	0.04	(0.01)	-0.01	(0.02)	0.14	(0.02)	0.14	(0.02)					
Spain		0.47	(0.02)	0.46	(0.01)	0.27	(0.01)	-0.01	(0.02)	-0.20	(0.02)	-0.19	(0.01)					
Sweden		0.04	(0.02)	0.03	(0.02)	0.09	(0.01)	-0.01	(0.03)	0.05	(0.03)	0.06	(0.02)					
Switzerlan	d	0.36	(0.02)	0.30	(0.02)	0.36	(0.02)	-0.06	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)	0.06	(0.02)					
Türkiye		-0.44	(0.02)	-0.14	(0.02)	-0.30	(0.01)	0.30	(0.03)	0.14	(0.02)	-0.16	(0.02)					
United Kin	gdom*	-0.09	(0.01)	-0.19	(0.01)	-0.21	(0.01)	-0.10	(0.02)	-0.12	(0.02)	-0.02	(0.02)					
United Sta	tes*	-0.09	(0.02)	-0.24	(0.02)	-0.26	(0.02)	-0.15	(0.02)	-0.17	(0.03)	-0.03	(0.03)					
OECD aver	rage	-0.01	(0.00)	0.00	(0.00)	-0.02	(0.00)	0.01	(0.00)	-0.01	(0.00)	-0.02	(0.00)					

Notes: Values that are statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3).

### Table II.B1.1.5. Change between 2018 and 2022 in the index of sense of belonging [2/2]

#### Based on students' reports

		Index of	sense of be	longing, by P	ISA cycle		Change in the index of sense of belonging between:										
	PIS	A 2015	PIS	A 2018	PIS	A 2022	PISA and PI (PISA 2018	x 2018 SA 2015 - PIS A 2015)	PIS and PI (PISA 2022	A 2022 ISA 2015 - PISA 2015)	PISA 2022 and PISA 2018 (PISA 2022 - PIS A 201						
	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Index dif.	S.E.	Index dif.	S.E.	Index dif.	S.E.					
ହୁ Albania	0.40	(0.01) ‡	0.40	(0.02)	0.25	(0.02)	-0.01	(0.02) ‡	-0.15	(0.02) ‡	-0.14	(0.03)					
E Argentina	0.21	(0.02)	-0.11	(0.02)	-0.20	(0.02)	-0.32	(0.02)	-0.41	(0.02)	-0.09	(0.02)					
Baku (Azerbaijan)	m	m	-0.21	(0.02) †	-0.17	(0.01)	m	m	m	m	0.04	(0.02) †					
Brazil	-0.15	(0.01)	-0.19	(0.01)	-0.21	(0.01)	-0.04	(0.02)	-0.06	(0.02)	-0.02	(0.02)					
Brunei Darussalam	m	m	-0.44	(0.01)	-0.50	(0.01)	m	m	m	m	-0.07	(0.01)					
Bulgaria	-0.34	(0.02)	-0.30	(0.02)	-0.19	(0.02)	0.05	(0.02)	0.15	(0.02)	0.11	(0.02)					
Cambodia	m	m	-0.14	(0.02)	-0.43	(0.01)	m	m	m	m	-0.29	(0.02)					
Croatia	0.05	(0.02)	0.06	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.01	(0.02)	0.09	(0.02)	0.08	(0.02)					
Cyprus	0.10	(0.01)	-0.07	(0.01)	-0.10	(0.01)	-0.17	(0.02)	-0.21	(0.02)	-0.04	(0.02)					
Dominican Republic	-0.40	(0.02)	-0.26	(0.02) †	-0.23	(0.01)	0.14	(0.03) †	0.17	(0.03)	0.03	(0.03) †					
El Salvador	m	m	m	m	-0.27	(0.02)	m	m	m	m	m	m					
Georgia	0.20	(0.02)	-0.10	(0.02)	-0.05	(0.02)	-0.30	(0.02)	-0.25	(0.02)	0.06	(0.03)					
Guatemala	m	m	0.13	(0.03)	-0.18	(0.02)	m	m	m	m	-0.31	(0.04)					
Hong Kong (China)*	-0.35	(0.01)	-0.39	(0.01)	-0.39	(0.01)	-0.04	(0.02)	-0.04	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)					
Indonesia	0.10	(0.01)	-0.14	(0.01)	-0.13	(0.01)	-0.24	(0.02)	-0.24	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)					
Jamaica*	m	m	m	m	-0.34	(0.02)	m	m	m	m	m	m					
Jordan	0.19	(0.02)	-0.17	(0.02)	-0.21	(0.01)	-0.36	(0.03)	-0.40	(0.02)	-0.04	(0.02)					
Kazakhstan	0.34	(0.02)	-0.21	(0.01)	-0.14	(0.01)	-0.55	(0.02)	-0.48	(0.02)	0.07	(0.02)					
Kosovo	0.29	(0.01)	0.00	(0.02)	m	m	-0.28	(0.02)	m	m	m	m					
Macao (China)	-0.40	(0.01)	-0.40	(0.01)	-0.31	(0.01)	0.01	(0.02)	0.09	(0.02)	0.09	(0.02)					
Malaysia	-0.13	(0.02)	-0.19	(0.01)	-0.27	(0.01)	-0.05	(0.02)	-0.14	(0.02)	-0.09	(0.02)					
Malta	-0.02	(0.02)	-0.24	(0.01)	-0.24	(0.02)	-0.21	(0.02)	-0.22	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)					
Moldova	0.04	(0.01)	-0.06	(0.02)	-0.06	(0.01)	-0.10	(0.02)	-0.10	(0.02)	0.01	(0.02)					
Mongolia	m	m	m	m	-0.15	(0.01)	m	m	m	m	m	m					
Montenegro	-0.10	(0.01)	-0.10	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.00	(0.02)	0.24	(0.02)	0.24	(0.02)					
Morocco	m	m	-0.31	(0.02) †	-0.29	(0.01)	m	m	m	m	0.02	(0.02) †					
North Macedonia	0.35	(0.01)	m	m	0.12	(0.01)	m	m	-0.23	(0.02)	m	m					
Palestinian Authority	m	m	m	m	-0.17	(0.01)	m	m	m	m	m	m					
Panama*	m	m	-0.21	(0.02) †	-0.19	(0.02)	m	m	m	m	0.02	(0.03) †					
Paraguay	m	m	0.15	(0.03)	-0.24	(0.02)	m	m	m	m	-0.39	(0.03)					
Peru	-0.22	(0.01)	-0.12	(0.01) †	-0.20	(0.01)	0.10	(0.02) †	0.02	(0.02)	-0.09	(0.02) †					
Philippines	m	m	-0.26	(0.01)	-0.38	(0.01)	m	m	m	m	-0.12	(0.02)					
Qatar	-0.10	(0.01)	-0.20	(0.01)	-0.16	(0.01)	-0.09	(0.01)	-0.05	(0.02)	0.04	(0.02)					
Romania	0.00	(0.02)	-0.03	(0.02)	-0.02	(0.01)	-0.03	(0.03)	-0.02	(0.02)	0.01	(0.02)					
Saudi Arabia	m	m	0.03	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)	m	m	m	m	-0.03	(0.03)					
Serbia	m	m	0.03	(0.02)	0.18	(0.01)	m	m	m	m	0.15	(0.02)					
Singapore	-0.21	(0.01)	-0.17	(0.01)	-0.22	(0.01)	0.04	(0.02)	-0.01	(0.02)	-0.06	(0.02)					
Chinese Taipei	0.02	(0.01)	-0.05	(0.01)	0.01	(0.02)	-0.07	(0.02)	-0.01	(0.02)	0.06	(0.02)					
Thailand	-0.35	(0.01)	-0.40	(0.02)	-0.34	(0.01)	-0.04	(0.02)	0.01	(0.01)	0.05	(0.02)					
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	m	m	m	m	-0.08	(0.03)	m	m	m	m	m	m					
United Arab Emirates	-0.10	(0.01)	-0.10	(0.01)	-0.20	(0.01)	0.00	(0.01)	-0.10	(0.01)	-0.10	(0.01)					
Uruguay	-0.09	(0.02)	-0.03	(0.03)	-0.08	(0.01)	0.06	(0.03)	0.01	(0.02)	-0.05	(0.03)					
Uzbekistan	m	m	m	m	0.08	(0.02)	m	m	m	m	m	m					
Viet Nam	-0.06	(0.01)	-0.34	(0.02)	-0.28	(0.01)	-0.27	(0.02)	-0.22	(0.02)	0.05	(0.02)					

Notes: Values that are statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3).

# Table II.B1.1.7. Change between 2018 and 2022 in sense of belonging, by students' socio-economic status [1/2]

Based on students' reports

		Change between 2018 and 2022 in the index of sense of belonging at school, by students' socio-economic status:																			
				PIS	A 2018					PIS	A 2022			Change between PISA 2018 and PISA 2022 (PISA 2022 - PISA 2018)							
		Disadvantaged Advantaged students <sup>1</sup> students		Advantaged - disadvantaged		Disad stu	Disadvantaged students		Advantaged students		Advantaged - disadvantaged		Disadvantaged students		antaged dents	Advantaged - disadvantaged					
		Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Dif.	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Dif.	S.E.	Dif.	S.E.	Dif.	S.E.	Dif.	S.E.		
8	Australia*	-0.34	(0.02)	-0.04	(0.03)	0.30	(0.04)	-0.34	(0.02)	-0.14	(0.02)	0.20	(0.02)	0.00	(0.03)	-0.09	(0.03)	-0.09	(0.04)		
ы	Austria	0.32	(0.04)	0.48	(0.03)	0.16	(0.05)	0.27	(0.03)	0.56	(0.03)	0.29	(0.05)	-0.05	(0.05)	0.08	(0.05)	0.13	(0.07)		
	Belgium	0.03	(0.04)	0.06	(0.03)	0.03	(0.05) †	-0.05	(0.02)	0.10	(0.02)	0.15	(0.03)	-0.08	(0.04)	0.04	(0.03)	0.12	(0.06)		
	Canada*	-0.22	(0.02)	-0.10	(0.02)	0.12	(0.03)	-0.31	(0.02)	-0.02	(0.02)	0.29	(0.03)	-0.09	(0.03)	0.09	(0.03)	0.17	(0.04)		
	Chile	-0.23	(0.03)	0.05	(0.03)	0.28	(0.04)	-0.31	(0.03)	-0.09	(0.03)	0.22	(0.04)	-0.07	(0.04)	-0.13	(0.04)	-0.06	(0.06)		
	Colombia	-0.29	(0.03)	-0.04	(0.03)	0.25	(0.04)	-0.24	(0.02)	-0.04	(0.03)	0.19	(0.04)	0.05	(0.04)	0.00	(0.04)	-0.05	(0.06)		
	Costa Rica	-0.02	(0.03)	0.19	(0.04)	0.21	(0.05)	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
	Czech Republic	-0.39	(0.04)	-0.23	(0.02)	0.16	(0.04)	-0.37	(0.02)	-0.22	(0.02)	0.14	(0.03)	0.02	(0.04)	0.00	(0.03)	-0.01	(0.05)		
	Denmark*	0.10	(0.04)	0.30	(0.03)	0.20	(0.05)	0.01	(0.03)	0.17	(0.04)	0.17	(0.04)	-0.09	(0.05)	-0.13	(0.04)	-0.03	(0.07)		
	Estonia	-0.15	(0.03)	-0.06	(0.03)	0.09	(0.04)	-0.27	(0.02)	-0.02	(0.02)	0.25	(0.04)	-0.12	(0.04)	0.04	(0.04)	0.17	(0.06)		
	Finland	-0.06	(0.03)	0.11	(0.03)	0.17	(0.04)	-0.04	(0.02)	0.21	(0.02)	0.24	(0.03)	0.02	(0.03)	0.09	(0.04)	0.07	(0.05)		
	France	-0.16	(0.02)	-0.01	(0.02)	0.15	(0.03)	-0.13	(0.03)	0.10	(0.02)	0.23	(0.04)	0.03	(0.03)	0.11	(0.03)	0.08	(0.05)		
	Germany	0.12	(0.04)	0.44	(0.03)	0.32	(0.06) †	0.12	(0.03)	0.41	(0.03)	0.29	(0.04)	0.00	(0.05)	-0.03	(0.04)	-0.03	(0.07)		
	Greece	-0.10	(0.03)	0.12	(0.02)	0.22	(0.04)	-0.11	(0.02)	0.02	(0.02)	0.13	(0.03)	-0.01	(0.04)	-0.10	(0.03)	-0.08	(0.05)		
	Hungary	-0.17	(0.03)	0.21	(0.04)	0.39	(0.05)	0.02	(0.03)	0.26	(0.02)	0.24	(0.03)	0.19	(0.04)	0.04	(0.04)	-0.15	(0.06)		
	Iceland	0.04	(0.04)	0.24	(0.04)	0.20	(0.06)	-0.03	(0.04)	0.29	(0.04)	0.33	(0.06)	-0.07	(0.06)	0.06	(0.06)	0.13	(0.08)		
	Ireland*	-0.14	(0.03)	-0.14	(0.02)	0.00	(0.03)	-0.20	(0.02)	-0.05	(0.02)	0.15	(0.03)	-0.06	(0.03)	0.09	(0.03)	0.15	(0.05)		
	Israel	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		
	Italy	-0.05	(0.03)	0.09	(0.03)	0.14	(0.04)	-0.17	(0.02)	0.02	(0.02)	0.18	(0.03)	-0.12	(0.04)	-0.08	(0.04)	0.04	(0.05)		
	Japan	-0.05	(0.03)	0.07	(0.04)	0.13	(0.04)	0.17	(0.03)	0.33	(0.03)	0.15	(0.04)	0.23	(0.04)	0.25	(0.05)	0.03	(0.06)		
	Korea	0.13	(0.03)	0.40	(0.04)	0.26	(0.05)	0.13	(0.04)	0.41	(0.03)	0.28	(0.05)	-0.01	(0.05)	0.01	(0.05)	0.02	(0.07)		
	Latvia*	-0.28	(0.02)	-0.18	(0.03)	0.09	(0.04)	-0.32	(0.03)	-0.17	(0.03)	0.15	(0.04)	-0.04	(0.04)	0.01	(0.04)	0.05	(0.06)		
	Lithuania	-0.22	(0.03)	-0.01	(0.03)	0.21	(0.04)	-0.13	(0.03)	0.10	(0.04)	0.23	(0.04)	0.09	(0.04)	0.11	(0.04)	0.02	(0.06)		
	Mexico	-0.16	(0.03)	0.16	(0.03)	0.31	(0.05) †	-0.30	(0.02)	-0.06	(0.03)	0.25	(0.04)	-0.15	(0.04)	-0.21	(0.04)	-0.07	(0.06)		
	Netherlands*	0.19	(0.04)	0.21	(0.04)	0.02	(0.05) †	0.02	(0.03)	0.18	(0.03)	0.16	(0.04)	-0.17	(0.05)	-0.03	(0.05)	0.14	(0.06)		
	New Zealand*	-0.24	(0.03)	-0.15	(0.03)	0.10	(0.04)	-0.40	(0.03)	-0.20	(0.02)	0.20	(0.04)	-0.16	(0.04)	-0.05	(0.04)	0.11	(0.06)		
	Norway	0.32	(0.04)	0.43	(0.04)	0.10	(0.06)	0.06	(0.03)	0.38	(0.04)	0.32	(0.05)	-0.26	(0.05)	-0.04	(0.06)	0.22	(0.08)		
	Poland	-0.23	(0.03)	-0.30	(0.02)	-0.07	(0.04)	-0.36	(0.02)	-0.27	(0.02)	0.09	(0.04)	-0.14	(0.04)	0.03	(0.03)	0.16	(0.05)		
	Portugal	0.04	(0.04)	0.29	(0.03)	0.24	(0.05)	-0.01	(0.03)	0.25	(0.03)	0.26	(0.04)	-0.05	(0.04)	-0.03	(0.04)	0.02	(0.06)		
	Slovak Republic	-0.42	(0.03)	-0.14	(0.03)	0.29	(0.04)	-0.31	(0.04)	-0.09	(0.02)	0.22	(0.04)	0.11	(0.05)	0.04	(0.04)	-0.07	(0.06)		
	Slovenia	-0.22	(0.02)	-0.01	(0.03)	0.21	(0.03)	-0.08	(0.03)	0.13	(0.03)	0.21	(0.04)	0.14	(0.04)	0.14	(0.04)	0.00	(0.05)		
	Spain	0.41	(0.02)	0.55	(0.02)	0.13	(0.03)	0.13	(0.02)	0.44	(0.02)	0.31	(0.03)	-0.29	(0.03)	-0.11	(0.03)	0.18	(0.05)		
	Sweden	-0.02	(0.05)	0.11	(0.04)	0.13	(0.07)	-0.05	(0.03)	0.22	(0.03)	0.26	(0.04)	-0.03	(0.06)	0.11	(0.05)	0.13	(0.08)		
	Switzerland	0.22	(0.04)	0.31	(0.04)	0.09	(0.06)	0.26	(0.03)	0.41	(0.03)	0.16	(0.04)	0.04	(0.05)	0.10	(0.05)	0.06	(0.08)		
	Türkiye	-0.23	(0.03)	-0.15	(0.04)	0.09	(0.05)	-0.40	(0.02)	-0.22	(0.02)	0.18	(0.03)	-0.17	(0.03)	-0.08	(0.05)	0.09	(0.06)		
	United Kingdom*	-0.20	(0.04)	-0.13	(0.03)	0.07	(0.04)	-0.34	(0.02)	-0.11	(0.03)	0.23	(0.04)	-0.14	(0.04)	0.02	(0.04)	0.16	(0.06)		
	United States*	-0.30	(0.04)	-0.17	(0.04)	0.13	(0.05)	-0.38	(0.03)	-0.12	(0.03)	0.25	(0.04)	-0.08	(0.05)	0.04	(0.05)	0.13	(0.06)		
	OECD average	-0.08	(0.01)	0.08	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	-0.13	(0.00)	0.09	(0.00)	0.22	(0.01)	-0.04	(0.01)	0.01	(0.01)	0.05	(0.01)		

1. A socio-economically disadvantaged (advantaged) student is a student in the bottom (top) quarter of the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS) in his or her own country/economy.

Notes: Values that are statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3).

### 322 |

## Table II.B1.1.7. Change between 2018 and 2022 in sense of belonging, by students' socio-economic status [2/2]

Based on students' reports

		Change between 2018 and 2022 in the index of sense of belonging at school, by students' socio-economic status:																	
				PIS	A 2018					A 2022		Change between PISA 2018 and PISA 2022 (PISA 2022 - PISA 2018)							
		Disadvantaged students <sup>1</sup>		advantaged Advantaged students <sup>1</sup> students		Advantaged - disadvantaged		Disad stu	Disadvantaged students		Advantaged students		Advantaged - disadvantaged		Disadvantaged students		Advantaged students		ntaged - /antaged
		Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Dif.	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Dif.	S.E.	Dif.	S.E.	Dif.	S.E.	Dif.	S.E.
ers	Albania	0.28	(0.04)	0.54	(0.03)	0.26	(0.05)	0.14	(0.03)	0.38	(0.04)	0.24	(0.05)	-0.14	(0.05)	-0.16	(0.05)	-0.02	(0.07)
artu	Argentina	-0.33	(0.03)	0.14	(0.03)	0.47	(0.04)	-0.38	(0.02)	0.02	(0.03)	0.41	(0.04)	-0.05	(0.04)	-0.12	(0.04)	-0.06	(0.06)
ä	Baku (Azerbaijan)	-0.24	(0.03) †	-0.17	(0.04)	0.07	(0.05) †	-0.23	(0.03)	-0.13	(0.02)	0.10	(0.03)	0.01	(0.04)	0.04	(0.04)	0.03	(0.06)
	Brazil	-0.32	(0.03) †	-0.04	(0.03)	0.28	(0.04) †	-0.33	(0.02)	-0.02	(0.03)	0.31	(0.03)	-0.01	(0.03)	0.02	(0.04)	0.03	(0.05)
	Brunei Darussalam	-0.47	(0.02)	-0.40	(0.02)	0.06	(0.02)	-0.55	(0.01)	-0.43	(0.02)	0.11	(0.03)	-0.08	(0.02)	-0.03	(0.03)	0.05	(0.03)
	Bulgaria	-0.51	(0.04)	-0.14	(0.03)	0.37	(0.05)	-0.30	(0.03)	-0.09	(0.03)	0.21	(0.04)	0.21	(0.05)	0.05	(0.04)	-0.16	(0.06)
	Cambodia	m	m	m	m	m	m	-0.42	(0.02)	-0.42	(0.02)	0.00	(0.03)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Croatia	0.01	(0.03)	0.08	(0.02)	0.07	(0.04)	0.07	(0.03)	0.16	(0.02)	0.09	(0.04)	0.07	(0.04)	0.08	(0.03)	0.02	(0.06)
	Cyprus	-0.14	(0.02)	-0.15	(0.03)	-0.01	(0.04)	-0.15	(0.03)	-0.05	(0.03)	0.10	(0.04)	-0.02	(0.04)	0.09	(0.04)	0.11	(0.06)
	Dominican Republic	-0.37	(0.05) ‡	-0.06	(0.04)	0.31	(0.07) ‡	-0.31	(0.02)	-0.10	(0.03)	0.20	(0.04)	0.06	(0.05) ‡	-0.04	(0.05)	-0.10	(0.08) ‡
	El Salvador	m	m	m	m	m	m	-0.35	(0.03)	-0.13	(0.04)	0.22	(0.05)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Georgia	-0.16	(0.03)	-0.05	(0.04)	0.11	(0.05)	-0.13	(0.02)	0.05	(0.03)	0.18	(0.03)	0.03	(0.04)	0.10	(0.05)	0.07	(0.06)
	Guatemala	m	m	m	m	m	m	-0.24	(0.04)	-0.08	(0.04)	0.17	(0.05)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Hong Kong (China)*	-0.42	(0.03)	-0.34	(0.02)	0.08	(0.03)	-0.43	(0.02)	-0.32	(0.02)	0.10	(0.03)	-0.01	(0.03)	0.02	(0.03)	0.02	(0.04)
	Indonesia	-0.15	(0.04)	-0.08	(0.03)	0.07	(0.05)	-0.20	(0.02)	-0.11	(0.03)	0.09	(0.03)	-0.04	(0.04)	-0.03	(0.04)	0.02	(0.06)
	Jamaica*	m	m	m	m	m	m	-0.35	(0.04)	-0.32	(0.03)	0.03	(0.05)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Jordan	-0.25	(0.03)	-0.09	(0.04)	0.16	(0.06)	-0.32	(0.03)	-0.13	(0.03)	0.20	(0.04)	-0.07	(0.04)	-0.03	(0.05)	0.04	(0.07)
	Kazakhstan	-0.24	(0.03)	-0.17	(0.02)	0.07	(0.04)	-0.20	(0.01)	-0.02	(0.02)	0.18	(0.02)	0.04	(0.03)	0.15	(0.03)	0, 11	(0.04)
	Kosovo	-0.09	(0.03)	0.14	(0.03)	0.23	(0.04)	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Macao (China)	-0.42	(0.02)	-0.35	(0.02)	0.06	(0.03)	-0.33	(0.02)	-0.28	(0.02)	0.05	(0.03)	0.08	(0.03)	0.07	(0.03)	-0.01	(0.04)
	Malavsia	-0.21	(0.03)	-0.12	(0.04)	0.09	(0.05)	-0.31	(0.02)	-0.23	(0.02)	0.08	(0.02)	-0.10	(0.03)	-0.11	(0.04)	-0.01	(0.06)
	Malta	-0.31	(0.03)	-0.19	(0.03)	0.13	(0.04)	-0.34	(0.03)	-0.09	(0.04)	0.25	(0.05)	-0.03	(0.04)	0.10	(0.05)	0.13	(0.06)
	Moldova	-0.07	(0.05)	-0.02	(0.03)	0.04	(0.06)	-0.14	(0.03)	0.05	(0.03)	0.19	(0.04)	-0.08	(0.05)	0.07	(0.04)	0.15	(0.07)
	Mongolia	m	m	m	m	m	m	-0 17	(0.02)	-0.10	(0.03)	0.07	(0.03)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Montenegro	-0.18	(0.03)	-0.06	(0.03)	0.12	(0.04)	0.02	(0.03)	0.19	(0.03)	0.17	(0.04)	0.20	(0.04)	0.25	(0.04)	0.05	(0.06)
	Morocco	-0.47	(0.03) †	-0.18	(0.03)	0.29	(0.05) †	-0.37	(0.02)	-0.20	(0.02)	0.17	(0.03)	0.11	(0.04)	-0.02	(0.04)	-0.12	(0.05)
	North Macedonia	m	(0.00) I	m	(0.000) m	m	(0.00) I	0.05	(0.02)	0.21	(0.03)	0.16	(0.03)	m	(0.0.1) m	m	(e.e.,) m	m	(0.00) m
	Palestinian Authority	m	m	m	m	m	m	-0.25	(0.02)	-0.06	(0.03)	0.19	(0.04)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Panama*	-0.39	(0.05) +	-0.13	(0.03)	0.27	(0.05) +	-0.28	(0.04)	0.01	(0.05)	0.28	(0.06)	0.12	(0.06) †	0 14	(0.05)	0.02	(0.08) t
	Paraguay	m	(0.00) + m	m	(0.00) m	m	(0.00) ‡ m	-0.29	(0.03)	-0.07	(0.03)	0.22	(0.04)	m	(0.00) ‡ m	m	(0.00) m	m	(0.00) ‡ m
	Peru	-0.22	(0.04) †	-0.01	(0.02)	0.21	(0.05) †	-0.29	(0.02)	-0.09	(0.02)	0.19	(0.03)	-0.07	(0.05) †	-0.08	(0.03)	-0.01	(0.06) t
	Philippines	-0.36	(0.03)	-0.21	(0.03)	0.15	(0.05)	-0.37	(0.02)	-0.38	(0.02)	-0.01	(0.03)	-0.01	(0.04)	-0 17	(0.04)	-0.16	(0.06)
	Qatar	-0.29	(0.02)	-0.12	(0.01)	0.17	(0.03)	-0.24	(0.03)	-0.10	(0.02)	0.14	(0.04)	0.05	(0.03)	0.02	(0.03)	-0.04	(0.05)
	Romania	-0.16	(0.02)	0.09	(0.03)	0.25	(0.05)	-0.10	(0.03)	0.09	(0.02)	0.19	(0.04)	0.06	(0.05)	0.00	(0.04)	-0.06	(0.06)
	Saudi Arabia	-0.09	(0.04)	0.14	(0.04)	0.22	(0.06)	-0.09	(0.02)	0.10	(0.03)	0.18	(0.04)	0.00	(0.05)	-0.04	(0.05)	-0.04	(0.07)
	Sarbia	-0.08	(0.04)	0.14	(0.04)	0.22	(0.00)	0.03	(0.02)	0.10	(0.03)	0.10	(0.04)	0.00	(0.03)	0.14	(0.05)	-0.04	(0.06)
	Singanore	-0.24	(0.00)	-0.06	(0.04)	0.18	(0.03)	-0.28	(0.02)	-0.14	(0.02)	0.14	(0.03)	-0.04	(0.03)	-0.08	(0.03)	-0.04	(0.00)
	Chinese Tainei	_0.11	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)	0.10	(0.03)	_0.00	(0.02)	0.14	(0.00)	0.14	(0.03)	0.04	(0.03)	0.06	(0.00)	0.04	(0.05)
	Theiland	-0.11	(0.02)	0.03	(0.02)	0.14	(0.03)	-0.00	(0.03)	0.00	(0.03)	0.10	(0.04)	0.04	(0.04)	-0.00	(0.03)	-0.15	(0.05)
	Ilkrainian regions (19 of 27)	-0.40	(0.02)	-0.22	(0.03)	0.25	(0.04)	-0.37	(0.02)	0.11	(0.02)	0.11	(0.03)	0.10	(0.03)	-0.04	(0.03)	-0.15	(0.05)
	United Areh Emirates	0.42	(0.00)	0.42	(0.02)	0.04	(0.02)	-0.19	(0.00)	0.11	(0.04)	0.30	(0.00)	0.44	(0.02)	0.02	(0.02)	0.40	(0.04)
		-0.13	(0.02)	-0.13	(0.03)	0.01	(0.03)	-0.27	(0.02)	-0.10	(0.01)	0.11	(0.02)	-0.14	(0.02)	-0.03	(0.03)	0.10	(0.04)
	Uruguay	-0.19 m	(0.05) T m	0.22 m	(0.07) m	0.41 m	(0.06) [ m	0.06	(0.02)	0.11	(0.04)	0.35	(0.04)	-0.04 m	(0.06) m	-0.11 m	(0.07) m	-0.07 m	(0.09) m
	UZDEKISTAN	0.05	(0.05)	0.00	(0.00)	0.00	(0.00)	0.05	(0.00)	0.00	(0.00)	0.10	(0.00)	0.00	(0.05)	0.40	(0.00)	0.40	(0.00)
	viet Nam	-0.35	(0.05)	-0.32	(0.03)	0.02	(0.06)	-0.35	(0.02)	-0.22	(0.02)	0.12	(0.03)	0.00	(0.05)	0.10	(0.03)	0.10	(0.06)

1. A socio-economically disadvantaged (advantaged) student is a student in the bottom (top) quarter of the PISA index of economic, social and cultural status (ESCS) in his or her own country/economy.
## Table II.B1.2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [1/8]

Based on students' reports

	Inde	y of				Perce the fe	ntage ollowin	of stude g actior	entswh nsifthe	o report eir schoo	ed thei I build	ir level of ing clos	fconofic esagai	ence in t in in the	aking future	:		
	confidence for self-dire	in capacity cted learning		Usir	ng a lea or scl	arning-m hool lear	anage ning p	ment sy latform	stem			Usin	g a vid	eo comr	nunica	tion pro	gram	
	Average	Variability	Not con	at all fident	Not con	t very fident	Cor	fident	Very co	onfident	Not con	at all fident	Not con	tvery fident	Con	fident	Very c	onfident
	Mean index S.E.	S.D. S.E.		S.E.		S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.		S.E.		S.E.	%	S.E.
吕 Australia*	0.02 (0.01)	0.99 (0.01)	8.7	(0.4)	13.0	(0.4)	47.0	(0.8)	31.2	(0.8)	9.0	(0.5)	14.1	(0.4)	46.5	(0.8)	30.4	(0.8)
Ö Austria	0.22 (0.02) †	1.06 (0.01) †	13.5	(0.8)†	16.4	(0.8)†	35.7	(1.1)†	34.3	(1.1)†	8.3	(0.7) †	13.3	(0.8) †	31.7	(1.1) †	46.7	(1.3)†
Belgium	-0.13 (0.02) †	0.94 (0.01) †	11.6	(0.6)†	16.6	(0.6)†	43.3	(0.9)†	28.5	(0.8) †	8.8	(0.6) †	15.9	(0.8) †	46.2	(1.0) †	29.1	(1.2)†
Canada*	0.01 (0.02) †	1.02 (0.01) †	8.5	(0.4)†	12.9	(0.5)†	44.1	(0.8)†	34.6	(0.9)†	7.1	(0.4) †	11.2	(0.5) †	44.8	(0.7) †	36.9	(0.9)†
Chile	0.01 (0.02) †	1.07 (0.02) †	10.8	(0.8)†	16.3	(0.9)†	44.3	(1.5)†	28.5	(1.3)†	9.8	(0.9) †	16.3	(0.9) †	44.2	(1.3) †	29.7	(1.2)†
Colombia	0.30 (0.02) †	0.87 (0.01) †	6.9	(0.6)†	13.4	(0.9)†	53.3	(1.1)†	26.4	(1.2)†	6.6	(0.6) †	14.0	(0.7) †	51.6	(0.9) †	27.8	(1.0)†
Costa Rica	0.06 (0.02)	0.99 (0.01)	15.5	(0.9)	19.5	(1.0)	39.8	(0.8)	25.3	(1.2)	14.0	(0.9)	18.8	(0.8)	41.3	(1.0)	25.9	(1.1)
Czech Republic	m m	m m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Denmark*	m m	m m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Estonia	0.09 (0.02)	0.91 (0.01)	3.8	(0.4)	10.5	(0.5)	45.7	(0.9)	39.9	(0.9)	3.9	(0.4)	11.5	(0.5)	49.3	(0.9)	35.2	(1.0)
Finland	0.16 (0.02) †	1.01 (0.01) †	6.2	(0.5)†	13.3	(0.8)†	46.3	(1.0)†	34.1	(0.9) †	5.4	(0.4) †	14.5	(0.8) †	47.2	(0.9) †	32.8	(0.9)†
France	0.19 (0.02) †	0.98 (0.01) †	6.5	(0.5)†	6.9	(0.6)†	41.3	(1.1)†	45.3	(1.4)†	7.4	(0.6) †	10.8	(0.7) †	43.7	(1.0) †	38.1	(1.1)†
Germany	0.13 (0.02) †	1.05 (0.01) †	13.2	(0.7)‡	13.2	(0.8)‡	35.5	(1.4)‡	38.1	(1.4)‡	8.7	(0.7) ‡	12.3	(0.7) ‡	33.8	(1.2) ‡	45.1	(1.5)‡
Greece	-0.07 (0.02)	1.07 (0.01)	14.0	(0.7)†	24.2	(1.0)†	28.0	(0.8)†	33.8	(0.9) †	8.6	(0.6)	19.6	(0.7)	29.5	(1.0)	42.3	(1.1)
Hungary	0.10 (0.02) †	0.96 (0.01) †	9.0	(0.7)†	14.8	(0.9)†	47.3	(1.2)†	28.9	(1.1)†	6.8	(0.6) †	14.9	(0.9) †	46.7	(1.2) †	31.6	(1.3)†
Iceland	0.09 (0.03) †	1.03 (0.02) †	10.1	(0.9)†	10.8	(0.8)†	52.0	(1.5)†	27.0	(1.6)†	12.5	(0.9) †	16.9	(1.1) †	49.1	(1.7) †	21.5	(1.5)†
Ireland*	-0.07 (0.02)	0.95 (0.01)	7.1	(0.5)	12.3	(0.8)	49.8	(1.0)	30.8	(1.1)	6.4	(0.4)	12.3	(0.7)	52.5	(1.0)	28.9	(0.9)
Israel	-0.18 (0.02) †	1.13 (0.01) †	23.7	(1.0)	20.4	(0.8)	31.4	(1.1)	24.4	(1.2)	12.9	(0.8)	13.5	(0.7)	37.4	(1.2)	36.2	(1.3)
Italy	0.22 (0.02)	0.85 (0.01)	5.0	(0.4)	8.8	(0.7)	44.8	(1.2)	41.5	(1.5)	3.2	(0.4)	7.8	(0.6)	43.4	(1.1)	45.7	(1.3)
Japan	-0.68 (0.02)	0.97 (0.01)	25.0	(1.2)	26.7	(1.1)	31.1	(1.0)	17.2	(0.9)	21.5	(1.3)	21.7	(0.9)	36.0	(1.2)	20.9	(1.0)
Korea	-0.22 (0.03)	1.13 (0.01)	12.3	(1.0)	16.6	(1.1)	43.7	(1.3)	27.4	(1.2)	12.4	(0.9)	17.1	(0.9)	41.3	(2.0)	29.2	(2.0)
Latvia*	-0.04 (0.02) †	0.94 (0.01) †	6.5	(0.5)†	14.0	(0.8)†	47.3	(1.1)†	32.2	(1.2)†	5.7	(0.5) †	14.9	(0.8) †	48.3	(1.0) †	31.1	(1.2)†
Lithuania	0.19 (0.02)	0.97 (0.01)	5.6	(0.5)†	10.3	(0.8)†	43.6	(1.1)†	40.5	(1.1) †	4.4	(0.5) †	10.8	(0.7) †	44.7	(1.0) †	40.0	(1.1)†
Mexico	0.20 (0.03) †	1.00 (0.01) †	9.4	(0.7)†	16.1	(0.9)†	45.2	(1.0)†	29.4	(1.1)†	7.1	(0.6) †	16.2	(0.9) †	42.8	(1.0) †	33.9	(1.4)†
Netherlands*	-0.15 (0.02)	0.89 (0.02)	11.3	(0.8)†	19.7	(0.9)†	51.2	(1.1)†	17.8	(0.9) †	7.6	(0.6) †	15.3	(0.8) †	51.9	(1.0) †	25.2	(0.9)†
New Zealand*	-0.08 (0.02) †	0.96 (0.02) †	8.9	(0.8)†	13.7	(0.7)†	49.5	(1.1)†	27.9	(1.2)†	7.5	(0.6) †	14.9	(0.8) †	51.1	(1.2) †	26.5	(1.2)†
Norway	m m	m m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Poland	-0.19 (0.01)	0.96 (0.01)	10.9	(0.6)	20.4	(0.9)	42.5	(1.0)	26.2	(0.7)	6.9	(0.6)	17.2	(0.7)	45.0	(1.1)	30.9	(1.0)
Portugal	0.12 (0.01)	0.91 (0.01)	6.0	(0.5)	12.8	(0.6)	50.8	(1.0)	30.5	(1.0)	4.5	(0.4) †	10.9	(0.6) †	50.7	(1.1) †	33.9	(1.1)†
Slovak Republic	-0.09 (0.02) †	0.96 (0.01) †	15.0	(0.7)†	20.2	(0.8)†	45.2	(1.0)†	19.6	(0.9) †	9.8	(0.7) †	18.3	(1.0) †	47.1	(1.3) †	24.8	(1.1)†
Slovenia	-0.10 (0.02)	0.91 (0.01)	9.4	(0.6)	19.3	(1.0)	51.8	(1.3)	19.5	(0.9)	7.2	(0.5)	15.7	(0.7)	51.4	(1.2)	25.6	(1.1)
Spain	0.20 (0.01)	0.93 (0.01)	6.7	(0.3)†	11.6	(0.4)†	43.0	(0.7)†	38.6	(0.8) †	6.3	(0.3) †	11.5	(0.4) †	43.1	(0.7) †	39.1	(0.8) †
Sweden	0.09 (0.02) †	1.01 (0.01) †	9.1	(0.6)†	13.5	(0.7)†	37.6	(1.0)†	39.7	(1.2) †	5.9	(0.5) †	10.3	(0.7) †	39.5	(1.0) †	44.3	(1.2)†
Switzerland	0.16 (0.02) †	0.98 (0.01) †	16.3	(1.1)‡	19.1	(1.0)‡	38.3	(1.2)‡	26.3	(1.1)‡	9.1	(0.8) ‡	15.3	(0.9) ‡	39.6	(1.4) ‡	36.0	(1.4)‡
Türkiye	-0.06 (0.02)	1.06 (0.01)	14.5	(0.7)	16.9	(0.6)	46.2	(0.9)	22.3	(0.8)	11.9	(0.6)	16.3	(0.6)	46.2	(1.1)	25.6	(0.8)
United Kingdom	-0.19 (0.02) †	0.96 (0.01) †	11.8	(0.8)†	17.4	(0.8)†	50.3	(1.3)†	20.4	(0.9)†	9.4	(0.7) †	15.7	(0.8) †	50.8	(1.2) †	24.1	(1.1)†
United States*	-0.01 (0.02)	1.02 (0.01)	9.5	(0.7)	12.1	(0.7)	45.4	(1.2)	33.0	(1.3)	9.6	(0.6)	14.6	(0.8)	45.5	(1.2)	30.3	(1.4)
OECD average	0.01 (0.00)	0.98 (0.00)	10.7	(0.1)	15.4	(0.1)	43.9	(0.2)	30.0	(0.2)	8.4	(0.1)	14.5	(0.1)	44.5	(0.2)	32.5	(0.2)

## Table II.B1.2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [2/8]

Based on students' reports

							Perce the fo	ntage	of stude g action	ntswh sifthe	o report	ed the I build	ir level of ing close	fcon <mark>fi</mark> esagai	ence in t in in the f	aking future:	:		
		confidence for self-dired	x of in capacity cted learning		Usir	ng a lea or sc	arning-m hool lear	anage ning p	nent sys latform	stem			Usin	ig a vic	leo comr	nunica	tion pro	gram	
		Average	Variability	Not con	atall fident	No con	tvery fident	Con	fident	Very c	onfident	No con	tatall fident	No con	tvery fident	Cor	nfident	V con	'ery ifident
		Mean index S.E.	S.D. S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.		S.E.
ers	Albania	0.16 (0.02) ‡	1.09 (0.02) ‡	13.9	(0.9) ‡	24.3	(1.4) ‡	39.0	(1.4) ‡	22.7	(1.2) ‡	9.0	(0.8) ‡	21.2	(1.2) ‡	41.4	(1.3) ‡	28.5	(1.2) ‡
Tu	Argentina	-0.06 (0.02) ‡	1.00 (0.02) ‡	14.9	(1.0) ‡	19.4	(1.0) ‡	41.0	(1.2) ‡	24.8	(1.0) ‡	14.0	(1.0) ‡	20.4	(1.1) ‡	41.4	(1.2) ‡	24.2	(1.1) ‡
ä	Baku (Azerbaijan)	0.01 (0.03) ‡	1.02 (0.02) ‡	16.1	(1.2) ‡	24.3	(1.3) ‡	42.2	(1.5) ‡	17.4	(1.0) ‡	11.1	(1.0) ‡	21.5	(1.2) ‡	47.3	(1.8) ‡	20.1	(1.2) ‡
	Brazil	-0.39 (0.01) †	0.97 (0.01) †	16.4	(0.7) †	29.9	(1.0) †	41.1	(1.0) †	12.6	(0.6) †	16.8	(0.7) †	28.1	(0.8) †	40.6	(0.8) †	14.6	(0.8) †
	Brunei Darussalam	-0.37 (0.01) †	0.82 (0.01) †	12.3	(0.8) †	35.2	(1.0) †	39.9	(1.0) †	12.5	(0.7) †	9.9	(0.6) †	32.4	(1.0) †	42.5	(1.0) †	15.1	(0.6) †
	Bulgaria	0.05 (0.02) †	1.02 (0.01) †	12.6	(0.9) †	18.8	(0.8) †	39.2	(1.1) †	29.3	(1.2) †	9.8	(0.7) †	19.7	(1.0) †	42.0	(1.3) †	28.5	(1.4) †
	Cambodia	-0.25 (0.02) †	0.74 (0.02) †	15.5	(0.8) †	35.3	(1.2) †	41.2	(1.3) †	8.0	(0.8) †	10.7	(0.6) †	32.3	(1.2) †	48.0	(1.2) †	9.0	(0.7) †
	Croatia	0.34 (0.02)	0.94 (0.01)	7.3	(0.5) †	12.0	(0.7) †	48.8	(1.0) †	31.9	(0.9) †	3.0	(0.4)	7.8	(0.6)	45.7	(0.9)	43.4	(1.0)
	Cyprus	0.01 (0.02) ‡	1.09 (0.01) ‡	14.7	(0.8) ‡	19.2	(0.9) ‡	33.3	(1.1) ‡	32.8	(1.2) ‡	9.1	(0.7) ‡	19.9	(1.0) ‡	36.6	(1.2) ‡	34.4	(1.3) ‡
	Dominican Republic	0.10 (0.04) ‡	1.14 (0.02) ‡	19.5	(1.2) ‡	22.2	(1.4) ‡	31.3	(1.3) ‡	27.0	(1.5) ‡	13.9	(1.2) ‡	21.9	(1.4) ‡	34.1	(1.5) ‡	30.1	(1.9) ‡
	El Salvador	0.08 (0.02) †	0.97 (0.02) †	12.7	(1.0) †	17.1	(1.1) †	50.6	(1.4) †	19.6	(1.1) †	10.9	(0.8) †	16.9	(1.1) †	52.3	(1.5) †	19.9	(1.3) †
	Georgia	-0.14 (0.02) ‡	1.08 (0.01) ‡	16.9	(1.0) ‡	28.8	(1.1) ‡	35.7	(1.2) ‡	18.6	(1.0) ‡	14.1	(0.9) ‡	27.4	(1.1) ‡	39.2	(1.3) ‡	19.3	(1.0) ‡
	Guatemala	0.17 (0.03) ‡	1.05 (0.02) ‡	13.6	(0.9) ‡	16.2	(1.0) ‡	42.8	(1.2) ‡	27.5	(1.4) ‡	10.6	(0.7) ‡	15.8	(1.1) ‡	44.2	(1.3) ‡	29.3	(1.5) ‡
	Hong Kong (China)*	-0.18 (0.02)	0.93 (0.01)	7.0	(0.6)	17.1	(0.7)	53.8	(1.1)	22.1	(0.8)	6.0	(0.5)	15.9	(0.7)	52.4	(0.9)	25.7	(1.2)
	Indonesia	-0.09 (0.01)	0.77 (0.01)	10.1	(0.6)	32.1	(1.1)	48.2	(1.2)	9.6	(0.6)	9.6	(0.6)	34.9	(1.0)	47.5	(1.1)	7.9	(0.5)
	Jamaica*	-0.13 (0.03) ‡	1.03 (0.02) ‡	17.7	(1.7) ‡	19.7	(1.5) ‡	43.6	(1.8) ‡	19.0	(1.2) ‡	15.3	(1.4) ‡	23.6	(1.5) ‡	42.8	(1.7) ‡	18.2	(1.4) ‡
	Jordan	-0.20 (0.02) †	1.07 (0.02) †	26.0	(1.0) †	26.2	(1.1) †	32.2	(1.1) †	15.6	(0.9) †	22.3	(1.1) †	27.1	(1.2) †	34.8	(1.2) †	15.8	(0.9) †
	Kazakhstan	0.17 (0.01)	0.92 (0.01)	7.5	(0.4)	15.8	(0.5)	52.5	(0.7)	24.2	(0.6)	7.2	(0.4)	17.6	(0.6)	51.8	(0.7)	23.4	(0.8)
	Kosovo	-0.07 (0.02) †	0.99 (0.01) †	16.2	(1.0) †	27.7	(1.2) †	36.6	(1.3) †	19.4	(1.0) †	11.2	(0.7) †	28.1	(1.2) †	39.0	(1.2) †	21.7	(1.1) †
	Macao (China)	-0.15 (0.02)	0.93 (0.01)	7.1	(0.5)	20.6	(0.9)	48.7	(1.1)	23.6	(0.9)	6.5	(0.5)	19.4	(0.9)	49.7	(1.0)	24.4	(1.0)
	Malaysia	-0.28 (0.02)	0.87 (0.01)	12.9	(0.6) †	35.2	(1.0) †	38.2	(1.0) †	13.8	(0.7) †	10.3	(0.7) †	32.5	(1.0) †	42.8	(0.9) †	14.4	(0.7) †
	Malta	-0.04 (0.02) †	1.02 (0.02) †	12.4	(1.0) †	19.8	(1.1) †	41.2	(1.3) †	26.6	(1.3) †	7.9	(0.7) †	13.6	(1.0) †	45.0	(1.3) †	33.5	(1.2) †
	Moldova	-0.01 (0.02)	0.95 (0.01)	8.9	(0.6)	21.7	(0.9)	44.9	(1.0)	24.5	(1.1)	6.4	(0.5)	23.8	(0.8)	45.4	(1.0)	24.4	(1.0)
	Mongolia	-0.02 (0.01)	0.95 (0.01)	12.4	(0.6)	28.1	(0.9)	41.5	(0.9)	18.0	(0.8)	9.8	(0.5)	26.3	(0.9)	44.6	(1.0)	19.3	(0.7)
	Montenegro	-0.08 (0.02) †	1.05 (0.01) †	14.9	(0.8) †	31.2	(1.1) †	33.9	(1.1) †	20.1	(1.0) †	13.8	(0.7) †	29.2	(1.0) †	35.8	(1.1) †	21.2	(0.9) †
	Morocco	-0.37 (0.02) ‡	0.99 (0.02) ‡	34.7	(1.4) ‡	28.5	(1.2) ‡	26.6	(1.2) ‡	10.2	(0.8) ‡	29.3	(1.1) ‡	30.9	(1.2) ‡	28.1	(1.0) ‡	11.6	(1.0) ‡
	North Macedonia	0.07 (0.02) †	0.99 (0.01) †	11.8	(0.7) †	23.1	(1.0) †	45.2	(1.1) †	19.8	(0.9) †	9.4	(0.6) †	21.3	(1.0) †	46.4	(1.1) †	22.9	(1.0) †
	Palestinian Authority	-0.20 (0.02) †	0.98 (0.01) †	24.7	(0.9) †	29.3	(1.0) †	32.2	(0.9) †	13.8	(0.8) †	18.9	(0.9) †	27.8	(0.8) †	38.4	(1.0) †	14.9	(0.7) †
	Panama*	0.35 (0.04) ‡	0.97 (0.03) ‡	9.6	(1.5) ‡	10.4	(1.3) ‡	49.7	(2.3) ‡	30.3	(2.1) ‡	8.0	(1.5) ‡	9.8	(1.7) ‡	42.4	(2.6) ‡	39.7	(2.7) ‡
	Paraguay	0.04 (0.02) †	0.96 (0.02) †	13.5	(0.8) †	18.1	(0.9) †	48.0	(1.1) †	20.4	(1.0) †	10.7	(0.7) †	23.5	(1.1) †	46.7	(1.1) †	19.1	(1.0) †
	Peru	0.07 (0.03) ‡	0.96 (0.01) ‡	8.8	(0.8) ‡	20.6	(1.0) ‡	47.0	(1.3) ‡	23.6	(1.4) ‡	7.8	(0.7) ‡	20.1	(1.0) ‡	45.3	(1.5) ‡	26.8	(1.7) ‡
	Philippines	-0.13 (0.01) †	0.79 (0.01) †	11.9	(0.7) †	31.5	(1.1) †	47.8	(1.1) †	8.9	(0.7) †	13.6	(0.7) †	34.3	(1.0) †	43.2	(1.0) †	8.9	(0.7) †
	Qatar	0.07 (0.02) †	1.06 (0.01) †	12.0	(0.8) †	18.1	(0.9) †	40.9	(1.3) †	29.1	(1.1) †	9.7	(0.7) †	19.3	(0.9) †	40.7	(1.3) †	30.3	(1.3) †
	Romania	-0.02 (0.02) †	1.02 (0.01) †	12.6	(0.7) †	22.0	(1.0) †	41.8	(0.8) †	23.6	(1.0) †	10.2	(0.8) †	20.4	(0.9) †	44.3	(1.1) †	25.1	(1.0) †
	Saudi Arabia	0.17 (0.02) †	1.11 (0.01) †	14.8	(0.8) †	22.0	(1.0) †	38.5	(1.1) †	24.6	(1.0) †	12.1	(0.7) †	19.1	(1.0) †	38.9	(1.1) †	29.9	(1.2) †
	Serbia	-0.18 (0.02) †	1.00 (0.02) †	14.3	(0.8) †	22.1	(0.9) †	40.8	(1.0) †	22.8	(1.2) †	12.3	(0.8) †	25.1	(1.0) †	42.0	(1.2) †	20.5	(1.1) †
	Singapore	m m	m m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Chinese Taipei	-0.16 (0.02)	0.99 (0.02)	7.5	(0.7)	17.5	(0.9)	50.4	(1.1)	24.6	(1.2)	6.0	(0.6)	14.7	(1.0)	48.6	(1.4)	30.7	(1.5)
	Thailand	-0.27 (0.02)	0.88 (0.01)	12.1	(0.7)	38.7	(1.1)	37.7	(1.0)	11.6	(0.7)	11.6	(0.8)	37.2	(1.1)	38.7	(0.9)	12.4	(0.8)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	0.06 (0.03) †	0.93 (0.02) †	9.9	(1.1) †	17.4	(1.4) †	47.2	(1.4) †	25.5	(1.6) †	5.5	(0.8) †	15.9	(1.3) †	52.1	(1.7) †	26.5	(1.6) †
	UnitedArab Emirates	0.30 (0.01)	1.05 (0.01)	7.6	(0.3) †	12.8	(0.4) †	41.3	(0.6) †	38.3	(0.5) †	6.7	(0.3) †	13.3	(0.6) †	39.3	(0.7) †	40.7	(0.7) †
	Uruguay	-0.05 (0.02) ‡	0.98 (0.02) ‡	13.5	(1.0) ‡	17.1	(1.1) ‡	45.2	(1.6) ‡	24.2	(1.3) ‡	11.7	(0.7) ‡	17.9	(1.0) ‡	45.0	(1.3) ‡	25.5	(1.2) ‡
	Uzbekistan	0.07 (0.03) ‡	1.06 (0.02) ‡	15.7	(1.0) ‡	22.7	(1.3) ‡	39.8	(1.4) ‡	21.8	(1.2) ‡	15.7	(0.9) ‡	24.4	(1.3) ‡	38.2	(1.0) ‡	21.6	(1.4) ‡
	Viet Nam	-0.09 (0.02)	0.86 (0.01)	6.0	(0.4)	29.2	(0.9)	47.4	(0.7)	17.3	(0.8)	4.7	(0.4)	22.1	(0.8)	52.3	(0.8)	21.0	(0.9)

## Table II.B1.2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [3/8]

#### Based on students' reports

					Perce the f	entage of s ollowing a	tudents ctions if	who report their schoo	ted th ol bui	neir level of c Ilding closes	onfideno again ir	e in taking the future:				
		Fin	ding lea	rning resou	rces on	line on my	own			P	anning	when to do	schoolv	vork on my	own	
	No cor	tatall nfident	N c	ot very nfident	Co	onfident	со	Very onfident		Not at all confident	c	Notvery onfident	Co	nfident	со	Very nfident
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	6 S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
- Australia*	5.8	(0.4)	16.6	(0.5)	54.6	(0.7)	23.1	(0.5)	7.	5 (0.4)	20.1	(0.5)	52.7	(0.7)	19.7	(0.6)
5 Austria	7.8	(0.5) †	19.1	(0.8) †	39.8	(1.0) †	33.3	(1.2) †	7.	0 (0.5)	18.0	(0.9) †	42.3	(1.1) †	32.6	(1.2) †
Belgium	10.7	(0.6) †	24.7	(0.9) †	47.0	(0.9) †	17.6	(0.7) †	9.	9 (0.7) 1	25.2	(0.9) †	47.0	(0.9) †	18.0	(0.8) †
Canada*	7.4	(0.4) †	18.0	(0.7) †	49.9	(0.7) †	24.6	(0.8) †	8.	8 (0.3)	20.8	(0.6) †	49.1	(0.7) †	21.3	(0.7) †
Chile	8.8	(0.8) †	20.4	(1.0) †	46.0	(1.5) †	24.8	(1.1) †	9.	7 (0.8)	23.4	(1.1) †	46.4	(1.4) †	20.5	(1.1) †
Colombia	4.2	(0.5) †	14.4	(0.8) †	58.2	(1.2) †	23.2	(1.2) †	3.	6 (0.5) 1	13.3	(0.8) †	62.6	(1.2) †	20.5	(1.0) †
Costa Rica	9.4	(0.7)	21.1	(1.0)	47.6	(1.1)	22.0	(0.9)	8.	2 (0.7)	18.1	(0.9)	51.2	(1.0)	22.5	(1.0)
Czech Republic	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	r	n m	n	n m	m	m	m	m
Denmark*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	r	n m	n	n m	m	m	m	m
Estonia	3.9	(0.4)	15.4	(0.8)	54.4	(1.0)	26.3	(0.9)	4.	8 (0.5)	22.5	(0.7)	51.2	(0.9)	21.4	(0.9)
Finland	4.9	(0.4) †	15.3	(0.7) †	54.3	(0.8) †	25.5	(0.8) †	6.	5 (0.5) †	21.5	(0.8) †	48.9	(1.0) †	23.1	(0.7) †
France	6.4	(0.5) †	10.7	(0.7) †	49.9	(1.1) †	33.0	(1.1) †	7.	7 (0.5) 1	17.6	(0.9) †	47.4	(1.0) †	27.3	(1.1) †
Germany	7.8	(0.7) ‡	14.9	(0.8) ‡	42.7	(1.3) ‡	34.7	(1.1) ‡	8.	6 (0.7) ‡	:   16.6	(0.9) ‡	43.3	(1.1) ‡	31.6	(1.0) ‡
Greece	11.8	(0.8)	32.1	(0.9)	29.8	(0.9)	26.2	(0.9)	11.	0 (0.6)	29.1	(1.0)	33.0	(1.0)	26.8	(0.8)
Hungary	5.1	(0.4) †	15.6	(0.8) †	52.1	(1.1) †	27.2	(1.1) †	5.	5 (0.5) 1	21.1	(0.9) †	51.3	(1.1) †	22.1	(0.9) †
Iceland	7.5	(0.9) †	12.6	(1.0) †	57.7	(1.7) †	22.2	(1.4) †	7.	6 (0.7) 1	20.0	(1.3) †	52.3	(1.8) †	20.1	(1.6) †
Ireland*	7.8	(0.5)	20.1	(0.8)	52.8	(0.9)	19.3	(0.8)	7.	7 (0.5)	21.5	(0.9)	53.6	(1.0)	17.1	(0.7)
Israel	14.6	(0.8)	23.8	(1.0)	37.2	(0.9)	24.4	(1.0)	15.	5 (0.8)	25.6	(1.1)	36.5	(1.0)	22.4	(1.0)
Italy	3.7	(0.4)	9.7	(0.6)	52.6	(1.0)	34.0	(1.1)	3.	8 (0.4)	16.7	(0.6)	54.8	(1.0)	24.6	(0.9)
Japan	28.9	(1.0)	38.5	(1.1)	22.2	(0.8)	10.4	(0.7)	24.	5 (0.9)	38.8	(1.0)	27.5	(1.1)	9.2	(0.5)
Korea	12.5	(0.7)	22.6	(0.8)	43.5	(1.2)	21.4	(1.0)	17.	3 (1.0)	31.5	(1.0)	36.1	(1.3)	15.1	(0.9)
Latvia*	5.5	(0.5) †	19.4	(1.0) †	53.1	(1.1) †	22.0	(0.9) †	6.	7 (0.5) 1	26.4	(1.0) †	48.8	(0.9) †	18.0	(0.8) †
Lithuania	4.4	(0.4) †	13.2	(0.7) †	50.9	(1.1) †	31.5	(1.0) †	5.	5 (0.5) 1	18.7	(0.7) †	50.8	(1.0) †	24.9	(1.0) †
Mexico	7.0	(0.5) †	20.7	(1.0) †	46.6	(1.2) †	25.6	(1.4) †	7.	4 (0.7) 1	20.2	(1.1) †	49.2	(1.0) †	23.2	(1.2) †
Netherlands*	6.2	(0.7) †	19.2	(0.9) †	55.1	(1.2) †	19.5	(1.1) †	8.	0 (0.5) 1	26.3	(0.9) †	51.5	(1.4) †	14.2	(0.9) †
New Zealand*	7.0	(0.5) †	19.6	(0.9) †	55.2	(1.4) †	18.2	(0.9) †	8.	2 (0.7) 1	21.5	(0.9) †	53.0	(1.2) †	17.4	(0.8) †
Norway	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	r	n m	n	1 m	m	m	m	m
Poland	72	(0.5)	21.6	(07)	48.0	(0.8)	23.2	(0.8)	9	8 (0.6)	27.9	(0.9)	44.2	(10)	18 1	(07)
Portugal	6.1	(0.5) †	20.6	(0.6) †	53.5	(1.0) †	19.8	(0.8) †	5.	6 (0.5) 1	18.9	(0.7) †	54.8	(0.9) †	20.7	(0.7) †
Slovak Republic	8.6	(0.7) †	21.9	(1.1) †	50.4	(1.1) †	19.1	(0.8) †	7.	8 (0.7) t	24.7	(0.9) †	51.6	(1.2) †	15.9	(0.9) †
Slovenia	5.4	(0.4)	21.7	(10)	55.4	(12)	17.6	(1.0)	6	8 (0.5)	25.7	(10)	51.5	(11)	16.0	(0.7)
Spain	5.2	(0.1) (0.3) +	17.2	(0.6) †	49.5	(0.6) +	28.0	(0.6) +	5	4 (0.3) 1	15.5	(0.5) †	52.7	(0.7) +	26.4	(0.6) †
Sweden	7.5	(0.6) +	21.0	(0.9) +	45.9	(1.1) +	25.5	(0.9) +	6	9 (0.5)	21.2	(0.9) +	50.0	(1.2) +	21.8	(1.0) +
Switzerland	7.8	(0.3) +	15.7	(10) +	45.2	(12) +	31.3	(1.3) +	5	8 (0.6)	18.6	(11) +	45.5	(12) +	30.1	(1.3) +
Türkive	10.5	(0.6)	19.1	(0.7)	47.8	(1.2) +	22.6	(0.8)	11	1 (0.7)	24.1	(0.7)	45.2	(0.9)	19.5	(0.9)
United Kingdom	8.2	(0.6) +	19.1	(0.0) +	55.0	(1.0) +	17.6	(0.0) +	10	4 (07) H	24.1	(1.1) +	51.0	(1.2) +	14.6	(0.8) +
United States*	8.1	(0.6)	18.3	(0.0)	51.1	(1.0)	22.4	(1.0)	8	9 (0.6)	10 0	(0.9)	51.0	(1.1)	20.1	(0.8)
United Utates	0.1	(0.0)	10.5	(0.3)	51.1	(1.1)	22.4	(1.0)	0.	0.0)	19.8	(0.9)	51.1	(1.1)	20.1	(0.0)
OECD average	8.1	(0.1)	19.2	(0.1)	48.7	(0.2)	24.0	(0.2)	8.	5 (0.1)	22.2	(0.2)	48.2	(0.2)	21.1	(0.2)

## Table II.B1.2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [4/8]

#### Based on students' reports

					Perce the f	entage of st ollowing ac	udents tions if t	who rep their scl	oort hoo	ed theiı I buildiı	r level of ng close	cor s ag	nfölence jain in t	in takin he futu	g re:						
		Fin	ding lea	rning resou	rces or	line on my	own					Plar	nning w	hen to (	do s	chool w	ork on n	ny c	wn		
	N c	otatall nfident	N co	otvery nfident	Co	nfident	co	Very nfident		No co	ot at all nfident		No	otvery nfident		Coi	nficlent		\ cor	/ery 1fident	
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	
쯟 Albania	8.3	(0.7) ‡	23.7	(1.1) ‡	42.7	(1.1) ‡	25.3	(0.9)	‡	7.1	(0.7)	‡	22.2	(1.2)	‡	45.2	(1.2)	‡	25.4	(1.1)	‡
E Argentina	11.1	(0.7) ‡	21.3	(1.1) ‡	48.1	(1.2) ‡	19.5	(1.0)	‡	10.6	(0.9)	‡	23.1	(1.0)	‡	49.0	(1.7)	ŧ	17.3	(1.1)	‡
Baku (Azerbaijan)	9.2	(1.0) ‡	23.2	(1.3) ‡	48.4	(1.5) ‡	19.2	(1.2)	‡	9.2	(1.0)	‡	23.9	(1.4)	‡	47.6	(1.6)	‡	19.3	(1.2)	‡
Brazil	14.5	(0.6) †	32.7	(0.9) †	41.5	(0.9) †	11.3	(0.5)	t	15.3	(0.7)	t	32.9	(0.9)	t	41.1	(0.9)	t	10.7	(0.6)	t
Brunei Darussalam	8.0	(0.6) †	37.4	(1.1) †	43.3	(1.0) †	11.3	(0.6)	t	8.1	(0.6)	t	37.5	(1.0)	t	44.9	(1.1)	†	9.6	(0.7)	t
Bulgaria	9.2	(0.7) †	24.7	(1.0) †	42.6	(1.3) †	23.6	(1.1)	t	8.0	(0.7)	t	24.1	(1.0)	t	45.6	(1.3)	t	22.3	(1.0)	t
Cambodia	10.6	(0.7) †	34.7	(0.9) †	46.9	(1.0) †	7.8	(0.6)	†	5.9	(0.4)	†	27.0	(1.0)	†	57.4	(1.2)	†	9.6	(0.7)	†
Croatia	3.5	(0.4) †	9.4	(0.6) †	54.1	(1.0) †	33.0	(1.0)	t	4.3	(0.5)	t	13.2	(0.6)	t	55.9	(1.0)	t	26.6	(0.9)	t
Cyprus	10.6	(0.8) ‡	24.2	(1.0) ‡	39.5	(1.3) ‡	25.6	(1.3)	‡	9.0	(0.7)	‡	25.8	(1.1)	‡	40.7	(1.2)	‡	24.6	(1.0)	‡
Dominican Republic	13.4	(1.1) ‡	23.5	(1.3) ‡	36.3	(1.5) ‡	26.9	(1.7)	‡	9.6	(0.9)	‡	24.1	(1.6)	‡	38.3	(1.6)	‡	28.0	(1.4)	‡
El Salvador	9.7	(0.9) †	17.9	(1.1) †	55.8	(1.3) †	16.6	(1.0)	t	7.8	(0.7)	†	17.8	(1.2)	†	56.0	(1.4)	†	18.4	(1.3)	†
Georgia	11.9	(0.7) ‡	24.5	(0.9) ‡	43.4	(1.3) ‡	20.2	(0.9)	‡	11.6	(0.8)	‡	27.4	(1.2)	‡	42.9	(1.2)	‡	18.1	(0.9)	‡
Guatemala	10.7	(0.7) ‡	19.7	(0.8) ‡	45.7	(1.2) ‡	24.0	(1.2)	‡	8.9	(0.6)	‡	16.3	(1.0)	‡	49.0	(1.4)	‡	25.7	(1.2)	‡
Hong Kong (China)*	7.6	(0.7)	22.8	(0.8)	54.9	(1.0)	14.7	(0.7)		9.8	(0.7)		32.2	(0.9)		46.8	(1.0)		11.3	(0.7)	
Indonesia	7.6	(0.6)	33.7	(0.9)	51.0	(1.0)	7.8	(0.5)		5.5	(0.5)		28.3	(0.9)		58.4	(1.0)		7.8	(0.5)	
Jamaica*	10.6	(1.0) ‡	24.2	(1.8) ‡	44.8	(1.7) ‡	20.4	(1.5)	‡	12.0	(1.2)	‡	22.7	(1.4)	‡	48.3	(2.1)	‡	17.1	(1.5)	‡
Jordan	15.7	(0.8) †	24.6	(1.0) †	42.3	(1.3) †	17.4	(1.0)	t	14.9	(1.0)	†	27.5	(1.1)	†	41.1	(1.1)	†	16.5	(1.0)	†
Kazakhstan	5.6	(0.3)	16.5	(0.6)	56.9	(0.7)	20.9	(0.6)		5.3	(0.3)		19.1	(0.6)		57.1	(0.7)		18.6	(0.5)	
Kosovo	10.0	(0.7) †	28.1	(1.1) †	44.0	(1.2) †	17.9	(1.0)	t	10.2	(0.8)	†	25.9	(1.1)	t	46.1	(1.3)	†	17.8	(1.0)	†
Macao (China)	7.2	(0.5)	27.0	(0.9)	48.6	(1.0)	17.3	(0.7)		7.5	(0.6)		34.4	(1.1)		44.4	(1.1)		13.8	(0.7)	
Malaysia	7.5	(0.5) †	32.4	(0.9) †	47.8	(0.9) †	12.4	(0.9)	t	7.8	(0.6)	†	32.8	(1.0)	t	48.1	(0.9)	†	11.3	(0.7)	†
Malta	9.0	(0.8) †	23.0	(1.2) †	47.2	(1.4) †	20.7	(1.1)	t	8.6	(0.8)	t	22.1	(1.1)	t	47.6	(1.3)	t	21.7	(1.2)	t
Moldova	6.0	(0.4)	26.3	(1.1)	49.7	(1.2)	18.0	(0.9)		6.5	(0.6)	t	29.2	(1.1)	t	48.6	(1.2)	†	15.7	(0.8)	t
Mongolia	8.2	(0.5)	24.3	(0.9)	50.3	(0.9)	17.2	(0.7)		7.5	(0.5)		26.0	(0.8)		49.2	(0.9)		17.2	(0.8)	
Montenegro	9.2	(0.7) †	33.0	(1.1) †	37.8	(1.1) †	20.0	(0.8)	t	10.7	(0.8)	t	31.4	(1.2)	t	38.5	(1.1)	†	19.5	(0.9)	t
Morocco	19.7	(1.0) ‡	26.7	(1.3) ‡	40.0	(1.4) ‡	13.6	(0.8)	‡	16.8	(0.9)	‡	28.6	(1.1)	‡	41.5	(1.3)	ŧ	13.0	(0.9)	‡
North Macedonia	7.9	(0.6) †	23.9	(0.9) †	48.0	(1.1) †	20.2	(0.9)	t	6.7	(0.5)	†	22.7	(0.9)	†	50.9	(1.1)	†	19.7	(0.9)	†
Palestinian Authority	15.2	(0.7) †	25.8	(1.0) †	43.9	(0.9) †	15.1	(0.7)	t	13.5	(0.8)	t	27.4	(0.9)	t	43.8	(0.9)	t	15.2	(0.7)	t
Panama*	7.3	(1.1) ‡	12.1	(1.8) ‡	53.2	(2.6) ‡	27.4	(2.1)	‡	4.8	(0.8)	‡	11.9	(1.5)	‡	53.1	(2.1)	‡	30.3	(2.0)	‡
Paraguay	8.7	(0.8) †	20.6	(1.0) †	51.9	(1.2) †	18.7	(1.0)	t	7.6	(0.6)	t	18.5	(0.9)	t	56.0	(1.0)	t	17.9	(0.9)	t
Peru	7.4	(0.6) ‡	20.4	(1.2) ‡	53.9	(1.2) ‡	18.3	(1.2)	‡	5.9	(0.6)	‡	19.8	(1.1)	‡	55.7	(1.3)	‡	18.6	(1.0)	‡
Philippines	8.9	(0.6) †	30.0	(1.0) †	51.9	(1.0) †	9.2	(0.6)	†	8.2	(0.6)	†	27.0	(0.9)	†	55.3	(1.1)	t	9.6	(0.6)	†
Qatar	8.1	(0.6) †	19.0	(0.9) †	46.9	(1.3) †	26.0	(1.1)	t	8.8	(0.6)	t	23.8	(1.1)	t	44.9	(1.2)	†	22.6	(1.2)	t
Romania	9.0	(0.6) †	22.5	(0.9) †	48.1	(1.0) †	20.4	(0.8)	t	8.9	(0.6)	t	24.7	(0.9)	t	46.9	(1.1)	t	19.5	(0.8)	t
Saudi Arabia	9.6	(0.8) †	21.4	(1.0) †	43.8	(1.2) †	25.2	(1.0)	†	10.1	(0.7)	†	21.3	(1.0)	t	43.5	(1.1)	†	25.0	(1.1)	†
Serbia	10.5	(0.7) †	27.7	(1.1) †	44.6	(1.2) †	17.2	(0.9)	t	10.4	(0.6)	t	28.6	(0.9)	t	45.0	(1.1)	†	16.0	(0.9)	t
Singapore	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m	m		m	m		m	m		m	m	
Chinese Taipei	8.0	(0.7)	24.4	(1.0)	48.4	(1.5)	19.3	(1.1)		10.9	(0.9)		36.7	(1.3)		38.8	(1.4)		13.7	(0.8)	
Thailand	8.1	(0.5)	35.5	(1.0)	46.0	(1.1)	10.3	(0.7)		8.0	(0.5)		37.5	(1.2)		44.8	(1.2)		9.7	(0.5)	
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	5.0	(0.7) †	18.5	(1.3) †	53.9	(1.5) †	22.6	(1.4)	†	5.2	(0.8)	†	24.3	(1.2)	t	52.1	(1.8)	†	18.4	(1.2)	t
United Arab Emirates	5.2	(0.4) †	15.6	(0.4) †	45.5	(0.7) †	33.7	(0.7)	†	5.6	(0.2)	†	19.1	(0.5)	†	46.5	(0.5)	†	28.8	(0.6)	†
Uruguay	9.0	(0.7) ‡	24.5	(1.0) ‡	47.1	(1.2) ‡	19.3	(1.0)	‡	9.4	(0.8)	ţ	22.4	(1.1)	‡	49.1	(1.3)	ŧ	19.1	(0.9)	ŧ
Uzbekistan	10.3	(0.9) ‡	22.1	(1.0) ‡	44.8	(1.5) ‡	22.7	(1.2)	‡	9.3	(0.8)	‡	21.5	(1.2)	‡	47.3	(1.6)	‡	21.9	(1.2)	‡
Viet Nam	4.3	(0.3)	26.0	(0.8)	54.4	(0.8)	15.2	(0.7)		4.9	(0.4)		34.4	(0.7)		48.4	(0.8)		12.3	(0.6)	

## Table II.B1.2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [5/8]

#### Based on students' reports

					Perce the f	entage of st ollowing ac	udents tions if	who repo their scho	orte Dol	ed their I buildir	level of congression	onfiden again i	ce in taki n the fut	ng ure:						
			Motivat	ing myself	to do s	chool work	(				F	ocusin	g on sch	oolv	vork witl	nout re	mino	lers		
	No cor	t at all nfident	N c cor	ot very nfident	Co	nfident	со	Very nfident		No coi	ot at all nfident		Notvery	t	Co	nfident		co	Very nfident	
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	
- Australia*	13.3	(0.5)	32.3	(0.8)	41.8	(0.8)	12.5	(0.5)		10.2	(0.4)	29.	1 (0.7	)	45.7	(0.7)		15.0	(0.5)	
5 Austria	10.4	(0.6) †	25.8	(0.9) †	41.6	(1.0) †	22.3	(1.0) 1	t	9.6	(0.7) 1	20.	7 (0.9	) †	44.0	(1.1)	†	25.7	(1.0)	†
Belgium	15.3	(0.8) †	32.8	(0.9) †	40.9	(0.9) †	11.0	(0.6) 1	t	12.3	(0.7) 1	29.	) (1.0	) †	45.9	(1.0)	†	12.9	(0.8)	†
Canada*	17.2	(0.6) †	31.4	(0.7) †	38.9	(0.7) †	12.5	(0.5) 1	t	12.4	(0.5) 1	27.4	4 (0.7	) †	43.7	(0.7)	†	16.5	(0.6)	†
Chile	11.3	(0.8) †	25.4	(1.3) †	45.7	(1.7) †	17.6	(1.0) 1	t	10.8	(0.8) 1	23.	5 (1.0	) †	46.1	(1.4)	†	19.6	(1.2)	†
Colombia	3.1	(0.4) †	14.5	(0.8) †	62.1	(1.2) †	20.3	(0.9) 1	t	3.8	(0.4) 1	13.	3 (0.9	) †	61.4	(1.0)	†	21.5	(0.9)	†
Costa Rica	9.0	(0.5)	21.4	(0.8)	49.4	(1.0)	20.2	(0.8)		7.8	(0.6)	20.	7 (0.8	)	48.7	(1.1)		22.9	(1.0)	
Czech Republic	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m	m	r	n n	ı	m	m		m	m	
Denmark*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m	m	r	n n	n	m	m		m	m	
Estonia	10.2	(0.6)	33.6	(1.1)	43.1	(1.1)	13.2	(0.7)		7.6	(0.5)	30.4	4 (1.1	)	46.4	(0.9)		15.6	(0.6)	
Finland	8.7	(0.6) †	27.8	(0.9) †	46.2	(0.8) †	17.2	(0.8) 1	t	6.9	(0.5) †	23.	7 (0.8	) †	49.3	(0.9)	†	20.1	(0.8)	†
France	10.9	(0.7) †	24.0	(0.9) †	47.2	(1.1) †	17.9	(0.7) 1	t	9.8	(0.7) †	21.	7 (1.0	) †	48.8	(1.1)	†	19.7	(0.8)	†
Germany	13.3	(0.9) ‡	27.4	(1.2) ‡	40.1	(1.2) ‡	19.2	(1.0) ‡	ŧ	10.9	(0.8) ‡	23.	6 (1.1	) ‡	40.1	(1.3)	‡	25.5	(1.1)	‡
Greece	14.4	(0.6)	33.8	(0.8)	31.7	(1.0)	20.1	(0.8)		13.4	(0.7)	35.	3 (0.9	)	30.8	(0.9)		20.5	(0.8)	
Hungary	8.6	(0.6) †	29.7	(0.9) †	44.9	(1.0) †	16.8	(0.9) 1	t	8.6	(0.7) †	28.	3 (1.0	) †	45.2	(1.2)	t	17.8	(0.9)	t
Iceland	7.6	(0.7) †	18.7	(1.2) †	55.5	(1.6) †	18.3	(1.3) 1	t	7.2	(0.8) 1	22.	3 (1.4	) †	53.3	(1.8)	t	17.1	(1.3)	t
Ireland*	16.7	(0.7)	35.3	(0.9)	38.5	(0.9)	9.4	(0.6)		12.4	(0.6)	30.	) (0.9	)	45.0	(1.0)		12.7	(0.7)	
Israel	21.5	(1.0)	30.3	(1.2)	30.9	(1.0)	17.4	(0.9)		18.1	(0.9)	29.4	4 (1.1	)	33.3	(1.0)		19.2	(0.8)	
Italy	10.7	(0.6)	31.0	(0.7)	46.4	(1.0)	11.9	(0.5)		6.2	(0.4)	19.	6 (0.8	)	54.4	(1.0)		19.8	(0.8)	
Japan	26.1	(1.0)	40.0	(1.2)	25.0	(0.9)	8.9	(0.6)	I	24.5	(1.0)	39.	) (1.0	)	27.1	(1.0)		9.4	(0.5)	
Korea	14.7	(0.9)	28.3	(1.0)	40.8	(1.2)	16.1	(0.9)		15.4	(0.9)	30.	2 (1.5	)	38.2	(1.3)		16.2	(1.4)	
Latvia*	14.5	(0.8) †	34.5	(1.2) †	40.0	(1.2) †	11.1	(0.7) 1	t	8.3	(0.6) 1	32.	3 (1.0	) †	44.0	(1.1)	t	14.8	(0.8)	t
Lithuania	8.5	(0.5) †	28.7	(1.1) †	45.1	(1.2) †	17.7	(0.8) 1	t	7.8	(0.5) 1	26.4	4 (0.8	) †	47.6	(1.0)	t	18.2	(0.8)	†
Mexico	7.0	(0.6) †	20.8	(0.8) †	46.5	(1.0) †	25.8	(0.9) 1	t	6.8	(0.6) 1	19.	3 (1.1	) †	45.8	(1.2)	t	27.5	(1.2)	t
Netherlands*	16.3	(0.6) †	33.6	(1.1) †	41.6	(1.1) †	8.5	(0.6) 1	t	10.8	(0.7) 1	29.	3 (1.0	) †	49.3	(1.0)	+	10.2	(0.7)	+
New Zealand*	16.1	(0.9) †	32.6	(1.2) †	41.1	(1.3) †	10.2	(0.7) 1	+	12.0	(0.8) 1	29.	2 (1.0	) †	45.7	(1.1)	t	13.0	(0.9)	t
Norway	m	() n	m	m	m	() I	m	() m		m	m	r	n n	, ' 1	m	(,		m	m	
Poland	17.9	(0.8)	38.0	(0.9)	33.4	(10)	10.7	(07)		137	(0.6)	35	3 (11	)	37.3	(10)		13.2	(07)	
Portugal	72	(0.5) †	27.1	(0.9) +	51.1	(10) +	14.5	(0.7) 1	t	72	(0.5) 1	25	4 (0.8	, ) +	51.7	(0.9)	t	15.8	(0.8)	+
Slovak Republic	11.4	(0.8) †	28.7	(0.9) +	47.4	(12) +	12.5	(0.8) 1	t	9.0	(0.6) 1	26	7 (10	) +	49.7	(11)	t	14.6	(0.8)	t
Slovenia	14.0	(0.8)	33.3	(1.0)	42.3	(1.1)	10.3	(0.7)		9.4	(0.6)	30	R (1.1	) I	47.6	(13)		12.7	(0.7)	
Spain	9.9	(0.3)	27.1	(0.6) +	47.5	(0.7) +	15.5	(0.5)	+	6.2	(0.3) +	20	) (0.6	, ) +	50.0	(0.7)	+	23.8	(0.5)	+
Sweden	9.7	(0.8) +	30.5	(1.1) +	42.4	(1.3) +	17.5	(0.8) 1	+	8.5	(0.6) 1	25	3 (10)	) †	45.9	(1 1)	+	20.3	(0.8)	+
Switzerland	8.8	(0.8) +	26.4	(13) +	44.4	(1.3) +	20.4	(1.0)	+	6.6	(0.7)	23.	1 (11	) +	47.0	(1.1)	+	22.0	(1.0)	+
Türkiye	12.8	(0.6)	25.7	(0.8)	45.3	(1.2) +	16.3	(0.7)	+	12.3	(0.7)	25.	- (1.1 5 (0.8	) + )	45.3	(0.7)	+	16.7	(0.6)	+
United Kingdom*	20.3	(0.0)	32.7	(1.1) +	38.0	(1.0) +	0.5	(0.6)	+	15.3	(1.0) +	20.	ຸ (0.0 ຊີ (1.0	/ \ +	43.5	(0.7)	+	10.7	(0.0)	+
United States*	15.1	(0.7)	30.3	(1.1)	40.1	(1.0)	14.5	(0.0)		13.0	(0.8)	28	5 (1.2	)	43.4	(1.2)	1	15.0	(0.0)	I
United Otales	10.1	(0.7)	00.0	(1.2)	40.1	(1.2)	14.5	(0.0)		10.0	(0.0)	20.	. (1.0	,	40.4	(1.2)		10.0	(0.0)	
OECD average	12.7	(0.1)	29.2	(0.2)	42.9	(0.2)	15.2	(0.1)		10.4	(0.1)	26.	7 (0.2	)	45.3	(0.2)		17.5	(0.1)	

## Table II.B1.2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [6/8]

#### Based on students' reports

					Perce the f	entage of st ollowing ac	udents tions if t	who rep their sch	ort 100	ed theiı I buildiı	r level of ng close	cor s ag	nfölence jain in t	in takin he futu	g re:						
			Motiva	ting myself	to do s	chool work						Fo	cusing o	on scho	olw	ork with	out rem	nind	lers		
	N c coi	ot at all nfident	N co	otvery nfident	Co	onfident	co	Very nfident		No co	ot at all nfident		No	otvery nfident		Coi	nfident		\ cor	/ery nfident	
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	
쯟 Albania	7.5	(0.8) ‡	23.1	(1.2) ‡	43.7	(1.3) ‡	25.7	(1.2)	‡	7.3	(0.7)	‡	21.0	(1.2)	‡	45.2	(1.2)	‡	26.6	(1.2)	‡
E Argentina	13.0	(0.7) ‡	25.7	(1.2) ‡	44.3	(1.3) ‡	17.0	(1.0)	‡	10.1	(0.8)	‡	24.1	(1.2)	‡	47.3	(1.3)	ŧ	18.5	(0.9)	‡
Baku (Azerbaijan)	8.4	(0.8) ‡	22.2	(1.4) ‡	51.2	(1.6) ‡	18.2	(1.3)	‡	8.5	(0.9)	‡	22.0	(1.1)	‡	48.7	(1.5)	‡	20.8	(1.1)	‡
Brazil	15.6	(0.7) †	32.4	(0.7) †	42.5	(0.9) †	9.5	(0.5)	t	15.2	(0.6)	t	35.2	(0.8)	t	39.5	(0.9)	t	10.1	(0.5)	t
Brunei Darussalam	13.8	(0.7) †	40.7	(1.1) †	38.3	(1.0) †	7.3	(0.6)	†	11.1	(0.7)	†	43.3	(1.1)	t	37.8	(1.1)	†	7.7	(0.6)	†
Bulgaria	10.0	(0.7) †	24.2	(0.9) †	44.4	(1.3) †	21.4	(1.1)	t	9.1	(0.6)	t	25.7	(1.1)	t	45.3	(1.3)	t	20.0	(1.0)	t
Cambodia	5.2	(0.5) †	19.7	(0.9) †	63.1	(1.5) †	12.0	(1.0)	†	7.7	(0.5)	†	29.0	(1.1)	†	52.9	(1.4)	†	10.4	(0.9)	†
Croatia	6.9	(0.5) †	20.7	(0.8) †	51.9	(1.0) †	20.5	(0.7)	†	5.4	(0.5)	t	18.5	(0.9)	t	52.8	(1.1)	†	23.3	(1.0)	t
Cyprus	12.1	(0.8) ‡	30.4	(1.1) ‡	38.5	(1.2) ‡	18.9	(0.9)	‡	10.3	(0.7)	‡	28.2	(1.2)	‡	38.5	(1.2)	ŧ	23.0	(1.1)	‡
Dominican Republic	10.8	(1.1) ‡	23.2	(1.1) ‡	39.0	(1.4) ‡	27.0	(1.6)	‡	9.7	(1.2)	‡	21.7	(1.3)	‡	38.8	(1.5)	‡	29.9	(1.5)	‡
El Salvador	7.5	(0.7) †	15.8	(1.1) †	57.5	(1.2) †	19.1	(1.1)	†	7.7	(0.7)	†	16.6	(1.1)	†	57.6	(1.3)	†	18.1	(0.8)	†
Georgia	11.9	(0.9) ‡	28.5	(1.1) ‡	42.7	(1.1) ‡	16.9	(0.8)	‡	12.4	(0.7)	‡	28.6	(1.2)	‡	40.3	(1.3)	‡	18.7	(0.9)	‡
Guatemala	9.5	(0.8) ‡	14.8	(0.9) ‡	50.0	(1.3) ‡	25.8	(1.2)	‡	8.8	(0.7)	‡	16.3	(0.9)	‡	47.7	(1.4)	‡	27.2	(1.1)	‡
Hong Kong (China)*	12.0	(0.8)	34.9	(1.1)	43.4	(1.2)	9.7	(0.7)		11.8	(0.7)		36.2	(1.1)		41.8	(0.9)		10.2	(0.5)	
Indonesia	4.7	(0.5)	25.1	(0.9)	60.2	(1.0)	10.0	(0.6)		4.9	(0.5)		27.1	(1.0)		58.4	(1.0)		9.6	(0.6)	
Jamaica*	15.6	(1.2) ‡	27.9	(1.4) ‡	39.1	(1.7) ‡	17.4	(1.3)	‡	14.5	(1.3)	‡	28.0	(1.6)	‡	40.0	(1.9)	‡	17.5	(1.3)	‡
Jordan	11.8	(0.7) †	25.9	(1.0) †	43.9	(1.0) †	18.4	(0.8)	†	12.5	(0.8)	†	26.8	(1.0)	†	41.5	(1.2)	†	19.2	(0.9)	†
Kazakhstan	5.2	(0.3)	19.3	(0.5)	57.2	(0.7)	18.4	(0.5)		5.6	(0.3)		20.1	(0.6)		55.6	(0.8)		18.7	(0.6)	
Kosovo	9.6	(0.8) †	27.2	(1.0) †	45.7	(1.2) †	17.6	(0.9)	†	10.2	(0.7)	†	26.6	(1.0)	†	45.6	(1.3)	†	17.6	(1.0)	†
Macao (China)	9.7	(0.7)	35.8	(1.1)	42.4	(0.9)	12.0	(0.7)		9.6	(0.6)		36.9	(0.9)		41.3	(0.8)		12.2	(0.6)	
Malaysia	8.3	(0.5)	34.3	(0.9)	46.5	(1.0)	11.0	(0.7)		8.3	(0.5)	†	37.1	(0.9)	†	43.3	(1.0)	†	11.4	(0.7)	†
Malta	16.1	(1.0) †	31.7	(1.2) †	37.4	(1.3) †	14.7	(1.1)	†	11.3	(0.9)	†	29.2	(1.4)	†	43.4	(1.4)	†	16.2	(1.2)	†
Moldova	6.7	(0.6) †	28.2	(1.1) †	49.4	(1.0) †	15.7	(0.8)	†	6.0	(0.5)	†	28.8	(0.9)	†	49.0	(1.0)	†	16.2	(0.8)	†
Mongolia	7.7	(0.5)	28.7	(0.8)	48.1	(1.0)	15.4	(0.7)		7.5	(0.5)		26.7	(0.9)		49.4	(1.0)		16.4	(0.8)	
Montenegro	11.1	(0.7) †	34.8	(1.1) †	37.5	(1.2) †	16.7	(0.9)	†	9.7	(0.7)	†	31.7	(1.0)	†	39.2	(1.1)	†	19.4	(0.8)	†
Morocco	17.1	(1.0) ‡	25.9	(1.3) ‡	40.9	(1.1) ‡	16.1	(0.8)	‡	16.3	(0.8)	‡	27.3	(1.2)	‡	42.0	(1.4)	ŧ	14.3	(1.0)	‡
North Macedonia	6.6	(0.5) †	24.5	(1.1) †	49.7	(1.2) †	19.2	(0.9)	†	6.8	(0.6)	†	24.8	(1.0)	†	48.2	(1.1)	†	20.2	(0.9)	†
Palestinian Authority	11.2	(0.6) †	24.2	(1.0) †	48.6	(1.0) †	16.0	(0.8)	†	10.4	(0.6)	†	26.9	(1.0)	†	47.0	(1.0)	t	15.8	(0.7)	†
Panama*	5.5	(1.1) ‡	15.4	(1.8) ‡	55.8	(2.0) ‡	23.3	(1.8)	‡	5.9	(1.3)	‡	12.7	(1.5)	‡	55.9	(2.5)	‡	25.4	(2.1)	‡
Paraguay	8.2	(0.6) †	20.3	(0.9) †	51.4	(1.1) †	20.2	(0.8)	†	8.1	(0.6)	†	19.9	(0.9)	†	51.2	(1.3)	t	20.7	(0.9)	†
Peru	7.2	(0.8) ‡	21.3	(1.1) ‡	53.7	(1.3) ‡	17.7	(1.1)	‡	7.2	(0.6)	‡	21.9	(1.1)	‡	51.4	(1.3)	‡	19.5	(1.1)	‡
Philippines	7.7	(0.6) †	24.2	(0.8) †	56.4	(1.1) †	11.8	(0.7)	†	7.9	(0.5)	†	31.8	(1.0)	†	50.6	(1.0)	t	9.7	(0.5)	†
Qatar	9.1	(0.7) †	26.1	(1.2) †	43.6	(1.2) †	21.2	(1.0)	†	9.7	(0.7)	†	27.0	(1.1)	†	41.5	(1.1)	†	21.7	(1.1)	†
Romania	10.0	(0.6) †	24.9	(0.9) †	47.5	(1.1) †	17.6	(0.8)	†	10.0	(0.6)	†	25.2	(0.9)	†	48.4	(1.0)	t	16.4	(0.8)	†
Saudi Arabia	7.6	(0.6) †	18.6	(0.9) †	44.7	(1.0) †	29.0	(1.0)	†	8.2	(0.6)	†	19.2	(0.8)	†	45.7	(1.1)	†	26.9	(1.0)	†
Serbia	15.1	(0.8) †	30.8	(0.9) †	41.6	(1.1) †	12.5	(0.9)	†	12.0	(0.6)	†	29.1	(1.0)	†	43.7	(1.1)	†	15.2	(0.8)	†
Singapore	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m	m		m	m		m	m		m	m	
Chinese Taipei	9.5	(0.8)	37.9	(1.1)	40.0	(1.2)	12.7	(0.9)		11.3	(0.7)		43.4	(1.2)		33.6	(1.3)		11.7	(0.8)	
Thailand	8.8	(0.6)	36.1	(1.1)	45.9	(1.0)	9.3	(0.7)		8.3	(0.6)		40.5	(1.1)		41.7	(0.9)		9.5	(0.6)	
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	7.3	(0.8) †	28.2	(1.7) †	48.6	(1.3) †	15.9	(1.3)	†	6.0	(0.7)	†	26.9	(1.5)	†	52.2	(1.5)	†	14.9	(1.2)	†
United Arab Emirates	8.1	(0.4) †	22.9	(0.6) †	43.8	(0.6) †	25.3	(0.5)	†	7.3	(0.3)	†	21.0	(0.5)	†	45.6	(0.6)	†	26.1	(0.5)	†
Uruguay	11.9	(0.8) ‡	27.9	(1.2) ‡	45.5	(1.3) ‡	14.8	(1.0)	‡	10.0	(0.8)	‡	23.4	(1.1)	‡	49.4	(1.2)	‡	17.1	(1.0)	‡
Uzbekistan	9.3	(0.9) ‡	22.2	(1.2) ‡	44.6	(1.4) ‡	23.9	(1.1)	‡	8.2	(0.8)	‡	20.5	(1.1)	‡	48.7	(1.4)	‡	22.6	(1.3)	‡
Viet Nam	4.5	(0.3)	29.8	(0.8)	53.9	(0.8)	11.8	(0.6)		4.7	(0.3)		30.6	(0.8)		52.8	(0.8)		11.9	(0.5)	

## Table II.B1.2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [7/8]

#### Based on students' reports

					Perce the f	entage of s ollowing a	tudents ctions if	who repo their scho	orte	ed their I buildii	level of c	con ag	fidence ain in t	in takin he futu	g re:						
		(	Complet	ing school	work in	dependen	tly						Assessi	ing my	prog	gress wi	th learr	ning			
	No cor	t at all nfident	No	ot very nfident	Co	onfident	со	Very nfident		N c coi	ot at all nfident		No cor	ot very nfident		Coi	nficlent		coi	Very nfident	
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	
B Australia*	7.6	(0.4)	17.5	(0.6)	53.8	(0.7)	21.1	(0.6)		7.8	(0.4)		23.9	(0.7)		52.2	(0.8)		16.0	(0.5)	
Austria	7.1	(0.5) †	15.9	(0.8) †	43.5	(1.1) †	33.4	(1.1)	†	7.9	(0.5)	†	21.1	(0.9)	†	44.9	(1.0)	†	26.2	(1.0)	†
Belgium	8.3	(0.6) †	20.6	(0.7) †	52.8	(0.9) †	18.4	(0.8)	t	12.1	(0.6)	†	30.6	(0.9)	†	43.3	(1.0)	†	14.0	(0.8)	†
Canada*	8.7	(0.4) †	18.4	(0.6) †	50.7	(0.7) †	22.3	(0.6)	†	9.3	(0.4)	†	22.7	(0.6)	†	50.6	(0.7)	†	17.3	(0.6)	†
Chile	10.0	(0.8) †	21.7	(1.0) †	47.4	(1.4) †	20.8	(1.2)	t	10.6	(0.7)	†	24.9	(0.9)	†	44.6	(1.3)	†	19.8	(1.0)	†
Colombia	2.8	(0.3) †	11.9	(0.6) †	60.2	(1.0) †	25.0	(1.0)	t	3.2	(0.4)	†	13.0	(0.7)	†	59.8	(0.9)	†	24.1	(0.8)	†
Costa Rica	7.0	(0.5)	20.7	(1.0)	48.0	(1.1)	24.3	(1.1)		9.2	(0.6)		21.7	(0.7)		48.3	(1.0)		20.8	(0.9)	
Czech Republic	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m	m		m	m		m	m		m	m	
Denmark*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m	m		m	m		m	m		m	m	
Estonia	4.9	(0.4)	21.4	(0.8)	54.0	(0.9)	19.7	(0.7)		5.5	(0.5)		26.3	(0.9)		51.4	(1.1)		16.8	(0.8)	
Finland	5.3	(0.4) †	17.3	(0.8) †	54.1	(1.0) †	23.3	(0.9)	t	5.5	(0.4)	†	22.8	(0.9)	†	51.4	(1.0)	t	20.4	(0.8)	†
France	6.9	(0.5) †	13.4	(0.7) †	53.1	(1.1) †	26.6	(1.0)	t	7.3	(0.5)	t	23.8	(1.1)	t	49.3	(1.2)	t	19.6	(1.0)	†
Germany	8.0	(0.7) ‡	15.9	(0.9) ‡	45.7	(1.1) ‡	30.4	(1.0)	‡	11.5	(0.8)	‡	31.0	(1.0)	‡	40.6	(1.1)	‡	16.8	(0.8)	‡
Greece	9.6	(0.5)	29.2	(1.0)	35.1	(0.9)	26.1	(0.8)		11.0	(0.6)	t	30.1	(1.0)	t	34.5	(1.0)	t	24.4	(0.8)	t
Hungary	5.0	(0.5) †	19.1	(0.9) †	53.9	(1.2) †	22.1	(0.9)	t	7.0	(0.5)	t	23.6	(0.8)	†	49.7	(1.0)	t	19.7	(0.8)	†
Iceland	8.3	(0.9) †	17.3	(1.1) †	56.3	(1.5) †	18.1	(1.3)	t	7.3	(0.8)	t	17.4	(1.1)	t	56.1	(1.7)	t	19.3	(1.4)	t
Ireland*	8.3	(0.5)	17.0	(0.8)	56.3	(1.0)	18.4	(0.8)		9.7	(0.5)		25.6	(0.9)		50.5	(1.0)		14.2	(0.7)	
Israel	15.2	(0.9)	24.7	(1.0)	36.4	(1.1)	23.7	(1.0)		14.7	(0.8)		25.7	(1.1)		37.2	(1.0)		22.4	(0.9)	
Italy	4.4	(0.4)	13.8	(0.7)	58.7	(1.0)	23.1	(0.8)		5.6	(0.4)		20.0	(0.7)		56.7	(0.8)		17.6	(0.8)	
Japan	20.2	(0.9)	38.2	(1.0)	32.2	(1.3)	9.4	(0.5)		22.1	(0.9)		43.2	(1.0)		26.5	(0.9)		8.2	(0.5)	
Korea	17.2	(1.0)	30.1	(1.0)	37.0	(1.3)	15.7	(1.0)		15.1	(0.8)		30.4	(1.3)		40.2	(1.3)		14.3	(0.9)	
Latvia*	7.2	(0.6) †	26.7	(1.1) †	49.6	(1.3) †	16.5	(0.8)	t	7.6	(0.6)	t	27.4	(1.1)	t	49.0	(1.1)	t	16.0	(0.9)	t
Lithuania	5.4	(0.4) †	19.1	(0.8) †	53.3	(1.1) †	22.1	(0.9)	+	6.4	(0.5)	+	21.2	(0.9)	t	52.4	(1.1)	+	20.1	(0.8)	+
Mexico	6.5	(0.5) †	18.5	(0.8) †	46.9	(1.1) †	28.2	(1.2)	t	6.6	(0.6)	t	21.1	(0.9)	t	47.8	(1.0)	t	24.5	(1.0)	t
Netherlands*	9.0	(0.6) †	20.9	(0.9) t	55.7	(0.9) †	14.4	(07)	+	99	(0.8)	+	28.1	(10)	+	51.8	(11)	+	10.3	(0.6)	+
New Zealand*	8.0	(0.6) †	19.4	(0.8) †	55.9	(1.1) †	16.6	(0.8)	+	8.7	(0.7)	+	25.7	(1.0)	t	52.0	(1.3)	t	13.5	(0.9)	t
Norway	m	(	m	(e.e)   m	m	(,) I	m	m		m	m		m	() m		m	() m		m	(e.e.) m	
Poland	14.0	(07)	29.8	(10)	42.2	(10)	14.0	(0.6)		11.9	(0.6)		33.1	(0.9)		40.5	(10)		14.5	(07)	
Portugal	4.0	(0.4)	14.4	(0.7)	60.5	(0,9)	21.2	(0.9)		5.2	(0.4)		20.8	(0.9)		57.1	(1.0)		17.0	(0.7)	
Slovak Republic	9.9	(0.6) +	21.1	(0.9) +	53.5	(1.3) +	15.5	(0.9)	<sub>t</sub>	10.0	(0,6)	<sub>†</sub>	23.8	(1.0)	t	50.1	(1.1)	t	16.1	(0.8)	+
Slovenia	7.2	(0.6)	23.3	(0.9)	53.9	(10)	15.6	(0.8)	'	94	(0.7)	'	30.5	(1.1)	1	47 1	(1.3)	1	13.0	(0.8)	1
Spain	4.6	(0.3) +	16.2	(0.5) +	52.6	(0.6) +	26.6	(0.7)	+	71	(0.3)	+	22.1	(0.5)	t	51.2	(0.7)	+	19.5	(0.5)	+
Sweden	6.5	(0.5) +	18.0	(0.9) +	50.9	(11) +	24.7	(0.9)	+	9.9	(0.6)	+	30.0	(1.0)	+	43.3	(1.1)	+	16.8	(0.8)	+
Switzerland	5.0	(0.6) +	17.5	(0.0) +	47.6	(10) +	29.6	(1.2)	+	8.2	(0.7)	+	25.6	(1.3)	+	47.3	(1.7)	+	19.0	(1.0)	+
Türkive	10.6	(0.7)	21.4	(0.8)	48.7	(1.0) +	10.3	(0.8)	+	11.2	(0.6)	+	20.0	(0.8)	+	48.0	(1.2)	+	10.0	(0.7)	+
United Kingdom*	Q /	(0.7) +	20.5	(0.0) +	56.1	(0.9) +	14.0	(0.6)	+	12.9	(0.0)	+	21.7	(0.0)	+	47.0	(1.1)	+	11.1	(0.7)	+
United States*	83	(0.6)	17.3	(0.3)	53.2	(0.3)	21.1	(0.0)	1	9.2	(0.6)	1	20.4	(0.3)	I	50.6	(1.2)	I	18.3	(0.0)	I
	0.5	(0.0)	17.5	(0.7)	55.2	(1.5)	21.1	(1.0)		5.2	(0.0)		21.3	(0.0)		00.0	(1.2)		10.0	(1.0)	
OECD average	8.3	(0.1)	20.2	(0.1)	50.3	(0.2)	21.2	(0.2)		9.3	(0.1)		25.3	(0.2)		47.7	(0.2)		17.7	(0.1)	

## Table II.B1.2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [8/8]

#### Based on students' reports

					Perce the fo	entage of st ollowing ac	udents tions if f	who repo their scho	rte ol	ed their buildin	level of	cor sag	nfölence ain in tl	in takin ne futu	g re:						
		(	Complet	ing school	work in	dependent	ly						Assessi	ing my	prog	gress wit	h learni	ng			
	N o cor	otatall nfident	No	ot very nfident	Co	nfident	co	Very nfident		No cor	otatall nfident		N c cor	ot very nfident		Cor	nfident		\ cor	/ery nfident	
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	
Calbania	7.5	(0.7) ‡	19.5	(1.0) ‡	42.0	(1.2) ‡	31.1	(1.2) ‡	;	7.6	(0.7)	‡	19.7	(1.1)	‡	42.3	(1.5)	‡	30.4	(1.5)	‡
듚 Argentina	7.9	(0.7) ‡	22.0	(1.1) ‡	48.0	(1.3) ‡	22.1	(1.2) ‡	:	10.6	(0.8)	‡	24.8	(1.1)	‡	44.4	(1.1)	‡	20.2	(1.1)	‡
Baku (Azerbaijan)	8.1	(0.9) ‡	19.8	(1.2) ‡	48.3	(1.7) ‡	23.8	(1.5) ‡	:	7.4	(0.9)	‡	19.8	(1.3)	‡	47.4	(1.6)	‡	25.4	(1.4)	‡
Brazil	13.1	(0.7) †	32.1	(0.8) †	43.3	(0.8) †	11.6	(0.6) †	t	13.4	(0.6)	†	30.1	(0.8)	†	43.3	(0.8)	†	13.1	(0.6)	†
Brunei Darussalam	7.6	(0.6) †	38.3	(1.1) †	45.3	(1.2) †	8.7	(0.6) †	t	8.1	(0.6)	†	38.3	(1.0)	†	45.3	(1.1)	†	8.3	(0.6)	†
Bulgaria	7.6	(0.7) †	20.8	(1.1) †	47.8	(1.2) †	23.9	(0.9) †	t	8.0	(0.6)	†	22.8	(1.1)	†	45.8	(1.3)	†	23.4	(1.0)	t
Cambodia	7.8	(0.7) †	24.6	(0.9) †	56.7	(1.1) †	10.8	(0.7) †	t	5.6	(0.5)	†	29.1	(1.1)	†	53.5	(1.1)	†	11.8	(0.7)	†
Croatia	3.7	(0.4) †	10.2	(0.6) †	57.8	(1.0) †	28.2	(0.9) †	+	3.8	(0.4)	t	14.9	(0.7)	†	58.1	(1.0)	†	23.2	(0.9)	†
Cyprus	10.3	(0.8) ‡	23.3	(0.9) ‡	41.3	(1.2) ‡	25.2	(1.2) ‡	;	10.8	(0.8)	‡	23.8	(1.1)	‡	40.1	(1.2)	‡	25.4	(1.1)	‡
Dominican Republic	8.3	(1.0) ‡	20.8	(1.3) ‡	38.7	(1.6) ‡	32.1	(1.6) ‡	:	9.5	(1.0)	‡	19.1	(1.2)	‡	39.5	(1.4)	‡	31.9	(1.4)	‡
El Salvador	7.2	(0.6) †	15.0	(1.0) †	56.8	(1.3) †	21.0	(1.1) †	t	7.3	(0.7)	†	14.8	(0.9)	†	57.8	(1.3)	†	20.2	(1.0)	†
Georgia	11.5	(0.8) ‡	24.6	(1.0) ‡	43.0	(1.4) ‡	20.9	(1.1) ‡	:	11.4	(0.8)	‡	25.9	(1.2)	‡	42.6	(1.2)	‡	20.2	(1.0)	‡
Guatemala	8.2	(0.7) ‡	13.7	(1.1) ‡	49.9	(1.5) ‡	28.2	(1.4) ‡	;	9.2	(0.7)	‡	17.2	(1.2)	‡	49.4	(1.3)	‡	24.3	(1.0)	‡
Hong Kong (China)*	7.2	(0.6)	21.0	(0.7)	57.6	(1.0)	14.1	(0.6)		9.1	(0.6)		35.5	(1.0)		45.6	(1.0)		9.9	(0.6)	
Indonesia	4.3	(0.4)	23.9	(0.9)	60.6	(0.9)	11.1	(0.5)		5.0	(0.4)		25.0	(0.9)		58.5	(1.0)		11.5	(0.6)	
Jamaica*	11.3	(1.2) ‡	18.4	(1.6) ‡	49.2	(1.7) ‡	21.1	(1.5) ‡	:	10.0	(1.3)	ŧ	21.8	(1.7)	‡	49.2	(1.5)	‡	19.0	(1.2)	‡
Jordan	12.6	(0.8) †	23.1	(1.0) †	41.7	(1.0) †	22.6	(1.1) †	t	12.4	(0.7)	†	22.2	(1.0)	†	41.8	(1.3)	†	23.6	(0.9)	†
Kazakhstan	4.8	(0.3)	16.3	(0.6)	57.8	(0.7)	21.1	(0.6)		4.9	(0.3)		16.2	(0.4)		58.0	(0.7)		20.9	(0.6)	
Kosovo	7.9	(0.7) †	24.3	(1.1) †	45.4	(1.3) †	22.5	(1.1) †	t	8.3	(0.6)	†	24.1	(1.0)	†	45.7	(1.1)	†	21.9	(1.1)	†
Macao (China)	6.5	(0.5)	27.3	(1.0)	49.0	(1.0)	17.1	(0.8)		9.0	(0.6)		34.0	(1.0)		44.6	(1.0)		12.4	(0.6)	
Malaysia	7.8	(0.5)	43.4	(1.1)	39.5	(0.9)	9.2	(0.6)		7.5	(0.5)	†	35.3	(1.0)	†	47.0	(0.9)	†	10.2	(0.6)	†
Malta	8.4	(0.9) †	19.7	(1.0) †	49.6	(1.2) †	22.3	(1.2) †	t	9.1	(0.8)	t	23.9	(1.1)	†	48.4	(1.3)	t	18.6	(1.2)	†
Moldova	6.2	(0.5) †	27.2	(1.0) †	49.7	(1.0) †	16.9	(0.8) †	t	6.3	(0.5)		25.0	(0.9)		49.7	(1.1)		18.9	(0.9)	
Mongolia	6.4	(0.5)	24.3	(0.8)	51.1	(0.9)	18.2	(0.7)		7.6	(0.5)	_	26.4	(0.9)		48.9	(0.9)		17.2	(0.8)	
Montenegro	10.1	(0.6) †	28.8	(0.9) †	39.9	(1.0) †	21.2	(0.8) †	t	9.0	(0.7)	†	32.5	(1.2)	†	37.8	(1.1)	†	20.7	(0.9)	†
Morocco	13.9	(0.9) ‡	26.2	(1.1) ‡	42.3	(1.2) ‡	17.5	(1.0) ‡	:	14.0	(1.0)	‡	24.1	(1.2)	‡	41.3	(1.4)	ŧ	20.5	(1.1)	‡
North Macedonia	5.1	(0.5) †	20.2	(0.9) †	51.5	(1.1) †	23.2	(1.0) †	t	6.3	(0.6)	†	19.7	(0.7)	†	50.0	(1.1)	†	24.0	(0.9)	†
Palestinian Authority	10.3	(0.6) †	23.4	(0.9) †	47.8	(1.2) †	18.5	(0.8) †	t	11.1	(0.7)	†	22.3	(0.9)	†	47.4	(1.1)	t	19.2	(0.8)	t
Panama*	4.1	(1.0) ‡	11.5	(1.4) ‡	53.4	(2.1) ‡	30.9	(1.8) ‡	;	5.3	(0.9)	‡	12.0	(1.6)	‡	54.0	(2.8)	‡	28.7	(2.2)	‡
Paraguay	8.0	(0.6) †	22.0	(0.8) †	48.6	(1.2) †	21.4	(0.8) †	t	7.8	(0.5)	t	19.0	(0.8)	t	52.0	(1.1)	†	21.2	(0.9)	†
Peru	6.3	(0.7) ‡	21.7	(1.1) ‡	53.1	(1.3) ‡	19.0	(1.2) ‡	:	6.1	(0.6)	‡	22.0	(1.1)	‡	53.2	(1.1)	‡	18.6	(1.1)	‡
Philippines	5.9	(0.5) †	23.5	(0.8) †	57.5	(0.9) †	13.1	(0.7) †	t	6.3	(0.5)	t	23.9	(1.0)	†	58.0	(1.1)	t	11.8	(0.8)	†
Qatar	8.9	(0.7) †	19.0	(1.0) †	47.6	(1.1) †	24.5	(1.2) †	t	8.2	(0.6)	†	21.6	(1.0)	†	47.7	(1.2)	†	22.5	(1.1)	†
Romania	8.7	(0.6) †	22.6	(0.8) †	47.7	(0.9) †	21.0	(0.8) †	t	8.9	(0.6)	t	23.0	(0.8)	†	48.4	(1.0)	t	19.7	(0.7)	†
Saudi Arabia	7.1	(0.6) †	16.0	(0.7) †	44.7	(1.1) †	32.2	(1.1) †	t	7.9	(0.6)	†	15.4	(0.9)	†	45.6	(1.1)	†	31.1	(1.1)	†
Serbia	10.5	(0.8) †	25.3	(0.9) †	46.6	(1.2) †	17.6	(0.9) †	t	11.8	(0.6)	t	27.6	(0.8)	t	43.8	(0.9)	†	16.9	(0.8)	†
Singapore	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m	m		m	m		m	m		m	m	
Chinese Taipei	7.9	(0.8)	27.4	(1.3)	48.1	(1.4)	16.5	(1.0)		10.0	(0.8)		31.3	(1.3)		44.1	(1.3)		14.6	(0.8)	
Thailand	7.5	(0.5)	33.0	(1.1)	48.5	(1.1)	11.0	(0.7)		8.5	(0.5)		34.9	(1.1)		46.2	(1.0)		10.4	(0.6)	
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	5.1	(0.7) †	23.4	(1.4) †	53.3	(1.6) †	18.2	(1.4) †	t	5.8	(0.8)	†	24.0	(1.3)	†	51.0	(1.6)	†	19.2	(1.4)	†
United Arab Emirates	5.7	(0.3) †	16.2	(0.4) †	47.1	(0.6) †	31.0	(0.5) †	t	6.1	(0.3)	†	17.4	(0.5)	†	47.6	(0.7)	†	28.9	(0.6)	†
Uruguay	8.0	(0.7) ‡	21.6	(1.3) ‡	49.9	(1.4) ‡	20.6	(1.2) ‡	:	9.4	(0.8)	‡	25.6	(1.3)	‡	47.9	(1.4)	‡	17.2	(1.2)	‡
Uzbekistan	8.2	(0.8) ‡	17.7	(1.1) ‡	47.3	(1.6) ‡	26.8	(1.4) ‡	:	8.9	(0.8)	‡	17.0	(1.0)	‡	46.1	(1.4)	‡	27.9	(1.2)	‡
Viet Nam	4.5	(0.3)	31.8	(0.8)	52.0	(0.8)	11.7	(0.6)		4.9	(0.3)		35.8	(0.8)		47.6	(0.8)		11.6	(0.5)	

## Table II.B1.2.24. Experience with learning at home [1/10]

Based on students' reports

		Inde	ex of	students'					Pe	rcenta when t	ge of stu heir scho	dents ool bui	who repo Iding wa	orted ti s close	ne follow d becaus	ing ab se of C	out the f OVID-19	ime :			
		experier	nce w at h	ome	g				l felt l	onely						l enjo	yed learn	ning by	/ myself		
		Averag	e	Variabili	ty	Stro disa	ongly agree	Dis	agree	A	gree	Str aç	ongly jree	Str dis	ongly agree	Dis	agree	A	gree	Str aç	ongly gree
		Mean index S.E	Ξ.	S.D. S.I		%	S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.		S.E.		S.E.		S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
8	Australia*	0.10 (0.0	1) †	0.98 (0.0	1) †	18.6	(0.5)	39.5	(0.8)	29.3	(0.7)	12.5	(0.6)	10.9	(0.4)	25.8	(0.7)	45.9	(0.7)	17.4	(0.6)
ĕ	Austria	0.02 (0.02	2) †	1.11 (0.0	2) †	34.0	(1.1) †	31.0	(0.9) †	23.3	(0.9) †	11.7	(0.9) †	19.5	(1.0) †	28.4	(1.1) †	35.6	(1.1) †	16.5	(0.8) †
	Belgium	-0.10 (0.02	2) ‡	0.93 (0.0	2) ‡	31.0	(1.2) †	36.4	(1.0) †	24.7	(0.9) †	7.9	(0.6) †	15.5	(0.8) †	25.2	(1.0) †	45.2	(0.9) †	14.1	(0.7) †
	Canada*	-0.01 (0.02	2) †	1.00 (0.0	1) †	18.5	(0.6) †	31.5	(0.9) †	33.1	(0.8) †	16.9	(0.6) †	16.1	(0.6) †	29.8	(0.7) †	40.7	(0.8) †	13.4	(0.5) †
	Chile	0.09 (0.02	2) ‡	1.04 (0.0	2) ‡	16.4	(1.1) †	25.2	(1.3) †	31.3	(1.7) †	27.1	(1.4) †	19.5	(1.1) ‡	33.7	(1.3) ‡	34.8	(1.3) ‡	12.0	(0.9) ‡
	Colombia	0.33 (0.02	2) ‡	0.96 (0.0	2) ‡	16.4	(0.8) †	34.8	(1.2) †	35.8	(1.3) †	13.0	(0.8) †	9.6	(0.6) †	29.8	(1.1) †	49.6	(1.2) †	11.0	(0.7) †
	Costa Rica	0.21 (0.02	2) †	1.03 (0.0)	2) †	19.9	(1.0)	31.0	(1.0)	30.9	(1.2)	18.1	(1.0)	13.2	(0.7)	29.3	(1.0)	42.3	(1.1)	15.2	(0.8)
	Czech Republic	-0.05 (0.0	1) †	0.88 (0.0	1) †	21.1	(1.0) †	38.0	(1.0) †	29.7	(0.9) †	11.2	(0.7) †	13.8	(0.8) †	36.0	(1.1) †	39.8	(1.2) †	10.4	(0.6) †
	Denmark*	m ı	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Estonia	0.13 (0.02	2) †	0.90 (0.0	1) †	29.6	(1.1)	36.8	(0.9)	25.8	(0.9)	7.8	(0.6)	10.3	(0.7)	26.0	(1.0)	46.4	(0.9)	17.3	(0.8)
	Finland	0.25 (0.02	2) †	0.99 (0.0	2) †	36.9	(1.0) †	37.9	(1.0) †	18.8	(0.8) †	6.4	(0.5) †	7.3	(0.6) †	20.3	(0.8) †	48.2	(1.0) †	24.1	(0.8) †
	France	-0.08 (0.02	2) ‡	1.04 (0.0	2) ‡	37.2	(1.2) †	30.0	(1.2) †	22.0	(0.9) †	10.8	(0.7) †	15.6	(0.9) †	23.0	(1.0) †	44.9	(1.3) †	16.5	(0.8) †
	Germany	-0.11 (0.03	3) ‡	1.03 (0.0)	2) ‡	37.1	(1.3) ‡	31.3	(1.3) ‡	21.8	(1.1) ‡	9.7	(0.8) ‡	21.8	(1.0) ‡	29.6	(1.1) ‡	32.6	(1.2) ‡	16.0	(1.0) ‡
	Greece	-0.07 (0.02	2) †	0.96 (0.0	2) †	20.8	(0.8)	36.3	(0.9)	30.4	(1.1)	12.6	(0.8)	11.8	(0.7)	33.0	(0.9)	44.0	(1.1)	11.2	(0.7)
	Hungary	0.10 (0.02	2) †	0.99 (0.0	2) †	34.2	(1.2) †	35.1	(1.2) †	23.1	(1.0) †	7.6	(0.6) †	13.1	(0.9) †	24.9	(1.1) †	45.4	(1.1) †	16.6	(0.8) †
	Iceland	0.00 (0.03	3) ‡	1.09 (0.0	3) ‡	30.6	(1.6) †	34.8	(1.7) †	26.3	(1.5) †	8.3	(0.9) †	19.8	(1.3) †	28.7	(1.5) †	38.3	(1.7) †	13.2	(1.3) †
	Ireland*	-0.08 (0.02	2) †	0.91 (0.0	1) †	18.2	(0.9)	38.1	(0.9)	32.6	(1.0)	11.2	(0.7)	15.4	(0.7)	32.0	(0.9)	41.4	(1.0)	11.1	(0.8)
	Israel	-0.17 (0.02	2) †	1.05 (0.0	1) †	32.6	(1.0)	31.0	(1.0)	24.7	(1.0)	11.7	(0.7)	25.2	(1.1)	31.9	(1.0)	31.5	(1.1)	11.4	(0.7)
	Italy	mı	m	m	m	17.1	(0.8)	30.1	(1.0)	36.9	(0.9)	16.0	(0.8)	13.7	(0.7)	34.1	(0.8)	42.6	(0.9)	9.6	(0.7)
	Japan	-0.42 (0.03	3) †	1.11 (0.0	2) †	37.7	(1.4)	19.7	(1.0)	28.0	(1.1)	14.5	(0.8)	26.7	(1.1)	34.2	(1.2)	30.2	(1.0)	9.0	(0.7)
	Korea	-0.34 (0.03	3) †	1.11 (0.0	2) †	57.5	(1.9)	22.3	(1.2)	15.5	(1.3)	4.7	(0.6)	27.2	(1.2)	25.3	(1.1)	37.2	(1.4)	10.3	(0.7)
	Latvia*	0.10 (0.02	2) †	0.91 (0.0	2) †	20.2	(0.9) †	41.8	(1.1) †	27.6	(1.1) †	10.4	(0.8) †	12.8	(0.9) †	29.9	(1.3) †	42.7	(1.4) †	14.5	(0.9) †
	Lithuania	0.17 (0.02	2) †	1.04 (0.0	2) †	31.8	(1.1) †	36.4	(1.2) †	23.2	(0.9) †	8.6	(0.6) †	11.3	(0.7) †	26.4	(0.9) †	45.2	(1.0) †	17.1	(0.9) †
	Mexico	0.22 (0.02	2) ‡	0.99 (0.0	2) ‡	18.1	(1.1) †	28.2	(1.3) †	36.5	(1.3) †	17.3	(0.9) †	13.9	(1.0) †	32.9	(1.3) †	42.4	(1.3) †	10.8	(0.8) †
	Netherlands*	-0.16 (0.02	2) †	0.90 (0.0	2) †	32.2	(1.3) †	37.9	(1.2) †	21.9	(1.0) †	8.0	(0.7) †	15.2	(0.8) †	32.2	(1.3) †	41.6	(1.1) †	11.0	(0.7) †
	New Zealand*	0.02 (0.02	2) †	0.93 (0.0	1) †	22.5	(1.1) †	39.7	(1.2) †	29.4	(1.2) †	8.5	(0.7) †	10.4	(0.8) †	25.3	(1.1) †	49.1	(1.3) †	15.1	(1.0) †
	Norway	mı	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Poland	-0.11 (0.02	2) †	0.95 (0.0	2) †	24.5	(1.0)	35.4	(1.1)	28.1	(0.9)	12.0	(0.8)	15.6	(0.8)	33.1	(1.0)	39.5	(1.1)	11.8	(0.7)
	Portugal	0.06 (0.02	2) †	0.94 (0.02	2) †	27.6	(0.9) †	40.1	(1.0) †	23.0	(1.0) †	9.3	(0.7) †	14.6	(0.7) †	34.8	(0.8) †	40.6	(1.1) †	10.0	(0.8) †
	Slovak Republic	0.03 (0.02	2) †	0.95 (0.0	2) †	21.7	(0.9) †	38.1	(1.1) †	30.0	(1.1) †	10.1	(0.9) †	16.2	(0.9) †	34.3	(1.4) †	39.6	(1.2) †	9.9	(0.8) †
	Slovenia	m ı	m	m	m	25.1	(1.0)	37.6	(1.2)	28.1	(1.0)	9.2	(0.7)	11.8	(0.8)	30.8	(1.1)	45.4	(1.4)	12.0	(0.7)
	Spain	m ı	m	m	m	30.6	(0.6) †	38.0	(0.6) †	22.0	(0.5) †	9.3	(0.4) †	13.8	(0.6) †	30.3	(0.7) †	43.3	(0.7) †	12.6	(0.5) †
	Sweden	0.11 (0.03	3) †	1.03 (0.0	2) †	36.3	(1.2) †	39.1	(1.3) †	18.6	(1.1) †	6.0	(0.8) †	14.1	(1.0) †	27.4	(1.1) †	40.3	(1.3) †	18.1	(1.0) †
	Switzerland	0.15 (0.03	3) ‡	1.07 (0.0	2) ‡	42.9	(1.4) ‡	31.1	(1.4) ‡	20.5	(1.0) ‡	5.5	(0.7) ‡	13.3	(0.9) ‡	22.8	(1.2) ‡	42.8	(1.4) ‡	21.0	(1.1) ‡
	Türkiye	0.10 (0.02	2) †	1.11 (0.0	2) †	24.2	(0.9)	32.6	(1.0)	28.1	(0.9)	15.0	(0.9)	18.9	(0.8)	31.2	(1.0)	35.1	(1.0)	14.8	(0.7)
	United Kingdon <del>t</del>	-0.21 (0.02	2) ‡	0.97 (0.0	2) ‡	22.0	(0.9) ‡	35.3	(1.2) ‡	27.8	(1.2) ‡	14.9	(0.9) ‡	17.7	(1.0) ‡	30.5	(1.0) ‡	38.8	(1.2) ‡	12.9	(0.8) ‡
	United States*	-0.11 (0.03	3) †	1.00 (0.0	2) †	20.1	(0.8)	33.7	(1.2)	29.0	(1.2)	17.1	(0.9)	19.1	(0.9)	29.8	(1.0)	37.3	(1.1)	13.8	(0.9)
	OECD average	0.01 (0.00	0)	1.00 (0.0	0)	27.6	(0.2)	34.2	(0.2)	26.8	(0.2)	11.5	(0.1)	15.6	(0.1)	29.5	(0.2)	41.2	(0.2)	13.8	(0.1)

# Table II.B1.2.24. Experience with learning at home [2/10]

#### Based on students' reports

		Index of	students'		Pe	rcentage of stu when their sch	dents who repo ool building wa	orted the follow s closed becaus	ing about the t se of COVID-19:	ime	
		experience v at h	ome		l felt	onely			l enjoyed learn	ing by myself	
		Averag e	Variability	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree	Strongly disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly agree
		Mean index S.E.	S.D. S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.
ers	Albania	0.58 (0.03) ‡	1.26 (0.03) ‡	34.0 (1.5) ‡	30.4 (1.4) ‡	24.6 (1.1) ‡	10.9 (1.0) ‡	16.3 (1.1) ‡	27.4 (1.3) ‡	39.6 (1.6) ‡	16.6 (1.2) ‡
artn	Argentina	0.10 (0.03) ‡	1.03 (0.02) ‡	19.4 (1.2) ‡	29.4 (1.5) ‡	34.8 (1.5) ‡	16.4 (1.0) ‡	14.1 (0.9) ‡	29.6 (1.2) ‡	43.8 (1.1) ‡	12.6 (1.0) ‡
۵.	Baku (Azerbaijan)	0.52 (0.03) ‡	1.17 (0.03) ‡	17.6 (1.3) ‡	36.7 (1.6) ‡	30.7 (1.5) ‡	15.0 (1.2) ‡	11.3 (1.0) ‡	20.6 (1.3) ‡	49.0 (1.5) ‡	19.1 (1.2) ‡
	Brazil	-0.17 (0.02) ‡	1.01 (0.02) ‡	14.7 (0.8) †	33.5 (0.9) †	35.4 (1.0) †	16.4 (0.8) †	22.6 (0.8) †	38.0 (0.9) †	30.8 (0.9) †	8.7 (0.5) †
	Brunei Darussalam	m m	m m	17.0 (0.8) †	35.1 (1.0) †	31.8 (1.2) †	16.1 (1.0) †	10.2 (0.7) †	30.5 (1.1) †	45.6 (1.0) †	13.7 (0.9) †
	Bulgaria	0.22 (0.02) ‡	1.09 (0.02) ‡	27.6 (1.2) †	32.0 (1.2) †	28.6 (1.3) †	11.8 (0.7) †	14.9 (1.0) †	28.6 (1.1) †	41.6 (1.2) †	14.9 (0.9) †
	Cambodia	m m	m m	19.2 (0.7) †	37.3 (1.0) †	35.5 (1.3) †	8.0 (0.5) †	9.1 (0.6) †	32.1 (1.0) †	49.9 (0.9) †	8.9 (0.7) †
	Croatia	0.03 (0.02) †	1.00 (0.02) †	29.9 (0.9) †	41.4 (1.1) †	22.3 (0.7) †	6.3 (0.6) †	15.3 (0.9) †	31.9 (1.1) †	42.2 (1.3) †	10.6 (0.8) †
	Cyprus	0.05 (0.03) ‡	1.10 (0.02) ‡	24.9 (1.2) ‡	31.0 (1.4) ‡	30.2 (1.4) ‡	13.9 (1.1) ‡	15.7 (1.0) ‡	27.5 (1.2) ‡	40.6 (1.5) ‡	16.2 (1.1) ‡
	Dominican Republic	0.40 (0.04) ‡	1.21 (0.03) ‡	23.3 (1.4) ‡	31.0 (1.8) ‡	30.3 (1.7) ‡	15.5 (1.3) ‡	15.0 (1.2) ‡	24.9 (1.8) ‡	42.3 (1.7) ‡	17.8 (1.3) ‡
	El Salvador	0.43 (0.03) ‡	1.04 (0.02) ‡	15.8 (1.0) †	31.1 (1.5) †	37.2 (1.4) †	16.0 (1.0) †	9.5 (0.9) †	25.9 (1.2) †	50.9 (1.4) †	13.6 (0.9) †
	Georgia	0.33 (0.03) ‡	1.06 (0.02) ‡	25.5 (1.2) †	43.5 (1.3) †	21.7 (1.1) †	9.2 (0.7) †	9.2 (0.7) †	25.9 (1.1) †	49.0 (1.3) †	15.9 (0.9) †
	Guatemala	0.45 (0.03) ‡	1.03 (0.03) ‡	25.4 (1.0) ‡	31.8 (1.1) ‡	28.6 (1.3) ‡	14.1 (1.0) ‡	14.3 (1.0) ‡	30.1 (1.3) ‡	41.3 (1.2) ‡	14.4 (0.9) ‡
	Hong Kong (China)*	0.18 (0.02) †	0.93 (0.02) †	19.1 (0.7)	41.5 (1.2)	31.1 (1.0)	8.3 (0.6)	6.5 (0.6)	27.0 (1.0)	50.6 (1.3)	15.9 (1.0)
	Indonesia	0.40 (0.02) †	0.88 (0.02) †	13.2 (0.5)	36.3 (1.0)	39.4 (1.1)	11.1 (0.8)	7.2 (0.6)	31.7 (1.0)	51.4 (1.1)	9.7 (0.7)
	Jamaica*	0.19 (0.03) ‡	0.97 (0.02) ‡	20.3 (1.6) ‡	35.9 (1.7) ‡	28.3 (1.8) ‡	15.5 (1.6) ‡	14.5 (1.3) ‡	27.3 (1.8) ‡	43.2 (2.0) ‡	15.1 (1.3) ‡
	Jordan	0.09 (0.03) ‡	1.17 (0.02) ‡	26.7 (1.0) †	29.1 (1.0) †	29.4 (1.0) †	14.8 (0.9) †	23.0 (1.1) †	32.6 (1.0) †	32.2 (1.1) †	12.2 (0.8) †
	Kazakhstan	0.41 (0.01) †	1.04 (0.01) †	34.7 (0.7)	44.1 (0.7)	16.2 (0.5)	5.0 (0.3)	9.6 (0.4)	26.3 (0.7)	51.8 (0.8)	12.3 (0.5)
	Kosovo	0.25 (0.02) ‡	1.13 (0.02) ‡	31.1 (1.3) †	35.8 (1.3) †	22.5 (1.2) †	10.6 (0.7) †	17.5 (1.0) †	30.0 (1.2) †	38.5 (1.3) †	14.1 (1.1) †
	Macao (China)	m m	m m	25.8 (1.0)	41.0 (1.1)	26.4 (1.1)	6.8 (0.5)	9.6 (0.6)	31.6 (1.1)	45.4 (1.2)	13.4 (0.7)
	Malaysia	0.17 (0.02) †	0.90 (0.02) †	17.0 (0.9) †	40.7 (1.1) †	31.8 (1.0) †	10.5 (0.7) †	11.7 (0.9) †	34.2 (1.1) †	44.2 (1.2) †	9.9 (0.7) †
	Malta	0.00 (0.03) †	0.99 (0.02) †	22.4 (1.0) †	33.8 (1.4) †	27.7 (1.3) †	16.0 (1.1) †	15.7 (1.1) †	30.6 (1.4) †	40.0 (1.5) †	13.8 (1.0) †
	Moldova	0.27 (0.02) †	0.93 (0.01) †	20.8 (0.9)	41.3 (0.8)	29.5 (0.9)	8.4 (0.6)	11.4 (0.7)	32.7 (1.0)	45.7 (1.1)	10.2 (0.7)
	Mongolia	0.18 (0.02) †	1.06 (0.02) †	21.1 (0.8)	29.0 (0.9)	36.5 (0.9)	13.3 (0.7)	14.5 (0.7)	32.3 (1.1)	42.0 (1.1)	11.2 (0.7)
	Montenegro	0.14 (0.02) †	1.08 (0.02) †	32.5 (1.1) †	37.2 (1.1) †	22.1 (1.1) †	8.3 (0.8) †	16.3 (0.9) †	31.3 (1.0) †	39.7 (0.9) †	12.7 (0.7) †
	Morocco	0.04 (0.03) ‡	1.04 (0.02) ‡	25.3 (1.2) ‡	33.0 (1.0) ‡	29.2 (1.1) ‡	12.5 (0.8) ‡	20.6 (1.1) ‡	30.2 (1.2) ‡	37.6 (1.4) ‡	11.6 (0.9) ‡
	North Macedonia	0.32 (0.02) ‡	1.11 (0.02) ‡	27.2 (1.1) †	36.9 (1.3) †	25.4 (1.1) †	10.6 (0.8) †	12.5 (0.9) †	26.0 (1.2) †	46.0 (1.2) †	15.5 (0.9) †
	Palestinian Authority	0.11 (0.02) †	1.09 (0.02) †	27.2 (1.0) †	34.8 (1.2) †	27.5 (1.0) †	10.5 (0.7) †	20.5 (1.0) †	32.4 (1.2) †	34.9 (1.0) †	12.2 (0.6) †
	Panama*	0.33 (0.05) ‡	1.03 (0.04) ‡	21.4 (2.0) ‡	28.6 (2.2) ‡	30.0 (2.0) ‡	20.0 (2.1) ‡	12.3 (1.6) ‡	25.2 (2.2) ‡	46.6 (2.5) ‡	15.9 (1.6) ‡
	Paraguay	0.24 (0.02) †	0.96 (0.02) †	22.5 (0.9) †	34.0 (1.0) †	30.0 (1.1) †	13.5 (0.7) †	16.2 (0.9) †	36.7 (1.2) †	36.9 (1.0) †	10.2 (0.6) †
	Peru	0.29 (0.02) ‡	0.94 (0.02) ‡	11.6 (0.8) ‡	30.3 (1.2) ‡	42.7 (1.3) ‡	15.4 (1.1) ‡	9.6 (0.8) ‡	32.8 (1.3) ‡	48.2 (1.3) ‡	9.5 (0.7) ‡
	Philippines	0.51 (0.02) †	0.88 (0.02) †	12.8 (0.8) †	39.2 (1.0) †	38.4 (1.2) †	9.6 (0.8) †	6.0 (0.4) †	18.5 (0.9) †	59.3 (1.2) †	16.2 (1.1) †
	Qatar	0.25 (0.03) ‡	1.11 (0.02) ‡	23.7 (1.1) †	32.2 (1.2) †	28.1 (1.3) †	16.0 (1.1) †	15.3 (0.9) †	28.1 (1.3) †	40.3 (1.2) †	16.3 (1.0) †
	Romania	0.18 (0.02) †	1.04 (0.02) †	24.9 (1.0) †	35.9 (1.1) †	27.7 (1.0) †	11.5 (0.8) †	11.0 (0.8) †	26.1 (0.9) †	49.2 (1.0) †	13.7 (0.8) †
	Saudi Arabia	0.42 (0.03) †	1.20 (0.02) †	31.0 (1.1) †	32.3 (1.1) †	25.5 (1.1) †	11.1 (0.8) †	14.8 (1.1) †	24.5 (1.0) †	40.1 (1.1) †	20.6 (1.0) †
	Serbia	0.00 (0.02) †	1.05 (0.02) †	30.5 (1.1) †	39.8 (1.1) †	21.3 (1.1) †	8.4 (0.7) †	17.7 (0.9) †	33.7 (1.2) †	36.2 (1.1) †	12.4 (0.8) †
	Singapore	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m
	Chinese Taipei	0.17 (0.02) †	0.97 (0.02) †	29.5 (1.2)	36.6 (1.6)	25.7 (1.2)	8.3 (0.8)	9.0 (0.9)	31.1 (1.4)	42.7 (1.3)	17.2 (0.9)
	Thailand	0.39 (0.02) †	1.00 (0.02) †	23.2 (1.0)	43.7 (1.2)	26.1 (1.1)	7.0 (0.6)	7.0 (0.6)	21.2 (0.9)	57.9 (1.1)	13.9 (0.6)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	0.25 (0.04) ‡	1.01 (0.03) ‡	23.2 (1.7) †	42.6 (1.9) †	27.8 (1.5) †	6.3 (0.8) †	12.2 (1.6) †	35.6 (1.9) †	40.1 (1.8) †	12.2 (1.2) †
	UnitedArab Emirates	0.43 (0.01) †	1.14 (0.01) †	23.4 (0.5) †	31.8 (0.6) †	30.0 (0.5) †	14.8 (0.4) †	12.5 (0.4) †	25.1 (0.5) †	43.4 (0.6) †	19.1 (0.4) †
	Uruguay	0.03 (0.03) ‡	1.02 (0.02) ‡	21.8 (1.1) ‡	32.8 (1.4) ‡	30.7 (1.4) ‡	14.7 (0.9) ‡	17.0 (1.2) ‡	32.4 (1.6) ‡	38.8 (1.5) ‡	11.7 (1.1) ‡
	Uzbekistan	0.47 (0.04) ‡	1.27 (0.02) ‡	31.7 (1.5) ‡	31.9 (1.3) ‡	24.0 (1.3) ‡	12.4 (1.1) ‡	13.8 (1.1) ‡	23.3 (1.2) ‡	42.0 (1.6) ‡	20.9 (1.5) ‡
	Viet Nam	0.56 (0.02)	0.86 (0.02)	23.2 (0.7)	46.9 (0.7)	25.0 (0.6)	5.0 (0.4)	7.5 (0.4)	33.1 (0.7)	51.8 (0.7)	7.7 (0.5)

## Table II.B1.2.24. Experience with learning at home [3/10]

#### Based on students' reports

						Pe	rcentage of when their	studen school l	ts who rep ouilding wa	orted t is close	he following ed because of	about f f COVID	the time )-19:				
			My te	achers	were availa	ble whe	n I needed I	nelp				l felt	anxious ab	out sch	ool work		
		Strong	ly disagree	Dis	agree	A	gree	Stror	gly agree	Stron	gly disagree	Dis	sagree	A	gree	Stron	gly agree
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
8	Australia*	7.7	(0.3)	20.8	(0.6)	59.7	(0.8)	11.9	(0.5)	12.9	(0.5)	38.7	(0.8)	34.0	(0.8)	14.3	(0.6)
ĕ	Austria	10.0	(0.7) †	21.6	(1.0) †	50.7	(1.2) †	17.7	(1.0) †	24.2	(1.1) †	36.0	(1.2) †	28.3	(1.1) †	11.5	(0.8) †
	Belgium	8.7	(0.6) †	21.9	(1.0) †	59.7	(1.1) †	9.7	(0.7) †	20.3	(1.1) †	37.2	(1.1) †	30.6	(1.2) †	11.9	(0.8) †
	Canada*	7.1	(0.4) †	20.2	(0.7) †	59.5	(0.9) †	13.2	(0.6) †	15.2	(0.6) †	31.7	(0.8) †	35.0	(0.8) †	18.0	(0.6) †
	Chile	10.2	(0.9) ‡	22.4	(1.1) ‡	54.7	(1.3) ‡	12.7	(0.8) ‡	10.8	(0.7) ‡	20.9	(1.2) ‡	36.8	(1.3) ‡	31.5	(1.2) ‡
	Colombia	7.4	(0.7) †	20.4	(0.8) †	58.4	(1.0) †	13.8	(0.9) †	8.6	(0.7) †	29.2	(1.3) †	42.2	(1.1) †	20.0	(1.2) †
	Costa Rica	10.2	(0.7)	20.2	(1.0)	53.0	(1.2)	16.6	(1.0)	13.0	(0.8)	23.3	(1.0)	36.8	(1.4)	26.9	(1.3)
	Czech Republic	8.7	(0.5) †	23.3	(0.8) †	60.0	(1.0) †	8.0	(0.6) †	11.9	(0.8) †	39.4	(0.9) †	36.0	(1.0) †	12.6	(0.8) †
	Denmark*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Estonia	5.8	(0.6)	18.1	(1.0)	65.0	(1.2)	11.1	(0.8)	16.2	(0.8)	43.1	(1.2)	32.4	(0.9)	8.3	(0.6)
	Finland	7.3	(0.6) †	19.7	(0.8) †	59.2	(1.1) †	13.8	(0.7) †	24.0	(0.9) †	40.1	(1.0) †	25.7	(0.8) †	10.2	(0.7) †
	France	14.9	(0.9) †	21.9	(1.0) †	53.1	(1.2) †	10.1	(0.8) †	32.3	(1.0) †	33.2	(1.2) †	23.2	(1.0) †	11.2	(0.7) †
	Germany	6.6	(0.6) ‡	20.4	(1.0) ‡	52.0	(1.1) ‡	21.0	(1.1) ‡	24.4	(0.9) ‡	35.6	(1.0) ‡	28.7	(1.0) ‡	11.2	(0.7) ‡
	Greece	16.8	(0.9)	30.5	(1.1)	44.0	(1.2)	8.7	(0.8)	13.0	(0.8) †	36.8	(1.1) †	39.5	(1.2) †	10.6	(0.7) †
	Hungary	8.6	(0.6) †	20.1	(0.8) †	58.7	(1.1) †	12.5	(0.8) †	22.2	(1.0) †	43.6	(1.1) †	28.6	(1.0) †	5.7	(0.5) †
	Iceland	12.8	(1.2) †	25.0	(1.4) †	53.0	(1.8) †	9.2	(1.0) †	23.3	(1.5) †	33.2	(1.8) †	32.4	(1.8) †	11.1	(1.0) †
	Ireland*	9.7	(0.7)	22.5	(0.9)	60.4	(1.0)	7.3	(0.5)	14.5	(0.7)	42.3	(1.1)	31.3	(1.1)	11.9	(0.7)
	Israel	16.7	(0.8)	24.4	(0.9)	48.0	(1.1)	10.9	(0.6)	24.8	(1.0)	29.5	(1.1)	28.7	(0.9)	17.1	(0.8)
	Italy	11.8	(0.7)	25.0	(1.1)	55.1	(1.0)	8.1	(0.5)	17.3	(0.9)	33.0	(1.1)	34.0	(1.1)	15.7	(0.8)
	Japan	41.9	(1.5)	19.0	(0.9)	30.5	(1.1)	8.7	(0.8)	26.7	(1.0)	21.4	(0.8)	36.4	(1.1)	15.5	(0.9)
	Korea	18.3	(1.2)	11.7	(1.0)	52.1	(1.2)	17.9	(1.0)	34.1	(0.9)	28.9	(1.2)	29.5	(1.0)	7.5	(0.9)
	Latvia*	6.3	(0.6) †	19.6	(0.9) †	60.6	(1.2) †	13.4	(1.0) †	11.4	(0.8) †	36.1	(1.2) †	37.4	(1.2) †	15.1	(0.7) †
	Lithuania	8.6	(0.7) †	19.8	(0.9) †	57.8	(1.1) †	13.8	(0.8) †	17.2	(1.0) †	35.6	(1.3) †	38.1	(1.1) †	9.1	(0.6) †
	Mexico	10.2	(0.8) †	24.4	(1.3) †	52.7	(1.5) †	12.7	(0.8) †	11.6	(0.9) †	25.7	(1.1) †	39.4	(1.2) †	23.3	(1.1) †
	Netherlands*	6.4	(0.5) †	19.6	(1.0) †	64.9	(1.3) †	9.1	(0.8) †	20.7	(0.8) †	43.8	(0.9) †	28.5	(0.9) †	6.9	(0.6) †
	New Zealand*	6.3	(0.6) †	21.1	(1.1) †	63.2	(1.3) †	9.4	(0.7) †	12.5	(0.8) †	37.9	(1.1) †	36.6	(1.1) †	13.0	(0.8) †
	Norway	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Poland	15.6	(0.8)	32.7	(1.0)	45.4	(1.3)	6.3	(0.6)	17.9	(0.9)	37.9	(1.2)	32.8	(1.1)	11.4	(0.7)
	Portugal	5.9	(0.5) †	19.0	(0.8) †	60.0	(1.0) †	15.1	(1.0) †	13.7	(0.9) †	37.8	(1.2) †	39.0	(1.2) †	9.5	(0.6) †
	Slovak Republic	9.9	(0.7) †	24.1	(1.1) †	55.9	(1.2) †	10.0	(0.8) †	15.0	(1.1) †	42.3	(1.4) †	32.9	(1.2) †	9.8	(0.7) †
	Slovenia	8.6	(0.7)	25.9	(1.1)	57.1	(1.1)	8.4	(0.7)	13.8	(0.9)	38.7	(1.1)	39.0	(1.2)	8.5	(0.7)
	Spain	12.0	(0.6) †	26.4	(0.8) †	51.3	(0.9) †	10.2	(0.5) †	22.0	(0.5) †	34.3	(0.6) †	29.9	(0.7) †	13.8	(0.5) †
	Sweden	7.7	(0.7) †	17.8	(1.0) †	58.2	(1.3) †	16.4	(1.0) †	21.4	(0.9) †	41.9	(1.3) †	29.6	(1.1) †	7.2	(0.6) †
	Switzerland	9.0	(0.6) ‡	18.0	(0.9) ‡	50.7	(1.3) ‡	22.4	(1.2) ‡	38.1	(1.5) ‡	37.3	(1.5) ‡	19.8	(1.1) ‡	4.8	(0.6) ‡
	Türkiye	15.1	(0.8)	22.6	(0.8)	49.3	(1.2)	13.0	(0.7)	12.6	(0.8)	24.7	(0.9)	42.7	(0.9)	20.0	(0.9)
	United Kingdon <sup>‡</sup>	12.2	(0.9) †	29.6	(1.1) †	50.5	(1.3) †	7.7	(0.7) †	15.9	(1.0) ‡	37.8	(1.1) ‡	32.3	(1.3) ‡	14.1	(0.8) ‡
	United States*	7.6	(0.7)	20.2	(1.0)	61.6	(1.4)	10.6	(0.9)	12.0	(0.8)	35.6	(1.1)	36.8	(1.1)	15.6	(0.7)
	OECD average	10.9	(0.1)	22.0	(0.2)	55.0	(0.2)	12.0	(0.1)	18.4	(0.2)	35.0	(0.2)	33.3	(0.2)	13.3	(0.1)

# Table II.B1.2.24. Experience with learning at home [4/10]

#### Based on students' reports

						Pe	rcentage of when their	f studen school l	its who rep building wa	orte as clo	ed the following osed because of	about f f COVID	the time -19:				
			My te	achers	were availa	ble whe	n I needed I	help				l felt	anxious ab	out sch	ool work		
		Strong	ly disagree	Dis	sagree	A	gree	Stror	ngly agree	Str	ongly disagree	Dis	sagree	A	gree	Stron	gly agree
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	9	% S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ers	Albania	7.9	(0.8) ‡	15.8	(1.0) ‡	47.7	(1.5) ‡	28.6	(1.3) ‡	21	1.4 (1.5) ‡	30.3	(1.3) ‡	33.2	(1.4) ‡	15.1	(1.3) ‡
artu	Argentina	12.0	(0.9) ‡	27.7	(1.2) ‡	49.3	(1.4) ‡	11.1	(0.8) ‡	12	2.7 (0.9) ‡	22.5	(1.0) ‡	41.1	(1.3) ‡	23.7	(1.3) ‡
ä	Baku (Azerbaijan)	7.3	(0.9) ‡	21.1	(1.3) ‡	50.5	(1.6) ‡	21.2	(1.3) ‡	13	3.0 (1.2) ‡	31.6	(1.6) ‡	39.3	(1.5) ‡	16.1	(1.2) ‡
	Brazil	10.4	(0.7) †	28.4	(0.9) †	50.3	(0.9) †	10.9	(0.7) †	13	3.8 (0.7) †	34.0	(1.0) †	40.4	(1.0) †	11.8	(0.6) †
	Brunei Darussalam	3.3	(0.4) †	15.0	(0.9) †	70.3	(1.1) †	11.4	(0.8) †	5	5.4 (0.5) †	26.4	(0.9) †	47.5	(1.2) †	20.6	(1.1) †
	Bulgaria	10.9	(0.7) †	24.6	(1.0) †	49.5	(1.1) †	14.9	(1.0) †	15	5.5 (1.0) †	34.7	(1.1) †	39.3	(1.2) †	10.6	(0.9) †
	Cambodia	7.1	(0.5) †	20.8	(1.0) †	61.3	(1.3) †	10.8	(0.7) †	18	3.2 (1.0) †	56.8	(1.2) †	21.1	(0.9) †	3.8	(0.4) †
	Croatia	8.1	(0.7) †	21.9	(1.0) †	59.3	(1.2) †	10.7	(0.7) †	19	9.1 (1.0) †	41.4	(1.1) †	31.1	(1.1) †	8.4	(0.7) †
	Cyprus	11.5	(0.9) ‡	25.6	(1.1) ‡	50.6	(1.3) ‡	12.4	(1.0) ‡	14	4.9 (1.0) ‡	36.6	(1.3) ‡	34.8	(1.4) ‡	13.7	(0.9) ‡
	Dominican Republic	12.4	(1.4) ‡	21.1	(1.6) ‡	50.0	(2.0) ‡	16.5	(1.4) ‡	14	4.2 (1.2) ‡	26.8	(1.8) ‡	39.6	(1.6) ‡	19.5	(1.4) ‡
	El Salvador	7.7	(0.8) †	21.0	(1.3) †	54.6	(1.4) †	16.6	(1.1) †	9	9.9 (0.8) †	27.4	(1.4) †	44.8	(1.6) †	17.9	(1.1) †
	Georgia	10.8	(0.8) ‡	23.0	(1.0) ‡	51.0	(1.4) ‡	15.2	(1.0) ‡	15	5.2 (1.0) ‡	42.5	(1.3) ‡	32.7	(1.4) ‡	9.5	(0.9) ‡
	Guatemala	10.4	(0.8) ‡	16.6	(0.9) ‡	52.4	(1.3) ‡	20.6	(0.9) ‡	16	6.2 (1.0) ‡	26.9	(1.2) ‡	36.1	(1.1) ‡	20.7	(1.0) ‡
	Hong Kong (China)*	7.7	(0.6)	22.0	(1.0)	62.1	(1.1)	8.2	(0.6)	12	2.5 (0.7)	38.5	(1.1)	39.7	(1.2)	9.3	(0.7)
	Indonesia	5.5	(0.4)	14.9	(0.8)	69.4	(1.0)	10.2	(0.7)	6	6.4 (0.4)	30.9	(1.0)	53.8	(1.0)	8.9	(0.5)
	Jamaica*	9.0	(1.0) ‡	26.8	(1.9) ‡	55.0	(2.1) ‡	9.1	(1.1) ‡	11	1.0 (1.0) ‡	33.8	(1.6) ‡	38.8	(1.9) ‡	16.4	(1.5) ‡
	Jordan	18.0	(0.8) †	31.0	(0.9) †	38.7	(1.2) †	12.4	(0.9) †	15	5.8 (0.9) †	28.7	(1.2) †	42.6	(1.2) †	12.9	(0.8) †
	Kazakhstan	8.4	(0.4)	19.5	(0.6)	55.8	(0.8)	16.2	(0.6)	18	3.4 (0.5)	47.7	(0.7)	28.3	(0.8)	5.6	(0.4)
	Kosovo	13.6	(0.9) †	26.5	(1.3) †	45.3	(1.2) †	14.6	(1.0) †	21	1.2 (1.2) †	37.1	(1.2) †	31.5	(1.3) †	10.2	(0.8) †
	Macao (China)	10.5	(0.7)	25.1	(1.2)	55.8	(1.4)	8.6	(0.7)	11	1.9 (0.7)	35.9	(1.1)	42.6	(1.0)	9.6	(0.7)
	Malaysia	8.1	(0.5) †	24.0	(1.1) †	57.7	(1.2) †	10.1	(0.6) †	7	7.5 (0.6) †	26.4	(1.1) †	53.7	(1.1) †	12.4	(0.7) †
	Malta	9.0	(0.8) †	21.5	(1.2) †	56.7	(1.4) †	12.9	(1.1) †	12	2.5 (1.0) †	31.6	(1.4) †	38.8	(1.6) †	17.1	(1.0) †
	Moldova	6.9	(0.5) †	23.8	(1.1) †	56.2	(1.1) †	13.0	(0.6) †	12	2.5 (0.8)	43.0	(1.2)	37.8	(1.1)	6.7	(0.6)
	Mongolia	16.3	(0.8)	29.4	(1.0)	45.4	(1.0)	8.9	(0.6)	10	0.8 (0.7)	22.2	(0.8)	53.2	(1.0)	13.8	(0.6)
	Montenegro	11.2	(0.7) †	23.4	(1.0) †	50.8	(1.5) †	14.6	(0.8) †	18	3.8 (0.9) †	35.6	(1.1) †	34.4	(1.1) †	11.2	(0.9) †
	Morocco	19.5	(1.2) ±	32.4	(1.3) ±	38.3	(1.4) ±	9.8	(0.9) ±	17	7.7 (1.0) ±	32.2	(1.5) ±	39.6	(1.5) ±	10.5	(1.0) ±
	North Macedonia	10.3	(0.8) †	24.0	(1.0) †	51.0	(1.3) †	14.8	(0.8) †	15	5.5 (1.0) †	34.8	(1.2) †	38.6	(1.2) †	11.1	(0.7) †
	Palestinian Authority	14.0	(0.8) †	30.9	(1.1) †	44.6	(1.1) †	10.5	(0.8) †	13	3.7 (0.8) †	31.2	(1.2) †	44.0	(1.1) †	11.2	(0.8) †
	Panama*	14.1	(2.3) ±	22.3	(2.0) ±	47.9	(2.7) ±	15.7	(1.8) ±	15	5.0 (1.7) ±	22.2	(2.4) ±	37.8	(2.5) ±	25.0	(2.5) ±
	Paraquav	9.6	(0.6) †	20.3	(0.8) †	51.8	(0.9) †	18.3	(1.0) †	14	4.4 (0.7) †	29.0	(1.1) †	36.8	(1.0) †	19.8	(0.8) †
	Peru	6.5	(0.7) ‡	25.7	(1.4) ‡	56.3	(1.5) ‡	11.6	(1.0) ‡	10	0.0 (1.0) ‡	28.5	(1.1) ‡	43.5	(1.3) ‡	18.0	(1.1) ‡
	Philippines	5.4	(0.6) †	13.1	(0.8) †	69.7	(1.2) †	11.7	(0.9) †	6	6.7 (0.6) †	34.0	(1.1) †	48.0	(1.1) †	11.2	(1.0) †
	Qatar	9.7	(0.7) †	23.0	(1.2) †	52.7	(1.4) †	14.7	(1.0) †	12	2.7 (1.0) †	31.0	(1.2) †	40.9	(1.5) †	15.4	(1.0) †
	Romania	10.6	(0.7) †	26.0	(1.0) †	51.9	(1.3) †	11.6	(0.8) †	16	6.9 (0.8) †	40.1	(1.0) †	34.5	(1.1) †	8.5	(0.6) †
	Saudi Arabia	12.9	(1.0) †	25.9	(1.0) †	45.8	(1.4) †	15.4	(1.0) †	17	7.9 (0.8) †	33.6	(1.4) †	38.2	(1.4) †	10.3	(0.8) †
	Serbia	11.9	(0.7) †	25.5	(1.2) †	50.4	(1.2) †	12.3	(0.9) †	19	9.3 (1.0) †	33.8	(1.1) †	36.4	(1.2) †	10.4	(0.8) †
	Singapore	m	(u.,) 1 m	m	(··-=)	m	(··=)	m	m		m m	m	(, i	m	m	m	m
	Chinese Taipei	9.8	(07)	19.8	(12)	57.8	(12)	12.6	(10)	13	3.6 (1.0)	26.7	(12)	46.6	(14)	13.1	(0.9)
	Thailand	7.5	(0.5)	20.6	(0.9)	61.0	(1.0)	10.8	(0.6)	9	9.2 (0.7)	28.5	(1.0)	50.5	(1.1)	11.8	(0.7)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	8.6	(0.9) +	21.8	(1.8) +	55.1	(20) +	14.6	(14) +	12	29 (12) +	35.9	(16) +	42.0	(17) +	91	(10) +
	UnitedArab Emirates	7.5	(0.3) +	18.8	(0.7) +	54 7	(0.8) +	18.9	(0.4) +	13	3.1 (0.4) +	32.9	(0.7) +	39.0	(0.7) +	15.0	(0.5) +
	Uruquav	11.4	(1.1) +	25.2	(1.2) +	53.9	(1.5) +	9.5	(0.8) +	12	2.5 (10) +	24.8	(1.3) +	39.1	(1.6) +	23.6	(1.3) +
	Uzbekistan	13.6	(10) +	23.7	(1.3) +	41.8	(14) +	20.9	(12) +	18	35 (11) +	32.2	(1.3) +	32.2	(1.3) +	17 1	(12) +
	Viet Nam	4.1	(0.3)	10.2	(0.5)	66.7	(0.8)	19.0	(0.6)	11	1.6 (0.5)	41.8	(0.9)	39.4	(0.8)	7.2	(0.4)
			· /		· · /		N 17		· · /		1 1		· /		· · · /		× /

## Table II.B1.2.24. Experience with learning at home [5/10]

#### Based on students' reports

					Perce the f	entage of s ollowing a	tudents ctions if	who repor their scho	olb	d their buildin	level of congressions	nfölence gain in t	in taking he future:				
			Motiva	ting myself	to do s	chool wor	k				Fo	cusing	on school w	ork witl	hout remin	ders	
	N o coi	otatall nfident	N c cor	ot very nfident	Co	onfident	со	Very nfident		No	t at all nfident	No co	ot very nfident	Co	nfident	со	Very nfident
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
- Australia*	13.3	(0.5)	32.3	(0.8)	41.8	(0.8)	12.5	(0.5)		10.2	(0.4)	29.1	(0.7)	45.7	(0.7)	15.0	(0.5)
Ö Austria	10.4	(0.6) †	25.8	(0.9) †	41.6	(1.0) †	22.3	(1.0) †		9.6	(0.7) †	20.7	(0.9) †	44.0	(1.1) †	25.7	(1.0) †
Belgium	15.3	(0.8) †	32.8	(0.9) †	40.9	(0.9) †	11.0	(0.6) †		12.3	(0.7) †	29.0	(1.0) †	45.9	(1.0) †	12.9	(0.8) †
Canada*	17.2	(0.6) †	31.4	(0.7) †	38.9	(0.7) †	12.5	(0.5) †		12.4	(0.5) †	27.4	(0.7) †	43.7	(0.7) †	16.5	(0.6) †
Chile	11.3	(0.8) †	25.4	(1.3) †	45.7	(1.7) †	17.6	(1.0) †	1	10.8	(0.8) †	23.5	(1.0) †	46.1	(1.4) †	19.6	(1.2) †
Colombia	3.1	(0.4) †	14.5	(0.8) †	62.1	(1.2) †	20.3	(0.9) †		3.8	(0.4) †	13.3	(0.9) †	61.4	(1.0) †	21.5	(0.9) †
Costa Rica	9.0	(0.5)	21.4	(0.8)	49.4	(1.0)	20.2	(0.8)		7.8	(0.6)	20.7	(0.8)	48.7	(1.1)	22.9	(1.0)
Czech Republic	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Denmark*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Estonia	10.2	(0.6)	33.6	(1.1)	43.1	(1.1)	13.2	(0.7)		7.6	(0.5)	30.4	(1.1)	46.4	(0.9)	15.6	(0.6)
Finland	8.7	(0.6) †	27.8	(0.9) †	46.2	(0.8) †	17.2	(0.8) †		6.9	(0.5) †	23.7	(0.8) †	49.3	(0.9) †	20.1	(0.8) †
France	10.9	(0.7) †	24.0	(0.9) †	47.2	(1.1) †	17.9	(0.7) †		9.8	(0.7) †	21.7	(1.0) †	48.8	(1.1) †	19.7	(0.8) †
Germany	13.3	(0.9) ‡	27.4	(1.2) ‡	40.1	(1.2) ‡	19.2	(1.0) ‡	1	10.9	(0.8) ‡	23.6	(1.1) ‡	40.1	(1.3) ‡	25.5	(1.1) ‡
Greece	14.4	(0.6)	33.8	(0.8)	31.7	(1.0)	20.1	(0.8)		13.4	(0.7)	35.3	(0.9)	30.8	(0.9)	20.5	(0.8)
Hungary	8.6	(0.6) †	29.7	(0.9) †	44.9	(1.0) †	16.8	(0.9) †		8.6	(0.7) †	28.3	(1.0) †	45.2	(1.2) †	17.8	(0.9) †
lceland	7.6	(0.7) †	18.7	(1.2) †	55.5	(1.6) †	18.3	(1.3) †		7.2	(0.8) †	22.3	(1.4) †	53.3	(1.8) †	17.1	(1.3) †
Ireland*	16.7	(0.7)	35.3	(0.9)	38.5	(0.9)	9.4	(0.6)		12.4	(0.6)	30.0	(0.9)	45.0	(1.0)	12.7	(0.7)
Israel	21.5	(1.0)	30.3	(1.2)	30.9	(1.0)	17.4	(0.9)		18.1	(0.9)	29.4	(1.1)	33.3	(1.0)	19.2	(0.8)
Italy	10.7	(0.6)	31.0	(0.7)	46.4	(1.0)	11.9	(0.5)		6.2	(0.4)	19.6	(0.8)	54.4	(1.0)	19.8	(0.8)
Japan	26.1	(1.0)	40.0	(1.2)	25.0	(0.9)	8.9	(0.6)	12	24.5	(1.0)	39.0	(1.0)	27.1	(1.0)	9.4	(0.5)
Korea	14.7	(0.9)	28.3	(1.0)	40.8	(1.2)	16.1	(0.9)		15.4	(0.9)	30.2	(1.5)	38.2	(1.3)	16.2	(1.4)
Latvia*	14.5	(0.8) †	34.5	(1.2) †	40.0	(1.2) †	11.1	(0.7) †		8.3	(0.6) †	32.8	(1.0) †	44.0	(1.1) †	14.8	(0.8) †
Lithuania	8.5	(0.5) †	28.7	(1.1) †	45.1	(1.2) †	17.7	(0.8) †		7.8	(0.5) †	26.4	(0.8) †	47.6	(1.0) †	18.2	(0.8) †
Mexico	7.0	(0.6) †	20.8	(0.8) †	46.5	(1.0) †	25.8	(0.9) †		6.8	(0.6) †	19.8	(1.1) †	45.8	(1.2) †	27.5	(1.2) †
Netherlands*	16.3	(0.6) †	33.6	(1.1) †	41.6	(1.1) †	8.5	(0.6) †		10.8	(0.7) †	29.8	(1.0) †	49.3	(1.0) †	10.2	(0.7) †
New Zealand*	16.1	(0.9) †	32.6	(1.2) †	41.1	(1.3) †	10.2	(0.7) †	•	12.0	(0.8) †	29.2	(1.0) †	45.7	(1.1) †	13.0	(0.9) †
Norway	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Poland	17.9	(0.8)	38.0	(0.9)	33.4	(1.0)	10.7	(0.7)	·	13.7	(0.6)	35.8	(1.1)	37.3	(1.0)	13.2	(0.7)
Portugal	7.2	(0.5) †	27.1	(0.9) †	51.1	(1.0) †	14.5	(0.7) †		7.2	(0.5) †	25.4	(0.8) †	51.7	(0.9) †	15.8	(0.8) †
Slovak Republic	11.4	(0.8) †	28.7	(0.9) †	47.4	(1.2) †	12.5	(0.8) †		9.0	(0.6) †	26.7	(1.0) †	49.7	(1.1) †	14.6	(0.8) †
Slovenia	14.0	(0.8)	33.3	(1.0)	42.3	(1.1)	10.3	(0.7)		9.4	(0.6)	30.3	(1.1)	47.6	(1.3)	12.7	(0.7)
Spain	9.9	(0.4) †	27.1	(0.6) †	47.5	(0.7) †	15.5	(0.5) †		6.2	(0.3) †	20.0	(0.6) †	50.0	(0.7) †	23.8	(0.5) †
Sweden	9.7	(0.8) †	30.5	(1.1) †	42.4	(1.3) †	17.5	(0.8) †		8.5	(0.6) †	25.3	(1.0) †	45.9	(1.1) †	20.3	(0.8) †
Switzerland	8.8	(0.8) ±	26.4	(1.3) ±	44.4	(1.2) ±	20.4	(1.0) ±		6.6	(0.7) ±	23.4	(1.1) ±	47.9	(1.0) ±	22.2	(1.0) ±
Türkiye	12.8	(0.6)	25.7	(0.8)	45.3	(1.0)	16.3	(0.7)		12.3	(0.7)	25.6	(0.8)	45.3	(0.7)	16.7	(0.6)
United Kingdom*	20.3	(1.0) †	32.7	(1.1) †	38.0	(1.0) †	9.0	(0.6) †		15.3	(1.0) †	30.9	(1.2) †	43.1	(1.2) †	10.7	(0.8) †
United States*	15.1	(0.7)	30.3	(1.2)	40.1	(1.2)	14.5	(0.8)		13.0	(0.8)	28.6	(1.0)	43.4	(1.2)	15.0	(0.8)
OFCD average	12 7	(0 1)	29.2	(02)	42.9	(0.2)	15.2	(0 1)		10.4	(0 1)	26.7	(0.2)	45.3	(0.2)	17.5	(0,1)

# Table II.B1.2.24. Experience with learning at home [6/10]

#### Based on students' reports

						Pe	rcentage of when their	studen school l	ts who rep ouilding wa	orted t is close	the followin ed because	g about of COVII	the time )-19:					-
					was motiv	ated to	learn					l fel	l behind in	my sch	ool work			
		Strong	ly disagree	Dis	sagree	A	gree	Stror	gly agree	Stron	gly disagre	e Di	sagree		Agree	Stro	ngly agree	
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	l
ers	Albania	10.8	(1.0) ‡	24.1	(1.1) ‡	43.1	(1.5) ‡	22.0	(1.3) ‡	19.2	(1.5) ‡	31.9	(1.5) ‡	34.5	(1.5) ‡	14.4	(1.1) ‡	
utre	Argentina	16.8	(1.1) ‡	36.3	(1.1) ‡	38.0	(1.3) ‡	8.9	(0.8) ‡	10.4	(0.7) ‡	26.5	(1.1) ‡	41.1	(1.4) ‡	22.0	(1.5) ‡	
č	Baku (Azerbaijan)	8.5	(0.9) ‡	25.2	(1.3) ‡	47.7	(1.7) ‡	18.6	(1.2) ‡	11.1	(1.1) ‡	34.0	(1.6) ‡	38.6	(1.5) ‡	16.4	(1.4) ‡	
	Brazil	17.8	(0.8) †	35.9	(1.1) †	39.0	(1.1) †	7.3	(0.5) †	10.4	(0.6) †	32.8	(0.9) †	44.2	(1.0) †	12.6	(0.7) †	
	Brunei Darussalam	17.0	(0.8) †	36.9	(1.1) †	40.4	(1.2) †	5.6	(0.6) †	7.3	(0.7) †	31.7	(1.2) †	43.1	(1.3) †	17.9	(0.9) †	
	Bulgaria	18.0	(1.1) †	33.1	(1.3) †	37.3	(1.4) †	11.7	(0.8) †	16.9	(0.8) †	38.9	(1.2) †	33.7	(1.3) †	10.5	(0.8) †	
	Cambodia	4.1	(0.4) †	13.9	(0.7) †	68.5	(1.1) †	13.5	(0.9) †	8.6	(0.6) †	35.8	(1.1) †	49.4	(1.1) †	6.3	(0.7) †	
	Croatia	21.7	(0.9) †	43.3	(1.1) †	30.0	(1.1) †	5.0	(0.4) †	17.9	(0.9) †	44.8	(1.2) †	30.3	(1.1) †	7.0	(0.6) †	
	Cyprus	18.9	(1.0) ‡	37.8	(1.4) ‡	33.8	(1.5) ‡	9.5	(0.8) ‡	13.2	(0.8) ‡	32.8	(1.4) ‡	38.2	(1.4) ‡	15.7	(1.0) ‡	
	Dominican Republic	13.2	(1.3) ‡	22.0	(1.3) ‡	47.1	(2.0) ‡	17.7	(1.4) ‡	15.6	(1.3) ‡	25.5	(1.6) ‡	40.8	(1.5) ‡	18.1	(1.5) ‡	
	El Salvador	7.8	(0.9) †	24.9	(1.6) †	51.9	(1.5) †	15.4	(1.3) †	10.6	(0.9) †	26.3	(1.4) †	46.8	(1.4) †	16.3	(1.1) †	
	Georgia	10.3	(0.7) †	32.5	(1.2) †	43.8	(1.2) †	13.5	(1.0) †	14.6	(1.0) ‡	41.6	(1.3) ‡	33.7	(1.2) ‡	10.1	(0.8) ‡	
	Guatemala	10.6	(0.8) ‡	22.1	(1.0) ‡	48.9	(1.3) ‡	18.4	(1.0) ‡	17.9	(0.9) ‡	29.2	(1.2) ‡	36.5	(1.2) ‡	16.4	(0.9) ‡	
	Hong Kong (China)*	14.0	(0.9)	39.5	(1.2)	39.8	(1.2)	6.7	(0.6)	7.3	(0.7)	28.6	(1.0)	48.3	(1.2)	15.7	(0.9)	
	Indonesia	6.0	(0.5)	22.6	(0.9)	62.2	(1.2)	9.2	(0.7)	9.8	(0.6)	42.4	(0.9)	40.8	(0.9)	6.9	(0.5)	
	Jamaica*	18.0	(1.6) ‡	33.3	(2.1) ‡	37.6	(2.0) ‡	11.2	(1.1) ‡	10.6	(1.4) ‡	25.4	(1.9) ‡	40.8	(1.8) ‡	23.1	(2.0) ‡	
	Jordan	13.9	(0.9) †	29.3	(1.1) †	41.9	(1.2) †	15.0	(0.9) †	14.6	(0.8) †	30.4	(1.2) †	40.8	(1.2) †	14.3	(1.0) †	
	Kazakhstan	8.7	(0.4)	24.4	(0.7)	54.3	(0.8)	12.6	(0.5)	18.5	(0.7)	49.5	(0.8)	26.2	(0.7)	5.8	(0.4)	
	Kosovo	12.0	(1.0) †	31.6	(1.2) †	40.8	(1.4) †	15.6	(1.0) †	19.3	(1.2) †	38.6	(1.5) †	32.7	(1.5) †	9.4	(0.9) †	
	Macao (China)	14.4	(0.9)	44.2	(0.9)	35.6	(1.0)	5.8	(0.5)	11.0	(0.7)	34.6	(1.0)	42.0	(1.1)	12.4	(0.8)	
	Malaysia	9.9	(0.7) †	31.7	(1.1) †	50.2	(1.1) †	8.2	(0.6) †	8.5	(0.7) †	34.9	(1.2) †	46.3	(1.1) †	10.3	(0.6) †	
	Malta	24.9	(1.4) †	39.0	(1.5) †	28.8	(1.3) †	7.3	(0.7) †	10.2	(1.0) †	30.0	(1.3) †	37.9	(1.5) †	21.9	(1.1) †	
	Moldova	9.1	(0.7)	30.4	(1.1)	49.8	(1.1)	10.8	(0.8)	13.7	(0.8)	43.6	(1.1)	35.5	(1.1)	7.2	(0.7)	
	Mongolia	8.2	(0.6)	19.8	(0.9)	55.8	(1.0)	16.3	(0.8)	10.3	(0.7)	27.8	(1.0)	49.3	(1.2)	12.6	(0.7)	
	Montenegro	16.5	(0.8) †	35.9	(1.3) †	38.2	(1.5) †	9.4	(0.6) †	18.7	(1.0) †	41.3	(1.3) †	30.6	(1.1) †	9.3	(0.8) †	
	Morocco	14.5	(0.8) ‡	27.8	(1.3) ‡	45.6	(1.4) ‡	12.1	(0.9) ‡	16.5	(1.0) ‡	37.2	(1.1) ‡	36.5	(1.2) ‡	9.8	(0.9) ‡	
	North Macedonia	13.4	(0.9) †	33.8	(1.2) †	40.6	(1.4) †	12.3	(1.0) †	15.1	(0.8) †	35.5	(1.0) †	37.8	(1.1) †	11.6	(0.8) †	
	Palestinian Authority	14.9	(1.0) †	30.4	(1.1) †	42.1	(1.2) †	12.6	(0.7) †	15.1	(0.8) †	35.9	(1.1) †	38.9	(1.0) †	10.1	(0.7) †	
	Panama*	11.7	(1.6) ‡	24.4	(2.0) ‡	47.2	(2.5) ‡	16.8	(1.7) ‡	16.0	(2.1) ‡	33.4	(2.4) ‡	37.3	(2.5) ‡	13.3	(1.4) ‡	
	Paraguay	12.8	(0.7) †	30.3	(1.2) †	44.4	(1.1) †	12.5	(0.7) †	14.3	(1.0) †	29.1	(1.0) †	39.6	(1.1) †	16.9	(0.9) †	
	Peru	8.5	(0.7) ‡	30.5	(1.3) ‡	48.2	(1.4) ‡	12.7	(1.0) ‡	10.2	(0.9) ‡	30.8	(1.3) ‡	45.0	(1.2) ‡	14.0	(1.1) ‡	
	Philippines	5.6	(0.5) †	20.7	(1.1) †	62.0	(1.1) †	11.8	(0.7) †	7.9	(0.6) †	36.7	(0.9) †	47.2	(1.1) †	8.2	(0.6) †	
	Qatar	18.4	(1.1) †	34.1	(1.4) †	35.9	(1.3) †	11.6	(0.8) †	14.5	(0.9) †	33.1	(1.3) †	36.7	(1.3) †	15.7	(0.9) †	
	Romania	15.3	(0.8) †	33.9	(1.0) †	40.2	(1.1) †	10.6	(0.8) †	12.7	(0.8) †	38.9	(1.3) †	35.8	(1.1) †	12.5	(0.8) †	
	SaudiArabia	13.7	(0.9) †	27.6	(1.0) †	41.8	(1.3) †	16.9	(1.1) †	25.9	(1.0) †	37.1	(1.1) †	28.2	(1.2) †	8.8	(0.7) †	
	Serbia	21.7	(1.0) †	39.7	(1.2) †	31.3	(1.3) †	7.2	(0.7) †	18.3	(0.7) †	44.2	(1.2) †	30.4	(1.1) †	7.0	(0.6) †	
	Singapore	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	
	Chinese Taipei	15.0	(1.0)	40.9	(1.3)	37.0	(1.2)	7.1	(0.7)	14.5	(1.0)	38.4	(1.3)	36.9	(1.2)	10.2	(0.7)	
	Thailand	7.2	(0.6)	26.3	(1.0)	56.3	(1.0)	10.1	(0.6)	8.8	(0.6)	36.0	(1.0)	47.6	(1.0)	7.6	(0.6)	
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	10.3	(1.1) +	35.0	(1.3) +	45.0	(1.8) †	9.6	(1.1) †	14.9	(1.2) †	45.5	(1.9) +	31.2	(2.0) +	8.4	(1.1) +	
	UnitedArab Emirates	15.3	(0.4) †	32.2	(0.7) †	38.7	(0.7) †	13.8	(0.5) †	15.0	(0.5) †	34.9	(0.6) †	34.6	(0.6) †	15.4	(0.5) †	
	Uruguay	18.6	(1.1) ‡	35.1	(1.6) ‡	38.7	(1.6) ‡	7.7	(0.8) ‡	10.1	(0.9) ‡	22.5	(1.3) ‡	44.5	(1.6) ‡	22.9	(1.3) ±	
	Uzbekistan	8.5	(0.7) ±	24.3	(1.4) ±	45.1	(1.4) ±	22.1	(1.2) ±	18.2	(1.1) ±	35.8	(1.3) ±	32.8	(1.3) ±	13.3	(1.1) ±	
	Viet Nam	4.9	(0.3)	28.6	(0.8)	56.7	(0.7)	9.9	(0.5)	10.2	(0.5)	41.6	(0.8)	41.4	(0.8)	6.9	(0.4)	

## Table II.B1.2.24. Experience with learning at home [7/10]

#### Based on students' reports

							Per	centage vhen thei	of ir s	studen school b	ts who rep ouilding w	ooi as	rted th closed	e following because o	about f f COVID	the time )-19:							
		l in	nproved my	skills in	using di	gital	devic	es for lea	arn	ing pur	poses		M	y teachers v	vere we	II prepar	ed 1	to provi	de instr	ructi	on remo	otely	
		Strong	ly disagree	Dis	sagree		Ag	gree		Stron	gly agree	s	Strong	ly disagree	Dis	sagree		A	gree		Stron	gly agre	e
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	
吕 Australia*		10.0	(0.5)	29.7	(0.8)	1	51.2	(0.7)		9.1	(0.5)	T	9.6	(0.4)	27.7	(0.8)		52.7	(0.9)		10.0	(0.6)	
Ö Austria		13.7	(0.8) †	24.8	(1.1)	t 4	43.0	(1.2)	†	18.5	(1.0) †		17.0	(0.8) †	32.5	(1.0)	t	39.8	(1.0)	†	10.6	(0.8)	t
Belgium		12.4	(0.7) †	29.9	(1.1)	t 4	49.3	(1.4)	†	8.4	(0.6) †		21.1	(1.0) †	37.4	(0.9)	t	35.8	(1.1)	†	5.7	(0.6)	t
Canada*		12.0	(0.5) †	26.2	(0.8)	t 4	49.6	(0.9)	t	12.2	(0.5) †		13.6	(0.5) †	30.8	(0.6)	t	46.7	(0.7)	†	8.8	(0.4)	t
Chile		7.8	(0.6) ‡	20.4	(1.2)	‡   {	51.1	(1.6)	‡	20.7	(1.0) ‡		13.0	(1.0) ‡	33.4	(1.2)	‡	43.7	(1.4)	‡	9.9	(0.8)	‡
Colombia	I	4.5	(0.5) †	16.1	(0.9)	t (	60.7	(1.3)	t	18.6	(1.0) †		7.9	(0.6) †	27.9	(1.2)	t	53.2	(1.3)	t	11.0	(0.8)	t
Costa Ric	a	6.9	(0.6)	16.6	(0.9)	1	51.2	(1.2)		25.3	(1.2)		15.7	(0.9)	33.4	(1.1)		40.7	(1.1)		10.2	(0.6)	
Czech Re	public	7.9	(0.5) †	26.8	(0.9)	t t	53.8	(1.0)	t	11.4	(0.8) †		11.3	(0.7) †	36.5	(1.0)	t	45.6	(1.1)	†	6.6	(0.6)	t
Denmark*		m	m	m	m		m	m		m	m		m	m	m	m		m	m		m	m	
Estonia		8.2	(0.6)	21.0	(0.9)	1	59.3	(1.1)		11.5	(0.7)	Τ	10.1	(0.7)	36.7	(1.1)		47.3	(1.2)		5.9	(0.5)	
Finland		9.3	(0.5) †	23.9	(0.8)	t t	54.9	(0.8)	†	11.9	(0.6) †		9.8	(0.7) †	35.3	(1.0)	†	47.2	(1.0)	†	7.7	(0.5)	t
France		13.1	(1.0) †	22.7	(1.1)	t 4	49.9	(1.2)	t	14.3	(0.9) †	T	28.9	(1.0) †	34.3	(1.1)	t	29.6	(1.0)	t	7.2	(0.6)	t
Germany		14.1	(0.9) ‡	25.3	(1.2)	‡ 4	44.9	(1.3)	ŧ	15.6	(0.8) ‡		24.1	(1.3) ‡	36.5	(1.3)	ŧ	30.7	(1.2)	‡	8.8	(0.8)	ŧ
Greece		9.1	(0.7)	26.1	(1.1)	1	51.8	(1.1)		13.0	(0.7)		22.6	(1.0)	37.6	(1.1)		32.4	(1.0)		7.4	(0.6)	
Hungary		10.2	(0.7) †	24.9	(1.0)	t l t	53.2	(1.0)	t I	11.6	(0.7) †		15.1	(0.9) †	34.8	(1.1)	t	42.1	(1.2)	†	7.9	(0.6)	t
lceland		15.5	(1.2) ‡	31.8	(1.4)	‡ 4	45.0	(1.5) :	ŧ	7.7	(0.9) ‡	Τ	15.4	(1.2) †	34.4	(1.7)	t	43.6	(1.8)	t	6.7	(0.9)	t
Ireland*		10.3	(0.6)	27.0	(0.8)	1	53.6	(1.0)		9.1	(0.6)		12.4	(0.7)	32.5	(1.1)		48.5	(1.2)		6.6	(0.5)	
Israel		16.0	(0.7)	23.2	(0.8)	4	45.7	(1.0)		15.2	(0.9)	Т	21.9	(1.0)	34.9	(1.0)		34.2	(1.1)		9.0	(0.6)	
Italy		7.3	(0.5)	17.1	(0.8)	1	59.7	(1.0)		15.9	(0.7)		20.0	(0.8)	38.7	(0.9)		36.0	(1.0)		5.3	(0.5)	
Japan		32.7	(1.2)	24.8	(1.1)	1	32.4	(1.2)		10.1	(0.7)	Τ	36.5	(1.4)	17.0	(0.9)		31.7	(1.3)		14.9	(1.0)	
Korea		34.6	(1.2)	34.7	(1.1)	1	26.3	(0.9)		4.4	(0.5)		22.2	(1.2)	24.6	(1.2)		42.6	(1.1)		10.6	(1.0)	
Latvia*		7.9	(0.6) †	21.1	(1.0)	t !	55.6	(1.2)	t	15.4	(0.7) †		8.9	(0.7) †	36.5	(1.2)	t	47.3	(1.3)	t	7.2	(0.6)	t
Lithuania		9.8	(0.7) †	20.6	(0.8)	t ! t	53.4	(1.1)	t	16.2	(0.9) †		11.3	(0.8) †	33.3	(1.0)	t	45.0	(1.2)	†	10.4	(0.7)	t
Mexico		5.3	(0.5) †	17.8	(1.3)	t t	56.3	(1.4)	t	20.6	(1.1) †	Τ	10.2	(0.8) †	30.0	(1.5)	t	46.5	(1.5)	t	13.2	(1.1)	t
Netherlan	ds*	13.3	(0.8) †	34.5	(1.3)	t 4	44.8	(1.3)	t	7.5	(0.7) †		20.4	(1.0) †	41.1	(1.5)	t	34.1	(1.3)	†	4.4	(0.6)	t
New Zeala	ind*	11.2	(0.8) †	38.0	(1.2)	t 4	43.5	(1.2)	t	7.4	(0.7) †	T	8.0	(0.7) †	30.1	(1.1)	t	54.2	(1.2)	t	7.7	(0.6)	t
Norway		m	m	m	m		m	m		m	m		m	m	m	m		m	m		m	m	
Poland		11.6	(0.6)	28.2	(1.0)	4	49.3	(1.3)		10.9	(0.8)		14.4	(0.9)	34.8	(1.0)		43.9	(1.0)		6.9	(0.6)	
Portugal		7.7	(0.6) †	20.1	(0.8)	t t	58.5	(1.1)	t	13.6	(0.8) †		15.1	(0.9) †	41.2	(1.0)	t	38.1	(0.9)	†	5.5	(0.5)	t
Slovak Re	public	10.3	(0.7) †	27.7	(1.2)	t t	50.7	(1.1)	t	11.3	(0.8) †		9.5	(0.7) †	30.2	(1.0)	t	50.4	(1.3)	t	9.9	(0.7)	t
Slovenia		9.3	(0.6)	23.1	(1.2)	1	55.4	(1.2)		12.1	(0.8)		11.4	(0.8)	31.0	(0.9)		49.4	(1.1)		8.2	(0.7)	
Spain		8.3	(0.4) †	21.5	(0.6)	t t	53.9	(0.6)	t I	16.3	(0.5) †	T	20.3	(0.6) †	36.5	(0.7)	t	36.0	(0.8)	t	7.2	(0.4)	t
Sweden		13.1	(1.0) †	33.5	(1.1)	t 4	43.7	(1.1)	t	9.7	(0.8) †		10.8	(0.9) †	33.3	(1.2)	t	46.7	(1.3)	†	9.2	(0.7)	†
Switzerlar	nd	12.5	(0.9) ‡	22.7	(1.1)	‡ 4	45.1	(1.4) :	ŧ	19.7	(1.2) ‡	Τ	19.6	(0.9) ‡	35.5	(1.5)	ŧ	34.6	(1.4)	‡	10.4	(0.8)	‡
Türkiye		10.7	(0.7)	19.5	(0.8)	4	49.9	(1.0)		19.8	(0.8)		15.5	(0.8)	30.5	(0.9)		41.3	(0.9)		12.7	(0.8)	
United Ki	ngdont	13.7	(0.8) †	34.6	(1.2)	t 4	43.1	(1.3)	t	8.7	(0.7) †	T	15.8	(0.8) ‡	35.2	(1.2)	ŧ	41.1	(1.3)	‡	7.9	(0.8)	ŧ
United Sta	ates*	12.5	(0.7)	27.0	(1.0)	4	48.4	(1.2)		12.1	(0.9)		16.2	(1.0)	33.1	(1.2)	·	41.6	(1.3)		9.0	(0.9)	·
OECD ave	erage	11.8	(0.1)	25.2	(0.2)	4	49.7	(0.2)		13.3	(0.1)		15.9	(0.1)	33.4	(0.2)		42.1	(0.2)		8.6	(0.1)	

# Table II.B1.2.24. Experience with learning at home [8/10]

#### Based on students' reports

						Pe	rcentage of when their	f studer school	its who rep building wa	orted as clos	the following ed because of	about f COVID	the time )-19:					
		lim	nproved my	skills ir	using dig	ital devi	ces for lear	ning pu	rposes		My teachers v	vere we	II prepared	to pro	vide instruc	tion rem	otely	
		Strong	ly disagree	Dis	sagree	ļ	gree	Stroi	ngly agree	Stron	ngly disagree	Dis	sagree		Agree	Stroi	ngly agree	
_		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	\$.E.	ļ
ers	Albania	9.1	(0.9) ‡	16.8	(1.1) ‡	46.4	(1.5) ‡	27.7	(1.2) ‡	8.2	(0.9) ‡	18.5	(1.1) ‡	44.0	(1.5) ‡	29.3	(1.4) ‡	
artn	Argentina	7.6	(0.9) ‡	18.4	(1.1) ‡	55.2	(1.5) ‡	18.7	(1.0) ‡	15.1	(0.8) ‡	32.9	(1.3) ‡	42.0	(1.4) ‡	10.0	(1.0) ‡	
۵.	Baku (Azerbaijan)	6.4	(0.8) ‡	19.2	(1.3) ‡	54.0	(1.5) ‡	20.4	(1.2) ‡	8.5	(1.0) ‡	23.3	(1.4) ‡	47.7	(1.8) ‡	20.5	(1.3) ‡	
	Brazil	12.2	(0.6) †	31.4	(1.0) †	45.7	(1.1) †	10.8	(0.6) †	15.0	(0.7) †	38.4	(0.9) †	39.4	(0.9) †	7.2	(0.5) †	
	Brunei Darussalam	5.8	(0.6) †	25.7	(1.1) †	55.4	(1.4) †	13.1	(0.8) †	3.2	(0.4) †	18.2	(0.9) †	67.6	(1.1) †	10.9	(0.7) †	
	Bulgaria	10.4	(0.8) †	24.7	(1.1) †	48.8	(1.5) †	16.0	(0.8) †	9.6	(0.7) †	24.8	(1.2) †	47.7	(1.2) †	18.0	(0.9) †	
	Cambodia	8.6	(0.6) †	29.2	(0.9) †	54.7	(0.9) †	7.5	(0.6) †	4.5	(0.4) †	15.2	(0.9) †	66.3	(1.3) †	14.0	(1.0) †	
	Croatia	11.0	(0.7) †	26.0	(0.8) †	53.2	(1.1) †	9.9	(0.7) †	11.5	(0.9) †	28.7	(1.2) †	50.9	(1.3) †	9.0	(0.7) †	
	Cyprus	11.6	(0.8) ‡	27.3	(1.2) ‡	44.4	(1.1) ‡	16.7	(0.9) ‡	16.9	(0.9) ‡	34.1	(1.3) ‡	37.0	(1.3) ‡	12.0	(0.9) ‡	
	Dominican Republic	10.0	(1.1) ‡	17.5	(1.4) ‡	47.7	(1.7) ‡	24.8	(1.5) ‡	11.9	(1.4) ‡	22.5	(1.5) ‡	45.3	(2.0) ‡	20.2	(1.7) ‡	
	El Salvador	5.9	(0.7) ‡	15.8	(1.1) ‡	57.2	(1.3) ‡	21.1	(1.0) ‡	7.5	(0.8) †	21.3	(1.3) †	52.9	(1.4) †	18.3	(1.1) †	
	Georgia	8.1	(0.9) ‡	25.8	(1.2) ‡	50.7	(1.2) ‡	15.4	(1.0) ‡	8.4	(0.7) ‡	24.0	(1.2) ‡	49.7	(1.5) ‡	17.8	(1.1) ‡	
	Guatemala	7.6	(0.6) ‡	12.0	(0.8) ‡	49.0	(1.4) ‡	31.4	(1.3) ‡	9.0	(0.7) ‡	18.6	(1.1) ‡	48.7	(1.3) ‡	23.8	(1.1) ‡	
	Hong Kong (China)*	7.9	(0.7)	23.1	(0.9)	58.2	(1.1)	10.7	(0.7)	7.5	(0.7)	26.5	(1.1)	57.5	(1.1)	8.6	(0.6)	
	Indonesia	4.9	(0.4)	20.4	(0.8)	65.2	(1.0)	9.5	(0.6)	4.7	(0.5)	16.3	(0.9)	66.6	(1.2)	12.5	(0.7)	
	Jamaica*	6.5	(0.8) ‡	19.7	(1.7) ‡	53.4	(2.2) ‡	20.4	(1.4) ‡	8.3	(1.1) ‡	24.3	(1.5) ‡	51.9	(1.9) ‡	15.4	(1.8) ‡	
	Jordan	13.5	(0.8) †	24.0	(1.2) †	44.8	(1.4) †	17.7	(1.0) †	14.7	(0.9) †	26.0	(1.1) †	43.9	(1.3) †	15.4	(0.9) †	
	Kazakhstan	7.1	(0.5)	18.9	(0.5)	60.3	(0.7)	13.7	(0.5)	7.7	(0.4)	20.2	(0.6)	58.0	(0.7)	14.1	(0.5)	
	Kosovo	10.3	(1.0) †	22.0	(1.2) †	49.7	(1.5) †	18.0	(1.1) †	10.9	(0.9) †	22.6	(1.3) †	47.9	(1.4) †	18.6	(1.0) †	
	Macao (China)	8.9	(0.7)	30.0	(1.0)	49.9	(1.1)	11.2	(0.7)	7.4	(0.7)	27.0	(1.1)	56.6	(1.2)	9.1	(0.6)	
	Malaysia	6.2	(0.7) †	20.9	(0.8) †	58.3	(1.2) †	14.6	(0.8) †	6.9	(0.7) †	26.6	(1.0) †	55.2	(1.1) †	11.2	(0.6) †	
	Malta	11.4	(0.8) †	25.8	(1.3) †	49.6	(1.4) †	13.2	(1.1) †	15.3	(1.1) †	34.8	(1.4) †	40.7	(1.5) †	9.2	(1.0) †	
	Moldova	6.1	(0.6)	24.6	(1.1)	56.7	(1.3)	12.6	(0.7)	6.9	(0.6) †	26.2	(1.1) †	54.0	(1.1) †	12.8	(0.7) †	
	Mongolia	10.2	(0.5)	21.0	(0.8)	54.7	(0.9)	14.0	(0.8)	11.9	(0.8)	30.2	(0.9)	46.9	(1.0)	11.1	(0.7)	
	Montenegro	12.4	(0.9) †	27.7	(1.1) †	45.6	(1.4) †	14.3	(0.8) †	12.0	(0.7) †	25.3	(1.1) †	49.5	(1.2) †	13.2	(0.8) †	
	Morocco	13.0	(1.0) ±	27.4	(1.3) ±	44.7	(1.4) ±	14.8	(1.2) ±	14.0	(1.0) ±	27.1	(1.4) ±	45.1	(1.6) ±	13.8	(1.0) ±	
	North Macedonia	7.7	(0.7) †	21.1	(1.1) †	53.1	(1.1) †	18.1	(0.9) †	10.3	(0.8) †	27.2	(1.1) †	46.8	(1.2) †	15.7	(0.9) †	
	Palestinian Authority	11.3	(0.7) †	23.1	(1.0) †	49.8	(1.1) †	15.8	(0.8) †	10.7	(0.7) †	23.4	(1.0) †	49.0	(1.1) †	16.9	(0.8) †	
	Panama*	7.0	(1.3) ±	14.7	(2.2) ±	53.0	(2.8) ±	25.3	(2.2) ±	9.8	(1.6) ±	29.2	(2.7) ±	45.3	(3.0) ±	15.7	(2.1) ±	
	Paraquav	7.5	(0.6) †	15.3	(0.8) †	53.1	(1.2) †	24.1	(1.2) †	11.2	(0.8) †	26.0	(1.0) †	48.2	(1.0) †	14.7	(0.9) †	
	Peru	4.1	(0.7) ±	15.1	(1.2) ‡	57.4	(1.6) ‡	23.4	(1.4) ‡	7.7	(0.6) ±	33.5	(1.5) ‡	48.1	(1.6) ‡	10.6	(1.0) ‡	
	Philippines	4.4	(0.4) †	16.8	(1.0) †	65.1	(1.1) †	13.7	(0.9) †	3.9	(0.4) †	13.0	(0.9) †	70.8	(0.9) †	12.3	(0.8) †	
	Qatar	9.0	(0.8) †	20.8	(1.2) †	49.8	(1.4) †	20.3	(1.1) †	9.3	(0.9) †	19.4	(1.1) †	54.7	(1.3) †	16.6	(1.0) †	
	Romania	8.4	(0.6) †	21.7	(1.0) †	54.4	(1.1) †	15.5	(0.8) †	13.1	(0.8) †	29.2	(0.9) †	45.8	(1.2) †	11.9	(0.8) †	
	SaudiArabia	9.5	(0.7) †	17.9	(1.0) †	49.1	(1.3) †	23.5	(1.1) †	8.9	(0.7) †	18.2	(1.2) †	48.5	(1.1) †	24.4	(1.1) †	
	Serbia	13.2	(0.8) †	27.0	(0.9) †	48.5	(1.1) †	11.3	(0.8) †	13.4	(0.9) †	31.2	(1.1) †	44.7	(1.2) †	10.7	(0.7) †	
	Singapore	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	
	Chinese Taipei	8.8	(07)	28.2	(11)	50.2	(14)	12.8	(0.9)	85	(0.8)	23.9	(12)	55 1	(14)	12.5	(10)	
	Thailand	7.0	(0.6)	21.3	(0.9)	60.5	(1.1)	11.1	(0.7)	6.0	(0.5)	23.3	(0.9)	58.8	(1.1)	11.9	(0.9)	
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	7.6	(1.0) +	23.2	(1.5) +	57.2	(1.9) +	11.9	(1.0) +	6.8	(0.9) +	24.8	(2.0) +	53.8	(22) +	14.6	(1.5) +	
	UnitedArab Emirates	7.4	(0.6) +	17.4	(0.6) +	52.0	(0.7) +	23.2	(0.6) +	7.6	(0.4) +	19.1	(0.5) +	53.1	(0.6) +	20.3	(0.5) +	
	Uruquav	10.1	(0.8) +	24.0	(1.5) +	52 7	(1.5) +	13.2	(0.9) +	14.6	(1.0) +	34.4	(1.4) +	42.4	(1.6) +	8.5	(0.8) +	
	Uzbekistan	9.8	(0.9) +	24.6	(14) +	44 1	(16) +	21.5	(1.3) +	10.8	(10) +	21.9	(12) +	43.5	(14) +	23.8	(1.3) +	
	Viet Nam	3.6	(0.3)	14.3	(0.6)	66.8	(0.8)	15.3	(0.6)	2.6	(0.2)	8.7	(0.6)	67.4	(0.8)	21.3	(0.7)	
	-		1 /		\· -/		\· -/		\· •/		\· =/		\· -/		\··-/		1	

## Table II.B1.2.24. Experience with learning at home [9/10]

#### Based on students' reports

					Pe	ercentage of when their	f studen school l	nts who rep building wa	orted t is close	he following d because o	about fCOVID	the time )-19:				
		I	was we	ll prepared	to learn	on my ow	n		Im	issed sports	and oth	ner physica	l activitie	es organise	dbymy	/ school
	Strong	ly disagree	Dis	agree	A	Agree	Stror	ngly agree	Stron	gly disagree	Di	sagree	A	gree	Stror	ngly agree
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
	11.3	(0.4)	29.2	(0.7)	46.5	(0.6)	13.0	(0.5)	12.8	(0.5)	20.1	(0.6)	40.3	(0.7)	26.7	(0.7)
Ö Austria	15.4	(0.8) †	27.6	(1.0) †	40.1	(1.1) †	16.9	(0.9) †	25.5	(1.0) †	25.9	(0.9) †	32.1	(1.2) †	16.5	(0.9) †
Belgium	13.8	(0.7) †	30.0	(1.2) †	47.4	(1.2) †	8.8	(0.6) †	22.6	(0.9) †	26.8	(1.0) †	33.7	(1.0) †	16.8	(0.8) †
Canada*	14.7	(0.6) †	31.8	(0.7) †	42.6	(0.9) †	11.0	(0.5) †	14.4	(0.5) †	22.0	(0.7) †	35.6	(0.9) †	27.9	(0.7) †
Chile	14.3	(1.0) ‡	31.4	(1.5) ‡	43.3	(1.5) ‡	11.0	(1.1) ‡	15.0	(1.1) ‡	20.9	(1.4) ‡	35.4	(1.4) ‡	28.8	(1.3) ‡
Colombia	7.2	(0.6) †	32.9	(1.2) †	48.8	(1.4) †	11.1	(0.9) †	10.0	(0.7) †	21.2	(0.9) †	45.9	(1.3) †	22.9	(1.0) †
Costa Rica	11.2	(0.7)	32.4	(1.2)	42.9	(1.3)	13.4	(0.8)	15.2	(0.8)	19.4	(0.9)	37.4	(1.2)	27.9	(1.2)
Czech Republic	10.7	(0.6) †	34.5	(0.9) †	46.2	(0.9) †	8.5	(0.5) †	17.6	(0.9) †	35.1	(1.1) †	32.9	(1.0) †	14.3	(0.7) †
Denmark*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Estonia	10.3	(0.7)	30.1	(1.0)	48.8	(1.1)	10.8	(0.6)	18.9	(0.7)	30.7	(0.9)	35.5	(1.0)	14.9	(0.8)
Finland	8.4	(0.5) †	27.3	(1.0) †	50.0	(1.0) †	14.3	(0.7) †	20.5	(0.9) †	33.3	(0.9) †	33.8	(1.1) †	12.4	(0.7) †
France	19.9	(0.8) †	28.7	(1.1) †	39.9	(1.3) †	11.6	(0.8) †	30.0	(1.1) †	27.6	(1.1) †	27.5	(0.9) †	14.9	(0.8) †
Germany	18.9	(1.0) ‡	30.7	(1.1) ‡	37.9	(1.3) ‡	12.5	(0.9) ‡	31.6	(1.3) ‡	28.8	(1.2) ‡	26.4	(1.1) ‡	13.2	(0.8) ‡
Greece	13.9	(0.8) †	35.9	(1.1) †	40.0	(1.3) †	10.1	(0.7) †	12.8	(0.8)	22.7	(0.9)	41.9	(1.2)	22.6	(1.0)
Hungary	8.9	(0.6) †	27.8	(1.0) †	50.7	(1.2) †	12.6	(0.7) †	19.4	(0.9) †	27.1	(1.0) †	36.6	(1.2) †	16.9	(0.9) †
Iceland	14.8	(1.3) †	27.3	(1.6) †	46.2	(1.7) †	11.7	(1.2) †	18.2	(1.2) †	24.0	(1.3) †	34.9	(1.4) †	22.9	(1.4) †
Ireland*	13.3	(0.8)	34.5	(1.1)	44.5	(1.2)	7.8	(0.6)	9.6	(0.7)	19.5	(0.8)	40.3	(1.0)	30.6	(1.1)
Israel	18.6	(0.8)	34.7	(1.1)	33.1	(1.1)	13.6	(0.8)	23.2	(0.9)	24.2	(0.9)	30.6	(0.9)	22.0	(1.0)
Italy	10.3	(0.7)	29.2	(0.9)	50.3	(1.0)	10.3	(0.7)	13.5	(0.6)	22.8	(0.9)	40.7	(1.2)	23.0	(0.8)
Japan	24.8	(1.2)	34.5	(1.2)	32.4	(1.2)	8.3	(0.6)	24.2	(1.2)	16.5	(0.8)	31.7	(1.1)	27.5	(1.0)
Korea	24.6	(1.3)	36.5	(1.1)	30.6	(1.1)	8.3	(1.0)	19.6	(1.0)	18.2	(0.9)	33.6	(1.1)	28.5	(1.1)
Latvia*	9.9	(0.7) †	33.0	(1.3) †	47.5	(1.5) †	9.6	(0.7) †	17.0	(0.9) †	29.1	(1.0) †	37.2	(1.0) †	16.7	(1.0) †
Lithuania	11.5	(0.7) †	27.8	(1.0) †	48.1	(1.2) †	12.7	(0.9) †	18.8	(0.8) †	32.8	(1.0) †	34.6	(1.1) †	13.8	(0.8) †
Мехісо	10.1	(0.9) †	35.1	(1.3) †	45.0	(1.4) †	9.8	(0.9) †	9.6	(0.8) †	15.7	(0.8) †	47.1	(1.3) †	27.7	(1.0) †
Netherlands*	12.8	(0.8) †	30.8	(1.2) †	48.0	(1.2) †	8.3	(0.8) †	21.2	(0.9) †	32.4	(1.1) †	31.8	(1.1) †	14.6	(0.9) †
New Zealand*	10.2	(0.8) †	31.7	(1.3) †	48.5	(1.5) †	9.6	(0.8) †	14.4	(1.0) †	23.9	(1.2) †	36.7	(1.1) †	25.0	(1.4) †
Norway	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Poland	12.0	(0.7)	34.7	(1.1)	44.4	(1.1)	8.9	(0.6)	18.3	(0.9)	32.9	(1.1)	32.5	(1.2)	16.3	(0.7)
Portugal	10.7	(0.7) †	40.1	(1.1) †	40.5	(1.2) †	8.7	(0.7) †	10.4	(0.6) †	22.1	(1.0) †	41.5	(1.1) †	26.0	(1.0) †
Slovak Republic	9.6	(0.7) †	28.2	(1.2) †	50.2	(1.3) †	12.1	(0.8) †	12.8	(0.7) †	29.0	(1.1) †	40.1	(1.2) †	18.1	(1.1) †
Slovenia	10.5	(0.8)	30.7	(1.1)	48.2	(1.1)	10.6	(0.7)	14.8	(0.9)	26.4	(1.1)	41.4	(1.2)	17.5	(0.9)
Spain	11.2	(0.5) †	31.8	(0.7) †	45.9	(0.7) †	11.1	(0.4) †	14.8	(0.6) †	24.4	(0.7) †	36.0	(0.6) †	24.9	(0.6) †
Sweden	10.7	(0.8) †	29.0	(1.1) †	46.5	(1.3) †	13.8	(0.9) †	21.0	(1.0) †	29.8	(1.2) †	32.5	(1.1) †	16.8	(0.9) †
Switzerland	12.0	(0.7) ‡	25.9	(1.1) ‡	44.5	(1.1) ‡	17.6	(1.0) ‡	26.4	(1.3) ‡	28.3	(1.3) ‡	30.6	(1.2) ‡	14.6	(1.0) ‡
Türkiye	18.3	(0.8)	37.1	(1.1)	33.0	(1.0)	11.5	(0.7)	17.0	(0.8)	20.4	(0.8)	39.3	(0.9)	23.3	(0.8)
United Kingdont	18.6	(1.0) ‡	39.1	(1.3) ‡	33.9	(1.3) ‡	8.4	(0.7) ‡	15.4	(0.9) ‡	24.2	(1.0) ‡	37.1	(1.1) ‡	23.3	(1.0) ‡
United States*	17.1	(0.8)	36.5	(1.2)	37.8	(1.2)	8.7	(0.8)	15.3	(1.0)	22.9	(0.9)	35.3	(1.1)	26.5	(1.2)
OECD average	13.5	(0.1)	32.0	(0.2)	43.5	(0.2)	11.1	(0.1)	17.8	(0.2)	25.2	(0.2)	36.0	(0.2)	21.0	(0.2)

# Table II.B1.2.24. Experience with learning at home [10/10]

#### Based on students' reports

						Pe	ercentage o when their	f studer school	its who rep building wa	orted as clos	the following ed because of	about f COVIE	the time )-19:							
		l in	nproved my	skills ir	using dig	ital devi	ces for lear	ning pu	rposes		My teachers w	vere we	ll prepare	ed t	o provi	de instru	ucti	on remo	otely	
		Strong	ly disagree	Di	sagree	4	Agree	Stro	ngly agree	Stron	ngly disagree	Di	sagree		A	gree		Stron	gly agre	ee
_		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	
ers	Albania	9.1	(0.9) ‡	16.8	(1.1) ‡	46.4	(1.5) ‡	27.7	(1.2) ‡	8.2	(0.9) ‡	18.5	(1.1)	‡	44.0	(1.5)	‡	29.3	(1.4)	‡
utre	Argentina	7.6	(0.9) ‡	18.4	(1.1) ‡	55.2	(1.5) ‡	18.7	(1.0) ‡	15.1	(0.8) ‡	32.9	(1.3)	‡	42.0	(1.4)	‡	10.0	(1.0)	‡
č	Baku (Azerbaijan)	6.4	(0.8) ‡	19.2	(1.3) ‡	54.0	(1.5) ‡	20.4	(1.2) ‡	8.5	(1.0) ‡	23.3	(1.4)	‡	47.7	(1.8)	ŧ	20.5	(1.3)	‡
	Brazil	12.2	(0.6) †	31.4	(1.0) †	45.7	(1.1) †	10.8	(0.6) †	15.0	(0.7) †	38.4	(0.9)	†	39.4	(0.9)	t	7.2	(0.5)	t
	Brunei Darussalam	5.8	(0.6) †	25.7	(1.1) †	55.4	(1.4) †	13.1	(0.8) †	3.2	(0.4) †	18.2	(0.9)	†	67.6	(1.1)	†	10.9	(0.7)	†
	Bulgaria	10.4	(0.8) †	24.7	(1.1) †	48.8	(1.5) †	16.0	(0.8) †	9.6	(0.7) †	24.8	(1.2)	†	47.7	(1.2)	t	18.0	(0.9)	t
	Cambodia	8.6	(0.6) †	29.2	(0.9) †	54.7	(0.9) †	7.5	(0.6) †	4.5	(0.4) †	15.2	(0.9)	†	66.3	(1.3)	†	14.0	(1.0)	†
	Croatia	11.0	(0.7) †	26.0	(0.8) †	53.2	(1.1) †	9.9	(0.7) †	11.5	(0.9) †	28.7	(1.2)	†	50.9	(1.3)	t	9.0	(0.7)	t
	Cyprus	11.6	(0.8) ‡	27.3	(1.2) ‡	44.4	(1.1) ‡	16.7	(0.9) ‡	16.9	(0.9) ‡	34.1	(1.3)	‡	37.0	(1.3)	‡	12.0	(0.9)	‡
	Dominican Republic	10.0	(1.1) ‡	17.5	(1.4) ‡	47.7	(1.7) ‡	24.8	(1.5) ‡	11.9	(1.4) ‡	22.5	(1.5)	ŧ	45.3	(2.0)	ŧ	20.2	(1.7)	‡
	El Salvador	5.9	(0.7) ‡	15.8	(1.1) ‡	57.2	(1.3) ‡	21.1	(1.0) ‡	7.5	(0.8) †	21.3	(1.3)	†	52.9	(1.4)	†	18.3	(1.1)	†
	Georgia	8.1	(0.9) ‡	25.8	(1.2) ‡	50.7	(1.2) ‡	15.4	(1.0) ‡	8.4	(0.7) ‡	24.0	(1.2)	ŧ	49.7	(1.5)	ŧ	17.8	(1.1)	ŧ
	Guatemala	7.6	(0.6) ‡	12.0	(0.8) ‡	49.0	(1.4) ‡	31.4	(1.3) ‡	9.0	(0.7) ‡	18.6	(1.1)	ŧ	48.7	(1.3)	ŧ	23.8	(1.1)	‡
	Hong Kong (China)*	7.9	(0.7)	23.1	(0.9)	58.2	(1.1)	10.7	(0.7)	7.5	(0.7)	26.5	(1.1)		57.5	(1.1)		8.6	(0.6)	
	Indonesia	4.9	(0.4)	20.4	(0.8)	65.2	(1.0)	9.5	(0.6)	4.7	(0.5)	16.3	(0.9)		66.6	(1.2)		12.5	(0.7)	
	Jamaica*	6.5	(0.8) ‡	19.7	(1.7) ‡	53.4	(2.2) ‡	20.4	(1.4) ‡	8.3	(1.1) ‡	24.3	(1.5)	ŧ	51.9	(1.9)	ŧ	15.4	(1.8)	ŧ
	Jordan	13.5	(0.8) †	24.0	(1.2) †	44.8	(1.4) †	17.7	(1.0) †	14.7	(0.9) †	26.0	(1.1)	†	43.9	(1.3)	t	15.4	(0.9)	t
	Kazakhstan	7.1	(0.5)	18.9	(0.5)	60.3	(0.7)	13.7	(0.5)	7.7	(0.4)	20.2	(0.6)		58.0	(0.7)		14.1	(0.5)	
	Kosovo	10.3	(1.0) †	22.0	(1.2) †	49.7	(1.5) †	18.0	(1.1) †	10.9	(0.9) †	22.6	(1.3)	t	47.9	(1.4)	t	18.6	(1.0)	†
	Macao (China)	8.9	(0.7)	30.0	(1.0)	49.9	(1.1)	11.2	(0.7)	7.4	(0.7)	27.0	(1.1)		56.6	(1.2)		9.1	(0.6)	
	Malaysia	6.2	(0.7) †	20.9	(0.8) †	58.3	(1.2) †	14.6	(0.8) †	6.9	(0.7) †	26.6	(1.0)	t	55.2	(1.1)	t	11.2	(0.6)	t
	Malta	11.4	(0.8) †	25.8	(1.3) †	49.6	(1.4) †	13.2	(1.1) †	15.3	(1.1) †	34.8	(1.4)	t	40.7	(1.5)	t	9.2	(1.0)	t
	Moldova	6.1	(0.6)	24.6	(1.1)	56.7	(1.3)	12.6	(0.7)	6.9	(0.6) †	26.2	(1.1)	†	54.0	(1.1)	†	12.8	(0.7)	†
	Mongolia	10.2	(0.5)	21.0	(0.8)	54.7	(0.9)	14.0	(0.8)	11.9	(0.8)	30.2	(0.9)		46.9	(1.0)		11.1	(0.7)	
	Montenegro	12.4	(0.9) †	27.7	(1.1) †	45.6	(1.4) †	14.3	(0.8) †	12.0	(0.7) †	25.3	(1.1)	t	49.5	(1.2)	t	13.2	(0.8)	†
	Morocco	13.0	(1.0) ‡	27.4	(1.3) ‡	44.7	(1.4) ‡	14.8	(1.2) ‡	14.0	(1.0) ‡	27.1	(1.4)	ŧ	45.1	(1.6)	t	13.8	(1.0)	ŧ
	North Macedonia	7.7	(0.7) †	21.1	(1.1) †	53.1	(1.1) †	18.1	(0.9) †	10.3	(0.8) †	27.2	(1.1)	t	46.8	(1.2)	†	15.7	(0.9)	†
	Palestinian Authority	11.3	(0.7) †	23.1	(1.0) †	49.8	(1.1) †	15.8	(0.8) †	10.7	(0.7) †	23.4	(1.0)	t	49.0	(1.1)	t	16.9	(0.8)	t
	Panama*	7.0	(1.3) ‡	14.7	(2.2) ‡	53.0	(2.8) ‡	25.3	(2.2) ‡	9.8	(1.6) ‡	29.2	(2.7)	ŧ	45.3	(3.0)	ŧ	15.7	(2.1)	ţ,
	Paraguay	7.5	(0.6) †	15.3	(0.8) †	53.1	(1.2) †	24.1	(1.2) †	11.2	(0.8) †	26.0	(1.0)	t	48.2	(1.0)	t	14.7	(0.9)	t
	Peru	4.1	(0.7) ‡	15.1	(1.2) ‡	57.4	(1.6) ‡	23.4	(1.4) ‡	7.7	(0.6) ‡	33.5	(1.5)	ŧ	48.1	(1.6)	‡	10.6	(1.0)	‡
	Philippines	4.4	(0.4) †	16.8	(1.0) †	65.1	(1.1) †	13.7	(0.9) †	3.9	(0.4) †	13.0	(0.9)	t	70.8	(0.9)	t	12.3	(0.8)	t
	Qatar	9.0	(0.8) †	20.8	(1.2) †	49.8	(1.4) †	20.3	(1.1) †	9.3	(0.9) †	19.4	(1.1)	t	54.7	(1.3)	t	16.6	(1.0)	†
	Romania	8.4	(0.6) †	21.7	(1.0) †	54.4	(1.1) †	15.5	(0.8) †	13.1	(0.8) †	29.2	(0.9)	t	45.8	(1.2)	t	11.9	(0.8)	t
	SaudiArabia	9.5	(0.7) †	17.9	(1.0) †	49.1	(1.3) †	23.5	(1.1) †	8.9	(0.7) †	18.2	(1.2)	t	48.5	(1.1)	t	24.4	(1.1)	t
	Serbia	13.2	(0.8) †	27.0	(0.9) †	48.5	(1.1) †	11.3	(0.8) †	13.4	(0.9) †	31.2	(1.1)	t	44.7	(1.2)	t	10.7	(0.7)	t
	Singapore	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m	m		m	m	Ċ
	Chinese Taipei	8.8	(0.7)	28.2	(1.1)	50.2	(1.4)	12.8	(0.9)	8.5	(0.8)	23.9	(1.2)		55.1	(1.4)		12.5	(1.0)	
	Thailand	7.0	(0.6)	21.3	(0.9)	60.5	(1.1)	11.1	(0.7)	6.0	(0.5)	23.3	(0.9)		58.8	(1.1)		11.9	(0.9)	
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	7.6	(1.0) †	23.2	(1.5) †	57.2	(1.9) †	11.9	(1.0) †	6.8	(0.9) †	24.8	(2.0)	+	53.8	(2.2)	t	14.6	(1.5)	t
	UnitedArab Emirates	7.4	(0.6) †	17.4	(0.6) †	52.0	(0.7) †	23.2	(0.6) †	7.6	(0.4) †	19.1	(0.5)	+	53.1	(0.6)	†	20.3	(0.5)	†
	Uruguay	10.1	(0.8) ‡	24.0	(1.5) ‡	52.7	(1.5) ‡	13.2	(0.9) ‡	14.6	(1.0) ‡	34.4	(1.4)	ŧ	42.4	(1.6)	‡	8.5	(0.8)	‡
	Uzbekistan	9.8	(0.9) ±	24.6	(1.4) ±	44.1	(1.6) ‡	21.5	(1.3) ‡	10.8	(1.0) ‡	21.9	(1.2)	ŧ	43.5	(1.4)	ŧ	23.8	(1.3)	‡
	Viet Nam	3.6	(0.3)	14.3	(0.6)	66.8	(0.8)	15.3	(0.6)	2.6	(0.2)	8.7	(0.6)		67.4	(0.8)		21.3	(0.7)	

### Table II.B1.2.30. Problems with remote learning [1/8]

Based on students' reports

				Percer	ntage o	ofstuden the	its who y had t	reporte he follov	d that, ving pr	when th oblems	eir sch when c	ool build ompletin	ling wa Ig their	is closed rschoolv	becau vork:	se of CO	VID-19	1,
	Index of with remo	problems te learning		Prob	lems v v	vith acces when they	sstoa / neede	digital de ed it	evice				Proble	ems with	Intern	et access		
	Averag e	Variability	Ne	ver	A fev	v times	Abo or a v	ut once twice veek	Eve ora eve	ery day almost ry day	N	ever	A fev	v times	Abo or a v	ut once twice week	Eve or a eve	ry day almost ry day
	Mean index S.E.	S.D. S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
吕 Australia*	0.19 (0.01)	0.95 (0.01)	41.7	(0.9)	39.9	(0.7)	14.1	(0.5)	4.3	(0.3)	29.6	(0.7)	47.7	(0.8)	16.8	(0.5)	5.9	(0.4)
Ö Austria	0.02 (0.02) †	0.97 (0.01) †	52.7	(1.3) †	33.6	(1.1) †	9.9	(0.7) †	3.8	(0.5) †	30.0	(1.0) †	47.2	(1.1) †	17.1	(0.8) †	5.7	(0.5) †
Belgium	-0.11 (0.02) †	1.00 (0.01) †	49.6	(1.1) †	34.2	(0.9) †	11.8	(0.6) †	4.4	(0.4) †	41.3	(1.1) †	42.0	(1.0) †	13.0	(0.7) †	3.7	(0.4) †
Canada*	0.09 (0.01) †	1.00 (0.01) †	52.6	(0.7) †	32.4	(0.6) †	11.2	(0.5) †	3.8	(0.3) †	35.2	(0.7) †	43.0	(0.7) †	16.3	(0.6) †	5.5	(0.3) †
Chile	0.32 (0.02) †	0.97 (0.02) †	31.1	(1.0) †	41.8	(1.2) †	21.9	(1.1) †	5.1	(0.5) †	18.2	(1.2) †	45.9	(1.3) †	27.0	(1.1) †	8.8	(0.7) †
Colombia	0.25 (0.02) †	1.01 (0.02) †	30.4	(1.1) †	46.7	(1.2) †	13.9	(0.9) †	9.0	(0.7) †	16.5	(0.9) †	51.2	(1.1) †	18.3	(1.0) †	14.0	(0.9) †
Costa Rica	0.19 (0.02)	0.95 (0.02)	33.2	(1.1)	44.2	(1.1)	15.4	(0.8)	7.3	(0.6)	20.0	(0.8)	45.5	(1.0)	21.5	(0.8)	13.0	(0.6)
Czech Republic	0.06 (0.01)	0.95 (0.01)	50.9	(1.1) †	31.6	(0.8) †	13.5	(0.7) †	3.9	(0.4) †	25.8	(0.9) †	50.5	(1.0) †	18.2	(0.8) †	5.5	(0.4) †
Denmark*	m m	m m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Estonia	-0.04 (0.02)	0.88 (0.01)	39.5	(1.0)	45.6	(1.1)	12.3	(0.6)	2.6	(0.3)	30.0	(0.9)	52.8	(1.1)	14.1	(0.6)	3.1	(0.3)
Finland	-0.20 (0.02) †	1.04 (0.01) †	57.0	(1.0) †	29.7	(0.8) †	10.3	(0.7) †	3.0	(0.3) †	34.0	(1.0) †	45.7	(0.9) †	16.0	(0.9) †	4.4	(0.4) †
France	-0.24 (0.02) †	0.98 (0.01) †	67.5	(1.1) †	21.2	(0.9) †	7.6	(0.6) †	3.7	(0.4) †	52.5	(1.1) †	34.6	(1.0) †	8.9	(0.7) †	4.0	(0.4) †
Germany	-0.01 (0.02) †	0.89 (0.01) †	51.6	(1.2) ‡	34.6	(1.1) ‡	10.3	(0.8) ‡	3.5	(0.4) ‡	32.9	(0.9) ‡	46.6	(0.8) ‡	15.3	(0.8) ‡	5.2	(0.5) ‡
Greece	0.24 (0.02)	0.95 (0.01)	26.0	(1.0)	45.1	(0.8)	21.5	(0.9)	7.4	(0.6)	20.4	(0.8)	44.5	(1.1)	25.2	(0.9)	9.9	(0.6)
Hungary	-0.27 (0.02) †	1.06 (0.01) †	74.2	(1.2) †	14.5	(0.9) †	7.1	(0.5) †	4.3	(0.5) †	34.8	(1.0) †	48.0	(1.2) †	12.6	(0.7) †	4.6	(0.5) †
lceland	-0.36 (0.03) †	1.19 (0.02) †	54.4	(1.5) †	32.8	(1.3) †	8.6	(1.0) †	4.2	(0.6) †	55.4	(1.6) †	33.3	(1.5) †	8.1	(0.8) †	3.2	(0.5) †
Ireland*	0.12 (0.01)	0.90 (0.01)	46.0	(1.1)	38.6	(0.9)	11.9	(0.5)	3.5	(0.3)	26.2	(0.9)	51.9	(0.9)	16.4	(0.6)	5.6	(0.5)
Israel	0.23 (0.02)	0.93 (0.01)	40.4	(1.2)	39.5	(1.1)	13.2	(0.7)	7.0	(0.5)	12.5	(0.7)	47.2	(1.2)	25.8	(0.9)	14.5	(0.8)
Italy	0.23 (0.02)	0.84 (0.01)	19.6	(0.6)	53.8	(1.2)	20.7	(0.9)	5.9	(0.4)	14.5	(0.7)	54.4	(0.9)	24.1	(0.7)	7.0	(0.5)
Japan	-0.65 (0.02)	1.01 (0.01)	80.7	(0.9)	13.6	(0.7)	3.3	(0.4)	2.4	(0.4)	70.1	(1.3)	21.3	(1.0)	5.7	(0.6)	2.8	(0.4)
Korea	-0.44 (0.02)	1.18 (0.01)	55.2	(1.4)	16.9	(0.8)	16.7	(0.9)	11.2	(0.8)	46.7	(1.2)	27.2	(1.3)	19.4	(1.2)	6.6	(0.8)
Latvia*	0.17 (0.02) †	0.90 (0.01) †	37.0	(1.1) †	43.0	(1.1) †	16.4	(0.8) †	3.7	(0.5) †	28.7	(1.0) †	50.1	(0.9) †	16.7	(0.8) †	4.4	(0.5) †
Lithuania	-0.12 (0.02)	1.03 (0.01)	65.1	(1.1) †	21.7	(0.8) †	10.1	(0.7) †	3.0	(0.3) †	31.9	(1.1) †	48.5	(1.1) †	15.8	(0.8) †	3.8	(0.4) †
Mexico	0.26 (0.02) †	0.96 (0.01) †	27.6	(1.1) †	49.3	(1.1) †	16.9	(1.0) †	6.3	(0.5) †	18.6	(1.2) †	48.8	(1.3) †	21.9	(1.1) †	10.7	(0.9) †
Netherlands*	-0.02 (0.02)	0.93 (0.01)	35.0	(1.1)	44.8	(1.0)	15.7	(0.8)	4.5	(0.4)	31.6	(1.0)	46.7	(1.2)	17.1	(1.0)	4.5	(0.4)
New Zealand*	0.03 (0.02) †	0.91 (0.01) †	60.4	(1.3) †	28.7	(1.1) †	8.1	(0.7) †	2.8	(0.4) †	47.9	(1.2) †	38.7	(1.1) †	10.3	(0.7) †	3.1	(0.4) †
Norway	m m	m m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Poland	-0.02 (0.02)	0.97 (0.01)	54.0	(0.9)	32.6	(0.8)	10.2	(0.6)	3.2	(0.3)	23.7	(1.0)	55.7	(1.1)	16.3	(0.8)	4.3	(0.4)
Portugal	-0.19 (0.02)	1.01 (0.01)	41.6	(1.0)	41.3	(1.0)	13.2	(0.7)	3.8	(0.4)	36.1	(0.9)	45.9	(0.8)	13.2	(0.6)	4.9	(0.4)
Slovak Republic	0.07 (0.03) †	1.05 (0.01) †	44.4	(1.2) †	36.3	(1.1) †	13.4	(0.8) †	5.9	(0.5) †	30.4	(1.1) †	46.4	(1.1) †	17.4	(1.0) †	5.8	(0.5) †
Slovenia	-0.06 (0.02)	0.96 (0.01)	45.3	(1.2)	40.7	(1.1)	11.8	(0.7)	2.2	(0.3)	29.8	(1.0)	51.1	(1.1)	15.7	(0.8)	3.5	(0.4)
Spain	-0.05 (0.01)	0.95 (0.01)	42.6	(0.7)	41.9	(0.7)	11.4	(0.4)	4.1	(0.2)	40.2	(0.8)	43.3	(0.6)	12.5	(0.4)	4.0	(0.3)
Sweden	-0.08 (0.02) †	0.95 (0.01) †	53.0	(1.0) †	34.5	(1.0) †	9.0	(0.6) †	3.5	(0.4) †	42.0	(1.3) †	43.6	(1.2) †	11.3	(0.7) †	3.1	(0.4) †
Switzerland	-0.19 (0.02) †	0.98 (0.01) †	53.6	(1.3) ‡	33.0	(1.1) ‡	10.0	(0.8) ‡	3.4	(0.4) ‡	53.6	(1.5) ‡	33.6	(1.2) ‡	9.3	(0.7) ‡	3.5	(0.5) ‡
Türkiye	0.18 (0.02)	1.09 (0.01)	39.2	(1.1)	36.1	(0.9)	14.4	(0.7)	10.3	(0.6)	26.1	(0.8)	43.6	(0.9)	18.9	(0.7)	11.5	(0.8)
United Kingdom*	0.08 (0.02) †	0.94 (0.02) †	48.3	(1.3) †	37.2	(1.0) †	10.8	(0.6) †	3.7	(0.4) †	35.2	(1.2) †	47.4	(1.1) †	13.4	(0.7) †	4.0	(0.4) †
United States*	0.11 (0.02)	0.97 (0.02)	48.9	(1.3)	37.3	(1.0)	9.2	(0.7)	4.6	(0.6)	35.1	(1.4)	45.4	(1.2)	14.7	(0.9)	4.8	(0.6)
OECD average	-0.01 (0.00)	0.98 (0.00)	47.1	(0.2)	35.7	(0.2)	12.5	(0.1)	4.7	(0.1)	33.1	(0.2)	44.8	(0.2)	16.1	(0.1)	6.0	(0.1)

# Table II.B1.2.30. Problems with remote learning [2/8]

#### Based on students' reports

				P	ercei	ntage o	of studen the	tswho yhad t	reporte he follow	d that, /ing pi	, when th roblems \	eir sch when c	ool build ompletin	ing wa g theii	is closed r schoolv	becau vork:	se of CO	VID-19	,
		Index of with remo	problems te learning		Prob	lems w w	vith acces then they	sstoa neede	digital de ed it	evice				Proble	ms with	Intern	et access		
		Averag e	Variability	Never		A fev	v times	Abo or av	ut once twice veek	Eve or a eve	ery day almost ry day	N	ever	A fev	v times	Abo or a v	ut once twice week	Eve or a eve	ry day Imost ry day
		Mean index S.E.	S.D. S.E.	% S.E		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
SIS	Albania	0.48 (0.03) ‡	1.14 (0.02) ‡	28.5 (1.	3) ‡	37.7	(1.3) ‡	20.1	(1.1) ‡	13.8	(1.1) ‡	24.7	(1.4) ‡	41.5	(1.4) ‡	21.0	(1.2) ‡	12.8	(0.9) ‡
ut u	Argentina	0.25 (0.02) ‡	1.04 (0.02) ‡	33.8 (1.	2) ‡	42.9	(1.2) ‡	14.8	(0.8) ‡	8.5	(0.6) ‡	23.4	(0.9) ‡	45.6	(1.1) ‡	19.9	(1.0) ‡	11.1	(0.8) ‡
ä	Baku (Azerbaijan)	0.58 (0.02) ‡	1.10 (0.02) ‡	20.9 (1.	1) ‡	37.7	(1.6) ‡	27.7	(1.6) ‡	13.6	(1.1) ‡	17.3	(1.0) ‡	39.8	(1.2) ‡	28.2	(1.2) ‡	14.7	(0.9) ‡
	Brazil	0.21 (0.02) †	1.03 (0.01) †	32.9 (0.	9) †	46.4	(1.0) †	13.6	(0.7) †	7.0	(0.4) †	27.8	(0.8) †	50.7	(1.0) †	14.0	(0.6) †	7.5	(0.5) †
	Brunei Darussalam	0.49 (0.01) †	0.82 (0.02) †	31.6 (1.	1) †	45.0	(1.0) †	16.2	(0.7) †	7.2	(0.5) †	17.3	(0.8) †	51.1	(1.1) †	20.6	(0.8) †	11.0	(0.7) †
	Bulgaria	0.32 (0.02) †	1.08 (0.01) †	31.8 (1.	D) †	37.3	(1.1) †	21.3	(1.0) †	9.6	(0.7) †	17.9	(0.9) †	46.3	(1.2) †	26.7	(1.0) †	9.1	(0.7) †
	Cambodia	0.47 (0.02) †	0.89 (0.02) †	30.1 (1.	2) †	42.9	(0.9) †	15.8	(0.9) †	11.2	(0.8) †	11.5	(0.6) †	43.8	(1.0) †	22.5	(0.9) †	22.2	(1.0) †
	Croatia	-0.03 (0.02)	1.07 (0.01)	52.5 (1.	1)	28.7	(1.0)	14.5	(0.8)	4.3	(0.4)	29.5	(0.9) †	46.7	(0.9) †	18.7	(0.8) †	5.1	(0.5) †
	Cyprus	0.33 (0.02) ‡	1.07 (0.02) ‡	29.7 (1.	D) ‡	40.1	(1.2) ‡	20.7	(0.9) ‡	9.4	(0.6) ‡	20.7	(1.0) ‡	45.9	(1.2) ‡	25.3	(1.0) ‡	8.1	(0.6) ‡
	Dominican Republic	0.46 (0.03) ‡	1.03 (0.02) ‡	30.1 (1.	4)‡	39.0	(1.7) ‡	19.4	(1.4) ‡	11.4	(1.1) ‡	21.2	(1.6) ‡	43.0	(1.8) ‡	19.6	(1.5) ‡	16.2	(1.2) ‡
	El Salvador	0.39 (0.02) †	0.97 (0.02) †	23.7 (1.	1) †	54.5	(1.1) †	13.2	(0.9) †	8.6	(0.6) †	20.4	(1.2) †	49.2	(1.3) †	16.2	(1.0) †	14.2	(0.8) †
	Georgia	0.18 (0.03) †	1.13 (0.02) †	30.3 (1.	1) †	41.6	(1.3) †	17.5	(0.9) †	10.5	(0.7) †	28.3	(1.1) †	44.7	(1.3) †	18.1	(0.9) †	8.9	(0.7) †
	Guatemala	0.10 (0.02) ‡	1.03 (0.02) ‡	33.0 (1.	1) ‡	48.3	(1.1) ‡	11.2	(0.7) ‡	7.5	(0.7) ‡	24.6	(1.0) ‡	46.4	(1.3) ‡	17.8	(1.0) ‡	11.3	(0.8) ‡
	Hong Kong (China)*	-0.09 (0.02)	1.07 (0.01)	62.8 (1.	1)	22.6	(0.9)	10.7	(0.7)	3.8	(0.4)	46.8	(1.2)	35.2	(1.2)	13.9	(0.8)	4.2	(0.4)
	Indonesia	0.43 (0.01)	0.89 (0.01)	22.8 (0.	7)	57.3	(1.0)	12.3	(0.6)	7.7	(0.5)	16.7	(0.7)	59.4	(0.8)	14.6	(0.6)	9.3	(0.5)
	Jamaica*	0.50 (0.02) ‡	0.85 (0.02) ‡	27.0 (1.	7) ‡	45.4	(2.0) ‡	16.9	(1.5) ‡	10.6	(1.0) ‡	10.8	(1.2) ‡	52.2	(1.7) ‡	21.8	(1.4) ‡	15.2	(1.4) ‡
	Jordan	0.49 (0.03) †	1.10 (0.02) †	35.1 (1.	1) †	34.5	(1.1) †	18.2	(0.8) †	12.2	(0.8) †	23.8	(1.0) †	41.9	(1.1) †	20.8	(0.8) †	13.5	(0.9) †
	Kazakhstan	-0.29 (0.02)	1.19 (0.01)	56.1 (1.	D)	25.8	(0.8)	13.6	(0.6)	4.5	(0.3)	41.0	(0.9)	37.0	(0.7)	16.6	(0.6)	5.4	(0.3)
	Kosovo	0.34 (0.02) †	1.03 (0.02) †	31.1 (1.	2) †	44.1	(1.2) †	15.7	(0.9) †	9.1	(0.7) †	25.6	(1.1) †	46.4	(1.3) †	19.1	(1.1) †	8.9	(0.7) †
	Macao (China)	-0.25 (0.01)	1.02 (0.01)	73.3 (0.	3)	15.6	(0.8)	8.5	(0.5)	2.6	(0.3)	70.1	(1.0)	18.7	(0.8)	9.1	(0.6)	2.0	(0.3)
	Malaysia	0.19 (0.02)	0.96 (0.01)	44.1 (1.	2)	39.0	(1.0)	12.0	(0.6)	4.9	(0.5)	19.6	(0.9)	51.9	(1.0)	19.7	(1.0)	8.8	(0.6)
	Malta	0.22 (0.02)	1.00 (0.02)	38.5 (1.	4) †	39.7	(1.3) †	15.0	(1.1) †	6.8	(0.7) †	23.5	(1.1) †	51.1	(1.4) †	18.1	(1.1) †	7.3	(0.6) †
	Moldova	0.16 (0.02)	0.97 (0.01)	31.3 (1.	J)	46.0	(1.0)	16.5	(0.8)	6.1	(0.6)	22.5	(1.0)	53.0	(1.0)	18.6	(0.9)	5.9	(0.5)
	Mongolia	0.60 (0.02)	1.02 (0.01)	24.8 (1.	J)	34.1	(0.9)	23.2	(0.9)	17.9	(0.8)	25.1	(1.0)	38.8	(0.9)	21.3	(0.8)	14.8	(0.9)
	montenegro	0.19 (0.02) T	1.16 (0.01) T	38.8 (1.	2) T	34.4	(1.1) †	18.0	(0.0) T	8.8	(0.6) T	31.1	(1.1) T	42.2	(0.9) T	19.3	(1.2) †	1.3	(0.6) T
	Morocco	0.32 (0.02) ‡	1.06 (0.01) ‡	38.2 (1.	2) ‡	37.5	(1.2) ‡	14.6	(0.9) ‡	9.7	(0.7) ‡	29.5	(1.4) ‡	40.1	(1.3) ‡	18.4	(0.9) ‡	12.1	(0.9) ‡
	North Macedonia Palastinian Authority	0.37 (0.02)	1.00(0.01)	34.1 (U. 34.4 (1	9)   1) +	30.2	(1.1)   (1.1) +	19.4	(0.0)	0.5	(0.6) +	22.9	(0.0) +	44.5	(0.9)	22.9	(0.9)	9.7	(0.0)
	Panamat	0.33(0.02)	1.02 (0.01)	20.1 (2)	י (י ר (י	46.2	(1.1)   (2.4) +	14.1	(0.0)   (1.7) +	10.4	(0.0)	17 5	(0.9) +	42.4 51.5	(1.0)   (2.2) +	22.1	(0.0) +	10.1	(0.7)   (1.2) +
	Paraquay	0.04(0.04) +	1.00(0.03) +	23.1 (2.	) + ) +	40.3	(2.4) + $(1.0)$ +	14.1	(1.7) + (0.0) +	5.0	(1.2) + $(0.5)$ +	25.4	(2.0) + $(1.0)$ +	16.8	(2.2) + (1.0) +	10.1	(2.0) +	8.8	(1.2) +
	Poru	0.53 (0.02) +	0.85 (0.02) +	24.4 (1	5)   1) +	40.2	(1.0) +	19.3	(0.3) (1.0) +	7.5	(0.3) +	10.6	(0.8) +	47.0	(1.0) +	27.6	(0.0)   (1.2) +	14.8	(0.0) +
	Philippines	0.00(0.02) +	0.03(0.01) + 0.79(0.01) +	24.4 (1.	+ (י 2) +	54.2	(1.2) + (1.0) +	17.0	(1.0) + (0.8) +	81	(0.7) +	13.7	(0.0) + (0.8) +	53.6	(1.4) + (1.0) +	20.6	(1.2) + (0.9) +	12.1	(1.0) +
	Qatar	0.31 (0.02) +	1.04 (0.02) +	35.6 (1	2) +	37.8	(1.0) +	19.1	(0.0) +	7.5	(0.0) +	27.4	(11) +	45.2	(1.0) +	19.9	(0.0) (10) +	7.6	(0.7) +
	Romania	0.05 (0.02) +	1.01 (0.02)	32.0 (0.	-/ I R) +	43.7	(0.9) +	16.8	(0.8) +	7.5	(0.5) +	23.8	(10) +	50.4	(11) +	18.8	(0.8) +	7.0	(0.6) +
	Saudi Arabia	0.00 (0.02) +	1.10(0.01) +	43.9 (1	2) +	33.7	(0.0) +	15.4	(0.8) +	6.9	(0.5) +	28.9	(1.0) +	43.1	(1.1) (1.2) +	20.5	(0.0) +	7.6	(0.0) +
	Serbia	0.07 (0.02) †	1.11 (0.01) †	47.6 (1.	1) +	32.4	(1.0) †	14.2	(0.8) †	5.8	(0.5) †	33.3	(1.0) †	42.8	(1.0) †	17.0	(1.0) †	7.0	(0.6) †
	Singapore	m m	m m	m	n .	m	(, r	m	(••••)   m	m	m	m	(, r	m	(, r	m	() i	m	m
	Chinese Taipei	-0.56 (0.02)	1.06 (0.01)	81.4 (0.	 9)	9.9	(0.8)	6.0	(0.4)	2.6	(0.4)	71.4	(1.2)	17.3	(1.0)	8.7	(0.7)	2.6	(0.4)
	Thailand	0.29 (0.02)	1.06 (0.01)	29.1 (1.	)	45.9	(1.0)	17.2	(0.8)	7.8	(0.5)	26.2	(1.1)	48.1	(0.9)	17.4	(0.8)	8.3	(0.6)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	0.19 (0.03) †	1.04 (0.02) †	33.1 (1.	5) †	42.4	(1.5) †	16.7	(1.0) †	7.8	(0.6) †	17.4	(1.3) †	56.0	(2.1) †	20.5	(1.5) †	6.1	(0.7) †
	United Arab Emirates	0.29 (0.01)	1.08 (0.01)	35.2 (0.	5) †	38.2	(0.5) †	17.7	(0.4) †	8.9	(0.4) †	22.2	(0.4) †	47.4	(0.6) †	21.7	(0.5) †	8.7	(0.3) †
	Uruguay	0.20 (0.02) ‡	1.04 (0.02) ‡	35.9 (1.	3) ‡	41.8	(1.2) ‡	14.5	(0.9) ‡	7.8	(0.7) ‡	31.1	(1.3) ‡	42.9	(1.4) ‡	16.7	(1.0) ‡	9.2	(0.8) ‡
	Uzbekistan	0.34 (0.04) ±	1.31 (0.02) ±	34.5 (1.	5) ±	31.3	(1.2) ±	17.2	(1.2) ±	17.0	(1.1) ±	33.0	(1.3) ±	31.9	(1.4) ±	20.0	(1.3) ±	15.1	(1.1) ‡
	Viet Nam	0.40 (0.02)	1.03 (0.02)	17.3 (0.	7)	55.5	(0.8)	18.2	(0.6)	9.0	(0.5)	12.6	(0.5)	53.4	(0.8)	19.9	(0.6)	14.1	(0.5)

# Table II.B1.2.30. Problems with remote learning [3/8]

Based on students' reports

			Pe	rcentage of	fstuden they	ts who rep / had the fo	orted th Ilowing	at, when t problems	thei s wh	ir school buil hen completi	ding ng tl	was clo neir sch	osed becaus oolwork:	se of CO	VID-19,			
		Р	roblems	with acces	ss to sch	ool supplie	es				Pro	blems v	with finding	a quiet	place to st	udy		
	1	Vever	A fe	w times	Abc or twi	out once ce a week	Ev or eve	ery day almost ery day		Never		A fe	w times	Abo or twi	ut once ce a week	Eve or a eve	ery day almost ery day	
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		% S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	
G Australia*	61.2	(0.7)	26.3	(0.6)	9.2	(0.5)	3.2	(0.2)		44.4 (0.8)		31.3	(0.7)	15.1	(0.6)	9.2	(0.4)	
Ö Austria	55.8	(1.3) †	30.4	(1.1) †	11.2	(0.7) †	2.7	(0.4) †	t   1	54.5 (1.2)	†	28.2	(1.0) †	12.2	(0.7) †	5.1	(0.5)	†
Belgium	67.5	(1.2) †	21.1	(0.9) †	9.0	(0.7) †	2.4	(0.3) †		60.5 (1.2)	†	24.5	(0.9) †	10.0	(0.7) †	5.0	(0.5)	†
Canada*	66.6	(0.7) †	22.4	(0.5) †	7.8	(0.4) †	3.1	(0.2) †	t	47.3 (0.7)	†	31.0	(0.7) †	13.9	(0.4) †	7.8	(0.4)	†
Chile	54.6	(1.4) †	27.5	(1.3) †	14.4	(0.9) †	3.5	(0.4) †	t   ;	35.6 (1.3)	†	37.2	(1.1) †	18.4	(1.0) †	8.8	(0.7)	†
Colombia	46.7	(1.5) †	35.0	(1.1) †	11.7	(0.7) †	6.6	(0.5) †	t i	35.0 (1.0)	†	41.5	(1.0) †	13.2	(0.8) †	10.3	(0.9)	†
Costa Rica	65.7	(1.3)	24.7	(1.0)	6.2	(0.6)	3.3	(0.4)		39.1 (1.1)		37.0	(0.9)	13.7	(0.7)	10.2	(0.6)	
Czech Republic	61.6	(0.9) †	24.3	(0.8) †	10.9	(0.6) †	3.2	(0.3) †	t i	50.1 (0.9)	†	30.5	(0.8) †	12.8	(0.7) †	6.7	(0.5)	†
Denmark*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m m		m	m	m	m	m	m	
Estonia	74.5	(1.0)	17.3	(0.9)	6.7	(0.4)	1.5	(0.3)	1	55.3 (1.0)		29.0	(0.9)	11.1	(0.6)	4.6	(0.4)	
Finland	71.1	(0.8) †	18.7	(0.7) †	8.1	(0.5) †	2.2	(0.3) †	t	57.4 (1.1)	†	27.5	(0.9) †	11.3	(0.6) †	3.7	(0.3)	†
France	81.7	(1.0) †	10.8	(0.7) †	5.4	(0.5) †	2.1	(0.3) †	t	61.4 (1.0)	†	24.3	(0.9) †	8.8	(0.6) †	5.5	(0.4)	†
Germany	60.2	(1.1) ‡	28.8	(1.0) ‡	9.0	(0.5) ‡	2.0	(0.3) ‡	:	66.5 (1.0)	‡	21.1	(0.8) ‡	8.0	(0.6) ‡	4.4	(0.6)	‡
Greece	55.7	(1.3)	26.9	(0.9)	12.3	(0.8)	5.1	(0.5)	1	38.6 (1.1)		33.8	(0.9)	19.1	(0.8)	8.4	(0.6)	
Hungary	76.1	(1.2) †	13.0	(0.7) †	8.4	(0.7) †	2.6	(0.4) †		60.0 (1.0)	†	23.3	(0.8) †	11.2	(0.7) †	5.5	(0.5)	†
lceland	60.4	(1.5) †	27.7	(1.4) †	8.6	(0.9) †	3.3	(0.6) †	t i	57.2 (1.5)	†	27.5	(1.2) †	9.4	(0.9) †	5.9	(0.7)	†
Ireland*	69.3	(0.8)	23.1	(0.7)	5.5	(0.4)	2.1	(0.3)	1	48.6 (1.1)		30.1	(0.9)	12.4	(0.6)	8.8	(0.6)	
Israel	67.6	(1.0)	21.3	(0.9)	7.9	(0.6)	3.2	(0.4)	;	38.4 (1.3)		35.9	(1.1)	14.1	(0.7)	11.6	(0.6)	
Italy	53.7	(1.1)	31.3	(0.8)	11.9	(0.6)	3.1	(0.3)		46.0 (0.9)		32.9	(0.8)	13.6	(0.6)	7.6	(0.5)	
Japan	90.9	(0.7)	6.7	(0.6)	1.7	(0.3)	0.8	(0.2)		71.6 (0.9)		16.9	(0.8)	5.8	(0.5)	5.6	(0.5)	
Korea	75.1	(1.3)	10.6	(1.0)	9.1	(1.0)	5.3	(0.4)		69.4 (1.0)		14.0	(0.9)	10.9	(0.6)	5.7	(0.5)	
Latvia*	62.1	(1.2) †	24.8	(0.9) †	10.8	(0.8) †	2.3	(0.3) †	t i	49.8 (1.1)	†	30.3	(1.0) †	13.3	(0.7) †	6.6	(0.6)	†
Lithuania	67.8	(1.1) †	20.2	(0.8) †	9.9	(0.6) †	2.1	(0.3) †		55.1 (1.2)	†	26.3	(1.1) †	13.0	(0.7) †	5.6	(0.5)	†
Mexico	47.8	(1.2) †	35.6	(1.2) †	12.7	(0.8) †	3.9	(0.4) †	t i	35.6 (1.2)	†	40.4	(1.2) †	15.6	(0.9) †	8.5	(0.6)	†
Netherlands*	63.2	(1.4)	24.7	(1.0)	9.5	(0.9)	2.6	(0.3)		54.5 (1.2)		28.1	(0.8)	11.9	(0.8)	5.5	(0.4)	
New Zealand*	69.6	(1.1) †	22.5	(1.0) †	6.0	(0.6) †	1.9	(0.4) †	t i	50.2 (1.1)	†	31.0	(1.0) †	11.5	(0.7) †	7.2	(0.5)	†
Norway	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m m		m	m	m	m	m	m	
Poland	67.9	(1.0)	20.8	(0.7)	8.5	(0.6)	2.8	(0.3)	1	59.1 (1.0)		24.9	(0.9)	11.2	(0.8)	4.8	(0.4)	
Portugal	/5.8	(0.9)	15.7	(0.7)	6.0	(0.6)	2.5	(0.3)		61./ (1.0)		25.5	(0.8)	9.1	(0.6)	3.7	(0.4)	
Slovak Republic	58.9	(1.4) †	23.7	(1.0) †	13.0	(0.9) †	4.5	(0.5) †		47.4 (1.5)	Ť	30.5	(1.1) †	16.4	(0.9) †	5.8	(0.5)	Ť
Slovenia	67.3	(1.0)	21.2	(0.9)	9.5	(0.6)	2.0	(0.2)		53.4 (1.0)		30.2	(1.0)	12.0	(0.7)	4.4	(0.4)	
Spain	64.4	(0.6)	25.1	(0.6)	8.1	(0.4)	2.4	(0.2)	1	56.9 (0.7)	Ť	27.1	(0.6) †	10.5	(0.4) †	5.4	(0.3)	Ť
Sweden	49.5	(0.9) †	37.7	(0.9) †	10.2	(0.7) †	2.7	(0.4) †		59.1 (1.0)	1	27.1	(0.8) †	10.0	(0.6) †	3.7	(0.5)	1
Switzerland	60.5	(1.3) ‡	26.9	(1.2) ‡	9.8	(0.6) ‡	2.8	(0.4) ‡	F	58.4 (1.3)	ŧ	26.5	(1.0) ‡	10.7	(0.8) ‡	4.4	(0.5)	ŧ
i urkiye	58.1	(1.2)	24.4	(0.9)	11.5	(0.6)	6.0	(0.5)		37.9 (1.0)		33.6	(0.8)	17.2	(0.7)	11.4	(0.6)	
United Kingdon	65.5	(1.2) †	24.8	(1.1) †	1.2	(0.5) †	2.5	(0.3) †	r i	49.4 (1.2)	Ť	28.3	(1.0) †	12.9	(0.7)	9.4	(0.7)	Ť
United States*	68.6	(1.3)	20.9	(1.2)	1.5	(0.0)	3.0	(0.5)	1	46.2 (1.0)		31.1	(1.0)	12.5	(0.7)	8.2	(0.7)	
OECD average	64.7	(0.2)	23.3	(0.2)	9.0	(0.1)	3.0	(0.1)		51.8 (0.2)		29.1	(0.2)	12.4	(0.1)	6.7	(0.1)	

# Table II.B1.2.30. Problems with remote learning [4/8]

Based on students' reports

					Per	centage of	studen the	ts who repo / had the fo	orted the	at, when th problems	neirs whei	school build en completin	ing g tł	was clo neir scho	sed bec oolwork	aus :	e of CO	VID-19,			
				Pro	oblems	with acces	ss to sch	ool supplie	es				Pro	blems v	/ith find	ing	a quiet	place to st	udy		
		N	lever		A fe	w times	Abo or twi	out once ce a week	Eve or eve	ery day almost ry day		Never		A fe	w times	_	Abo or twic	ut once ce a week	Eve or a eve	ery day almost ry day	
	A 11 - 1	%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	00	% S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	\$.E.	
ners	Albania	31.2	(1.4)	F	32.0	(1.2) ‡	21.2	(1.0) ‡	15.1	(1.1) ‡	30	J.Z (1.5)	Ŧ	34.3	(1.4)	Ŧ	22.0	(1.0) ‡	13.5	(1.1)	Ŧ
Part	Argentina	56.4	(1.3)	F	27.9	(1.0) ‡	10.5	(0.7) ‡	5.3	(0.4) ‡	3/	7.0 (1.5)	Ŧ	35.2	(1.2)	Ŧ	16.1	(1.2) ‡	11.6	(0.8)	Ŧ
	Baku (Azerbaijan)	30.2	(2.0)	F	20.1	(1.2) ‡	24.8	(1.5) ‡	12.8	(1.0) ‡	21	(.Z (1.4)	Ŧ	31.4	(1.4)	Ŧ	20.0	(1.5) ‡	14.8	(1.1)	Ŧ
	Brazii	54.1	(0.9)		30.4	(0.7)	10.4	(0.5)	5.0	(0.5)	30	D.7 (1.0)	1	39.2	(0.9)	1	13.2	(0.0)	10.0	(0.0)	
	Brunei Darussalam	50.3	(1.0)		30.7	(1.0) T	10.1	(0.6) T	2.8	(0.4) T	32	2.9 (1.0)	T	34.9	(1.1)	T	15.2	(0.9) T	17.0	(0.0)	T
	Bulgaria	42.9	(1.5)		28.5	(0.9) T	20.9	(1.2) T	7.8	(0.7) T	39	9.7 (1.3)	T	29.6	(1.1)	T	22.3	(1.0) T	8.4	(0.6)	T
	Cambodia	46.6	(1.1) 1		30.8	(1.1) †	15.6	(0.6) †	/.1	(0.6) †	25	5.6 (0.9)	Ť	37.0	(1.1)	Ť	19.1	(1.0) †	18.3	(1.1)	1
	Croatia	61.7	(1.2)		21.9	(0.8)	12.7	(0.8)	3.7	(0.4)	51	1.0 (1.0)	Ť	29.6	(0.9)	Ť	15.0	(0.8) †	4.4	(0.4)	1
	Cyprus	46.7	(1.2)	F	27.3	(1.1) ‡	18.0	(0.9) ‡	8.1	(0.7) ‡	35	5.5 (1.2)	Ŧ	33.7	(1.2)	Ŧ	20.8	(0.9) ‡	10.0	(0.8)	Ŧ
	Dominican Republic	36.8	(1.7)		35.8	(1.5) ‡	17.6	(1.3) ‡	9.9	(0.9) ‡	30	).1 (1.5)	‡	35.7	(1.3)	‡	20.1	(1.2) ‡	14.1	(1.1)	‡
	El Salvador	38.1	(1.5)		40.9	(1.3) T	13.2	(0.8) T	7.8	(0.7) T	29	9.3 (1.4)	T	44.0	(1.5)	T	16.4	(0.9) T	10.3	(0.8)	T
	Georgia	46.5	(1.3)		30.5	(1.1) T	15.5	(1.0) T	7.5	(0.6) T	31	(.4 (1.3)	T	32.7	(1.1)	T	18.8	(0.9) T	11.1	(0.9)	T
	Guatemala	46.3	(1.2)		35.6	(1.0) ‡	12.4	(0.8) ‡	5.6	(0.5) ‡	44	1.8 (1.3)	Ŧ	36.5	(1.4)	Ŧ	10.0	(0.7) ‡	8.6	(0.8)	Ŧ
	Hong Kong (China)"	05.9	(0.9)		20.2	(0.8)	10.2	(0.6)	3.8	(0.4)	40	D.1 (1.0)		28.3	(0.9)		15.5	(0.7)	10.1	(0.6)	
	indonesia	39.0	(1.1)		42.5	(0.9)	12.0	(0.7)	0.0	(0.4)	20	0.1 (0.0)		50.9	(1.0)		14.5	(0.0)	0.0	(0.0)	
	Jamaica"	48.8	(1.8)	F	32.0	(1.5) ‡	12.0	(1.3) ‡	0.0	(0.8) ‡	30	J.9 (1.5)	Ŧ	30.3	(1.6)	Ŧ	17.8	(1.2) ‡	15.1	(1.5)	Ŧ
	Jordan Kazakhatan	39.6	(1.4)	ſ	29.0	(1.1) T	21.0	(0.9) T	10.5	(0.8) T	20	0.0 (1.0)	T	34.0	(1.0)	T	25.2	(1.0) T	14.2	(0.9)	T
	Kazakristan	09.0	(0.9)		10.0	(0.5)	11.0	(0.5)	4.5	(0.3)	00	J.3 (0.7)	+	22.0	(0.5)	<u>ь</u>	12.0	(0.0)	0.1	(0.3)	+
	NOSOVO	39.4	(1.3)		34.5	(1.3)	10.3	(1.0)	7.9	(0.0)	34	+.0 (1.3)		35.4	(1.2)	1	20.7	(1.1)	9.3	(0.0)	I
	Macao (China)	76.4	(0.8)		14.9	(0.8)	0.2	(0.5)	2.5	(0.3)	00	J.U (1.U)		21.3	(0.8)		10.5	(0.0)	0.2	(0.6)	
	Malaysia	04.0	(1.3)		31.1	(0.9)	10.0	(0.0)	3.0	(0.4)	30	(1.2)		31.2	(1.1)		10.2	(0.0)	10.1	(0.0)	
	Maldava	52.6	(1.3)	ſ	24.2	(1.2) T	10.9	(0.9) T	4.3	(0.5) T	40	J.0 (1.3)	T	34.3	(1.4)	Т	15.5	(1.0) T	10.2	(0.8)	T
	woldova	05.0	(1.1)		27.1	(1.0)	14.0	(0.0)	0.3	(0.5)	40	D. I (I.U)		31.4	(0.9)		10.2	(0.0)	0.4	(0.5)	
	Mongolia	35.7	(1.1)		32.4	(0.9)	19.2	(0.7)	12.7	(0.7)	22	2.9 (0.9)	+	35.8	(0.8)	<u>ь</u>	24.9	(0.8)	16.4	(0.7)	+
	Montenegro	42.7	(1.1)		33.3	(1.0) T	17.2	(1.0) T	0.0	(0.5) T	30	0.8 (1.1)	T	34.5	(1.2)	T	19.4	(0.9) T	9.3	(0.6)	T
	Morocco	39.6	(1.5)	F	35.0	(1.3) ‡	17.0	(1.1) ‡	7.8	(0.6) ‡	29	9.4 (1.3)	Ŧ	37.0	(1.2)	Ŧ	21.1	(0.9) ‡	12.0	(0.7)	Ŧ
	North Macedonia	43.3	(1.1)		30.3	(1.3) T	17.7	(0.9) T	8.1	(0.6) T	35	0.4 (1.0)	T	32.5	(1.0)	T	22.5	(0.9) T	9.7	(0.7)	T
	Palestinian Authority	41.6	(1.2)		30.8	(1.1) T	20.1	(0.8) T	7.5	(0.6) T	28	3.7 (1.0)	T	37.8	(1.0)	T	21.8	(0.9) T	11.6	(0.7)	T
	Panama	40.3	(2.2)	-	30.5	(2.5) +	12.4	(1.0) +	0.0	(1.4) +	30	0.4 (Z.1)	+	34.9	(2.1)	+	17.1	(1.9) 1	12.0	(1.5)	+
	Paraguay	02.0	(1.3)		25.4	(1.0) T	17.0	(0.7) T	4.1	(0.4) T	40	(1.2)	T	32.4	(1.2)	T +	13.0	(0.9) T	12.1	(0.5)	T
	Peru	39.5	(1.3)		37.9	(1.2) +	17.0	(0.0) +	5.0	(0.0) +	10	0.9 (1.1)	+	42.7	(1.4)	+	20.5	(0.9) +	15.1	(0.9)	+
	Prinippines	40.0	(1.1)		40.0	(0.0)	17.4	(0.0) +	0.0	(0.4)	10	(1.0)	+	40.0	(1.0)	1	20.0	(0.9)	10.1	(0.0)	+
	Qatar	48.0	(1.3)		28.8	(1.1) T	10.0	(0.9) T	0.0	(0.6) T	35	7.6 (1.3)	T +	31.5	(1.2)	T +	21.9	(1.1) T	7.4	(0.8)	T +
	Romania Seudi Archie	57.4	(1.3)	-	24.7	(1.0)	12.9	(0.0) +	5.0	(0.5) +	20	(1.3)	+	29.0	(1.0)	+	10.4	(0.0) +	0.2	(0.0)	+
	SauurArabia	32.0	(1.1)		20.9	(0.9)	15.5	(0.9)	5.0	(0.0)	39	9.0 (1.1)	+	20.7	(1.1)	1	17.0	(0.9) +	9.5	(0.7)	+
	Serbia	49.5	(1.3)		30.0	(0.9)	15.7	(0.9)	5.0	(0.4)	40	0.0 (1.2)	1	29.7	(1.0)	1	17.0	(0.0)	0.0	(0.5)	1
	Chinese Teinei	70.7	(1.0)		11.0	(0.7)	6.5	(1)	20	(0,4)	65	III III 5.5 (4.0)		10.0	(1.4)		10.0	(0.0)	50	(0.7)	
	Uninese laipei	19.1	(1.0)		11.0	(0.7)	0.5	(0.0)	2.2	(0.4)	65	0.0 (1.3)		10.0	(1.1)		10.0	(0.9)	5.9	(0.7)	
	I Italiano	41.1	(1.2)		37.9	(1.0)	14.3	(0.0)	0.0	(0.5)	31	1.0 (1.0)	+	41.7	(1.0)	+	10.2	(0.0)	9.2	(0.7)	+
	United Arely Frei (18 OT 27)	49.1	(2.1)		30.4	(1.0) T	10.1	(1.4) T	0.3	(0.7) T	43	0.0 (2.0)	ſ	34.1	(1.7)	T .	10.0	(1.5) T	1.5	(0.0)	ſ
	United Arab Emirates	51.5	(0.6)		25.9	(0.5) †	15.1	(0.4) †	1.5	(0.0) †	34	+.0 (U.b)	1 +	33.2	(0.6)	Ť +	19.7	(0.4) T	12.5	(0.4)	1
	Uruguay	49.7	(1.5)		30.7	(1.3) ‡	14.0	(0.9) ‡	4.0	(0.6) ‡	41	1.0 (1.2)	Ŧ +	34.9	(1.3)	Ŧ +	10.2	(U.8) ‡	0.0	(0.0)	Ŧ
	Viet New	44.3	(1.0)	F	22.9	(1.1) ‡	10.9	(1.1) ‡	10.9	(1.1) ‡	39	0.0 (1.0)	+	23.0	(1.0)	+	20.0	(1.2) ‡	10.1	(0.0)	+
_	viet Nam	40.0	(1.2)		29.0	(0.0)	1./	(0.0)	12.7	(0.0)	1 38	o.∠ (1.0)		_ ა4.ა	(0.7)		13./	(0.0)	13.0	(0.7)	

### Table II.B1.2.30. Problems with remote learning [5/8]

#### Based on students' reports

			Per	rcentage o	fstuden they	ts who repo / had the fo	orted th llowing	at, when th problems	neir sch when c	ool building ompleting tl	was clo heir sch	osed becaus oolwork:	se of CO	VID-19,		
		Pro	blems w they ha	/ith finding ad househ	j time to old resp	study beca onsibilities	use			Problems	s with m	otivating th	nemselve	es to do scl	hool wc	ork
	N	lever	A fe	w times	Abc or twi	out once ce a week	Ev or eve	ery day almost ery day		Never	Afe	w times	Abo or twi	ut once ce a week	Eve or eve	ery day almost ery day
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Australia*	46.3	(0.8)	30.8	(0.7)	16.0	(0.5)	6.9	(0.4)	11.8	(0.4)	28.1	(0.6)	26.0	(0.5)	34.1	(0.8)
ō Austria	53.5	(1.3) †	27.3	(0.9) †	13.7	(0.8) †	5.4	(0.5) †	16.7	(0.8) †	33.2	(0.9) †	25.2	(1.0) †	24.9	(1.0) †
Belgium	58.6	(1.1) †	25.0	(1.0) †	10.8	(0.6) †	5.6	(0.5) †	16.3	(0.7) †	31.0	(0.8) †	23.1	(0.9) †	29.6	(0.9) †
Canada*	50.0	(0.8) †	28.5	(0.7) †	13.9	(0.5) †	7.6	(0.4) †	14.1	(0.4) †	26.0	(0.7) †	24.1	(0.6) †	35.7	(0.7) †
Chile	41.8	(1.3) †	33.9	(1.1) †	18.7	(1.0) †	5.6	(0.6) †	16.7	(0.9) †	33.7	(1.2) †	28.4	(1.0) †	21.2	(1.0) †
Colombia	43.5	(1.2) †	36.3	(1.0) †	12.4	(0.6) †	7.8	(0.6) †	26.0	(0.9) †	41.6	(1.0) †	17.4	(0.8) †	15.0	(0.8) †
Costa Rica	44.8	(1.2)	33.8	(1.0)	13.3	(0.7)	8.1	(0.6)	26.2	(0.9)	36.7	(1.1)	18.6	(0.9)	18.5	(1.0)
Czech Republic	47.3	(0.8) †	30.9	(0.8) †	16.5	(0.7) †	5.3	(0.4) †	17.8	(0.7) †	38.1	(0.9) †	20.9	(0.8) †	23.3	(0.7) †
Denmark*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m (0.0)
	63.1	(1.0)	23.5	(0.8)	11.0	(0.7)	2.4	(0.2)	17.6	(0.8)	37.0	(0.9)	23.5	(0.7)	21.9	(0.8)
Finland	65.8	(1.0) †	20.6	(0.8) †	10.6	(0.6) †	3.0	(0.3) †	23.0	(0.8) †	35.2	(0.9) †	22.5	(0.7) †	19.2	(0.8) †
France	64.5	(1.1) T	21.1	(0.8) T	10.2	(0.7) T	4.2	(0.4) T	20.6	(0.9) T	30.4	(1.0) T	21.5	(0.9) T	27.6	(1.0) T
Germany	58.3	(1.2) ‡	25.0	(1.1) ‡	12.1	(0.7) ‡	4.5	(0.5) ‡	14.5	(0.8) ‡	30.2	(1.0) ‡	25.4	(0.9) ‡	30.0	(1.2) ‡
Greece	49.4	(1.1)	30.0	(1.0)	15.3	(0.8)	5.3	(0.5)	23.8	(0.8)	30.1	(0.9)	24.0	(1.0)	22.1	(0.7)
Hungary	57.8	(1.2) †	24.4	(1.0) †	14.1	(0.8) †	3.7	(0.4) †	26.0	(1.0) †	31.5	(0.9) †	24.0	(0.9) †	18.5	(0.9) †
Iceland	55.9	(1.7) †	28.9	(1.5) †	9.9	(1.1) †	5.2	(0.8) †	38.2	(1.5) †	37.4	(1.4) †	15.1	(1.1) †	9.2	(0.9) †
Ireland*	49.0	(1.0)	30.9	(0.9)	12.9	(0.6)	7.2	(0.4)	11.4	(0.6)	29.6	(0.9)	22.6	(0.8)	36.4	(0.9)
Israel	49.3	(1.1)	30.6	(0.9)	12.7	(0.7)	1.4	(0.5)	19.0	(1.0)	28.2	(0.7)	22.2	(0.8)	30.6	(1.0)
Italy	45.7	(1.0)	34.6	(0.9)	13.4	(0.6)	6.3	(0.5)	17.1	(0.8)	35.7	(0.9)	23.5	(0.9)	23.7	(1.0)
Japan	88.9	(0.7)	7.6	(0.6)	2.2	(0.3)	1.4	(0.2)	19.2	(0.9)	24.7	(0.9)	17.3	(1.1)	38.7	(1.0)
Korea	//.6	(0.9)	10.5	(0.6)	8.6	(0.7)	3.3	(0.5)	48.6	(1.3)	22.4	(1.1)	17.6	(1.1)	11.4	(0.6)
Latvia*	4/./	(1.1) †	30.8	(1.0) †	16.1	(0.8) †	5.4	(0.5) †	13.5	(0.8) †	30.9	(1.1) †	26.5	(1.1) †	29.1	(1.0) †
Lithuania	56.5	(1.0) T	25.3	(0.9) T	14.0	(0.7) T	4.2	(0.4) T	23.1	(0.9) T	34.1	(0.8) T	24.0	(0.8) T	18.7	(0.8) T
Mexico	37.9	(1.2) T	37.0	(1.1) T	17.4	(0.9) T	1.1	(0.6) T	24.0	(1.2) T	38.7	(1.3) T	20.6	(0.9) T	16.1	(0.8) T
Netherlands*	64.6	(1.2)	22.2	(1.0)	9.5	(0.7)	3.7	(0.4)	14.8	(0.8) T	28.5	(0.9) T	24.8	(0.9) T	31.9	(1.0) T
New Zealand"	49.7	(1.0) T	31.5	(1.0) T	12.3	(0.7) T	0.5	(U.6) T	12.0	(0.9) T	29.5	(1.1) T	22.1	(0.9) T	35.8	(1.2) T
Norway	m	(1.0)	07.5	(0.0)	m	(0.7)	m A C	(0.5)	10.0	(1.0)	20.0	(1.0)	m 01.0	(0.7)	m	m (0.0)
Poland	53.8	(1.0)	27.5	(0.9)	14.2	(0.7)	4.5	(0.5)	19.9	(1.0)	30.3	(1.0)	21.9	(0.7)	27.9	(0.9)
Portugal Olaash Damah lia	59.0	(0.9)	20.1	(0.9)	10.2	(0.0)	0.1	(0.4)	20.1	(0.9)	37.2	(1.1)	19.9	(0.0)	10.0	(0.7)
Slovak Republic	46.0	(1.4) T	29.6	(1.0) T	17.7	(1.1) T	0.7	(0.6) T	22.2	(1.0) T	34.0	(0.9) T	24.5	(1.0) T	19.3	(0.8) T
Sioverila	50.0	(1.2)	20.3	(0.9)	12.4	(0.7)	3.0	(0.4)	01.0	(0.7)	35.0	(1.2)	25.0	(1.0)	24.0	(1.0) (0.5)
Swadan	50.0	(0.7)	20.3	(0.0)	0.0	(0.4)	3.9	(0.5)	21.3	(0.0)	30.0	(0.0)	21.9	(0.0)	21.9	(0.5)
Sweden	65.9	(1.0) †	22.3	(0.8) T	8.0	(0.0) T	3.7	(0.5) T	10.7	(1.0) T	38.9	(1.1) T	21.1	(0.9) T	21.3	(1.0) †
Jurkivo	13.4	(1.2) ∓	24.1	(1.0) ‡	16.7	(0.0) ‡	4.1	(0.4) ‡	24.0	(0.9) ‡	30.1	(1.1) ‡	24.4	(1.1) ‡	20.3	(0.9) ‡
Inited Kingdow	43.4	(1.1)	22.5	(1.0)	10.7	(0.0)	0.7	(0.0)	10.7	(0.0)	20.0	(0.0) +	22.9	(0.0) +	10.4	(0.7)
United States*	51.0	(1.2) T	23.5	(0.9) T	12.6	(0.7) T	5.3	(0.4) T	12.7	(0.7) T	20.3	(0.9) T	23.0	(0.9) T	36.4	(1.2) T
United States"	51.2	(1.5)	21.5	(1.3)	13.0	(0.0)	1.1	(0.7)	15.4	(0.0)	20.0	(1.1)	21.0	(1.0)	30.4	(1.3)
OECD average	54.9	(0.2)	27.1	(0.2)	12.7	(0.1)	5.4	(0.1)	20.3	(0.1)	32.4	(0.2)	22.5	(0.2)	24.8	(0.2)

# Table II.B1.2.30. Problems with remote learning [6/8]

Based on students' reports

			Pe	rcentage of	studen the	ts who repo y had the fo	orted th llowing	at, when tl problems	neir : whe	school build en completin	ling g tl	was clo heir sch	sed becaus oolwork:	se of CC	)VID-19,		
		Pro	blems v they h	vith finding ad househo	time to old resp	study beca onsibilities	ause			Probl	ems	s with m	otivating th	nemselv	es to do sc	hool wa	ork
	1	lever	A fe	wtimes	Abo or twi	out once ice a week	Ev or alm	ery day 10st every day		Never		A fe	w times	Abo or twi	out once ce a week	Ev or alm	ery day ıost every day
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	-	% S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
	33.4	(1.3) ‡	31.9	(1.3) ‡	21.3	(1.2) ‡	13.4	(0.9) ‡	21	7.2 (1.5)	Ŧ	33.4	(1.3) ‡	23.2	(1.1) ‡	16.1	(0.9) ‡
E Argentina	40.6	(1.4) ‡	33.6	(1.1) ‡	16.7	(0.8) ‡	9.1	(0.8) ‡	21	1.9 (1.2)	+	32.0	(1.2) ‡	23.0	(1.0) ‡	23.1	(0.7) ‡
Baku (Azerbaijan)	32.1	(1.5) ‡	27.0	(1.2) ‡	26.5	(1.4) ‡	14.4	(1.0) ‡	23	3.3 (1.3)	+	29.2	(1.3) ‡	27.9	(1.5) ‡	19.7	(1.3) ‡
Brazii	41.8	(1.0) T	35.0	(0.9) T	14.5	(0.6) T	8.7	(0.5) T		1.9 (0.9)	T	38.5	(0.9) T	18.5	(0.6) T	21.1	(0.7) T
Brunei Darussalam	31.6	(1.0) †	37.1	(1.0) †	18.0	(0.7) †	13.3	(0.7) †	10	0.4 (0.6)	1	32.4	(0.9) †	24.2	(0.7) †	32.9	(0.8) †
Bulgaria Samila dia	36.7	(1.1) T	31.1	(1.0) T	23.3	(1.0) T	9.0	(0.0) T	24	2.9 (0.8)	T	31.8	(1.0) T	27.1	(1.1) T	18.2	(0.8) T
Cambodia	39.3	(1.1)	31.4	(1.1)	17.5	(0.0)	11.0	(0.0)	20	5.0 (1.0)		35.4	(1.1)	20.3	(0.0)	10.0	(1.0)
Croatia	53.3	(1.1)	20.0	(0.9)	15.0	(0.8)	5.1	(0.5)	25	5.0 (1.0)	+	33.4	(1.0)	23.5	(0.9)	18.2	(0.9)
Cyprus Dominicon Bonublic	42.7	(1.2) +	21.5	(1.1) +	21.4	(1.0) +	10.0	(0.0) +	2	1.0 (0.9) 2.0 (1.6)	+	27.0	(1.1) +	20.9	(1.1) +	16.2	(1.0) +
Dominican Republic	22.0	(1.7) +	34.0	(1.0) +	10.7	(1.4) +	0.7	(1.2) +	20	3.0 (1.0)	+	42.2	(1.2) +	10.1	(1.2) +	10.5	(1.1) +
El Salvador	32.9	(1.0)	41.Z	(1.3)	16.0	(0.9)	9.7	(0.0)	23	3.7 (1.2) 6.6 (1.2)	+	43.3	(1.4)	19.1	(1.1)	15.9	(0.0)
Georgia	44.4	(1.3)	30.1	(0.0)	11.2	(1.0)	9.5	(0.7)	20	0.0 (1.2)	1	34.4	(1.1)	23.9	(1.1)	10.1	(0.0)
Gualemaia	40.9	(1.3) +	22.0	(1.1) +	10.8	(0.6)	1.1	(0.7) +	20	0.2 (1.2) 8.6 (1.0)	+	32.0	(1.3) +	14.7	(0.0) +	16.0	(1.0) +
Indonesia	23.5	(0.0)	/0 7	(0.9)	16.6	(0.0)	4.2	(0.4)	10	0.0 (1.0) 0.2 (0.8)		51.3	(0.9)	16.0	(0.9)	12.6	(0.3)
Indonesia	20.0	(0.3)	36.1	(0.5)	17.7	(0.0)	12.2	(0.0)	10	2.2 (0.0) 2.2 (1.0)	+	40.7	(0.3)	21.1	(0.0)	26.0	(0.7)
Jordan	31.5	(1.7) + (1.2) +	31.6	(1.0) +	24.8	(1.2) +	12.1	(0.9) +	24	2.2 (1.0) 4.8 (1.0)	++	31.2	(1.5) +	21.1	(0.9) +	18.2	(1.0) +
Kazakhstan	57.6	(0.8)	23.1	(0.6)	14.0	(0.6)	49	(0.3)	43	3.1 (0.8)		30.0	(0.6)	17.5	(0.5)	9.5	(0.3)
Kasavo	37.5	(1.1) +	33.0	(1.2) +	18.7	(1.0) +	10.0	(0.7) +	27	77 (12)	+	37.9	(13) +	21.6	(1.1) +	12.9	(0.0) +
Macao (China)	73.7	(0.7)	15.3	(0.8)	77	(0.6)	32	(0.4)	31	11 (0.8)		28.4	(0.9)	20.3	(0.8)	20.1	(0.7)
Malavsia	52.1	(1.3)	28.5	(1.0)	13.5	(0.8)	5.9	(0.5)	23	3.4 (0.9)		40.5	(0.9)	19.0	(0.6)	17.2	(1.0)
Malta	44.9	(1.3) †	30.0	(1.0) †	16.3	(0.9) †	8.8	(0.8) †	15	5.3 (1.0)	t	28.3	(1.2) †	24.3	(1.2) †	32.1	(1.2) †
Moldova	45.4	(1.1)	32.4	(1.1)	16.5	(0.9)	5.7	(0.4)	33	3.9 (1.0)		36.2	(1.0)	19.8	(0.9)	10.2	(0.6)
Mongolia	23.5	(0.8)	35.9	(1.0)	27.4	(0.9)	13.3	(0.6)	22	2.1 (0.7)		35.9	(0.8)	27.1	(0.7)	14.9	(0.6)
Montenegro	40.1	(0.9) †	30.8	(0.9) †	19.7	(0.8) †	9.3	(0.6) †	27	7.0 (1.0)	t	33.8	(1.0) †	22.5	(1.0) †	16.7	(0.9) †
Morocco	35.4	(1.3) ‡	33.7	(1.1) ‡	21.1	(1.2) ‡	9.9	(0.7) ±	26	6.1 (1.0)	t	36.8	(1.3) ±	24.0	(1.2) ‡	13.1	(0.9) ‡
North Macedonia	34.2	(1.0) †	33.4	(0.9) †	21.9	(0.9) †	10.5	(0.7) †	24	4.8 (0.9)	†	35.3	(1.0) †	24.5	(1.0) †	15.5	(0.7) †
Palestinian Authority	32.2	(1.2) †	35.4	(1.1) †	22.4	(0.9) †	10.0	(0.5) †	26	6.5 (0.8)	t	35.7	(1.0) †	23.4	(0.9) †	14.4	(0.7) †
Panama*	40.6	(2.4) ‡	33.0	(2.1) ‡	16.0	(1.9) ‡	10.4	(1.3) ‡	23	3.8 (1.9)	‡	35.5	(2.3) ‡	22.4	(1.9) ‡	18.2	(2.0) ‡
Paraguay	47.0	(1.1) †	31.4	(1.0) †	14.0	(0.8) †	7.6	(0.5) †	34	4.5 (1.1)	t	34.2	(1.0) †	17.6	(0.7) †	13.7	(0.6) †
Peru	28.9	(1.2) ‡	41.1	(1.2) ‡	19.5	(1.1) ‡	10.5	(0.7) ‡	19	9.1 (0.9)	‡	41.3	(1.2) ‡	23.5	(1.0) ‡	16.2	(0.9) ‡
Philippines	17.7	(0.8) †	45.7	(1.0) †	22.2	(0.8) †	14.5	(0.6) †	12	2.6 (0.7)	t	45.7	(1.5) †	22.9	(0.8) †	18.8	(1.3) †
Qatar	40.3	(1.3) †	30.8	(1.2) †	19.9	(1.0) †	9.0	(0.7) †	21	1.0 (1.0)	†	31.2	(1.1) †	26.0	(1.0) †	21.8	(1.1) †
Romania	47.8	(1.3) †	30.0	(1.0) †	15.5	(0.9) †	6.6	(0.6) †	35	5.0 (1.1)	t	33.6	(0.9) †	19.6	(0.7) †	11.8	(0.6) †
Saudi Arabia	42.0	(1.2) †	31.1	(1.1) †	19.0	(1.0) †	7.9	(0.6) †	36	6.6 (1.0)	†	29.8	(1.0) †	21.5	(1.1) †	12.2	(0.7) †
Serbia	48.7	(1.3) †	28.1	(0.9) †	16.7	(1.0) †	6.5	(0.5) †	26	6.1 (1.0)	t	34.1	(0.8) †	23.1	(0.9) †	16.7	(0.9) †
Singapore	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m		m m		m	m	m	m	m	m
Chinese Taipei	75.6	(1.0)	13.8	(1.1)	7.8	(0.7)	2.7	(0.4)	44	4.2 (1.2)		26.2	(1.2)	16.2	(0.9)	13.4	(1.0)
Thailand	31.1	(1.0)	41.1	(0.9)	18.5	(0.9)	9.2	(0.6)	28	8.0 (1.0)		39.9	(0.9)	20.9	(0.9)	11.1	(0.7)
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	37.5	(1.7) †	38.5	(1.5) †	18.5	(1.4) †	5.5	(0.6) †	29	9.8 (1.9)	†	34.5	(1.4) †	23.0	(1.5) †	12.7	(1.1) †
United Arab Emirates	43.2	(0.6) †	28.4	(0.6) †	18.9	(0.5) †	9.5	(0.4) †	20	0.0 (0.4)	†	31.3	(0.5) †	25.7	(0.5) †	23.0	(0.5) †
Uruguay	46.5	(1.2) ‡	30.3	(1.2) ‡	15.8	(0.9) ‡	7.4	(0.7) ‡	20	0.3 (1.0)	‡	30.8	(1.2) ‡	27.1	(1.2) ‡	21.8	(1.2) ‡
Uzbekistan	36.0	(1.4) ‡	26.2	(1.3) ‡	21.9	(1.2) ‡	15.8	(1.0) ‡	34	4.8 (1.7)	‡	26.0	(1.4) ‡	22.7	(1.2) ‡	16.5	(1.1) ‡
Viet Nam	41.4	(1.1)	32.8	(0.7)	13.7	(0.5)	12.1	(0.6)	22	2.7 (0.6)		38.1	(0.8)	19.9	(0.7)	19.3	(0.8)

### Table II.B1.2.30. Problems with remote learning [7/8]

#### Based on students' reports

			Per	centage o	fstuden the	ts who repo / had the fo	orted th	at, when th problems	neir so when	hool building: completing th	was clo neir sch	osed becaus oolwork:	se of CO	VID-19,		
		Problems	s with u	nderstand	ing thei	r school ass	signmen	ts		Problem	is with t	finding son with their s	neone w school w	ho could h ork	elp then	n
	N	lever	A fe	w times	Abo or twi	out once ce a week	Ev or eve	ery day almost ery day		Never	A fe	w times	Abo or twi	ut once ce a week	Eve or a eve	ery day almost ry day
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Australia*	18.9	(0.6)	41.2	(0.7)	26.2	(0.6)	13.7	(0.5)	34.1	1 (0.7)	34.7	(0.7)	20.2	(0.7)	11.1	(0.4)
8 Austria	23.3	(1.1) †	42.8	(1.0) †	24.1	(1.0) †	9.8	(0.7) †	44.6	6 (1.3) †	30.5	(1.1) †	16.3	(0.8) †	8.6	(0.6) †
Belgium	22.3	(0.9) †	43.5	(1.0) †	23.7	(0.9) †	10.4	(0.6) †	47.4	4 (1.0) †	30.5	(0.7) †	13.9	(0.6) †	8.2	(0.5) †
Canada*	19.7	(0.5) †	38.7	(0.9) †	26.5	(0.7) †	15.2	(0.5) †	40.1	1 (0.7) †	31.3	(0.7) †	17.1	(0.6) †	11.5	(0.5) †
Chile	15.5	(0.9) †	36.7	(1.0) †	30.9	(1.1) †	16.9	(0.9) †	25.6	6 (1.0) †	37.8	(1.1) †	23.6	(1.2) †	12.9	(0.8) †
Colombia	18.8	(0.9) †	50.2	(1.1) †	18.8	(0.8) †	12.3	(0.7) †	32.8	8 (1.1) †	40.5	(1.1) †	14.4	(0.8) †	12.3	(0.9) †
Costa Rica	20.5	(0.8)	44.5	(0.8)	21.9	(0.9)	13.1	(0.7)	37.7	7 (1.1)	37.1	(1.0)	13.5	(0.7)	11.7	(0.6)
Czech Republic	20.4	(0.6) †	44.2	(0.8) †	24.7	(0.7) †	10.7	(0.6) †	46.0	0 (0.8) †	31.2	(0.8) †	15.1	(0.7) †	7.7	(0.5) †
Denmark*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	n	n m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Estonia	18.0	(0.9)	45.5	(1.1)	26.5	(0.8)	10.0	(0.5)	45.5	5 (1.0)	33.7	(0.9)	15.0	(0.7)	5.8	(0.6)
Finland	26.7	(0.8) †	41.5	(0.9) †	23.2	(0.8) †	8.5	(0.5) †	51.2	2 (0.8) †	29.4	(0.7) †	14.0	(0.7) †	5.4	(0.4) †
France	26.1	(1.0) †	41.3	(1.1) †	21.6	(0.8) †	11.1	(0.6) †	53.6	6 (1.1) †	24.9	(0.9) †	11.7	(0.8) †	9.8	(0.6) †
Germany	19.7	(1.0) ‡	45.8	(1.2) ‡	24.8	(1.0) ‡	9.7	(0.8) ‡	46.3	3 (1.1) ‡	30.5	(1.2) ‡	14.6	(0.8) ‡	8.7	(0.7) ‡
Greece	21.0	(0.8)	41.4	(1.1)	26.4	(0.9)	11.2	(0.6)	38.3	3 (1.1)	32.7	(1.0)	19.5	(0.9)	9.5	(0.6)
Hungary	37.0	(1.1) †	38.3	(1.1) †	18.1	(0.8) †	6.6	(0.5) †	55.5	5 (1.2) †	23.9	(1.0) †	14.1	(0.8) †	6.6	(0.6) †
Iceland	40.1	(1.5) †	38.9	(1.5) †	14.2	(1.0) †	6.8	(0.8) †	49.9	9 (1.7) †	32.1	(1.6) †	11.7	(1.1) †	6.3	(0.8) †
Irelan d*	18.0	(0.7)	43.2	(0.8)	26.4	(0.9)	12.5	(0.6)	43.1	1 (0.9)	31.8	(0.8)	14.8	(0.7)	10.3	(0.5)
Israel	20.8	(0.9)	40.7	(0.9)	21.9	(0.7)	16.6	(0.7)	38.2	2 (1.0)	35.1	(1.0)	15.3	(0.6)	11.3	(0.6)
Italy	19.9	(0.8)	49.3	(1.1)	20.7	(0.8)	10.1	(0.6)	44.6	6 (0.9)	32.6	(0.8)	14.0	(0.7)	8.9	(0.5)
Japan	38.4	(1.1)	35.1	(1.0)	17.5	(0.9)	9.1	(0.8)	60.8	8 (1.0)	19.6	(0.7)	9.6	(0.6)	10.0	(0.6)
Korea	51.9	(0.8)	23.5	(0.9)	17.6	(0.7)	7.0	(0.8)	61.6	6 (1.3)	19.4	(1.1)	12.7	(1.0)	6.3	(0.7)
Latvia*	12.4	(0.6) †	42.4	(0.9) †	31.6	(1.0) †	13.5	(0.7) †	36.4	4 (0.9) †	35.7	(1.0) †	18.1	(0.8) †	9.8	(0.7) †
Lithuania	22.8	(0.8) †	40.8	(1.0) †	26.8	(0.9) †	9.7	(0.6) †	45.6	6 (1.0) †	31.4	(1.0) †	15.7	(0.9) †	7.2	(0.5) †
Mexico	18.3	(0.8) †	45.8	(1.1) †	23.3	(0.9) †	12.7	(0.7) †	32.0	0 (1.1) †	39.7	(1.3) †	17.8	(0.8) †	10.5	(0.7) †
Netherlands*	25.0	(1.0)	44.7	(0.9)	22.2	(0.9)	8.1	(0.6)	52.8	8 (1.1) †	29.1	(0.9) †	12.7	(0.7) †	5.4	(0.5) †
New Zealand*	17.8	(1.0) †	42.2	(1.2) †	28.0	(1.2) †	11.9	(0.7) †	37.6	6 (1.3) †	34.5	(1.2) †	18.0	(0.9) †	9.9	(0.7) †
Norway	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	n	n m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Poland	20.2	(0.9)	41.8	(1.1)	26.1	(0.9)	11.9	(0.7)	46.6	6 (0.9)	29.8	(0.8)	15.0	(0.7)	8.6	(0.5)
Portugal	28.4	(1.0)	47.2	(1.0)	17.9	(0.9)	6.5	(0.5)	53.1	1 (1.1)	30.3	(1.0)	11.2	(0.7)	5.5	(0.4)
Slovak Republic	21.7	(1.0) †	42.4	(1.2) †	24.0	(1.1) †	11.9	(0.8) †	43.0	0 (1.3) †	30.2	(1.0) †	17.2	(1.0) †	9.7	(0.7) †
Slovenia	24.6	(0.9)	45.0	(1.1)	21.9	(0.9)	8.5	(0.5)	47.2	2 (1.2)	32.8	(1.2)	14.4	(0.6)	5.6	(0.5)
Spain	21.0	(0.6) †	45.4	(0.6) †	23.2	(0.6) †	10.4	(0.5) †	46.0	0.6)	32.4	(0.5)	13.5	(0.4)	8.1	(0.3)
Sweden	20.1	(1.0) †	47.7	(1.1) †	22.2	(0.9) †	10.0	(0.6) †	40.8	8 (1.2) †	36.8	(1.2) †	15.2	(0.8) †	7.2	(0.6) †
Switzerland	28.8	(1.0) ‡	44.5	(1.2) ‡	20.4	(1.1) ‡	6.2	(0.5) ‡	53.9	9 (1.2) ‡	29.2	(1.0) ‡	12.1	(0.8) ‡	4.8	(0.4) ‡
Türkiye	28.0	(0.8)	39.7	(0.9)	20.7	(0.8)	11.5	(0.6)	35.6	6 (0.9)	32.3	(0.8)	18.7	(0.8)	13.5	(0.6)
United Kingdom*	19.9	(0.9) †	41.2	(1.3) †	25.3	(1.0) †	13.6	(0.8) †	36.5	5 (1.1) †	33.8	(1.1) †	18.0	(0.9) †	11.7	(0.7) †
United States*	17.3	(1.0)	38.9	(1.3)	25.3	(1.1)	18.5	(1.1)	41.2	2 (1.2)	30.6	(1.1)	15.0	(0.8)	13.2	(0.8)
OECD average	23.5	(0.2)	42.2	(0.2)	23.3	(0.2)	11.0	(0.1)	44.	1 (0.2)	31.7	(0.2)	15.2	(0.1)	9.0	(0.1)

# Table II.B1.2.30. Problems with remote learning [8/8]

Based on students' reports

					Per	centage of	studen the	ts who repo y had the fo	orted the	at, when t problems	he Sw	eir school be hen comple	uilding eting t	was clo heir sch	sed beca oolwork:	aus :	e of CO	VID-19,			
			Problems with ever A to S.E. %			nderstandi	ng theii	r school ass	ignmen	ts		P	robler	ns with f	inding s with the	som sir s	ieone wi chool w	ho could h ork	elp then	n	
		N	ever		A fe	v times	Abo or twi	out once ice a week	Eve or eve	ery day almost ery day		Neve		A fe	w times		Abo or twic	ut once ce a week	Eve or a eve	ery day almost ery day	
		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		% S	Е.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	
lers	Albania	20.3	(1.3)	‡	38.1	(1.2) ‡	24.8	(1.1) ‡	16.8	(1.0) ‡	:	29.8 (1.	7) ‡	31.6	(1.4)	‡	20.7	(1.0) ‡	17.9	(1.1)	‡
artr	Argentina	19.0	(0.9)	‡	39.9	(1.4) ‡	25.3	(1.0) ‡	15.8	(0.9) ‡	:	32.8 (1.	2) ‡	36.2	(1.1)	‡	16.1	(0.9) ‡	14.9	(0.9)	ŧ
	Baku (Azerbaijan)	19.2	(1.5)	‡	34.6	(1.7) ‡	27.6	(1.4) ‡	18.7	(1.0) ‡	:	27.5 (1.	2) ‡	28.2	(1.4)	‡	24.4	(1.3) ‡	19.9	(1.1)	‡
	Brazil	19.4	(0.9)	†	42.6	(0.9) †	21.3	(0.7) †	16.7	(0.8) †		33.6 (1.	0) †	36.4	(0.8)	†	15.9	(0.8) †	14.1	(0.6)	†
	Brunei Darussalam	7.9	(0.6)	†	40.2	(1.2) †	29.1	(0.9) †	22.8	(0.9) †	•	20.7 (0.	8) †	39.4	(1.0)	†	21.7	(0.8) †	18.2	(0.8)	†
	Bulgaria	21.2	(0.9)	†	35.2	(1.3) †	31.0	(1.2) †	12.6	(0.8) †		37.3 (1.	2) †	27.8	(1.3)	†	22.5	(1.1) †	12.3	(0.7)	†
	Cambodia	20.2	(0.7)	†	40.4	(1.1) †	22.6	(0.9) †	16.8	(0.8) †		25.1 (0.	8) †	38.3	(0.8)	†	21.3	(0.8) †	15.3	(0.8)	1
	Croatia	23.2	(0.9)	†	40.6	(1.1) †	26.7	(1.1) †	9.6	(0.6) †		44.9 (1.	0)	30.4	(0.9)	_	17.7	(0.8)	7.1	(0.5)	
	Cyprus	21.0	(1.0)	+	36.3	(1.3) ‡	28.6	(1.1) ‡	14.1	(0.8) ‡	:	33.1 (1.	2) ‡	30.2	(1.0)	+	21.8	(1.0) ‡	15.0	(0.9)	‡
	Dominican Republic	21.4	(1.1)	‡	39.2	(1.6) ‡	23.4	(1.5) ‡	16.0	(1.1) ‡	:	32.4 (1.	5) ‡	31.9	(1.3)	‡	19.1	(1.3) ‡	16.6	(1.3)	ŧ
	El Salvador	19.1	(1.1)	†	49.1	(1.3) †	18.8	(1.2) †	13.0	(0.9) †	•	26.8 (1.	3) †	42.1	(1.3)	†	16.9	(1.0) †	14.2	(0.9)	†
	Georgia	28.3	(1.1)	†	39.9	(1.0) †	20.6	(1.0) †	11.1	(0.8) †		37.7 (1.	3) †	32.6	(1.1)	†	17.0	(1.0) †	12.7	(0.8)	†
	Guatemala	27.0	(1.0)	‡	44.2	(1.2) ‡	16.7	(1.0) ‡	12.1	(0.8) ‡	:	39.8 (1.	1) ‡	36.8	(1.0)	‡	11.9	(0.8) ‡	11.6	(0.8)	‡
	Hong Kong (China)*	24.8	(1.0)		39.5	(1.0)	25.5	(0.9)	10.2	(0.7)		38.1 (0.	9)	31.7	(0.8)	_	18.7	(0.8)	11.5	(0.6)	
	Indonesia	13.1	(0.7)		53.7	(0.8)	18.9	(0.8)	14.3	(0.7)		21.9 (0.	7)	50.6	(1.0)		16.6	(0.7)	10.9	(0.6)	
	Jamaica*	9.3	(0.9)	‡	48.1	(1.7) ‡	25.6	(1.5) ‡	17.0	(1.5) ‡	:	25.6 (1.	7) ‡	37.6	(1.6)	‡	18.5	(1.4) ‡	18.3	(1.5)	‡
	Jordan	20.4	(0.7)	†	34.2	(1.1) †	27.1	(0.9) †	18.3	(0.8) †	•	27.2 (1.	0) †	28.6	(1.1)	†	24.3	(1.1) †	20.0	(1.0)	†
	Kazakhstan	35.5	(0.6)	_	34.5	(0.7)	20.9	(0.6)	9.1	(0.4)	4	54.4 (0.	8)	23.3	(0.7)	_	14.7	(0.4)	7.6	(0.3)	
	Kosovo	21.8	(1.0)	†	42.1	(1.1) †	22.6	(1.0) †	13.5	(0.8) †	•	32.3 (1.	1) †	34.4	(1.2)	†	20.0	(1.0) †	13.4	(0.8)	†
	Macao (China)	34.5	(1.0)		31.7	(1.0)	21.3	(0.9)	12.6	(0.7)		46.2 (1.	0)	25.6	(0.9)	_	17.2	(0.8)	11.0	(0.7)	
	Malaysia	16.9	(0.8)		44.7	(0.8)	24.2	(0.7)	14.2	(0.7)		26.2 (1.	0)	41.6	(1.0)		20.2	(0.9)	12.0	(0.7)	
	Malta	18.8	(1.1)	†	41.7	(1.4) †	24.8	(1.2) †	14.7	(1.0) †		37.0 (1.	3) †	34.6	(1.3)	†	17.3	(1.0) †	11.1	(0.8)	†
	Moldova	22.2	(0.9)		43.7	(1.0)	24.4	(0.8)	9.7	(0.6)		38.0 (1.	1)	35.2	(0.9)		18.2	(0.8)	8.6	(0.5)	
	Mongolia	15.8	(0.6)	_	37.0	(0.9)	31.1	(0.9)	16.1	(0.7)		24.2 (0.	8)	36.0	(0.9)	_	25.4	(0.9)	14.4	(0.7)	
	Montenegro	23.7	(0.9)	†	39.6	(1.1) †	24.8	(0.9) †	11.9	(0.8) †	•	34.1 (1.	0) †	32.9	(1.0)	†	20.2	(1.1) †	12.7	(0.9)	†
	Morocco	23.0	(1.0)	‡	37.6	(1.2) ‡	25.9	(1.1) ‡	13.6	(1.0) ‡	:	29.1 (1.	0) ‡	32.1	(1.1)	‡	21.6	(1.1) ‡	17.2	(1.0)	‡
	North Macedonia	22.4	(1.0)	†	37.9	(1.1) †	26.5	(1.0) †	13.2	(0.8) †	•	32.3 (1.	1) †	32.0	(1.0)	†	22.6	(0.8) †	13.1	(0.6)	†
	Palestinian Authority	22.5	(0.8)	†	39.7	(1.0) †	25.1	(0.8) †	12.6	(0.7) †		31.1 (1.	0) †	32.6	(1.1)	†	22.3	(0.9) †	14.0	(0.7)	†
	Panama*	20.7	(1.9)	‡	40.7	(2.2) ‡	22.5	(2.0) ‡	16.1	(2.0) ‡	:	32.4 (2.	4) ‡	32.7	(1.9)	‡	18.2	(2.0) ‡	16.6	(1.6)	‡
	Paraguay	24.5	(1.0)	†	39.8	(1.1) †	20.9	(0.9) †	14.8	(0.7) †		37.7 (1.	1) †	33.8	(1.1)	†	15.4	(0.8) †	13.2	(0.7)	†
	Peru	14.1	(0.8)	‡	45.5	(1.0) ‡	26.4	(1.2) ‡	14.0	(0.8) ‡	:	21.6 (1.	0) ‡	42.7	(1.2)	‡	21.2	(0.8) ‡	14.4	(0.9)	‡
	Philippines	12.1	(0.7)	†	47.2	(1.0) †	25.9	(0.8) †	14.8	(0.7) †		17.1 (0.	8) †	48.5	(1.2)	†	20.8	(0.8) †	13.6	(0.7)	†
	Qatar	18.2	(1.0)	†	39.5	(1.0) †	28.8	(1.1) †	13.5	(0.9) †	•	32.6 (1.	2) †	32.3	(1.3)	†	21.9	(1.1) †	13.2	(0.9)	†
	Romania	27.4	(1.1)	†	41.5	(0.8) †	21.8	(1.0) †	9.4	(0.7) †		42.8 (1.	1) †	31.2	(1.0)	†	16.4	(0.9) †	9.6	(0.8)	†
	SaudiArabia	34.2	(1.3)	†	35.3	(1.2) †	20.0	(0.9) †	10.5	(0.8) †	•	42.1 (1.	3) †	29.1	(0.9)	†	17.2	(0.9) †	11.6	(0.7)	†
	Serbia	23.4	(1.0)	t	38.7	(1.2) †	25.5	(0.9) †	12.4	(0.7) †		38.4 (1.	0) †	31.4	(1.0)	†	19.6	(0.9) †	10.5	(0.6)	†
	Singapore	m	m		m	m	m	m	m	m		m	m	m	m		m	m	m	m	
	Chinese Taipei	46.2	(0.9)	_	28.1	(1.2)	20.1	(1.0)	5.6	(0.5)		54.3 (1.	4)	23.8	(1.2)	_	14.4	(0.9)	7.5	(0.5)	
	Thailand	25.3	(0.9)		43.9	(1.0)	20.0	(0.9)	10.8	(0.7)		31.7 (1.	1)	40.5	(1.2)		18.5	(0.8)	9.4	(0.8)	
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	21.7	(1.6)	†	43.6	(1.6) †	23.7	(1.3) †	11.0	(0.9) †	•	35.7 (1.	9) †	35.9	(1.6)	†	18.6	(1.1) †	9.9	(1.1)	†
	UnitedArab Emirates	21.5	(0.5)	†	38.8	(0.6) †	26.2	(0.5) †	13.5	(0.4) †	•	33.7 (0.	6) †	32.4	(0.5)	†	20.4	(0.5) †	13.5	(0.4)	†
	Uruguay	16.4	(0.8)	‡	41.7	(1.3) ‡	24.8	(1.2) ‡	17.1	(1.0) ‡	:	37.5 (1.	1) ‡	33.0	(1.3)	‡	16.4	(1.0) ‡	13.1	(1.0)	‡
	Uzbekistan	32.6	(1.6)	‡	27.2	(1.3) ‡	21.1	(1.1) ‡	19.0	(1.1) ‡	:	33.6 (1.	7) ‡	24.9	(1.1)	‡	20.8	(1.1) ‡	20.7	(1.4)	‡
	Viet Nam	17.6	(0.6)		39.2	(0.8)	21.3	(0.8)	21.9	(0.7)		34.8 (0.	9)	36.5	(0.8)		15.7	(0.6)	13.0	(0.7)	

# Table II.B1.3.1. Teacher support in mathematics [1/4]

Based on students' reports

				Р	ercenta	age of st	udents	who rep	orted	that the	followi	ng happ	ens in f	heir mat	hemat	ics lesso	ns:	
	Index of tea	cher support	The	teacher s	howsa	an intere	st in ev	ery stud	ent's le	arning			The to wh	eacher gi en stude	ives ext ents ne	rahelp edit	-	
	Averag e	Variability	Every	lesson	Most	lessons	Some	lessons	Nev hard	ver or ly ever	Every	lesson	Most	lessons	Some	lessons	Nev hard	/er or ly ever
	Mean index S.E.	S.D. S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
유 Australia*	0.13 (0.01)	1.08 (0.01)	32.7	(0.5)	35.8	(0.5)	25.0	(0.5)	6.5	(0.3)	42.1	(0.5)	34.7	(0.5)	18.7	(0.4)	4.5	(0.2)
Ö Austria	-0.39 (0.03)	1.23 (0.01)	27.0	(0.8)	29.7	(0.7)	25.1	(0.7)	18.3	(0.7)	35.2	(0.8)	26.2	(0.5)	24.4	(0.6)	14.2	(0.6)
Belgium	-0.21 (0.02)	1.10 (0.01)	23.1	(0.7)	31.8	(0.6)	31.4	(0.6)	13.7	(0.7)	34.5	(1.0)	32.5	(0.6)	24.9	(0.7)	8.1	(0.5)
Canada*	m m	m m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Chile	0.40 (0.03)	1.11 (0.02)	48.6	(1.0)	29.6	(0.7)	16.8	(0.6)	5.0	(0.4)	48.8	(1.0)	29.3	(0.8)	17.4	(0.6)	4.6	(0.4)
Colombia	0.52 (0.03)	1.07 (0.01)	55.7	(1.1)	26.0	(0.7)	14.6	(0.6)	3.6	(0.3)	53.7	(1.1)	27.5	(0.7)	15.1	(0.6)	3.7	(0.3)
Costa Rica	0.56 (0.02)	1.07 (0.01)	63.1	(1.0)	21.7	(0.7)	12.0	(0.6)	3.2	(0.2)	55.3	(0.9)	23.4	(0.5)	15.5	(0.5)	5.9	(0.4)
Czech Republic	-0.50 (0.03)	1.12 (0.01)	19.1	(0.7)	29.8	(0.6)	33.9	(0.7)	17.2	(0.7)	27.8	(0.9)	31.9	(0.6)	28.4	(0.8)	11.8	(0.6)
Denmark*	0.00 (0.02)	0.97 (0.01)	24.7	(0.9)	40.6	(0.8)	26.6	(0.9)	8.2	(0.4)	32.0	(0.8)	39.7	(0.7)	22.1	(0.7)	6.2	(0.5)
Estonia	-0.19 (0.02)	1.02 (0.01)	19.4	(0.7)	32.7	(0.7)	34.3	(0.8)	13.6	(0.5)	37.0	(0.9)	33.8	(0.7)	24.1	(0.7)	5.2	(0.3)
Finland	0.00 (0.02)	1.02 (0.01)	22.9	(0.7)	36.2	(0.6)	31.3	(0.6)	9.6	(0.4)	42.5	(0.8)	35.1	(0.5)	18.6	(0.6)	3.8	(0.3)
France	-0.26 (0.02)	1.16 (0.01)	23.0	(0.7)	28.7	(0.6)	30.7	(0.7)	17.7	(0.6)	32.3	(0.6)	30.1	(0.7)	26.1	(0.6)	11.5	(0.5)
Germany	-0.15 (0.02)	1.12 (0.01)	28.2	(0.7)	32.2	(0.6)	26.8	(0.7)	12.9	(0.5)	41.9	(0.9)	31.2	(0.7)	19.4	(0.6)	7.5	(0.5)
Greece	-0.40 (0.02)	1.09 (0.01)	19.7	(0.8)	26.1	(0.6)	33.8	(0.7)	20.4	(0.7)	26.7	(0.8)	30.5	(0.7)	31.0	(0.8)	11.9	(0.5)
Hungary	-0.22 (0.03)	1.11 (0.01)	27.3	(0.9)	34.4	(0.6)	26.6	(0.8)	11.7	(0.5)	33.5	(1.0)	33.8	(0.6)	24.4	(0.7)	8.4	(0.4)
Iceland	0.17 (0.02)	1.04 (0.01)	32.4	(0.8)	41.6	(1.0)	20.1	(0.8)	5.9	(0.4)	37.3	(0.9)	38.2	(0.8)	18.8	(0.8)	5.8	(0.5)
Ireland*	0.07 (0.02)	1.11 (0.01)	32.9	(0.8)	32.6	(0.7)	25.6	(0.8)	8.9	(0.4)	42.7	(1.0)	31.2	(0.6)	19.7	(0.7)	6.4	(0.4)
Israel	0.09 (0.02)	1.15 (0.01)	36.3	(0.9)	27.4	(0.7)	24.9	(0.7)	11.3	(0.5)	40.7	(0.9)	28.3	(0.7)	22.7	(0.7)	8.3	(0.5)
Italy	-0.16 (0.02)	1.11 (0.01)	29.3	(0.6)	32.7	(0.7)	25.9	(0.7)	12.2	(0.5)	30.0	(0.7)	33.9	(0.6)	26.3	(0.7)	9.7	(0.4)
Japan	0.24 (0.03)	1.02 (0.01)	30.9	(1.0)	43.4	(0.7)	19.2	(0.7)	6.5	(0.4)	46.4	(1.1)	37.2	(0.8)	12.5	(0.5)	3.9	(0.3)
Korea	0.07 (0.03)	1.00 (0.02)	30.6	(0.8)	41.4	(0.8)	22.1	(0.9)	6.0	(0.4)	36.1	(0.9)	39.4	(1.0)	19.5	(1.0)	5.0	(0.5)
Latvia*	-0.22 (0.02)	1.00 (0.01)	19.2	(0.7)	30.6	(0.7)	34.5	(0.7)	15.7	(0.6)	35.1	(1.0)	35.7	(0.7)	23.3	(0.7)	5.9	(0.4)
Lithuania	-0.19 (0.02)	1.06 (0.01)	21.0	(0.7)	29.6	(0.6)	35.5	(0.6)	14.0	(0.5)	30.8	(0.8)	35.8	(0.7)	26.7	(0.7)	6.7	(0.3)
Mexico	0.44 (0.02)	1.10 (0.01)	50.9	(1.0)	26.5	(0.7)	17.8	(0.6)	4.8	(0.3)	52.7	(1.0)	26.6	(0.8)	16.7	(0.7)	4.0	(0.3)
Netherlands*	-0.36 (0.02)	0.99 (0.01)	17.5	(0.7)	36.7	(0.8)	32.7	(0.9)	13.1	(0.6)	28.6	(0.9)	39.3	(0.7)	25.5	(0.7)	6.6	(0.4)
New Zealand*	0.08 (0.02)	1.10 (0.01)	31.4	(0.8)	34.6	(0.9)	26.2	(0.9)	7.8	(0.5)	43.7	(0.8)	31.5	(0.7)	19.6	(0.8)	5.2	(0.4)
Norway	-0.17 (0.02)	1.10 (0.01)	23.5	(0.7)	37.3	(0.7)	29.4	(0.8)	9.9	(0.5)	28.7	(0.8)	37.3	(0.6)	25.8	(0.6)	8.2	(0.4)
Poland	-0.69 (0.03)	1.16 (0.01)	17.4	(0.7)	29.0	(0.7)	33.4	(0.7)	20.3	(0.8)	16.9	(0.6)	24.6	(0.7)	32.6	(0.6)	26.0	(0.9)
Portugal	0.33 (0.02)	1.11 (0.01)	43.9	(0.7)	30.8	(0.6)	19.7	(0.6)	5.7	(0.3)	49.7	(0.8)	29.2	(0.6)	16.9	(0.5)	4.1	(0.3)
Slovak Republic	-0.21 (0.03)	1.17 (0.01)	30.5	(0.9)	31.5	(0.8)	25.5	(0.7)	12.5	(0.6)	35.7	(1.0)	30.7	(0.8)	24.4	(0.7)	9.2	(0.5)
Slovenia	-0.41 (0.02)	1.12 (0.01)	22.5	(0.7)	30.2	(0.8)	31.8	(0.8)	15.5	(0.5)	29.0	(0.6)	32.4	(0.8)	27.8	(0.7)	10.8	(0.4)
Spain	0.06 (0.02)	1.14 (0.01)	39.5	(0.7)	29.1	(0.4)	23.5	(0.5)	7.9	(0.3)	37.6	(0.6)	30.1	(0.4)	23.6	(0.4)	8.7	(0.4)
Sweden	0.19 (0.02)	1.07 (0.01)	37.9	(0.8)	35.0	(0.6)	19.7	(0.7)	7.4	(0.4)	43.5	(0.9)	32.7	(0.6)	18.4	(0.7)	5.4	(0.4)
Switzerland	-0.13 (0.02)	1.10 (0.01)	25.1	(0.7)	34.4	(0.8)	27.5	(0.7)	13.0	(0.5)	39.8	(0.9)	30.7	(0.8)	20.8	(0.7)	8.7	(0.5)
Türkiye	-0.24 (0.02)	1.13 (0.01)	27.7	(0.8)	30.0	(0.7)	30.1	(0.7)	12.2	(0.6)	25.4	(0.8)	30.4	(0.6)	30.6	(0.6)	13.6	(0.6)
United Kingdon <del>f</del>	0.26 (0.02)	1.07 (0.01)	36.8	(0.7)	33.9	(0.8)	22.6	(0.7)	6.7	(0.4)	49.2	(0.9)	30.1	(0.7)	16.7	(0.5)	4.0	(0.3)
United States*	0.25 (0.03)	1.12 (0.01)	40.4	(1.2)	31.3	(0.8)	21.4	(0.8)	6.8	(0.5)	51.0	(1.0)	28.6	(0.7)	15.7	(0.7)	4.7	(0.4)
OECD average	-0.03 (0.00)	1.09 (0.00)	30.9	(0.1)	32.4	(0.1)	26.1	(0.1)	10.7	(0.1)	38.2	(0.1)	32.0	(0.1)	22.1	(0.1)	7.7	(0.1)

# Table II.B1.3.1. Teacher support in mathematics [2/4]

#### Based on students' reports

				Percentage of s	tudents who rep	oorted that the	following happ	ens in their mat	hematics lessor	ns:
	Index of tea	cher support	The teacher	shows an inter	est in every stud	ent's learning		The teacher g when stud	ives extra help ents need it	
	Averag e	Variability	Every lesson	Most lessons	Some lessons	Never or hardly ever	Every lesson	Most lessons	Some lessons	Never or hardly ever
	Mean index S.E.	S.D. S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.
ខ្លួ Albania	0.41 (0.02) †	1.25 (0.02) †	56.7 (1.0)	18.8 (0.7) †	15.7 (0.6) †	8.8 (0.5) †	53.4 (0.9) †	22.3 (0.8) †	17.0 (0.6) †	7.3 (0.5) †
E Argentina	0.31 (0.03) †	1.13 (0.01) †	50.6 (1.0)	26.8 (0.6) †	17.3 (0.7) †	5.3 (0.3) †	45.8 (1.0) †	28.2 (0.7) †	19.2 (0.7) †	6.8 (0.5) †
Baku (Azerbaijan)	0.39 (0.02) †	1.24 (0.02) †	54.8 (1.0)	20.2 (0.7) †	16.7 (0.7) †	8.3 (0.5) †	53.1 (0.9) †	21.7 (0.7) †	18.0 (0.6) †	7.2 (0.4) †
Brazil	0.28 (0.02)	1.10 (0.01)	47.4 (0.7)	27.1 (0.6)	20.2 (0.5)	5.3 (0.3)	43.0 (0.8)	28.8 (0.6)	22.1 (0.6)	6.1 (0.3)
Brunei Darussalam	0.28 (0.01)	0.91 (0.01)	30.1 (0.7)	35.3 (0.7)	30.8 (0.6)	3.9 (0.3)	48.3 (0.7)	33.4 (0.6)	16.9 (0.5)	1.4 (0.1)
Bulgaria	-0.01 (0.03)	1.25 (0.01)	38.5 (1.0)	25.7 (0.7)	23.0 (0.7)	12.8 (0.7)	37.2 (1.1)	28.6 (0.7)	23.4 (0.7)	10.8 (0.7)
Cambodia	0.43 (0.02)	0.98 (0.01)	50.5 (0.8)	23.4 (0.7)	20.2 (0.6)	5.9 (0.3)	56.4 (0.9)	24.2 (0.7)	16.0 (0.6)	3.4 (0.4)
Croatia	-0.21 (0.02)	1.17 (0.01)	31.4 (0.7)	32.8 (0.7)	25.4 (0.7)	10.3 (0.6)	35.6 (0.9)	31.4 (0.6)	24.0 (0.7)	9.0 (0.5)
Cyprus	-0.22 (0.02) †	1.16 (0.01) †	29.8 (0.6)	28.4 (0.7) †	28.5 (0.7) †	13.3 (0.5) †	29.0 (0.7) †	31.6 (0.6) †	30.2 (0.7) †	9.3 (0.4) †
Dominican Republic	0.66 (0.03) †	1.08 (0.02) †	66.9 (1.1)	18.2 (0.7) †	10.9 (0.6) †	4.0 (0.3) †	60.0 (1.1) †	22.9 (0.6) †	13.2 (0.7) †	3.9 (0.4) †
El Salvador	0.59 (0.02)	1.13 (0.02)	61.2 (1.0)	20.8 (0.7)	13.3 (0.6)	4.6 (0.4)	58.6 (1.0)	22.4 (0.7)	15.0 (0.6)	4.1 (0.3)
Georgia	0.25 (0.03) †	1.12 (0.01) †	50.6 (1.1)	25.6 (0.6)	17.2 (0.7)	6.6 (0.4)	42.4 (1.0) †	27.3 (0.7) †	22.9 (0.8) †	7.4 (0.4) †
Guatemala	0.92 (0.02)	0.94 (0.02)	73.2 (1.0)	16.0 (0.6)	7.7 (0.5)	3.1 (0.4)	71.7 (1.0)	16.7 (0.6)	9.1 (0.5)	2.5 (0.3)
Hong Kong (China)*	0.12 (0.02)	1.10 (0.02)	31.3 (0.7)	39.2 (0.8)	25.3 (0.6)	4.2 (0.4)	38.3 (0.9)	37.5 (0.8)	20.9 (0.6)	3.3 (0.3)
Indonesia	0.08 (0.02)	1.05 (0.01)	34.0 (0.7)	22.9 (0.5)	34.5 (0.6)	8.6 (0.4)	36.6 (0.7)	27.2 (0.5)	30.7 (0.6)	5.5 (0.4)
Jamaica*	0.33 (0.03) †	1.12 (0.02) †	53.0 (1.3)	21.3 (0.9) †	20.9 (1.0) †	4.8 (0.5) †	48.3 (1.1) †	23.4 (1.0) †	22.5 (1.0) †	5.8 (0.6) †
Jordan	0.23 (0.02)	1.20 (0.01)	49.2 (0.9)	23.1 (0.7)	18.2 (0.6)	9.5 (0.5)	45.3 (0.8)	27.8 (0.7)	19.9 (0.6)	7.0 (0.4)
Kazakhstan	0.46 (0.01)	1.09 (0.01)	50.8 (0.6)	26.0 (0.4)	17.8 (0.4)	5.4 (0.2)	55.2 (0.6)	26.7 (0.4)	14.3 (0.3)	3.9 (0.2)
Kosovo	0.19 (0.02)	1.16 (0.01)	44.7 (0.8)	21.5 (0.6)	22.1 (0.6)	11.6 (0.5)	46.2 (0.9)	25.2 (0.8)	20.9 (0.7)	7.8 (0.4)
Macao (China)	0.00 (0.01)	0.94 (0.01)	27.7 (0.7)	38.0 (0.7)	29.8 (0.7)	4.5 (0.3)	36.1 (0.8)	37.5 (0.7)	23.1 (0.7)	3.2 (0.3)
Malaysia	0.33 (0.02)	1.01 (0.01)	39.7 (0.7)	30.8 (0.7)	24.3 (0.7)	5.3 (0.3)	48.5 (0.8)	31.1 (0.6)	16.9 (0.6)	3.5 (0.3)
Malta	0.13 (0.02)	1.14 (0.01)	37.5 (0.8)	29.7 (0.8)	23.9 (0.8)	8.8 (0.6)	41.8 (0.8)	30.9 (0.8)	20.0 (0.8)	7.4 (0.5)
Moldova	0.13 (0.02)	1.13 (0.01)	40.4 (0.8)	29.0 (0.7)	22.0 (0.7)	8.6 (0.4)	40.7 (0.8)	30.2 (0.5)	22.0 (0.7)	7.1 (0.4)
Mongolia	-0.19 (0.02)	1.11 (0.01)	29.0 (0.7)	27.1 (0.6)	33.2 (0.7)	10.7 (0.5)	27.8 (0.6)	31.1 (0.6)	33.2 (0.7)	7.9 (0.4)
Montenegro	-0.13 (0.02)	1.25 (0.01)	35.0 (0.8)	27.4 (0.7)	25.0 (0.7)	12.6 (0.5)	34.4 (0.7)	30.4 (0.7)	25.4 (0.6)	9.7 (0.4)
Могоссо	0.06 (0.03) †	1.21 (0.01) †	45.8 (1.1)	21.4 (0.7) †	20.3 (0.7) †	12.4 (0.6) †	41.3 (1.0) †	25.8 (0.7) †	22.2 (0.8) †	10.7 (0.5) †
North Macedonia	0.22 (0.02)	1.23 (0.01)	48.4 (0.7)	23.6 (0.6)	20.4 (0.6)	7.6 (0.4)	47.6 (0.8)	24.7 (0.6)	20.0 (0.6)	7.7 (0.4)
Palestinian Authority	0.32 (0.02)	1.19 (0.01)	51.3 (0.9)	21.3 (0.6)	18.3 (0.6)	9.1 (0.5)	49.6 (0.9)	25.2 (0.6)	18.6 (0.6)	6.7 (0.4)
Panama*	0.48 (0.03) †	1.09 (0.02) †	56.1 (1.1)	24.1 (0.8) †	15.6 (0.9) †	4.2 (0.5) †	54.2 (1.3) †	25.7 (0.9) †	16.1 (0.9) †	4.0 (0.5) †
Paraguay	0.76 (0.02)	0.99 (0.02)	67.0 (0.9)	19.9 (0.6)	10.1 (0.5)	3.0 (0.3)	64.9 (1.0)	21.2 (0.7)	9.9 (0.5)	3.9 (0.4)
Peru	0.50 (0.02)	1.00 (0.01)	53.8 (0.9)	28.1 (0.7)	15.8 (0.6)	2.3 (0.2)	52.7 (0.9)	29.3 (0.7)	15.8 (0.6)	2.3 (0.2)
Philippines	0.50 (0.02)	1.02 (0.01)	54.3 (0.6)	25.1 (0.6)	16.2 (0.5)	4.4 (0.3)	55.1 (0.8)	25.9 (0.6)	16.2 (0.6)	2.8 (0.3)
Qatar	0.33 (0.02)	1.20 (0.01)	47.8 (0.9)	25.6 (0.7)	18.0 (0.7)	8.5 (0.5)	51.5 (0.8)	26.1 (0.6)	16.5 (0.6)	6.0 (0.4)
Romania	-0.16 (0.03)	1.21 (0.01)	31.4 (0.9)	26.0 (0.6)	27.6 (0.8)	15.1 (0.6)	33.8 (0.9)	27.4 (0.5)	26.8 (0.7)	12.1 (0.6)
Saudi Arabia	0.49 (0.02)	1.20 (0.01)	55.9 (0.8)	20.5 (0.6)	15.8 (0.5)	7.8 (0.5)	56.4 (0.8)	20.7 (0.6)	16.7 (0.5)	6.2 (0.3)
Serbia	-0.18 (0.03)	1.24 (0.01)	33.3 (0.9)	27.2 (0.6)	26.0 (0.7)	13.5 (0.6)	36.0 (0.9)	30.4 (0.6)	24.2 (0.7)	9.4 (0.5)
Singapore	0.38 (0.01)	0.98 (0.01)	37.9 (0.6)	38.7 (0.6)	19.8 (0.5)	3.6 (0.2)	51.2 (0.6)	34.7 (0.7)	12.2 (0.4)	1.9 (0.2)
Chinese Taipei	0.24 (0.02)	0.99 (0.01)	34.7 (0.8)	37.8 (0.8)	23.6 (0.7)	3.9 (0.3)	45.3 (0.8)	36.8 (0.8)	15.1 (0.6)	2.7 (0.3)
Thailand	0.34 (0.02)	1.13 (0.01)	49.1 (0.9)	26.6 (0.6)	20.1 (0.6)	4.2 (0.3)	48.2 (0.8)	27.6 (0.6)	20.3 (0.6)	3.9 (0.3)
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	-0.03 (0.04)	1.07 (0.02)	30.4 (1.5)	36.4 (1.2)	25.2 (1.2)	8.0 (0.5)	31.3 (1.6)	38.7 (1.1)	23.3 (1.1)	6.6 (0.5)
United Arab Emirates	0.23 (0.01)	1.19 (0.01)	42.6 (0.4)	27.7 (0.3)	20.7 (0.4)	9.0 (0.2)	46.7 (0.4)	28.3 (0.4)	18.5 (0.3)	6.6 (0.2)
Uruguay	0.13 (0.03)	1.14 (0.01)	38.7 (0.9)	29.5 (0.7)	24.1 (0.7)	7.6 (0.5)	39.5 (0.9)	31.7 (0.5)	22.3 (0.7)	6.5 (0.5)
Uzbekistan	0.39 (0.02)	1.19 (0.01)	53.7 (0.8)	24.0 (0.6)	14.5 (0.6)	7.8 (0.4)	51.4 (0.8)	27.2 (0.6)	15.1 (0.5)	6.3 (0.4)
Viet Nam	0.45 (0.02)	1.02 (0.01)	46.2 (0.9)	30.4 (0.7)	18.7 (0.7)	4.7 (0.4)	52.6 (0.8)	30.5 (0.7)	14.2 (0.6)	2.7 (0.3)

# Table II.B1.3.1. Teacher support in mathematics [3/4]

Based on students' reports

				Percenta	ge of stı	idents who	reporte	d that the	followir	ng happens	in their	mathemat	ics lesso	ns:		
		The	teacher	helps stud	lents wit	h their lea	ning			The teach	er conti	nues teach	ing until	students	understa	and
	Ever	y lesson	Most	lessons	Some	elessons	Ne	ver or Ily ever	Ever	y lesson	Most	lessons	Some	lessons	Ne haro	ever or dly ever
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
G Australia*	44.7	(0.5)	35.1	(0.5)	16.5	(0.3)	3.8	(0.2)	36.4	(0.5)	32.3	(0.5)	23.0	(0.4)	8.3	(0.3)
Ö Austria	26.0	(0.8)	25.1	(0.7)	27.1	(0.7)	21.8	(0.7)	29.1	(0.8)	23.9	(0.6)	25.3	(0.6)	21.7	(0.8)
Belgium	31.7	(0.8)	30.0	(0.5)	26.3	(0.7)	12.0	(0.5)	31.9	(0.9)	29.2	(0.6)	26.9	(0.6)	12.0	(0.5)
Canada*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Chile	52.7	(1.0)	30.3	(0.7)	14.2	(0.6)	2.8	(0.4)	49.6	(1.1)	26.7	(0.7)	17.3	(0.7)	6.3	(0.5)
Colombia	58.0	(1.1)	26.7	(0.7)	12.9	(0.5)	2.4	(0.2)	52.9	(1.2)	25.1	(0.7)	17.0	(0.6)	5.1	(0.4)
Costa Rica	62.1	(0.9)	22.4	(0.7)	12.6	(0.6)	2.9	(0.3)	57.8	(0.9)	21.3	(0.6)	14.4	(0.6)	6.4	(0.4)
Czech Republic	23.9	(0.8)	30.2	(0.5)	31.6	(0.6)	14.4	(0.7)	19.7	(0.7)	25.3	(0.7)	32.0	(0.7)	22.9	(0.9)
Denmark*	40.6	(1.0)	40.5	(0.8)	16.4	(0.6)	2.5	(0.2)	32.9	(1.0)	37.3	(0.8)	22.8	(0.8)	7.1	(0.4)
Estonia	35.9	(0.9)	34.7	(0.7)	23.7	(0.7)	5.7	(0.4)	25.4	(0.8)	31.4	(0.7)	29.7	(0.7)	13.5	(0.5)
Finland	42.3	(0.9)	35.9	(0.6)	17.9	(0.6)	3.8	(0.3)	29.3	(0.8)	35.5	(0.6)	26.9	(0.6)	8.2	(0.4)
France	35.5	(0.7)	30.6	(0.7)	22.8	(0.5)	11.1	(0.5)	31.6	(0.8)	27.3	(0.7)	24.9	(0.5)	16.2	(0.5)
Germany	33.6	(0.8)	29.9	(0.7)	24.6	(0.7)	11.8	(0.6)	30.6	(0.8)	28.1	(0.6)	25.7	(0.6)	15.6	(0.6)
Greece	31.4	(0.8)	32.2	(0.6)	28.3	(0.8)	8.1	(0.4)	23.5	(0.7)	27.5	(0.7)	31.3	(0.8)	17.8	(0.7)
Hungary	29.7	(0.9)	33.5	(0.6)	25.3	(0.7)	11.5	(0.6)	27.1	(0.9)	28.4	(0.7)	28.5	(0.7)	15.9	(0.7)
Iceland	46.0	(0.9)	37.0	(0.9)	13.8	(0.7)	3.1	(0.3)	39.3	(0.9)	35.3	(0.9)	19.5	(0.8)	5.9	(0.5)
Irelan d*	45.8	(0.9)	31.9	(0.7)	17.6	(0.6)	4.7	(0.3)	35.1	(0.8)	28.7	(0.7)	24.9	(0.6)	11.3	(0.6)
Israel	44.2	(0.9)	28.0	(0.7)	21.1	(0.6)	6.7	(0.4)	46.2	(0.9)	25.5	(0.6)	19.7	(0.7)	8.6	(0.4)
Italy	32.8	(0.8)	35.8	(0.7)	23.8	(0.7)	7.6	(0.3)	29.8	(0.8)	30.5	(0.6)	26.7	(0.6)	13.0	(0.6)
Japan	47.9	(1.1)	37.4	(0.8)	10.9	(0.6)	3.9	(0.3)	40.0	(1.1)	38.8	(0.7)	15.2	(0.7)	5.9	(0.4)
Korea	44.2	(1.2)	38.4	(0.8)	13.7	(1.1)	3.7	(0.4)	29.7	(0.9)	35.1	(0.8)	27.0	(0.9)	8.3	(0.6)
Latvia*	37.7	(1.1)	35.3	(0.7)	21.6	(0.8)	5.5	(0.4)	24.7	(0.9)	30.4	(0.8)	30.4	(0.8)	14.5	(0.7)
Lithuania	35.9	(0.8)	34.8	(0.7)	23.7	(0.6)	5.7	(0.3)	29.6	(0.8)	29.4	(0.6)	29.8	(0.6)	11.2	(0.5)
Mexico	56.0	(0.9)	27.0	(0.7)	14.0	(0.7)	3.0	(0.3)	51.9	(0.9)	24.7	(0.7)	17.6	(0.6)	5.8	(0.4)
Netherlands*	19.8	(0.8)	35.2	(0.7)	31.6	(0.7)	13.4	(0.7)	21.7	(0.9)	33.7	(0.7)	32.2	(0.8)	12.5	(0.6)
New Zealand*	45.3	(0.8)	32.8	(0.7)	18.0	(0.7)	3.9	(0.3)	34.1	(0.8)	30.4	(0.7)	24.6	(0.7)	10.9	(0.6)
Norway	32.4	(0.9)	38.3	(0.7)	22.8	(0.6)	6.4	(0.4)	26.7	(0.8)	33.3	(0.6)	28.9	(0.7)	11.0	(0.5)
Poland	20.2	(0.7)	30.0	(0.7)	32.2	(0.6)	17.6	(0.8)	19.4	(0.7)	24.9	(0.7)	32.8	(0.7)	23.0	(0.8)
Portugal	51.2	(0.8)	29.6	(0.6)	15.4	(0.6)	3.8	(0.3)	46.1	(0.9)	28.6	(0.6)	19.7	(0.7)	5.6	(0.3)
Slovak Republic	31.6	(1.0)	29.7	(0.7)	26.4	(0.7)	12.3	(0.6)	28.5	(0.8)	25.6	(0.7)	28.8	(0.6)	17.1	(0.7)
Slovenia	23.5	(0.7)	28.4	(0.8)	30.5	(0.7)	17.6	(0.6)	22.7	(0.7)	28.8	(0.7)	30.9	(0.7)	17.6	(0.5)
Spain	41.8	(0.7)	31.6	(0.4)	21.1	(0.4)	5.4	(0.2)	38.1	(0.7)	27.0	(0.4)	24.6	(0.4)	10.3	(0.4)
Sweden	45.4	(0.9)	33.7	(0.6)	16.3	(0.6)	4.6	(0.3)	41.2	(0.9)	31.6	(0.7)	19.6	(0.6)	7.7	(0.4)
Switzerland	36.7	(0.8)	30.6	(0.7)	22.1	(0.7)	10.6	(0.6)	33.9	(0.9)	28.6	(0.8)	24.1	(0.5)	13.3	(0.7)
Türkiye	31.5	(0.7)	34.3	(0.6)	25.6	(0.7)	8.6	(0.5)	30.1	(0.8)	30.9	(0.6)	27.6	(0.7)	11.4	(0.5)
United Kingdom*	52.5	(0.9)	29.6	(0.6)	15.0	(0.5)	3.0	(0.3)	42.4	(0.8)	29.6	(0.6)	20.1	(0.7)	7.9	(0.5)
United States*	53.7	(1.0)	27.8	(0.8)	14.2	(0.7)	4.3	(0.3)	41.3	(1.0)	27.0	(0.7)	22.2	(0.9)	9.5	(0.5)
OECD average	39.6	(0.1)	32.1	(0.1)	20.9	(0.1)	7.5	(0.1)	34.2	(0.1)	29.4	(0.1)	24.8	(0.1)	11.6	(0.1)

# Table II.B1.3.1. Teacher support in mathematics [4/4]

Based on students' reports

						Percer	ntag	e of stu	dents who	reporte	ed that t	hei	followir	ng happen:	s in their	mathem	natio	cs lesso	ns:				
			•	The	teacher	helps s	tud	ents wit	h their lea	rning				The teac	ner cont	inues tea	achi	ng until	studer	nts ı	Indersta	and	
		Every	/ lessor	ı	Most	lessons	5	Some	lessons	Ne hare	ever or dly ever		Evei	y lesson	Mos	t lessons	3	Some	lesson	s	Ne haro	ver or Ily ever	
		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	
욉 Albania		57.3	(1.1)	†	19.0	(0.7)	1	17.1	(0.7) †	6.6	(0.5)	†	55.2	(1.0) †	18.5	(0.7)	†	16.7	(0.6)	†	9.6	(0.5)	†
hrgentina		51.0	(1.0)	†	27.9	(0.7)	†	16.8	(0.6) †	4.3	(0.4)	†	47.7	(1.0) †	24.8	(0.6)	†	19.3	(0.6)	†	8.2	(0.5)	†
Baku (Azerbaijan)		58.7	(0.9)	†	18.5	(0.7)	1	16.7	(0.6) †	6.1	(0.4)	†	54.0	(0.9) †	18.8	(0.6)	†	17.5	(0.6)	†	9.8	(0.5)	†
Brazil		49.2	(0.8)	_	29.8	(0.7)	_	17.4	(0.5)	3.6	(0.3)		47.2	(0.7)	26.1	(0.5)		20.0	(0.5)		6.8	(0.3)	
Brunei Darussalam		52.4	(0.7)		32.1	(0.6)		14.3	(0.4)	1.2	(0.1)		48.5	(0.7)	30.3	(0.6)		18.4	(0.6)		2.8	(0.2)	
Bulgaria		40.6	(1.2)	_	28.0	(0.7)	_	22.1	(0.8)	9.2	(0.6)		40.9	(1.2)	23.5	(0.6)		22.0	(0.8)		13.5	(0.6)	
Cambodia		53.3	(0.9)		25.0	(0.8)		17.9	(0.7)	3.8	(0.4)		60.9	(0.8)	20.3	(0.7)		14.9	(0.7)		3.9	(0.3)	
Croatia		30.5	(0.8)		28.9	(0.6)	_	27.0	(0.7)	13.6	(0.7)		27.1	(0.8)	26.1	(0.7)		29.3	(0.6)	_	17.5	(0.7)	
Cyprus		31.8	(0.7)	†	30.4	(0.7)	1	29.3	(0.6) †	8.4	(0.5)	†	29.1	(0.6) †	26.4	(0.7)	†	30.5	(0.7)	†	14.0	(0.5)	†
Dominican Republic		64.1	(1.1)	†	20.9	(0.7)	†	11.7	(0.6) †	3.3	(0.3)	†	61.2	(1.1) †	19.6	(0.7)	†	13.2	(0.7)	†	6.1	(0.5)	†
El Salvador		61.8	(1.0)		22.0	(0.7)		12.8	(0.5)	3.4	(0.3)		57.7	(1.1)	20.8	(0.7)		15.1	(0.7)		6.5	(0.5)	
Georgia		50.5	(1.0)		26.5	(0.7)	_	17.8	(0.7)	5.2	(0.3)		47.0	(1.0)	24.0	(0.6)		19.7	(0.7)	_	9.4	(0.5)	
Guatemala		77.2	(1.0)		15.2	(0.7)		6.0	(0.5)	1.7	(0.3)		74.0	(1.0)	14.2	(0.5)		8.6	(0.6)		3.2	(0.4)	
Hong Kong (China)*	r	40.3	(0.9)		37.9	(0.8)	_	18.9	(0.7)	2.8	(0.3)		32.6	(0.8)	35.4	(0.7)		26.7	(0.7)		5.3	(0.4)	
Indonesia		47.6	(0.8)		25.7	(0.6)		22.5	(0.6)	4.2	(0.3)		46.8	(0.8)	25.5	(0.5)		22.6	(0.6)		5.1	(0.4)	
Jamaica*		54.6	(1.2)	†	22.5	(0.8)	†	19.0	(1.0) †	4.0	(0.5)	†	48.1	(1.4) †	21.6	(0.9)	†	23.1	(0.9)	†	7.2	(0.7)	†
Jordan		48.6	(0.8)		24.6	(0.6)		19.7	(0.6)	7.1	(0.4)		48.6	(0.9)	21.6	(0.7)		18.7	(0.6)		11.1	(0.4)	
Kazakhstan		56.8	(0.6)		26.2	(0.4)		13.8	(0.4)	3.3	(0.1)		53.9	(0.6)	25.0	(0.4)		15.5	(0.4)		5.6	(0.2)	
Kosovo		51.1	(0.9)		21.9	(0.7)		21.0	(0.7)	6.0	(0.4)		50.5	(0.8)	20.3	(0.7)		18.6	(0.5)		10.6	(0.5)	
Macao (China)		38.2	(0.8)		38.2	(0.7)		21.3	(0.7)	2.3	(0.2)		27.4	(0.7)	33.8	(0.7)		32.7	(0.7)		6.1	(0.3)	
Malaysia		53.8	(0.8)		28.7	(0.6)		14.8	(0.5)	2.8	(0.2)		51.8	(0.7)	27.2	(0.6)		16.6	(0.5)		4.3	(0.3)	
Malta		45.6	(0.9)		30.9	(0.9)		18.6	(0.8)	4.9	(0.4)		42.0	(1.0)	28.5	(0.8)		20.2	(0.8)		9.3	(0.5)	
Moldova		47.2	(0.9)		27.7	(0.7)		19.4	(0.7)	5.7	(0.4)		42.0	(0.9)	25.5	(0.6)		22.7	(0.6)		9.8	(0.5)	
Mongolia		33.3	(0.7)		33.5	(0.6)		27.4	(0.6)	5.8	(0.3)		27.8	(0.7)	27.9	(0.7)		33.7	(0.7)		10.7	(0.5)	
Montenegro		33.1	(0.7)		27.6	(0.7)		27.8	(0.7)	11.5	(0.5)		34.3	(0.7)	25.5	(0.6)		26.3	(0.7)		13.9	(0.5)	
Morocco		46.3	(1.0)	†	23.4	(0.6)	†	21.2	(0.7) †	9.1	(0.4)	†	44.0	(1.0) †	22.0	(0.7)	t	20.6	(0.6)	†	13.4	(0.6)	†
North Macedonia		47.4	(0.8)		23.6	(0.7)		21.2	(0.7)	7.8	(0.4)		47.5	(0.8)	21.4	(0.6)		20.4	(0.6)		10.7	(0.5)	
Palestinian Authority	/	53.7	(0.9)		21.5	(0.6)		18.5	(0.6)	6.3	(0.4)		54.1	(0.9)	18.9	(0.5)		17.4	(0.6)		9.6	(0.5)	
Panama*		58.4	(1.3)	†	24.1	(1.0)	†	14.6	(1.0) †	2.8	(0.4)	†	51.4	(1.2) †	22.9	(1.0)	†	18.8	(1.0)	†	6.9	(0.5)	†
Paraguay		71.0	(0.9)		19.5	(0.7)		7.6	(0.5)	1.9	(0.2)		66.8	(0.9)	17.8	(0.7)		10.7	(0.5)		4.7	(0.4)	
Peru		56.0	(0.9)		29.6	(0.8)		12.7	(0.5)	1.6	(0.2)		50.1	(0.9)	28.4	(0.6)		17.7	(0.6)		3.8	(0.3)	
Philippines		57.1	(0.7)		24.3	(0.6)		15.4	(0.6)	3.3	(0.3)		57.3	(0.8)	22.6	(0.6)		15.4	(0.5)		4.7	(0.4)	
Qatar		53.4	(0.9)		24.6	(0.7)		16.1	(0.6)	5.8	(0.4)		51.1	(0.8)	22.7	(0.7)		17.1	(0.6)		9.1	(0.5)	
Romania		37.3	(0.9)		26.2	(0.6)		25.2	(0.7)	11.3	(0.6)		37.6	(0.9)	23.7	(0.6)		26.0	(0.6)		12.7	(0.5)	
Saudi Arabia		62.9	(0.8)		17.3	(0.5)		14.3	(0.5)	5.5	(0.3)		61.0	(0.8)	17.0	(0.5)		14.6	(0.5)		7.4	(0.4)	
Serbia		31.7	(0.8)		27.1	(0.6)		28.2	(0.6)	13.0	(0.6)		32.2	(1.0)	24.2	(0.6)		27.8	(0.7)		15.8	(0.6)	
Singapore		53.1	(0.6)		34.4	(0.6)		10.9	(0.3)	1.7	(0.1)		44.6	(0.6)	34.3	(0.6)		17.6	(0.5)		3.5	(0.2)	
Chinese Taipei		47.3	(0.8)		36.9	(0.8)		13.5	(0.6)	2.3	(0.2)		37.0	(0.8)	34.9	(0.8)		24.0	(0.8)		4.1	(0.4)	
Thailand		49.8	(0.8)		27.5	(0.6)		19.2	(0.6)	3.5	(0.3)		46.1	(0.9)	26.5	(0.7)		22.2	(0.6)		5.2	(0.3)	
Ukrainian regions (18	3 of 27)	35.9	(1.6)		36.9	(1.1)		22.0	(1.1)	5.2	(0.5)		33.6	(1.6)	30.9	(0.9)		26.1	(1.2)		9.4	(0.6)	
United Arab Emirates	5	49.9	(0.4)		27.1	(0.4)		17.2	(0.3)	5.7	(0.2)		47.7	(0.4)	24.5	(0.3)		18.6	(0.3)		9.2	(0.2)	
Uruguay		43.4	(1.0)		31.7	(0.7)		20.0	(0.6)	4.9	(0.4)		41.2	(0.9)	27.5	(0.8)		22.2	(0.8)		9.0	(0.5)	
Uzbekistan		54.1	(0.8)		25.8	(0.5)		14.4	(0.5)	5.8	(0.3)		52.3	(0.8)	24.6	(0.6)		14.2	(0.5)		8.9	(0.4)	
Viet Nam		54.9	(0.8)		30.2	(0.6)		12.1	(0.5)	2.8	(0.3)		52.7	(0.8)	28.7	(0.6)		14.8	(0.6)		3.8	(0.3)	

#### Table II.B1.3.9. Disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons [1/8]

#### Based on students' reports

						Percentag	ge of stude in f	nts who rep their mathen	orted that t natics lesso	he followin: ns:	g happens	
	Inc	lex of discip	linary clima	ate <sup>1</sup>		:	Students d	o not listen	to what the	teacher sai	d	
	Ave	rage	Varia	ability	Every	lesson	Most le	essons	Some I	essons	Never or h	ardly ever
	Mean index	S.E.	S.D.	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
유 Australia*	-0.24	(0.01)	0.91	(0.01)	10.3	(0.4) †	22.8	(0.4) †	50.7	(0.6) †	16.2	(0.6) †
Ö Austria	0.36	(0.02)	1.06	(0.01)	12.2	(0.6) †	12.6	(0.7) †	26.8	(0.7) †	48.5	(1.1) †
Belgium	-0.12	(0.02)	0.94	(0.01)	12.0	(0.7) †	20.7	(0.6) †	48.5	(0.8) †	18.9	(0.8) †
Canada*	-0.08	(0.01)	0.93	(0.01)	9.7	(0.4) †	19.4	(0.6) †	49.0	(0.6) †	21.8	(0.6) †
Chile	-0.32	(0.02)	0.86	(0.01)	8.5	(0.5) †	24.4	(1.0) †	51.1	(0.9) †	16.0	(0.8) †
Colombia	-0.01	(0.02)	0.92	(0.01)	8.7	(0.7) †	16.5	(0.8) †	55.1	(1.1) †	19.6	(1.1) †
Costa Rica	-0.07	(0.02)	0.90	(0.01)	8.5	(0.5) †	19.0	(0.7) †	48.4	(1.0) †	24.1	(1.1) †
Czech Republic	-0.03	(0.02)	0.97	(0.01)	14.8	(0.7) †	20.1	(0.7) †	48.5	(0.8) †	16.7	(0.7) †
Denmark*	0.03	(0.02)	0.79	(0.01)	6.5	(0.4) †	15.8	(0.8) †	54.1	(1.1) †	23.6	(1.2) †
Estonia	0.14	(0.02)	0.92	(0.01)	8.1	(0.5) †	19.0	(0.8) †	52.4	(0.9) †	20.5	(0.9) †
Finland	-0.22	(0.02)	0.86	(0.01)	8.6	(0.5) †	26.3	(0.7) †	52.3	(0.9) †	12.8	(0.6) †
France	-0.23	(0.02)	0.96	(0.01)	16.5	(0.6) †	26.0	(0.7) †	44.2	(0.9) †	13.3	(0.6) †
Germany	-0.02	(0.02)	0.99	(0.01)	17.8	(0.8) †	20.2	(0.8) †	41.2	(0.9) †	20.8	(0.8) †
Greece	-0.27	(0.02)	0.87	(0.01)	16.3	(0.8) †	26.9	(0.9) †	44.1	(1.0) †	12.8	(0.8) †
Hungary	0.05	(0.02)	0.96	(0.01)	10.9	(0.6) †	20.6	(0.9) †	52.4	(1.1) †	16.1	(0.8) †
Iceland	-0.11	(0.01)	0.88	(0.01)	7.8	(0.5) †	18.3	(0.8) †	54.6	(1.0) †	19.3	(0.8) †
Ireland*	0.18	(0.02)	0.91	(0.01)	8.5	(0.5) †	20.3	(0.6) †	51.8	(0.8) †	19.4	(0.8) †
Israel	0.05	(0.03)	1.06	(0.01)	12.7	(0.6) †	17.4	(0.8) †	37.6	(0.9) †	32.3	(1.2) †
Italy	-0.09	(0.02)	0.91	(0.01)	9.2	(0.5) †	24.1	(0.7) †	49.4	(0.9) †	17.3	(0.7) †
Japan	1.09	(0.02)	0.79	(0.01)	1.0	(0.2) †	4.7	(0.4) †	35.2	(1.1) †	59.0	(1.3) †
Korea	0.84	(0.02)	0.88	(0.01)	1.7	(0.3) †	5.6	(0.5) †	32.9	(1.0) †	59.9	(1.3) †
Latvia*	-0.03	(0.02)	0.91	(0.01)	11.8	(0.6) †	21.9	(0.8) †	49.0	(0.9) †	17.3	(0.9) †
Lithuania	0.21	(0.02)	0.97	(0.01)	7.5	(0.5) †	15.9	(0.7) †	51.6	(0.8) †	25.1	(0.9) †
Mexico	0.21	(0.02)	0.91	(0.01)	7.1	(0.5) †	14.3	(0.6) †	52.7	(0.7) †	25.8	(1.0) †
Netherlands*	-0.15	(0.02)	0.86	(0.01)	6.8	(0.5) †	20.2	(0.8) †	53.9	(0.9) †	19.2	(1.0) †
New Zealand*	-0.33	(0.02)	0.91	(0.01)	13.2	(0.8) †	27.3	(0.9) †	46.3	(1.0) †	13.1	(0.7) †
Norway	-0.08	(0.02)	0.84	(0.01)	6.4	(0.4) †	17.4	(0.7) †	54.6	(0.8) †	21.6	(0.9) †
Poland	-0.05	(0.03)	1.00	(0.01)	14.0	(0.8) †	22.1	(0.8) †	47.1	(1.0) †	16.7	(0.7) †
Portugal	0.03	(0.02)	0.89	(0.01)	6.9	(0.4) †	17.7	(0.7) †	52.3	(0.9) †	23.1	(0.8) †
Slovak Republic	0.06	(0.03)	0.98	(0.01)	12.8	(0.7) †	22.1	(0.9) †	47.7	(1.0) †	17.4	(0.9) †
Slovenia	0.07	(0.01)	0.96	(0.01)	12.0	(0.6) †	27.2	(0.8) †	45.7	(0.8) †	15.0	(0.6) †
Spain	-0.08	(0.01)	0.91	(0.01)	10.9	(0.3) †	27.2	(0.6) †	46.2	(0.5) †	15.6	(0.5) †
Sweden	-0.32	(0.02)	0.92	(0.01)	29.9	(0.9) †	27.7	(0.8) †	33.3	(0.9) †	9.1	(0.5) †
Switzerland	0.11	(0.02)	0.92	(0.01)	12.3	(0.7) †	18.7	(0.6) †	46.5	(1.1) †	22.5	(1.0) †
Türkiye	-0.05	(0.02)	0.93	(0.01)	9.3	(0.5) †	20.8	(0.7) †	53.6	(0.9) †	16.2	(0.7) †
United Kingdon <sup>†</sup>	0.10	(0.02)	0.96	(0.01)	9.0	(0.6) †	19.3	(0.7) †	50.2	(1.1) †	21.5	(1.0) †
United States*	0.24	(0.02)	0.95	(0.01)	6.9	(0.6) †	16.0	(0.8) †	48.6	(1.1) †	28.5	(1.0) †
OECD average	0.02	(0.00)	0.92	(0.00)	10.5	(0.1)	19.9	(0.1)	47.6	(0.1)	22.1	(0.1)

1. Higher values in the index indicate a more positive disciplinary climate.

## Table II.B1.3.9. Disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons [2/8]

#### Based on students' reports

_							Percentaç	ge of studer in t	nts who repo heir mathen	orted that t natics lesso	he followin ns:	g happens	
		Inc	dex of discip	linary clima	ate <sup>1</sup>		:	Students d	o not listen f	o what the	teacher sai	d	
		Ave	rage	Varia	ability	Every I	esson	Most le	essons	Somel	essons	Never or h	ardly ever
		Mean index	S.E.	S.D.	S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.		S.E.	%	S.E.
S A	Ibania	0.09	(0.02) †	1.10	(0.01) †	13.6	(0.7) ‡	14.1	(0.8) ‡	43.0	(1.2) ‡	29.3	(1.0) ‡
h ar	rgentina	-0.47	(0.02) †	0.93	(0.01) †	16.5	(0.7) †	27.1	(0.7) †	43.7	(0.8) †	12.6	(0.6) †
≏ B	aku (Azerbaijan)	-0.06	(0.02) †	1.12	(0.01) †	13.8	(0.7) ‡	22.2	(0.9) ‡	37.9	(1.0) ‡	26.1	(0.9) ‡
В	razil	-0.34	(0.01)	0.89	(0.01)	12.4	(0.5) †	25.6	(0.6) †	45.1	(0.6) †	16.9	(0.6) †
В	runei Darussalam	0.32	(0.01)	0.80	(0.01)	3.7	(0.3) †	10.9	(0.4) †	62.5	(0.7) †	22.9	(0.7) †
В	ulgaria	-0.32	(0.03)	1.09	(0.01)	23.6	(0.8) †	24.3	(0.8) †	34.2	(0.8) †	18.0	(0.9) †
С	ambodia	0.32	(0.02)	0.97	(0.01)	8.2	(0.5)	11.9	(0.4)	48.6	(1.0)	31.3	(1.0)
С	roatia	0.14	(0.02)	0.96	(0.01)	9.9	(0.6) †	25.4	(0.8) †	50.3	(1.0) †	14.4	(0.7) †
С	yprus	-0.19	(0.01) †	0.99	(0.01) †	16.6	(0.7) †	22.6	(0.8) †	43.9	(1.1) †	16.9	(0.6) †
D	ominican Republic	-0.04	(0.02) †	1.02	(0.01) †	15.1	(0.8) ‡	18.8	(0.7) ‡	42.9	(0.9) ‡	23.1	(0.9) ‡
E	l Salvador	0.12	(0.03)	1.02	(0.01)	13.0	(0.7) †	17.3	(0.7) †	47.4	(1.0) †	22.3	(1.0) †
G	eorgia	0.13	(0.02)	1.03	(0.01)	11.6	(0.5) †	16.4	(0.8) †	47.3	(0.8) †	24.7	(1.0) †
G	uatemala	0.56	(0.02)	0.95	(0.01)	9.7	(0.5)	9.7	(0.5)	44.2	(0.8)	36.4	(0.9)
Н	ong Kong (China)*	0.33	(0.02)	0.95	(0.01)	6.3	(0.5) †	10.4	(0.6) †	47.2	(1.0) †	36.1	(1.0) †
Ir	Idonesia	0.04	(0.02)	0.99	(0.01)	10.4	(0.6) †	13.4	(0.6) †	44.9	(0.9) †	31.3	(1.0) †
J	amaica*	-0.14	(0.02) †	0.94	(0.02) †	12.5	(0.8) †	23.7	(1.1) †	46.6	(1.2) †	17.2	(1.1) †
J	ordan	-0.19	(0.02)	1.09	(0.01)	18.1	(0.8) †	21.2	(0.7) †	32.8	(0.9) †	28.0	(0.8) †
к	azakhstan	0.35	(0.01)	1.03	(0.01)	11.9	(0.4) †	10.5	(0.4) †	44.0	(0.6) †	33.6	(0.6) †
K	050V0	-0.09	(0.02)	1.02	(0.01)	17.9	(0.7) †	18.0	(0.8) †	46.6	(0.9) †	17.5	(0.8) †
Ν	acao (China)	0.38	(0.01)	0.88	(0.01)	4.1	(0.4) †	13.0	(0.6) †	52.9	(1.0) †	29.9	(0.8) †
Ν	alaysia	0.21	(0.02)	0.95	(0.01)	9.2	(0.6) †	12.1	(0.6) †	49.5	(0.8) †	29.2	(0.7) †
Ν	alta	-0.20	(0.02)	0.94	(0.01)	15.7	(0.8) †	23.5	(0.9) †	43.8	(1.0) †	17.0	(0.8) †
Ν	oldova	-0.01	(0.02)	0.94	(0.01)	9.7	(0.6) †	23.6	(0.8) †	48.4	(0.8) †	18.3	(0.8) †
Ν	ongolia	-0.09	(0.01)	0.85	(0.01)	9.1	(0.4) †	15.1	(0.6) †	58.2	(0.7) †	17.6	(0.6) †
Ν	ontenegro	-0.03	(0.01)	1.04	(0.01)	15.6	(0.6) †	23.2	(0.8) †	44.4	(1.0) †	16.8	(0.6) †
Ν	orocco	-0.34	(0.02)	0.97	(0.01)	21.4	(0.8) †	25.1	(0.8) †	36.8	(0.8) †	16.7	(0.8) †
N	orth Macedonia	0.06	(0.01)	1.07	(0.01)	16.7	(0.7) †	17.6	(0.6) †	44.4	(0.8) †	21.4	(0.6) †
Р	alestinian Authority	-0.30	(0.02)	1.02	(0.01)	16.0	(0.7) †	21.6	(0.7) †	36.7	(0.9) †	25.7	(0.7) †
Р	anama*	0.07	(0.03) †	0.96	(0.02) †	11.4	(0.8) ‡	17.6	(0.9) ‡	49.2	(1.3) ‡	21.7	(1.2) ‡
P	araguay	0.01	(0.03)	1.02	(0.01)	14.9	(0.7)	20.1	(0.7)	46.0	(0.8)	19.0	(0.8)
Р	eru	0.18	(0.02)	0.88	(0.01)	6.7	(0.5) †	15.8	(0.7) †	56.5	(0.8) †	21.0	(0.8) †
P	hilippines	-0.22	(0.02)	0.90	(0.01)	15.0	(0.7) †	14.1	(0.6) †	51.4	(1.0) †	19.4	(0.7) †
Q	atar .	-0.03	(0.02)	1.04	(0.01)	14.2	(0.6) †	18.6	(0.6) †	43.1	(0.9) †	24.1	(0.8) †
R	omania	80.0	(0.02)	1.02	(0.01)	11.4	(0.5) †	16.3	(0.7) †	45.0	(0.6) †	27.3	(0.9) †
S	audi Arabia	0.39	(0.02)	1.10	(0.01)	9.0	(0.5) †	16.0	(0.6) †	33.3	(0.9) †	41.7	(1.0) †
5	erbia	-0.08	(0.02)	1.04	(0.01)	17.8	(0.6) T	22.6	(0.6) T	44.7	(0.8) T	14.9	(0.6) T
S	ingapore	0.22	(0.01)	0.87	(0.01)	4.8	(0.3) T	11.8	(U.0) T	56.2	(0.9) †	21.3	(0.7) T
с -	ninese laipei	0.34	(0.02)	0.94	(0.01)	3./	(0.4) †	11.3	(0.6) †	42.2	(1.1) †	42.8	(1.1) †
1		0.03	(0.02)	0.96	(0.01)	7.9	(0.5) †	12.1	(0.6) †	55.0	(0.9) †	25.0	(0.8) †
U	krainian regions (18 of 27)	0.31	(0.03)	0.97	(0.02)	10.3	(0.8) †	14.9	(1.0) †	46.5	(1.3) †	28.3	(1.5) †
U	nited Arab Emirates	0.16	(0.01)	1.05	(0.01)	11.5	(0.3) †	16.0	(0.5) †	42.4	(0.6) †	30.1	(0.5) †
0	ruguay	-0.31	(0.02)	0.90	(0.01)	11.4	(U.5) T	23.7	(U.8) T	50.4	(0.9) †	14.4	(U.8) T
U	zbekistan	0.30	(0.02)	1.12	(0.01)	14.8	(0.6) †	10.4	(0.5) †	36.8	(1.0) †	38.1	(1.1) †
V	iet Nam	0.39	(0.02)	0.86	(0.01)	2.9	(0.3)	/.9	(0.4)	59.8	(0.8)	29.4	(0.9)

1. Higher values in the index indicate a more positive disciplinary climate.

### Table II.B1.3.9. Disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons [3/8]

Based on students' reports

					Percenta	ige of st	udents who	reporte	ed that the	e fo	ollowin	g happens	in their	mathemati	cs lesso	ns:		
				TI	nere is nois	e and di	sorder				т	he teacher	has to v	vait a long t	time for	students t	o quiet	down
		Ever	y lesson	Most	lessons	Som	e lessons	Ne hare	ver or lly ever		Ever	y lesson	Most	lessons	Some	e lessons	No har	ever or dly ever
_		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
5	Australia*	13.8	(0.4) †	27.8	(0.5) †	43.4	(0.6) †	15.0	(0.5) †	•	9.4	(0.4) †	20.3	(0.5) †	46.9	(0.7) †	23.4	(0.6) †
B	Austria	9.1	(0.5) †	12.5	(0.6) †	28.3	(0.9) †	50.0	(1.2) †	•	9.2	(0.4) †	12.6	(0.6) †	26.6	(0.7) †	51.7	(1.0) †
	Belgium	16.1	(0.7) †	23.9	(0.7) †	41.1	(0.8) †	18.8	(0.9) †	•	13.1	(0.7) †	21.2	(0.7) †	40.5	(0.8) †	25.2	(1.0) †
	Canada*	11.4	(0.4) †	19.6	(0.5) †	42.2	(0.7) †	26.8	(0.7) †	•	7.5	(0.3) †	13.8	(0.5) †	40.2	(0.6) †	38.4	(0.7) †
	Chile	13.4	(0.7) †	28.9	(0.9) †	46.2	(0.9) †	11.5	(0.7) †	•	11.2	(0.7) †	23.7	(0.9) †	42.2	(0.9) †	22.8	(1.0) †
	Colombia	11.4	(0.8) †	18.0	(0.8) †	49.7	(0.9) †	20.8	(1.0) †	•	9.0	(0.6) †	15.1	(0.6) †	40.5	(0.7) †	35.3	(1.1) †
	Costa Rica	13.9	(0.8) †	19.9	(0.7) †	43.2	(0.8) †	22.9	(1.0) †	•	9.3	(0.5) †	15.2	(0.6) †	35.1	(0.7) †	40.4	(1.1) †
	Czech Republic	12.5	(0.6) †	19.7	(0.7) †	42.7	(0.9) †	25.0	(0.9) †	•	9.5	(0.6) †	18.2	(0.7) †	38.7	(0.7) †	33.6	(0.9) †
	Denmark*	6.7	(0.5) †	16.8	(0.8) †	56.3	(0.9) †	20.1	(1.1) †	•	3.6	(0.3) †	10.8	(0.7) †	44.1	(1.1) †	41.5	(1.4) †
	Estonia	7.1	(0.5) †	16.4	(0.7) †	44.3	(0.8) †	32.2	(1.0) †	•	5.4	(0.5) †	12.7	(0.6) †	42.8	(0.8) †	39.1	(1.2) †
	Finland	11.6	(0.5) †	28.3	(0.7) †	47.4	(0.9) †	12.8	(0.7) †	•	7.3	(0.4) †	21.6	(0.6) †	48.7	(0.8) †	22.4	(0.9) †
	France	21.9	(0.8) †	27.8	(0.7) †	36.7	(1.0) †	13.6	(0.7) †	•	16.3	(0.6) †	22.2	(0.9) †	35.7	(0.7) †	25.8	(0.9) †
	Germany	12.6	(0.7) †	19.0	(0.7) †	38.4	(0.9) †	30.0	(1.0) †	•	10.9	(0.8) †	17.7	(0.8) †	35.3	(1.0) †	36.0	(1.2) †
	Greece	15.1	(0.8) †	22.9	(0.9) †	41.2	(0.9) †	20.8	(1.1) †	•	12.8	(0.7) †	20.0	(0.7) †	38.1	(0.7) †	29.2	(1.1) †
	Hungary	9.7	(0.5) †	16.4	(0.8) †	46.3	(1.0) †	27.6	(1.2) †	•	8.6	(0.5) †	17.5	(0.8) †	41.0	(1.0) †	32.9	(1.2) †
	Iceland	8.3	(0.6) †	23.1	(0.9) †	48.1	(1.1) †	20.5	(0.7) †	•	7.0	(0.5) †	18.3	(0.8) †	48.1	(0.9) †	26.7	(0.8) †
	Ireland*	8.6	(0.5) †	20.5	(0.8) †	43.3	(0.9) †	27.6	(1.1) †	•	5.8	(0.4) †	14.1	(0.7) †	41.8	(0.9) †	38.3	(1.2) †
	Israel	12.9	(0.7) †	18.7	(0.7) †	36.1	(0.9) †	32.3	(1.2) †	•	10.7	(0.6) †	18.0	(0.7) †	34.2	(1.0) †	37.2	(1.1) †
	Italy	11.7	(0.5) †	22.7	(0.8) †	41.6	(0.9) †	24.1	(0.8) †	•	9.3	(0.5) †	20.1	(0.9) †	36.5	(0.8) †	34.0	(1.1) †
	Japan	1.2	(0.2) †	4.0	(0.4) †	26.1	(0.9) †	68.6	(1.1) †	•	1.0	(0.2) †	3.3	(0.4) †	20.5	(0.8) †	75.3	(1.1) †
	Korea	2.0	(0.3) †	7.9	(0.6) †	30.7	(1.0) †	59.5	(1.2) †	•	2.2	(0.2) †	7.2	(0.5) †	29.2	(1.0) †	61.4	(1.2) †
	Latvia*	9.6	(0.6) †	19.7	(0.9) †	45.0	(1.0) †	25.7	(1.1) †	•	7.5	(0.5) †	16.5	(0.8) †	41.8	(1.1) †	34.2	(1.1) †
	Lithuania	6.4	(0.5) †	14.6	(0.6) †	45.7	(0.8) †	33.4	(1.0) †	•	5.2	(0.4) †	12.2	(0.5) †	41.2	(0.9) †	41.4	(1.0) †
	Mexico	8.6	(0.5) †	14.1	(0.6) †	45.1	(0.9) †	32.1	(1.1) †	•	4.8	(0.4) †	8.5	(0.5) †	32.8	(0.9) †	53.9	(1.2) †
	Netherlands*	9.2	(0.7) †	22.8	(0.7) †	50.7	(0.8) †	17.4	(0.8) †	•	8.3	(0.5) †	23.0	(1.0) †	47.1	(0.9) †	21.6	(0.8) †
	New Zealand*	15.7	(0.8) †	27.2	(0.9) †	41.0	(1.1) †	16.1	(0.8) †	•	10.3	(0.7) †	21.4	(0.8) †	44.0	(1.1) †	24.2	(1.2) †
	Norway	7.7	(0.4) †	21.3	(0.8) †	53.8	(0.8) †	17.2	(0.8) †	•	6.6	(0.4) †	15.7	(0.7) †	49.9	(0.8) †	27.8	(1.0) †
	Poland	9.7	(0.6) †	16.3	(0.8) †	43.7	(0.9) †	30.2	(1.3) †	•	9.5	(0.6) †	15.3	(0.7) †	38.4	(0.8) †	36.9	(1.1) †
	Portugal	8.1	(0.5) †	18.4	(0.8) †	49.2	(0.8) †	24.3	(0.9) †	•	7.2	(0.4) †	16.5	(0.7) †	44.4	(0.9) †	31.9	(1.0) †
	Slovak Republic	9.7	(0.6) †	17.9	(0.9) †	37.5	(0.9) †	34.9	(1.3) †	•	8.9	(0.6) †	18.3	(0.9) †	37.5	(0.9) †	35.3	(1.2) †
	Slovenia	9.8	(0.5) †	18.2	(0.7) †	38.3	(0.8) †	33.6	(0.9) †	•	7.5	(0.4) †	18.4	(0.7) †	40.5	(0.8) †	33.6	(0.8) †
	Spain	13.4	(0.4) †	24.0	(0.6) †	40.5	(0.5) †	22.1	(0.7) †	•	10.3	(0.4) †	21.0	(0.5) †	39.9	(0.6) †	28.8	(0.7) †
	Sweden	13.6	(0.8) †	23.6	(0.8) †	46.6	(0.9) †	16.3	(0.8) †	•	11.3	(0.7) †	19.4	(0.7) †	43.3	(0.9) †	26.0	(1.0) †
	Switzerland	10.2	(0.7) †	18.6	(0.6) †	41.4	(0.8) †	29.7	(0.9) †	•	7.9	(0.6) †	15.3	(0.5) †	38.1	(1.0) †	38.7	(1.0) †
	Türkiye	10.8	(0.5) †	19.3	(0.7) †	45.8	(0.8) †	24.1	(0.9) †	•	12.1	(0.6) †	21.2	(0.8) †	44.4	(1.0) †	22.3	(0.7) †
	United Kingdon <del>f</del>	12.4	(0.7) †	22.1	(0.8) †	43.2	(1.1) †	22.2	(0.9) †		9.2	(0.7) †	18.9	(0.8) †	41.9	(0.9) †	30.0	(1.1) †
	United States*	6.7	(0.5) †	15.0	(0.8) †	38.8	(1.0) †	39.5	(1.2) †	•	4.9	(0.4) †	10.6	(0.6) †	37.8	(1.0) †	46.6	(1.3) †
_	OECD average	10.6	(0.1)	19.7	(0.1)	42.7	(0.1)	27.0	(0.2)		8.4	(0.1)	16.6	(0.1)	39.7	(0.1)	35.2	(0.2)

1. Higher values in the index indicate a more positive disciplinary climate.

## Table II.B1.3.9. Disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons [4/8]

Based on students' reports

						Perce	ntag	ge of stu	udents who	report	ed that t	hei	followin	ng happ	ens	in their	mathem	nati	cs lesso	ns:				
					Th	ere is n	oise	and dis	sorder				1	The teac	her	has to v	vait a lo	ng t	ime for	student	ts to	o quiet o	lown	
		Ever	y lesson		Most	lesson	s	Some	elessons	Ne har	ever or dly ever		Ever	y lesson	I	Most	lessons	s	Some	elesson	s	Ne haro	ver or Ily ever	
		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	
ers	Albania	11.7	(0.7)	‡	14.5	(0.8)	‡	38.9	(1.1) ‡	35.0	(1.1)	‡	12.4	(0.7)	‡	14.2	(0.8)	‡	37.3	(0.9)	‡	36.0	(1.0)	‡
artn	Argentina	24.7	(0.8)	t	27.0	(1.0)	†	34.7	(1.0) †	13.5	(0.7)	†	16.5	(0.8)	†	23.3	(0.7)	†	36.3	(0.8)	†	23.9	(1.1)	†
۰.	Baku (Azerbaijan)	14.1	(0.7)	‡	22.9	(0.8)	‡	35.1	(0.9) ‡	27.9	(0.9)	‡	13.1	(0.7)	‡	21.2	(0.9)	‡	33.3	(0.8)	‡	32.3	(1.0)	‡
	Brazil	17.1	(0.6)	†	23.7	(0.7)	†	41.7	(0.7) †	17.5	(0.7)	†	14.5	(0.5)	†	22.1	(0.7)	†	40.8	(0.7)	†	22.6	(0.6)	†
	Brunei Darussalam	7.5	(0.5)	†	15.7	(0.6)	†	50.0	(0.8) †	26.7	(0.7)	†	5.2	(0.4)	†	9.5	(0.4)	†	41.8	(0.6)	†	43.4	(0.6)	†
	Bulgaria	19.5	(0.8)	t	21.4	(0.9)	†	33.4	(1.0) †	25.7	(1.2)	†	16.2	(0.8)	†	20.4	(0.8)	†	31.8	(0.8)	†	31.6	(1.0)	†
	Cambodia	10.2	(0.6)		15.1	(0.7)		38.4	(0.8)	36.3	(1.0)		10.0	(0.4)		13.6	(0.5)		29.9	(0.9)		46.5	(1.2)	
	Croatia	8.6	(0.6)	t	15.0	(0.7)	†	42.2	(0.8) †	34.2	(1.1)	†	7.0	(0.5)	t	14.3	(0.8)	†	37.8	(0.8)	†	40.9	(1.1)	†
	Cyprus	15.6	(0.6)	†	20.8	(0.8)	†	39.3	(1.0) †	24.3	(0.7)	†	13.2	(0.7)	†	19.1	(0.8)	†	38.0	(1.0)	†	29.8	(0.8)	†
	Dominican Republic	15.2	(0.7)	‡	17.9	(0.8)	‡	40.5	(1.0) ‡	26.5	(1.0)	‡	13.8	(0.8)	‡	16.8	(0.7)	‡	35.2	(0.9)	‡	34.2	(1.3)	‡
	El Salvador	13.2	(0.8)	†	15.5	(0.7)	†	41.9	(1.0) †	29.5	(1.1)	†	8.9	(0.5)	†	11.1	(0.7)	†	33.4	(1.0)	†	46.6	(1.4)	†
	Georgia	9.3	(0.5)	t	13.5	(0.6)	†	40.9	(0.9) †	36.3	(1.1)	†	9.1	(0.5)	†	14.2	(0.7)	†	37.9	(0.8)	†	38.8	(1.2)	†
	Guatemala	7.4	(0.5)		7.7	(0.4)		31.7	(0.9)	53.3	(1.0)		4.6	(0.3)		4.2	(0.3)		17.3	(0.8)		73.8	(0.9)	
	Hong Kong (China)*	5.5	(0.4)	†	9.2	(0.5)	†	48.7	(1.0) †	36.6	(1.2)	†	4.4	(0.4)	†	8.3	(0.5)	†	40.5	(1.0)	†	46.9	(1.0)	†
	Indonesia	13.4	(0.6)	†	18.1	(0.7)	†	41.2	(0.9) †	27.3	(0.8)	†	10.9	(0.6)	†	14.6	(0.7)	†	36.0	(0.8)	†	38.5	(1.1)	†
	Jamaica*	17.4	(1.0)	t	18.8	(1.1)	†	42.3	(1.4) †	21.6	(1.3)	†	15.2	(0.7)	†	20.5	(1.2)	†	36.1	(1.6)	†	28.2	(1.6)	†
	Jordan	18.3	(0.7)	†	23.7	(0.7)	†	33.0	(0.9) †	25.0	(0.9)	†	17.1	(0.7)	†	22.5	(0.7)	†	30.6	(0.8)	†	29.9	(0.9)	†
	Kazakhstan	6.7	(0.3)	t	8.4	(0.3)	†	41.9	(0.6) †	43.0	(0.6)	†	6.5	(0.3)	†	8.4	(0.3)	†	30.7	(0.5)	†	54.4	(0.6)	†
	Kosovo	13.4	(0.6)	†	14.7	(0.6)	†	43.4	(1.0) †	28.6	(1.0)	†	13.6	(0.7)	†	16.8	(0.8)	†	39.6	(0.9)	†	30.0	(0.8)	†
	Macao (China)	4.5	(0.4)	t	13.1	(0.6)	†	53.2	(0.9) †	29.2	(0.8)	†	3.0	(0.3)	†	10.3	(0.6)	†	45.7	(1.0)	†	41.0	(0.9)	†
	Malaysia	10.4	(0.5)	†	14.7	(0.5)	†	45.3	(0.7) †	29.6	(0.9)	†	7.3	(0.4)	†	11.6	(0.5)	†	35.7	(0.9)	†	45.4	(1.0)	†
	Malta	18.3	(0.9)	t	23.6	(1.0)	†	38.4	(1.1) †	19.8	(0.9)	†	13.1	(0.8)	†	22.8	(1.0)	†	37.8	(1.1)	†	26.3	(1.1)	†
	Moldova	7.1	(0.5)	†	16.5	(0.6)	†	45.1	(0.8) †	31.3	(1.0)	†	7.3	(0.4)	†	16.5	(0.7)	†	41.4	(0.8)	†	34.8	(1.2)	†
	Mongolia	8.3	(0.4)	t	15.4	(0.6)	†	54.7	(0.8) †	21.6	(0.9)	†	8.5	(0.5)	†	15.2	(0.6)	†	45.3	(1.0)	†	31.0	(1.1)	†
	Montenegro	10.1	(0.5)	†	13.5	(0.6)	†	38.0	(0.9) †	38.3	(0.8)	†	10.1	(0.6)	†	16.2	(0.7)	†	36.7	(0.8)	†	37.0	(0.8)	†
	Morocco	20.3	(0.9)	t	24.1	(0.7)	†	34.2	(0.9) †	21.4	(0.9)	†	17.7	(0.8)	t	24.1	(0.9)	†	31.5	(0.9)	†	26.8	(1.0)	†
	North Macedonia	12.5	(0.6)	†	13.1	(0.5)	†	36.6	(0.8) †	37.9	(0.8)	†	11.2	(0.4)	†	13.1	(0.5)	†	34.8	(0.8)	†	40.9	(0.7)	†
	Palestinian Authority	18.4	(0.7)	t	23.6	(0.7)	†	35.9	(0.9) †	22.1	(0.7)	†	17.2	(0.7)	t	23.0	(0.7)	†	32.7	(0.8)	†	27.2	(0.8)	†
	Panama*	14.4	(0.9)	ŧ	17.0	(1.1)	‡	40.4	(1.3) ‡	28.2	(1.3)	‡	9.0	(0.8)	‡	11.6	(0.9)	‡	32.7	(1.6)	‡	46.6	(2.0)	‡
	Paraguay	15.1	(0.7)		20.5	(0.7)		40.0	(0.8)	24.5	(1.0)		11.4	(0.7)		15.1	(0.7)		31.4	(0.8)		42.1	(1.1)	
	Peru	10.6	(0.5)	†	16.8	(0.7)	†	50.1	(1.0) †	22.5	(1.0)	†	6.3	(0.4)	†	10.4	(0.6)	†	36.1	(0.8)	†	47.3	(1.1)	†
	Philippines	13.2	(0.6)	t	16.7	(0.6)	†	42.3	(0.8) †	27.9	(0.9)	†	16.1	(0.8)	†	17.4	(0.6)	†	39.2	(0.9)	†	27.3	(1.2)	†
	Qatar	14.5	(0.6)	†	19.7	(0.7)	†	38.9	(0.9) †	26.9	(0.8)	†	14.5	(0.7)	†	18.6	(0.8)	†	37.2	(0.9)	†	29.7	(0.9)	†
	Romania	8.7	(0.5)	t	12.9	(0.7)	†	39.2	(0.8) †	39.2	(1.2)	†	8.7	(0.4)	†	13.0	(0.7)	†	33.8	(0.7)	†	44.6	(1.2)	†
	Saudi Arabia	8.8	(0.5)	†	17.1	(0.6)	†	32.7	(0.9) †	41.4	(1.1)	†	8.7	(0.5)	†	15.3	(0.7)	†	27.7	(0.8)	†	48.4	(1.0)	†
	Serbia	12.3	(0.7)	†	16.3	(0.7)	†	40.4	(0.9) †	31.1	(1.0)	†	11.9	(0.7)	t	15.1	(0.6)	†	37.2	(0.8)	†	35.8	(1.0)	†
	Singapore	7.6	(0.4)	†	15.1	(0.6)	t	47.9	(0.7) †	29.3	(0.7)	†	4.6	(0.3)	t	11.2	(0.5)	†	46.0	(0.7)	†	38.3	(0.8)	†
	Chinese Taipei	5.1	(0.4)	†	14.6	(0.6)	†	44.7	(1.0) †	35.6	(1.0)	†	4.4	(0.4)	†	13.6	(0.7)	†	39.4	(0.8)	†	42.6	(1.0)	†
	Thailand	9.1	(0.5)	†	15.6	(0.7)	†	54.0	(0.9) †	21.3	(0.7)	†	7.8	(0.5)	†	13.4	(0.6)	†	46.8	(0.9)	†	32.0	(1.1)	†
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	4.8	(0.5)	t	8.6	(0.9)	t	31.5	(1.3) †	55.1	(2.0)	t	4.6	(0.5)	t	9.6	(0.9)	t	34.0	(1.2)	†	51.9	(1.6)	†
	United Arab Emirates	11.0	(0.3)	†	17.7	(0.4)	†	39.0	(0.5) †	32.3	(0.5)	†	9.5	(0.3)	†	16.6	(0.4)	†	36.6	(0.5)	†	37.2	(0.5)	†
	Uruguay	17.5	(0.8)	†	28.3	(0.8)	†	39.5	(0.9) †	14.7	(0.8)	†	10.9	(0.5)	†	20.4	(0.8)	†	38.0	(0.8)	†	30.6	(1.0)	†
	Uzbekistan	11.5	(0.6)	†	9.8	(0.6)	†	40.9	(1.0) †	37.8	(1.1)	†	10.5	(0.4)	†	11.4	(0.6)	†	34.2	(0.7)	†	43.9	(1.1)	†
	Viet Nam	3.8	(0.3)		13.8	(0.6)		62.7	(0.8)	19.7	(0.7)		2.9	(0.3)		8.5	(0.5)		46.5	(0.8)		42.0	(1.1)	

1. Higher values in the index indicate a more positive disciplinary climate.

### Table II.B1.3.9. Disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons [5/8]

Based on students' reports

					Percenta	ige of st	udents who	reporte	ed that the	e f	ollowir	ng happens	in their	mathemati	cs lesso	ns:		
				St	udents ca	nnot wo	rk well				Stu	dents do no	ot start	working for	a long	time after t	he lesso	on begins
		Ever	y lesson	Most	lessons	Som	e lessons	Ne har	ever or dly ever		Ever	y lesson	Most	lessons	Some	e lessons	No har	ever or dly ever
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
5	Australia*	7.6	(0.3) †	17.6	(0.4) †	49.9	(0.6) †	24.9	(0.6) †	t	9.0	(0.4) †	20.5	(0.5) †	44.8	(0.6) †	25.7	(0.5) †
В	Austria	7.8	(0.5) †	12.0	(0.6) †	28.3	(0.7) †	51.9	(1.0) †	t	8.5	(0.5) †	11.3	(0.6) †	24.5	(0.7) †	55.6	(1.0) †
	Belgium	8.4	(0.6) †	14.8	(0.5) †	41.8	(0.8) †	35.0	(0.9) †	t	12.1	(0.7) †	21.4	(0.7) †	37.8	(0.7) †	28.8	(0.9) †
	Canada*	6.8	(0.3) †	14.6	(0.4) †	42.9	(0.7) †	35.8	(0.8) †	t	8.6	(0.3) †	19.4	(0.5) †	40.3	(0.5) †	31.7	(0.7) †
	Chile	6.4	(0.5) †	17.6	(0.7) †	46.2	(0.8) †	29.7	(0.8) †	t	9.3	(0.6) †	23.1	(0.8) †	43.9	(0.9) †	23.6	(0.9) †
	Colombia	6.3	(0.4) †	10.8	(0.6) †	42.4	(0.9) †	40.4	(1.0) †	t	7.5	(0.5) †	15.3	(0.6) †	40.9	(0.8) †	36.4	(0.8) †
	Costa Rica	7.0	(0.5) †	13.5	(0.6) †	41.3	(0.7) †	38.2	(1.0) †	t	10.0	(0.5) †	20.2	(0.6) †	38.5	(0.9) †	31.3	(0.9) †
	Czech Republic	7.7	(0.5) †	14.9	(0.6) †	39.2	(1.0) †	38.2	(1.1) †	t	8.8	(0.5) †	15.8	(0.6) †	35.9	(0.7) †	39.5	(0.8) †
	Denmark*	4.3	(0.4) †	13.4	(0.7) †	52.7	(0.9) †	29.6	(1.0) †	t	4.2	(0.4) †	16.2	(0.8) †	48.1	(0.9) †	31.4	(1.0) †
	Estonia	4.4	(0.4) †	13.5	(0.7) †	50.1	(1.0) †	31.9	(1.1) †	t	4.3	(0.3) †	10.7	(0.6) †	38.9	(0.9) †	46.0	(1.1) †
	Finland	6.9	(0.4) †	20.7	(0.6) †	50.3	(0.7) †	22.2	(0.8) †	t	8.7	(0.4) †	21.8	(0.7) †	47.3	(0.7) †	22.1	(0.8) †
	France	11.6	(0.5) †	17.0	(0.8) †	35.0	(0.7) †	36.4	(1.1) †	t	16.0	(0.5) †	25.2	(0.7) †	34.7	(0.8) †	24.0	(0.9) †
	Germany	9.6	(0.5) †	18.5	(0.7) †	36.3	(0.9) †	35.5	(1.0) †	t	10.1	(0.6) †	17.9	(0.8) †	32.9	(0.8) †	39.0	(1.0) †
	Greece	12.2	(0.6) †	22.7	(0.7) †	44.0	(0.7) †	21.2	(0.7) †	t	10.1	(0.6) †	23.1	(0.7) †	42.1	(0.7) †	24.7	(0.8) †
	Hungary	6.4	(0.4) †	14.9	(0.6) †	43.5	(0.9) †	35.2	(1.1) †	t	6.3	(0.4) †	13.7	(0.7) †	33.9	(1.0) †	46.1	(1.3) †
	Iceland	5.3	(0.5) †	17.5	(0.8) †	53.7	(1.0) †	23.6	(0.9) †	t	7.6	(0.6) †	19.8	(0.8) †	49.6	(1.0) †	23.0	(0.8) †
	Ireland*	5.2	(0.4) †	13.2	(0.6) †	43.8	(0.9) †	37.9	(1.0) †	t	6.0	(0.5) †	14.9	(0.7) †	38.7	(1.0) †	40.3	(1.1) †
	Israel	10.5	(0.6) †	17.2	(0.7) †	38.2	(0.9) †	34.2	(1.1) †	t	10.4	(0.6) †	15.8	(0.7) †	32.1	(1.0) †	41.7	(1.2) †
	Italy	7.8	(0.5) †	19.1	(0.6) †	42.7	(0.8) †	30.5	(1.1) †	t	8.0	(0.5) †	18.1	(0.6) †	36.7	(0.6) †	37.2	(1.0) †
	Japan	2.5	(0.3) †	9.2	(0.6) †	39.0	(0.9) †	49.2	(1.2) †	t	0.8	(0.2) †	3.3	(0.4) †	18.4	(0.8) †	77.5	(1.1) †
	Korea	1.8	(0.2) †	6.8	(0.5) †	25.6	(1.0) †	65.8	(1.1) †	t	1.7	(0.3) †	7.4	(0.5) †	24.9	(1.0) †	66.1	(1.2) †
	Latvia*	6.7	(0.5) †	17.7	(0.8) †	46.6	(0.9) †	29.0	(1.1) †	t	5.6	(0.4) †	12.1	(0.6) †	37.8	(0.9) †	44.4	(1.1) †
	Lithuania	5.0	(0.4) †	13.5	(0.5) †	41.9	(0.8) †	39.6	(1.0) †	t	5.1	(0.4) †	11.4	(0.6) †	36.6	(0.8) †	46.9	(1.1) †
	Mexico	5.0	(0.4) †	9.7	(0.4) †	42.9	(0.9) †	42.3	(0.9) †	t	6.3	(0.4) †	12.7	(0.6) †	37.8	(0.7) †	43.3	(1.0) †
	Netherlands*	5.9	(0.6) †	15.7	(0.7) †	49.4	(1.0) †	29.0	(1.0) †	t	9.8	(0.6) †	29.3	(1.0) †	43.3	(0.9) †	17.5	(0.8) †
	New Zealand*	9.0	(0.6) †	19.7	(0.8) †	47.6	(0.9) †	23.7	(1.1) †	t	10.3	(0.6) †	22.9	(0.7) †	41.9	(1.0) †	24.8	(0.9) †
	Norway	6.5	(0.5) †	16.7	(0.7) †	51.8	(0.9) †	24.9	(0.9) †	t	6.9	(0.4) †	19.9	(0.7) †	49.9	(0.8) †	23.4	(0.9) †
	Poland	9.3	(0.6) †	18.1	(0.7) †	42.6	(0.9) †	30.1	(0.9) †	t	8.5	(0.6) †	15.1	(0.7) †	36.6	(0.7) †	39.8	(1.0) †
	Portugal	4.2	(0.3) †	12.3	(0.6) †	41.9	(0.8) †	41.6	(1.0) †	t	6.6	(0.4) †	17.4	(0.7) †	41.3	(0.8) †	34.6	(0.9) †
	Slovak Republic	9.0	(0.6) †	16.0	(0.7) †	36.6	(0.9) †	38.5	(1.1) †	t	9.4	(0.6) †	18.3	(0.8) †	37.3	(1.1) †	35.0	(1.1) †
	Slovenia	6.8	(0.4) †	16.6	(0.6) †	41.2	(0.9) †	35.4	(1.0) †	t	8.7	(0.5) †	17.0	(0.7) †	38.3	(0.9) †	36.0	(0.9) †
	Spain	6.6	(0.3) †	14.9	(0.4) †	37.2	(0.6) †	41.3	(0.7) †	t	10.0	(0.4) †	21.5	(0.5) †	38.5	(0.4) †	30.0	(0.6) †
	Sweden	10.5	(0.6) †	19.1	(0.7) †	50.2	(0.9) †	20.2	(0.9) †	t	11.6	(0.7) †	21.6	(0.7) †	45.2	(0.9) †	21.6	(0.8) †
	Switzerland	5.4	(0.4) †	13.9	(0.5) †	40.7	(0.8) †	40.0	(1.1) †	t	9.5	(0.5) †	18.6	(0.8) †	34.8	(0.8) †	37.1	(0.9) †
	Türkiye	14.4	(0.6) †	27.5	(0.9) †	45.5	(0.9) †	12.6	(0.7) †	t	12.8	(0.6) †	21.9	(0.6) †	42.6	(0.9) †	22.8	(0.7) †
	United Kingdont	6.8	(0.5) †	13.9	(0.7) †	41.0	(1.0) †	38.3	(1.1) †	t	7.4	(0.5) †	14.1	(0.6) †	38.2	(0.9) †	40.3	(1.1) †
	United States*	4.6	(0.4) †	9.7	(0.6) †	40.6	(1.1) †	45.1	(1.0) †	t	5.5	(0.5) †	13.9	(0.7) †	37.8	(1.0) †	42.8	(1.2) †
	OECD average	7.1	(0.1)	15.5	(0.1)	42.8	(0.1)	34.6	(0.2)		8.2	(0.1)	17.4	(0.1)	38.5	(0.1)	36.0	(0.2)

1. Higher values in the index indicate a more positive disciplinary climate.

## Table II.B1.3.9. Disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons [6/8]

Based on students' reports

					Percen	tag	je of sti	udents who	reporte	ed that t	hei	followir	ng happ	ens	in their	mathen	nati	cs lesso	ns:				
				s	tudents o	an	not wor	rk well				Stu	dents d	o no	ot start v	vorking	for	along	time aft	er tl	ne lesso	n begin	s
		Every	/ lesson	Mos	t lessons		Some	elessons	Ne har	ever or dly ever		Ever	y lessor	ı	Most	lesson	5	Some	lesson	s	Ne haro	ver or Ily ever	
_		%	S.E.	%	\$.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.		%	S.E.	
lers	Albania	9.8	(0.6) ‡	15.3	(0.8)	‡	43.3	(0.9) ‡	31.7	(0.9)	‡	10.5	(0.8)	‡	13.6	(0.7)	‡	35.2	(0.9)	‡	40.7	(1.0)	‡
artr	Argentina	11.6	(0.6) †	19.5	(0.7)	†	41.0	(0.9) †	27.8	(1.0)	†	16.2	(0.7)	†	25.6	(0.8)	†	36.5	(0.8)	†	21.7	(0.8)	†
Δ.	Baku (Azerbaijan)	10.5	(0.6) ‡	23.5	(0.9)	‡	38.7	(0.9) ‡	27.3	(1.1)	‡	12.5	(0.7)	‡	21.0	(0.9)	‡	29.7	(0.9)	‡	36.8	(1.0)	‡
	Brazil	9.9	(0.4) †	22.2	(0.7)	†	49.1	(0.7) †	18.8	(0.6)	†	11.1	(0.4)	†	23.1	(0.7)	†	44.0	(0.7)	†	21.8	(0.6)	†
	Brunei Darussalam	3.8	(0.3) †	14.0	(0.6)	†	57.7	(0.9) †	24.4	(0.8)	†	3.4	(0.3)	†	10.0	(0.5)	†	41.9	(0.7)	†	44.7	(0.7)	†
	Bulgaria	15.7	(0.7) †	24.9	(0.9)	t	38.5	(0.9) †	20.9	(0.9)	†	15.4	(0.7)	†	19.7	(0.8)	†	30.3	(0.7)	†	34.6	(1.3)	†
	Cambodia	6.7	(0.4)	17.1	(0.6)		52.0	(1.0)	24.2	(0.9)		6.0	(0.4)		13.4	(0.6)		30.8	(1.2)		49.9	(1.2)	
	Croatia	7.2	(0.5) †	16.5	(0.7)	t	41.7	(0.8) †	34.7	(1.0)	†	7.3	(0.6)	†	14.1	(0.7)	†	36.0	(0.8)	†	42.7	(1.1)	†
	Cyprus	11.3	(0.6) †	17.6	(0.8)	†	41.6	(0.9) †	29.5	(0.7)	†	11.5	(0.6)	†	21.0	(0.8)	†	39.9	(0.8)	†	27.6	(0.8)	†
	Dominican Republic	11.1	(0.7) ‡	14.2	(0.8)	ŧ	36.9	(1.0) ‡	37.8	(1.1)	‡	11.9	(0.6)	‡	16.9	(0.8)	‡	33.6	(0.8)	‡	37.6	(1.1)	ŧ
	El Salvador	9.0	(0.6) †	12.0	(0.7)	†	42.5	(0.9) †	36.5	(1.2)	†	10.9	(0.7)	†	13.6	(0.7)	†	35.8	(0.9)	†	39.7	(1.2)	†
	Georgia	7.1	(0.4) †	15.1	(0.7)	t	44.3	(0.9) †	33.6	(0.9)	†	7.5	(0.5)	†	14.1	(0.7)	†	33.6	(0.9)	†	44.8	(1.2)	†
	Guatemala	5.7	(0.4)	6.3	(0.4)		33.5	(0.7)	54.6	(0.9)		6.9	(0.5)		6.5	(0.4)		23.4	(0.7)		63.2	(1.0)	
	Hong Kong (China)*	5.0	(0.4) †	9.7	(0.5)	t	49.0	(1.1) †	36.3	(1.0)	†	5.0	(0.4)	†	11.6	(0.5)	†	46.3	(1.1)	†	37.0	(1.2)	†
	Indonesia	9.4	(0.5) †	15.8	(0.6)	†	47.2	(0.9) †	27.6	(0.9)	†	11.7	(0.6)	†	15.9	(0.7)	†	37.5	(0.8)	†	34.9	(0.8)	†
	Jamaica*	9.2	(0.6) †	19.2	(1.1)	t	44.7	(1.4) †	26.9	(1.3)	†	10.1	(0.7)	†	17.4	(1.0)	†	39.0	(1.1)	†	33.4	(1.2)	†
	Jordan	14.1	(0.6) †	24.0	(0.8)	†	33.0	(0.8) †	28.8	(0.8)	†	16.8	(0.6)	†	23.8	(0.9)	t	31.1	(0.8)	†	28.3	(0.9)	†
	Kazakhstan	6.3	(0.3) †	9.2	(0.4)	t	36.4	(0.6) †	48.1	(0.7)	†	6.2	(0.3)	†	9.0	(0.3)	†	30.4	(0.6)	†	54.4	(0.7)	†
	Kosovo	11.6	(0.6) †	18.6	(0.7)	†	44.8	(0.9) †	25.0	(0.8)	†	12.1	(0.5)	†	15.9	(0.7)	t	37.1	(0.9)	†	35.0	(1.0)	†
	Macao (China)	4.5	(0.3) †	16.2	(0.6)	t	56.7	(0.9) †	22.5	(0.8)	†	4.5	(0.4)	†	17.5	(0.6)	†	52.7	(0.9)	†	25.3	(0.8)	†
	Malaysia	6.9	(0.4) †	14.6	(0.5)	†	43.7	(0.8) †	34.8	(0.8)	†	8.1	(0.5)	†	16.2	(0.7)	†	42.0	(0.8)	†	33.7	(1.0)	†
	Malta	8.9	(0.7) †	18.6	(0.9)	†	42.1	(1.2) †	30.4	(1.1)	†	9.9	(0.6)	t	18.5	(0.9)	t	37.9	(1.1)	†	33.7	(1.0)	t
	Moldova	6.2	(0.4) †	18.2	(0.7)	†	49.1	(1.0) †	26.5	(0.9)	t	6.4	(0.4)	t	16.1	(0.7)	t	40.6	(0.8)	†	36.9	(1.1)	†
	Mongolia	6.4	(0.4) †	17.0	(0.6)	t	56.0	(0.8) †	20.6	(0.6)	†	6.0	(0.3)	†	13.6	(0.5)	†	47.1	(0.7)	†	33.2	(0.8)	†
	Montenegro	10.2	(0.5) †	17.1	(0.6)	†	39.5	(0.9) †	33.2	(0.8)	†	9.7	(0.6)	†	17.3	(0.6)	†	33.7	(0.8)	†	39.3	(0.7)	†
	Morocco	16.2	(0.6) †	23.8	(0.6)	t	38.1	(0.9) †	21.8	(0.9)	t	18.0	(0.7)	t	23.6	(0.7)	t	32.9	(0.9)	†	25.5	(0.8)	t
	North Macedonia	11.1	(0.5) †	15.5	(0.7)	†	38.2	(0.8) †	35.2	(0.8)	t	10.5	(0.5)	†	13.8	(0.5)	t	33.7	(0.8)	†	42.0	(0.8)	†
	Palestinian Authority	12.5	(0.6) †	24.4	(0.8)	†	35.4	(0.9) †	27.7	(0.7)	t	15.7	(0.6)	†	23.9	(0.8)	t	33.7	(0.7)	†	26.8	(0.8)	†
	Panama*	7.6	(0.7) ‡	14.2	(0.9)	‡	38.1	(1.3) ‡	40.1	(1.6)	‡	11.2	(0.9)	‡	15.4	(0.9)	‡	34.8	(1.3)	‡	38.5	(1.5)	‡
	Paraguay	8.2	(0.5)	11.4	(0.5)		32.9	(0.7)	47.5	(0.9)		10.0	(0.6)		15.4	(0.6)		35.0	(0.8)		39.7	(1.0)	
	Peru	4.8	(0.4) †	12.5	(0.6)	†	44.8	(0.8) †	38.0	(1.0)	t	5.7	(0.4)	†	14.9	(0.6)	t	39.8	(0.8)	†	39.6	(1.0)	†
	Philippines	10.1	(0.5) †	16.4	(0.6)	t	48.1	(0.8) †	25.4	(0.7)	t	11.6	(0.5)	t	17.9	(0.6)	t	44.3	(0.8)	†	26.3	(0.7)	†
	Qatar	9.6	(0.5) †	16.8	(0.8)	†	40.4	(0.8) †	33.2	(0.9)	t	11.1	(0.6)	t	17.2	(0.7)	t	36.9	(0.9)	†	34.8	(0.8)	†
	Romania	7.9	(0.5) †	13.4	(0.6)	t	40.8	(0.9) †	37.8	(1.1)	t	8.3	(0.4)	t	14.8	(0.6)	t	34.3	(0.8)	†	42.5	(1.0)	t
	Saudi Arabia	7.5	(0.4) †	16.1	(0.6)	†	31.4	(0.7) †	45.0	(0.8)	t	8.1	(0.4)	t	14.6	(0.6)	t	27.5	(0.7)	†	49.7	(0.9)	t
	Serbia	11.3	(0.7) †	17.0	(0.6)	t	39.6	(0.8) †	32.1	(0.9)	t	11.4	(0.7)	t	15.8	(0.6)	t	34.9	(0.8)	†	37.9	(0.9)	t
	Singapore	3.3	(0.2) †	7.5	(0.4)	t	40.7	(0.7) †	48.5	(0.7)	t	3.5	(0.3)	t	9.0	(0.4)	t	38.9	(0.7)	†	48.6	(0.8)	t
	Chinese Taipei	5.3	(0.4) †	13.9	(0.7)	t	45.8	(1.0) †	35.0	(0.8)	t	5.9	(0.4)	t	16.6	(0.8)	t	44.3	(1.1)	t	33.2	(1.0)	t
	Thailand	7.7	(0.5) †	12.1	(0.6)	†	43.0	(0.8) †	37.2	(1.0)	t	7.8	(0.5)	†	14.1	(0.5)	t	48.8	(0.9)	†	29.4	(1.0)	†
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	5.6	(0.7) †	13.3	(0.8)	†	41.4	(1.3) †	39.7	(1.5)	t	3.9	(0.5)	t	9.6	(0.7)	t	33.4	(1.2)	†	53.0	(1.4)	t
	United Arab Emirates	7.7	(0.2) †	15.3	(0.4)	†	36.8	(0.4) †	40.2	(0.4)	†	8.5	(0.2)	†	14.5	(0.3)	†	33.1	(0.4)	†	43.9	(0.5)	†
	Uruguay	8.6	(0.5) †	16.3	(0.6)	t	41.3	(0.8) †	33.8	(0.9)	t	11.6	(0.6)	t	22.7	(0.7)	t	38.9	(0.8)	t	26.8	(0.9)	t
	Uzbekistan	8.8	(0.5) †	11.0	(0.5)	†	38.9	(0.9) †	41.4	(1.0)	t	9.6	(0.5)	t	9.9	(0.6)	t	32.3	(0.8)	†	48.2	(1.2)	†
	Viet Nam	2.7	(0.3)	8.4	(0.5)		44.1	(0.9)	44.8	(1.1)		2.4	(0.3)		8.4	(0.4)		40.1	(0.9)		49.0	(1.1)	

1. Higher values in the index indicate a more positive disciplinary climate.
#### Table II.B1.3.9. Disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons [7/8]

Based on students' reports

				Percentag	ge of st	udents who	report	ed that th	1e 1	followi	ng happenis	n their m	athematic	s lesson	s:		
		Stud	ents ge	t distracted	by usir	ng digital d	evices			Stud	ents get dis	tracted	by other st	udents	whoare usir	ıg digita	al devices
	Ever	y lesson	Most	lessons	Some	elessons	Ne har	ever or dly ever		Ever	y lesson	Most	lessons	Some	elessons	Ne haro	ver or lly ever
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	\$.E.
G Australia*	14.8	(0.4) †	25.5	(0.5) †	38.6	(0.6) †	21.1	(0.7)	t	13.4	(0.4) †	23.6	(0.5) †	40.2	(0.6) †	22.8	(0.7) †
Ö Austria	10.8	(0.5) †	12.6	(0.6) †	27.8	(0.7) †	48.8	(1.2)	t	10.7	(0.6) †	12.8	(0.5) †	25.7	(0.8) †	50.8	(1.2) †
Belgium	12.5	(0.6) †	15.9	(0.6) †	31.8	(0.9) †	39.7	(1.3)	t	12.2	(0.6) †	14.9	(0.6) †	30.4	(0.9) †	42.5	(1.2) †
Canada*	17.7	(0.5) †	25.5	(0.6) †	36.8	(0.8) †	20.0	(0.7)	t	12.8	(0.4) †	19.8	(0.5) †	36.7	(0.7) †	30.7	(0.7) †
Chile	20.3	(0.9) †	31.0	(0.9) †	37.6	(0.9) †	11.2	(0.7)	t	15.6	(0.7) †	26.0	(0.8) †	39.9	(0.8) †	18.5	(0.8) †
Colombia	10.9	(0.6) †	19.5	(0.7) †	41.3	(0.8) †	28.3	(1.0)	t	10.0	(0.6) †	16.6	(0.6) †	41.9	(1.0) †	31.6	(1.1) †
Costa Rica	14.6	(0.7) †	19.5	(0.8) †	37.5	(0.8) †	28.4	(1.1)	t	14.7	(0.6) †	18.6	(0.7) †	37.9	(0.7) †	28.7	(1.1) †
Czech Republic	13.8	(0.7) †	17.0	(0.6) †	32.1	(0.7) †	37.1	(1.1)	t	12.5	(0.8) †	16.1	(0.6) †	31.4	(0.7) †	39.9	(0.9) †
Denmark*	8.4	(0.5) †	23.1	(1.0) †	43.5	(1.0) †	25.0	(0.9)	t	6.4	(0.5) †	18.7	(0.7) †	44.3	(0.9) †	30.6	(0.9) †
Estonia	9.0	(0.6) †	19.1	(0.7) †	43.0	(0.8) †	28.9	(1.1)	t	6.4	(0.5) †	15.3	(0.6) †	40.2	(0.9) †	38.1	(1.2) †
Finland	13.0	(0.6) †	27.6	(0.7) †	42.7	(0.8) †	16.7	(0.6)	t	7.0	(0.4) †	16.2	(0.6) †	41.0	(0.7) †	35.7	(0.8) †
France	13.3	(0.6) †	17.0	(0.7) †	27.9	(0.8) †	41.8	(1.1)	t	13.2	(0.6) †	13.7	(0.7) †	26.0	(0.7) †	47.2	(1.1) †
Germany	12.3	(0.7) †	15.8	(0.7) †	30.1	(0.8) †	41.8	(1.2)	t	11.4	(0.6) †	15.8	(0.6) †	30.4	(0.8) †	42.4	(1.1) †
Greece	17.6	(0.9) †	20.5	(0.8) †	31.7	(0.8) †	30.2	(1.2)	t	15.4	(0.7) †	17.5	(0.7) †	31.3	(0.8) †	35.8	(1.1) †
Hungary	9.7	(0.5) †	18.4	(0.8) †	38.7	(1.0) †	33.1	(1.1)	t	7.9	(0.4) †	15.5	(0.7) †	37.1	(0.9) †	39.5	(1.0) †
Iceland	9.0	(0.6) †	23.3	(0.9) †	46.1	(1.0) †	21.6	(0.9)	t	8.5	(0.5) †	19.8	(0.8) †	44.2	(1.0) †	27.5	(0.8) †
Ireland*	6.3	(0.5) †	13.5	(0.8) †	29.4	(1.0) †	50.8	(1.6)	t	5.4	(0.4) †	10.4	(0.7) †	30.0	(1.0) †	54.2	(1.3) †
Israel	13.0	(0.7) †	18.0	(0.8) †	34.4	(0.9) †	34.6	(1.3)	t	10.8	(0.6) †	13.5	(0.7) †	29.1	(0.8) †	46.6	(1.3) †
Italy	13.8	(0.7) †	23.9	(0.9) †	37.1	(0.8) †	25.1	(1.0)	t	11.1	(0.5) †	18.3	(0.8) †	34.1	(0.8) †	36.4	(1.0) †
Japan	1.4	(0.2) †	3.7	(0.4) †	16.4	(0.9) †	78.5	(1.1)	t	1.2	(0.2) †	2.8	(0.3) †	13.9	(0.7) †	82.2	(0.9) †
Korea	2.7	(0.3) †	6.7	(0.5) †	24.4	(1.1) †	66.2	(1.4)	t	2.6	(0.3) †	6.2	(0.5) †	23.3	(0.9) †	67.8	(1.1) †
Latvia*	17.2	(0.8) †	24.7	(0.8) †	39.4	(0.9) †	18.7	(0.8)	t	9.6	(0.6) †	16.1	(0.7) †	35.9	(0.9) †	38.3	(1.0) †
Lithuania	7.9	(0.5) †	17.5	(0.6) †	40.6	(0.8) †	34.0	(1.1)	t	6.6	(0.5) †	13.8	(0.6) †	36.7	(0.9) †	43.0	(1.1) †
Mexico	9.8	(0.5) †	15.5	(0.6) †	39.8	(0.9) †	34.9	(1.3)	t	8.2	(0.4) †	13.1	(0.6) †	37.7	(1.0) †	41.0	(1.1) †
Netherlands*	10.0	(0.7) †	23.0	(1.0) †	39.2	(0.9) †	27.8	(1.6)	t	8.6	(0.6) †	19.2	(0.8) †	38.6	(1.1) †	33.7	(1.5) †
New Zealand*	18.5	(0.9) †	27.2	(0.9) †	36.4	(1.0) †	17.9	(0.9)	t	15.6	(0.8) †	24.5	(0.9) †	39.6	(1.1) †	20.4	(0.9) †
Norway	8.8	(0.5) †	22.4	(0.7) †	43.1	(0.9) †	25.7	(0.8)	t	7.7	(0.4) †	17.0	(0.7) †	43.4	(1.0) †	32.0	(0.8) †
Poland	13.9	(0.8) †	20.3	(0.7) †	37.2	(0.9) †	28.6	(1.0)	t	12.0	(0.7) †	16.9	(0.7) †	35.4	(0.9) †	35.7	(1.1) †
Portugal	10.8	(0.5) †	23.2	(0.7) †	39.1	(0.7) †	26.9	(0.9)	t	8.4	(0.5) †	16.2	(0.7) †	42.0	(0.7) †	33.4	(0.9) †
Slovak Republic	10.1	(0.5) †	15.9	(0.7) †	28.2	(0.9) †	45.8	(1.2)	t	8.9	(0.5) †	13.7	(0.6) †	29.6	(0.9) †	47.7	(1.1) †
Slovenia	8.2	(0.4) †	15.0	(0.6) †	32.1	(0.8) †	44.6	(1.0)	t	6.8	(0.4) †	11.5	(0.5) †	25.2	(0.7) †	56.5	(0.8) †
Spain	12.2	(0.4) †	20.6	(0.5) †	30.0	(0.5) †	37.2	(1.0)	t	9.2	(0.4) †	16.7	(0.5) †	30.2	(0.5) †	43.9	(0.8) †
Sweden	13.8	(0.7) †	23.1	(0.8) †	37.9	(0.8) †	25.2	(1.0)	†	11.8	(0.7) †	17.4	(0.7) †	38.0	(0.8) †	32.8	(1.0) †
Switzerland	9.2	(0.6) †	13.7	(0.7) †	26.7	(0.8) †	50.3	(1.2)	t	8.4	(0.6) †	12.7	(0.6) †	28.8	(0.8) †	50.1	(1.1) †
Türkiye	10.3	(0.5) †	13.1	(0.6) †	26.7	(0.9) †	49.8	(1.4)	†	8.8	(0.5) †	11.9	(0.5) †	27.3	(0.9) †	52.0	(1.3) †
United Kingdom*	6.3	(0.5) †	12.3	(0.6) †	30.1	(0.9) †	51.3	(1.2)	t	7.5	(0.6) †	12.9	(0.6) †	31.7	(0.9) †	47.9	(1.2) †
United States*	11.3	(0.7) †	18.3	(1.0) †	37.1	(1.0) †	33.3	(1.3)	†	7.7	(0.5) †	12.3	(0.8) †	33.8	(0.9) †	46.2	(1.2) †
OECD average	11.4	(0.1)	19.0	(0.1)	34.9	(0.1)	34.6	(0.2)		9.6	(0.1)	15.6	(0.1)	34.1	(0.1)	40.7	(0.2)

1. Higher values in the index indicate a more positive disciplinary climate.

### Table II.B1.3.9. Disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons [8/8]

Based on students' reports

						Percent	age	of stu	idents w	'n٥	reporte	ed that	the	followi	ng happenis	n their n	athemat	tics	lesson	s:		
			s	tud	ents gel	distracte	ed b	y usin	g digita	l de	evices			Stud	ents get dis	tracted	by other	st	udents	whoare usi	ng digit	al devices
		Ever	y lessor	ı	Most	lessons		Some	lessons	5	Ne harc	ver or Ily ever		Ever	y lesson	Most	lessons		Some	lessons	Ne har	ever or dly ever
_		%	S.E.			S.E.			S.E.			S.E.		%	S.E.	%	S.E.			S.E.	%	S.E.
ers	Albania	10.8	(0.7)	‡	14.4	(0.7) ‡	:   :	35.1	(1.1)	‡	39.7	(1.1)	‡	11.4	(0.6) ‡	12.3	(0.6)	‡	34.5	(1.0) ‡	41.8	(1.2) ‡
artn	Argentina	25.8	(0.9)	†	27.8	(0.8) †		32.0	(0.7)	t	14.4	(0.6)	†	21.5	(0.8) †	24.8	(0.8)	†	33.4	(0.8) †	20.3	(0.7) †
۵.	Baku (Azerbaijan)	14.2	(0.7)	‡	18.4	(0.8) ‡	:   :	30.0	(1.0)	ŧ	37.4	(1.2)	‡	12.8	(0.7) ‡	17.8	(0.8)	‡	28.4	(0.8) ‡	41.0	(1.1) ‡
	Brazil	19.4	(0.7)	†	25.7	(0.6) †		36.0	(0.7)	t	18.9	(0.6)	†	17.3	(0.5) †	23.0	(0.6)	†	35.9	(0.6) †	23.8	(0.7) †
	Brunei Darussalam	3.9	(0.3)	†	7.7	(0.4) †	:   :	21.2	(0.6)	t	67.3	(0.7)	†	3.3	(0.3) †	7.1	(0.3)	†	22.2	(0.6) †	67.4	(0.7) †
	Bulgaria	22.7	(0.9)	†	23.2	(0.7) †	-   :	31.2	(0.9)	t	22.9	(0.9)	†	19.5	(0.8) †	20.3	(0.8)	†	31.0	(0.8) †	29.2	(1.0) †
	Cambodia	7.6	(0.4)		11.6	(0.5)		26.7	(1.0)		54.0	(1.1)		8.0	(0.5)	12.7	(0.6)		30.5	(1.1)	48.7	(1.2)
	Croatia	8.3	(0.6)	†	14.5	(0.6) †	:   :	30.9	(0.7)	t	46.3	(0.9)	†	6.9	(0.5) †	10.4	(0.5)	†	27.7	(0.7) †	54.9	(1.0) †
	Cyprus	14.9	(0.7)	†	20.0	(0.7) †	•	33.9	(0.8)	t	31.2	(0.7)	†	13.6	(0.6) †	17.7	(0.6)	†	34.5	(0.9) †	34.2	(0.8) †
	Dominican Republic	13.9	(0.7)	‡	17.0	(0.7) ‡	:   :	32.1	(1.0)	ŧ	37.0	(1.4)	‡	12.4	(0.6) ‡	15.2	(0.7)	‡	30.4	(1.1) ‡	42.0	(1.2) ‡
	El Salvador	11.1	(0.7)	†	12.5	(0.7) †	:	29.2	(1.0)	t	47.2	(1.7)	†	10.3	(0.7) †	12.4	(0.8)	†	29.9	(1.1) †	47.3	(1.7) †
	Georgia	11.0	(0.6)	t	18.0	(0.7) †	- 1	36.6	(1.0)	t	34.4	(1.2)	t	9.7	(0.6) †	13.5	(0.6)	t	32.6	(1.0) †	44.2	(1.2) †
	Guatemala	6.9	(0.5)		7.3	(0.5)		25.1	(1.0)		60.7	(1.2)		6.3	(0.4)	6.1	(0.5)		23.3	(0.9)	64.2	(1.1)
	Hong Kong (China)*	6.5	(0.5)	†	9.9	(0.7) †	-   :	37.2	(0.9)	t	46.5	(1.4)	†	5.9	(0.5) †	9.3	(0.7)	†	35.9	(1.1) †	48.9	(1.4) †
	Indonesia	11.1	(0.6)	†	14.0	(0.7) †	- 1	29.1	(0.8)	t	45.7	(1.2)	†	11.5	(0.6) †	15.1	(0.6)	†	31.7	(0.7) †	41.7	(1.1) †
	Jamaica*	13.6	(0.8)	t	16.1	(0.9) †	- 1	31.6	(1.2)	t	38.7	(1.3)	t	12.6	(1.0) †	15.7	(0.9)	t	32.1	(1.4) †	39.6	(1.4) †
	Jordan	12.1	(0.6)	†	15.7	(0.8) †	•	19.4	(0.7)	t	52.7	(1.2)	†	13.0	(0.8) †	16.4	(0.8)	†	21.3	(0.8) †	49.4	(1.3) †
	Kazakhstan	9.9	(0.3)	†	13.4	(0.3) †	- 1	37.5	(0.6)	t	39.3	(0.7)	†	8.9	(0.3) †	11.9	(0.4)	t	36.4	(0.6) †	42.9	(0.7) †
	Kosovo	13.1	(0.6)	†	16.9	(0.8) †		33.5	(0.9)	t	36.5	(1.0)	†	12.0	(0.6) †	15.2	(0.7)	†	33.8	(1.0) †	39.0	(1.0) †
	Macao (China)	4.4	(0.4)	†	8.9	(0.6) †	•	36.2	(0.8)	t	50.4	(0.7)	†	3.5	(0.4) †	8.1	(0.5)	t	35.1	(0.8) †	53.2	(0.9) †
	Malaysia	8.0	(0.6)	†	12.3	(0.6) †		24.9	(0.7)	t	54.8	(1.2)	†	8.2	(0.5) †	10.9	(0.5)	†	23.1	(0.7) †	57.9	(1.0) †
	Malta	6.9	(0.7)	†	9.5	(0.7) †	-	18.0	(0.9)	t	65.6	(1.1)	†	6.6	(0.5) †	9.4	(0.6)	t	19.1	(0.8) †	64.8	(0.8) †
	Moldova	12.4	(0.7)	†	20.3	(0.7) †	•	40.0	(0.9)	t	27.3	(1.1)	†	10.5	(0.5) †	18.1	(0.7)	†	40.5	(0.9) †	30.9	(1.0) †
	Mongolia	10.9	(0.5)	†	22.0	(0.7) †	•	47.7	(0.7)	t	19.5	(0.8)	†	10.0	(0.5) †	18.3	(0.6)	t	47.1	(0.7) †	24.6	(0.8) †
	Montenegro	14.0	(0.6)	†	20.8	(0.7) †	- 1	34.3	(1.0)	t	30.9	(0.7)	†	12.4	(0.5) †	17.7	(0.5)	†	34.2	(0.8) †	35.6	(0.8) †
	Morocco	18.1	(0.7)	†	20.8	(0.8) †		28.2	(0.8)	t	32.9	(1.0)	†	17.3	(0.6) †	18.5	(0.7)	†	27.6	(0.8) †	36.5	(1.0) †
	North Macedonia	12.7	(0.5)	†	16.1	(0.6) †	- 1	36.8	(0.8)	t	34.3	(0.8)	†	9.9	(0.5) †	12.2	(0.5)	†	30.5	(0.7) †	47.3	(0.9) †
	Palestinian Authority	11.2	(0.6)	†	14.7	(0.6) †	-	18.3	(0.7)	t	55.8	(1.1)	†	12.0	(0.6) †	14.5	(0.6)	t	21.8	(0.7) †	51.8	(1.0) †
	Panama*	12.1	(1.1)	‡	15.1	(1.2) ‡	:   :	32.3	(1.4)	‡	40.4	(1.9)	‡	10.8	(0.8) ‡	12.4	(0.8)	‡	31.2	(1.3) ‡	45.6	(1.7) ‡
	Paraguay	15.3	(0.8)		16.9	(0.7)		31.4	(1.1)		36.5	(1.3)		13.0	(0.6)	15.1	(0.7)		31.0	(0.9)	40.9	(1.1)
	Peru	7.6	(0.5)	†	13.0	(0.6) †	- 1	31.8	(1.0)	t	47.5	(1.5)	†	6.9	(0.5) †	11.9	(0.6)	†	31.5	(1.0) †	49.7	(1.3) †
	Philippines	17.7	(0.6)	†	23.2	(0.8) †	•	38.2	(0.8)	t	20.9	(0.9)	†	16.4	(0.6) †	21.1	(0.6)	t	39.3	(0.8) †	23.3	(0.7) †
	Qatar	9.6	(0.6)	†	12.5	(0.5) †	•	21.5	(0.6)	t	56.4	(0.7)	†	9.3	(0.5) †	11.8	(0.5)	†	20.0	(0.6) †	58.8	(0.8) †
	Romania	14.6	(0.6)	t	20.0	(0.7) †	- 1	37.2	(0.7)	t	28.2	(1.0)	t	12.9	(0.5) †	18.0	(0.7)	t	37.7	(0.7) †	31.4	(0.9) †
	Saudi Arabia	8.0	(0.4)	†	11.3	(0.5) †	•	16.0	(0.6)	t	64.8	(0.9)	†	7.0	(0.4) †	9.9	(0.5)	†	16.3	(0.6) †	66.8	(0.9) †
	Serbia	15.7	(0.8)	t	18.4	(0.7) †	- 1	34.8	(0.7)	t	31.1	(0.9)	t	13.4	(0.6) †	14.7	(0.6)	t	33.1	(0.9) †	38.8	(1.0) †
	Singapore	10.0	(0.5)	t	17.3	(0.8)	•	42.3	(0.9)	t	30.5	(0.9)	t	7.6	(0.4) †	13.0	(0.6)	t	39.4	(0.8) †	40.0	(0.8) †
	Chinese Taipei	4.5	(0.4)	†	11.3	(0.8)	•	31.3	(0.9)	t	52.8	(1.3)	†	3.7	(0.4) †	8.8	(0.5)	†	30.3	(1.0) †	57.2	(1.2) †
	Thailand	9.7	(0.6)	†	16.7	(0.7) †	•	45.2	(0.9)	t	28.4	(1.0)	†	9.1	(0.5) †	13.8	(0.6)	†	46.2	(0.9) †	31.0	(1.0) †
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	7.5	(0.7)	t	16.6	(1.0) †	•   •	44.4	(1.3)	t	31.5	(1.3)	t	6.5	(0.7) †	12.7	(1.0)	t	40.8	(1.6) †	40.0	(1.6) †
	United Arab Emirates	10.0	(0.3)	†	14.4	(0.3) †	•	29.1	(0.4)	†	46.4	(0.5)	†	9.6	(0.3) †	12.5	(0.4)	†	27.1	(0.4) †	50.8	(0.4) †
	Uruguay	23.2	(0.8)	†	28.8	(0.9) †	•	35.1	(0.8)	t	12.9	(0.8)	†	17.2	(0.6) †	22.2	(0.8)	†	35.7	(0.7) †	24.9	(0.9) †
	Uzbekistan	9.7	(0.5)	†	10.0	(0.6) t	•	29.4	(0.9)	†	50.9	(1.2)	†	8.9	(0.5) †	9.0	(0.5)	†	30.6	(0.9) †	51.5	(1.1) t
	Viet Nam	4.3	(0.4)		10.0	(0.5)		45.4	(1.0)		40.4	(1.2)		4.0	(0.4)	8.7	(0.5)		44.3	(1.0)	43.0	(1.2)

1. Higher values in the index indicate a more positive disciplinary climate.

#### Table II.B1.3.23. School safety risks [1/4]

#### Based on students' reports

					Per	rcentage of du	students w Iring the fo	ho reported ur weeks pri	l that the fo ior to the PI	llowing hap A assessme	pened atsch ent	ool
	Ir	ndex of scho	ol safety ris	sks	0	ur school w	as vandalise	ed	l witnes in	sed a fight which som	on school p eone got hu	property urt
	Ave	erage	Varia	ability	Y	es	N	lo	Y	es	N	0
	Mean index	S.E.	S.D.	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
G Australia*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Ö Austria	-0.10	(0.02)	0.86	(0.02)	20.4	(0.9)	79.6	(0.9)	7.2	(0.5)	92.8	(0.5)
Belgium	0.03	(0.02)	0.93	(0.01)	17.8	(0.9)	82.2	(0.9)	17.5	(0.7)	82.5	(0.7)
Canada*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Chile	0.34	(0.03)	1.10	(0.02)	9.3	(0.9)	90.7	(0.9)	36.1	(1.2)	63.9	(1.2)
Colombia	-0.04	(0.02)	0.91	(0.02)	7.8	(0.6)	92.2	(0.6)	21.4	(0.9)	78.6	(0.9)
Costa Rica	0.32	(0.03)	1.12	(0.02)	21.3	(1.0)	78.7	(1.0)	25.9	(1.0)	74.1	(1.0)
Czech Republic	0.05	(0.02)	1.00	(0.02)	10.9	(0.5)	89.1	(0.5)	15.3	(0.8)	84.7	(0.8)
Denmark*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Estonia	0.03	(0.02)	0.91	(0.02)	23.4	(1.0)	76.6	(1.0)	11.4	(0.6)	88.6	(0.6)
Finland	0.25	(0.02)	1.04	(0.02)	38.2	(1.4)	61.8	(1.4)	14.3	(0.8)	85.7	(0.8)
France	-0.08	(0.02)	0.89	(0.01)	5.2	(0.4)	94.8	(0.4)	18.0	(0.7)	82.0	(0.7)
Germany	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Greece	0.31	(0.02)	1.07	(0.02)	38.9	(1.4)	61.1	(1.4)	17.2	(0.8)	82.8	(0.8)
Hungary	m	m	m	m	18.9	(1.0)	81.1	(1.0)	7.3	(0.6)	92.7	(0.6)
Iceland	-0.05	(0.02)	0.93	(0.02)	23.5	(0.7)	76.5	(0.7)	11.9	(0.5)	88.1	(0.5)
Ireland*	-0.06	(0.03)	0.88	(0.02)	18.0	(1.0)	82.0	(1.0)	16.4	(1.0)	83.6	(1.0)
Israel	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Italy	0.05	(0.02)	0.86	(0.02)	18.1	(1.1)	81.9	(1.1)	9.9	(0.6)	90.1	(0.6)
Japan	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Korea	-0.41	(0.02)	0.59	(0.04)	10.0	(0.6)	90.0	(0.6)	7.8	(1.2)	92.2	(1.2)
Latvia*	0.28	(0.03)	1.06	(0.02)	27.9	(1.0)	72.1	(1.0)	23.0	(1.0)	77.0	(1.0)
Lithuania	-0.14	(0.02)	0.85	(0.02)	7.7	(0.5)	92.3	(0.5)	8.7	(0.5)	91.3	(0.5)
Mexico	-0.30	(0.02)	0.73	(0.02)	5.0	(0.4)	95.0	(0.4)	10.7	(0.6)	89.3	(0.6)
Netherlands*	-0.18	(0.02)	0.82	(0.02)	16.2	(0.9)	83.8	(0.9)	9.0	(0.6)	91.0	(0.6)
New Zealand*	0.01	(0.03)	1.19	(0.01)	44.7	(1.5)	55.3	(1.5)	28.0	(1.1)	72.0	(1.1)
Norway	-0.43	(0.03)	1.40	(0.02)	53.9	(1.4)	46.1	(1.4)	16.4	(0.8)	83.6	(0.8)
Poland	-0.12	(0.02)	0.92	(0.02)	11.3	(0.8)	88.7	(0.8)	12.2	(0.6)	87.8	(0.6)
Portugal	-0.03	(0.02)	0.95	(0.02)	7.5	(0.6)	92.5	(0.6)	15.8	(0.7)	84.2	(0.7)
Slovak Republic	0.02	(0.02)	1.01	(0.02)	19.5	(1.1)	80.5	(1.1)	10.8	(0.7)	89.2	(0.7)
Slovenia	-0.21	(0.01)	0.85	(0.01)	5.7	(0.3)	94.3	(0.3)	9.0	(0.4)	91.0	(0.4)
Spain	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Sweden	-0.20	(0.02)	1.17	(0.02)	40.6	(1.1)	59.4	(1.1)	18.8	(0.6)	81.2	(0.6)
Switzerland	-0.05	(0.02)	0.92	(0.02)	15.7	(1.1)	84.3	(1.1)	12.0	(0.5)	88.0	(0.5)
Türkiye	0.35	(0.03)	1.17	(0.02)	5.3	(0.3)	94.7	(0.3)	26.9	(1.1)	73.1	(1.1)
United Kingdom*	0.40	(0.03)	1.05	(0.01)	32.7	(1.4)	67.3	(1.4)	38.3	(1.4)	61.7	(1.4)
United States*	0.19	(0.03)	1.01	(0.02)	18.2	(1.2)	81.8	(1.2)	33.3	(1.6)	66.7	(1.6)
OECD average	0.01	(0.00)	0.97	(0.00)	19.8	(0.2)	80.2	(0.2)	17.0	(0.2)	83.0	(0.2)

#### Table II.B1.3.23. School safety risks [2/4]

#### Based on students' reports

					Per	centage of s du	students wi ring the fou	ho reported Ir weeks pri	l that the fo or to the PI	llowing hap SAassessme	pened at so ent	hool
	In	dex of scho	ol safety ris	sks	01	ur school wa	as vandalise	ed	l witnes in	ssed a fight which som	on school p eone got hu	roperty urt
	Ave	rage	Varia	bility	Ye	es	N	0	Y	es	N	0
	Mean index	S.E.	S.D.	S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
s Albania	0.20	(0.02)	1.18	(0.02)	13.1	(0.6)	86.9	(0.6)	21.4	(0.7)	78.6	(0.7)
튶 Argentina	0.21	(0.02)	1.04	(0.02)	12.9	(0.7)	87.1	(0.7)	25.6	(1.0)	74.4	(1.0)
Baku (Azerbaijan)	0.06	(0.02) †	1.05	(0.01) †	9.9	(0.6) †	90.1	(0.6) †	19.5	(0.6) †	80.5	(0.6) †
Brazil	0.03	(0.02)	0.94	(0.01)	16.2	(0.6)	83.8	(0.6)	19.0	(0.6)	81.0	(0.6)
Brunei Darussalam	0.23	(0.01)	0.98	(0.01)	16.6	(0.5)	83.4	(0.5)	17.0	(0.6)	83.0	(0.6)
Bulgaria	0.20	(0.03)	1.12	(0.02)	26.7	(0.9)	73.3	(0.9)	17.0	(0.9)	83.0	(0.9)
Cambodia	0.03	(0.03)	0.93	(0.02)	4.2	(0.4)	95.8	(0.4)	27.2	(1.5)	72.8	(1.5)
Croatia	-0.26	(0.02)	0.80	(0.02)	10.5	(0.7)	89.5	(0.7)	6.7	(0.5)	93.3	(0.5)
Cyprus	0.46	(0.02)	1.27	(0.01)	33.2	(0.7)	66.8	(0.7)	24.8	(0.5)	75.2	(0.5)
Dominican Republic	0.09	(0.02)	1.00	(0.01)	11.9	(0.6)	88.1	(0.6)	23.8	(0.7)	76.2	(0.7)
El Salvador	-0.18	(0.02)	0.84	(0.02)	7.3	(0.5)	92.7	(0.5)	19.6	(0.8)	80.4	(0.8)
Georgia	-0.21	(0.02)	0.89	(0.02)	4.5	(0.3)	95.5	(0.3)	11.6	(0.6)	88.4	(0.6)
Guatemala	m	m	m	m	2.0	(0.3)	98.0	(0.3)	6.4	(0.4)	93.6	(0.4)
Hong Kong (China)*	-0.29	(0.02)	0.79	(0.02)	5.5	(0.5)	94.5	(0.5)	8.5	(0.5)	91.5	(0.5)
Indonesia	-0.25	(0.02)	0.76	(0.02)	5.6	(0.6)	94.4	(0.6)	12.3	(0.7)	87.7	(0.7)
Jamaica*	0.63	(0.03)	1.18	(0.02)	14.3	(0.9)	85.7	(0.9)	38.9	(1.4)	61.1	(1.4)
Jordan	0.33	(0.03)	1.23	(0.02)	19.4	(0.9)	80.6	(0.9)	23.1	(1.0)	76.9	(1.0)
Kazakhstan	-0.41	(0.01)	0.61	(0.01)	2.7	(0.2)	97.3	(0.2)	7.6	(0.3)	92.4	(0.3)
Kosovo	0.46	(0.02)	1.21	(0.01)	15.8	(0.6)	84.2	(0.6)	22.9	(0.6)	77.1	(0.6)
Macao (China)	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Malaysia	-0.17	(0.02)	0.82	(0.01)	6.5	(0.4)	93.5	(0.4)	12.7	(0.6)	87.3	(0.6)
Malta	0.43	(0.02)	1.16	(0.01)	28.4	(0.9)	71.6	(0.9)	30.8	(0.8)	69.2	(0.8)
Moldova	0.08	(0.02)	0.96	(0.02)	11.0	(0.7)	89.0	(0.7)	16.7	(0.8)	83.3	(0.8)
Mongolia	-0.06	(0.02)	0.89	(0.02)	3.8	(0.4)	96.2	(0.4)	18.6	(0.6)	81.4	(0.6)
Montenegro	0.30	(0.02)	1.19	(0.01)	16.4	(0.5)	83.6	(0.5)	27.8	(0.6)	72.2	(0.6)
Могоссо	0.25	(0.02)	1.02	(0.01)	14.9	(0.8)	85.1	(0.8)	13.6	(0.6)	86.4	(0.6)
North Macedonia	0.09	(0.01)	1.06	(0.01)	13.0	(0.5)	87.0	(0.5)	14.9	(0.4)	85.1	(0.4)
Palestinian Authority	0.24	(0.03)	1.15	(0.02)	16.3	(0.8)	83.7	(0.8)	19.8	(0.7)	80.2	(0.7)
Panama*	-0.05	(0.03)	0.92	(0.02)	10.5	(0.9)	89.5	(0.9)	17.0	(0.9)	83.0	(0.9)
Paraguay	m	m	m	m	12.6	(0.7)	87.4	(0.7)	16.8	(1.0)	83.2	(1.0)
Peru	-0.04	(0.02)	0.91	(0.02)	7.3	(0.5)	92.7	(0.5)	20.1	(0.8)	79.9	(0.8)
Philippines	0.43	(0.03)	1.20	(0.01)	21.3	(0.8)	78.7	(0.8)	34.5	(0.7)	65.5	(0.7)
Qatar	0.24	(0.01)	1.13	(0.01)	18.1	(0.5)	81.9	(0.5)	31.1	(0.6)	68.9	(0.6)
Romania	0.07	(0.02)	0.94	(0.01)	6.0	(0.4)	94.0	(0.4)	16.5	(0.8)	83.5	(0.8)
Saudi Arabia	-0.08	(0.02)	0.97	(0.02)	12.3	(0.5)	87.7	(0.5)	19.2	(0.8)	80.8	(0.8)
Serbia	-0.18	(0.01)	0.85	(0.02)	6.2	(0.4)	93.8	(0.4)	7.2	(0.4)	92.8	(0.4)
Singapore	-0.15	(0.01)	0.83	(0.01)	17.0	(0.6)	83.0	(0.6)	13.3	(0.4)	86.7	(0.4)
Chinese Taipei	-0.35	(0.02)	0.71	(0.02)	4.3	(0.4)	95.7	(0.4)	5.0	(0.6)	95.0	(0.6)
Thailand	0.07	(0.03)	1.04	(0.02)	5.8	(0.5)	94.2	(0.5)	18.2	(1.0)	81.8	(1.0)
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	-0.21	(0.03)	0.82	(0.03)	3.6	(0.4)	96.4	(0.4)	12.0	(0.9)	88.0	(0.9)
United Arab Emirates	0.14	(0.01)	1.15	(0.01)	16.6	(0.3)	83.4	(0.3)	23.1	(0.4)	76.9	(0.4)
Uruguay	0.28	(0.02)	1.07	(0.01)	19.0	(0.9)	81.0	(0.9)	27.4	(0.9)	72.6	(0.9)
Uzbekistan	-0.08	(0.02)	0.95	(0.02)	13.7	(0.7)	86.3	(0.7)	16.1	(0.7)	83.9	(0.7)
Viet Nam	-0.15	(0.02)	0.83	(0.02)	2.2	(0.2)	97.8	(0.2)	13.3	(0.8)	86.7	(0.8)

#### Table II.B1.3.23. School safety risks [3/4]

#### Based on students' reports

			Pe	rcentage of du	students w ring the fou	ho reported ur weeks pri	I that the fo or to the PI	llowing hap SA assessme	pened atsch ent	ool		
		l saw gang	s in school		I	heard a stu to hurt ano	dent threate ther studen	en t	l sa	w a studen or knife	t carrying a at school	gun
	Y	es	N	0	Y	es	N	lo	Ye	es	N	0
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Australia*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Ö Austria	10.2	(0.5)	89.8	(0.5)	11.9	(0.7)	88.1	(0.7)	13.0	(0.6)	87.0	(0.6)
Belgium	9.8	(0.5)	90.2	(0.5)	20.1	(0.6)	79.9	(0.6)	11.0	(0.5)	89.0	(0.5)
Canada*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Chile	12.5	(0.7)	87.5	(0.7)	32.4	(0.9)	67.6	(0.9)	19.5	(0.7)	80.5	(0.7)
Colombia	8.0	(0.6)	92.0	(0.6)	17.4	(0.7)	82.6	(0.7)	11.3	(0.6)	88.7	(0.6)
Costa Rica	17.4	(0.9)	82.6	(0.9)	28.1	(0.7)	71.9	(0.7)	17.7	(0.8)	82.3	(0.8)
Czech Republic	16.0	(0.8)	84.0	(0.8)	19.8	(0.7)	80.2	(0.7)	16.2	(0.6)	83.8	(0.6)
Denmark*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Estonia	13.1	(0.5)	86.9	(0.5)	19.7	(0.7)	80.3	(0.7)	9.6	(0.5)	90.4	(0.5)
Finland	23.5	(0.8)	76.5	(0.8)	24.2	(0.7)	75.8	(0.7)	7.1	(0.4)	92.9	(0.4)
France	6.6	(0.5)	93.4	(0.5)	18.8	(0.7)	81.2	(0.7)	12.0	(0.5)	88.0	(0.5)
Germany	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Greece	17.1	(0.8)	82.9	(0.8)	25.1	(0.8)	74.9	(0.8)	15.9	(0.8)	84.1	(0.8)
Hungary	17.2	(0.7)	82.8	(0.7)	11.5	(0.5)	88.5	(0.5)	6.5	(0.4)	93.5	(0.4)
Iceland	5.0	(0.3)	95.0	(0.3)	18.9	(0.7)	81.1	(0.7)	8.7	(0.5)	91.3	(0.5)
Ireland*	6.2	(0.5)	93.8	(0.5)	21.4	(1.1)	78.6	(1.1)	3.6	(0.3)	96.4	(0.3)
Israel	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Italy	m	m	m	m	19.8	(0.8)	80.2	(0.8)	m	m	m	m
Japan	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Korea	3.7	(0.6)	96.3	(0.6)	2.9	(0.4)	97.1	(0.4)	2.3	(0.9)	97.7	(0.9)
Latvia*	26.2	(1.0)	73.8	(1.0)	20.4	(0.8)	79.6	(0.8)	11.6	(0.7)	88.4	(0.7)
Lithuania	14.4	(0.6)	85.6	(0.6)	16.0	(0.6)	84.0	(0.6)	8.0	(0.4)	92.0	(0.4)
Mexico	7.7	(0.4)	92.3	(0.4)	10.0	(0.6)	90.0	(0.6)	3.8	(0.3)	96.2	(0.3)
Netherlands*	6.9	(0.5)	93.1	(0.5)	13.8	(0.7)	86.2	(0.7)	6.5	(0.4)	93.5	(0.4)
New Zealand*	8.7	(0.5)	91.3	(0.5)	34.1	(0.9)	65.9	(0.9)	7.7	(0.5)	92.3	(0.5)
Norway	11.3	(0.5)	88.7	(0.5)	20.5	(0.8)	79.5	(0.8)	10.0	(0.5)	90.0	(0.5)
Poland	10.0	(0.6)	90.0	(0.6)	15.2	(0.6)	84.8	(0.6)	10.2	(0.5)	89.8	(0.5)
Portugal	11.8	(0.7)	88.2	(0.7)	22.8	(0.7)	77.2	(0.7)	10.0	(0.6)	90.0	(0.6)
Slovak Republic	14.4	(0.7)	85.6	(0.7)	15.9	(0.8)	84.1	(0.8)	16.3	(0.8)	83.7	(0.8)
Slovenia	9.0	(0.5)	91.0	(0.5)	13.1	(0.5)	86.9	(0.5)	10.2	(0.4)	89.8	(0.4)
Spain	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Sweden	10.6	(0.6)	89.4	(0.6)	21.5	(0.7)	78.5	(0.7)	9.9	(0.6)	90.1	(0.6)
Switzerland	9.7	(0.5)	90.3	(0.5)	15.9	(0.6)	84.1	(0.6)	14.3	(0.6)	85.7	(0.6)
Türkiye	25.6	(0.9)	74.4	(0.9)	28.5	(0.9)	71.5	(0.9)	25.7	(1.1)	74.3	(1.1)
United Kingdom*	10.0	(0.6)	90.0	(0.6)	37.2	(1.0)	62.8	(1.0)	4.5	(0.4)	95.5	(0.4)
United States*	8.9	(0.6)	91.1	(0.6)	28.3	(1.1)	71.7	(1.1)	5.5	(0.5)	94.5	(0.5)
OECD average	12.1	(0.1)	87.9	(0.1)	20.2	(0.1)	79.8	(0.1)	10.6	(0.1)	89.4	(0.1)

## Table II.B1.3.23. School safety risks [4/4]

#### Based on students' reports

			Pe	rcentage of du	students w ring the fou	ho reported ur weeks prie	that the fo or to the PI	llowing hap A assessme	pened atsch	ool		
		l saw gang	s in school		I	heard a stud to hurt anot	dent threate ther studen	en t	l sa	w a student or knife a	carrying a g at school	gun
	Ye	es	N	lo	Y	es	N	o	Ye	es	N	0
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ទួ Albania	24.4	(0.8)	75.6	(0.8)	21.7	(0.7)	78.3	(0.7)	17.2	(0.7)	82.8	(0.7)
듩 Argentina	11.1	(0.6)	88.9	(0.6)	31.7	(0.9)	68.3	(0.9)	14.9	(0.7)	85.1	(0.7)
Baku (Azerbaijan)	9.1	(0.4) †	90.9	(0.4) †	22.5	(0.7) †	77.5	(0.7) †	18.7	(0.7) †	81.3	(0.7) †
Brazil	7.1	(0.3)	92.9	(0.3)	25.6	(0.6)	74.4	(0.6)	8.1	(0.4)	91.9	(0.4)
Brunei Darussalam	34.4	(0.6)	65.6	(0.6)	29.2	(0.6)	70.8	(0.6)	2.5	(0.2)	97.5	(0.2)
Bulgaria	14.7	(0.7)	85.3	(0.7)	28.5	(1.0)	71.5	(1.0)	13.8	(0.8)	86.2	(0.8)
Cambodia	21.0	(1.2)	79.0	(1.2)	17.3	(0.9)	82.7	(0.9)	5.2	(0.5)	94.8	(0.5)
Croatia	7.0	(0.4)	93.0	(0.4)	13.4	(0.7)	86.6	(0.7)	5.3	(0.4)	94.7	(0.4)
Cyprus	28.3	(0.6)	71.7	(0.6)	26.3	(0.6)	73.7	(0.6)	19.5	(0.6)	80.5	(0.6)
Dominican Republic	10.6	(0.5)	89.4	(0.5)	27.1	(0.7)	72.9	(0.7)	10.2	(0.5)	89.8	(0.5)
El Salvador	6.6	(0.5)	93.4	(0.5)	13.8	(0.7)	86.2	(0.7)	4.3	(0.3)	95.7	(0.3)
Georgia	9.1	(0.5)	90.9	(0.5)	14.4	(0.7)	85.6	(0.7)	9.2	(0.5)	90.8	(0.5)
Guatemala	2.8	(0.3)	97.2	(0.3)	7.6	(0.5)	92.4	(0.5)	2.4	(0.3)	97.6	(0.3)
Hong Kong (China)*	6.9	(0.5)	93.1	(0.5)	12.0	(0.6)	88.0	(0.6)	4.9	(0.4)	95.1	(0.4)
Indonesia	8.8	(0.5)	91.2	(0.5)	13.7	(0.7)	86.3	(0.7)	2.4	(0.3)	97.6	(0.3)
Jamaica*	24.5	(1.1)	75.5	(1.1)	48.6	(1.0)	51.4	(1.0)	19.3	(1.0)	80.7	(1.0)
Jordan	23.3	(0.7)	76.7	(0.7)	32.4	(0.9)	67.6	(0.9)	14.5	(0.7)	85.5	(0.7)
Kazakhstan	2.4	(0.1)	97.6	(0.1)	8.0	(0.3)	92.0	(0.3)	3.5	(0.2)	96.5	(0.2)
Kosovo	29.7	(0.7)	70.3	(0.7)	30.5	(0.7)	69.5	(0.7)	30.4	(0.8)	69.6	(0.8)
Macao (China)	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Malaysia	19.4	(0.7)	80.6	(0.7)	11.5	(0.5)	88.5	(0.5)	2.5	(0.2)	97.5	(0.2)
Malta	22.6	(0.8)	77.4	(0.8)	34.5	(0.8)	65.5	(0.8)	9.9	(0.5)	90.1	(0.5)
Moldova	12.9	(0.6)	87.1	(0.6)	27.7	(0.9)	72.3	(0.9)	11.1	(0.5)	88.9	(0.5)
Mongolia	6.1	(0.4)	93.9	(0.4)	25.5	(0.7)	74.5	(0.7)	7.8	(0.6)	92.2	(0.6)
Montenegro	21.0	(0.6)	79.0	(0.6)	29.8	(0.7)	70.2	(0.7)	13.0	(0.5)	87.0	(0.5)
Могоссо	16.1	(0.6)	83.9	(0.6)	37.9	(0.7)	62.1	(0.7)	16.8	(0.7)	83.2	(0.7)
North Macedonia	20.3	(0.5)	79.7	(0.5)	22.3	(0.6)	77.7	(0.6)	13.6	(0.5)	86.4	(0.5)
Palestinian Authority	20.2	(0.7)	79.8	(0.7)	32.4	(0.8)	67.6	(0.8)	12.9	(0.7)	87.1	(0.7)
Panama*	11.3	(0.7)	88.7	(0.7)	20.5	(1.1)	79.5	(1.1)	6.9	(0.5)	93.1	(0.5)
Paraguay	6.7	(0.5)	93.3	(0.5)	26.0	(0.9)	74.0	(0.9)	5.3	(0.4)	94.7	(0.4)
Peru	12.8	(0.7)	87.2	(0.7)	20.8	(0.7)	79.2	(0.7)	4.5	(0.4)	95.5	(0.4)
Philippines	20.6	(0.8)	79.4	(0.8)	35.8	(0.8)	64.2	(0.8)	13.5	(0.6)	86.5	(0.6)
Qatar	16.4	(0.6)	83.6	(0.6)	27.6	(0.5)	72.4	(0.5)	8.4	(0.4)	91.6	(0.4)
Romania	8.9	(0.5)	91.1	(0.5)	32.4	(1.0)	67.6	(1.0)	12.6	(0.6)	87.4	(0.6)
Saudi Arabia	9.1	(0.5)	90.9	(0.5)	17.5	(0.5)	82.5	(0.5)	5.4	(0.4)	94.6	(0.4)
Serbia	10.1	(0.5)	89.9	(0.5)	18.9	(0.7)	81.1	(0.7)	6.9	(0.4)	93.1	(0.4)
Singapore	8.8	(0.3)	91.2	(0.3)	15.4	(0.4)	84.6	(0.4)	2.8	(0.2)	97.2	(0.2)
ChineseTaipei	8.3	(0.6)	91.7	(0.6)	8.4	(0.6)	91.6	(0.6)	5.7	(0.4)	94.3	(0.4)
Thailand	29.2	(1.2)	70.8	(1.2)	17.8	(0.7)	82.2	(0.7)	9.4	(0.6)	90.6	(0.6)
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	5.6	(0.5)	94.4	(0.5)	16.6	(1.2)	83.4	(1.2)	8.5	(0.7)	91.5	(0.7)
UnitedArab Emirates	16.5	(0.3)	83.5	(0.3)	24.6	(0.3)	75.4	(0.3)	9.8	(0.2)	90.2	(0.2)
Uruguay	14.7	(0.6)	85.3	(0.6)	30.7	(0.8)	69.3	(0.8)	13.3	(0.6)	86.7	(0.6)
Uzbekistan	9.2	(0.5)	90.8	(0.5)	19.0	(0.5)	81.0	(0.5)	6.1	(0.3)	93.9	(0.3)
Viet Nam	13.5	(0.7)	86.5	(0.7)	20.5	(0.9)	79.5	(0.9)	3.3	(0.3)	96.7	(0.3)

#### | 365

#### Table II.B1.4.10. Grade repetition [1/2]

Based on students' reports

		Repe a gra	eated de at						Perc	entage	of stud	ents wh	o had	repeated	l a grade	e in:					
		least	once			Primary	school				Low	er secor	dary so	hool			Uppe	er secon	idary so	hool	
		secor or u secor secor	ver ndary pper ndary ool <sup>1</sup>	Ne	ver	On	се	Twice c	or more	Ne	ver	On	ce	Twice o	r more	Ne	ver	On	се	Twice o	r more
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
G	Australia*	4.8	(0.2)	95.8	(0.2)	3.9	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)	99.1	(0.1)	0.7	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	100.0	(0.0)	0.0	(0.0)	0.0	(0.0)
Ö	Austria	15.6	(0.6)	92.0	(0.4)	7.5	(0.4)	0.5	(0.1)	93.0	(0.5)	6.4	(0.5)	0.6	(0.1)	97.3	(0.2)	2.4	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)
	Belgium	26.5	(0.8)	83.9	(0.7)	14.3	(0.6)	1.8	(0.2)	93.0	(0.4)	6.5	(0.4)	0.5	(0.1)	92.4	(0.4)	7.4	(0.4)	0.2	(0.1)
	Canada*	5.0	(0.2)	97.1	(0.2)	2.6	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	97.6	(0.1)	2.1	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	99.3	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)	0.2	(0.0)
	Chile	16.8	(0.9)	87.6	(0.8)	9.7	(0.6)	2.7	(0.4)	96.9	(0.3)	2.7	(0.3)	0.5	(0.1)	97.0	(0.3)	2.8	(0.3)	0.2	(0.1)
	Colombia	39.4	(1.4)	78.8	(1.0)	16.6	(0.8)	4.6	(0.4)	73.0	(1.3)	20.3	(0.9)	6.8	(0.5)	97.8	(0.2)†	2.1	(0.2)†	0.1	(0.0)†
	Costa Rica	19.1	(0.8)	86.8	(0.6)	11.2	(0.5)	2.0	(0.3)	91.8	(0.5)	7.6	(0.5)	0.6	(0.1)	99.7	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	0.1	(0.0)
	Czech Republic	4.2	(0.4)	97.6	(0.3)	1.9	(0.3)	0.5	(0.1)	97.3	(0.3)	2.2	(0.2)	0.5	(0.1)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Denmark*	3.5	(0.3)	96.9	(0.2)	2.9	(0.2)	0.2	(0.0)	99.4	(0.1)	0.5	(0.1)	0.2	(0.0)	100.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	С
	Estonia	3.6	(0.3)	97.5	(0.2)	1.9	(0.2)	0.6	(0.1)	98.1	(0.2)	1.4	(0.2)	0.5	(0.1)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Finland	2.7	(0.2)	97.7	(0.2)	2.0	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)	99.1	(0.1)	0.6	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	100.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	С
	France	10.8	(0.6)	92.5	(0.5)	7.2	(0.5)	0.2	(0.1)	96.1	(0.4)	3.6	(0.4)	0.2	(0.1)	99.7	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	0.1	(0.0)
	Germany	19.2	(0.9)	89.1	(0.7)	10.3	(0.6)	0.6	(0.1)	89.8	(0.6)	9.5	(0.6)	0.6	(0.1)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Greece	3.3	(0.6)	98.4	(0.3)	1.1	(0.3)	0.5	(0.1)	97.8	(0.4)	1.6	(0.4)	0.6	(0.1)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Hungary	6.5	(0.4)	96.2	(0.3)	3.2	(0.3)	0.6	(0.1)	96.8	(0.3)	2.4	(0.3)	0.8	(0.1)	98.4	(0.3)	1.2	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)
	Iceland	1.4	(0.2)	99.1	(0.1)	0.5	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)	99.0	(0.2)	0.5	(0.1)	0.6	(0.1)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Ireland*	3.8	(0.3)	96.7	(0.3)	3.1	(0.3)	0.2	(0.1)	99.4	(0.1)	0.5	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	99.7	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)
	Israel	8.1	(0.5)	96.6	(0.3)	2.3	(0.2)	1.1	(0.2)	94.7	(0.4)	3.8	(0.3)	1.4	(0.2)	95.8	(0.4)	2.7	(0.3)	1.5	(0.2)
	Italy	8.6	(0.4)	99.0	(0.2)	0.9	(0.1)	0.1	(0.0)	97.9	(0.2)	1.8	(0.2)	0.4	(0.1)	93.9	(0.4)	6.0	(0.4)	0.1	(0.0)
	Japan	0.0	(0.0)	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Korea	3.3	(0.3)	96.9	(0.2)	1.8	(0.2)	1.2	(0.2)	97.2	(0.2)	1.5	(0.2)	1.4	(0.2)	97.8	(0.2)	1.3	(0.2)	0.8	(0.1)
	Latvia*	2.9	(0.4)	98.9	(0.2)	1.0	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)	98.0	(0.3)	1.7	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)	100.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	С
	Lithuania	1.8	(0.2)	98.7	(0.2)	1.0	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)	99.2	(0.1)	0.5	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Mexico	9.0	(0.7)	94.7	(0.5)	4.8	(0.5)	0.4	(0.1)	96.8	(0.4)	3.0	(0.3)	0.3	(0.1)	98.7	(0.3)	1.1	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)
	Netherlands*	23.3	(0.9)	85.7	(0.7)	13.4	(0.6)	0.8	(0.2)	91.4	(0.6)	8.0	(0.6)	0.5	(0.1)	97.9	(0.2)	2.1	(0.2)	0.0	С
	New Zealand*	4.9	(0.3)	96.0	(0.3)	3.7	(0.3)	0.3	(0.1)	98.5	(0.2)	1.4	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)	99.4	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)
	Norway	0.0	(0.0)	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Poland	3.1	(0.3)	98.6	(0.2)	1.0	(0.2)	0.4	(0.1)	98.7	(0.2)	0.9	(0.2)	0.5	(0.1)	98.6	(0.2)	1.0	(0.2)	0.4	(0.1)
	Portugal	17.2	(0.8)	85.8	(0.7)	12.0	(0.6)	2.2	(0.4)	95.0	(0.4)	4.3	(0.4)	0.7	(0.1)	99.8	(0.0)	0.1	(0.0)	0.1	(0.0)
	Slovak Republic	7.6	(0.7)	95.2	(0.5)	3.7	(0.4)	1.1	(0.2)	96.1	(0.4)	3.0	(0.3)	0.9	(0.2)	99.7	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)	0.2	(0.0)
	Slovenia	3.5	(0.3)	97.8	(0.3)	1.8	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)	98.4	(0.2)	1.4	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)	99.3	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)
	Spain	21.7	(0.5)	89.9	(0.3)	9.6	(0.3)	0.5	(0.1)	85.1	(0.4)	13.5	(0.4)	1.3	(0.1)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Sweden	4.0	(0.2)	96.8	(0.2)	2.6	(0.2)	0.6	(0.1)	97.5	(0.2)	1.9	(0.2)	0.5	(0.1)	100.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	С
	Switzerland	13.4	(0.7)	90.7	(0.5)	8.8	(0.5)	0.5	(0.1)	95.7	(0.4)	4.0	(0.4)	0.3	(0.1)	99.3	(0.1)	0.6	(0.1)	0.0	(0.0)
	Türkiye	1.5	(0.2)	99.4	(0.1)	0.5	(0.1)	0.1	(0.0)	99.1	(0.1)	0.7	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	99.4	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)
	United Kingdom*	2.1	(0.2)	98.5	(0.2)	1.3	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)	99.3	(0.1)	0.6	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	99.5	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)
	United States*	8.0	(0.7)	94.2	(0.6)	5.5	(0.6)	0.3	(0.1)	97.0	(0.4)	2.8	(0.4)	0.2	(0.1)	99.0	(0.2)	0.8	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)
	OECD average	8.9	(0.1)	94.2	(0.1)	5.0	(0.1)	0.8	(0.0)	95.8	(0.1)	3.5	(0.1)	0.7	(0.0)	98.6	(0.0)	1.2	(0.0)	0.2	(0.0)

1. The questions on grade repetition were not administered in Japan and Norway. The share of grade repeaters has been set to zero in agreement with countries since there is a policy of automatic grade progression and more than 99.5% of students were enrolled in the same grade level.

#### Table II.B1.4.10. Grade repetition [2/2]

#### Based on students' reports

		Repe	ated						Perc	entage	of stud	ents wh	no had i	repeated	l a grad	e in:					
		least of	once			Primary	school				Low	er secon	idary so	hool			Uppe	r secor	ndary so	hool	
		low secon or up secon scho	nary, ver idary oper idary ool <sup>1</sup>	Ne	ver	On	се	Twice o	or more	Ne	ver	On	ice	Twice o	r more	Ne	ver	On	ice	Twice o	r more
_		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ners	Albania	5.5	(0.5)	97.2	(0.3)	1.8	(0.2)	0.9	(0.2)	96.0	(0.4)	2.5	(0.3)	1.4	(0.2)	97.7	(0.3)	1.2	(0.2)	1.1	(0.2)
Part	Argentina	13.5	(0.7)	93.5	(0.5)	5.6	(0.4)	0.9	(0.1)	91.2	(0.5)	7.8	(0.5)	0.9	(0.2)	99.5	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)
	Baku (Azerbaijan)	3.9	(0.3)	98.1	(0.2)	1.2	(0.1)	0.7	(0.1)	96.9	(0.2)	1.8	(0.2)	1.2	(0.1)	98.7	(0.1)	0.5	(0.1)	0.8	(0.1)
	Brazil	22.1	(0.7)	87.5	(0.6)	10.0	(0.5)	2.5	(0.2)	87.3	(0.5)	10.4	(0.4)	2.2	(0.2)	98.7	(0.2)	1.1	(0.1)	0.2	(0.0)
	Brunei Darussalam	8.3	(0.3)	94.3	(0.3)	5.0	(0.3)	0.7	(0.1)	95.7	(0.3)	3.7	(0.2)	0.5	(0.1)	96.8	(0.2)	2.4	(0.2)	0.8	(0.1)
	Bulgaria	5.0	(0.4)	97.6	(0.2)	1.5	(0.2)	1.0	(0.2)	96.5	(0.3)	2.6	(0.3)	1.0	(0.1)	97.4	(0.3)	1.2	(0.2)	1.5	(0.2)
	Cambodia	28.8	(1.0)	/3.4	(1.0)	22.7	(0.9)	3.9	(0.3)	93.9	(0.5)	4./	(0.4)	1.3	(0.2)	99.0	(0.2)†	0.8	(0.2)†	0.2	(0.1)†
	Croatia	1.2	(0.2)	99.7	(0.1)	0.2	(0.0)	0.1	(0.0)	99.3	(0.1)	0.6	(0.1)	0.1	(0.0)	99.3	(0.1)	0.5	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)
	Cyprus	5.2	(0.3)	96.3	(0.3)	1.9	(0.2)	1.8	(0.2)	96.2	(0.2)	1.5	(0.2)	2.3	(0.2)	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Dominican Republic	25.8	(0.9)	81.3	(0.7)	15.1	(0.5)	3.6	(0.3)	86.5	(0.7)	11.7	(0.6)	1.8	(0.2)	98.4	(0.3)†	1.3	(0.2)†	0.3	(0.1)†
	El Salvador	19.8	(0.8)	86.2	(0.7)	11.8	(0.6)	2.0	(0.2)	89.8	(0.6)	8.8	(0.5)	1.4	(0.2)	100.0	сŢ	0.0	ct	0.0	ct
	Georgia	3.0	(0.3)	98.2	(0.2)	1.2	(0.2)	0.6	(0.1)	98.3	(0.2)	1.1	(0.2)	0.6	(0.1)	98.6	(0.2)	0.6	(0.1)	0.8	(0.1)
	Guatemala	28.6	(1.0)	02.5	(1.0)	19.4	(0.8)	3.2	(0.4)	88.2	(0.9)	10.8	(0.8)	1.0	(0.2)	99.9	(0.1)‡	0.1	(0.1)‡	0.0	C‡
	Hong Kong (China)*	12.3	(0.6)	93.5	(0.4)	6.0	(0.4)	0.5	(0.1)	93.4	(0.4)	6.0	(0.4)	0.0	(0.1)	99.7	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)
	Indonesia	12.0	(0.8)	89.4	(0.7)	9.4	(0.7)	1.3	(0.2)	94.4	(0.4)	4.4	(0.4)	1.2	(0.2)	97.8	(0.3)	1.6	(0.2)	0.6	(0.1)
	Jamaica"	20.4	(1.0)	82.8	(0.9)	16.0	(0.8)	1.2	(0.2)	94.3	(0.6)	5.0	(0.6)	0.7	(0.2)	99.4	(0.2)	0.5	(0.2)	0.1	(0.0)
	Jordan	12.7	(0.0)	90.9	(0.5)	0.0	(0.4)	2.0	(0.2)	90.0	(0.0)	5.9	(0.4)	3.4	(0.3)	m	m	m	m	m	m (a a)
	Kazakhstan	2.4	(0.2)	98.3	(0.1)	1.5	(0.1)	0.2	(0.0)	98.8	(0.1)	1.0	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	99.5	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	0.1	(0.0)
	Kosovo	4./	(0.3)	96.6	(0.2)	1.8	(0.2)	1.6	(0.2)	96.9	(0.2)	1.8	(0.2)	1.3	(0.2)	98.3	(0.2)	0.6	(0.1)	1.1	(0.2)
	Macao (China)	21.9	(0.4)	88.1	(0.4)	10.2	(0.4)	1.7	(0.2)	87.4	(0.4)	11.2	(0.4)	1.4	(0.1)	99.8	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	0.0	С
	Malaysia	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W	W
	Malta	4.0	(0.4)	96.4	(0.3)	2.9	(0.3)	0.8	(0.2)	98.1	(0.3)	1.2	(0.2)	0.7	(0.2)	98.4	(0.3)	0.6	(0.2)	1.0	(0.2)
	Moldova	2.9	(0.3)	90.0	(0.2)	1.3	(0.2)	0.7	(0.1)	90.1	(0.2)	1.3	(0.2)	0.0	(0.1)	99.9	(0.0)	0.0	(0.0)	0.1	(0.0)
	Mongolia	3.7	(0.3)	97.6	(0.2)	1.5	(0.1)	1.0	(0.1)	97.8	(0.2)	1.1	(0.1)	1.1	(0.1)	98.3	(0.2)	0.8	(0.2)	0.9	(0.1)
	Montenegro	2.3	(0.3)	98.7	(0.2)	0.6	(0.1)	0.7	(0.1)	98.2	(0.2)	1.1	(0.2)	0.7	(0.1)	98.9	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	0.7	(0.1)
	Morocco	45.5	(2.9)	73.8	(2.0)	19.6	(1.4)	0.0	(0.7)	66.5	(2.4)	27.4	(2.0)	6.1	(0.6)	99.1	(0.2)T	0.9	(0.2)†	0.1	(0.0)T
	North Macedonia	3.0	(0.2)	98.4	(0.1)	1.1	(0.1)	0.5	(0.1)	97.9	(0.2)	1.7	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)	98.0	(0.2)	1.0	(0.1)	0.9	(0.1)
	Palestinian Authority	11.1	(0.6)	93.9	(0.4)	4.5	(0.3)	1.0	(0.2)	92.5	(0.5)	5.9	(0.4)	1.0	(0.2)	93.0	(0.5)	4.4	(0.3)	2.0	(0.3)
	Panama*	20.4	(1.1)	87.7	(0.8)	10.4	(0.7)	1.9	(0.3)	88.3	(0.8)	9.9	(0.7)	1.7	(0.2)	98.8	(0.2)T	0.9	(0.2) †	0.2	(0.1)T
	Paraguay	18.1	(0.8)	85.6	(0.7)	12.4	(0.6)	1.9	(0.2)	94.2	(0.5)	4.8	(0.4)	1.0	(0.2)	98.6	(0.2)	1.2	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)
	Peru Philipping	13.5	(0.0)	09.5	(0.0)	9.4	(0.4)	1.1	(0.1)	95.9	(0.3)	3.9	(0.3)	0.5	(0.1)	99.5	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)	0.2	(0.0)
	Philippines	25.5	(1.1)	01.0	(0.8)	14.3	(0.7)	3.8	(0.3)	82.9	(0.8)	12.8	(0.0)	4.3	(0.3)	100.0	CT	0.0		0.0	
	Qatar	5.0	(0.5)	91.2	(0.4)	0.0	(0.4)	2.0	(0.2)	91.9	(0.4)	0.0	(0.3)	2.3	(0.2)	90.4	(0.3)	2.0	(0.2)	1.0	(0.2)
	Romania	5.0	(0.5)	97.0	(0.3)	2.4	(0.3)	0.7	(0.1)	97.0	(0.4)	2.3	(0.3)	0.7	(0.2)	m 00.4	(0.0)	m	(0, 0)	m	(0,0)
	Saudi Arabia	0.3	(0.3)	96.0	(0.3)	2.8	(0.2)	1.3	(0.2)	95.8	(0.3)	2.1	(0.3)	1.5	(0.2)	96.4	(0.3)	2.1	(0.2)	1.5	(0.2)
	Singenere	1.0	(0.4)	99.2	(0.2)	0.4	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)	90.0	(0.4)	0.8	(0.3)	0.4	(0.1)	99.3	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)
	Chinasa Tainai	3.7	(0.2)	90.4	(0.2)	1.4	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)	90.4	(0.2)	1.4	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)	90.0	(0.1)	1.0	(0.1)	0.1	(0.0)
	Chinese Taipei	0.9	(0.2)	99.4	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	99.5	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)	99.7	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)
	I Italiano	0.9	(0.0)	94.5	(0.5)	4.9	(0.5)	0.6	(0.1)	90.1	(0.4)	3.2	(0.3)	0.0	(0.1)	90.1	(0.2)	1.0	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)
	United Areh Emirates	2.0	(0.4)	30.0	(0.3)	1.0	(0.2)	0.0	(0.2)	30.0	(0.2)	0.7	(0.2)	0.5	(0.1)	30.3 02.0	(0.2)	0.7	(0.2)	0.5	(0.1)
		24.0	(0.3)	94.0	(0.2)	4.0	(0.2)	1.4	(0.1)	93.1 20.2	(0.2)	5.0	(0.2)	1.4	(0.1)	93.0 00.0	(0.2)	3.0	(0.2)	2.0	(0.1)
	Uruguay Urbakiatan	24.0	(0.0)	00.7	(0.7)	13.9	(0.7)	2.4	(0.3)	00.0	(0.0)	9.1	(0.0)	2.0	(0.2)	99.0 00 0	(0.1)	0.1	(0.0)	0.1	(0.0)
	Viet Nam	47	(0.3)	90.0	(0.2)	2.4	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)	95.0 97.6	(0.3)	3.7 2.1	(0.2)	0.3	(0.2)	99.3 99.6	(0.1)	0.5	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)
	TIVE IT UIT		10.11	UI.C	10.01	1 <u>2</u> .0	10.01	1 0.0	10.17	91.0	10.77	<u> </u>	10.01	. 0.0	10.17	00.0	10.17	0.0	10.17		10.01

1. The questions on grade repetition were not administered in Japan and Norway. The share of grade repeaters has been set to zero in agreement with countries since there is a policy of automatic grade progression and more than 99.5% of students were enrolled in the same grade level.

# Table II.B1.4.17. Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance [1/6]

					Isolation	n index <sup>1</sup> by:				
					All student	ts and schools				
			Socio-eco	nomic status			Immigrant	t background <sup>e</sup>	Ge	nder
	Disadvanta from all of	aged students ther students	Advantaç from all o	ged students ther students	Disadvanta from advan	aged students Itaged students	lmmigrant non-immig	students from grant students	Boys f	rom girts
	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.
S Australia*	0.20	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.71	(0.01)	0.30	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)
Ö Austria	0.24	(0.01)	0.22	(0.02)	0.75	(0.01)	0.29	(0.02)	0.25	(0.01)
Belgium	0.18	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.72	(0.01)	0.24	(0.02)	0.14	(0.01)
Canada*	0.12	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.63	(0.01)	0.34	(0.01)	0.04	(0.01)
Chile	0.20	(0.02)	0.34	(0.02)	0.79	(0.01)	0.22	(0.06)	0.10	(0.01)
Colombia	0.26	(0.02)	0.36	(0.03)	0.81	(0.01)	m	m	0.06	(0.01)
Costa Rica	m	m	m	m	m	m	0.14	(0.02)	0.03	(0.01)
Czech Republic	0.23	(0.01)	0.26	(0.01)	0.76	(0.01)	m	m	0.21	(0.01)
Denmark*	0.16	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.64	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.05	(0.01)
Estonia	0.17	(0.02)	0.18	(0.02)	0.69	(0.01)	0.17	(0.02)	0.03	(0.00)
Finland	0.09	(0.01)	0.10	(0.01)	0.61	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.02	(0.00)
France	0.20	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.72	(0.01)	0.23	(0.02)	0.08	(0.01)
Germany	0.18	(0.01)	0.22	(0.01)	0.72	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.07	(0.01)
Greece	0.14	(0.01)	0.21	(0.01)	0.69	(0.01)	0.16	(0.02)	0.07	(0.01)
Hungary	0.30	(0.02)	0.30	(0.01)	0.82	(0.01)	m	m	0.20	(0.01)
Iceland	0.12	(0.02)	0.10	(0.02)	0.62	(0.01)	0.10	(0.03)	0.05	(0.01)
Ireland*	0.13	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.65	(0.01)	0.15	(0.02)	0.37	(0.01)
Israel	0.23	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.74	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.32	(0.01)
Italy	0.16	(0.01)	0.17	(0.02)	0.69	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.17	(0.01)
Japan	0.19	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.70	(0.01)	m	m	0.14	(0.02)
Korea	0.14	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.67	(0.01)	m	m	0.40	(0.03)
Latvia*	0.19	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.69	(0.01)	m	m	0.05	(0.01)
Lithuania	0.20	(0.01)	0.21	(0.01)	0.73	(0.01)	m	m	0.05	(0.00)
Mexico	0.22	(0.01)	0.26	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)	m	m	0.06	(0.00)
Netherlands*	0.14	(0.01)	0.18	(0.02)	0.69	(0.01)	0.16	(0.02)	0.03	(0.00)
New Zealand*	0.16	(0.01)	0.12	(0.02)	0.65	(0.01)	0.21	(0.02)	0.33	(0.01)
Norway	0.10	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.61	(0.01)	0.22	(0.03)	0.03	(0.00)
Poland	0.21	(0.01)	0.24	(0.02)	0.76	(0.01)	m	m	0.21	(0.01)
Portugal	0.15	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.68	(0.01)	0.16	(0.02)	0.04	(0.01)
Slovak Republic	0.28	(0.02)	0.28	(0.02)	0.78	(0.01)	m	m	0.20	(0.01)
Slovenia	0.21	(0.02)	0.20	(0.02)	0.73	(0.01)	0.21	(0.02)	0.35	(0.01)
Spain	0.14	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.68	(0.01)	0.19	(0.02)	0.03	(0.01)
Sweden	0.13	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.65	(0.01)	0.22	(0.02)	0.03	(0.00)
Switzerland	0.15	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.69	(0.01)	0.17	(0.01)	0.09	(0.01)
Türkiye	0.18	(0.01)	0.27	(0.03)	0.75	(0.01)	m	m	0.19	(0.01)
United Kingdom*	0.16	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.70	(0.01)	0.28	(0.03)	0.14	(0.02)
United States*	0.17	(0.02)	0.20	(0.02)	0.71	(0.02)	0.27	(0.03)	0.03	(0.01)
OECD average	0.18	(0.00)	0.19	(0.00)	0.70	(0.00)	0.20	(0.00)	0.13	(0.00)

1. The isolation index measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students or from a specific group of students (e.g. advantaged students), based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure (no segregation) and 1 to full isolation/segregation.

2. Only countries and economies where at least 5% of the student population has an immigrant background are examined.

3. Low-achieving students are students who score among the bottom 25% of students within their country or economy on the PISA test.

4. High-achieving students are students who score among the top 25% of students within their country or economy on the PISA test.

Notes: Values that are statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3).

#### 368 |

# Table II.B1.4.17. Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance [2/6]

					Isolation	index <sup>1</sup> by:				
					All student	s and schools				
			Socio-eco	nomic status			Immigrant	background₽	Ge	nder
	Disadvanta from all ot	ged students ner students	Advantag from all ot	ed students her students	Disadvanta from advant	ged students aged students	Immigrant s non-immig	students from rant students	Boys f	rom girls
	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.
a Albania	0.19	(0.01)	0.24	(0.01)	0.73	(0.01)	m	m	0.13	(0.01)
튶 Argentina	0.20	(0.02)	0.29	(0.02)	0.77	(0.01)	0.19	(0.03)	0.08	(0.01)
🗳 Baku (Azerbaijan)	0.12	(0.01)	0.21	(0.02)	0.69	(0.01)	m	m	0.02	(0.00)
Brazil	0.19	(0.01)	0.31	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)	m	m	0.06	(0.00)
Brunei Darussalam	0.11	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)	0.68	(0.01)	0.22	(0.02)	0.24	(0.00)
Bulgaria	0.29	(0.02)	0.23	(0.02)	0.80	(0.01)	m	m	0.16	(0.02)
Cambodia	0.14	(0.01)	0.21	(0.03)	0.68	(0.02)	m	m	0.03	(0.00)
Croatia	0.13	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)	0.68	(0.01)	0.07	(0.01)	0.25	(0.02)
Cyprus	0.13	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.67	(0.01)	0.22	(0.02)	0.07	(0.00)
Dominican Republic	0.13	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.68	(0.01)	m	m	0.06	(0.01)
El Salvador	0.24	(0.02)	0.31	(0.02)	0.77	(0.01)	m	m	0.09	(0.01)
Georgia	0.18	(0.01)	0.18	(0.02)	0.68	(0.01)	m	m	0.05	(0.01)
Guatemala	0.24	(0.01)	0.32	(0.03)	0.77	(0.01)	m	m	0.12	(0.02)
Hong Kong (China)*	0.13	(0.01)	0.27	(0.04)	0.72	(0.02)	0.12	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)
Indonesia	0.20	(0.02)	0.24	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)	m	m	0.12	(0.01)
Jamaica*	0.09	(0.01)	0.14	(0.02)	0.60	(0.01)	m	m	0.20	(0.03)
Jordan	0.16	(0.01)	0.15	(0.02)	0.65	(0.01)	0.24	(0.02)	0.94	(0.01)
Kazakhstan	0.13	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.66	(0.01)	0.21	(0.03)	0.08	(0.01)
Kosovo	0.12	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.64	(0.01)	m	(1111) m	0.13	(0.00)
Macao (China)	0.15	(0.01)	0.24	(0.01)	0.74	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.21	(0.00)
Malavsia	0.15	(0.01)	0.23	(0.02)	0.71	(0.01)	m	(••••) m	0.06	(0.01)
Malta	0.11	(0.01)	0.14	(0.02)	0.67	(0.01)	0.18	(0.02)	0.39	(0.00)
Moldova	0.19	(0.01)	0.25	(0.02)	0.73	(0.01)	m	(•••=) m	0.07	(0.01)
Mongolia	0.21	(0.01)	0.27	(0.02)	0.77	(0.01)	m	m	0.07	(0.01)
Montenegro	0.12	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.65	(0.01)	0.06	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)
Morocco	0.13	(0.01)	0.26	(0.04)	0.70	(0.01)	m	() m	0.05	(0.00)
North Macedonia	0.09	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.64	(0.01)	m	m	0.14	(0.00)
Palestinian Authority	0.12	(0.01)	0.12	(0.02)	0.62	(0.01)	m	m	0.95	(0.01)
Panama*	0.24	(0.02)	0.35	(0.03)	0.78	(0.01)	m	m	0.09	(0.01)
Paraguay	0.18	(0.01)	0.29	(0.02)	0.72	(0.01)	m	m	0.08	(0.01)
Peru	0.34	(0.01)	0.34	(0.02)	0.83	(0.01)	m	m	0.13	(0.02)
Philippines	0.12	(0.01)	0.17	(0.02)	0.64	(0.01)	m	m	0.02	(0.01)
Qatar	0.19	(0.01)	0.24	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)	0.37	(0.01)	0.58	(0.00)
Romania	0.25	(0.01)	0.30	(0.02)	0.80	(0.01)	m	(0.01) m	0.09	(0.01)
Saudi Arabia	0.14	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.67	(0.01)	0.22	(0.03)	1.00	(0.00)
Serbia	0.15	(0.02)	0.21	(0.01)	0.70	(0.01)	0.07	(0.01)	0.22	(0.01)
Singapore	0.14	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.71	(0.01)	0.19	(0.02)	0.21	(0.00)
Chinese Tainei	0.17	(0.02)	0.17	(0.02)	0.70	(0.01)	m	(0.0 <u>2</u> )	0.13	(0.02)
Thailand	0.20	(0.02)	0.30	(0.02)	0.75	(0.01)	m	m	0.10	(0.02)
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	0.20	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)	0.71	(0.02)	m	m	0.09	(0.02)
United Arab Emirates	0.19	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.69	(0.01)	0.60	(0.01)	0.73	(0.01)
Uruguav	0.15	(0.01)	0.13	(0.02)	0.05	(0.01)	0.00 m	(0.01) m	0.07	(0.01)
Uzbekistan	0.11	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.63	(0.01)	m	m	0.04	(0.01)
Viet Nam	0.24	(0.02)	0.12	(0.03)	0.75	(0.01)	m	m	0.03	(0.00)
	3.21	(0.0-)	0.20	(0.00)	0.10	(0.0.)			0.00	(0.00)

1. The isolation index measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students or from a specific group of students (e.g. advantaged students), based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure (no segregation) and 1 to full isolation/segregation. 2. Only countries and economies where at least 5% of the student population has an immigrant background are examined. 3. Low-achieving students are students who score among the bottom 25% of students within their country or economy on the PISA test. 4. High-achieving students are students who score among the top 25% of students within their country or economy on the PISA test. As a statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3).

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error.

# Table II.B1.4.17. Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance [3/6]

						Isolation	index <sup>1</sup> by:					
			All students a	nd school	5			Only schoo	ols with stude	ents in the n	nodal grade	
		I	Mathematics p	erformanc	e				Socio-econo	mic status		
	Low-ach studen mathem from all othe	ieving ts in atics <sup>3</sup> er students	High-ach stude in mather from all othe	nieving ents matics <sup>4</sup> er students	Low-achievin in mathema high-achievir in mathe	ng students atics from ng students ematics	Disadvar stude from all othe	ntaged nts r students	Advantaged from all othe	l students er students	Disadvar students advantaged	ntaged s from I students
	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.
G Australia*	0.18	(0.01)	0.22	(0.01)	0.70	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.71	(0.01)
ō Austria	0.39	(0.02)	0.27	(0.02)	0.86	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)	0.21	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)
Belgium	0.33	(0.02)	0.28	(0.02)	0.84	(0.01)	0.17	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.71	(0.01)
Canada*	0.12	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.65	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.63	(0.01)
Chile	0.17	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)	0.71	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.33	(0.02)	0.79	(0.01)
Colombia	0.24	(0.02)	0.30	(0.02)	0.79	(0.01)	0.26	(0.02)	0.36	(0.03)	0.81	(0.01)
Costa Rica	0.16	(0.01)	0.23	(0.02)	0.71	(0.01)	m	m	m	m	m	m
Czech Republic	0.30	(0.02)	0.36	(0.02)	0.84	(0.01)	0.23	(0.01)	0.26	(0.01)	0.76	(0.01)
Denmark*	0.13	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.62	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.64	(0.01)
Estonia	0.15	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.65	(0.01)	0.17	(0.02)	0.18	(0.02)	0.69	(0.01)
Finland	0.08	(0.01)	0.08	(0.01)	0.58	(0.01)	0.09	(0.01)	0.10	(0.01)	0.61	(0.01)
France	0.38	(0.02)	0.23	(0.01)	0.84	(0.01)	0.17	(0.01)	0.18	(0.02)	0.71	(0.01)
Germany	0.31	(0.02)	0.31	(0.02)	0.85	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.22	(0.01)	0.72	(0.01)
Greece	0.24	(0.02)	0.17	(0.01)	0.73	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)	0.68	(0.01)
Hungary	0.46	(0.02)	0.38	(0.02)	0.91	(0.01)	0.26	(0.02)	0.28	(0.01)	0.81	(0.01)
Iceland	0.09	(0.02)	0.09	(0.02)	0.58	(0.02)	0.12	(0.02)	0.09	(0.02)	0.62	(0.01)
Ireland*	0.09	(0.01)	0.09	(0.01)	0.60	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.65	(0.01)
Israel	0.30	(0.02)	0.22	(0.02)	0.78	(0.01)	0.23	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.74	(0.01)
Italy	0.29	(0.02)	0.28	(0.02)	0.83	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.17	(0.02)	0.69	(0.01)
Japan	0.32	(0.02)	0.36	(0.03)	0.87	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.70	(0.01)
Korea	0.17	(0.02)	0.18	(0.02)	0.70	(0.01)	0.15	(0.02)	0.14	(0.01)	0.68	(0.01)
Latvia*	0.17	(0.01)	0.18	(0.02)	0.68	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.69	(0.01)
Lithuania	0.24	(0.02)	0.23	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)	0.21	(0.01)	0.73	(0.01)
Mexico	0.19	(0.02)	0.22	(0.02)	0.72	(0.01)	0.21	(0.02)	0.22	(0.02)	0.73	(0.01)
Netherlands*	0.44	(0.02)	0.36	(0.02)	0.95	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.18	(0.02)	0.69	(0.01)
New Zealand*	0.18	(0.02)	0.15	(0.01)	0.68	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.12	(0.02)	0.65	(0.01)
Norway	0.10	(0.01)	0.10	(0.01)	0.60	(0.01)	0.10	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.61	(0.01)
Poland	0.33	(0.02)	0.28	(0.02)	0.84	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.24	(0.02)	0.76	(0.01)
Portugal	0.20	(0.02)	0.15	(0.01)	0.69	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.17	(0.01)	0.66	(0.01)
Slovak Republic	0.42	(0.02)	0.33	(0.02)	0.87	(0.01)	0.28	(0.02)	0.28	(0.02)	0.78	(0.01)
Slovenia	0.34	(0.02)	0.34	(0.02)	0.86	(0.01)	0.17	(0.02)	0.18	(0.02)	0.72	(0.01)
Spain	0.13	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.64	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.68	(0.01)
Sweden	0.14	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.64	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.65	(0.01)
Switzerland	0.21	(0.02)	0.27	(0.02)	0.78	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.69	(0.01)
Türkiye	0.28	(0.02)	0.46	(0.01)	0.89	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.27	(0.03)	0.75	(0.01)
United Kingdom*	0.13	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.67	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.19	(0.03)	0.70	(0.01)
United States*	0.16	(0.02)	0.17	(0.02)	0.68	(0.02)	0.17	(0.02)	0.20	(0.02)	0.70	(0.02)
Shired States	0.10	(0.02)	0.17	(0.02)	0.00	(0.02)	0.17	(0.02)	0.20	(0.02)	0.71	(0.02)
OECD average	0.23	(0.00)	0.23	(0.00)	0.75	(0.00)	0.17	(0.00)	0.19	(0.00)	0.70	(0.00)

1. The isolation index measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students or from a specific group of students (e.g. advantaged students), based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure (no segregation) and 1 to full isolation/segregation.

2. Only countries and economies where at least 5% of the student population has an immigrant background are examined.

3. Low-achieving students are students who score among the bottom 25% of students within their country or economy on the PISA test.

4. High-achieving students are students who score among the top 25% of students within their country or economy on the PISA test.

Notes: Values that are statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3).

# Table II.B1.4.17. Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance [4/6]

						Isolation	index <sup>1</sup> by:					
			All students a	Ind schools	5			Only schoo	ols with stude	nts in the n	nodal grade	
		I	Mathematics p	erformanc	e				Socio-econo	mic status		
	Low-ach studen mathem from all othe	ieving ts in atics <sup>3</sup> er students	High-ach stude in mather from all othe	nieving ents matics <sup>4</sup> er students	Low-achievin in mathema high-achievin in mathe	ig students atics from ig students matics	Disadvar stude from all othe	itaged nts r students	Advantaged from all othe	l students er students	Disadvar student advantaged	ntaged s from I students
	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.
쎯 Albania	0.16	(0.01)	0.22	(0.02)	0.70	(0.01)	0.17	(0.01)	0.23	(0.02)	0.72	(0.01)
듩 Argentina	0.22	(0.02)	0.27	(0.02)	0.78	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.29	(0.02)	0.77	(0.01)
🗳 Baku (Azerbaijan)	0.10	(0.01)	0.12	(0.02)	0.63	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.21	(0.02)	0.69	(0.01)
Brazil	0.23	(0.01)	0.33	(0.02)	0.78	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.31	(0.02)	0.75	(0.01)
Brunei Darussalam	0.15	(0.01)	0.24	(0.01)	0.74	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)	0.68	(0.01)
Bulgaria	0.31	(0.02)	0.39	(0.03)	0.86	(0.01)	0.29	(0.02)	0.23	(0.02)	0.80	(0.01)
Cambodia	0.14	(0.02)	0.18	(0.03)	0.68	(0.02)	0.14	(0.01)	0.21	(0.03)	0.68	(0.02)
Croatia	0.23	(0.02)	0.28	(0.02)	0.80	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)	0.68	(0.01)
Cyprus	0.18	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.71	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.67	(0.01)
Dominican Republic	0.18	(0.02)	0.22	(0.02)	0.72	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.68	(0.01)
El Salvador	0.18	(0.01)	0.28	(0.03)	0.74	(0.02)	0.24	(0.02)	0.32	(0.03)	0.78	(0.01)
Georgia	0.18	(0.01)	0.21	(0.03)	0.71	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.18	(0.02)	0.68	(0.01)
Guatemala	0.25	(0.02)	0.29	(0.03)	0.77	(0.02)	0.23	(0.02)	0.31	(0.04)	0.77	(0.01)
Hong Kong (China)*	0.27	(0.02)	0.24	(0.02)	0.80	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.27	(0.04)	0.72	(0.02)
Indonesia	0.20	(0.02)	0.27	(0.02)	0.76	(0.02)	0.20	(0.02)	0.24	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)
Jamaica*	0.27	(0.02)	0.41	(0.03)	0.86	(0.02)	0.09	(0.01)	0.14	(0.02)	0.60	(0.01)
Jordan	0.15	(0.01)	0.19	(0.02)	0.70	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.15	(0.02)	0.65	(0.01)
Kazakhstan	0.15	(0.01)	0.23	(0.01)	0.70	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.66	(0.01)
Kosovo	0.17	(0.01)	0.23	(0.02)	0.72	(0.01)	0.08	(0.01)	0.14	(0.02)	0.63	(0.01)
Macao (China)	0.20	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.71	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.24	(0.01)	0.75	(0.01)
Malaysia	0.13	(0.01)	0.26	(0.02)	0.72	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.23	(0.02)	0.71	(0.01)
Malta	0.15	(0.01)	0.09	(0.01)	0.64	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.14	(0.02)	0.67	(0.01)
Moldova	0.15	(0.01)	0.22	(0.02)	0.70	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)	0.26	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)
Mongolia	0.19	(0.02)	0.23	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)	0.21	(0.01)	0.26	(0.02)	0.77	(0.01)
Montenegro	0.17	(0.01)	0.23	(0.01)	0.75	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.64	(0.01)
Могоссо	0.22	(0.02)	0.29	(0.03)	0.81	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.26	(0.04)	0.70	(0.01)
North Macedonia	0.18	(0.01)	0.23	(0.01)	0.75	(0.01)	0.09	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.64	(0.01)
Palestinian Authority	0.12	(0.01)	0.17	(0.02)	0.66	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.12	(0.02)	0.62	(0.01)
Panama*	0.29	(0.02)	0.35	(0.04)	0.83	(0.02)	0.21	(0.02)	0.34	(0.03)	0.78	(0.01)
Paraguay	0.23	(0.02)	0.27	(0.02)	0.76	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.28	(0.02)	0.71	(0.01)
Peru	0.23	(0.02)	0.26	(0.02)	0.77	(0.01)	0.33	(0.02)	0.34	(0.02)	0.83	(0.01)
Philippines	0.12	(0.01)	0.22	(0.03)	0.69	(0.02)	0.12	(0.01)	0.17	(0.02)	0.64	(0.01)
Qatar	0.20	(0.01)	0.31	(0.02)	0.79	(0.01)	0.17	(0.01)	0.24	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)
Romania	0.35	(0.02)	0.38	(0.02)	0.89	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.28	(0.02)	0.80	(0.01)
Saudi Arabia	0.09	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.61	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.67	(0.01)
Serbia	0.22	(0.02)	0.28	(0.03)	0.78	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)	0.69	(0.01)
Singapore	0.17	(0.01)	0.26	(0.02)	0.75	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.71	(0.01)
Chinese Taipei	0.26	(0.02)	0.28	(0.03)	0.80	(0.01)	0.17	(0.02)	0.17	(0.02)	0.70	(0.01)
Thailand	0.18	(0.02)	0.30	(0.02)	0.76	(0.02)	0.15	(0.01)	0.29	(0.03)	0.74	(0.01)
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	0.24	(0.03)	0.22	(0.03)	0.74	(0.02)	0.22	(0.02)	0.17	(0.02)	0.71	(0.02)
United Arab Emirates	0.27	(0.01)	0.34	(0.01)	0.84	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.69	(0.01)
Uruguay	0.24	(0.02)	0.24	(0.02)	0.78	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.29	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)
Uzbekistan	0.11	(0.01)	0.15	(0.02)	0.64	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.63	(0.01)
Viet Nam	0.28	(0.03)	0.24	(0.03)	0.79	(0.02)	0.21	(0.02)	0.26	(0.03)	0.75	(0.01)

1. The isolation index measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students or from a specific group of students (e.g. advantaged students), based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure (no segregation) and 1 to full isolation/segregation. 2. Only countries and economies where at least 5% of the student population has an immigrant background are examined. 3. Low-achieving students are students who score among the bottom 25% of students within their country or economy on the PISA test. 4. High-achieving students are students who score among the bottom 25% of students within their country or economy on the PISA test. Notes: Values that are statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3). Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B1.4.17. Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance [5/6]

					Isolation	index <sup>1</sup> by:				
			_	Only sch	ools with stu	dents in the mo	odal grade			
	Immigrant	background <sup>2</sup>	Ge	nder			Mathematics	s performance		
	Immigrant s non-immig	students from rant students	Boys f	rom girls	Low-achiev in mat from all ot	ving students hematics her students	High-achie in math from all ot	ving students nematics her students	Low-achiev in mather high-achiev in math	ring students natics from ving students nematics
	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.
O Australia*	0.30	(0.01)	0.20	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.22	(0.01)	0.70	(0.01)
8 Austria	0.25	(0.02)	0.26	(0.01)	0.33	(0.02)	0.26	(0.02)	0.84	(0.01)
Belgium	0.23	(0.02)	0.13	(0.01)	0.28	(0.02)	0.27	(0.02)	0.82	(0.01)
Canada*	0.34	(0.01)	0.04	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.65	(0.01)
Chile	0.22	(0.06)	0.10	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.19	(0.01)	0.70	(0.01)
Colombia	m	m	0.06	(0.01)	0.24	(0.02)	0.30	(0.02)	0.79	(0.01)
Costa Rica	0.14	(0.02)	0.03	(0.01)	0.16	(0.01)	0.23	(0.02)	0.71	(0.01)
Czech Republic	m	m	0.21	(0.01)	0.30	(0.02)	0.36	(0.02)	0.84	(0.01)
Denmark*	0.18	(0.01)	0.05	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.62	(0.01)
Estonia	0.16	(0.02)	0.03	(0.00)	0.14	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.65	(0.01)
Finland	0.13	(0.01)	0.02	(0.00)	0.08	(0.01)	0.08	(0.01)	0.58	(0.01)
France	0.21	(0.02)	0.08	(0.01)	0.33	(0.02)	0.21	(0.01)	0.83	(0.01)
Germany	0.18	(0.01)	0.06	(0.01)	0.32	(0.02)	0.30	(0.02)	0.85	(0.01)
Greece	0.09	(0.01)	0.05	(0.01)	0.21	(0.02)	0.16	(0.01)	0.72	(0.01)
Hungary	m	m	0.18	(0.02)	0.41	(0.02)	0.37	(0.02)	0.91	(0.01)
lceland	m     m     0.       0.10     (0.03)     0.		0.05	(0.01)	0.08	(0.02)	0.08	(0.02)	0.58	(0.02)
Ireland*	0.15	(0.02)	0.37	(0.01)	0.09	(0.01)	0.09	(0.01)	0.60	(0.01)
Israel	0.20	(0.02)	0.33	(0.01)	0.30	(0.02)	0.22	(0.02)	0.78	(0.01)
Italy	0.10	(0.01)	0.17	(0.01)	0.29	(0.02)	0.28	(0.02)	0.83	(0.01)
Janan	m	(0.0.) m	0.14	(0.02)	0.32	(0.02)	0.36	(0.02)	0.87	(0.01)
Korea	m	m	0.14	(0.02)	0.02	(0.02)	0.00	(0.03)	0.07	(0.01)
l atvia*	m	m	0.04	(0.01)	0.16	(0.02)	0.13	(0.02)	0.68	(0.01)
			0.04	(0.00)	0.10	(0.01)	0.10	(0.02)	0.00	(0.01)
Littiuania	m		0.05	(0.00)	0.24	(0.02)	0.23	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)
Mexico	0.10	(0.02)	0.03	(0.00)	0.15	(0.02)	0.20	(0.02)	0.71	(0.01)
Netherlands	0.10	(0.02)	0.03	(0.00)	0.44	(0.02)	0.30	(0.02)	0.95	(0.01)
New Zealand"	0.21	(0.02)	0.33	(0.01)	0.18	(0.02)	0.15	(0.01)	0.68	(0.01)
Norway	0.22	(0.03)	0.03	(0.00)	0.10	(0.01)	0.10	(0.01)	0.60	(0.01)
Poland	m	m	0.21	(0.01)	0.32	(0.02)	0.27	(0.02)	0.83	(0.01)
Portugal	0.12	(0.02)	0.03	(0.01)	0.12	(0.02)	0.13	(0.01)	0.66	(0.01)
Slovak Republic	m	m	0.20	(0.01)	0.42	(0.02)	0.33	(0.02)	0.87	(0.01)
Slovenia	0.14 (0.02)		0.36	(0.01)	0.31	(0.02)	0.33	(0.02)	0.86	(0.01)
Spain	0.14 (0.02)		0.03	(0.01)	0.13	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.64	(0.01)
Sweden	0.13 (0.02) 0.22 (0.02) 0.17 (0.01)		0.03	(0.00)	0.14	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.64	(0.01)
Switzerland	0.22 (0.02) 0.17 (0.01)		0.09	(0.01)	0.21	(0.02)	0.27	(0.02)	0.78	(0.01)
Türkiye	m m 0.28 (0.03)		0.19	(0.01)	0.28	(0.02)	0.46	(0.01)	0.89	(0.01)
United Kingdon <del>t</del>	0.28 (0.03)		0.14	(0.02)	0.13	(0.01)	0.18	(0.02)	0.67	(0.01)
United States*	0.27	(0.03)	0.03	(0.01)	0.16	(0.02)	0.17	(0.02)	0.68	(0.02)
OECD average	0.19	(0.00)	0.13	(0.00)	0.22	(0.00)	0.22	(0.00)	0.74	(0.00)

1. The isolation index measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students or from a specific group of students (e.g. advantaged students), based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure (no segregation) and 1 to full isolation/segregation.

2. Only countries and economies where at least 5% of the student population has an immigrant background are examined.

3. Low-achieving students are students who score among the bottom 25% of students within their country or economy on the PISA test.

4. High-achieving students are students who score among the top 25% of students within their country or economy on the PISA test.

Notes: Values that are statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3).

# Table II.B1.4.17. Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance [6/6]

					Isolatio	n index <sup>1</sup> by:				
			-	Only sch	iools with stu	idents in the mo	dal grade			
	Immigran	t background <sup>2</sup>	G	ender			Mathematic	s performance		
	lmmigrant non-immi	students from grant students	Boys	from girls	Low-achie in ma from all o	eving students thematics other students	High-achie in ma from all o	eving students thematics ther students	Low-achie in mathe high-achie in mat	eving students ematics from eving students thematics
	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.	Mean index	S.E.
	m 0.10	m (0.02)	0.13	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.21	(0.02)	0.70	(0.01)
	0.19	(0.03)	0.00	(0.01)	0.22	(0.02)	0.27	(0.02)	0.70	(0.01)
- Baku (Azerbaijan)	m	m	0.02	(0.00)	0.10	(0.01)	0.12	(0.02)	0.63	(0.01)
Brazil Brun di Domuceelem	m 0.00	m (0.02)	0.04	(0.00)	0.15	(0.01)	0.30	(0.02)	0.75	(0.01)
Brunei Darussalam Bula aria	0.22	(0.02)	0.24	(0.00)	0.15	(0.01)	0.24	(0.01)	0.74	(0.01)
Bulgaria	m ~	m	0.10	(0.02)	0.31	(0.02)	0.39	(0.03)	0.00	(0.01)
Crantia	0.07	(0.01)	0.05	(0.00)	0.14	(0.02)	0.10	(0.03)	0.00	(0.02)
Croatia	0.07	(0.01)	0.25	(0.02)	0.23	(0.02)	0.20	(0.02)	0.00	(0.01)
Cyprus Dominican Banublia	0.19	(0.01)	0.07	(0.00)	0.17	(0.01)	0.10	(0.01)	0.71	(0.01)
El Selvador			0.00	(0.01)	0.10	(0.02)	0.22	(0.02)	0.72	(0.01)
El Salvador	m	m	0.09	(0.01)	0.10	(0.01)	0.29	(0.03)	0.75	(0.02)
Guotomolo			0.05	(0.01)	0.10	(0.01)	0.21	(0.03)	0.71	(0.01)
	0.10	m m 0.12 (0.01) m m m m		(0.02)	0.23	(0.02)	0.27	(0.04)	0.70	(0.02)
Hong Kong (China)"	0.12 (0.01) m m m m 0.24 (0.02)		0.19	(0.01)	0.27	(0.02)	0.24	(0.02)	0.00	(0.01)
	0.12 (0.01) m m 0.24 (0.02) 0.24 (0.02)		0.12	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.27	(0.02)	0.70	(0.02)
Janlaica	m m 0.24 (0.02) 0.21 (0.03)		0.20	(0.03)	0.27	(0.02)	0.41	(0.03)	0.00	(0.02)
Kazakhatan	m m 0.24 (0.02) 0.21 (0.03)		0.04	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.13	(0.02)	0.70	(0.01)
Kazakistali	0.24 (0.02) 0.21 (0.03) m m		0.00	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.23	(0.01)	0.70	(0.01)
Kosovo Magaa (China)	0.11	(0.01)	0.12	(0.00)	0.15	(0.01)	0.23	(0.02)	0.73	(0.01)
Malaysia	0.11	(0.01)	0.21	(0.00)	0.20	(0.01)	0.14	(0.01)	0.71	(0.01)
Malaysia Malta	0.18	(0.02)	0.00	(0.01)	0.15	(0.01)	0.20	(0.02)	0.72	(0.01)
Maldava	0.10 m	(0.02) m	0.05	(0.00)	0.15	(0.01)	0.00	(0.07)	0.70	(0.01)
Mongolia	m	m	0.03	(0.00)	0.10	(0.07)	0.22	(0.02)	0.70	(0.01)
Montenegro	0.05	(0.01)	0.07	(0.01)	0.15	(0.02)	0.23	(0.02)	0.74	(0.01)
Morocco	0.00 m	(0.01) m	0.05	(0.00)	0.10	(0.02)	0.20	(0.03)	0.81	(0.01)
North Macedonia	m	m	0.00	(0.00)	0.18	(0.02)	0.23	(0.00)	0.75	(0.01)
Palestinian Authority	m	m	0.95	(0.01)	0.10	(0.01)	0.16	(0.02)	0.65	(0.01)
Panama*	m	m	0.07	(0.01)	0.22	(0.02)	0.32	(0.04)	0.80	(0.02)
Paraguay	m	m	0.06	(0.01)	0.17	(0.01)	0.26	(0.02)	0.74	(0.02)
Peru	m	m	0.12	(0.02)	0.22	(0.02)	0.25	(0.02)	0.76	(0.01)
Philippines	m	m	0.02	(0.01)	0.12	(0.01)	0.22	(0.03)	0.69	(0.02)
Qatar	0.39	(0.01)	0.54	(0.00)	0.16	(0.02)	0.30	(0.02)	0.77	(0.01)
Romania	m	m	0.07	(0.01)	0.30	(0.02)	0.37	(0.03)	0.89	(0.01)
Saudi Arabia	m m 0.22 (0.03)		1.00	(0.00)	0.09	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.61	(0.01)
Serbia	0.22 (0.03) 0.07 (0.01)		0.22	(0.01)	0.18	(0.01)	0.27	(0.03)	0.77	(0.01)
Singapore	0.19	(0.02)	0.21	(0.00)	0.17	(0.01)	0.26	(0.02)	0.75	(0.01)
Chinese Taipei	m	m	0.13	(0.02)	0.26	(0.02)	0.28	(0.03)	0.80	(0.01)
Thailand	m	m	0.11	(0.02)	0.16	(0.02)	0.29	(0.02)	0.75	(0.02)
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	m	m	0.09	(0.02)	0.25	(0.03)	0.22	(0.03)	0.74	(0.02)
United Arab Emirates	m m 0.60 (0.01)		0.73	(0.01)	0.27	(0.01)	0.34	(0.01)	0.84	(0.01)
Uruguay	0.60 (0.01) m m		0.07	(0.01)	0.22	(0.02)	0.22	(0.02)	0.76	(0.01)
Uzbekistan	m	m	0.04	(0.01)	0.11	(0.01)	0.15	(0.02)	0.64	(0.01)
Viet Nam	m	m	0.02	(0.00)	0.24	(0.03)	0.23	(0.03)	0.77	(0.02)

1. The isolation index measures the extent to which certain types of students (e.g. disadvantaged students) are isolated from other all other types of students or from a specific group of students (e.g. advantaged students), based on the schools they attend. It ranges from 0 to 1 where 0 corresponds to full exposure (no segregation) and 1 to full isolation/segregation. 2. Only countries and economies where at least 5% of the student population has an immigrant background are examined. 3. Low-achieving students are students who score among the bottom 25% of students within their country or economy on the PISA test. 4. High-achieving students are students who score among the top 25% of students. Notes: Values that are statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3).

## Table II.B1.4.26. Ability grouping [1/2]

Results based on principals' reports

				Pe	rcentage of	students in s	schools wh	ere students	are:			
		Groupe	d by ability	into different	classes			Group	ed by ability	within their	classes	
	For all	subjects	For som	e subjects	Not for a	any subject	For all	subjects	For som	e subjects	Not for a	any subject
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
	2.7	(0.7)	81.1	(1.3)	16.2	(1.2)	4.8	(0.8)	61.6	(1.9)	33.6	(1.7)
Ö Austria	3.5	3.5     (1.1)     7.       0.1     (2.0)     15.       3.2     (1.6)     69.       1.5     (1.6)     16.       1.3     (2.8)     16.		(1.3)	89.0	(1.8)	2.8	(1.0)	27.1	(2.0)	70.1	(2.0)
Belgium	10.1	(2.0)	15.3	(2.3)	74.6	(2.8)	2.7	(1.0)	41.8	(3.0)	55.5	(2.9)
Canada*	8.2	(1.6)	69.1	(2.2)	22.7	(1.8)	4.1	(1.0)	37.3	(2.3)	58.7	(2.3)
Chile	2.5	(1.6)	16.2	(2.8)	81.3	(3.1)	2.6	(1.6)	29.8	(3.1)	67.6	(3.5)
Colombia	18.3	(2.8)	16.9	(2.6)	64.8	(3.5)	14.9	(2.4)	22.3	(2.9)	62.8	(3.7)
Costa Rica	20.7	(3.6)	9.2	(2.7)	70.1	(3.9)	66.8	(4.0)	11.6	(3.0)	21.6	(3.3)
Czech Republic	2.9	(1.0)	18.6	(2.3)	78.4	(2.6)	0.5	(0.3)	54.1	(2.7)	45.5	(2.7)
Denmark*	1.4	(1.3)	14.8	(2.7)	83.8	(2.7)	11.5	(2.0)	60.3	(3.6)	28.2	(3.4)
Estonia	6.3	(1.4)	34.2	(2.6)	59.5	(2.7)	2.7	(1.1)	51.9	(2.5)	45.4	(2.6)
Finland	0.9	(0.5)	27.7	(3.2)	71.3	(3.3)	3.9	(1.4)	58.6	(3.7)	37.6	(3.4)
France	2.5	(1.1)	11.8	(2.3)	85.7	(2.5)	2.9	(0.9)	31.6	(3.2)	65.5	(3.2)
Germany	10.0	(2.3)	19.1	(3.0)	70.9	(3.4)	5.5	(1.4)	42.8	(3.4)	51.7	(3.7)
Greece	0.5	0.5 (0.5) 1.6 (1.0) 38		(1.8)	92.3	(1.9)	1.0	(0.7)	18.1	(2.7)	80.9	(2.8)
Hungary	1.6	1.6     (1.0)     38       0.6     (0.0)     20		(3.3)	60.0	(3.3)	0.3	(0.2)	80.7	(2.8)	19.0	(2.8)
Iceland	0.6	(0.0)	20.0	(0.2)	79.3	(0.2)	0.4	(0.1)	40.0	(0.2)	59.5	(0.2)
Ireland*	0.6	(0.6)	92.8	(1.8)	6.5	(1.9)	1.9	(1.2)	34.9	(3.7)	63.1	(3.5)
Israel	13.9	(2.5)	80.6	(2.9)	5.5	(1.8)	8.1	(2.2)	70.4	(3.0)	21.4	(2.7)
Italy	1.1	(0.7)	2.9	(1.0)	96.0	(1.2)	5.9	(1.8)	19.1	(3.1)	75.0	(3.5)
Japan	6.2	(2.2)	37.5	(4.1)	56.3	(4.1)	0.8	(0.8)	42.0	(3.3)	57.2	(3.2)
Korea	8.3	(2.3)	10.2	(2.5)	81.5	(2.7)	1.1	(0.8)	31.3	(3.7)	67.6	(3.7)
Latvia*	6.6	(1.5)	13.3	(1.6)	80.1	(2.2)	2.9	(1.0)	32.6	(2.4)	64.5	(2.4)
Lithuania	4.8	(0.7)	29.5	(2.2)	65.6	(2.3)	2.3	(0.3)	46.8	(2.4)	50.9	(2.4)
Mexico	8.3	(1.9)	24.6	(3.0)	67.1	(3.2)	12.3	(2.5)	38.8	(3.6)	48.9	(3.7)
Netherlands*	37.2	(4.4) †	16.9	(4.0) †	45.9	(4.8) †	4.1	(1.7) †	77.4	(4.1) †	18.5	(4.0) †
New Zealand*	1.4	(0.1) †	65.7	(3.5) †	32.8	(3.5) †	5.7	(1.7) †	57.2	(4.1) †	37.0	(4.2) †
Norway	0.0	с	7.3	(1.7)	92.7	(1.7)	3.0	(1.1)	40.2	(3.0)	56.8	(3.1)
Poland	3.0	(1.1)	31.5	(2.9)	65.5	(2.8)	1.8	(0.9)	65.3	(3.2)	32.8	(3.2)
Portugal	3.9	(0.8)	6.1	(1.5)	89.9	(1.7)	2.2	(1.0)	12.0	(2.3)	85.8	(2.5)
Slovak Republic	10.0	(1.7)	17.2	(3.1)	72.8	(3.5)	3.3	(1.0)	47.7	(3.0)	49.0	(2.8)
Slovenia	0.2	(0.2)	23.9	(0.7)	75.9	(0.7)	10.1	(0.3)	33.8	(0.7)	56.1	(0.7)
Spain	6.2	(1.3)	24.8	(2.0)	68.9	(2.1)	4.7	(1.1)	23.7	(2.0)	71.6	(2.1)
Sweden	0.0	0.2 (1.3) 0.0 C		(3.0)	81.6	(3.0)	1.1	(0.7)	25.9	(3.4)	73.0	(3.4)
Switzerland	26.1	26.1 (2.6)		(3.3)	45.4	(3.4)	2.0	(1.0)	44.9	(4.0)	53.1	(4.0)
Türkiye	10.9	26.1 (2.6)   10.9 (2.3)		(3.8)	57.5	(4.0)	3.3	(1.4)	33.6	(3.8)	63.0	(4.0)
United Kingdont	5.0	(1.6)	92.4	(2.1)	2.6	(1.3)	2.3	(0.9)	50.9	(3.7)	46.8	(3.7)
United States*	1.6	1.6 (1.2)		(3.6)	22.8	(3.5)	4.2	(1.7)	69.8	(4.8)	26.0	(4.3)
OECD average	6.7	(0.3)	30.8	(0.4)	62.5	(0.5)	5.7	(0.2)	42.4	(0.5)	51.9	(0.5)

## Table II.B1.4.26. Ability grouping [2/2]

Results based on principals' reports

					Pe	rcentage of	students in	schools wh	ere students	are:			
			Groupe	d by ability i	into different	classes		Group	ed by ability	within their	classes		
		For all :	subjects	For som	e subjects	Not for a	any subject	For all	subjects	For som	e subjects	Not for a	any subject
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ers	Albania	16.1	(2.1)	24.2	(2.3)	59.7	(2.9)	24.4	(2.5)	29.9	(2.8)	45.7	(3.2)
artn	Argentina	1.5	(0.6)	14.1	(2.2)	84.4	(2.3)	4.8	(1.2)	24.4	(2.6)	70.8	(2.5)
۰.	Baku (Azerbaijan)	23.9	(3.5) †	31.9	(3.8) †	44.3	(4.6) †	19.1	(3.3) †	43.2	(4.1) †	37.7	(4.1) †
	Brazil	7.5	(1.5)	9.1	(1.6)	83.3	(2.1)	12.2	(1.6)	16.0	(1.9)	71.9	(2.1)
	Brunei Darussalam	34.7	(0.1)	51.0	(0.1)	14.3	(0.1)	38.1	(0.1)	50.2	(0.1)	11.7	(0.1)
	Bulgaria	7.4	(2.2)	8.3	(2.2)	84.3	(2.9)	13.6	(2.8)	22.7	(3.3)	63.7	(3.7)
	Cambodia	36.8	(4.3)	12.7	(4.5)	50.4	(5.3)	27.8	(4.4)	22.6	(5.4)	49.6	(5.6)
	Croatia	16.1	(2.6)	5.2	(1.8)	78.6	(3.2)	7.7	(2.2)	24.2	(3.3)	68.1	(3.5)
	Cyprus	5.1	(0.5)	26.3	(0.5)	68.6	(0.7)	8.7	(0.2)	27.2	(0.7)	64.1	(0.6)
	Dominican Republic	17.0	(3.2) †	28.8	(3.6) †	54.2	(4.2) †	18.5	(3.4) †	26.2	(3.4) †	55.3	(3.8) †
	El Salvador	18.6	(2.8)	45.2	(3.7)	36.2	(3.7)	23.2	(3.1)	41.8	(3.5)	35.0	(3.5)
	Georgia	2.5	(1.0)	3.2	(1.2)	94.3	(1.6)	4.7	(1.2)	12.3	(1.9)	83.0	(2.3)
	Guatemala	12.9	(2.0)	32.9	(3.1)	54.2	(3.1)	12.1	(2.1)	36.7	(3.5)	51.2	(3.5)
	Hong Kong (China)*	13.2	(3.2) †	74.2	(4.6) †	12.6	(3.2) †	1.9	(1.6) †	73.7	(4.4) †	24.4	(3.9) †
	Indonesia	23.2	(3.4)	16.2	(2.8)	60.6	(3.7)	20.4	(3.2)	20.1	(2.7)	59.4	(3.8)
	Jamaica*	19.3	(3.1) †	43.7	(3.0) †	37.1	(3.6) †	7.9	(2.1) †	50.8	(5.1) †	41.3	(4.8) †
	Jordan	39.6	39.6     (3.3)     1       15.2     (1.7)     2		(2.3)	47.3	(3.6)	47.2	(3.3)	16.9	(2.5)	35.9	(3.4)
	Kazakhstan	15.2	(1.7)	25.9	(2.2)	59.0	(2.6)	15.2	(1.8)	60.1	(2.4)	24.7	(2.5)
	Kosovo	16.5	(1.0)	26.7	(1.5)	56.8	(1.2)	24.4	(1.1)	31.3	(1.5)	44.3	(1.4)
	Macao (China)	6.3	(0.0)	44.6	(0.1)	49.0	(0.1)	2.8	(0.0)	56.0	(0.1)	41.1	(0.1)
	Malaysia	29.6	(3.3)	48.2	(3.7)	22.2	(3.1)	31.3	(3.8)	41.9	(3.8)	26.8	(2.9)
	Malta	22.3	(0.2)	70.8	(0.2)	6.9	(0.1)	3.1	(0.2)	42.9	(0.2)	54.0	(0.3)
	Moldova	4.4	(1.3)	2.0	(1.0)	93.6	(1.7)	2.7	(1.0)	14.3	(2.6)	83.0	(2.9)
	Mongolia	6.5	(1.8)	34.7	(2.8)	58.7	(2.9)	6.7	(1.8)	36.0	(3.0)	57.3	(3.2)
	Montenegro	27.2	(0.6)	20.0	(0.7)	52.9	(0.6)	15.6	(0.7)	27.5	(0.6)	56.9	(0.5)
	Morocco	22.9	(3.1)	9.6	(2.1)	67.5	(3.6)	16.5	(2.8)	13.4	(3.0)	70.1	(3.8)
	North Macedonia	21.1	(0.1)	20.9	(0.1)	58.0	(0.1)	33.9	(0.1)	41.3	(0.1)	24.8	(0.1)
	Palestinian Authority	34.9	(2.8)	8.1	(1.8)	57.0	(2.9)	39.1	(2.9)	12.3	(2.5)	48.7	(3.1)
	Panama*	5.4	(1.9) †	19.3	(3.8) †	75.2	(4.3) †	7.4	(2.3) †	31.0	(4.5) †	61.6	(5.0) †
	Paraguay	8.5	(2.4)	18.2	(2.4)	73.4	(3.4)	8.5	(2.3)	31.1	(3.2)	60.3	(3.4)
	Peru	4.1	(1.1)	10.8	(1.9)	85.0	(2.3)	6.2	(1.4)	27.2	(2.6)	66.5	(2.6)
	Philippines	20.5	(3.2)	34.2	(3.5)	45.2	(4.0)	25.0	(3.2)	34.7	(3.4)	40.3	(3.5)
	Qatar	27.4	(0.1)	40.2	(0.1)	32.4	(0.1)	44.8	(0.1)	37.5	(0.1)	17.7	(0.1)
	Romania	13.5	(2.9)	15.5	(3.0)	71.1	(3.4)	5.4	(1.8)	35.2	(4.0)	59.4	(4.1)
	Saudi Arabia	47.3	(3.6)	14.5	(2.9)	38.2	(3.9)	45.2	(3.3)	21.1	(3.2)	33.7	(3.3)
	Serbia	8.3	(1.8)	9.0	(1.9)	82.8	(2.5)	14.1	(2.3)	22.8	(3.4)	63.1	(3.5)
	Singapore	7.3	(0.2)	78.2	(0.7)	14.5	(0.6)	5.1	(1.1)	65.1	(1.0)	29.8	(0.6)
	Chinese Taipei	6.3	7.3     (0.2)       6.3     (1.9)       10.4     (2.0)		(2.7)	76.4	(3.1)	1.6	(1.1)	38.8	(4.1)	59.6	(4.3)
	Thailand	18.4	(3.0)	47.0	(4.2)	34.7	(3.3)	16.4	(2.8)	48.8	(3.3)	34.9	(2.8)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	16.3	(4.0)	20.8	(3.3)	62.9	(4.4)	15.9	(4.7)	30.0	(3.9)	54.1	(4.8)
	UnitedArab Emirates	14.3	(0.2)	31.9	(0.7)	53.8	(0.9)	41.1	(0.9)	36.7	(0.4)	22.2	(1.2)
	Uruguay	12.0	(2.0)	6.8	(1.6)	81.3	(2.5)	5.0	(1.3)	11.7	(1.9)	83.3	(2.3)
	Uzbekistan	8.1	(2.0)	32.2	(3.6)	59.7	(4.0)	13.3	(2.7)	37.1	(3.8)	49.6	(3.9)
	Viet Nam	19.3	(3.2)	63.2	(4.2)	17.5	(2.7)	22.8	(3.1)	52.6	(3.8)	24.6	(3.1)

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but

less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage

#### Table II.B1.5.4. Shortage of education staff in 2015, 2018 and 2022 [1/4]

Percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that the schools capacity to provide instruction is hindered to some extent or a lot by the following factors:

	1					,						
		PISA	2015			PISA	2018			PISA	2022	
	A lack of teaching staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff	A lack of assisting staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified assisting staff	A lack of teaching staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff	A lack of assisting staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified assisting staff	A lack of teaching staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff	A lack of assisting staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified assisting staff
	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.
吕 Australia*	20.5 (1.4)	17.6 (1.6)	18.1 (1.5)	12.8 (1.4)	17.0 (1.2)	14.3 (1.4)	12.4 (1.2)	7.7 (1.0)	61.2 (1.8)	26.7 (1.8)	26.9 (1.9)	13.3 (1.3)
Ö Austria	19.1 (2.8)	13.8 (2.6)	60.7 (3.7)	27.7 (3.4)	11.9 (1.9)	9.3 (2.3)	66.0 (3.0)	28.2 (3.3)	33.0 (2.7)	18.4 (1.9)	58.4 (2.8)	17.5 (2.7)
Belgium	33.9 (3.1)	30.3 (2.8)	37.4 (3.1)	19.5 (2.5)	43.5 (3.1)	25.5 (2.9)	32.8 (2.9)	16.9 (2.4)	80.1 (2.7)	50.7 (3.4)	31.2 (3.5)	16.2 (2.8)
Canada*	18.8 (2.2)	13.2 (2.0)	32.4 (2.6)	15.1 (2.3)	19.4 (1.7)	7.1 (1.2)	27.9 (2.2)	11.3 (1.4)	43.6 (2.2)	23.8 (1.8)	36.8 (2.6)	18.5 (1.6)
Chile	17.2 (3.1)	19.2 (3.4)	17.2 (2.9)	14.3 (2.7)	12.6 (2.6)	18.1 (2.8)	21.5 (3.4)	16.3 (2.7)	43.7 (3.5)	22.7 (3.2)	33.3 (3.3)	19.3 (3.0)
Colombia	41.4 (3.3)	26.7 (3.1)	69.7 (2.9)	31.4 (3.3)	30.6 (2.9)	16.8 (2.6)	58.8 (3.2)	26.7 (2.9)	49.4 (3.6)	24.3 (2.9)	55.9 (3.3)	25.0 (3.2)
Costa Rica	46.8 (4.0)	45.0 (3.7)	58.8 (3.4)	50.2 (3.7)	39.9 (3.4)	35.7 (3.3)	47.5 (3.7)	41.5 (3.5)	51.3 (4.2)	45.0 (4.1)	52.1 (4.2)	39.9 (4.2)
Czech Republic	13.2 (1.8)	17.4 (2.3)	27.0 (3.1)	9.4 (2.0)	35.2 (2.8)	19.8 (2.7)	33.4 (2.8)	15.0 (2.2)	44.2 (2.7)	29.9 (2.2)	30.4 (2.9)	11.9 (1.7)
Denmark*	6.0 (1.6)	4.9 (1.4)	21.3 (3.1)	8.3 (1.9)	5.3 (1.3)	2.5 (1.0)	13.2 (2.2)	6.0 (1.7)	10.1 (1.9)	5.8 (1.6)	15.3 (2.2)	8.4 (1.6)
Estonia	34.6 (2.9)	27.3 (2.6)	37.7 (2.5)	16.1 (2.0)	43.6 (2.1)	33.2 (2.0)	37.3 (2.0)	19.7 (1.6)	72.9 (2.4)	51.3 (2.8)	37.1 (2.6)	17.5 (2.3)
Finland	2.8 (1.2)	3.8 (1.6)	46.1 (3.7)	24.7 (3.7)	7.3 (2.1)	6.2 (1.9)	38.0 (3.4)	22.0 (2.8)	23.1 (2.8)	12.8 (2.2)	39.7 (3.5)	24.6 (3.1)
France	34.7 (2.7)	20.4 (2.9)	34.3 (3.0)	17.6 (2.5)	17.1 (2.6)	11.3 (2.4)	31.7 (3.4)	13.0 (2.1)	67.0 (3.7)	30.4 (3.4)	44.5 (3.4)	22.6 (2.9)
Germany	55.1 (3.8)	23.5 (3.2)	53.4 (3.6)	17.7 (2.5)†	56.9 (3.6)	15.6 (2.5)	48.8 (3.4)	18.2 (3.1)	73.2 (2.8)	25.3 (3.2)	58.8 (3.2)	21.1 (2.7)
Greece	44.3 (3.0)	21.0 (2.9)	72.8 (3.1)	32.8 (3.5)	26.3 (3.1)	12.8 (2.3)	64.4 (3.4)	27.0 (3.3)	54.3 (3.0)	26.5 (2.9)	70.0 (2.9)	32.4 (2.9)
Hungary	33.8 (3.0)	18.6 (2.7)	54.9 (4.0)	6.9 (1.6)	33.7 (3.4)	9.9 (2.5)	44.3 (3.6)	9.6 (2.3)	40.7 (3.7)	16.1 (2.8)	41.8 (3.4)	10.3 (2.4)
lceland	13.3 (0.2)	14.8 (0.2)	27.8 (0.3)	10.9 (0.1)	9.9 (0.2)	3.7 (0.1)	17.7 (0.2)	12.2 (0.2)	11.4 (0.2)	8.5 (0.1)	26.1 (0.2)	7.0 (0.1)
Ireland*	55.5 (4.1)	13.3 (3.1)	40.6 (4.0)	23.9 (3.7)	44.8 (4.0)	11.1 (2.6)	26.0 (3.5)	15.6 (3.2)	67.8 (3.6)	31.0 (3.8)	40.0 (4.0)	22.2 (3.1)
Israel	41.1 (4.1)	40.6 (4.2)	33.2 (3.7)	26.6 (3.8)	37.6 (3.5)	33.8 (3.8)	35.9 (3.7)	27.8 (3.5)	45.6 (3.9)	44.0 (3.6)	36.4 (3.5)	32.8 (3.7)
Italy	31.5 (4.0)†	40.9 (3.5) †	45.4 (3.7) †	32.1 (3.8)†	22.7 (2.8)	26.3 (2.8)	48.8 (3.4)	32.1 (3.0)	48.9 (3.5)	38.2 (3.7)	33.6 (3.5)	32.5 (3.6)
Japan	55.1 (3.3)	43.7 (3.6)	36.0 (3.4)	18.1 (2.8)	52.8 (3.7)	40.0 (3.4)	31.7 (3.4)	19.5 (2.4)	63.7 (3.6)	42.9 (3.4)	42.6 (3.6)	17.0 (2.9)
Korea	38.8 (3.8)	11.4 (2.4)	72.6 (3.5)	13.2 (2.6)	32.6 (3.4)	17.0 (2.9)	55.9 (3.8)	11.6 (2.4)	50.9 (5.0)	15.7 (2.6)	55.6 (4.8)	11.5 (2.5)
Latvia*	21.5 (2.2)	15.0 (2.1)	27.5 (2.5)	14.3 (2.1)	28.2 (1.6)	10.5 (1.1)	17.3 (1.9)	9.8 (1.4)	67.7 (2.8)	29.6 (2.8)	35.5 (3.0)	21.1 (2.5)
Lithuania	11.3 (1.8)	15.5 (2.1)	21.2 (2.5)	12.3 (2.1)	7.2 (0.5)	3.6 (0.9)	6.7 (0.9)	4.6 (0.8)	26.8 (1.6)	3.7 (1.1)	14.5 (1.7)	5.3 (1.1)
Mexico	29.1 (2.9)	14.4 (2.2)	46.7 (3.3)	19.7 (2.3)	25.3 (2.3)	9.0 (1.9)	35.2 (2.9)	14.8 (2.2)	30.8 (2.8)	18.3 (2.4)	43.5 (3.6)	18.2 (2.6)
Netherlands*	27.1 (4.0) †	35.6 (4.5) †	10.0 (2.9) †	14.9 (3.5)†	35.7 (4.1)	23.6 (3.6)	9.9 (2.7)	8.5 (2.5)	71.8 (4.4)	45.5 (5.2)	23.0 (4.7)	10.6 (3.4)
New Zealand*	20.9 (3.1)	15.8 (3.0)	19.2 (3.5)	7.9 (2.3)	37.2 (3.1)	16.4 (2.2)	19.4 (2.7)	8.3 (1.8)	44.5 (3.7) †	23.7 (3.6) †	22.4 (4.0)†	11.5 (2.8) †
Norway	21.5 (3.0)	17.5 (2.4)	12.4 (2.4)	19.5 (2.7)	11.3 (1.7)	5.0 (1.4)	7.9 (2.1)	10.2 (1.9)	34.6 (3.0)	11.5 (1.9)	20.8 (3.1)	15.1 (2.4)
Poland	0.2 (0.2)	0.6 (0.6)	17.0 (2.9)	12.4 (2.4)	2.6 (1.1)	1.2 (0.7)	8.7 (1.9)	5.7 (1.7)	47.5 (3.3)	23.4 (2.3)	11.8 (2.1)	8.5 (1.9)
Portugal Slovek Benublie	39.7 (3.4)	50.9 (5.4) 6.2 (1.2)	73.0 (2.0)	00.0 (3.0)	31.0 (3.1)	23.0 (3.1)	07.7 (2.9)	57.4 (5.7) 10.7 (1.5)	02.1 (3.3)	20.9 (3.3)	53.4 (3.0) 27.1 (2.0)	40.0 (3.3)
Slovak Republic	9.9 (1.9)	0.3 (1.3)	24.9 (2.9)	0.0 (1.0)	11.4 (1.9)	4.9 (1.1)	29.1 (2.4)	70 (0.1)	41.0 (3.1)	10.3 (2.0)	37.1 (2.9)	10.4 (2.3)
Siovenia	10.9 (0.0)	10.4 (0.0)	10.4 (0.0)	12.0 (0.4)	22.0 (0.0)	11.2 (0.2)	20.0 (0.0)	15.2 (1.4)	42.2 (0.0)	22.9 (0.0)	17.2 (0.5) EE 2 (2.4)	10.4 (0.5)
Sweden	39.1 (3.8)	38 1 (3.7)	426 (36)	35.4 (3.8)	30 1 (2.4)	32.0 (3.0)	29.2 (2.3)	38.6 (3.8)	35.5 (2.0)	36.8 (3.3)	38.4 (2.3)	35.2 (3.4)
Switzerland	23.8 (2.0)	15 3 (2.0)	16.8 (2.7)	18 (17)	11.0 (2.5)	51 (15)	11.5 (2.1)	38 (15)	33.0 (3.0)	16.6 (3.1)	15.7 (2.5)	78 (21) +
Türkiye	29.3 (3.4)	26.4 (3.4)	53.2 (4.0)	50.9 (3.6)	14.7 (2.3)	20.4 (3.2)	35.6 (3.6)	26.6 (3.5)	16.4 (2.0)	17.0 (2.0)	40.7 (2.3)	36.0 (3.7)
United Kingdom	42.8 (4.0)+	20.4 (0.4) 20.1 (3.4) +	19.0 (2.6) +	120 (25)+	28.1 (3.1)	86 (19)	21.5 (2.6)	78 (17)	53.5 (3.6)	18.9 (3.0)	41.8 (3.5)	19.4 (3.0)
United States*	23.7 (3.1)	14.2 (3.0)	24.1 (3.4)	11.7 (2.2)	25.8 (3.6)	13.2 (2.1)	26.8 (3.7)	13.9 (2.6)	41.8 (4.7)	18.4 (3.0)	33.9 (3.6)	19.3 (3.3)
OECD average	29.0 (0.5)	20.9 (0.5)	37.4 (0.5)	20.0 (0.4)	26.1 (0.4)	15.7 (0.4)	32.6 (0.5)	17.3 (0.4)	46.7 (0.5)	25.4 (0.5)	37.2 (0.5)	19.3 (0.4)

Notes: Values that are statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3).

### Table II.B1.5.4. Shortage of education staff in 2015, 2018 and 2022 [2/4]

Percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that the schools capacity to provide instruction is hindered to some extent or a lot

							by the to	nowing racio	ors:				
			PISA	2015			PISA	2018			PISA	2022	
		A lack of teaching staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff	A lack of assisting staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified assisting staff	A lack of teaching staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff	A lack of assisting staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified assisting staff	A lack of teaching staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified teaching staff	A lack of assisting staff	Inadequate or poorly qualified assisting staff
		% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.
ers	Albania	13.7 (2.7)	16.8 (2.8)	38.2 (3.8)	30.8 (3.5)	3.9 (1.2)	4.4 (1.0)	13.6 (1.6)	11.0 (1.4)	14.9 (1.8)	6.7 (1.7)	18.7 (2.0)	11.4 (1.9)
artn	Argentina	44.6 (3.1)	23.9 (3.0)	44.4 (4.3)	21.7 (3.2)	25.9 (2.7)	17.9 (2.6)	35.6 (2.8)	19.6 (2.3)	45.5 (2.7)	24.0 (2.5)	40.2 (2.9)	18.5 (2.4)
Δ.	Baku (Azerbaijan)	m m	m m	m m	m m	42.8 (4.5) †	27.9 (4.0) †	28.5 (3.9) †	17.0 (2.9)†	59.4 (3.9) †	41.0 (4.2) †	40.7 (4.4)†	23.3 (3.6) †
	Brazil	26.0 (2.3)	19.9 (2.6)	37.3 (2.4)	25.6 (2.5)	17.6 (1.8)	11.3 (1.6)	34.1 (2.2)	15.2 (1.8)	22.3 (2.1)	11.7 (1.7)	37.1 (2.3)	19.8 (2.0)
	Brunei Darussalam	m m	m m	m m	m m	15.0 (0.1)	6.5 (0.0)	27.5 (0.1)	19.9 (0.1)	45.0 (0.1)	20.0 (0.1)	33.8 (0.1)	20.7 (0.1)
	Bulgaria	6.8 (1.6)	7.2 (1.8)	2.7 (0.9)	3.3 (1.4)	8.0 (1.6)	5.9 (1.8)	4.3 (1.6)	3.0 (1.3)	17.9 (3.2)	9.3 (2.4)	5.6 (1.9)	4.6 (2.0)
	Cambodia	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	59.4 (4.2)	27.2 (3.8)	46.2 (4.3)	18.8 (3.5)
	Croatia	20.5 (3.1)	20.5 (3.5)	43.0 (4.0)	18.9 (3.3)	18.3 (2.6)	15.5 (2.4)	45.1 (3.7)	18.1 (2.8)	45.7 (3.6)	20.2 (3.0)	42.4 (3.5)	13.7 (2.4)
	Cyprus	19.2 (0.1)	31.9 (0.1)	30.1 (0.1)	20.6 (0.1)	7.3 (0.1)	15.7 (0.1)	25.7 (0.1)	11.5 (0.2)	32.0 (0.5)	20.3 (0.3)	35.6 (0.7)	18.3 (0.5)
	Dominican Republic	29.6 (3.0)	21.5 (3.3)	29.5 (4.5)	14.8 (2.8)	27.6 (3.2)	19.1 (2.7)	31.7 (3.2)	11.8 (2.5)	55.1 (4.4) †	19.5 (3.1) †	48.8 (3.6)†	16.7 (2.7) †
	El Salvador	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	29.3 (2.9)	21.8 (2.6)	40.5 (3.4)	19.4 (2.8)
	Georgia	6.0 (1.4)	20.7 (3.0)	27.7 (2.9)	17.6 (2.4)	4.6 (1.2)	19.9 (2.9)	29.4 (3.1)	17.4 (2.3)	6.8 (1.7)	12.4 (2.5)	22.0 (2.7)	17.0 (2.5)
	Guatemala	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	36.9 (2.5)	11.7 (2.3)	37.7 (3.3)	13.7 (2.0)
	Hong Kong (China)*	22.3 (3.5)	11.5 (2.7)	24.9 (3.4)	7.4 (2.4)	23.7 (4.1)	10.6 (2.9)	40.1 (4.8)	19.7 (3.7)	44.7 (5.5) †	35.1 (5.4) †	30.5 (4.6)†	19.5 (3.7) †
	Indonesia	32.2 (3.1)	22.0 (2.9)	30.8 (2.9)	20.9 (2.8)	42.4 (4.7)	24.9 (4.0)	41.7 (4.4)	31.6 (4.1)	17.8 (2.7)	12.7 (2.4)	27.2 (3.2)	21.9 (2.9)
	Jamaica*	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	34.8 (3.6) †	9.6 (2.6) †	49.5 (4.1)†	23.4 (3.3) †
	Jordan	56.3 (3.8)	57.1 (4.1)	48.5 (3.8)	43.4 (3.8)	40.9 (3.3)	40.3 (2.9)	50.4 (3.4)	42.5 (3.3)	57.5 (3.5)	50.3 (3.7)	48.8 (3.1)	45.0 (3.3)
	Kazakhstan	32.8 (3.8)	27.7 (3.5)	26.3 (3.2)	19.9 (3.1)	29.3 (2.4)	19.3 (2.3)	14.0 (1.6)	13.4 (2.1)	36.2 (2.2)	25.7 (2.4)	16.7 (1.5)	13.7 (1.9)
	Kosovo	19.9 (1.0)	15.0 (1.0)	33.2 (1.3)	20.0 (1.1)	19.1 (1.1)	10.3 (1.3)	29.1 (1.6)	16.6 (1.1)	27.1 (1.2)	12.9 (1.0)	46.9 (1.5)	22.7 (1.3)
	Macao (China)	33.8 (0.1)	45.7 (0.1)	26.3 (0.1)	22.5 (0.1)	12.0 (0.0)	23.9 (0.0)	11.7 (0.0)	20.1 (0.0)	21.0 (0.0)	27.3 (0.0)	28.9 (0.0)	29.6 (0.1)
	Malaysia	10.1 (2.1)	17.1 (3.2)	18.0 (3.1)	13.3 (2.7)	7.5 (2.0)	12.6 (2.5)	12.7 (2.5)	9.7 (2.3)	24.2 (3.1)	21.9 (3.3)	20.1 (3.0)	15.4 (2.6)
	Malta	12.1 (0.1)	10.6 (0.1)	48.5 (0.1)	24.1 (0.1)	16.4 (0.1)	15.3 (0.1)	24.2 (0.1)	15.6 (0.1)	41.4 (0.2)	19.1 (0.3)	28.5 (0.3)	20.0 (0.2)
	Moldova	25.7 (3.3)	25.1 (2.9)	12.6 (2.3)	15.3 (2.8)	28.7 (3.5)	12.9 (2.3)	22.9 (3.3)	18.4 (2.7)	37.8 (3.3)	14.0 (2.2)	14.9 (2.3)	16.0 (2.9)
	Mongolia	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	38.3 (3.5)	37.8 (3.6)	25.5 (2.8)	20.8 (2.8)
	Montenegro	1.1 (0.3)	0.4 (0.3)	2.5 (0.4)	5.7 (0.2)	1.7 (0.2)	2.9 (0.3)	7.5 (0.3)	2.9 (0.0)	26.9 (0.4)	9.7 (0.3)	22.2 (0.4)	2.7 (0.3)
	Morocco	m m	m m	m m	m m	36.9 (3.8)	31.6 (3.8)	74.1 (2.8)	49.2 (4.0)	56.0 (3.9)	44.3 (4.3)	83.0 (2.9)	59.4 (4.0)
	North Macedonia	4.1 (0.1)	6.1 (0.1)	23.2 (0.2)	15.4 (0.1)	3.6 (0.1)	1.9 (0.0)	31.0 (0.1)	7.8 (0.0)	14.6 (0.1)	3.6 (0.0)	24.8 (0.1)	10.0 (0.1)
	Palestinian Authority	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	66.9 (3.1)	61.9 (3.3)	58.3 (3.0)	52.6 (3.3)
	Panama*	m m	m m	m m	m m	14.8 (2.1)	11.8 (1.8)	53.7 (2.6)	30.6 (2.4)	26.5 (4.2) †	11.9 (3.4) †	41.0 (4.6)†	22.0 (3.9) †
	Paraguay	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	22.7 (2.5)	10.5 (2.5)	56.7 (3.2)	13.3 (2.3)
	Peru	25.0 (2.6)	24.6 (2.8)	41.8 (3.1)	31.3 (3.2)	16.5 (2.2)	20.6 (2.3)	41.7 (2.6)	34.9 (2.7)	17.7 (2.3)	22.8 (2.6)	44.3 (2.7)	28.8 (2.7)
	Philippines	m m	m m	m m	m m	19.5 (2.6)	8.1 (2.2)	24.1 (3.2)	14.9 (2.8)	42.7 (3.5)	19.1 (3.4)	31.9 (3.6)	22.3 (3.1)
	Qatar	17.2 (0.1)	8.4 (0.0)	11.2 (0.1)	9.5 (0.1)	11.4 (0.0)	5.5 (0.0)	11.7 (0.0)	7.9 (0.0)	16.3 (0.1)	10.3 (0.1)	16.6 (0.1)	10.5 (0.1)
	Romania	5.4 (1.5)	3.0 (1.0)	29.8 (3.6)	30.0 (3.7)	8.8 (2.3)	4.2 (1.6)	20.2 (3.2)	18.0 (2.9)	12.7 (2.6)	9.8 (2.2)	29.9 (3.4)	8.6 (1.9)
	SaudiArabia	m m	m m	m m	m m	49.5 (3.4)	39.6 (3.5)	47.6 (3.7)	40.9 (3.2)	55.3 (3.6)	38.9 (3.3)	53.7 (3.8)	39.2 (3.4)
	Serbia	m m	m m	m m	m m	2.3 (1.2)	3.6 (1.3)	20.8 (3.0)	2.4 (1.2)	18.4 (2.7)	10.1 (1.8)	16.9 (2.7)	3.6 (1.1)
	Singapore	10.7 (0.1)	12.5 (0.1)	12.7 (0.7)	7.8 (0.7)	5.3 (0.2)	6.3 (0.2)	7.2 (0.2)	4.3 (0.2)	26.1 (0.9)	7.8 (0.5)	9.4 (0.6)	3.3 (0.0)
	Chinese Taipei	39.4 (3.2)	18.7 (2.5)	32.6 (3.4)	11.5 (2.5)	19.6 (2.6)	15.9 (2.9)	12.9 (2.4)	7.7 (1.9)	29.4 (3.3)	19.9 (3.3)	16.4 (3.3)	7.7 (2.1)
	Thailand	53.0 (4.1)	29.4 (3.4)	47.9 (4.1)	25.5 (3.5)	37.7 (3.8)	17.4 (2.2)	33.6 (3.2)	19.8 (3.0)	43.2 (3.9)	15.9 (2.7)	29.0 (3.0)	11.9 (2.1)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	30.1 (4.8)	22.0 (3.8)	18.7 (3.5)	13.4 (3.1)
	UnitedArab Emirates	38.3 (2.5)	32.9 (2.4)	36.6 (2.1)	27.9 (2.0)	27.7 (1.4)	29.9 (1.4)	30.2 (1.2)	23.2 (1.3)	27.0 (0.7)	21.0 (0.3)	25.4 (0.3)	18.7 (0.3)
	Uruguay	44.9 (3.1)	29.9 (2.4)	55.1 (2.8)	39.4 (2.8)	28.6 (3.4)	26.7 (3.2)	53.2 (3.4)	41.1 (3.1)	40.3 (2.6)	28.4 (2.6)	59.4 (2.8)	51.8 (2.9)
	Uzbekistan	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	24.3 (3.1)	27.7 (3.2)	14.4 (2.5)	11.2 (2.3)
	Viet Nam	28.6 (4.1)	21.1 (3.2)	34.8 (3.8)	27.6 (3.7)	23.8 (4.1)	15.0 (3.2)	30.9 (4.8)	21.9 (3.9)	42.4 (4.1)	29.2 (3.6)	36.7 (3.9)	23.0 (3.6)

Notes: Values that are statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3).

#### Table II.B1.5.4. Shortage of education staff in 2015, 2018 and 2022 [3/4]

Percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that the schools capacity to provide instruction is hindered to some extent or a lot by the following factors:

		Change	between	2015 and 2	2022 (PIS	S A 2022 - P	IS A 2015	i)		Changel	betweer	2018 and 2	2022 (PIS	A 2022 - Pl	S A 2018	5)
	A I teach	ack of ing staff	Inade poorly teach	quate or qualified ing staff	A I assist	ack of ting staff	Inade poorl assist	equate or y qualified ting staff	A I teach	ack of ning staff	Inade poorl teach	equate or y qualified iing staff	A la assist	ack of ing staff	Inade poorly assist	quate or / qualified ting staff
	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.
S Australia*	40.7	(2.3)	9.2	(2.4)	8.7	(2.4)	0.5	(1.9)	44.3	(2.2)	12.4	(2.3)	14.4	(2.3)	5.6	(1.6)
Ö Austria	13.8	(3.9)	4.5	(3.2)	-2.2	(4.6)	-10.2	(4.4)	21.0	(3.3)	9.1	(3.0)	-7.6	(4.1)	-10.8	(4.3)
Belgium	46.2	(4.0)	20.5	(4.4)	-6.2	(4.7)	-3.3	(3.7)	36.5	(4.0)	25.2	(4.5)	-1.7	(4.5)	-0.7	(3.7)
Canada*	24.8	(3.1)	10.5	(2.7)	4.4	(3.7)	3.4	(2.8)	24.2	(2.8)	16.7	(2.2)	8.9	(3.4)	7.1	(2.1)
Chile	26.4	(4.7)	3.5	(4.6)	16.1	(4.4)	5.0	(4.1)	31.0	(4.4)	4.7	(4.2)	11.9	(4.7)	3.0	(4.0)
Colombia	8.0	(4.9)	-2.5	(4.3)	-13.8	(4.4)	-6.5	(4.6)	18.8	(4.6)	7.5	(3.9)	-2.9	(4.6)	-1.7	(4.3)
Costa Rica	4.5	(5.8)	-0.1	(5.5)	-6.8	(5.4)	-10.3	(5.6)	11.4	(5.4)	9.3	(5.3)	4.6	(5.6)	-1.6	(5.5)
Czech Republic	31.0	(3.3)	12.5	(3.2)	3.4	(4.2)	2.5	(2.6)	9.0	(3.9)	10.1	(3.5)	-3.0	(4.0)	-3.1	(2.8)
Denmark*	4.1	(2.5)	0.8	(2.1)	-6.1	(3.8)	0.1	(2.5)	4.8	(2.3)	3.3	(1.8)	2.1	(3.1)	2.4	(2.3)
Estonia	38.3	(3.8)	24.0	(3.8)	-0.6	(3.6)	1.4	(3.0)	29.2	(3.2)	18.1	(3.4)	-0.2	(3.3)	-2.2	(2.8)
Finland	20.3	(3.1)	9.0	(2.7)	-6.5	(5.1)	-0.2	(4.9)	15.8	(3.5)	6.7	(2.9)	1.7	(4.9)	2.6	(4.2)
France	32.3	(4.6)	10.0	(4.4)	10.3	(4.5)	4.9	(3.8)	49.9	(4.5)	19.1	(4.1)	12.8	(4.8)	9.5	(3.6)
Germany	18.1	(4.7)	1.8	(4.6)	5.4	(4.8)	3.4	(3.6) †	16.3	(4.6)	9.8	(4.1)	10.1	(4.7)	2.9	(4.1)
Greece	10.0	(4.3)	5.4	(4.1)	-2.8	(4.2)	-0.4	(4.6)	28.1	(4.3)	13.6	(3.7)	5.6	(4.5)	5.4	(4.4)
Hungary	6.8	(4.8)	-2.4	(3.9)	-13.0	(5.2)	3.4	(2.9)	7.0	(5.0)	6.2	(3.8)	-2.5	(4.9)	0.8	(3.3)
lceland	-1.8	<b>1.8</b> (0.3)		(0.2)	-1.7	(0.3)	-3.9	(0.2)	1.5	(0.3)	4.8	(0.2)	8.4	(0.3)	-5.2	(0.2)
Ireland*	12.3	(5.5)	17.7	(4.9)	-0.6	(5.6)	-1.7	(4.8)	23.0	(5.4)	19.8	(4.6)	14.0	(5.4)	6.6	(4.5)
Israel	4.5	(5.6)	3.3	(5.5)	3.2	(5.1)	6.2	(5.3)	8.0	(5.2)	10.1	(5.2)	0.5	(5.1)	5.0	(5.1)
Italy	17.4	(5.4) †	-2.7	(5.1) †	-11.8	(5.2) †	0.4	(5.2) †	26.3	(4.5)	11.9	(4.6)	-15.2	(4.9)	0.4	(4.7)
Japan	8.6	(4.9)	-0.8	(5.0)	6.6	(5.0)	-1.1	(4.0)	10.9	(5.1)	3.0	(4.8)	10.9	(5.0)	-2.5	(3.8)
Korea	12.1	(6.3)	4.3	(3.6)	-17.0	(5.9)	-1.7	(3.7)	18.3	(6.0)	-1.3	(3.9)	-0.4	(6.1)	-0.2	(3.5)
Latvia*	46.2	(3.6)	14.6	(3.5)	8.1	(3.9)	6.8	(3.2)	39.5	(3.3)	19.1	(3.0)	18.3	(3.6)	11.3	(2.8)
Lithuania	15.4	(2.4)	-11.9	(2.4)	-6.6	(3.0)	-6.9	(2.4)	19.5	(1.7)	0.1	(1.4)	7.9	(1.9)	0.7	(1.4)
Mexico	1.7	(4.1)	3.9	(3.3)	-3.2	(4.8)	-1.4	(3.5)	5.6	(3.6)	9.3	(3.1)	8.3	(4.6)	3.4	(3.4)
Netherlands*	44.7	(5.9) †	10.0	(6.9) †	13.0	(5.5) †	-4.3	(4.9) †	36.1	(6.0)	22.0	(6.4)	13.1	(5.5)	2.1	(4.2)
New Zealand*	23.6	(4.8) †	7.8	(4.7) †	3.3	(5.3) †	3.6	(3.7) †	7.3	(4.8) †	7.3	(4.3) †	3.1	(4.9) †	3.2	(3.4) †
Norway	13.1	(4.2)	-6.0	(3.1)	14.3	(3.9)	-4.4	(3.6)	23.2	(3.5)	6.6	(2.3)	18.8	(3.7)	4.9	(3.0)
Poland	47.3	(3.3)	22.8	(2.4)	-5.2	(3.6)	-3.9	(3.0)	44.8	(3.5)	22.2	(2.4)	3.1	(2.8)	2.9	(2.5)
Portugal	22.4	(4.8)	-4.0	(4.8)	-20.2	(4.0)	-21.4	(4.5)	30.3	(4.6)	4.0	(4.5)	-14.3	(4.1)	-10.8	(5.0)
Slovak Republic	31.1	(3.6)	10.0	(3.1)	12.3	(4.1)	4.7	(2.9)	29.6	(3.6)	11.4	(3.0)	8.1	(3.8)	2.7	(2.7)
Slovenia	23.3	(0.9)	12.4	(0.8)	0.9	(0.8)	2.6	(0.6)	19.4	(1.0)	11.6	(0.6)	-8.2	(0.7)	2.5	(0.5)
Spain	-14.9	(3.4)	-6.9	(3.8)	-4.8	(3.9)	3.3	(2.6)	-2.2	(3.1)	-1.0	(2.6)	-4.2	(3.3)	0.1	(2.2)
Sweden	-3.6	(5.0)	-1.4	(4.9)	-4.3	(4.9)	-0.3	(5.1)	5.4	(4.6)	4.8	(4.5)	9.2	(4.7)	-3.5	(5.1)
Switzerland	10.1	(4.8)	1.3	(4.2)	-1.1	(3.7)	3.0	(2.7) †	22.9	(4.5)	11.6	(3.4)	4.2	(3.3)	4.0	(2.6) †
Türkiye	-12.9	(4.5)	-9.4	(4.4)	-12.5	(5.6)	-14.9	(5.2)	1.7	(3.6)	-3.5	(4.3)	5.1	(5.3)	9.3	(5.0)
United Kingdom*	10.7	(5.3) †	-1.2	(4.6) †	22.8	(4.4) †	7.4	(3.9) †	25.4	(4.8)	10.3	(3.5)	20.3	(4.4)	11.6	(3.4)
United States*	18.1	(5.6)	4.2	(4.2)	9.8	(5.0)	7.6	(4.0)	16.0	(5.9)	5.2	(3.7)	7.1	(5.2)	5.4	(4.2)
OECD average	17.7	(0.7)	4.6	(0.7)	-0.1	(0.7)	-0.7	(0.6)	20.5	(0.7)	9.8	(0.6)	4.7	(0.7)	2.0	(0.6)

Notes: Values that are statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3).

### Table II.B1.5.4. Shortage of education staff in 2015, 2018 and 2022 [4/4]

Percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that the schools capacity to provide instruction is hindered to some extent or a lot by the following factors:

									· .	-								
			Change	between	2015 and	2022 (PI	SA 2022 - P	ISA 2015	)		Change	betweer	1 2018 and 2	2022 (PIS	SA 2022 - PI	S A 2018	3)	
		A I teach	ack of ning staff	Inade poorly teach	quate or qualified ing staff	A	lack of ting staff	Inade poorly assist	equate or v qualified ting staff	A teac	lack of hing staff	Inade poorly teach	equate or / qualified hing staff	A I assis	ack of ting staff	Inade poorly assis	quate or y qualified ting staff	
		% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	% dif.	S.E.	Į
ers	Albania	1.2	(3.3)	-10.1	(3.3)	-19.5	(4.3)	-19.4	(4.0)	11.0	(2.2)	2.2	(2.0)	5.1	(2.6)	0.4	(2.3)	Ī
artn	Argentina	0.9	(4.1)	0.0	(3.9)	-4.2	(5.2)	-3.2	(4.0)	19.6	(3.8)	6.1	(3.6)	4.6	(4.0)	-1.0	(3.3)	
č	Baku (Azerbaijan)	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	16.5	(6.0) †	13.1	(5.7) †	12.2	(5.9) †	6.3	(4.6) †	
	Brazil	-3.7	(3.1)	-8.2	(3.1)	-0.2	(3.4)	-5.8	(3.2)	4.7	(2.8)	0.5	(2.3)	3.0	(3.2)	4.6	(2.7)	
	Brunei Darussalam	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	30.0	(0.1)	13.5	(0.1)	6.4	(0.1)	0.8	(0.1)	
	Bulgaria	11.1	(3.5)	2.0	(3.1)	3.0	(2.1)	1.4	(2.4)	9.8	(3.5)	3.4	(3.0)	1.3	(2.4)	1.7	(2.4)	
	Cambodia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	
	Croatia	25.2	(4.8)	-0.4	(4.6)	-0.7	(5.3)	-5.2	(4.0)	27.4	(4.5)	4.6	(3.8)	-2.7	(5.1)	-4.5	(3.7)	
	Cyprus	12.8	(0.5)	-11.6	(0.3)	5.5	(0.7)	-2.3	(0.6)	24.7	(0.5)	4.7	(0.3)	9.9	(0.7)	6.7	(0.6)	
	Dominican Republic	25.5	(5.3) †	-1.9	(4.6) 1	19.3	(5.7) †	2.0	(3.9) †	27.6	(5.4) †	0.5	(4.2) †	17.1	(4.8) †	4.9	(3.6) †	
	El Salvador	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	
	Georgia	0.7	(2.2)	-8.3	(3.9)	-5.8	(4.0)	-0.6	(3.4)	2.2	(2.1)	-7.5	(3.9)	-7.4	(4.1)	-0.4	(3.4)	
	Guatemala	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	
	Hong Kong (China)*	22.4	(6.5) †	23.7	(6.0) †	5.6	(5.7) †	12.1	(4.4) †	21.0	(6.8) †	24.6	(6.1) †	-9.6	(6.6) †	-0.2	(5.2) †	
	Indonesia	-14.3	(4.1)	-9.2	(3.8)	-3.6	(4.3)	1.0	(4.0)	-24.6	(5.4)	-12.1	(4.7)	-14.5	(5.4)	-9.6	(5.0)	
	Jamaica*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	
	Jordan	1.2	(5.1)	-6.7	(5.5)	0.3	(4.9)	1.6	(5.1)	16.6	(4.8)	10.0	(4.7)	-1.6	(4.6)	2.5	(4.7)	
	Kazakhstan	3.4	(4.4)	-2.0	(4.2)	-9.6	(3.5)	-6.2	(3.6)	6.8	(3.3)	6.4	(3.3)	2.7	(2.2)	0.3	(2.8)	
	Kosovo	7.2	(1.6)	-2.1	(1.4)	13.7	(2.0)	2.7	(1.7)	8.0	(1.7)	2.6	(1.7)	17.7	(2.2)	6.1	(1.7)	
	Macao (China)	-12.9	(0.1)	-18.5	(0.1)	2.6	(0.1)	7.1	(0.1)	8.9	(0.1)	3.4	(0.1)	17.2	(0.1)	9.5	(0.1)	
	Malaysia	14.1	(3.8)	4.8	(4.6)	2.0	(4.3)	2.1	(3.7)	16.7	(3.7)	9.3	(4.2)	7.4	(3.9)	5.6	(3.5)	
	Malta	29.3	(0.2)	8.6	(0.3)	-20.0	(0.3)	-4.1	(0.3)	25.0	(0.2)	3.8	(0.3)	4.3	(0.3)	4.3	(0.3)	
	Moldova	12.1	(4.7)	-11.2	(3.6)	2.3	(3.3)	0.7	(4.1)	9.1	(4.8)	1.1	(3.2)	-8.0	(4.0)	-2.3	(3.9)	
	Mongolia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	
	Montenegro	25.8	(0.5)	9.3	(0.4)	19.7	(0.6)	-3.0	(0.4)	25.2	(0.4)	6.8	(0.4)	14.7	(0.5)	-0.3	(0.3)	
	Morocco	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	19.1	(5.4)	12.8	(5.7)	8.9	(4.0)	10.2	(5.6)	
	North Macedonia	10.5	(0.1)	-2.5	(0.1)	1.6	(0.2)	-5.4	(0.1)	11.0	(0.1)	1.6	(0.0)	-6.2	(0.1)	2.2	(0.1)	
	Palestinian Authority	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	
	Panama*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	11.7	(4.7) †	0.1	(3.9) †	-12.8	(5.3) †	-8.6	(4.5) †	
	Paraguay	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	
	Peru	-7.3	(3.5)	-1.8	(3.8)	2.5	(4.2)	-2.4	(4.2)	1.3	(3.2)	2.2	(3.5)	2.7	(3.8)	-6.1	(3.8)	
	Philippines	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	23.2	(4.4)	10.9	(4.0)	7.8	(4.8)	7.4	(4.2)	
	Qatar	-0.9	(0.1)	1.9	(0.1)	5.3	(0.1)	1.0	(0.1)	5.0	(0.1)	4.8	(0.1)	4.9	(0.1)	2.6	(0.1)	
	Romania	7.2	(3.0)	6.8	(2.5)	0.1	(5.0)	-21.4	(4.2)	3.8	(3.4)	5.6	(2.8)	9.7	(4.7)	-9.4	(3.5)	
	Saudi Arabia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	5.7	(5.0)	-0.7	(4.8)	6.0	(5.3)	-1.7	(4.6)	
	Serbia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	16.1	(2.9)	6.5	(2.3)	-3.9	(4.1)	1.3	(1.6)	
	Singapore	15.4	(0.9)	-4.7	(0.5)	-3.3	(0.9)	-4.5	(0.7)	20.8	(0.9)	1.5	(0.5)	2.2	(0.7)	-1.0	(0.2)	
	Chinese Taipei	-10.0	(4.6)	1.2	(4.1)	-16.2	(4.8)	-3.8	(3.3)	9.8	(4.2)	4.0	(4.4)	3.4	(4.1)	0.0	(2.9)	
	Thailand	-9.7	(5.7)	-13.6	(4.4)	-18.9	(5.1)	-13.6	(4.0)	5.6	(5.4)	-1.5	(3.4)	-4.6	(4.4)	-7.9	(3.7)	
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	
	United Arab Emirates	-11.3	(2.6)	-11.8	(2.4)	-11.2	(2.1)	-9.2	(2.1)	-0.7	(1.5)	-8.9	(1.4)	-4.8	(1.3)	-4.5	(1.3)	
	Uruguay	-4.7	(4.0)	-1.5	(3.6)	4.3	(4.0)	12.4	(4.0)	11.6	(4.2)	1.7	(4.1)	6.2	(4.4)	10.7	(4.3)	
	Uzbekistan	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	
	Viet Nam	13.7	(5.8)	8.2	(4.8)	1.9	(5.4)	-4.6	(5.1)	18.6	(5.8)	14.2	(4.8)	5.8	(6.2)	1.1	(5.3)	

Notes: Values that are statistically significant are indicated in bold (see Annex A3).

# Table II.B1.5.46. Student behaviour when using digital devices [1/6]

In hours; results based on students' reports

						Percentage of	of students w	ho feel or act	the followin	ig way:			
		-	furn off notif on n	ications from ny digital dev	social netw ices during	orks and app class	s	1	furn off noti on my	fications from digital device	social netwo s when I go t	orks and app to sleep	S
		Never or almost never	Less than half of the time	About half of the time	More than half of the time	All or almost all of the time	Not applicable	Never or almost never	Less than half of the time	About half of the time	More than half of the time	All or almost all of the time	Not applicable
_		% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.
5	Australia*	18.9 (0.4)	8.1 (0.3)	9.4 (0.3)	8.6 (0.3)	48.5 (0.6)	6.6 (0.4)	23.5 (0.5)	8.4 (0.3)	8.6 (0.3)	8.3 (0.3)	47.2 (0.7)	4.0 (0.2)
ö	Austria	28.7 (0.7)	9.3 (0.4)	6.6 (0.4)	7.5 (0.4)	39.4 (0.9)	8.5 (0.4)	30.6 (0.8)	6.8 (0.3)	5.2 (0.4)	6.6 (0.3)	41.4 (0.8)	9.5 (0.4)
	Belgium	31.5 (0.7)	7.5 (0.4)	6.0 (0.3)	6.6 (0.3)	45.9 (0.8)	2.5 (0.2)	32.5 (0.8)	6.8 (0.3)	5.5 (0.3)	6.4 (0.3)	45.5 (0.8)	3.2 (0.2)
	Canada*	23.4 (0.5) †	10.0 (0.3) †	10.7 (0.4)†	9.6 (0.3) 1	42.2 (0.6) †	4.1 (0.2)†	27.0 (0.5)†	8.3 (0.3) †	8.0 (0.4) †	7.8 (0.3)†	45.5 (0.5) †	3.4 (0.2) †
	Chile	28.4 (0.9) †	11.1 (0.6) †	10.5 (0.4)†	10.2 (0.4) 1	36.0 (0.9) †	3.8 (0.4)†	31.1 (0.8)†	8.4 (0.4) †	7.5 (0.4) †	9.4 (0.5)†	39.5 (0.8) †	4.1 (0.3) †
	Colombia	25.8 (0.8) †	9.4 (0.4) †	5.9 (0.3)†	7.5 (0.4) 1	40.2 (0.9) †	11.3 (0.7)†	30.1 (0.7)†	8.6 (0.4) †	5.9 (0.3) †	7.1 (0.4)†	40.0 (0.8) †	8.3 (0.5) †
	Costa Rica	31.9 (1.0) †	11.3 (0.6) †	10.1 (0.5)†	8.9 (0.4) 1	33.8 (1.0) †	4.0 (0.4) †	36.6 (0.8) †	7.2 (0.4) †	8.3 (0.6) †	6.2 (0.4)†	37.8 (1.0) †	4.0 (0.3) †
	Czech Republic	23.0 (0.7)	8.1 (0.3)	7.3 (0.4)	6.6 (0.3)	49.5 (0.8)	5.5 (0.4)	32.1 (0.6)	7.2 (0.3)	6.9 (0.3)	6.2 (0.3)	43.5 (0.7)	4.2 (0.3)
	Denmark*	22.9 (0.6)	7.6 (0.5)	6.1 (0.4)	8.9 (0.5)	48.6 (1.0)	5.9 (0.4)	23.8 (0.7)	6.6 (0.4)	5.2 (0.4)	7.4 (0.5)	53.2 (0.9)	3.9 (0.3)
	Estonia	40.6 (0.8)	10.0 (0.4)	7.6 (0.4)	7.2 (0.4)	32.1 (0.7)	2.5 (0.4)	35.9 (0.7)	9.4 (0.4)	7.0 (0.4)	7.9 (0.4)	37.9 (0.8)	2.0 (0.3)
	Finland	34.3 (0.7)	9.7 (0.4)	9.1 (0.4)	8.0 (0.3)	35.4 (0.7)	3.5 (0.2)	29.3 (0.8)	8.4 (0.4)	7.5 (0.4)	7.3 (0.4)	44.2 (0.8)	3.2 (0.2)
	France	27.3 (0.7)	7.4 (0.4)	6.9 (0.4)	7.5 (0.4)	47.8 (0.8)	3.0 (0.2)	31.2 (0.8)	5.7 (0.3)	4.6 (0.3)	6.4 (0.4)	48.7 (0.7)	3.4 (0.2)
	Germany	25.7 (0.6) †	6.6 (0.4) †	4.1 (0.3)†	6.2 (0.4) 1	52.6 (0.9) †	4.7 (0.4)†	35.7 (0.9)†	5.7 (0.4) †	4.1 (0.3) †	5.7 (0.4)†	42.5 (0.8) †	6.2 (0.4) †
	Greece	25.9 (0.8)	10.7 (0.4)	9.3 (0.4)	8.3 (0.5)	40.6 (1.0)	5.2 (0.4)	27.9 (0.8)	8.9 (0.5)	6.8 (0.3)	7.5 (0.4)	43.4 (0.9)	5.5 (0.3)
	Hungary	31.2 (0.7)	10.0 (0.5)	6.3 (0.4)	8.3 (0.5)	42.2 (0.8)	2.0 (0.2)	40.1 (0.8)	9.2 (0.4)	4.5 (0.3)	6.9 (0.4)	37.8 (0.9)	1.4 (0.2)
	Iceland	28.8 (0.9) †	10.8 (0.6) †	8.3 (0.5)†	9.2 (0.6) 1	38.2 (1.1) †	4.6 (0.5)†	26.0 (0.8)	8.3 (0.6)	6.7 (0.5)	8.2 (0.5)	47.0 (0.9)	3.8 (0.4)
	Ireland*	14.7 (0.7)	6.0 (0.4)	6.9 (0.4)	7.3 (0.5)	62.5 (1.1)	2.6 (0.4)	24.3 (0.8)	8.2 (0.4)	7.9 (0.4)	9.1 (0.4)	49.1 (0.9)	1.4 (0.2)
	Israel	28.1 (0.9) †	11.6 (0.5) †	8.6 (0.5)†	7.2 (0.5) 1	38.1 (1.2) †	6.5 (0.4)†	28.4 (0.9)†	9.2 (0.5) †	7.4 (0.4) †	6.6 (0.4)†	41.7 (0.9) †	6.8 (0.5) †
	Italy	26.9 (0.8)	9.0 (0.4)	6.2 (0.4)	7.3 (0.4)	49.4 (1.0)	1.3 (0.2)	32.1 (0.7)	7.7 (0.4)	5.2 (0.4)	6.8 (0.3)	46.6 (0.7)	1.6 (0.2)
	Japan	13.0 (0.6)	1.5 (0.2)	1.4 (0.2)	1.7 (0.2)	74.0 (0.9)	8.3 (0.6)	43.6 (0.9)	3.1 (0.3)	3.6 (0.3)	3.6 (0.3)	40.1 (0.9)	6.0 (0.3)
	Korea	8.8 (0.6)	3.6 (0.3)	6.2 (0.5)	5.7 (0.4)	66.4 (0.7)	9.4 (1.0)	24.6 (0.6)	6.7 (0.4)	9.5 (0.7)	7.7 (0.5)	46.8 (0.7)	4.7 (0.4)
	Latvia*	25.3 (0.8)	13.0 (0.5)	9.7 (0.5)	8.9 (0.4)	40.8 (0.9)	2.3 (0.2)	31.0 (0.7)	10.7 (0.5)	7.4 (0.5)	7.2 (0.5)	41.3 (0.8)	2.4 (0.2)
	Lithuania	29.9 (0.6)	12.7 (0.5)	9.0 (0.4)	9.8 (0.4)	34.7 (0.7)	3.9 (0.3)	32.7 (0.7)	9.9 (0.4)	7.1 (0.4)	8.3 (0.4)	38.3 (0.7)	3.7 (0.3)
	Mexico	23.4 (0.7)	10.9 (0.6)	8.9 (0.4)	8.4 (0.4)	43.0 (1.1)	5.4 (0.7)	33.3 (0.8)	9.3 (0.5)	7.1 (0.4)	7.0 (0.4)	38.7 (0.8)	4.7 (0.3)
	Netherlands*	28.3 (1.1)	8.4 (0.5)	7.3 (0.3)	7.2 (0.4)	45.5 (1.2)	3.3 (0.3)	28.8 (0.9)	6.4 (0.5)	4.3 (0.3)	6.1 (0.5)	50.4 (1.0)	4.0 (0.3)
	New Zealand*	24.5 (0.7)	10.9 (0.5)	11.4 (0.6)	9.1 (0.6)	39.6 (0.9)	4.6 (0.4)	26.4 (0.8)	8.4 (0.5)	7.8 (0.5)	7.4 (0.5)	46.3 (0.8)	3.8 (0.3)
	Norway	22.9 (0.8) †	5.8 (0.3) †	5.9 (0.3) †	6.6 (0.4)	49.3 (1.0) †	9.5 (0.6) †	27.5 (0.6)	6.6 (0.3)	5.9 (0.4)	7.0 (0.3)	45.7 (0.7)	7.4 (0.4)
	Poland	32.3 (0.8)	11.2 (0.4)	6.4 (0.4)	7.1 (0.4)	38.1 (0.9)	4.8 (0.4)	35.2 (0.7)	7.7 (0.5)	5.4 (0.3)	5.9 (0.4)	40.9 (0.8)	4.9 (0.4)
	Portugal	21.4 (0.7)	6.4 (0.4)	5.2 (0.3)	7.4 (0.4)	55.7 (0.8)	3.9 (0.3)	30.8 (0.7)	5.4 (0.3)	3.7 (0.3)	5.4 (0.3)	49.8 (0.7)	4.9 (0.3)
	Slovak Republic	31.9 (1.0)	11.9 (0.5)	7.5 (0.4)	6.8 (0.4)	38.0 (1.0)	3.9 (0.3)	35.5 (0.7)	8.0 (0.5)	4.4 (0.3)	4.0 (0.3)	43.8 (0.8)	4.2 (0.3)
	Slovenia	24.8 (0.7)	10.5 (0.5)	8.9 (0.5)	8.8 (0.5)	41.0 (0.7)	6.0 (0.4)	26.6 (0.7)	8.0 (0.4)	6.6 (0.5)	8.5 (0.5)	45.9 (0.8)	4.3 (0.4)
	Spain	21.4 (0.5)	5.1 (0.2)	4.2 (0.2)	4.4 (0.2)	58.3 (0.6)	6.7 (0.3)	32.1 (0.5)	6.1 (0.3)	5.3 (0.2)	6.0 (0.2)	47.6 (0.5)	2.9 (0.2)
	Sweden	21.6 (0.8)	8.2 (0.4)	7.5 (0.4)	8.6 (0.5)	47.6 (0.9)	6.4 (0.6)	30.0 (0.7)	8.7 (0.4)	7.7 (0.3)	8.7 (0.4)	41.6 (0.7)	3.2 (0.3)
	Switzerland	24.0 (0.8)	6.4 (0.3)	5.4 (0.4)	7.8 (0.5)	51.7 (1.1)	4.7 (0.3)	28.7 (0.7)	6.0 (0.3)	5.0 (0.3)	7.1 (0.4)	48.2 (0.9)	5.1 (0.4)
	Türkiye	15.4 (0.6)	8.3 (0.4)	10.0 (0.4)	18.8 (0.5)	39.6 (0.8)	7.9 (0.4)	19.4 (0.6)	11.4 (0.4)	12.9 (0.5)	20.1 (0.5)	32.1 (0.6)	4.0 (0.3)
	United Kingdon <del>t</del>	21.8 (0.8) †	8.4 (0.4) †	7.5 (0.4) †	7.3 (0.5) 1	50.6 (1.2) †	4.3 (0.6) †	30.6 (0.8) †	9.0 (0.5) †	9.0 (0.4) †	8.7 (0.4) †	39.9 (0.7) †	2.8 (0.4) †
	United States*	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m
	OECD average	25.2 (0.1)	8.8 (0.1)	7.5 (0.1)	7.9 (0.1)	45.5 (0.2)	5.1 (0.1)	30.4 (0.1)	7.8 (0.1)	6.5 (0.1)	7.4 (0.1)	43.6 (0.1)	4.3 (0.1)

### Table II.B1.5.46. Student behaviour when using digital devices [2/6]

In hours; results based on students' reports

									I	Perce	ntage o	fstud	lents wl	ho fee	el or act	the f	ollowin	g way	<i>ı</i> :						
			Turn off notifications from social networks and apps on my digital devices during class       Never or almost     Less than half of     More than About half     All or half of     Nev alm stall       never     the time     of the time     the time     of the time     noticable														off notif on my d	ficatio i digita	ns from I devices	socia s whe	l netwo n I go t	orks an o slee	nd app: p	5	
		Never almos never	or t	Less ha the	s than alf of time	Abo of th	ut half ie time	More ha the	e than If of time	A almo of th	ll or ost all e time	N appl	lot icable	Nev aln ne	ver or nost ever	Les ha the	s than If of time	Abo of th	ut half ne time	More ha the	e than If of time	Al almo of th	ll or ost all e time	N appl	lot icable
_		% S.	Ε.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ers	Albania	30.4 (0.	9) †	10.7	(0.6) †	8.2	(0.5)†	5.9	(0.4) †	32.1	(0.9) †	12.7	(0.7)†	29.7	(0.9)†	15.2	(0.5) †	12.5	(0.6) †	8.6	(0.5)†	26.6	(0.8) †	7.4	(0.5) †
artn	Argentina	37.6 (0.	9) †	14.0	(0.6) †	9.1	(0.4) †	5.8	(0.4) †	29.6	(0.9) †	3.9	(0.3)†	45.2	(0.8)†	11.0	(0.4) †	6.9	(0.4) †	5.7	(0.3)†	28.2	(0.7) †	3.2	(0.3) †
۵.	Baku (Azerbaijan)	25.9 (0.	3) †	10.9	(0.5) †	7.1	(0.5)†	6.9	(0.4) †	38.7	(0.9) †	10.4	(0.6)†	32.4	(0.8)†	10.6	(0.5) †	7.3	(0.4) †	6.7	(0.4)†	35.9	(0.9) †	7.1	(0.4) †
	Brazil	30.4 (0.	7) †	9.6	(0.4) †	6.8	(0.3)†	6.0	(0.3) †	40.3	(0.8) †	7.0	(0.3)†	40.4	(0.6)†	9.1	(0.4) †	5.5	(0.3) †	5.3	(0.3)†	33.9	(0.6) †	5.8	(0.3) †
	Brunei Darussalam	19.9 (0.	5)	7.4	(0.3)	7.5	(0.4)	5.4	(0.4)	29.6	(0.7)	30.2	(0.7)	29.7	(0.6)	11.7	(0.4)	9.8	(0.4)	7.5	(0.4)	37.2	(0.7)	4.2	(0.3)
	Bulgaria	32.4 (0.	3) †	15.1	(0.7) †	8.9	(0.5)†	9.7	(0.5) †	31.0	(0.9) †	2.9	(0.3)†	34.8	(0.8)†	14.0	(0.7) †	7.6	(0.4) †	8.6	(0.5)†	31.8	(0.8) †	3.4	(0.3) †
	Cambodia	m	n	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Croatia	24.1 (0.	7)	10.2	(0.5)	9.2	(0.4)	8.3	(0.4)	45.8	(0.9)	2.4	(0.2)	35.0	(0.8)	9.6	(0.5)	9.0	(0.4)	7.9	(0.5)	36.0	(0.8)	2.4	(0.3)
	Cyprus	35.0 (0.	5)†	10.7	(0.5) †	7.8	(0.4) †	7.4	(0.4) †	32.7	(0.7) †	6.3	(0.4)†	33.2	(0.8)†	12.9	(0.5) †	7.5	(0.4) †	8.5	(0.4)†	32.4	(0.6) †	5.5	(0.4) †
	Dominican Republic	28.8 (0.	3) †	10.5	(0.5) †	5.8	(0.4) †	4.9	(0.3) †	35.6	(1.0) †	14.5	(0.9)†	33.3	(0.8) †	10.6	(0.5) †	6.0	(0.4) †	6.1	(0.3)†	36.6	(0.8) †	7.3	(0.4) †
	El Salvador	25.0 (0.	3) †	10.2	(0.5) †	6.0	(0.4) †	4.8	(0.4) †	38.0	(1.2) †	16.1	(1.1)†	31.4	(0.8) †	10.8	(0.6) †	5.9	(0.4) †	5.4	(0.3)†	39.1	(1.0) †	7.4	(0.4) †
	Georgia	29.0 (0.	3) †	14.7	(0.6) †	8.1	(0.5) †	9.2	(0.4) †	32.8	(1.2) †	6.1	(0.4)†	32.8	(0.7) †	13.6	(0.5) †	7.1	(0.4) †	9.1	(0.5)†	31.6	(0.9) †	5.9	(0.4) †
	Guatemala	m	n	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Hong Kong (China)*	17.6 (0.	7)	6.2	(0.4)	6.3	(0.4)	7.9	(0.6)	49.9	(1.2)	12.1	(0.8)	35.8	(0.7)	7.4	(0.3)	6.9	(0.4)	7.7	(0.4)	35.6	(0.8)	6.6	(0.4)
	Indonesia	26.6 (1.	1)	13.3	(0.7)	10.5	(0.5)	5.2	(0.3)	38.7	(1.2)	5.8	(0.5)	31.0	(0.8)	9.9	(0.5)	7.1	(0.4)	3.7	(0.3)	41.6	(1.0)	6.8	(0.5)
	Jamaica*	17.9 (0.	9) †	7.7	(0.7) †	8.5	(0.5)†	6.6	(0.6) †	49.7	(1.5) †	9.5	(0.8)†	34.4	(0.9)†	11.2	(0.7) †	10.6	(0.8) †	7.5	(0.6)†	30.9	(0.8) †	5.4	(0.5) †
	Jordan	38.5 (0.	7) †	7.3	(0.4) †	5.6	(0.4) †	5.1	(0.3) †	20.0	(0.8) †	23.4	(0.8)†	30.8	(0.6) †	13.4	(0.7) †	10.5	(0.4) †	7.5	(0.3)†	25.2	(0.8) †	12.5	(0.5) †
	Kazakhstan	25.6 (0.	5)	13.8	(0.4)	9.1	(0.3)	7.8	(0.3)	25.6	(0.5)	17.9	(0.5)	27.1	(0.4)	12.7	(0.3)	9.4	(0.3)	8.9	(0.3)	28.3	(0.5)	13.5	(0.3)
	Kosovo	35.7 (0.	3) †	12.4	(0.6) †	10.9	(0.5) †	7.0	(0.4) †	26.7	(0.7) †	7.4	(0.4) †	33.2	(0.8) †	15.8	(0.6) †	13.1	(0.6) †	8.4	(0.5)†	23.9	(0.7) †	5.6	(0.4) †
	Macao (China)	15.6 (0.	<u>5)</u>	5.2	(0.4)	4.6	(0.4)	6.6	(0.5)	54.0	(0.9)	14.0	(0.6)	32.5	(0.9)	8.4	(0.5)	7.3	(0.4)	8.9	(0.5)	39.1	(0.9)	3.8	(0.3)
	Malaysia	29.3 (0.	3)	8.0	(0.3)	6.0	(0.3)	4.6	(0.3)	20.1	(1.0)	31.9	(0.8)	28.8	(0.7)	15.2	(0.6)	10.3	(0.4)	8.5	(0.4)	29.0	(0.8)	8.2	(0.4)
	Malta	17.8 (0.	3) †	4.1	(0.4) †	5.2	(0.5) †	2.6	(0.3) †	27.6	(0.8) †	42.7	(0.8) †	36.4	(1.0) †	9.0	(0.6) †	7.4	(0.5) †	5.8	(0.5)†	36.3	(1.1) †	5.2	(0.5) †
	Moldova	20.6 (0.	7)	13.4	(0.5)	9.9	(0.4)	7.8	(0.4)	43.0	(0.8)	5.3	(0.3)	27.7	(0.7)	13.6	(0.5)	8.6	(0.4)	8.1	(0.4)	36.4	(0.8)	5.6	(0.4)
	Mongolia	23.7 (0.	5)	13.2	(0.6)	11.3	(0.5)	12.2	(0.4)	31.0	(0.8)	8.6	(0.4)	23.2	(0.6)	11.2	(0.5)	9.4	(0.4)	9.9	(0.4)	38.6	(0.8)	7.7	(0.3)
	Montenegro	26.6 (0.	5) †	11.3	(0.5) †	9.3	(0.5) †	9.4	(0.5) †	39.3	(0.8) †	4.0	(0.3) †	32.3	(0.8) †	10.8	(0.6) †	8.8	(0.5) †	7.8	(0.4) †	36.1	(1.0) †	4.2	(0.3) †
	Morocco	32.8 (0.	9) †	9.4	(0.6) †	5.4	(0.4) †	5.3	(0.3) †	37.2	(1.3) †	9.9	(0.5) †	30.5	(0.7) †	12.1	(0.7) †	8.6	(0.4) †	7.1	(0.4) †	34.2	(1.1) †	7.5	(0.4) †
	North Macedonia	28.5 (0.	5) †	12.8	(0.6) †	8.9	(0.4) †	9.1	(0.4) †	37.1	(0.7) †	3.5	(0.2) †	32.2	(0.7) †	13.7	(0.4) †	9.4	(0.5) †	8.8	(0.4) †	32.0	(0.8) †	3.8	(0.3) †
	Palestinian Authority	39.2 (0.	7) †	8.6	(0.5) †	5.3	(0.3) †	3.5	(0.2) †	19.1	(0.8) †	24.3	(0.9) †	30.4	(0.8) †	13.3	(0.5) †	9.4	(0.5) †	7.2	(0.4) †	26.6	(0.8) †	13.1	(0.5) †
	Panama*	19.1 (0.	9) †	8.4	(0.6) †	5.1	(0.5) †	5.5	(0.5) †	50.7	(1.3) †	11.3	(1.0) †	28.7	(1.0) †	9.0	(0.6) †	5.4	(0.4) †	6.1	(0.5)†	43.6	(1.1) †	7.1	(0.5) †
	Paraguav	m	, . m	m	m m	m	m	m	m m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m m	m	m
	Peru	17.8 (0.	7)	6.2	(0.3)	4.2	(0.3)	5.2	(0.3)	43.3	(1.1)	23.2	(1.1)	24.0	(0.7)	8.9	(0.5)	6.3	(0.4)	7.5	(0.3)	43.3	(0.9)	10.0	(0.5)
	Philippines	21.2 (0.	, 7)	15.8	(0.6)	12.0	(0.5)	7.6	(0.3)	37.9	(0.9)	5.5	(0.3)	22.0	(0.6)	16.4	(0.6)	13.1	(0.5)	9.5	(0.4)	34.5	(0.7)	4.5	(0.3)
	Qatar	30.5 (0.	, 3) †	7.4	(0.5) †	6.0	(0.4) †	5.1	(0.4) †	25.7	(0.8) †	25.3	(0.8) †	29.2	(0.8) †	12.0	(0.5) †	9.0	(0.5) †	7.8	(0.4) †	31.8	(0.7) †	10.3	(0.4) †
	Romania	20.9 (0.	5)	10.8	(0.5)	7.3	(0.3)	7.9	(0.4)	46.5	(0.9)	6.7	(0.3)	28.1	(0.7)	9.7	(0.5)	7.6	(0.4)	6.5	(0.3)	38.9	(0.7)	9.2	(0.4)
	Saudi Arabia	38.0 (0.	7)	10.0	(0.4)	10.5	(0.4)	7.8	(0.4)	22.3	(0.7)	11.4	(0.5)	36.6	(0.7)	9.4	(0.4)	8.6	(0.4)	7.8	(0.4)	31.1	(0.6)	6.6	(0.3)
	Serbia	21.3 (0	, 5)	8.8	(0.4)	6.5	(0.3)	83	(0.4)	52.2	(10)	28	(0.3)	32.5	(0.8)	9.8	(0.5)	6.6	(0.4)	74	(0.3)	40.6	(0.9)	31	(0.3)
	Singapore	19.2 (0	5) 5)	6.7	(0.3)	8.0	(0.4)	8.1	(0.3)	53.3	(0.6)	4.6	(0.3)	28.2	(0.6)	71	(0.3)	7.3	(0.4)	6.8	(0.3)	47.7	(0.7)	2.9	(0.2)
	Chinese Taipei	18.8 (0.	3)	5.9	(0.5)	62	(0.4)	72	(0.4)	47 7	(12)	14.2	(0.8)	31.3	(0.8)	66	(0.4)	5.9	(0.4)	73	(0.5)	40.8	(0.9)	81	(0.4)
	Thailand	24.2 (0	7)	17.8	(0.6)	12.0	(0.5)	91	(0.4)	28.6	(0.9)	8.3	(0.6)	28.0	(0.8)	17 1	(0.6)	11 4	(0.5)	8.2	(0.4)	27.0	(0.8)	8.3	(0.5)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	27.8 (1	4) +	12 7	(0.9) +	10.0	(0.7) +	8.9	(0.5) +	36.5	(1.3) +	4 1	(0.4) +	317	(0.9) +	12 1	(0.9) +	6.9	(0.6) +	7 1	(0.5) +	38.4	(1.4) +	37	(0.4) +
	United Arab Emirates	20.2 (0	5) +	73	(0.3) +	7.8	(02) +	69	(0.3) +	41 2	(0.5) +	16.7	(0,3) +	24.4	(0.4) +	117	(0.4) +	10.2	(0.3) +	8.6	(0.3) +	37.8	(0.5) +	74	(0.2) +
	Uruquay	28.6 (0)	7) +	9.9	(0.5) +	6.8	(0.4) +	6.0	(0.3) +	45.2	(0.8) +	3.5	(0.3) +	36.3	(0.8) +	74	(0.4) +	54	(0.3) +	6.1	(0.4) +	40.9	(0.8) +	3.8	(0.3) +
	Uzbekistan	33.9 (0.	3)	8.6	(0.4)	34	(0.3)	3.6	(0.3)	18 1	(0.7)	32.4	(0.8)	35.2	(0.7)	10.3	(0.4)	4.8	(0.3)	4.5	(0.3)	15.0	(0.6)	30.1	(0.9)
	Viet Nam	m	n n	m	() m	m	m	m	() m	m	() m	m	m	m	m	m	(,) m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	,, m
		1								· · ·								· · ·							

## Table II.B1.5.46. Student behaviour when using digital devices [3/6]

In hours; results based on students' reports

									I	Perce	ntage o	fstuc	lents w	ho fe	el or act	the f	ollowin	g way	<i>ı</i> :						
		Ke	ep my d	digita	l device:	s nea	r me to	answ	er mess	ages	when I	am ho		Hav	e my	digital	device or sea	es open arch for	in cla infor	ss so I mation	can ta	ke note	S		
		Nev alm ne	ver or nost ever	Les ha the	sthan If of time	Abo of th	uthalf ietime	More ha the	ethan Ifof time	A almo of th	ll or ost all ie time	N appl	lot icable	Nev alm ne	ver or nost ever	Less ha the	s than If of time	Abo of th	uthalf netime	More ha the	ethan Ifof time	A almo of th	llor ostall etime	N appl	lot icable
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
5	Australia*	5.1	(0.2)	6.6	(0.3)	12.9	(0.4)	20.1	(0.5)	53.1	(0.5)	2.2	(0.1)	23.6	(0.6)	14.9	(0.4)	17.9	(0.5)	18.6	(0.5)	22.0	(0.6)	3.0	(0.2)
В	Austria	6.3	(0.4)	6.5	(0.4)	11.7	(0.5)	19.0	(0.6)	49.7	(0.8)	6.8	(0.4)	25.6	(0.7)	13.9	(0.5)	11.1	(0.5)	13.0	(0.5)	25.1	(0.7)	11.3	(0.5)
	Belgium	8.5	(0.4)	8.0	(0.3)	11.8	(0.4)	18.2	(0.5)	51.7	(0.8)	1.8	(0.2)	50.3	(0.9)	17.3	(0.5)	7.5	(0.4)	6.3	(0.4)	13.5	(0.6)	5.2	(0.3)
	Canada*	6.9	(0.3) †	5.9	(0.3) †	13.5	(0.4)†	19.0	(0.5) †	52.5	(0.6) †	2.2	(0.2)†	28.1	(0.6)†	22.5	(0.5) †	17.1	(0.4) †	13.6	(0.4)†	15.9	(0.5) †	2.8	(0.2) †
	Chile	7.7	(0.4) †	6.8	(0.4) †	11.8	(0.5)†	17.4	(0.6) †	54.9	(1.0) †	1.4	(0.2) †	22.7	(0.8)†	17.7	(0.7) †	17.1	(0.6) †	13.2	(0.5)†	25.4	(0.8) †	3.9	(0.3) †
	Colombia	14.8	(0.6) †	12.4	(0.5) †	12.1	(0.5)†	14.4	(0.6) †	39.7	(0.9) †	6.7	(0.5)†	35.9	(0.8)†	16.4	(0.6) †	11.0	(0.5) †	9.7	(0.5)†	15.1	(0.5) †	11.8	(0.7) †
	Costa Rica	10.4	(0.6) †	9.9	(0.5) †	13.7	(0.6)†	13.7	(0.5) †	49.9	(0.8) †	2.4	(0.3)†	22.0	(0.8)†	19.3	(0.8) †	17.8	(0.6) †	13.1	(0.7)†	23.9	(0.7) †	3.9	(0.3) †
	Czech Republic	5.1	(0.4)	6.9	(0.3)	10.7	(0.3)	17.2	(0.5)	57.8	(0.7)	2.3	(0.2)	36.1	(0.8)	18.8	(0.5)	11.4	(0.4)	8.4	(0.4)	17.4	(0.5)	8.0	(0.4)
	Denmark*	5.0	(0.4)	4.0	(0.3)	8.4	(0.5)	19.3	(0.7)	60.1	(0.9)	3.2	(0.3)	19.2	(0.8)	13.8	(0.6)	15.7	(0.6)	22.5	(0.8)	24.4	(0.9)	4.4	(0.4)
	Estonia	6.8	(0.4)	9.4	(0.4)	14.7	(0.5)	21.8	(0.6)	45.6	(0.8)	1.6	(0.2)	41.8	(0.9)	29.2	(0.6)	12.2	(0.6)	6.8	(0.4)	7.6	(0.5)	2.5	(0.3)
	Finland	6.3	(0.3)	6.8	(0.4)	13.0	(0.4)	19.4	(0.5)	52.2	(0.7)	2.3	(0.2)	38.8	(0.9)	29.1	(0.7)	13.2	(0.5)	6.6	(0.4)	6.3	(0.3)	6.0	(0.3)
	France	8.2	(0.4)	6.4	(0.3)	12.2	(0.5)	17.3	(0.5)	54.1	(0.7)	1.8	(0.2)	53.7	(1.0)	14.7	(0.5)	7.6	(0.4)	6.9	(0.4)	14.3	(0.6)	2.9	(0.3)
	Germany	5.0	(0.3) †	6.9	(0.3) †	10.7	(0.5)†	21.9	(0.8) †	53.4	(0.9) †	2.0	(0.2) †	35.4	(0.8) †	12.2	(0.6) †	8.5	(0.5) †	8.3	(0.5)†	23.6	(0.8) †	12.0	(0.6) †
	Greece	8.3	(0.4)	10.6	(0.4)	15.0	(0.5)	17.7	(0.6)	44.1	(0.8)	4.3	(0.3)	55.0	(0.9)	10.1	(0.5)	6.3	(0.4)	4.2	(0.3)	6.9	(0.4)	17.4	(0.5)
	Hungary	5.4	(0.3)	10.2	(0.5)	12.1	(0.5)	18.8	(0.6)	52.3	(0.8)	1.3	(0.2)	40.0	(1.1)	26.2	(0.7)	11.7	(0.5)	8.2	(0.5)	12.2	(0.5)	1.6	(0.2)
	Iceland	10.7	(0.6)	7.6	(0.6)	12.0	(0.7)	17.7	(0.7)	48.7	(1.0)	3.3	(0.4)	26.9	(0.8)	23.2	(0.8)	17.5	(0.8)	14.0	(0.7)	13.4	(0.7)	5.0	(0.4)
	Ireland*	4.3	(0.3)	4.1	(0.3)	12.3	(0.4)	19.3	(0.7)	59.2	(0.8)	0.9	(0.1)	49.3	(1.8)	20.2	(0.9)	10.0	(0.7)	7.1	(0.7)	10.2	(0.8)	3.1	(0.3)
	Israel	6.6	(0.4) †	9.8	(0.5) †	12.5	(0.5)†	18.2	(0.7) †	49.5	(0.9) †	3.4	(0.3)†	37.8	(0.9)†	19.6	(0.7) †	12.5	(0.5) †	8.7	(0.5)†	12.6	(0.7) †	8.8	(0.6) †
	Italy	6.0	(0.4)	6.8	(0.4)	13.0	(0.5)	20.1	(0.5)	53.2	(0.8)	0.9	(0.1)	41.8	(1.1)	20.5	(0.7)	13.0	(0.5)	10.1	(0.5)	11.6	(0.6)	3.0	(0.3)
	Japan	14.5	(0.6)	7.7	(0.5)	13.0	(0.5)	13.4	(0.6)	48.8	(1.0)	2.6	(0.3)	46.5	(1.2)	12.4	(0.7)	9.5	(0.6)	6.7	(0.4)	14.4	(0.8)	10.6	(0.7)
	Korea	10.6	(0.6)	9.6	(0.7)	17.6	(0.7)	22.1	(0.9)	37.6	(1.2)	2.6	(0.3)	42.8	(1.1)	15.0	(0.8)	12.7	(0.8)	9.0	(0.5)	10.9	(0.8)	9.7	(1.0)
	Latvia*	5.3	(0.4)	8.3	(0.4)	14.1	(0.6)	19.2	(0.6)	51.3	(0.8)	1.8	(0.2)	29.3	(0.9)	27.5	(0.8)	14.8	(0.5)	10.1	(0.5)	15.5	(0.6)	2.9	(0.2)
	Lithuania	9.2	(0.4)	9.5	(0.4)	12.8	(0.4)	19.3	(0.6)	46.5	(0.7)	2.6	(0.2)	34.5	(0.8)	20.0	(0.5)	13.1	(0.5)	12.7	(0.4)	15.0	(0.6)	4.8	(0.3)
	Mexico	12.3	(0.5)	11.3	(0.5)	12.9	(0.5)	16.3	(0.7)	44.7	(0.8)	2.5	(0.3)	29.1	(0.9)	19.9	(0.7)	13.1	(0.6)	11.0	(0.5)	20.3	(0.7)	6.5	(0.6)
	Netherlands*	8.7	(0.6)	6.1	(0.4)	8.8	(0.5)	17.9	(0.7)	56.4	(1.0)	2.2	(0.3)	33.8	(1.4)	21.4	(0.9)	14.8	(0.7)	11.8	(0.6)	14.1	(0.9)	4.1	(0.5)
	New Zealand*	7.3	(0.4)	6.6	(0.4)	13.5	(0.6)	18.9	(0.7)	51.4	(0.9)	2.3	(0.2)	20.0	(1.0)	18.7	(0.8)	21.7	(0.7)	16.9	(0.8)	20.3	(0.9)	2.4	(0.3)
	Norway	8.9	(0.4) †	4.1	(0.3) †	7.7	(0.5)†	13.1	(0.5) †	60.6	(0.8) †	5.5	(0.3)†	30.8	(0.8)†	15.0	(0.6) †	15.2	(0.6) †	13.4	(0.6)†	17.3	(0.7) †	8.3	(0.4) †
	Poland	7.9	(0.4)	12.4	(0.5)	14.1	(0.5)	18.2	(0.6)	44.8	(0.8)	2.6	(0.2)	31.4	(0.8)	20.3	(0.6)	10.6	(0.4)	10.6	(0.5)	20.8	(0.7)	6.4	(0.4)
	Portugal	5.1	(0.3)	5.8	(0.3)	12.4	(0.4)	20.9	(0.6)	53.6	(0.7)	2.1	(0.2)	37.7	(0.9)	17.6	(0.6)	10.1	(0.5)	9.1	(0.4)	17.2	(0.8)	8.2	(0.4)
	Slovak Republic	8.8	(0.5)	7.4	(0.5)	7.9	(0.4)	9.0	(0.4)	63.0	(1.0)	3.8	(0.3)	35.3	(1.0)	17.6	(0.8)	13.2	(0.6)	9.4	(0.5)	19.5	(0.8)	5.2	(0.4)
	Slovenia	6.9	(0.4)	9.3	(0.4)	17.6	(0.7)	24.7	(0.8)	39.7	(0.8)	1.7	(0.2)	42.2	(0.9)	21.2	(0.7)	11.3	(0.5)	8.2	(0.5)	10.9	(0.5)	6.3	(0.4)
	Spain	7.6	(0.3)	9.7	(0.3)	15.5	(0.4)	19.5	(0.4)	46.3	(0.5)	1.4	(0.1)	49.9	(0.8)	12.9	(0.4)	9.1	(0.3)	7.4	(0.3)	13.8	(0.4)	6.8	(0.3)
	Sweden	7.9	(0.4)	5.3	(0.3)	9.1	(0.4)	15.8	(0.6)	59.8	(0.8)	2.1	(0.2)	27.3	(0.9)	16.7	(0.6)	16.3	(0.7)	14.5	(0.5)	19.7	(0.7)	5.4	(0.5)
	Switzerland	6.3	(0.4)	7.4	(0.4)	14.1	(0.5)	22.6	(0.6)	47.6	(0.9)	2.0	(0.2)	41.8	(1.0)	12.6	(0.6)	8.5	(0.5)	9.3	(0.5)	17.7	(0.7)	10.0	(0.6)
	Türkiye	8.1	(0.5)	9.7	(0.4)	15.8	(0.6)	33.3	(0.6)	30.1	(0.6)	3.0	(0.3)	58.0	(1.2)	10.8	(0.6)	7.3	(0.5)	5.6	(0.4)	5.0	(0.4)	13.4	(0.6)
	United Kingdom <sup>†</sup>	5.7	(0.3) †	4.4	(0.3) †	10.7	(0.6)†	16.0	(0.6) †	61.0	(0.9) †	2.3	(0.3)†	59.4	(1.1)†	16.9	(0.8) †	7.8	(0.5) †	4.3	(0.3)†	6.3	(0.6) †	5.3	(0.5) †
	United States*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	OECD average	7.7	(0,1)	7.8	(0.1)	12.5	(0,1)	18.6	(0.1)	50.7	(0.1)	2.6	(0.0)	37.0	(0.2)	18.2	(0.1)	12.5	(0.1)	10.2	(0.1)	15.6	(0.1)	6.5	(0.1)

### Table II.B1.5.46. Student behaviour when using digital devices [4/6]

In hours; results based on students' reports

									I	Perce	ntage o	fstud	lents w	ho fe	el or act	thef	ollowin	g way	<i>ı</i> :						
															Ha	ve my	digital	devic	es open	in cla	ass so I	can ta	ake not	es	
		K Ne	eep my ver or	digita Les	l device s than	s neai	r me to	answ Mor	er mess e than	ages A	when I II or	am ho	ome	Nev	/er or	Les	sthan	or se	arch for	Mor	rmation e than	A	ll or		
		ai n	ever	the	time	of th	ut nam ie time	na the	time	of th	e time	appl	icable	ain ne	ever	na the	time	of th	ut nair ne time	na the	time	of th	e time	appl	icable
	A Ihau ia	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	% 5.0	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ners	Albania	10.4	(0.0)   (0.5) +	10.1	(0.7)	19.3	(0.7)	13.3	(0.0)	50.0	(0.9)	5.0	(0.4)	43.7	(0.9)	15.7	(0.7)	12.1	(0.0) +	0.1	(0.4)	0.9	(0.0) +	11.0	(0.0)
Part	Argentina Delus (Anorbeijen)	12.1	(0.5) +	9.0	(0.4)	12.4	(0.0) +	12.2	(0.4)	50.9	(0.0) +	Z.1	(0.2)	20.4	(0.0) +	42.5	(0.0)	19.0	(0.0)	10.3	(0.4) +	10.7	(0.0) +	4.5	(0.5)
	Baku (Azerbaijan)	14.4	(0.0)   (0.5) +	12.0	(0.0) +	12.0	(0.0)	12.7	(0.5)	42.1	(0.9)	5.4	(0.4)	37.0	(0.9)	10.0	(0.5) +	11.0	(0.0) +	1.1	(0.4)	10.5	(0.0)	7.0	(0.0)
	Brazii	12.0	(0.5)	9.0	(0.4)	11.5	(0.4)	12.3	(0.4)	49.7	(0.7)	3.9	(0.2)	45.1	(0.7)	19.9	(0.5)	0.0	(0.4)	0.0	(0.3)	9.5	(0.4)	7.9	(0.4)
	Brunei Darussalam	8.7	(0.4)	8.5	(0.4)	13.4	(0.5)	14.3	(0.6)	51.4	(0.8)	3.0	(0.3)	42.2	(0.7)	05.0	(0.4)	8.9	(0.4)	5.4	(0.5) +	0.0	(0.4)	25.5	(0.7)
	Bulgaria	10.7	(0.5)	11.4	(0.5)	14.5	(0.5)	10.4	(0.0)	41.7	(0.9)	5.3	(0.4)	40.0	(1.0)]	25.0	(0.0)	13.0	(0.0)	7.9	(0.5)	0.3	(0.0)	5.2	(0.4)
	Cambodia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Croatia	8.1	(0.4)	9.2	(0.4)	15.8	(0.5)	20.9	(0.6)	44.4	(0.6)	1.6	(0.2)	47.6	(0.9)	25.4	(0.6)	11.8	(0.4)	5.6	(0.4)	5.6	(0.3)	3.9	(0.3)
	Cyprus	11.0	(0.5) T	8.2	(0.3) †	10.7	(0.5) T	15.7	(0.5) T	50.2	(0.7) T	3.0	(0.3) †	41.1	(0.8) T	14.3	(0.5) T	10.0	(0.5) T	8.9	(0.4) T	12.2	(0.6) T	13.5	(0.5) †
	Dominican Republic	18.9	(0.6) †	15.3	(0.6) †	11.4	(0.5) †	10.8	(0.4) †	37.7	(0.8) †	5.7	(0.3)†	41.3	(1.0) †	15.1	(0.7) †	9.2	(0.5) †	6.0	(0.3)†	14.1	(0.7) †	14.3	(0.8) †
	El Salvador	19.9	(0.7) †	15.8	(0.6) †	12.3	(0.5) †	11.3	(0.5) †	34.2	(0.9) †	6.5	(0.5) †	41.5	(1.0) †	14.9	(0.7) †	8.1	(0.6) †	6.2	(0.5) †	13.0	(0.7) †	16.4	(1.1) †
	Georgia	10.0	(0.5) T	13.3	(0.6) T	13.1	(0.6) T	17.7	(0.6) T	42.5	(0.9) T	3.4	(0.3) T	25.9	(0.9) T	19.6	(0.6) T	13.6	(0.5) T	13.1	(0.6) T	20.1	(0.8) T	1.1	(0.5) T
	Guatemala	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Hong Kong (China)*	9.6	(0.5)	8.7	(0.5)	12.4	(0.5)	20.6	(0.7)	44.6	(0.7)	4.2	(0.3)	35.9	(1.4)	14.2	(0.8)	11.8	(0.6)	9.7	(0.7)	14.2	(0.7)	14.2	(0.8)
	Indonesia	24.8	(0.9)	11.8	(0.5)	10.0	(0.4)	6.3	(0.4)	40.5	(1.0)	6.7	(0.4)	34.5	(1.3)	16.3	(0.7)	15.3	(0.7)	7.9	(0.4)	18.6	(0.8)	1.5	(0.5)
	Jamaica*	11.6	(0.6) †	9.3	(0.7) †	14.5	(0.8) †	14.3	(0.7) †	46.4	(1.1) †	3.9	(0.4) †	35.0	(1.1) †	21.6	(0.9) †	16.8	(0.7) †	8.0	(0.6) †	12.0	(0.8) †	6.5	(0.6) †
	Jordan	20.8	(0.7) †	14.7	(0.5) †	14.8	(0.5)†	12.4	(0.5) †	27.3	(0.8) †	10.0	(0.5)†	45.5	(0.8) †	9.2	(0.4) †	8.6	(0.4) †	6.6	(0.4) †	5.8	(0.3) †	24.3	(0.8) †
	Kazakhstan	10.7	(0.3)	13.5	(0.4)	15.8	(0.4)	17.2	(0.4)	36.7	(0.5)	6.1	(0.3)	24.5	(0.5)	22.6	(0.4)	16.2	(0.4)	10.5	(0.3)	13.7	(0.3)	12.6	(0.4)
	Kosovo	11.3	(0.5) †	15.6	(0.7) †	19.4	(0.8)†	15.2	(0.6) †	35.4	(0.8) †	3.1	(0.3)†	43.5	(0.9)†	17.8	(0.7) †	13.3	(0.6) †	7.6	(0.5)†	8.3	(0.5) †	9.5	(0.4) †
	Macao (China)	7.6	(0.4)	8.0	(0.4)	13.2	(0.5)	19.9	(0.7)	49.5	(0.9)	1.8	(0.2)	45.5	(0.7)	16.0	(0.6)	6.4	(0.4)	5.3	(0.3)	8.0	(0.4)	18.7	(0.6)
	Malaysia	14.1	(0.6)	11.9	(0.5)	15.8	(0.5)	16.1	(0.5)	35.4	(0.9)	6.7	(0.4)	47.2	(0.9)	9.3	(0.4)	6.8	(0.4)	5.7	(0.4)	5.3	(0.4)	25.7	(0.7)
	Malta	7.1	(0.5) †	6.3	(0.5) †	11.8	(0.6)†	15.4	(0.7) †	55.3	(1.1) †	4.1	(0.5)†	40.9	(1.0)	6.7	(0.6)	5.3	(0.5)	3.2	(0.4)	5.9	(0.5)	38.0	(0.9)
	Moldova	11.3	(0.4)	16.8	(0.7)	15.8	(0.5)	15.3	(0.5)	37.1	(0.8)	3.7	(0.3)	31.2	(0.8)	27.6	(0.7)	13.4	(0.5)	9.4	(0.5)	10.6	(0.4)	7.7	(0.4)
	Mongolia	14.4	(0.6)	13.1	(0.5)	14.7	(0.5)	16.6	(0.5)	34.3	(0.7)	6.8	(0.3)	29.9	(0.8)	20.2	(0.5)	15.7	(0.6)	11.1	(0.5)	15.1	(0.5)	8.0	(0.3)
	Montenegro	11.9	(0.5) †	15.0	(0.6) †	16.1	(0.6)†	17.3	(0.6) †	36.4	(0.8) †	3.4	(0.3)†	52.2	(0.8)†	15.7	(0.6) †	10.2	(0.5) †	7.2	(0.4)†	9.8	(0.4) †	4.9	(0.3) †
	Morocco	21.8	(0.7) †	16.8	(0.5) †	14.8	(0.5)†	11.2	(0.5) †	28.8	(1.0) †	6.6	(0.4)†	59.9	(1.0)†	8.0	(0.4) †	6.4	(0.4) †	4.5	(0.3)†	5.7	(0.3) †	15.5	(0.6) †
	North Macedonia	13.2	(0.5) †	11.8	(0.5) †	13.9	(0.6)†	15.6	(0.6) †	41.7	(0.8) †	3.9	(0.3)†	42.9	(0.8)†	24.4	(0.7) †	13.5	(0.5) †	8.0	(0.5)†	7.2	(0.4) †	4.0	(0.3) †
	Palestinian Authority	20.4	(0.6) †	16.0	(0.6) †	15.3	(0.5)†	10.3	(0.5) †	28.2	(0.7) †	9.7	(0.4)†	48.8	(0.9)†	7.4	(0.4) †	7.2	(0.4) †	6.2	(0.4)†	5.4	(0.5) †	25.0	(0.8) †
	Panama*	13.8	(0.8) †	12.1	(0.7) †	12.9	(0.7)†	14.3	(0.7) †	41.6	(1.0) †	5.4	(0.5)†	41.6	(1.4)†	14.9	(0.7) †	8.8	(0.7) †	7.2	(0.7)†	15.2	(0.9) †	12.2	(1.1) †
	Paraguay	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Peru	17.5	(0.6)	16.7	(0.6)	15.7	(0.5)	13.0	(0.5)	28.6	(0.8)	8.5	(0.5)	41.9	(0.9)	13.2	(0.6)	7.2	(0.5)	5.2	(0.4)	9.6	(0.5)	22.9	(1.0)
	Philippines	15.5	(0.6)	16.8	(0.6)	17.5	(0.5)	13.9	(0.5)	32.5	(1.0)	3.8	(0.3)	31.5	(0.7)	18.8	(0.6)	16.3	(0.5)	11.9	(0.4)	15.4	(0.6)	6.1	(0.4)
	Qatar	16.6	(0.7) †	12.0	(0.5) †	14.5	(0.7)†	13.7	(0.6) †	35.3	(0.7) †	7.8	(0.4)†	39.4	(0.8)†	10.9	(0.5) †	9.7	(0.4) †	7.6	(0.4)†	7.9	(0.5) †	24.5	(0.8) †
	Romania	6.6	(0.3)	11.3	(0.5)	14.6	(0.4)	15.5	(0.5)	47.9	(0.9)	4.1	(0.3)	30.9	(0.7)	27.0	(0.7)	13.5	(0.5)	8.3	(0.4)	11.2	(0.6)	9.2	(0.5)
	Saudi Arabia	17.9	(0.7) †	10.9	(0.4) †	11.9	(0.5)†	12.0	(0.5) †	43.0	(0.7) †	4.3	(0.3)†	53.5	(0.7)	8.7	(0.5)	5.8	(0.3)	4.8	(0.2)	6.6	(0.3)	20.6	(0.6)
	Serbia	10.1	(0.5)	10.4	(0.4)	12.4	(0.5)	18.3	(0.7)	46.4	(0.8)	2.4	(0.2)	50.7	(1.1)	18.9	(0.7)	10.6	(0.5)	6.1	(0.5)	7.2	(0.4)	6.5	(0.4)
	Singapore	10.1	(0.5)	8.3	(0.4)	16.0	(0.5)	19.1	(0.6)	44.9	(0.7)	1.6	(0.1)	25.5	(0.7)	20.9	(0.6)	19.4	(0.5)	12.8	(0.5)	18.1	(0.6)	3.3	(0.2)
	Chinese Taipei	9.7	(0.5)	11.4	(0.5)	14.4	(0.5)	18.2	(0.7)	41.7	(1.0)	4.5	(0.3)	45.5	(1.0)	20.1	(0.8)	7.8	(0.5)	3.9	(0.3)	7.7	(0.5)	15.0	(0.7)
	Thailand	16.0	(0.6)	13.3	(0.6)	13.3	(0.4)	13.7	(0.5)	37.1	(0.9)	6.6	(0.4)	17.8	(0.6)	23.3	(0.6)	22.1	(0.5)	15.0	(0.6)	13.2	(0.6)	8.6	(0.5)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	9.5	(0.7) †	9.9	(0.6) †	11.8	(0.9)†	15.5	(0.9) †	51.2	(1.4) †	2.1	(0.3)†	25.9	(1.2)†	25.2	(1.2) †	14.9	(0.7) †	11.2	(0.8)†	19.2	(0.8) †	3.6	(0.5) †
	United Arab Emirates	13.0	(0.3) †	11.1	(0.4) †	16.7	(0.4) †	14.7	(0.3) †	38.7	(0.5) †	5.8	(0.2)†	25.9	(0.4) †	13.4	(0.3) †	15.3	(0.3) †	12.4	(0.3)†	19.7	(0.4) †	13.4	(0.3) †
	Uruguay	11.6	(0.4) †	8.7	(0.6) †	10.3	(0.4)†	14.5	(0.5) †	52.4	(0.8) †	2.5	(0.2)†	33.5	(0.8)†	22.3	(0.6) †	14.9	(0.4) †	9.8	(0.5)†	14.9	(0.6) †	4.6	(0.3) †
	Uzbekistan	28.7	(0.8)	13.5	(0.6)	8.4	(0.4)	6.5	(0.4)	17.3	(0.6)	25.6	(0.7)	38.5	(0.7)	11.4	(0.5)	7.7	(0.4)	5.9	(0.3)	9.1	(0.4)	27.3	(0.8)
	Viet Nam	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m

### Table II.B1.5.46. Student behaviour when using digital devices [5/6]

In hours; results based on students' reports

									1	Perce	ntage o	fstuc	lents w	ho fee	el or act	the f	ollowin	g way	<i>r</i> :						
		Fe	el pres	sured	to be o	nline	and an	swer	messag	es wł	nen I am	in cla	ass	F	eel ner	vous/	anxious	s whe	n I don'i	t have	e my dig	gital d	evices	nea r r	ne
		Nev alm ne	er or lost ver	Less ha the	sthan lfof time	Abo of th	ut half ie time	More ha the	e than If of time	A almo of th	ll or ost all ie time	N appl	l ot icable	Nev alm ne	ver or nost ever	Less ha the	sthan Ifof time	Abo of th	ut half ie time	More ha the	e than If of time	A almo of th	ll or ost all e time	N appl	lot icable
_		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
<u></u>	Australia*	61.4	(0.5)	19.9	(0.5)	7.1	(0.2)	3.3	(0.2)	3.9	(0.2)	4.4	(0.2)	48.4	(0.5)	23.3	(0.5)	11.0	(0.4)	6.9	(0.3)	8.0	(0.3)	2.4	(0.2)
ō	Austria	47.6	(0.8)	15.8	(0.6)	7.4	(0.4)	5.1	(0.4)	4.7	(0.3)	19.4	(0.6)	43.4	(0.7)	15.3	(0.5)	7.8	(0.4)	5.4	(0.3)	6.0	(0.5)	22.0	(0.7)
	Belgium	59.7	(0.7)	17.0	(0.5)	7.0	(0.3)	4.8	(0.3)	6.7	(0.4)	4.8	(0.3)	51.3	(0.7)	18.4	(0.5)	9.1	(0.4)	6.7	(0.3)	10.5	(0.5)	4.0	(0.2)
	Canada*	55.8	(0.6) †	22.0	(0.5) †	9.2	(0.3) †	5.2	(0.2) †	4.5	(0.2) †	3.3	(0.2)†	45.9	(0.7)†	22.2	(0.4) †	12.1	(0.3) †	7.6	(0.3)†	9.7	(0.3) †	2.5	(0.2) †
	Chile	59.6	(0.9) †	18.4	(0.6) †	7.1	(0.5) †	3.3	(0.3) †	3.1	(0.3) †	8.4	(0.5)†	46.8	(1.0)†	17.8	(0.7) †	11.0	(0.6) †	7.2	(0.4)†	9.8	(0.5) †	7.4	(0.4) †
	Colombia	68.0	(0.8) †	8.7	(0.5) †	3.4	(0.3) †	2.1	(0.2) †	2.3	(0.2) †	15.6	(0.6)†	59.1	(0.8)†	11.5	(0.5) †	5.5	(0.3) †	3.8	(0.3)†	6.7	(0.4) †	13.4	(0.6) †
	Costa Rica	64.2	(0.8) †	14.8	(0.6) †	5.5	(0.3) †	3.2	(0.3) †	5.2	(0.4) †	7.1	(0.5)†	61.5	(0.8)†	13.9	(0.6) †	6.4	(0.4) †	3.4	(0.3)†	7.1	(0.4) †	7.6	(0.4) †
	Czech Republic	33.7	(0.8)	22.2	(0.6)	14.4	(0.5)	9.1	(0.4)	13.6	(0.5)	7.0	(0.4)	47.9	(0.8)	16.8	(0.5)	8.9	(0.3)	5.2	(0.3)	9.9	(0.5)	11.3	(0.4)
	Denmark*	69.5	(0.9)	16.6	(0.7)	4.2	(0.3)	2.7	(0.3)	2.5	(0.3)	4.5	(0.4)	47.6	(0.7)	23.4	(0.6)	11.0	(0.5)	7.3	(0.4)	6.3	(0.4)	4.3	(0.4)
	Estonia	56.5	(0.7)	20.9	(0.8)	8.4	(0.4)	5.0	(0.3)	5.6	(0.3)	3.6	(0.4)	49.6	(0.8)	21.3	(0.7)	10.1	(0.5)	7.4	(0.5)	9.0	(0.4)	2.5	(0.3)
	Finland	47.3	(0.8)	27.8	(0.7)	10.2	(0.4)	4.6	(0.3)	4.0	(0.3)	6.1	(0.3)	44.2	(0.6)	24.1	(0.5)	12.5	(0.4)	6.7	(0.3)	6.3	(0.3)	6.2	(0.3)
	France	68.4	(0.8)	15.3	(0.6)	5.9	(0.4)	3.3	(0.3)	4.3	(0.3)	2.8	(0.3)	54.2	(0.7)	16.9	(0.5)	9.1	(0.5)	6.8	(0.4)	10.4	(0.5)	2.5	(0.2)
	Germany	55.6	(0.8) †	13.9	(0.6) †	5.1	(0.3) †	3.2	(0.3) †	3.5	(0.3) †	18.8	(0.7)†	46.6	(0.7)†	14.6	(0.6) †	7.1	(0.4) †	5.1	(0.3)†	6.2	(0.4) †	20.5	(0.8) †
	Greece	53.4	(0.9)	11.0	(0.5)	4.9	(0.3)	3.3	(0.3)	5.0	(0.3)	22.4	(0.7)	37.4	(0.7)	16.5	(0.5)	8.5	(0.4)	6.8	(0.3)	10.9	(0.4)	20.0	(0.6)
	Hungary	55.9	(0.9)	23.3	(0.7)	7.3	(0.4)	5.2	(0.3)	6.1	(0.4)	2.3	(0.2)	53.3	(0.7)	19.7	(0.6)	7.2	(0.3)	6.3	(0.4)	11.0	(0.6)	2.4	(0.2)
	Iceland	42.0	(1.1) †	22.9	(0.9) †	11.2	(0.7) †	7.8	(0.6) †	9.1	(0.6) †	7.0	(0.5)†	49.6	(1.1)†	18.6	(0.8) †	10.0	(0.6) †	7.1	(0.5)†	6.6	(0.5) †	8.1	(0.5) †
	Ireland*	75.7	(0.8)	12.5	(0.6)	4.2	(0.4)	2.2	(0.2)	2.8	(0.3)	2.6	(0.3)	53.9	(0.7)	21.2	(0.6)	10.3	(0.4)	6.3	(0.4)	6.9	(0.4)	1.4	(0.2)
	Israel	47.9	(0.9) †	19.3	(0.6) †	9.8	(0.5) †	6.4	(0.3) †	7.2	(0.4) †	9.5	(0.5)†	38.6	(0.9)†	19.3	(0.7) †	11.4	(0.5) †	9.4	(0.5)†	13.4	(0.6) †	7.9	(0.5) †
	Italy	41.0	(0.9)	26.0	(0.7)	13.5	(0.5)	8.5	(0.4)	8.9	(0.5)	2.1	(0.2)	49.2	(0.8)	22.8	(0.5)	9.9	(0.4)	7.4	(0.4)	8.8	(0.5)	1.9	(0.2)
	Japan	78.6	(0.9)	3.2	(0.3)	1.8	(0.2)	1.4	(0.2)	2.1	(0.2)	12.9	(0.8)	51.7	(1.0)	14.2	(0.5)	11.2	(0.5)	7.7	(0.4)	8.1	(0.4)	7.1	(0.5)
	Korea	37.9	(1.0)	14.3	(0.6)	13.3	(0.9)	9.2	(0.6)	12.1	(0.5)	13.2	(1.0)	44.8	(0.9)	24.5	(0.8)	15.6	(0.8)	6.7	(0.5)	2.8	(0.3)	5.7	(0.4)
	Latvia*	53.2	(1.0)	23.2	(0.8)	8.6	(0.4)	5.2	(0.3)	5.2	(0.3)	4.6	(0.3)	40.5	(0.7)	22.6	(0.7)	11.4	(0.5)	8.8	(0.5)	12.1	(0.5)	4.6	(0.4)
	Lithuania	53.5	(0.7)	18.7	(0.5)	9.6	(0.4)	6.1	(0.3)	5.8	(0.3)	6.3	(0.3)	45.5	(0.8)	19.6	(0.6)	10.6	(0.4)	7.6	(0.4)	11.2	(0.5)	5.5	(0.3)
	Mexico	66.7	(0.8)	11.3	(0.5)	3.4	(0.3)	2.0	(0.2)	2.9	(0.3)	13.8	(0.7)	54.4	(0.7)	15.3	(0.5)	6.5	(0.4)	4.8	(0.3)	8.4	(0.4)	10.7	(0.4)
	Netherlands*	57.5	(1.0)	20.5	(0.7)	8.3	(0.6)	5.1	(0.3)	4.0	(0.4)	4.6	(0.5)	59.1	(0.7)	18.3	(0.5)	7.9	(0.4)	4.9	(0.4)	5.4	(0.5)	4.5	(0.4)
	New Zealand*	60.6	(0.8)	20.6	(0.7)	7.5	(0.4)	4.2	(0.3)	3.7	(0.3)	3.6	(0.3)	50.9	(0.9)	22.5	(0.7)	10.6	(0.5)	6.3	(0.4)	7.1	(0.4)	2.6	(0.3)
	Norway	70.6	(0.7) †	11.1	(0.6) †	3.2	(0.2) †	2.5	(0.2) †	2.9	(0.2) †	9.7	(0.5)†	47.8	(0.7) †	17.8	(0.5) †	9.5	(0.4) †	7.6	(0.3)†	9.6	(0.4) †	7.6	(0.4) †
	Poland	42.2	(1.0)	23.8	(0.6)	10.0	(0.5)	7.2	(0.4)	10.8	(0.5)	5.9	(0.4)	40.5	(0.8)	15.7	(0.6)	9.8	(0.5)	9.4	(0.4)	17.1	(0.6)	7.4	(0.4)
	Portugal	65.2	(0.7)	12.8	(0.5)	5.1	(0.3)	3.5	(0.3)	4.2	(0.3)	9.2	(0.4)	54.7	(0.8)	16.6	(0.5)	7.1	(0.4)	5.7	(0.4)	7.9	(0.5)	8.0	(0.3)
	Slovak Republic	43.6	(0.8)	15.5	(0.5)	10.1	(0.5)	8.3	(0.5)	12.3	(0.7)	10.3	(0.5)	41.0	(0.9)	15.8	(0.5)	8.5	(0.5)	8.2	(0.4)	18.9	(0.8)	7.6	(0.5)
	Slovenia	63.4	(0.8)	16.2	(0.6)	6.7	(0.5)	4.1	(0.3)	4.0	(0.3)	5.6	(0.4)	56.8	(0.8)	19.9	(0.7)	8.6	(0.5)	5.4	(0.4)	6.1	(0.4)	3.2	(0.3)
	Spain	64.0	(0.6)	16.4	(0.4)	6.9	(0.2)	3.5	(0.2)	4.0	(0.2)	5.2	(0.3)	53.8	(0.5)	20.2	(0.4)	9.7	(0.3)	5.7	(0.3)	7.7	(0.3)	2.9	(0.2)
	Sweden	60.9	(0.7)	17.3	(0.6)	6.9	(0.4)	4.3	(0.3)	4.8	(0.4)	5.7	(0.4)	47.6	(0.8)	21.0	(0.6)	10.4	(0.5)	7.5	(0.4)	9.9	(0.5)	3.7	(0.3)
	Switzerland	60.3	(0.9)	14.1	(0.6)	4.8	(0.4)	3.3	(0.3)	3.1	(0.2)	14.5	(0.6)	51.3	(0.9)	17.2	(0.5)	7.3	(0.4)	5.5	(0.4)	5.3	(0.3)	13.4	(0.5)
	Türkive	59.6	(0.8)	11.9	(0.5)	7.5	(0.4)	4.8	(0.4)	4.7	(0.3)	11.5	(0.5)	29.9	(0.6)	18.5	(0.5)	18.4	(0.6)	13.8	(0.5)	14.3	(0.5)	5.1	(0.4)
	United Kingdont	74.9	(0.8) +	12.2	(0.6) +	3.6	(0.3) +	2.1	(0.3) +	2.8	(0.2) †	4.3	(0.5) †	48.6	(0.8) †	20.3	(0.7) +	11.1	(0.6) +	7.9	(0.5) +	9.5	(0.5) †	2.6	(0.3) +
	United States*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	OFCD average	57 7	(0 1)	17.0	(0 1)	73	(01)	46	(0 1)	53	(0 1)	81	(0 1)	48.5	(0 1)	18.8	(0 1)	9.8	(0 1)	6.8	(0 1)	90	(0 1)	70	(0 1)

### Table II.B1.5.46. Student behaviour when using digital devices [6/6]

In hours; results based on students' reports

					Percentage o	f students w	ho feel or ac	t the followin	ng way:			
	Feel pres	sured to be c	online and an	swer messag	jes when I ar	n in class	Feel nei	rvous/anxiou	s when I don'	't have my di	gital devices	near me
	Never or almost never	Less than half of the time	About half of the time	More than half of the time	All or almost all of the time	Not applicable	Never or almost never	Less than half of the time	About half of the time	More than half of the time	All or almost all of the time	Not applicable
	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.
🖀 Albania	49.1 (0.9) †	10.9 (0.5) †	9.0 (0.5) †	7.2 (0.4) †	10.4 (0.5) †	13.5 (0.7) †	50.2 (1.0) †	12.1 (0.6) †	8.6 (0.5) †	7.1 (0.6) †	10.6 (0.6) †	11.5 (0.6) †
E Argentina	52.4 (0.8) †	17.9 (0.6) †	8.4 (0.4) †	4.5 (0.3) †	9.0 (0.4) †	7.8 (0.5) †	51.2 (0.8) †	15.7 (0.6) †	9.8 (0.5) †	4.9 (0.3) †	13.1 (0.5) †	5.3 (0.3) †
Baku (Azerbaijan)	53.5 (1.0) †	11.4 (0.6) †	5.9 (0.4) †	5.1 (0.4) †	9.6 (0.5) †	14.6 (0.8) †	38.3 (0.9) †	13.4 (0.6) †	8.2 (0.4) †	8.4 (0.5) †	21.1 (0.7) †	10.6 (0.6) †
Brazil	60.0 (0.7) †	12.4 (0.4) †	5.7 (0.4) †	3.8 (0.2) †	6.6 (0.3) †	11.4 (0.4) †	42.7 (0.5) †	15.3 (0.4) †	8.9 (0.4) †	7.0 (0.3) †	17.8 (0.5) †	8.3 (0.3) †
Brunei Darussalam	36.3 (0.8)	11.8 (0.5)	10.1 (0.4)	6.8 (0.4)	11.2 (0.5)	23.9 (0.7)	34.3 (0.8)	20.5 (0.7)	15.1 (0.6)	8.8 (0.4)	15.2 (0.6)	6.1 (0.3)
Bulgaria	35.6 (0.7) †	19.1 (0.7) †	12.6 (0.6) †	11.3 (0.5) †	15.2 (0.7) †	6.2 (0.4) †	44.2 (0.9) †	18.4 (0.6) †	10.7 (0.5) †	8.8 (0.4) †	13.0 (0.6) †	4.9 (0.4) †
Cambodia	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m
Croatia	62.6 (0.9)	18.1 (0.7)	8.0 (0.4)	4.4 (0.3)	4.4 (0.3)	2.6 (0.2)	50.3 (0.8)	19.0 (0.6)	11.3 (0.5)	7.4 (0.4)	9.0 (0.5)	2.9 (0.2)
Cyprus	43.4 (0.8) †	13.9 (0.5) †	7.3 (0.4) †	7.5 (0.4) †	9.1 (0.4) †	18.8 (0.6) †	34.4 (0.7) †	17.5 (0.6) †	9.6 (0.5) †	8.9 (0.4) †	14.2 (0.5) †	15.4 (0.5) †
Dominican Republic	65.3 (0.7) †	7.7 (0.5) †	3.1 (0.3) †	2.4 (0.2) †	3.4 (0.3) †	18.0 (0.7) †	53.5 (0.9) †	12.1 (0.6) †	5.4 (0.4) †	4.2 (0.4) †	11.0 (0.5) †	13.7 (0.5) †
El Salvador	66.0 (0.9) †	6.6 (0.4) †	2.6 (0.2) †	1.9 (0.2) †	3.1 (0.3) †	19.7 (0.9) †	58.3 (0.8) †	11.1 (0.5) †	5.1 (0.3) †	3.6 (0.3) †	7.6 (0.5) †	14.3 (0.6) †
Georgia	43.5 (0.8) †	20.0 (0.6) †	8.4 (0.5) †	5.7 (0.5) †	8.7 (0.5) †	13.8 (0.6) †	42.6 (1.0) †	12.3 (0.4) †	7.6 (0.4) †	6.8 (0.4) †	11.9 (0.5) †	18.8 (0.7) †
Guatemala	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m
Hong Kong (China)*	42.0 (1.1)	11.3 (0.6)	7.4 (0.5)	5.5 (0.4)	9.0 (0.6)	24.9 (1.0)	36.9 (0.8)	22.9 (0.7)	13.8 (0.5)	9.2 (0.5)	9.7 (0.5)	7.4 (0.6)
Indonesia	47.0 (1.1)	18.9 (0.7)	8.4 (0.5)	4.9 (0.3)	9.0 (0.5)	11.7 (0.5)	39.2 (1.0)	11.6 (0.6)	7.4 (0.4)	4.9 (0.3)	26.5 (1.0)	10.4 (0.5)
Jamaica*	57.6 (1.0) †	11.1 (0.7) †	6.7 (0.5) †	4.5 (0.5) †	10.0 (0.8) †	10.1 (0.8) †	40.7 (1.2) †	13.5 (0.7) †	11.2 (0.6) †	7.0 (0.6) †	21.4 (1.0) †	6.3 (0.6) †
Jordan	47.1 (0.7) †	7.3 (0.4) †	6.2 (0.5) †	7.8 (0.5) †	5.3 (0.3) †	26.3 (0.8) †	40.4 (0.8) †	11.7 (0.5) †	9.0 (0.4) †	7.6 (0.4) †	11.6 (0.5) †	19.7 (0.7) †
Kazakhstan	45.9 (0.5)	13.4 (0.3)	7.5 (0.3)	5.4 (0.2)	8.5 (0.3)	19.4 (0.5)	49.1 (0.6)	14.7 (0.3)	8.2 (0.2)	6.7 (0.3)	10.0 (0.3)	11.3 (0.3)
Kosovo	52.8 (1.0) †	12.2 (0.6) †	8.6 (0.5) †	7.0 (0.4) †	7.8 (0.5) †	11.7 (0.6) †	53.1 (0.9) †	13.7 (0.7) †	9.1 (0.5) †	6.6 (0.4) †	8.7 (0.4) †	8.8 (0.4) †
Macao (China)	38.0 (0.7)	11.3 (0.5)	6.3 (0.4)	5.4 (0.4)	11.3 (0.5)	27.6 (0.7)	33.9 (0.8)	22.9 (0.7)	15.7 (0.6)	11.3 (0.5)	11.1 (0.5)	5.1 (0.4)
Malaysia	40.3 (0.7)	10.9 (0.5)	7.2 (0.4)	5.0 (0.3)	6.3 (0.3)	30.2 (0.8)	31.6 (0.7)	19.6 (0.5)	11.5 (0.5)	8.7 (0.4)	14.6 (0.5)	14.0 (0.6)
Malta	45.3 (1.1) †	6.8 (0.4) †	4.4 (0.4) †	3.5 (0.3) †	5.3 (0.5) †	34.7 (1.0) †	36.9 (0.8)	20.1 (0.7)	14.0 (0.7)	8.9 (0.6)	13.0 (0.7)	7.1 (0.6)
Moldova	43.3 (0.6)	16.9 (0.6)	8.9 (0.4)	7.2 (0.4)	12.1 (0.5)	11.7 (0.5)	45.4 (0.8)	18.8 (0.6)	8.8 (0.5)	6.4 (0.4)	11.4 (0.5)	9.2 (0.4)
Mongolia	66.3 (0.8)	8.8 (0.4)	4.8 (0.3)	3.3 (0.2)	4.6 (0.3)	12.1 (0.4)	49.3 (0.7)	14.8 (0.5)	9.3 (0.4)	6.0 (0.3)	7.2 (0.3)	13.3 (0.5)
Montenegro	49.1 (0.9) †	19.6 (0.7) †	9.7 (0.6) †	7.8 (0.4) †	9.0 (0.4) †	4.9 (0.4) †	50.6 (0.7) †	13.7 (0.7) †	9.1 (0.5) †	7.2 (0.4) †	12.8 (0.5) †	6.5 (0.4) †
Morocco	51.5 (0.9) †	8.0 (0.4) †	5.3 (0.4) †	5.2 (0.5) †	9.2 (0.4) †	20.8 (0.7) †	49.1 (0.9) †	10.5 (0.4) †	7.4 (0.4) †	5.1 (0.3) †	13.6 (0.6) †	14.4 (0.5) †
North Macedonia	57.3 (0.7) †	16.6 (0.5) †	8.0 (0.4) †	6.5 (0.3) †	6.2 (0.3) †	5.5 (0.4) †	49.8 (0.7) †	17.5 (0.6) †	9.5 (0.4) †	7.4 (0.4) †	11.3 (0.5) †	4.6 (0.3) †
Palestinian Authority	50.3 (0.9) †	7.2 (0.4) †	5.3 (0.3) †	5.6 (0.5) †	5.1 (0.4) †	26.5 (0.9) †	42.5 (0.8) †	10.9 (0.4) †	8.4 (0.4) †	5.9 (0.4) †	11.7 (0.5) †	20.5 (0.7) †
Panama*	71.4 (1.4) †	7.1 (0.8) †	2.3 (0.3) †	2.1 (0.4) †	2.6 (0.3) †	14.4 (1.0) †	57.7 (1.3) †	11.9 (0.8) †	5.8 (0.5) †	4.6 (0.5) †	8.3 (0.7) †	11.7 (0.8) †
Paraguay	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m
Peru	66.1 (0.8)	5.9 (0.3)	2.0 (0.2)	1.2 (0.2)	1.8 (0.2)	23.0 (0.7)	57.8 (0.8)	12.7 (0.5)	5.1 (0.3)	3.1 (0.3)	5.1 (0.3)	16.2 (0.6)
Philippines	31.1 (0.8)	20.1 (0.6)	14.1 (0.5)	10.4 (0.5)	17.2 (0.6)	7.1 (0.4)	37.1 (0.6)	20.5 (0.5)	12.8 (0.6)	8.2 (0.4)	13.9 (0.6)	7.6 (0.4)
Qatar	43.8 (0.9) †	11.6 (0.6) †	7.1 (0.4) †	6.0 (0.4) †	7.6 (0.5) †	23.9 (0.8) †	41.3 (0.8) †	15.3 (0.6) †	9.9 (0.4) †	7.4 (0.4) †	12.0 (0.6) †	14.1 (0.5) †
Romania	38.3 (0.8)	24.0 (0.5)	9.9 (0.5)	6.6 (0.3)	8.7 (0.4)	12.6 (0.5)	41.7 (0.9)	15.1 (0.6)	8.1 (0.4)	6.8 (0.4)	12.8 (0.6)	15.5 (0.7)
Saudi Arabia	53.9 (0.7)	7.7 (0.4)	5.9 (0.4)	4.5 (0.3)	6.3 (0.4)	21.7 (0.6)	43.6 (0.7)	12.0 (0.5)	7.8 (0.4)	7.4 (0.4)	16.4 (0.5)	12.8 (0.5)
Serbia	53.3 (0.8)	15.0 (0.5)	8.2 (0.4)	6.2 (0.4)	9.9 (0.5)	7.5 (0.4)	48.1 (0.8)	14.5 (0.5)	8.8 (0.4)	7.5 (0.4)	15.8 (0.6)	5.3 (0.4)
Singapore	59.8 (0.6)	16.3 (0.5)	7.1 (0.3)	4.2 (0.3)	6.8 (0.3)	5.8 (0.3)	43.1 (0.6)	25.4 (0.5)	13.2 (0.4)	7.6 (0.3)	8.4 (0.4)	2.4 (0.2)
Chinese Taipei	45.5 (0.8)	9.9 (0.6)	6.3 (0.4)	5.5 (0.4)	11.8 (0.5)	21.0 (0.8)	47.1 (1.0)	20.8 (0.7)	10.8 (0.5)	6.1 (0.3)	6.8 (0.4)	8.4 (0.5)
Thailand	47.1 (0.8)	17.0 (0.6)	8.4 (0.4)	4.7 (0.3)	4.1 (0.2)	18.7 (0.6)	36.8 (0.8)	19.0 (0.6)	11.6 (0.5)	7.9 (0.5)	10.8 (0.5)	13.9 (0.6)
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	39.3 (1.1) †	25.5 (1.0) †	12.2 (0.6) †	8.0 (0.5) †	10.8 (0.8) †	4.3 (0.3) †	41.4 (1.0) †	19.4 (0.9) †	9.8 (0.6) †	7.8 (0.6) †	16.6 (0.8) †	5.0 (0.6) †
United Arab Emirates	44.3 (0.5) †	11.2 (0.3) †	8.6 (0.2) †	7.1 (0.2) †	11.2 (0.3) †	17.7 (0.3) †	39.7 (0.5) †	16.4 (0.3) †	11.4 (0.3) †	7.9 (0.2) †	13.8 (0.3) †	10.8 (0.3) †
Uruguay	64.9 (0.8) †	16.1 (0.6) †	5.0 (0.4) †	3.0 (0.2) †	4.4 (0.3) †	6.5 (0.4) †	51.7 (0.8) †	18.3 (0.6) †	8.1 (0.5) †	5.6 (0.3) †	10.1 (0.5) †	6.1 (0.3) †
Uzbekistan	35.7 (0.7)	8.4 (0.4)	5.2 (0.3)	4.2 (0.3)	11.0 (0.6)	35.5 (0.8)	45.5 (0.6)	6.4 (0.4)	3.3 (0.2)	3.2 (0.3)	6.3 (0.4)	35.4 (0.9)
Viet Nam	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m	m m

#### Table II.B1.5.64. Mean mathematics performance per time spent learning on digital devices at school [1/2]

In hours; results based on students' reports

	Mean	mathematic	s score o	fstudents	who spent	the follow	ing amou	nt of time p	er day wl	hen using di	gital devi	ices in the fo	llowingit	suations:
						Lea	rning acti	vities at sch	lool					
	N	one	Upto	1 hour	More th and up	an 1 hour to 2 hours	More that and up t	an 2 hours to 3 hours	More th and up	an 3 hours to 5 hours	More th and up	an 5 hours to 7 hours	More th	an 7 hours
	Mean score	S.E.	Mean score	S.E.	Mean score	S.E.	Mean score	S.E.	Mean score	S.E.	Mean score	S.E.	Mean score	S.E.
G Australia*	411	(3.6)	451	(3.1)	479	(3.0)	513	(2.8)	522	(2.4)	492	(3.3)	472	(7.2)
Ö Austria	491	(3.4)	499	(3.0)	486	(3.9)	492	(4.7)	491	(5.9)	479	(6.2)	479	(8.1)
Belgium	487	(3.5)	521	(2.9)	491	(3.4)	497	(6.0)	478	(5.2)	478	(6.2)	465	(7.3)
Canada*	473	(3.1)	497	(2.3)	511	(2.1)	520	(3.3)	521	(3.8)	503	(4.6)	480	(7.0)
Chile	411	(4.3)	425	(2.3)	422	(3.2)	416	(4.1)	413	(5.0)	414	(7.4)	386	(6.9)
Colombia	366	(4.0)	382	(3.5)	392	(2.8)	404	(4.4)	405	(3.8)	373	(6.2)	385	(7.8)
Costa Rica	369	(3.0)	383	(2.6)	390	(3.3)	397	(3.6)	401	(5.3)	402	(7.3)	373	(5.1)
Czech Republic	463	(3.8)	511	(2.5)	493	(2.8)	478	(4.1)	469	(6.8)	446	(9.5)	439	(7.9)
Denmark*	436	(5.5)	455	(4.7)	463	(5.0)	492	(4.5)	513	(2.7)	505	(2.5)	485	(7.6)
Estonia	515	(5.2)	530	(2.5)	504	(3.3)	494	(3.9)	483	(5.1)	472	(5.4)	481	(6.6)
Finland	444	(5.1)	496	(3.4)	503	(2.8)	496	(3.3)	482	(3.7)	464	(4.5)	488	(3.2)
France	470	(3.9)	498	(3.0)	481	(3.6)	474	(4.6)	471	(6.1)	472	(6.3)	431	(10.4)
Germany	484	(3.8)	488	(3.6)	475	(3.9)	460	(5.6)	495	(6.1)	491	(7.5)	448	(12.2)
Greece	431	(2.9)	446	(2.8)	433	(2.9)	423	(4.6)	424	(5.5)	408	(9.8)	405	(7.1)
Hungary	467	(4.7)	498	(3.2)	473	(3.5)	465	(4.8)	449	(5.6)	438	(6.6)	434	(11.0)
Iceland	425	(9.0)	472	(4.1)	478	(3.5)	477	(3.8)	469	(3.1)	446	(4.1)	451	(7.3)
Ireland*	473	(4.5)	492	(2.4)	506	(3.3)	503	(4.9)	501	(4.5)	490	(6.0)	474	(11.7)
Israel	433	(5.1)	481	(4.0)	471	(4.5)	468	(6.5)	456	(6.9)	457	(10.2)	474	(12.2)
Italy	465	(5.3)	487	(3.6)	471	(3.6)	472	(4.3)	471	(4.2)	459	(5.1)	488	(5.1)
Japan	519	(6.3)	548	(3.4)	546	(4.4)	541	(5.1)	535	(7.3)	504	(5.6)	512	(12.7)
Korea	508	(6.8)	542	(4.1)	539	(3.9)	538	(5.8)	523	(10.0)	518	(6.7)	520	(7.7)
Latvia*	481	(5.1)	509	(2.5)	486	(3.1)	475	(3.5)	458	(4.2)	449	(4.1)	455	(5.3)
Lithuania	476	(4.5)	501	(2.4)	489	(2.7)	468	(4.0)	458	(4.5)	446	(3.5)	454	(5.2)
Mexico	382	(3.3)	389	(2.8)	400	(3.1)	411	(3.0)	409	(3.9)	407	(5.9)	388	(6.6)
Netherlands*	460	(9.0)	518	(5.4)	506	(4.6)	515	(4.2)	502	(5.4)	494	(7.6)	473	(12.4)
New Zealand*	430	(5.7)	443	(6.1)	473	(3.9)	511	(3.0)	512	(3.0)	478	(4.7)	481	(11.0)
Norway	414	(4.7)	440	(4.0)	461	(3.8)	497	(3.8)	501	(2.6)	476	(4.4)	452	(8.0)
Poland	497	(3.5)	510	(2.8)	483	(3.9)	490	(4.2)	480	(5.0)	471	(5.6)	459	(5.0)
Portugal	470	(5.0)	485	(2.8)	474	(3.5)	475	(4.1)	460	(6.3)	454	(5.9)	444	(10.8)
Slovak Republic	449	(5.3)	492	(3.4)	475	(4.5)	468	(5.0)	465	(5.7)	435	(7.2)	458	(6.6)
Slovenia	481	(3.9)	507	(2.0)	478	(2.7)	472	(4.3)	463	(6.9)	468	(8.8)	454	(8.5)
Spain	467	(2.6)	474	(1.8)	471	(2.0)	482	(3.3)	494	(3.6)	482	(4.5)	474	(7.2)
Sweden	448	(4.5)	467	(4.4)	489	(3.7)	499	(3.9)	509	(3.1)	500	(3.6)	472	(5.9)
Switzerland	501	(2.9)	510	(3.0)	493	(4,4)	508	(5.1)	538	(5.3)	548	(5.9)	526	(9,5)
Türkive	445	(3.0)	458	(2.5)	456	(2.4)	467	(3.4)	454	(4.8)	449	(5.4)	438	(5.8)
United Kingdont	478	(5.5)	502	(3.5)	502	(3.2)	497	(5.3)	511	(7.2)	483	(9.8)	495	(11.4)
United States*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
OFCD average	456	(0.8)	481	(0.6)	476	(0.6)	479	(07)	477	(0.9)	465	(1 1)	458	(14)

#### Table II.B1.5.64. Mean mathematics performance per time spent learning on digital devices at school [2/2]

In hours; results based on students' reports

	Mean r	mathematio	cs score of	fstudents	who spent	the follow	ing amou	nt of time p	er day wh	en using di	gital devid	es in the fo	llowing if	suations:
						Lea	rning acti	vities at sch	lool					
	N	one	Upto	o 1 hour	More th and up	an 1 hour to 2 hours	More that and up t	an 2 hours to 3 hours	More the and up	an 3 hours to 5 hours	More that and up	an 5 hours to 7 hours	More th	an 7 hours
	Mean score	S.E.	Mean score	S.E.	Mean score	S.E.	Mean score	S.E.	Mean score	S.E.	Mean score	S.E.	Mean score	S.E.
유 Albania	368	(4.7)	377	(3.4)	378	(3.4)	388	(4.8)	380	(5.1)	350	(6.6)	370	(11.0)
토 Argentina	358	(3.7)	378	(3.1)	390	(2.7)	403	(3.9)	398	(4.6)	389	(5.7)	411	(6.3)
Baku (Azerbaijan)	427	(3.6)	427	(4.5)	408	(3.8)	412	(4.2)	413	(4.0)	390	(3.3)	384	(8.7)
Brazil	372	(2.6)	386	(2.3)	391	(2.6)	400	(3.2)	385	(3.3)	375	(4.5)	372	(6.7)
Brunei Darussalam	467	(2.4)	433	(1.7)	438	(2.9)	461	(4.1)	452	(4.0)	426	(4.9)	410	(8.1)
Bulgaria	411	(5.3)	448	(5.3)	429	(5.0)	430	(4.8)	424	(6.4)	396	(6.9)	398	(6.4)
Cambodia	352	(4.1)	359	(5.6)	376	(8.1)	335	(7.9)	344	(5.8)	344	(10.1)	330	(8.2)
Croatia	458	(3.7)	478	(3.0)	461	(3.8)	463	(3.7)	459	(4.1)	442	(6.7)	454	(5.6)
Cyprus	424	(2.5)	446	(2.5)	430	(3.8)	422	(5.4)	428	(6.8)	444	(7.5)	410	(9.4)
Dominican Republic	340	(2.1)	339	(2.2)	347	(2.2)	357	(4.0)	359	(3.7)	352	(4.1)	340	(4.5)
El Salvador	338	(3.2)	339	(2.4)	353	(2.6)	363	(3.5)	359	(3.9)	351	(5.4)	342	(6.1)
Georgia	405	(3.5)	404	(2.8)	399	(4.0)	399	(5.7)	395	(4.6)	384	(7.3)	399	(7.8)
Guatemala	347	(2.9)	358	(4.7)	361	(4.9)	370	(7.0)	366	(4.1)	377	(8.3)	358	(10.7)
Hong Kong (China)*	514	(5.0)	557	(4.1)	540	(3.8)	549	(6.1)	554	(8.2)	553	(5.8)	535	(6.5)
Indonesia	361	(4.2)	360	(3.4)	369	(2.8)	372	(4.1)	372	(3.0)	364	(3.0)	361	(5.4)
Jamaica*	382	(4.7)	383	(3.5)	389	(5.4)	393	(4.9)	389	(6.3)	379	(6.9)	368	(8.0)
Jordan	369	(2.5)	367	(2.7)	366	(3.0)	365	(3.7)	360	(3.8)	358	(4.4)	337	(4.8)
Kazakhstan	414	(3.3)	433	(2.2)	433	(2.3)	435	(2.6)	419	(2.4)	408	(2.5)	410	(4.6)
Kosovo	351	(3.0)	365	(2.1)	359	(2.3)	374	(3.7)	363	(4.4)	342	(4.0)	344	(6.6)
Macao (China)	534	(4.2)	560	(2.8)	557	(3.1)	549	(5.0)	544	(5.6)	548	(5.1)	548	(4.3)
Malaysia	419	(2.6)	405	(3.1)	402	(3.1)	413	(4.3)	414	(6.2)	403	(5.4)	417	(5.4)
Malta	469	(3.6)	471	(3.1)	484	(5.0)	489	(8.2)	477	(5.6)	469	(6.6)	451	(12.3)
Moldova	405	(3.9)	425	(2.5)	423	(3.3)	421	(4.3)	414	(4.9)	393	(4.2)	388	(7.6)
Mongolia	421	(3.2)	444	(3.0)	432	(4.9)	439	(5.2)	430	(4.7)	402	(2.9)	417	(4.4)
Montenegro	419	(3.0)	412	(2.1)	408	(2.8)	402	(3.7)	412	(3.7)	406	(7.1)	388	(9.0)
Morocco	369	(3.5)	363	(3.0)	366	(3.5)	373	(4.9)	362	(4.1)	367	(5.6)	375	(7.3)
North Macedonia	394	(3.2)	400	(1.8)	398	(2.4)	410	(3.0)	406	(3.4)	361	(4.7)	358	(6.2)
Palestinian Authority	368	(2.9)	372	(2.3)	374	(2.9)	372	(3.4)	361	(3.5)	356	(4.4)	345	(7.0)
Panama*	349	(3.7)	362	(4.0)	374	(4.5)	372	(5.4)	386	(6.9)	358	(7.2)	352	(6.9)
Paraguay	358	(2.8)	367	(3.0)	371	(4.4)	352	(6.8)	350	(6.6)	389	(21.5)	349	(12.3)
Peru	391	(2.9)	389	(2.7)	397	(2.9)	403	(3.6)	412	(4.0)	400	(7.2)	404	(16.9)
Philippines	328	(4.1)	347	(2.2)	348	(2.8)	365	(3.0)	375	(4.4)	380	(8.2)	370	(5.6)
Qatar	409	(3.2)	417	(2.4)	421	(3.1)	431	(4.9)	452	(4.9)	455	(6.7)	419	(10.1)
Romania	404	(6.1)	442	(4.6)	445	(4.4)	437	(5.5)	430	(5.2)	393	(6.6)	401	(9.7)
Saudi Arabia	390	(2.1)	393	(2.3)	396	(3.1)	390	(3.7)	384	(3.2)	378	(3.6)	385	(5.7)
Serbia	440	(4.3)	448	(3.9)	445	(3.5)	436	(5.2)	441	(4.4)	427	(7.8)	421	(10.7)
Singapore	527	(7.4)	567	(2.5)	577	(2.6)	587	(2.7)	594	(3.3)	564	(5.4)	554	(7.9)
Chinese Taipei	529	(5.3)	568	(4.4)	552	(5.2)	548	(7.5)	522	(8.4)	527	(8.1)	546	(5.7)
Thailand	373	(4.1)	386	(3.1)	393	(3.0)	406	(4.3)	411	(4.7)	403	(5.0)	397	(4.1)
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	444	(8.9)	458	(5.4)	455	(7.0)	445	(5.7)	421	(6.0)	430	(4.7)	437	(8.6)
UnitedArab Emirates	421	(2.0)	431	(1.7)	437	(2.3)	445	(3.0)	463	(2.3)	453	(2.5)	419	(4.1)
Uruguay	375	(4.5)	428	(3.0)	424	(2.6)	422	(3.6)	406	(4.9)	380	(6.9)	370	(7.9)
Uzbekistan	371	(4,2)	366	(2,5)	363	(2.3)	375	(3.5)	367	(4,1)	357	(2.9)	367	(6.3)
Viet Nam	481	(4.3)	476	(5.4)	454	(7.6)	471	(5.4)	469	(4.2)	487	(5.5)	458	(7.6)

#### Table II.B1.6.31. Reasons for transferring students to another school [1/4]

Results based on principals' reports

			Percen	tage of s	tudents	in schoo	ols wher	e studen	ts would	be trans	ferred to	o anothe	r school	for the f	ollowing	reasons	:	
		Low	academi	c achieve	ment			High	academ	ic achieve	ement			Be	ehaviour	al proble	ms	
	Not	likely	Lil	ely	Very	likely	Not	likely	Li	kely	Very	likely	Not	likely	Li	kely	Very	likel y
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
	95.9	(1.0)	4.1	(1.0)	0.0	(0.0)	90.9	(1.3)	6.8	(0.9)	2.3	(0.8)	77.9	(1.9)	21.3	(1.8)	0.8	(0.4)
Ö Austria	71.5	(2.9)	21.2	(2.5)	7.2	(1.7)	94.4	(0.9)	4.1	(0.9)	1.4	(0.4)	76.8	(2.4)	20.9	(2.4)	2.3	(0.9)
Belgium	56.0	(3.3)	36.1	(3.3)	7.9	(2.0)	94.6	(1.7)	4.8	(1.8)	0.7	(0.6)	46.1	(3.2)	46.9	(3.0)	7.0	(1.8)
Canada*	91.5	(1.3)	7.5	(1.2)	1.0	(0.5)	98.6	(0.5)	1.1	(0.4)	0.3	(0.3)	79.3	(1.7)	18.8	(1.6)	1.9	(0.6)
Chile	92.2	(2.2)	7.8	(2.2)	0.0	С	91.0	(2.3)	8.2	(2.3)	0.8	(0.6)	65.3	(3.5)	31.6	(3.4)	3.1	(1.5)
Colombia	71.8	(3.3)	24.6	(3.2)	3.7	(1.5)	80.1	(2.9)	16.9	(2.6)	2.9	(1.1)	51.3	(3.4)	42.4	(3.7)	6.3	(1.7)
Costa Rica	40.8	(4.1)	53.3	(4.2)	5.9	(1.9)	51.7	(4.4)	40.9	(4.4)	7.4	(1.9)	34.5	(4.1)	51.8	(4.0)	13.7	(2.9)
Czech Republic	58.5	(2.4)	35.1	(2.5)	6.4	(1.5)	88.6	(1.6)	9.8	(1.5)	1.6	(0.7)	61.0	(2.6)	34.8	(2.9)	4.2	(1.4)
Denmark*	92.4	(1.9)	7.6	(1.9)	0.0	С	94.7	(1.4)	4.8	(1.3)	0.5	(0.5)	53.1	(3.4)	45.8	(3.5)	1.1	(0.7)
Estonia	87.0	(2.0)	11.4	(1.9)	1.6	(0.6)	82.6	(1.9)	14.0	(1.7)	3.4	(0.9)	75.6	(2.2)	21.3	(2.1)	3.0	(1.0)
Finland	97.6	(1.1)	2.4	(1.1)	0.0	С	98.5	(0.9)	1.0	(0.7)	0.5	(0.5)	94.1	(1.6)	5.9	(1.6)	0.0	с
France	77.2	(3.0)	17.5	(2.7)	5.3	(1.7)	93.0	(1.8)	6.5	(1.7)	0.5	(0.5)	46.0	(3.6)	45.7	(3.7)	8.4	(1.8)
Germany	67.5	(2.6)	26.4	(2.7)	6.1	(1.7)	87.2	(2.4)	10.5	(2.1)	2.4	(1.4)	79.7	(2.5)	18.5	(2.3)	1.7	(1.0)
Greece	48.1	(3.1)	42.3	(3.3)	9.6	(2.1)	77.0	(3.1)	22.4	(3.1)	0.7	(0.5)	25.4	(2.8)	65.0	(3.0)	9.6	(1.9)
Hungary	56.3	(3.5)	41.2	(3.5)	2.5	(1.3)	92.9	(1.7)	6.3	(1.7)	0.7	(0.4)	50.3	(4.0)	45.1	(4.1)	4.6	(1.7)
Iceland	98.9	(0.1)	0.0	с	1.1	(0.1)	97.8	(0.1)	1.1	(0.1)	1.1	(0.1)	97.2	(0.1)	1.8	(0.1)	1.1	(0.1)
Ireland*	96.9	(1.4)	2.5	(1.3)	0.6	(0.6)	96.9	(1.4)	3.1	(1.4)	0.0	c	94.6	(1.8)	4.4	(1.7)	1.0	(0.7)
Israel	79.1	(3.3)	18.1	(3.3)	2.8	(1.3)	95.3	(1.7)	4.7	(1.7)	0.0	С	33.9	(3.4)	57.1	(3.5)	9.0	(1.9)
Italy	35.2	(3.6)	55.5	(3.9)	9.2	(2.4)	97.0	(1.3)	3.0	(1.3)	0.0	(0.0)	65.1	(4.0)	31.9	(4.0)	3.1	(1.3)
Japan	21.5	(3.2)	72.1	(3.5)	6.4	(1.6)	97.2	(1.2)	2.8	(1.2)	0.0	c	41.4	(3.5)	56.4	(3.6)	2.3	(1.0)
Korea	72.4	(3.7)	25.2	(3.5)	2.4	(1.1)	82.7	(2.7)	15.9	(2.7)	1.4	(0.8)	45.6	(5.4)	46.8	(5.4)	7.6	(1.8)
Latvia*	79.4	(2.3)	20.4	(2.3)	0.2	(0.2)	84.1	(2.4)	13.3	(2.4)	2.5	(0.9)	74.4	(2.7)	24.4	(2.7)	1.1	(0.3)
Lithuania	85.8	(1.5)	12.7	(1.5)	1.5	(0.5)	85.6	(1.5)	12.0	(1.4)	2.4	(0.9)	70.6	(1.8)	26.4	(1.8)	3.0	(1.0)
Mexico	72.3	(3.2)	23.8	(3.0)	3.9	(1.3)	78.0	(2.9)	16.9	(2.6)	5.1	(1.6)	60.9	(3.4)	34.1	(3.2)	5.1	(1.4)
Netherlands*	59.4	(4.4)	33.3	(4.2)	7.3	(3.1)	83.1	(3.6)	16.5	(3.6)	0.3	(0.4)	71.6	(4.6)	26.2	(4.1)	2.1	(2.3)
New Zealand*	98.8	(1.2)	1.2	(1.2)	0.0	c	98.4	(1.2)	1.6	(1.2)	0.0	c	79.9	(3.2)	16.7	(3.1)	3.4	(1.2)
Norway	99.5	(0.5)	0.5	(0.5)	0.0	С	99.3	(0.5)	0.5	(0.5)	0.2	(0.1)	92.4	(1.8)	7.6	(1.8)	0.0	c
Poland	48.0	(2.9)	48.5	(2.9)	3.5	(1.2)	83.2	(2.7)	15.6	(2.6)	1.2	(0.7)	49.7	(2.9)	48.4	(2.9)	1.9	(0.9)
Portugal	89.7	(2.3)	10.3	(2.3)	0.0	c	97.6	(1.0)	2.4	(1.0)	0.0	c	75.3	(3.0)	24.0	(2.9)	0.8	(0.6)
Slovak Republic	72.9	(2.8)	24.9	(2.8)	2.3	(1.2)	89.2	(1.9)	9.5	(1.8)	1.3	(0.6)	68.7	(3.0)	29.1	(3.0)	2.2	(1.1)
Slovenia	26.3	(0.5)	59.4	(0.5)	14.3	(0.2)	82.6	(0.3)	17.1	(0.3)	0.3	(0.0)	48.4	(0.6)	49.3	(0.6)	22	(0 1)
Spain	97.2	(0.7)	28	(0.7)	0.0	(0.1)	98.0	(0.7)	18	(0.7)	0.2	(0.1)	74.9	(2.2)	23.8	(2.2)	1.3	(0.5)
Sweden	99.3	(0.5)	0.7	(0.5)	0.0	(0) C	99.2	(0.6)	0.0	(o) C	0.8	(0.6)	93.5	(1.7)	6.5	(1.7)	0.0	(0.0) C
Switzerland	72.4	(3.1)	17.1	(2.6)	10.5	(2.2)	76.4	(3.2)	18.8	(3.0)	4.8	(1.6)	61.6	(3.6)	36.4	(3.9)	1.0	(0.9)
Türkiye	77.5	(3.2)	19.9	(3.0)	2.6	(1.3)	72.8	(3.0)	24.4	(3.0)	27	(1.0)	27.3	(3.6)	57.8	(3.8)	14.9	(2.6)
United Kingdom	98.6	(0.8)	0.6	(0.5)	0.8	(0.6)	98.1	(1.1)	13	(0.9)	0.6	(0.6)	72.1	(3.4)	25.3	(3.3)	26	(1.4)
United States*	Q1 1	(2.2)	5.3	(2.2)	0.0	(0.3)	98.0	(1.0)	10	(1.0)	0.0	(0.0)	72.0	(3.5)	27.0	(3.5)	1.0	(0.8)
United States	54.4	(2.2)	5.5	(2.2)	0.5	(0.3)	50.0	(1.0)	1.9	(1.0)	0.2	(0.2)	12.0	(3.3)	27.0	(3.5)	1.0	(0.0)
OECD average	75.1	(0.4)	21.4	(0.4)	3.4	(0.2)	89.4	(0.3)	9.2	(0.3)	1.4	(0.1)	64.5	(0.5)	31.8	(0.5)	3.7	(0.2)

### Table II.B1.6.31. Reasons for transferring students to another school [2/4]

Results based on principals' reports

				Percen	tage of s	tudents	in schoo	ls wher	e student	s would	be transf	erred to	o another	school	for the fo	llowing	reasons:		
			Lowa	academi	c achieve	ment			High	academ	ic ach ieve	ment			Be	haviour	al problei	ns	
		Not	likely	Lik	kely	Very	likely	Not	likely	Li	kely	Very	likely	Not	likely	Li	kely	Very	likel y
s	Albania	%	S.E.	% 07.0	5.E.	% 2.1	S.E.	% 91.0	S.E.	16.4	S.E.	% 17	S.E.	52.2	S.E.	% 42.0	S.E.	%	S.E.
ner	Albania	09.7	(2.5)	21.2	(2.3)	3.1	(0.0)	01.9	(2.1)	10.4	(2.0)	1.7	(0.9)	52.2	(2.0)	42.9	(3.0)	4.9	(1.1)
Part	Argentina	84.3	(2.4)	13.4	(2.1)	2.3	(1.0)	94.9	(1.4)	4.4	(1.3)	0.7	(0.5)	64.9	(2.8)	31.2	(2.8)	3.9	(1.1)
	Baku (Azerbaijan)	62.7	(4.3) T	28.9	(3.9) T	8.4	(2.6) T	58.2	(4.1) T	35.4	(4.1) T	0.4	(1.8) T	49.1	(4.3) T	39.3	(4.0) T	11.0	(3.0) T
	Brazii	88.0	(1.3)	10.3	(1.2)	1.7	(0.6)	90.9	(1.3)	7.9	(1.4)	1.2	(0.6)	50.5	(2.3)	39.2	(2.4)	4.3	(1.0)
	Brunei Darussalam	81.1	(0.1)	18.6	(0.1)	0.3	(0.0)	87.0	(0.1)	13.0	(0.1)	0.0	С	57.5	(0.1)	36.3	(0.1)	6.2	(0.0)
	Bulgaria	79.0	(3.4)	18.6	(3.2)	2.4	(1.2)	95.3	(1.7)	4.7	(1.7)	0.0	C	20.1	(3.2)	53.0	(3.8)	20.3	(3.0)
	Cambodia	70.9	(4.0)	20.5	(4.3)	2.0	(1.5)	70.3	(4.5)	17.9	(4.1)	0.0	(2.4)	13.0	(4.0)	10.1	(4.7)	0.2	(3.1)
	Croatia	64.0	(3.7)	29.0	(3.4)	7.0	(2.1)	91.3	(2.0)	8.7	(2.0)	0.0	C	67.9	(3.3)	28.9	(3.2)	3.2	(1.4)
	Cyprus Deministra Demoktion	76.0	(0.3)	20.5	(0.3)	3.5	(0.1)	92.2	(0.1)	6.0	(0.1)	1.8	(0.1)	17.0	(0.3)	66.2	(0.3)	16.8	(0.3)
	Dominican Republic	76.4	(3.4) T	19.9	(3.1) T	3.7	(1.6) T	88.1	(2.6) T	8.0	(2.4) T	3.8	(1.5) T	50.7	(4.0) T	39.4	(4.1) T	9.9	(2.5) T
	El Salvador	85.6	(2.3)	11.5	(2.0)	2.9	(1.3)	78.3	(2.6)	14.4	(2.3)	7.3	(1.6)	73.2	(2.7)	19.7	(2.4)	7.1	(1.8)
	Georgia	05.4	(3.1)	31.0	(3.4)	3.0	(1.3)	79.0	(2.5)	17.7	(2.4)	3.3	(1.4)	63.5	(3.4)	32.8	(3.3)	3.0	(1.1)
	Guatemala	76.3	(2.3)	20.5	(2.4)	3.2	(1.2)	79.0	(2.8)	13.6	(2.2)	1.5	(1.8)	59.0	(3.3)	33.0	(3.2)	7.4	(1.9)
	Hong Kong (China)*	33.2	(4.3) †	53.6	(4.3)†	13.2	(3.0) †	55.8	(4.9) †	39.7	(5.0) †	4.5	(2.2) †	39.6	(3.6) †	51.8	(3.6)†	8.5	(2.9)†
	Indonesia	76.2	(3.0)	22.3	(2.9)	1.5	(0.9)	85.6	(2.1)	12.6	(2.1)	1.8	(0.8)	20.0	(2.8)	53.6	(3.6)	26.4	(3.6)
	Jamaica*	81.4	(2.3)†	18.4	(2.3)†	0.2	(0.2) †	65.5	(3.5) †	23.3	(2.9) †	11.1	(1.8) †	30.6	(4.2) †	54.4	(4.0)†	15.1	(2.6)†
	Jordan	69.3	(2.8)	25.1	(2.7)	5.5	(1.3)	58.5	(2.9)	31.5	(2.9)	9.9	(2.2)	9.8	(2.1)	57.6	(3.5)	32.7	(3.4)
	Kazakhstan	/1.4	(2.2)	25.6	(2.1)	3.0	(0.8)	62.6	(2.5)	32.2	(2.6)	5.2	(1.2)	64.1	(2.3)	31.4	(2.3)	4.5	(0.7)
	Kosovo	51.3	(1.2)	47.4	(1.2)	1.3	(0.4)	60.3	(1.3)	32.0	(1.3)	7.7	(0.6)	7.8	(0.7)	64.2	(1.3)	28.0	(1.2)
	Macao (China)	16.2	(0.0)	55.2	(0.1)	28.6	(0.1)	58.1	(0.1)	38.1	(0.1)	3.9	(0.0)	10.4	(0.0)	65.7	(0.1)	23.8	(0.1)
	Malaysia	84.5	(2.4)	12.4	(2.3)	3.1	(1.3)	53.4	(3.0)	27.1	(3.1)	19.5	(3.0)	41.5	(3.4)	44.6	(3.6)	13.9	(2.4)
	Malta	100.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	С	93.2	(0.1)	3.3	(0.1)	3.4	(0.1)	87.5	(0.1)	12.5	(0.1)	0.0	С
	Moldova	95.2	(1.5)	4.5	(1.5)	0.3	(0.2)	90.2	(2.0)	7.1	(1.8)	2.7	(0.9)	91.4	(2.1)	8.0	(2.0)	0.6	(0.4)
	Mongolia	61.0	(3.2)	36.2	(3.2)	2.9	(1.1)	43.4	(3.3)	48.5	(3.2)	8.2	(1.8)	50.7	(3.2)	45.6	(3.2)	3.8	(1.3)
	Montenegro	91.9	(0.3)	5.6	(0.3)	2.5	(0.0)	85.3	(0.4)	14.7	(0.4)	0.0	С	74.2	(0.5)	24.4	(0.7)	1.4	(0.4)
	Morocco	86.5	(2.7)	11.1	(2.4)	2.4	(1.2)	/3.2	(3.5)	18.0	(3.0)	8.9	(2.4)	42.3	(4.2)	47.0	(4.1)	10.7	(1.8)
	North Macedonia	44.1	(0.1)	49.3	(0.1)	6.6	(0.0)	61.6	(0.1)	35.5	(0.1)	2.9	(0.0)	7.0	(0.0)	/8.8	(0.1)	14.3	(0.1)
	Palestinian Authority	11.3	(2.4)	20.3	(2.4)	2.5	(0.9)	66.8	(3.0)	24.5	(2.9)	8.7	(1.8)	11.3	(1.9)	60.8	(3.3)	27.9	(3.0)
	Panama <sup>*</sup>	63.3	(4.6) T	32.2	(4.6) T	4.6	(1.2) T	82.1	(3.9) T	14.3	(3.9) T	3.6	(1.7) T	24.4	(4.2) T	56.3	(4.7) T	19.4	(4.1) T
	Paraguay	/4.1	(3.4)	23.5	(3.2)	2.4	(1.1)	80.3	(3.1)	15.3	(2.9)	4.4	(1.6)	53.6	(3.6)	38.8	(3.6)	7.5	(1.8)
	Peru	89.3	(1.8)	10.5	(1.8)	0.2	(0.2)	76.2	(2.1)	19.2	(2.1)	4.5	(1.2)	/3.3	(2.3)	23.1	(2.3)	3.6	(1.1)
	Philippines	87.0	(2.7)	12.5	(2.8)	0.5	(0.5)	79.7	(3.6)	16.2	(3.5)	4.1	(1.4)	57.7	(3.5)	34.7	(3.2)	7.6	(1.9)
	Qatar	60.8	(0.1)	35.4	(0.1)	3.8	(0.0)	/5.2	(0.1)	16.6	(0.1)	8.1	(0.1)	29.1	(0.1)	57.2	(0.1)	13.7	(0.1)
	Romania	63.2	(3.3)	33.0	(3.4)	3.8	(1.2)	70.2	(3.4)	26.2	(3.1)	3.6	(1.4)	59.6	(3.8)	36.4	(3.5)	4.0	(1.6)
	Saudi Arabia	63.1	(3.3)	32.2	(3.3)	4.7	(1.2)	74.0	(3.6)	23.5	(3.4)	2.5	(1.1)	29.2	(3.2)	50.2	(3.5)	20.6	(3.1)
	Serbia	/1.5	(3.2)	21.5	(3.2)	7.1	(1.8)	88.2	(2.5)	10.3	(2.4)	1.5	(0.9)	37.0	(3.1)	51.0	(3.3)	12.1	(2.5)
	Singapore	95.9	(1.1)	3.3	(1.1)	0.8	(0.0)	97.4	(0.0)	1.4	(0.0)	1.2	(0.0)	89.7	(1.3)	10.3	(1.3)	0.0	C
	Chinese laipei	32.4	(4.1)	50.5	(3.9)	17.1	(2.5)	11.9	(3.6)	22.0	(3.6)	0.0	(0.0)	18.6	(3.3)	01.0	(4.0)	19.8	(3.0)
	I hailand	45.7	(3.8)	53.6	(3.9)	0.7	(0.4)	53.3	(4.2)	40.6	(3.7)	6.1	(1.9)	13.4	(2.4)	81.8	(2.8)	4.8	(1.8)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	84.9	(3.0)	10.9	(2.5)	4.2	(1.7)	87.9	(2.7)	10.8	(2.6)	1.3	(0.9)	80.7	(3.4)	18.2	(3.3)	1.1	(0.9)
	United Arab Emirates	/6.4	(0.3)	20.1	(0.5)	3.4	(0.7)	86.2	(0.2)	10.9	(0.1)	3.0	(0.1)	42.4	(0.8)	47.0	(0.9)	10.6	(0.1)
	Uruguay	90.8	(1.9)	8.2	(1.8)	1.1	(0.8)	93.7	(1.5)	6.3	(1.5)	0.0	C	74.8	(2.7)	23.9	(2.6)	1.3	(0.8)
	Uzbekistan	/9.5	(2.6)	13.8	(2.3)	6.7	(1.5)	65.4	(3.1)	27.2	(3.1)	1.4	(1.9)	66.1	(3.4)	27.0	(3.1)	6.9	(1.6)
	Viet Nam	42.1	(3.9)	52.5	(3.9)	5.4	(2.1)	43.8	(3.8)	47.9	(3.9)	8.3	(1.7)	45.6	(4.2)	50.6	(4.1)	3.9	(1.9)

#### Table II.B1.6.31. Reasons for transferring students to another school [3/4]

Results based on principals' reports

		Percenta	age of stude	nts in school	ls where stu	dents would	be transfer	red to anoth	er school fo	r the followir	ig reasons:	
		Special       ot likely     (1.3)       (2.5)     17.       (2.8)     31.		rning needs				Pa	arents' or gu	ardians' requ	est	
	Not	likely	Li	kely	Very	likely	Not	likely	Li	kely	Very	likel y
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
B Australia*	89.2	(1.3)	10.3	(1.2)	0.5	(0.3)	50.4	(2.2)	38.7	(1.8)	10.9	(1.4)
Ö Austria	79.0	(2.5)	17.7	(2.3)	3.3	(1.0)	46.2	(2.9)	31.7	(2.5)	22.1	(2.3)
Belgium	65.2	(2.8)	31.8	(2.7)	3.0	(1.0)	34.5	(3.2)	46.5	(3.5)	19.0	(2.6)
Canada*	81.6	(1.4)	17.0	(1.4)	1.4	(0.6)	46.1	(2.2)	45.9	(2.2)	8.0	(1.3)
Chile	85.7	(2.6)	13.5	(2.4)	0.8	(0.8)	26.0	(3.5)	56.8	(3.9)	17.2	(2.6)
Colombia	90.7	(2.1)	8.7	(2.0)	0.6	(0.4)	5.2	(1.5)	46.4	(3.8)	48.4	(3.6)
Costa Rica	61.1	(4.4)	32.6	(4.3)	6.3	(2.2)	3.0	(1.5)	62.3	(3.9)	34.7	(4.0)
Czech Republic	86.6	(1.8)	12.8	(1.8)	0.5	(0.3)	38.5	(2.9)	56.2	(3.0)	5.3	(1.2)
Denmark*	46.0	(3.5)	52.0	(3.4)	2.0	(1.0)	25.3	(2.9)	61.8	(2.9)	12.9	(2.2)
Estonia	67.5	(2.7)	29.4	(2.6)	3.1	(1.1)	16.7	(1.9)	58.5	(2.9)	24.8	(2.5)
Finland	92.7	(1.6)	6.6	(1.6)	0.7	(0.5)	49.2	(3.3)	47.6	(3.4)	3.2	(1.2)
France	80.7	(2.8)	17.2	(2.7)	2.1	(0.9)	30.7	(3.7)	51.5	(4.0)	17.9	(2.7)
Germany	79.6	(2.6)	18.7	(2.4)	1.7	(1.0)	35.9	(3.7)	51.4	(3.7)	12.7	(2.4)
Greece	51.0	(3.4)	44.3	(3.3)	4.7	(1.3)	8.9	(1.9)	60.9	(3.3)	30.1	(3.0)
Hungary	93.5	(1.8)	5.8	(1.8)	0.6	(0.7)	33.9	(3.4)	47.7	(3.5)	18.5	(3.1)
Iceland	95.4	(0.1)	3.6	(0.1)	1.1	(0.1)	39.6	(0.3)	51.8	(0.3)	8.7	(0.1)
Ireland*	96.0	(1.5)	3.0	(1.4)	0.9	(0.7)	75.4	(3.2)	22.4	(3.2)	2.3	(1.1)
Israel	47.0	(3.5)	46.8	(3.5)	6.2	(1.8)	16.5	(2.7)	62.8	(3.6)	20.7	(2.9)
Italy	91.3	(1.7)	8.2	(1.6)	0.5	(0.5)	11.5	(2.2)	60.2	(3.6)	28.3	(3.4)
Japan	49.1	(3.4)	50.7	(3.5)	0.3	(0.3)	32.3	(3.4)	66.9	(3.4)	0.8	(0.6)
Korea	80.9	(3.2)	17.2	(3.0)	1.9	(1.0)	39.2	(4.9)	45.7	(4.4)	15.1	(4.6)
Latvia*	55.1	(3.0)	40.6	(2.8)	4.3	(1.4)	16.1	(2.0)	48.3	(2.7)	35.5	(2.9)
Lithuania	77.9	(2.0)	20.6	(2.0)	1.5	(0.7)	10.5	(1.7)	38.8	(2.8)	50.7	(2.5)
Mexico	62.8	(3.7)	30.3	(3.3)	6.9	(1.7)	12.5	(3.0)	48.6	(3.3)	38.9	(3.1)
Netherlands*	49.0	(5.4)	42.0	(4.7)	9.1	(3.6)	55.2	(4.6)	32.8	(4.6)	11.9	(3.1)
New Zealand*	97.8	(1.5)	2.2	(1.5)	0.0	С	59.9	(4.2)	27.1	(3.7)	13.0	(2.7)
Norway	86.8	(2.4)	12.7	(2.4)	0.5	(0.5)	58.4	(3.2)	35.5	(3.3)	6.1	(1.2)
Poland	63.4	(2.9)	34.1	(2.6)	2.5	(1.0)	4.6	(1.1)	66.8	(3.2)	28.6	(3.1)
Portugal	91.3	(1.6)	8.1	(1.8)	0.6	(0.6)	16.2	(2.5)	53.2	(3.6)	30.6	(3.2)
Slovak Republic	83.8	(2.6)	15.2	(2.5)	1.0	(0.5)	49.7	(3.4)	42.3	(3.3)	8.0	(2.0)
Slovenia	60.4	(0.7)	35.6	(0.7)	4.1	(0.2)	10.8	(0.3)	59.5	(0.5)	29.7	(0.5)
Spain	82.5	(1.8)	16.0	(1.8)	1.4	(0.6)	43.0	(2.3)	47.2	(2.5)	9.8	(1.3)
Sweden	90.7	(1.9)	9.3	(1.9)	0.0	C	57.5	(3.4)	33.2	(3.3)	9.2	(2.1)
Switzerland	61.2	(3.2)	36.3	(3.3)	2.4	(1.1)	58.6	(3.8)	36.0	(3.7)	5.5	(1.8)
Türkive	43,8	(3.6)	50.9	(3.6)	5.3	(1.6)	2.8	(1.3)	53.6	(3.8)	43.6	(3.7)
United Kingdont	91.4	(2.0)	6.7	(1.9)	1.9	(1.1)	60.4	(3.4)	36.0	(3.4)	3.6	(1.1)
United States*	90.0	(2.5)	9.5	(2.6)	0.6	(0.5)	66.4	(4.3)	26.1	(4.2)	7.5	(2.1)
	00.0	(2.0)	0.0	(=)	0.0	(0.0)		(	20	()		()
OECD average	75.6	(0.4)	22.1	(0.4)	2.3	(0.2)	33.7	(0.5)	47.5	(0.5)	18.8	(0.4)

### Table II.B1.6.31. Reasons for transferring students to another school [4/4]

Results based on principals' reports

		Percenta	ge of stude	nts in school	s where stu	dents woul	d be transf	erred to anoth	er school fo	r the followin	g reasons:	
			Special lea	rning needs				Pa	arents'or gu	ıardians' requ	est	
	Not	likely	Li	kely	Very	likely	N	ot likely	Li	ikely	Very	likel y
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
울 Albania	60.3	(2.8)	37.2	(2.9)	2.6	(0.9)	8.9	(1.5)	68.0	(2.6)	23.1	(2.4)
E Argentina	77.1	(2.8)	20.1	(2.5)	2.8	(1.1)	12.7	(1.9)	49.6	(2.7)	37.7	(2.6)
Baku (Azerbaijan)	40.8	(4.3) †	53.6	(4.3) †	5.6	(2.1) †	6.3	(2.1) †	52.6	(4.0) †	41.1	(4.0) †
Brazil	82.0	(2.2)	15.8	(2.1)	2.3	(0.7)	8.2	(1.1)	42.5	(2.1)	49.3	(2.2)
Brunei Darussalam	62.7	(0.1)	37.0	(0.1)	0.3	(0.0)	14.0	(0.1)	63.5	(0.1)	22.5	(0.1)
Bulgaria	86.4	(2.6)	9.0	(2.2)	4.6	(1.7)	17.1	(3.2)	41.2	(3.8)	41.7	(3.7)
Cambodia	42.5	(5.7)	40.9	(5.9)	16.6	(3.8)	5.5	(2.1)	33.5	(5.2)	61.0	(5.6)
Croatia	58.9	(3.8)	38.5	(3.7)	2.6	(1.3)	15.2	(2.4)	55.6	(3.7)	29.2	(3.4)
Cyprus	64.4	(0.7)	30.4	(0.7)	5.2	(0.2)	1.1	(0.2)	65.7	(0.3)	26.6	(0.4)
Dominican Republic	62.5	(3.7) T	28.4	(4.0) T	9.1	(2.4) T	11.0	(2.3) T	35.2	(3.6) T	53.8	(3.8) T
El Salvador	52.1	(3.4)	35.3	(3.3)	12.6	(2.4)	10.7	(2.0)	41.3	(3.5)	48.0	(3.5)
Georgia	84.6	(2.5)	14.7	(2.4)	0.7	(0.5)	14.2	(2.4)	59.3	(3.3)	26.5	(3.0)
Guatemala	/2.6	(3.2)	20.2	(2.5)	1.2	(1.8)	10.4	(1.6)	51.8	(3.4)	31.1	(3.4)
Hong Kong (China)*	54.8	(4.1) †	43.7	(4.1) †	1.5	(1.2) †	20.1	(3.6) †	/0.0	(4.1) †	9.9	(2.7) †
Indonesia	65.9	(3.6)	28.9	(3.2)	5.2	(1.6)	4.1	(1.3)	44.4	(3.3)	51.5	(3.5)
Jamaica <sup>*</sup>	51.9	(3.7) T	34.7	(3.5) T	13.4	(1.7) T	5.7	(2.2) T	48.3	(4.3) T	46.0	(4.4) T
Jordan	23.0	(2.7)	56.4	(3.1)	20.6	(2.5)	5.6	(1.7)	31.9	(3.5)	62.4	(3.7)
Kazakhstan	51.3	(2.6)	43.8	(2.5)	4.8	(1.2)	5.0	(0.9)	60.1	(2.4)	35.0	(2.3)
Kosovo	43.3	(1.4)	53.9	(1.4)	2.8	(0.3)	3.5	(0.3)	/1./	(1.4)	24.9	(1.4)
Macao (China)	18.3	(0.1)	73.2	(0.1)	8.5	(0.0)	20.5	(0.0)	59.7	(0.1)	19.8	(0.0)
Malaysia	43.5	(3.5)	38.5	(3.5)	18.0	(2.8)	1.4	(0.8)	29.7	(3.4)	68.8	(3.5)
Malta	90.9	(0.2)	9.1	(0.2)	0.0	C	64.5	(0.1)	35.5	(0.1)	0.0	C
Moldova	89.8	(2.4)	9.4	(2.4)	0.9	(0.4)	13.7	(2.5)	39.9	(3.0)	46.4	(3.2)
Mongolia	37.8	(3.3)	55.3	(3.5)	6.9	(1.9)	11.6	(2.3)	63.3	(3.1)	25.1	(2.6)
Montenegro	84.1	(0.5)	14.6	(0.5)	1.2	(0.0)	10.8	(0.6)	49.3	(0.6)	39.9	(0.7)
Morocco	27.5	(3.3)	58.1	(3.6)	14.4	(2.6)	2.3	(1.2)	32.0	(3.4)	65.7	(3.5)
North Macedonia	46.3	(0.1)	45.1	(0.1)	8.7	(0.1)	2.4	(0.0)	/1.2	(0.1)	26.4	(0.1)
Palestinian Authority	27.8	(3.0)	55.6	(3.2)	16.6	(2.3)	3.9	(1.2)	49.5	(3.3)	46.5	(3.1)
Panama*	69.0	(3.6) †	27.2	(3.6) †	3.8	(1.2) †	8.2	(2.6) †	37.3	(4.5) †	54.4	(4.6) †
Paraguay	70.5	(3.1)	24.3	(2.8)	5.2	(1.6)	8.8	(2.0)	45.4	(3.7)	45.9	(3.7)
Peru	91.8	(1.5)	7.0	(1.4)	1.2	(0.6)	7.3	(1.0)	39.8	(2.8)	52.9	(2.8)
Philippines	60.6	(4.0)	33.9	(3.9)	5.4	(1.7)	10.3	(2.3)	54.2	(3.8)	35.5	(3.8)
Qatar	54.4	(0.1)	30.3	(0.1)	15.3	(0.1)	13.7	(0.1)	60.9	(0.1)	25.4	(0.1)
Romania	72.9	(3.7)	25.0	(3.6)	2.1	(1.1)	6.9	(1.8)	36.2	(3.6)	57.0	(3.7)
SaudiArabia	24.5	(3.5)	48.3	(4.2)	27.2	(3.4)	3.9	(1.5)	30.9	(3.4)	65.3	(3.5)
Serbia	/9.6	(3.2)	17.6	(2.9)	2.8	(1.3)	8.2	(1.7)	40.2	(3.8)	51.6	(3.8)
Singapore Obligant Triani	93.4	(0.9)	5.9	(0.9)	0.8	(0.0)	60.5	(0.8)	34.4	(1.0)	5.1	(0.6)
Chinese laipei	27.0	(3.0)	59.6	(4.2)	13.4	(2.9)	16.0	(2.8)	04.0	(4.1)	19.4	(3.5)
	47.0	(3.5)	52.2	(3.0)	0.8	(0.6)	4.8	(1.6)	/4.6	(3.5)	20.6	(3.0)
Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	/6.3	(4.4)	22.4	(4.3)	1.3	(0.9)	5.5	(2.6)	64.0	(5.6)	30.5	(5.3)
UnitedArab Emirates	64.0	(0.6)	29.4	(0.5)	6.5	(0.1)	12.2	(0.2)	53.1	(0.9)	34.7	(1.0)
Uruguay	63.7	(2.8)	33.6	(2.9)	2.7	(1.1)	4.7	(1.3)	55.3	(3.0)	40.0	(2.7)
Uzbekistan	37.7	(3.7)	45.3	(3.6)	16.9	(2.7)	5.9	(1.6)	54.6	(3.5)	39.5	(3.7)
Viet Nam	41.4	(4.1)	47.9	(4.1)	10.8	(2.4)	0.0	С	48.1	(4.0)	51.9	(4.0)

#### Table II.B1.6.38. Assessment practices at school [1/8]

Results based on principals' reports

					Perc	entage	of stud	ents in s	chools	where s	tudent	s are ass	essed i	n the fol	llowing	ways:				
									Manda	tory sta	ndardis	sed tests	_				_			
		Ne	ever			1-2 times	s per ye	ar	:	3-5 time	s per ye	ar		Мо	nthly		Мо	re than o	once a r	nonth
	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics
0 4 4 4 4	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Australia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
o Austria	51.0	(3.1)	61.1	(3.2)	30.3	(2.7)	26.0	(2.6)	13.2	(2.0)	9.7	(1.9)	3.7	(1.1)	2.6	(0.9)	1.7	(0.7)	0.6	(0.4)
Belgium	66.4	(2.9)	/4.4	(3.0)	30.8	(2.9)	24.2	(2.9)	0.3	(0.4)	0.4	(0.4)	0.5	(0.5)	0.0	C	1.9	(1.0)	1.0	(0.7)
Canada*	17.0	(1.3)	35.1	(1.8)	75.9	(1.7)	62.1	(1.9)	5.7	(1.0)	1.0	(0.3)	0.6	(0.3)	0.6	(0.4)	0.8	(0.5)	1.2	(0.7)
Chile	2.5	(0.9)	3.0	(1.0)	76.9	(3.6)	80.5	(3.1)	16.8	(3.4)	13.5	(2.6)	2.5	(1.2)	2.5	(1.2)	1.3	(0.8)	0.5	(0.4)
Colombia	22.4	(2.6)	19.6	(2.8)	50.9	(3.1)	53.1	(2.9)	13.7	(2.3)	12.9	(2.2)	6.7	(2.0)	6.6	(1.7)	6.4	(1.2)	7.8	(1.9)
Costa Rica	68.6	(3.9)	70.6	(3.7)	28.4	(3.8)	25.7	(3.3)	0.7	(0.7)	2.4	(1.4)	0.1	(0.1)	0.9	(0.9)	2.1	(1.0)	0.5	(0.5)
Czech Republic	24.9	(2.4)	33.0	(2.6)	66.5	(2.5)	62.4	(2.6)	4.0	(1.1)	3.3	(1.1)	2.1	(1.0)	0.3	(0.3)	2.5	(1.0)	1.0	(0.6)
Denmark*	19.8	(2.9)	22.9	(2.9)	69.2	(3.5)	66.3	(3.3)	10.1	(1.9)	10.3	(2.1)	0.9	(0.6)	0.3	(0.2)	0.0	С	0.1	(0.0)
Estonia	1.9	(0.4)	2.0	(0.4)	94.8	(1.4)	97.7	(0.5)	2.7	(1.2)	0.0	С	0.5	(0.5)	0.0	С	0.0	С	0.3	(0.3)
Finland	44.1	(3.2)	48.6	(3.2)	49.7	(3.3)	46.7	(3.3)	3.9	(1.3)	3.3	(1.0)	2.3	(1.1)	1.3	(0.7)	0.0	С	0.0	С
France	4.9	(1.4)	7.5	(1.7)	87.1	(2.1)	87.7	(2.3)	4.8	(1.7)	2.7	(1.2)	0.9	(0.6)	1.7	(1.0)	2.3	(1.1)	0.5	(0.5)
Germany	39.7	(3.4)	50.3	(3.4)	59.5	(3.5)	48.1	(3.4)	0.8	(0.6)	0.9	(0.3)	0.0	С	0.7	(0.7)	0.0	С	0.0	С
Greece	17.4	(2.4)	35.7	(3.2)	55.5	(3.3)	46.2	(3.7)	14.7	(2.4)	10.3	(2.1)	6.1	(1.3)	6.3	(1.4)	6.3	(1.5)	1.5	(0.9)
Hungary	11.2	(2.5)	19.6	(3.6)	85.3	(2.8)	77.2	(3.7)	3.0	(1.3)	2.0	(1.2)	0.2	(0.2)	1.3	(0.8)	0.2	(0.2)	0.0	С
Iceland	70.0	(0.3)	75.7	(0.2)	24.0	(0.2)	24.2	(0.2)	5.9	(0.1)	0.1	(0.0)	0.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	(0.0)	0.0	С
Ireland*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Israel	25.4	(3.6)	35.0	(3.8)	52.2	(4.0)	47.5	(4.0)	13.7	(2.3)	10.8	(2.4)	5.5	(1.9)	5.0	(1.8)	3.2	(1.3)	1.8	(1.0)
Italy	4.3	(1.4)	9.4	(1.9)	92.0	(1.9)	87.7	(1.9)	1.2	(0.7)	2.3	(1.1)	2.1	(1.0)	0.7	(0.7)	0.4	(0.4)	0.0	С
Japan	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Korea	24.4	(4.2)	47.0	(5.1)	65.2	(4.4)	26.9	(4.1)	10.4	(2.1)	25.1	(4.9)	0.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	С	1.0	(0.7)
Latvia*	2.0	(0.8)	0.3	(0.3)	88.6	(2.2)	97.5	(1.1)	6.1	(1.6)	1.9	(1.0)	1.6	(1.0)	0.3	(0.3)	1.7	(1.1)	0.0	С
Lithuania	42.0	(2.4)	33.8	(2.2)	56.1	(2.4)	50.5	(2.5)	1.1	(0.6)	5.7	(1.3)	0.3	(0.3)	7.6	(1.6)	0.5	(0.0)	2.4	(0.7)
Mexico	18.9	(3.2)	22.0	(3.0)	72.5	(3.6)	72.3	(3.2)	3.7	(1.1)	3.4	(1.0)	2.9	(1.3)	1.6	(0.9)	1.9	(0.6)	0.7	(0.7)
Netherlands*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
New Zealand*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Norway	21.1	(3.0)	29.6	(3.4)	70.5	(2.9)	64.3	(3.5)	6.5	(1.6)	5.3	(1.4)	1.9	(0.9)	0.8	(0.6)	0.0	С	0.0	С
Poland	44.4	(3.3)	50.1	(3.5)	41.8	(3.4)	38.6	(3.3)	8.8	(1.7)	5.3	(1.6)	2.1	(0.9)	2.7	(1.1)	2.9	(1.0)	3.3	(1.3)
Portugal	36.3	(3.6)	44.6	(3.4)	40.4	(3.3)	38.0	(3.6)	14.8	(2.8)	9.8	(1.9)	6.1	(1.7)	7.2	(1.9)	2.3	(1.1)	0.4	(0.4)
Slovak Republic	21.7	(2.8)	31.0	(3.2)	70.7	(2.9)	64.2	(3.2)	5.5	(1.4)	4.1	(1.3)	1.8	(0.9)	0.7	(0.5)	0.4	(0.4)	0.0	С
Slovenia	51.8	(0.3)	57.0	(0.3)	39.0	(0.6)	32.2	(0.6)	8.7	(0.4)	9.0	(0.4)	0.4	(0.1)	1.5	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)	0.3	(0.0)
Spain	38.5	(2.0)	42.8	(2.0)	49.7	(2.3)	49.5	(2.1)	8.0	(1.2)	4.9	(1.0)	1.4	(0.5)	1.8	(0.6)	2.5	(0.9)	1.0	(0.4)
Sweden	0.0	С	0.0	С	58.1	(3.5)	82.7	(2.7)	34.1	(3.6)	14.6	(2.7)	5.2	(1.4)	2.1	(1.0)	2.6	(1.1)	0.6	(0.6)
Switzerland	34.4	(3.5)	39.6	(3.7)	60.8	(3.5)	57.0	(3.8)	1.4	(1.0)	2.4	(1.2)	1.9	(1.2)	1.0	(0.7)	1.5	(0.8)	0.0	С
Türkiye	41.8	(4.0)	46.5	(3.7)	23.1	(2.9)	20.9	(3.2)	16.0	(2.7)	17.2	(2.8)	11.4	(2.7)	7.2	(2.0)	7.6	(1.7)	8.2	(1.8)
United Kingdom*	4.6	(1.4)	5.6	(1.3)	87.8	(2.3)	89.9	(1.9)	6.5	(1.8)	3.7	(1.5)	0.5	(0.4)	0.7	(0.6)	0.7	(0.6)	0.0	(0.0)
United States*	7.7	(2.4)	9.1	(2.4)	54.7	(4.4)	66.2	(3.9)	34.6	(4.1)	21.1	(3.6)	2.1	(1.5)	1.4	(1.3)	0.9	(0.8)	2.2	(1.1)
OECD average	27.5	(0.5)	33.2	(0.5)	59.6	(0.5)	56.7	(0.5)	8.8	(0.3)	6.9	(0.3)	2.3	(0.2)	2.1	(0.2)	1.7	(0.1)	1.2	(0.1)

## Table II.B1.6.38. Assessment practices at school [2/8]

Results based on principals' reports

						Perc	entage o	fstud	ents in s	chools	where s	tuden	ts are ass	essed i	in the fol	llowing	y ways:				
										Manda	tory sta	ndardi	ised tests								
			Ne	ver			I-2 times	per ye	ar	:	3-5 times	s per y	ear		Mon	thly		Mor	e than o	nce a n	nonth
					In				In				In				In				In
		In g	eneral	math	ematics	In g	eneral	mathe	ematics	In g	eneral	math	ematics	In g	eneral	math	ematics	In g	eneral	math	ematics
s	Albania	<sup>70</sup>	0.E.	26.6	5.E.	<sup>70</sup>	5.E.	70 50.0	0.E.	70	5.E.	70	0.E.	70	5.E.	70	3.E.	70 2 1	5.E.	70	0.E.
tner	Argentina	19.3	(2.5)	28.2	(3.0)	72.1	(3.1)	68.3	(3.0)	3.3	(0.9)	10.2	(0.9)	21	(0.9)	1.0	(0.6)	3.2	(0.0)	0.0	(0.5)
Par	Baku (Azerbaijan)	14	(10) +	17	(12) †	5.8	(14) †	8.2	(2.1) †	19.7	(32) +	13.0	(2.5) †	52.3	(42) †	55.3	(44) +	20.9	(3.4) †	21.8	(3.8) †
	Brazil	11.0	(1.4)	10.7	(1.5)	72.2	(2.2)	72.8	(2.2)	10.6	(1.4)	9.8	(1.4)	3.1	(0.9)	5.3	(1.2)	3.0	(0.7)	1.4	(0.6)
	Brunei Darussalam	11.0	(0.1)	14.3	(0.1)	57.7	(0.1)	50.5	(0.1)	28.8	(0.1)	35.2	(0.1)	2.5	(0.0)	0.0	c	0.0	C	0.0	С
	Bulgaria	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Cambodia	29.6	(5.1)	28.5	(4.8)	27.1	(4.8)	31.1	(5.1)	9.2	(3.5)	4.5	(1.9)	34.1	(5.2)	35.4	(5.4)	0.0	С	0.6	(0.6)
	Croatia	52.5	(3.8)	57.7	(3.6)	23.5	(2.9)	26.6	(3.3)	16.2	(2.7)	11.7	(2.4)	5.5	(1.8)	2.8	(1.3)	2.3	(1.0)	1.2	(0.9)
	Cyprus	14.1	(0.6)	17.2	(0.4)	75.4	(0.6)	71.0	(0.3)	5.5	(0.1)	9.2	(0.3)	0.4	(0.0)	1.6	(0.0)	4.5	(0.0)	1.0	(0.0)
	Dominican Republic	24.1	(4.0) †	31.8	(4.2) †	60.3	(3.8) †	51.1	(3.9) †	5.7	(1.9) †	8.0	(2.3) †	6.3	(1.8) †	7.4	(2.3) †	3.5	(1.6) †	1.6	(1.0) †
	El Salvador	38.2	(3.4)	35.0	(3.5)	54.7	(3.6)	57.6	(3.7)	3.0	(1.1)	1.7	(0.8)	3.1	(0.9)	3.6	(1.1)	1.0	(0.7)	2.0	(1.1)
	Georgia	15.0	(2.4)	17.0	(2.7)	30.3	(3.5)	30.0	(2.9)	28.8	(3.1)	29.2	(2.8)	19.7	(2.9)	18.4	(2.6)	6.2	(1.9)	5.3	(1.5)
	Guatemala	12.5	(2.2)	20.1	(2.7)	41.9	(3.5)	38.7	(3.0)	28.0	(3.0)	23.2	(3.1)	10.6	(2.1)	9.2	(1.7)	7.1	(1.8)	8.8	(2.0)
	Hong Kong (China)*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Indonesia	11.0	(2.4)	13.5	(2.4)	73.6	(3.1)	69.8	(2.9)	11.9	(2.3)	12.2	(2.2)	1.1	(0.8)	2.9	(1.3)	2.4	(1.1)	1.6	(0.9)
	Jamaica*	46.7	(3.8) †	51.6	(4.3) †	41.8	(4.6) †	40.2	(3.6) †	1.4	(0.1) †	4.1	(1.1) †	9.5	(3.9) †	3.9	(3.9) †	0.6	(0.1) †	0.2	(0.0) †
	Jordan	9.2	(1.8)	10.8	(2.1)	77.1	(2.7)	77.3	(2.7)	6.4	(1.8)	5.8	(1.6)	4.7	(1.5)	4.0	(1.3)	2.6	(1.2)	2.1	(0.9)
	Kazakhstan	13.9	(1.6)	16.4	(1.9)	38.0	(2.7)	36.5	(2.6)	17.9	(2.0)	20.6	(2.3)	20.2	(1.8)	16.9	(1.8)	9.9	(1.2)	9.5	(1.3)
	Kosovo	12.3	(0.3)	15.8	(0.4)	68.4	(1.1)	56.8	(1.0)	13.8	(1.0)	15.7	(0.9)	4.3	(0.2)	10.0	(0.2)	1.2	(0.3)	1.7	(0.4)
	Macao (China)	10.3	(0.0)	19.4	(0.0)	73.0	(0.0)	62.0	(0.1)	14.5	(0.0)	16.2	(0.0)	2.2	(0.0)	2.2	(0.0)	0.0	С	0.2	(0.0)
	Malaysia	0.6	(0.6)	0.1	(0.1)	67.6	(3.5)	63.7	(3.6)	31.0	(3.5)	32.6	(3.3)	0.5	(0.3)	3.2	(1.5)	0.3	(0.4)	0.5	(0.4)
	Malta	0.0	C	2.2	(0.0)	89.1	(0.1)	92.5	(0.1)	5.4	(0.1)	3.3	(0.0)	5.5	(0.1)	2.0	(0.0)	0.0	C	0.0	C
	Moldova	1.4	(0.7)	1.6	(0.7)	70.4	(2.9)	77.8	(2.7)	14.0	(2.2)	8.9	(1.9)	8.2	(1.4)	6.5	(1.7)	6.0	(1.3)	5.2	(1.3)
	Mongolia	1.4	(0.9)	1.4	(0.8)	12.9	(2.9)	79.3	(2.9)	19.4	(2.9)	13.6	(2.6)	5.3	(1.6)	3.1	(1.3)	1.0	(0.7)	2.6	(1.2)
	Montenegro	37.5	(0.3)	43.5	(0.4)	10.5	(0.4)	12.3	(0.7)	31.2	(0.7)	24.7	(0.6)	14.0	(0.3)	15.1	(0.7)	0.1	(0.0)	4.4	(0.3)
	Worocco	17.0	(2.9)	15.8	(2.7)	/5.5	(3.6)	08.0	(3.7)	5.0	(2.1)	9.0	(2.3)	1.2	(0.9)	0.3	(2.0)	0.7	(0.6)	0.3	(0.3)
	Relectinian Authority	26.5	(2.7)	30.2	(0.1)	61.7	(2.7)	27.4	(0.1)	5.5	(1.5)	23.0	(0.1)	13	(1.4)	15.5	(0.1)	2.0	(0.6)	3.9	(0.0)
	Panama*	20.0	(2.1) m	- 00.0 m	(J.2)	01.7 m	(2.1) m	50.5 m	(J.2)	0.0 m	(1.5) m	0.0	(1.5) m	4.0 m	(1. <del>1</del> )	2.1 m	(1.0) m	2.0 m	(0.0) m	0.2 m	(1.1) m
	Paraquay	18.3	(2.6)	23.1	(3.1)	72.0	(3.5)	70.8	(3.5)	53	(1.6)	52	(1.8)	25	(13)	0.8	(0.8)	19	(1.0)	0.1	(0 1)
	Peru	26.8	(2.8)	20.1	(2.4)	65.5	(2.9)	68.7	(2.7)	4.0	(1.0)	4.8	(1.0)	2.0	(0.8)	3.1	(0.9)	1.5	(0.7)	3.2	(10)
	Philippines	42.2	(3.9)	29.6	(3.5)	50.6	(3.8)	39.8	(3.5)	3.2	(1.2)	99	(2.0)	1.3	(0.0)	12.0	(2.5)	27	(1.2)	8.8	(1.0)
	Qatar	25.7	(0.1)	51.3	(0.1)	43.1	(0.1)	31.5	(0.1)	24.1	(0.1)	10.1	(0.1)	4.9	(0.0)	6.3	(0.1)	2.2	(0.0)	0.8	(0.0)
	Romania	11 0	(2.5)	11.9	(2.6)	75.1	(3.5)	69.3	(3.6)	6.5	(1.9)	70	(17)	42	(1.6)	64	(21)	3.3	(1.3)	53	(17)
	Saudi Arabia	31.8	(3.6)	34.5	(3.6)	45.7	(4.0)	39.5	(4.0)	16.2	(2.7)	13.4	(2.6)	5.2	(1.6)	7.6	(2.1)	1.0	(0.7)	5.0	(1.4)
	Serbia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Singapore	2.4	(0.0)	6.4	(0.1)	85.6	(0.9)	86.2	(1.1)	10.2	(0.9)	6.4	(1.1)	1.2	(0.0)	0.4	(0.2)	0.6	(0.0)	0.6	(0.0)
	Chinese Taipei	0.0	c	1.2	(0.8)	3.2	(1.5)	0.7	(0.5)	66.5	(3.8)	68.2	(3.8)	29.7	(3.5)	28.7	(3.8)	0.5	(0.6)	1.2	(0.9)
	Thailand	16.5	(2.2)	19.1	(2.6)	69.7	(3.4)	67.7	(3.5)	7.5	(1.5)	7.6	(2.1)	3.4	(1.4)	2.5	(1.0)	3.0	(0.9)	3.2	(1.4)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	22.3	(3.8)	m	m	69.3	(4.4)	m	m	3.5	(1.4)	m	m	3.4	(1.5)	m	m	1.4	(0.9)	m	m
	United Arab Emirates	3.3	(0.1)	4.5	(0.1)	47.6	(0.9)	51.1	(0.9)	40.2	(1.0)	35.8	(1.0)	4.2	(0.1)	4.8	(0.1)	4.6	(0.1)	3.9	(0.1)
	Uruguay	44.5	(3.2)	56.7	(2.9)	38.6	(3.3)	26.0	(2.7)	6.5	(1.5)	6.5	(1.6)	6.9	(1.3)	10.0	(1.6)	3.5	(1.3)	0.8	(0.4)
	Uzbekistan	0.0	С	2.2	(1.1)	3.8	(1.4)	17.9	(2.7)	29.0	(3.5)	40.0	(3.2)	31.6	(3.1)	19.4	(2.7)	35.6	(3.3)	20.5	(3.0)
	Viet Nam	0.7	(0.6)	0.0	(0.0)	41.0	(4.1)	47.1	(3.8)	43.1	(4.3)	37.5	(4.3)	10.6	(2.4)	10.3	(2.4)	4.6	(1.8)	5.1	(2.1)

#### Table II.B1.6.38. Assessment practices at school [3/8]

Results based on principals' reports

						Perc	entage o	of stud	ents in s	chools	where s	tudent	s are ass	essed i	n the fo	llowing	g ways:				
									N	on-ma	ndatory	standa	rdised te	sts							
			Ne	ver			1-2 times	per ye	ar	:	3-5 times	s per ye	ar		Mon	thly		Мог	e than o	nce a r	nonth
		In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics
_		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ы	Australia*	24.1	(1.8)	23.9	(2.0)	65.8	(2.1)	65.6	(2.3)	7.3	(1.3)	6.5	(1.2)	2.3	(0.7)	2.6	(0.8)	0.4	(0.3)	1.4	(0.6)
0	Austria	36.8	(2.8)	50.6	(3.0)	51.5	(3.1)	39.5	(2.8)	9.3	(1.7)	1.1	(1.8)	2.0	(0.8)	0.9	(0.5)	0.5	(0.3)	1.3	(0.4)
	Belgium	52.2	(3.8)	55.8	(3.6)	42.1	(3.7)	38.5	(3.5)	3.5	(1.5)	2.3	(0.9)	1.0	(0.6)	0.4	(0.5)	1.2	(0.9)	3.1	(1.3)
	Canada*	11.4	(2.0)	//.6	(2.0)	18.1	(1.8)	13.7	(1.6)	2.0	(0.7)	4.2	(1.0)	1.2	(0.5)	3.9	(1.1)	1.3	(0.6)	0.7	(0.4)
	Chile	27.3	(3.4)	32.3	(3.6)	36.7	(3.8)	32.9	(3.3)	28.0	(3.7)	28.1	(3.3)	6.6	(2.1)	5.5	(1.8)	1.4	(0.8)	1.2	(0.6)
	Colombia	26.2	(3.3)	25.6	(3.4)	48.8	(3.5)	37.9	(3.3)	11.7	(2.5)	18.8	(2.6)	7.5	(1.9)	11.7	(2.2)	5.7	(1.8)	6.0	(1.2)
	Costa Rica	82.5	(3.3)	81.6	(3.8)	15.7	(3.1)	9.3	(2.9)	1.3	(0.8)	6.0	(2.5)	0.0	С	2.2	(1.4)	0.5	(0.5)	0.9	(0.6)
	Czech Republic	51.5	(2.6)	50.4	(3.1)	44.5	(2.8)	46.6	(3.0)	2.5	(0.8)	2.6	(0.8)	1.1	(0.8)	0.2	(0.2)	0.3	(0.2)	0.2	(0.2)
	Denmark*	9.9	(2.3)	17.1	(3.1)	59.1	(3.3)	59.2	(3.6)	22.6	(2.8)	20.2	(2.8)	7.4	(1.5)	2.2	(0.9)	1.1	(0.7)	1.3	(0.7)
	Estonia	15.0	(1.5)	14.5	(1.8)	64.7	(2.5)	56.2	(2.6)	18.9	(2.0)	18.0	(2.1)	1.4	(0.6)	9.9	(1.7)	0.0	С	1.3	(0.1)
	Finland	14.5	(2.5)	17.5	(2.5)	79.3	(2.5)	79.1	(2.5)	4.4	(1.5)	3.3	(1.3)	1.9	(0.9)	0.1	(0.0)	0.0	С	0.0	С
	France	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Germany	71.4	(3.6)	77.0	(3.1)	26.4	(3.4)	20.5	(3.1)	1.3	(1.1)	2.2	(1.0)	0.7	(0.7)	0.3	(0.3)	0.3	(0.3)	0.0	С
	Greece	46.4	(3.2)	40.7	(3.3)	32.9	(2.9)	29.8	(3.2)	11.1	(2.1)	15.5	(2.5)	6.4	(1.9)	9.5	(2.3)	3.1	(1.2)	4.4	(1.3)
	Hungary	48.2	(3.3)	58.0	(3.4)	46.1	(3.1)	36.2	(3.1)	4.6	(1.5)	5.7	(1.8)	1.1	(0.8)	0.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	С
	lceland	13.2	(0.1)	80.5	(0.2)	31.6	(0.3)	12.1	(0.2)	51.1	(0.3)	4.2	(0.1)	2.4	(0.0)	0.6	(0.1)	1.7	(0.0)	2.6	(0.1)
	Ireland*	42.5	(3.5)	55.7	(3.8)	57.5	(3.5)	40.9	(3.9)	0.0	С	1.9	(1.1)	0.0	С	1.5	(1.1)	0.0	С	0.0	С
	Israel	10.1	(2.0)	12.7	(2.7)	26.8	(3.6)	29.0	(3.3)	41.4	(3.4)	38.3	(4.0)	13.6	(2.7)	12.5	(2.4)	8.1	(2.3)	7.5	(2.1)
	Italy	57.7	(3.9)	61.1	(3.5)	30.3	(3.6)	24.8	(3.1)	8.7	(2.2)	11.1	(2.6)	2.8	(1.1)	2.9	(1.2)	0.4	(0.4)	0.0	С
	Japan	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Korea	20.4	(4.5)	24.3	(4.0)	41.3	(4.1)	35.6	(4.3)	37.7	(3.1)	37.7	(3.7)	0.5	(0.5)	1.1	(0.7)	0.0	С	1.4	(0.8)
	Latvia*	9.2	(1.7)	9.4	(2.0)	51.1	(3.3)	49.2	(3.3)	33.4	(3.3)	34.8	(3.0)	6.0	(1.2)	6.6	(1.6)	0.4	(0.3)	0.0	с
	Lithuania	2.6	(0.8)	22.7	(2.1)	84.4	(1.8)	55.6	(2.4)	11.6	(1.6)	13.5	(1.7)	0.9	(0.4)	7.0	(1.5)	0.5	(0.5)	1.2	(0.7)
	Mexico	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Netherlands*	31.4	(4.9) †	31.2	(4.8) †	60.9	(5.4) †	61.3	(4.9) †	7.7	(3.1) †	5.6	(2.4) †	0.0	c †	0.0	c †	0.0	c †	1.8	(1.3) †
	New Zealand*	1.0	(0.8) †	1.7	(1.9) †	30.1	(4.2) †	13.1	(2.8) †	34.6	(3.0) †	58.6	(3.6) †	12.4	(3.0) †	23.1	(3.2) †	21.9	(2.9) †	3.6	(1.5) †
	Norway	31.0	(3.4)	37.3	(3.5)	47.7	(3.5)	44.4	(3.6)	13.8	(2.0)	13.4	(2.5)	6.5	(1.6)	4.9	(1.4)	1.0	(0.7)	0.0	С
	Poland	14.9	(2.2)	15.4	(2.2)	56.7	(3.5)	54.9	(3.3)	19.6	(2.7)	19.6	(2.8)	6.3	(1.7)	6.7	(1.7)	2.6	(0.8)	3.4	(1.3)
	Portugal	37.3	(3.3)	41.0	(3.5)	36.6	(3.5)	37.8	(3.5)	17.0	(2.6)	15.3	(2.2)	7.1	(1.8)	4.7	(1.5)	1.9	(1.0)	1.2	(0.7)
	Slovak Republic	40.1	(3.2)	42.8	(3.4)	44.9	(3.6)	46.1	(3.4)	11.6	(2.3)	8.0	(1.6)	2.9	(1.1)	2.7	(1.2)	0.4	(0.3)	0.4	(0.3)
	Slovenia	41.7	(0.6)	45.5	(0.6)	39.7	(0.6)	37.4	(0.6)	15.9	(0.6)	15.2	(0.7)	1.1	(0.2)	0.7	(0.1)	1.5	(0.5)	1.2	(0.4)
	Spain	51.3	(2.4)	66.4	(2.4)	39.4	(2.3)	26.4	(2.3)	5.4	(0.9)	3.5	(1.0)	1.7	(0.7)	1.7	(0.7)	2.2	(0.8)	2.0	(0.7)
	Sweden	31.8	(3.3)	33.0	(3.2)	31.5	(3.3)	36.1	(3.6)	20.3	(3.0)	22.2	(3.1)	13.8	(2.5)	7.5	(1.9)	2.6	(1.2)	1.1	(0.8)
	Switzerland	59.5	(3.7)	64.6	(3.6) †	31.8	(3.7)	28.8	(3.5) †	4.2	(1.5)	5.0	(1.7) †	3.3	(1.3)	1.6	(0.8) †	1.1	(0.7)	0.0	c †
	Türkiye	15.1	(2.6)	14.9	(2.7)	20.4	(3.0)	23.7	(3.5)	26.5	(3.2)	30.9	(3.2)	24.9	(3.7)	18.1	(3.0)	13.1	(2.5)	12.5	(2.2)
	United Kingdom*	31.7	(3.8)	30.3	(3.5)	51.2	(4.2)	40.3	(3.9)	16.1	(2.9)	25.1	(3.9)	0.6	(0.6)	3.6	(1.4)	0.5	(0.5)	0.7	(0.6)
	United States*	4.8	(1.9)	21.9	(3.9)	74.5	(4.2)	48.0	(4.8)	16.4	(3.7)	14.0	(3.4)	1.4	(1.0)	11.2	(3.4)	3.0	(1.8)	4.9	(1.9)
	OECD average	33.3	(0.5)	39.3	(0.5)	44.7	(0.6)	38.5	(0.6)	15.3	(0.4)	15.3	(0.4)	4.4	(0.2)	5.0	(0.3)	2.3	(0.2)	2.0	(0.2)

### Table II.B1.6.38. Assessment practices at school [4/8]

Results based on principals' reports

						Perc	entage o	of stud	ents in s	chools	where st	tudent	s are ass	essed i	n the fol	lowing	ways:				
									N	on-mai	ndatorys	standa	rdised te	sts							
			Ne	ver			1-2 times	s per ye	ar	:	3-5 times	s per ye	ear		Mon	thly		Мо	re than o	nce a i	nonth
					In				In				In				ln .:				In
		in g	S.E.	matn %	S.E.	in g	S.E.	matn %	S.E.	in g	s.E.	matn %	S.E.	in g	s.e.	mathe %	S.E.	in g	S.E.	matn %	S.E.
sre	Albania	41.9	(2.6)	28.4	(2.3)	30.1	(2.6)	23.1	(2.7)	17.1	(2.0)	33.6	(2.2)	8.7	(1.6)	11.6	(1.8)	2.2	(0.8)	3.3	(0.7)
, The	Argentina	27.0	(3.1)	31.5	(2.8)	69.6	(3.1)	66.7	(2.9)	1.3	(0.6)	1.2	(0.6)	0.8	(0.6)	0.5	(0.5)	1.3	(0.7)	0.1	(0.1)
<u>е</u>	Baku (Azerbaijan)	39.1	(4.4) †	32.4	(3.9) †	24.5	(3.6) †	27.0	(3.9) †	22.0	(3.4) †	18.2	(2.8) †	10.9	(2.6) †	19.8	(3.8) †	3.4	(1.5) †	2.6	(1.5) †
	Brazil	38.1	(2.2)	43.6	(2.6)	29.0	(2.1)	27.2	(2.1)	20.2	(2.2)	15.2	(2.0)	9.7	(1.7)	10.2	(1.6)	3.0	(0.9)	3.8	(0.9)
	Brunei Darussalam	69.2	(0.1)	34.4	(0.1)	28.2	(0.1)	56.1	(0.1)	0.9	(0.0)	8.7	(0.1)	1.7	(0.0)	0.6	(0.0)	0.0	с	0.2	(0.0)
	Bulgaria	4.4	(1.6)	5.3	(2.1)	22.5	(3.4)	32.7	(4.2)	35.5	(3.9)	29.5	(3.8)	27.0	(3.8)	24.7	(3.5)	10.6	(2.6)	7.9	(2.2)
	Cambodia	48.7	(4.9)	38.2	(5.7)	43.5	(5.2)	38.8	(5.4)	1.6	(1.2)	7.1	(2.5)	6.2	(2.5)	15.8	(4.5)	0.0	С	0.0	с
	Croatia	60.3	(3.6)	60.7	(3.7)	29.3	(3.2)	21.8	(3.0)	7.5	(2.1)	12.9	(2.2)	2.5	(1.2)	3.6	(1.5)	0.4	(0.4)	1.0	(0.8)
	Cyprus	56.4	(0.5)	65.6	(0.3)	29.9	(0.4)	21.2	(0.2)	6.8	(0.1)	5.1	(0.3)	6.6	(0.1)	1.6	(0.0)	0.3	(0.0)	6.5	(0.0)
	Dominican Republic	43.0	(4.1) †	42.5	(3.9) †	20.5	(3.4) †	24.2	(3.1) †	16.3	(3.0) †	13.7	(3.1) †	18.1	(3.2) †	15.8	(3.0) †	2.0	(1.1) †	3.9	(1.5) †
	El Salvador	47.9	(3.4)	47.5	(3.3)	33.7	(3.3)	28.1	(2.4)	9.2	(2.1)	9.9	(2.0)	5.5	(1.5)	10.5	(1.9)	3.8	(1.6)	4.0	(1.4)
	Georgia	34.1	(3.6)	29.7	(3.4)	39.5	(3.5)	38.4	(3.7)	15.1	(2.3)	19.4	(2.8)	7.9	(1.8)	9.6	(1.9)	3.4	(1.2)	3.0	(1.2)
	Guatemala	37.6	(3.1)	40.5	(3.3)	26.5	(3.0)	24.0	(2.5)	14.7	(2.2)	12.4	(1.9)	10.8	(2.2)	12.8	(1.9)	10.4	(2.0)	10.3	(2.4)
	Hong Kong (China)*	43.8	(4.4) †	44.2	(5.2) †	39.2	(4.3) †	38.0	(4.8) †	10.6	(3.1) †	9.1	(2.8) †	2.4	(1.4) †	5.4	(2.1) †	4.0	(2.0) †	3.3	(1.9) †
	Indonesia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Jamaica*	58.0	(3.3) †	54.5	(3.7) †	16.6	(2.8) †	23.9	(4.1) †	10.3	(2.3) †	7.0	(1.3) †	13.3	(4.5) †	11.1	(4.6) †	1.8	(1.3) †	3.5	(0.8) †
	Jordan	41.4	(2.9)	32.8	(2.6)	36.0	(2.8)	41.8	(2.8)	10.6	(2.1)	12.8	(2.3)	6.1	(1.7)	6.8	(1.4)	6.0	(1.6)	5.8	(1.4)
	Kazakhstan	10.0	(1.5)	14.3	(1.5)	22.2	(2.2)	24.2	(2.5)	24.3	(2.2)	22.9	(1.9)	32.2	(2.2)	28.3	(2.3)	11.3	(1.6)	10.3	(1.4)
	Kosovo	25.3	(1.1)	36.2	(1.4)	50.9	(1.4)	20.6	(1.4)	16.1	(0.9)	26.7	(1.1)	6.4	(0.5)	12.5	(0.8)	1.3	(0.4)	3.9	(0.7)
	Macao (China)	67.6	(0.0)	72.9	(0.0)	32.4	(0.0)	27.1	(0.0)	0.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	с
	Malaysia	6.2	(2.0)	6.7	(1.9)	58.7	(3.5)	49.2	(3.9)	22.9	(3.0)	30.6	(3.7)	10.0	(1.7)	11.0	(2.1)	2.2	(1.1)	2.6	(1.1)
	Malta	15.9	(0.2)	15.9	(0.2)	63.3	(0.2)	69.7	(0.2)	13.4	(0.2)	4.2	(0.1)	5.2	(0.1)	7.3	(0.1)	2.2	(0.0)	2.9	(0.1)
	Moldova	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
	Mongolia	9.2	(1.8)	14.3	(2.3)	40.2	(3.1)	49.5	(3.1)	34.7	(3.1)	26.6	(3.3)	11.9	(2.2)	7.8	(2.1)	4.0	(1.0)	1.8	(0.9)
	Montenegro	28.4	(0.4)	37.9	(0.7)	36.0	(0.5)	24.4	(0.3)	30.8	(0.5)	24.2	(0.8)	2.0	(0.5)	11.8	(0.6)	2.8	(0.0)	1.7	(0.3)
	Morocco	15.7	(3.0)	15.5	(2.9)	62.9	(3.8)	64.1	(3.9)	13.2	(2.4)	10.8	(2.6)	5.7	(1.9)	7.5	(2.2)	2.5	(1.4)	2.1	(1.1)
	North Macedonia	m	m	37.5	(0.1)	m	m	23.4	(0.1)	m	m	16.8	(0.1)	m	m	18.6	(0.1)	m	m	3.7	(0.0)
	Palestinian Authority	41.3	(3.3)	37.2	(2.9)	36.0	(3.0)	40.7	(3.2)	13.8	(2.4)	8.7	(1.8)	5.3	(1.3)	10.4	(1.8)	3.6	(1.1)	3.1	(1.0)
	Panama*	36.7	(4.4) †	m	m	43.3	(4.7) †	m	m	5.9	(3.4) †	m	m	8.6	(3.0) †	m	m	5.4	(2.3) †	m	m
	Paraguay	83.0	(3.3)	49.2	(3.7)	12.1	(2.6)	40.4	(3.4)	1.6	(0.9)	8.3	(1.8)	2.7	(1.3)	1.4	(0.8)	0.5	(0.3)	0.8	(0.6)
	Peru	37.5	(2.8)	31.8	(2.7)	53.8	(2.8)	56.8	(2.7)	5.5	(1.2)	7.5	(1.5)	1.2	(0.7)	1.8	(0.6)	2.0	(0.7)	2.2	(0.8)
	Philippines	56.7	(4.0)	50.9	(3.6)	29.3	(3.8)	22.2	(2.9)	5.6	(1.7)	6.7	(1.8)	4.8	(1.6)	10.7	(2.1)	3.6	(1.6)	9.5	(2.3)
	Qatar	29.1	(0.1)	53.3	(0.1)	44.5	(0.1)	28.8	(0.1)	14.0	(0.1)	9.4	(0.1)	6.0	(0.1)	6.9	(0.1)	6.3	(0.1)	1.6	(0.0)
	Romania	2.6	(1.2)	3.4	(1.4)	51.0	(3.9)	44.0	(3.9)	36.2	(3.5)	39.3	(3.8)	5.7	(1.5)	6.6	(1.6)	4.5	(1.7)	6.6	(2.0)
	Saudi Arabia	48.0	(3.5)	48.5	(3.4)	31.9	(3.0)	28.0	(3.1)	12.5	(2.8)	11.6	(2.7)	6.0	(1.7)	9.4	(2.4)	1.7	(1.0)	2.5	(1.3)
	Serbia	41.1	(3.4)	47.2	(3.5)	49.7	(3.4)	43.5	(3.7)	5.9	(1.6)	6.4	(1.8)	1.9	(0.9)	0.9	(0.6)	1.4	(1.0)	2.0	(0.8)
	Singapore	56.8	(1.1)	56.3	(1.0)	27.4	(1.1)	27.4	(1.3)	12.3	(0.9)	14.7	(0.8)	2.1	(0.7)	1.1	(0.2)	1.3	(0.0)	0.6	(0.0)
	Chinese Taipei	12.5	(2.5)	20.6	(3.0)	18.4	(2.8)	21.0	(3.0)	53.8	(4.2)	43.7	(3.7)	6.0	(2.0)	9.7	(2.4)	9.4	(2.4)	5.1	(1.7)
	i nailand	54.2	(3.8)	43.0	(3.4)	37.9	(3.6)	47.6	(3.7)	3.3	(1.5)	6.6	(2.0)	2.6	(1.3)	2.3	(1.0)	2.0	(1.1)	0.5	(0.3)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	7.9	(2.3)	4.2	(1.6)	40.3	(4.7)	45.5	(5.0)	26.7	(4.5)	26.2	(4.7)	15.9	(4.1)	14.3	(3.8)	9.2	(2.8)	9.7	(2.4)
	United Arab Emirates	18.6	(0.4)	23.5	(0.7)	36.0	(0.6)	36.0	(0.7)	22.6	(0.3)	21.1	(0.2)	13.1	(0.2)	12.2	(0.1)	9.7	(0.1)	1.1	(0.1)
	oruguay	03.4	(3.0)	0/.2	(2.7)	17.7	(2.4)	15.0	(2.1)	0.0	(1.6)	0.3	(1.9)	ð./	(1.5)	1.4	(1.4)	4.2	(1.1)	2.1	(0.5)
	Uzbekistan	3.4	(1.3)	5.6	(1.7)	46.0	(3.3)	61.0	(3.5)	21.8	(3.1)	16.1	(2.9)	20.9	(2.5)	13.0	(2.4)	7.9	(1.8)	4.3	(1.4)
_	Viet Nam	64.5	(3.6)	41.7	(3.9)	25.2	(3.6)	34.4	(3.5)	4.2	(1.7)	12.2	(2.9)	4.4	(1.8)	8.2	(1.6)	1.7	(1.0)	3.5	(1.6)
# Table II.B1.6.38. Assessment practices at school [5/8]

Results based on principals' reports

		Percentage of students in schools where students are assessed in the following ways:																		
									Tea	cher-dev	eloped	tests								
		Ne	ver			1-2 times	per ye	ar	:	3-5 times	per ye	ar		Mor	thly		Мог	e than o	nce a r	nonth
	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
G Australia*	0.2	(0.1)	0.0	(0.0)	2.5	(0.6)	1.0	(0.4)	36.0	(2.1)	40.2	(2.2)	42.0	(2.2)	42.7	(2.2)	19.2	(1.6)	16.0	(1.5)
8 Austria	5.3	(1.3)	9.2	(1.6)	13.8	(2.2)	14.7	(2.2)	45.6	(3.1)	47.3	(3.3)	20.7	(2.6)	16.4	(2.2)	14.5	(2.4)	12.4	(2.1)
Belgium	0.6	(0.3)	1.0	(0.5)	3.0	(1.1)	2.4	(1.1)	5.8	(1.8)	4.2	(1.4)	9.1	(2.2)	6.9	(1.6)	81.5	(2.9)	85.5	(2.3)
Canada*	1.0	(0.5)	0.7	(0.4)	1.3	(0.5)	0.2	(0.0)	2.3	(0.6)	3.0	(0.8)	29.7	(2.0)	29.5	(2.2)	65.7	(2.1)	66.6	(2.3)
Chile	0.8	(0.6)	0.3	(0.3)	6.3	(1.7)	4.4	(1.6)	7.1	(2.3)	7.4	(2.2)	29.8	(3.6)	38.8	(3.7)	56.0	(4.2)	49.1	(4.1)
Colombia	2.2	(1.0)	1.6	(0.8)	6.6	(1.7)	5.1	(1.7)	27.6	(3.3)	19.8	(2.8)	18.3	(3.0)	22.4	(3.1)	45.4	(3.7)	51.1	(3.7)
Costa Rica	0.7	(0.7)	3.0	(1.4)	4.2	(1.8)	2.2	(1.4)	75.4	(3.5)	70.5	(3.6)	11.6	(2.5)	11.7	(2.9)	8.0	(2.1)	12.6	(2.7)
Czech Republic	1.4	(0.5)	0.8	(0.4)	7.3	(1.3)	3.0	(0.9)	14.5	(2.1)	13.8	(2.0)	26.0	(2.7)	26.7	(2.7)	50.9	(3.3)	55.7	(3.1)
Denmark*	20.4	(2.9)	15.1	(3.0)	30.6	(3.0)	27.9	(3.0)	31.6	(3.7)	43.1	(3.7)	15.7	(2.1)	13.6	(2.1)	1.7	(0.7)	0.3	(0.3)
Estonia	0.5	(0.3)	0.3	(0.3)	12.5	(1.9)	6.7	(1.4)	20.2	(2.1)	16.3	(2.2)	35.0	(2.7)	41.1	(2.5)	31.9	(2.3)	35.6	(2.4)
Finland	0.6	(0.6)	0.6	(0.6)	0.3	(0.3)	1.9	(0.9)	47.7	(3.5)	50.2	(3.8)	38.5	(2.9)	39.5	(3.5)	12.9	(2.9)	7.7	(2.5)
France	8.7	(2.1)	5.5	(1.7)	12.9	(2.4)	6.6	(1.8)	8.2	(2.1)	7.9	(2.0)	14.0	(2.9)	22.1	(3.6)	56.2	(3.9)	57.9	(4.1)
Germany	1.6	(0.9)	0.3	(0.3)	7.5	(1.7)	9.8	(2.1)	48.2	(3.2)	45.3	(3.3)	22.6	(2.8)	29.8	(3.3)	20.1	(3.0)	14.7	(2.8)
Greece	0.0	с	0.0	с	5.7	(1.6)	5.3	(1.6)	34.1	(3.0)	38.3	(3.0)	30.8	(2.9)	31.2	(3.4)	29.4	(2.7)	25.3	(3.0)
Hungary	0.7	(0.7)	0.0	(0.0)	12.3	(2.7)	9.9	(2.4)	20.4	(2.9)	21.1	(2.9)	37.4	(3.6)	37.9	(3.2)	29.3	(3.5)	31.1	(3.2)
Iceland	5.3	(0.1)	3.1	(0.1)	4.7	(0.1)	0.8	(0.1)	15.9	(0.2)	16.4	(0.2)	44.8	(0.3)	51.9	(0.3)	29.3	(0.3)	27.7	(0.2)
Ireland*	0.0	с	0.0	с	22.6	(3.2)	14.1	(2.5)	34.1	(3.7)	30.0	(3.6)	30.0	(3.7)	39.3	(3.7)	13.4	(2.4)	16.6	(3.2)
Israel	1.4	(1.1)	1.4	(1.0)	3.8	(1.5)	3.2	(1.4)	34.4	(3.7)	31.8	(3.4)	24.0	(3.1)	45.5	(3.7)	36.4	(4.0)	18.1	(2.8)
Italy	1.2	(0.8)	0.0	(0.0)	19.5	(3.4)	13.0	(2.8)	16.5	(2.8)	13.4	(2.3)	35.2	(3.7)	43.0	(3.5)	27.5	(3.7)	30.5	(3.4)
Japan	0.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	С	1.1	(0.5)	73.7	(3.1)	72.8	(3.1)	9.7	(2.4)	12.8	(2.5)	16.6	(2.5)	13.4	(2.6)
Korea	2.5	(1.1)	0.0	с	12.6	(2.1)	5.6	(2.5)	83.5	(2.2)	80.8	(4.9)	0.8	(0.6)	2.9	(1.4)	0.7	(0.7)	10.7	(4.7)
Latvia*	0.0	с	0.0	с	0.5	(0.5)	1.6	(0.7)	13.5	(1.8)	15.0	(2.2)	65.8	(2.9)	66.0	(3.1)	20.2	(2.5)	17.3	(2.4)
Lithuania	0.1	(0.1)	1.1	(0.4)	12.9	(1.1)	6.9	(1.0)	22.8	(2.0)	20.8	(1.8)	43.7	(2.4)	40.6	(2.3)	20.5	(1.6)	30.5	(1.8)
Mexico	1.3	(0.8)	2.4	(1.1)	4.2	(1.6)	5.9	(1.7)	23.3	(2.8)	21.3	(2.6)	55.4	(3.6)	56.7	(3.1)	15.8	(2.7)	13.7	(2.6)
Netherlands*	1.8	(1.6) †	1.4	(1.1) †	0.0	c †	0.7	(0.7) †	26.2	(4.3) †	31.4	(4.0) †	38.9	(4.6) †	46.9	(4.6) †	33.1	(4.1) †	19.6	(3.9) †
New Zealand*	1.1	(1.1) †	3.4	(1.0) †	5.9	(1.7) †	11.6	(2.6) †	43.6	(4.2) †	39.8	(4.6) †	34.5	(3.7) †	36.0	(4.2) †	14.9	(2.6) †	9.3	(2.1) †
Norway	0.7	(0.5)	0.7	(0.5)	0.1	(0.1)	2.7	(1.1)	29.4	(2.9)	47.5	(3.1)	45.4	(3.1)	45.6	(3.3)	24.4	(3.2)	3.5	(1.2)
Poland	1.2	(0.7)	0.1	(0.1)	20.1	(2.5)	10.2	(1.9)	27.9	(2.9)	25.6	(3.1)	26.2	(2.9)	34.2	(2.9)	24.6	(3.3)	30.0	(3.1)
Portugal	0.6	(0.6)	0.0	c	0.5	(0.5)	0.5	(0.3)	38.0	(3.3)	37.8	(2.9)	39.2	(3.6)	45.1	(3.5)	21.7	(3.0)	16.6	(2.6)
Slovak Republic	0.5	(0.3)	0.4	(0.3)	3.2	(1.0)	2.9	(0.9)	19.8	(2.6)	26.2	(3.1)	40.3	(3.4)	36.2	(3.5)	36.2	(3.7)	34.3	(3.1)
Slovenia	1.8	(0.2)	1.3	(0.1)	6.3	(0.1)	4.1	(0.1)	55.9	(0.8)	65.1	(0.7)	15.6	(0.4)	22.0	(0.5)	20.3	(0.7)	7.6	(0.5)
Spain	2.5	(0.7)	1.1	(0.4)	3.7	(1.0)	1.7	(0.6)	7.9	(1.0)	6.4	(1.1)	25.7	(2.2)	31.4	(2.3)	60.1	(2.5)	59.4	(2.1)
Sweden	34	(1.3)	0.5	(0.5)	26	(1 1)	20	(0.9)	22.1	(3.1)	39.1	(37)	47.3	(4.3)	54.4	(40)	24.6	(3.2)	40	(14)
Switzerland	77	(22)	4.2	(17)	11 7	(2.8)	11.8	(2.9)	9.8	(1.8)	9.3	(2.4)	30.6	(3.6)	46.0	(4.2)	40.2	(3.7)	28.6	(3.3)
Türkiye	6.8	(19)	20	(1.2)	10.2	(1.9)	12.0	(2.2)	28.0	(3.6)	30.6	(3.3)	25.8	(3.2)	24.0	(3.0)	28.3	(3.5)	29.7	(3.4)
United Kingdom	0.7	(0.8)	11	(0.8)	4.8	(1.6)	34	(1.2)	49.8	(3.7)	41 7	(4.0)	35.2	(3.8)	38.0	(3.7)	9.6	(2.2)	15.7	(2.9)
United States*	0.0	(0.0)	0.9	(0.7)	17	(0.9)	3.3	(1.7)	0.6	(0.6)	1.8	(10)	30.7	(4.3)	28.2	(3.8)	67.0	(4 4)	65.8	(4.4)
ennoù otatod	0.0	U	0.0	(0.7)		(0.0)	0.0	()	0.0	(0.0)	1.0	(1.5)	00.1	(1.0)	20.2	(0.0)	01.0	(	00.0	()
OECD average	2.3	(0.2)	1.7	(0.1)	7.5	(0.3)	6.0	(0.3)	29.8	(0.5)	30.6	(0.5)	30.4	(0.5)	34.0	(0.5)	30.0	(0.5)	27.7	(0.5)

# Table II.B1.6.38. Assessment practices at school [6/8]

Results based on principals' reports

						Perc	entage o	of stud	ents in s	chools	where s	tuden	ts are ass	essed i	n the fol	lowing	ways:				
										Tea	cher-dev	elope	d tests	_							
			Ne	ver			1-2 times	per ye	ar		3-5 times	per y	ear		Mon	thly		Мо	re than o	nce a i	month
		<b>I</b>			ln ••••••				ln 	In			In				ln ••••••tioo				In
		in g %	S.E.	math %	S.E.	in g	S.E.	math %	S.E.	in g %	S.E.	matr %	S.E.	in g	S.E.	matn %	S.E.	in g %	S.E.	math %	S.E.
sis	Albania	0.0	С	1.3	(0.0)	1.8	(0.8)	1.1	(0.6)	70.8	(2.3)	62.6	(2.5)	23.9	(2.1)	30.6	(2.1)	3.5	(1.1)	4.3	(1.2)
IT	Argentina	6.1	(1.4)	3.6	(1.1)	1.7	(0.8)	1.2	(0.5)	12.6	(2.1)	11.7	(2.0)	36.5	(3.2)	43.1	(2.9)	43.1	(2.9)	40.4	(2.8)
e B	Baku (Azerbaijan)	0.0	c †	0.0	c †	5.0	(2.0) †	7.4	(2.2) †	19.5	(3.3) †	15.2	(3.1) †	48.9	(4.2) †	46.3	(4.3) †	26.6	(3.7) †	31.2	(4.0) †
	Brazil	1.8	(0.4)	2.6	(0.7)	2.5	(0.7)	2.2	(0.8)	12.9	(1.8)	11.0	(1.7)	44.7	(2.7)	45.2	(2.7)	38.0	(2.1)	39.1	(2.4)
	Brunei Darussalam	3.7	(0.0)	2.5	(0.0)	17.0	(0.1)	13.6	(0.1)	37.0	(0.1)	43.1	(0.1)	30.0	(0.1)	33.0	(0.1)	12.3	(0.1)	7.7	(0.1)
	Bulgaria	0.0	с	0.0	с	5.2	(1.7)	4.0	(1.5)	24.5	(3.6)	31.0	(3.9)	49.3	(3.8)	45.4	(3.7)	21.0	(3.5)	19.6	(3.0)
	Cambodia	3.9	(2.3)	4.3	(2.4)	8.9	(2.9)	8.5	(2.9)	4.1	(2.3)	4.0	(1.9)	71.1	(4.1)	77.9	(3.9)	12.0	(3.8)	5.2	(2.5)
	Croatia	0.0	с	0.0	с	7.2	(1.9)	3.1	(1.2)	39.3	(3.5)	42.4	(3.5)	25.9	(2.8)	31.3	(3.4)	27.6	(3.5)	23.2	(3.1)
	Cyprus	0.9	(0.5)	0.2	(0.2)	6.1	(0.1)	6.0	(0.5)	48.9	(0.5)	50.4	(0.5)	14.0	(0.2)	27.6	(0.2)	30.2	(0.3)	15.7	(0.4)
	Dominican Republic	3.1	(1.0) †	3.2	(1.2) †	5.3	(1.8) †	4.3	(1.5) †	20.4	(3.3) †	17.3	(2.9) †	52.6	(4.3) †	52.9	(4.2) †	18.6	(3.5) †	22.2	(3.4) †
	El Salvador	0.3	(0.3)	0.7	(0.4)	4.6	(1.6)	3.4	(1.4)	18.4	(2.7)	17.8	(2.5)	44.5	(3.1)	42.5	(2.9)	32.2	(3.3)	35.6	(2.9)
	Georgia	1.7	(0.9)	1.2	(0.9)	16.2	(2.6)	7.9	(1.9)	22.7	(3.2)	30.0	(3.0)	39.2	(3.4)	42.4	(3.4)	20.2	(2.8)	18.5	(2.5)
	Guatemala	2.8	(1.1)	2.9	(1.0)	3.6	(1.2)	3.7	(1.5)	35.4	(3.6)	34.3	(3.2)	29.4	(3.5)	24.2	(3.0)	28.8	(3.2)	34.9	(3.8)
	Hong Kong (China)*	9.8	(2.9) †	8.9	(2.8) †	9.5	(3.5) †	7.5	(3.1) †	21.3	(3.9) †	20.0	(3.9) †	29.3	(4.8) †	28.2	(4.1) †	30.0	(3.9) †	35.4	(4.2) †
	Indonesia	1.9	(0.9)	1.3	(0.9)	22.4	(2.5)	21.2	(3.2)	28.7	(3.4)	27.8	(3.1)	30.8	(3.4)	34.8	(3.5)	16.2	(2.3)	14.8	(2.4)
	Jamaica*	0.2	(0.2) †	0.2	(0.2) †	0.0	(0.0) †	0.9	(1.2) †	17.8	(2.2) †	14.6	(2.2) †	63.9	(3.3) †	62.4	(3.7) †	18.2	(3.0) †	22.0	(3.2) †
	Jordan	0.6	(0.4)	0.6	(0.0)	4.5	(1.4)	6.7	(1.5)	14.8	(2.5)	13.9	(2.4)	47.4	(3.2)	41.7	(3.0)	32.7	(2.9)	37.1	(2.7)
	Kazakhstan	0.6	(0.3)	0.4	(0.3)	4.3	(1.1)	4.5	(1.0)	11.4	(1.7)	13.2	(1.9)	54.9	(2.4)	55.2	(2.7)	28.7	(2.4)	26.8	(2.2)
	Kosovo	0.0	С	1.7	(0.1)	6.2	(0.8)	3.2	(0.8)	58.5	(1.5)	47.3	(1.5)	27.9	(1.1)	40.6	(1.5)	7.4	(0.8)	7.1	(0.8)
	Macao (China)	1.4	(0.0)	0.2	(0.0)	3.9	(0.0)	1.2	(0.0)	34.7	(0.1)	31.8	(0.1)	20.0	(0.0)	30.6	(0.0)	40.0	(0.1)	36.2	(0.0)
	Malaysia	1.7	(0.9)	1.2	(0.7)	26.3	(3.4)	20.8	(2.9)	36.3	(3.7)	30.7	(3.4)	25.3	(3.2)	32.4	(3.7)	10.4	(2.4)	14.9	(2.8)
	Malta	0.0	с	7.3	(0.2)	7.0	(0.1)	3.5	(0.0)	38.3	(0.2)	40.5	(0.2)	45.8	(0.2)	36.7	(0.2)	8.9	(0.1)	12.0	(0.2)
	Moldova	0.0	С	0.0	С	1.7	(0.9)	1.4	(0.7)	16.0	(2.4)	16.2	(2.1)	53.6	(3.0)	56.0	(3.0)	28.7	(2.6)	26.4	(2.8)
	Mongolia	1.0	(0.8)	0.9	(0.6)	7.3	(1.5)	5.8	(1.2)	19.4	(2.7)	14.8	(2.4)	39.8	(2.8)	52.4	(3.1)	32.5	(2.8)	26.1	(3.0)
	Montenegro	0.0	с	0.3	(0.0)	2.8	(0.2)	3.3	(0.0)	61.4	(0.8)	53.1	(0.7)	26.8	(0.7)	33.5	(0.8)	9.0	(0.5)	9.7	(0.4)
	Morocco	1.3	(0.7)	3.3	(1.0)	10.3	(2.1)	5.9	(1.9)	32.5	(3.7)	34.6	(3.6)	46.2	(4.3)	48.0	(3.4)	9.7	(2.3)	8.2	(2.1)
	North Macedonia	0.0	с	0.9	(0.0)	6.6	(0.0)	0.6	(0.0)	40.2	(0.1)	42.9	(0.1)	37.4	(0.1)	42.1	(0.1)	15.7	(0.1)	13.5	(0.1)
	Palestinian Authority	0.1	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)	2.2	(1.0)	2.0	(1.0)	14.0	(2.5)	13.3	(2.4)	36.5	(2.7)	36.6	(3.0)	47.2	(2.7)	48.0	(2.4)
	Panama*	3.9	(1.4) †	2.8	(1.3) †	4.8	(1.9) †	3.5	(1.4) †	10.4	(2.5) †	10.1	(3.0) †	10.9	(3.2) †	9.0	(3.0) †	70.0	(4.3) †	74.6	(2.9) †
	Paraguay	1.9	(1.0)	1.7	(1.0)	5.6	(1.6)	8.0	(2.1)	20.8	(3.0)	17.1	(2.7)	38.0	(3.0)	39.3	(3.2)	33.7	(2.9)	33.9	(3.0)
	Peru	3.8	(1.2)	0.9	(0.6)	7.5	(1.5)	8.1	(1.8)	16.4	(2.2)	12.1	(2.0)	29.2	(3.0)	31.5	(3.0)	43.1	(2.9)	47.3	(3.0)
	Philippines	1.9	(1.1)	0.5	(0.8)	2.6	(1.2)	2.0	(0.9)	14.5	(2.3)	15.5	(2.8)	27.4	(3.2)	30.1	(3.2)	53.7	(3.9)	51.8	(3.4)
	Qatar	1.4	(0.0)	1.7	(0.0)	5.4	(0.1)	2.2	(0.0)	22.9	(0.1)	26.2	(0.1)	39.9	(0.1)	36.7	(0.1)	30.3	(0.1)	33.2	(0.1)
	Romania	0.0	С	0.0	С	0.4	(0.2)	1.1	(0.8)	16.4	(2.9)	5.3	(1.8)	47.7	(3.9)	57.4	(3.6)	35.5	(3.7)	36.3	(3.5)
	Saudi Arabia	3.3	(1.4)	5.2	(1.5)	4.9	(1.5)	4.9	(2.0)	9.1	(2.1)	10.5	(2.0)	38.8	(3.7)	38.4	(2.9)	43.9	(3.7)	41.1	(3.5)
	Serbia	3.5	(1.4)	1.6	(0.9)	7.7	(1.7)	4.2	(1.4)	31.4	(3.7)	30.0	(3.6)	29.7	(3.5)	46.9	(3.8)	27.8	(2.9)	17.3	(2.5)
	Singapore	0.6	(0.0)	0.0	С	3.2	(0.0)	1.2	(0.0)	53.1	(0.9)	53.8	(0.8)	33.6	(0.9)	35.9	(0.8)	9.5	(0.5)	9.2	(0.7)
	Chinese Taipei	0.0	С	2.6	(1.4)	3.2	(1.4)	3.5	(1.4)	8.8	(2.1)	9.8	(2.5)	17.4	(3.3)	21.2	(3.1)	70.5	(4.0)	62.9	(3.6)
	Thailand	1.7	(0.7)	3.1	(1.2)	11.5	(2.4)	8.6	(2.0)	17.2	(3.0)	17.0	(2.9)	21.8	(3.5)	21.2	(3.6)	47.8	(3.9)	50.0	(3.9)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	3.3	(1.6)	1.3	(1.1)	2.2	(0.9)	5.7	(1.8)	22.4	(3.0)	20.0	(3.9)	39.3	(4.2)	43.4	(5.2)	32.8	(5.1)	29.6	(4.6)
	United Arab Emirates	1.2	(0.0)	1.1	(0.0)	3.6	(0.7)	2.4	(0.7)	10.4	(0.4)	7.3	(0.4)	26.8	(0.3)	36.5	(0.4)	58.1	(0.4)	52.6	(0.4)
	Uruguay	0.3	(0.3)	0.7	(0.5)	3.3	(1.0)	4.7	(1.5)	13.7	(2.1)	8.6	(1.7)	49.9	(3.3)	55.7	(3.0)	32.8	(3.3)	30.2	(2.9)
	Uzbekistan	0.0	С	1.4	(1.0)	4.0	(1.4)	3.5	(1.3)	10.7	(2.1)	12.0	(2.3)	43.1	(3.6)	35.9	(3.4)	42.1	(3.7)	47.2	(3.9)
	Viet Nam	0.5	(0.5)	1.1	(0.8)	7.7	(2.1)	5.4	(1.8)	24.0	(3.4)	27.8	(3.6)	43.2	(4.2)	49.2	(4.4)	24.6	(3.9)	16.6	(3.1)

# Table II.B1.6.38. Assessment practices at school [7/8]

Results based on principals' reports

	Percentage of students in schools where students are assessed in the following ways:																			
									Teache	ers'judg	ementa	al ratings								
		Ne	ver			1-2 times	per ye	ar	:	3-5 times	s per ye	ar		Mon	thly		Мо	re than o	nce a r	nonth
	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	mathe	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics	In g	eneral	math	In ematics
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
O Australia*	7.0	(0.9)	10.7	(1.2)	15.2	(1.7)	14.2	(1.6)	25.3	(2.1)	25.2	(2.2)	23.9	(1.9)	28.9	(2.0)	28.6	(2.1)	21.0	(2.0)
8 Austria	0.9	(0.6)	3.7	(1.2)	8.3	(1.9)	6.5	(1.4)	17.0	(2.4)	17.6	(2.3)	21.3	(2.7)	14.9	(2.5)	52.4	(3.2)	57.3	(2.7)
Belgium	0.3	(0.3)	0.6	(0.4)	1.0	(0.7)	1.8	(1.0)	10.8	(2.4)	5.8	(2.0)	5.5	(1.5)	7.4	(1.8)	82.4	(2.8)	84.4	(2.8)
Canada*	36.8	(2.3)	36.6	(2.2)	6.2	(1.1)	5.7	(1.1)	6.9	(1.1)	6.0	(1.2)	12.2	(1.7)	15.9	(1.9)	37.9	(2.1)	35.8	(2.4)
Chile	9.1	(2.4)	11.3	(2.7)	12.4	(2.5)	5.8	(1.7)	11.9	(2.7)	9.6	(2.2)	22.7	(3.5)	22.7	(3.2)	43.9	(4.2)	50.6	(3.9)
Colombia	3.4	(0.9)	6.6	(2.4)	8.1	(2.0)	6.8	(1.7)	18.6	(2.8)	24.1	(3.2)	17.5	(2.7)	19.8	(2.4)	52.4	(3.9)	42.7	(3.4)
Costa Rica	43.9	(3.9)	29.3	(3.9)	12.8	(3.1)	11.8	(3.0)	13.0	(3.1)	24.2	(3.9)	10.3	(2.5)	13.4	(2.7)	20.0	(2.9)	21.3	(3.5)
Czech Republic	18.9	(2.0)	19.5	(2.3)	20.2	(2.2)	20.4	(2.0)	19.2	(2.5)	14.4	(2.1)	16.3	(2.2)	16.7	(2.0)	25.5	(2.1)	29.1	(2.3)
Denmark*	1.7	(0.8)	3.3	(1.4)	23.1	(3.2)	24.0	(2.7)	39.6	(3.5)	35.7	(3.5)	20.3	(2.5)	24.5	(2.7)	15.3	(2.2)	12.4	(2.1)
Estonia	2.9	(0.9)	4.0	(1.0)	7.1	(1.4)	5.8	(1.1)	15.1	(1.5)	8.9	(1.6)	11.8	(1.8)	15.5	(2.2)	63.2	(2.3)	65.8	(2.3)
Finland	0.6	(0.6)	0.0	С	0.2	(0.2)	0.2	(0.2)	3.3	(1.4)	5.5	(1.7)	13.6	(2.5)	12.3	(2.4)	82.3	(3.0)	82.0	(2.8)
France	3.4	(1.4)	4.7	(1.4)	10.3	(2.2)	7.6	(2.0)	56.7	(3.5)	52.4	(3.3)	7.2	(2.0)	13.1	(2.6)	22.4	(3.4)	22.1	(3.0)
Germany	0.0	С	0.8	(0.5)	7.5	(2.1)	5.5	(1.8)	23.9	(3.1)	22.6	(3.1)	18.0	(2.7)	19.6	(2.9)	50.6	(3.5)	51.4	(3.2)
Greece	2.3	(1.0)	2.8	(1.1)	37.2	(3.3)	31.1	(3.4)	17.6	(2.7)	18.6	(2.5)	10.9	(2.2)	17.2	(2.8)	32.1	(3.0)	30.3	(3.5)
Hungary	9.2	(2.5)	7.2	(2.1)	4.7	(1.6)	6.7	(1.9)	5.5	(1.7)	7.8	(2.1)	21.7	(3.1)	24.7	(3.2)	58.8	(3.4)	53.6	(3.6)
Iceland	0.0	С	0.4	(0.0)	3.6	(0.0)	4.5	(0.1)	2.5	(0.1)	9.3	(0.1)	13.9	(0.2)	24.2	(0.3)	80.0	(0.2)	61.5	(0.3)
Ireland*	2.6	(1.4)	5.9	(1.9)	10.6	(2.5)	5.4	(2.0)	33.0	(3.8)	30.0	(3.6)	22.4	(3.1)	27.0	(3.6)	31.5	(3.5)	31.6	(4.0)
Israel	0.4	(0.4)	1.9	(1.1)	60.0	(3.7)	54.2	(3.5)	34.2	(3.5)	35.9	(3.4)	0.6	(0.6)	3.1	(1.4)	4.9	(2.0)	4.9	(1.8)
Italy	7.2	(1.9)	7.5	(2.2)	8.1	(2.3)	7.0	(1.9)	10.7	(2.4)	8.6	(2.3)	14.9	(2.8)	19.0	(2.7)	59.1	(4.0)	57.9	(3.9)
Japan	3.2	(1.4)	2.8	(1.3)	8.3	(2.1)	8.3	(2.1)	49.3	(3.5)	46.5	(3.5)	4.5	(1.8)	5.8	(2.0)	34.7	(3.6)	36.6	(3.7)
Korea	12.7	(3.0)	18.1	(4.9)	16.6	(3.7)	18.5	(3.7)	41.0	(4.5)	40.0	(4.3)	10.5	(2.3)	10.0	(2.1)	19.2	(3.6)	13.4	(3.0)
Latvia*	28.0	(2.5)	30.5	(2.8)	2.4	(1.1)	3.2	(1.0)	4.1	(1.4)	3.7	(1.2)	15.2	(2.6)	22.5	(2.8)	50.4	(3.4)	40.0	(3.2)
Lithuania	3.1	(0.8)	3.4	(0.9)	8.0	(1.3)	4.0	(0.6)	3.5	(1.0)	6.4	(1.4)	21.6	(2.1)	22.2	(1.8)	63.8	(2.2)	63.9	(2.2)
Mexico	9.8	(2.3)	6.3	(1.9)	12.0	(2.4)	11.6	(2.2)	14.9	(2.5)	18.6	(2.7)	36.7	(3.6)	41.7	(3.5)	26.7	(3.2)	21.8	(2.9)
Netherlands*	0.9	(0.9) †	3.0	(1.7) †	7.9	(2.8) †	5.7	(2.4) †	21.7	(3.7) †	31.4	(4.2) †	33.1	(4.7) †	35.9	(4.7) †	36.4	(4.3) †	24.1	(4.3) †
New Zealand*	12.7	(2.5) †	19.8	(3.0) †	17.2	(2.8) †	18.4	(3.2) †	30.2	(4.3) †	25.9	(4.0) †	25.2	(3.4) †	20.2	(2.9) †	14.7	(2.7) †	15.7	(2.9) †
Norway	0.0	С	0.0	С	6.3	(1.8)	7.5	(1.9)	9.5	(2.0)	9.9	(1.9)	15.7	(2.4)	29.5	(3.0)	68.5	(3.2)	53.0	(3.5)
Poland	0.0	C	0.0	C	7.1	(1.7)	2.1	(1.0)	4.1	(1.3)	4.8	(1.4)	12.1	(2.0)	15.7	(2.6)	76.6	(2.8)	77.4	(2.9)
Portugal	3.2	(1.2)	20.5	(2.8)	16.3	(2.7)	9.7	(2.0)	51.7	(3.6)	27.4	(3.2)	15.7	(2.4)	21.0	(2.9)	13.1	(2.4)	21.4	(3.0)
Slovak Republic	11.3	(2.0)	14.2	(2.5)	17.5	(2.4)	12.3	(1.9)	12.3	(2.2)	14.1	(2.5)	21.2	(2.4)	26.7	(3.1)	37.7	(3.6)	32.6	(3.5)
Slovenia	2.6	(0.2)	1.9	(0.3)	24.8	(0.3)	36.3	(0.3)	28.8	(0.9)	31.0	(0.8)	14.5	(0.5)	13.8	(0.3)	29.2	(0.8)	17.0	(0.8)
Spain	8.8	(1.3)	11.7	(1.2)	7.9	(1.3)	5.9	(1.1)	15.6	(1.6)	11.3	(1.3)	13.5	(1.3)	14.7	(1.5)	54.2	(2.0)	56.3	(2.0)
Sweden	0.5	(0.5)	0.5	(0.5)	0.5	(0.5)	1.1	(0.8)	10.2	(2.2)	17.0	(2.7)	30.0	(3.5)	29.4	(3.3)	58.9	(3.7)	51.9	(3.8)
Switzerland	7.4	(2.3)	8.1	(2.1)	12.8	(2.7)	10.2	(2.3)	10.8	(2.3)	10.9	(2.3)	20.3	(3.2)	32.5	(3.5)	48.7	(3.7)	38.4	(3.6)
Türkiye	1.2	(0.7)	2.9	(1.2)	15.1	(3.1)	19.0	(3.1)	45.9	(3.8)	47.0	(3.3)	17.3	(2.9)	13.6	(2.5)	20.5	(3.4)	17.5	(2.9)
United Kingdom*	5.9	(1.5)	7.9	(1.9)	11.6	(2.5)	10.3	(2.5)	56.4	(3.9)	44.8	(3.6)	10.0	(2.4)	17.2	(2.7)	16.2	(3.2)	19.9	(3.0)
United States*	41.6	(4.5)	40.5	(5.0)	3.0	(1.7)	9.0	(2.8)	1.8	(1.1)	2.7	(1.4)	14.7	(3.6)	11.3	(2.9)	38.9	(4.5)	36.4	(4.3)
OECD average	8.2	(0.3)	9.4	(0.3)	12.2	(0.4)	11.3	(0.3)	21.0	(0.4)	20.4	(0.4)	16.7	(0.4)	19.6	(0.4)	41.9	(0.5)	39.3	(0.5)

# Table II.B1.6.38. Assessment practices at school [8/8]

Results based on principals' reports

						Perc	centage o	of stud	ents in s	chools	where s	tuder	ts are ass	essed i	n the fol	lowing	ways:				
										Teache	ers'judg	emen	tal ratings								
			Ne	ver			1-2 times	s per ye	ar	:	3-5 times	s per y	ear		Mon	thly		Мо	re than o	nce a r	nonth
					In				In				In				In				In
		in g	s.F.	math %	S F.	In g	S.F.	math %	S F.	In g	S F.	mat %	S F.	In g	S.F.	math %	S F.	In g	s.F.	math %	SE
≌ Albania		17.6	(2.2)	16.4	(2.0)	7.5	(1.6)	10.5	(1.6)	14.9	(1.7)	12.0	(1.8)	27.8	(2.5)	31.1	(2.8)	32.1	(2.9)	30.0	(2.8)
E Argentina	1	8.6	(1.6)	5.8	(1.5)	8.5	(1.9)	3.6	(1.1)	13.0	(2.1)	10.3	(1.8)	27.0	(3.1)	37.1	(3.0)	42.9	(3.4)	43.2	(2.8)
Baku (Aze	erbaijan)	12.6	(2.9) †	14.8	(3.2) †	21.6	(3.5) †	22.3	(3.6) †	23.7	(4.0) †	14.8	(3.3) †	28.9	(4.0) †	36.9	(4.7) †	13.3	(2.7) †	11.2	(2.9) †
Brazil	• /	14.3	(1.7)	18.5	(1.7)	15.7	(2.2)	12.3	(1.8)	18.2	(1.9)	17.4	(2.1)	28.4	(2.4)	28.4	(2.2)	23.4	(2.4)	23.4	(2.2)
Brunei Da	arussalam	11.3	(0.1)	13.4	(0.1)	26.6	(0.1)	22.0	(0.1)	19.2	(0.1)	15.7	(0.1)	33.1	(0.1)	31.2	(0.1)	9.8	(0.1)	17.7	(0.1)
Bulgaria		0.6	(0.6)	0.8	(0.8)	8.8	(2.3)	8.4	(2.3)	21.3	(3.2)	21.2	(3.4)	39.5	(3.9)	45.6	(3.8)	29.7	(3.8)	24.1	(3.3)
Cambodia	a	4.3	(2.3)	6.6	(2.9)	7.8	(2.8)	8.8	(2.9)	4.1	(2.3)	1.1	(0.9)	76.5	(4.2)	80.0	(4.5)	7.3	(2.5)	3.6	(2.0)
Croatia		1.0	(0.7)	3.7	(1.4)	7.0	(2.0)	10.1	(2.2)	25.2	(3.2)	28.2	(3.1)	35.7	(3.7)	32.1	(3.7)	31.1	(3.5)	25.9	(3.2)
Cyprus		6.6	(0.2)	8.5	(0.2)	6.3	(0.1)	9.3	(0.1)	16.1	(0.2)	19.7	(0.2)	16.4	(0.3)	23.8	(0.3)	54.5	(0.3)	38.7	(0.4)
Dominica	n Republic	4.2	(1.2) †	4.0	(1.4) †	13.5	(2.7) †	9.6	(2.8) †	13.1	(3.0) †	12.8	(2.9) †	25.8	(4.2) †	38.0	(4.0) †	43.4	(4.4) †	35.5	(3.5) †
El Salvado	or	2.3	(1.0)	1.5	(0.7)	6.0	(1.6)	8.9	(2.0)	20.2	(2.9)	18.7	(3.1)	31.8	(3.1)	35.5	(2.8)	39.8	(3.5)	35.4	(3.2)
Georgia		17.1	(2.8)	22.8	(2.9)	33.6	(3.3)	26.3	(3.0)	18.1	(2.8)	18.6	(2.7)	19.5	(2.6)	21.8	(2.9)	11.7	(2.5)	10.6	(2.4)
Guatemal	a	15.1	(1.9)	11.6	(2.2)	8.2	(1.9)	8.4	(2.0)	26.8	(2.9)	25.1	(3.1)	20.4	(2.9)	28.5	(3.0)	29.5	(3.2)	26.4	(3.1)
Hong Ko	ng (China)*	19.8	(3.6) †	23.9	(3.7) †	30.4	(4.3) †	29.6	(4.0) †	17.2	(4.0) †	16.2	(3.5) †	11.3	(3.6) †	8.1	(2.9) †	21.3	(3.8) †	22.2	(4.1) †
Indonesia	ı	5.2	(1.7)	4.8	(1.6)	51.2	(3.5)	46.6	(3.7)	24.6	(3.3)	24.1	(3.1)	13.5	(2.4)	17.4	(2.5)	5.5	(1.6)	7.1	(1.9)
Jamaica*		30.4	(3.7) †	46.5	(3.6) †	23.5	(2.8) †	8.4	(1.7) †	3.3	(1.3) †	4.5	(1.1) †	19.8	(4.9) †	21.6	(4.7) †	23.0	(3.8) †	19.0	(3.0) †
Jordan		0.6	(0.4)	8.3	(1.4)	14.2	(2.1)	19.7	(2.3)	8.6	(1.9)	16.0	(2.4)	23.7	(2.6)	19.1	(2.6)	52.9	(2.9)	36.9	(3.0)
Kazakhsta	an	4.2	(1.0)	6.9	(1.4)	21.6	(1.9)	21.6	(2.0)	13.7	(1.8)	16.2	(2.0)	37.6	(2.2)	39.1	(2.5)	23.0	(2.2)	16.2	(1.8)
Kosovo		11.6	(0.7)	15.5	(0.7)	7.2	(0.8)	8.9	(1.1)	27.9	(1.1)	22.2	(1.2)	29.5	(1.5)	25.1	(1.0)	23.8	(1.4)	28.4	(1.2)
Macao (Cl	hina)	7.6	(0.0)	3.6	(0.0)	8.9	(0.0)	9.8	(0.0)	24.2	(0.0)	39.4	(0.0)	10.1	(0.0)	8.7	(0.0)	49.2	(0.0)	38.5	(0.0)
Malaysia		5.1	(1.6)	4.9	(1.3)	32.3	(3.6)	29.7	(3.1)	25.4	(3.1)	22.4	(3.3)	19.0	(3.1)	24.0	(2.9)	18.2	(2.9)	19.1	(3.3)
Malta		7.2	(0.1)	22.1	(0.2)	15.4	(0.1)	15.3	(0.1)	29.6	(0.2)	24.6	(0.2)	36.9	(0.2)	22.1	(0.2)	10.9	(0.1)	15.8	(0.2)
Moldova		25.7	(2.9)	31.8	(2.9)	27.8	(2.7)	30.6	(2.8)	14.0	(2.3)	15.7	(2.5)	22.1	(2.5)	15.9	(2.7)	10.4	(1.7)	5.9	(1.5)
Mongolia		5.4	(1.6)	9.4	(2.0)	30.6	(2.7)	26.7	(2.7)	16.6	(2.5)	18.3	(2.6)	27.6	(2.9)	31.0	(2.8)	19.9	(2.4)	14.5	(2.1)
Monteneg	jro	0.4	(0.4)	1.1	(0.6)	0.6	(0.6)	0.0	С	19.8	(0.3)	38.9	(0.5)	46.1	(0.6)	32.0	(0.9)	33.1	(0.6)	28.0	(0.6)
Morocco		7.4	(2.1)	10.8	(2.1)	21.4	(3.4)	15.9	(2.9)	18.9	(3.4)	21.3	(3.3)	27.8	(3.7)	35.7	(3.9)	24.5	(3.5)	16.3	(3.0)
North Ma	cedonia	7.8	(0.0)	13.0	(0.1)	10.8	(0.1)	16.7	(0.1)	20.5	(0.1)	21.7	(0.1)	35.6	(0.1)	33.5	(0.1)	25.3	(0.1)	15.0	(0.1)
Palestinia	n Authority	12.4	(1.6)	12.9	(1.8)	8.9	(1.5)	7.5	(1.8)	20.1	(2.3)	17.0	(2.2)	22.5	(2.5)	24.2	(2.8)	36.1	(2.6)	38.5	(2.9)
Panama*		5.3	(2.2) †	5.3	(2.2) †	8.9	(2.0) †	7.4	(2.4) †	11.1	(3.2) †	9.5	(2.8) †	7.5	(2.4) †	10.0	(2.7) †	67.2	(4.3) †	67.9	(3.8) †
Paraguay		8.7	(2.2)	13.6	(2.4)	20.6	(2.9)	16.5	(2.6)	17.0	(2.4)	17.5	(3.0)	30.2	(3.3)	25.7	(3.4)	23.4	(2.7)	26.6	(3.1)
Peru		4.4	(1.3)	4.4	(1.3)	11.0	(1.9)	13.6	(2.1)	21.4	(2.9)	11.6	(2.0)	23.2	(2.8)	24.3	(2.8)	40.0	(3.0)	46.1	(2.9)
Philippine	es	1.1	(1.1)	1.8	(1.3)	6.1	(2.0)	3.3	(1.2)	15.5	(2.7)	15.8	(2.4)	27.4	(3.1)	27.7	(3.3)	49.9	(3.8)	51.3	(3.4)
Qatar		7.2	(0.1)	11.2	(0.1)	18.7	(0.1)	13.6	(0.1)	20.4	(0.1)	20.1	(0.1)	23.0	(0.1)	34.3	(0.1)	30.8	(0.1)	20.8	(0.1)
Romania		0.7	(0.7)	0.7	(0.7)	1.5	(0.9)	2.0	(1.1)	2.2	(1.2)	0.2	(0.2)	18.3	(3.3)	17.8	(3.0)	77.3	(3.6)	79.2	(3.2)
Saudi Ara	ibia	2.3	(1.2)	7.2	(1.8)	10.6	(2.3)	6.3	(1.5)	12.6	(2.4)	12.2	(2.1)	31.2	(3.6)	39.9	(3.6)	43.4	(3.5)	34.4	(3.6)
Serbia		2.1	(1.1)	1.6	(1.0)	10.8	(2.1)	9.0	(1.8)	15.2	(2.7)	12.2	(2.4)	23.5	(3.1)	30.1	(3.8)	48.4	(3.8)	47.1	(3.8)
Singapore	e	21.2	(0.2)	32.4	(0.3)	28.3	(0.3)	18.4	(0.2)	24.4	(1.3)	22.5	(1.4)	11.6	(0.9)	14.5	(0.7)	14.6	(0.8)	12.3	(0.8)
Chinese T	aipei	5.6	(2.2)	17.3	(3.3)	24.0	(3.6)	15.5	(2.9)	13.9	(2.7)	13.8	(2.8)	14.9	(2.8)	18.7	(3.1)	41.5	(4.1)	34.7	(4.1)
Ihailand		6.7	(1.9)	7.8	(2.2)	12.5	(2.5)	14.2	(2.8)	10.8	(2.4)	14.4	(2.4)	15.5	(3.0)	17.5	(3.5)	54.4	(3.3)	46.1	(3.7)
Ukrainian	regions (18 of 27)	31.1	(4.5)	36.8	(5.1)	3.5	(1.3)	4.1	(1.6)	3.7	(1.5)	5.3	(1.9)	11.2	(2.1)	13.0	(2.7)	50.4	(4.9)	40.9	(4.8)
United Ar	ab Emirates	6.0	(0.7)	6.6	(0.7)	4.2	(0.2)	3.5	(0.2)	13.6	(0.4)	10.1	(0.4)	23.8	(0.2)	28.3	(1.0)	52.3	(0.5)	51.5	(0.9)
Uruguay		2.8	(1.2)	6.4	(1.2)	5.6	(1.3)	/.3	(1./)	20.2	(2.3)	10.7	(1.9)	27.5	(3.1)	32.1	(2.7)	43.9	(3.4)	43.6	(3.4)
Uzbekista	in	7.2	(1.8)	16.4	(2.8)	18.9	(2.9)	21.9	(2.9)	15.2	(2.6)	11.4	(2.3)	31.6	(3.2)	26.3	(3.1)	27.0	(3.4)	24.0	(3.2)
Viet Nam		16.7	(3.3)	14.3	(2.9)	35.3	(3.6)	28.2	(3.0)	12.4	(2.8)	14.9	(3.0)	26.2	(3.3)	32.1	(3.4)	9.4	(2.0)	10.6	(2.7)

# Table II.B1.6.58. Quality assurance and improvement actions at school [1/6]

Results based on principals' reports

			Percentage o	of students ir	n schools wh	ere the follow	ving arrange	ments aimed	at quality as	surance and	improvemen	t are in place:	:
		Int S	ernal evaluati Self-evaluatio	on/ n	Ext	ernal evaluat	ion	Wri of the scl and	tten specifica nools curricu education g	tion lar profile oals	Written s perfo	pecification of	of student dards
		Yes, this is mandatory	Yes, on the school's initiative	No	Yes, this is mandatory	Yes, on the school's initiative	No	Yes, this is mandatory	Yes, on the school's initiative	No	Yes, this is mandatory	Yes, on the school's initiative	No
_		% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.
00	Australia*	50.4 (2.0)	47.2 (1.9)	2.4 (0.8)	83.3 (1.8)	8.8 (1.3)	7.9 (1.3)	64.7 (2.1)	32.9 (2.0)	2.4 (0.7)	73.8 (2.0)	22.8 (1.8)	3.4 (0.8)
ö	Austria	62.5 (2.7)	30.8 (2.8)	6.8 (1.4)	29.7 (2.7)	17.8 (2.3)	52.5 (3.3)	50.9 (3.3)	33.2 (3.0)	15.9 (2.4)	45.4 (3.3)	34.2 (2.9)	20.4 (2.6)
	Belgium	27.4 (2.8)	62.4 (3.4)	10.2 (2.0)	69.5 (3.3)	14.3 (2.4)	16.1 (2.8)	54.0 (3.2)	37.9 (3.4)	8.1 (2.3)	28.9 (2.8)	36.1 (3.3)	35.0 (3.1)
	Canada*	49.0 (2.3)	34.2 (2.4)	16.7 (2.0)	55.3 (2.6)	9.7 (1.5)	35.1 (2.5)	72.3 (2.1)	21.5 (1.9)	6.2 (1.2)	63.5 (2.3)	20.9 (2.0)	15.6 (1.7)
	Chile	29.8 (3.7)	63.9 (4.0)	6.3 (1.8)	60.9 (3.2)	20.7 (2.6)	18.3 (2.7)	65.9 (4.0)	29.7 (3.8)	4.5 (1.7)	51.9 (3.9)	32.2 (3.4)	15.9 (2.9)
	Colombia	64.3 (3.7)	35.2 (3.7)	0.6 (0.6)	66.9 (3.1)	28.4 (2.9)	4.8 (1.4)	39.7 (3.1)	57.0 (3.4)	3.2 (1.2)	58.5 (3.8)	41.1 (3.8)	0.4 (0.3)
	Costa Rica	75.2 (3.5)	20.1 (2.9)	4.7 (2.2)	64.2 (4.1)	7.0 (1.7)	28.8 (3.9)	66.2 (3.8)	22.7 (3.3)	11.2 (2.9)	64.2 (4.2)	31.3 (4.3)	4.5 (1.6)
	Czech Republic	26.0 (2.2)	71.4 (2.3)	2.6 (0.8)	37.8 (2.8)	27.3 (2.4)	34.9 (2.7)	74.4 (2.4)	23.9 (2.4)	1.7 (0.8)	68.3 (2.9)	24.2 (2.7)	7.5 (1.4)
	Denmark*	54.0 (3.2)	34.6 (2.8)	11.4 (2.3)	68.5 (3.2)	7.1 (2.0)	24.4 (3.1)	51.2 (3.4)	22.9 (2.9)	25.9 (2.9)	68.2 (3.0)	18.1 (2.5)	13.7 (2.2)
	Estonia	81.2 (1.9)	18.5 (1.9)	0.3 (0.3)	69.3 (2.4)	11.9 (1.7)	18.8 (2.1)	74.6 (2.3)	23.6 (2.2)	1.9 (0.8)	43.7 (2.6)	34.2 (2.4)	22.1 (2.5)
	Finland	55.5 (3.5)	39.6 (3.5)	4.9 (1.5)	55.6 (3.4)	10.1 (2.3)	34.3 (3.1)	63.3 (3.3)	16.6 (2.5)	20.1 (2.8)	61.9 (3.6)	12.6 (2.5)	25.5 (3.1)
	France	59.6 (3.7)	28.6 (3.3)	11.8 (2.3)	56.7 (3.5)	8.4 (2.0)	34.9 (3.3)	60.7 (3.7)	21.1 (2.9)	18.2 (2.5)	28.6 (3.3)	9.0 (2.1)	62.4 (3.7)
	Germany	21.9 (3.1)	62.9 (3.3)	15.2 (2.1)	55.6 (3.5)	9.5 (2.0)	34.9 (3.3)	43.6 (4.1)	48.1 (3.9)	8.3 (1.9)	43.4 (3.6)	35.7 (3.1)	20.9 (3.0)
	Greece	92.0 (2.0)	6.9 (1.8)	1.1 (0.8)	57.9 (4.0)	2.9 (0.9)	39.2 (3.9)	69.7 (3.0)	11.9 (1.9)	18.4 (2.5)	53.4 (3.0)	15.5 (2.4)	31.0 (3.0)
	Hungary	78.6 (3.3)	14.9 (2.8)	6.6 (1.9)	71.2 (3.6)	9.6 (2.2)	19.2 (3.1)	87.5 (2.7)	11.8 (2.6)	0.7 (0.7)	66.0 (3.4)	31.9 (3.4)	2.1 (1.1)
	Iceland	91.9 (0.2)	8.1 (0.2)	0.0 c	98.6 (0.1)	1.4 (0.1)	0.0 (0.0)	77.0 (0.3)	22.4 (0.3)	0.6 (0.1)	49.3 (0.3)	42.6 (0.3)	8.1 (0.2)
	Ireland*	84.4 (2.9)	15.6 (2.9)	0.0 c	88.2 (2.4)	4.5 (1.6)	7.3 (1.9)	44.5 (4.1)	48.6 (4.0)	6.9 (1.9)	22.3 (3.5)	54.6 (4.2)	23.2 (3.6)
	Israel	52.9 (3.2)	45.3 (3.2)	1.9 (1.0)	82.7 (2.5)	8.8 (1.9)	8.5 (1.7)	48.1 (4.1)	50.8 (4.2)	1.1 (0.8)	30.7 (3.8)	59.0 (4.2)	10.3 (2.3)
	Italy	62.5 (4.1)	34.6 (3.8)	2.9 (1.3)	46.1 (3.8)	13.9 (2.4)	39.9 (3.7)	47.3 (4.2)	51.4 (4.2)	1.2 (0.8)	24.1 (3.2)	52.3 (4.1)	23.6 (3.4)
	Japan	59.3 (3.6)	39.2 (3.6)	1.4 (1.0)	50.0 (3.7)	31.5 (4.0)	18.5 (3.3)	45.7 (3.8)	51.5 (3.9)	2.8 (1.4)	18.9 (3.4)	77.5 (3.3)	3.6 (1.5)
	Korea	56.2 (4.6)	43.4 (4.6)	0.4 (0.4)	52.7 (5.3)	19.1 (3.5)	28.2 (5.8)	62.9 (4.9)	37.1 (4.9)	0.0 (0.1)	74.1 (3.7)	25.4 (3.7)	0.5 (0.5)
	Latvia*	85.1 (2.1)	14.9 (2.1)	0.0 c	93.1 (1.6)	3.3 (1.1)	3.6 (1.2)	70.1 (2.8)	27.8 (2.8)	2.1 (0.5)	67.9 (2.9)	26.1 (2.8)	6.0 (1.4)
	Lithuania	69.6 (1.8)	30.0 (1.8)	0.4 (0.4)	82.3 (1.9)	4.4 (1.2)	13.3 (1.8)	69.4 (2.0)	30.4 (2.0)	0.2 (0.0)	50.6 (2.4)	36.5 (2.1)	13.0 (1.6)
	Mexico	40.1 (3.7)	51.3 (3.3)	8.6 (2.1)	62.6 (3.6)	12.2 (2.4)	25.2 (3.2)	64.2 (3.4)	28.9 (3.3)	7.0 (1.6)	50.1 (3.8)	36.1 (3.7)	13.8 (2.3)
	Netherlands*	21.5 (4.3)	75.5 (4.4)	3.1 (1.6)	53.4 (4.8)	37.3 (4.9)	9.3 (3.0)	47.8 (4.9)	50.7 (5.0)	1.5 (1.1)	38.2 (5.6)	50.2 (5.3)	11.7 (2.8)
	New Zealand*	46.6 (3.9)	53.4 (3.9)	0.0 c	98.8 (0.8)†	1.2 (0.8) †	0.0 c†	51.1 (4.1)†	48.9 (4.1)†	0.0 c†	34.0 (3.9) †	59.6 (3.9)†	6.4 (1.7) †
	Norway	43.9 (3.5)	53.6 (3.4)	2.5 (1.0)	72.3 (3.1)	4.1 (1.4)	23.6 (2.8)	48.7 (3.4)	34.4 (3.1)	17.0 (2.2)	32.3 (3.1)	58.2 (2.8)	9.4 (2.1)
	Poland	24.6 (3.0)	65.0 (3.6)	10.4 (2.1)	49.7 (3.0)	5.9 (1.6)	44.4 (3.1)	30.0 (3.3)	36.0 (3.0)	34.0 (3.0)	26.0 (2.9)	50.9 (3.1)	23.1 (2.5)
	Portugal	45.4 (3.5)	53.7 (3.5)	0.9 (0.6)	88.8 (2.1)	6.8 (1.6)	4.4 (1.3)	45.3 (3.3)	46.1 (3.4)	8.6 (2.1)	35.3 (3.1)	59.0 (3.2)	5.7 (1.5)
	Slovak Republic	69.3 (3.8)	26.4 (3.4)	4.3 (1.4)	33.2 (3.1)	24.7 (2.8)	42.1 (2.8)	66.0 (3.1)	25.3 (3.0)	8.7 (1.9)	74.9 (2.8)	15.4 (2.4)	9.7 (1.7)
	Slovenia	48.3 (0.7)	51.6 (0.7)	0.1 (0.1)	30.6 (0.7)	31.1 (0.7)	38.2 (0.8)	77.4 (0.7)	21.3 (0.7)	1.4 (0.3)	80.8 (0.6)	17.3 (0.6)	1.9 (0.3)
	Spain	44.7 (2.2)	46.9 (2.1)	8.5 (1.2)	54.6 (2.2)	15.3 (1.7)	30.1 (2.0)	63.2 (2.1)	31.0 (2.2)	5.8 (1.1)	45.2 (2.7)	38.6 (2.2)	16.2 (1.7)
	Sweden	64.7 (3.4)	32.9 (3.2)	2.3 (1.0)	66.8 (3.7)	6.0 (1.8)	27.2 (3.2)	50.1 (3.6)	30.6 (3.5)	19.4 (2.7)	78.6 (3.2)	20.8 (3.1)	0.6 (0.6)
	Switzerland	42.5 (3.7)	42.3 (3.8)	15.2 (2.7)	60.7 (3.1)	13.9 (2.7)	25.3 (2.8)	53.9 (3.4)	30.0 (3.4)	16.2 (2.6)	47.7 (4.1)	18.8 (3.0)	33.6 (3.9)
	Türkiye	73.8 (3.3)	25.6 (3.2)	0.6 (0.4)	63.2 (3.5)	16.3 (2.6)	20.4 (3.2)	79.8 (2.7)	16.6 (2.5)	3.6 (1.4)	60.5 (3.7)	34.2 (3.8)	5.2 (1.5)
	United Kingdon*	45.2 (3.6)	54.8 (3.6)	0.0 c	65.7 (3.5)	31.4 (3.3)	3.0 (1.4)	50.7 (3.7)	49.3 (3.7)	0.0 c	53.8 (3.7)	41.7 (3.5)	4.4 (1.6)
	United States*	68.9 (4.1)	22.9 (3.8)	8.2 (2.4)	69.0 (3.7)	17.3 (3.5)	13.7 (2.8)	70.2 (4.2)	26.5 (4.1)	3.4 (1.5)	68.0 (4.1)	29.0 (4.2)	3.0 (1.5)
	OECD average	55.9 (0.5)	39.4 (0.5)	4.7 (0.2)	63.9 (0.5)	13.6 (0.4)	22.4 (0.5)	59.5 (0.6)	32.7 (0.5)	7.8 (0.3)	50.9 (0.5)	35.2 (0.5)	13.9 (0.4)

# Table II.B1.6.58. Quality assurance and improvement actions at school [2/6]

Results based on principals' reports

		Percentage of	of students ir	n schools wi	here the follo	wing arrange	ements aimed	l at quality as	surance and	improvemen	t are in place	:
	int S	ernal evaluat Self-evaluatio	ion/ n	Ex	ternal evaluat	ion	Wri of the sc and	tten specifica hools curricu I education g	tion lar profile oals	Written s perfo	pecification commance stand	of student dards
	Yes, this is mandatory	Yes, on the school's initiative	No	Yes, this is mandatory	Yes, on the school's initiative	No	Yes, this is mandatory	Yes, on the school's initiative	No	Yes, this is mandatory	Yes, on the school's initiative	No
(0 All	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.
	91.0 (1.6)	9.0 (1.6)	0.0 C	80.2 (1.7)	7.3 (1.3)	0.4 (1.1)	12.8 (2.7)	25.1 (2.7)	2.2 (1.1)	78.3 (2.4)	18.5 (2.3)	3.2 (1.0)
	33.1 (2.0) 44.8 (3.0) +	52.1 (4.0) +	11.4(2.1)	52.9 (3.2) 62.6 (3.6) t	15.3 (3.0) +	22.1 (3.2) +	40.3 (2.9)	(20.0) $(4.0)$ +	10.7 (1.0)	37.0 (2.9) 46.4 (4.5) +	34.2 (2.9)	20.2 (2.1)
Brazil	44.0 (0.3)	55.6 (2.2)	3.0 (0.7)	80.1 (1.8)	13.3 (1.6)	66 (11)	66.2 (2.3)	23.8 (2.2)	10.0 (2.3)	62.8 (2.2)	20.8 (1.8)	7.4 (1.2)
Brunei Darussalam	60.9 (0.1)	39.1 (0.1)	0.0 (0.7)	77.7 (0.1)	13.9 (0.1)	84 (01)	41.6 (0.1)	57.3 (0.1)	12 (00)	29.0 (0.1)	67.3 (0.1)	38 (00)
Bulgaria	52.6 (3.9)	43.3 (3.7)	41 (16)	92.1 (1.8)	29 (11)	50 (17)	63.9 (3.0)	27.9 (3.1)	82 (21)	70.3 (3.3)	20.2 (2.7)	95 (24)
Cambodia	51.5 (4.2)	45.5 (4.2)	3.0 (1.6)	50.2 (5.2)	21.8 (3.8)	28.0 (4.3)	60.7 (5.0)	37.2 (5.1)	2.1 (1.1)	61.1 (4.3)	33.4 (4.2)	5.5 (1.7)
Croatia	69.9 (3.1)	26.8 (3.1)	3.3 (1.4)	78.7 (2.8)	7.7 (2.1)	13.5 (2.3)	78.0 (2.9)	16.5 (2.7)	5.5 (1.7)	65.2 (3.6)	24.1 (3.0)	10.7 (2.2)
Cvprus	28.0 (0.8)	66.0 (0.8)	6.0 (0.1)	76.5 (0.2)	14.2 (0.1)	9.3 (0.1)	76.1 (0.4)	21.6 (0.1)	2.3 (0.4)	47.8 (0.6)	38.4 (0.6)	13.8 (0.4)
Dominican Republic	38.0 (4.0) †	55.8 (4.1) †	6.2 (2.0) †	77.3 (3.2)†	16.1 (2.7) †	6.6 (1.8) †	54.5 (4.2)†	38.9 (4.3)†	6.6 (2.1) †	47.4 (3.8) †	49.7 (3.8)†	3.0 (1.0) †
El Salvador	33.3 (3.5)	61.9 (3.1)	4.8 (1.5)	64.0 (3.3)	12.7 (2.1)	23.3 (2.7)	49.1 (3.3)	41.3 (3.4)	9.6 (1.9)	44.1 (3.6)	47.0 (3.7)	8.9 (2.1)
Georgia	40.9 (3.3)	58.4 (3.4)	0.7 (0.5)	65.2 (3.3)	21.1 (3.0)	13.7 (2.4)	46.1 (3.4)	52.7 (3.4)	1.1 (0.6)	37.0 (3.5)	59.1 (3.2)	3.8 (1.3)
Guatemala	16.5 (2.6)	76.0 (2.9)	7.5 (1.6)	44.0 (3.6)	25.2 (2.8)	30.9 (3.0)	40.9 (3.1)	48.5 (2.9)	10.6 (2.2)	31.5 (3.0)	59.5 (3.1)	9.0 (1.8)
Hong Kong (China)*	47.1 (4.5)†	52.9 (4.5) †	0.0 c†	96.3 (1.6) †	1.3 (0.8) †	2.4 (1.4) †	35.8 (4.8) †	60.7 (5.1)†	3.5 (1.8) †	12.7 (2.9) †	73.8 (3.8)†	13.4 (3.1) †
Indonesia	50.6 (3.9)	48.4 (3.7)	0.9 (0.6)	53.9 (3.8)	39.9 (3.7)	6.2 (1.8)	48.3 (3.7)	48.8 (3.6)	2.9 (1.3)	33.3 (3.4)	57.8 (3.6)	8.9 (1.6)
Jamaica*	71.2 (3.7)†	28.8 (3.7) †	0.0 c†	86.3 (2.9) †	9.0 (2.4) †	4.8 (1.9) †	52.4 (4.5) †	46.7 (4.5)†	0.9 (0.6) †	42.1 (3.0) †	55.9 (3.3)†	2.0 (1.6) †
Jordan	62.5 (3.2)	36.5 (3.2)	1.0 (0.6)	64.7 (3.0)	24.1 (3.0)	11.2 (2.0)	79.6 (2.8)	15.5 (2.4)	5.0 (1.4)	63.7 (3.4)	30.4 (3.0)	5.9 (1.5)
Kazakhstan	30.8 (1.9)	68.2 (1.9)	1.0 (0.5)	84.4 (1.8)	11.3 (1.7)	4.3 (1.0)	54.7 (2.5)	44.0 (2.5)	1.3 (0.5)	39.2 (2.0)	60.1 (2.0)	0.7 (0.4)
Kosovo	79.0 (1.1)	19.0 (1.2)	2.0 (0.3)	82.3 (0.8)	7.5 (0.4)	10.2 (0.7)	72.7 (1.0)	23.3 (1.0)	4.0 (0.6)	64.4 (1.1)	30.1 (1.1)	5.5 (0.7)
Macao (China)	69.7 (0.0)	28.1 (0.0)	2.3 (0.0)	85.3 (0.0)	10.1 (0.0)	4.6 (0.0)	38.0 (0.1)	59.7 (0.1)	2.3 (0.0)	29.2 (0.1)	68.3 (0.1)	2.4 (0.0)
Malaysia	68.2 (3.2)	30.5 (3.1)	1.3 (0.8)	61.2 (4.2)	27.5 (3.7)	11.3 (2.6)	69.1 (3.3)	30.3 (3.2)	0.6 (0.6)	64.7 (3.1)	35.3 (3.1)	0.0 c
Malta	44.0 (0.2)	56.0 (0.2)	0.0 c	94.8 (0.2)	3.7 (0.2)	1.4 (0.0)	43.1 (0.3)	45.4 (0.3)	11.5 (0.1)	40.4 (0.2)	57.9 (0.2)	1.7 (0.1)
Moldova	62.5 (3.5)	36.7 (3.5)	0.9 (0.7)	83.1 (2.3)	14.8 (2.1)	2.1 (1.0)	66.2 (3.1)	25.7 (2.9)	8.1 (1.6)	60.4 (3.2)	31.6 (3.3)	8.0 (1.8)
Mongolia	42.6 (3.5)	56.4 (3.4)	1.1 (0.8)	73.3 (2.9)	23.9 (2.9)	2.8 (1.1)	54.3 (3.0)	39.4 (3.3)	6.3 (1.7)	45.3 (3.3)	40.0 (3.5)	14.8 (2.3)
Montenegro	77.1 (0.6)	22.9 (0.6)	0.0 c	94.0 (0.1)	4.5 (0.0)	1.5 (0.0)	91.7 (0.3)	8.3 (0.3)	0.0 c	69.7 (0.6)	16.3 (0.6)	14.0 (0.4)
Могоссо	60.5 (3.9)	37.5 (3.7)	1.9 (1.1)	66.5 (4.0)	18.6 (3.1)	14.9 (3.0)	70.5 (3.6)	18.2 (2.9)	11.3 (2.7)	49.0 (4.1)	35.9 (4.0)	15.1 (2.8)
North Macedonia	80.9 (0.1)	19.1 (0.1)	0.0 c	87.0 (0.1)	6.7 (0.0)	6.2 (0.0)	94.3 (0.0)	5.2 (0.0)	0.5 (0.0)	77.0 (0.1)	16.1 (0.1)	6.9 (0.0)
Palestinian Authority	68.9 (2.7)	28.5 (2.8)	2.6 (0.9)	65.8 (3.2)	21.2 (2.5)	13.0 (2.3)	84.5 (2.5)	10.7 (2.1)	4.7 (1.5)	75.2 (2.7)	19.9 (2.8)	5.0 (1.2)
Panama*	62.0 (4.8) †	37.1 (4.8) †	1.0 (0.9) †	57.8 (4.7)†	13.9 (3.7) †	28.3 (4.8) †	51.9 (4.4)†	42.6 (4.5) †	5.5 (2.1) †	40.7 (5.1) †	48.8 (5.1)†	10.4 (2.9) †
Paraguay	51.6 (3.5)	43.6 (3.4)	4.8 (1.4)	59.7 (3.2)	13.4 (2.4)	26.9 (2.8)	62.0 (3.8)	30.0 (3.5)	7.9 (1.9)	53.8 (3.7)	36.5 (3.6)	9.8 (2.1)
Peru	23.3 (2.7)	66.5 (3.1)	10.2 (2.0)	62.7 (2.7)	14.9 (2.1)	22.4 (2.2)	60.6 (3.0)	38.1 (2.8)	1.2 (0.7)	/3.4 (2.9)	24.5 (2.8)	2.1 (0.7)
Philippines	58.9 (3.2)	41.1 (3.2)	0.0 c	60.1 (3.8)	33.8 (3.8)	6.1 (1.8)	90.8 (2.2)	8.7 (2.2)	0.5 (0.4)	86.9 (2.4)	13.1 (2.4)	0.0 c
Qatar	62.9 (0.1)	37.1 (0.1)	0.0 C	83.0 (0.1)	16.2 (0.1)	0.8 (0.0)	72.2 (0.1)	20.8 (0.1)	1.0 (0.0)	66.3 (0.1)	33.0 (0.1)	0.0 (0.0)
Romania Saudi Arabia	00.5 (3.2)	19.5 (3.2)	0.0 C	10.0 (3.1)	21.7 (3.4)	2.0 (1.2)	07.4 (3.4)	20.0 (0.4)	0.0 (1.0)	57.1 (3.0)	31.0 (3.0)	11.9 (2.2)
Saudi Arabia	72.2 (2.6)	32.0 (3.3)	1.0 (0.0)	00.0 (3.0)	14.1 (2.7)	5.3 (1.7)	04.4 (3.0)	0 0 (2.0)	4.5 (1.0)	55.2 (5.9)	41.4 (3.0)	3.5 (1.4) 6.0 (1.7)
Singanore	52.0 (0.7)	47 1 (0 7)	1.2 (0.0)	97.9 (0.0)	5.6 (1.3)	1.0 (0.7)	37.6 (1.0)	62.4 (1.0)	1.1 (0.0)	79.0 (3.0) 36.8 (0.8)	14.2 (2.3) 60.6 (0.8)	26 (0.0)
Chinese Tainei	68.0 (3.8)	30.0 (3.7)	20 (10)	76.9 (3.2)	75 (22)	156 (27)	817 (27)	18.0 (2.6)	0.0 0	48.1 (3.5)	45.3 (3.6)	65 (23)
Thailand	78.5 (3.4)	21.5 (3.4)	2.0 (1.0)	93.3 (2.0)	63 (20)	04 (04)	48.5 (3.4)	514 (34)	0.2 (0.3)	60.3 (3.8)	38.7 (3.8)	0.9 (0.6)
Ilkrainian regions (18 of 27)	47.4 (4.8)	514 (4.8)	12 (11)	80.5 (3.6)	90 (2.8)	10.5 (2.7)	72 1 (4 2)	23.9 (3.8)	40 (18)	67.2 (4.3)	30.3 (4.4)	25 (17)
UnitedArab Emirates	73.7 (0.9)	26.2 (0.9)	0.1 (0.0)	93.2 (0.1)	5.3 (0.1)	1.5 (0.0)	67.9 (0.3)	31.5 (0.3)	0.6 (0.0)	64.6 (1.0)	34.8 (0.9)	0.6 (0.3)
Uruquav	32.6 (2.8)	55.9 (3.0)	11.5 (1.6)	59.4 (3.0)	9.4 (1.7)	31.3 (2.9)	41.4 (3.0)	40.3 (2.8)	18.3 (2.3)	50.3 (3.1)	28.7 (2.7)	21.1 (2.3)
Uzbekistan	32.2 (3.3)	66.4 (3.4)	1.4 (0.8)	85.2 (2.5)	5.6 (1.5)	9.2 (2.2)	72.1 (3.4)	26.1 (3.2)	1.9 (0.9)	50.6 (4.1)	47.9 (4.1)	1.5 (0.9)
Viet Nam	93.6 (2.1)	6.4 (2.1)	0.0 c	87.5 (2.8)	3.1 (1.4)	9.4 (2.8)	80.7 (3.6)	18.7 (3.6)	0.6 (0.6)	64.3 (4.0)	28.5 (3.9)	7.3 (1.9)

# Table II.B1.6.58. Quality assurance and improvement actions at school [3/6]

Results based on principals' reports

		Perc	entage	of studer	its in so	hools wh	ere the	following	arrange	ements ai	med at	quality as	surance	and imp	rovemer	nt are in p	lace:	
	s	Syster uch as tea and pr	natic re icher or ofessio	cording o student a nal develo	f data, attenda opment	nce,	5	Systematio result	c record s and g	ing of stu raduation	idents' rates	test		Seel	ing writ from s	tten feedl students	back	
	Yes, man	this is datory	Yes, sch init	on the ool's iative		No	Yes, man	this is datory	Yes, sch init	on the lool's iative		No	Yes, man	this is datory	Yes, sch init	on the ool's iative		No
-	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Australia*	74.6	(2.0)	25.3	(2.0)	0.1	(0.1)	69.4	(1.7)	29.5	(1.7)	1.1	(0.6)	9.8	(1.3)	76.3	(1.9)	13.9	(1.6)
ō Austria	70.1	(2.6)	26.8	(2.7)	3.1	(0.9)	70.3	(2.6)	19.5	(2.2)	10.1	(1.7)	39.1	(3.0)	52.7	(3.5)	8.1	(1.6)
Belgium	54.7	(3.4)	40.6	(3.2)	4.7	(1.6)	43.0	(3.1)	47.0	(3.2)	10.1	(2.2)	2.3	(1.0)	53.6	(3.0)	44.2	(3.1)
Canada*	73.3	(2.1)	20.0	(2.1)	6.7	(1.2)	83.9	(1.6)	13.1	(1.6)	2.9	(0.7)	16.4	(1.7)	45.8	(2.5)	37.8	(2.1)
Chile	37.7	(3.7)	58.6	(3.9)	3.8	(1.6)	32.0	(3.8)	63.3	(3.7)	4.8	(1.5)	11.1	(2.2)	70.9	(3.6)	17.9	(2.9)
Colombia	18.9	(2.8)	77.9	(2.9)	3.3	(1.2)	28.6	(3.5)	63.9	(3.8)	7.4	(1.7)	6.8	(1.9)	77.3	(3.4)	15.9	(2.8)
Costa Rica	56.7	(4.0)	39.5	(3.9)	3.8	(1.9)	64.5	(3.7)	30.9	(3.6)	4.6	(1.8)	31.8	(3.6)	41.2	(3.7)	27.0	(3.6)
Czech Republic	45.2	(3.2)	50.7	(3.0)	4.1	(1.0)	36.9	(2.9)	59.0	(3.0)	4.2	(1.2)	1.9	(0.8)	60.7	(2.7)	37.4	(2.6)
Denmark*	73.9	(3.2)	21.6	(3.1)	4.5	(1.5)	84.8	(2.6)	11.2	(2.1)	4.0	(1.6)	19.1	(2.4)	42.2	(3.3)	38.7	(3.6)
Estonia	40.9	(2.4)	54.6	(2.6)	4.5	(1.1)	35.4	(2.5)	62.8	(2.6)	1.8	(0.6)	9.3	(1.7)	68.6	(2.9)	22.2	(2.6)
Finland	68.3	(3.4)	23.0	(3.1)	8.7	(1.8)	73.4	(3.0)	21.4	(2.7)	5.2	(1.5)	16.4	(2.4)	57.8	(3.7)	25.8	(3.2)
France	41.6	(3.8)	42.3	(3.6)	16.1	(2.9)	51.0	(3.6)	42.7	(3.5)	6.3	(1.8)	5.1	(1.7)	13.2	(2.2)	81.7	(2.7)
Germany	47.5	(3.4)	43.5	(3.7)	9.0	(1.9)	77.2	(3.0)	17.4	(2.9)	5.4	(1.1)	4.9	(1.7)	59.2	(3.5)	35.9	(3.2)
Greece	54.3	(3.3)	30.9	(2.9)	14.8	(2.5)	36.7	(3.2)	45.3	(3.5)	18.0	(2.6)	9.4	(1.9)	38.1	(3.0)	52.5	(3.4)
Hungary	71.4	(3.2)	27.5	(3.1)	1.1	(0.8)	60.5	(3.7)	37.9	(3.7)	1.6	(0.9)	16.3	(2.5)	40.6	(3.5)	43.1	(3.4)
lceland	51.7	(0.3)	46.5	(0.2)	1.8	(0.1)	52.3	(0.2)	44.4	(0.2)	3.3	(0.0)	13.5	(0.2)	36.7	(0.3)	49.8	(0.3)
Ireland*	36.5	(4.1)	60.7	(4.0)	2.9	(1.3)	26.2	(3.7)	71.6	(3.7)	2.2	(1.2)	6.1	(1.6)	69.9	(3.5)	24.0	(3.3)
Israel	34.8	(3.8)	65.2	(3.8)	0.0	c	43.6	(3.6)	54.3	(3.6)	2.1	(0.9)	7.7	(2.0)	60.0	(3.8)	32.4	(3.5)
Italy	32.3	(3.2)	54.6	(3.0)	13.1	(2.5)	41.1	(4.3)	53.0	(4.5)	5.9	(1.6)	1.8	(0.9)	31.4	(2.8)	66.8	(2.9)
Japan	51.8	(3.8)	44.9	(3.8)	3.3	(1.4)	36.6	(3.4)	61.4	(3.5)	2.0	(1.0)	21.6	(3.5)	66.1	(4.3)	12.4	(2.7)
Korea	57.3	(5.1)	42.7	(5.1)	0.0	c	66.8	(3.3)	32.7	(3.3)	0.5	(0.5)	52.5	(5.5)	42.7	(5.4)	4.8	(1.8)
Latvia*	58.0	(2.9)	41.2	(2.9)	0.8	(0.1)	55.3	(3.1)	44 1	(3.1)	0.6	(0 0)	84	(17)	70.6	(23)	21.0	(20)
Lithuania	28.9	(1.8)	69.3	(2.0)	1.8	(0.9)	28.9	(1.8)	68.6	(1.9)	2.6	(0.9)	4.5	(1.0)	60.8	(2.0)	34.7	(2.1)
Mexico	45.0	(3.5)	49.5	(3.5)	5.5	(17)	48.9	(3.3)	45.6	(3.3)	5.5	(1.2)	21.7	(2.6)	53.2	(3.4)	25.1	(3.0)
Netherlands*	24.9	(4.2)	67.4	(4.4)	77	(2.6)	47.4	(5.4)	52.6	(5.4)	0.0	()	11.5	(2.9)	80.6	(3.8)	7.9	(2.7)
New Zealand*	52.2	(4.2) +	47.8	(4.1)	0.0	(2.0)	40.5	(3.5) †	59.5	(3.5) +	0.0	c t	9.5	(2.5) +	84.6	(29)+	5.9	(16) †
Norway	50.1	(3.3)	44.7	(3.0)	5.2	(12)	64.8	(3.2)	32.2	(3.1)	3.0	(1.3)	27.7	(3.1)	40.7	(3.5)	31.6	(3.1)
Poland	43.0	(3.2)	56.5	(3.1)	0.5	(0.4)	42.1	(3.2)	55.1	(3.1)	2.9	(0.9)	4.8	(1.3)	67.3	(27)	27.9	(2.8)
Portugal	35.4	(3.4)	56.8	(3.4)	77	(17)	24.7	(2.6)	68.8	(27)	6.5	(1.5)	6.5	(1.6)	76.2	(3.0)	17.3	(2.7)
Slovak Republic	75.6	(3.2)	23.8	(3.2)	0.6	(0.5)	62.5	(3.4)	34.4	(3.3)	3.1	(1.0)	4.4	(1.0)	54.1	(3.5)	41.5	(3.3)
Slovenia	59.9	(0.7)	37.8	(0.7)	23	(0.1)	64.3	(0.6)	33.0	(0.6)	1.8	(0.1)	72	(0.4)	77.8	(0.6)	14.9	(0.6)
Snain	58.8	(2.2)	38.4	(2.2)	2.5	(0.1)	53.0	(0.0)	42.0	(0.0)	5.0	(0.1)	11.0	(1.6)	64.0	(0.0)	24.1	(0.0)
Sweden	74 4	(2.2)	22.8	(2.2)	2.1	(1.4)	56.2	(2.5)	31.3	(2.3)	12.5	(2.3)	22.7	(3.1)	52.3	(2.3)	24.1	(3.2)
Switzerland	54.0	(4.2)	32.0	(3.4)	12.0	(2.2)	61.2	(3.7)	22.7	(3.0)	16.1	(2.0)	16.0	(2.2)	55.5	(3.0)	29.0	(2.6)
Türkiyo	96 F	(4.2)	12 F	(3.4)	10	(2.3)	01.2	(3.7)	7.2	(3.0)	0.1	(2.9)	10.0	(2.0)	43.0	(3.2)	20.4	(2.0)
I united Kingdont	52.7	(2.3)	12.0	(2.4)	0.1	(0.7)	92.2	(1.0)	54.5	(1.7)	0.0	(0.0)	49.0	(4.1)	43.0	(4.1)	15.0	(1.0)
United States*	70.0	(4.2)	41.2	(4.2)	0.1	(0.1)	4J.Z	(3.9)	10.4	(3.9)	0.4	(0.2)	22.5	(2.0)	10.5	(3.3)	10.9	(2.0)
United States"	70.9	(4.0)	22.0	(4.0)	0.6	(0.6)	00.5	(2.9)	10.1	(3.0)	1.4	(0.8)	23.5	(3.8)	49.5	(4.0)	21.1	(3.7)
OECD average	53.2	(0.5)	42.4	(0.5)	4.4	(0.2)	53.8	(0.5)	41.8	(0.5)	4.5	(0.2)	14.6	(0.4)	57.1	(0.5)	28.3	(0.4)

# Table II.B1.6.58. Quality assurance and improvement actions at school [4/6]

Results based on principals' reports

			Perc	entage	of studen	its in sc	hools wh	ere the	following	arrange	ements ai	med at	quality as	surance	and impr	ovemei	nt are in p	lace:	
		SL	Systen ich as tea and pre	natic rec cher or ofessior	ording o student a nal develo	f data, attenda opment	ıce,	s	iystematio result	c record s and g	ing of stu raduation	idents' rates	test		Seek	ing wri from s	tten feedk students	back	
		Yes, t man	this is datory	Yes, sch initi	on the ool's ative		No	Yes, man	this is datory	Yes, sch init	on the lool's iative		No	Yes, man	this is datory	Yes, sch init	on the lool's iative	n	10
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ers	Albania	63.3	(2.9)	33.7	(2.7)	3.0	(1.0)	54.9	(2.9)	44.6	(2.7)	0.6	(0.6)	21.2	(2.2)	72.7	(2.5)	6.2	(1.2)
artn	Argentina	52.1	(3.3)	40.2	(3.1)	7.7	(1.7)	52.7	(2.9)	35.5	(2.7)	11.8	(2.4)	2.7	(1.0)	45.2	(2.8)	52.1	(2.6)
۵.	Baku (Azerbaijan)	27.4	(3.5) †	68.7	(3.7)†	3.9	(1.8) †	52.5	(3.9) †	46.5	(3.9) †	1.0	(0.1) †	5.8	(2.0) †	72.5	(3.4)†	21.7	(3.7)†
	Brazil	60.1	(2.5)	34.7	(2.1)	5.2	(1.4)	59.6	(2.3)	32.7	(2.1)	7.7	(1.1)	17.2	(2.1)	62.4	(2.4)	20.5	(2.1)
	Brunei Darussalam	44.1	(0.1)	55.9	(0.1)	0.0	с	26.1	(0.1)	73.9	(0.1)	0.0	С	4.9	(0.0)	72.1	(0.1)	23.0	(0.1)
	Bulgaria	42.2	(3.3)	57.2	(3.4)	0.6	(0.7)	48.2	(3.8)	51.3	(3.8)	0.5	(0.5)	8.7	(2.2)	58.9	(3.4)	32.3	(2.9)
	Cambodia	31.3	(4.3)	58.4	(5.1)	10.3	(3.5)	45.2	(4.5)	46.0	(4.6)	8.8	(3.2)	10.5	(2.9)	80.8	(3.4)	8.7	(1.9)
	Croatia	62.9	(3.0)	31.6	(2.9)	5.5	(1.7)	51.9	(3.4)	38.2	(3.4)	9.9	(2.3)	16.9	(3.0)	58.3	(3.8)	24.8	(3.6)
	Cyprus	53.5	(0.4)	44.4	(0.4)	2.0	(0.0)	53.2	(0.5)	46.8	(0.5)	0.0	с	14.3	(0.8)	57.6	(0.6)	28.1	(0.5)
	Dominican Republic	40.4	(3.9)†	59.0	(4.0)†	0.6	(0.6) †	33.4	(3.7) †	62.4	(3.6) †	4.2	(1.5) †	18.3	(2.8) †	79.8	(3.0)†	1.9	(1.0)†
	El Salvador	61.4	(3.2)	38.0	(3.2)	0.6	(0.5)	53.9	(3.2)	44.2	(3.3)	1.9	(0.9)	10.2	(2.3)	58.9	(3.4)	30.9	(3.2)
	Georgia	35.1	(3.2)	60.4	(3.4)	4.4	(1.3)	29.0	(3.1)	64.2	(3.1)	6.8	(1.5)	15.6	(2.3)	74.0	(3.0)	10.4	(2.3)
	Guatemala	24.5	(2.7)	69.9	(2.9)	5.6	(1.4)	29.4	(3.1)	64.6	(3.3)	6.0	(1.6)	7.7	(1.7)	67.9	(2.8)	24.4	(2.6)
	Hong Kong (China)*	38.1	(4.7) †	61.3	(4.6)†	0.6	(0.6) †	18.8	(3.7) †	81.2	(3.7) †	0.0	c†	7.1	(2.6) †	72.8	(4.4) †	20.1	(3.8) †
	Indonesia	35.1	(3.6)	63.4	(3.7)	1.6	(0.7)	43.1	(3.6)	55.9	(3.6)	1.0	(0.7)	13.1	(2.4)	80.4	(2.7)	6.5	(1.8)
	Jamaica*	64.8	(3.8) †	34.2	(3.8)†	1.0	(0.1) †	38.1	(4.5) †	61.7	(4.5) †	0.2	(0.1) †	8.9	(4.3) †	60.1	(4.6)†	31.0	(3.6)†
	Jordan	66.0	(2.8)	33.4	(2.8)	0.6	(0.6)	67.0	(3.3)	32.5	(3.2)	0.5	(0.5)	34.9	(3.5)	54.3	(3.5)	10.8	(2.0)
	Kazakhstan	20.4	(2.2)	79.5	(2.2)	0.2	(0.1)	42.0	(2.6)	56.0	(2.6)	2.0	(0.7)	3.7	(0.8)	92.3	(1.0)	4.0	(0.7)
	Kosovo	56.2	(1.4)	41.2	(1.4)	2.6	(0.4)	52.6	(1.4)	43.2	(1.3)	4.2	(0.5)	23.9	(0.8)	60.2	(1.2)	15.9	(1.2)
	Macao (China)	28.5	(0.1)	71.5	(0.1)	0.0	с	14.4	(0.1)	85.6	(0.1)	0.0	с	5.8	(0.0)	69.1	(0.0)	25.1	(0.0)
	Malaysia	62.5	(3.7)	37.0	(3.7)	0.5	(0.5)	58.3	(3.5)	39.5	(3.3)	2.2	(1.1)	19.7	(3.2)	66.6	(3.3)	13.6	(2.6)
	Malta	55.2	(0.3)	44.8	(0.3)	0.0	с	47.9	(0.3)	52.1	(0.3)	0.0	с	1.9	(0.1)	57.3	(0.2)	40.9	(0.2)
	Moldova	41.3	(3.4)	58.4	(3.4)	0.3	(0.2)	53.3	(3.7)	44.3	(3.6)	2.4	(0.6)	9.9	(2.1)	75.9	(3.0)	14.2	(2.0)
	Mongolia	44.4	(3.5)	54.9	(3.5)	0.6	(0.0)	59.8	(3.3)	39.3	(3.4)	0.9	(0.6)	9.6	(2.1)	85.5	(2.5)	4.9	(1.5)
	Montenegro	38.7	(0.8)	61.0	(0.8)	0.4	(0.4)	54.4	(0.8)	45.3	(0.8)	0.4	(0.4)	31.7	(0.7)	33.8	(0.8)	34.5	(0.7)
	Morocco	66.3	(3.8)	29.3	(3.5)	4.3	(1.7)	73.7	(3.5)	24.5	(3.5)	1.8	(1.0)	8.8	(2.4)	55.2	(4.0)	36.0	(3.8)
	North Macedonia	65.4	(0.1)	33.0	(0.1)	1.6	(0.0)	67.9	(0.1)	31.1	(0.1)	1.0	(0.1)	34.2	(0.1)	56.6	(0.1)	9.3	(0.1)
	Palestinian Authority	78.9	(2.5)	21.1	(2.5)	0.0	с	79.3	(2.5)	20.7	(2.5)	0.0	с	30.5	(2.9)	53.8	(3.3)	15.7	(2.6)
	Panama*	42.1	(4.8) †	57.8	(4.8)†	0.2	(0.2) †	31.0	(4.7) †	57.7	(5.1) †	11.3	(3.2) †	17.5	(3.6) †	72.6	(4.0) †	9.9	(2.2) †
	Paraguay	36.8	(3.3)	59.3	(3.3)	3.9	(1.3)	46.9	(3.1)	49.2	(3.1)	3.9	(1.3)	22.1	(2.6)	55.4	(3.0)	22.5	(2.4)
	Peru	21.0	(2.2)	77.3	(2.2)	1.7	(0.8)	24.6	(2.5)	69.2	(2.7)	6.1	(1.3)	10.4	(1.7)	62.6	(2.6)	27.0	(2.3)
	Philippines	68.4	(3.3)	31.1	(3.3)	0.5	(0.5)	76.2	(3.0)	23.4	(2.9)	0.4	(0.5)	23.1	(3.3)	73.1	(3.4)	3.8	(1.4)
	Qatar	70.3	(0.1)	29.7	(0.1)	0.0	С	75.3	(0.1)	24.7	(0.1)	0.0	с	38.2	(0.1)	59.4	(0.1)	2.4	(0.0)
	Romania	69.3	(3.5)	28.6	(3.3)	2.1	(1.2)	71.3	(3.0)	26.5	(3.0)	2.2	(1.1)	42.8	(3.7)	50.9	(3.8)	6.3	(2.0)
	SaudiArabia	64.3	(3.8)	34.7	(3.7)	1.0	(0.7)	76.3	(3.2)	23.2	(3.1)	0.5	(0.5)	40.9	(3.6)	57.5	(3.6)	1.6	(0.8)
	Serbia	57.8	(3.6)	40.8	(3.6)	1.5	(0.8)	39.5	(4.1)	54.4	(3.9)	6.1	(2.0)	9.5	(2.3)	60.4	(3.5)	30.1	(3.2)
	Singapore	65.3	(0.7)	34.7	(0.7)	0.0	С	74.9	(0.8)	25.1	(0.8)	0.0	С	7.6	(0.8)	84.1	(0.9)	8.4	(0.6)
	Chinese Taipei	58.4	(3.9)	41.5	(3.9)	0.1	(0.1)	59.4	(3.9)	40.5	(3.9)	0.1	(0.1)	20.2	(3.3)	61.2	(3.9)	18.6	(3.3)
	Thailand	22.7	(3.2)	77.3	(3.2)	0.0	(0.0)	39.2	(3.8)	60.8	(3.8)	0.0	(0.0)	12.5	(2.3)	84.6	(2.7)	2.9	(1.3)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	32.5	(4.2)	65.2	(4.3)	2.3	(1.2)	36.5	(3.9)	56.6	(4.3)	6.9	(2.6)	3.7	(1.4)	57.8	(3.5)	38.5	(3.5)
	UnitedArab Emirates	62.9	(1.1)	37.1	(1.1)	0.0	С	72.0	(0.7)	27.7	(0.7)	0.3	(0.0)	26.8	(0.6)	65.4	(0.8)	7.8	(0.4)
	Uruguay	71.6	(2.9)	26.8	(2.9)	1.6	(0.7)	69.6	(3.1)	26.9	(2.9)	3.5	(1.1)	11.8	(2.3)	47.8	(2.8)	40.4	(2.7)
	Uzbekistan	40.6	(3.5)	59.4	(3.5)	0.0	С	57.5	(3.3)	41.9	(3.4)	0.6	(0.6)	12.2	(2.4)	82.8	(2.7)	5.1	(1.4)
	Viet Nam	71.0	(3.7)	27.8	(3.8)	1.2	(0.9)	70.9	(3.4)	29.1	(3.4)	0.0	с	21.9	(3.4)	68.5	(4.0)	9.6	(2.2)

# Table II.B1.6.58. Quality assurance and improvement actions at school [5/6]

Results based on principals' reports

		Perc	entage	of studer	its in sc	hools wh	ere the	following	arrange	ements aiı	med at c	uality as	surance	and impr	ovemen	t are in p	lace:	
		т	eacher r	nentorin	9		F in	Regular co nproveme over a pe	onsultat ent with riod of a	tion aimed one or m at least siz	d at sch ore exp x month	ool erts is	Im	plementa for r	tion of a	a standar atics subj	dised po ects	olicy
	Yes, man	this is datory	Yes, sch initi	on the ool's iative		No	Yes, man	this is datory	Yes, sch init	on the lool's lative		No	Yes, man	this is datory	Yes, sch init	on the ool's iative	N	No
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	\$.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
	14.5	(1.5)	84.6	(1.6)	0.9	(0.4)	20.8	(1.7)	66.3	(2.0)	12.9	(1.4)	33.6	(1.8)	53.9	(2.1)	12.5	(1.5)
ō Austria	42.4	(2.7)	29.3	(2.7)	28.3	(2.5)	23.3	(2.5)	41.1	(2.8)	35.6	(2.7)	46.2	(2.8)	36.3	(2.7)	17.5	(1.9)
Belgium	44.5	(3.0)	47.5	(3.4)	7.9	(1.9)	14.1	(2.2)	45.6	(3.1)	40.3	(4.1)	8.3	(2.1)	51.0	(3.7)	40.8	(3.5)
Canada*	45.1	(2.4)	45.9	(2.4)	9.1	(1.2)	38.7	(2.3)	33.2	(2.5)	28.1	(2.0)	57.6	(2.3)	25.7	(2.0)	16.7	(1.7)
Chile	12.8	(2.7)	52.6	(3.8)	34.6	(3.6)	9.0	(2.5)	46.3	(3.4)	44.7	(3.5)	16.4	(3.1)	39.5	(3.2)	44.1	(3.7)
Colombia	7.0	(1.8)	76.9	(2.9)	16.2	(2.5)	12.9	(2.3)	54.6	(3.4)	32.6	(3.4)	27.8	(3.7)	43.0	(3.7)	29.2	(3.3)
Costa Rica	18.5	(3.6)	57.9	(4.4)	23.7	(3.6)	14.7	(3.5)	42.3	(4.0)	43.0	(4.2)	/4.5	(3.4)	13.1	(2.2)	12.4	(2.6)
Czech Republic	5.0	(1.3)	93.9	(1.4)	1.1	(0.5)	1.0	(0.6)	38.1	(2.4)	60.9	(2.4)	1.4	(0.7)	46.3	(3.1)	52.4	(3.0)
Denmark*	23.2	(2.6)	65.2	(3.4)	11.7	(2.2)	17.3	(2.5)	24.7	(2.6)	58.0	(3.2)	15.9	(2.6)	39.6	(3.3)	44.5	(3.4)
Estonia	6.1	(1.4)	89.9	(1.7)	4.0	(1.0)	3.4	(0.8)	49.1	(2.6)	47.6	(2.7)	9.7	(1.5)	66.1	(2.8)	24.2	(2.6)
Finland	8.1	(1.9)	62.6	(3.4)	29.2	(3.1)	0.9	(0.5)	11.3	(2.1)	87.8	(2.2)	27.3	(3.1)	29.0	(3.3)	43.7	(3.7)
France	23.0	(2.9)	48.5	(3.2)	28.6	(2.9)	3.0	(1.3)	9.7	(2.1)	87.3	(2.4)	30.5	(3.6)	19.1	(3.0)	50.4	(3.7)
Germany	2.4	(1.1)	41.1	(3.4)	50.5	(3.6)	2.4	(1.2)	27.0	(3.1)	70.0	(3.2)	30.1	(3.2)	46.3	(3.6)	23.0	(3.3)
Greece	31.1	(3.3)	58.5	(3.6)	10.3	(2.0)	22.4	(2.7)	10.0	(3.2)	9.7	(2.1)	43.3	(3.3)	30.6	(3.6)	20.1	(2.9)
Hungary	17.0	(2.5)	68.Z	(3.3)	14.2	(2.5)	1.0	(1.9)	18.0	(2.9)	/5.0	(3.1)	16.7	(2.8)	37.3	(3.4)	46.0	(3.7)
	1.4	(0.1)	0.00	(0.3)	41.1	(0.3)	4.0	(0.1)	07.0	(0.2)	40.5	(0.3)	5.9	(0.1)	47.5	(0.3)	40.0	(0.3)
ireiand"	27.0	(3.7)	08.0	(3.8)	4.3	(1.4)	10.6	(2.6)	07.8	(3.9)	21.0	(3.5)	24.2	(3.6)	50.5	(4.0)	19.3	(3.4)
Israel	15.0	(3.3)	11.1	(3.7)	0.0	(1.5)	15.4	(2.0)	49.7	(3.0)	34.9 70.9	(3.0)	35.1	(3.0)	59.0	(4.0)	0.0	(1.0)
lanan	21.7	(2.9)	43.4	(3.7)	40.7	(3.0)	0.1	(0.0)	19.0	(3.1)	79.0	(3.0)	4.4	(1.1)	04.Z	(3.0)	31.4 42.2	(3.7)
Japan Korea	10.2	(2.0)	87.8	(3.0)	2.0	(2.5)	17 /	(1.0)	12.4	(2.5)	79.5 35.0	(5.0)	20.1	(2.0)	43.3 70.4	(4.1)	42.2	(3.7)
Latvia*	7.4	(2.0)	81.0	(2.3)	11.6	(1.0)	12.5	(1.8)	27.3	(2.7)	60.2	(3.0)	20.1	(3.1)	35.1	(3.3)	44.5	(2.0)
Lithuania	6.4	(1.7)	72.2	(2.3)	21.4	(2.1)	5.6	(1.0)	29.0	(2.7)	65.4	(2.6)	12.3	(1.8)	40.6	(2.4)	47.1	(2.5)
Mexico	27.9	(3.2)	25.9	(2.2)	46.2	(2.2)	17.9	(2.5)	37.4	(2.2)	44.6	(2.0)	38.0	(1.0)	30.0	(2.4)	32.0	(2.3)
Netherlande*	12	(1.0)	80.8	(2.0)	5.0	(2.4)	3.1	(1.6)	7/ 0	(4.0)	22.0	(3.0)	3.2	(1.4)	58.7	(5.3)	38.1	(5.1)
New Zealand*	28.9	(3.8) †	69.3	(4.1) +	1.8	(19) +	12.8	(27) +	79.0	(3.1) +	8.3	(19) +	15.8	(2.8) +	64.0	(3.8) +	20.2	(2.9) +
Norway	19.6	(2.6)	73.3	(2.9)	7.1	(1.8)	38.8	(3.4)	43.9	(3.3)	17.3	(2.6)	10.0	(1.8)	23.3	(2.6)	66.7	(3.0)
Poland	57	(1.6)	89.1	(2.3)	52	(1.5)	7.3	(1.6)	50.6	(3.0)	42.0	(3.0)	13.9	(2.5)	68.5	(3.3)	17.6	(2.3)
Portugal	24.1	(2.8)	54.8	(3.4)	21.1	(2.5)	61	(1.8)	34.9	(3.0)	59.0	(3.4)	14.3	(2.3)	42.2	(3.2)	43.5	(3.3)
Slovak Republic	10.3	(2.0)	54.6	(3.3)	35.1	(3.1)	3.2	(1.2)	62.6	(3.5)	34.2	(3.3)	13.9	(2.1)	44.4	(3.6)	41.8	(3.1)
Slovenia	29.0	(0.5)	55.2	(0.7)	15.8	(0.5)	3.8	(0.4)	31.3	(0.7)	64.9	(0.6)	61.1	(0.6)	26.6	(0.5)	12.3	(0.6)
Spain	9.5	(1.7)	29.1	(2.2)	61.4	(2.6)	6.6	(1.3)	27.8	(2.2)	65.6	(2.5)	10.8	(1.5)	33.4	(1.8)	55.8	(1.9)
Sweden	16.6	(2.7)	71.0	(3.2)	12.4	(2.5)	15.6	(2.5)	22.4	(3.3)	62.0	(3.4)	24.7	(3.0)	35.0	(3.2)	40.4	(3.8)
Switzerland	20.1	(3.4)	63.2	(3.9)	16.7	(3.0)	7.7	(1.9)	31.8	(3.8)	60.5	(3.9)	36.6	(3.7)	29.6	(3.7)	33.8	(3.9)
Türkiye	17.8	(2.7)	68.0	(3.4)	14.3	(2.5)	14.8	(2.9)	48.8	(3.5)	36.4	(3.9)	64.2	(2.9)	28.0	(2.8)	7.8	(1.9)
United Kingdom*	28.4	(3.4)	68.4	(3.6)	3.2	(1.2)	17.1	(2.7)	71.7	(3.1)	11.2	(2.6)	15.6	(2.9)	65.7	(3.3)	18.7	(2.8)
United States*	57.7	(3.9)	41.5	(4.0)	0.9	(0.6)	45.5	(4.0)	41.1	(4.4)	13.4	(3.0)	64.2	(4.6)	31.9	(4.6)	3.9	(1.7)
OECD average	19.3	(0.4)	62.6	(0.5)	18.1	(0.4)	12.6	(0.4)	41.7	(0.5)	45.7	(0.5)	26.0	(0.4)	42.6	(0.5)	31.4	(0.5)

# Table II.B1.6.58. Quality assurance and improvement actions at school [6/6]

Results based on principals' reports

			Perc	entage	of studen	nts in sc	hools wh	ere the	following	arrang	ements ai	med at	quality as	surance	and impr	ovemei	nt are in p	lace:	
			т	eacher r	nentorin	a		F in	Regular co nproveme over a pe	onsultat nt with riod of	tion aime one or m at least si	d at sch ore exp x monti	ool erts ıs	Im	plementa for n	tion of nathem	a standar atics subi	dised po	olicy
		Yes, man	this is datory	Yes, o sch initi	on the ool's ative		No	Yes, man	this is datory	Yes, sch init	on the lool's lative		No	Yes, man	this is datory	Yes, sch init	on the lool's lative	1	 No
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
sis	Albania	32.2	(2.4)	65.9	(2.4)	1.9	(0.9)	20.4	(1.9)	57.6	(2.8)	22.0	(2.3)	40.2	(2.7)	44.8	(2.4)	14.9	(2.1)
artn	Argentina	25.9	(2.2)	31.1	(3.0)	43.0	(3.1)	8.3	(1.5)	30.4	(2.6)	61.2	(2.9)	29.5	(2.8)	27.8	(2.6)	42.7	(3.0)
ä	Baku (Azerbaijan)	27.1	(4.0) †	42.4	(4.2) †	30.5	(3.7) †	28.5	(3.7) †	36.0	(3.5) †	35.5	(4.3) †	34.4	(3.9) †	39.1	(4.5)†	26.5	(4.3) †
	Brazil	15.2	(1.9)	76.0	(2.3)	8.8	(1.7)	20.7	(2.1)	39.0	(2.4)	40.2	(2.1)	39.8	(2.5)	26.0	(2.0)	34.1	(2.3)
	Brunei Darussalam	12.8	(0.1)	87.2	(0.1)	0.0	с	37.3	(0.1)	50.8	(0.1)	11.8	(0.1)	57.3	(0.1)	38.4	(0.1)	4.3	(0.1)
	Bulgaria	25.5	(3.3)	55.6	(3.8)	18.9	(3.1)	23.4	(3.6)	49.4	(3.6)	27.2	(3.4)	14.9	(2.9)	54.1	(4.1)	31.0	(3.5)
	Cambodia	18.8	(3.7)	74.8	(4.0)	6.5	(2.2)	32.7	(4.7)	43.0	(4.9)	24.3	(3.6)	52.0	(4.4)	36.4	(4.2)	11.6	(2.9)
	Croatia	62.7	(3.6)	35.0	(3.4)	2.4	(0.8)	13.6	(2.4)	48.5	(3.7)	37.9	(3.5)	47.6	(4.0)	26.4	(3.5)	26.0	(3.5)
	Cyprus	46.3	(0.6)	51.0	(0.7)	2.7	(0.1)	15.8	(0.7)	63.5	(0.6)	20.6	(0.4)	67.5	(0.4)	29.9	(0.4)	2.6	(0.0)
	Dominican Republic	16.7	(3.0) †	60.4	(3.5)†	22.9	(3.0) †	25.9	(3.8) †	44.5	(4.2) †	29.6	(3.7) †	34.4	(3.8) †	35.6	(3.4)†	30.0	(3.3)†
	El Salvador	63.3	(3.1)	32.7	(3.1)	4.0	(1.0)	39.6	(3.3)	37.8	(3.3)	22.6	(2.7)	79.7	(2.6)	16.2	(2.3)	4.1	(1.3)
	Georgia	31.0	(3.4)	50.8	(3.8)	18.2	(2.6)	40.1	(3.0)	42.0	(3.3)	17.9	(2.6)	32.4	(3.2)	56.4	(3.5)	11.3	(2.3)
	Guatemala	12.7	(2.0)	33.4	(2.5)	54.0	(3.0)	7.0	(1.6)	49.6	(3.4)	43.4	(3.2)	27.6	(3.1)	43.6	(3.0)	28.8	(2.8)
	Hong Kong (China)*	3.8	(1.8)†	85.6	(3.4) †	10.6	(2.9) †	2.6	(1.4) †	49.7	(4.8) †	47.7	(4.8) †	5.1	(2.0) †	79.7	(3.6)†	15.3	(3.5)†
	Indonesia	32.4	(3.4)	66.7	(3.4)	0.9	(0.5)	17.4	(2.8)	76.1	(3.3)	6.5	(1.8)	33.7	(3.3)	53.4	(3.7)	12.9	(2.4)
	Jamaica*	23.2	(4.1)†	72.8	(4.4) †	3.9	(1.5) †	25.3	(3.1) †	54.0	(3.4) †	20.7	(3.6) †	44.7	(3.2) †	44.3	(3.6)†	11.1	(2.3)†
	Jordan	46.0	(3.5)	52.2	(3.6)	1.8	(0.9)	40.0	(3.2)	40.9	(3.2)	19.1	(2.8)	59.6	(3.0)	32.0	(3.0)	8.4	(1.6)
	Kazakhstan	18.7	(1.9)	80.7	(2.0)	0.6	(0.4)	13.7	(1.7)	71.7	(2.2)	14.6	(1.7)	52.7	(2.9)	36.6	(2.7)	10.6	(1.7)
	Kosovo	27.7	(0.8)	67.0	(1.1)	5.3	(0.8)	24.0	(1.0)	47.8	(1.1)	28.2	(1.3)	32.9	(1.2)	35.9	(1.4)	31.2	(1.0)
	Macao (China)	8.3	(0.0)	91.3	(0.0)	0.4	(0.0)	14.2	(0.0)	51.4	(0.1)	34.4	(0.1)	5.8	(0.0)	86.7	(0.0)	7.4	(0.0)
	Malaysia	35.3	(3.6)	64.7	(3.6)	0.0	С	30.6	(3.4)	63.2	(3.3)	6.2	(1.8)	53.7	(3.6)	44.5	(3.6)	1.8	(1.0)
	Malta	55.5	(0.3)	38.7	(0.3)	5.8	(0.1)	20.5	(0.2)	64.2	(0.2)	15.3	(0.2)	35.0	(0.2)	48.3	(0.3)	16.7	(0.2)
	Moldova	22.7	(2.8)	72.2	(2.8)	5.0	(1.2)	16.0	(2.6)	49.8	(3.0)	34.2	(3.0)	64.9	(2.8)	27.8	(2.6)	7.3	(1.7)
	Mongolia	15.2	(2.5)	82.7	(2.8)	2.0	(0.9)	20.9	(2.9)	52.7	(3.3)	26.4	(3.1)	39.1	(3.3)	54.3	(3.3)	6.6	(1.6)
	Montenegro	58.6	(0.8)	41.4	(0.8)	0.0	с	20.4	(0.7)	34.7	(0.7)	44.9	(0.7)	41.3	(0.7)	34.1	(0.7)	24.6	(0.5)
	Morocco	53.6	(3.9)	40.5	(4.0)	5.9	(2.0)	17.8	(3.2)	31.1	(3.3)	51.1	(3.8)	65.4	(4.1)	16.8	(3.2)	17.8	(3.0)
	North Macedonia	78.1	(0.1)	21.9	(0.1)	0.0	С	41.9	(0.1)	40.9	(0.1)	17.2	(0.1)	48.8	(0.1)	32.4	(0.1)	18.8	(0.1)
	Palestinian Authority	59.3	(3.4)	38.9	(3.5)	1.8	(0.9)	36.8	(3.2)	33.6	(3.1)	29.6	(2.9)	66.7	(2.9)	21.9	(2.3)	11.5	(2.2)
	Panama*	47.0	(4.2) †	53.0	(4.2) †	0.0	¢†	26.9	(3.8) †	47.5	(4.7) †	25.6	(3.6) †	39.8	(4.0) †	40.0	(4.7)†	20.3	(3.6)†
	Paraguay	14.1	(2.0)	35.5	(2.9)	50.3	(3.1)	27.5	(2.9)	31.2	(3.3)	41.3	(3.1)	48.5	(3.5)	18.2	(3.2)	33.4	(3.3)
	Peru	40.8	(2.9)	58.9	(2.8)	0.3	(0.3)	15.9	(2.3)	33.1	(2.4)	51.0	(2.6)	24.6	(2.7)	36.5	(2.4)	38.9	(2.5)
	Philippines	57.2	(3.5)	42.2	(3.6)	0.6	(0.6)	44.5	(3.6)	53.2	(3.7)	2.3	(1.0)	79.1	(3.1)	19.1	(3.0)	1.9	(0.9)
	Qatar	49.1	(0.1)	46.3	(0.1)	4.6	(0.1)	39.2	(0.1)	47.6	(0.1)	13.2	(0.1)	52.1	(0.1)	46.9	(0.1)	1.0	(0.0)
	Romania	24.2	(3.4)	66.1	(3.6)	9.8	(2.3)	9.5	(2.1)	48.6	(3.5)	41.9	(3.3)	31.2	(2.9)	31.3	(3.7)	37.6	(3.7)
	SaudiArabia	57.4	(4.0)	41.8	(3.9)	0.7	(0.6)	40.4	(3.4)	40.9	(3.2)	18.7	(3.2)	66.8	(3.6)	26.1	(3.3)	7.1	(2.4)
	Serbia	70.0	(3.3)	27.7	(3.3)	2.3	(0.8)	11.2	(2.1)	54.9	(3.7)	33.9	(3.4)	36.1	(3.2)	40.5	(3.3)	23.4	(3.1)
	Singapore	19.3	(0.2)	80.7	(0.2)	0.0	с	5.2	(0.6)	61.8	(0.7)	33.0	(0.3)	44.6	(0.8)	54.3	(0.8)	1.1	(0.0)
	Chinese Taipei	22.6	(3.0)	65.1	(3.8)	12.3	(2.9)	18.2	(3.3)	31.6	(3.9)	50.2	(3.9)	19.7	(2.8)	46.6	(4.3)	33.8	(3.8)
	Thailand	10.1	(2.2)	74.3	(3.4)	15.6	(2.9)	16.0	(2.9)	72.5	(3.6)	11.6	(2.8)	32.5	(3.9)	56.8	(3.8)	10.7	(2.8)
	Ukrainian regions (18 of 27)	21.6	(3.4)	73.6	(3.5)	4.8	(1.6)	26.0	(4.7)	57.8	(4.9)	16.2	(2.9)	42.6	(4.2)	32.0	(4.5)	25.4	(3.8)
	UnitedArab Emirates	45.9	(0.5)	52.6	(0.5)	1.5	(0.1)	39.9	(0.6)	47.1	(0.5)	13.0	(0.2)	54.2	(0.5)	42.9	(0.5)	2.9	(0.1)
	Uruguay	26.0	(2.3)	51.0	(2.6)	23.0	(2.2)	6.6	(1.4)	24.4	(2.6)	69.0	(2.8)	21.5	(2.7)	18.6	(2.2)	59.9	(3.0)
	Uzbekistan	15.0	(2.8)	82.4	(2.9)	2.6	(1.1)	29.6	(3.2)	66.0	(3.3)	4.4	(1.4)	55.6	(3.2)	38.8	(3.3)	5.6	(1.7)
	Viet Nam	42.3	(3.5)	49.8	(3.5)	7.9	(2.2)	9.4	(2.3)	50.8	(3.9)	39.8	(3.9)	42.7	(3.4)	50.1	(4.0)	7.2	(1.8)

# Table II.B1.1. Resilient education system in PISA 2022

	Table II.B1.1.1	Students' sense of belonging at school
WEB	Table II.B1.1.2	Index of sense of belonging, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.1.3	Index of sense of belonging, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.1.4	Change between 2018 and 2022 in sense of belonging
	Table II.B1.1.5	Change between 2018 and 2022 in the index of sense of belonging
WEB	Table II.B1.1.6	Change between 2018 and 2022 in sense of belonging, by schools' socio-economic profile
	Table II.B1.1.7	Change between 2018 and 2022 in sense of belonging, by students' socio-economic status
WEB	Table II.B1.1.8	Sense of belonging and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.1.9	Sense of belonging and mathematics performance (school level)
WEB	Table II.B1.1.10	Students' life satisfaction
WEB	Table II.B1.1.11	Students' life satisfaction across domains and overall life satisfaction
WEB	Table II.B1.1.12	Life satisfaction and other indicators of students' subjective well-being
WEB	Table II.B1.1.13	Sense of belonging, and performance and equity
WEB	Table II.B1.1.14	Change between 2018 and 2022 in sense of belonging, and performance and equity

StatLink mos https://stat.link/uo4s8z

# Table II.B1.2. Learning and school closure as covered in PISA 2022

WEB	Table II.B1.2.1	Duration and type of school closure
WEB	Table II.B1.2.2	Student characteristics, by response status to the question on the length of school closure
WEB	Table II.B1.2.3	Students' enrolment at their school
WEB	Table II.B1.2.4	Change between 2018 and 2022 in students' career expectations
	Table II.B1.2.4	Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning
WEB	Table II.B1.2.6	Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.2.7	Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.2.8	Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.9	Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning and science performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.10	Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning and reading performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.11	Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning and socio-economic status
WEB	Table II.B1.2.12	Students' persistence
WEB	Table II.B1.2.13	Students' curiosity
WEB	Table II.B1.2.14	Students' co-operation
WEB	Table II.B1.2.15	Students' empathy
WEB	Table II.B1.2.16	Students' assertiveness
WEB	Table II.B1.2.17	Students' stress resistance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.18	Students' emotional control
WEB	Table II.B1.2.19	Social and emotional skills, and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.20	Persistence and learning resources during Covid-19 school closure
WEB	Table II.B1.2.21	Curiosity and learning resources during Covid-19 school closure
WEB	Table II.B1.2.22	Index of school preparation for remote instruction
WEB	Table II.B1.2.23	Perceived preparedness for remote instruction, by actions taken
	Table II.B1.2.24	Experience with learning at home
WEB	Table II.B1.2.25	Teacher support during school closures, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.2.26	Experience with learning at home and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.27	Experience with learning at home and science performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.28	Experience with learning at home and reading performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.29	School actions to maintain learning, and students' self-directed learning

	Table II.B1.2.30	Problems with remote learning
WEB	Table II.B1.2.31	Problems with remote learning, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.2.32	Problems with remote learning and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.33	Problems with remote learning and science performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.34	Problems with remote learning and reading performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.35	Problems with remote learning, and students' sense of belonging
WEB	Table II.B1.2.36	School actions and activities to maintain learning
WEB	Table II.B1.2.37	School actions and activities to maintain learning, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.2.38	School actions and activities to maintain learning, and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.39	School actions and activities to maintain learning, and science performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.40	School actions and activities to maintain learning, and reading performance
WEB	Table II.B1.2.41	School actions to maintain learning and selected measures of student well-being
WEB	Table II.B1.2.42	School actions to maintain learning and students' self-directed learning
WEB	Table II.B1.2.43	School actions to maintain learning and students' self-directed learning, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.2.44	School actions to maintain learning and mathematics anxiety, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.2.45	Learning during and from school closures, and performance, equity and life satisfaction
WEB	Table II.B1.2.46	Learning during and from school closures, and change in performance, equity and life satisfaction
WEB	Table II.B1.2.47	Learning during and from school closures, and confidence in capacity for self-directed learning
WEB	Table II.B1.2.48	Learning during and from school closures, and change between 2018 and 2022 in performance and sense of belonging adjusted for pre-2018 long-term trend

StatLink 📷 🖛 https://stat.link/e13jdp

# Table II.B1.3. School life and support from home as covered in PISA 2022

	Table II.B1.3.1	Teacher support in mathematics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.2	Teacher support, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.3	Teacher support, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.4	Change between 2012 and 2022 in teacher support in mathematics lessons
WEB	Table II.B1.3.5	Teacher support and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.3.6	Teacher support and mathematics performance (school level)
WEB	Table II.B1.3.7	Teacher support and selected measures of student well-being
WEB	Table II.B1.3.8	Teacher support and mathematics anxiety
	Table II.B1.3.9	Disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons
WEB	Table II.B1.3.10	Disciplinary climate, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.11	Disciplinary climate, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.12	Change between 2012 and 2022 in disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons
WEB	Table II.B1.3.13	Disciplinary climate and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.3.14	Disciplinary climate and mathematics performance (school level)
WEB	Table II.B1.3.15	Disciplinary climate and selected measures of student well-being
WEB	Table II.B1.3.16	Disciplinary climate and mathematics anxiety
WEB	Table II.B1.3.17	Feeling safe at school
WEB	Table II.B1.3.18	Feeling safe at school, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.19	Feeling safe at school, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.20	Feeling safe at school and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.3.21	Feeling safe at school and mathematics performance (school level)
WEB	Table II.B1.3.22	Feeling safe at school and selected measures of student well-being
	Table II.B1.3.23	School safety risks
WEB	Table II.B1.3.24	School safety risks, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.25	School safety risks, by school characteristics

WEB	Table II.B1.3.26	School safety risks and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.3.27	School safety risks and mathematics performance (school level)
WEB	Table II.B1.3.28	School safety risks and selected measures of student well-being
WEB	Table II.B1.3.29	Relationship between school safety risks and sense of belonging at school
WEB	Table II.B1.3.30	Students' exposure to bullying
WEB	Table II.B1.3.31	Students' exposure to bullying, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.32	Students' exposure to bullying, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.33	Change between 2015 and 2022 in students' exposure to bullying
WEB	Table II.B1.3.34	Students' exposure to bullying and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.3.35	Students' exposure to bullying and mathematics performance (school level)
WEB	Table II.B1.3.36	Exposure to bullying and selected measures of student well-being
WEB	Table II.B1.3.37	Student truancy
WEB	Table II.B1.3.38	Student truancy, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.39	Student truancy, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.40	Student lateness
WEB	Table II.B1.3.41	Student lateness, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.42	Student lateness, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.43	Change between 2018 and 2022 in student truancy and lateness
WEB	Table II.B1.3.44	Student truancy and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.3.45	Student truancy and mathematics performance (school level)
WEB	Table II.B1.3.46	Student lateness and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.3.47	Extent of student truancy and lateness, and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.3.48	Student lateness and mathematics performance (school level)
WEB	Table II.B1.3.49	Long-term student absence from primary to upper secondary
WEB	Table II.B1.3.50	Long-term student absence at any education level, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.51	Long-term student absence, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.52	Student long-term absence, and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.3.53	School-level long-term absence and mathematics performance (school level)
WEB	Table II.B1.3.54	Extent of student long-term absence, by education level, and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.3.55	Reasons for long-term absence
WEB	Table II.B1.3.56	Long-term absence out of boredom, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.57	Long-term absence out of boredom, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.58	Parental involvement
WEB	Table II.B1.3.59	Parent-teacher discussion of child's behaviour on parent's initiative, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.60	Parent-teacher discussion of child's behaviour on teacher's initiative, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.61	Parent-teacher discussion on child's progress on parent's initiative, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.62	Parent-teacher discussion of child's progress on teacher's initiative, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.63	Parent-teacher discussion of child's behaviour on parent's initiative, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.64	Parent-teacher discussion of child's behaviour on teacher's initiative, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.65	Parent-teacher discussion of child's progress on parent's initiative, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.66	Parent-teacher discussion of child's progress on the teacher's initiative, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.67	Change between 2018 and 2022 in parental involvement
WEB	Table II.B1.3.68	Parental involvement in school-related activities and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.3.69	Family support
WEB	Table II.B1.3.70	Family support, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.71	Family support, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.3.72	Family support and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.3.73	Degree of family support and mathematics performance

WEB	Table II.B1.3.74	Family support and mathematics performance (school level)
WEB	Table II.B1.3.75	Family support and selected measures of student well-being
WEB	Table II.B1.3.76	School life, performance and equity in mathematics, and sense of belonging
WEB	Table II.B1.3.77	Change between 2012/2018 and 2022 in school life, performance and equity in mathematics, and sense of belonging

StatLink and https://stat.link/d5rsh2

# Table II.B1.4. School system stratification as covered in PISA 2022

WEB	Table II.B1.4.1	Attendance at pre-primary school
WEB	Table II.B1.4.2	Attendance at pre-primary school, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.4.3	Attendance at pre-primary school, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.4.4	Trends in attendance at pre-primary school
WEB	Table II.B1.4.5	Attendance at pre-primary school and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.4.6	Attendance at pre-primary school and grade repetition
WEB	Table II.B1.4.7	Student grade level
WEB	Table II.B1.4.8	Students enrolled in grades below modal grade, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.4.9	Students enrolled in grades above modal grade, by student characteristics
	Table II.B1.4.10	Grade repetition
WEB	Table II.B1.4.11	Grade repetition, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.4.12	Grade repetition, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.4.13	Trends in grade repetition
WEB	Table II.B1.4.14	Grade repetition and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.4.15	School-level grade repetition and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.4.16	Student characteristics, by the number of times they had repeated a grade
	Table II.B1.4.17	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.4.17 Table II.B1.4.18	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance School composition
WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17Table II.B1.4.18Table II.B1.4.19	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance       School composition         Programme orientation, by education level       School composition
WEB WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17Table II.B1.4.18Table II.B1.4.19Table II.B1.4.20	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance       School composition         Programme orientation, by education level       Students enrolled in general programmes, by student characteristics
WEB WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17Table II.B1.4.18Table II.B1.4.19Table II.B1.4.20Table II.B1.4.21	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance         School composition         Programme orientation, by education level         Students enrolled in general programmes, by student characteristics         Students enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by student characteristics
WEB WEB WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17Table II.B1.4.18Table II.B1.4.19Table II.B1.4.20Table II.B1.4.21Table II.B1.4.22	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance         School composition         Programme orientation, by education level         Students enrolled in general programmes, by student characteristics         Students enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by student characteristics         Students enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristics         Students enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristics
WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17Table II.B1.4.18Table II.B1.4.19Table II.B1.4.20Table II.B1.4.21Table II.B1.4.21Table II.B1.4.22Table II.B1.4.23	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance         School composition         Programme orientation, by education level         Students enrolled in general programmes, by student characteristics         Students enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by student characteristics         Students enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristics         Students enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristics         Students enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristics         Students enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristics
WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17Table II.B1.4.18Table II.B1.4.19Table II.B1.4.20Table II.B1.4.21Table II.B1.4.21Table II.B1.4.22Table II.B1.4.23Table II.B1.4.24	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performance         School composition         Programme orientation, by education level         Students enrolled in general programmes, by student characteristics         Students enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by student characteristics         Students enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristics         Students enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristics         Students enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristics         Trends in programme orientation
WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17         Table II.B1.4.18         Table II.B1.4.19         Table II.B1.4.20         Table II.B1.4.21         Table II.B1.4.21         Table II.B1.4.22         Table II.B1.4.23         Table II.B1.4.24         Table II.B1.4.25	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performanceSchool compositionProgramme orientation, by education levelStudents enrolled in general programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsTrends in programme orientationProgramme orientation and mathematics performance
WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17Table II.B1.4.18Table II.B1.4.19Table II.B1.4.20Table II.B1.4.21Table II.B1.4.22Table II.B1.4.23Table II.B1.4.23Table II.B1.4.24Table II.B1.4.25Table II.B1.4.26	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performanceSchool compositionProgramme orientation, by education levelStudents enrolled in general programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsTrends in programme orientationProgramme orientation and mathematics performanceAbility grouping
WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17Table II.B1.4.18Table II.B1.4.19Table II.B1.4.20Table II.B1.4.21Table II.B1.4.21Table II.B1.4.23Table II.B1.4.23Table II.B1.4.24Table II.B1.4.25Table II.B1.4.26Table II.B1.4.27	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performanceSchool compositionProgramme orientation, by education levelStudents enrolled in general programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsTrends in programme orientationProgramme orientation and mathematics performanceAbility groupingAbility grouping between classes, by student and school characteristics
WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17         Table II.B1.4.18         Table II.B1.4.19         Table II.B1.4.20         Table II.B1.4.21         Table II.B1.4.21         Table II.B1.4.23         Table II.B1.4.23         Table II.B1.4.24         Table II.B1.4.25         Table II.B1.4.26         Table II.B1.4.27         Table II.B1.4.28	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performanceSchool compositionProgramme orientation, by education levelStudents enrolled in general programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsTrends in programme orientationProgramme orientation and mathematics performanceAbility groupingAbility grouping between classes, by student and school characteristicsAbility grouping within classes, by student and school characteristics
WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17         Table II.B1.4.18         Table II.B1.4.19         Table II.B1.4.20         Table II.B1.4.21         Table II.B1.4.21         Table II.B1.4.21         Table II.B1.4.23         Table II.B1.4.23         Table II.B1.4.24         Table II.B1.4.25         Table II.B1.4.26         Table II.B1.4.27         Table II.B1.4.28         Table II.B1.4.28         Table II.B1.4.29	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performanceSchool compositionProgramme orientation, by education levelStudents enrolled in general programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsProgramme orientationProgramme orientation and mathematics performanceAbility groupingAbility grouping between classes, by student and school characteristicsAbility grouping within classes, by student and school characteristicsAbility grouping within classes, by student and school characteristicsTrends in ability grouping
WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17         Table II.B1.4.18         Table II.B1.4.19         Table II.B1.4.20         Table II.B1.4.20         Table II.B1.4.21         Table II.B1.4.21         Table II.B1.4.23         Table II.B1.4.23         Table II.B1.4.23         Table II.B1.4.23         Table II.B1.4.24         Table II.B1.4.25         Table II.B1.4.26         Table II.B1.4.27         Table II.B1.4.28         Table II.B1.4.29         Table II.B1.4.30	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performanceSchool compositionProgramme orientation, by education levelStudents enrolled in general programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsTrends in programme orientationProgramme orientation and mathematics performanceAbility groupingAbility grouping within classes, by student and school characteristicsTrends in ability groupingAbility grouping and mathematics performanceAbility grouping number of entropsStudent and school characteristicsStudent and school characteristicsStudity grouping within classes, by student and school characteristicsStudy grouping and mathematics performance
WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB WEB	Table II.B1.4.17         Table II.B1.4.18         Table II.B1.4.19         Table II.B1.4.19         Table II.B1.4.20         Table II.B1.4.21         Table II.B1.4.21         Table II.B1.4.21         Table II.B1.4.23         Table II.B1.4.23         Table II.B1.4.24         Table II.B1.4.25         Table II.B1.4.26         Table II.B1.4.27         Table II.B1.4.28         Table II.B1.4.29         Table II.B1.4.20         Table II.B1.4.23	Isolation index, by socio-economic status, immigrant background, gender and mathematics performanceSchool compositionProgramme orientation, by education levelStudents enrolled in general programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by student characteristicsStudents enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in general programmes, by school characteristicsStudents enrolled in pre-vocational or vocational programmes, by school characteristicsTrends in programme orientationProgramme orientation and mathematics performanceAbility groupingAbility grouping between classes, by student and school characteristicsTrends in ability grouping within classes, by student and school characteristicsAbility grouping within classes, by student and school characteristicsAbility grouping within classes, by student and school characteristicsAbility grouping and mathematics performanceSelecting and grouping students, performance and equity in mathematics, and sense of belonging

StatLink ang https://stat.link/hj4a2z

# Table II.B1.5. Investments for learning and well-being as covered in PISA 2022

WEB	Table II.B1.5.1	Shortage of education staff
WEB	Table II.B1.5.2	Shortage of education staff, by student and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.3	Change between 2018 and 2022 in the shortage of education staff
	Table II.B1.5.4	Shortage of education staff in 2015, 2018 and 2022
WEB	Table II.B1.5.5	Shortage of education staff and mathematics performance

WEB	Table II.B1.5.6	Relationship between mathematics performance and shortage of education staff
WEB	Table II.B1.5.7	Certified teachers
WEB	Table II.B1.5.8	Certified teachers
WEB	Table II.B1.5.9	Results based on principals' reports
WEB	Table II.B1.5.10	Fully certified teachers and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.11	Student-teacher ratio
WEB	Table II.B1.5.12	Student-teacher ratio
WEB	Table II.B1.5.13	Student-teacher ratio, 2018-2022
WEB	Table II.B1.5.14	Variation in mathematics class size, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.15	Variation in language-of-instruction class size, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.16	Test language class size, 2018-2022
WEB	Table II.B1.5.17	Shortage of educational material
WEB	Table II.B1.5.18	Shortage of educational material, by student and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.19	Lack of digital resources in schools, by student and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.20	Inadequate or poor quality digital resources in schools, by student and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.21	Shortage of educational material, 2018-2022
WEB	Table II.B1.5.22	Shortage of material resources by item, 2018-2022
WEB	Table II.B1.5.23	Shortage of material resources and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.24	Availability of computers, by student and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.25	Availability of computers, 2012-2022
WEB	Table II.B1.5.26	Availability of computers and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.27	Availability of tablet devices, by student and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.28	Availability of tablet devices and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.29	Preparedness for digital learning
WEB	Table II.B1.5.30	Preparedness for digital learning, by student and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.31	Qualified technical assistant staff , by students and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.32	Preparedness for digital learning, 2018-2022
WEB	Table II.B1.5.33	Preparedness for digital learning and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.34	Relationship between preparedness for digital learning, availability of computers and the school has formal guidelines for the use of digital devices for teaching and learning in specific subjects.
WEB	Table II.B1.5.35	School policies on the use of digital devices
WEB	Table II.B1.5.36	School policies on the use of digital devices, by student and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.37	Cell phone use at school, by student and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.38	School policies on the use of digital devices and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.39	Students' use of smartphone at school when smartphones are not allowed
WEB	Table II.B1.5.40	Distraction using digital devices in mathematics lessons
WEB	Table II.B1.5.41	Distraction using digital devices in mathematics lessons and frequency of use
WEB	Table II.B1.5.42	Distraction using digital devices in mathematics lessons, educational software and school guidelines
WEB	Table II.B1.5.43	Distraction using digital devices in mathematics lessons, and school guidelines and policies
WEB	Table II.B1.5.44	Distraction using digital devices in mathematics lessons and student behaviour
WEB	Table II.B1.5.45	Turning off notifications before going to sleep and smartphones not allowed at school
	Table II.B1.5.46	Student behaviour when using digital devices
WEB	Table II.B1.5.47	Feeling pressured to be on line and answer messages when in class, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.48	Feeling nervous/anxious when digital devices are not nearby, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.49	Feeling pressured to be on line and answer messages when in class, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.50	Feeling nervous/anxious when digital devices are not nearby, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.51	Student behaviour when using digital devices, and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.52	Learning time per week in regular school lessons
WEB	Table II.B1.5.53	Total learning time per week in regular lessons, by student characteristics

WEB	Table II.B1.5.54	Total learning time per week in regular lessons, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.55	Total learning time per week in regular lessons and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.56	Time spent on homework per day, by subject
WEB	Table II.B1.5.57	Spending less time per day doing homework, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.58	Spending more time per day doing homework, by students characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.59	Spending less time per day doing homework, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.60	Spending more time doing homework, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.61	Time spent doing homework in mathematics or in all subjects, and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.62	Time spent per day on digital resources, by purpose
WEB	Table II.B1.5.63	Time spent per day on digital devices, by purpose
	Table II.B1.5.64	Mean mathematics performance per time spent learning on digital devices at school
WEB	Table II.B1.5.65	Mean mathematics performance per time spent for leisure on digital devices at school
WEB	Table II.B1.5.66	Time spent on digital devices for learning at school
WEB	Table II.B1.5.67	Time spent on digital devices for leisure at school
WEB	Table II.B1.5.68	Time spent per day on digital resources for learning at school, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.69	Time spent per day on digital resources for learning before and after school, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.70	Time spent per day on digital resources for learning on weekends, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.71	Time spent per day on digital resources for leisure at school, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.72	Time spent per day on digital resources for leisure before and after school, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.73	Time spent per day on digital resources for leisure on weekends, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.74	Time spent per week on digital devices, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.75	Time spent per week on digital devices for learning activities, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.76	Time spent per week on digital devices for leisure, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.77	Time spent per day on digital resources and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.78	Time spent per week on digital devices for learning and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.79	Time spent per week on digital devices for leisure and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.80	Time spent per week on digital devices and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.81	Feeling nervous/anxious without digital devices nearby and selected student outcomes
WEB	Table II.B1.5.82	Schools providing study help
WEB	Table II.B1.5.83	Schools providing room(s) for homework and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.84	Schools where staff provides help with homework and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.85	Schools providing peer-to-peer tutoring and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.86	Schools providing study help, 2018-2022
WEB	Table II.B1.5.87	Schools providing study help and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.88	Schools providing study help and students' well-being
WEB	Table II.B1.5.89	Students' views on using digital devices in class
WEB	Table II.B1.5.90	Students' views on using digital devices in class, by student characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.91	Students' views on using digital devices in class, by school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.92	Students' views on using digital devices in class and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.93	Part-time and full time teachers
WEB	Table II.B1.5.94	Full-time teachers
WEB	Table II.B1.5.95	Part-time teachers
WEB	Table II.B1.5.96	Students' exposure to full-time teachers, by student and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.97	Students' exposure to part-time teachers, by students and school characteristics
WEB	Table II.B1.5.98	Leacher contracts, 2018-2022
WEB	Table II.B1.5.99	Full-time and part-time teachers, and mathematics performance
WEB	Table II.B1.5.100	Material resources and relationship with student outcomes
WEB	Table II.B1.5.101	Human resources and relationship with student outcomes

WEB	Table II.B1.5.102	Time resources and relationship with student outcomes
WEB	Table II.B1.5.103	Change in material resources and relationship with student outcomes
WEB	Table II.B1.5.104	Change between 2018 and 2022 in human resources and relationship with student outcomes
WEB	Table II.B1.5.105	Study help, extracurricular activities and relationship with student outcomes

StatLink 📷 📭 https://stat.link/pyhr6e

# Table II.B1.6. Governance of education systems as covered in PISA 2022

WEB	Table II.B1.6.1	Responsibilities for school governance								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.2	School responsibility for curriculum, by student and school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.3	School responsibility for resources, by student and school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.4	Responsibilities for school governance and mathematics performance								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.5	Educational and instructional leadership								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.6	Educational leadership, by student and school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.7	Instructional leadership, by student and school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.8	Jucational and instructional leadership, and mathematics performance								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.9	School competition for students								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.10	School competition for students, by student and school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.11	Trends in school competition for students								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.12	School competition and mathematics performance								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.13	School type								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.14	Attendance at public schools, by student characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.15	Attendance at government-dependent private schools, by student characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.16	Attendance at private independent schools, by student characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.17	Attendance at public schools, by school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.18	Attendance at government-dependent private schools, by school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.19	Attendance at private independent schools, by school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.20	Trends in enrolment in public and private schools								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.21	School type and mathematics performance								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.22	School funding and composition								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.23	Responses to the COVID-19 pandemic, by school type								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.24	Criteria for choosing a school								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.25	Socio-economic differences in parents' criteria when choosing a school								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.26	Criteria for choosing a school and mathematics performance								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.27	School admissions policies								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.28	School selectivity, by student and school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.29	Trends in school admissions policies								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.30	School admissions policies and mathematics performance								
	Table II.B1.6.31	Reasons for transferring students to another school								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.32	Transferring students because of low academic achievement, by student and school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.33	Transferring students for high academic achievement, by student and school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.34	Transferring students for behavioural problems, by student and school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.35	Transferring students for special learning needs, by student and school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.36	Transferring students at parents' or guardians' request, by student and school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.37	Reasons for transferring students, and mathematics performance								
	Table II.B1.6.38	Assessment practices at school								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.39	Mandatory standardised tests, by student and school characteristics								
WEB	Table II.B1.6.40	Non-mandatory standardised tests, by student and school characteristics								

WEB	Table II.B1.6.41	Teacher-developed tests, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.42	Teachers' judgemental ratings, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.43	Trends in assessment practices at school						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.44	Assessment practices at school and mathematics performance						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.45	Using achievement data for accountability purposes						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.46	Posting mathematics achievement data publicly, by school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.47	Tracking mathematics achievement data over time, by school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.48	Providing mathematics achievement data to parents, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.49	Trends in the use of achievement data for accountability purposes						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.50	Using achievement data for accountability purposes and mathematics performance						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.51	Monitoring teacher practice						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.52	Monitoring teacher practice through assessments of student achievement, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.53	Monitoring teacher practice through peer review, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.54	Monitoring teacher practice through internal observations of lessons, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.55	Monitoring teacher practice through external observation of classes, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.56	Trends in monitoring teacher practice						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.57	Monitoring teacher practice and mathematics performance						
	Table II.B1.6.58	Quality assurance and improvement actions at school						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.59	Internal evaluations or self-evaluations in school, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.60	External evaluations in school, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.61	Written specifications of school's curricular profile and educational goals, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.62	Written specifications of student performance standards, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.63	Systematic recording of data in the school, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.64	Systematic recording of student test results and graduation rates, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.65	Seeking written feedback from students, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.66	Teacher mentoring in the school, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.67	Regular consultation aimed at school improvement, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.68	Standardised policy for mathematics subjects, by student and school characteristics						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.69	Trends in quality assurance and improvement actions at school						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.70	Quality assurance and improvement actions at school, and mathematics performance						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.71	Governance and quality assurance, performance and equity in mathematics, and sense of belonging						
WEB	Table II.B1.6.72	Trends in governance and quality assurance, performance and equity in mathematics, and sense of belonging						

StatLink 🛲 https://stat.link/qa7j9x

# Annex B2. Results for regions within countries

## Table II.B2.1. Students' sense of belonging at school [1/6]

Based on students' reports

			Percentage of students who reported the following:															
	Index of sense of belonging		I feel like an outsider (or left out of things) at se							at school I make friends easily at school						school		
	Average	Variability	Strongly agree		Agi	ree	Disa	igree	Stro disa	ongly agree	Strongly agree		Agree		Disa	gree	Strongly disagree	
	Mean index S.E.	S.D. S.E.	% \$	S.E.		S.E.		S.E.		S.E.		S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.		S.E.
8 Belgium																		
B Flemish community	-0.02 (0.01)	0.76 (0.01)	2.0 (0	).2)	7.9	(0.4)	50.4	(0.9)	39.7	(1.0)	21.0	(0.8)	59.9	(0.9)	15.4	(0.6)	3.6	(0.3)
French community	0.07 (0.02)	0.92 (0.02)	4.7 (0	).4)	9.2	(0.6)	37.4	(1.3)	48.7	(1.3)	29.5	(1.0)	48.8	(1.1)	16.6	(0.7)	5.1	(0.4)
German-speaking community	0.30 (0.04)	1.00 (0.03)	3.3 (0	).8)	9.4	(1.4)	27.5	(2.0)	59.8	(2.6)	25.3	(2.0)	47.2	(2.2)	20.2	(1.6)	7.3	(1.1)
Canada				,				( )		. ,								
Alberta*	-0.29 (0.03)	0.83 (0.03)	5.5 (0	).8)	17.2	(1.6)	53.0	(2.0)	24.3	(1.8)	17.1	(1.3)	57.4	(1.9)	19.8	(1.3)	5.7	(0.8)
British Columbia*	-0.26 (0.02)	0.83 (0.02)	4.1 (0	).6)	17.4	(1.0)	54.3	(1.1)	24.2	(1.3)	18.1	(1.0)	53.6	(1.3)	20.5	(1.0)	7.8	(0.8)
Manitoba*	-0.25 (0.03)	0.96 (0.02)	7.4 (0	).8) †	18.2	(1.2) †	45.1	(1.3) †	29.4	(1.3) †	20.7	(1.3) †	51.1	(1.4) †	20.2	(1.1) †	8.0	(0.9)
New Brunswick	-0.18 (0.03)	0.99 (0.03)	6.9 (0	).7)	15.8	(1.1)	44.2	(1.7)	33.1	(1.6)	20.6	(1.5) †	55.0	(1.7) †	16.4	(1.4) †	8.0	(0.9)
Newfoundland and Labrador*	-0.28 (0.04)	0.98 (0.04)	7.6 (1	í.1) †	16.8	(1.4) †	46.6	(2.1) †	29.0	(2.1) †	18.1	(1.7)	51.1	(2.2)	20.8	(1.5)	9.9	(1.2)
Nova Scotia*	-0.27 (0.03)	1.03 (0.04)	7.6 (1	1.1) †	19.4	(1.4) †	45.4	(1.7) †	27.7	(1.6) †	19.2	(1.3) †	48.4	(1.9) †	24.1	(1.4) †	8.3	(1.1)
Ontario*	-0.20 (0.02)	0.91 (0.02)	4.8 (0	).4) †	17.1	(0.8) †	49.8	(1.3) †	28.3	(0.9) †	19.5	(0.9) †	54.9	(1.0) †	19.4	(1.0) †	6.2	(0.5)
Prince Edward Island	-0.21 (0.05)	0.95 (0.07)	4.3 (1	1.7) †	21.6	(3.0) †	44.9	(4.1) †	29.2	(3.2) †	20.8	(2.9) †	53.1	(3.8) †	20.4	(3.0) †	5.8	(1.6)
Quebec*	0.10 (0.02)	1.03 (0.02)	4.3 (0	).4) †	9.3	(0.6) †	36.1	(1.0) †	50.3	(1.1) †	30.0	(0.9) †	51.3	(1.1) †	13.9	(0.7) †	4.8	(0.5)
Saskatchewan	-0.23 (0.03)	0.96 (0.03)	7.7 (0	).7)	17.7	(1.0)	44.5	(1.2)	30.1	(1.2)	18.9	(1.1)	54.6	(1.4)	19.1	(1.4)	7.3	(0.7)
Colombia				,,		()		()		(=)		()		()		(,		(•)
Bogotá	-0.09 (0.02)	0.88 (0.03)	4.7 (0	0.6)	11.6	(1.0)	50.7	(1.7)	33.0	(1.4)	21.9	(1.1)	51.7	(1.3)	19.8	(1.1)	6.5	(0.7)
Italv			,	,		( )		( )		( )		( )		( )		( )		
Bolzano	0.31 (0.02)	1.06 (0.02)	3.4 (0	).4)	8.4	(0.7)	33.2	(1.1)	55.0	(1.2)	34.4	(1.1)	46.2	(1.4)	14.7	(1.0)	4.7	(0.5)
Trento	-0.06 (0.02)	0.78 (0.02)	2.7 (0	).4)	8.1	(0.8)	48.8	(1.3)	40.4	(1.3)	23.7	(1.4)	54.3	(1.5)	16.3	(1.0)	5.8	(0.5)
Spain			,	,		( )		( )		( )		( )		. ,		( )		
Andalusia	0.32 (0.03)	1.13 (0.03)	5.8 (0	).7)	5.1	(0.5)	32.7	(1.2)	56.4	(1.3)	27.4	(1.2)	51.6	(1.4)	13.5	(0.9)	7.4	(0.7)
Aragon	0.32 (0.03)	1.17 (0.03)	4.5 (0	).6)	5.4	(0.8)	31.8	(1.5)	58.3	(1.6)	27.4	(1.7)	50.7	(1.8)	14.6	(1.0)	7.3	(0.8)
Asturias	0.41 (0.03)	1.19 (0.02)	4.1 (0	).5)	5.1	(0.5)	31.2	(1.6)	59.6	(1.6)	28.7	(1.2)	51.3	(1.2)	14.6	(1.0)	5.5	(0.7)
Balearic Islands	0.29 (0.03)	1.17 (0.03)	6.2 (0	).8)	9.3	(0.8)	36.2	(1.3)	48.3	(1.4)	30.2	(1.4)	50.3	(1.2)	13.1	(1.0)	6.5	(0.6)
Basque Country	0.26 (0.03)	1.09 (0.02)	6.4 (0	).6)	6.1	(0.6)	34.5	(1.1)	52.9	(1.3)	26.7	(0.8)	53.1	(1.0)	15.1	(0.9)	5.1	(0.5)
Canary Islands	0.16 (0.03)	1.13 (0.03)	6.7 (0	).8) †	8.0	(0.9) †	33.4	(1.6) †	52.0	(1.3) †	24.8	(1.6) †	49.9	(1.8) †	17.7	(1.3) †	7.6	(0.7)
Cantabria	0.39 (0.03)	1.18 (0.02)	5.3 (0	).5)	3.5	(0.6)	31.5	(1.6)	59.7	(1.6)	26.3	(1.2)	52.6	(1.2)	14.2	(1.0)	7.0	(0.7)
Castile and Leon	0.41 (0.03)	1.13 (0.03)	4.7 (0	).5)	3.5	(0.5)	30.8	(1.4)	61.1	(1.7)	28.1	(1.3)	54.6	(1.4)	13.0	(0.9)	4.3	(0.5)
Castile-La Mancha	0.37 (0.03)	1.12 (0.03)	4.9 (0	).8) †	4.8	(0.6) †	31.5	(1.1) †	58.9	(1.5) †	27.1	(1.3) †	53.2	(1.5) †	14.5	(0.7) †	5.3	(0.7)
Catalonia	0.07 (0.03)	1.09 (0.03)	7.3 (0	).7)	10.2	(1.1)	40.7	(1.6)	41.8	(1.5)	25.1	(1.4)	52.5	(1.6)	15.8	(1.2)	6.6	(0.7)
Ceuta	0.27 (0.08)	1.23 (0.06)	4.2 (1	1.4)	9.7	(2.3)	34.5	(3.1)	51.6	(3.1)	27.6	(3.0)	49.0	(3.5)	14.0	(2.6)	9.4	(2.1)
Comunidad V alenciana	0.28 (0.03)	1.13 (0.03)	5.8 (0	).7)	5.8	(0.8)	32.7	(1.6)	55.7	(1.8)	24.7	(1.1)	51.5	(1.6)	17.8	(1.3)	6.0	(0.6)
Extremadura	0.42 (0.04)	1.16 (0.02)	6.4 (0	).9)	2.4	(0.4)	29.9	(1.5)	61.3	(1.5)	27.5	(1.4)	53.0	(1.6)	14.1	(0.9)	5.4	(0.5)
Galicia	0.18 (0.04)	1 10 (0.02)	47 (0	) 7)	10.0	(10)	37.1	(1.3)	48.3	(1.8)	24.1	(11)	53.1	(1.1)	15.4	(0.9)	74	(0.7)
La Rioja	0.37 (0.04)	1 12 (0.02)	55 (0	) 9)	47	(0.8)	31.4	(1.5)	58.4	(1.7)	26.4	(16)	52.8	(1.6)	14.2	(1.3)	6.6	(0.7)
Madrid	0.35 (0.03)	1 18 (0.03)	53 (0	) 5)	3.3	(0.4)	31.4	(1.2)	60.0	(1.3)	27.2	(1.3)	51.2	(1.6)	15.8	(10)	5.9	(0.5)
Melilla	0.18 (0.07)	1.03 (0.06)	69 (2	2 1)	8.5	(17)	32.5	(37)	52.1	(3.9)	25.8	(3.1)	56.0	(3.9)	13.3	(2.5)	49	(17)
Murcia	0.32 (0.03)	1.18 (0.02)	6.9 (1	).7)	4.6	(0.5)	317	(1.3)	56.9	(1.4)	28.1	(1.2)	50.6	(1.0)	14.6	(1.0)	67	(0.7)
Navarre	0.31 (0.04)	1 10 (0.02)	43 (0	) 6)	6.7	(0.7)	32.8	(1.0)	56.2	(1.1)	26.2	(13)	55.0	(1.0)	13.0	(1.0)	5.0	(0.6)
United Kingdom	0.01 (0.04)	1.10 (0.02)	4.0 (0		0.7	(0.1)	02.0	( )	00.2	(1.0)	20.2	(1.0)	00.0	(1-1)	10.5	(1.0)	0.0	(0.0)
England*	-0.21 (0.02)	0.86 (0.02)	4.7 (0	).4) +	15 0	(0.7) +	51.8	(0.9) +	28.5	(0.8) +	16.6	(0.7) +	58.4	(0.9) +	19.4	(0.7) +	57	(0.4)
Northern Ireland*	-0.17 (0.02)	0.81 (0.02)	34 (0	) 5)	12.1	(0.8)	53.3	(12)	31.2	(1 1)	16.4	(0.8)	62.4	(12)	17.0	(10)	4.3	(0.5)
Scotland*	-0.21 (0.01)	0.81 (0.02)	36 (0	) 3)	12.9	(0.7)	56.4	(0.9)	27.1	(0.7)	14 1	(0.8)	63.1	(1.0)	18.3	(0.8)	4.5	(0.4)
Wales*	-0.26 (0.02)	0.82 (0.02)	5.4 (0	0.6) †	14.9	(0.8) †	52.8	(1.2) †	26.9	(1.0) †	15.1	(0.9) †	60.4	(1.2) †	18.6	(0.9) †	5.8	(0.7)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

See Table II.B1.1.1 for national data.

## Table II.B2.1. Students' sense of belonging at school [2/6]

#### Based on students' reports

								Pe	ercentage	e of stu	dents w	ho rep	orted the	follow	/ing:				
		of belo	of sense onging	I fe	eel like ar	n outsid	der (or le	ftout	of things	s) at scl	hool			make	friends e	asily at	school		
		Average	Variability	Stro ag	ongly ree	Aç	jree	Disa	agree	Stro disa	ongly Igree	Stro ag	ongly ree	Aç	gree	Disa	agree	Stro disa	ngly gree
		Mean index S.E.	S.D. S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.		S.E.
s	Brazil																		
Ithe	North	-0.33 (0.03)	0.82 (0.04)	9.1	(1.2) †	15.6	(1.4)†	52.6	(1.9) †	22.7	(1.5)†	22.9	(1.5) †	44.3	(1.6)†	25.7	(1.2) †	7.1	(0.9)†
å	Northeast	-0.25 (0.02)	0.87 (0.02)	9.0	(0.7) †	11.7	(0.7)†	53.4	(1.3) †	25.9	(1.0)†	24.7	(1.1) †	47.4	(0.9)†	18.6	(0.8) †	9.3	(0.8)†
	South	-0.20 (0.03)	0.88 (0.03)	4.6	(0.6)	11.6	(0.9)	54.9	(1.4)	28.9	(1.1)	20.5	(1.4)	48.6	(1.5)	23.3	(1.3)	7.6	(0.8)
	Southeast	-0.15 (0.02)	0.96 (0.02)	7.5	(0.6) †	11.0	(0.6)†	49.8	(1.1) †	31.7	(1.1)†	23.7	(0.6) †	45.0	(0.8)†	22.7	(0.8) †	8.6	(0.6)†
	Middle-West	-0.23 (0.04)	0.96 (0.04)	7.1	(1.2)	11.0	(1.2)	55.6	(1.8)	26.3	(1.6)	21.9	(2.1)	46.8	(1.8)	20.7	(1.7)	10.6	(1.6)
	Kazakhstan																		
	Akmola region	-0.11 (0.03)	0.98 (0.03)	9.7	(1.0)	10.0	(1.0)	39.7	(1.6)	40.6	(1.5)	30.1	(1.9)	46.5	(2.0)	17.0	(1.4)	6.3	(0.6)
	Aktobe region	-0.19 (0.02)	0.87 (0.03)	8.7	(1.0)	9.0	(1.0)	44.6	(1.7)	37.7	(1.7)	23.4	(1.4)	55.6	(1.7)	15.2	(1.2)	5.7	(0.8)
	Almaty	-0.11 (0.04)	0.91 (0.03)	6.1	(1.1)	10.1	(1.2)	45.4	(1.3)	38.4	(2.0)	23.4	(1.6)	50.9	(1.5)	19.4	(0.9)	6.3	(0.9)
	Almaty region	-0.14 (0.05)	0.86 (0.04)	8.2	(1.2)	7.7	(0.8)	49.5	(2.0)	34.5	(2.3)	29.6	(2.2)	50.6	(1.9)	13.7	(1.3)	6.1	(1.3)
	Astana	-0.17 (0.04)	0.95 (0.02)	7.8	(1.0)	10.5	(0.8)	46.0	(1.1)	35.7	(1.6)	26.3	(1.9)	46.8	(1.5)	20.2	(1.6)	6.8	(1.2)
	Atyrau region	-0.11 (0.02)	0.90 (0.02)	8.0	(0.7)	8.9	(1.0)	43.2	(1.5)	39.9	(2.0)	26.1	(1.8)	54.6	(2.5)	14.3	(1.3)	5.1	(0.7)
	East-Kazakhstan region	-0.09 (0.05)	0.89 (0.04)	7.9	(1.0)	7.8	(1.0)	45.6	(1.8)	38.6	(2.4)	24.8	(1.7)	55.4	(1.9)	15.4	(1.3)	4.3	(0.7)
	Karagandy region	-0.09 (0.03)	0.93 (0.03)	7.7	(0.7)	9.5	(1.0)	46.0	(2.1)	36.8	(1.4)	27.5	(1.4)	50.5	(1.4)	16.8	(1.1)	5.2	(0.5)
	Kostanay region	-0.07 (0.04)	0.93 (0.04)	6.3	(0.9)	8.1	(1.0)	46.2	(1.8)	39.5	(2.6)	29.1	(1.8)	48.8	(2.2)	17.2	(1.9)	4.9	(0.9)
	Kyzyl-Orda region	0.00 (0.06)	1.02 (0.04)	9.7	(0.7)	7.2	(1.2)	41.9	(1.9)	41.2	(2.3)	29.6	(2.0)	53.4	(2.0)	11.2	(1.1)	5.8	(0.7)
	North-Kazakhstan region	-0.11 (0.04)	0.88 (0.03)	6.9	(1.0)	7.3	(1.1)	46.1	(1.9)	39.7	(1.9)	27.7	(1.8)	49.8	(1.8)	17.3	(1.6)	5.2	(0.8)
	Pavlodar region	-0.15 (0.03)	0.89 (0.04)	6.7	(0.8)	9.4	(1.2)	44.4	(2.0)	39.5	(2.2)	24.8	(1.6)	49.7	(1.5)	19.0	(1.3)	6.5	(0.7)
	Shymkent	-0.22 (0.03)	0.92 (0.03)	10.0	(1.0)	8.4	(1.1)	50.1	(2.1)	31.5	(1.9)	23.4	(1.7)	53.7	(2.0)	15.2	(1.5)	7.7	(0.7)
	Turkestan region	-0.31 (0.04)	0.86 (0.03)	13.1	(1.8)	10.5	(1.7)	47.2	(2.4)	29.2	(2.4)	25.1	(1.2)	53.7	(1.5)	12.9	(1.1)	8.3	(1.0)
	West-Kazakhstan region	-0.02 (0.04)	0.99 (0.03)	7.9	(1.2)	7.7	(1.1)	45.2	(1.9)	39.2	(1.9)	26.5	(1.8)	53.7	(1.7)	14.6	(1.6)	5.2	(0.8)
	Zhambyl region	-0.16 (0.03)	0.91 (0.04)	8.9	(1.3)	8.4	(0.8)	48.0	(1.7)	34.8	(1.5)	23.7	(2.1)	57.4	(1.6)	12.6	(1.2)	6.2	(1.0)
	Mongolia																		
	Central	-0.15 (0.01)	0.80 (0.01)	4.3	(0.4)	13.3	(0.6)	46.0	(0.9)	36.4	(0.8)	19.3	(0.7)	52.3	(0.8)	22.7	(0.9)	5.7	(0.5)
	Khangai	-0.11 (0.03)	0.77 (0.02)	4.8	(0.7)	12.0	(1.4)	47.8	(2.1)	35.3	(2.4)	22.5	(1.3)	50.9	(1.8)	20.2	(2.1)	6.4	(0.9)
	Western	-0.16 (0.04)	0.89 (0.04)	11.9	(1.6)	15.3	(1.5)	37.7	(1.9)	35.1	(2.1)	24.9	(2.3)	53.9	(2.0)	14.8	(1.5)	6.3	(0.9)
	Viet Nam																		
	Central	-0.27 (0.03)	0.77 (0.04)	6.8	(0.7)	13.1	(1.0)	56.5	(1.4)	23.6	(1.6)	24.2	(1.5)	62.5	(1.2)	8.9	(1.0)	4.4	(0.5)
	Northern	-0.25 (0.02)	0.73 (0.03)	6.0	(0.5)	12.0	(1.1)	56.2	(1.1)	25.8	(1.2)	23.5	(0.9)	62.8	(1.1)	9.5	(0.8)	4.2	(0.4)
	Southern	-0.32 (0.02)	0.71 (0.03)	7.5	(0.8)	18.9	(0.9)	54.8	(1.3)	18.9	(0.9)	24.7	(1.2)	58.8	(1.4)	11.2	(0.7)	5.3	(0.4)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.1. Students' sense of belonging at school [3/6]

#### Based on students' reports

						Percenta	ge of stu	ıdents w	ho repo	rted the f	ollowing	<b>j</b> :				
			l feel	like I belo	ong at se	hool				l feel	awkwarc	l and out	of place	e in my so	hool	
	Strong	ly agree	Ag	ree	Disa	gree	Stro disa	ngly gree	Strong	ly agree	Ag	ree	Disa	gree	Stro disa	ngly gree
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Belgium																
B Flemish community	9.0	(0.6)	56.7	(0.9)	26.1	(0.9)	8.3	(0.5)	3.5	(0.3)	11.3	(0.5)	54.9	(0.9)	30.2	(1.0)
French community	21.5	(0.9)	52.8	(1.1)	17.2	(0.8)	8.5	(0.7)	6.9	(0.6) †	14.1	(0.6) †	41.5	(1.3)†	37.5	(1.2) †
German-speaking community	29.5	(2.1)	48.0	(2.2)	16.4	(1.5)	6.2	(1.0)	5.1	(0.9)	11.4	(1.1)	28.5	(1.9)	54.9	(2.3)
Canada																
Alberta*	12.5	(1.2)	61.0	(1.5)	20.0	(1.3)	6.5	(1.0)	6.3	(0.9)	25.6	(1.6)	50.3	(2.0)	17.8	(1.5)
British Columbia*	11.6	(0.9)	57.2	(1.5)	23.3	(1.3)	7.9	(0.7)	5.2	(0.7)	21.5	(0.8)	52.3	(1.1)	21.0	(1.0)
Manitoba*	16.8	(1.3)†	53.0	(1.3) †	21.0	(1.1) †	9.1	(0.8) †	9.4	(0.8) †	21.8	(1.0) †	47.1	(1.5)†	21.7	(1.2) †
New Brunswick	16.3	(1.2)	53.9	(1.9)	20.2	(1.4)	9.6	(0.9)	9.4	(1.0)	20.3	(1.3)	46.0	(1.6)	24.3	(1.4)
Newfoundland and Labrador*	14.6	(1.8)	54.3	(2.2)	20.5	(1.5)	10.7	(1.2)	9.9	(1.3)	22.6	(2.0)	48.1	(2.2)	19.4	(1.6)
Nova Scotia*	14.1	(1.4)†	52.3	(1.8) †	21.3	(1.7) †	12.3	(1.2)†	11.4	(1.2) †	22.9	(1.5) †	44.1	(1.9)†	21.7	(1.3) †
Ontario*	15.1	(0.7)†	58.1	(1.1) †	20.8	(0.9) †	6.0	(0.4)†	6.9	(0.4) †	22.7	(0.8) †	49.2	(1.0)†	21.2	(0.8) †
Prince Edward Island	13.5	(2.3)†	53.1	(3.2) †	25.3	(3.3) †	8.2	(2.2) †	7.6	(2.0) †	20.8	(2.9) †	49.6	(4.3) †	21.9	(2.8) †
Quebec*	23.4	(0.9) †	49.5	(1.1) †	17.4	(0.7) †	9.7	(0.6) †	7.1	(0.6) †	17.1	(0.7) †	39.2	(0.9) †	36.5	(1.2) †
Saskatchewan	14.9	(1.1)	59.0	(1.3)	18.3	(1.0)	7.8	(0.8)	8.2	(0.8)	22.2	(1.1)	48.5	(1.4)	21.2	(1.3)
Colombia																
Bogotá	23.0	(1.2)	61.8	(1.3)	11.2	(0.9)	4.1	(0.5)	4.3	(0.7)	12.6	(0.7)	53.4	(1.5)	29.7	(1.3)
Italy																
Bolzano	25.9	(1.0)	47.9	(1.3)	18.6	(0.8)	7.6	(0.7)	4.9	(0.6)	10.0	(0.8)	37.8	(1.2)	47.3	(1.3)
Trento	9.7	(0.9)	54.0	(1.3)	26.7	(1.3)	9.5	(0.7)	2.9	(0.5)	10.7	(0.9)	53.6	(1.6)	32.8	(1.4)
Spain		( )		( )		. ,		( )		. ,		. ,		( )		( )
Andalusia	36.4	(1.4)	50.6	(1.5)	9.7	(0.9)	3.4	(0.4)	6.2	(0.5)	10.1	(0.7)	39.5	(1.2)	44.2	(1.1)
Aragon	36.6	(1.7)	50.1	(2.0)	8.2	(1.0)	5.1	(0.6)	8.0	(0.8)	8.7	(0.9)	37.1	(1.7)	46.2	(1.7)
Asturias	38.2	(1.3)	49.6	(1.1)	8.1	(0.8)	4.2	(0.6)	5.3	(0.6)	8.3	(0.9)	39.3	(1.4)	47.0	(1.6)
Balearic Islands	33.1	(1.3)	51.4	(1.4)	10.4	(1.0)	5.1	(0.6)	5.1	(0.7)	10.2	(0.7)	38.1	(1.3)	46.6	(1.4)
Basque Country	34.2	(1.0)	51.5	(1.0)	9.7	(0.7)	4.5	(0.5)	6.1	(0.5)	8.9	(0.7)	38.7	(1.1)	46.4	(1.3)
Canary Islands	29.7	(1.3) †	55.1	(1.5) †	10.4	(0.9) †	4.7	(0.6)†	7.6	(0.8) †	11.2	(0.8) †	41.9	(1.3) †	39.3	(1.5) †
Cantabria	38.1	(1.6)	49.7	(1.4)	7.3	(0.7)	4.9	(0.5)	5.9	(0.8)	8.9	(0.6)	36.0	(1.5)	49.2	(1.8)
Castile and Leon	37.3	(1.0)	51.4	(1.3)	7.3	(0.8)	4.0	(0.5)	5.7	(0.6)	8.3	(0.8)	38.9	(1.6)	47.1	(1.7)
Castile-La Mancha	35.0	(1.3)	53.0	(1.6)	6.9	(0.8)	5.1	(0.8)	5.3	(0.6) †	8.3	(0.8) †	37.6	(1.5) †	48.8	(1.6) †
Catalonia	27.6	(1.7)	55.3	(1.6)	11.3	(1.1)	5.8	(0.5)	6.5	(0.7)	10.9	(0.9)	45.6	(1.6)	37.0	(1.2)
Ceuta	35.8	(3.9)	47.0	(4.0)	11.2	(2.5)	6.0	(1.8)	9.8	(2.4)	9.6	(2.2)	38.1	(3.6)	42.5	(3.4)
Comunidad Valenciana	33.4	(1.6)	53.0	(1.6)	9.5	(0.7)	4.0	(0.6)	6.8	(0.7)	8.6	(0.7)	41.2	(1.7)	43.5	(1.7)
Extremadura	38.0	(14)	50.8	(14)	64	(07)	48	(0.5)	58	(0.8)	6.9	(07)	38.0	(14)	49.3	(16)
Galicia	30.8	(12)	54.8	(11)	9.8	(0.6)	47	(0.7)	6.5	(0.6)	10.4	(11)	41.9	(1.9)	41.3	(1.7)
La Rioia	34.2	(1.6)	53.4	(1.6)	8.7	(1.1)	3.7	(0.5)	5.5	(0.9)	8.3	(1.0)	39.3	(1.5)	46.9	(1.6)
Madrid	35.4	(14)	52.0	(1.3)	7.8	(0.5)	4.8	(0.6)	59	(0.7)	84	(0.7)	39.3	(1.3)	46.3	(1.5)
Melilla	31.6	(3.3) +	49.9	(3.9) +	13.4	(3.0) +	5.0	(0.0)	5.3	(1.8) +	13.0	(29) +	37.8	(3.8) +	44.0	(3.8) +
Murcia	37.3	(1.3)	47.7	(16)	9.5	(0.9)	5.4	(0.5)	71	(0.7)	10.2	(0.9)	36.8	(10)	45.9	(10)
Navarra	33.8	(1.6)	52.5	(1.3)	10.5	(0.8)	3.2	(0.5)	5.6	(0.6)	77	(0.6)	38.0	(1.0)	18.8	(1.5)
United Kingdom	00.0	(1.0)	52.5	(1.0)	10.0	(0.0)	0.2	(0.0)	0.0	(0.0)	1.1	(0.0)	00.0	(1.4)	-0.0	(1.0)
England*	96	(0.6) +	53 5	(10) +	26.7	(0.8) +	10.2	(07)+	6.5	(0.5) +	19.4	(0.9) +	50.7	(11)+	23.4	(0.8) +
Northern Ireland*	8.0	(0.7)	56.0	(1.6)	2/1 3	(1 1)	10.2	(0.0)	1.6	(0.6)	18.0	(1.0)	52.7	(1.2)	22.7	(1.0)
Scotland*	87	(0.6)	58.3	(1.0)	24.0	(0.7)	81	(0.6)	5.6	(0.5)	18.5	(0.8)	54.8	() () ()	20.2	(0.8)
Wales*	9.1	(0.6) +	53.0	(1.3)	27.0	(1 1) +	9.1	(0.6) +	67	(0.7) +	22.0	(0.0) +	51.0	(1 1) +	20.3	(0.0) +

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.1. Students' sense of belonging at school [4/6]

#### Based on students' reports

							Percenta	ge of stu	udents w	ho repo	rted the f	ollowing	g:				
				l feel	like I belo	ong at so	hool				l feel	awkward	and out	of place	e in my so	hool	
		Strong	ly agree	Ag	ree	Disa	gree	Stro disa	ngly gree	Strong	ly agree	Ag	Iree	Disa	igree	Stro disa	ngly Igree
_		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ers	Brazil																
artn	North	16.0	(1.3) †	55.3	(2.4) †	23.7	(2.0) †	5.1	(0.9)†	9.7	(1.1) †	13.3	(1.0) †	54.4	(1.8)†	22.6	(1.8) †
α.	Northeast	20.0	(1.0) †	56.1	(1.1) †	17.8	(1.0)†	6.1	(0.6)†	7.2	(0.6) †	12.3	(0.7) †	54.5	(1.0)†	26.0	(1.0) †
	South	18.6	(1.4)	58.1	(1.5)	19.6	(1.2)	3.8	(0.5)	5.1	(0.6)	14.3	(1.0)	52.7	(1.6)	27.9	(1.4)
	Southeast	23.2	(0.8) †	53.5	(0.8) †	18.2	(0.7)†	5.1	(0.4)†	5.7	(0.4) †	12.7	(0.6) †	49.1	(1.0)†	32.4	(1.0) †
	Middle-West	18.8	(2.0)	54.4	(2.1)	23.0	(1.9)	3.9	(0.8)	5.0	(0.7)	16.4	(1.0)	53.0	(1.7)	25.6	(2.1)
ŀ	Kazakhstan																
	Akmola region	20.3	(1.5)	49.9	(1.5)	23.2	(2.0)	6.6	(1.1)	7.8	(1.0)	12.6	(1.1)	53.1	(1.9)	26.5	(1.4)
	Aktobe region	17.4	(1.1)	53.1	(1.6)	22.5	(1.4)	7.0	(1.2)	9.0	(0.7)	11.6	(1.1)	56.5	(1.2)	23.0	(1.0)
	Almaty	19.9	(1.6)	48.4	(1.4)	25.7	(2.1)	5.9	(0.9)	5.4	(0.8)	14.6	(1.7)	52.7	(1.5)	27.3	(1.5)
	Almaty region	18.4	(1.5)	54.4	(1.7)	22.2	(1.5)	5.0	(0.7)	7.2	(1.2)	11.7	(1.1)	57.1	(1.5)	23.9	(1.9)
	Astana	17.3	(1.4)	49.8	(1.5)	26.8	(1.8)	6.2	(0.8)	7.2	(0.9)	18.7	(1.8)	49.8	(2.0)	24.2	(1.4)
	Atyrau region	19.1	(1.4)	52.3	(2.0)	23.2	(1.4)	5.3	(0.6)	7.6	(0.7)	11.9	(1.3)	54.0	(1.9)	26.6	(1.5)
	East-Kazakhstan region	19.3	(1.8)	58.2	(1.3)	17.8	(1.6)	4.6	(0.6)	6.7	(0.9)	11.0	(1.3)	56.5	(1.4)	25.8	(1.6)
	Karagandy region	18.8	(1.3)	50.7	(1.4)	23.8	(1.6)	6.7	(0.7)	6.6	(0.6)	13.5	(1.3)	52.8	(2.3)	27.1	(2.5)
	Kostanay region	19.1	(1.4)	53.3	(1.9)	23.2	(1.3)	4.4	(0.9)	4.4	(0.6)	16.1	(1.3)	55.1	(1.8)	24.4	(1.8)
	Kyzyl-Orda region	23.0	(2.1)	55.0	(1.5)	17.5	(2.0)	4.4	(0.7)	9.9	(1.0)	8.6	(1.4)	47.5	(2.1)	34.0	(3.2)
	North-Kazakhstan region	17.4	(1.4)	54.7	(2.0)	22.0	(1.5)	5.8	(0.9)	7.0	(0.9)	12.7	(1.0)	53.6	(1.8)	26.7	(2.1)
	Pavlodar region	17.8	(1.4)	52.4	(1.9)	23.4	(1.5)	6.5	(1.2)	7.9	(1.0)	13.6	(1.3)	52.9	(1.9)	25.6	(1.5)
	Shymkent	18.6	(1.6)	50.2	(1.1)	23.6	(1.7)	7.6	(1.1)	9.1	(0.7)	12.6	(1.1)	56.9	(1.9)	21.4	(1.1)
	Turkestan region	16.6	(1.5)	54.8	(1.7)	20.8	(1.6)	7.8	(1.1)	11.5	(1.4)	11.8	(1.3)	55.7	(2.4)	21.0	(2.1)
	West-Kazakhstan region	20.9	(1.6)	53.9	(1.7)	19.5	(1.3)	5.6	(0.7)	4.9	(0.9)	13.3	(1.4)	50.2	(1.8)	31.6	(2.0)
	Zhambyl region	17.3	(1.3)	58.1	(1.5)	18.5	(1.3)	6.0	(0.8)	9.5	(1.3)	7.7	(1.0)	57.5	(1.2)	25.2	(1.4)
P	Mongolia																
	Central	20.2	(0.8)	56.1	(0.9)	18.5	(0.6)	5.2	(0.4)	4.6	(0.3)	13.2	(0.7)	46.7	(0.9)	35.5	(0.9)
	Khangai	24.9	(2.0)	56.8	(1.7)	13.7	(1.4)	4.7	(0.9)	3.6	(0.8)	11.2	(1.1)	45.4	(1.9)	39.7	(1.9)
	Western	28.8	(2.7)	49.9	(1.9)	14.8	(1.3)	6.5	(0.7)	9.2	(1.1)	13.4	(1.7)	42.5	(2.2)	34.9	(2.3)
١	/iet Nam																
	Central	16.8	(1.3)	67.5	(1.3)	11.7	(1.1)	4.0	(0.5)	4.9	(0.5)	25.0	(1.7)	58.8	(1.5)	11.4	(1.0)
	Northern	17.4	(0.8)	68.0	(1.0)	11.4	(0.8)	3.2	(0.4)	5.5	(0.6)	22.9	(1.1)	60.2	(1.1)	11.5	(0.9)
	Southern	13.3	(0.8)	64.6	(1.3)	18.6	(1.2)	3.6	(0.4)	5.3	(0.5)	25.1	(1.2)	57.2	(1.4)	12.4	(1.0)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.1. Students' sense of belonging at school [5/6]

#### Based on students' reports

						Percenta	ge of stı	udents w	ho repo	rted the f	ollowing	g:				
			Others	students	seem to	like me					н	eel lonely	/ at scho	ool		
	Strong	ly agree	Ag	Iree	Disa	agree	Stro disa	ngly gree	Strong	ly agree	Ag	ree	Disa	gree	Stro disa	ngly gree
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Belgium																
B Flemish community	11.8	(0.7)	75.6	(0.8)	10.4	(0.6)	2.2	(0.3)	2.0	(0.2)	6.7	(0.4)	44.9	(1.0)	46.5	(1.1)
French community	17.4	(1.0)	69.5	(1.1)	10.1	(0.6)	3.0	(0.3)	5.0	(0.4)	9.0	(0.6)	36.9	(1.1)	49.1	(1.0)
German-speaking community	30.4	(2.0)	58.1	(2.4)	7.9	(1.1)	3.6	(0.8)	5.4	(1.0)	7.7	(1.3)	25.1	(1.9)	61.8	(2.0)
Canada																
Alberta*	12.8	(1.2)	73.0	(1.8)	12.0	(1.4)	2.2	(0.5)	5.3	(0.9)	20.0	(1.7)	49.1	(1.8)	25.6	(1.5)
British Columbia*	14.1	(0.9)	70.9	(1.1)	12.2	(1.0)	2.8	(0.4)	5.3	(0.7)	15.9	(0.9)	51.2	(1.5)	27.6	(1.2)
Manitoba*	15.9	(0.9)†	65.2	(1.2) †	15.0	(0.9) †	3.9	(0.5)†	7.4	(0.9) †	16.3	(1.1) †	44.2	(1.4)†	32.1	(1.3) †
New Brunswick	16.8	(1.2)†	63.7	(1.4) †	14.7	(1.2) †	4.8	(0.7)†	6.2	(0.8)	15.4	(1.1)	41.8	(1.4)	36.5	(1.5)
Newfoundland and Labrador*	12.5	(1.2)	65.8	(1.9)	16.1	(1.5)	5.7	(1.0)	8.4	(1.2)	15.9	(1.4)	44.1	(2.0)	31.6	(2.1)
Nova Scotia*	16.5	(1.3)†	66.0	(1.8) †	12.9	(1.2) †	4.6	(0.9)†	8.2	(1.1) †	17.2	(1.3) †	43.7	(1.6)†	30.9	(1.7) †
Ontario*	16.2	(0.7)†	69.7	(1.0) †	11.5	(0.7) †	2.6	(0.3)†	5.5	(0.5) †	16.2	(0.8) †	46.7	(1.2)†	31.5	(1.2) †
Prince Edward Island	13.8	(2.1)†	67.2	(3.5) †	12.2	(2.2) †	6.8	(1.9)†	5.9	(1.8) †	16.4	(2.8) †	48.1	(4.0)†	29.7	(3.9) †
Quebec*	19.9	(0.9)†	66.2	(1.0) †	10.4	(0.6) †	3.4	(0.4)†	5.0	(0.4) †	11.7	(0.6) †	37.4	(1.2)†	45.9	(1.1) †
Saskatchewan	15.5	(1.2)	67.7	(1.4)	13.2	(1.0)	3.7	(0.5)	6.1	(0.7)	16.6	(1.1)	48.0	(1.5)	29.3	(1.3)
Colombia																
Bogotá	17.4	(1.4)	66.6	(1.5)	13.1	(1.0)	2.8	(0.4)	5.2	(0.7)	12.5	(0.9)	50.2	(1.4)	32.0	(1.1)
Italy																
Bolzano	29.5	(1.1)	56.7	(1.3)	10.3	(0.8)	3.6	(0.5)	4.1	(0.5)	7.5	(0.7)	29.9	(1.2)	58.5	(1.2)
Trento	9.8	(1.0)	69.9	(1.3)	16.1	(1.0)	4.2	(0.5)	3.2	(0.5)	10.5	(1.0)	42.6	(1.2)	43.7	(1.3)
Spain																
Andalusia	25.4	(1.3)	63.3	(1.4)	7.9	(0.8)	3.5	(0.6)	5.3	(0.6)	5.3	(0.7)	34.3	(1.3)	55.2	(1.4)
Aragon	24.1	(1.5)	62.3	(1.6)	8.9	(0.8)	4.7	(0.7)	6.0	(0.7)	6.0	(0.6)	31.8	(1.5)	56.3	(1.5)
Asturias	26.6	(1.1)	61.7	(1.4)	8.4	(0.8)	3.3	(0.5)	5.0	(0.6)	5.5	(0.5)	32.1	(1.2)	57.4	(1.4)
Balearic Islands	26.2	(1.3)	62.6	(1.5)	7.5	(0.6)	3.8	(0.7)	5.3	(0.7)	6.6	(0.7)	34.3	(1.2)	53.7	(1.5)
Basque Country	20.5	(1.0)	60.9	(1.1)	13.4	(0.8)	5.2	(0.5)	5.8	(0.5)	5.3	(0.5)	32.9	(1.0)	56.0	(1.2)
Canary Islands	23.2	(1.7) †	63.1	(1.5) †	9.6	(0.7) †	4.1	(0.6) †	7.3	(0.8) †	7.2	(0.8) †	35.9	(1.4) †	49.6	(1.4) †
Cantabria	27.0	(1.4)	61.3	(1.4)	8.2	(0.9)	3.5	(0.4)	5.0	(0.6)	5.0	(0.7)	32.4	(1.3)	57.5	(1.6)
Castile and Leon	25.6	(1.2)	64.3	(1.4)	7.3	(0.5)	2.9	(0.5)	4.9	(0.6)	5.2	(0.6)	30.6	(1.7)	59.3	(1.7)
Castile-La Mancha	24.7	(1.1) †	62.0	(1.6) †	9.5	(0.7) †	3.7	(0.6) †	4.2	(0.7) †	5.2	(0.7) †	32.0	(1.1)†	58.6	(1.5) †
Catalonia	22.4	(1.3)	63.1	(1.3)	10.2	(1.0)	4.3	(0.6)	6.4	(0.6)	9.7	(0.9)	38.6	(1.6)	45.3	(2.1)
Ceuta	29.4	(3.4)	55.4	(3.6)	10.1	(2.1)	5.1	(1.7)	6.1	(1.8)	7.6	(2.1)	34.6	(3.6)	51.7	(3.6)
Comunidad Valenciana	26.4	(1.2)	61.8	(1.7)	8.9	(1.0)	2.9	(0.6)	6.0	(0.6)	6.9	(0.9)	34.9	(1.9)	52.2	(1.7)
Extremadura	27.2	(1.5)	60.1	(1.4)	9.2	(0.6)	3.6	(0.5)	5.0	(0.5)	4.1	(0.5)	29.9	(1.4)	61.0	(1.6)
Galicia	19.3	(1.2)	59.6	(1.3)	15.7	(1.0)	5.3	(0.6)	4.6	(0.6)	8.5	(1.0)	34.7	(1.3)	52.3	(1.7)
La Rioja	24.6	(1.4)	65.6	(1.5)	6.8	(0.9)	3.1	(0.5)	4.6	(0.8)	4.5	(0.6)	31.5	(1.6)	59.4	(1.7)
Madrid	25.7	(1.2)	61.8	(1.5)	8.6	(0.7)	3.8	(0.5)	5.3	(0.7)	5.7	(0.6)	33.5	(1.3)	55.4	(1.5)
Melilla	25.8	(3.6)	60.9	(3.9)	9.5	(2.7)	3.8	(1.5)	6.5	(1.6)	5.9	(2.0)	34.7	(3.4)	52.9	(3.5)
Murcia	28.5	(1.2)	58.3	(1.1)	9.2	(0.7)	4.0	(0.5)	6.1	(0.7)	6.1	(0.7)	29.9	(1.3)	57.9	(1.6)
Navarre	22.5	(1.4)	58.7	(1.4)	14.0	(1.5)	4.7	(0.7)	4.3	(0.6)	6.1	(0.7)	33.5	(1.2)	56.1	(1.5)
United Kingdom		()		()		(		()		()		()		(=)		(
England*	13.1	(0.6)†	70.8	(1.0) †	12.7	(0.7) †	3.3	(0.4) †	4.2	(0.4) †	12.0	(0.5) †	49.3	(1.0) †	34.4	(1.0) †
Northern Ireland*	11.8	(0.9)	76.4	(1.2)	94	(0.8)	2.5	(0.4)	32	(0.4)	9.8	(0.9)	51.3	(1.2)	35.7	(1.3)
Scotland*	10.5	(0.7)	76.7	(1.0)	10.3	(0.6)	2.6	(0.3)	3.6	(0.3)	10.8	(0.8)	54.5	(1.1)	31.1	(0.9)
Wales*	9,5	(0.7) +	73.2	(1.1) †	14.2	(1.0) †	3.1	(0.5) †	5.1	(0.6) †	11.7	(0.7) †	51.7	(1.2) +	31.6	(1.2) †

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.1. Students' sense of belonging at school [6/6]

## Based on students' reports

						Percenta	ge of stu	udents w	ho repo	rted the f	ollowing	g:				
			Others	students	seem to	like me					H	eel lonely	/ at scho	ol		
	Strong	ly agree	Ag	Iree	Disa	agree	Stro disa	ngly gree	Strong	ly agree	Ag	ree	Disa	igree	Stro disa	ngly Igree
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
မ္မွ Brazil																
North North	15.7	(0.9) †	58.5	(2.0) †	21.3	(1.6)†	4.5	(0.9)†	8.7	(1.0) †	19.9	(1.5) †	50.5	(2.3)†	20.9	(1.7) †
Northeast	14.9	(0.8) †	63.6	(1.3) †	15.9	(0.9)†	5.5	(0.6)†	9.2	(0.7) †	16.5	(0.9) †	49.3	(1.2)†	25.0	(1.2) †
South	13.4	(1.2)	65.1	(1.6)	17.9	(1.2)	3.6	(0.5)	6.9	(0.8)	19.8	(1.3)	47.7	(1.5)	25.6	(1.2)
Southeast	16.0	(0.8) †	63.1	(1.0) †	16.7	(0.7)†	4.3	(0.4)†	8.1	(0.5) †	17.7	(0.7) †	46.3	(0.9)†	27.9	(0.9) †
Middle-West	13.1	(1.6)	61.7	(2.1)	20.1	(2.6)	5.1	(0.7)	10.0	(1.3)	20.4	(1.6)	45.8	(2.3)	23.7	(1.5)
Kazakhstan																
Akmola region	16.2	(1.3)	54.2	(1.8)	23.0	(1.4)	6.7	(0.7)	9.4	(1.3)	11.1	(0.9)	42.6	(1.9)	36.9	(1.9)
Aktobe region	13.2	(0.9)	58.6	(1.5)	22.2	(1.0)	5.9	(0.8)	8.5	(1.0)	8.3	(0.9)	50.2	(1.6)	33.1	(1.9)
Almaty	17.1	(1.3)	57.4	(1.8)	19.7	(1.1)	5.8	(0.8)	5.3	(0.8)	10.4	(1.0)	48.7	(1.7)	35.7	(1.5)
Almaty region	16.3	(1.5)	60.9	(1.9)	18.7	(1.6)	4.0	(0.9)	8.2	(1.1)	7.8	(0.9)	48.7	(2.5)	35.3	(2.2)
Astana	17.4	(1.5)	56.2	(1.3)	20.1	(1.3)	6.4	(1.0)	8.4	(1.1)	13.2	(0.9)	45.1	(1.8)	33.3	(1.5)
Atyrau region	14.0	(1.0)	59.0	(1.6)	22.5	(1.0)	4.6	(0.6)	7.3	(0.8)	9.4	(1.0)	46.6	(1.4)	36.7	(1.1)
East-Kazakhstan region	13.8	(1.2)	62.6	(1.5)	18.8	(1.3)	4.7	(0.7)	7.3	(0.9)	7.6	(0.8)	48.4	(2.5)	36.6	(2.8)
Karagandy region	15.1	(1.3)	59.5	(2.1)	20.8	(1.3)	4.6	(0.5)	7.0	(0.7)	9.7	(1.3)	46.8	(1.6)	36.6	(1.4)
Kostanay region	16.1	(1.5)	56.8	(1.8)	23.3	(1.6)	3.9	(0.8)	5.0	(0.5)	10.8	(1.0)	48.8	(2.0)	35.5	(2.2)
Kyzyl-Orda region	16.2	(1.8)	61.1	(1.5)	17.2	(1.5)	5.4	(0.8)	9.5	(0.9)	6.4	(1.3)	41.3	(2.3)	42.8	(2.6)
North-Kazakhstan region	13.3	(1.2)	57.6	(1.4)	24.6	(1.4)	4.5	(0.7)	6.4	(0.8)	10.0	(0.9)	46.8	(2.1)	36.9	(2.2)
Pavlodar region	13.5	(1.3)	59.4	(1.7)	20.6	(1.2)	6.5	(0.8)	8.4	(1.2)	11.3	(1.1)	46.1	(1.7)	34.1	(1.3)
Shymkent	15.7	(1.0)	56.2	(2.1)	21.5	(1.9)	6.6	(0.6)	9.0	(1.2)	9.9	(1.3)	49.7	(1.9)	31.5	(1.7)
Turkestan region	11.6	(1.5)	59.6	(2.1)	21.8	(1.1)	7.0	(1.2)	11.3	(1.3)	10.6	(1.2)	51.3	(2.3)	26.8	(2.2)
West-Kazakhstan region	16.5	(1.2)	60.7	(1.2)	17.8	(1.2)	5.0	(0.8)	6.3	(1.1)	8.4	(0.9)	49.9	(2.3)	35.4	(2.5)
Zhambyl region	15.3	(1.2)	60.5	(1.4)	19.0	(1.2)	5.1	(0.9)	9.6	(1.2)	8.1	(0.6)	49.2	(1.9)	33.1	(1.5)
Mongolia																
Central	8.8	(0.5)	54.3	(0.9)	28.3	(0.8)	8.5	(0.6)	5.6	(0.4)	14.5	(0.6)	43.3	(0.9)	36.6	(0.8)
Khangai	8.2	(0.7)	52.6	(1.3)	29.7	(1.4)	9.5	(1.1)	4.7	(0.8)	16.2	(2.0)	39.5	(1.9)	39.6	(1.8)
Western	13.8	(1.5)	51.2	(2.2)	24.1	(1.4)	11.0	(1.0)	9.1	(1.4)	12.9	(1.6)	40.6	(2.6)	37.4	(2.1)
Viet Nam																
Central	7.7	(0.7)	57.8	(1.5)	29.4	(1.5)	5.1	(0.6)	7.8	(0.6)	7.8	(0.9)	56.3	(1.8)	28.2	(1.8)
Northern	7.7	(0.6)	54.8	(1.3)	31.1	(1.1)	6.4	(0.5)	6.4	(0.5)	6.8	(0.6)	56.3	(1.0)	30.5	(1.3)
Southern	7.2	(0.6)	60.3	(1.4)	27.9	(1.0)	4.6	(0.6)	6.3	(0.6)	8.6	(0.7)	57.2	(1.4)	27.9	(1.3)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [1/8]

Based on students' reports

	Index of a	onfidenco		F	Percent	age of s	tudent: if	s who re their sc	ported hool bu	their lev uilding c	el of co loses a	nfidence gain in th	in taki ne futu	ng the fo re:	ollowin	g action	5	
	in capa self-directe	city for ed learning		Usir	ng a lea or scl	rning m 100l lear	anagen ning pl	nent sys latform	tem			Usin	g a vid	eo comn	nunicat	tion pro	gram	
	Average	Variability	Not	at all	Not	very	Con	filant	Ve	ery	Not	at all Fident	Not	very	Con	fident	Ve	əry fident
	Mean	SD SF		SE	«	SE		SE	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	SE		SE	%	SE		SE		SE
□ Belaium	Index O.L.	0.D. 0.L.	/0	U.L.	70	0.2.	70	0.2.	70	0	70	0.2.	70	U.L.	70	0	/0	0.2.
G Flemish community	-0.19 (0.02) †	0.90 (0.02) †	11.7	(0.8) †	18.0	(0.8) †	45.6	(1.0) †	24.7	(1.0) †	9.9	(0.8) †	17.5	(1.1) †	49.9	(1.1) †	22.8	(1.1)†
French community	-0.04 (0.03) †	1.00 (0.01) †	11.2	(1.2) ±	14.2	(0.9)±	39.7	(1.8) ±	35.0	(1.6)±	6.8	(0.9) ±	13.2	(1.2) ±	40.1	(1.6) ±	39.9	$(2.2) \pm$
German-speaking community	-0.11 (0.05) +	0.97 (0.03) †	15.8	(22) +	21.2	(25) +	38.4	(30) +	24.5	(25) †	13.1	(1.9) †	15.5	(20) †	39.9	(2.9) †	31.6	(2.9) †
Canada		0.01 (0.00) [	10.0	(/ 1	22	(2.0)	00.1	(0.0) 1	2	(2.0)		(1.0) 1	1010	(2.0) 1	00.0	(2.0) 1		(2.0)
Alberta*	-0.08 (0.05)	0.99 (0.03)	7.8	(1.1)	13.5	(1.6)	46.3	(2.4)	32.5	(2.8)	6.2	(1.2)	11.4	(1.4)	50.3	(2.2)	32.1	(2.4)
British Columbia*	-0.09 (0.03)	0.96 (0.02)	8.7	(0.9) †	18.2	(1.3)†	49.8	(1.6) †	23.4	(1.8) †	9.3	(1.0) †	19.5	(1.7) †	47.1	(1.9) †	24.2	(2.2) †
Manitoba*	-0.10 (0.03) †	1.04 (0.02) †	12.7	(1.6) †	15.8	(1.4) †	43.5	(2.1) †	28.0	(2.2) †	8.8	(1.1) †	15.0	(1.9) †	44.0	(2.3) †	32.2	(2.4) †
New Brunswick	-0.07 (0.03)	1.05 (0.03)	14.1	(1.4)	20.7	(2.0)	42.5	(2.1)	22.7	(2.0)	8.4	(1.2)	11.0	(1.4)	44.9	(2.3)	35.7	(2.2)
Newfoundland and Labrador*	-0.11 (0.04)	1.03 (0.03)	9.1	(1.4)	12.8	(2.0)	44.3	(2.8)	33.8	(2.3)	9.4	(1.7)	12.9	(1.7)	43.2	(2.3)	34.4	(2.5)
Nova Scotia*	-0.17 (0.04) †	1.05 (0.03) †	11.5	(1.6) †	14.7	(2.1)†	44.8	(2.6) †	29.0	(2.5) †	8.8	(1.3) †	11.9	(1.6) †	47.7	(2.3) †	31.5	(2.3) †
Ontario*	0.03 (0.02) †	1.03 (0.02) †	7.7	(0.7) †	11.3	(0.9)†	43.3	(1.6) †	37.7	(1.9)†	7.8	(0.7) †	9.5	(0.8) †	44.1	(1.3) †	38.7	(1.4) †
Prince Edward Island	-0.07 (0.09) †	1.11 (0.06) †	12.2	(3.3) †	13.3	(3.0)†	41.4	(4.2) †	33.1	(4.4) †	7.9	(2.7) †	13.1	(3.2) †	54.1	(4.7) †	24.8	(4.2) †
Quebec*	0.19 (0.03) †	1.01 (0.02) †	7.8	(0.9) †	9.0	(0.9) †	38.9	(1.5) †	44.3	(1.7) †	3.5	(0.5) †	6.1	(0.7) †	38.7	(1.5) †	51.7	(1.6) †
Saskatchewan	-0.13 (0.03)	1.06 (0.02)	12.3	(1.1)	17.1	(1.4)	50.1	(1.8)	20.6	(1.4)	12.0	(1.2)	17.0	(1.5)	50.7	(1.8)	20.3	(1.5)
Colombia				( )		( )		( )		( )		. ,		. ,		( )		
Bogotá	0.38 (0.03)	0.86 (0.02)	3.2	(0.7)	9.9	(1.0)	52.4	(1.9)	34.4	(2.1)	4.2	(0.9)	7.5	(0.6)	50.8	(2.0)	37.5	(2.0)
Italy																		
Bolzano	0.09 (0.03)	0.91 (0.02)	9.5	(1.0)	19.1	(1.6)	42.8	(1.7)	28.6	(1.4)	5.7	(0.6)	12.7	(1.3)	40.6	(1.7)	41.1	(1.7)
Trento	0.15 (0.02)	0.86 (0.02)	4.7	(0.6)	9.5	(1.1)	44.8	(2.0)	41.0	(2.1)	3.5	(0.6)	8.3	(1.0)	41.4	(2.0)	46.8	(2.1)
Spain																		
Andalusia	0.15 (0.03)	0.91 (0.02)	7.0	(1.1) †	12.4	(1.2)†	41.7	(2.2) †	38.9	(2.4)†	6.6	(1.1) †	13.8	(1.4)†	44.8	(1.9) †	34.8	(2.1)†
Aragon	0.12 (0.04)	0.93 (0.02)	6.3	(1.3)	12.6	(1.7)	43.2	(3.1)	37.9	(2.8)	7.6	(1.1)	13.5	(1.5)	44.9	(2.3)	34.0	(2.6)
Asturias	0.21 (0.03)	0.93 (0.02)	5.3	(0.8)	11.7	(1.4)	43.8	(2.0)	39.2	(1.9)	4.5	(0.7) †	11.0	(1.1)†	44.0	(2.5) †	40.5	(2.1)†
Balearic Islands	0.35 (0.03)	0.90 (0.02)	4.1	(1.0)	8.7	(1.3)	44.6	(2.0)	42.6	(2.1)	3.8	(1.0)	9.1	(1.4)	43.1	(2.0)	44.1	(2.4)
Basque Country	0.04 (0.02) †	0.85 (0.02) †	6.6	(0.7) †	15.4	(1.3)†	45.8	(1.5) †	32.2	(1.8)†	6.1	(1.1) †	16.7	(1.4)†	46.8	(1.7) †	30.3	(1.9)†
Canary Islands	0.15 (0.03) †	0.96 (0.02) †	7.5	(1.4) †	12.3	(1.5)†	41.2	(1.8) †	39.0	(1.5)†	9.9	(1.2) †	12.6	(1.4)†	43.7	(2.0) †	33.8	(2.2) †
Cantabria	0.22 (0.03)	0.95 (0.02)	7.4	(1.2)	8.1	(1.1)	43.8	(1.9)	40.7	(2.1)	6.5	(1.1)	10.6	(1.5)	45.6	(1.7)	37.3	(1.6)
Castile and Leon	0.18 (0.02)	0.86 (0.02)	5.5	(0.8)	9.8	(1.2)	52.8	(2.0)	31.9	(1.7)	5.6	(0.8)	9.3	(1.0)	52.9	(2.1)	32.1	(1.9)
Castile-La Mancha	0.15 (0.02)	0.91 (0.03)	7.2	(1.0) †	10.3	(1.1)†	47.5	(2.4) †	35.0	(2.1)†	5.0	(1.0) †	13.4	(1.3)†	46.3	(1.8) †	35.3	(1.9)†
Catalonia	0.33 (0.03)	0.93 (0.02)	7.7	(0.9)	9.4	(1.0)	36.6	(1.6)	46.3	(2.0)	5.0	(0.9) †	6.8	(0.9)†	34.7	(2.3) †	53.5	(2.4)†
Ceuta	0.07 (0.08)	0.98 (0.06)	13.8	(3.6) †	13.1	(3.6)†	44.2	(5.6) †	28.9	(4.8)†	15.9	(3.9)	20.6	(4.0)	37.0	(4.3)	26.5	(4.3)
Comunidad V alenciana	0.16 (0.03)	0.91 (0.02)	5.9	(1.0)	15.1	(1.7)	47.1	(2.2)	31.9	(2.0)	8.0	(1.2)	13.3	(1.6)	46.5	(1.7)	32.2	(1.8)
Extremadura	0.23 (0.03)	0.94 (0.02)	6.6	(1.1)	11.5	(1.2)	42.3	(2.0)	39.6	(2.2)	5.7	(0.9) †	12.2	(1.2)†	42.7	(1.5) †	39.4	(1.5)†
Galicia	0.02 (0.03)	0.92 (0.02)	11.3	(1.0)	16.5	(1.9)	46.0	(2.2)	26.2	(1.8)	11.7	(1.3)	18.5	(1.6)	43.8	(1.4)	25.9	(1.8)
La Rioja	0.21 (0.04)	0.95 (0.02)	7.1	(1.3)	10.9	(1.5)	41.9	(2.2)	40.1	(2.0)	6.5	(1.2)	9.0	(1.6)	39.1	(2.1)	45.4	(2.3)
Madrid	0.27 (0.03)	0.95 (0.02)	4.6	(0.8)	9.9	(1.1)	43.5	(1.9)	42.1	(2.3)	4.5	(0.7)	9.1	(0.8)	41.8	(1.9)	44.6	(1.9)
Melilla	0.05 (0.08)	0.94 (0.07)	8.6	(3.2)	10.7	(3.6)	47.0	(5.3)	33.7	(5.0)	13.8	(4.7) †	14.8	(3.9)†	42.9	(6.0) †	28.5	(5.0)†
Murcia	0.18 (0.03)	0.94 (0.03)	8.1	(1.1) †	10.6	(1.3)†	44.0	(2.3) †	37.3	(2.2)†	5.6	(0.7) †	10.5	(1.5)†	46.1	(1.9) †	37.8	(2.0)†
Navarre	0.15 (0.03) †	0.87 (0.02) †	6.0	(1.0) †	12.5	(1.2)†	45.8	(1.6) †	35.6	(1.8)†	4.8	(0.9) †	11.8	(1.2)†	48.4	(2.1) †	35.0	(2.6)†
United Kingdom																		
England*	-0.19 (0.02) †	0.96 (0.01) †	12.3	(0.9) †	18.0	(0.9)†	50.1	(1.4) †	19.6	(1.1)†	8.7	(0.9) ‡	15.1	(0.9)‡	51.2	(1.4) ‡	25.0	(1.3)‡
Northern Ireland*	-0.17 (0.02) †	0.94 (0.02) †	11.5	(1.1) †	15.7	(1.2)†	50.5	(1.4) †	22.4	(1.5)†	11.2	(1.1) †	19.3	(1.5)†	50.6	(1.9) †	18.9	(1.6)†
Scotland*	-0.16 (0.02) †	0.96 (0.02) †	7.6	(0.8) †	11.8	(1.0)†	53.9	(1.4) †	26.7	(1.4)†	12.7	(0.9) †	18.5	(1.2)†	49.1	(1.4) †	19.7	(1.3)†
Wales*	-0.24 (0.03) †	1.01 (0.02) †	12.9	(1.2) †	18.9	(1.5)†	46.6	(1.8) †	21.6	(1.5)†	13.8	(1.3) †	19.3	(1.6)†	46.1	(1.7) †	20.8	(1.5)†

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [2/8]

#### Based on students' reports

-		Index of c	onfidence		F	Percent	age of s	tudent i	s who re their sc	ported hool b	their lev uilding c	el of co loses a	nfidence gain in t	in taki he futu	ng the fo re:	ollowin	g action	S	
		in capa self-directe	city for ed learning		Usiı	ng a lea or scl	rning m nool lear	anager ning p	nent sys latform	tem			Usin	g a vid	eo comr	nunicat	ion prog	gram	
		Average	Variability	Not con	at all fident	Not con	very fident	Cor	fident	V con	ery fident	Not con	at all fident	Not con	very fident	Con	fident	V cont	ery fident
		Mean index S.E.	S.D. S.E.		S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.		S.E.		S.E.		S.E.
ers	Brazil																		
artn	North	-0.40 (0.04) †	0.96 (0.03) †	22.9	(2.8) ‡	28.0	(3.2)‡	38.2	(3.1) ‡	10.9	(2.2)‡	21.4	(2.5) ‡	29.4	(3.2)‡	36.2	(2.3) ‡	13.0	(2.0)‡
ä	Northeast	-0.37 (0.03) ‡	0.97 (0.02) ‡	15.4	(1.4) ‡	31.1	(2.1)‡	41.6	(2.1) ‡	11.9	(1.1)‡	16.8	(1.5) ‡	28.4	(1.5)‡	41.9	(1.7) ‡	12.9	(1.3)‡
	South	-0.38 (0.03) †	0.96 (0.03) †	14.4	(1.5) †	28.9	(2.2)†	43.2	(2.4) †	13.5	(1.5)†	15.1	(1.5) †	27.7	(2.1)†	42.2	(1.9) †	15.0	(1.5)†
	Southeast	-0.39 (0.03) †	0.97 (0.02) †	16.8	(1.2) †	30.8	(1.4)†	39.4	(1.5) †	13.0	(1.0)†	16.5	(1.1) †	27.1	(1.3)†	41.1	(1.4) †	15.3	(1.1)†
	Middle-West	-0.45 (0.04) †	0.95 (0.03) †	16.0	(2.6) †	26.2	(2.1)†	45.4	(2.7) †	12.4	(2.0)†	16.9	(2.1) †	30.6	(2.3)†	36.3	(2.6) †	16.2	(3.1)†
	Kazakhstan																		
	Akmola region	0.13 (0.06)	0.94 (0.04)	7.9	(1.5)	19.2	(1.9)	49.5	(1.7)	23.4	(2.7)	7.1	(1.6) †	21.2	(2.8)†	49.6	(3.4) †	22.1	(3.4)†
	Aktobe region	0.05 (0.05)	0.95 (0.04)	7.6	(1.1)	15.2	(1.9)	52.8	(2.6)	24.3	(2.3)	9.1	(1.4)	23.4	(2.4)	48.9	(2.8)	18.5	(2.2)
	Almaty	0.17 (0.05)	0.99 (0.03)	10.0	(2.0)	13.0	(2.1)	52.3	(1.9)	24.6	(2.9)	7.8	(1.5)	14.2	(2.5)	47.0	(2.2)	31.0	(3.3)
	Almaty region	0.26 (0.04)	0.91 (0.03)	5.7	(1.5)	13.3	(1.6)	52.6	(2.8)	28.4	(2.8)	7.6	(1.3)	15.1	(2.0)	51.8	(2.4)	25.5	(3.0)
	Astana	0.17 (0.04)	0.96 (0.02)	6.7	(1.4)	16.5	(1.3)	48.0	(3.1)	28.8	(2.7)	6.9	(0.9)	14.9	(2.4)	45.9	(2.8)	32.3	(3.0)
	Atyrau region	0.21 (0.05)	0.93 (0.03)	5.5	(1.0)	14.4	(1.5)	55.1	(2.1)	25.0	(2.4)	7.0	(1.4)	14.0	(2.1)	53.0	(2.8)	26.0	(2.5)
	East-Kazakhstan region	0.21 (0.06)	0.92 (0.02)	5.2	(1.5)	15.6	(1.6)	54.4	(1.9)	24.7	(2.5)	5.1	(1.4)	17.2	(2.2)	52.1	(2.4)	25.7	(3.0)
	Karagandy region	0.10 (0.05)	0.92 (0.03)	8.4	(1.3)	18.3	(1.4)	50.5	(2.9)	22.8	(2.2)	8.4	(1.7)	14.4	(2.0)	53.9	(2.4)	23.2	(2.2)
	Kostanay region	0.13 (0.03)	1.00 (0.02)	8.7	(1.2)	18.5	(1.4)	46.7	(1.9)	26.2	(2.6)	6.8	(0.7)	21.7	(1.8)	47.4	(1.6)	24.1	(2.0)
	Kyzyl-Orda region	0.32 (0.03)	0.92 (0.03)	5.3	(0.9)	13.0	(0.9)	54.7	(2.1)	27.1	(2.0)	8.0	(1.1)	14.3	(1.5)	56.1	(2.9)	21.6	(2.2)
	North-Kazakhstan region	0.12 (0.03)	0.91 (0.03)	5.7	(1.0)	17.1	(1.8)	54.4	(2.1)	22.8	(1.9)	7.4	(1.2)	18.4	(2.0)	52.1	(2.2)	22.2	(2.0)
	Pavlodar region	0.08 (0.05)	0.94 (0.04)	8.6	(1.3)	14.0	(2.0)	50.9	(2.3)	26.4	(2.5)	6.5	(1.0)	15.9	(1.7)	53.4	(2.5)	24.3	(2.3)
	Shymkent	0.12 (0.04)	0.89 (0.03)	9.7	(1.8)	17.4	(1.8)	49.7	(2.5)	23.2	(2.4)	6.3	(1.3)	21.7	(2.3)	49.9	(2.8)	22.1	(2.9)
	Turkestan region	0.06 (0.04)	0.86 (0.03)	10.0	(1.5)	20.4	(2.7)	54.6	(3.0)	15.1	(2.9)	8.7	(1.5)	24.9	(1.6)	52.3	(1.7)	14.1	(2.2)
	West-Kazakhstan region	0.31 (0.04)	0.84 (0.03)	3.2	(0.8)	10.5	(1.5)	56.9	(3.1)	29.5	(2.6)	4.4	(1.2)	13.6	(2.0)	57.9	(2.6)	24.0	(2.1)
	Zhambyl region	0.21 (0.03)	0.88 (0.02)	8.2	(1.4)	17.1	(1.9)	52.6	(1.8)	22.1	(1.9)	5.7	(1.1)	20.2	(2.1)	55.0	(2.6)	19.1	(2.0)
	Mongolia																		
	Central	0.03 (0.02)	0.96 (0.01)	10.8	(0.7)	26.8	(1.2)	42.7	(1.2)	19.7	(1.0)	8.8	(0.7)	24.5	(1.2)	45.3	(1.3)	21.4	(0.9)
	Khangai	-0.09 (0.03) †	0.90 (0.03) †	13.6	(1.8) †	30.6	(2.4) †	38.4	(1.8) †	17.3	(2.4)†	12.5	(1.8) †	30.5	(2.4) †	40.6	(2.7) †	16.4	(1.8)†
	Western	-0.09 (0.04) †	0.96 (0.03) †	17.2	(1.3) †	28.1	(2.1)†	38.1	(2.8) †	16.6	(2.2)†	12.3	(1.8) †	27.6	(1.8)†	43.8	(3.9) †	16.4	(2.4) †
·	Viet Nam																		
	Central	-0.09 (0.03)	0.83 (0.03)	5.9	(0.8)	31.7	(1.8)	46.0	(1.3)	16.4	(1.5)	5.0	(0.7)	25.0	(1.6)	50.7	(1.6)	19.4	(1.4)
	Northern	-0.09 (0.03)	0.87 (0.02)	6.7	(0.9)	28.2	(1.5)	47.9	(1.4)	17.3	(1.5)	4.8	(0.8)	19.0	(1.5)	53.9	(1.5)	22.3	(1.9)
	Southern	-0.09 (0.02)	0.88 (0.02)	5.3	(0.5)	28.6	(1.4)	48.0	(1.2)	18.1	(1.2)	4.3	(0.4)	23.0	(1.2)	51.7	(1.3)	21.0	(1.0)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [3/8]

Based on students' reports

			Per	centage	of stude	nts who if their	reported school b	l their lev uilding c	el of cor loses ag	nfölence in ain in the	taking future:	the follow	ving act	ions		
		Findir	ng learni	ng resou	rces onl	ine on m	y own			Plann	ing whe	n to do s	chool w	ork on m	y own	
	Not conf	at all ïdent	Not conf	very ident	Con	fident	Very co	nfident	Not conf	at all ident	Not conf	very ident	Con	fident	Very co	onfident
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Belgium																
Ö Flemish community	11.4	(0.8) †	27.6	(1.2)†	48.8	(1.3) †	12.2	(0.7) †	9.3	(0.7)†	25.9	(0.9) †	49.8	(1.0) †	15.0	(0.8)†
French community	9.5	(1.0) ‡	19.7	(1.4)‡	44.1	(1.6) ‡	26.7	(1.5) ‡	10.9	(1.1)‡	24.0	(1.5) ‡	42.2	(1.4) ‡	22.9	(1.4)‡
German-speaking community	8.4	(1.5) †	23.7	(2.7)†	49.6	(3.1) †	18.3	(2.3) †	8.0	(1.7)†	21.9	(2.4) †	47.7	(2.8) †	22.4	(2.3) †
Canada																
Alberta*	7.2	(0.9)	22.3	(2.4)	48.0	(2.5)	22.6	(2.2)	7.4	(1.2)	25.5	(2.2)	48.9	(2.7)	18.3	(2.3)
British Columbia*	7.2	(0.9) †	18.4	(1.7)†	55.2	(1.8) †	19.2	(1.5) †	8.4	(1.1)†	22.5	(1.5) †	52.2	(1.8) †	16.9	(1.4)†
Manitoba*	9.5	(1.0) †	22.4	(1.7)†	48.8	(1.9) †	19.3	(1.5) †	10.5	(1.3)†	23.3	(1.3) †	47.1	(1.9) †	19.1	(1.4)†
New Brunswick	9.9	(1.5)	16.5	(1.5)	51.0	(2.0)	22.5	(1.9)	12.1	(1.7)	19.0	(1.7)	49.0	(2.1)	19.9	(1.5)
Newfoundland and Labrador*	11.8	(1.5)	25.4	(2.0)	45.5	(2.3)	17.3	(1.9)	11.4	(1.7)	22.8	(2.3)	48.0	(2.6)	17.8	(1.7)
Nova Scotia*	12.9	(1.5) †	21.2	(1.6)†	46.4	(2.5) †	19.4	(2.1) †	12.3	(1.5)†	25.1	(2.1) †	45.8	(2.6) †	16.8	(1.8)†
Ontario*	7.1	(0.7) †	17.0	(1.0)†	50.1	(1.2) †	25.8	(1.2) †	9.6	(0.7)†	19.0	(1.0) †	49.1	(1.3) †	22.3	(1.1)†
Prince Edward Island	6.7	(2.6) †	23.8	(3.6)†	44.4	(5.1) †	25.1	(4.6) †	6.6	(2.7) †	25.0	(4.5) †	48.5	(5.0) †	19.9	(3.8)†
Quebec*	6.3	(0.7) †	14.0	(1.0)†	48.1	(1.5) †	31.7	(1.8) †	6.9	(0.8) †	18.3	(1.1) †	47.7	(1.4) †	27.1	(1.2)†
Saskatchewan	9.2	(1.2)	19.5	(1.4)	54.2	(2.0)	17.1	(1.5)	12.7	(1.0)	21.2	(1.4)	50.6	(1.9)	15.5	(1.5)
Colombia																
Bogotá	2.7	(0.6)	8.1	(1.2)	59.3	(2.3)	29.9	(2.1)	3.0	(0.6)	11.2	(1.0)	62.0	(2.0)	23.8	(1.7)
Italy																
Bolzano	4.6	(0.6)	16.6	(1.2)	50.6	(1.9)	28.2	(1.5)	7.1	(0.9)	21.8	(1.4)	49.4	(1.5)	21.7	(1.5)
Trento	2.8	(0.6)	10.5	(1.3)	56.6	(1.7)	30.1	(1.7)	5.2	(0.7)	18.4	(1.6)	52.2	(2.0)	24.3	(1.7)
Spain		. ,								. ,						
Andalusia	5.5	(0.9) †	18.8	(1.8)†	50.0	(2.1) †	25.8	(1.5) †	6.1	(0.9) †	15.8	(1.1) †	55.0	(1.7) †	23.1	(1.5)†
Aragon	6.3	(0.9)	18.2	(1.5)	52.7	(2.1)	22.9	(1.5)	7.3	(0.9)	20.2	(1.9)	49.7	(2.1)	22.8	(2.4)
Asturias	4.3	(0.8) †	15.4	(1.5)†	49.2	(2.2) †	31.0	(1.7) †	4.9	(0.8) †	15.9	(1.7) †	52.9	(1.7) †	26.3	(1.8) †
Balearic Islands	4.1	(0.7)	12.4	(1.5)	49.0	(1.2)	34.5	(1.7)	4.1	(0.7)	13.9	(1.1)	50.6	(1.8)	31.5	(1.8)
Basque Country	5.6	(0.7) †	22.0	(1.4)†	54.7	(1.5) †	17.8	(1.3) †	5.5	(0.8) †	17.3	(1.1) †	58.4	(1.4) †	18.8	(1.4)†
Canary Islands	6.0	(1.0) †	20.5	(1.8) †	49.2	(2.1) †	24.3	(1.8) †	6.8	(1.1) †	18.3	(1.5) †	45.6	(2.6) †	29.3	(1.8) †
Cantabria	5.3	(0.9)	15.3	(1.9)	53.6	(2.1)	25.9	(1.6)	4.5	(0.8)	14.7	(1.5)	53.6	(2.3)	27.2	(1.7)
Castile and Leon	4.9	(0.6)	15.5	(1.6)	54.7	(2.0)	24.8	(1.6)	4.2	(0.7)	15.5	(1.4)	56.6	(1.5)	23.7	(1.8)
Castile-La Mancha	5.8	(1.2) †	18.4	(1.7) †	50.8	(2.0) †	25.1	(1.5) †	5.5	(0.9) †	15.0	(1.6) †	56.2	(1.9) †	23.3	(1.6) †
Catalonia	4.4	(0.7) †	13.8	(1.5)†	46.6	(2.0) †	35.2	(2.1) †	4.8	(1.0) †	12.0	(1.4) †	51.1	(2.3) †	32.1	(1.9) †
Ceuta	13.7	(3.7) †	20.6	(4.2)†	43.8	(4.5) †	22.0	(4.3) †	6.9	(2.6) †	18.5	(3.6) †	51.8	(5.2) †	22.8	(4.4) †
Comunidad Valenciana	7.3	(1.0) †	17.2	(1.7)†	48.7	(2.3) †	26.8	(1.8) †	5.7	(0.9)	16.0	(1.1)	53.0	(1.7)	25.2	(1.8)
Extremadura	5.4	(1.2) †	14.8	(1.5)†	51.2	(2.1) †	28.6	(1.6) †	5.1	(1.0) †	15.9	(1.5) †	51.9	(2.2) †	27.1	(1.8)†
Galicia	7.4	(1.3)	16.8	(1.4)	52.6	(1.6)	23.3	(1.6)	5.9	(0.9)	19.4	(1.4)	54.7	(2.2)	20.0	(1.5)
La Rioja	5.1	(1.1)	21.1	(1.9)	47.7	(2.4)	26.2	(2.2)	5.4	(1.3)	19.3	(2.0)	50.8	(2.5)	24.5	(1.9)
Madrid	3.8	(0.7)	18.2	(1.6)	47.5	(1.8)	30.5	(1.7)	4.5	(0.6)	15.3	(1.4)	49.9	(2.0)	30.3	(1.1)
Melilla	9.3	(2.2) †	28.7	(5.0)†	43.9	(4.9) †	18.2	(4.3) †	6.5	(2.7) †	21.5	(5.0) †	55.7	(5.3) †	16.3	(4.1)†
Murcia	4.4	(0.8) †	18.5	(1.7)†	49.6	(1.8) †	27.5	(1.7) †	5.4	(1.1) †	16.5	(1.9) †	50.8	(2.3) †	27.3	(1.7)†
Navarre	5.0	(1.0) †	17.6	(1.4)†	54.4	(1.6) †	23.0	(1.5) †	6.1	(1.0) †	17.5	(1.4) †	54.9	(1.8) †	21.5	(1.7)†
United Kingdom		V -7 1				· ·/ 1		· · / 1		1 .7.1		· / ·				. /1
England*	8.1	(0.6) †	19.3	(1.0)†	55.0	(1.2) †	17.7	(1.0) †	10.4	(0.8) †	23.9	(1.3) †	51.1	(1.4) †	14.5	(0.9)†
Northern Ireland*	8.3	(0.9) †	18.9	(1.5)†	55.7	(1.7) †	17.1	(1.5) †	10.2	(0.9) †	22.0	(1.8) †	53.9	(2.0) †	13.8	(1.1)†
Scotland*	8.3	(0.8) †	18.3	(1.1)†	56.3	(1.2) †	17.2	(0.9) †	8.9	(0.8) †	23.8	(1.0) †	52.5	(1.4) †	14.7	(0.9)†
Wales*	11.0	(1.2) †	19.2	(1.6)†	51.4	(2.4) †	18.4	(1.4) †	13.4	(1.5)†	26.2	(2.0) †	44.3	(1.5) †	16.0	(1.2) †

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [4/8]

## Based on students' reports

-				Per	centage	of stude	ntswho if their	reported school b	l their lev uilding c	el of cor loses ag	nfölence in ain in the	taking future:	the follow	ving act	ions		
			Findir	ng learni	ing resou	rces onl	ine on m	yown			Plann	ing whe	n to do s	chool w	ork on m	yown	
		Not conf	atall ident	Not conf	very ïdent	Con	fident	Very co	nfident	Not conf	at all ïdent	Not cont	very fident	Con	fident	Very co	onfident
-		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ers I	Brazil																
artr	North	14.9	(2.1)‡	31.3	(3.1) ‡	44.3	(3.3) ‡	9.5	(1.7)‡	20.7	(2.3)‡	33.8	(3.6) ‡	37.3	(3.1) ‡	8.1	(2.0)‡
<u>а</u>	Northeast	14.1	(1.5)‡	32.5	(1.8) ‡	42.6	(1.8) ‡	10.7	(1.1)‡	14.9	(1.2)‡	37.0	(2.1) ‡	37.9	(1.9) ‡	10.3	(1.0)‡
	South	13.6	(1.3)†	33.9	(1.8) †	39.5	(2.1) †	13.0	(1.6)†	13.3	(1.3)†	33.0	(1.5) †	42.2	(1.7) †	11.5	(1.3)†
	Southeast	14.6	(0.9)†	31.8	(1.4) †	42.3	(1.2) †	11.4	(0.8)†	15.3	(1.0)†	30.5	(1.4) †	42.8	(1.5) †	11.4	(0.9)†
	Middle-West	16.3	(1.8)†	36.6	(2.8) †	36.2	(3.3) †	10.8	(1.7)†	16.3	(2.2)†	31.9	(3.6) †	42.3	(2.6) †	9.5	(1.7)†
ŀ	Kazakhstan																
	Akmola region	8.1	(1.4)†	15.1	(1.8) †	57.3	(2.2) †	19.5	(2.6)†	5.3	(1.4)†	18.9	(1.8) †	55.8	(2.5) †	20.0	(2.5)†
	Aktobe region	8.0	(1.8)	20.1	(2.4)	53.3	(2.9)	18.5	(2.0)	5.4	(1.5)	23.3	(2.6)	57.0	(3.0)	14.2	(2.1)
	Almaty	5.9	(1.3)	17.2	(1.6)	51.7	(2.1)	25.2	(2.6)	7.5	(1.6)	19.2	(2.5)	51.4	(2.3)	21.8	(2.1)
	Almaty region	5.5	(0.8)	15.5	(2.2)	58.0	(2.9)	21.0	(2.1)	4.8	(0.9)	17.8	(1.8)	56.6	(2.3)	20.8	(2.1)
	Astana	4.3	(0.6)	16.2	(1.3)	52.4	(1.6)	27.1	(1.9)	5.5	(1.0)	20.6	(1.7)	52.1	(2.3)	21.8	(1.7)
	Atyrau region	6.8	(1.3)	14.8	(1.6)	55.9	(2.2)	22.4	(2.0)	4.9	(1.0)	17.0	(2.1)	60.4	(3.0)	17.8	(2.0)
	East-Kazakhstan region	5.5	(0.8)	14.1	(2.1)	59.7	(2.7)	20.8	(2.9)	3.1	(0.9)	18.6	(2.2)	58.7	(3.1)	19.5	(2.5)
	Karagandy region	5.9	(1.2)	16.9	(2.4)	58.1	(3.6)	19.1	(2.2)	6.3	(1.8)	21.4	(2.0)	58.8	(2.7)	13.5	(1.2)
	Kostanay region	7.0	(1.1)	18.6	(2.2)	53.3	(2.8)	21.1	(2.2)	6.6	(1.4)	18.3	(2.9)	54.9	(3.0)	20.2	(2.1)
	Kyzyl-Orda region	6.1	(0.9)	12.6	(1.3)	59.0	(1.9)	22.3	(1.7)	4.1	(0.9)	14.3	(1.6)	60.1	(2.2)	21.6	(2.0)
	North-Kazakhstan region	5.4	(1.1)	18.9	(2.2)	57.3	(2.8)	18.4	(1.8)	6.6	(1.3)	20.1	(1.9)	53.1	(2.6)	20.1	(1.6)
	Pavlodar region	5.5	(1.4)	19.7	(1.9)	54.6	(2.8)	20.2	(2.1)	7.6	(1.2)	22.8	(1.9)	53.0	(2.6)	16.7	(2.2)
	Shymkent	4.7	(1.7)	20.0	(1.8)	54.5	(2.4)	20.8	(2.4)	4.9	(0.9)	23.6	(2.3)	54.9	(2.3)	16.6	(1.8)
	Turkestan region	6.6	(1.5)	17.8	(2.1)	61.2	(1.9)	14.4	(2.0)	5.4	(1.1)	20.2	(2.6)	61.8	(2.3)	12.6	(2.1)
	West-Kazakhstan region	4.1	(1.2)	11.3	(1.4)	61.6	(2.1)	23.0	(2.0)	3.6	(0.8)	14.4	(1.7)	60.3	(2.3)	21.8	(2.1)
	Zhambyl region	2.8	(0.7)	18.0	(2.2)	59.7	(2.9)	19.4	(2.0)	3.1	(0.9)	16.6	(2.0)	59.8	(2.6)	20.5	(2.2)
ľ	Mongolia																
	Central	7.2	(0.7)	23.1	(1.3)	50.8	(1.3)	18.9	(0.9)	7.2	(0.6)	24.8	(1.2)	48.5	(1.1)	19.5	(0.9)
	Khangai	7.6	(1.1)†	29.6	(2.5) †	50.4	(1.8) †	12.4	(1.4)†	6.2	(0.9) †	30.7	(1.5) †	49.2	(2.4) †	13.8	(1.9)†
	Western	12.7	(1.6)†	24.2	(1.9) †	45.1	(1.8) †	17.9	(1.5)†	11.3	(1.5)†	25.3	(2.1) †	46.7	(2.9) †	16.7	(2.8)†
١	/iet Nam																
	Central	4.5	(0.6)	26.5	(1.4)	55.0	(1.6)	14.0	(1.5)	4.5	(0.7)	33.8	(1.7)	50.3	(1.6)	11.3	(1.0)
	Northern	4.6	(0.7)	24.3	(1.3)	55.6	(1.3)	15.5	(1.1)	5.3	(0.8)	33.3	(1.0)	49.3	(1.4)	12.1	(1.0)
	Southern	4.0	(0.4)	27.4	(1.2)	52.9	(1.1)	15.8	(1.0)	4.8	(0.5)	36.0	(1.2)	46.2	(1.1)	13.0	(1.0)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

## Table II.B2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [5/8]

#### Based on students' reports

			Per	centage	of stude	ntswho if their :	reported school b	their lev uilding c	el of cor loses ag	ifidence ir ain in the	n taking e future:	the follow	ving act	ions		
		N	lotivatin	g myself	to do so	chool wo	·k			Focu	sing on	school w	ork with	out remi	nders	
	Not cont	at all ïdent	Not cont	very fident	Con	fident	Very co	nfident	Not conf	atall ident	Not con	very fident	Con	fident	Very co	onfident
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Belgium																
O Flemish community	12.4	(0.8)†	34.4	(1.1) †	43.9	(1.1) †	9.3	(0.8) †	11.3	(0.8) †	30.0	(1.3) †	48.0	(1.2)†	10.7	(0.9) †
French community	20.3	(1.6)‡	30.0	(1.5) ‡	35.9	(1.7) ‡	13.8	(0.9)‡	13.9	(1.2) ‡	27.3	(1.5) ‡	42.3	(1.8)‡	16.5	(1.2) ‡
German-speaking community	12.6	(1.9)†	36.3	(2.6) †	37.7	(2.3) †	13.4	(2.1)†	13.1	(2.2) †	25.5	(2.6) †	42.2	(2.5)†	19.2	(2.4) †
Canada																
Alberta*	16.6	(2.1)	36.0	(2.4)	35.4	(1.8)	11.9	(1.8)	12.7	(1.6)	31.6	(2.8)	41.9	(2.5)	13.8	(1.8)
British Columbia*	17.0	(1.6)†	29.9	(1.7) †	41.7	(1.8) †	11.3	(1.2)†	12.5	(1.2) †	27.3	(1.9) †	45.9	(2.1)†	14.2	(1.5) †
Manitoba*	16.6	(1.6)†	34.1	(1.7) †	36.0	(1.6) †	13.3	(1.2)†	13.6	(1.1) †	32.2	(1.6) †	39.4	(1.8)†	14.7	(1.4) †
New Brunswick	18.1	(1.6)	31.1	(2.0)	39.4	(2.0)	11.5	(1.2)	13.5	(1.5)	28.8	(1.9)	42.3	(2.0)	15.4	(1.6)
Newfoundland and Labrador*	17.3	(1.9)	33.6	(2.3)	36.9	(2.3)	12.2	(1.9)	15.3	(1.8)	29.1	(2.3)	40.1	(2.6)	15.5	(1.7)
Nova Scotia*	21.9	(2.1) †	31.0	(2.1) †	36.1	(2.5) †	11.1	(1.4) †	14.5	(1.7) †	31.2	(2.3) †	41.3	(2.2) †	13.0	(1.7) †
Ontario*	19.2	(1.0) †	31.8	(1.3) †	37.4	(1.5) †	11.6	(0.7) †	12.3	(0.8) †	26.0	(1.2) †	44.4	(1.4) †	17.3	(0.8) †
Prince Edward Island	21.1	(4.5) †	21.1	(4.1) †	43.4	(5.2) †	14.3	(3.4) †	17.3	(4.0) †	33.6	(4.4) †	32.9	(4.1)†	16.1	(3.2) †
Quebec*	13.2	(0.9) †	27.6	(1.3) †	43.3	(1.2) †	15.9	(1.3) †	11.1	(0.8) †	25.0	(1.3) †	43.8	(1.4) †	20.1	(1.4) †
Saskatchewan	19.2	(14)	29.4	(17)	40.8	(20)	10.6	(11)	12.6	(10)	24.5	(15)	48.0	(19)	14.9	(12)
Colombia	10.2	(,	2011	()	10.0	(2:0)	1010	()	12.0	(1.0)	2	(1.0)	1010	()		()
Bogotá	5.8	(0.9)	18.1	(1.5)	56.8	(2.0)	19.2	(1.3)	3.0	(0.5)	13.7	(1.7)	58.9	(2.3)	24.3	(1.8)
Italy		(0.0)		()		(=)		(		(0.0)		()		(=)		()
Bolzano	84	(10)	30.1	(15)	47.0	(17)	14.5	(14)	54	(07)	24.4	(1.3)	51.0	(17)	19.2	(12)
Trento	12.5	(1.0)	31.8	(1.5)	15.6	(1.6)	10.2	(1.1)	77	(0.0)	20.3	(1.0)	52.0	(1.0)	10.2	(1.6)
Snain	12.5	(1.2)	51.0	(1.5)	45.0	(1.0)	10.2	(1.0)	1.1	(0.9)	20.5	(1.4)	JZ.9	(1.5)	13.1	(1.0)
Andalusia	10.8	(12) +	26.0	(1.0) +	45.7	(21)+	16.5	(1.6) +	65	(0.9) +	20.1	(1.6) +	51.0	(2.0) +	21.4	(1.4) +
Aragon	83	(1.2)	20.0	(27)	47.6	(2.1)	14.4	(1.0)   (1.8)	6.7	(0.3)	10.0	(2.5)	51.0	(2.0)	21.4	(1)   (2.4)
Aragon	10.0	(1.2)	29.0	(2.7)	47.0	(2.7)	14.4	(1.0)	7.6	(1.2)	17.0	(2.3)	51.0	(2.4)	22.4	(2.4)
Asturias Balearic Islands	6.8	(0.8)	23.1	(1.0)	40.9 52.3	(1.7)	17.4	(1.4)   (1.7)	5.0	(1.0)   (0.7)	17.0	(1.4)   (1.9)	51.5	(1.3)   (2.1)	23.3	(1.5)   (1.6)
Bareance Sourter	10.0	(0.0)	20.0	(2.2)	47.0	(2.3)	17.4	(1.1)	3.5	(0.7)	22.0	(1.3)	50.0	(2.1) (1.5) +	46.0	(1.0) +
Basque Country	11.0	(1.0)	29.0	(1.4)	41.2	(1.0)	14.7	(1.1)   (1.2) +	1.5	(0.0)	22.9	(1.0)	JZ.0	(1.5)	10.9	(1.2)
Cantabria	12.0	(1.4)   (1.5)	25.5	(1.7)	44.2	(2.3)	14.7	(1.3)	7.2	(1.3)	10.2	(1.0)	40.1 50.0	(2.0) [	23.7	(2.0)
	12.0	(1.3)	20.0	(1.0)	40.3 52.0	(2.2)	10.1	(2.0)	7.5 E.C	(1.0)	19.2	(1.5)	54.0	(2.3)	20.0	(1.5)
Castile and Leon	9.2	(1.1)	24.3	(1.7)	53.8	(2.1)	12.7	(1.4)	5.0	(0.8) +	10.0	(1.5)	54.8	(2.1)	21.1	(1.6)
Casule-La Maricha	10.1	(1.2)	20.0	(1.0)	49.5	(1.0)	12.0	(1.3)	5.9	(0.0)	19.5	(1.0)	50.9 45 0	(2.2)	23.7	(1.4)
Caldonia	0.9	(0.9)	27.1	(1.7)	40.0	(1.0)	10.4	(1.4)	0.9	(0.7)	20.5	(1.7)	40.0	(1.9)	27.0	(1.0)
	0.0	(2.2) T	25.1	(4.2) T	40.3	(5.4) T	21.9	(4.9)⊺ (4.9)	10.1	(2.7) T	14.7	(3.4) T	54.Z	(5.4) T	21.0	(4.5) T
	0.1	(1.0)	20.5	(1.9)	40.9	(1.7)	10.4	(1.2)	5.7	(0.9)	21.4	(1.3)	51.5	(1.9)	21.5	(1.4)
Extremadura	9.0	(1.1)	24.0	(1.6)	48.1	(2.3)	17.7	(1.3)	0.9	(0.8) T	19.1	(1.9) T	50.7	(1.8) T	23.3	(1.5) T
Galicia	12.7	(1.1)	29.0	(1.5)	46.0	(1.9)	12.2	(1.3)	8.6	(0.8)	20.2	(1.3)	50.2	(1.8)	21.0	(1.4)
La Rioja	8.5	(1.5)	28.9	(1.8)	46.9	(2.1)	15.7	(1.8)	5.2	(1.2)	21.2	(1.9)	47.2	(2.2)	26.4	(1.9)
Madrid	10.8	(1.3)	25.4	(1.7)	46.9	(1.7)	16.9	(1.5)	4.5	(0.6)	19.2	(1.7)	49.7	(1.9)	26.6	(1.7)
Melilla	10.4	(3.6)	23.1	(5.0)	44.1	(6.1)	22.4	(5.0)	6.4	(2.8)	20.5	(5.0)	51.5	(5.9)	21.6	(4.5)
Murcia	8.2	(1.3)†	32.0	(1.9) †	44.0	(2.1) †	15.8	(1.4)†	8.0	(1.3) †	18.9	(1.6) †	49.6	(2.1)†	23.5	(1.4) †
Navarre	7.1	(1.2)†	27.9	(2.0) †	51.6	(2.1) †	13.3	(1.3)†	5.4	(0.6) †	20.7	(1.5) †	54.3	(1.6)†	19.6	(1.8) †
United Kingdom																
England*	20.5	(1.2)‡	32.6	(1.3) ‡	37.9	(1.2) ‡	9.1	(0.8)‡	15.5	(1.1) †	31.2	(1.4) †	42.7	(1.4)†	10.6	(0.9) †
Northern Ireland*	18.0	(1.3)†	32.1	(1.4) †	41.8	(1.6) †	8.1	(1.2)†	14.3	(1.2) †	28.9	(1.3) †	46.3	(1.6)†	10.6	(1.0) †
Scotland*	19.5	(1.0)†	33.9	(1.2) †	37.5	(1.2) †	9.2	(0.7)†	13.1	(0.9) †	28.5	(1.0) †	46.2	(1.3)†	12.2	(0.7) †
Wales*	21.4	(1.6)†	32.4	(1.8) †	38.2	(1.9) †	8.0	(0.9)†	16.3	(1.4) †	31.6	(1.8) †	41.0	(1.7)†	11.1	(1.3) †

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [6/8]

## Based on students' reports

-				Pei	centage	of stude	ntswho if their :	reported school b	l their lev uilding c	el of cor loses ag	nfidence in ain in the	n taking e future:	the follow	ving act	ons		
			N	lotivatin	g myself	to do so	hool wo	rk			Focu	sing on	school w	ork with	out remi	nders	
		Not conf	at all ïdent	Not con	very fident	Con	fident	Very co	onfident	Not con	at all fid ent	Not con	t very fident	Con	fident	Very co	onfident
_		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ers	Brazil																
artr	North	12.7	(1.9) ‡	31.6	(2.7) ‡	46.3	(2.3)‡	9.3	(1.6)‡	14.3	(1.8) ‡	30.1	(3.1) ‡	44.5	(3.0)‡	11.1	(1.3) ‡
Δ.	Northeast	13.8	(1.5) ‡	30.5	(1.7) ‡	45.2	(1.7)‡	10.5	(1.4)‡	15.1	(1.2) ‡	32.5	(1.7) ‡	41.8	(1.9)‡	10.6	(1.0) ‡
	South	16.1	(1.4) †	33.7	(1.8) †	40.2	(1.5)†	10.0	(1.0)†	14.0	(1.5) †	37.9	(2.1) †	37.7	(2.2)†	10.3	(1.1) †
	Southeast	16.1	(1.1) †	33.3	(1.2) †	41.6	(1.4)†	8.9	(0.7)†	15.9	(0.9) †	36.4	(1.3) †	37.6	(1.4)†	10.1	(0.9) †
	Middle-West	20.1	(2.6) †	31.4	(2.0) †	40.4	(3.5)†	8.1	(1.7)†	15.8	(2.2) †	36.3	(2.6) †	40.8	(2.8)†	7.1	(1.2) †
ł	Kazakhstan																
	Akmola region	6.3	(1.4)	23.5	(1.7)	52.2	(1.8)	18.0	(2.4)	3.9	(1.0) †	20.2	(2.0) †	56.2	(2.9)†	19.7	(2.9) †
	Aktobe region	5.9	(1.0)	21.9	(2.6)	54.8	(2.4)	17.3	(2.0)	8.8	(1.2)	25.3	(2.1)	50.2	(2.5)	15.6	(2.1)
	Almaty	6.2	(1.2)	21.7	(1.8)	53.7	(2.1)	18.4	(1.7)	6.9	(0.9)	24.3	(2.8)	48.5	(2.2)	20.3	(2.6)
	Almaty region	3.2	(0.8)	14.8	(1.7)	60.9	(3.0)	21.1	(2.2)	4.2	(0.8)	18.6	(1.6)	55.9	(3.0)	21.3	(2.6)
	Astana	8.6	(1.0)	27.5	(2.0)	45.6	(2.7)	18.3	(2.3)	4.9	(1.0)	26.7	(3.3)	48.8	(2.5)	19.6	(2.4)
	Atyrau region	6.0	(1.3)	19.1	(1.4)	54.2	(1.7)	20.7	(1.4)	5.7	(1.3)	17.2	(1.7)	56.4	(1.4)	20.7	(1.7)
	East-Kazakhstan region	4.7	(1.0)	22.3	(2.2)	55.1	(2.6)	17.8	(2.2)	4.2	(1.1)	19.8	(2.2)	56.8	(3.0)	19.2	(3.1)
	Karagandy region	5.8	(1.3)	25.8	(2.7)	50.9	(3.3)	17.6	(2.1)	5.2	(1.1)	21.1	(2.2)	56.6	(2.5)	17.0	(1.7)
	Kostanay region	7.3	(1.2)	20.5	(2.0)	50.8	(1.9)	21.4	(2.3)	6.6	(1.2)	22.1	(2.2)	48.3	(2.3)	23.0	(1.9)
	Kyzyl-Orda region	3.3	(0.9)	12.6	(1.3)	61.1	(2.8)	23.0	(2.3)	4.0	(1.0)	16.3	(1.8)	55.3	(2.4)	24.4	(1.9)
	North-Kazakhstan region	5.7	(1.0)	23.7	(2.3)	55.7	(2.5)	14.9	(1.5)	5.8	(1.2)	21.0	(2.1)	54.1	(2.3)	19.0	(1.5)
	Pavlodar region	8.7	(1.3)	25.4	(2.3)	48.5	(2.6)	17.4	(2.2)	7.2	(1.9)	24.9	(2.0)	52.6	(2.9)	15.2	(2.3)
	Shymkent	4.7	(0.9)	21.8	(2.2)	58.2	(3.7)	15.3	(2.0)	7.1	(1.5)	20.8	(1.4)	56.7	(2.7)	15.5	(1.8)
	Turkestan region	5.3	(1.3)	15.7	(1.8)	63.9	(1.8)	15.1	(1.7)	7.2	(1.2)	17.7	(2.4)	60.5	(2.5)	14.6	(1.7)
	West-Kazakhstan region	2.9	(1.0)	13.6	(1.5)	63.9	(1.9)	19.6	(1.7)	2.9	(0.7)	15.7	(2.0)	63.5	(2.5)	17.8	(1.9)
	Zhambyl region	3.6	(0.9)	15.5	(1.9)	63.2	(2.2)	17.8	(1.6)	4.8	(0.9)	16.4	(2.0)	60.8	(2.5)	18.0	(2.1)
ľ	Mongolia																
	Central	7.4	(0.6)	28.4	(1.0)	47.7	(1.3)	16.5	(1.0)	7.0	(0.6)	25.7	(1.2)	49.9	(1.2)	17.5	(0.9)
	Khangai	6.5	(1.1) †	31.8	(1.9) †	49.0	(2.1)†	12.6	(1.5)†	6.7	(1.2) †	30.0	(2.0) †	49.0	(2.7)†	14.3	(1.8) †
	Western	9.4	(1.1) †	28.9	(1.6) †	45.7	(2.2)†	16.1	(1.7)†	11.0	(1.8) †	25.3	(2.3) †	46.2	(3.2)†	17.5	(1.9) †
1	Viet Nam																
	Central	4.5	(0.7)	28.4	(1.3)	55.5	(1.8)	11.6	(1.2)	4.2	(0.7)	28.2	(1.5)	55.9	(1.6)	11.6	(1.1)
	Northern	4.9	(0.7)	28.4	(1.3)	55.5	(1.4)	11.2	(0.9)	5.2	(0.7)	31.0	(1.4)	52.0	(1.4)	11.8	(0.9)
	Southern	4.0	(0.4)	32.1	(1.4)	51.2	(1.4)	12.7	(1.1)	4.6	(0.5)	31.9	(1.3)	51.4	(1.1)	12.1	(0.8)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

## Table II.B2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [7/8]

#### Based on students' reports

			Per	centage	of stude	ntswho if their :	reported school b	their lev uilding c	el of cor loses ag	nfidence in ain in the	n taking e future:	the follow	ving act	ions		
		Co	mpletin	g school	work in	depender	tly			A	ssessing	g my prog	ress wit	h learnin	g	
	Not conf	at all ident	Not con	very ïdent	Con	fident	Very co	nfident	Not conf	atall ïdent	Not con	very fident	Con	fident	Very co	onfident
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Belgium																
Ö Flemish community	7.8	(0.8)†	21.1	(0.9) †	55.7	(1.0) †	15.4	(0.9)†	11.6	(0.8) †	32.6	(1.3) †	44.8	(1.4)†	10.9	(0.8) †
French community	9.0	(1.1)‡	19.7	(1.2) ‡	48.0	(1.6) ‡	23.2	(1.4)‡	12.9	(1.1) ‡	27.2	(1.4) ‡	40.8	(1.5)‡	19.1	(1.4) ‡
German-speaking community	8.8	(1.7)†	19.1	(2.7) †	50.5	(3.6) †	21.6	(2.6)†	12.1	(1.8) †	32.7	(2.9) †	42.7	(2.8)†	12.4	(2.1) †
Canada																
Alberta*	8.1	(1.2)	24.8	(2.2)	49.4	(2.6)	17.7	(1.9)	8.5	(1.1)	25.7	(2.0)	52.8	(1.9)	12.9	(1.7)
British Columbia*	9.9	(1.2)†	18.7	(1.2) †	54.9	(1.8) †	16.4	(1.3)†	8.5	(1.2) †	23.5	(1.3) †	54.2	(1.4)†	13.8	(1.1) †
Manitoba*	10.7	(1.1)†	19.9	(1.3) †	50.0	(1.7) †	19.5	(1.3)†	10.2	(1.2) †	25.3	(1.8) †	46.2	(1.9)†	18.2	(1.3) †
New Brunswick	10.4	(1.3)	16.9	(1.5)	49.6	(2.0)	23.2	(1.4)	8.9	(1.2)	23.4	(1.9)	50.6	(2.6)	17.1	(1.6)
Newfoundland and Labrador*	8.9	(1.2)	19.9	(2.0)	49.3	(2.3)	22.0	(1.7)	12.3	(1.8)	26.8	(2.3)	45.8	(2.7)	15.1	(1.7)
Nova Scotia*	10.3	(1.4)†	22.0	(2.2) †	50.4	(2.7) †	17.4	(2.1) †	13.9	(1.7) †	25.8	(2.2) †	43.9	(2.6)†	16.4	(2.3) †
Ontario*	8.9	(0.7)†	17.5	(1.0) †	49.1	(1.2) †	24.5	(1.0)†	9.6	(0.9) †	21.3	(1.1) †	50.1	(1.4)†	18.9	(1.2) †
Prince Edward Island	12.0	(3.5)†	19.2	(3.5) †	44.8	(4.7) †	23.9	(3.5)†	14.7	(3.6) †	24.3	(4.4) †	46.3	(5.1)†	14.7	(2.9) †
Quebec*	6.5	(0.7)†	14.0	(1.0) †	52.2	(1.4) †	27.3	(1.4)†	8.6	(0.9) †	21.3	(1.2) †	49.3	(1.6)†	20.7	(1.3) †
Saskatchewan	11.3	(1.2)	19.0	(1.3)	50.6	(1.9)	19.1	(1.8)	11.9	(1.0)	20.2	(1.5)	51.3	(1.8)	16.6	(1.5)
Colombia																
Bogotá	2.4	(0.6)	9.5	(1.1)	58.4	(1.9)	29.7	(1.7)	3.8	(0.8)	13.0	(1.2)	60.4	(1.6)	22.7	(1.8)
Italy																
Bolzano	4.3	(0.6)	20.0	(1.2)	53.4	(1.7)	22.2	(1.5)	7.2	(0.9)	26.7	(1.4)	51.7	(1.7)	14.5	(1.3)
Trento	5.8	(0.8)	18.4	(1.5)	56.0	(2.1)	19.8	(1.5)	5.6	(0.9)	23.1	(1.7)	56.9	(2.0)	14.4	(1.4)
Spain																
Andalusia	4.6	(1.0)†	18.6	(1.5) †	51.8	(1.7) †	25.1	(1.9)†	8.1	(1.2) †	23.3	(1.3) †	48.8	(1.8)†	19.8	(1.4) †
Aragon	5.7	(1.0)	15.6	(2.0)	55.2	(2.2)	23.5	(2.1)	7.3	(1.1)	22.8	(2.3)	52.6	(2.3)	17.4	(1.6)
Asturias	5.0	(0.8) †	16.5	(1.4) †	52.0	(2.1) †	26.5	(1.9)†	6.0	(0.8) †	23.3	(1.4) †	50.7	(2.1)†	20.1	(1.2) †
Balearic Islands	2.8	(0.7)	11.6	(1.2)	54.0	(1.9)	31.6	(2.1)	4.9	(0.9)	17.7	(1.4)	56.6	(1.8)	20.7	(1.4)
Basque Country	5.3	(0.9) †	20.9	(1.1) †	53.4	(1.6) †	20.4	(1.4)†	6.6	(0.9) †	24.5	(1.4) †	53.1	(1.5)†	15.8	(1.3) †
Canary Islands	4.9	(1.0)†	16.8	(1.5) †	52.5	(2.3) †	25.7	(1.7)†	9.9	(1.6) †	18.9	(2.0) †	50.4	(2.6)†	20.7	(1.7) †
Cantabria	4.6	(1.0)	14.0	(1.3)	54.5	(1.6)	26.9	(1.7)	6.6	(1.1)	20.7	(1.5)	52.9	(2.1)	19.9	(1.6)
Castile and Leon	3.9	(0.8)	13.7	(1.4)	57.8	(2.0)	24.6	(1.9)	6.4	(1.2)	20.4	(1.9)	58.5	(2.3)	14.6	(1.7)
Castile-La Mancha	5.7	(1.2)†	18.7	(1.2) †	53.6	(2.2) †	22.0	(1.7)†	6.7	(0.9) †	21.8	(1.3) †	54.6	(1.6)†	16.8	(1.2) †
Catalonia	3.7	(0.7)	10.4	(1.3)	53.2	(1.8)	32.7	(2.0)	6.6	(0.9) †	20.1	(1.4) †	51.2	(2.1)†	22.1	(1.8) †
Ceuta	6.8	(2.3)	20.0	(4.1)	50.0	(5.3)	23.1	(4.3)	10.6	(2.9) †	21.7	(3.7) †	48.8	(4.6)†	18.8	(3.6) †
Comunidad Valenciana	4.5	(0.9)	18.5	(1.8)	51.9	(1.8)	25.0	(1.8)	6.2	(1.1) †	23.5	(1.6) †	51.6	(1.7)†	18.7	(1.5) †
Extremadura	4.2	(0.9)	17.8	(1.7)	54.0	(1.9)	24.0	(1.5)	5.0	(0.8)	18.4	(1.0)	55.1	(1.8)	21.5	(1.6)
Galicia	6.0	(0.7)	18.3	(1.6)	53.4	(1.7)	22.3	(1.2)	9.2	(0.7)	27.8	(1.7)	47.2	(1.9)	15.8	(1.5)
La Rioja	3.7	(1.0)	15.8	(1.8)	53.7	(2.5)	26.8	(2.4)	7.0	(1.3)	21.3	(2.1)	51.3	(2.3)	20.4	(1.8)
Madrid	4.5	(0.7)	16.3	(1.3)	50.7	(1.4)	28.5	(1.5)	6.4	(0.8)	22.8	(1.5)	50.0	(1.9)	20.8	(1.3)
Melilla	5.2	(2.4)	22.9	(5.1)	50.1	(5.9)	21.7	(4.0)	8.8	(3.2)	17.9	(4.0)	57.2	(5.2)	16.1	(4.0)
Murcia	5.8	(1.6)†	19.3	(2.0) †	49.9	(2.3) †	25.0	(2.0) †	8.5	(1.3) †	20.5	(1.9) †	51.4	(2.4) †	19.6	(1.4) †
Navarre	3.5	(0.7) †	17.5	(1.4) †	57.3	(1.9) †	21.7	(1.3)†	6.7	(1.0) †	21.2	(1.9) †	55.1	(1.7)†	17.1	(1.8) †
United Kingdom																
England*	9.3	(0.8) †	20.6	(1.1) †	56.4	(1.1) †	13.7	(0.7)†	13.0	(0.9) †	28.6	(1.1) †	46.5	(1.4)†	11.9	(0.8) †
Northern Ireland*	9.1	(1.1)†	19.8	(1.3) †	54.0	(1.5) †	17.1	(1.1)†	9.9	(0.9) †	25.6	(1.6) †	54.0	(1.7)†	10.5	(1.0) †
Scotland*	9.4	(0.9) †	19.9	(1.3) †	55.4	(1.6) †	15.3	(1.1)†	11.2	(1.0) †	28.5	(1.2) †	49.8	(1.4)†	10.5	(0.9) †
Wales*	11.5	(1.4)†	20.2	(1.3) †	53.0	(1.5) †	15.4	(1.0)†	15.2	(1.2) †	27.6	(1.7) †	44.6	(1.7)†	12.6	(1.4) †

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.5. Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning [8/8]

## Based on students' reports

-		Percentage of students who reported their level of confidence in taking the following actions if their school building closes again in the future:															
			Ca	mpletin	g school	work in	depende	ntly			A	ssessing	g my prog	ress wit	h learnin	g	
		Not conf	atall ident	Not con	very ïdent	Con	fident	Very co	onfident	Not con	atall ïdent	Not very confident		Con	fident	Very co	onfident
-		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ers E	Brazil																
artr	North	13.6	(2.4) ‡	30.5	(3.1) ‡	47.2	(3.4)‡	8.8	(1.5)‡	12.2	(1.8) ‡	27.3	(2.8) ‡	46.7	(2.8)‡	13.8	(2.2) ‡
	Northeast	12.9	(1.4) ‡	31.9	(1.8) ‡	42.6	(1.8)‡	12.7	(1.1)‡	12.0	(1.3) ‡	28.6	(1.8) ‡	45.2	(1.8)‡	14.2	(1.2) ‡
	South	11.8	(1.1) †	34.7	(2.0) †	43.6	(1.9)†	9.9	(1.3)†	13.2	(1.4) †	32.8	(1.6) †	43.9	(2.1)†	10.1	(1.2) †
	Southeast	12.9	(1.1) †	32.0	(1.2) †	42.6	(1.5)†	12.5	(1.0)†	14.2	(1.1) †	31.1	(1.3) †	41.3	(1.3)†	13.4	(0.9) †
	Middle-West	16.3	(2.5) †	29.0	(2.3) †	44.6	(2.7)†	10.1	(2.2)†	15.5	(2.2) †	27.2	(3.1) †	42.8	(3.3)†	14.4	(2.1) †
ŀ	Kazakhstan																
	Akmola region	2.9	(1.1) †	21.1	(2.4) †	55.4	(2.6)†	20.7	(2.6)†	6.5	(1.6)	19.1	(2.0)	54.8	(2.7)	19.6	(1.7)
	Aktobe region	7.7	(1.3)	16.7	(1.9)	58.1	(2.2)	17.5	(1.5)	8.5	(1.5)	17.0	(2.2)	57.4	(2.5)	17.2	(1.8)
	Almaty	4.9	(1.3)	18.7	(2.2)	55.3	(2.1)	21.0	(2.1)	5.7	(1.1)	17.5	(1.2)	54.4	(2.3)	22.4	(2.0)
	Almaty region	3.7	(0.5)	15.1	(2.1)	58.9	(2.5)	22.3	(2.2)	3.3	(0.7)	12.5	(1.3)	60.8	(2.7)	23.3	(2.1)
	Astana	4.9	(0.9)	18.4	(2.0)	50.6	(3.1)	26.0	(2.4)	6.2	(1.2)	21.6	(2.4)	49.7	(2.3)	22.5	(1.7)
	Atyrau region	4.4	(0.9)	15.9	(2.7)	58.2	(2.3)	21.5	(1.9)	4.1	(0.7)	15.2	(2.0)	59.0	(2.2)	21.7	(2.3)
	East-Kazakhstan region	3.9	(1.0)	18.4	(2.0)	57.1	(2.5)	20.6	(1.8)	3.3	(0.9)	16.1	(2.2)	58.3	(2.5)	22.2	(2.3)
	Karagandy region	5.3	(1.4)	19.3	(2.4)	55.1	(2.4)	20.4	(2.6)	6.1	(1.2)	21.8	(1.9)	52.4	(2.8)	19.7	(1.9)
	Kostanay region	6.9	(1.1)	18.1	(2.3)	53.9	(1.6)	21.2	(2.3)	6.3	(1.0)	23.2	(2.7)	48.3	(3.2)	22.2	(2.0)
	Kyzyl-Orda region	3.0	(0.6)	13.1	(1.5)	58.1	(2.2)	25.8	(1.9)	3.0	(0.9)	11.6	(1.2)	60.4	(1.7)	25.0	(1.9)
	North-Kazakhstan region	3.6	(0.7)	19.4	(2.0)	54.9	(2.7)	22.2	(2.4)	4.9	(0.8)	18.0	(1.7)	59.1	(2.9)	18.0	(2.3)
	Pavlodar region	5.0	(1.7)	18.2	(1.9)	55.0	(2.3)	21.9	(2.7)	7.7	(1.2)	17.7	(1.8)	57.8	(2.9)	16.8	(1.8)
	Shymkent	5.5	(1.1)	16.5	(1.7)	56.3	(1.8)	21.7	(2.7)	5.2	(1.4)	16.1	(1.4)	59.0	(2.2)	19.8	(2.0)
	Turkestan region	6.5	(1.2)	14.8	(2.0)	62.4	(3.4)	16.3	(2.2)	4.5	(1.0)	16.8	(1.7)	59.4	(2.9)	19.3	(3.0)
	West-Kazakhstan region	1.8	(0.7)	12.8	(1.6)	64.0	(1.9)	21.5	(1.7)	2.9	(1.0)	12.5	(1.5)	64.4	(2.2)	20.3	(1.7)
	Zhambyl region	5.2	(1.2)	13.5	(1.8)	60.5	(1.6)	20.8	(1.3)	3.8	(0.9)	13.1	(1.5)	64.6	(1.8)	18.5	(1.5)
r	Nongolia																
	Central	6.0	(0.7)	24.1	(1.1)	50.4	(1.3)	19.5	(0.9)	8.1	(0.7)	25.3	(1.2)	48.9	(1.1)	17.7	(1.1)
	Khangai	6.6	(1.0) †	26.0	(2.1) †	52.6	(2.2) †	14.9	(1.6)†	5.9	(1.3) †	29.9	(2.4) †	49.4	(2.3)†	14.7	(1.7) †
	Western	6.4	(1.3) †	22.9	(1.9) †	51.6	(2.5)†	19.0	(2.0) †	8.7	(1.5) †	24.0	(2.3) †	45.9	(1.9)†	21.5	(2.1) †
١	/iet Nam																
	Central	4.0	(0.6)	31.3	(1.6)	53.2	(1.4)	11.5	(1.2)	4.7	(0.5)	33.8	(1.4)	50.2	(1.7)	11.4	(1.2)
	Northern	4.8	(0.7)	31.2	(1.3)	52.2	(1.4)	11.8	(0.9)	5.5	(0.7)	36.5	(1.1)	46.6	(1.3)	11.3	(0.8)
	Southern	4.6	(0.5)	32.6	(1.2)	51.0	(1.3)	11.8	(0.9)	4.6	(0.4)	36.6	(1.3)	46.9	(1.2)	11.9	(0.8)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.13. School safety risks [1/2]

Based on students' reports

	Percentage of students who reported that the following happened at school during the four weeks prior to the PISA assessment:																							
	h	ndex of safety	f scho	ol	o	ur sch vanda	ool wa alised	s	lw on inv	itness school which got	ed a fig I prope someo hurt	ght erty ne	Isaw	/ gang	s in sc	hool	l h th ai	neard a nreater nother	i stude i to hu studei	nt rt nt	l saw a student carrying a gun or knif at school			t knife
	Ave	rage	Varia	ability	Ye	s	N	0	Ye	s	N	0	Ye	s	N	0	Ye	es	N	0	Ye	s	N	0
	Mean index	S.E.	S.D.	S.E.		S.E.		S.E.	% S.E.			% S.E.		% S.E. % S.E.		S.E.		S.E.	S.F. % S.F		% S.E.			S.E.
8 Belgium																_								
B Flemish community	0.00	(0.02)	0.92	(0.02)	24.9	(1.4)	75.1	(1.4)	12.0	(0.7)	88.0	(0.7)	11.6	(0.8)	88.4	(0.8)	17.7	(0.8)	82.3	(0.8)	8.4	(0.5)	91.6	(0.5)
French community	0.08	(0.03)	0.94	(0.02)	7.9	(0.8)	92.1	(0.8)	25.1	(1.3)	74.9	(1.3)	7.4	(0.6)	92.6	(0.6)	23.4	(0.9)	76.6	(0.9)	14.5	(1.0)	85.5	(1.0)
German-speaking community	-0.03	(0.04)	0.86	(0.04)	22.4	(1.6)	77.6	(1.6)	11.5	(1.2)	88.5	(1.2)	11.9	(1.4)	88.1	(1.4)	11.7	(1.3)	88.3	(1.3)	12.7	(1.4)	87.3	(1.4)
Canada																								
Alberta*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
British Columbia*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Manitoba*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
New Brunswick	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Newfoundland and Labrador*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Nova Scotia*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Ontario*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Prince Edward Island	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Quebec*	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Saskatchewan	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Colombia																								
Bogotá	-0.02	(0.03)	0.93	(0.03)	7.2	(0.8)	92.8	(0.8)	24.0	(1.5)	76.0	(1.5)	10.1	(1.0)	89.9	(1.0)	16.7	(0.9)	83.3	(0.9)	10.9	(0.9)	89.1	(0.9)
Italy																								
Bolzano	0.01	(0.02)	0.86	(0.02)	22.3	(1.1)	77.7	(1.1)	9.7	(0.7)	90.3	(0.7)	m	m	m	m	13.8	(0.7)	86.2	(0.7)	m	m	m	m
Trento	0.09	(0.02)	0.91	(0.02)	15.7	(0.8)	84.3	(0.8)	11.2	(0.7)	88.8	(0.7)	m	m	m	m	23.4	(1.1)	76.6	(1.1)	m	m	m	m
Spain																								
Andalusia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Aragon	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Asturias	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Balearic Islands	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Basque Country	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Canary Islands	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Cantabria	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Castile and Leon	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Castile-La Mancha	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Catalonia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Ceuta	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Comunidad Valenciana	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Extremadura	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Galicia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
La Rioja	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Madrid	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Melilla	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Murcia	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
Navarre	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m	m
United Kingdom																								
England*	0.40	(0.03)	1.05	(0.02)	31.9	(1.7)	68.1	(1.7)	38.6	(1.7)	61.4	(1.7)	9.9	(0.7)	90.1	(0.7)	37.4	(1.2)	62.6	(1.2)	4.3	(0.5)	95.7	(0.5)
Northern Ireland*	0.18	(0.03)	1.02	(0.03)	32.4	(1.4)	67.6	(1.4)	24.4	(1.4)	75.6	(1.4)	7.0	(0.7)	93.0	(0.7)	28.0	(1.0)	72.0	(1.0)	5.3	(0.8)	94.7	(0.8)
Scotland*	0.41	(0.03)	1.05	(0.02)	40.0	(1.8)	60.0	(1.8)	35.8	(1.3)	64.2	(1.3)	9.4	(0.7)	90.6	(0.7)	35.7	(1.1)	64.3	(1.1)	4.9	(0.6)	95.1	(0.6)
Wales*	0.59	(0.04)	1.06	(0.02)	34.1	(2.3)	65.9	(2.3)	47.5	(2.2)	52.5	(2.2)	14.5	(1.2)	85.5	(1.2)	43.4	(1.6)	56.6	(1.6)	5.4	(0.5)	94.6	(0.5)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

# Table II.B2.13. School safety risks [2/2]

Based on students' reports

22										Percentage of students who reported that the following happened at school during the four weeks prior to the PISA assessment:															
		1	Index of school safety risks			Our school was vandalised					I witnessed a fight on school property in which someone got hurt				I saw gangs in school				heard a hreate nother	a stude n to hu stude	ent irt nt	l saw a student carrying a gun or kı at school			nt <sup>•</sup> knife
		Ave	rage	Varia	ability	Y	es	N	lo	Y	e <b>s</b>	N	lo	Yes		No		Y	es	N	lo	Y	es	t	No
		Mean	S F	s n	S F	%	S F	%	S F	v.	S F	9.	8 F	%	SF	%	S.F.	%	S.F.	%	S.F.	%	SE	%	S.F.
S	Brazil		- U.L.	0.0.	0.2.		U.L.		0.11		0.2.						0.121		U.L.		U.L.				0.2.
rtne	North	0.05	(0.04)	0.99	(0.05)	14.5	(1.7)	85.5	(1.7)	16.4	(1.4)	83.6	(1.4)	10.7	(1.3)	89.3	(1.3)	25.2	(1.9)	74.8	(1.9)	11.4	(1.4)	88.6	(1.4)
Pa	Northeast	-0.12	(0.03)	0.88	(0.02)	14.1	(1.4)	85.9	(1.4)	12.7	(1.0)	87.3	(1.0)	6.5	(0.6)	93.5	(0.6)	20.6	(1.3)	79.4	(1.3)	5.7	(0.5)	94.3	(0.5)
	South	0.06	(0.04)	0.95	(0.03)	15.2	(1.6)	84.8	(1.6)	19.6	(1.7)	80.4	(1.7)	6.5	(0.7)	93.5	(0.7)	27.0	(1.3)	73.0	(1.3)	10.9	(1.3)	89.1	(1.3)
	Southeast	0.10	(0.02)	0.96	(0.01)	18.3	(1.0)	81.7	(1.0)	23.2	(0.9)	76.8	(0.9)	7.1	(0.6)	92.9	(0.6)	28.7	(1.0)	71.3	(1.0)	8.1	(0.5)	91.9	(0.5)
	Middle-West	0.08	(0.05)	0.96	(0.04)	17.3	(1.8)	82.7	(1.8)	22.6	(2.5)	77.4	(2.5)	6.8	(1.1)	93.2	(1.1)	26.1	(2.0)	73.9	(2.0)	8.6	(1.1)	91.4	(1.1)
110	(azakhstan																								
	Akmola region	-0.39	(0.02)	0.66	(0.03)	3.4	(0.5)	96.6	(0.5)	8.9	(0.8)	91.1	(0.8)	2.9	(0.5)	97.1	(0.5)	8.4	(0.8)	91.6	(0.8)	3.9	(0.6)	96.1	(0.6)
	Aktobe region	-0.40	(0.02)	0.62	(0.04)	2.5	(0.4)	97.5	(0.4)	7.5	(1.1)	92.5	(1.1)	3.0	(0.7)	97.0	(0.7)	7.6	(0.8)	92.4	(0.8)	4.4	(0.8)	95.6	(0.8)
	Almaty	-0.40	(0.02)	0.58	(0.02)	2.8	(0.6)	97.2	(0.6)	7.8	(1.0)	92.2	(1.0)	2.2	(0.4)	97.8	(0.4)	8.9	(0.8)	91.1	(0.8)	3.0	(0.5)	97.0	(0.5)
	Almaty region	-0.43	(0.03)	0.59	(0.05)	2.4	(0.6)	97.6	(0.6)	8.3	(1.2)	91.7	(1.2)	1.6	(0.4)	98.4	(0.4)	7.0	(1.0)	93.0	(1.0)	3.0	(0.9)	97.0	(0.9)
	Astana	-0.33	(0.03)	0.69	(0.04)	4.4	(0.8)	95.6	(0.8)	9.1	(0.8)	90.9	(0.8)	3.0	(0.8)	97.0	(0.8)	12.1	(1.2)	87.9	(1.2)	4.3	(0.8)	95.7	(0.8)
	Atyrau region	-0.41	(0.03)	0.60	(0.05)	2.7	(0.8)	97.3	(0.8)	8.1	(1.0)	91.9	(1.0)	1.6	(0.5)	98.4	(0.5)	7.0	(1.1)	93.0	(1.1)	4.7	(0.7)	95.3	(0.7)
	East-Kazakhstan region	-0.47	(0.02)	0.51	(0.04)	1.9	(0.9)	98.1	(0.9)	5.5	(0.7)	94.5	(0.7)	2.3	(0.6)	97.7	(0.6)	6.0	(0.9)	94.0	(0.9)	2.5	(0.5)	97.5	(0.5)
	Karagandy region	-0.40	(0.02)	0.63	(0.03)	3.6	(0.6)	96.4	(0.6)	7.9	(1.0)	92.1	(1.0)	2.3	(0.4)	97.7	(0.4)	9.5	(0.7)	90.5	(0.7)	2.8	(0.4)	97.2	(0.4)
	Kostanay region	-0.42	(0.03)	0.65	(0.06)	2.8	(0.6)	97.2	(0.6)	6.7	(1.1)	93.3	(1.1)	3.1	(0.7)	96.9	(0.7)	7.9	(1.2)	92.1	(1.2)	3.5	(0.6)	96.5	(0.6)
	Kyzyl-Orda region	-0.53	(0.02)	0.43	(0.04)	1.1	(0.3)	98.9	(0.3)	3.6	(0.5)	96.4	(0.5)	1.5	(0.4)	98.5	(0.4)	3.4	(0.8)	96.6	(0.8)	2.4	(0.5)	97.6	(0.5)
	North-Kazakhstan region	-0.41	(0.02)	0.61	(0.04)	2.8	(0.6)	97.2	(0.6)	6.6	(0.9)	93.4	(0.9)	2.2	(0.5)	97.8	(0.5)	10.0	(0.9)	90.0	(0.9)	2.6	(0.7)	97.4	(0.7)
	Pavlodar region	-0.37	(0.03)	0.67	(0.03)	3.3	(0.6)	96.7	(0.6)	9.2	(1.0)	90.8	(1.0)	2.3	(0.5)	97.7	(0.5)	10.7	(1.3)	89.3	(1.3)	3.7	(0.6)	96.3	(0.6)
	Shymkent	-0.39	(0.02)	0.65	(0.04)	2.4	(0.4)	97.6	(0.4)	9.3	(1.2)	90.7	(1.2)	3.4	(0.7)	96.6	(0.7)	8.1	(1.1)	91.9	(1.1)	4.0	(0.7)	96.0	(0.7)
	Turkestan region	-0.38	(0.03)	0.67	(0.05)	3.0	(0.7)	97.0	(0.7)	7.4	(0.9)	92.6	(0.9)	3.7	(0.7)	96.3	(0.7)	8.9	(1.5)	91.1	(1.5)	4.4	(0.9)	95.6	(0.9)
	West-Kazakhstan region	-0.45	(0.02)	0.52	(0.04)	2.6	(0.6)	97.4	(0.6)	6.9	(1.2)	93.1	(1.2)	1.1	(0.4)	98.9	(0.4)	7.0	(0.8)	93.0	(0.8)	2.1	(0.5)	97.9	(0.5)
	Zhambyl region	-0.44	(0.02)	0.60	(0.06)	1.7	(0.4)	98.3	(0.4)	6.9	(1.0)	93.1	(1.0)	2.2	(0.6)	97.8	(0.6)	6.5	(0.7)	93.5	(0.7)	3.3	(0.6)	96.7	(0.6)
Ĩ	Aongolia 🛛																								
	Central	-0.05	(0.02)	0.88	(0.02)	3.1	(0.4)	96.9	(0.4)	19.1	(0.8)	80.9	(0.8)	5.5	(0.5)	94.5	(0.5)	25.8	(0.9)	74.2	(0.9)	8.6	(0.7)	91.4	(0.7)
	Khangai	-0.07	(0.05)	0.86	(0.04)	2.8	(0.6)	97.2	(0.6)	18.9	(1.7)	81.1	(1.7)	6.1	(1.0)	93.9	(1.0)	26.1	(1.9)	73.9	(1.9)	6.3	(1.7)	93.7	(1.7)
	Western	0.02	(0.06)	0.98	(0.06)	8.5	(1.9)	91.5	(1.9)	19.6	(1.6)	80.4	(1.6)	10.5	(1.5)	89.5	(1.5)	26.6	(2.0)	73.4	(2.0)	8.5	(1.5)	91.5	(1.5)
	/iet Nam																								
	Central	-0.11	(0.04)	0.84	(0.02)	2.1	(0.4)	97.9	(0.4)	13.8	(1.6)	86.2	(1.6)	14.8	(1.2)	85.2	(1.2)	22.6	(1.7)	77.4	(1.7)	3.3	(0.6)	96.7	(0.6)
	Northern	-0.16	(0.03)	0.80	(0.02)	1.6	(0.3)	98.4	(0.3)	14.4	(1.4)	85.6	(1.4)	10.8	(0.9)	89.2	(0.9)	20.2	(1.2)	79.8	(1.2)	3.4	(0.5)	96.6	(0.5)
	Southern	-0.16	(0.05)	0.85	(0.04)	3.0	(0.5)	97.0	(0.5)	11.8	(1.6)	88.2	(1.6)	15.6	(1.7)	84.4	(1.7)	19.2	(1.9)	80.8	(1.9)	3.1	(0.5)	96.9	(0.5)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.21. Grade repetition [1/2]

		Gra	ade tition					Percentage of students who had repeated a grade in:													
		at least	once in v. lower			Primary	/ school				Low	er seco	ndary so	hool			Uppe	er seco	ndary s	chool	
		secon or u secon sch	econdary or upper secondary school N		Never Once		Twice or more		Ne	ever	Or	nce	Twice	or more	Ne	ever	01	nce	Twice	or more	
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
	Im				0.2.				0.2.		0.12.				0.2						
	nish community	21.5	(1.0)	85.6	(0.8)	13.8	(0.8)	07	(0.1)	95.8	(0.3)	3.9	(0.3)	0.3	(0 1)	94.9	(0.5)	48	(0.5)	0.3	(0.1)
Frei	nch community	33.2	(1.1)	81.5	(1.1)	15.1	(0.9)	3.4	(0.4)	89.1	(0.8)	10.1	(0.7)	0.8	(0.2)	88.8	(0.7)	11.0	(0.7)	0.2	(0.1)
Ger	man-speaking community	23.1	(1 1)	86.2	(1 1)	12.9	(12)	0.9	(0.4)	93.4	(0.9)	62	(0.9)	0.4	(0.3)	94.7	(0.9)	51	(0.9)	0.2	(0.2)
Canad	la	20.1	(1.1)	00.2	(1.1)	12.0	(1.2)	0.0	(0.1)	00.1	(0.0)	0.2	(0.0)	0.1	(0.0)	01.1	(0.0)	0.1	(0.0)	0.2	(0.2)
Albe	erta*	2.6	(0.5)	97.7	(0.5)	2.3	(0.5)	0.0	с	99.6	(0.2)	0.4	(0.2)	0.0	с	99.6	(0.2)	0.4	(0.2)	0.0	с
Briti	sh Columbia*	20	(0.3)	98.8	(0.2)	0.9	(0.2)	0.2	(0 1)	99.0	(0.3)	0.7	(0.2)	0.3	(0 1)	99.5	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	0.2	(0 1)
Man	itoba*	6.5	(0.8)	97.1	(0.4)	2.5	(0.4)	0.5	(0.2)	96.3	(0.8)	31	(0.7)	0.7	(0.2)	98.8	(0.3)	0.8	(0.2)	0.4	(0.2)
New	/ Brunswick	4.8	(0.6)	97.6	(0.5)	2.2	(0.5)	0.2	(0.1)	97.6	(0.4)	2.1	(0.4)	0.3	(0.1)	98.9	(0.3)	0.7	(0.2)	0.4	(0.1)
New	foundland and Labrador*	18	(0.5)	98.7	(0.5)	11	(0.5)	0.2	(0.2)	99.5	(0.2)	0.3	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)	99.7	(0.2)	0.1	(0.1)	02	(0.1)
Nov	a Scotia*	2.5	(0.5)	98.1	(0.4)	1.7	(0.4)	0.3	(0.1)	99.2	(0.3)	0.6	(0.3)	0.2	(0.1)	99.6	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)
Onte	ario*	2.5	(0.2)	98.6	(0.2)	12	(0.2)	0.0	(0.1)	98.9	(0.2)	0.8	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	99.3	(0.1)	0.5	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)
Prin	ce Edward Island	31	(1.3)	97.2	(1.3)	28	(1.3)	0.0	() C	99.1	(0.6)	0.3	(0.3)	0.5	(0.6)	99.5	(0.6)	0.5	(0.6)	0.0	() C
Que	bec*	12.8	(0.8)	92.9	(0.6)	6.3	(0.5)	0.8	(0.2)	92.9	(0.5)	6.3	(0.5)	0.7	(0.2)	99.4	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	0.3	(0 1)
Sas	katchewan	51	(0.5)	96.1	(0.5)	37	(0.5)	0.0	(0.1)	98.4	(0.3)	14	(0.3)	0.2	(0.1)	99.0	(0.3)	0.8	(0.2)	0.0	(0.1)
Color	nhia		(0.0)		(0.0)	0.1	(0.0)	0.2	(0.1)		(0.0)		(0.0)	0.2	(0.1)	00.0	(0.0)	0.0	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)
Boa	otá	35.5	(26)	84.4	(14)	12.5	(0.9)	31	(0.6)	75.0	(24)	17.9	(17)	71	(11)	98.3	(0.4)	16	(04)	01	(0.1)
Italy		00.0	(2.0)	• • • • •	(,		(0.0)	0.1	(0.0)	10.0	()		()		()	00.0	(0.1)		(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)
Bolz	ano	10.5	(0.6)	98.4	(0.2)	14	(0.2)	02	(0.1)	98.5	(0.3)	14	(0.3)	01	(0.0)	921	(0.5)	79	(0.5)	0.0	(0.0)
Trer	nto	10.0	(0.5)	99.5	(0.1)	0.4	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	97.6	(0.4)	23	(0.4)	01	(0.1)	92.4	(0.5)	74	(0.5)	0.0	(0.0)
Spain		10.0	(0.0)	00.0	(0.1)	0.11	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	0110	(0.1)	2.0	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)	02.1	(0.0)		(0.0)	0.2	(0.1)
And	alusia	27.8	(1.8)	89.1	(0.9)	10.3	(0.9)	0.6	(0.2)	79.0	(17)	18.4	(15)	26	(0.5)	m	m	m	m	m	m
Ara	nnon	25.2	(17)	85.8	(1.3)	13.9	(1.3)	0.3	(0.1)	85.6	(1.3)	13.5	(1.3)	0.9	(0.4)	m	m	 m	m		m
Astu	irias	17.0	(1 1)	917	(0.8)	82	(0.8)	0.0	(0.1)	89.3	(0.9)	10.2	(0.9)	0.6	(0.2)	m	m	 m	m		m
Bale	aric Islands	25.2	(1.7)	86.8	(0.0)	13.0	(0.0)	0.1	(0.1)	84.6	(1.5)	14.8	(1.5)	0.0	(0.2)	m	m	m	m		m
Bas	aue Country	16.6	(1.5)	91.7	(1.1)	7.8	(1.1)	0.5	(0.2)	89.7	(0.9)	9.4	(0.8)	0.9	(0.2)	m	m	m	m		m
Can	arv Islands	24.0	(1.6)	87.6	(1 1)	12.2	(1 1)	0.2	(0.1)	84.0	(14)	15.4	(1.3)	0.7	(0.2)	m	m	m	m	m	m
Can	tabria	21.5	(1.1)	90.5	(0.7)		(0.6)	0.4	(0.2)	85.6	(10)	13.4	(0.9)	10	(0.3)	m	m	 m	m		m
Cas	tile and Leon	21.9	(1.3)	89.4	(0.8)	10.1	(0.8)	0.5	(0.2)	85.1	(1.2)	14.3	(1.2)	0.6	(0.2)	m	m	m	m	m	m
Cas	tile-La Mancha	31.0	(1.9)	85.4	(1.4)	14.2	(1.3)	0.4	(0.2)	77.9	(1.7)	20.7	(1.5)	1.4	(0.3)	m	m	m	m	m	m
Cata	alonia	7.4	(0.9)	96.1	(0.6)	3.4	(0.6)	0.5	(0.2)	96.0	(0.7)	3.5	(0.6)	0.5	(0.2)	m	m	m	m	m	m
Ceu	ta	42.1	(17)	78.1	(24)	217	(24)	0.2	(0.2)	67.2	(2.5)	29.1	(26)	37	(1.5)	m	m	m	m	m	m
Con	unidad Valenciana	23.9	(1.4)	88.0	(1.1)	11.5	(1.1)	0.5	(0.2)	84.8	(1.3)	14.3	(1.2)	0.9	(0.3)	m	m	m	m	m	m
Extr	emadura	25.0	(1.3)	89.0	(1.0)	10.5	(0.9)	0.5	(0.2)	82.9	(1.2)	15.8	(1.1)	1.4	(0.3)	m	m	m	m	m	m
Gali	cia	21.3	(1.5)	91.1	(0.8)	85	(0.8)	0.4	(0.2)	83.5	(14)	14.6	(12)	18	(0.4)	m	m	m	m	m	m
LaF	lioia	28.1	(0.6)	86.2	(0.9)	13.4	(0.9)	0.4	(0.2)	80.7	(1.0)	18.6	(1.0)	0.6	(0.2)	m	m	m	m		m
Mad	rid	22.6	(1.1)	89.0	(0.9)	10.5	(0.9)	0.5	(0.2)	84.8	(1.0)	14.1	(0.9)	1.1	(0.2)	m	m	m	m		m
Meli	lla	44.5	(1.8)	83.3	(2.4)	14.2	(2.6)	25	(1.2)	62.4	(2.7)	33.3	(2.9)	4.3	(1.6)	m	 m	 m	 m	m	m
Mur	cia	26.3	(1.8)	86.3	(1.2)	13.4	(1.2)	0.3	(0.2)	81.2	(1.7)	16.9	(1.6)	1.9	(0.4)	m	m	m	 m	m	m
Nav	arre	21.9	(1.9)	88.3	(1.2)	11.6	(1.2)	0.2	(0.1)	87.3	(1.7)	11.6	(1.4)	1.0	(0.4)	m	m	 m	 m	m	m
Unite	d Kinadom		/		· -/		· -/		·· ·/		· ·/		· ·/		· · ·/						
Ena	land*	2.0	(0.3)	98.6	(0.3)	1.2	(0.2)	0.2	(0,1)	99.3	(0,2)	0.6	(0,1)	0.2	(0.1)	99.5	(0,1)	0.3	(0,1)	0.2	(0,1)
Nor	thern Ireland*	1.5	(0.3)	99.0	(0.2)	0.8	(0.2)	0.1	(0.1)	99.4	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)	0.3	(0.1)	99.5	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)
Sco	tland*	2.8	(0.3)	98.2	(0.2)	1.8	(0.2)	0.1	(0,1)	98.9	(0,2)	0.9	(0,2)	0.2	(0.1)	99.4	(0,1)	0.5	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)
Wal	es*	3.0	(0.3)	97.4	(0.3)	2.4	(0.3)	0.2	(0.1)	99.5	(0.2)	0.4	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)	99.5	(0.2)	0.3	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

# Table II.B2.21. Grade repetition [2/2]

-		Gr repe	ade tition						Perc	ercentage of students who had repeated a grade in:															
		at least	once in			Primary	/ schoo	I			Low	er seco	ndary so	chool		Upper secondary school									
		seco or u seco sch	secondary or upper secondary school		secondary or upper secondary school		secondary or upper secondary school		Never		Once		Twice or more		Never % SF		Once		Twice or more		Never % SF		Once -		or more
Ś	Brazil	70	J.E.	70	3.E.	70	9.E.	70	3.E.	70	3.E.	70	J.E.	70	J.E.	70	0.E.	70	J.E.	70	3.E.				
ther	North	29.8	(29)	80.3	(21)	15.8	(1.8)	40	(10)	85.0	(19)	11.0	(17)	40	(0.5)	98.9	(04) +	0.9	(04) +	0.2	(0 1) +				
Par	Northeast	26.0	(1.4)	84.8	(1.2)	11.8	(1.0)	34	(0.6)	84.7	(0.9)	12.8	(0.9)	25	(0.3)	98.6	(0.3)	11	(0.3)	0.2	(0.1)				
	South	20.1	(1.5)	87.8	(1.2)	9.8	(0.8)	23	(0.5)	87.0	(0.3)	10.5	(0.3)	2.5	(0.6)	99.1	(0.3)	0.9	(0.3)	0.0	(0.1)				
	Southeast	17.4	(1.0)	91.0	(0.8)	7.3	(0.7)	17	(0.3)	89.7	(0.9)	8.8	(0.8)	1.5	(0.3)	98.8	(0.2)	1.0	(0.2)	0.3	(0 1)				
	Middle-West	22.7	(2.8)	86.6	(2.1)	10.9	(1.7)	2.5	(0.6)	87.7	(2.1)	9.5	(1.6)	2.8	(0.7)	97.6	(0.6)	2.4	(0.6)	0.0	с.,				
	Kazakhstan		(2.0)	00.0	(2)	1010	()	2.0	(0.0)	0	(=)	0.0	()	2.0	(0.1)	01.0	(0.0)		(0.0)	0.0	Ū				
	Akmola region	3.2	(0.6)	97.3	(0.5)	2.6	(0.5)	0.2	(0.1)	98.9	(0.4)	0.8	(0.3)	0.3	(0.2)	99.7	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)				
	Aktobe region	1.8	(0.4)	98.8	(0.3)	1.2	(0.3)	0.0	c	98.9	(0.3)	0.8	(0.4)	0.3	(0.2)	99.4	(0.2)	0.4	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)				
	Almaty	1.1	(0.4)	99.0	(0.4)	0.8	(0.4)	0.1	(0.1)	99.5	(0.2)	0.5	(0.2)	0.0	(0.0)	100.0	c	0.0	c	0.0	c				
	Almaty region	3.8	(0.6)	97.4	(0.3)	2.2	(0.3)	0.4	(0.2)	98.0	(0.6)	1.6	(0.4)	0.4	(0.2)	99.5	(0.3)	0.1	(0.1)	0.4	(0.2)				
	Astana	1.5	(0.4)	99.2	(0.2)	0.7	(0.3)	0.1	(0.1)	99.2	(0.4)	0.6	(0.3)	0.2	(0.1)	99.8	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	0.0	с				
	Atyrau region	2.1	(0.4)	97.9	(0.4)	2.0	(0.3)	0.1	(0.1)	99.4	(0.3)	0.6	(0.3)	0.0	С	99.7	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)				
	East-Kazakhstan region	1.7	(0.4)	98.9	(0.4)	1.1	(0.4)	0.0	С	99.3	(0.2)	0.6	(0.2)	0.1	(0.1)	99.7	(0.2)	0.2	(0.2)	0.1	(0.1)				
	Karagandy region	2.4	(0.7)	98.1	(0.6)	1.9	(0.6)	0.0	С	99.1	(0.5)	0.7	(0.4)	0.2	(0.2)	100.0	с	0.0	с	0.0	с				
	Kostanay region	2.1	(0.4)	98.5	(0.4)	1.3	(0.4)	0.3	(0.2)	99.2	(0.3)	0.5	(0.3)	0.3	(0.2)	99.5	(0.3)	0.3	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)				
	Kyzyl-Orda region	2.2	(0.4)	98.6	(0.4)	1.2	(0.3)	0.2	(0.1)	98.6	(0.3)	1.0	(0.2)	0.4	(0.1)	99.5	(0.3)	0.4	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)				
	North-Kazakhstan region	3.8	(0.7)	96.8	(0.7)	3.2	(0.7)	0.0	С	99.3	(0.3)	0.7	(0.3)	0.0	С	99.7	(0.2)	0.2	(0.2)	0.1	(0.1)				
	Pavlodar region	1.2	(0.5)	99.0	(0.5)	1.0	(0.5)	0.0	С	99.7	(0.2)	0.3	(0.2)	0.0	С	99.9	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)	0.0	С				
	Shymkent	3.1	(0.5)	98.1	(0.3)	1.7	(0.3)	0.2	(0.1)	98.2	(0.3)	1.7	(0.3)	0.1	(0.1)	99.3	(0.2)	0.5	(0.2)	0.2	(0.2)				
	Turkestan region	4.2	(0.6)	97.4	(0.4)	1.9	(0.2)	0.8	(0.3)	97.3	(0.6)	2.0	(0.5)	0.8	(0.3)	98.4	(0.6)	1.4	(0.5)	0.2	(0.2)				
	West-Kazakhstan region	1.0	(0.5)	99.2	(0.4)	0.5	(0.2)	0.3	(0.3)	99.6	(0.3)	0.4	(0.2)	0.1	(0.1)	99.7	(0.2)	0.3	(0.2)	0.0	С				
	Zhambyl region	1.8	(0.4)	98.8	(0.4)	1.2	(0.4)	0.0	С	99.0	(0.2)	0.5	(0.2)	0.4	(0.2)	99.7	(0.2)	0.3	(0.2)	0.0	с				
	Mongolia																								
	Central	2.6	(0.3)	97.9	(0.2)	1.3	(0.2)	0.8	(0.1)	98.6	(0.2)	0.6	(0.1)	0.7	(0.1)	99.1	(0.2)	0.4	(0.1)	0.5	(0.1)				
	Khangai	2.3	(0.5)	98.8	(0.5)	1.1	(0.4)	0.2	(0.1)	98.7	(0.3)	1.0	(0.3)	0.4	(0.2)	99.4	(0.2)	0.2	(0.1)	0.3	(0.2)				
	Westem	11.6	(1.4)	93.7	(0.8)	3.3	(0.5)	3.1	(0.4)	92.0	(1.0)	4.0	(0.4)	4.0	(0.8)	93.0	(1.4)	3.7	(1.0)	3.3	(0.7)				
	Viet Nam																								
	Central	7.4	(1.5)	94.7	(1.4)	4.7	(1.2)	0.6	(0.3)	96.7	(0.8)	2.8	(0.7)	0.5	(0.2)	99.4	(0.2)	0.4	(0.2)	0.1	(0.0)				
	Northern	2.6	(0.8)	99.0	(0.4)	0.8	(0.3)	0.2	(0.1)	98.2	(0.6)	1.7	(0.6)	0.1	(0.1)	99.8	(0.1)	0.2	(0.1)	0.1	(0.1)				
	Southern	5.1	(1.5)	96.9	(1.1)	3.0	(1.1)	0.1	(0.1)	97.7	(0.6)	1.9	(0.5)	0.4	(0.2)	99.5	(0.2)	0.4	(0.2)	0.1	(0.1)				

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.
#### Table II.B2.24. Shortage of educational staff [1/4]

#### Results based on principals' reports

			Percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that the schools capacity to provide instruction is hindered by the following factors:									on							
		Index of s of educati	shortage onal staff			A la	ack of tea	aching	staff				Inadeq	uate or	poorly	ualifie	d teachir	ng staf	f
								Tos	ome							Tos	some	-	
	Av	erag e	Variability	Not	at all	Very	/ little	ex	ent	A	lot	Not	at all	Very	little	ex	tent	A	lot
	Mear inde	ו x S.E.	S.D. S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.	%	S.E.		S.E.		S.E.
Belgium																			
8 Flemish community	m	m	m m	2.1	(1.1)	21.5	(3.2)	55.6	(3.8)	20.9	(3.4)	7.5	(2.1)	45.1	(4.1)	44.1	(4.0)	3.3	(1.3)
French community	m	m	m m	1.4	(1.5) †	12.7	(4.4) †	47.0	(6.1)†	38.8	(5.4) †	5.9	(2.8)†	38.0	(6.0) †	45.9	(6.4) †	10.2	(3.6)†
German-speaking community	m	m	m m	с	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	с	С	С	С	С	С
Canada																			
Alberta*	m	m	m m	39.6	(7.4)	30.0	(7.1)	21.5	(5.7)	8.8	(2.9)	59.3	(6.7)	30.8	(6.3)	8.0	(4.1)	1.9	(2.2)
British Columbia*	m	m	m m	43.3	(6.6)	29.4	(5.5)	24.1	(5.5)	3.3	(2.2)	51.3	(4.5)	30.4	(5.0)	17.1	(4.0)	1.3	(1.2)
Manitoba*	m	m	m m	42.3	(2.4)	27.7	(2.1)	24.7	(2.2)	5.2	(1.4)	52.4	(2.5)	35.5	(2.3)	11.9	(1.8)	0.1	(0.0)
New Brunswick	m	m	m m	24.2	(1.0)	35.2	(1.5)	33.7	(1.6)	6.8	(0.8)	36.7	(1.9)	42.9	(1.3)	19.7	(2.1)	0.7	(0.8)
Newfoundland and Labrador*	m	m	m m	35.0	(2.6)	22.9	(1.9)	31.2	(3.4)	10.9	(1.5)	68.8	(3.5)	26.4	(2.8)	4.7	(1.9)	0.0	C
Nova Scotia*	m	m	m m	30.6	(1.0)	28.7	(2.0)	29.8	(2.3)	10.8	(2.7)	53.5	(1.4)	31.1	(2.3)	13.5	(2.0)	2.0	(0.2)
Ontario*	m	m	m m	32.5	(4.2)	26.4	(3.9)	32.9	(3.8)	8.2	(2.3)	45.2	(4.3)	34.2	(4.0)	20.1	(3.6)	0.5	(0.0)
Prince Edward Island	m	m	m m	62.5	(2.4)	28.1	(2.0)	9.4	(2.9)	0.0	C (2 O)	95.0	(2.1)	5.0	(2.1)	0.0	C	0.0	C (2.0)
Quebec."	m	m	m m	4.8	(1.1)	23.2	(4.7)	47.0	(4.8)	24.4	(3.9)	13.1	(3.0)	39.0	(4.6)	34.1	(4.6)	13.8	(3.8)
Saskatchewan	m	m	m m	39.2	(2.8)	30.7	(2.1)	26.5	(2.8)	3.6	(1.0)	38.5	(2.9)	48.3	(2.9)	12.9	(1.8)	0.3	(0.0)
Colombia	0.11	(0.00)	0.97 (0.07)	200	(5.5)	26.4	( = 0)	20.0	(6.7)	5.0	(2.4)	57 G	(6.6)	22.0	(6.1)	6.2	(2.0)	0.1	(2.1)
boyota	-0.11	(0.09)	0.07 (0.07)	20.0	(5.5)	20.4	(5.6)	30.0	(0.7)	5.9	(3.4)	57.0	(0.0)	33.9	(0.1)	0.5	(3.2)	Z. I	(2.1)
Italy	0.22	(0.01)	0.92 (0.01)	10.1	(0.5)	20.4	(0.7)	12.0	(0.7)	50	(0.2)	17.6	(0 E)	56.0	(0.7)	24.2	(0.6)	1.4	(0.2)
DUIZAIIU	0.22	(0.01)	0.03 (0.01)	22.2	(0.5)	32.1	(0.7)	43.0	(0.7)	5.0 2.7	(0.2)	17.0	(0.5)	50.9	(0.7)	24.2	(0.0)	1.4	(0.2)
Trento Spoin	0.27	(0.01)	0.00 (0.01)	32.3	(0.7)	33.0	(0.6)	20.4	(0.6)	3.7	(0.2)	10.0	(0.5)	0.00	(0.7)	24.7	(0.0)	3.0	(0.2)
Andalusia	0.08	(0.17)	1 20 (0.00)	33.7	(6.3)	20.0	(4.8)	30.8	(5.6)	6.5	(37)	38.8	(7.0)	36.4	(7.0)	22.8	(7.1)	2.0	(2.1)
Arogon	0.00	(0.17)	0.81 (0.08)	12.9	(6.0)	20.0	(5.8)	13.6	(0.0)	20.5	(7.0)	52.5	(1.0)	27.0	(7.0)	22.0	(7.1)	2.0	(2.1)
Arayon	0.23	(0.13)	1.02 (0.11)	25.2	(0.0)	23.1	(5.0)	40.0 38.6	(0.1)	12.5	(1.0)	33.0	(0.7)	18.7	(1.0)	15.2	(5.0)	2.0	(2.1)
Ralearic Islands	-0.41	(0.13)	1.02 (0.11)	68.8	(8.2) +	9.2	(5.2) +	21.9	(67)+	0.0	(+.0) c †	60.9	(8.2)+	23.4	(0.0)	9.7	(5.3) †	59	(2.1)
Basque Country	0.17	(0.13)	1.21 (0.12) 1	42.2	(5.1)	19.3	(4.4)	28.1	(4.3)	10.4	(3 2)	35.7	(4.4)	30.9	(4.6)	28.1	(5.0)	5.4	(2.6)
Canary Islands	0.35	(0.16)	1.09 (0.13)	25.1	(6.5)	30.1	(6.4)	36.1	(5.4)	86	(4.3)	23.5	(6.1)	34.2	(7.3)	40.0	(7.0)	2.3	(2.0)
Cantabria	0.02	(0.15)	1.11 (0.08)	24.7	(5.3)	27.2	(5.8)	35.5	(6.7)	12.6	(4.4)	43.5	(5.3)	30.9	(5.8)	23.5	(5.9)	2.1	(2.1)
Castile and Leon	-0.36	(0.22)	1 27 (0.09)	43.5	(7.8)	27.0	(6.0)	27.5	(6.5)	20	(2.0)	63.9	(8.1)	24.4	(6.8)	117	(47)	0.0	() C
Castile-La Mancha	0.31	(0.16)	1.07 (0.17)	19.8	(6.3)	28.3	(6.8)	35.9	(7.3)	15.9	(5.8)	41.4	(7.2)	39.0	(7.3)	12.6	(5.4)	6.9	(3.6)
Catalonia	-0.58	(0.17)	1.06 (0.09)	60.7	(7.7)	12.8	(5.6)	13.8	(4.5)	12.7	(4.8)	61.4	(7.4)	28.4	(6.7)	7.3	(4.1)	2.9	(1.8)
Ceuta	0.02	(0.02) †	0.48 (0.01) †	4.2	(0.8) †	60.8	(2.3) †	29.6	(2.5) †	5.4	(0.7) †	76.8	(1.4) †	14.3	(1.1) †	8.9	(0.6) †	0.0	c†
Comunidad Valenciana	-0.37	(0.19)	1.14 (0.08)	41.8	(7.9)	28.7	(5.9)	29.5	(7.1)	0.0	c ,	42.1	(7.7)	44.3	(7.6)	13.7	(5.4)	0.0	c.
Extremadura	-0.08	(0.20)	1.21 (0.16)	38.5	(7.1)	17.9	(5.7)	25.1	(6.0)	18.5	(6.4)	54.2	(8.1)	33.7	(7.4)	8.2	(4.2)	4.0	(2.7)
Galicia	0.08	(0.17)	1.09 (0.09)	18.4	(5.6)	31.4	(7.1)	31.0	(6.2)	19.2	(5.4)	27.9	(6.7)	46.7	(7.7)	23.3	(6.2)	2.1	(2.1)
La Rioja	0.20	(0.01)	0.93 (0.01)	28.5	(0.4)	32.3	(0.4)	20.9	(0.5)	18.3	(0.5)	39.5	(0.5)	35.7	(0.6)	24.8	(0.5)	0.0	c
Madrid	0.03	(0.15)	1.44 (0.11)	29.6	(4.6)	27.2	(5.6)	27.6	(6.2)	15.6	(4.6)	48.8	(6.0)	22.2	(5.7)	22.9	(6.5)	6.1	(3.3)
Melilla	0.93	(0.04)	1.09 (0.02)	0.0	c	24.8	(1.4)	43.2	(2.0)	32.0	(1.7)	44.1	(1.7)	11.9	(1.7)	32.4	(1.9)	11.7	(1.4)
Murcia	0.11	(0.14)	1.13 (0.10)	25.3	(4.8)	19.4	(5.4)	42.4	(6.8)	13.0	(5.2)	50.3	(6.1)	33.0	(6.4)	14.8	(4.7)	2.0	(2.0)
Navarre	-0.30	(0.14)	1.11 (0.09)	54.3	(5.3)	19.9	(5.7)	25.8	(5.5)	0.0	с	40.5	(5.4)	47.9	(6.2)	9.5	(4.1)	2.1	(2.0)
United Kingdom																	·		
England*	0.30	(0.07)	0.95 (0.05)	20.8	(3.1)	25.0	(3.8)	46.5	(4.4)	7.6	(2.7)	37.7	(4.1)	42.7	(4.6)	17.7	(3.5)	1.9	(1.3)
Northern Ireland*	0.21	(0.10)	1.02 (0.08)	29.1	(4.0)	28.5	(4.3)	32.4	(5.5)	10.0	(3.1)	56.8	(5.0)	26.0	(3.9)	17.2	(4.4)	0.0	С
Scotland*	0.37	(0.10)	1.19 (0.10)	26.4	(3.6)	19.8	(4.4)	35.8	(4.8)	18.1	(4.0)	49.6	(4.7)	39.8	(4.6)	8.2	(3.2)	2.4	(1.5)
Wales*	0.27	(0.13) †	0.93 (0.08) †	25.5	(5.2) †	26.5	(6.1) †	40.1	(7.1)†	7.9	(3.8) †	36.5	(6.8)†	42.7	(7.5) †	20.9	(5.6) †	0.0	c†

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

#### Table II.B2.24. Shortage of educational staff [2/4]

Results based on principals' reports

			Percenta	ge of students	in schools who is	reported that the schooß capacity to provide instruction he following factors:					
	Index of s of education	shortage onal staff		A lack of te	aching staff		Inadeq	uate or poorly	qualified teachii	ng staff	
	Average	Variability	Not at all	Very little	To some extent	A lot	Not at all	Very little	To some extent	A lot	
	Mean index S.E.	S.D. S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	% S.E.	
은 Brazil											
tra North	-0.17 (0.20) †	1.10 (0.08) †	49.0 (7.5) †	19.8 (6.1) †	31.2 (8.9) †	0.0 c†	75.7 (7.8) †	14.5 (5.5) †	9.9 (6.0)†	0.0 c†	
Northeast	-0.31 (0.10)	1.03 (0.07)	64.6 (4.7)	19.1 (4.2)	13.3 (3.3)	3.0 (1.3)	83.6 (3.7)	10.7 (3.1)	4.6 (1.9)	1.1 (1.1)	
South	0.18 (0.14)	1.24 (0.10)	42.3 (5.6)	25.8 (5.7)	18.9 (3.8)	13.0 (4.0)	62.1 (5.6)	20.9 (5.0)	15.2 (3.5)	1.9 (1.4)	
Southeast	-0.14 (0.09)	1.19 (0.06)	49.2 (3.7)	29.8 (3.7)	14.0 (2.7)	6.9 (2.1)	60.6 (3.7)	27.3 (3.7)	11.2 (2.5)	0.9 (0.7)	
Middle-West	0.04 (0.28)	1.56 (0.19)	54.5 (7.3)	22.2 (6.3)	10.3 (4.7)	12.9 (5.8)	69.5 (8.3)	8.9 (4.9)	13.5 (5.1)	8.0 (4.7)	
Kazakhstan											
Akmola region	-0.15 (0.21)	1.13 (0.09)	30.9 (6.5)	22.1 (6.9)	36.4 (7.8)	10.6 (5.2)	44.4 (9.6)	37.8 (10.6)	14.1 (5.7)	3.7 (2.3)	
Aktobe region	-0.99 (0.17)	0.84 (0.15)	62.4 (11.0)	26.2 (9.4)	10.6 (5.5)	0.7 (0.7)	70.8 (10.1)	23.8 (9.2)	3.6 (3.6)	1.8 (1.4)	
Almaty	-0.16 (0.19)	1.17 (0.13)	26.9 (6.1)	34.6 (9.5)	30.7 (4.9)	7.7 (4.7)	42.8 (10.2)	27.4 (8.6)	26.0 (10.0)	3.8 (3.8)	
Almaty region	-0.17 (0.20)	1.16 (0.11)	38.5 (9.2)	14.4 (7.3)	19.5 (6.4)	27.6 (8.0)	48.8 (11.7)	25.2 (8.8)	25.5 (9.1)	0.5 (0.5)	
Astana	-0.32 (0.21)	1.06 (0.14)	33.2 (7.9)	31.5 (9.0)	35.3 (8.7)	0.0 c	32.9 (11.1)	55.0 (13.0)	8.0 (5.6)	4.0 (4.0)	
Atyrau region	-0.04 (0.20)	1.03 (0.13)	19.2 (4.4)	18.5 (4.5)	44.6 (9.8)	17.7 (6.4)	46.9 (10.9)	26.2 (8.0)	22.4 (9.3)	4.5 (3.4)	
East-Kazakhstan region	0.27 (0.22)	1.17 (0.14)	26.2 (8.0)	18.0 (7.0)	33.3 (9.8)	22.4 (8.6)	27.2 (9.0)	42.7 (7.2)	20.7 (8.1)	9.3 (5.1)	
Karagandy region	-0.32 (0.17)	0.95 (0.13)	30.1 (7.9)	31.4 (8.1)	29.6 (6.4)	8.9 (5.5)	46.0 (8.1)	36.3 (7.8)	17.7 (6.8)	0.0 c	
Kostanay region	-0.53 (0.22)	1.30 (0.14)	43.7 (8.2)	24.2 (8.6)	12.9 (6.3)	19.3 (7.8)	55.9 (7.4)	24.5 (8.4)	9.7 (5.7)	9.8 (5.7)	
Kyzyl-Orda region	-0.47 (0.20)	1.01 (0.10)	66.0 (6.8)	20.4 (4.2)	13.6 (5.3)	0.0 c	52.3 (9.4)	23.4 (7.2)	21.4 (6.9)	3.0 (2.9)	
North-Kazakhstan region	-0.60 (0.18)	1.27 (0.13)	37.6 (5.9)	31.0 (6.5)	21.6 (6.9)	9.8 (2.6)	49.4 (7.8)	33.2 (8.2)	14.3 (5.7)	3.1 (2.1)	
Pavlodar region	-0.56 (0.25)	1.29 (0.13)	41.4 (9.3)	23.9 (7.1)	21.3 (7.3)	13.4 (6.1)	50.4 (10.4)	33.1 (9.9)	13.0 (5.7)	3.5 (2.3)	
Shymkent	-0.11 (0.21)	0.83 (0.09)	39.7 (12.7)	38.5 (10.4)	21.9 (9.5)	0.0 c	27.2 (10.3)	55.4 (10.1)	17.5 (8.5)	0.0 c	
Turkestan region	0.02 (0.16)	1.01 (0.09)	47.0 (10.1)	30.7 (8.1)	22.3 (7.1)	0.0 c	29.1 (7.2)	36.7 (10.1)	29.5 (7.9)	4.7 (4.6)	
West-Kazakhstan region	-0.39 (0.17)	1.03 (0.08)	42.6 (6.3)	13.8 (4.6)	33.2 (7.4)	10.3 (5.8)	59.0 (8.9)	14.3 (6.2)	15.4 (7.0)	11.2 (3.5)	
Zhambyl region	-0.02 (0.16)	0.94 (0.10)	36.2 (9.4)	24.1 (9.7)	26.5 (6.5)	13.3 (6.6)	28.0 (8.8)	26.0 (9.8)	46.0 (8.2)	0.0 c	
Mongolia											
Central	0.28 (0.08)	0.94 (0.05)	20.1 (3.1)	36.1 (4.1)	36.2 (4.2)	7.6 (2.8)	22.0 (3.8)	35.8 (4.6)	34.7 (4.8)	7.6 (2.2)	
Khangai	0.16 (0.22)	1.21 (0.22)	33.9 (7.7)	36.9 (8.4)	26.2 (6.4)	3.0 (3.0)	30.4 (8.4)	35.8 (10.3)	25.0 (7.6)	8.8 (4.5)	
Westem	0.02 (0.16)	0.89 (0.13)	50.6 (8.8)	29.4 (7.3)	14.4 (6.7)	5.6 (4.2)	53.0 (9.0)	24.8 (8.8)	20.3 (7.8)	1.8 (1.9)	
Viet Nam											
Central	0.03 (0.22)	1.14 (0.19)	39.1 (8.2)	23.6 (6.5)	22.9 (7.4)	14.5 (6.0)	46.3 (7.9)	32.9 (8.0)	12.8 (5.4)	8.0 (4.6)	
Northern	0.47 (0.15)	1.03 (0.08)	31.5 (5.5)	18.2 (4.8)	33.7 (6.0)	16.7 (5.7)	35.8 (6.4)	24.6 (4.8)	22.0 (5.6)	17.6 (5.5)	
Southern	-0.05 (0.14)	1.01 (0.07)	40.1 (6.3)	22.5 (5.6)	34.0 (5.6)	3.5 (2.5)	52.0 (7.4)	23.9 (5.5)	16.6 (5.1)	7.6 (3.5)	

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

#### Table II.B2.24. Shortage of educational staff [3/4]

#### Results based on principals' reports

	Percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that the schools capacity to provide instruction is hindered by the following factors:															
	A lack of assisting staff Inadequate or poorly qualified assisting a										staff					
	Not	at all	Very	little	To som	e extent	Α	lot	Not	at all	Very	little	To som	e extent	Α	lot
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Belgium																
Ö Flemish community	37.6	(4.2)	35.3	(3.8)	20.7	(3.5)	6.5	(2.3)	41.0	(4.0)	40.9	(4.3)	16.8	(3.6)	1.3	(1.0)
French community	32.1	(5.5) †	30.1	(5.3) †	22.0	(5.2)†	15.8	(3.8) †	36.5	(6.0) †	50.6	(5.3)†	10.0	(3.2) †	2.9	(1.9) †
German-speaking community	с	с	С	С	с	с	С	с	С	С	С	С	с	С	С	С
Canada																
Alberta*	39.6	(7.2)	41.9	(6.3)	17.0	(6.0)	1.6	(1.7)	53.0	(7.2)	31.6	(5.8)	12.0	(4.5)	3.4	(2.7)
British Columbia*	29.6	(5.8)	32.8	(5.4)	34.1	(6.1)	3.5	(2.5)	42.4	(5.8)	38.2	(6.6)	17.9	(4.3)	1.5	(1.5)
Manitoba*	34.6	(1.3)	37.4	(2.3)	25.4	(2.4)	2.6	(0.2)	46.2	(2.1)	36.5	(2.6)	16.0	(1.9)	1.4	(1.3)
New Brunswick	13.2	(0.8)	25.9	(1.5)	58.7	(1.5)	2.2	(0.8)	22.7	(1.5)	32.5	(1.3)	37.0	(1.6)	7.9	(0.8)
Newfoundland and Labrador*	36.3	(3.3)	22.3	(3.4)	26.7	(3.4)	14.7	(2.7)	78.7	(2.9)	17.4	(2.1)	3.0	(1.8)	0.9	(0.1)
Nova Scotia*	17.7	(2.2)	35.3	(2.2)	39.0	(2.1)	8.1	(1.9)	53.5	(1.5)	31.1	(1.2)	15.3	(0.6)	0.1	(0.0)
Ontario*	29.0	(4.3)	28.8	(4.1)	36.0	(4.7)	6.2	(2.1)	52.4	(4.8)	31.1	(4.2)	13.8	(3.0)	2.6	(1.5)
Prince Edward Island	2.6	(0.6)	53.5	(2.8)	44.0	(2.5)	0.0	с	33.0	(2.3)	65.4	(2.4)	1.6	(1.6)	0.0	С
Quebec*	25.5	(4.6)	37.8	(4.9)	31.3	(4.8)	5.4	(2.4)	41.9	(5.0)	36.0	(4.7)	17.2	(3.7)	4.8	(2.3)
Saskatchewan	35.8	(2.3)	33.9	(2.6)	26.4	(2.6)	3.9	(0.8)	48.3	(2.5)	29.1	(2.2)	20.9	(2.0)	1.8	(0.5)
Colombia																
Bogotá	38.0	(6.0)	30.1	(5.6)	25.8	(5.2)	6.1	(3.4)	67.4	(5.0)	29.5	(5.0)	3.1	(2.3)	0.0	С
Italy																
Bolzano	39.9	(0.7)	36.4	(0.5)	18.4	(0.5)	5.3	(0.3)	49.1	(0.7)	41.6	(0.6)	8.4	(0.3)	0.8	(0.1)
Trento	35.7	(0.8)	37.1	(0.8)	25.5	(0.6)	1.6	(0.1)	49.1	(0.7)	26.3	(0.6)	23.0	(0.7)	1.6	(0.1)
Spain																
Andalusi a	19.8	(6.1)	16.1	(5.1)	40.0	(7.7)	24.0	(6.6)	60.7	(6.9)	19.2	(4.9)	15.1	(5.8)	4.9	(3.4)
Aragon	3.0	(3.1)	19.5	(5.9)	43.8	(8.2)	33.8	(8.8)	63.6	(8.6)	29.8	(7.8)	4.9	(3.6)	1.8	(1.8)
Asturias	7.0	(3.5)	18.0	(4.9)	52.5	(6.8)	22.5	(6.5)	57.7	(5.5)	25.1	(6.5)	8.8	(4.0)	8.3	(4.1)
Balearic Islands	62.7	(7.8) †	14.5	(6.2) †	12.3	(5.4)†	10.5	(3.4) †	65.3	(8.6) †	15.2	(6.1)†	13.3	(6.0) †	6.3	(4.3) †
Basque Country	16.0	(4.2)	19.2	(4.5)	42.1	(5.5)	22.7	(4.3)	54.2	(5.7)	26.2	(5.1)	15.3	(3.6)	4.4	(2.3)
Canary Islands	14.1	(5.6)	9.8	(4.4)	43.5	(7.0)	32.5	(7.6)	51.8	(7.2)	27.5	(6.9)	18.4	(6.1)	2.3	(2.3)
Cantabria	17.9	(5.5)	19.4	(6.0)	39.9	(6.8)	22.9	(5.4)	60.6	(5.6)	28.5	(4.3)	8.9	(3.6)	2.0	(1.8)
Castile and Leon	27.1	(6.2)	21.8	(3.7)	29.0	(5.2)	22.1	(6.5)	63.6	(8.1)	23.7	(6.6)	8.6	(4.3)	4.1	(2.9)
Castile-La Mancha	11.2	(4.9)	17.2	(6.5)	44.3	(7.8)	27.3	(6.9)	59.6	(1.1)	22.8	(6.1)	12.4	(5.3)	5.2	(3.1)
Catalonia	68.7	(7.5)	9.8	(4.4)	21.5	(6.9)	0.0	C	74.5	(6.3)	18.1	(5.2)	1.4	(4.2)	0.0	C
Ceuta	0.0	C T	10.9	(1.1) T	49.9	(2.3) T	39.2	(2.3) T	/6.8	(1.4) T	23.2	(1.4) T	0.0	C T	0.0	сŢ
Comunidad V alenciana	37.7	(7.8)	9.5	(4.5)	38.9	(6.9)	13.9	(4.4)	67.4	(7.8)	25.0	(7.1)	7.6	(3.7)	0.0	C (O A)
Extremadura	17.4	(5.3)	19.1	(6.4)	39.1	(7.4)	24.3	(6.8)	65.4	(7.2)	24.2	(6.6)	1.1	(4.0)	2.6	(2.4)
Galicia	35.4	(6.8)	20.3	(5.5)	27.4	(6.6)	16.9	(5.5)	54.2	(7.6)	30.5	(7.2)	13.3	(4.8)	2.1	(2.1)
La Rioja Madrid	10.4	(0.2)	28.6	(0.5)	32.2	(0.5)	28.8	(0.5)	52.5	(0.5)	27.8	(0.6)	19.7	(0.4)	0.0	C (2.0)
Madrid	25.2	(0.3)	10.0	(4.7)	31.7	(0.0)	27.0	(0.0)	01.9	(5.4)	17.0	(4.5)	12.9	(2.5)	7.5	(3.9)
Melilla	0.0	C	32.2	(1.9)	31.7	(1.8)	36.1	(2.0)	24.8	(1.4)	12.6	(1.7)	62.6	(1.9)	0.0	C (2.4)
Murcia	10.7	(4.7)	14.9	(0.5)	49.0	(1.2)	24.7	(0.0)	59.1	(5.0)	21.4	(0.0)	17.5	(4.Z)	2.1	(2.1)
Inited Kingdom	20.0	(0.0)	24.3	(2.0)	43.5	(0.3)	4.2	(3.0)	00.0	(5.9)	20.0	(4.7)	12.0	(3.5)	2.1	(2.0)
United Kingdom	27.0	(1.1)	24.2	(1 0)	27.0	(4.0)	20	(1.6)	34.0	(3.6)	46.2	(1.2)	10.0	(2.2)	0.0	(0.7)
⊏iiyidiiu Northorn Iroland*	21.0	(4.1)	33.4	(4.2) (5.2)	3/.9	(4.U) (5.7)	3.U 6.4	(0.1)	04.9 10 E	(0.0)	40.3	(4.Z) (4.5)	10.0	(3.3)	U.0 1 9	(U. <i>1</i> )
Sootland*	20.1	(4.0) (3.5)	00.4 01 1	(0.2)	35.0	(0.7)	10.4	(2.3)	43.0	(4.0)	24.0 20.0	(4.3)	20.1	(4.0)	1.0	(1.7)
Scollanu Wales*	24.0	(3.5)	∠ I. I 36 3	(4.4) (5.0) +	35.9 35.6	(4.9) (7.1)+	10.0 5.0	(3.7) (2.8) +	43.U 17 G	(0.2)	J∠.J 3/1 1	(4.0) (7.7) +	1/10	(4.0) (1.0) +	4.0	(2.2) (2.5) +
*** (1153	Z	(0.9)	00.0	(0.0)	00.0	(1.1)]	J.0	(2.0)	+1.0	(1.0)	JH. I	(1.1)]	14.3	(7.3) [	0.0	(2.3)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

#### Table II.B2.24. Shortage of educational staff [4/4]

#### Results based on principals' reports

		Percentage of students in schools whose principal reported that the schools capacity to provide instruction is hindered by the following factors:														
			Al	ack of as	sisting s	taff				Inade	quate o	r poorly o	qualified	assisting	staff	
	Not	at all	Very	little	To som	e extent	A	lot	Not at all		Very little		To som	e extent	A	lot
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
မှု Brazil																
North North	43.5	(8.1) †	22.9	(7.3)†	15.6	(7.1) †	17.9	(5.8) †	65.1	(8.1)†	10.5	(3.9)†	21.4	(8.6) †	3.0	(3.0) †
► Northeast	42.8	(4.4)	23.7	(3.7)	12.7	(2.7)	20.8	(4.3)	75.0	(4.3)	10.7	(2.9)	5.6	(1.8)	8.7	(3.1)
South	29.6	(6.0)	23.6	(4.5)	22.5	(4.9)	24.3	(4.7)	62.1	(5.4)	12.9	(3.8)	13.1	(3.7)	11.9	(3.6)
Southeast	44.3	(3.7)	20.4	(2.9)	18.8	(3.0)	16.5	(2.9)	62.6	(3.7)	18.9	(3.0)	11.6	(2.4)	6.9	(2.1)
Middle-West	40.1	(8.4)	17.3	(6.9)	21.1	(7.9)	21.5	(7.8)	67.3	(8.8)	2.6	(2.1)	16.0	(5.8)	14.1	(6.3)
Kazakhstan																
Akmola region	43.5	(7.5)	28.4	(8.0)	24.2	(7.2)	3.9	(3.5)	56.4	(10.2)	28.4	(8.3)	15.2	(6.7)	0.0	С
Aktobe region	86.6	(5.2)	3.3	(1.5)	10.1	(5.7)	0.0	С	95.4	(3.7)	1.1	(0.8)	3.6	(3.6)	0.0	С
Almaty	54.3	(8.8)	30.5	(6.8)	11.4	(6.7)	3.8	(3.8)	57.2	(7.9)	23.8	(6.2)	15.2	(7.2)	3.8	(3.8)
Almaty region	62.6	(8.8)	21.7	(6.4)	13.1	(6.5)	2.6	(1.5)	58.9	(8.3)	23.9	(7.0)	14.5	(7.2)	2.6	(1.5)
Astana	57.2	(9.7)	23.4	(9.3)	11.4	(6.6)	8.0	(5.5)	66.0	(11.0)	26.6	(9.7)	4.0	(4.0)	3.3	(3.5)
Atyrau region	59.8	(11.1)	27.6	(9.1)	9.5	(5.6)	3.2	(2.0)	70.0	(10.5)	20.5	(9.1)	4.3	(3.1)	5.2	(4.0)
East-Kazakhstan region	29.2	(7.5)	42.6	(7.9)	20.7	(7.1)	7.5	(4.4)	53.3	(10.4)	24.4	(7.9)	15.4	(6.9)	6.8	(4.3)
Karagandy region	59.5	(8.5)	26.6	(7.3)	13.9	(4.9)	0.0	С	68.6	(9.5)	23.4	(8.2)	4.4	(3.6)	3.6	(3.6)
Kostanay region	67.7	(8.7)	13.4	(4.8)	15.1	(6.2)	3.8	(3.8)	64.1	(9.3)	20.7	(7.0)	15.2	(6.3)	0.0	С
Kyzyl-Orda region	74.6	(9.6)	11.3	(6.5)	14.1	(7.1)	0.0	С	64.7	(8.4)	23.9	(7.4)	11.4	(6.5)	0.0	С
North-Kazakhstan region	73.9	(7.5)	10.9	(4.9)	10.9	(5.1)	4.3	(2.5)	77.5	(6.8)	10.8	(5.1)	6.9	(4.1)	4.9	(2.6)
Pavlodar region	61.2	(9.4)	28.2	(8.8)	9.3	(4.5)	1.3	(1.3)	66.7	(8.0)	25.4	(7.9)	6.1	(3.7)	1.8	(1.4)
Shymkent	61.1	(10.4)	26.3	(9.5)	12.6	(7.0)	0.0	С	61.6	(10.6)	16.7	(8.3)	21.7	(9.2)	0.0	С
Turkestan region	52.6	(7.5)	22.0	(5.0)	20.9	(5.9)	4.5	(3.0)	55.4	(7.6)	30.6	(7.5)	8.9	(5.2)	5.0	(3.8)
We st-Kazakhstan region	68.2	(8.1)	27.4	(7.4)	4.3	(3.3)	0.0	С	68.3	(8.0)	19.8	(7.6)	11.9	(6.2)	0.0	С
Zhambyl region	61.3	(7.4)	31.7	(7.2)	2.6	(2.6)	4.4	(2.6)	56.0	(9.7)	33.0	(8.2)	9.4	(6.0)	1.6	(1.6)
Mongolia																
Central	38.6	(4.1)	34.3	(4.2)	19.7	(3.0)	7.5	(2.2)	53.8	(4.4)	30.0	(4.0)	13.9	(2.7)	2.3	(1.0)
Khangai	72.1	(9.0)	12.6	(5.7)	12.2	(6.4)	3.0	(3.0)	42.8	(8.0)	33.3	(10.6)	14.7	(6.0)	9.2	(5.8)
Western	55.8	(10.3)	22.1	(8.4)	20.2	(6.7)	1.8	(1.9)	43.3	(9.8)	32.5	(9.7)	22.4	(8.5)	1.8	(1.9)
Viet Nam																
Central	42.4	(9.3)	23.9	(6.6)	22.9	(6.5)	10.8	(5.3)	74.3	(7.9)	14.7	(5.6)	8.2	(4.8)	2.8	(2.8)
Northern	33.7	(6.3)	22.0	(6.4)	36.3	(6.3)	8.1	(3.5)	46.5	(6.1)	18.8	(4.5)	31.3	(6.4)	3.4	(3.3)
Southern	54.1	(6.7)	15.2	(4.5)	22.7	(5.5)	8.0	(3.6)	70.0	(6.1)	10.9	(4.0)	14.2	(4.1)	5.0	(2.9)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

#### Table II.B2.39. Reasons for transferring students to another school [1/4]

#### Results based on principals' reports

	Percentage of students in sch					schools where students are transferred to another						r school for the following reasons:						
		Low a	academi	c achieve	ment			High a	cademi	c achieve	ment			Be	haviour	al proble	ms	
	Not	likely	Lik	ely	Very	likely	Not	likely	Lil	kely	Very	likely	Not	likely	Lil	kely	Very	likely
_	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Belgium																		
B Flemish community	55.4	(4.1)	36.1	(3.9)	8.5	(2.4)	96.1	(1.6)	3.6	(1.5)	0.4	(0.3)	60.0	(3.9)	37.5	(3.8)	2.5	(1.4)
French community	56.8	(5.2)	36.1	(5.8)	7.1	(3.2)	92.2	(3.1)	6.6	(3.3)	1.2	(1.4)	24.0	(5.3)	61.8	(5.3)	14.1	(4.0)
German-speaking community	c	С	с	с	с	С	с	с	С	с	С	С	с	С	с	С	с	С
Canada																		
Alberta*	92.7	(4.1)	4.0	(2.7)	3.3	(3.1)	100.0	с	0.0	с	0.0	С	75.7	(5.9)	15.7	(4.3)	8.6	(4.5)
British Columbia*	98.1	(1.6)	1.9	(1.6)	0.0	С	96.7	(2.3)	3.3	(2.3)	0.0	С	81.3	(5.5)	18.7	(5.5)	0.0	с
Manitoba*	96.2	(0.7)	3.8	(0.7)	0.0	С	98.7	(0.6)	1.3	(0.6)	0.0	С	86.9	(0.8)	12.5	(0.5)	0.6	(0.6)
New Brunswick	96.9	(0.2)	3.1	(0.2)	0.0	С	99.0	(0.1)	1.0	(0.1)	0.0	С	88.2	(1.2)	11.8	(1.2)	0.0	с
Newfoundland and Labrador*	99.4	(0.6)	0.6	(0.6)	0.0	с	95.5	(0.7)	4.5	(0.7)	0.0	С	91.6	(0.9)	8.4	(0.9)	0.0	с
Nova Scotia*	94.5	(1.9)	2.3	(1.9)	3.1	(0.3)	96.8	(1.9)	3.2	(1.9)	0.0	С	92.0	(2.0)	8.0	(2.0)	0.0	с
Ontario*	95.1	(2.0)	4.7	(2.0)	0.2	(0.2)	99.0	(0.8)	0.1	(0.0)	0.8	(0.8)	92.0	(2.1)	7.7	(2.1)	0.2	(0.2)
Prince Edward Island	97.0	(2.3)	3.0	(2.3)	0.0	С	100.0	с	0.0	с	0.0	С	95.0	(2.4)	5.0	(2.4)	0.0	с
Quebec*	78.2	(3.6)	19.8	(3.7)	2.0	(1.3)	98.6	(1.4)	1.4	(1.4)	0.0	С	54.2	(4.5)	43.0	(4.5)	2.9	(0.4)
Saskatchewan	90.3	(0.8)	9.7	(0.8)	0.0	С	98.3	(0.2)	1.7	(0.2)	0.0	С	69.8	(1.3)	28.3	(1.2)	1.9	(0.1)
Colombia																		
Bogotá	70.2	(6.0)	29.8	(6.0)	0.0	С	84.8	(4.4)	13.0	(4.6)	2.1	(2.1)	47.7	(7.1)	45.0	(6.7)	7.3	(4.2)
Italy																		
Bolzano	51.7	(0.7)	41.8	(0.6)	6.5	(0.3)	93.5	(0.3)	6.5	(0.3)	0.0	С	84.3	(0.5)	12.8	(0.4)	2.9	(0.2)
Trento	29.4	(0.7)	65.7	(0.7)	4.8	(0.3)	90.1	(0.4)	6.7	(0.3)	3.2	(0.3)	82.5	(0.5)	12.5	(0.4)	5.0	(0.3)
Spain																		
Andalusia	100.0	С	0.0	с	0.0	с	98.0	(2.0)	2.0	(2.0)	0.0	С	70.0	(6.5)	30.0	(6.5)	0.0	С
Aragon	98.5	(1.9)	1.5	(1.9)	0.0	С	100.0	с	0.0	с	0.0	С	93.0	(3.8)	7.0	(3.8)	0.0	с
Asturias	94.1	(2.7)	5.9	(2.7)	0.0	С	98.6	(1.4)	1.4	(1.4)	0.0	С	78.2	(5.7)	21.8	(5.7)	0.0	с
Balearic Islands	93.2	(4.2)†	4.0	(3.0) †	2.8	(2.9)†	93.3	(4.1)†	1.4	(1.4) †	5.3	(3.9)†	75.4	(7.0) †	21.8	(6.3) †	2.8	(2.9) †
Basque Country	87.1	(3.5)	12.9	(3.5)	0.0	С	94.1	(2.3)	4.9	(2.1)	1.0	(1.0)	77.4	(4.7)	22.6	(4.7)	0.0	с
Canary Islands	97.4	(2.4)	2.6	(2.4)	0.0	С	100.0	(0.0)	0.0	с	0.0	С	62.1	(7.2)	37.9	(7.2)	0.0	с
Cantabria	100.0	С	0.0	с	0.0	С	94.6	(3.2)	5.4	(3.2)	0.0	С	70.8	(5.1)	29.2	(5.1)	0.0	с
Castile and Leon	100.0	С	0.0	с	0.0	с	100.0	с	0.0	с	0.0	с	84.6	(3.9)	15.4	(3.9)	0.0	с
Castile-La Mancha	100.0	С	0.0	с	0.0	С	100.0	с	0.0	с	0.0	С	86.3	(4.3)	13.7	(4.3)	0.0	с
Catalonia	92.5	(4.4)	7.5	(4.4)	0.0	С	100.0	с	0.0	с	0.0	С	70.4	(7.2)	29.6	(7.2)	0.0	с
Ceuta	100.0	С	0.0	с	0.0	С	86.5	(1.7)	13.5	(1.7)	0.0	С	60.6	(1.9)	39.4	(1.9)	0.0	с
Comunidad Valenciana	97.5	(2.3)	2.5	(2.3)	0.0	С	98.1	(2.0)	1.9	(2.0)	0.0	С	84.5	(4.8)	10.6	(4.7)	4.9	(3.3)
Extremadura	96.5	(2.5)	3.5	(2.5)	0.0	С	100.0	с	0.0	с	0.0	С	91.7	(4.0)	8.3	(4.0)	0.0	с
Galicia	96.6	(2.4)	3.4	(2.4)	0.0	с	96.2	(2.7)	3.8	(2.7)	0.0	с	84.0	(5.5)	12.5	(4.9)	3.4	(2.5)
La Rioja	100.0	С	0.0	с	0.0	С	100.0	с	0.0	с	0.0	С	72.3	(0.4)	27.7	(0.4)	0.0	с
Madrid	100.0	С	0.0	с	0.0	с	96.2	(2.7)	3.8	(2.7)	0.0	с	68.0	(5.6)	30.6	(5.4)	1.4	(1.4)
Melilla	100.0	С	0.0	с	0.0	с	100.0	с	0.0	с	0.0	с	63.1	(1.9)	36.9	(1.9)	0.0	с
Murcia	96.0	(2.8)	4.0	(2.8)	0.0	С	97.5	(1.8)	1.5	(1.6)	1.0	(0.8)	64.5	(6.4)	29.0	(5.9)	6.5	(3.8)
Navarre	96.0	(2.8)	4.0	(2.8)	0.0	С	98.1	(2.0)	1.9	(2.0)	0.0	С	86.0	(3.8)	14.0	(3.8)	0.0	с
United Kingdom																		
England*	98.7	(0.9)	0.6	(0.6)	0.6	(0.6)	98.4	(1.2)	1.0	(1.0)	0.6	(0.6)	70.5	(4.0)	26.7	(3.9)	2.8	(1.6)
Northern Ireland*	96.2	(2.3)	0.0	с	3.8	(2.3)	94.5	(2.6)	5.5	(2.6)	0.0	с	91.0	(3.3)	7.0	(3.0)	2.0	(1.7)
Scotland*	99.1	(1.0)	0.9	(1.0)	0.0	С	97.0	(2.3)	3.0	(2.3)	0.0	с	89.2	(3.3)	10.8	(3.3)	0.0	C
Wales*	96.1	(2.1)†	1.0	(1.0) †	2.9	(1.9)†	98.6	(1.2)†	0.0	c†	1.4	(1.2)†	59.5	(6.2) †	38.0	(6.1) †	2.5	(1.8)†

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

#### Table II.B2.39. Reasons for transferring students to another school [2/4]

Results based on principals' reports

				Perce	ntage of	student	s in scho	n schools where students are transferred to another school for the following reasons:											
			Low a	cademi	c achieve	ment			High a	cademi	ic achieve	ment			Be	haviou	ral proble	ms	
		Not	likely	Lik	ely	Very	likely	Not	likely	Li	kely	Very	likely	Not	likely	Li	kely	Very	likely
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ers	Brazil																		
Ť	North	88.2	(3.8)†	11.8	(3.8) †	0.0	c†	92.3	(3.7)†	4.5	(3.5) †	3.2	(2.9)†	53.8	(8.5) †	42.1	(9.1) †	4.1	(4.2) †
ä	Northeast	90.1	(2.5)	7.5	(2.4)	2.4	(0.7)	89.2	(3.1)	8.0	(2.6)	2.9	(1.9)	53.6	(4.7)	43.1	(4.4)	3.4	(1.8)
	South	91.8	(3.1)	8.2	(3.1)	0.0	с	93.5	(3.2)	6.5	(3.2)	0.0	с	73.8	(5.2)	25.2	(5.4)	1.0	(1.1)
	Southeast	84.2	(2.5)	14.1	(2.3)	1.7	(1.0)	89.8	(2.4)	9.7	(2.3)	0.5	(0.5)	57.2	(3.8)	38.7	(3.8)	4.2	(1.2)
	Middle-West	90.9	(4.5)	5.0	(2.2)	4.1	(4.0)	95.3	(3.3)	4.7	(3.3)	0.0	с	36.2	(8.6)	50.8	(9.0)	12.9	(5.6)
	Kazakhstan																		
	Akmola region	70.5	(8.8)	28.6	(8.8)	0.9	(0.1)	68.4	(8.1)	28.2	(8.8)	3.4	(3.5)	54.2	(9.2)	34.3	(8.5)	11.5	(5.5)
	Aktobe region	91.6	(5.2)	8.4	(5.2)	0.0	с	77.5	(8.3)	21.3	(8.3)	1.1	(0.1)	92.4	(5.4)	7.6	(5.4)	0.0	с
	Almaty	56.7	(8.8)	35.1	(7.1)	8.2	(5.3)	61.5	(11.7)	26.9	(10.1)	11.6	(6.4)	61.4	(8.3)	31.0	(8.2)	7.5	(0.4)
	Almaty region	78.0	(7.6)	21.7	(7.6)	0.3	(0.0)	55.7	(8.1)	40.3	(7.1)	4.0	(4.0)	67.2	(8.8)	26.3	(8.9)	6.5	(3.7)
	Astana	67.4	(9.4)	24.7	(7.7)	7.9	(5.5)	60.6	(8.9)	35.4	(8.3)	4.0	(3.9)	62.0	(10.4)	26.1	(9.7)	11.9	(3.9)
	Atyrau region	61.4	(9.8)	30.3	(8.9)	8.4	(4.3)	61.2	(7.6)	31.6	(8.6)	7.3	(6.3)	47.7	(6.3)	52.3	(6.3)	0.0	с
	East-Kazakhstan region	69.0	(9.7)	29.6	(9.7)	1.4	(0.1)	82.4	(6.6)	17.6	(6.6)	0.0	с	52.5	(9.7)	43.3	(9.1)	4.2	(3.5)
	Karagandy region	74.1	(8.1)	25.9	(8.1)	0.0	с	61.5	(9.5)	35.9	(9.9)	2.6	(2.7)	68.7	(8.5)	31.3	(8.5)	0.0	с
	Kostanay region	82.8	(7.0)	8.6	(5.0)	8.6	(5.0)	77.9	(8.1)	22.1	(8.1)	0.0	С	74.7	(8.9)	18.9	(7.8)	6.4	(4.5)
	Kyzyl-Orda region	72.3	(9.7)	27.7	(9.7)	0.0	с	65.1	(7.0)	33.1	(7.5)	1.8	(1.8)	62.4	(9.1)	34.1	(9.8)	3.5	(3.5)
	North-Kazakhstan region	72.8	(7.2)	19.8	(6.0)	7.4	(4.0)	63.5	(5.8)	33.7	(6.0)	2.9	(2.0)	60.7	(6.5)	36.1	(6.9)	3.2	(2.6)
	Pavlodar region	71.4	(7.9)	26.9	(7.6)	1.7	(1.8)	65.0	(6.6)	26.1	(6.7)	8.9	(5.2)	62.1	(10.2)	37.9	(10.2)	0.0	С
	Shymkent	77.3	(9.6)	22.0	(9.6)	0.7	(0.0)	62.1	(7.6)	37.9	(7.6)	0.0	с	73.5	(8.9)	20.9	(7.5)	5.6	(4.5)
	Turkestan region	76.0	(6.1)	24.0	(6.1)	0.0	с	53.1	(9.7)	42.5	(10.6)	4.4	(4.4)	58.6	(7.4)	38.9	(7.5)	2.5	(2.5)
	West-Kazakhstan region	69.9	(5.7)	30.1	(5.7)	0.0	с	55.8	(10.3)	37.5	(9.5)	6.8	(4.4)	68.1	(7.7)	31.9	(7.7)	0.0	с
	Zhambyl region	68.0	(9.5)	28.3	(9.0)	3.7	(3.6)	68.6	(8.2)	27.3	(8.7)	4.1	(4.0)	67.6	(10.0)	29.1	(9.3)	3.2	(3.3)
	Mongolia																		
	Central	53.6	(4.0)	41.4	(4.2)	5.1	(1.9)	43.7	(4.0)	48.0	(3.9)	8.3	(2.3)	43.7	(4.2)	51.8	(4.2)	4.5	(2.0)
	Khangai	69.9	(8.0)	30.1	(8.0)	0.0	с	27.2	(6.7)	65.0	(6.1)	7.8	(5.6)	48.9	(7.6)	46.0	(8.3)	5.0	(3.6)
	Western	68.8	(9.2)	31.2	(9.2)	0.0	с	47.7	(10.2)	41.4	(9.5)	10.9	(2.2)	77.1	(9.2)	20.3	(8.9)	2.5	(2.5)
	Viet Nam																		
	Central	39.7	(6.6)	54.9	(6.5)	5.5	(3.9)	50.6	(7.5)	45.1	(8.0)	4.3	(3.1)	50.7	(8.2)	46.0	(7.6)	3.4	(3.4)
	Northern	45.8	(6.4)	47.2	(6.1)	6.9	(4.1)	45.1	(6.1)	47.8	(6.4)	7.1	(4.0)	46.8	(7.2)	45.7	(6.5)	7.5	(4.2)
	Southern	39.7	(6.8)	56.5	(6.6)	3.7	(2.7)	37.4	(6.6)	50.0	(6.3)	12.6	(3.0)	40.6	(7.5)	59.0	(7.5)	0.4	(0.4)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4).

Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

#### Table II.B2.39. Reasons for transferring students to another school [3/4]

Results based on principals' reports

	Percentage of students in schools where students are transferred to another school for the following reasons:											
	Special learning needs Parents' or guardians' request   Not likely Likely Very likely For all subjects For some subjects Not for any subjects											
	Not	likely	Li	kely	Very	likely	For all	subjects	For som	e subjects	Not for a	ny subjects
	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
Belgium												
<b>5</b> Flemish community	67.3	(3.7)	30.2	(3.8)	2.6	(1.0)	43.3	(3.9)	46.3	(4.3)	10.4	(2.8)
French community	62.3	(5.5)	34.3	(5.5)	3.5	(2.0)	20.4	(4.9)	47.0	(5.4)	32.6	(5.3)
German-speaking community	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С	С
Canada												
Alberta*	75.2	(5.6)	23.2	(5.3)	1.6	(1.7)	35.2	(6.8)	55.0	(6.7)	9.8	(4.6)
British Columbia*	98.0	(1.4)	1.7	(1.4)	0.3	(0.3)	42.9	(5.8)	51.2	(5.9)	6.0	(3.1)
Manitoba*	98.2	(1.1)	1.8	(1.1)	0.0	с	59.7	(3.0)	35.0	(2.7)	5.3	(1.0)
New Brunswick	94.7	(0.3)	5.3	(0.3)	0.0	С	52.2	(1.7)	43.9	(1.7)	3.9	(0.3)
Newfoundland and Labrador*	99.4	(0.6)	0.6	(0.6)	0.0	с	68.2	(3.5)	30.0	(3.5)	1.9	(0.2)
Nova Scotia*	95.9	(1.9)	4.1	(1.9)	0.0	с	58.7	(2.1)	32.6	(2.0)	8.6	(0.5)
Ontario*	92.2	(1.9)	7.1	(1.8)	0.7	(0.7)	49.0	(4.2)	39.9	(4.3)	11.1	(2.9)
Prince Edward Island	100.0	С	0.0	С	0.0	С	82.9	(2.4)	10.8	(1.1)	6.3	(2.2)
Quebec*	49.5	(4.8)	46.6	(4.8)	3.9	(1.9)	43.9	(4.8)	52.5	(4.8)	3.7	(1.7)
Saskatchewan	79.9	(0.9)	18.4	(0.8)	1.7	(0.2)	39.6	(2.5)	48.6	(2.4)	11.9	(0.9)
Colombia												
Bogotá	89.1	(4.2)	10.9	(4.2)	0.0	С	6.3	(3.3)	53.4	(8.4)	40.3	(7.9)
Italy												
Bolzano	73.8	(0.6)	26.2	(0.6)	0.0	с	21.5	(0.5)	54.1	(0.6)	24.4	(0.6)
Trento	91.9	(0.5)	8.1	(0.5)	0.0	С	14.1	(0.5)	62.7	(0.8)	23.2	(0.7)
Spain												
Andalusia	77.2	(6.3)	20.5	(6.0)	2.3	(2.3)	35.7	(7.4)	55.4	(7.5)	8.9	(4.6)
Aragon	81.2	(6.4)	16.8	(6.1)	2.0	(1.9)	45.7	(8.4)	49.6	(8.5)	4.8	(2.8)
Asturias	88.7	(4.1)	11.3	(4.1)	0.0	С	52.0	(6.0)	37.1	(5.8)	10.9	(4.0)
Balearic Islands	73.4	(7.6) †	20.7	(6.3) †	5.9	(4.3) †	37.0	(8.5) †	49.6	(8.5) †	13.4	(6.0) †
Basque Country	70.6	(5.0)	28.7	(5.0)	0.7	(0.8)	45.9	(5.9)	39.2	(5.0)	14.9	(4.0)
Canary Islands	85.4	(5.4)	12.6	(5.0)	2.0	(2.1)	41.1	(7.0)	48.6	(5.9)	10.3	(4.7)
Cantabria	76.5	(6.0)	23.5	(6.0)	0.0	с	34.4	(7.5)	43.6	(6.9)	21.9	(6.1)
Castile and Leon	89.8	(3.2)	10.2	(3.2)	0.0	с	48.4	(6.5)	38.4	(5.9)	13.2	(5.5)
Castile-La Mancha	92.2	(3.8)	7.8	(3.8)	0.0	с	50.4	(6.1)	38.7	(6.7)	10.9	(4.5)
Catalonia	76.1	(5.1)	23.9	(5.1)	0.0	с	41.2	(7.7)	54.7	(7.0)	4.2	(3.0)
Ceuta	100.0	С	0.0	с	0.0	с	73.1	(1.7)	26.9	(1.7)	0.0	С
Comunidad Valenciana	93.7	(3.8)	6.3	(3.8)	0.0	с	54.4	(6.9)	38.5	(7.3)	7.1	(4.1)
Extremadura	83.1	(6.0)	14.9	(5.6)	1.9	(2.0)	45.5	(7.2)	48.6	(7.9)	5.9	(3.4)
Galicia	91.9	(3.9)	8.1	(3.9)	0.0	с	49.0	(6.6)	39.2	(6.6)	11.7	(4.8)
La Rioja	77.6	(0.4)	17.6	(0.4)	4.7	(0.3)	59.7	(0.5)	33.0	(0.4)	7.3	(0.3)
Madrid	82.7	(4.4)	13.4	(4.9)	3.8	(2.7)	38.2	(5.1)	46.7	(5.9)	15.1	(4.4)
Melilla	79.7	(1.3)	20.3	(1.3)	0.0	С	43.8	(2.1)	51.7	(2.1)	4.5	(0.4)
Murcia	89.8	(4.6)	10.2	(4.6)	0.0	с	39.7	(7.6)	46.7	(7.2)	13.6	(5.3)
Navarre	62.7	(6.5)	34.6	(6.5)	2.7	(0.2)	44.8	(5.9)	52.8	(5.5)	2.4	(2.2)
United Kingdom												
England*	91.0	(2.3)	6.9	(2.2)	2.1	(1.2)	59.9	(3.8)	36.9	(3.8)	3.1	(1.2)
Northern Ireland*	91.5	(3.2)	6.6	(3.0)	2.0	(1.7)	80.3	(4.4)	19.7	(4.4)	0.0	с
Scotland*	95.0	(2.3)	5.0	(2.3)	0.0	С	56.5	(5.1)	34.3	(4.9)	9.2	(3.0)
Wales*	92.5	(3.2) †	4.6	(2.7) †	2.9	(1.9) †	63.7	(6.4) †	31.7	(6.3) †	4.6	(2.5) †

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

#### Table II.B2.39. Reasons for transferring students to another school [4/4]

Results based on principals' reports

		Percentage of students in schools where students are transferred to another school for the following reasons:											
		Special learning needs Parents' or guardians' request											
		No	t likely	L	ikely	Very	/ likely	For all	subjects	For son	ne subjects	Not for a	ny subjects
		%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.	%	S.E.
ers	Brazil												
artn	North	90.1	(4.5) †	6.7	(4.2) †	3.2	(2.9) †	9.3	(4.7) †	28.2	(7.2) †	62.5	(7.6) †
ä	Northeast	79.7	(4.4)	17.9	(4.1)	2.4	(1.5)	9.2	(2.0)	42.5	(5.0)	48.3	(5.1)
	South	86.6	(4.1)	10.5	(3.6)	2.9	(2.1)	9.7	(2.3)	41.4	(5.3)	48.9	(5.5)
	Southeast	79.9	(3.1)	18.2	(2.9)	1.9	(1.2)	7.6	(1.6)	47.6	(3.7)	44.7	(3.6)
	Middle-West	83.6	(7.0)	14.8	(7.0)	1.6	(1.2)	3.9	(3.3)	34.0	(7.1)	62.1	(7.5)
	Kazakhstan												
	Akmola region	52.0	(9.1)	35.1	(9.0)	12.9	(6.4)	10.0	(5.1)	57.9	(10.0)	32.1	(8.6)
	Aktobe region	56.9	(8.1)	36.3	(8.8)	6.8	(4.7)	13.8	(4.3)	51.4	(9.5)	34.8	(8.2)
	Almaty	43.4	(11.0)	41.4	(11.9)	15.2	(7.2)	0.0	с	69.0	(9.1)	31.0	(9.1)
	Almaty region	41.5	(9.9)	54.7	(9.1)	3.8	(3.8)	5.8	(4.3)	72.5	(8.7)	21.6	(7.6)
	Astana	58.6	(9.9)	41.4	(9.9)	0.0	с	0.0	с	49.5	(6.5)	50.5	(6.5)
	Atyrau region	47.0	(6.9)	53.0	(6.9)	0.0	с	6.7	(4.8)	47.0	(10.7)	46.3	(9.6)
	East-Kazakhstan region	54.7	(9.5)	38.3	(8.1)	7.0	(5.0)	1.6	(0.9)	58.4	(8.8)	40.0	(8.7)
	Karagandy region	62.5	(11.1)	37.5	(11.1)	0.0	с	3.7	(2.9)	50.4	(6.8)	46.0	(7.5)
	Kostanay region	61.4	(10.3)	38.1	(10.3)	0.5	(0.5)	2.6	(2.6)	47.9	(7.7)	49.5	(8.0)
	Kyzyl-Orda region	57.9	(10.4)	39.6	(10.2)	2.5	(2.5)	1.0	(0.0)	47.3	(9.8)	51.8	(9.8)
	North-Kazakhstan region	60.5	(8.1)	33.0	(7.6)	6.6	(3.4)	4.6	(3.4)	61.6	(5.3)	33.8	(6.2)
	Pavlodar region	65.0	(8.3)	35.0	(8.3)	0.0	с	11.2	(5.5)	71.9	(5.9)	16.9	(5.8)
	Shymkent	45.2	(10.0)	54.8	(10.0)	0.0	с	0.7	(0.7)	65.1	(10.0)	34.2	(9.9)
	Turkestan region	45.0	(10.6)	48.8	(9.9)	6.2	(4.8)	5.3	(3.7)	63.1	(9.2)	31.6	(8.8)
	We st-Kazakhstan region	60.3	(7.4)	36.1	(8.1)	3.6	(3.6)	8.3	(4.9)	53.8	(8.5)	37.8	(8.2)
	Zhambyl region	51.3	(9.5)	48.7	(9.5)	0.0	с	10.8	(6.3)	65.4	(6.9)	23.8	(6.5)
	Mongolia												
	Central	34.7	(4.1)	56.2	(4.6)	9.1	(2.9)	11.0	(3.0)	53.6	(4.2)	35.4	(3.5)
	Khangai	33.1	(8.9)	61.3	(7.5)	5.6	(3.4)	11.3	(5.3)	74.8	(7.2)	14.0	(7.0)
	Western	51.4	(9.9)	45.8	(10.5)	2.8	(2.0)	5.5	(5.0)	87.9	(6.3)	6.6	(3.8)
	Viet Nam												
	Central	49.0	(8.9)	47.7	(9.0)	3.2	(4.0)	0.0	с	50.4	(8.4)	49.6	(8.4)
	Northern	35.7	(6.2)	49.5	(6.9)	14.9	(5.5)	0.0	с	41.9	(5.9)	58.1	(5.9)
	Southern	41.9	(7.2)	46.3	(7.3)	11.8	(3.5)	0.0	с	53.1	(6.6)	46.9	(6.6)

\* Caution is required when interpreting estimates because one or more PISA sampling standards were not met (see Reader's Guide, Annexes A2 and A4). Notes: PISA adjudicated region is shown in bold.

Information regarding the proportion of the sample covered is shown next to the standard error. No symbol means at least 75% of the population was covered; one dagger (†) means at least 50% but less than 75%; and one double-dagger (‡) means less than 50% was covered. For comparisons across cycles, the coverage information corresponds to the cycle with the lowest sample coverage.

See Table II.B1.6.31 for national data.

#### Table II.B2.44. Results for regions within countries Annex B2 tables

	Table II.B2.1	Students' sense of belonging at school
WEB	Table II.B2.2	Students' life satisfaction
WEB	Table II.B2.3	Students' enrolment at their school
WEB	Table II.B2.4	Duration and type of school closure
	Table II.B2.5	Confidence in capacity for self-directed learning
WEB	Table II.B2.6	Experience with learning at home
WEB	Table II.B2.7	Problems with self-directed learning
WEB	Table II.B2.8	School actions and activities to sustain learning

WEB	Table II.B2.9	Teacher support in mathematics
WEB	Table II.B2.10	Disciplinary climate in mathematics lessons
WEB	Table II.B2.11	Students' exposure to bullying
WEB	Table II.B2.12	Students' feeling safe at school
	Table II.B2.13	School safety risks
WEB	Table II.B2.14	Student truancy
WEB	Table II.B2.15	Student long-term truancy from primary to upper secondary
WEB	Table II.B2.16	Reasons for long-term absence
WEB	Table II.B2.17	Family support
WEB	Table II.B2.18	Parental involvement
WEB	Table II.B2.19	Attendance at pre-primary school
WEB	Table II.B2.20	Student grade level
	Table II.B2.21	Grade repetition
WEB	Table II.B2.22	Programme orientation, by education level
WEB	Table II.B2.23	Ability grouping
	Table II.B2.24	Shortage of educational staff
WEB	Table II.B2.25	Certified teachers
WEB	Table II.B2.26	Learning time per week in regular school lessons
WEB	Table II.B2.27	Schools providing study help
WEB	Table II.B2.28	Time spent per day on digital resources, by purpose
WEB	Table II.B2.29	Student behaviour when using digital devices
WEB	Table II.B2.30	Shortage of educational material
WEB	Table II.B2.31	School policies on the use of digital devices
WEB	Table II.B2.32	Students' views on using digital devices in class
WEB	Table II.B2.33	Preparedness for digital learning
WEB	Table II.B2.34	Responsibilities for school governance
WEB	Table II.B2.35	Educational and instructional leadership
WEB	Table II.B2.36	School competition for students
WEB	Table II.B2.37	School type
WEB	Table II.B2.38	School admissions policies
	Table II.B2.39	Reasons for transferring students to another school
WEB	Table II.B2.40	Assessment practices at school
WEB	Table II.B2.41	Quality assurance and improvement actions at school
WEB	Table II.B2.42	Using achievement data for accountability purposes
WEB	Table II.B2.43	Monitoring teacher practice

StatLink and https://stat.link/xkq9u4

## Annex B3. PISA 2022 system-level indicators

System-level data that are not derived from the PISA 2022 student or school questionnaire are extracted from the OECD's annual publication Education at a Glance for those countries and economies that participate in that periodic data collection. For other countries and economies, a special system-level data collection was conducted in collaboration with PISA Governing Board members and National Project Managers.

For further information see: System-level data collection for PISA 2022: Sources, comments and technical notes at <a href="https://webfs.oecd.org/pisa2022/PISA2022IR">https://webfs.oecd.org/pisa2022/PISA2022IR</a> AnnexB3 TechnicalDocument v2.docx.

The following tables are available on line. Please click on the StatLink below to access them.

#### Table Title Topic Table B3.1.1 Structure of compulsory education, theoretical age and theoretical duration of each Information on education system applied cycle of education (2022) to the PISA 2022 participating students Table B3.1.2 Theoretical age and theoretical duration of each cycle of education (2022) Table B3.1.3 Date of the first school day in public institutions on the school year of PISA 2022 administration (2021 or 2022) Table B3.1.4 Age of stratification and educational tracks (2022) Table B3.1.5 List of educational tracks (2022) Table B3.2.1 GDP per capita and total education Gross domestic product (GDP) per capita (2021) expenditure Table B3.2.2 Total education expenditure on educational institutions per student (2019) Table B3.3.1 Tracking students' absence during the pandemic in lower secondary education (2020 to Impact of COVID-19 on education system 2022) in lower secondary education Table B3.3.2 Policies to bring in digitalisation into education in lower secondary education (2022) Table B3.3.3 Assessment of impact of COVID-19 crisis on lower secondary education (2021 to 2022) Table B3.3.4 Changes in education policies/regulations to mitigate the impact of learning loss/disruption and student well-being in lower secondary education (2021 and 2022) Table B3.4.1 Regulations regarding grade repetition in primary education (2022) Regulations on grade repetition Table B3.4.2 Regulations regarding grade repetition in lower secondary general programmes (2022) Table B3.4.3 Regulations regarding grade repetition in lower secondary vocational programmes (2022) Table B3.5.1 Regulations regarding teacher allocation in socio-economically disadvantage public Regulations regarding teacher allocation in socio-economically disadvantaged schools at lower secondary level (2022) public schools Table B3.5.2 Regulations regarding teacher allocation in socio-economically disadvantage public schools at upper secondary level (2022) Table B3.6.1 Regulations regarding home-schooling in compulsory secondary general programmes Regulations on home-schooling (2022)

#### Table II.B3.1. PISA 2022 system-level data collection

StatLink and https://stat.link/q39f6p

# Annex C. The development and implementation of PISA: A collaborative effort

PISA is a collaborative effort, bringing together experts from the participating countries, steered jointly by their governments based on shared, policy-driven interests.

A PISA Governing Board, on which each country is represented, determines the policy priorities for PISA, in the context of OECD objectives, and oversees adherence to these priorities during the implementation of the programme. This includes setting priorities for the development of indicators, for establishing the assessment instruments, and for reporting the results.

Experts from participating countries also serve on working groups that are charged with linking policy objectives with the best internationally available technical expertise. By participating in these expert groups, countries ensure that the instruments are internationally valid and take into account the cultural and educational contexts in OECD member and partner countries and economies, that the assessment materials have strong measurement properties, and that the instruments place emphasise authenticity and educational validity.

Through National Project Managers, participating countries and economies implement PISA at the national level subject to the agreed administration procedures. National Project Managers play a vital role in ensuring that the implementation of the survey is of high quality, and verify and evaluate the survey results, analyses, reports and publications.

The design and implementation of the surveys, within the framework established by the PISA Governing Board, is the responsibility of external contractors. For PISA 2022, the overall management of contractors and implementation was carried out Educational Testing Service (ETS) in the United States as the Core A contractor. Tasks under Core A also included the instrument development, development of the computer platform, survey operations and meetings, scaling, analysis and data products. These tasks were implemented in cooperation from the following subcontractors: i) the University of Luxembourg for support with test development, ii) the Unité d'analyse des systèmes et des pratiques d'enseignement (aSPe) at the University of Liège in Belgium for test development and coding training for open-constructed items, iii) the International Association for Evaluation of Educational Achievement (IEA) in the Netherlands for the data management software, iv) Westat in the United States for survey operations, and v) HallStat SPRL in Belgium for translation referee.

The remaining tasks related to the implementation of PISA 2022 were implemented through three additional contractors – Cores B to DP. The development of the cognitive assessment frameworks for mathematics and creative thinking and of the framework for questionnaires was carried out by RTI in the United States as the Core B contractor. Core C focused on sampling and weighting and was the responsibility of Westat in the United States in co-operation with the Australian Council for Educational Research (ACER) for the sampling software ACER Maple. Linguistic quality control and the development of the French source version for Core D were undertaken by cApStAn, who worked in collaboration with BranTra as a subcontractor.

The OECD Secretariat has overall managerial responsibility for the programme, monitors its implementation daily, acts as the secretariat for the PISA Governing Board, builds consensus among countries and serves as the interlocutor between the PISA Governing Board and the international Consortium charged with implementing the activities. The OECD Secretariat also produces the indicators and analyses and prepares the international reports and publications in co-operation with the PISA Consortium and in close consultation with member and partner

#### **442** |

countries and economies both at the policy level (PISA Governing Board) and at the level of implementation (National Project Managers).

#### **PISA Governing Board**

(\*Former PGB representative who was involved in PISA 2022)

#### Chair of the PISA Governing Board: Michele Bruniges

#### **OECD Members and PISA Associates**

Australia: Meg Brighton, Alex Gordon\*, Ros Baxter\*, Rick Persse\*, Gabrielle Phillips\*

Austria: Mark Német

Belgium: Isabelle Erauw, Geneviève Hindryckx

Brazil: Manuel Fernando Palacios Da Cunha E Melo, Carlos Eduardo Moreno Sampaio\*, Manuel Palácios\*, Danilo Dupas Ribeiro\*, Alexandre Ribeiro Pereira Lopes\*, Elmer Coelho Vicenzi\*, Marcus Vinícius Carvalho Rodrigues\*, Maria Inês Fini\*

Canada: Bruno Rainville, Manuel Cardosa\*, Kathryn O'Grady\*, Gilles Bérubé\*, Tomasz Gluszynski\*

Chile: Claudia Matus

Colombia: Elizabeth Blandon, Luisa Fernanda Trujillo Bernal \*, Andrés Elías Molano Flechas\*, Mónica Ospina Londoño\*, María Figueroa Cahnspeyer\*, Arango María Sofía\*

Costa Rica: Alvaro Artavia Medriano, Melvin Chaves Duarte, María Ulate Espinoza\*, Lilliam Mora\*, Melania Brenes Monge\*, Pablo José Mena Castillo\*, Edgar Mora Altamirano\*

Czech Republic: Tomas Zatloukal

Denmark: Hjalte Meilvang, Eydun Gaard, Charlotte Rotbøll Sjøgreen\*, Cecilie Kynemund\*, Frida Poulsen\*

Estonia: Maie Kitsing

Finland: Tommi Karjalainen, Najat Ouakrim-Soivio\*

France: Ronan Vourc'h, Sandra Andreu, Thierry Rocher\*

Germany: Jens Fischer-Kottenstede, Kathrin Stephen, Katharina Koufen\*, Elfriede Ohrnberger\*

Greece: Chryssa Sofianopoulou, Ioannis Tsirmpas\*

Hungary: Sándor Brassói

Iceland: Sigridur Lara Asbergsdóttir, Stefán Baldursson\*

Ireland: Rachel Perkins, Caroline McKeown\*

Israel: Gal Alon, Hagit Glickman\*

Italy: Roberto Ricci

Japan: Akiko Ono, Yu Kameoka\*

Korea: Kija Si, Hee Seung Yuh, Yun Jung Choi\*, Younghoon Ko\*, HeeKyoung Kim\*, Jeik Cho\*, Jimin Cho\*, Ji-young Park\*, Bae Dong-in\*

Latvia: Aļona Babiča

Lithuania: Rita Dukynaite

Mexico: Roberto Pulido, Antonio Ávila Díaz\*, Andrés Eduardo Sánchez Moguel\*, Bernardo H. Naranjo\*

Netherlands: Schel Margot, Marjan Zandbergen\* New Zealand: Grant Pollard, Tom Dibley\*, Alex Brunt\*, Philip Stevens\*, Craig Jones\* Norway: Marthe Akselsen Poland: Piotr Mikiewicz Portugal: Luís Pereira Dos Santos Slovak Republic: Ivana Pichanicova, Romana Kanovská\* Slovenia: Mojca Štraus, Ksenija Bregar Golobic Spain: Carmen Tovar Sanchez Sweden: Maria Axelsson, Ellen Almgren\* Switzerland: Peter Lenz, Camil Würgler, Reto Furter\*, Vera Husfeldt\* Thailand: Thiradet Jiarasuksakun, Supattra Pativisan, Nantawan Somsook\*, Sukit Limpijumnong\* Türkiye: Umut Erkin Taş, Murat İlikhan\*, Sadri Şensoy\*, Kemal Bülbül\* United Kingdom: Ali Pareas, Keith Dryburgh, Lorna Bertrand\* United States: Peggy Carr **Observers (Partner economies)** Albania: Zamira Gjini Argentina: Paula Viotti, Bárbara Briscioli\*, María Angela Cortelezzi\*, Elena Duro\* Azerbaijan: Elnur Aliyev, Narmina Huseynova\*, Emin Amrullayev\* Brunei Darussalam: Shamsiah Zuraini Kanchanawati Tajuddin, Hj Azman Bin Ahmad\* Bulgaria: Neda Oscar Kristanova Cambodia: Kreng Heng, Samith Put\* Chinese Taipei: Yuan-Chuan Cheng, Chung-Hsi Lin\*, Tian-Ming Sheu\* Croatia: Marina Markuš Sandric, Ines Elezović\* Dominican Republic: Ancell Scheker Mendoza El Salvador: Martin Ulises Aparicio Morataya, Óscar de Jesús Águila Chávez\* Georgia: Sophia Gorgodze Guatemala: Marco Antonio Sáz Choxim, Luisa Fernanda Müller Durán\* Hong Kong, China: Chi-fung Hui, Wai-sun Lau, Man-keung Lau\*, Hiu-fong Chiu\*, Ho Pun Choi\* Indonesia: Anindito Aditomo, Totok Suprayitno\* Jamaica: Terry-Ann Thomas-Gayle Jordan: Abdalla Yousef Awad Al-Ababneh Kazakhstan: Magzhan Amangazy, Miras Baimyrza\*, Yerlikzhan Sabyruly\*, Magzhan Amangazy\*, Yerlikzhan Sabyruly\* Kosovo: Shqipe Bruqi, Agim Berdyna\*, Valmir Gashi\* Lebanon: Hyam Ishak, Bassem Issa, George Nohra\*, Nada Oweijane\*

#### 444 |

Macau, China: Chi Meng Kong, Kin Mou Wong, Pak Sang Lou\* Malaysia: Ahmad Rafee Che Kassim, Pkharuddin Ghazali\*, Hajah Roziah Binti Abdullah\*, Habibah Abdul Rahim\* Malta: Charles L. Mifsud Republic of Moldova: Anatolie Topală Mongolia: Oyunaa Purevdorj, Nyam-Ochir Tumur-Ochir\*, Tumurkhuu Uuganbayar\* Montenegro: Miloš Trivic, Dragana Dmitrovic\* Morocco: Youssef El Azhari, Mohammed Sassi\* Republic of North Macedonia: Biljana Mihajloska, Natasha Jankovska\*, Natasha Janevska\* Palestinian Authority: Mohammad Matar Panama: Gina Garcés, Nadia De Leon\* Paraguay: Sonia Mariángeles Domínguez Torres, Karen Edith Rojas de Riveros\* People's Republic of China: Xiang Mingcan, Zhang Jin\* Peru: Tania Magaly Pacheco Valenzuela, Gloria María Zambrano Rozas\*, Humberto Perez León Ibáñez\* Philippines: Gina Gonong, Alma Ruby C. Torio\*, Jose Ernesto B. Gaviola\*, Diosdado San Antonio\*, Nepomuceno A. Malaluan\* Qatar: Khalid Abdulla Q. Al-Hargan Romania: Bogdan Cristescu, Daniela Elisabeta Bogdan\* Saudi Arabia: Abdullah Algataee, Husam Zaman\*, Faisal bin Abdullah Almishari Al Saud\* Serbia: Branislav Randjelovic, Anamarija Viček\* Singapore: Chern Wei Sng Ukraine: Sergiy Rakov United Arab Emirates: Hessa Al Wahabi, Rabaa Alsumaiti\* Uruguay: Adriana Aristimuno, Andrés Peri\* Uzbekistan: Abduvali Abdumalikovich Ismailov, Radjiyev Ayubkhon Bakhtiyorkhonovich\* Viet Nam: Huynh Van Chuong, Le My Phong\*, Sai Cong HONG\*

#### **PISA 2022 National Project Managers**

#### (\*Former PISA 2022 NPM)

#### **OECD Members and PISA Associates**

Australia: Lisa De Bortoli, Sue Thomson\*

Austria: Birgit Lang, Bettina Toferer

Belgium: Inge De Meyer, Anne Matoul

Brazil: Clara Machado Da Silva Alarcão, Aline Mara Fernandes Muler, Katia Pedroza\*, Wallace Nascimento Pinto Junior\*

Canada: Vanja Elez, Kathryn O'Grady\*, Tanya Scerbina\*

Chile: Ema Lagos Campos Colombia: Julie Paola Caro Osorio, Natalia González Gómez\* Costa Rica: Rudy Masís Siles, Giselle Cruz Maduro\* Czech Republic: Simona Boudova, Radek Blazek\* Denmark: Vibeke Tornhøj Christensen, Ása Hansen, Magnus Bjørn Sørensen\* Estonia: Gunda Tire Finland: Arto Ahonen, Mari-Pauliina Vainikainen France: Franck Salles, Irène Verlet\* Germany: Jennifer Diedrich-Rust, Doris Lewalter, Mirjam Weis, Kristina Reiss\* Greece: Chryssa Sofianopoulou Hungary: Csaba Rózsa, Judit Szipocs-Krolopp, László Ostorics\* Iceland: Guðmundur Þorgrímsson Ireland: Brenda Donohue Israel: Georgette Hilu, Inbal Ron-Kaplan Italy: Carlo Di Chiacchio, Laura Palmerio Japan: Naoko Otsuka, Kentaro Sugiura\*, Yu Kameoka\*, Korea: Seongkyeong Kim, Shinyoung Lee\*, Inseon Choi\*, Seongmin Cho\* Latvia: Rita Kiselova Lithuania: Rasa Jakubauske, Natalija Valaviciene\*, Mindaugas Stundža\* Mexico: Proceso Silva Flores, Rafael Vidal\*, Mariana Zuniga Garcia\*, María Antonieta Díaz Gutierrez\* Netherlands: Joyce Gubbels, Martina Meelissen New Zealand: Steven May, Emma Medina, Adam Jang-Jones\* Norway: Fredrik Jensen Poland: Krzysztof Bulkowski, Joanna Kazmierczak Portugal: Anabela Serrão Slovak Republic: Júlia Miklovičová Slovenia: Klaudija Šterman Ivancic Spain: Lis Cercadillo Sweden: Maria Axelsson Switzerland: Andrea Erzinger Thailand: Ekarin Achakunwisut Türkiye: Umut Erkin Taş United Kingdom: Grace Grima, David Thomas, Juliet Sizmur\* United States: Samantha Burg, Patrick Gonzales\*

#### **Observers (Partner economies)**

Albania: Aurora Balliu, Rezana Vrapi\* Argentina: Maria Clara Radunsky, Paula Viotti\*, Raul Volker\*, Cecilia Beloqui\* Azerbaijan: Ulkar Zaidzada, Zinyat Amirova\*, Leyla Abbasli\* Brunei Darussalam: Wan Abdul Rahman Wan Ibrahim, Hazri Haji Kifle\* Bulgaria: Natalia Vassileva Cambodia: Chinna Ung Chinese Taipei: Chin-Chung Tsai Croatia: Ana Markočić Dekanić Dominican Republic: Santa Cabrera, Claudia Curiel\*, Massiel Cohen Camacho\* El Salvador: José Carlos Márguez Hernández Georgia: Tamari Shoshitashvili, Lasha Kokilashvili\* Guatemala: Marco Antonio Sáz Choxim, Luisa Fernanda Müller Durán\* Hong Kong, China: Kit-Tai Hau Indonesia: Asrijanty Asrijanty, Moch Abduh\* Jamaica: Marjoriana Clarke Jordan: Emad Ghassab Ababneh Kazakhstan: Rizagul Syzdykbayeva, Nadezhda Cherkashina\* Kosovo: Fatmir Elezi Lebanon: George Nohra, Nada Oweijane\* Macau, China: Kwok-Cheung Cheung Malaysia: Wan Faizatul Shima Ismayatim, Wan Raisuha Wan Ali, Hajah Roziah Binti Abdullah\*, Azhar Ahmad\*, Ahmad Rafee Che Kassim\* Malta: Jude Zammit, Louis Scerri\* Republic of Moldova: Anatolie Topală Mongolia: Tungalagtuul Khaltar Montenegro: Divna Paljevic Morocco: Anass El Asraoui, Ahmed Chaibi Republic of North Macedonia: Beti Lameva Palestinian Authority: Mohammad Matar Panama: Arafat A. Sleiman G., Ariel Melo\* Paraguay: Judith Franco Ortega, Verónica Heilborn Díaz\* People's Republic of China: Tao Xin Peru: Tania Magaly Pacheco Valenzuela, Gloria María Zambrano Rozas\*, Humberto Perez León Ibáñez\*

Philippines: Nelia V. Benito Qatar: Shaikha Al-Ishaq Romania: Gabriela Nausica Noveanu, Petre Feodorian Botnariuc\* Saudi Arabia: Abdullah Aljouiee, Fahad Ibrahim Almoqhim\* Serbia: Gordana Čaprić Singapore: Elaine Chua Ukraine: Tetiana Vakulenko United Arab Emirates: Shaikha Alzaabi, Ahmed Hosseini, Moza Rashid Ghufli\* Uruguay: Laura Noboa, María H. Sánchez\* Uzbekistan: Abduvali Abdumalikovich Ismailov Viet Nam: Quoc Khanh Pham, Thi My Ha Le\*

#### **OECD Secretariat**

Andreas Schleicher (Strategic development) Francesco Avvisati (Analysis and reporting, and Research, Development and Innovation) Charlotte Baer (Communications) Anna Becker (Research, Development and Innovation) Yuri Belfali (Strategic development) Guillaume Bousquet (Analysis and reporting) Janine Buchholz (Research, Development and Innovation) Eda Cabbar (Production support) Tiago Caliço (Research, Development and Innovation) Rodrigo Castaneda Valle (Analysis and reporting) Marta Cignetti (Research, Development and Innovation) Catalina Covacevich (Project management) Duncan Crawford (Communications) Alfonso Echazarra (Analysis and reporting) Natalie Foster (Research, Development and Innovation) Tiago Fragoso (Project management) Marc Fuster Rabella (Research, Development and Innovation) Kevin Gillespie (Communications, and Project management) Juliana Andrea González Rodríguez (Project management) Ava Guez (Research, Development and Innovation) Tue Halgreen (Project management) Kartika Herscheid (Analysis and reporting)

#### 448 |

Irène Hu (Analysis and reporting) Miyako Ikeda (Analysis and reporting) Gwénaël Jacotin (Analysis and reporting) Kristina Jones (Project management) Theo Kaiser (Research, Development and Innovation) Natalie Laechelt (Project management) Gracelyn Lee (Analysis and reporting) Emma Linsenmayer (Research, Development and Innovation) Adrien Lorenceau (Analysis and reporting) Camille Marec (Analysis and reporting) Thomas Marwood (Project management) Caroline McKeown (Project management) Chiara Monticone (Analysis and reporting) Tarek Mostafa (Analysis and Reporting) Josephine Murasiranwa (Research, Development and Innovation) Lesley O'Sullivan (Project management) Valeria Pelosi (Analysis and reporting) Mario Piacentini (Research, Development and Innovation) Sasha Ramirez-Hughes (Communications) Giannina Rech (Analysis and reporting) Daniel Salinas (Analysis and reporting) Ricardo Sanchez Torres (Project management) Della Shin (Communications) Javier Suarez-Alvarez (Analysis and reporting) Lucia Tramonte (Analysis and reporting) Chi Sum Tse (Project management) Hannah Ulferts (Analysis and reporting) Hanna Varkki (Project management) Sophie Vayssettes (Project management) Nathan Viltard (Analysis and reporting) Michael Ward (Project Management) Megan Welsh (Research, Development and Innovation) Choyi Whang (Analysis and reporting)

#### Mathematics Expert Group (MEG)

Joan Ferrini-Mundy (University of Maine, United States) Zbigniew Marciniak (University of Warsaw, Poland) William Schmidt (Michigan State University, United States) Takuya Baba (Hiroshima University, Japan) Jenni Ingram (University of Oxford, United Kingdom) Julián Mariño (University of the Andes, Colombia)

#### **Extended Mathematics Expert Groups (eMEG)**

Michael Besser (Leuphana University of Lüneburg, Germany) Jean-Luc Dorier (University of Geneva, Switzerland) Iddo Gal (University of Haifa, Israel) Markku Hannula (University of Helsinki, Finland) Hannes Jukk (University of Tartu, Estonia) Christine Stephenson (University of Tennessee, United States) Tin Lam Toh (Nanyang Technological University, Singapore) Ödön Vancsó (Eötvös Loránd University, Hungary) David Weintrop (College of Information Studies, University of Maryland, United States) Richard Wolfe (Ontario Institute for Studies in Education, University of Toronto, Canada)

#### Financial Literacy Expert Group (FLEG)

Carmela Aprea (University of Mannheim, Germany) José Alexandre Cavalcanti Vasco (Securities and Exchange Commission, Brazil) Paul Gerrans (University of Western Australia, Australia) David Kneebone (Investor Education Centre, Hong Kong (China)) Sue Lewis (Financial Services Consumer Panel, United Kingdom) Annamaria Lusardi (George Washington University School of Business and Global Financial Literacy Excellence Center, United States) Olaf Simonse (Ministry of Finance, Netherlands) Anna Zelentsova (Ministry of Finance of the Russian Federation, Russia)

#### Creative Thinking Expert Group (CTEG)

Ido Roll (Technion - Israel Institute of Technology, Israel) Baptiste Barbot (Université Catholique de Louvain, Belgium)

#### 450 |

Lene Tanggaard (Aalborg University, Denmark) Nathan Zoanetti (Australian Council for Educational Research, Australia) James Kaufman (University of Connecticut, United States) Marlene Scardamalia (University of Toronto, Canada) Valerie Shute (Florida State University, United States)

#### **Questionnaire Expert Group (QEG)**

Nina Jude (Heidelberg University, Germany) Hunter Gehlbach (Johns Hopkins University, United States) Kit-Tai Hau (The Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong (China)) Therese Hopfenbeck (University of Melbourne, Australia) David Kaplan (University of Wisconsin-Madison, United States) Jihyun Lee (University of New South Wales, Australia) Richard Primi (Universidade São Francisco, Brazil) Wilima Wadhwa (ASER Centre, India)

#### **Questionnaire senior framework advisors**

Jennifer Adams (Ottawa-Carleton School District, Canada) Eckhard Klieme (German Institute for International Educational Research, Germany) Reinhard Pekrun (University of Essex, United Kingdom) Jennifer Schmidt (Michigan State University, United States) Arthur Stone (University of Southern California, United States) Roger Tourangeau (Westat, United States) Fons J.R. van de Vijver (Tilburg University/North-West University/University of Queensland)

#### **ICT expert group**

Michael Trucano (World Bank, United States) Jepe Bundsgaard (University of Aarhus, Denmark) Cindy Ong (Ministry of Education, Singapore) Patricia Wastiau (European Schoolnet, Belgium) Pat Yongpradit (Code.org, United States)

#### **Technical Advisory Group**

Keith Rust (Westat, United States)

Kentaro Yamamoto (ETS, United States) John de Jong\* (VU University Amsterdam, Netherlands) Christian Monseur (University of Liège, Belgium) Leslie Rutkowski (chair) (University of Oslo, Norway and Indiana University, United States) Eugenio Gonzalez (ETS, United States) Oliver Lüdtke (IPN - Leibniz Institute for Science and Mathematics Education, Germany) Kathleen Scalise (University of Oregon, United States) Sabine Meinck (IEA, Hamburg, Germany) Kit-Tai Hau (Chinese University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong, China) Maria Bolsinova (Tilburg University, the Netherlands) Matthias von Davier\* (NBME, United States)

#### **PISA 2022 Lead Contractors**

\* Indicates formerly in the position. Educational Testing Service (United States) - Core A Irwin Kirsch (International Project Director) Ann Kennedy\* (International Project Manager) Eugenio Gonzalez (International Project Manager) Larry Hanover (Editorial Support) Luisa Langan\* (Project Management, Questionnaires) Judy Mendez (Project Support and Contracts) Daniel Nicastro (Project Support) Yelena Shuster\* (Project Support) Kentaro Yamamoto\* (Director, Psychometrics and Analysis) Fred Robin (Manager, Psychometrics and Analysis) Usama Ali (Psychometrics and Analysis) Selene Sunmin Lee (Psychometrics and Analysis) Emily Lubaway (Psychometrics and Analysis) Peter van Rijn (Psychometrics and Analysis) Hyo Jeong Shin (Psychometrics and Analysis) David Garber (Lead Test Developer and Test Development Coordinator, Mathematical Literacy) Elisa Giaccaglia (Test Developer and Reviewer, Mathematical Literacy) Jeff Haberstroh (Test Developer and Reviewer, Mathematical Literacy) Alessia Marigo (Test Developer and Reviewer, Mathematical Literacy) Brian Sucevic (Test Developer and Reviewer, Mathematical Literacy)

James Meadows (Reviewer, Mathematical Literacy) Enruo Guo (Interface Design, Mathematical Literacy) Janet Stumper (Graphic Design, Mathematical Literacy) Michael Wagner (Director, Platform Development) Jason Bonthron (Platform Development and Authoring) Paul Brost (Platform Development) Ramin Hemat (Platform Development and Authoring) Keith Kiser (Platform Development and Coding System) Debbie Pisacreta (Interface Design and Graphics) Janet Stumper (Graphics) Chia Chen Tsai (Platform Development) Edward Kulick\* (Area Director, Data Analysis and Research Technologies) Mathew Kandathil Jr. (Manager, Data Analysis and Research Technologies) Carla Tarsitano (Project Management) John Barone\* (Data Products) Kevin Bentley (Data Products) Hezekiah Bunde (Data Management) Karen Castellano (Data Management) Matthew Duchnowski\* (Data Management) Ying Feng (Data Management) Zhumei Guo (Data Analysis) Paul Hilliard (Data Analysis) Lokesh Kapur (Data Analysis) Debra Kline\* (Project Management) Phillip Leung (Data Products) Alfred Rogers\* (Data Management) Tao Wang (Data Products) Lingjun Wong (Data Analysis) Ping Zhai\* (Data Analysis) Shuwen Zhang\* (Data Analysis) Wei Zhao (Data Analysis) Jonas Bertling (Director, Questionnaire Framework and Development) Jan Alegre (Questionnaire Framework and Development) Katie Faherty (Questionnaire Management and Development) Janel Gill (Questionnaire Scaling and Analysis)

Farah Qureshi (Team Assistance)

Nate Rojas (Team Assistance)

#### WESTAT (United States) – Core C lead contractor

Keith Rust (Director of the PISA Consortium for Sampling and Weighting)

Sheila Krawchuk (Sampling)

David Ferraro (Sampling and Weighting)

Josephine Auguste (Weighting)

Jill DeMatteis (Sampling and Weighting)

Shaohua Dong (Sampling)

Susan Fuss (Sampling and Weighting)

Moriah Goodnow (Sampling and Weighting)

Amita Gopinath (Weighting)

Daniel Guzman (Sampling)

Jing Kang (Sampling and Weighting)

Sihle Khanyile (Weighting)

Véronique Lieber (Sampling and Weighting)

John Lopdell (Sampling and Weighting)

Shawn Lu (Weighting)

Irene Manrique Molina (Sampling and Weighting)

Leanna Moron (Sampling and Weighting)

Jacqueline Severynse (Sampling and Weighting)

Yumiko Siegfried (Sampling and Weighting)

Joel Wakesberg (Sampling and Weighting)

Sipeng Wang (Sampling and Weighting)

Natalia Weil (Sampling and Weighting)

Erin Wiley (Sampling and Weighting)

Sergey Yagodin (Weighting)

#### cApStAn Linguistic Quality Control (Belgium) – Core D lead contractor

Steve Dept (Project Director, Translatability Assessment)

Andrea Ferrari (Linguistic Quality Assurance and Quality Control Designs)

Emel Ince (Verification Management, Coding Guides)

Elica Krajčeva (Lead Project Manager)

Shinoh Lee (Verification Management, Questionnaires)

Irene Liberati (Verification Management, Cognitive Units, Coding Guides)

Roberta Lizzi (Verification Management, Cognitive Units)

Adrien Mathot (Translation Technologist, Linguistic Quality Assurance Tools and Procedures) Manuel Souto Pico (Lead Translation Technologist, Linguistic Quality Assurance Tools and Procedures) Josiane Tyburn (Verification Management, Questionnaires, School Materials)

#### Australian Council for Educational Research (Australia) – Core E lead contractor

Jeaniene Spink, Maurice Walker (Project Directors)

Jennie Chainey Jacqueline Cheng Sandra Lambey Naoko Tabata Ursula Schwantner

#### **PISA 2022 Contributors, working with Lead Contractors**

#### Australian Council for Educational Research (Australia) – Core C contributor

Martin Murphy (Project Director) Emma Cadman (School Sampling) Emma Camus (School Sampling) Martin Chai (Student Sampling) Alex Daragonov (Student Sampling) Jorge Fallas (Lead School Sampling) Kathy He (Student Sampling) Jennifer Hong (School and Student Sampling) Yan Jiang (Student Sampling) Renee Kwong (School and Student Sampling) Dulce Lay (School Sampling) Nina Martinus (School Sampling) Louise Ockwell (Student Sampling) Claire Ozolins (School Sampling) Anna Plotka (Student Sampling) Alla Routitsky (Student Sampling) Paul Tabet (School Sampling)

#### BranTra (Belgium) – Core D contributor

Eva Jacob (Translation Management, French Source Development)

Danina Lupsa (Translation Technologist, Linguistic Quality Assurance Tools and Procedures)

Ben Meessen (Translation Management, Development of Common Reference Versions for Spanish, Chinese, Arabic)

#### HallStat SPRL (Belgium) - Core A contributor as the translation referee

Beatrice Halleux (Consultant, Translation/Verification Referee, French Source Development)

#### WESTAT (United States) - Core A contributor on survey operations

Merl Robinson (Director of Core A Contractor for Survey Operations)

Michael Lemay (Manager of Core A Contractor for Survey Operations)

Sarah Sparks (National Centre Support, Quality Control)

Beverley McGaughan (National Centre Support, Quality Control)

## PISA 2022 Results (Volume II)

### **LEARNING DURING – AND FROM – DISRUPTION**

The OECD Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) examines what students know in mathematics, reading and science, and what they can do with what they know. It provides the most comprehensive and rigorous international assessment of student learning outcomes to date. Results from PISA indicate the quality and equity of learning outcomes attained around the world, and allow educators and policy makers to learn from the policies and practices applied in other countries. This is one of five volumes that present the results of the eighth round of assessment, PISA 2022 – which was conducted during the COVID-19 global pandemic. Volume II, Learning During – and From – Disruption, focuses on resilience in education and analyses its relevance for education systems, schools and students. The volume covers: learning during and from school closures; life at school and support from home; students' pathways through school; investments in education; and school governance. Trends in these indicators are examined when comparable data are available.



#### PRINT ISBN 978-92-64-49897-6 PDF ISBN 978-92-64-89821-9

